Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia

Girija Prasad Rath *Editor*



Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia Girija Prasad Rath Editor

Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia



Editor Girija Prasad Rath Department of Neuroanesthesiology & Critical Care All India Institute of Medical Sciences New Delhi, Delhi, India

ISBN 978-981-16-3375-1 ISBN 978-981-16-3376-8 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Affectionately dedicated to my father Sh. Bhagirathi Rath

Foreword

The relative importance of medical care can be appreciated by assessing its efficacy in terms of life-years gained—the simple notion that successful treatment of a 70-year-old may extend life by 7 years, while successful treatment of a 7-year-old might extend life by 70 years. From that perspective, pediatric neurosurgery gains particular salience. And, as every neurosurgeon knows, excellent anesthetic management complements excellent surgical technique—and both require extraordinary understanding supplemented by continuing medical education (CME).

Pursuant to highly specialized medical education, Professor Girija Rath has assembled a volume that serves the purpose of both a textbook and a handbook. He has accomplished that by sandwiching chapters on the anesthetic management of most specific neurosurgical procedures between chapters that convey overarching concepts and considerations that apply to pediatric neurosurgical patients generally. Accordingly, *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia* can be a valuable resource for anesthesiologists working in general hospitals as well as hospitals that specialize in neurosurgery.

English is the primary language of science, including medical science, and India is second only to the United States in the number of English speakers. If one accepts the proposition that any phonetic language is more efficient than any pictographic language when it comes to written communication, it follows that *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia* should be welcomed as a global asset.

Brooklyn, NY, USA

James E. Cottrell John Hartung

Preface

The blooming growth of neuroanesthesia as a superspecialty was in tandem with tremendous technological advancements in neurosurgery during the last 50 years. Similarly, the subspecialty of pediatric neuroanesthesia was a felt necessity when children, a large chunk of the neurosurgical patient population, required definitive management. Perioperative care of such pediatric neurosurgical patients should be considered separately owing to inherent problems of anesthesia for children apart from their associated neurological conditions. There are many specific issues prevalent among these children, surgical and anesthetic management of which require advanced clinical training and practice with direct bearing on the perioperative outcome.

This book aims to provide a thorough review of most of the clinical aspects of neuroanesthesia in children, including neurosurgeries during the fetal stage to neonatal, infancy, toddler, and school-going age groups. It also covers the diagnosis, imaging, surgical, and anesthetic management of all the neurosurgical problems encountered in children. To provide optimal anesthetic care in children undergoing neurosurgery, the anesthesiologist must have adequate knowledge of the developing brain and spinal cord, the effect of anesthetics on the neuronal tissues, and the inherent issues of the child's neurologic lesions. In this context, the chapters in this book are broadly covered in three sections: the first part includes general considerations which start with the evolution of the subspecialty from a historical perspective, basic neurophysiology, and general concerns during neurosurgery in children such as fluid management, blood transfusion, and temperature regulation. The subsequent section on specific problems describes a wide range of topics such as anesthesia for brain tumor surgery, hydrocephalus, neural tube defects, cerebrovascular surgeries (e.g., intracranial aneurysms, arteriovenous malformations, moyamoya disease, and vein of Galen malformation), functional neurosurgery, neuroendoscopy, craniovertebral junction anomalies, spinal surgeries, neurotrauma, endovascular surgery, brain abscess, and congenital heart diseases. There are descriptions of contentious issues such as neuroanesthesia in remote locations, regional anesthesia for neurosurgery, and anesthesia in children with neuromuscular diseases. It includes advanced anesthesia techniques employed during awake craniotomy and epilepsy surgery. Technically, challenging issues of anesthesia for fetal neurosurgery and craniopagus separation surgery have also been described in detail. The postoperative intensive care management for each problem has been described at the end of the respective chapters. Moreover, in the final section on

postoperative care, the common critical care issues are elaborated that includes recovery and care immediately after surgery, management of pain, respiratory complications, ventilatory strategies, brain death, and organ donation in children. This section also covers a couple of miscellaneous practical considerations such as anesthesia for radiation therapy for neurologic ailments and the neurological perspectives in cardiac surgery.

As a teaching faculty, I am privileged to be part of the Department of Neuroanesthesiology and Critical Care at the Neurosciences Center of All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi. My neuroanesthesia journey started approximately two decades ago, and I have been able to satisfy numerous academic quests during all these years. Over a period of time, I realized that my main area of interest is pediatric neuroanesthesia. Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia is a memorable journey for me because it was my first book project, but it also taught me some of the painful lessons of my life. This book was conceptualized long back (2013-14) as I felt there were many things about children undergoing neuroanesthesia that are not compiled appropriately inside a single cover. However, the project witnessed multiple emotional as well as practical hurdles from close quarters when the actual work was started during the year 2015. I often thought of winding up the project before completion for different reasons, such as nonadherence to the editorial expectations in some of the chapters and lack of time owing to my engagement in academic leadership roles. Finally, I bowed to the wishes of my students, who are the primary motivation behind compiling this book; some of them turned out to be contributors as well.

I am reasonably sure that Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia would be a reference treatise for neuroanesthesiologists, pediatric anesthesiologists, anesthesia/neuroanesthesia residents and fellows, practicing anesthesiologists, pediatric neurointensivists, nurse anesthetists, and neurosurgeons/pediatric neurosurgeons. It would also serve as a reference book for the DM (Neuroanesthesiology), DrNB-SS (Neuroanesthesiology), and MD (Anesthesiology) curriculums apart from anesthesia residency and pediatric anesthesia/neurosurgery fellowship programs offered at various institutions globally. Despite our best efforts, there must be shortcomings in editing this book; I shall appreciate it if the readers could provide us their feedback.

New Delhi, Delhi, India

Girija Prasad Rath

Acknowledgments

Despite initial hiccups during the preparatory phase of this book, the final editing of the chapters was quite enjoyable for me. I convey my heartfelt gratitude to all the contributors who came up with meaningful information on their respective chapters. I am thankful to the Director of All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, Prof. Randeep Guleria, for providing the institutional permission to prepare the Fundamentals of Pediatric *Neuroanesthesia*. I take this opportunity to thank my beloved teachers, Prof. Harihar Dash and Prof. Parmod K Bithal, for being the constant sources of encouragement during my personal and professional journey. I offer my sincere gratitude to our departmental chair, Prof. Arvind Chaturvedi, faculty, residents, technicians, and nurses of the Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care for providing me a favorable atmosphere to pursue the academic and clinical practice of pediatric neuroanesthesia; this book is the culmination of all their support. I am extremely thankful to my colleagues, Drs. Vanitha Rajagopalan, Sameera Vattipalli, and Jayanth R Seshan from AIIMS. New Delhi; Kiran Jangra of PGIMER, Chandigarh; Sidharth Chavali of AIG Hospitals, Hyderabad; and Ritesh Lamsal of Tribhuvan University Teaching Hospital, Kathmandu, for providing me the readers' perspective on different chapters whenever I required them. Special thanks to Dr. Naren Agrawal, Ms. Jagjeet Saini, and Mr. Ejaz Ahmad of Springer-Nature publications for guiding me to give a final shape of this book. I acknowledge the constant motivation of my father, elder brother, and in-laws for writing scientific literature. I thank my wife and critic, Dr. Sarita Mohapatra, and son Naman Rath, for their unlimited support and coping with my busy academic journey. Last but not least, I am grateful to Prof. James E Cottrell and Prof. John Hartung of SUNY Downstate Medical Sciences University, New York, United States, for writing the foreword of Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia.

Girija Prasad Rath, MD, DM

Contents

Part I General Considerations

| 1 | Pediatric Neuroanesthesia: Evolution of a New Subspeciality 3 |
|----|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Girija Prasad Rath, Jayanth R Seshan, and Ashok Kumar Mahapatra |
| 2 | Developmental Anatomy and Physiology of the Central Nervous System in Children15Vanitha Rajagopalan and Ramamani Mariappan |
| 3 | Effect of Sedatives and Anesthetics on CerebralPhysiology in Children51K. R. Shwethashri and M. Radhakrishnan51 |
| 4 | Preoperative Evaluation and Preparation of Children Undergoing Neurosurgery63Srilata Moningi and Narmada Padhy |
| 5 | Airway Equipment and Difficult Airway ManagementDuring Pediatric Neurosurgery79Satyen Parida, Sandeep Kumar Mishra, andArvind Kumar Arya |
| 6 | Anesthetizing Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients:A Practical Approach97Seelora Sahu, Amlan Swain, and Jitamitra Mishra |
| 7 | Positioning Children During Neurosurgery 119 Vanitha Rajagopalan, Sujoy Banik, and Girija Prasad Rath |
| 8 | Monitoring Children Undergoing Neurosurgery 139 Siddharth Chavali, Charu Mahajan, and Girija Prasad Rath |
| 9 | Perioperative Thermoregulation in Children and Temperature Monitoring |
| 10 | Fluid and Electrolytes Management in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery |

| 11 | Blood Loss and Transfusion in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery | |
|-----|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| | Rajeeb Kumar Mishra and Girija Prasad Rath | |
| Par | t II Anesthetic Management of Specific Problems | |
| 12 | Hydrocephalus and CSF Diversion Procedures for Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients | |
| 13 | Neural Tube Defects: Meningocele and Encephalocele 219 Charu Mahajan | |
| 14 | Anesthesia for Fetal Neurosurgery | |
| 15 | Perioperative Management of Children with Chiari Malformation.245Varun Jain, Kashmiri Doley, and Sumit Sinha | |
| 16 | Anesthesia for Craniovertebral Junction Anomalies inPediatric Patients255Rudrashish Haldar, Arun Kumar Srivastava,Priyadarshi Dikshit, and Kiran Jangra | |
| 17 | Anesthetic Concerns During Pediatric Spine Surgery 273 Hironobu Hayashi, Jayanth R Seshan, and Masahiko Kawaguchi | |
| 18 | Craniosynostosis and Anesthetic Concerns | |
| 19 | Anesthesia for Craniopagus Separation Surgery | |
| 20 | Anesthesia for Minimally Invasive NeurosurgicalProcedures in Children.Sethuraman Manikandan and Prakash Nair | |
| 21 | Anesthetic Concerns During Surgical Excision ofIntracranial Arteriovenous MalformationsMiran Jangra, Hemant Bhagat, and Navneh Samagh | |
| 22 | Anesthetic Management of Cerebral Aneurysm Surgery in Children | |
| 23 | Anesthetic Management of Vein of Galen Malformations 377 Jayanth R Seshan and Girija Prasad Rath | |

xiv

| 24 | Anesthetic Concerns in Children with Brain Abscess and Congenital Heart Disease |
|-----|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 25 | Anesthesia for Moyamoya Disease in Children |
| 26 | Anesthesia for Pediatric Deep Brain Stimulation Surgery 421 Joseph Nascimento Monteiro, Bhoomika Thakore, and Kiran Jangra |
| 27 | Awake Craniotomy in Children |
| 28 | Anesthesia for Epilepsy Surgery in Children |
| 29 | Anesthetic Considerations for SupratentorialSpace-Occupying Lesions in ChildrenNidhi Bidyut Panda, Ankur Luthra, Summit Dev Bloria,Sonia Kapil, and Ashish Aggarwal |
| 30 | Anesthetic Management of Posterior Fossa Surgeryin Children.495Gyaninder Pal Singh and Gaurav Singh Tomar |
| 31 | Perioperative Management of Children with TraumaticBrain Injury.511Ankur Khandelwal and Deepak Sharma |
| 32 | Perioperative Management of Pediatric Spine Injury |
| 33 | Anesthesia for Interventional NeuroradiologicProcedures in Children.547Ranadhir Mitra, Leve Joseph Devarajan Sebastian,Ritesh Lamsal, and Girija Prasad Rath |
| 34 | Neuroanesthesia at Remote Locations |
| 35 | Anesthesia for Children with Neuromuscular Diseases 579 Sameera Vattipalli, Girija Prasad Rath, and Umeshkumar Athiraman |
| 36 | Regional Anesthesia for Neurosurgery in Children |
| Par | t III Postoperative Care and Miscellaneous Topics |
| 37 | Recovery and Postoperative Care in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery |

| 38 | Postoperative Pain Management of Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients |
|----|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 39 | Postoperative Respiratory Complications and Ventilatory Strategies in Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients |
| 40 | Brain Death and Organ Donation in Children |
| 41 | Developing Brain and Anesthetic Neurotoxicity |
| 42 | Anesthesia for Radiation Therapy in Children |
| 43 | Neurological Perspectives in Pediatric Cardiac Surgery 709 Ankur Luthra, Virendra Kumar Arya, Summit D. Bloria, and Rajeev Chauhan |

About the Editor



Girija Prasad Rath is a professor of neuroanesthesiology and critical care at Neurosciences Centre of All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India. Dr. Rath has received three years of exclusive training in neuroanesthesia at AIIMS and is among the first batch of anesthesiologists in India to hold a superspecialty degree, i.e., Doctorate of Medicine (DM) in neuroanesthesiology. He has been involved in educational and clinical research activities in neuroanesthesia and neurocritical care with a special interest in pediatric

neuroanesthesia. To his credit, he has more than 230 scientific articles published in peer-reviewed journals, edited a book on Trigeminal Neuralgia, and is on the editorial board of four peer-reviewed journals, including Neurology India (NI) and Indian Journal of Anaesthesia (IJA). Since its inception, Dr. Rath is also the executive editor of the Journal of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care (JNACC). He has mentored several residents and fellows of neuroanesthesia and neurocritical care at AIIMS. Dr. Rath is a past treasurer of the Indian Society of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care (ISNACC) and an active member of many international scientific bodies. He is an executive council member of Asian Society of Neuroanesthesia and Critical Care (ASNACC), director-at-large for Society for Neuroscience in Anesthesiology and Critical Care (SNACC) board of directors, the chair for SNACC Global Outreach Sub-Committee, and also a reviewer for the International Council on Perioperative Neuroscience Training (ICPNT). He is an invited speaker in the scientific meetings of various anesthesia societies that include the Indian Society of Anaesthesiologists (ISA), ISNACC, ASNACC, EURONEURO, Bangladesh Neuroanesthesia Conference, Neuroanaesthesia Symposium (NAS) of Malaysia, and World Congress of Anaesthesiologists (WCA). Dr. Rath was involved in the first successful separation surgery of conjoined craniopagus twins in India. He is a recipient of the ICMR International Fellowship (ICMR-IF) and is a Fellow of the Indian College of Anaesthesiologists (FICA).

Part I

General Considerations

Pediatric Neuroanesthesia: Evolution of a New Subspeciality

Girija Prasad Rath , Jayanth R Seshan, and Ashok Kumar Mahapatra

Key Points

- Modern neurosurgery and neuroanesthesia have existed and developed concurrently, largely due to significant contributions by pioneers to both specialties.
- Rapidly evolving diagnostic and surgical modalities have facilitated the possibility of safe and effective complex neurosurgeries in children.
- The development of pediatric neuroanesthesia as a separate subspecialty is essential considering the unique anatomical and physiological features, the requirement of special skill sets and experience with invasive procedures, and effective management of the child in the perioperative period.

Siksha 'O' Anusandhan (SOA) University, Bhubaneswar, India

• Future prospects in the field of pediatric neuroanesthesia include meaningful research in the management of significant comorbid neurological diseases, including cerebral palsy, epilepsy, and traumatic brain injury.

1.1 Introduction

A better understanding of human pathophysiology as well as technological advances has encouraged every specialty of medical science to focus on specialized care instead of generalized approaches. During the last 100 years, a lot of development has been witnessed in the anesthesia practice as a specialty of medicine. Several subspecialties have come up intending to approach a particular set of patients to ensure better care and provide clinical scientists with research opportunities. Cardiac anesthesia, neuroanesthesia, obstetric anesthesia, pediatric anesthesia, pain medicine, palliative care, and critical care medicine are well-established, currently, with a distinct identity.



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_1

G. P. Rath (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

J. R. Seshan

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

A. K. Mahapatra

Department of Neurosurgery and Chief, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[•] Currently, the setting up of advanced training programs in pediatric neuroanesthesia and neurointensive care is in its nascent stage.

1.2 Development of Neuroanesthesia Along with Neurosurgery

Neuroanesthesia, as a specialty, should be discussed in the context of the evolution of neurosurgery. Although trephination or trepanning used to be carried out during the primitive civilizational period and continued until the early twentieth century [1] for different beliefs, the beginning of neurosurgery and neuroanesthesia must be viewed from the late part of the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries [2]. The significant discoveries of anesthesia during the nineteenth century gave shape to the development of modern neurosurgery. Carbon dioxide, hydrogen, and nitrogen were discovered during the end of the eighteenth century; their role in anesthesia was explored, along with other agents such as oxygen and nitrous oxide [3]. Sir Humphry Davy (1798) suggested that the use of nitrous oxide (laughing gas) could relieve pain during surgery, and it was used quite often in dental extraction procedures for analgesia. However, its popularity was reduced with ether's introduction to remove a neck tumor by Dr. Crawford Long in 1842 [2]; unfortunately, it remained unpublished until 1849 [4]. After the first successful public demonstration of ether use at Massachusetts General Hospital by William Thomas Green Morton on 16 October 1846, there was a quick spread of news worldwide, and it led to a revolution in the field of surgery and anesthesia. Subsequently, Sir James Young Simpson introduced chloroform (1847) which further overshadowed nitrous oxide. While chloroform was mainly used in Europe and South America, ether was used in England and North America [2]. Therefore, the use of chloroform and ether became routine for modern anesthesia. However, the implementation of anesthetics in neurosurgery took a decade to develop [3]. The pioneer neurosurgeons then stepped in and utilized these agents for brain surgery to establish the specialty of neurosurgery. The contributions of Sir William Macewen (1848–1924; Glasgow), a precursory neurosurgeon and pioneer anesthetist, marked the dawn of neuroanesthesia; he was a general surgeon with interest in neurosurgery. In 1879, he performed the first-ever successful brain tumor removal at the Glasgow Royal Infirmary. The procedure was carried out under endotracheal anesthesia and not with a tracheotomy which was the convention till then [2]. He developed metallic tubes which could be introduced into the trachea and, later on, the red rubber tubes. A decade later, Sir Ivan Magill and Stanley Rowbotham popularized the technique of endotracheal anesthesia, which is still in use in the current-day practice [5]. Victor Horsley, a contemporary of Macewen and a general surgeon with a special interest in neurosurgery, carried out animal experiments and investigated the effects of ether, chloroform, and morphine on intracranial contents. He recommended using chloroform rather than ether; although relatively safe, ether caused an increase in blood pressure and, hence, is considered to have a potential for hemorrhage. He described anesthesia for brain surgery in British Medical Journal in 1888. The use of morphine was excluded from his anesthesia regimen due to its respiratory depressant effects. Because of his interest in anesthesia, he became part of the "Special Chloroform Committee," which recommended that the use of chloroform in a concentration of more than 2% was unsafe. Horsley believed a dose of less than 0.5% after bone removal during the craniotomy is safe [6]. He also described the role of local anesthesia in the form of cocaine infiltration over the dura, especially in patients with cardiac dysfunction, where chloroform is contraindicated [7]. An interesting fact about the early days of neurosurgery is the time taken for the procedures, which is described in the literature as lasting up to 1.5 h (usually 30 min!) which reduced the anesthetic needs. This was mentioned by Dr. Zebulon Mennell, the first British neuroanesthetist (who worked with Victor Horsley), that an ambidextrous Horsley seldom took more than half an hour for his cranial cases [8]. Compare this to modern-day neurosurgery practice with advanced operating techniques that have prolonged the procedure's duration and require ever-modifying anesthetic needs.

Harvey Cushing, another contemporary pioneer of neurosurgery and anesthetics, suggested using ether anesthesia while restricting chloroform use in children. He was the first to introduce the concept of induction of anesthesia [3]. His initial anesthesia experience as a medical student was terrible. He was a stand-in anesthetist, and the patient died of aspiration of vomitus. Along with Codman, he utilized his experiences to develop an anesthesia record (ether record). He recommended continuous monitoring of pulse rate, respiration, and temperature every 5 min. He later added blood pressure charting after a visit to Italy (1900), where he was introduced to Riva-Rocci cuffs [9]. Due credit must be given to Cushing to realize the need for a full-time anesthetist, and he employed Dr. Griffith Davis, with whom he reported performing over 300 cranial surgeries. He mentions that an expert and fully devoted anesthetist is essential in neurosurgeries to deal with major issues like the positioning of the patient, level of narcosis, and continuous monitoring of cardiac and respiratory rhythm by auscultation [10].

Deliberate hypotension was described in neurosurgery by Fedor Krause (1857–1937), a German neurosurgeon. He used increasing concentrations of chloroform to cause hypotension and, hence, reduce bleeding. Induced hypotension using non-anesthetic drugs was described by Janice Peeler in Australia for the first time in scoliosis correction surgeries (Harrington rods) using sodium nitroprusside for reducing bleeding [11]. Krause also introduced the surgical treatment of epilepsy in Germany and was an early practitioner of the intraoperative electrostimulation of the cerebral cortex. He also emphasized the importance of a light plane of anesthesia during brain surgery as the brain was insensitive to pain [7].

The contributions of Albert Faulconer (Mayo Clinic) through publications on the electroencephalogram (EEG) responses to anesthetics and the development of an EEG-based device to monitor the anesthetic depth (1949) are considered significant to the beginning of modern neuroanesthesiology [12, 13]. This was later (1969) followed by further such demonstrations by John D. Michenfelder, which were majorly responsible for the spread of Neuroanesthesia as a sub-specialty. It is for this reason that Michenfelder is considered the Father of Modern Neuroanesthesiology [14, 15]. Robert J. White, the first neurosurgeon to perform a successful "cephalic exchange" in monkeys (1971), is also credited with a significant contribution to neuroanesthesia. Teaming up with Maurice S. Albin, a neuroanesthesiologist, he conducted significant research on hypothermia for neuroprotection after spinal cord injury. He demonstrated total hemispherectomy in monkeys and paved the way for the procedure to be adapted for the treatment of intractable epilepsy and resection of large tumors in humans [16, 17]. Our understanding of intracranial dynamics is based on two significant contributions in the form of Monro-Kellie doctrine, which explains the relationship between the components of the intracranial compartment and the description of intracranial pressure (ICP) waveforms by Lundberg [18–20]. These two basic principles still influence neuroanesthesia and intensive care practice, and to date, research is on to identify the ideal intracranial dynamics using various monitoring modalities. This is even more significant in children as the cerebral hemodynamics are fluctuating with increasing age.

Many important landmarks in anesthesia were achieved by people who did pioneering work in neurosurgery, thanks to their continued efforts in striving for the best possible care of their patients. Their work was greatly enabled by the discovery of the germ theory of disease and the advent of the concept of aseptic precautions. Apart from their innovations in surgical procedures and their meticulous techniques, these pioneers also contributed immensely to anesthesia by describing different anesthetic agents used, their administration techniques, and monitoring these patients. Because of due realization, dedicated anesthesiologists were appointed for intraoperative care, resulting in a much better understanding of neurophysiological requirements during surgery.

1.3 Development of Pediatric Neurosurgery as a Subspecialty

Surgery of the brain and spinal cord among children constitutes a significant proportion of neurosurgical procedures. Starting from prehistoric times until the Harvey Cushing era, neurosurgery was sporadically practiced on children. Pediatric neurosurgery, as a subspecialty, was in a developing stage when the pioneering neurosurgeons such as Harvey Cushing, Walter Dandy, Norman Dott, and Kenneth McKenzie operated in various countries on children with hydrocephalus or brain tumors. However, the formal development and teaching of the specialty were started by Franc Ingraham under the directions of Harvey Cushing (father of neurosurgery) at the Boston Children's Hospital when he established the first center for treatment of neurosurgical diseases in children. By the early 1950s, the role of pediatric neurosurgery was already being defined in the major cities worldwide, Boston, Chicago, London, Paris, and Toronto, to name a few. Ingraham is credited with describing methods for the treatment of conditions like craniosynostosis, diastematomyelia, hydrocephalus, spina bifida, and subdural hematomas. He is credited with the training of many surgeons in pediatric neurosurgery and, hence, is also considered the *father of* pediatric neurosurgery [21]. Ingraham and his protégé, Donald Matson, published Neurosurgery of Infancy and Childhood in 1954, the first textbook on pediatric neurosurgery. Matson was a brilliant technical surgeon and used to resect craniopharyngiomas before the introduction of surgical microscopes [22].

The notable contributions of Cushing in pediatric neurosurgery include the description of a lumbo-peritoneal shunt and an article highlighting his experiences in the management of cerebellar astrocytomas [23]. Hydrocephalus is a condition associated more commonly with the pediatric population and several innovations for the drainage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) starting from Cushing's lumbo-peritoneal shunt to Torkildsen (1939) describing a ventriculocisternal shunt and Matson's lumbo-ureteral (1949) and ventriculo-ureteral (1951) shunts. Valve-based shunts were first described by Holter, which led to the first reported CSF drainage into the jugular vein in 1952 [24, 25]. Since then, numerous improvements have been made in the materials and techniques used, including endoscopy and image guidance.

The first instance of the description of epilepsy surgery was by Horsley (1886) of a 22-year-old man who had been suffering from seizures since 15 years of age. A craniotomy was performed for the removal of a focus of irritation (proposed by Jackson in 1870) [26].

Craniectomy for craniosynostosis was first described in a 9-month-old infant by Lane in 1892. He mentions the use of ACE (alcohol, chloroform, and ether) mixture for anesthesia. Ironically, the child died 14 h postoperatively, and the cause of death was attributed to the effect of anesthesia [27, 28].

Moyamoya disease was first recognized in 1957 in Japan by Takeuchi and Shimizu, and the characteristic angiographic appearance of a "puff of smoke" was described by Takaku in 1969. The earliest described surgery for moyamoya disease was cervical carotid sympathectomy and superior cervical perivascular ganglionectomy by Suzuki [29, 30].

The first edition of the Guidelines for the Acute Medical Management of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury in Infants, Children, and Adolescents was published in 2003 [31]. Although the entity was recognized much earlier, significant research went into developing these guidelines by the Brain Trauma Foundation, which is being updated periodically. The first pediatric neurosurgical society, the European Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery (ESPN), was founded when the first such scientific meeting was held in Vienna, Austria, in 1967 [21]. In 1971, Jacques Rougerie held a meeting in Paris just before the second meeting of ESPN; it was decided to found an international society which was formally established in the subsequent year (1972) as the International Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery (ISPN). During the second meeting of ISPN, the creation of their official journal 'Child's Brain' was announced, which was later rechristened (1985) as 'Child's Nervous System.' The American Society of Pediatric Neurosurgeons (ASPN) was formed in 1978; similar professional bodies were formed in Japan (1973), Mexico (1999), and Australia (2002).

Training in pediatric neurosurgery is addressed with fellowship programs all over the world. To begin with, in 1953, there was a socalled fellowship at Boston Children's Hospital, with "supernumerary residency." By 1978 the programs were sustained at five places: Boston, Toronto, Philadelphia, Chicago, and Los Angeles [32]. Currently, many places offer such fellowships. A 1-year clinical fellowship following the completion of a general neurosurgical residency is usually recommended [21, 33]. There is a paucity of such advanced training to meet the growing disease burden in low- and middleincome countries (LMIC). Expertise in the management of hydrocephalus and spina bifida, the two of the most common pediatric neurosurgical conditions, offers better outcomes in terms of reduced morbidity and mortality. The CURE Hydrocephalus and Spina Bifida (CHSB) fellowship offers advanced subspecialty training to equip surgeons from LMIC with optimum surgical skills and equipment to manage effectively such common childhood neurosurgical conditions [34]. All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, and Park Clinic, Kolkata in India, offer pediatric neurosurgery fellowships. A repository of information concerning pediatric neurosurgery fellowships worldwide is available on the ISPN website (https://www.ispneurosurgery.org/international-fellowships/).

1.3.1 Neurosurgery: An Indian Perspective

Although Dr. Ram Ginde's survey of neurosurgery in India between 1926 and 1953 gives an idea of what was then being done at most large teaching hospitals in the country, it is well known that prior to 1949, neurosurgery was being practiced by general surgeons [35]. Meanwhile, Professor Jacob Chandy of Christian Medical College (CMC), Vellore, received his neurosurgical training at the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) with Wilder Penfield and in Chicago with Theodore Rasmussen [36]. It can be said that his return to CMC marked the beginning of modern neurosurgery in India. Chandy established the first neurosurgery department in South Asia at CMC and initiated the neurosurgical training and neurological services in 1957-1958. Several of his trainees pioneered neurosurgical departments all over India. He was one of the four founder

members of the Neurological Society of India (NSI) in 1951 and was also the founder president (1952) [36, 37]. His tremendous contributions place him as the *father of neurosciences/neurosurgery in India*. Meanwhile, B. Ramamurthi, another pioneer neurosurgeon, after his training under Rowbotham of Newcastle, UK, started the Department of Neurosurgery in the Government General Hospital, Madras, in 1950 (Madras Institute of Neurology, MIN); V. Rajagopalan underwent training in neuroanesthesia in the UK and joined MIN in 1953 [38].

Significant contributions to neurosurgical literature from India were in the 1960s when Wadia described his pioneering work on congenital atlantoaxial dislocations [39]. Subsequently, P N Tandon, a pioneering neurosurgeon, an MNI alumnus, and founder of the Department of Neurosurgery at AIIMS, New Delhi, published a series of 30 cases of anterior encephalocele in children [40]. Upadhyay, a pediatric surgeon, created an indigenous shunt for hydrocephalic children [41]. The development of modern pediatric neurosurgery in India began with holding the 17th Annual Conference of ISPN at Mumbai (1989). Dr. S. N. Bhagwati of Bombay Hospital hosted a satellite meeting of the International Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery (ISPN) in Mumbai just before the World Congress [42]. Enthused with the success of the meeting, he formed a special interest group (SIG) on pediatric neurosurgery in India, which was later formalized as the Indian Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery (IndSPN) in 1990 with himself as the founder president. He became the President of the International Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery (ISPN) in 1994-1995, being the first Indian to be nominated to that position. IndSPN is responsible for organizing regular meetings and continuing medical education (CME) programs in cooperation with the ISPN. Bhagwati was supported by a group of dedicated neurosurgeons from different parts of India. Notable among them are A. K. Banerji of AIIMS, New Delhi, a pioneer neurosurgeon of Northern India; S. Kalyanaraman; V. K. Kak; D. K. Chhabra of King George's Medical College, Lucknow; Chandrasekhar Deopujari of Bombay Hospital; and Ashok Kumar Mahapatra

of AIIMS, New Delhi; they all succeeded him as presidents of IndSPN [43]. Among them, Prof. Mahapatra continued to work as a dedicated pediatric neurosurgeon throughout his career and contributed several scientific publications on pediatric neurosurgery, apart from editing two books—*Tenets of Craniosynostosis* and *Split Cord Malformations*. He was instrumental in carrying out the rare yet first successful craniopagus separation surgery in India (2017). The *Journal of Pediatric Neurosciences*, the official publication of the IndSPN, was launched in 2006 and continues to excel as an international journal on pediatric neurosurgery.

1.4 Pediatric Neuroanesthesia: Not Just "Anesthesia" or "Neuroanesthesia"

Pediatric neuroanesthesia is an evolving subspecialty in anesthesia that deals with the perioperative care of children during neurosurgery. As of now, pediatric neurosurgery is a well-established neurosurgical specialty to deal with the special challenges and considerations that a child with central nervous system (CNS) disease poses. Concurrently, the need for well-trained and skilled pediatric neuroanesthesiologists has also risen in recent times, focusing on dedicated care of such children. Pediatric neuroanesthesia owes most of its routines, techniques, and instrumentation to anesthetics for children in general. Perioperative anesthetic care of children requires catering to and adapting to the differences in children's anatomy and physiology from adults. Performing invasive maneuvers and procedures like dealing with airway, vascular cannulation, and positioning for surgery is always a challenge for the anesthesiologist. The response of neonates and infants to stress (bradycardia) is markedly different from older children and adults; they have poor metabolic control and are more prone to hypothermia. Combined with the general physiological differences, the neuroanesthesiologists have a better understanding of the neurological pathology and concerns relating to ICP; they play a major role in the optimal management of such children, greatly influencing the outcome.

Certain neurological conditions are specific to children, which can be attributed in part to their association with genetic abnormalities. Several syndromes with CNS and multi-system manifestations have been described, and the attending anesthesiologist needs to be aware of the problem at hand. Intracranial tumors, intractable epilepsy syndromes, craniofacial abnormalities (craniosynostosis and craniopagus twins), neurotrauma, hydrocephalus, spinal and cranial dysraphisms (neural tube defects), craniovertebral junction abnormalities (Chiari malformations), neurovascular diseases, moyamoya disease, the vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations, and kyphoscoliosis are some of the pathological conditions the anesthesiologist needs to have a thorough understanding of.

The perioperative anesthetic and neuro-intensive care management of pediatric traumatic brain injury is also significantly unique and is still a research topic. Although not restricted to pediatric neuroanesthesia specialty, research on the toxicity of anesthetic drugs on the developing brain could be a significant game-changer for the evolution of this specialty. The earliest descriptions regarding fetal neurosurgical diseases were from Charpentier (1887), who described fetal hydrocephalus in 200 cases, one of the major causes of maternal deaths [44]. The first description of a fetal neurosurgical procedure was by Barke et al. (1966), who described the use of gas ventriculography to confirm the diagnosis of hydrocephalus [45]. Cephalocentesis and ventriculo-amniotic shunting were followed in the 1980s [46, 47]. The first in utero endoscopic repair of neural tube defects (meningomyelocele) was done in 1994, which was deemed unsatisfactory and replaced by hysterotomy [48, 49]. Advancements in fetal neurosurgery started to begin after observing that open fetal MMC repair resulted in the reversal of Chiari II malformation [50]. Prospective studies have established superior outcomes with the prenatal treatment of hydrocephalus and neural tube defects [51].

The most common abnormality of intracranial circulation in children is arteriovenous malforma-

tion (AVM). Their high risk of intracranial hemorrhage mandates early management. Several advancements have been made in the treatment options ranging from open surgeries to endovascular techniques [52].

The performance of pediatric awake craniotomy is precluded by patient cooperation. Though neurosurgeries were performed even much before the pre-anesthetic era, Pasquet described the first awake craniotomy with combined local and general anesthesia [53]. In children, awake brain surgeries have been carried out for epilepsy and tumors in the eloquent cortex.

Deep brain stimulation (DBS), traditionally for the management of Parkinson's disease, has also been used to treat generalized dystonias [54]. In children, pallidotomy has been a surgical management option since the 1960s but with limited long-term efficacy data [55]. Deep brain stimulation for dystonia in an 8-year-old child was first described in 1996, with lasting efficacy noted at 20 years. Since then, several such surgeries have been carried out [56, 57].

Management of TBI in children has special considerations due to the neurophysiological differences (cerebral autoregulation) and differences in patterns of injury. Data pertaining to this topic is available since the early part of this century and evolving continuously [58–60]. Anesthetic neurotoxicity is one of the most intriguing topics of research in the conduct of pediatric surgeries, and certain features like longer duration of exposure and the prospect of multiple exposures with regards to neurosurgeries give more relevance to its consideration in the field of pediatric neuroanesthesia. Michenfelder is credited with early reports of nitrous oxide toxicity during anesthesia exposure in children [61]. Since then, literature is being updated periodically on this topic and has been covered in this textbook elsewhere. Although neuroanesthesiologists or pediatric anesthesiologists have been attending to pediatric neurosurgeries routinely in their practice by virtue of their clinical experience and advanced exposure, it is wise to believe that full-time pediatric neuroanesthesiologists, as a separate group, will create new dimensions to the perioperative and intensive care management of such children.

This optimism is similar to the recommendation of the "Children's Surgical Forum," which views the children's welfare could be better served by a degree of sub-specialization [62]. The surgeries are recommended to be undertaken by appropriately trained designated surgeons with a workload sufficient to maintain competence. The task force for the Society of British Neurological Surgeons (SBNS) in 1998 defined the "Safe Pediatric Neurosurgery" objectives to ensure children's care to be of the highest quality and delivered by recognized pediatric neurosurgeons supported by staffs and facilities [63]. However, structured training programs on pediatric neuroanesthesia similar to pediatric neurosurgery are rare. In most places, pediatric anesthesiologists with exposure to neuroanesthesia manage the perioperative care of such patients. However, with increasing fellowship programs on neuroanesthesia, more neuroanesthesiologists with pediatric anesthesia experience manage the care. Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, USA, offers advanced pediatric neuroanesthesia fellowship (18 months' duration) for internationally trained candidates under the core fellowship program of pediatric anesthesia. In other universities of the USA, the experience of pediatric neurosurgical procedures for the neurosurgical anesthesia fellowship is offered as a part of rotational policy in conjunction with pediatric anesthesiology, which is the case in most parts of the world as well. In the Indian subcontinent, neuroanesthesiologists with advanced pediatric neurosurgery experience are the foremost practitioners of pediatric neuroanesthesia.

Specific literature in relation to pediatric neuroanesthesia was first published during the late 1960s and 1970s [64–70]. During the fifth Italian-French meeting on neuroanesthesia and resuscitation, a symposium on pediatric anesthesia was organized at Turin, Italy, probably for the first time [71]. The necessary presence of a skilled neuroanesthesiologist familiar with the physiologic and psychological needs of the children undergoing epilepsy surgery was highlighted for the first time [39]. Sulpicio Soriano and colleagues from Boston Children's Hospital continued emphasizing the role of pediatric neuroanesthesiologists for children undergoing neurosurgery in different scientific meetings and publications [72–75]. There is increased awareness of this specialty which has been reflected in terms of further publications during the last 20 years, and more such publications were added to the literature with a special issue on pediatric neuroanesthesia in the journal *Pediatric Anesthesia* [76–79].

The first textbook on Neuroanesthesia was published in 1964 by Andrew Hunter, Manchester [80]. James Edward Cottrell, the founder-editor of JNA, is credited with being the author of immensely popular textbooks in neuroanesthesia, from 'Anesthesia and Neurosurgery' (1980) [81] until the recent edition of 'Neuroanesthesia' (Cottrell and Patel) (2016) with a reasonably informative chapter on pediatric neuroanesthesia [82]. The JNA is affiliated with the Society of Neuroscience in Anesthesiology and Critical Care (SNACC). The formation of an organizational structure for neuroanesthesia began with the Neuroanesthesia Travelling Club of Great Britain and Ireland (1965), co-founded by Allan Brown and Andrew Hunter. The precursor for SNACC, the Neurosurgical Anesthesia Society (NAS) was formed in 1973 with John Michenfelder as its first president. The NAS has undergone title changes such as the Society of Neurosurgical Anesthesia and Neurological Supportive Care (SNANSC) in 1973 to the Society of Neurosurgical Anesthesiology and Critical Care in 1986, and a revised nomenclature of Society of Neuroscience in Anesthesiology and Critical Care, since 2009 [83].

In India, perioperative care for pediatric neurosurgery was provided by pediatric anesthetists, to begin with. After training in neuroanesthesia started at different institutions, it became a routine for trained neuroanesthesiologists to be involved in these children's care. Prof. SS Saini was the first designated faculty (assistant professor, 1979) of neuroanesthesia in India and became professor in 1987. He founded a dedicated Department of Neuroanesthesia at Neurosciences Center of AIIMS, New Delhi (1986–1987), and was supported by his mentees and colleagues, Harihar Dash and Parmod Bithal. Dash took over the

departmental reins from Saini and, in 2001, registered the Indian Society of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care as its founder president. In the subsequent year (2002), he initiated the first structured neuroanesthesia doctorate training program (3-year DM in Neuroanaesthesiology) in Asia/ India; it included advanced pediatric neuroanesthesia. It was followed by several other institutions such as Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Sciences and Technology (SCTIMST), Trivandrum; the National Institute of Mental Neurosciences Health and (NIMHANS), Bangalore; Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education & Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh; Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), Puducherry; CMC, Vellore; and AIIMS-like institutions initiating the DM courses. It is probably the reason why most of the neuroanesthesia- or pediatric neuroanesthesia-related scientific articles from India are published after 2002. The practice of pediatric neuroanesthesia, however, is not restricted to these hospitals. The training continued to be provided earlier by renowned neuroanesthesiologists such as G. Parameswara and GS Umamaheswara Rao (NIMHANS, Bangalore), Grace Korula (CMC, Vellore), V Padmanabha Iyer and Annapurna Rout (SCTIMST, Trivandrum), Amna Goswami and Bibhukalyani Das (Bangur Institute of Neurosciences, Kolkata), and Vinod Grover (PGIMER, Chandigarh), to name a few. Mumbai neuroanesthesiologists also played an active role in this regard; prominent were Vasumathi Divekar (KEM Hospital) and Vikram Datar (Bombay Hospital).

1.5 Future Prospects as a Subspeciality

Neurosurgery as a specialty is rapidly evolving with the advent of newer diagnostic modalities such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (*f*MRI); surgical techniques, microneurosurgery, endoscopy, and stereotactic and robotic surgeries; and endovascular techniques. Many of these techniques are being increasingly employed in pediatric neurosurgery as well. It is essential that the neuroanesthesiologist or pediatric anesthesiologists need to be abreast of the latest developments to provide appropriate perioperative care among these children undergoing neurosurgery. In this regard, it is essential for the recognition of pediatric neuroanesthesia as a separate subspecialty. Currently, the focus of pediatric neurosurgery and neuroanesthesia appears to be restricted to the management of hydrocephalus, neural tube defect, and tumors. There are other common CNS issues in children like vascular problems, epilepsy, cerebral palsy, and traumatic brain injury. Pediatric neuroanesthesiologists and neurointensive care specialists should be involved in a multidisciplinary team that, hopefully, engages in research in the perioperative care of these children. In the present world of evidence-based medicine, literature on these topics appears to be limited as far as prospective randomized controlled trials are concerned. There is hope that with the evolution of this subspeciality, more meaningful research will be carried out and the spectrum of evidence regarding management widens.

The advanced training on pediatric neuroanesthesia can be imparted in the tertiary care centers where significant loads of pediatric neurosurgical patients are managed. It is only a matter of time that pediatric neuroanesthesia societies or special interest groups (SIGs) are formed. "Paediatric Neuroanaesthesia Network (PNAN)" is an active SIG for the cause which is part of "Neuro Anaesthesia & Critical Care Society (NACCS) of Great Britain and Ireland." Regular meetings/ conferences showcasing the progress in this field and sharing knowledge across various platforms are expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

1.6 Conclusion

Neuroanesthesia has seen rapid evolutionary changes over the past century with significant pioneering contributions of physicians and surgeons alike. It can be ascertained with a reasonable level of confidence that pediatric neuroanesthesia, one of the newest entrants in the category of medical "subspecialties," offers much scope in clinical and research work for the anesthesiologist. Combining adequate knowledge and skill of pediatric anesthesia, neurosurgical anesthesia, and intensive care is essential to ensure that pediatric neuroanesthesia flourishes. This calls for establishing training programs to develop an appropriate curriculum taking into account the depths of the broad specialties involved. It is not unreasonable to expect significant contributions from this subspecialty in clinical management and research in the coming future.

References

- 1. Bandelier AF. Aboriginal trephining in Bolivia1. Am Anthropol. 1904;6(4):440–6.
- Samuels SI. History of neuroanesthesia: a contemporary review. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1996;34(4):1–20.
- Chivukula S, Grandhi R, Friedlander RM. A brief history of early neuroanesthesia. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;36(4):E2.
- Long CW. An account of the first use of sulphuric ether by inhalation as an anæsthetic in surgical operations. Surv Anesthesiol. 1991;35(6):375.
- Rowbotham ES, Magill I. Anaesthetics in the plastic surgery of the face and jaws. Proc R Soc Med. 1921;14(Sect Anaesth):17–27.
- Horshley V. Address in surgery on the technique of operations on the central nervous system. Lancet. 1906;168(4330):484–90.
- Frost EAM. A history of neuroanesthesia. Eger II EI, Saidman LJ, Westhorpe RN, The wondrous story of anesthesia [internet]. New York, NY: Springer; 2014 [cited 2021 Feb 22]. p. 871–885. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8441-7_64.
- Ryan JF. Zebulon Mennell. Br J Anaesth. 1954;26(1):42–7.
- Cushing H. On Routine Determinations of Arterial Tension in Operating Room and Clinic [Internet]. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM190303051481002.
 Massachusetts Medical Society; 2010 [cited 2021 Feb 23]. https://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/ NEJM190303051481002.
- Liu CY, Apuzzo MLJ. The genesis of neurosurgery and the evolution of the neurosurgical operative environment: part I-prehistory to 2003. Neurosurgery. 2003;52(1):3–19. discussion 19.
- Krause F. Surgery of the brain and spinal cord based on personal experiences, vol. 1. New York, NY: Palala Press; 1912. 362 p. 12–15.
- Faulconer A, Pender JW, Bickford RG. The influence of partial pressure of nitrous oxide on the depth of anesthesia and the electroencephalogram in man. Anesthesiology. 1949;10(5):601–9.

- Kiersey DK, Faulconer A, Bickford RG. Automatic electro-encephalographic control of thiopental anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1954;15(4):356–64.
- Michenfelder JD, Gronert GA, Rehder K. Neuroanesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1969;30(1):65–100.
- Lanier WL. The History of Neuroanesthesiology: The People, Pursuits, and Practices. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2012;24(4):281–99.
- Lang M, Tsiang J, Moore NZ, Bain MD, Steinmetz MP. A tribute to Dr Robert J. White Neurosurgery. 2019;85(2):E366–73.
- White RJ, Schreiner LH, Hughes RA, Maccarty CS, Grindlay JH. Physiologic consequences of total hemispherectomy in the monkey; operative method and functional recovery. Neurology. 1959;9(3):149–59.
- Monro A. Observations on the structure and functions of the nervous system, illustrated with tables. Lond Med J. 1783;4(2):5.
- Kellie G. Appearances observed in the dissection of two individuals; death from cold and congestion of the brain. Trans Med-Chir Soc Edinb. 1824;1:84.
- Lundberg N. Monitoring of intracranial pressure. Proc R Soc Med. 1972;65(1):19–22.
- Page LK. History of pediatric neurosurgery in the United States and Canada. Childs Nerv Syst. 1991;7(1):53–5.
- Cohen AR. Boston children's hospital and the origin of pediatric neurosurgery. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30(10):1621–4.
- Cushing H. Experiences with the cerebellar astrocytomas: a critical review of seventy-six cases. Surgery, Gynecology and Obstetrics, Volume LII. Chicago, IL: The Surgical Publishing Company of Chicago; 1931. p. 129–204.
- Torkildsen A. A new palliative operation in cases of inoperable occlusion of the Sylvian aqueduct. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1939;14(1–2):221.
- Nulsen FE, Spitz EB. Treatment of hydrocephalus by direct shunt from ventricle to jugular vein. Surg Forum. 1951:399–403.
- Roland JL, Smyth MD. Recent advances in the neurosurgical treatment of pediatric epilepsy: JNSPG 75th anniversary invited review article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;23(4):411–21.
- Lane LC. Pioneer craniectomy for relief of mental imbecility due to premature sutural closure and microcephalus. J Am Med Assoc. 1892;XVIII(2):49–50.
- Mehta VA, Bettegowda C, Jallo GI, Ahn ES. The evolution of surgical management for craniosynostosis. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;29(6):E5.
- Suzuki J, Takaku A. Cerebrovascular 'moyamoya' disease. Disease showing abnormal net-like vessels in base of brain. Arch Neurol. 1969;20(3):288–99.
- Reis CVC, Safavi-Abbasi S, Zabramski JM, Gusmão SNS, Spetzler RF, Preul MC. The history of neurosurgical procedures for moyamoya disease. Neurosurg Focus. 2006;20(6):E7.
- Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, Chesnut RM, du Coudray HEM, Goldstein B, et al. Guidelines for the acute medical management of severe traumatic

brain injury in infants, children, and adolescents. Chapter 19. The role of anti-seizure prophylaxis following severe pediatric traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med J Soc Crit Care Med World Fed Pediatr Intensive Crit Care Soc. 2003;4(3 Suppl):S72–5.

- Albright AL. The past, present, and future of pediatric neurosurgery: Matson lecture, May 4, 2004. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2004;101(2):125–9.
- Muraszko KM, Garton H, Song DK. Training in pediatric neurosurgery. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2008;1(1):47–9.
- 34. Dewan MC, Onen J, Bow H, Ssenyonga P, Howard C, Warf BC. Subspecialty pediatric neurosurgery training: a skill-based training model for neurosurgeons in low-resourced health systems. Neurosurg Focus. 2018;45(4):E2.
- Karapurkar AP, Pandya SK. Neurosurgery in India. Neurosurg Rev. 1983;6(3):85–92.
- Abraham J, Mathai KV, Rajshekhar V, Narayan RK. Jacob Chandy: pioneering neurosurgeon of India. Neurosurgery. 2010;67(3):567–75. discussion 575-576
- Rajshekhar V. History of neurosurgery at Christian Medical College, Vellore: a pioneer's tale. Neurol India. 2016;64(2):297–310.
- Ramesh VG, Bhanu K, Jothi R. The Madras Institute of Neurology, Madras Medical College. Chennai Neurol India. 2015;63(6):940.
- Wadia N. Chronic progressive myelopathy complicating atlanto-axial dislocation due to congenital abnormality. Neurol India. 1960;8:81–94.
- Tandon P. Meningo-encephalocoele. Neurol India. 1966;14(3):161–4.
- Upadhyaya P, Parthasarathy V. Comparative study of the hydrodynamic properties of ventriculo-atrial shunts. Neurol India Suppl II. 1972:348–50.
- 42. Deopujari CE. Neurosurgery at the Bombay hospital. Neurol India. 2017;65(3):600–6.
- Bhagwati SN. Development of pediatric neurosurgery in India. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6(Suppl 1):S4–10.
- 44. Charpentier A. Grandin EH, Charpentier A, editors. Cyclopedia of obstetrics and gynecology. New York: William Wood & Company. 262.
- Barke MW, Scarbough JI, O'Gorman L, Thompson WB. Intrauterine ventriculography of the hydrocephalic fetus. Obstet Gynecol. 1966;28(4):568–70.
- 46. Frigoletto FD, Birnholz JC, Greene MF. Antenatal treatment of hydrocephalus by ventriculoamniotic shunting. JAMA. 1982;248(19):2496–7.
- Clewell WH, Johnson ML, Meier PR, Newkirk JB, Zide SL, Hendee RW, et al. A surgical approach to the treatment of fetal hydrocephalus. N Engl J Med. 1982;306(22):1320–5.
- Bruner JP, Richards WO, Tulipan NB, Arney TL. Endoscopic coverage of fetal myelomeningocele in utero. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;180(1 Pt 1):153–8.
- Adzick NS, Sutton LN, Crombleholme TM, Flake AW. Successful fetal surgery for spina bifida. Lancet Lond Engl. 1998;352(9141):1675–6.

- Tulipan N, Hernanz-Schulman M, Lowe LH, Bruner JP. Intrauterine myelomeningocele repair reverses preexisting hindbrain herniation. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1999;31(3):137–42.
- Adzick NS, Thom EA, Spong CY, Brock JW, Burrows PK, Johnson MP, et al. A randomized trial of prenatal versus postnatal repair of myelomeningocele. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(11):993–1004.
- Bristol RE, Albuquerque FC, Spetzler RF, Rekate HL, McDougall CG, Zabramski JM. Surgical management of arteriovenous malformations in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2006;105(2):88–93.
- Pasquet A. Combined regional and general anesthesia for craniotomy and cortical exploration. Part II. Anesthetic considerations. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 1986;24(3):12–20.
- Air EL, Ostrem JL, Sanger TD, Starr PA. Deep brain stimulation in children: experience and technical pearls: clinical article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;8(6):566–74.
- Cooper IS. Chemopallidectomy and Chemothalamectomy for parkinsonism and dystonia. Proc R Soc Med. 1959;52(1):47–60.
- 56. Coubes P, Echenne B, Roubertie A, Vayssière N, Tuffery S, Humbertclaude V, et al. Treatment of earlyonset generalized dystonia by chronic bilateral stimulation of the internal globus pallidus. Apropos of a case. Neurochirurgie. 1999;45(2):139–44.
- Cif L, Coubes P. Historical developments in children's deep brain stimulation. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2017;21(1):109–17.
- Vavilala MS, Lam AM. Perioperative considerations in pediatric traumatic brain injury. Int Anesthesiol Clin. 2002;40(3):69–87.
- Vavilala MS, Muangman S, Tontisirin N, Fisk D, Roscigno C, Mitchell P, et al. Impaired cerebral autoregulation and 6-month outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury: preliminary findings. Dev Neurosci. 2006;28(4–5):348–53.
- 60. Vavilala MS, Muangman S, Waitayawinyu P, Roscigno C, Jaffe K, Mitchell P, et al. Neurointensive care; impaired cerebral autoregulation in infants and young children early after inflicted traumatic brain injury: a preliminary report. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24(1):87–96.
- Steen PA, Michenfelder JD. Neurotoxicity of anesthetics. Anesthesiology. 1979;50(5):437–53.
- Young AE. Designing a safe and sustainable pediatric neurosurgical practice: the English experience. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(7):649–56.
- Chumas P, Hardy D, Hockley A, Lang D, Leggate J, May P, et al. Safe paediatric neurosurgery 2001. Br J Neurosurg. 2002;16(3):208–10.
- Urciuoli R, Trompeo MA. Considerations of neuroanesthesia in 270 cases of pediatric neurosurgery. Minerva Anestesiol. 1965;31:54–7.
- 65. Zatelli R, Defant G, Fossati A, Verga G. Anesthesiological problems in surgical treatment

of hydrocephalus in infants. Minerva Anestesiol. 1969;35(5):480–4.

- Rochet D. Problems of anesthesia in hydrocephalus. Cah Anesthesiol. 1971;19(7):845–54.
- Brophy T. Paediatric neurosurgical and neuroradiological anaesthesia. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1973;1(6):529–34.
- Creighton RE, Relton JE, Meridy HW. Anaesthesia for occipital encephalocoele. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1974;21(4):403–6.
- Morse N, Smith PC. Ketamine anesthesia in a hydranencephalic infant. Anesthesiology. 1974 Apr;40(4):407–9.
- Kaul HL, Jayalaxmi T, Gode GR, Mitra DK. Effect of ketamine on intracranial pressure in hydrocephalic children. Anaesthesia. 1976;31(5):698–701.
- 5th Italian-French meeting on neuroanesthesia and resuscitation. Turin, 1–3 June 1988.
 2. Pediatric neuroanesthesia and resuscitation. Proceedings. Minerva Anestesiol. 1989;55(4):135–207.
- Eldredge EA, Soriano SG, Rockoff MA. Neuroanesthesia. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 1995;6(3):505–20.
- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Rockoff MA. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Anesthesiol Clin N Am. 2002;20(2):389–404.
- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Rockoff MA. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2007 May;17(2):259–67.
- Soriano SG. Not just neuroanesthesia, but pediatric neuroanesthesia! Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(7):645–6.
- Rath GP, Dash HH. Anaesthesia for neurosurgical procedures in paediatric patients. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56(5):502–10.
- McClain CD, Soriano SG. Anesthesia for intracranial surgery in infants and children. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27(5):465–9.
- Clebone A. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2015;28(5):494–7.
- Lamsal R, Rath GP. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2018;31(5):539–43.
- Hunter AR. Neurosurgical Anesthesia. Philadelphia F.A.: Davis Co.; 1964.
- Cottrell JE, Turndorf H. Anesthesia and Neurosurgery. 1st ed. Mosby; 1980. 433 p.
- 82. Soriano SG, McManus ML. Pediatric Neuroanesthesia and Critical Care. In: Cottrell JE, Patel P, editors. Cottrell and Patel's Neuroanesthesia. 6th edition. Edinburgh London New York Oxford Philadelphia St Louis Sydney Toronto: Elsevier; 2016. p. 353–66.
- 83. Albin MS. Celebrating silver: the genesis of a neuroanesthesiology society. NAS-->SNANSC-->SNACC. Neuroanesthesia Society. Society of Neurosurgical Anesthesia and Neurological Supportive Care. Society of Neurosurgical Anesthesia and Critical Care. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1997;9(4):296–307.



Developmental Anatomy and Physiology of the Central Nervous System in Children

Vanitha Rajagopalan 💿 and Ramamani Mariappan 💿

Key Points

- The central nervous system (CNS) is incompletely developed at birth, and its growth and maturation continue until the end of the second year of life.
- The CNS anatomy and physiology of neonates and infants are profoundly distinct from that of older children; hence, the pediatric population should not be treated as a homogenous group.
- The brain is supplied by the bilateral internal carotid, vertebral arteries, and venous drainage via the cerebral veins and dural venous sinuses that drain into the internal jugular veins.
- The cerebral blood flow is approximately 40–50% of cardiac output in children between 1 and 3 years of age, making them vulnerable to cerebral ischemia following systemic hypotension.
- The cerebral autoregulation and CO₂ reactivity are preserved in preterm and term neonates.

• The immature neurons are more vulnerable to adverse influences of toxic substances, and hence, neuroprotective strategies and treatment are warranted.

2.1 Introduction

The pediatric age group ranges from neonates, infant to adolescent. Neonates are termed as preterm, term, and post-term according to their postconceptional age. Based on their postnatal age and birth weight, children are classified further with different terminologies (Table 2.1). Each age group has a unique physiology to understand. Children should not be handled as a homogenous group, especially between birth and 8 years of life, due to the differences in anatomy, physiology, pharmacokinetics, dynamics, and pathological conditions. The central nervous system (CNS) is immature at birth and keeps growing until the end of the second year of postnatal life. The CNS of neonates and infants is profoundly distinct from that of older children and an adult. Therefore, the neuroanesthesiologists must have a comprehensive understanding of the intracranial compartment, cerebrovascular physiology, and the developmental oddities of the nervous system, including the pathologies in children and their difference from adults. This chapter discusses clinically pertinent aspects of the CNS development and function in children and their application to pediatric neuroanesthesiology.

V. Rajagopalan

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

R. Mariappan (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesia, Christian Medical College (CMC), Vellore, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: ramamani@cmcvellore.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_2

| Age | Terminologies |
|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| According to the | |
| gestational age | |
| <37 weeks | Preterm |
| 32-37 weeks | Mild preterm |
| 28-31 weeks | Moderate preterm |
| <28 weeks | Extreme preterm |
| 37–42 weeks | Term |
| >42 weeks | Post-term |
| According to the postnatal | |
| age | |
| Neonates | First 28 days of postnatal |
| | life |
| Early | First 7 days |
| Late | 8–28 days |
| Infants | 29th day to first year |
| Smaller children | 1-6 years |
| Bigger children | 7–12 years |
| Adolescents | 13-16 years |
| According to the birth | |
| weight | |
| 2500 g to 4200 gm | Normal birth weight |
| <2500 gm | Low birth weight |
| <1500 gm | Very low birth weight |
| <1000 gm | Extreme low birth weight |

 Table 2.1 Terms used according to the post-gestational and postnatal age

This knowledge is essential as it allows for the established and safe care for pediatric neurosurgical patients across the entire spectrum of age and disease.

2.2 Development of the Central and Autonomic Nervous Systems

2.2.1 Intrauterine Development

Intrauterine development starts from conception and continues to grow till birth. This prenatal period consists of three stages, which include the germinal, embryonic, and fetal stage. The germinal stage starts with conception, implantation of the embryo into the uterine wall, and the formation of the placenta, which lasts about 2 weeks. The second, embryonic stage, where there are intense cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation leading to the establishment of major organs, happens. This second stage lasts from the third to eighth week. During the fetal stage, there is a functional differentiation of organs formed during the embryonic stage, which lasts from the ninth week to the end of pregnancy. The development of the CNS and autonomic nervous system (ANS) is discussed in detail below.

2.2.2 Development of the Brain

A human embryo consists of a three-layered disc—ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm [1–3]. From this embryo, on the 12th day, the noto-chord develops as a cellular rod along the midline axis around which the vertebral bodies are organized. The following three steps are observed in the CNS embryogenesis process: (a) neurulation, (b) canalization, and (c) retrogressive differentiation.

(a) Neurulation: The embryonic ectoderm which lies in the midline, on the dorsal aspect of the embryonic disc, over the developing notochord, thickens to form a neural plate by about 18 days. The neural plate gets depressed along the midline and forms the neural groove, and the lateral part of the neural plate gets elevated and forms neural folds. The neural groove progressively gets deeper, and the neural folds continue to elevate and fuse in the midline and form the neural tube. This process of neural tube formation (Fig. 2.1) from the 15th to 28th day of postconceptional age, during which the brain and the spinal cord through L2-4 develop, is called neurulation.

Development of the Brain: The fusion of neural folds originates in the cervical region and advances in a cephalocaudal direction. The neural tube is open cranially and caudally until the fusion is completed, and these openings are called the anterior and posterior neuropores, respectively. The two edges of the neural plate also fuse along cranio-caudally. The cranial part of the neural tube gets enlarged and forms the brain, and the tubular caudal part forms the spinal cord.



Fig. 2.1 Formation of neural groove (a), neural tube (b), and neural crest (c). Cells of the neural crest migrate and develop into cranial and spinal sensory ganglia

By the third week of gestation, the cranial part of the neural tube demonstrates three dilations (three primary brain vesicles), which form the three main subdivisions: the forebrain (prosencephalon), midbrain (mesencephalon), and hindbrain (rhombencephalon). Simultaneously, two flexures form: one at the confluence of the hindbrain and the spinal cord called cervical flexure and the second one forming at the midbrain region (Fig. 2.2). By the end of 5 weeks, the three vesicles become five vesicles. The prosencephalon divides further into telencephalon and diencephalon; the mesencephalon remains the same. The rhombencephalon becomes metencephalon and myelencephalon. Figure 2.2 shows the development of the brain from the cranial part of the neural tube. Simultaneously, two flexures form; one is the rhombencephalic isthmus, which separates the mesencephalon and the metencephalon, and the other is pontine flexure, which separates the metencephalon and myelencephalon. The five secondary vesicles form the different parts of the brain. The cavity of the neural tube at each portion of the brain becomes the ventricle or foramen connecting the ventricles. Figure 2.3a, b shows the development of various parts of the brain.

- (b) Canalization: The second process of CNS embryogenesis is canalization, which lasts between 30 and 52 days of post-gestational age. During this process, the sacrococcygeal segments of the spinal cord are formed by the fusion of the notochord and the neural epithelium with caudal cell mass.
- (c) Retrogressive differentiation: The third process of CNS embryogenesis is retrogressive differentiation, which starts on the 46th day of post-gestational age and continues to develop till birth. During this process, the excessive cells formed during recanalization undergo necrosis leaving the cauda equina and filum terminale.



Fig. 2.2 Development of the brain from the cranial part of the neural tube

Neural Crest Formation: Around the time of formation of the neural tube, the neural crest, which lies on the dorsolateral aspect of the neural tube and develops from the cells at the junction of the neural tube and the rest of the ectoderm on either side, it transforms into specialized cells and gets separated from the rest of the ectoderm (Fig. 2.1c). Later, these cells lose its adhesiveness and migrate freely to different parts of the body tissue and form essential structures such as dorsal root ganglia, all sympathetic and parasympathetic ganglia, preaortic ganglia, Schwann cells, enteric neuronal plexus, the pia mater, and the arachnoid mater, adrenal medulla, melanocytes, odontoblasts, parafollicular cells (calcitonin-producing C cells), and aorticopulmonary septum.

2.2.3 Development of the Spinal Cord

The caudal part of the neural tube forms the spinal cord (Fig. 2.4). Neuroepithelial cells lining the neural tube undergo rapid proliferation once the neural tube closure occurs, forming the inner layer, which lines the central canal. The outer layer of neuroepithelial cells transforms and produces another cell type (with a large round nucleus, pale nucleoplasm, and dark staining nucleolus) called primitive nerve cells or neuroblasts. This neuroblast forms the *mantle layer*, which later forms the *gray matter of the spinal cord*. Nerve fibers are arising from the neuroblast pass through the *outermost layer or marginal layer*. The myelination of this nerve fiber gives a white appearance; hence, the name of this layer is *white matter of the spinal cord*.

Continuous proliferation of neuroblasts in the mantle layer forms ventral and dorsal thickening. Ventral thickening, otherwise called a basal plate, contains ventral motor horn cells and transforms into a motor area. The dorsal thickening, otherwise called the *alar plate*, forms the sensory area. Sulcus limitans, a longitudinal groove, separates the ventral and dorsal thickening. Intermediolateral horn, which lies between the ventral and dorsal horn, contains the cell bodies of the sympathetic nervous system at the thoracic (T1-12) and lumbar (L1-L2) levels of the spinal cord (Fig. 2.4). The midline portion of the neural



Fig. 2.3 Line diagram (a) and schematic embryological development of various parts of the brain (b)

tube on the dorsal and ventral aspect is called a roof and floor plate, where the nerve fibers cross from one side to another side.

The spinal cord fills the spinal canal during embryonic life. Later, the growth of osseous structures exceeds that of neural structures during the fetal period. Hence, the cord and dural sac terminate at higher levels compared to the vertebral level. The spinal cord ends at the L3 intervertebral level at birth and reaches the adult level (L1–L2) by 8 years of age. The dural sac ends at S3 vertebral level at birth and reaches the adult level (S2) by 1 year of age. Biomechanical maturation of the spine is a progressive process; the pediatric spine resembles the adult spine only after 8–9 years. Since the termination of the spinal cord and dura happens at the lower level, it is better to approach the epidural and subarachnoid spaces at a lower intervertebral level to avoid any inadvertent damage to the neural structure.

2.2.4 Autonomic Nervous System (ANS)

ANS consists of both sympathetic and parasympathetic system (Fig. 2.5). *The sympathetic system* (Fig. 2.5a) originates from the



Fig. 2.4 Development of the spinal cord: (a) stage of formation of basal, alar, roof, and floor plates; (b) formation of ventral motor horn, dorsal sensory horn, and intermediate column

intermediolateral horn of the spinal cord from segments T1 to L2, where the preganglionic nerve cell body lies. The first-order neuron (preganglionic fiber) starts from there and enters the ventral nerve root, ventral primary rami, and white rami communicantes. It synapses at the sympathetic ganglia or, without synapsing at the sympathetic ganglia, passes through it as abdominopelvic splanchnic nerves and synapses at the prevertebral ganglia. Postganglionic fibers arise from sympathetic trunk/para-aortic ganglia and innervate the organs.

The parasympathetic system (Fig. 2.5b) has a craniosacral outflow with preganglionic cell bodies arise from brain stem cranial nerve nuclei III, VII, IX, and X and the sacral spinal cord segments S2-4. The first-order neuron travels through the corresponding cranial nerves and synapses at the ciliary ganglion (CN III), pterygopalatine (CN VII), and otic ganglia. Vagus nerve (CN X) synapses at the ganglia, which lies close to the visceral organ. Preganglionic fibers from sacral segments leave the ventral primary rami of spinal nerves S2-4 as pelvic splanchnic nerves and innervate the gastrointestinal tract, from the distal two-thirds of the transverse colon to the rectum. Both sympathetic and parasympathetic ganglia are derived from neural crest cells.

The ANS is fairly mature in the newborn. The parasympathetic effects on the cardiovascular system are totally operative after birth, and reflex apnea, bradycardia, or laryngospasm may result due to activation of the laryngeal reflex by the excitement of receptors located on the face, nose, and upper airways of the newborn. The sympathetic effects are seen only at 4–6 months of age. Baroreflexes involving the medullary vasomotor centers (pressor and depressor areas) to maintain the blood pressure and heart rate are functional in awake newborns since birth but diminished in the anesthetized newborn.

2.2.5 Neuronal and Cellular Proliferation

Neuroblast multiplies between 10 and 18 weeks of gestational age resulting in brain growth, and this is the phase when the CNS is extremely sensitive to the extrinsic noxious impact of viral infections, drugs, toxins, and X-rays [4]. Neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and glial cells continue to differentiate, and they are in continuous formation and remodeling of axons and synaptic connections. Neuronal cells increase from about one-fourth at birth to two-thirds of intracranial volume by 6 months, and their complete growth



Fig. 2.5 Autonomic nervous system: sympathetic nervous system (a) and parasympathetic nervous system (b)



Fig. 2.5 (continued)

is achieved during the second year of life. Differential growth rates occur in different areas: the cerebellum, which is underdeveloped at birth, becomes fully developed in the first year of life ahead of the cortex and brain stem development. Neurons relocate to form the cortical layers by the eighth week of gestation, and this migration is completed by the sixth month. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) production starts between 6 and 8 weeks.

2.2.6 Myelination

Myelinization and amplification of dendritic processes start at the third trimester and continues till the second year of postnatal age. Myelination starts at the cervical neuromeres and extends both cranially and caudally and gets completed by 12 years of age. The primitive reflexes, the Moro and grasp reflexes in the neonate, occur due to incomplete myelinization and help to assess neurodevelopment.

The reduced size of nerve fibers due to lack of myelin and shorter distance between successive nodes of Ranvier favor local anesthetics penetration and hasten nerve blockade even with the use of dilute solutions. Nutrition is a critical factor for full cerebral development, and deficient cerebral lipid and protein content that results from malnutrition results in a reduction in the number of cells and dendritic connections. The brain weighs approximately 335 gm at birth, which is about 10-15% of body weight (1/10 of body weight compared with 1/50 of body weight in the adult). Brain weight doubles by 6 months to about 900 gm at 1 year and 1000 gm at 2 years, reaching the final adult weight of 1200-1400 gm by about 12 years of age.

2.3 Relevant Anatomy

2.3.1 Head Size, Suture, and Fontanelle

Growth in children is assessed by changes in weight, length, and head circumference (HC).

Percentile charts of variables mentioned above help in tracking the child's growth and development. Deviations from the past percentile are more significant than any single measurement of growth. The head (with respect to body and trunk) is relatively larger in children compared to adults. At birth, the HC measures about 35 cm (Table 2.2). The HC increases by 10 cm during the first year. Then, it slowly expands and reaches the adult level by 6 years of age.

Head size contributes about 1/5 (19%) of total body surface area (BSA) till infancy and gradually decreases and reaches by 11% by 14 years of age (Table 2.3). It matches the adult value of 7% by 25 years of age. HC increases further in children with intracranial pathology causing separation of the sutures and widening of fontanelles.

Skull has two main parts – (i) calvaria or the brain box which encloses the brain consisting of 14 bones which include 3 paired ear ossicles and (ii) the facial skeleton consisting of 14 bones, including the mandible, with 28 bones altogether. Calvarial bones are thin and connected by fibrous structures called sutures. The sutures allow the bones to enlarge evenly as the skull expands to accommodate the growing brain. There are four major sutures of the skull. *Metopic suture* joins the two frontal bones in the midline and extends from the vertex down the center of the forehead, toward the nose. It is the first suture to close

Table 2.2 An expected increase in head circumference at each stage of development

| Age | Increase in head circumference |
|-------------|--------------------------------|
| 0–3 months | By 2 cm/month |
| 3–6 months | By 1 cm/month |
| 6–12 months | By 0.5 cm/month |
| 1-3 years | 0.25 cm/month |
| 4–6 years | 1 cm/year |
| | |

Table 2.3 The ratio of head to the total body surface area(BSA) at various ages

| Age | % of body surface area (BSA) |
|-------------|------------------------------|
| 0–1 year | 19 |
| 1-4 years | 17 |
| 5–9 years | 13 |
| 10-14 years | 11 |
| Adult | 7 |

physiologically, starts at 3 months of age, and completely fuses at 8 months of age. *Coronal suture* connects the frontal bone with a parietal bone and extends from one ear to the other. *Sagittal suture* joins the two parietal bones in the midline and runs anteroposteriorly. *Lambdoid suture* joins each parietal bone with the occipital bone and extends across the back of the head.

The area between the bones of an infant's skull where the sutures intersect is called fontanelles. There are six fontanelles at birth: two major-anterior and posterior fontanelles-and four minor, anterior sphenoid (two on either side) and the posterior mastoid (two on either side), fontanelles, which are covered by durable membranes and protect the underlying soft tissues and brain. The anterior fontanelle (AF) is formed at the intersection of the metopic, coronal, and sagittal sutures and the junction of the two frontal and two parietal bones. It usually closes by about 9–18 months. By feeling the AF, the clinical assessment of dehydration (sunken AF), increased ICP (bulging AF) may be made. Ultrasound examination of the fontanelle can detect intracranial bleeding in neonates. AF allows noninvasively monitoring the intactness of the intracranial blood vessels and the status of the neonatal brain [5]. Trans-fontanelle ultrasound imaging can detect both intraventricular and cerebellar hemorrhage [6]. Posterior fonta*nelle* is formed at the junction of the two parietal bones and the occipital bone and usually ossifies first, by about 2-3 months. The clinical implication of large heads in pediatric neurosurgical patients is that they are more prone to the difficult airway, increased blood loss, and difficulty with temperature control under anesthesia. The bony skull both protects and jeopardizes the integrity of the pediatric brain. When infants sustain a head injury, because of thin calvarial bone and large head size with the unfused sutures and fontanelles, there is deformation, with or without fracturing. The increased cerebral compliance in young children due to thin calvarial bone, open sutures, and fontanelles is limited only to a point. The slow expansion of the intracranial contents can mask the raised ICP and can be the reason for delayed presentation in children with slow-growing brain tumors. But a sudden acute rise in the intracranial volume (head injury or subarachnoid, intraventricular hemorrhage) results in an acute increase in ICP with resultant risks of herniation and stroke. Craniosynostosis is a condition in which there is a premature fusion of any of the sutures. There will be no growth in the area of the fused sutures and forcing the growth of the skull in another direction giving rise to abnormal head shape.

2.4 Cerebral Vascular Anatomy

2.4.1 Arterial Circulation

The arterial blood supply to the brain is from anterior and posterior circulation (Fig. 2.6a). *Anterior circulation* is formed by the internal carotid arteries (ICAs) on both sides, while the vertebrobasilar system forms the *Posterior circulation*.

Anterior circulation contributes to 80% of blood supply to the brain. ICA is a branch of the common carotid artery that arises from the brachiocephalic artery on the right side and directly from the aortic arch on the left side. The ophthalmic, superior hypophyseal, posterior communicating, and anterior choroidal arteries arise from the ICA before it finally divides into two major end vessels-anterior and middle cerebral arteries (ACA, MCA). The two anterior cerebral arteries (A1) travel over the optic chiasm and communicate with each other through the anterior communicating artery (ACOM). The paired A2 vessel arises from the Acom complex and travels posterosuperior over the corpus callosum. The A2 divides into pericallosal and callosomarginal arteries (A3). The terminal branch (A4) supplies the medial frontal lobe, which represents the lower limbs. MCA is divided into M1, M2, M3, and M4 segments. The middle cerebral artery (MCA) supplies the internal capsule through lenticulostriate branches (deep), while the terminal or cortical (superficial) supplies the lateral cortex. Vascular compromise produces dense hemiplegia, while the terminal branch occlusion results in brachiocephalic paralysis.


Fig. 2.6 Cerebral vascular anatomy: (a) blood supply of the brain, anterior, posterior circulation, and the "circle of Willis"; (b) venous drainage of brain

Ophthalmic artery (OA) supplies the globe, and the *superior hypophyseal artery* supplies the pituitary gland and stalk. *The posterior communicating (PCOM) artery* joins the posterior cerebral artery and divides the PCA into P1 and P2 segments. *The anterior choroidal artery* supplies the inner cortex and optic pathway and supplies the choroid plexus.

Posterior circulation contributes 20% of blood supply to the brain. The paired vertebral

arteries (VA) arise from the second part of the subclavian artery. It travels cranially through the C6–C1 vertebral foramen. At the level of C1, it travels over the C1 posterior arch and enters the subarachnoid space at the level of the craniover-tebral junction. It gives rise to a *posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA)* and travels cranially and joins to form the *basilar artery (BA)* at the pontomedullary junction. The BA gives rise to multiple *pontine branches, anterior*

SCA supply the cerebellum. The "circle of Willis (CoW)" is a circular vascular ring formed at the base of the brain. The anterior circulation communicates with the posterior circulation through the PCOM artery. It not only provides collateral flow in times of ischemia; it also reduces the pressure within the arterial system in times of high blood flow. Only about 42-52% of people have an intact CoW [7]. In children with incomplete CoW (a part of CoW is either absent or hypoplastic), collateral flow occurs through the distal leptomeningeal branches or the OA from the external carotid artery (retrograde flow) and supplies the surface of the brain and to the ICA, respectively.

which supply the brain stem. AICA, PICA, and

2.4.2 Venous Drainage

The pial layer houses the cerebral veins, while the subarachnoid layer has the large collecting veins, which eventually run through the subdural space to drain into the cranial venous sinuses. The dural venous sinuses are the space between the endosteal and the meningeal layers of the dura. The cerebral venous system consists of the superficial and deep systems (Fig. 2.6b). The superior sagittal sinus drains into the transverse sinuses. The junction of superior sagittal, straight, and the two transverse sinuses is called "torcular Herophili." The transverse sinus continues with the sigmoid sinus and enters into the jugular foramen and drains into the internal jugular vein (IJV). The deep veins drain into the cavernous, superior, and inferior petrosal sinus. The paired thalamostriate veins, draining the deep structures of the brain, enter through the foramen of Monro and travel posteriorly in the roof of the third ventricle.

The *vein of Galen* is formed by the union of the two internal cerebral veins. The vein of

Galen joins the basal vein of Rosenthal and the inferior sagittal sinus and forms the straight sinus. The straight sinus drains into the torcula. The vein of Trolard and the vein of Labbe are two important large veins draining the lateral cerebral cortex and temporal lobe, respectively. The cerebellum drains through the inferior cerebellar veins and into the occipital sinuses. Venous compromise can result in varying degrees of deficit and also can result in mortality. The superior sagittal sinus is particularly important to the anesthesiologist as it is superficial, and in the midline, the location puts it at risk during surgery. Most of the intracranial blood volume consists of blood in the venous sinuses and pial veins.

2.5 Cerebral Physiology

2.5.1 Cerebral Blood Flow (CBF)

There are no conclusive studies on CBF and autoregulation in the pediatric population, and similar mechanisms as in adults are reckoned. The CBF varies with age [8]; premature and the term newborn have lower CBF than adults, making them vulnerable to cerebral ischemia, while it is higher in infants and older children when compared to adults. The CBF peaks around 2 to 4 years of age and settles down at 12 years of age [9]. The normal average CBF values in the different age groups are enumerated in Table 2.4 [9]. The gray matter consisting of the cell bodies of the neurons and associated with the intricate functions receives a greater fraction of the arterial blood supply. The white matter is mostly composed of

Table 2.4 Normal cerebral blood flow (CBF) at various age groups

| Age | Cerebral blood flow (ml/100gm/min) |
|---------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Preterm neonates | 12–20 |
| Full-term neonates | 23–40 |
| Infants <6 months | 40-42 |
| 6 months to 3 years | 90 |
| 3 years to 12 years | 100 |
| Adults | 50 |

axons, is involved with less complicated functions like transmission of impulses between the neurons, and needs a lesser amount of blood supply. This difference in CBF (compartmentalization) has been tested in sick neonates. Hence, the neonates are more prone to white matter ischemia in the presence of systemic hypotension. Premature neonates are more prone to hemorrhage in and around the ventricular area. The periventricular area is rich in germinal matrix, highly vascularized neuronal-glial precursor cells rich in frail blood vessels. These blood vessels are deficient in pericytes, have immature basal lamina, and lack glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in the encasing astrocytes' end feet, making them prone to hemorrhage.

2.5.1.1 Factors Affecting Cerebral Blood Flow

Many physiological and pathological factors affect the CBF; they are discussed in detail below (Fig. 2.7).

1. **Cerebral Perfusion Pressure (CPP):** CBF depends upon the CPP, which in turn is related to mean arterial pressure (MAP) and

the ICP. In most organs, the driving pressure depends upon the variation between the arterial and venous pressure. However, in the brain, the ICP is the downstream pressure and not the venous pressure. The brain lies within a confined cavity, and an increase in ICP results in a collapse of the bridging pial veins and venous sinuses, which act as Starling resistors. Hence, the CPP is the difference between the MAP and ICP [CPP = MAP - ICP]. In children MAP and ICP vary according to the age group. For calculating the normative BP, height, and birth weight, gestational age must be considered, but it is not considered in routine clinipractice. Even the definition of cal hypotension varies in neonates and infants. For defining hypotension in neonates and small children, systolic blood pressure (SBP) is often considered and not the MAP. Most pediatric anesthesiologists define hypotension as a threshold value for an SBP of 50 mmHg or assume a 20-30% decrease from baseline SBP value as clinically significant hypotension [10]. For calculating the CPP, measurement of MAP and



Fig. 2.7 Factors affecting the cerebral blood flow. SNA Sympathetic neuronal activity; RAA renin angiotensin aldosterone

the ICP are needed, and ICP varies with age. Neonatologists define hypotension as MAP less than or equal to the gestational age in weeks. One commonly used formula for estimating MAP in infants and small children is 1.5 X (age in years) + 40 (5th percentile at 50th height percentile) and 1.5 X (age in years) + 55 (50th percentile at 50th height percentile). Normal ICP varies between 1.5 and 6 mmHg in newborn and 3-7 mmHg in children. Measuring the ICP in children helps to maintain the optimal CPP. There are no recommendations regarding the agedependent optimum CPP for children with raised ICP. The treatment guidelines for pediatric traumatic brain injury (TBI) recommend maintaining the ICP less than 20 mmHg and CPP greater than 40–50 mmHg (Level III evidence). The target CPP needs to be increased for older children and adolescents [11]. Studies have shown that children managed with BP recommended by the pediatric TBI group also had low brain oxygen [11]. Regarding the CPP, there are no age-based recommendations available for children with raised ICP. Future studies are recommended regarding the optimum CPP for each age group.

The increase in cerebrovascular resistance (CVR) impedes the CBF. The CBF is influenced primarily by the diameter of the vessels. During cerebral vasodilatation, the radius of the distal vessels increases, thereby decreasing the CVR and augmenting CBF. At the same time, vasoconstriction of the cerebral vasculature reduces CBF by increasing the CVR. The following relationship determines the CBF:

- CBF = CPP/CVR; CVR = $8\eta l/\pi r4$, where l is the length of the vessel, η is the viscosity of blood, and r is the radius of the vessel.
- Arterial Carbon Dioxide Tension (PaCO₂): CO₂ is the most important determinant of CBF. Cerebral blood vessels are susceptible to change in PaCO₂. CBF varies almost linearly with arterial carbon dioxide concentration between 18.5 and 60 mmHg (Fig. 2.8). Wyatt



et al. [12], using near-infrared spectrophotometry in sick newborns, have illustrated that the PaCO₂-related changes in CBF are linear. Hyperventilation re-establishes autoregulation in the neonate as in adults [13]. The vasoreactivity response to a small change in PaCO₂ starts within seconds and reaches a steady state within 10 min [14], gradually returning toward baseline CVR over the next 3–6 h, corresponding with the time course of pH regulation through bicarbonate extrusion [15]. Persistent hypercapnia results in late hyperemia, and that does not return to normal even after normalization of serum bicarbonate.

Mechanism of Hypercarbia-Induced Increase in CBF in Neonates and Infants: Increase in arterial CO₂ easily diffuses into the brain through the BBB and combines with H₂O and forms the H₂CO₃ which dissociates to H⁺ and HCO3⁻. An increase in pH stimulates the K⁺ ATPase channel and causes hyperpolarization and smooth muscle vasodilation. Activation of K⁺ ATP channel, in turn, inhibits the Ca⁺⁺ entry into the smooth muscle. An increase in H⁺ also stimulates the cyclooxygenase enzyme in the capillary endothelium, which increases the prostaglandin through the CAMP pathway and causes cerebral vasodilation (Fig. 2.9).

Cerebrovascular Reactivity to Carbon Dioxide in Children

Changes in CVR and the CBF in response to changes in PaCO₂ are termed as *cerebrovascular reactivity* to carbon dioxide. It is expressed in terms of an absolute and relative term. Absolute CO₂ reactivity is defined as the change in CBF (ml/min) per unit change in PaCO₂ (mmHg). Relative CO₂ reactivity is defined as the percentage (%) change from the baseline value. The formula is expressed either in *ml/mmHg* (while using the direct method to measure the CBF) or *cm/sec/mmHg* if TCD is used to measure the CBF (Table 2.5).

The change in CBF occurs instantaneously after the $PaCO_2$ change, and complete equilibration takes about 2 min. Studies have shown that the cerebrovascular reactivity to CO_2 is preserved in the preterm, term, and small to bigger children. Intra- and inter-individual variability in CO_2 reactivity have been seen in preterm neonates during the first and second days. There is an

Fig. 2.9 The proposed mechanism of hypercapnic vasodilation in neonates



| The formula for calculating CVR-CO ₂ | Normal value in adults | Normal values in awake children |
|-------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Absolute CVRe = $\Delta CBF/\Delta PaCO_2$ | Using direct method: 1–2 ml/100gm/min/mmHg ↑ or ↓ in CO ₂ Using indirect method (TCD): 2–5 cm/sec/ mmHg ↑ or ↓ in CO ₂ | No studies available |
| Relative CVRe = Absolute CVRe/ baseline CBF) × 100 | Using direct method: 2–4% change from baseline value in ml/mmHg Using indirect method (TCD): 2.5% to 6% change from baseline in cm/sec | No studies available |

Table 2.5 Normal cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ in children in comparison to adult value

 Δ *CBF* the difference in CBF between the baseline and after hyper- or hypocapnia, $\Delta PaCO_2$ the difference in PaCO₂ between the baseline and after hyper- or hypocapnia

increased incidence of intracranial hemorrhage in neonates who had absent CO₂ reactivity. Healthy children under propofol anesthesia [16] showed a 13.8% change in cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFV) per mmHg change in EtCO₂ while 10.3% change with inhalational agents (up to 1.0 minimum alveolar concentration, MAC); the reported values are much greater than the adult values [17–19]. This could be attributed to higher basal CBF in children. Hence, carbon dioxide is used as a drug to effect changes in CBF by pediatric anesthesiologists. Hyperventilation-induced decrease in CBV and CBF facilitates craniotomy in children with elevated ICP. Studies have shown that prophylactic hyperventilation in children with TBI caused cerebral ischemia. This led the Brain Trauma Foundation [20] to suggest that the prophylactic hyperventilation is contraindicated except when used transiently during surgery or to prevent impending herniation.

3. Arterial Oxygen Tension (PaO₂): The impact of the partial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂) on the cerebral circulation is of lower clinical significance than PaCO₂. PaO₂ between 50 and 300 mmHg does not substantially change the cerebrovascular tone (Fig. 2.8). CBF does not increase till the PaO₂ drops down to 50 mmHg and below which the CBF steeply increases. At 30 mmHg, the CBF doubles. When oxygen delivery hits a critical threshold, global hypoxic vasodilatation happens, and the

cerebral autoregulatory mechanisms get disrupted. Once hypoxemia is established, the equilibration of CBF takes a longer time, around 6 min. The proposed mechanism is mediated by the release of metabolic byproducts such as lactate, adenosine, and H+induced cerebral vasodilation. Also, hypoxia causes a decrease in ATP, which opens the K⁺ ATP channel, leading to hyperpolarization of smooth muscle membrane and vasodilation. In the presence of hypoxia associated with hypocapnia, the rise in CBF is not significant. Hypoxia with hypercapnia causes a profound increase in CBF. Hyperoxia decreases the blood flow to 10-15% from the baseline. Hence, it is better to avoid hyperventilation during resuscitation after circulatory arrest. Figure 2.8 shows the relationship between PaCO₂ and PaO₂ on CBF.

- 4. Hematocrit: According to Hagen-Poiseuille's law, the CBF is indirectly proportional to blood viscosity. The hematocrit predominantly determines blood viscosity. A drop in hematocrit to less than 28% decreases the viscosity and improves CBF. It also decreases the oxygen-carrying capacity and can impair oxygen delivery and lead to vasodilation. Elevated hematocrit (polycythemia) of more than 44% increases blood viscosity and can reduce CBF. Optimal cerebral oxygen delivery usually occurs at a hematocrit of approximately 30%.
- 5. **Temperature:** Every 1-degree centigrade (1°C) increase or decrease in temperature

reduces the cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen (CMRO₂) by 6-7% from the baseline. Unlike anesthetic agents, which affect only the functional metabolism, hypothermia affects both basal and functional metabolism. Mild hypothermia preferentially suppresses basal metabolism [21, 22]. Deep hypothermia decreases both functional and basal metabolism. Q10 defines the metabolic rate reduction; Q10 denotes the ratio of metabolic rate associated with two temperatures that differ by 10°C. The Q10 between 37 and 27°C, 27 and 17°C, and 17 and 7°C is about 2.4, 5, and 2.3, respectively (Fig. 2.10). At 27°C, there is mild electroencephalography (EEG) suppression; as the temperature drops down to 17°C, there is a complete suppression of EEG, which accounts for the marked increase in Q10 between 27°C and 17°C. Global CMRO₂ at 17°C is lower than 10% of the normothermic control value. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest for certain cardiac procedures (aortic arch replacement) and giant intracerebral aneurysms are performed at this temperature because of complete metabolic suppression at 17°C. As temperature rises, CMRO₂ increases and causes accumulation of metabolic byproducts, which causes cerebral vasodilation and increases the CBF. Temperatures above 42°C produce a marked lowering in CMRO₂, perhaps due to neuronal injury and protein denaturation (Fig. 2.10).



Fig. 2.10 The relationship between body temperature and cerebral metabolism

- 6. Glucose: The brain has limited glycogen reserves, and therefore, a constant supply of glucose is needed for its proper function. Akin to CMRO₂, the cerebral metabolic rate for glucose (CMRglu) is low in children at birth (13-25 µmol or 3.2 mg/100gm/min), increasing during childhood to highest values by 3-4 years (49-65 µmol or 5.3 mg/100gm/ min), and remaining so until 9 years of age after which it decreases and reaches adult values (19-33 µmol/100gm/min). There is a direct linear relationship between the plasma and the brain glucose, even at very low plasma glucose levels. Glucose diffuses readily into neurons, even in the absence of insulin, unlike most other cells that require insulin for glucose transport from the serum to the intracellular space. CMRglu varies in different areas of the brain. Hypoglycemia induces cerebral vasodilation in specific brain regions rather than globally. Although exact glucose thresholds for cerebral vasodilation have not been defined in neonates and children, cerebral vasodilation occurs at serum glucose levels below 30 mg/dL in neonates without alterations in consciousness.
- 7. Age: CBF varies with age. Flow is least in preterm neonates to the maximum in children between 2 and 4 years of age. It reaches the adult value by 12 years of age. The normal CBF of children of various age groups is mentioned in Table 2.4.
- 8. Gender: CBF changes according to age are found to occur in both boys and girls. The anterior circulation flow velocities are higher than the posterior circulation in both genders. Gender-related differences in CBF were also noted in children. Girls aged 4-16 years have higher MCA and BA flow velocities compared to same-aged boys [23, 24]. These gender-related variations in blood viscosity can be explained by hematocrit or hormonal distinction, vessel size, cerebral metabolism, or cerebrovascular resistance (CVR) [24]. The abovementioned factors on CBF have not been proven yet except the effect of CVR on CBF. Young children have shown to have low CVR and a high CBFV [25].

- 9. The Effect of Anesthetic Agents on CBF: All inhalational agents in clinical use increase the CBF despite decreasing the cerebral metabolic rate (CMR) except nitrous oxide, which increases the CMR (luxury perfusion). All intravenous anesthetics reduce the CBF and CMR except ketamine, which increases both CMR and CBF. Increasing plasma concentrations of anesthetic agents cause increasing suppression of EEG activity with a concomitant reduction in CMR [26]. Elevating the plasma level of the agent beyond that needed to suppress the EEG results in no further decline in CMR.
- 10. The Effect of Vasopressors on Cerebral Blood Flow: The effects of vasopressors on CBF and CMR are variable with and without an intact BBB. Caution is needed while commencing epinephrine or low-dose dopamine to support the hemodynamics in children with moderate to severe TBI, which can increase the blood flow tremendously, thereby increasing the ICP. Table 2.6 shows

 Table 2.6
 The effect of vasopressor on CBF and CMRO2

| | Cerebral | Cerebral |
|---------------------------|------------|----------------------|
| | blood flow | metabolism |
| Pure agonist | (CBF) | (CMRO ₂) |
| α1 agonist | 0/- | 0 |
| α2 agonist | - | - |
| β—Agonist with intact BBB | + | + |
| β—Agonist with open BBB | +++ | +++ |
| Dopamine (low | ++ | 0 |
| dose) | | |
| Dopamine (high | - | 0 |
| dose) | | |
| Mixed drugs | | |
| Norepinephrine | 0/- | 0/+ |
| with intact BBB | | |
| Norepinephrine | + | + |
| with open BBB | | |
| Epinephrine with | + | + |
| intact BBB | | |
| Epinephrine with | +++ | +++ |
| open BBB | | |

BBB blood-brain barrier; 0, +, ++, +++, showing relative effect 0 being no effect to +++ being maximum effect

the effect of commonly used vasopressors on CBF and the CMR.

11. Functional State: Cerebral metabolism (only 3% reduction from an awake state) and CBF decrease during non-rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and markedly increase during REM sleep. Sensory stimulation of the CNS, like arousal of any cause or mental tasks, during seizure activity, both, the CMR and the CBF increase significantly. The CMR and the CBF decrease in coma.

Measurement of CBF: CBF can be measured using various direct or indirect methods. The common methods of measuring the CBF in children are discussed here. The Kety-Schmidt technique is the gold standard for the measurement of global CBF [26]. The tailoring of this technique for children age 3-10 years showed that preteen children have a CBF nearly double that of adults [25]. The values of CBF at birth in healthy and in preterm infants without respiratory distress syndrome are seen to be roughly a third of adult measurements, which is very near to the ischemic threshold of 20 mL/100gm/min in most infants [27]. As the development progresses, shifts in regional blood flow have been demonstrated [28]. Regional cerebral blood flow can be measured by an invasive technique such as the xenon-133 clearance technique, xenon-computed tomography, single-photon emission computed tomography, positron emission tomography, perfusion computed tomography, and arterial spin labeling.

Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography being noninvasive and easy to use, having no radiation risk, and with the ability to perform a repetitive examination at the bedside of critically ill patients, is frequently used to evaluate CBF and appreciate developmental cerebrovascular changes in healthy children. TCD ultrasonography, which measures CBFV of the basal cerebral arteries, is an indirect measure of CBF. Transcranial Doppler studies demonstrate that the CBFV is ~24 cm/s in healthy newborns and increases thereafter with age, peaking at 6-9 years (97 cm/s) [29]. It decreases approaching adult values [30, 31] of ~50 cm/s beyond 10 years of age [32, 33].

2.5.2 Cerebral Metabolic Rate (CMR)

The utilization of oxygen and other nutrients by the human brain is a complex process. The total energy requirement of the brain is utilized for two major processes (Fig. 2.11), namely, functional metabolism and basal metabolism. The functional metabolism expends almost 60% of the expenditure, and it is responsible for the excitatory synaptic activity. The remainder (40%) of energy requirement is utilized for the maintenance of cellular integrity. CMR varies directly with the neuronal activity. A surge in neuronal activity and CMR is concomitantly complemented by an increase in CBF [34, 35], a complex physiologic process known as *flow-metabolism coupling*, and is mediated by a combination of metabolic, glial, neural, and vascular factors. The metabolites (K⁺, H⁺, lactate, adenosine, and ATP) and increased production of nitric oxide (NO) alter the local blood flow by directly modulating vascular resistance. The CMR is the rate of utilization of metabolic substrates [e.g., oxygen (CMRO₂), glucose (CMRglu), or generation of by-products, e.g., lactate (CMRlact)] by the brain. In children, cerebral metabolism increases with advancing age because of progressive myelination and synaptogenesis. These changes cause a substantial increase in CBF, especially during the first 8 years of life. CMRO₂ is closely coupled to CBF in children (flow-metabolism coupling). In children, CMRO₂ is higher at 5.2 ml/100gm/min than 3.5 ml/100gm/



Fig. 2.11 Normal energy requirement of the brain

min in adults. Their higher CBF and increased glucose utilization are appropriate for this increased CMRO₂. Neonates have a lower CMRO₂ (2.3 ml/100gm/min) and a lower CBF and have relative tolerance to hypoxemia. CMRglu is around 60% of adult values at birth and rapidly increases to over 200% of adult values by the age of 5 years, and then it slowly decreases to adult levels at adolescence (13–16 years of age).

Studies have shown that, in healthy adults, the global CMRO₂ averages 3.2 ml (143 µmol)/100gm/ min (gray matter 6 ml/100gm/min vs. white matter 2 ml/100gm/min) [36]. The information regarding CMRO₂ in children is limited. Kennedy and Sokoloff [25] using modified nitrous oxide method have reported higher CMRO₂ and lower CVR in healthy awake children aged 3-11 years young adults: CMRO₂ 5.2 ml than in (231)µmol)/100gm/min vs. 4.2 ml (187 µmol)/100gm/min and CVR 0.8 mmHg/100gm/ min vs. 1.4 mmHg/100gm/min. Similarly, healthy anesthetized children also show an increase in CMRO₂ with increasing age after infancy: 104 µmol/100gm/min in infants [37] vs. 135 µmol/100gm/min in children from infancy up to 14 years old [38]. A positron emission tomography (PET) study on infants showed that regional CMRO₂ was lower in children than in adults [39].

CMRglu in children is lower at birth (13– 25 μ mol/100gm/min), increases slowly and peaks by 3–4 years (49–65 μ mol/100gm/min) and remains high until 9 years of age. CMRglu then decreases and reaches adult values (19– 33 μ mol/100gm/min). The changes in CMRO₂, CMRglu, and CBF parallel each other and peak during early childhood, indicating maturational changes during this period. A thorough understanding of the age- and gender-related differences in these physiological variables is not possible as data regarding age-related changes in CMR in healthy children and children with traumatic brain injury is lacking.

2.5.3 Cerebral Autoregulation (CA)

CA is the intrinsic ability of cerebral blood vessels (small arteries and arterioles) to maintain a nearly constant CBF across a range of varying CPP. CBF becomes passive once the CPP crosses above the upper or below the lower limit. A sudden increase in CPP above the upper limit leads to cerebral edema or hemorrhage, while a sudden decrease in CPP below the lower limit leads to cerebral ischemia. CA is a composite feedbackbased homeostatic process comprising at least two mechanisms that take effect at different time scales. A rapid response, otherwise called dynamic autoregulation, is a change in CBF in response to pressure pulsations observed in a time scale of seconds. This is followed by a slow response or static autoregulation in which there is a change in CBF in response to the change in MAP that is observed and averaged over several minutes to several hours. Various hypotheses involved in CA are discussed in detail as below (Fig. 2.12).

- 1. Myogenic Hypothesis (Bayliss Effect): The myogenic response is the intrinsic property of vascular smooth muscle to react to intravascular pressure changes. A rapid change in transmural pressure (ΔP) of about 10 to 25 mmHg/ sec triggers this response with a latency period of less than 250 ms. Smooth muscle of small arteries and arterioles vasoconstricts with increased pressure and vasodilates with a decrease in pressure. Stretch induced activation of nonselective cation channels leading to an influx of calcium through the Ca²⁺ channels, which causes membrane depolarization and smooth muscle vasoconstriction. This process, in turn, activates the calciumactivated K⁺ channel, which causes smooth muscle hyperpolarization leading to vasodilation; thereby, the balance between vasoconstriction and vasodilation is maintained.
- 2. Metabolic Hypothesis: Synaptic activity releases glutamate from the presynaptic nerve ending, which causes activation of glutaminergic receptors in the postsynaptic neuron, which stimulates the calcium entry. This results in the release of arachidonic acid (AA), prostaglandins (PGs), and nitric oxide (NO) and causes cerebrovascular dilation. Apart from this, the accumulation of metabolic by-products such as K⁺, H⁺, lactate, adenosine, and ATP all leads to cerebral vasodilation.



Glutamate also activates metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) in astrocytes, causing intracellular calcium entry, which activates the phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and releases AA, epoxyeicosatrienoic (EET) acid, and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2). The latter two AA metabolites contribute to cerebral dilation. In contrast. AA gets converted to 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) in vascular smooth muscle and causes cerebral vasoconstriction. Figure 2.13 shows the flow of metabolism coupling.

3. Neurogenic Hypothesis: Two distinct mechanisms exist in the neural control of CBF; they are extrinsic and intrinsic neurogenic pathway. The extrinsic neurogenic pathway innervates the extra parenchymal cerebral blood vessels till it reaches the Virchow-Robin space, at which extra parenchymal vessels enter the brain parenchyma. The *extrinsic neurogenic pathway* consists of sympathetic and parasympathetic fibers, which cause cerebral vasoconstriction and vasodilation, respectively, through various mediators (Table 2.7). The *intrinsic neurogenic pathway* innervates the vessels from Virchow-Robin space to deep inside the cortex and the subcortical areas. Neurons arising from the subcortical areas such as nucleus basalis, locus coeruleus, and raphe nucleus send projections to interneurons and astrocytes and blood vessels (neurovascular unit) which are located in the cortical area which release various vasoactive mediators to act on the various receptor in the cerebral blood vessels and mediate either vasodilation or vasoconstriction. The components of intrinsic neurogenic fibers, the mediator, secreted, and its vasomotor response are given in Table 2.8.

4. Astrocyte Hypothesis: Astrocytes have a unique anatomical location to control the CBF. On one side, astrocytic processes extensively surround brain capillaries, and on the other side, it encircles the neuron, forming a link between the cerebral microvasculature and synapses. The cellular components of the neuron-astrocyte-arteriole conduit are often referred to as the "neurovascular unit."

During neuronal stimulation, glutamate, an excitatory neurotransmitter, is released from the presynaptic nerve endings. It stimulates the astrocyte resulting in an increase in intracellular Ca⁺⁺, thereby causing vasodilation of arterioles contacted by astrocyte foot processes. Initially, astrocytes were considered to



Fig. 2.13 Flow metabolism coupling

Table 2.7 The extrinsic neurogenic pathway involved in cerebral autoregulation

| Types of fibers arise from | Vasoactive mediator | Vasomotor response |
|------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Sympathetic | | |
| Postganglionic fiber from superior cervical ganglion | Norepinephrine, neuropeptide Y | Cerebral vasoconstriction |
| Parasympathetic | | |
| Sphenopalatine and otic ganglion | Acetylcholine, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) | Cerebral vasodilation |
| Sensory fibers | | |
| Trigeminal ganglion | Substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide | Cerebral vasodilation |

be involved in the clearing of excess extracellular K⁺. The absorbed K⁺ is shunted to the foot process of astrocyte around the microcapillaries, leading to cerebral vasodilatation (K⁺ induced). Recent in vitro studies show that astrocytes mediate cell-to-cell communication through gap junctions, modulating neuronal and vascular function.

5. Endothelial Hypothesis: The cerebrovascular endothelium is a dynamic organ playing an important role in the control of CBF by forming a physiologic connection between the blood vessel lumen and the surrounding smooth muscle. It consists of four main chemical substances, such as nitric oxide (NO), endothelium-derived hyperpolarization factor (EDHF), eicosanoids, and the endothelins, which are responsible for cerebral dilatation/vasoconstriction.

6. **Microvascular Communication Theory:** The cerebral blood vessels communicate within themselves at the microvascular level to regulate CBF. The connexin (Cx) protein, which is located in the endothelium (Cx 40, Cx 43, Cx 45), and the vascular smooth muscles are involved in this microvascular communication. This connexin protein has electrical and conductive properties. This is the proposed mechanism involved in spreading cortical depolarization, responsible for

| Subcortical Area | Cerebral cortex | Vasoactive mediators released | Response to vasoactive mediators |
|------------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Nucleus Basalis Locus Coeruleus | Neuron Astrocyte | NO, ACh, VIP | Vasodilation |
| Raphe Nucleus C | Cerebral Blood vessels | GABA | Vasodilation |
| | | Neuropeptide Y | Vasoconstriction |
| | | ACh | Vasodilation |
| | | 5HT | Vasoconstriction |
| | Astrocyte | PGE ₂ | Vasodilation |
| | | 20-HETE | Vasoconstriction |

Table 2.8 Intrinsic neurogenic pathway involved in cerebral autoregulation

NO nitric oxide, *Ach* acetylcholine, *VIP* vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, *HT* hydroxy tryptamine, PGE_2 prostaglandin E_2 , *HETE* hydroxyl-eicosatetraenoic acid

vasospasm and the delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

2.5.3.1 Cerebral Autoregulation (CA) in Neonates

Studies have shown that in the fetal and newborn lambs, the CA is preserved in a 40-80 mmHg MAP range during the neonatal period. Due to ethical reasons, it is not possible to study CA in human neonates by experimentally producing changes in MAP. Hence, our understanding of CBF and CA is largely based on impromptu observation of events occurring at the neonatal intensive care unit. Most studies are done in sick preterm or term babies who were mechanically ventilated. There are varied controversial results on the relationship between the CBF and CPP. In one study, it has been shown that the CPP is maintained constant with the mean BP range between 25 and 40 mmHg. Others have shown that the CA range is narrow in the mature neonates, ranging from 20 to 60 mmHg (Fig. 2.14) [40]. A study investigating CA in 57 mechanically ventilated preterm infants with normal brains showed that neonates who had shown pressure passive flow (altered CA) developed severe ICH [41]. TCD- and NIRS-based CA studies have shown the absence of dynamic CA in sick, low birth weight neonates [42]. Many studies have shown a positive association between the impaired autoregulation and a poor neurological outcome in the neonatal population [43– 46]. The pressure autoregulation responds much faster in neonates (within 2 s) compared to adults (within 4–10 s) [3].

2.5.3.2 Cerebral Autoregulation (CA) in Small Children

No study is available on CA in healthy awake children. Low-dose sevoflurane anesthesia in healthy children showed no differences in autoregulatory capacity based on age [47]. The lower limit of CA in younger children aged between 6 months and 2 years was 60 ± 9 mmHg, which is contrary to the belief that the lower limit of CA is lower in small children [48]. Hence, lowering the blood pressure beyond the lower limit of CA to provide deliberate hypotension in certain therapeutic procedures in anesthetized young children may result in cerebral ischemia.

Clinicians have not demonstrated age- or gender-related differences in CA in healthy children. Based on extrapolation from adult studies, which show that women have higher CBF than men [49], the gender-related differences in pediatric CA is assumed [23, 31]; but this is yet to be studied in children. The latency of CA between children and adults may also be different. Adolescents have a somewhat delayed return of



Fig. 2.14 Cerebral autoregulation in neonates and adults

CBF in response to transient hypotension compared with adults [31]. Our understanding of normal CA mechanisms in healthy children is still incomplete. A combination of myogenic, neurogenic, and metabolic processes that regulate CVR to maintain CBF during hypotension may be involved. Both anatomic and physiologic development play a role in the evolution of a fully mature autoregulatory response.

Since there is a gross variability (both intraand inter-individual variation) in the CA range, it is better to determine the optimal CPP in the presence of pathological disease or brain injury. The middle of the autoregulatory curve, where the variation in arterial diameter in response to CPP changes is maximal, and the autoregulatory function is most robust, is the optimal CPP. Any deviation from this optimal CPP makes CBF pressure-passive in a graded manner to the extent of complete failure of pressure reactivity at the extremes.

The term *impaired autoregulation* is used to denote complete pressure passivity in CBF at all blood pressures or shifts in the blood pressure limits of autoregulation. Raised ICP shifts the lower limit of autoregulation (LLA) to higher blood pressure. Similarly, when the child's blood pressure falls below the LLA despite autoregulatory limits being within range, elevating the blood pressure above the lower limit may restore a stable CBF. It is important to determine an individual child's LLA and the blood pressure range over which autoregulation is optimum (neuroprotective hemodynamic goals), despite the shift in autoregulation curve after brain injury. All pediatric patients have been considered at risk of CBF dysregulation during anesthesia as the autoregulatory limits are unknown. Prematurity, brain trauma, hypoxic brain injuries, intracranial hemorrhage, vascular anomalies, congenital cardiac lesions, and cerebral inflammation are some of the conditions that can disrupt autoregulation.

Sympathetic stimulation shifts the autoregulation curve to the right, which is protective as cerebral vasoconstriction reduces CBF and limits injury to the BBB. However, during periods of hypotension, sympathetic activation-induced vasoconstriction may reduce CBF ischemic levels. The role of parasympathetic innervation is not distinctly delineated, and its denervation is shown to augment CBF when arterial pressure drops below the LLA.

2.5.4 Cerebral Spinal Fluid (CSF) Dynamics

CSF is a plasma ultrafiltrate; it is secreted by the choroid plexus of the lateral, third, and fourth ventricles. Blood flow to the choroidal plexus is almost ten times greater than that of the cerebral cortex. Unlike those found in most other areas of the brain, the capillaries of the choroid plexus have large fenestrations that offer little resistance to the passage of fluid, ions, and small macromolecules. The choroid plexus is supplied by the anterior and posterior choroidal arteries, which are the branches of internal carotid arteries and the posterior cerebral arteries, respectively. The posterior inferior cerebellar arteries supply the choroid plexus of the fourth ventricle. The choroid plexus produces 70 to 90 percent of the CSF; the rest of the CSF is produced from the movement of brain parenchymal ISF across the ependyma into the ventricles and across the pial

membrane into the subarachnoid space. CSF production is less in children compared to adults. In children, the rate and volume of CSF production depend upon the height and weight. The total amount of CSF production is about 25 mL/day in newborns compared to adults; it is about 500 mL/ day. The total CSF volume is less in term neonates and infants (about 50 mL) than adults (about 150 ml), with only a small percentage contained within normal-sized ventricles. Its formation and reabsorption occur at the same rate with a turnover of three to four times per day [50], by energydependent perfusion-related processes in the choroid plexus and by the ependymal lining of the lateral ventricles. CSF flow results from the pressure gradient that exists between the ventricular system and the venous system. The CSF flows from the lateral ventricle to the third ventricle through the foramina of Monro and then into the fourth ventricle through the aqueduct of Sylvius and then into the central canal of the spinal cord and the subarachnoid spaces through the median foramen of Magendie and lateral foramina of Luschka (Fig. 2.15). The subarachnoid villi finally absorb CSF into the cerebral venous sinuses. When the rate of CSF formation is greater than absorption, it leads to hydrocephalus.

The CSF provides both a protective and supportive cushion for the brain and removes the redundant and deleterious substances from the brain. The specific gravity difference between the brain and CSF provides buoyancy to the brain and reduces its weight to approximately 4% of its mass. It also provides the brain parenchyma with a steady biochemical environment for optimal function. The BBB maintains the differences in composition between plasma and CSF. The solute concentration of CSF is similar between the children and the adults. Studies have shown that the white blood cell count (WBC) values are higher in neonates (less than a week old) compared to infants between 1 and 8 weeks old. Older infants and children have normal WBC values similar to those of adults [51]. The total protein content of CSF is very low compared to the plasma concentration because of the blood-CSF



Fig. 2.15 The CSF pathway

barrier. The total protein concentrations are higher in neonates when compared to infants and older children. Protein levels also vary by the anatomic area from which the CSF is sampled. The CSF protein concentration is lower in the ventricle and the cisterna magna compared to the lumbar area; these regional differences could be due to the difference in the permeability of the blood-CSF barrier [52].

2.5.5 Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB)

The BBB is a physical barrier formed by the vascular endothelium with its basement membrane, the astrocyte foot processes, and pericytes (neurovascular unit). Cerebral capillary endothelium differs from other capillary beds by having a tight junction with a pore size of 7–9 Angstroms (A) compared to the capillary beds of other parts of the body, which has a pore size of 65A. BBB helps in maintaining a regulated intracerebral microenvironment for optimal neuronal function [53]. It limits the paracellular diffusion of various large molecular substances. It facilitates the receptor-mediated endocytosis of larger molecules and the transporter-mediated intake of smaller nutrients like glucose, insulin, and iron. It prevents the entry of harmful substances to the CNS [54]. The tight junctions are absent in certain brain areas, such as the choroid plexus, pituitary, and area postrema.

Earlier, the BBB was believed to be "incomplete" during fetal life. Recent researches are suggesting that the BBB is well developed at birth [55]. The formation of tight junctions occurs concurrently as angiogenesis phase, i.e., at the eighth week of postconceptional age. These blood vessels appear to be immature as they lack pericyte coverage or junctional organization. BBB disruption in children may occur in various conditions such as hypertension, stroke, trauma, status epilepticus, hypercarbia, hypoxia, and inflammation (chemical, infective, or autoimmune).

2.5.6 Intracranial Pressure (ICP)

ICP is the pressure inside the skull and, thus, in the brain tissue and the CSF. It is a direct determinant of the CPP and CBF. ICP is the sum pressure of parenchymal pressure, CSF pressure, and cerebral blood volume (CBV). At a steady state, it is calculated using the Davson equation; i.e., ICP = $P_{ss} + (I_f x R_o)$ where P_{ss} is the sagittal sinus pressure, I_f is the rate of formation of CSF, and R_o is the resistance to CSF outflow. The normal value of sagittal sinus pressure (P_{ss}) is 5 to 8 mmHg; the normal rate of CSF formation (I_f) is 0.3 to 0.4 mL/min, and the normal resistance to CSF outflow (R_o) is 6 to 10 mmHg/mL/min.

In small children as well, the cranium is considered as a closed cavity occupied by the brain (70%), extracellular fluid (10%), CBV (10%), and CSF (10%). Under normal conditions, 0.35 ml/min of CSF is produced in children [56], and ICP is more dependent on CBF and CBV than CSF production. As the brain mass is relatively incompressible, CSF volume changes act as an initial buffer; and when it can no longer be absorbed, the ICP starts to increase. The pediatric patient can compensate for slow increases in ICP by suture and fontanelle expansion, but acute changes lead to an increase in ICP.

The anatomical contribution to the ICP by the supratentorial space accounts for 50%, the infratentorial space for 30%, and the spinal space for 20%. ICP is a dynamic pressure and fluctuates with arterial pulsation, position, respiration, coughing, and straining. Age, body position, and clinical situation affect the normal ICP values (Table 2.9). In a healthy adult, ICP varies from 7 to 15 mmHg in the horizontal position, and it is negative (average, -10 mmHg) in the standing position. Normal values for term neonate, infants, and younger children are 2-6 mmHg and 3–7 mmHg, respectively [57]. In adults, approximately 25 ml of fluid is required to raise baseline ICP by 10 mmHg, while only 10 ml is needed in infants [58]. Hence, children demonstrate rapid deterioration in neurological function from being seemingly normal to almost coning in 30 min.

2.5.7 Cerebral Compliance (Intracranial Pressure-Volume Relationship)

The intracranial pressure and volume relationship in the brain are not linear (Fig. 2.16). Under physiological situations, due to various compensatory mechanisms, the brain volume varies without causing variations in ICP; but once its

Table 2.9 Factors affecting intracranial pressure (ICP) in children

| Parenchymal brain swelling |
|--------------------------------------------------------------|
| Interstitial and vasogenic edema |
| Alterations in cerebral blood volume (CBV) |
| Obstruction of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) outflow |
| Focal cerebral perfusion deficits |
| Variable levels of cerebral blood flow (CBF) |
| Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide (CO ₂) reactivity |
| Cerebral vasculitis |



maximum capacity is reached, the ICP increases exponentially. When decompensation occurs, even small changes in CBV (e.g., 1 ml) can increase 7-8 mmHg in ICP. A slow-growing tumor remains asymptomatic due to the compensatory mechanisms which do not change the volume/pressure rate (V/P rate), while a rapidly expanding lesion can rapidly increase ICP. Compliance is expressed as changes of ICP changes of intracranial volume: to Compliance = $\Delta V / \Delta P$. Suppose the volume changes and pressure remain unchanged; the compliance increases. In infants with open cranial sutures and a non-ossified fontanelle, the system should be considered "open," and initial compensation occurs with bulging at the anterior fontanelle. In a slowly progressive change in volume, head growth will be affected by splaying the cranial sutures, as seen in hydrocephalus. On the other hand, the compliance decreases significantly if there are a minor increase in the volume and a major increase in the pressure. Adequate compliance indicates intact compensatory mechanisms.



Compliance is evaluated along with ICP. The two methods to check cerebral compliance are both invasive and associated with complications (infections, herniation, bleeding): (a) intracranial pressure "reserve" test and (b) pressure-volume index (PVI). The intracranial pressure "reserve" test observes the variation in ICP while adding or removing 1 ml of fluid (saline solution or CSF). Normally, the increase of ICP is $\leq 2 \text{ mmHg}$ when 1 ml is injected or when the ICP decreases with the draining of 1 ml of CSF. The pressure-volume index (PVI) depicts the volume of intraventricular fluid that has to be injected to produce an ICP increase of 10 mmHg. This volume is about 25 ml in adults and 10 ml in children. A value of less than 10 ml indicates greatly reduced compliance.

2.5.7.1 Intracranial Compliance

The Monro-Kellie doctrine states that the skull is a rigid container comprising the brain, blood, and CSF. An increase in the volume of one of these components is compensated by an equivalent reduction in the other components to prevent the increase in ICP [59]. Once the sutures and fontanelles have closed, the skull becomes a rigid structure that does not permit further expansion resulting in a constant intracranial volume irrespective of its content. Cerebral parenchyma (80%), CSF (10%), and blood (10%) are the three major compartments within the skull under normal conditions. An increase in the volume of any of these three compartments increases the pressure it exerts on the other two compartments. The total intracranial volume is constant as the three compartments of the intracranial vault are incompressible. When one of these compartments increases or another one is added (due to mass effect produced by lesions such as tumor or hematoma), one or more of the other compartments must contract in volume to prevent a rise in the ICP. A slow-growing cerebral lesion causes contortion or rearrangement of the parenchymal compartment to counterbalance the increased ICP. In cases of an abrupt increase in ICP, CBV and CSF act as buffers. CSF, which is the main compensatory system for increased intracranial volume, moves into the peri-medullary subarachnoid space until the displaced brain structures block the CSF flow. Next is the vascular compartment's compensation, which consists of the displacement of blood from the intracranial compartment to the extracranial compartment via jugular drainage. Children behave differently from adults in physiological and pathological states. Yet accurate data about normal neurophysiological variables in pediatric patients are limited, and these are commonly extrapolated from adult and animal data.

2.6 Spinal Cord Anatomy and Physiology

2.6.1 Spinal Cord Vascular Anatomy

The spinal cord receives its blood supply from a single anterior spinal artery and paired posterior spinal arteries, both originating from the VA (Fig. 2.17a, b). Radicular arteries originate from spinal branches of the ascending cervical, deep cervical, intercostal, lumbar, and sacral arteries supplement blood flow to the spinal cord at the segmental levels (Fig. 2.17c). The anterior spinal artery supplies the ventromedial aspect or motor area of the spinal cord. The two posterior spinal arteries supply the dorsolateral aspect or sensory area of the spinal cord. The arteria radicularis magna (great radicular artery of Adamkiewicz), a branch of the aorta, which usually originates from T9 and L5 on the left, reinforces the blood supply via the radicular arteries when the anterior spinal artery supply is deficient and collateral blood flow between the anterior and posterior circulations is absent. This makes the spinal cord vulnerable to ischemia at the upper thoracic and lumbar areas, especially during aortic or spinal surgery or following trauma. The venous drainage of the spinal cord is via two median longitudinal veins, two anterolateral longitudinal veins, and two posterolateral longitudinal veins that drain into the vertebral venous plexus and then into the segmental systemic veins and the portal system.

The principles of cerebral physiology apply to the spinal cord as well. Data in children regarding



Fig. 2.17 Blood supply (a) of spinal cord; axial section (b); radicular branches (c) supplying the spinal cord

spinal cord physiology are limited. Blood flow to the spinal cord is approximately 40% of CBF, with the cervical and lumbosacral regions receiving twice that of the thoracic region [60]. Spinal cord blood flow (SCBF) autoregulates and responds to chemical factors similar to CBF [60, 61]. SCBF is constant between spinal cord perfusion pressures (SCPP) of 60 to 150 mmHg. Outside this range, flow is pressure dependent [62]. Ischemia occurs if SCPP falls below autoregulatory limits. SCBF responds to arterial oxygen and carbon dioxide tensions in the same manner as CBF. Hypocapnia decreases blood flow, while hypercapnia and hypoxia result in vasodilation and increased blood flow. Maintenance of SCPP during spinal surgery is essential.

The spinal cord is encased within the vertebral column, which is comparable to the bony cranium. As the canal cannot expand, the spinal cord may be compressed due to extrinsic factors (herniated intervertebral disc, tumors, etc.) or intrinsic factors (cord edema). The SCPP then becomes equal to the MAP minus the pressure exerted due to compression at that level. Therefore, with significant spinal cord compression, even mild hypotension may cause spinal cord ischemia/ infarction at the compression level. Maintenance of blood pressure at or above baseline levels where the patient demonstrated to function in the awake state is important in spinal cord compression.

2.7 Neurotoxicity in the Immature Human Brain

The immature neurons are more vulnerable to toxic substances like alcohol, antiepileptic drugs, and anesthetic agents. These neurotoxic effects are marked during the intensive phase of brain development, and differentiation is called the "brain growth spurt," which in humans starts during the intrauterine life and lasts up to the second year of life. The immaturity of the BBB during the first few months of life also increases the susceptibility for toxic damage. There are theoretical models and mechanisms for anesthetic-induced neurotoxicity (Fig. 2.18).



Fig. 2.18 Theoretical models and mechanisms of anesthetic-induced neurotoxicity

Data gathered from animal studies over the last decade prompted an investigation in children to study an association between anesthesia exposure in the first 3–4 years of life (the period corresponding with the brain growth spurt in humans) with learning and behavior abnormalities in adulthood. The multicenter *PANDA (Pediatric Anesthesia Neurodevelopment Assessment) study* [63], the *GAS (General Anesthesia and Spinal) study* [64], and the *MASK (Mayo Anesthesia Safety in Kids) collaborative cohort study* [65] were all randomized controlled prospective trials and did not show a significant risk of neurotoxicity in the exposed children. Further discussion on anesthetic neurotoxicity is beyond this chapter's scope and is discussed in detail in Chap. 35. The disturbance of physiological parameters such as hypotension, hypocapnia, hypoglycemia, or hypothermia should be avoided, as these changes also affect neurodevelopment.

2.8 Epileptogenesis in the Developing Brain

Epileptogenesis is the progressive development of epilepsy in the brain following an initial insult, evolving through acute, subacute, and chronic phases. The propensity for epileptogenesis in infancy and early childhood is higher than in adulthood due to hyperexcitation and reduced inhibition in the developing brain.

Hypoxia, hypotension-induced ischemic insults, and CNS infection are some factors that make the developing brain more vulnerable to seizures. Structural brain abnormalities and genetic factors also contribute toward epileptogenesis in infancy. Several intrinsic factors like type, number, and distribution of ion channels, biochemical modification of receptors, activation of second messenger systems, etc. increase the susceptibility of the immature brain to produce seizures in contrast to the mature brain [66].

Children with epilepsy have more frequent cognitive impairment than the general population with IQ scores lower than children without epilepsy. Learning difficulties in certain specific areas with normal IQ can also be observed [67, 68] with a higher risk for academic underperformance. Numerous studies have demonstrated that recurrent seizures during the stage of brain development result in long-term changes [69]. Anticonvulsant medications currently available can only control seizures but fail to modify the epileptogenic process. Attacking the various phases of epileptogenesis with suitable treatment might help develop disease-modifying antiepileptogenic treatment regimens and prevent occurrence of cognitive deficits.

2.9 Neuroprotection

Neuroprotection refers to the actions taken to preserve the neuronal integrity and function against any insult to the brain or spinal cord. In pediatric patients, neuroprotection may be warranted in the following conditions in TBI, prolonged hypotension, meningitis, encephalitis, post-cardiac arrest, cardiac surgery, prolonged seizures, metabolic derangements, encephalopathies, and any event that leads to a sudden rise in ICP.

The causes for neuronal injury in pediatric patients include the immaturity of the CNS, abnormal development, chromosomal and genetic influences, and predominantly white mat-

| | Monitoring | Near-infrared spectroscopy | |
|---|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| | modalities | (NIRS) | |
| | | Electroencephalogram (EEG) | |
| | | Magnetic resonance imaging | |
| | | (MRI) | |
| | Biomarkers (older) | Creatine kinase-brain band | |
| | | (CK-BB) | |
| | | Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) | |
| | | S100B | |
| | Inflammatory markers | Interleukin (IL)-1B, 6, 8 | |
| | | Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) | |
| | Newer CNS- specific | Glial fibrillary acidic protein | |
| | | (GFAP) | |
| | biomarkers | Ubiquitin C terminal hydrolase | |
| | | L1 (UCH-L1) | |
| | | Phosphorylated axonal | |
| _ | | neurofilament heavy chain | |
| | | (pNF-H) | |
| | | | |

Table 2.10 Markers/surrogates for neurological injury

ter injury. Several early surrogates/markers for an acute neurological injury help in the early application of neuroprotective strategies [70] and thereby produce a favorable neurodevelopmental outcome. These include monitoring modalities and biomarkers (Table 2.10).

Neuroprotective strategies and treatments (Table 2.11) can be classified as preventive, reactive, or reparative. Preventive strategies are therapies instituted before an anticipated neurological injury or insult. Reactive strategies are therapies started in response to a recent neurological insult or injury. Reparative strategies are treatments given after a known neurological injury. Neuroprotective strategies should be commenced in all children at risk of developing neurological insult/injury to avoid further secondary injury and reduce the risk of developing irreversible damage and thereby have a favorable neurological outcome. Some of the neuroprotective measures are discussed here, briefly.

2.9.1 General Measures

These aim to prevent secondary brain injury by preventing cerebral hypoxia and ischemia. They include maintaining the airway and adequate oxygenation to prevent hypoxia and adequate ventilation to maintain normocarbia. MAP

Table 2.11 Neuroprotection strategies and treatment

| General measures |
|----------------------------------------------------|
| Airway control and ventilation |
| • Maintenance of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) |
| Control of intracranial pressure (ICP) |
| Seizure prevention |
| Glucose and electrolytes |
| • Fluids |
| Nutrition |
| Anesthetic agents |
| Therapeutic hypothermia [71–74] |
| Hypoxic-ischemic preconditioning [75, 76] |
| Remote ischemic preconditioning [77] |
| Erythropoietin [78, 79] |
| Progesterone [80, 81] |
| Neurotrophic factors [82, 83] |
| Stem cell treatment [84, 85] |

should be meticulously maintained to achieve adequate CPP. ICP should be controlled by careful positioning of head and neck, hyperosmolar therapy, sedation and analgesia, and surgical decompression when required. Normoglycemia should be maintained and dyselectrolytemia avoided. Seizures should be prevented and controlled with anticonvulsant medications. Judicious fluid therapy should be employed to protect the brain, and nutrition should be established as soon as possible to enable wound healing by tissue repair and optimal functioning of all organs. Other conditions like hyperthermia, anemia, and coagulopathy must be recognized and corrected.

2.9.2 Anesthetic Agents

A variety of anesthetic agents, including volatile anesthetics, intravenous anesthetics, and adjuvant drugs, have neuroprotective actions. The detailed discussion of this is beyond this chapter's scope and discussed in detail in Chap. 3.

2.9.3 Temperature Control: Therapeutic Hypothermia

Hyperthermia is detrimental to the injured brain and worsens secondary brain injury by increasing CMR, promoting inflammation, and lowering the seizure threshold. Hence, the temperature must be aggressively controlled to maintain normothermia. Hypothermia produces cerebral protection by many proposed mechanisms such as decreased global cerebral metabolism, maintenance of membrane ion channel integrity and preservation of ion homeostasis, decreased release of excitatory neurotransmitters and decreased calcium flux, prevention of inflammation and lipid peroxidation, and the maintenance of BBB. Therapeutic hypothermia holds promise for cerebral protection after neonatal hypoxicischemic encephalopathy [71] and post-cardiac arrest [72] but not in TBI in children [73, 74].

2.9.4 Hypoxic-lschemic Preconditioning

A mild dose of ischemia and/or hypoxia of a short duration ahead of a major hypoxic-ischemic insult is neuroprotective by limiting the expanse of brain injury [75, 76]. This was clinically observed that stroke patients who experienced transient ischemic attacks before a major stroke had better long-term outcomes. Extremely complex transmembrane and intracellular signaling mechanisms result in neuroprotection from hypoxic-ischemic preconditioning that prevents excitotoxic and apoptotic cell death.

2.9.5 Remote Ischemic Preconditioning

The hypothesis that ischemia in a remote organ can bring about protective effects in other organs like the heart-brain is known as remote ischemic preconditioning [77]. The exact mechanisms of signal transduction or humoral changes involved are yet to be elucidated. Nevertheless, due to its simple and noninvasive nature, this therapy is easy to adopt clinically and has significant neuroprotective potential.

2.9.6 Erythropoietin (EPO)

Among the multiple biological effects of erythropoietin (EPO), its neuroprotective and cardioprotective effects are of immense value to us. EPO exerts its neuroprotective effects by many cellular mechanisms, including anti-apoptotic, antiinflammatory mechanisms, and reduced excitotoxicity. Clinical studies of EPO have demonstrated its therapeutic neuroprotective role in a variety of settings of CNS insults [78, 79].

2.9.7 Progesterone

Progesterone is a pleiotropic agent which favorably influences secondary injury cascades that are triggered following CNS injury. Several proposed mechanisms of its neuroprotective effects, such as its maintenance of BBB integrity, decrease inflammation, limit apoptosis, increase remyelination, decrease lipid peroxidation and free radical generation, potentiate GABA receptors, and decrease excitotoxicity.

In a single-center study performed in extremely preterm infants, the improved neurodevelopmental outcome was demonstrated using combined exogenous estrogen and progesterone administration [80, 81]. This opens up prospects to further investigate this agent to reduce longterm disability and produce a favorable outcome in head-injured children and other forms of pediatric acute brain injury.

2.9.8 Neurotrophic Factors

The essential growth factors for normal CNS development, and other factors associated with hypoxic-ischemic injury and other brain insults, have been studied for neuroprotection. *Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)* is the most extensively distributed neurotrophic protein factor, and animal studies hypothesize it to be a promising neuroprotective agent in humans [82, 83].

2.9.9 Stem Cell Treatment

Stem cells are undifferentiated pluripotent cells with extensive proliferative capacity and selfrenewal [84]. The therapeutic potential for stem cells in CNS injury makes this an important research area for the future. Human umbilical cord blood cells have stem cells and are being used for hematological malignancies and other neonatal diseases for many years [85]. Its use in several animal models of stroke and TBI has shown improvement in functional recovery and makes it a candidate for future trials.

The neuroprotection field for pediatric patients is still in its infancy and warrants carefully planned studies in the future to support them. Novel anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic therapies are promising. A combination of different therapies using multiple agents or modalities may be successful.

2.10 Cerebral Physiology in Pathological States

CA is impaired in pathological states such as TBI, SAH, and IVH, which vary from mild impairment to complete absence. The integrity of the BBB is also impaired in the pathological Many vasoactive state. neurotransmitters released during brain injury produces marked changes in CBF and ICP. Since there is an impairment in CA and BBB integrity, optimal CPP had to be maintained to avoid ischemia (hypotension) or cerebral edema and hemorrhage (hypertension). The optimal CPP in an injured brain shows regional and temporal variation. CBF is reduced during the first 24 h after TBI; hence, normocapnia should be maintained during this period. Hyperventilation-induced hypocapnia will further decrease CBF and lead to cerebral ischemia. Hyperoxia can worsen neurological injury by releasing oxygen free radicals. Maintenance of normoxia is associated with the best outcome following brain injury. Hence, the oxygen delivered should maintain arterial oxygen saturation > 96%, which is especially important in children who had a return of spontaneous circulation after cardiac arrest. The brain can recoup for short periods of high metabolic demands, but prolonged episodes (like seizures) of increased CMR result in irreversible neurological damage and warrant immediate attention.

2.11 Conclusion

Sound knowledge of the unique neurodevelopmental events and neurophysiological principles applicable to pediatric patients is paramount for the safe and effective perioperative care of infants and children at risk for neurological injury. Neuroanesthesia, as a specialty, continuously adds to the increasing volume of knowledge to reduce the maleficent effects of illness on the developing human brain. Further polishing of anesthetic practices intended to protect normal neurodevelopmental processes is expected. The combination of neurodevelopment principles, the intracranial compartment physics, and neurovascular physiology can improve our decisionmaking for enhanced patient outcomes.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank *Mr*: *Mohammed Haroon A.*, Anesthesia Technician, Diploma in Anesthesia and Critical Care Technology, *Aniketh Prabhu K*, Year 1 Medical Student, CMC Vellore, and *Balaji Balasubramanian*, CEO, Dot Imagine institute of Art for their artwork.

References

- Mishra S. Systems-based embryology- central nervous system. In: Mishra S, editor. Langman's Medical Embryology (South Asian Edition). New Delhi: Wolters Kluwer Health (India); 2019. p. 321–59.
- Bhuiyan PS, Rajgopal L, Shyamkishore K. Introduction to central nervous system. In: Bhuiyan PS, Rajgopal L, Shyamkishore K, editors. Inderbir Singh's text book of human neuroanatomy. 10th ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Health Sciences Publishers; 2018. p. 1–17.
- Quinonez Z, Easley RB, Bissonnette B, Brady KM. Developmental physiology of the central nervous system. In: Andropoulos DB, Gregory GA, editors. Gregory's paediatric anesthesia. 6th ed. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Blackwell; 2020. p. 143–63.
- Gilbert-Barness E. Teratogenic Causes of Malformations. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2010;40(2):99–114.
- O'Dell MC, Cassady C, Logsdon G, Varich L. Cinegraphic versus combined static and cinegraphic imaging for initial cranial ultrasound screening in premature infants. Pediatr Radiol. 2015;45(11):1706–11.
- Parodi A, Rossi A, Severino M, et al. Accuracy of ultrasound in assessing cerebellar haemorrhages in very low birthweight babies. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2015;100:F289–92.
- 7. Krabbe-Hartkamp MJ, van der Grond J, de Leeuw FE, de Groot JC, Algra A, Hillen B, Breteler MM,

Mali WP. Circle of Willis: morphologic variation on three-dimensional time-of-flight MR angiograms. Radiology. 1998;207(1):103–11.

- Chiron C, Raynaud C, Maziere B, et al. Changes in regional cerebral blood flow during brain maturation in children and adolescents. J Nucl Med. 1992;33:696–703.
- Mackersie A. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Balliere's Clin Anaesthesiol. 1999;13:593–604.
- Vutskits L. Cerebral blood flow in the neonates. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014:22–9.
- Kochanek PM, Tasker RC, Bell MJ, Adelson PD, Carney N, Vavilala MS, et al. Management of Pediatric Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: 2019 consensus and guidelines-Based algorithm for first and second tier therapies. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2019;20(3):269–79.
- Wyatt JS, Cope M, Delpy DT, et al. Qualification of cerebral oxygenation and hemodynamics in sick new-born infants by near infrared spectrophotometry. Lancet. 1986;2:1063–6.
- 13. Gregory G, Ong B, Tweed W, et al. Hyperventilation restores autoregulation in the cerebral circulation in the neonate. Anesthesiology. 1983;59:427.
- Severinghaus JW, Lassen N. Step hypocapnia to separate arterial from tissue PCO2 in the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Circ Res. 1967;20:272–8.
- Raichle ME, Posner JB, Plum F. Cerebral blood flow during and after hyperventilation. Arch Neurol. 1970;23(5):394–403.
- Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Farrar M, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity in children anaesthetized with propofol. Paediatr Anaesth. 2003;13:26–31.
- Leon JE, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular responses to carbondioxide in children anaesthetized with halothane and isoflurane. Can J Anaesth. 1991;38:817–25.
- Rowney DA, Fairgrieve R, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity in children anaesthetized with sevoflurane. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88:357–61.
- Brenet O, Granry JC, Poirier N, Le Gall R. The effect of desflurane on cerebral blood flow velocity and cerebrovascular reactivity to CO₂ in children [in French]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 1998;17:227–33.
- 20. Kochanek PM, Tasker RC, Carney N, et al. Guidelines for the management of pediatric severe traumatic brain injury, third edition: update of the brain trauma foundation guidelines, executive summary. Neurosurgery. 2019;84(6):1169–78.
- Nemoto EM, Klementavicius R, Melick JA, Yonas H. Suppression of cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen (CMRO₂) by mild hypothermia compared with thiopental. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1996;8(1):52–9.
- Klementavicius R, Nemoto EM, Yonas H. The Q10 ratio for basal cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen in rats. J Neurosurg. 1996;85(3):482–7.
- 23. Vavilala MS, Kincaid MS, Muangman SL, Suz P, Rozet I, Lam AM. Gender differences in cerebral blood flow velocity and autoregulation between the anterior and posterior circulations in healthy children. Pediatr Res. 2005;58:574–8.

- Tontisirin N, Muangman SL, Suz P, et al. Early childhood gender differences in anterior and posterior cerebral blood flow velocity and autoregulation. Pediatrics. 2007;119:610–5.
- 25. Kennedy C, Sokoloff L. An adaptation of the nitrous oxide method to the study of the cerebral circulation in children: normal values for cerebral blood flow and cerebral metabolic rate in childhood. J Clin Invest. 1957;36:1130–7.
- Smith AL, Wollman H. Cerebral blood flow and metabolism: effects of anesthetic drugs and techniques. Anesthesiology. 1972;36(4):378–400.
- Wintermark M, Lepori D, Cotting J, et al. Brain perfusion in children: evolution with age assessed by quantitative perfusion computed tomography. Pediatrics. 2004;113:1642–52.
- Ogawa A, Sakura P, Kayama Y, et al. Regional cerebral blood flow with age: changes in rCBF in childhood. Neurol Res. 1989;11:173.
- Bode H. Pediatric applications of transcranial Doppler sonography. Vienna, NY: Springer-Verlag; 1988. p. 1–144.
- Aaslid R, Huber P, Nornes H. Evaluation of cerebrovascular spasm with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. J Neurosurg. 1984;60:37–41.
- Vavilala MS, Newell DW, Junger E, Douville CM, Aaslid R, Rivara FP, Lam AM. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation in healthy adolescents. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2002;46:393–7.
- 32. Soustiel JF, Shik V, Shreiber R, Tavor Y, Goldsher D. Basilar vasospasm diagnosis: investigation of a modified "Lindegaard index" based on imaging studies and blood velocity measurements of the basilar artery. Stroke. 2002;33:72–7.
- Martin PJ, Evans DH, Naylor AR. Measurement of blood flow velocity in the basal cerebral circulation: advantages of transcranial color-coded sonography over conventional transcranial Doppler. J Clin Ultrasound. 1995;23:21–6.
- 34. Frostig RD, Lieke EE, Ts'o DY, Grinvald A. Cortical functional architecture and local coupling between neuronal activity and the microcirculation revealed by in vivo high-resolution optical imaging of intrinsic signals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990;87(16): 6082–6.
- Lou HC, Edvinsson L, MacKenzie ET. The concept of coupling blood flow to brain function: revision required? Ann Neurol. 1987;22(3):289–97.
- Vavilala MS, Lee LA, Lam AM. Cerebral blood flow and vascular physiology. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2002;20:247–64.
- Settergren G, Lindblad BS, Persson B. Cerebral blood flow and exchange of oxygen, glucose, ketone bodies, lactate, pyruvate and amino acids in infants. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1976;65:343–53.
- Settergren G, Lindblad BS, Persson B. Cerebral blood flow and exchange of oxygen, glucose ketone bodies, lactate, pyruvate and amino acids in anesthetized children. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1980;69:457–65.
- Takahashi T, Shirane R, Sato S, Yoshimoto T. Developmental changes of cerebral blood flow and

oxygen metabolism in children. Am J Neuroradiol. 1999;20:917–22.

- Rath GP, Dash HH. Anaesthesia for neurosurgical procedures in paediatric patients. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56(5):502–10.
- Pryds O, Greisen G, Lou H, et al. Heterogeneity of cerebral vasoreactivity in preterm infants supported by mechanical ventilation. J Pediatr. 1989;115:638–45.
- Boylan GB, Young K, Panerai RB, et al. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation in sick new-born infants. Pediatr Res. 2000;48:12–7.
- Soul JS, Hammer PE, Tsuji M, et al. Fluctuating pressure-passivity is common in the cerebral circulation of sick premature infants. Pediatr Res. 2007;61:467–73.
- 44. Alderliesten T, Lemmers PM, Smarius JJ, et al. Cerebral oxygenation, extraction, and autoregulation in very preterm infants who develop peri-intraventricular hemorrhage. J Pediatr. 2013;162:698–704.e2.
- Williams M, Lee JK. Intraoperative blood pressure and cerebral perfusion: strategies to clarify hemodynamic goals. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24:657–67.
- 46. Brew N, Walker D, Wong FY. Cerebral vascular regulation and brain injury in preterm infants. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2014;306(11):R773–86.
- Vavilala MS, Lee LA, Lee M, Graham A, Visco E, Lam AM. Cerebral autoregulation in children during sevoflurane anesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2003;90:636–41.
- Vavilala MS, Lee LA, Lam AM. The lower limit of cerebral autoregulation in children during sevoflurane anesthesia. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15:307–12.
- Bakker SL, de Leeuw FE, den Heijer T, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MM. Cerebral hemodynamics in the elderly: the Rotterdam study. Neuroepidemiology. 2004;23:178–84.
- Cutler RW, Spertell RB. Cerebrospinal fluid: a selective review. Ann Neurol. 1982;11(1):1–10.
- 51. Chadwick SL, Wilson JW, Levin JE, Martin JM. Cerebrospinal fluid characteristics of infants who present to the emergency department with fever: establishing normal values by week of age. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2011;30(4):e63–7.
- 52. Regeniter A, Kuhle J, Mehling M, et al. A modern approach to CSF analysis: pathophysiology, clinical application, proof of concept and laboratory reporting. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2009;111(4):313–8.
- Benarroch EE. Blood-brain barrier: recent developments and clinical correlations. Neurology. 2012;78(16):1268–76.
- Moretti R, Pansiot J, Bettati D, Strazielle N, Ghersi-Egea JF, Damante G, et al. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in disorders of the developing brain. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:40.
- Ballabh P. Intraventricular hemorrhage in premature infants: mechanism of disease. Pediatr Res. 2010;67:1–8.

- Rubin RC, Henderson ES, Ommaya AK, et al. The production of cerebrospinal fluid in man and its modification by acetazolamide. J Neurosurg. 1966;25:430.
- 57. Welch K. The intracranial pressure in infants. J Neurosurg. 1980;52:693–9.
- 58. Shapiro K, Marmarou A. Mechanism of intracranial hypertension in children. In: McLauren R, Siegel G, Agrano BW, et al., editors. Pediatric neurosurgery. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders; 1989. p. 338–52.
- Wilson MH. Monro-Kellie 2.0: the dynamic vascular and venous pathophysiological components of intracranial pressure. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36(8):1338–50.
- Marcus ML, Heistad DD, Ehrhardt JC, Abboud FM. Regulation of total and regional spinal cord blood flow. Circ Res. 1977;41(1):128–34.
- Hickey R, Albin MS, Bunegin L, Gelineau J. Autoregulation of spinal cord blood flow: is the cord a microcosm of the brain? Stroke. 1986;17(6):1183–9.
- 62. Martirosyan NL, Feuerstein JS, Theodore N, Cavalcanti DD, Spetzler RF, Preul MC. Blood supply and vascular reactivity of the spinal cord under normal and pathological conditions. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;15(3):238–51.
- 63. Sun LS, Li G, Miller TL, et al. Association between a single general anesthesia exposure before age 36 months and neurocognitive outcomes in later childhood. JAMA. 2016;315(21):2312–20.
- 64. McCann ME, de Graaff JC, Dorris L, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome at 5 years of age after general anesthesia or awake-regional anesthesia in infancy (GAS): an international, multicentre, randomised, controlled equivalence trial [published correction appears in lancet. 2019 Aug 24;394(10199):638]. Lancet. 2019;393(10172):664–77.
- 65. Warner DO, Zaccariello MJ, Katusic SK, et al. Neuropsychological and behavioral outcomes after exposure of Young children to procedures requiring general anesthesia: the Mayo anesthesia safety in kids (MASK) study. Anesthesiology. 2018;129(1):89–105.
- Holmes GL, Ben-Ari Y. The neurobiology and consequences of epilepsy in the developing brain. Pediatr Res. 2001;49(3):320–5.
- 67. Fastenau PS, Johnson CS, Perkins SM, et al. Neuropsychological status at seizure onset in children: risk factors for early cognitive deficits. Neurology. 2009;73(7):526–34.
- 68. Dunn DW, Johnson CS, Perkins SM, Fastenau PS, Byars AW, DeGrauw TJ, Austin JK. Academic problems in children with seizures: relationships with neuropsychological functioning and family variables during the 3 years after onset. Epilepsy Behav. 2010;19(3):455–61.
- Holmes GL. Effects of seizures on brain development: lessons from the laboratory. Pediatr Neurol. 2005;33(1):1–11.
- 70. Andropoulos DB, Brady KM, Easley RB, Fraser CD Jr. Neuroprotection in pediatric cardiac sur-

gery: what is on the horizon? Prog Pediatr Cardiol. 2010;29(2):113–22.

- Laptook AR. Use of therapeutic hypothermia for term infants with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2009;56:601–16.
- Manole MD, Kochanek PM, Fink EL, Clark RS. Postcardiac arrest syndrome: focus on the brain. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21:745–50.
- Hutchison JS, Ward RE, Lacroix J, Hébert PC, Barnes MA, Bohn DJ, et al. Hypothermia therapy after traumatic brain injury in children. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2447–56.
- 74. Adelson PD, Wisniewski SR, Beca J, Brown SD, Bell M, Muizelaar JP, et al. Comparison of hypothermia and normothermia after severe traumatic brain injury in children (cool kids): a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12:546–53.
- Steiger HJ, Hänggi D. Ischaemic preconditioning of the brain, mechanisms and applications. Acta Neurochir. 2007;149:1–10.
- Dirnagl U, Becker K, Meisel A. Preconditioning and tolerance against cerebral ischaemia: from experimental strategies to clinical use. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:398–412.
- Kharbanda RK, Nielsen TT, Redington AN. Translation of remote ischaemic preconditioning into clinical practice. Lancet. 2009;374:1557–65.
- McPherson RJ, Juul SE. Recent trends in erythropoietin-mediated neuroprotection. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2008;26(1):103–11.
- 79. Zhu C, Kang W, Xu F, et al. Erythropoietin improved neurologic outcomes in newborns with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatrics. 2009;124:e218–26.
- 80. Trotter A, Bokelmann B, Sorgo W, et al. Follow-up examination at the age of 15 months of extremely preterm infants after postnatal estradiol and progesterone replacement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(2):601–3.
- 81. Trotter A, Steinmacher J, Kron M, Pohlandt F. Neurodevelopmental follow-up at five years corrected age of extremely low birth weight infants after postnatal replacement of 17beta-estradiol and progesterone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(3):1041–7.
- Schäbitz WR, Steigleder T, Cooper-Kuhn CM, et al. Intravenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor enhances poststroke sensorimotor recovery and stimulates neurogenesis. Stroke. 2007;38:2165–72.
- Almli CR, Levy TJ, Han BH, Shah AR, Gidday JM, Holtzman DM. BDNF protects against spatial memory deficits following neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Exp Neurol. 2000;166:99–114.
- 84. Vawda R, Woodbury J, Covey M, Levison SW, Mehmet H. Stem cell therapies for perinatal brain injuries. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2007;12:259–72.
- 85. Fan CG, Zhang QJ, Tang FW, Han ZB, Wang GS, Han ZC. Human umbilical cord blood cells express neurotrophic factors. Neurosci Lett. 2005;380:322–5.

3

Effect of Sedatives and Anesthetics on Cerebral Physiology in Children

K. R. Shwethashri and M. Radhakrishnan

Key Points

- General anesthetics do not interfere with the cerebral autoregulation and cerebrovascular reactivity in clinically used concentrations.
- Requirement of anesthetic agents (MAC) is dependent on the age of the child.
- Both volatile and intravenous anesthetic agents are cerebral metabolic depressants except for ketamine and nitrous oxide.
- Volatile anesthetics tend to increase cerebral blood flow (CBF) due to vasodilation, while intravenous anesthetics decrease CBF, which is coupled to metabolism.
- Intravenous anesthetic agents are preferred in children with raised intracranial pressure and when intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring is planned.
- Long-term neurocognitive effects of anesthetics are debatable.

3.1 Introduction

Children should not be considered as miniature adults as their anatomical and physiological parameters are unique. Thorough knowledge of the developmental physiology of the brain is required for better understanding of the effect of various anesthetic agents on the developing brain in normal and in different pathological conditions. This sound knowledge of anesthetic neuropharmacology will help in better management of pediatric neurosurgical patients. Most of the data are derived from adult human or animal studies, and data from the pediatric population is limited. This chapter aims to provide comprehensive details in understanding the cerebral physiological effects of various anesthetic agents on the child's brain.

Central nervous system (CNS) development is not complete at birth. CNS maturity is attained around the age of 2 years. Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is around 40 ml/100gm/min at birth [1]. It increases and reaches a peak around 2-4 ears of age (100-120 ml/100gm/min) and starts to decrease in adolescence phase to reach adult values (50 ml/100gm/min) [2]. At around 1-3 years, global CBF is approximately 40-50% of cardiac output and makes this age group vulnerable to cerebral ischemia following systemic hypotension. Children have a higher cerebral metabolic rate of oxygenation (CMRO₂) with 5.2 ml/100gm/ min versus the adults 3.5 ml/100gm/min. Cerebral autoregulation is present in preterm and term neonates and operates in a narrow range in children less than 5 years [3–5]. Cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide (CO₂) is impaired in premature neonates but better preserved in infancy. In neonates, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)

Check for updates

K. R. Shwethashri · M. Radhakrishnan (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesia and Neurocritical Care, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), Bengaluru, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_3

volume is around 50 mL. The rate of production remains at around 0.35 ml/min across all ages.

Cranial sutures and fontanel remain open at birth and final closure occurs at around 10 years of age. Open fontanel and sutures compensate for slow expansion of any of the intracranial components (cerebral blood volume, CSF volume, and parenchyma) but not during an acute increase. This can result in intracranial pressure (ICP) increase like that seen in adults. Typical ICP values range from 1.5 to 6 mmHg in term infants, 3 to 7 mmHg in younger children, and 10 to 15 mmHg in older children.

3.2 Effect of Specific Anesthetic Agents

3.2.1 Inhaled Anesthetics

Inhalational agents are flow-metabolism uncouplers causing increased CBF with decreased CMRO₂. However, these changes are doserelated. Children have increased sensitivity to cerebral vasodilatory effect of inhaled anesthetic agents than adults [6]. Inhaled anesthetics are the most commonly used induction agents in children. They act as gamma-aminobutyric acid-A (GABA_A) agonists and N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonists. In healthy child's brain, volatile anesthetic agents increase CBF, decrease CMRO₂, and retain CO₂ vasoreactivity till 1 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) [6, 7]. The MAC changes with age. The MAC value is least in the newborn period, then gradually increases, and peaks at infancy, and it subsequently decreases with age and reaches adult values by 10-12 years. At equilibrium, the blood gas coefficients of the inhaled anesthetics are least in children in comparison to the adults. Also, infants have a greater alveolar ventilation and reduced functional residual capacity that result in rapid wash-in of the anesthetic vapors but requiring higher MAC values. The MAC values of volatile anesthetic agents with respect to age are mentioned in Table 3.1 [8–14]. The MAC values required to achieve EEG burst suppression with various agents as suggested by various literature [15, 16] have been tabulated (Table 3.2).

3.2.1.1 Nitrous Oxide

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) acts by antagonizing NMDA receptors. It increases the neuronal mitochondrial activity and increases CMRO₂, CBF, and ICP

Agent Age group Minimum alveolar concentration (%) Halothane Neonates 0.87 ± 0.03 1-6 months 1.20 ± 0.06 4-18 years 0.9 ± 0.02 0.77 Adults Sevoflurane Neonates 3.3 ± 0.2 1-6 months 3.2 ± 0.1 6-12 months 2.5 2.5 1-12 years Adults 1.77 Isoflurane Neonates 1.6 1-6 months 1.87 6-12 months 1.8 1-3 years 1.6 3-5 years 1.6 Adults 1.15 Desflurane Neonates 9.16 ± 0.02 1-6 months 9.42 ± 0.06 9.92 ± 0.44 6–12 months 1-3 years 8.72 ± 0.59 3–5 years 8.62 ± 0.45 5-12 years 7.98 ± 0.43 Adults 6

Table 3.1 Minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) based on the age of the child [8–14]

| | | MAC value at |
|-------------|-------------------|--------------|
| | MAC value at EEG | EEG burst |
| | burst suppression | suppression |
| Agent | (adults) | (children) |
| Isoflurane | 1.2 MAC | 1.5 MAC |
| Sevoflurane | >1.4 MAC | 1.5 MAC |
| Desflurane | 1.3 MAC | >1.5 MAC |
| | | |

Table 3.2 Minimum alveolar concentration (MAC;adults vs. children) to achieve EEG burst suppression withvarious agents [15, 16]

MAC minimum alveolar concentration, EEG electroencephalography

[17, 18]. CO_2 vasoreactivity is preserved when N_2O is combined with other inhalational agents up to 1 MAC. With hypocapnia, this reactivity is impaired in children [7]. Induced hyperventilation for intraoperative brain bulge might not be beneficial under N_2O -based anesthesia. CO_2 vasoreactivity and pressure autoregulation are better preserved when N_2O is combined with propofol infusion than with inhalational agents [17]. Incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting is high with N_2O as it increases the acetylcholine (Ach) secretion in area postrema, a circumventricular organ in the medulla oblongata. It expands the volume of gas in closed spaces.

The role of N_2O in neurotoxicity is controversial. Most studies were conducted in animals and in cell line cultures. Being an NMDA receptor antagonist, it provides protection against excitotoxic cell damage [18]. NMDA antagonists and GABA_A agonists are known to induce apoptotic neurodegeneration in the brain during synaptogenesis [19]. Prolonged exposure to N_2O causes neuronal death, and short-term exposure is shown to cause reversible neurotoxic vacuole reactions [20].

3.2.1.2 Halothane

Halothane is the most potent vasodilator among all inhalational agents. Halothane increases cerebral blood volume (CBV) by 20.5%, whereas sevoflurane increases it by 9.0% [21]. At equivalent MAC, halothane causes lesser CMRO₂ suppression than isoflurane and sevoflurane. Hence, a tremendous increase in CBF to achieve the desired CMRO₂ suppression is seen with halothane [22]. Transcranial Doppler studies with halothane have shown maximal cerebral vasodilation at a much lower concentration in children (0.5-1 MAC) when compared to adults (up to 1.5 MAC) [23]. On decreasing the MAC, cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFV) remains elevated for up to 35–40 min. The mechanism behind this cerebrovascular hysteresis is uncertain [24]. Though a suitable agent for induction, such wide fluctuation in the CBFV makes it unsuitable for clinical use in the children with raised ICP. But CO₂ vasoreactivity remains intact up to 1 MAC, similar to isoflurane [6].

3.2.1.3 Isoflurane

Isoflurane increases global CBF and decreases CMRO₂ in a dose-dependent manner. At MAC values of 0.5 to 1.0, isoflurane maintains constant cerebral blood flow velocities [25]. CO₂ vasoreactivity is maintained up to 1 MAC in healthy children [6]. Unlike sevoflurane, persistent frontal predominant EEG activity is not seen with isoflurane in children [26]. When compared to sevoflurane and desflurane, rapid emergence from isoflurane anesthesia for quick neurologic assessment is less likely due to its physicochemical properties [27]. By using balanced anesthesia technique with opioid infusions like remifentanil, the requirement of isoflurane can be reduced in children [28].

3.2.1.4 Sevoflurane

The physical properties (low blood-gas and tissue-blood partition coefficients) of sevoflurane make it the most frequently used inhalational agent in children, both for induction and maintenance of anesthesia [28]. Sevoflurane causes dose-dependent cerebral vasodilation resulting in increased regional and global CBF and also ICP [29]. The ICP changes can be controlled with simultaneous hyperventilation [30]. Addition of N₂O to sevoflurane further increases the ICP similar to that of isoflurane [31]. Studies measuring CBFV, a surrogate measure of CBF, in children have shown a significant reduction in CBF with a decrease in MAP in children less than 6 months of age as compared to older children [32]. In older children, CBFV remained constant despite a 40% reduction in baseline MAP. In healthy children, CO₂ reactivity is preserved up to 1 MAC [33]. Dynamic autoregulation is well preserved up to 1.5 MAC in young children [34]. During revascularization procedures, inhalational agents like sevoflurane induce global cerebral hyperemia associated with intracerebral steal phenomenon. As a result, regional cerebral blood flow and regional oxygen saturation decrease with a potential for focal cerebral ischemia [35, 36].

Sevoflurane tends to produce epileptiform discharges (simple/complex/polyrhythmic spikes) on EEG in the vulnerable pediatric population, including children on antiepileptic drugs, and with raised intracranial pressure [37]. Frank seizure-like activity is seen at doses causing burst suppression [38]. Premedication with benzodiazepines or co-induction with intravenous anesthetics reduces EEG discharges [39]. Higher alveolar concentrations of sevoflurane have been shown to decrease ophthalmic artery blood flow and retrobulbar circulation predisposing them to retinal ischemia [40].

3.2.1.5 Desflurane

Desflurane has a rapid onset and offset of action because of its low blood gas solubility. This makes it an ideal agent for induction and maintenance of anesthesia. However, because of its pungent property, desflurane is not preferred for anesthetic induction. The incidence of arterial desaturation, breath-holding, laryngospasm, and airway hypersecretions is significantly higher with desflurane [41, 42]. It causes a dose-dependent increase in CBFV and CBF in children [43]. It reduces CMRO₂, increases ICP, and retains CO₂ vasoreactivity till 1 MAC in the healthy brain [44]. Addition of nitrous oxide does not further increase the CBFV as desflurane by itself is a potent vasodilator [45]. In children with raised ICP, at equivalent MAC doses (0.5-1 MAC), ICP and CPP changes were comparable between the three agents, namely, isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane [27]. Desflurane does not produce epileptiform discharges on EEG.

3.2.1.6 Xenon

Xenon is a newer inhalational agent introduced into the anesthetic practice. Being an inert gas, it has analgesic property and results in faster emergence with minimal hemodynamic fluctuations, postemergence agitation and vomiting, and organ protection. However, not many studies are available on its use in children because of its cost and limited availability. Xenon has been administered to children for dental procedures and for cardiac catheterization procedures [46]. The latter study showed better preservation of regional cerebral oxygen saturation with xenon when compared to sevoflurane. To achieve anesthesia, a concentration of around 70% xenon is required, which limits the inspired oxygen concentration. Xenon is very expensive limiting its routine use in clinical practice. More studies are required to justify its use in the pediatric population, especially for neurosurgical procedures.

3.2.2 Intravenous Anesthetics

Intravenous agents are cerebral blood flowcerebral metabolism couplers that reduce both CBF and CMRO₂. Intravenous anesthetics directly suppress neuronal metabolism and decrease CBF (except ketamine). They are preferred during procedural sedation and for neurosurgical procedures in children. The doses of commonly used intravenous anesthetic agents are enumerated in Table 3.3 [47, 48].

3.2.2.1 Propofol

It is the most commonly used nonbarbiturate intravenous induction agent. It has direct vasoconstrictive property on cerebral vasculature and reduces CBFV, CMRO₂, and ICP [49, 50]. Cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide is preserved in healthy children [51, 52]. Autoregulation is maintained with propofol and remifentanil anesthesia in children [53]. Time to recovery from propofol sedation is lesser than that of barbiturate sedation in children with traumatic brain injury (TBI) because of its shorter elimination half-life [54]. Propofol is used as a continuous infusion to maintain anesthesia in children requiring intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring. Propofol has been shown to maintain better ICP and frontal cerebral blood flow during revascularization surgery for moyamoya disease [55].

| Agent(s) | Age group | Bolus dose | Infusion dose |
|----------------------------------------|---------------------------|-------------|----------------------|
| Thiopentone | Neonates (<10 days) up to | 2.5-3 mg/kg | Not more than |
| (when opioids are used as adjuncts for | 12 months | 6–7 mg/kg | 4–5 mg/kg/h |
| induction) | Children | 5 mg/kg | |
| Propofol | Neonates | 2 mg/kg | EC50 3.7-3.81 µg/ml* |
| | 1 month–3 years | 2–3 mg/kg | |
| | 3–8 years | 3 mg/kg | |
| | >8 years | 2–3 mg/kg | |
| Etomidate | Neonates | 0.2-0.3 mg/ | — |
| | Children | kg | |
| | Children (PR) | 0.3-0.5 mg/ | |
| | | kg | |
| | | 6–8 mg/kg | |
| | | (PR) | |
| Ketamine | Children (IV) | 1–2 mg/kg | 2–4 mg/kg/h |
| | Children (IM) | (IV) | |
| | | 5–8 mg/kg | |
| | | (IM) | |

Table 3.3 Doses of commonly used intravenous anesthetic agents [47, 48]

^aEC50 effect-site concentration of propofol at half-maximal effect, PR per rectum, IV intravenous, IM intramuscular

3.2.2.2 Thiopentone

Thiopentone causes a reduction in CBFV due to direct vasoconstriction of cerebral blood vessels [56]. It also decreases CBV, CMRO₂, and ICP in a dose-dependent manner. It maintains CO₂ vaso-reactivity and autoregulation. Dose-dependent reduction in CMRO₂ occurs until an isoelectric EEG is achieved.

Effective dose (ED_{50}) required for satisfactory induction for anesthesia in neonates is 60% of that of infants due to decreased synaptogenesis at birth [57]. It is metabolized slowly and, hence, gets accumulated in the body. Thiopentone clearance from the body is 2–5 days in children who are on continuous infusion [58].

Thiopentone causes cardiovascular depression in children secondary to direct depression of vasomotor center and myocardium, making it unsuitable for its use in children with unstable cardiac conditions [59, 60].

3.2.2.3 Etomidate

Etomidate, a nonbarbiturate imidazole carboxylated derivative, induces anesthesia by its action on GABAergic system and chloride conductance across neuronal membrane. Etomidate decreases regional cerebral blood flow and CMRO₂ [61]. In children, it has stable cardiac effects and maintains blood pressure, ICP, and CPP better than thiopentone and propofol [62–64]. This property makes it suitable for use in children with altered hemodynamics secondary to head injury [65]. Head-injured children, especially less than 4 years, have impaired cerebral autoregulation irrespective of the severity of injury [66]. Minimal changes in the blood pressure can thus have significant effects on the cerebral hemodynamics. It induces EEG activation and increases the signal to noise ratio during neurophysiologic monitoring [67]. Following intravenous administration, it causes pain, involuntary movements, and adrenocortical suppression cautioning its use in the pediatric population.

3.2.2.4 Ketamine

Ketamine is a phencyclidine group of NMDA receptor antagonist. It is a direct cerebral vasodilator. It increases CBF, CBV, CMRO₂, and ICP and retains CO₂ vasoreactivity. Ketamine increases cerebral glucose utilization rate at higher doses. Positron emission tomography (PET) studies have shown that sub-anesthetic doses of ketamine increase global CBF without any changes in CMRO₂ [68]. Ketamine has antiinflammatory properties. Changing the route of administration of ketamine or adding premedication does not reduce the ventricular fluid pressure in hydrocephalic children [69]. It also increases lumbar CSF opening pressure and should be used with caution in children with raised ICP [70]. Though it increases ICP, a single bolus dose (1-1.5 mg/kg), by maintaining stable hemodynamics, prevents ICP increase during stressful interventions in children with refractory intracranial hypertension [71]. Hence, ketamine is a viable alternative agent for induction in hypotensive head-injured children. Ketofol (low dose of ketamine and propofol), the most comfortable regimen in procedural sedation, is shown to increase total cerebral blood volume in opposition to propofol infusions alone that decrease CBV [72]. Ketamine increases the alpha motor neuron excitability and improves the amplitude of evoked potentials. It can be used as an adjunct during intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring [73]. A single bolus dose of ketamine on EEG produces high-frequency gamma bursts with high amplitude delta waves which are interspersed at regular intervals [74].

3.2.3 Other Agents

3.2.3.1 Opioids

Effect of opioids on cerebral hemodynamics is controversial. In general, opioids cause a mild reduction in CBF, CMRO₂, and ICP in the normocapnic range. Studies in sick newborn children (without cerebral pathology), receiving fentanyl sedation, have shown stable mean CBFV and pulsatility index (PI). Fentanyl boluses maintain regional cerebral oxygenation, cerebral tissue oxygen extraction, and cardiac output in preterm infants with stable hemodynamics [75]. On the other hand, when fentanyl bolus induces hypotension, it is associated with autoregulatory compensatory cerebral vasodilation to maintain CBF, thereby transiently increasing the ICP. Fentanyl blunts the stress response and CBFV changes to intubation by inhibiting the catecholamine release [76]. It was found to be more effective than remifentanil in reducing the CBFV changes to intubation [77]. An equipotent dose of infusions of fentanyl and remifentanil with nitrous oxide retains CO₂ reactivity in a healthy brain [78, 79]. Opioids cause neuroexcitation, manifested as nystagmus, rigidity, and tonic-clonic seizure-like activity in healthy neonates [80]. Such reactions are not observed in the regular therapeutic doses but can be seen in moderately higher doses of fentanyl (>10 μ g/kg). Hence, opioid dosing is crucial in the susceptible pediatric population [81].

3.2.3.2 Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepines (BZD) are GABA agonists that cause anxiolysis in children. Commonly used BZD include diazepam, midazolam, and clonazepam. In children, midazolam is the most commonly used benzodiazepine for premedication to achieve anxiolysis and amnesia. It causes dosedependent reduction in CBF and CMRO₂ that follows flow-metabolism coupling [82].

3.2.3.3 Muscle Relaxants

Non-depolarizing muscle relaxants, like atracurium, maintain stable cerebral hemodynamics at conventional doses. But at higher doses, it can cause histamine release. This results in hypotension and a compensatory increase in CBF. Its metabolite, laudanosine, a CNS stimulant, crosses blood-brain barrier and precipitates seizures [83, 84]. Although described in animal studies, such incidences are not reported in children [85]. Cisatracurium is better than atracurium as it causes less histamine release and laudanosine generation. Vecuronium maintains stable cerebral and cardiac hemodynamics.

Children with raised ICP are at risk for aspiration, and hence, rapid sequence induction should be considered in them. Succinylcholine or rocuronium is the preferred agent. Succinylcholine causes EEG arousal, increase in muscle spindle activity, and fasciculations that can transiently increase ICP. Prior administration of a higher dose of propofol or precurarizing dose of rocuronium can reduce these fasciculations [86, 87]. Studies in preterm neonates using succinylcholine for nasotracheal intubation have not shown any increase in ICP [88]. Pretreatment with atropine might be required if the baseline heart rate is less.

3.2.3.4 Dexmedetomidine

Dexmedetomidine is a highly selective alpha-2 agonist. It causes anxiolysis, analgesia, and sedation without respiratory depression. It decreases CBFV and CMRO₂ like that seen in adults and has no direct effect on ICP and maintains CO2 vasoreactivity. It induces sleep similar to that of Stage II non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep and does not hinder electroencephalography (EEG) interpretation, making it suitable for sedating children for EEG recording [89, 90]. Dexmedetomidine infusion interfere with electrocorticography, functional mapping, and evoked potential monitoring and, hence, is used as an adjunct for neurophysiologic monitoring and for awake craniotomy [91, 92]. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies have shown better neuronal connectivity in higher-order networks [93]. This reduces agitation at emergence, and hence, dexmedetomidine is used most often for procedural and ICU sedation [94-96]. Prolonged infusion results in delayed recovery from sedation in contrast to propofol infusion.

3.3 Anesthetic Neuroprotection in Children

Both the inhaled and intravenous anesthetics are shown to provide neuroprotection in in vitro and in animal models. Shorter duration of exposure and single exposure are found to provide neuroprotection. On the other hand, prolonged and repetitive exposure is found to cause neuroapoptosis in the neonatal animal models. There is no data supporting a single drug as the best agent in causing neuroprotection. Anesthetics have been found to be neuroprotective in focal cerebral ischemia (e.g., moyamoya disease) but not in global ischemia (e.g., cardiac arrest). Every agent has its own advantages and disadvantages.

Isoflurane activates Akt pathway and adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-sensitive potassium channels, regulates intracellular calcium responses, and reduces endothelial matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 activation [97, 98]. These effects have been shown to have a preconditioning effect in the ischemic brain in in vitro and in animal experiments. However, the literature on documenting these effects in the pediatric population is scarce. Exposure to isoflurane in early childhood can disturb the mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) pathway in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. This pathway is involved in the cognitive development of the brain [99].

A single exposure to sevoflurane achieved neuroprotection in animal models by activating AKT/GSK3ß signalling pathway. However, repeated and prolonged sevoflurane exposure induced neurotoxicity by inhibiting the same AKT/GSK3β signalling pathway [100]. This phenomenon has been described with all inhalational anesthetic agents antagonizing NMDA receptors in the hippocampus. NMDA antagonism at hippocampus interferes with the spatial learning and memory and, thus, induces deficits in learning and cognitive performances when exposed at a very young age [101, 102]. In addition, sevoflurane increases pro-apoptotic proteins Bax and caspase-3 and reduces anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 in in vitro models, together explaining its neurotoxic effects on the brain [103].

Desflurane provides neuroprotection in adults by inhibiting ischemic tissue acidosis and increasing the brain tissue oxygenations levels.

Thiopentone's neuroprotective properties during cerebral ischemia appear superior to propofol in in vitro studies [104]. It reduces glutamate release and prolongs the onset of anoxic depolarization in the ischemic brain and inhibits cortical intracellular calcium increase [105, 106].

The neuroprotective effects of etomidate remain controversial. In experimental models, it is shown to induce focal ischemia by inhibiting the endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity [107]. This increases cerebral vascular resistance (CVR), leading to CBF reduction far below than those that cause a decrease in CMRO₂ [108].

In animal studies, ketamine caused a longer duration of NMDA receptor blockade in immature neurons predisposing them to neurotoxicity [109]. When used in infants (<6 weeks) for cardiac surgeries, it was found to be safe without causing any neurodevelopmental delay at the subsequent ages [110]. Clinical data on the neurotoxic effects of ketamine are limited in children as ketamine is never used as a sole anesthetic agent.

Experimental studies have shown that dexmedetomidine possesses some neuroprotective properties. In vivo and in vitro studies have shown increased expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), and inhibition of procaspase 3 activation, both of which lead to neuro-apoptosis [111]. It also upregulates tyrosine kinase activity required for cellular plasticity [112].

3.4 Conclusion

In pediatric neurosurgical procedures, anesthetic agents should be chosen to achieve stable hemodynamics, which would have less effect on the cerebral blood volume. In children with poor intracranial compliance, intravenous anesthetics would be preferable, which has the additional benefit of facilitating neurophysiologic monitoring. Inhalational anesthetics facilitate rapid recovery. There is no robust clinical evidence to prove the neurotoxic potential of anesthetic agents.

References

- Cross KW, Dear PR, Hathorn MK, Hyams A, Kerslake DM, Milligan DW, et al. An estimation of intracranial blood flow in the new-born infant. J Physiol. 1979;289:329–45.
- Wu C, Honarmand AR, Schnell S, Kuhn R, Schoeneman SE, Ansari SA, et al. Age-related changes of normal cerebral and cardiac blood flow in children and adults aged 7 months to 61 years. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016;5(1):e002657.
- Munro MJ, Walker AM, Barfield CP. Hypotensive extremely low birth weight infants have reduced cerebral blood flow. Pediatrics. 2004;114(6):1591–6.
- Hillier SC, Burrows FA, Bissonnette B, Taylor RH. Cerebral hemodynamics in neonates and infants undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass and profound hypothermic circulatory arrest: assessment by transcranial Doppler sonography. Anesth Analg. 1991;72(6):723–8.
- 5. Vavilala MS, Lee LA, Lam AM. The lower limit of cerebral autoregulation in children during

sevoflurane anesthesia. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15(4):307–12.

- Leon JE, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular response to carbon dioxide in children anaesthetized with halothane and isoflurane. Can J Anaesth. 1991;38(7):817–25.
- Wilson-Smith E, Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. Effect of nitrous oxide on cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide in children during sevoflurane anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2003;91(2):190–5.
- Lerman J, Robinson S, Willis MM, Gregory GA. Anesthetic requirements for halothane in young children 0-1 month and 1-6 months of age. Anesthesiology. 1983;59(5):421–4.
- Olsson GL. Inhalational anaesthesia at the extremes of age: paediatric anaesthesia. Anaesthesia. 1995;50(Suppl):34–6.
- Frei FJ, Haemmerle MH, Brunner R, Kern C. Minimum alveolar concentration for halothane in children with cerebral palsy and severe mental retardation. Anaesthesia. 1997;52(11):1056–60.
- Lerman J, Sikich N, Kleinman S, Yentis S. The pharmacology of sevoflurane in infants and children. Anesthesiology. 1994;80:814–24.
- Katoh T, Ikeda K. Minimum alveolar concentration of sevoflurane in children. Br J Anaesth. 1992;68:139–41.
- Cameron CB, Robinson S, Gregory GA. The minimum anesthetic concentration of isoflurane in children. Anesth Analg. 1984;63:418–20.
- Taylor RH, Lerman J. Minimum alveolar concentration of desflurane and hemodynamic responses in neonates, infants, and children. Anesthesiology. 1991;75:975–9.
- Kitahara Y, Fukatsu O, Nozaki F. Electroencephalograms in children during isoflurane anesthesia. J Anesth. 1994;8(2):132–6.
- Eger EI. The clinical use of Desflurane. Yale J Biol Med. 1993;63:491–500.
- Karsli C, Wilson-Smith E, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. The effect of nitrous oxide on cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide in children during propofol anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2003;97(3):694–8.
- David HN, Leveille F, Chalzaviel L, MacKenzie ET, Buisson A, Lemaire M, Abraini JH. Reduction of ischemic brain damage by nitrous oxide and xenon. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2003;23:1168–73.
- Lei X, Guo Q, Zhang J. Mechanistic insights into neurotoxicity induced by anesthetics in the developing brain. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13(6):6772–99.
- Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Beals J, Benshoff N, Olney JW. Prolonged exposure to inhalational anesthetic nitrous oxide kills neurons in adult rat brain. Neuroscience. 2003;122(3):609–16.
- Tsypin LE, Prokop'ev GG, Lazarev VV, Shchukin VV, Popova TG, Kochkin VS, Lin'kova TV, Chusov KP. Effect of volatile inhalational anesthetics on cerebral blood volume and oxygen status in children. Anesteziol Reanimatol. 2007;1:4–7.

- 22. Drummond JC, Todd MM, Scheller MS, Shapiro HM. A comparison of the direct cerebral vasodilating potencies of halothane and isoflurane in the New Zealand white rabbit. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(5):462–7.
- Paut O, Lazzell VA, Bissonnette B. The effect of low concentrations of halothane on the cerebrovascular circulation in young children. Anaesthesia. 2000;55(6):528–31.
- Paut O, Lazzell VA, Bissonnette B. The effect of halothane on the cerebral circulation in young children: a hysteresis phenomenon. Anaesthesia. 2001;56(4):360–5.
- Bisonnette B, Leon JE. Cerebrovascular stability during isoflurane anaesthesia in children. Can J Anaesth. 1992;39(2):128–34.
- 26. Lo SS, Sobol JB, Mallavaram N, Carson M, Chang C, Grieve PG, et al. Anesthetic specific electroencephalographic patterns during emergence from sevoflurane and isoflurane in infants and children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(12):1157–65.
- Ghoneim AA, Azer MS, Ghobrial HZ, El Beltagy MA. Awakening properties of isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane in pediatric patients after craniotomy for supratentorial tumours. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(1):1–16.
- Chen B, Chu Q, Yu J, Yao Y, Tan L. The effect of remifentanil on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in children. J Clin Anesth. 2015;27(6):504–7.
- 29. Kolbitsch C, Lorenz IH, Hörmann C, Schocke M, Kremser C, Zschiegner F, et al. A subanesthetic concentration of sevoflurane increases regional cerebral blood flow and regional cerebral blood volume and decreases regional mean transit time and regional cerebrovascular resistance in volunteers. Anesth Analg. 2000;91(1):156–62.
- Takahashi H, Murata K, Ikeda K. Sevoflurane does not increase intracranial pressure in hyperventilated dogs. Br J Anaesth. 1993;71(4):551–5.
- 31. Sponheim S, Skraastad Ø, Helseth E, Due-Tønnesen B, Aamodt G, Breivik H. Effects of 0.5 and 1.0 MAC isoflurane, sevoflurane and desflurane on intracranial and cerebral perfusion pressures in children. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2003;47(8):932–8.
- 32. Rhondali O, Mahr A, Simonin-Lansiaux S, De Queiroz M, Rhzioual-Berrada K, Combet S, et al. Impact of sevoflurane anesthesia on cerebral blood flow in children younger than 2 years. Davidson A, editor. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23(10):946–51.
- Rowney DA, Fairgrieve R, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity in children anaesthetized with sevoflurane. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88(3):357–61.
- 34. Wong GT, Luginbuehl I, Karsli C, Bissonnette B. The effect of sevoflurane on cerebral autoregulation in young children as assessed by the transient hyperemic response. Anesth Analg. 2006;102(4): 1051–5.

- Sato K, Shirane R, Kato M, Yoshimoto T. Effect of inhalational anesthesia on cerebral circulation in Moyamoya disease. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11(1):25039.
- Oshima H, Katayama Y, Hirayama T. Intracerebral steal phenomenon associated with global hyperemia in moyamoya disease during revascularization surgery. J Neurosurg. 2000;92(6):949–54.
- 37. Komatsu H, Taie S, Endo S, Fukuda K, Ueki M, Nogaya J, et al. Electrical seizures during sevoflurane anesthesia in two pediatric patients with epilepsy. Anesthesiology. 1994;81(6):1535–7.
- Constant I, Seeman R, Murat I. Sevoflurane and epileptiform EEG changes. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(4):266–74.
- 39. Nieminen K, Westerèn-Punnonen S, Kokki H, Yppärilä H, Hyvärinen A, Partanen J. Sevoflurane anaesthesia in children after induction of anaesthesia with midazolam and thiopental does not cause epileptiform EEG. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89(6):853–6.
- Geeraerts T, Devys JM, Berges O, Dureau P, Plaud B. Sevoflurane effects on retrobulbar arteries blood flow in children. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94(5):636–41.
- Taylor RH, Lerman J. Induction, maintenance and recovery characteristics of desflurane in infants and children. Can J Anaesth. 1992;39:6–13.
- 42. Zwass MS, Fisher DM, Welborn LG, et al. Induction and maintenance characteristics of anesthesia with desflurane and nitrous oxide in infants and children. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:373–8.
- 43. Barlow R, Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. Desflurane increases cerebral blood flow velocity when used for rapid emergence from propofol anesthesia in children. Can J Anaesth. 2004;51(8):824–8.
- 44. Brenet O, Granry JC, Poirier N, Le Gall R. The effect of desflurane on cerebral blood flow velocity and cerebrovascular reactivity to CO_2 in children. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 1998;17(3):227–33.
- 45. Karsli C, Luginbuehl IA, Bissonnette B. The effect of nitrous oxide on cerebral blood flow velocity in children anaesthetised with desflurane. Anaesthesia. 2003;58(1):24–7.
- 46. Devroe S, Meeusen R, Gewillig M, Cools B, Poesen K, Sanders R, Rex S. Xenon as an adjuvant to sevo-flurane anaesthesia in children younger than 4 years of age, undergoing interventional or diagnostic cardiac catheterisation: a randomised controlled clinical trial. Pediatr Anaesth. 2017;27(12):1210–9.
- Chidambaran V, Costandi A, D'Mello A. Propofol: a review of its role in pediatric anesthesia and sedation. CNS Drugs. 2015;29(7):543–63.
- Mazoit JX. Pharmacology. Gregory's textbook of pediatric anesthesia 6th edition, Ch 10. p. 191–225.
- Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Farrar M. Bissonnette. Propofol decreases cerebral blood flow velocity in anesthetized children. Can J Anaesth. 2002;49(8):830–4.
- Hemelrijck V, William F, Maria M, Hugo VA, Chris P, Thierry L. Effect of propofol on cerebral circula-

tion and autoregulation in the baboon. Anesth Analg. 1990;71(1):49–54.

- Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Farrar M, Bissonnette B. Cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity in children anaesthetised with propofol. Paediatr Anaesth. 2003;13(1):26–31.
- Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. The cerebrovascular response to hypocapnia in children receiving propofol. Anesth Analg. 2004;99(4):1049–52.
- Lagace A, Karsli C, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. The effect of remifentanil on cerebral blood flow velocity in children anesthetised with propofol. Paediatr Anaesth. 2004;14(10):861–5.
- 54. Shin HJ, Yang GY, Kim YZ. Clinical advantage of propofol compared with barbiturate for the coma therapy in the patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurointensive Care. 2018;1(1):32–9.
- 55. Kikuta K, Takagi Y, Nozaki K, Yamada K, Miyamoto S, Kataoka H, et al. Effects of intravenous anesthesia with propofol on regional cortical blood flow and intracranial pressure in surgery for moyamoya disease. Surg Neurol. 2007;68(4):421–4.
- de Bray JM, Granry JC, Monrigal JP, Leftheriotis G, Saumet JL. Effects of thiopental on middle cerebral artery blood velocities: a transcranial Doppler study in children. Child Nerv Syst. 1993;9:220–3.
- Westrin P, Jonmarker C, Werner O. Thiopentone requirements for induction of anesthesia in neonates and in infants one to six months of age. Anesthesiology. 1989;71:344–6.
- Demarquez J-L, Galperine R, Billeaud C, Brachet-Liermain A. Thiopental pharmacokinetics in braininjured children and neonates. Dev Pharmacol Ther. 1987;10(4):292–300.
- Skovsted P, Price ML, Price HL. The effects of shortacting barbiturates on arterial pressure, preganglionic sympathetic activity and barostatic reflexes. Anesthesiology. 1970;33(1):10–8.
- 60. Sonntag H, Hellberg K, Schenk HD, Donath U, Regensburger D, Kettler D, Duchanova H, Larsen R. Effects of thiopental (Trapanal) on coronary blood flow and myocardial metabolism in man. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1975;19(1):69–78.
- Renou AM, Macrez P, Vernhier J, Constant P, Billerey J, Caille JM. Effect of etomidate on cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in man. Ann Anesthesiol Fr. 1978;19(3):201–5.
- 62. Bramwell KJ, Haizlip J, Pribble C, VanDerHeyden TC, Witte M. The effect of etomidate on intracranial pressure and systemic blood pressure in pediatric patients with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2006;22(2):90–3.
- Moss E, Powell D, Gibson RM, McDowall DG. Effect of etomidate on intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure. Br J Anaesth. 1979;51(4):347–52.
- 64. Schulte am Esch J, Pfeifer G, Thiemig I. Effects of etomidate and thiopentone on the primarily elevated intracranial pressure (ICP). Anaesthetist. 1978;27(2):71–5.

- 65. Guldner G, Sschultz J, Sexton P, Fortner C, Richmond M. Etomidate for rapid-sequence intubation in young children: hemodynamic effects and adverse events. Acad Emerg Med. 2003;10(2):134–9.
- 66. Freeman SS, Udomphorn Y, Armstead WM, Fisk DM, Vavilala MS. Young age as a risk factor for impaired cerebral autoregulation after moderate to severe pediatric traumatic brain injury. Anesthesiology. 2008;108(4):588–95.
- 67. Taniguchi M, Nadstawek J, Langenbach U, Bremer F, Schramm J. Effects of four intravenous anesthetic agents on motor evoked potentials elicited by magnetic transcranial stimulation. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 1993;33(3):407–15.
- 68. Långsjö JW, Kaisti KK, Aalto S, Hinkka S, Aantaa R, Oikonen V, Sipilä H, Kurki T, Silvanto M, Scheinin H. Effects of subanesthetic doses of ketamine on regional cerebral blood flow, oxygen consumption, and blood volume in humans. Anesthesiology. 2003;99(3):614–23.
- Crumrine RS, Nulsen FE, Weiss MH. Alterations in ventricular fluid pressure during ketamine anesthesia in hydrocephalic children. Anesthesiology. 1975;42(6):758–61.
- Ben Yehuda Y, Watemberg N. Ketamine increases opening cerebrospinal pressure in children undergoing lumbar puncture. J Child Neurol. 2006;21(6): 441–3.
- Bar-Joseph G, Guilburd Y, Tamir A, Guilburd JN. Effectiveness of ketamine in decreasing intracranial pressure in children with intracranial hypertension. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2009;4(1):40–6.
- 72. Makki ML, OGorman RL, Buhler P, Baledent O, Kellenberger CJ, Sabandal C, Weiss M, Scheer I, Scmitz A. Total cerebrovascular blood flow and whole brain perfusion in children sedated using propofol with or without ketamine at induction: an investigation with 2D-cine PC and ASL. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2019;50(5):1433–40.
- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Child Nerv Syst. 2010;26(2):227–35.
- Rosen I, Hagerdal M. EEG with ketamine in children. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1976;20:32–9.
- 75. Mitra S, Babadagli ME, Hatfield T, dePalma A, McCord H, El-Naggar W, Schmölzer GM, McMillan DD. Effect of fentanyl boluses on cerebral oxygenation and hemodynamics in preterm infants: a prospective observational study. Neonatology. 2020;8:1–8.
- 76. Duncan HP, Cloote A, Weir PM, Jenkins I, Murphy PJ, Pawade AK, Rogers CA, Wolf AR. Reducing stress responses in the pre-bypass phase of openheart surgery in infants and young children: a comparison of different fentanyl doses. Br J Anaesth. 2000;84(5):556–64.
- 77. Abdallah C, Karsli C, Bissonnette B. Fentanyl is more effective than remifentanil at preventing increases in cerebral blood flow velocity during intubation in children. Can J Anesth. 2002;49(10):1070–5.
- Ostapkovich ND, Baker KZ, Fogarty-Mack P, Sisti MB, Young WL. Cerebral blood flow and CO2 reactivity is similar during remifentanil/N2O and fentanyl/N2O anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1998;89(2):358–63.
- 79. Klimscha W, Ulrich R, Nasel C, Dietrich W, Illievich UM, Wildling E, Tschernko E, Weidekamm C, Adler L, Heikenwalder G, Horvath G, Salden RN. High-dose remifentanil does not impair cerebrovascular carbon dioxide reactivity in healthy male volunteers. Anesthesiology. 2003;99:834–40.
- Webb MD. Seizure-like activity during fentanyl anesthesia. A case report. Anesth Prog. 1990;37(6):306–7.
- 81. da Silva O, Alexandrou D, Knoppert D, Young GB. Seizure and electroencephalographic changes in the newborn period induced by opiates and corrected by naloxone infusion. J Perinatol. 1999;19(2):12–23.
- Hoffman WE, Miletich DJ, Albrecht RF. The effects of midazolam on cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption and its interaction with nitrous oxide. Anesth Analg. 1986;65:729–33.
- Tassonyi E, Fathi M, Hughes GJ, Chiodini F. Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of atracurium, laudanosine and vecuronium following clinical subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2002;46(10):1236–41.
- Barakat AR, Mallory S. Anaesthesia and childhood epilepsy. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2011;11(3):93–8.
- Charlton AJ, Harper NJ, Edwards D, Wilson AC. Atracurium overdose in a small infant. Anaesthesia. 1989;44(6):485–6.
- Kararmaz A, Kaya S, Turhanoglu S, Ozyilmaz MA. Effects of high-dose propofol on succinylcholine-induced fasciculations and myalgia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2003;47(2):180–4.
- Motamed C, Choquette R, Donati F. Rocuronium prevents succinylcholine-induced fasciculations. Can J Anaesth. 1997;44(12):1262–8.
- Barrington KJ, Finer NN, Etches PC. Succinylcholine and atropine for premedication of the newborn infant before nasotracheal intubation: a randomized, controlled trial. Crit Care Med. 1989;17(12):1293–6.
- Mason KP, O'Mahony E, Zurakowski D, Libenson MH. Effects of dexmedetomidine sedation on the EEG in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(12):1175–83.
- Sfriso F, Bonardi CM, Viaggi F, Sartori S, Boniver C, Martinolli F, Da Dalt L, Frigo AC, Mazza A, Amigoni A. Dexmedetomidine for EEG sedation in children with behavioral disorders. Acta Neurol Scand. 2020;83(8):891.
- 91. Tobias JD, Goble TJ, Bates G, Anderson JT, Hoernschemeyer DG. Effects of dexmedetomidine on intraoperative motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during spinal surgery in adolescents. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18(11):1082–8.
- 92. Sheshadri V, Chandramouli BA. Pediatric awake craniotomy for seizure focus resection with dexme-

detomidine sedation-a case report. J Clin Anesth. 2016;32:199–202.

- 93. Guldenmund P, Vanhaudenhuyse A, Sanders RD, Sleigh J, Bruno MA, Demertzi A, Bahri MA, Jaquet O, Sanfilippo J, Baquero K, Boly M, Brichant JF, Laureys S, Bonhomme V. Brain functional connectivity differentiates dexmedetomidine from propofol and natural sleep. Br J Anaesth. 2017;119(4): 674–84.
- Schacherer NM, Armstrong T, Perkins AM, Poirier MP, Schmidt JM. Propofol versus dexmedetomidine for procedural sedation in a pediatric population. South Med J. 2019;112(5):277–82.
- Daverio M, Sperotto F, Zanetto L, Coscini N, Frigo AC, Mondardini MC, Amigoni A. Dexmedetomidine for prolonged sedation in the PICU: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pediatric Crit Care Med. 2020;21(7):e467–74.
- 96. Zhou Q, Shen L, Zhang X, Li J, Tang Y. Dexmedetomidine versus propofol on the sedation of pediatric patients during magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanning: a meta-analysis of current studies. Oncotarget. 2017;8:102468–73.
- 97. Zhao G, Yang L, Wang S, Cai M, Sun S, Dong H, Xiong L. TREK-2 mediates the neuroprotective effect of isoflurane preconditioning against acute cerebral ischemia in the rat. Rejuvenation Res. 2019;22(4):325–34.
- Cheon SY, Kim SY, Kam EH, Lee JH, Kim JM, Kim EJ, Kim TW, Koo BN. Isoflurane preconditioning inhibits the effects of tissue-type plasminogen activator on brain endothelial cell in an in vitro model of ischemic stroke. Int J Med Sci. 2017;14(5): 425–33.
- 99. Xu J, Kang E, Mintz CD. Anesthetics disrupt brain development via actions on the mTOR pathway. Commun Integr Biol. 2018;11(2):1–4.
- 100. Zhang L, Zhang J, Dong Y, Swain CA, Zhang Y, Xie Z. The potential dual effects of sevoflurane on AKT/ GSK3β signaling pathway. Medical Gas Research Med Gas Res. 2014;4(1):1–9.
- 101. Lv X, Yan J, Jiang H. Inhaled anesthetic sevoflurane: neurotoxicity or neuroprotection in the developing brain. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2017;10(7):9930–8.
- 102. Amrock LG, Starner ML, Murphy KL, Baxter MG. Long-term effects of single or multiple neonatal sevoflurane exposures on rat hippocampal ultrastructure. Anesthesiology. 2015;122:87–95.
- Qiu J, Shi P, Mao W, Zhao Y, Liu W, Wang Y. Effect of apoptosis in neural stem cells treated with sevoflurane. BMC Anesthesiol. 2015;25:3–8.
- 104. Sasaki R, Hirota K, Roth SH, Yamazaki M. Anoxic depolarization of rat hippocampal slices is prevented by thiopental but not by propofol or isoflurane. Brit J Anaesth. 2005;94(4):486–91.
- 105. Amakawa K, Adachi N, Liu K, Ikemune K, Fujitani T, Arai T. Effects of pre- and postischemic administration of thiopental on transmitter amino acid release and histologic outcome in gerbils. Anesthesiology. 1996;85(6):1422–30.

- 106. Zhan RZ, Fujiwara N, Endoh H, Yamakura T, Taga K, Fukuda S, Shimoji K. Thiopental inhibits increases in [Ca2+]i induced by membrane depolarization, NMDA receptor activation, and ischemia in rat hippocampal and cortical slices. Anesthesiology. 1998;89(2):456–66.
- 107. Drummond JC, McKay LD, Cole DJ, Patel PM. The role of nitric oxide synthase inhibition in the adverse effects of etomidate in the setting of focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Anesth Analg. 2005;100(3):841–6.
- Milde LN, Milde JH, Michenfelder JD. Cerebral functional, metabolic, and hemodynamic effects of etomidate in dogs. Anesthesiology. 1985;63(4):371–7.
- 109. Jin J, Gong K, Zou X, Wang R, Lin Q, Chen J. The blockade of NMDA receptor ion channels by ketamine is enhanced in developing rat cortical neurons. Neurosci Lett. 2013;539:11–5.

- 110. Guerra GG, Robertson CMT, Alton GY, Joffe AR, Cave DA, Dinu IA, Creighton DE, Ross DB, Rebeyka IM. Neurodevelopmental outcome following exposure to sedative and analgesic drugs for complex cardiac surgery in infancy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2011;21(9):932–41.
- 111. Degos V, Charpentier TL, Chhor V, Brissaud O, Lebon S, Schwendimann L, Bednareck N, Passemard S, Mantz J, Gressens P. Neuroprotective effects of dexmedetomidine against glutamate agonistinduced neuronal cell death are related to increased astrocyte brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression. Anesthesiology. 2013;118(5):1123–32.
- 112. Dahmani S, Rouelle D, Gressens P, Mantz J. Effects of dexmedetomidine on hippocampal focal adhesion kinase tyrosine phosphorylation in physiologic and ischemic conditions. Anesthesiology. 2005;103(5):969–77.



4

Preoperative Evaluation and Preparation of Children Undergoing Neurosurgery

Srilata Moningi 💿 and Narmada Padhy

Key Points

- Infants and children undergoing neurosurgical procedures present unique challenges for the neuroanesthesiologist.
- Although the basic principle of neuroanesthesia remains the same even in children, physiologic and anatomical differences in young age should be carefully considered along with a detailed understanding of pediatric cerebral physiology, surgical condition, and clinical presentation.
- A detailed history should include both past and present illnesses, neurologic examination, complete systemic examination, risk stratification, and appropriate investigations.
- Adequate preoperative preparation of the children may help to prevent mishaps in the operating room.
- Specific conditions requiring meticulous attention are children with hydrocephalus with the features of increased intracranial pressure, meningomyelocele, craniosynostosis, brain tumors especially posterior fossa tumors, and vascular lesions.
- This chapter discusses the preoperative evaluation and preparation of children for neurosur-

gical procedures in detail, both in elective and emergency settings.

4.1 Introduction

Preoperative evaluation and planning are the keys to the successful anesthetic management of pediatric neurosurgery. Children should not be considered mini-adults as the pediatric population's anatomy and physiology is unique [1]. Intensive and plenary care of the pediatric neurosurgical patient requires a thorough understanding of the surgical condition and clinical presentation, a thorough knowledge of the cerebral physiology during childhood, and an awareness of the specific issues pertinent in providing overall anesthesia care for children [2]. Detailed history, general and systemic examination, risk stratification, investigations, proper planning, optimization, informed risk consent, premedication, and preoperative orders are the important requisites of preoperative evaluation and preparation for neurosurgery in children, which will be discussed in this chapter.

S. Moningi (🖂) · N. Padhy

Anesthesia and Intensive Care, Nizam's Institute of Medical Sciences (NIMS), Hyderabad, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_4

4.2 History Taking in a Child Posted for Neurosurgery

The details of the history are obtained from the primary caretaker, mostly from the mother. A good rapport needs to be established with the child, parents, and other family members for gaining the confidence and trust for the further conduct of proper planning and execution of anesthesia and surgery [3]. The psychological status of the patient varies. It depends on the child's age, parents attitude and lifestyle, awareness regarding surgery and anesthesia requisites, complications, history of previous anesthesia exposure, and hospital stay. An audiovisual demonstration and net search of anesthesia management and surgery streamlines parents thought process and removes perioperative management disbeliefs per se. In emergency conditions like head injury, one needs to gather information from the witnesses and the attending resuscitation staff.

It starts from detailed data on demographics such as name, age, sex, and address. This provides the identification of the child, its diagnosis, type, and site of surgery. Age is an important parameter as the growing child changes its physiology over time [1].

Other aspects of history should include the following:

- Chief complaints: These include easy fatiguability, lethargy, drowsiness, increasing head size, vomiting, bulging fontanelles, visual disturbances, difficulty in swallowing, abnormal back swelling, and other varied features depending upon the type of lesion.
- History of presenting illness: Presenting symptoms and its course of progression static, increasing severity, or improving; acute, subacute, or chronic presentation; frequency; duration; the pattern of involvement; associated symptoms; relieving and aggravating factors; and treatment history.
- Features of increased ICP: Includes a range of mild symptoms like nausea, lethargy, and increasing head size to late severe symptoms

like hypertension, bradycardia, and irregular respiration.

- Patients presenting with focal signs and symptoms: Guides us toward the tumor's location and its surrounding areas, e.g., lesions in the motor cortex area presenting with weakness of the arm, legs, or face, and brain stem lesions with lower cranial nerve palsies (e.g., difficulty in swallowing). The commonly encountered pediatric neuro-lesions and their presentation are described in Table 4.1.
- History of other comorbid illnesses: Congenital heart disease, prematurity, upper respiratory tract infection, urinary tract infection, diabetes, meningomyelocele, and hydrocephalus. History of seizures due to head injury, febrile convulsions, status epilepticus, and meningitis.
- History of previous hospital events: Previous exposure to anesthesia and surgery; any associated events or complications like difficult airway, cardiac arrest, or anaphylaxis; duration of hospital stay; history of tracheostomy/ intensive care admission/ventilator days; history of blood transfusion or any bleeding disorders; accident history, repeated exposure to surgery and anesthesia, e.g., repeated shunt surgeries in children with hydrocephalus, spina bifida, and Arnold-Chiari malformations. Latex allergy is commonly seen in these patients [13]. Detailed anesthesia and postoperative record provides vital information about the condition of the child and airway problems.
- Birth history: Gestational age, maternal diabetes, exposure to illicit drugs or alcohol, intrauterine infections, complications during pregnancy (e.g., pregnancy-induced hypertension) and delivery (e.g., meconium aspiration, abruption placentae, premature rupture of membranes), history of spontaneous abortions in mother, APGAR scores, and history of fetal distress or any congenital disabilities. Other signs like respiratory distress, apneic episodes, seizures, bleeding, and duration of hospital stay may provide a clue to some neurological problems [14, 15].

| Neurosurgical pathologies | Presentations |
|------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Hydrocephalus [4] | Increasing head size (in infants), irritability (infants)/headaches (young children), projectile vomiting, and diplopia, with increasing severity, may present with decreasing consciousness, loss of upward gaze, and palsies of third and sixth cranial nerves |
| Meningomyelocele [5] | Mass in the spine, paresis/paralysis of lower limbs, sometimes associated with Chiari malformations and hydrocephalus. With Chiari II malformation: Apnea, stridor, autonomic instability, and respiratory problems (features of brain stem compression) |
| Posterior fossa tumors [4] | Signs of obstructed hydrocephalus, lower cranial nerve involvement |
| Craniopharyngioma [6] | Endocrine disturbances (hypothalamo-pituitary dysfunction), thyroid and adrenal abnormalities |
| Head injury/intracranial hemorrhage [7] | History of accident; signs and symptoms of increased intracranial pressure: In infants, irritability, lethargy, failure to feed, decreasing consciousness, bulging Fontanelle, cranial nerve palsies, and loss of consciousness; in older children, early morning headaches, vomiting without nausea, double vision, and papilledema; in severe cases, Cushing's triad |
| Epilepsy [8] | Type and frequency of seizures, associated signs and symptoms, number of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) for treatment |
| Craniovertebral junction abnormalities [9, 10] | Signs and symptoms depend on the site of neural compression: Paresis or paralysis of the lower and upper limbs, respiratory compromise |
| Craniosynostosis [11] | Usually, a cosmetic complaint; may be associated with Apert and Crouzon syndrome |
| Vascular anomalies [12] | MC is cerebral arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) followed by spinal AVMs, congenital venous malformations, and telangiectasia; the most common cause of spontaneous intracranial hemorrhage |

 Table 4.1
 Commonly encountered neurosurgical pathologies and their presentations

- Developmental history: Assessed in four categories: motor, adaptive, language, and personal-social behavior [16]; Denver II test—most commonly used to identify the milestones [17]. Adaptive and language behavior has shown to be strong predictors of cognitive outcome. Any deterioration in school performance is a significant indicator of an acquired or progressive neurological problem.
- Drug history: List of medications the patient is taking, dosage, any side effects encountered, any other form of supplements the child is administered with (homeopathic, herbal, or Ayurvedic drugs), allergy to drugs and latex, and immunization history. Common drugs used in neurosurgical practice include mannitol, antiepileptics, and steroids.
- Family and social history: Family history of congenital health problems, epilepsy, muscle dystrophy, bleeding tendencies, neurodegenerative disorders, genetic diseases, or cancerous growths; consanguineous marriage; the anesthetic-related history of malignant hyper-

thermia and prolonged paralysis (pseudocholinesterase deficiency) should be asked for; social history gives us the information regarding its family environment and intellectual growth of the child.

- Dietary history: Whether the child is on breastfeed/artificial feeds/normal adult diet; vegetarian/nonvegetarian; any history of nausea and vomiting interfering with the feeds and its severity.
- Airway related: A list of questionnaires should be entreated to highlight the same. This includes complications during birth, trauma or surgery of airway, previous airway history, snoring, apneic attacks during sleep, difficulty in breathing or speaking, hoarseness, and noisy breathing.

At the end of history taking, the neuroanesthesiologist gets an idea about the child's medical condition, identifies risk factors and expected complications associated with the condition, and contemplates both anesthesia and surgical risks relevant to the patient.

4.3 Physical Examination

It is challenging to get full cooperation from the child during physical examination. Infants and young children are most comfortable in their mother's lap. The examination should be tailored as per each child's level of understanding and developmental level. We should observe the child closely during its interaction with the parents and during activities. This gives a lot of information regarding motor activity, mental status, coordination, and cranial nerve function [18].

4.3.1 General Examination

An overall general examination should include body habitus, general condition or look of the patient, gait, developmental milestones, and any signs of icterus, pallor, edema, lymphadenopathy, clubbing, tremor, or cyanosis.

Body habitus: Weight, height, and, notably, the body surface area provide an understanding of the growth physiology according to the child's age. The growth chart provides a clear indication of the nutritional status of the pediatric patient. Stunted growth is seen in conditions like malnutrition, emaciation due to chronic vomiting, poor financial condition, and repeated upper respiratory tract or urinary tract infection leading to loss of appetite; nutritional and electrolyte deficiencies are usually associated with underweight and emaciated children. On the other hand, the overweight child is a major concern in urban cities due to their junk food habits. A close correlation was observed between obesity and children with neurosurgical conditions like Chiari malformation, meningomyelocele, suprasellar tumors, and craniopharyngioma [19–21]. An obese child is prone to difficult intravenous cannulation, difficult airway management, increased snoring incidence, and positioning problems. Obstructive sleep apnea should be ruled out in obese patients. They require specific and unique perioperative care for a successful outcome [22]. Drug dosage calculation is based on the ideal body weight rather than the actual body weight.

The next important parameter is head circumference, especially in children less than 2 years of age. This is especially useful in the diagnosis and management of hydrocephalic babies [23, 24]. This is measured by placing a flexible tape around the broadest part of the forehead, just above the eyebrows and ears, and at the midpoint of the back of the head. *Lasso-o[™] tape* is recommended for accurate measurement of head circumference [25]. The tape should be placed at the largest measurable circumference, especially in patients with an abnormal head like craniosynostosis and low hairline, e.g., Klippel-Feil syndrome [26, 27]. These measurements should be taken to the nearest millimeter and plotted in decimals on a centile chart. It should be recorded with the increasing age of the infant. The weight of the child is also recorded at the same time.

A normal growth chart is interpreted if the plotted line runs almost parallel to one of the printed lines. Abnormal growth is interpreted once the plotted line falls outside 99.6th or 0.4th centile on the chart or more than 2 centile lines above or below their length measurement.

General appearance: Some neurosurgical conditions present with a characteristic appearance. Hydrocephalic infants will have a large head, full fontanelle, widely separated cranial sutures, and sunset sign. Craniosynostosis occurs due to the premature fusion of one or more cranial sutures. Children may present with abnormal head shapes, e.g., Pfeiffer syndrome, Apert syndrome, and Crouzon syndrome. And when associated with other body deformities, this is called syndromic craniosynostosis [28].

Vital signs include pulse rate, rhythm, volume, blood pressure (noninvasive), and respiration pattern. The abdomino-thoracic type of respiration is seen in infants compared to thoracoabdominal in adult patients.

The examination of the skin and whole body has been [3] described in Table 4.2.

Intravenous (IV) Access: The skin and whole body are screened to identify an easy access for an IV-line placement. Intravenous cannula placement is a nightmare in a specific pediatric population, like children with multiple skin lesions and anatomical variations and severely malnour-

| Examination | Lesions | Conditions | |
|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Skin | Neurocutaneous lesions | Tuberous sclerosis (ash leaf spots) Neurofibromatosis (café au lait spots) | |
| | Angiomas | Sturge-weber syndrome | |
| | Axillary freckling | Neurofibromatosis 1 (optic gliomas, sphenoid wing dysplasia) | |
| | Adenoma sebaceum, shagreen patches | Tuberous sclerosis | |
| Hair | Hair whorl | Cerebral malformations | |
| | Friable kinky hair | Menkes kinky hair—Mental retardation, optic atrophy | |
| Palm | Palmar creases | Genetic syndrome | |
| Thumbnails | Abnormality in size or convexity | Growth disturbance—Sign of hemiparesis | |
| The midline of the back and neck | Sacral dimples or tufts of hair | Spinal dysraphism | |
| Abdomen | Hepatosplenomegaly | Inborn errors of metabolism | |

 Table 4.2
 Whole-body examination and abnormalities associated with neurologic lesions

Table 4.3 Skull abnormalities with its varied presentations and associated lesions

| Skull abnormalities with presentations | Associated lesions |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Microcephaly | Congenital, maternal exposure to rubella, chicken pox, and cytomegalovirus, substance abuse, malnutrition, |
| | Down's syndrome |
| Macrocephaly | Congenital, hydrocephalus, intracranial hemorrhage, neoplasms |
| Ridging of the cranial sutures | Premature closure of the fontanelles (craniosynostosis) |
| The prominence of scalp veins, Macewen or cracked pot sign, and bulging anterior Fontanelle | Increased intracranial pressure |
| Flattening of the occiput | Hypotonia |
| The prominence of the occiput | Dandy-Walker syndrome |
| Areas of tenderness (on percussion) | Osteomyelitis |
| Intracranial bruits (on auscultation, heard over—Globes, temporal fossa, and retroauricular areas) | Angiomas, anemia, thyrotoxicosis, meningitis |

ished, extremely obese, and post-radiotherapy patients (small-caliber veins). Multiple pricks, difficult access, and accidental puncture of major arteries during central line placement may be further complicated by hypothermia, hemodynamic instability, and even hemorrhagic shock due to varied reasons [29]. Pediatric expertise in line placement and the use of currently available armamentarium like ultrasonography and transillumination methods for IV access may curtail the number of pricks, trauma, and a prolonged time for placement [30, 31].

Examination of the Skull: Before the neurologic examination, the skull examination [2, 32] gives a lot of information (Table 4.3).

4.4 Neurologic Examination

This is an important aspect of system examination in pediatric neurosurgical practice [18, 33, 34]. At the same time, it is tough to elicit in young pediatric patients. A friendly rapport needs to be established with the child to gain confidence. Neurological status is best described by the agespecific Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score (Table 4.4) [35]. The score varies from a minimum of 3 to a maximum of 15 points. GCS score correlates well with the clinical presentation. A reduced GCS score indicates increasing intracranial pressure (ICP); GCS <8 carries the risk of aspiration and needs airway protection.

| Best motor | | | |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|
| response | >5 years | <5 years | |
| 6 | Obeys commands | Normal spontaneous movements | |
| 5 | Localizes supraorbital pain | | |
| 4 | Withdraws from nail bed pain | - | |
| 3 | Flexor response to supraorbital pain | - | |
| 2 | Extensor response to supraorbital pain | - | |
| 1 | None | - | |
| Best verbal response | >5 years | 2–5 years | <2 years |
| 5 | Oriented | Appropriate word use (to usual ability) | Smiles, follows objects, and interacts |
| 4 | Confused | Inappropriate words (less than usual ability) | Cries but consolable |
| 3 | Inappropriate words | Persistent cries and pains | Inconsistently inconsolable |
| 2 | Incomprehensible sounds | Grunts and moans to pain | Grunts, agitated and restless |
| 1 | No response to pain | - | - |
| Т | Intubated | - | - |
| Eye opening | | | |
| 4 | Spontaneous | | |
| 3 | To voices | | |
| 2 | To pain | | |
| 1 | None | | |
| С | Closed (swelling, dressing) | | |

Table 4.4 Age-specific Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score

In infants with increased ICP or hydrocephalus, the signs of full fontanelle and widely separated cranial sutures may be elicited and in young children, papilledema with the fundoscopic examination. With increasing severity, they may present with Cushing's triad (bradycardia, irregular respiration, and hypertension), suggesting impending cerebral herniation. Other late signs include pupillary dilation, pupillary asymmetry, third and sixth cranial nerve palsies, Cheyne-Stokes respiration, and hypotension. Apart from examining the state of consciousness, the child's behavior should also be noted.

Cranial nerves are examined with various tests for infants, newborns, and young children (Table 4.5). The examination of the olfactory nerve is usually not recommended.

Motor Assessment: In neonates and infants, observe for the posture, spontaneous inherited movements and other movements when the patient is actively playing. The examiner assesses the tone of the muscle by passive manipulation of the limbs or spine. Normally, extended posture in preterm newborn changes to flexed posture in full-term

newborn and finally attains normal tone by 6 months of age. Hypertonia is usually seen in patients with upper motor neuron disease. Hypotonia is seen in both central and peripheral nervous system pathology. The bulk of the muscle is usually evaluated by inspection and palpation. Due to the increased adipose tissue content in the limbs, it is difficult to assess the muscle bulk in newborns. Rather, it is assessed best in the tongue muscle. Atrophy indicates denervated muscle or decreased usage. Hypertrophy is seen in patients with increased usage of certain muscles to compensate for the weakness in other muscles, or apparent increase in size is seen when normal muscle tissue is replaced by abnormal tissue (e.g., amyloidosis) or due to some underlying inhderited muscle pathology (e.g., Duchenne's muscle dystrophy).

In infants and young children, withdrawal from noxious stimuli gives a rough estimate of motor strength. The child should be observed for daily activities like walking, standing, sitting, crawling, running, and cycling to gauge the motor power in young children. Motor examination in older children is carried out similarly to

| Cranial nerves | Infants and newborns | Young children |
|----------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Π | Optical blink reflex Pupillary | Snellen chart, picture chart, visual field: Let him focus on an object in front of his eyes and then wave a hand in the periphery |
| III, IV, VI | Oculocephalic doll's eye maneuver Gaze and track (hold infants up) | Ask the child to follow an object or doll with his eyes |
| V | Rooting reflex Sucking reflex Corneal reflex—Sensory | Chewing movement Corneal reflex, touching face with cotton |
| VII | Facial asymmetry and forehead wrinkle | Observe facial movement—Show teeth, puff cheeks |
| VIII | Acoustic blink reflex Doll's eye maneuver | Turn to sounds, whisper, hearing screen |
| IX, X | Swallowing and gag reflexes | Gag reflex |
| XI | Observe for the side movements of the neck; for head flexion on traction response (once the arms are pulled in the supine position, the newborn lifts both the head and trunk—Normal) | Ask the child to turn his head against resistance (sternocleidomastoid muscle) |
| XII | Coordinated suck and swallowing | XI, XII: Shrug shoulder, stick out tongue |

Table 4.5 Cranial nerve examination in children

 Table 4.6
 Grading of muscle power [26]

| Grading | Muscle power |
|---------|-----------------------------------------|
| 0 | No contraction |
| 1 | Flicker or trace of contraction |
| 2 | Active movement with gravity eliminated |
| 3 | Active movement against gravity |
| 4 | Active movement against gravity and |
| 5 | resistance |
| | Normal power |

"Used with the permission of the Medical Research Council"

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v2.0

adults; grading of the muscle power is given in Table 4.6 [36].

Coordination examination is mainly done to assess cerebellum functions, sensory control, pyramidal and extrapyramidal tracts of motor control. Since sufficient voluntary control is not established until 4–5 months of age, it is difficult to conduct tests in infants. Coordination tests include finger-nose test in upper extremities and heel to shin test in lower extremities. This can be substituted in young children by asking them to reach an object or touch an interesting toy. The alternate method is utilized in young children by testing for high five in the upper extremity and kicking the examiner's hand in the lower extremity. For sensory abnormality, this is checked with eyes closed. *Dysdiadochokinesis* is defined as impaired rapid and alternating oscillating movements due to cerebellar abnormality. This is evaluated by rapid finger-to-thumb tapping, patting movements of the hand, and toe-tapping in older children. *Romberg test* is done for assessment of proprioception. In cerebellar disease, these are usually associated with hypotonia and decreased or absent deep tendon reflexes.

Gait is examined as the child enters the examination room. They should be watched for their steps when crawling, walking with and without support, running, playing, and climbing stairs. This has given an indirect clue to the lesion involved. Wide- and broad-based gait are commonly seen in the cerebellar vermis dysfunction, and narrow stance and stiff gait are seen in children with corticospinal tract lesions.

Sensory Examination: Sensory modalities include touch, pinprick (sharp), temperature, position sense, and vibration. Tingling instead of pinprick can be used in children because of the similar pathways for these two modalities. The part affected and the pattern of distribution (dermatomal/neural) determine the neurologic abnormality. Pain or tickling sensation can be elicited in a neonate, whereas more formal examination can be carried out in older children as in adults. The sensory level should be searched for, especially in patients with spinal cord abnormality. Modalities like vibration and proprioception are difficult to elicit in young children, requiring good counseling and cooperation even from older children. Other higher sensory modalities like higher cortical sensory perception (like point localization) and discrimination are possible in older children and usually done as part of the mental status examination.

Reflex testing is easily carried out as it does not require a conscious and cooperative child. The type of reflexes includes deep tendon, superficial, and pathological reflexes. For deep tendon reflexes, the circuit includes:

Stimulus: A stretch of a tendon (by tapping with a percussion hammer) stretches the muscle's sensory organs, leading to the muscle's reflex contraction. Common reflexes used for testing include jaw jerk (V), biceps reflex (C5–C6), triceps reflex (C6–8), brachioradialis reflex (C5–C6), patellar reflex (L2–4), and ankle reflex (S1–2). Jaw jerk is difficult to elicit in the older child. Loss of reflexes suggest lesion of the sensory nerve or root, and exaggerated reflexes suggest a lesion of the upper motor neuron.

Superficial Reflexes: These are polysynaptic reflexes, and the responses are elicited by skin stimulus. These reflexes are lost in lesions of the upper motor neuron. They include corneal reflex (V and VII), palatal reflex (IX), abdominal reflex (T7–10), cremasteric reflex (L1–L2), and plantar response (Babinski response). *Babinski response* (L5/S1) is unique in newborn infants as they exhibit extensor plantar response instead of the normal flexor response, which is seen after 1 year of age.

Primitive reflexes are present at birth and disappear with time, almost by 5–6 months of age. These include the sucking reflex, Moro's response, rooting reflex, and grasp reflex. These reflexes are diminished or lost in neonates and young infants with a depressed, nervous system.

4.5 Airway Assessment

The relatively large head size and small neck compared to adults make it a difficult airway in infants and small children. In adjunct, they have large tongues and short mandible in young children. The additional presence of tonsils and adenoids in obligate nasal breathers also contributes to difficult mask ventilation and intubation. This is especially challenging in children with craniofacial abnormalities or occipital dysraphism [37]. Airway assessment initially starts with a proper history taking; a list of questionnaires should be entertained to highlight the same. Proper assessment paves the path for effective planning and successful execution of airway management.

4.6 Cardiovascular Examination

In addition to the routine screening of cardiovascular signs, a thorough CVS examination is advocated in pediatric patients coming for neurosurgical procedures in the sitting position, which carries the highest risk for venous air embolism (VAE). Atrial septal defect or patent foramen ovale increases the risk for paradoxical air embolism in these children. Routine echocardiography screening might help avoid the sitting position and plan the surgery in a different approach in this subset of patients [38]. Children with congenital cyanotic cardiac anomalies like tetralogy of Fallot are associated with a cerebral abscess and present with signs and symptoms of increased ICP [39].

4.7 **Respiratory Examination**

The respiratory system's routine examination should include stepwise assessment such as type and rate of breathing, bilateral air entry, presence of any wheeze or crepitations, and use of accessory muscles (nasal flaring). Reactive airway disease, asthma, or upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) may complicate the perioperative care. A child with cold or URTI is a common finding and needs to be optimized before surgery. The child may be assessed for URTI from history and physical examination; those with mild-to-moderate symptoms, such as a recent history of URTI, runny nose, dry cough, no wheeze, and fever for 1 or 2 days, may proceed for surgery. Children with severe URTI features such as productive cough, mucopurulent secretions, fever >38 °C, wheeze, and lethargy should be deferred and reevaluated after 2 weeks. Extra precautions are needed whenever surgery is planned in children aged less than 1 year (infants) and with history of passive smoking and asthma [40].

However, the risk-benefit should be weighed for deferring the neurosurgical procedure and perioperative adverse respiratory events, which can be minimized by administering salbutamol at least 10–30 min before the induction of anesthesia and also by avoiding any major respiratory stimulus that may lead to bronchoconstriction [41]. Premature babies and obese children with severe sleep apnea are at risk of pulmonary dysfunction such as pulmonary hypertension, apneic episodes, and infection. Hence, a thorough examination of the respiratory system should be done [3].

4.8 Other Systemic Examinations

The child needs to be screened for the presence of an endocrine abnormality [3]. The most common endocrine abnormalities found in pediatrics are thyroidal dysfunction, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, obesity, and precocious puberty. In the presence of a pituitary tumor, dysfunction of growth hormone leading to either cretinism or stunted growth is commonly seen, along with diabetes, hyperprolactinemia, thyroid dysfunction, and cortisol dysfunction. Thus, the child is examined for signs such as tachycardia, dysrhythmias, difficult intubation, and autonomic dysfunction. Examination of the abdomen for renal tenderness, hypospadias, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, and borborygmi is done. Hematological abnormalities like sickle cell disease, thalassemia, and purpura are widespread in this group of patients. The presence of pallor, petechiae, rash, bruises, or other skin lesions, associated or not associated with hepatosplenomegaly, should be examined. The presence of ascites, icterus, and pedal edema should be thoroughly evaluated as they could indicate an underlying hepatic or renal pathology.

4.9 Preoperative Investigations

Pediatric neurosurgical patients are usually referred to the neuroanesthesiologist for evaluation with a confirmed diagnosis. A neuroanesthesiologist requests investigation on the diagnosis and perioperative requirements. The investigations are listed along with their implications in Table 4.6. A review of neuroradiologic investigations is also necessary for the overall intraoperative anesthetic planning and management (Table 4.7).

The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) published an updated practice advisory for preanesthesia evaluation, which states that preoperative tests should not be ordered routinely and should only be ordered on a selective basis to improve perioperative patient management [42]. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommend that all children older than 16 years scheduled for neurosurgical procedures should undergo preoperative testing such as renal profiles, complete blood count, coagulation profile, and urine analysis, only when indicated [43]. However, NICE guideline 2016 update does not include recommendations on children and patients undergoing cardiothoracic and neurosurgery.

4.10 Risk Stratification

Risk stratification in neurosurgery is an essential tool not only for the accurate prediction of clinical and perioperative risk but also for comparative audit and outcome measurements. It guides the parents and older children to understand and sign the consent for surgery and clinical decision-making during the perioperative period. Though some risk stratification tools are described for adult neurosurgery, pediatric neurosurgery literature is sparse [44, 45]. The risk of morbidity and mortality is very high for infants and patients with severe comorbid conditions; emergency surgeries further increase the risk. Four major institutional audits [46] have suggested the following:

| | | r |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Investigations | Neurosurgical indications | Implications |
| Hemoglobin, hematocrit (surgeries where significant intraoperative bleeding is anticipated) | Craniotomies Malignancy Vascular malformations Vascular tumors Trauma Poor nutritional status Associated chronic cardiovascular, pulmonary, renal, or hepatic disease | Hb less than 10 gm/dl signifies anemia (varies according to age) Hb, more than 16 gm/dl, signifies polycythemia making more prone to thrombosis. Also, can suspect congenital cyanotic heart disease and needs further evaluation |
| Total leucocyte count | To exclude any infection sourcePatients on steroid therapy | Patients on steroids are more prone to infection |
| Blood grouping and crossmatching | All craniotomies and major spinal surgeries | Blood can be kept ready for transfusion whenever required |
| Coagulation profile: Platelet count, Bleeding time (BT), Clotting time (CT), Prothrombin time (PT), Activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) | History of bleeding diathesis Patients on anticoagulant therapy | Abnormality can be detected and optimized |
| Liver function test | Patients on anticonvulsant and antitubercular therapy | Need to titrate anticonvulsant and anesthetic drug dosages |
| Renal function tests (blood urea, serum creatinine, serum electrolytes) | Congenital anomalies Patients on diuretic therapy Pituitary and adrenal disorders Type I diabetes | Cautious fluid therapy and titration of drug dosage required in deranged renal function |
| Viral markers (HBsAg, HIV) | All the patients coming for surgery | Routinely carried out; universal precautions in positive cases |
| Electrocardiograph | Suspected heart disease, head injury, vascular malformations, intracranial hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, type I diabetes, congenital malformations | It helps in differentiating cardiac disease from the changes caused by neurological insult |
| Echocardiography | Congenital heart disease, valvular heart disease, surgery in sitting position | Helps in the planning and execution of perioperative management To exclude patent foramen ovale |
| Chest roentgenogram | Cardiac disease, pulmonary disease, malignancy | To exclude major pathology To exclude tumor metastasis |
| Arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis | Significant pulmonary disease, scoliosis, cervical pathology | Assessment of respiratory reserve and optimization The decision for postoperative mechanical ventilation |
| Sleep apnea tests | History of sleep apnea Morbid obesity | The requirement for postoperative oxygenation Explain for the requirement for continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) machine Titration of anesthetic drugs to prevent hypoxia |

Table 4.7 Investigations for pediatric neurosurgical practice and their implications

- Infants are at greater risk of complications.
- Infants have predominantly respiratory complications.
- Postoperative vomiting is common among older children.
- ASA grade III patients are at greater risk: ASA grading is controversial for its applica-

tion in the neurosurgical patient population. ASA grade V neurosurgical patients have shown to have a better outcome when compared with other non-neurosurgical ASA V patients [47]. It has been less reliable in children and may still be difficult to apply further in pediatric subpopulations [48]. The search for a more specific physical grading system to predict the perioperative outcome in pediatric age group is still on, considering the associated factors such as congenital conditions, syndromes, and other acute illnesses [48].

Massive hemorrhage and its consequences are the most common identifiable cause of anesthesia-related cardiac arrest and other major morbidity resulting in litigations. Craniotomy, craniofacial, and spinal surgeries have been identified as high-risk surgeries for major blood loss, particularly in infants. Proactive and appropriate planning like a timely replacement of blood and blood products along with IV fluids with continuous monitoring of fluid status, hematocrit, vitals, sugars, and potassium will help tide over the crisis. The most common equipment-related (iatrogenic) cause of severe morbidity is the insertion of central lines [46].

Pediatric spinal deformity correction is a challenge. The newly established model for risk stratification includes clinical and radiological factors that can guide the perioperative planning and meticulous surgical and anesthesia management for a better outcome. Osteotomy and resection procedures were independent predictors of postoperative neurologic complications [49].

As per Rotterdam CT score categories, children with TBI and less severe injuries will have better survival than the adults, but those with higher score categories will have worse survival

| Modality | Neurosurgical condition(s) | Implications |
|-------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance | Head injury: Detects subdural, extradural, and subarachnoid hemorrhage, parenchymal bleeds, cerebral contusions, and skull fractures Spine injuries: Detects fracture, dislocation, and compression | CT scan is the most preferred modality in head injury patients; it also helps in rapid screening of cervical spine injuries Hemorrhages are seen as areas of white density (CT) |
| imaging (MRI) | Tumors: Site, the extent of the lesion and mass effect, associated hydrocephalus, vascularity, and edema | This helps planning for surgical position, CSF drainage options for deep lesions, blood conservation techniques, and arrangements of blood and blood products |
| | Cerebral edema: Hypodense (black) on CT On MRI: Seen as a decreased signal (black) on T1-weighted and increased signal (white) on T2-weighted studies | |
| | Detects herniation syndromes and hydrocephalus (both communicating and non-communicating) | |
| | Detects pneumocephalus | Pneumocephalus: After skull fractures, postoperative, after pneumocephalograms and lumbar punctures Nitrous oxide to be avoided |
| | Raised ICP: Seen as effaced cortical sulci, loss of gray and white matter distinction, basal cisterns, and interhemispheric fissures, compressed ventricles, and herniation syndromes | |
| Plain skull films | Detects fractures, penetrating injuries, foreign bodies, site and relationship of depressed skull fractures, pneumocephalus | |
| Positron emission tomography (PET) | In vivo evaluation of brain physiology and metabolic activity Identifies grades of glioma and can differentiate recurrent tumor from radiation-induced necrosis | |
| Angiography | Identifies vascular lesions, the site of origin, vessels at risk, vascularity of the lesion, presence of cross-filling, risk of bleeding (in AVMs), etc. Embolization of feeding vessels in highly vascular tumors and AVMs to decrease bleeding risk, plan surgical access, prepare for transfusion of blood and blood products, and maintain temperature | |

Table 4.8 Neuro-specific diagnostic imaging modalities and their implication

than adults. Hence, this score can be used accurately in children with moderate or severe TBI for risk stratification [50]. This scoring system includes basilar cistern status, midline shift, sub-arachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), or intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH). This shows more favorable outcomes with epidural hematomas (Table 4.8).

4.11 Other Considerations

4.11.1 The Child with Physical or Mental Handicap

Children with physical or mental handicaps frequently come for surgery. They need care with expertise and compassion from a thoroughly coordinated team. Many children who survive traumatic brain damage, hypoxic encephalopathy, or post-infectious encephalopathy come for various surgical procedures, same with children having drug-refractory epilepsy and mental retardation for epilepsy surgery. These patients should be assessed in terms of neurological status, shunt patency if a shunt is in situ, respiratory compromise due to repeated aspirations, tracheal stenosis if there is a history of tracheostomy, and presence of gastrostomy tubes. Any old injuries, deformities, and scars should be noted to avoid future legal liability [51].

Cerebral palsy patients should be assessed for their intelligence in addition to the neurological status and deformities [52]. Children with mental retardation, especially Down's syndrome, need special assessment for congenital heart defects and other congenital anomalies. The latter include blunting of the second cervical vertebra's styloid process combined with ligament laxity, causing atlantoaxial subluxation leading to spinal cord injury [53].

4.11.2 Drug Abusing Child and Adolescent

With the increasing incidents of trauma in children, the anesthesiologist should be aware of drug abuse signs and symptoms that mimic neurological disability. Patients with cocaine abuse are particularly prone to myocardial ischemia and infarction in younger age groups. They are also associated with ventricular hypertrophy, dysrhythmia, cardiomyopathy, etc. There is also an increased incidence of hemorrhagic cerebrovascular accidents in these children. Ulcers in the nasal mucosa may pinpoint to drug abuse. Similarly, the neuroanesthesiologist should be aware of other commonly used drugs like amphetamine, marijuana abuse, and their consequences for guiding them during the perioperative period [54].

4.12 Preoperative Preparation

4.12.1 Preoperative Visit

The anesthesiologist's preoperative visit eases the emotional stress and builds the patient's and parents' confidence. Thorough knowledge of the pathological condition, expected surgical procedure and patient's medical history is of utmost importance. A preoperative visit wearing OR attire may help; the child may feel familiar when meeting the anesthesiologist inside OR.

4.12.2 Informed Consent

Generally, a consent form signed by parents is to be obtained for children age less than 12 years. Between 12 and 18 years, only a restricted consent, not involving risk of life, is valid. For most neurosurgical surgeries, the signature of both parents shall be preferably obtained. Consent in pediatric patients remains distinctive as parental responsibility and understanding. A child's capacity to consent and follow legal guidelines play an important role. All parents should understand the primary diagnosis, type of surgery, procedure-specific risks, and management options. Parents should be informed about the probable requirement for postoperative mechanical ventilation, tracheostomy, and ICU stay [55].

4.12.3 Fasting Guidelines

Preoperative fasting is of paramount importance as it allows sufficient time for gastric emptying and prevents aspiration of gastric contents. The benefits of fasting should be weighed against prolonged hours of fasting leading to dehydration, hypoglycemia, and discomfort to the patient, especially in patients with raised ICP associated with vomiting. During preanesthetic visit, clear written instructions and verbal communication to the parents about fasting is mandatory. It is important to instruct these patients due to unpredictable surgery, cancellations, and observance by both patients and parents. Many studies have shown no increase in the risk of aspiration for elective surgery if clear fluids are given up to and at 1 h preoperatively against 4 h for breast milk, 6 h fasting time for light meals and milk, and 8 h for fatty meals [56]. Current guidelines also favor early initiation of oral intake within hours of surgery [56].

It is important to ascertain that solids should not be allowed after admission for children coming for emergency neurosurgical procedures. Fluid status should be maintained with intravenous therapy.

4.12.4 Premedication and Review of Current Medications

Sedatives and opioid premedication are avoided in pediatric neurosurgical patients, especially with raised ICP. This may aggravate hypoxia, as well as hypercarbia which increases the ICP. However, a very anxious child may be premedicated with midazolam (oral 0.7 mg/kg; nasal 0.2 mg/kg) [57]. Oral midazolam in optimum dosage did not cause respiratory depression and increased PaCO₂. Children with vascular anomalies should be premedicated with midazolam under supervision, which helps control anxiety and, in turn, hypertension, which prevents the vessels' rupture. Antisialagogues are not recommended as per ASA guidelines to decrease the secretions and hence the risk of aspiration. These pre-medicants may be advocated in certain neurosurgical procedures requiring significant airway manipulations like the spine and cranial procedures in prone and sitting position and cervical spine procedures [58].

Drugs like fentanyl and digoxin may potentiate the side effects of dexmedetomidine like bradycardia; hence, caution has to be exercised [59]. On the other hand, perioperative β -blockers may be given to attenuate hypertension during the induction of anesthesia. Oral propranolol may be given in the dosage up to 1 mg/kg, in divided dosage, the night before, and in the morning of surgery. Ketamine should be avoided as it increases the cerebral blood flow and ICP. If the child is on medication with steroids and anticonvulsants, they need to be continued perioperatively. Application of a eutectic mixture of local anesthetics (EMLA cream) one hour before surgery helps secure an IV access.

Antiepileptics, steroids, beta-blockers, and others like antipsychotic medications should be continued on the day of surgery. Children undergoing epilepsy surgery come under a special category. The need to continue or stop antiepileptic agents depends on the severity and frequency of seizures and electrocorticography monitoring during the intraoperative period. Medications that need to be stopped on the day of surgery include insulin, diuretics, and other antihypertensives like angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin-receptor blocking agents, etc.

4.13 Conclusion

The pediatric neuroanesthesiologist must understand the anatomical and physiological differences. They also need to deal with the emotional reaction of different age groups. Though, premedication can help in allaying fear and anxiety in some patients, there is no substitute for a thoughtful preoperative visit. In a nutshell, detailed preoperative evaluation and optimization, proper planning and execution of perioperative management, and communication and documentation improves the overall outcome.

Conflict of interest None.

References

- Macfarlane F. Paediatric anatomy and physiology and the basics of paediatric anaesthesia. Anaesthesia UK [diunduh 6 Oktober 2006] Tersedia dari: http://www. frca.co.uk/article.aspx. 2006.
- Rekate HL. The pediatric neurosurgical patient: the challenge of growing up. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2009;16(1):2–8.
- Lerman J. Preoperative assessment and premedication in paediatrics. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2013;30(11):645–50.
- Lin CT, Riva-Cambrin JK. Management of posterior fossa tumors and hydrocephalus in children: a review. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31(10):1781–9.
- Hertzler DA 2nd, DePowell JJ, Stevenson CB, Mangano FT. Tethered cord syndrome: a review of the literature from embryology to adult presentation. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;29(1):E1.
- Barkhoudarian G, Laws ER. Craniopharyngioma: history. Pituitary. 2013;16(1):1–8.
- Davis T, Ings A, National Institute of H, Care E. Head injury: triage, assessment, investigation and early management of head injury in children, young people and adults (NICE guideline CG 176). Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed. 2015;100(2):97–100.
- 8. Berg AT. Paediatric epilepsy surgery: making the best of a tough situation. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 1):4–5.
- Wolfs JF, Arts MP, Peul WC. Juvenile chronic arthritis and the craniovertebral junction in the paediatric patient: review of the literature and management considerations. Adv Tech Stand Neurosurg. 2014;41:143–56.
- Brockmeyer DL, Spader HS. Complex Chiari malformations in children: diagnosis and management. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26(4):555–60.
- Hwang SK, Park KS, Park SH, Hwang SK. Update of diagnostic evaluation of Craniosynostosis with a focus on pediatric systematic evaluation and genetic studies. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2016;59(3):214–8.
- Dias M, Partington M. Section on neurologic S. congenital brain and spinal cord malformations and their associated cutaneous markers. Pediatrics. 2015;136(4):e1105–19.
- Buck D, Michael T, Wahn U, Niggemann B. Ventricular shunts and the prevalence of sensitization and clinically relevant allergy to latex in patients with spina bifida. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2000;11(2):111–5.
- Nishina K, Maekawa N. Preanesthetic evaluation of pediatric patients. Masui. 2010;59(9):1128–32.
- Section on A, Pain M. The pediatrician's role in the evaluation and preparation of pediatric patients undergoing anesthesia. Pediatrics. 2014;134(3):634–41.
- Howe TH, Sheu CF, Hsu YW, Wang TN, Wang LW. Predicting neurodevelopmental outcomes at preschool age for children with very low birth weight. Res Dev Disabil. 2016;48:231–41.

- Frankenburg WK, Ker CY, Engelke S, Schaefer ES, Thornton SM. Validation of key Denver developmental screening test items: a preliminary study. J Pediatr. 1988;112(4):560–6.
- Haslam RH. Clinical neurological examination of infants and children. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013;111:17–25.
- Lam S, Auffinger B, Tormenti M, Bonfield C, Greene S. The relationship between obesity and symptomatic Chiari I malformation in the pediatric population. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2015;10(4):321–5.
- Wittenbrook W. Best practices in nutrition for children with myelomeningocele. ICAN. 2010;2(4):237–45.
- Hamid R, Sarkar S, Hossain MA, Mazumder U, Akanda NI, Parvin R. Clinical picture of craniopharyngioma in childhood. Mymensingh Med J. 2007;16(2):123–6.
- 22. Addo NK, Javadpour S, Kandasamy J, Sillifant P, May P, Sinha A. Central sleep apnea and associated Chiari malformation in children with syndromic craniosynostosis: treatment and outcome data from a supraregional national craniofacial center. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;11(3):296–301.
- Enslin JMN, Fieggen AG. Global perspectives on the treatment of hydrocephalus. In: Limbrick Jr. D., Leonard J. (eds). Cerebrospinal Fluid Disorders. Springer, Cham; 2019.
- 24. Eriksen AA, Johnsen JS, Tennoe AH, Tirsit A, Laeke T, Amare EB, et al. Implementing routine head circumference measurements in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: means and challenges. World Neurosurg. 2016;91:592–6. e2
- Bartram JL, Rigby AS, Baxter PS. The "Lasso-o" tape: stretchability and observer variability in head circumference measurement. Arch Dis Child. 2005;90(8):820–1.
- Bejiqi R, Retkoceri R, Bejiqi H, Zeka N. Klippel-Feil syndrome associated with congential heart disease presentation of cases and a review of the current literature. Open Access Maced J Med Sci. 2015;3(1):129–34.
- Spruijt B, Joosten KF, Driessen C, Rizopoulos D, Naus NC, van der Schroeff MP, et al. Algorithm for the management of intracranial hypertension in children with syndromic craniosynostosis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;136(2):331–40.
- Governale LS. Craniosynostosis. Pediatr Neurol. 2015;53(5):394–401.
- Whitney R, Langhan M. Vascular access in pediatric patients in the emergency department: types of access, indications, and complications. Pediatr Emerg Med Pract. 2017;14(6):1–20.
- 30. Vinograd AM, Chen AE, Woodford AL, Fesnak S, Gaines S, Elci OU, et al. Ultrasonographic guidance to improve first-attempt success in children with predicted difficult intravenous access in the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med. 2019;74(1):19–27.
- 31. Atalay H, Erbay H, Tomatir E, Serin S, Oner O. The use of transillumination for peripheral venous

access in paediatric anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2005;22(4):317–8.

- Ellis M, Manandhar D, Costello A. Head growth and cranial assessment at neurological examination in infancy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2003;45(6):427.
- McAuley J, Swash M. Nervous system. In: Swash M, Glynn M, editors. Hutchinson's clinical methods. 22nd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2007. p. 178–247.
- Misulis KE, Head TC. Netter's concise neurology, vol. 1. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2007.
- Nesiama JA, Pirallo RG, Lerner EB, Hennes H. Does a prehospital Glasgow Coma scale score predict pediatric outcomes? Pediatr Emerg Care. 2012;28(10):1027–32.
- Medical Research Council. Aids to the examination of the peripheral nervous system, Memorandum No. 45, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London; 1981. Accessed 18 Oct 2020.
- Hachenberg T, Schneemilch C. Anesthesia in neurologic and psychiatric diseases: is there a 'best anesthesia' for certain diseases? Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27(4):394–402.
- Gracia I, Fabregas N. Craniotomy in sitting position: anesthesiology management. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27(5):474–83.
- Shahzad K, Hamid MH, Khan MA, Malik N, Maqbool S. Brain abscess in children. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2005;15(10):609–11.
- 40. Lema GF, Berhe YW, Gebrezgi AH, Getu AA. Evidence-based perioperative management of a child with upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) undergoing elective surgery; a systematic review. Int J Surg Open. 2018;12:17–24.
- von Ungern-Sternberg BS, Habre W, Erb TO, Heaney M. Salbutamol premedication in children with a recent respiratory tract infection. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(11):1064–9.
- 42. Practice Advisory for Preanesthesia Evaluation: An Updated Report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Preanesthesia Evaluation. Anesthesiology. 2012;116(3):522–38.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: The use of routine preoperative tests for elective surgery. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG3. Accessed 9 Sept 2020.
- 44. Reponen E, Tuominen H, Korja M. Evidence for the use of preoperative risk assessment scores in elective cranial neurosurgery: a systematic review of the literature. Anesth Analg. 2014;119(2):420–32.
- 45. Udupa AN, Ravindra MN, Chandrika YR, Chandrakala KR, Bindu N, Watcha MF. Comparison of pediatric perioperative risk assessment by ASA physical status and by NARCO-SS (neurological, airway, respiratory, cardiovascular, other-surgical severity) scores. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25(3):309–16.

- Paterson N, Waterhouse P. Risk in pediatric anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2011;21(8):848–57.
- 47. Seicean A, Seicean S, Neuhauser D, Fyda J, Mehta A, Weil R. Outcomes after neurosurgical operations in American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status (ASA) class 5 patients. Interdiscipl Neurosurg. 2020;20:100692.
- 48. Aplin S, Baines D, Lima JDE. Use of the ASA physical status grading system in pediatric practice. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(3):216–22.
- Boachie-Adjei O, Yagi M, Sacramento-Dominguez C, Akoto H, Cunningham ME, Gupta M, et al. Surgical risk stratification based on preoperative risk factors in severe pediatric spinal deformity surgery. Spine Deform. 2014;2(5):340–9.
- Liesemer K, Riva-Cambrin J, Bennett KS, Bratton SL, Tran H, Metzger RR, et al. Use of Rotterdam CT scores for mortality risk stratification in children with traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2014;15(6):554–62.
- Karam VY, Barakat H. Perioperative management of the child with behavioral disorders. Middle East J Anaesthesiol. 2011;21(2):191–7.
- 52. Aker J, Anderson DJ. Perioperative care of patients with cerebral palsy. AANA J. 2007;75(1)
- 53. Lewanda AF, Matisoff A, Revenis M, Harahsheh A, Futterman C, Nino G, et al. Preoperative evaluation and comprehensive risk assessment for children with down syndrome. Paediatr Anaesth. 2016;26(4):356–62.
- 54. Krane J, Davis J. Preoperative preparation of infants and children. In: Davis M, Davis P, Motoyama E, editors. Smith's anesthesia for infants and children. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby; 2006. p. 262–4.
- 55. Silva AHD, Wijesinghe H, Mundil N, Lo W, Walsh AR, Solanki GA, et al. Consent in paediatric neurosurgery: adequacy of documentation and parental perspectives. Childs Nerv Syst. 2019;35(12):2363–9.
- 56. Toms AS, Rai E. Operative fasting guidelines and postoperative feeding in paediatric anaesthesia-current concepts. Indian J Anaesth. 2019;63(9):707–12.
- Mishra L, Sinha G, Rao PB, Sharma V, Satya K, Gairola R. Injectable midazolam as oral premedicant in pediatric neurosurgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2005;17(4):193–8.
- Bingham R, Thomas AL, Sury M. Hatch & Sumner's textbook of paediatric anaesthesia. 3rd ed. London: CRC Press; 2008.
- Cote CJ, Lerman J, Todres ID. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children e-book. Elsevier Health Sciences, Philadelphia; 2018. p. 149.

5

Airway Equipment and Difficult Airway Management During Pediatric Neurosurgery

Satyen Parida, Sandeep Kumar Mishra, and Arvind Kumar Arya

Key Points

- Pediatric patients with congenital hydrocephalus, craniofacial dysmorphic syndromes, and cranio-spinal dysraphism represent a subset of patients with anticipated difficult airways during neurosurgery and therefore pose unique airway challenges.
- Several unique neurosurgical scenarios may threaten the pediatric airway and make airway control difficult during the perioperative period.
- The difficult airway is a major contributor to anesthesia-related morbidity and mortality in children undergoing neurosurgical procedures.
- True difficult laryngoscopy may be rare, but associated problems include the fact that pediatric patients cannot be intubated awake. Many of them might undergo induction without an intravenous cannula.
- Airway anatomy and physiology, especially in neonates and infants, are at marked variance from adults, marking these patients as a cate-

S. Parida (🖂) · S. K. Mishra

gory with increased risk for airway complications.

• Thus, it is essential that anesthesiologists need to have adequate training and resources in terms of airway equipment, staffing, and help, to deal safely with this vulnerable class of patients.

5.1 Introduction

Airway issues in the pediatric age group contribute to significant morbidity and mortality under anesthesia [1]. Neonates and infants are the most susceptible age group [2]. Oxygen utilization in this age group is substantially higher, and this imparts poor tolerance to apnea, implying that pediatric patients can develop significant hypoxemia very rapidly, with ensuing profound bradycardia [3, 4]. While true difficult laryngoscopy is rare (1.3%) [5], airway management in many pediatric patients presenting for neurosurgical procedures has certain unique considerations, including the fact that unlike adults, they cannot be intubated awake, and may often have to be induced without intravenous access.

5.2 Infant Versus Adult Airway

• The head size in the pediatric population is much larger relative to the body, making positioning difficult.

Check for updates

Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), Puducherry, India

A. K. Arya

Department of Neuroanesthesia, Institute of Human Behavior and Allied Sciences (IHBAS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_5

- A child's nostrils, oropharynx, and nasopharynx are significantly narrower than that of an adult (Fig. 5.1). Hence, the development of airway edema following inflammation or injury in any of these anatomical areas can hamper airflow quite perilously.
- Similarly, the anatomy of the tongue, larynx, epiglottis, vocal cords, the narrowest part of the airway, the type of cartilages, and also the lower airway make the infant airway different from that of an adult (Table 5.1).
- Infants are obligate nasal breathers until about 5 months of age. Thus, placement of an esophageal temperature probe or a Ryle's tube through the nose might impede spontaneous respiratory efforts.

5.3 Predicting Difficult Airway in Children

This may be easier said than done, since even adequately trained anesthesiologists, who do not regularly manage children in their operating rooms, could face challenges, even with what would seem like a routine pediatric airway [6]. Table 5.2 lists certain issues to consider while assessing a difficult pediatric airway. Even in seemingly emergent situations, it is always worthwhile spending some time, if possible, to

| Infont | Adult |
|------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| IIIIaiit | Adult |
| Large occiput | Flat occiput |
| Large in | Smaller when |
| comparison to oral | compared with |
| cavity | total space in oral |
| | cavity |
| Placed much | At the level of C4/ |
| higher, at the level | C6 vertebrae |
| of C2/C3 vertebrae | |
| Ω -shaped, soft | Flat, flexible |
| Short, concave | Horizontal |
| | |
| Cricoid ring below | Vocal cords |
| cords (has been | |
| challenged | |
| recently) | |
| Soft, less calcified | Firm, calcified |
| Smaller and less | Larger and has |
| well-developed | more cartilage |
| | Infant Large occiput Large in comparison to oral cavity Placed much higher, at the level of C2/C3 vertebrae Ω -shaped, soft Short, concave Cricoid ring below cords (has been challenged recently) Soft, less calcified Smaller and less welldeveloped |

Table 5.1 The infant and adult airway



Fig. 5.1 Comparison in terms of sizes in between the adult and the infant airway

Table 5.2 Airway concerns during preoperative evaluation of pediatric neurosurgical patients

- Would it be possible to mask ventilate the patient?
- Would an adjuvant such as an oropharyngeal or nasopharyngeal airway be required to facilitate or improve mask ventilation?
- What will be the alternate plan if mask ventilation is not successful?
- Would it be possible to insert a supraglottic device?
- Would it be possible to perform a direct laryngoscopy?
- · Would tracheal intubation be possible?
- Is infraglottic airway access an option?

Table 5.3 The modified Mallampati score

| Class | Anatomy |
|-----------|---------------------------------------------|
| Class I | Soft palate, uvula, fauces, pillars visible |
| Class II | Soft palate, uvula, fauces visible |
| Class III | Soft palate, base of uvula visible |
| Class IV | Only hard palate visible |

assess the airway of a child before the initiation of anesthesia [1].

Assessment of the pediatric airway begins with reviewing the patient's history for previous airway manipulation and difficulties there. The subsequent physical examination directed at the airway should focus on any obvious anatomical abnormalities of the facies, any restriction of mouth opening, the mento-hyoid and thyromental distances, and any possibility of restricting neck movements. The thyromental distance might indicate micrognathia, which could make intubation difficult by restricting the space available for the displacement of the tongue when laryngoscopy is attempted. Thyromental distance is assessed using the child's own fingers, and three such fingerbreadths or more would be deemed reassuring. The modified Mallampati score [7], although commonly used in adults to predict probable difficult endotracheal intubation (Table 5.3), may also be employed in cooperative children. In contrast, the Cormack-Lehane grading [8] (Table 5.4) of the direct laryngoscopic view of the glottis should be done before the insertion of the tube to serve as a guide for practitioners handling the same child's airway at later dates.

Table 5.4 Cormack-Lehane classification

| Grade | Anatomy |
|---------|--------------------------------------------|
| Grade 1 | Almost entire glottis can be seen |
| Grade 2 | Only posterior part of glottis or |
| Grade 3 | arytenoid cartilages are seen |
| Grade 4 | Only epiglottis but no part of glottis is |
| | seen |
| | Neither glottis nor epiglottis are visible |

Most of the predictors for a difficult airway in an adult could predict difficulty in the pediatric population, as well. Further, some phenotypic features have been recognized as being associwith difficult airway management ated (Table 5.4). Another anatomical anomaly associated with difficult airway management is the abnormality of the pinna, especially microtia [9]. The difficult airway may also be anticipated in children with syndromes such as Goldenhar or Treacher Collins syndrome, as well as the Pierre Robin sequence [6]. Butler et al. have enumerated various syndromes and their impact on the management of the airway [10]. Diverse acquired situations can also impact the airway and may expedite progression to a difficult airway. These involve infection, trauma, burns, tumors, surgical radiation airway, changes, to the and anaphylaxis.

Patients who have features of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) constitute another group at risk for a difficult airway. Most of our current understanding of OSA is derived from the adult population, in whom airway management and endotracheal intubation incur additional risk [11]. However, in children with craniovertebral junction (CVJ) anomaly, a central type of sleep apnea on polysomnography [12, 13] might exist and should indicate the need for foramen magnum decompression. This can cause upper airway obstruction and may predict a difficult airway. Neck circumference might also be a predictor of difficult intubation [14]. The ratio of the neck circumference to the thyromental distance (NC/TM) correlated well with difficult laryngoscopy incidence in 123 obese adult individuals [14]. However, given that none of the tests or physical characteristics tend to have 100% sensitivity or specificity for a difficult laryngoscopy or intubation, it would seem prudent to combine more than one test to predict the possibility of a difficult airway, a strategy which might also hold for pediatric patients.

5.4 Planning and Investigations

It might be useful to record the saturation of a child with an expected difficult airway preoperatively based on feasibility. In patients with respiratory distress, an arterial blood gas might help assess the severity and progression of such distress. If possible, pulmonary function tests to obtain in a child cooperative enough might help distinguish respiratory obstruction due to extrathoracic causes from those due to intrathoracic etiology. Chest X-rays or CT or MRI scans help localize the cause and site of obstruction while identifying bony or soft tissue abnormalities. For children with OSA, sleep studies might indicate severity, although they are not practical for use in most clinical settings. Recording the incidence of desaturations overnight may be a more practical option.

The anesthetic plan should take into consideration any signs suggestive of congenital or acquired deformities of the airway. The child's clinical presentation, whether stable, having respiratory embarrassment, or presenting in an extremely moribund state, also needs due consideration.

Upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) can upset even the most carefully laid plans and need meticulous evaluation for presence and severity. The determination of whether surgery needs to be rescheduled or not, especially in pediatric patients with URTI, should be individualized because of the risk factors and the anesthetist's experience with anesthetizing kids with URTI. It would be reasonable, under most circumstances, to progress with the anesthetic if the child looks healthy with no features other than clear rhinorrhea. However, rescheduling an elective neurosurgical case may be considered if the child has purulent nasal voiding, vigorous cough, or fever or there are clinical signs of lower respiratory tract complicity such as desaturation or wheeze. Under such conditions, it may be prudent to consider repealing the operation if the child has come in for major elective neurosurgery. The determination of appropriate time of elective neurosurgery in a child with URTI rests on the anesthetist after conferring with the surgeon and parents who should be informed about the risks either way.

The kind of airway device the particular surgical procedure requires, an endotracheal tube, or a supraglottic airway, also needs to be incorporated into planning for the difficult airway. It is a good idea to garner all the help one can get in pediatric patients with anticipated difficult airways. It might also be a good idea to involve the ENT surgeon early if infraglottic airway access is considered a distinct possibility.

5.5 Conducting the Anesthetic

It would always be a safe practice to maintain spontaneous ventilation for as long as possible while inducing anesthesia and proceeding in a stepwise fashion, reassessing the airway after each step, in cases with an anticipated difficult pediatric airway. If difficult mask ventilation is anticipated, the choice of the induction technique needs to be chalked out with due care; for example, with Apert syndrome, CVJ anomaly with the central type of sleep apnea, or adenotonsillar hypertrophy, spontaneous breathing from a face mask might lead to obstruction. Still, intubation does not pose a significant problem in these cases, justifying intravenous over inhalational induction. In contrast, children with certain mucopolysaccharidoses and those with achondroplasia [15] have difficult mask ventilation and difficult intubation. Hence, a careful inhalational induction might be most prudent.

5.6 Equipment for Airway Management in Children

5.6.1 Pediatric Masks

Anatomical masks and round clear PVC or silicon masks are commonly used in pediatric patients for ventilation. While the Rendell-BakerSoucek (RBS) mask has less dead space, disposable clear masks with inflatable cuffs are preferred for their uniform seal. Clear masks also allow visualization of secretions and vomitus during induction. Different sizes of pediatric masks available are 0, 1, 2, and 3 (Fig. 5.2).

5.6.2 Pediatric Laryngoscopes

Miller straight blade and Macintosh pediatric blades are most commonly used for conventional laryngoscopy. Straight blade is preferred in infants, but it limits movement and retraction of the tongue. The curved Macintosh blade may also be used, which can retract the tongue (Fig. 5.3).

5.6.3 Airway Adjuncts

Oropharyngeal airways and nasopharyngeal airways, bougies, stylets, and tracheal tube exchangers are commonly used airway adjuncts in pediatrics. Appropriate size selection ensures easy insertion. Hypertrophied adenoids and turbinates should be excluded while considering the insertion of the nasopharyngeal airway. Pediatric bougies are available in 8 and 11 Fr sizes (Fig. 5.4).



Fig. 5.3 Different sizes and types of conventional laryngoscope blades



Fig. 5.4 Airway adjuncts: stylets, oral airways, nasal airways, and tracheal tube exchangers



Fig. 5.2 Different sizes and types of pediatric face masks

5.6.4 Tracheal Tube Exchangers

Tracheal tube exchangers (TTEs) are available in different sizes [16], such as 8, 11, and 14 Fr, which can accommodate sizes 3, 4, and 5 ID size ET tubes for pediatric use. These help exchange endotracheal tubes in conditions where there is a significant leak around a previously placed endotracheal tube after intubating a difficult airway, to replace a laryngeal airway with an endotracheal tube in case of difficult intubation, and for extubation of a child who has had difficult intubation.

5.6.5 Cuffed Endotracheal Tubes in Pediatric Patients

It is compelling to note that our understanding of the danger of the use of cuffed ETTs in pediatrics has changed. Until the early 1990s, these were shunned due to their perceived disadvantage of causing potential injury to the laryngeal mucosa. Earlier thinking was mostly based upon the use of older high-pressure, low-volume cuffed ETTs. This fear was overcome to a large extent when companies began to assemble new high-volume class, low-pressure ETTs. These confer several benefits: low fresh gas flow, reduced gas impurities in the theatre, a smaller number of airway manipulations, substantially less aspiration risk, and better end-tidal gas monitoring. Further, the diminution of nitrous oxide, which might enter the cuff leading to an increase in cuff pressure, in most neurosurgical operating rooms, has also paralleled greater acceptance of high-volume, low-pressure ETTs.

5.6.6 Reinforced Endotracheal Tubes in Pediatric Patients

A metal or nylon spiral stiffened wire is engulfed within the PVC or silicone tube wall, coming up with more resilience to kinking or constriction. The greater resilience may make fitting it into the pediatric airway tougher. If bitten, the tube can be divided or indelibly damaged. Reinforced tubes come in small sizes and are singularly useful for many neurosurgical procedures as they are resistant to surface load from instrumentation or positioning. Excessive flexion of the neck may cause intraoral kinking of PVC ETT; hence, one might elect to go in for reinforced ETTs in cases where this is a possibility. While cuffed reinforced ETTs are available down to size 6.0 ID, many manufacturers also market cuffless reinforced Magill tip ETTs without Murphy eye down to a 2.5 mm ID size. However, the availability of smaller-size reinforced ETTs locally may be an issue.

5.6.7 Frova Intubating Introducer

This introducer catheter [17] (Fig. 5.4) comes with a hollow lumen and has a blunt curved tip. It comes in 8 Fr size, which allows placement of endotracheal tubes down to 3 mm ID size. It has a stiffening cannula with two Rapi-Fit adaptors to connect ventilator devices (anesthesia circuit—15 mm connector or to the jet ventilator). The introducer is also available in 14 Fr for a 6 mm ID endotracheal tube.

5.6.8 Laryngeal Mask Airways (LMAs) and Other Supraglottic Airway Devices (SADs)

Supraglottic airway devices (SADs) have been integral parts of airway management in children. A supraglottic airway can be inserted to sustain oxygenation and ventilation in a situation of not being able to intubate and ventilate. With SADs, surgery can continue, depending upon the nature and duration of the surgery. SADs can be used as conduits [17-19] for endotracheal intubation with the help of pediatric fiberoptic bronchoscopes or tube exchangers (Fig. 5.5a-d). Fiberoptic visualization techniques have a greater degree of success in intubations through the intubating LMA due to epiglottic down-folding potential in children [19]. SADs also help in maintaining patency of the airway during emergence from anesthesia and following accidental extubation. If inadvertent extubation occurs, SADs can be inserted for maintaining ventilation and oxygenation, not only in supine position but also in the lateral or prone position. SADs used in children (Table 5.5; Fig. 5.5a-d) are LMA Classic, intubating LMA (ILMA), ProSeal LMA [20], i-gel [21, 22], LMA Supreme [20], Ambu laryngeal airway [23], Air-Q [21], laryngeal tube (LT and LTS) [24], etc. ProSeal LMA, i-gel, air-Q, and LMA Supreme are widely used for maintaining patency of the airway with effective sealing pressures during the perioperative period in children [20, 21, 23]. SADs have also been shown to produce less cardiovascular responses to anesthesia during neurosurgical procedures [25]; however they cannot guarantee the prevention of aspiration and displacement during the surgical intervention [26].

5.6.9 Video Laryngoscope

Pediatric video laryngoscopes have been recently introduced and are available in differ-

ent sizes for intubation in both normal and difficult airway scenarios [27]. The devices currently available include [27, 28] Airtraq, GlideScope, Storz C-MAC, Truview PCD, McGRATH [29], Pentax-AWS [30], and Ambu King Vision [31] (for larger children) and the Bonfils fiberscope [32] (Fig. 5.6). These video

Table 5.5 Supraglottic airway in children

| Supraglottic airway in children LMA classic ProSeal LMA | Different sizes available 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5.3 | Conduit for fiberoptic intubation Good |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| LMA supreme | 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5.3 | - |
| ILMA | 3 can be used in larger children | Good |
| i-gel | 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5,3 | Good |
| Ambu LMA, Ambu AuraGain | 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5.3 | - |
| Air-Q | 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5 | Good |
| Laryngeal tube suction (LTS, LTSD) | 0,1,2,2.5, | - |



Fig. 5.5 (a, b, c) Different types and sizes of pediatric supraglottic airways. (d). LMA used as bridge to intubation with tracheal tube exchanger and/or fiberoptic bronchoscope

laryngoscopes are available with pocket monitors along with the scopes and/or can be connected to a standalone monitor/external monitor. Some of the video laryngoscopes have provisions for detachable blades (TruView, Pentax-AWS, King Vision, etc.). Airtraq and King Vision also have a channel to pass the tracheal tube. In a recent meta-analysis [33], video laryngoscope improved visualization of the glottis in pediatric patients but at the expense of prolonged times to intubation and increased failures. However, with experience and familiarity with the devices, video laryngoscopes can improve intubation success rates.

There are several advantages of video laryngoscope. They do not require hyperextension of the neck and permit intubation of patients in virtually any position, particularly in pediatric patients with cervical spine instability requiring manual in line stabilization. These cause minimal hemodynamic responses to intubation compared to conventional laryngoscopy and improved glottic exposure (Table 5.6).

5.6.10 Fiberoptic Bronchoscope

Fiberoptic bronchoscope (FOB) is considered to be the best method for intubating the (Fig. 5.7) uncompromised difficult airway [34, 35]. Fiberoptic intubation is not advisable in an emergent situation of compromised airway with desaturation. Children require induction with general anesthetic agents for fiberoptic intubation. Both inhalational and intravenous induction may be used in children with difficult airway, with the former being preferred because of better titration. If feasible, securing an IV access before induction with local anesthetics like EMLA cream is preferred. Under inhalational anesthetic, one has to perform fiberoptic intubation within a limited time frame while maintaining patency of the air-



Fig. 5.6 Pediatric video laryngoscopes

| Video laryngoscope | Pediatric sizes and specifications | Antifogging | Channeling |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|-------------------------------|
| Airtraq | Infant, 2.5–3.5 ETT; pediatric, 4–5.5; small, 6.0–7.5); can be connected to smart phone | No | Yes |
| C-MAC (Storz) | Both pocket and standalone monitor, size, miller 0, 1; C-MAC, 2; D-blade pediatric | Yes | No |
| GlideScope AVL | Pocket monitor | Yes | No |
| Trueview PCD | Standalone, suction channel | No | No |
| Pentax-AWS | With a pocket monitor, also support external monitor. Size, 1. Infant, 2. Pediatric blade | Yes | Yes |
| McGRATH | Pocket monitor | No | No |
| Ambu king vision | Pocket monitor (size 3) can be used in larger child. Mouth opening of 1.5 cm can be intubated | Yes | Available in both blade |
| Bonfils rigid fiberscope | It is a rigid, straight fiberoptic device with a 40-degree curved tip and facilitates targeted intubation (retromolar approach). Requires an external monitor. Helpful in patient with limited mouth opening and cervical spine instability. It requires an initial training and is operator dependent | No | - |

Table 5.6 Pediatric video laryngoscope



Fig. 5.7 Pediatric fiberoptic bronchoscope

way [36]. Various options are available to administer anesthesia during fiberoptic intubation procedures continuously. Usually a 3.7–3.8 mm FOB with a working channel is used for pediatric intubations in children above 1 year. Smaller sizes (2.2–2.5 mm ultrathin FOB with suction channels) are also available for intubation of neonates and infants. A nasopharyngeal airway with a 15 mm universal connector can be used to administer anesthesia and maintain the airway [37] during fiberoptic intubation. Oral intubation or nasotracheal intubation through the other nostril can be performed by this method. Videoassisted FOB [36] has also been described with an adult FOB. Methods involving the insertion of a guide wire through the working channel of an adult FOB can be performed for fiberoptic intubation in children [38, 39]. Specialized masks may also be used to continue administering anesthesia while conducting the fiberoptic intubation procedure in children [40, 41]. While performing mask ventilation with a nasopharyngeal airway, partially closing the pediatric breathing circuit's APL valve creates continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP). This helps to open the airway in syndromic children like those with Crouzon, Apert, Goldenhar, Klippel-Feil, Treacher Collins, Pierre Robin, and obstructive sleep apnea syndromes as well as CVJ anomalies. Spray as you go (SAYGO) technique is commonly used for airway anesthesia. In a situation of not being able to intubate and not ventilate (CICO/CICV), SADs can be used as a rescue device and as conduits [42] for endotracheal intubation with the help of pediatric fiberoptic bronchoscopes.

5.6.11 Pediatric Anesthetic Circuit During Neurosurgery

Jackson-Rees' modification of the Ayre's T-piece (JRMATP) system, by adding an open-ended bag, has been the most admired system for anesthetizing pediatric patients, with many advantages. The bag serves as a respiratory monitor during spontaneous ventilation. It is easy to institute manual controlled ventilation and to apply PEEP.

In able hands the JRMATP is the best system for induction of anesthesia. The utilization of CPAP/PEEP props up the upper airway and boosts the ease of ventilation, though, in less adept hands, the T-piece may have its own problems. These include improper ventilation, inflation of the stomach, high peak inspiratory pressures, and barotrauma.

It is accepted practice to use adult circuits in pediatric patients more than 20 to 30 kg. To avoid carbon dioxide rebreathing under controlled ventilation, minimum required fresh gas flow can be calculated as $1000 + (200 \times \text{kg})$ (minimum 3 L/min), or $1.5 \times$ minute ventilation. During spontaneous ventilation in pediatric patients, the end-expiratory pause is absent. The requirement of fresh gas flow is at least two times as that needed for controlled ventilation, which would work out to around thrice the minute ventilation.

The earlier versions of the circle breathing system were beset with problems like a high work of breathing owing to the resistance posed by the unidirectional valves. These problems are alleviated to a large extent in the modern circle systems. However, there are several other problems associated with the use of the circle system. A leak at the level of the endotracheal tube could make use of low flows difficult. The volume of the circuit is large, giving longer equilibration times than in adults. The compression volume of the tubing may alter aspects of ventilation. This can be avoided by using inflexible tubes and pediatric bellows. Circle breathing circuits meant for children do not preserve the temperature or humidity of inspired gases.

5.7 Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients with Difficult Airway

5.7.1 Rapid Sequence Induction

Emergency pediatric neurosurgical cases, like head trauma, raise the specter of a full stomach. This means that a rapid sequence induction (RSI) and intubation would be reasonable for this subset of patients. However, RSI can be very challenging in pediatric patients and can make the airway more difficult. This is especially true since many of these patients would need to be intubated along with manual in-line stabilization (MILS) of the cervical spine.

Older kids are habitually pre-oxygenated before the induction of anesthesia before RSI. Pre-oxygenation may not be easy to perform in very young kids, who may not accept a face mask deployment. High flow oxygen can be applied by a mask placed as close to the child's face as possible, to enrich the air drawn in with oxygen. The use of apneic oxygenation may be used for all pediatric patients considered at risk for difficult intubation.

If performed properly, direct laryngoscopy and intubation are safe in the pediatric patient with cervical spine injury. During intubation, the front portion of hard cervical collar can be taken out to facilitate the procedure.

5.7.2 Difficulty Securing the Airway

Halo fixation in pediatric patients (Fig. 5.8) suspected to have a cervical spine injury may aid in the workup and management of these patients. Pediatric trauma victims on halos pose a signifi-



Fig. 5.8 Pediatric cervical halo fixation

cant airway dilemma for the anesthesiologist. The halo frame does not allow free access of the anesthesiologist to the pediatric airway, restricting craniovertebral junction (CVJ) movement. While supraglottic airway access may be feasible, its success would depend upon other anatomical factors of the individual child. In the backdrop of a non-emergent situation, fiberoptic bronchoscopy can be used for intubating these patients, notwithstanding the problems of conducting this in the pediatric age group. Still, during emergencies, these intubations can be extremely challenging. Sims and Berger [43] propose early tracheostomy in trauma victims with halos with other associated risk factors. A sudden airway emergency in the patient donning a halo frame is a grave catastrophe. In case of inability to intubate, use of bailout equipment such as the Bullard laryngoscope, LMA, ILMA, Combitube. GlideScope, and fiberoptic intubation could be options. Pediatric patients presenting for elective surgery with a halo in place need to have anesthesiologists skilled in various airway equipment attending on them. It is imperative that the neurosurgeon be available to quickly take out the halo if the airway is threatened. An alternate bailout plan for such "cannot oxygenate" scenarios must be in place for these children.

Stereotactic localization of lesions is also widely used in current neurosurgery. Utilization of stereotaxis is currently widespread for several indications. Having a calm and composed subject is vital to the success of these surgeries. Thus, children confer greater airway care considerations. The laryngeal mask airway may be used as the sole airway in children having these interventions supine. Just like with the halo frame, the anesthesiologist must be skilled in using a variety of airway devices and a must have a plan B ready, should problems arise.

5.7.3 Difficulty in Maintaining the Airway

Kinking of the endotracheal tube intraoperatively is a clear and present danger in many neurosurgical procedures. *Fish hook retractors* applied to skin flap during craniotomies for better exposure have been reported to result in kinking of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) endotracheal tubes [44]. Positioning during neurosurgery has often compromised the integrity of the PVC endotracheal tube. While this is common during positions other than supine, for example, prone positioning for posterior fossa or cervical spine surgeries, it can occur even with the patient supine, with change in head orientation, when the neck is flexed or due to excessive angulation of an endotracheal tube that is made soft by exposure to the patient's body temperature, typically, intraoperatively, after the surgery has commenced. Due to the very nature of their access, several specific surgical procedures can impinge on the endotracheal tube and kink it, and this can manifest at inopportune moments intraoperatively. These include transnasal, transsphenoidal pituitary surgery, craniovertebral junction surgery, and trans-oral odontoidectomy to name a few. While using a reinforced endotracheal tube may reduce the incidence of intraoperative kinking, whether they should be routinely used for all neurosurgical procedures, even when these are being conducted in supine position, is extremely debatable. Moreover, the availability of these tubes in the pediatric population is quite limited in the sizes that are typically required for the pediatric patient. This underlines the fact why careful attention to detail while positioning, to prevent excessive flexion of the atlanto-occipital joint, vigilance, and situational awareness during surgery are so important in pediatric neuroanesthesia practice.

Craniosynostosis consists of premature fusion of one or more cranial sutures. *Apert, Crouzon, and Pfeiffer* are the common syndromes associated with craniosynostosis [45]. *Apert syndrome* is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by craniosynostosis, craniofacial anomalies, and the syndactyly of the hands and feet. Neurological involvement includes ventriculomegaly, hydrocephalus, and developmental delay. There is fusion of the cervical spine, mainly at C5–C6, a distinguishing feature from *Crouzon syndrome* (at the C2–C3 level) [46]. Upper airway obstruction can occur due to reduced nasopharyngeal volume and choanal atresia. Obstructive sleep apnea and cor pulmonale may result because of this obstruction. They can have complete or partial cartilage sleeve abnormalities of the trachea and can cause lower airway compromise. Presence of midfacial abnormality and proptosis can make mask ventilation difficult. High resistance to mask ventilation can occur due to some degree of choanal atresia. A well-lubricated oropharyngeal or a smaller nasopharyngeal airway with CPAP is usually effective for bypassing the obstruction [45]. Inhalational induction with the maintenance of spontaneous ventilation is preferred in this group of patients. Though they have fused vertebrae, direct laryngoscopy is usually possible. FOB should be kept ready in case of failed laryngoscopy guided intubation. An ETT about one size smaller than predicted is preferred for intubation because of airway narrowing. Children who have undergone previous frontofacial advancement surgeries can have difficulty during intubation because of reduced temporomandibular joint movement [47]. This group of patients would require fiberoptic intubation or tracheostomy. Postoperative tongue edema can occur due to prolonged neck flexion. Minimal changes in neck position during surgery, antiedema measures, and extubation when fully awake over a tube exchanger will help prevent airway catastrophes during extubation. *Crouzon* and *Pfeiffer syndromes* also have similar facial appearances. Severe forms of *Pfeiffer syndrome* can lead to the closure of all the cranial sutures (cloverleaf skull deformity) [48].

Other congenital craniofacial abnormalities (a list of which is indicated in Table 5.7) that may alter normal anatomy are cleft lip and palate, whether or not associated with Pierre Robin syndrome (Fig. 5.9a), mandibulofacial dysostosis/ Treacher Collins syndrome, arthrogryposis,

| Congenital anomalies predic | ting potential difficult airway | | |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| Anatomical location | Syndrome | Anomaly | |
| Head | Hydrocephalus Macrocephaly | | |
| Mandible | Pierre Robin sequence | Micrognathia | |
| | Treacher Collins syndrome | Mandibular hypoplasia | |
| Midface | Apert, Crouzon, Pfeiffer | Maxillary hypoplasia | |
| Temporomandibular joint | Arthrogryposis | Ankylosis | |
| | Cocayane syndrome | | |
| Mouth and tongue | Down's syndrome (trisomy 21) | Macroglossia | |
| | Mucopolysaccharidosis | Macroglossia | |
| | Freeman-Sheldon syndrome Neurofibromatosis | Microstomia | |
| | Sturge-weber syndrome | Masses obstructing airway | |
| | | Masses obstructing airway | |
| Dental | Cocayane syndrome | Cocayane syndrome | |
| Cervical spine | Klippel-Feil syndrome | Limited mobility | |
| | Down's syndrome Mucopolysaccharidoses | Instability | |
| | | Instability | |

 Table 5.7
 Pediatric neurosurgical conditions that present with a difficult airway





hemifacial microsomia, Cocayane syndrome, Klippel-Feil syndrome, mucopolysaccharidosis, Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome, Freeman-Sheldon syndrome, and Down's syndrome.

Encephalocele is a neural tube defect causing protrusion of the brain and meninges through a defect in the cranium [48, 49]. When the size of the sac is larger than the head, it is called a giant encephalocele. Hydrocephalus is the most common complication of encephalocele (Fig. 5.9b, c). Occipital encephalocele is the more common presentation. The other sites are frontal, ethmoid, anterior, and cervical. Most commonly, intubation is done in lateral position in these cases [49]. Other maneuvers used are supporting the lesion within a doughnut, putting the head over the edge of the operating table while being held by other personnel, and ultrasound-guided needle aspiration to decrease the volume and content [50]. However, ultrasound-guided aspiration can cause brain herniation, hypoxia, and bradycardia during decompression of contents of the sac.

Meningomyelocele, cervical spine instabilities, CVJ anomalies, and endocrine disorders like acromegaly, Cushing's syndrome, etc. may also account for difficult airway scenarios in pediatric patients undergoing neurosurgical procedures.

5.7.4 Difficult Extubation

Awake extubation with the child fully active is preferred in children with difficult intubation and more so when a child undergoes neurosurgery. Following multiple attempts at endotracheal intubation, administration of dexamethasone 0.25 mg/kg IV to decrease the airway edema may be considered reasonable. Difficult extubation is expected in various clinical situations like intubation in a case of difficult airway; intraoperative airway deterioration like airway edema; tongue edema, which could be position-related, occurring commonly in the sitting and prone position; cervical spine implant fixation; and vocal cord edema and palsy during cervical spine surgery, intraoral surgery, prolonged procedures with fixed neck, procedures which have involved major fluid shifts, etc. In

these situations, postoperative ventilation, initiation of anti-edema measures, and extubation performed over a tracheal tube exchanger [16] may be warranted. Before extubation, one needs to anticipate the possible causes which can compromise the airway. In case imminent reintubation is required, a fiberoptic-assisted reintubation (fiberoptic-guided visualization of vocal cord through one of the nostrils) with the passage of the tracheal tube over the tube exchanger may be performed, as blind intubation, even over the tube exchanger, can cause the ETT to hold up at the glottis. Accidental extubation in a pediatric neurosurgical patient with a difficult airway is a life-threatening situation. Laryngeal mask airway can be used as a rescue device in this situation.

5.8 The Pediatric Emergency Difficult Airway Cart

The purpose of having a pediatric emergency difficult airway cart (Table 5.8) for all units that operate on pediatric neurosurgical cases is to be able to mobilize airway equipment at a moment's notice, to deal with an unexpected difficult airway. Such ability may be invaluable in situations where one can mask ventilate, but not intubate while realizing that eventual airway control must be obtained at all costs. It could also be used in the cannot intubate, cannot oxygenate scenario.

5.9 Escape Route for Cannot Intubate, Cannot Oxygenate (CICO) Scenarios

In most children, a well-lubricated oropharyngeal airway or a soft seal nasopharyngeal airway bypasses the airway obstruction. In situations of not being able to intubate and ventilate, a laryngeal mask airway can be inserted if there is adequate mouth opening. In a predicted difficult airway, it might be worthwhile to mark the cricothyroid membrane and trachea before anesthesia induction. Ultrasound of the airway helps in identifying the cricothyroid membrane and tra
 Table 5.8
 The pediatric emergency difficult airway cart

- Masks of different sizes (0, 1, 2, 3): Anatomical mask, PVC/silicon mask, Rendell-baker-Soucek (RBS) mask.
- Supraglottic airways (sizes: 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3)
- Pediatric stylets
- Frova intubating catheter
- Pediatric tracheal tube exchangers (8, 11, 14 Fr size)
- Endotracheal tubes (sizes in ID: 2, 2.5, 3, 3.5, 4, 4.5, 5, 5.5, 6)
- · Laryngoscopes and video laryngoscopes
- Fiberoptic bronchoscope, guide wire, 1–2% lignocaine hydrochloride (2–5 ml)
- Pediatric suction and infant feeding tube
- Pediatric cricothyroidotomy and tracheostomy set
- Transtracheal jet ventilation with infant and pediatric modes (e.g., Manujet)

cheal rings. A large-bore IV cannula can be inserted through the cricothyroid membrane in children (below 6 years) or between the tracheal rings in case of infants [51]. This can be connected to a self-inflating bag or jet ventilator for sustaining ventilation and oxygenation. Oxygen delivery could be sustained up to the time a definite airway can be obtained. A decision to wake the patient up is taken or arrangements for a formal tracheostomy made. One needs to always allow ample time for expiration to occur during jet ventilation so that hyperinflation of the lungs is avoided during ventilation through the cannula inserted via the cricothyroid membrane. The Melker cricothyroidotomy-guided tracheostomy is associated with fewer complications than a scalpel-bougie technique in a cadaveric "infant airway" animal model [52]. ASA and Difficult Airway Society (DAS), UK, have formulated algorithms for difficult airway in a "cannot intubate, cannot oxygenate" (CICO) situation, which is more or less similar in both adult and pediatric patients [53].

5.10 Pediatric Tracheostomy

Pediatric tracheostomy in the neurosurgical setting may be warranted in an emergent setting of a CICO, as indicated above, if the child is less than 6 years of age, in which case, an emergency cricothyroidotomy may be contraindicated. It could also be undertaken in pediatric patients who are on long-term ventilation. However, unlike in the adult patient, there is no defined number of days for which a pediatric patient may remain intubated before deploying a tracheostomy tube. In the emergent setting, in children less than 6 years, emergency tracheostomy is typically preferred, as the cricothyroid membrane may be tiny and difficult to cannulate. In elder kids, needle cricothyroidotomy may be preferentially used rather than surgical cricothyroidotomy, mainly due to anesthesiologists' familiarity with this technique. Further, the percutaneous approach mitigates injury to the vocal cords and other important structures in the vicinity. The sizes and types of various tracheostomy tubes used in the pediatric population are given in Table 5.9.

5.11 Conclusion

Thus, pediatric airway management, whether routine or difficult, requires substantial foresight and training in children undergoing neurosurgical procedures. It is essential that such training be imparted upon every neuroanesthesiologist to ensure safe conduct of anesthesia for this vulnerable population. The difficult airway during neurosurgery not only is resultant of certain unique anatomical considerations that many of these pediatric patients have, including congenital conditions, but also depends on surgical considerations such as for the cervical spine, positioning issues, prolonged procedures, having the patient on specialized halos or stereotactic devices, the surgical access required for specific surgeries, etc. All this implies that the clinician handling

| Brand and tube | Size | ID (mm) | OD (mm) | Length (mm) | MRI (yes/no) |
|-------------------------|------|---------|---------|-------------|--------------|
| Bivona | | | | | |
| Neonatal cuffless and | 2.5 | 2.5 | 4.0 | 30 | No |
| TTS cuffed | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.7 | 32 | No |
| | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.3 | 34 | No |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 36 | No |
| Neonatal Flextend TTS | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.7 | 32 | No |
| cuffed | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.3 | 34 | No |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 36 | No |
| Pediatric cuffless and | 2.5 | 2.5 | 4.0 | 38 | No |
| TTS cuffed | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.7 | 39 | No |
| | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.3 | 40 | No |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 41 | No |
| | 4.5 | 4.5 | 6.7 | 42 | No |
| | 5.0 | 5.0 | 7.3 | 44 | No |
| | 5.5 | 5.5 | 8.0 | 46 | No |
| Pediatric Flextend | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.7 | 39 | Yes |
| cuffless and TTS cuffed | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.3 | 40 | Yes |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 41 | Yes |
| Shiley | | | | | |
| Neonatal cuffless | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.5 | 30 | Yes |
| | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.2 | 32 | Yes |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 5.9 | 34 | Yes |
| | 4.5 | 4.5 | 6.5 | 36 | Yes |
| Pediatric cuffless | 3.0 | 3.0 | 4.5 | 39 | Yes |
| | 3.5 | 3.5 | 5.2 | 40 | Yes |
| | 4.0 | 4.0 | 5.9 | 41 | Yes |
| | 4.5 | 4.5 | 6.5 | 42 | Yes |
| | 5.0 | 5.0 | 7.1 | 44 | Yes |
| | 5.5 | 5.5 | 7.7 | 46 | Yes |
| Pediatric cuffed | 4.0 | 4.0 | 5.9 | 41 | Yes |
| | 4.5 | 4.5 | 6.5 | 42 | Yes |
| | 5.0 | 5.0 | 7.1 | 44 | Yes |

Table 5.9 Pediatric tracheostomy tube sizes

ID internal diameter, *OD* outer diameter, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging compatibility, *TTS* tight-to-shaft, *LPC* cuffed with inner cannula, *CFS*, cuffless with inner cannula

the pediatric airway during the perioperative period should be adept with a wide range of airway equipment and be aware of the special challenges this vulnerable patient population poses.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

 Bhananker SM, Ramamoorthy C, Geiduschek JM, Posner KL, Domino KB, Haberkern CM, et al. Anesthesia-related cardiac arrest in children: update from the pediatric perioperative cardiac arrest registry. Anesth Analg. 2007;105:344–50.

- DeGraaff JC, Kappen TH, Bijker JB, Wolfswinkel L, Klei WA, Kalkman CJ. Intraoperative hypoxemic episodes in children: incidences obtained from an anesthesia information management system. Anesthesiology. 2011;A567
- Sands SA, Edwards BA, Kelly VJ, Davidson MR, Wilkinson MH, et al. A model analysis of arterial oxygen desaturation during apnea in preterm infants. Prisk K, ed. PLoS Comput Biol. 2009;5:e1000588.
- Hardman JG, Wills JS. The development of hypoxaemia during apnoea in children: a computational modelling investigation. Br J Anaesth. 2006;97:564–70.
- Heinrich S, Birkholz T, Ihmsen H, Irouschek A, Ackermann A, Schmidt J. Incidence and predictors of difficult laryngoscopy in 11,219 pediatric anesthesia procedures. Paediatr Anaesth. 2012;22:729–36.
- Sunder RA, Haile DT, Farrell PT, Sharma A. Pediatric airway management: current practices and future directions. Pediatr Anesth. 2012;22:1008–15.

- Samsoon GL, Young JR. Difficult tracheal intubation: a retrospective study. Anaesthesia. 1987;42:487–90.
- Cormack RS, Lehane J. Difficult tracheal intubation in obstetrics. Anaesthesia. 1984;39:487–90.
- Uezono S, Holzman RS, Goto T, Nakata Y, Nagata S, Morita S. Prediction of difficult airway in school-aged patients with microtia. Pediatr Anesth. 2001;11:409–13.
- Butler MG, Hayes BG, Hathaway MM, Begleiter ML. Specific genetic diseases at risk for sedation/anesthesia complications. Anesth Analg. 2000;91:837–55.
- Magalhaes E, Marques FO, Goveia CS, Ladeira LCA, Lagares J. Use of simple clinical predictors on preoperative diagnosis of difficult endotracheal intubation in obese patients. Braz J Anesthesiol. 2013;63:262–6.
- White KK, Bompadre V, Goldberg MJ, et al. Best practices in the evaluation and treatment of foramen magnum stenosis in achondroplasia during infancy. Am J Med Genet A. 2016;170A:42–51.
- Tasker RC, Dundas I, Laverty A, Fletcher M, Lane R, Stocks J. Distinct patterns of respiratory difficulty in young children with achondroplasia: a clinical, sleep, and lung function study. Arch Dis Child. 1998;79:99–108.
- Kim WH, Ahn HJ, Lee CJ, Shin BS, Ko JS, Choi SJ, Ryu SA. Neck circumference to thyromental distance ratio: a new predictor of difficult intubation in obese patients. Br J Anaesth. 2011;106:743–8.
- Berkowitz ID, Raja SN, Bender KS, et al. Dwarfs: pathophysiology and anesthetic implications. Anesthesiology. 1990;73:739–59.
- Frova Intubating Introducers with Rapi-Fit® Adapters

 Cook Medical [Internet]. Cookmedical.com. 2016
 [cited 24 June 2016]. https://www.cookmedical.com/ products/cc_caefii_webds/.
- Litman RS, Fiyadjoe JE, Sticker PA, Cote C. The pediatric airway. In: Cote C, Lerman J, Todres I, editors. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children. London: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2012.
- Dasgupta D, Jain A, Baxi V, Parab A, Budhakar A. Fiberoptic intubation using LMATM as a conduit and cook® airway catheter as an exchanger in a case of Tessier 7 facial cleft syndrome. Indian J Anaesth. 2009;53:230–2.
- 19. Jagannathan N, Kho MF, Kozlowski RJ, Sohn LE, Siddiqui A, Wong DT. Retrospective audit of the air-Q intubating laryngeal airway as a conduit for tracheal intubation in pediatric patients with a difficult airway. Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21:422–7.
- LMA[™] Better by design [Internet]. Lmaco.com. 2016 [cited 24 June 2016]. http://www.lmaco.com/ home.
- Goyal R, Shukla RN, Kumar G. Comparison of size 2 i-gel supraglottic airway with LMA-ProSeal and LMA-classic in spontaneously breathing children undergoing elective surgery. Pediatr Anesth. 2012;22:355–9.

- 22. Saran S, Mishra SK, Badhe AS, Vasudevan A, Elakkumanan LB, Mishra G. Comparison of i-gel supraglottic airway and LMA-ProSeal in pediatric patients under controlled ventilation. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2014;30:195–8.
- 23. Jagannathan N, Hajduk J, Sohn L, Huang A, Sawardekar A, Gebhardt ER, et al. A randomised comparison of the Ambu Aura gain and the LMA supreme in infants and children. Anaesthesia. 2016;71:205–12.
- Schalk R, Scheller B, Peter N, Rosskopf W, Byhahn C, Zacharowski K, et al. Laryngeal tube II: alternative airway for children? Anaesthesist. 2011;60:525–33.
- Agarwal A, Shobhana N. LMA in neurosurgery. Can J Anaesth. 1995;42:750.
- Kumar SS, Chaterjee N, Kamath S. LMA and Ventriculo-peritoneal shunt surgery: is it the ideal airway? J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21:66.
- Holm-Knudsen R. The difficult pediatric airway a review of new devices for indirect laryngoscopy in children younger than two years of age. Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21:98–103.
- Vlatten A, Aucoin S, Litz S, Macmanus B, Soder C. A comparison of the STORZ video laryngoscope and standard direct laryngoscopy for intubation in the pediatric airway – a randomized clinical trial. Pediatr Anesth. 2009;19:1102–7.
- McGRATH® MAC Video Laryngoscope: [Internet]. 2016 [cited 24 June 2016]. http://www.medtronic. com/content/dam/covidien/library/us/en/product/ intubation-products/mcgrath-mac-enhanced-directlaryngoscope-product-brochure.pdf
- Pentax airway scope in infant and children: [Internet]. 2016 [cited 24 June 2016]. https://www.airway-scope. com/en/
- King Vision video laryngoscope [Internet]. Ambu. com. 2015 [cited 24 June 2016]. http://www.ambu. com/corp/products/anaesthesia/product/king_vision_ video_laryngoscope-prod17188.aspx
- Liu GP, Li RP, Xue FS. Comparing intubation performance of Bonfils fiberscope and fiberoptic bronchoscope in difficult pediatric airways. Pediatr Anesth. 2015;25:217.
- 33. Abdelgadir IS, Phillips RS, Singh D, Moncreiff MP, Lumsden JL. Videolaryngoscopy versus direct laryngoscopy for tracheal intubation in children (excluding neonates). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;5:CD011413.
- Blanco G, Melman E, Cuairan V, Moyao D, Ortiz-Monasterio F. Fibreoptic nasal intubation in children with anticipated and unanticipated difficult intubation. Pediatr Anesth. 2001;11:49–53.
- 35. Hakala P, Randell T, Meretoja O, Rintala R. Orotrachealfibreoptic intubation in children under general anaesthesia. Pediatr Anesth. 1997;7:371–4.
- Kundra P, Vasudevan A, Ravishankar M. Video assisted fiberoptic intubation for temporomandibular ankylosis. Pediatr Anesth. 2006;16:458–61.

- Holm-Knudsen R, Eriksen K, Rasmussen LS. Using a nasopharyngeal airway during fiberoptic intubation in small children with a difficult airway. Pediatr Anesth. 2005;15:839–45.
- Naithani M, Jain A, Chaudhary Z. Intubation in a pediatric difficult airway using an adult flexible fiber-optic bronchoscope and a j-tipped guidewire: an innovation in adversity. Saudi J Anaesth. 2011;5:414–6.
- Welburn MB, Cornes J, Ryder IG. Fibreoptic intubation through a laryngeal mask airway facilitated by a guide wire. Anaesthesia. 2000;55:1027–8.
- Kitamura S, Fukumitsu K, Kinouchi K, Takada K, Taniguchi A. A new modification of anaesthesia mask for fibreoptic intubation in children. Pediatr Anesth. 1999;9:119–22.
- Frei FJ, aWengen DF, Rutishauser M, Ummenhofer W. The airway endoscopy mask: useful device for fibreoptic evaluation and intubation of the paediatric airway. Pediatr Anesth. 1995;5:319–24.
- Walker RWM. The laryngeal mask airway in the difficult paediatric airway: an assessment of positioning and use in fibreoptic intubation. Pediatr Anesth. 2000;10:53–8.
- Sims CA, Berger DL. Airway risk in hospitalized trauma patients with cervical injuries requiring halo fixation. Ann Surg. 2002;235:280–4.
- 44. Dube SK, Rath GP, Gupta N, Sokhal N. Tracheal tube kinking during craniotomy in supine position after application of fish hook retractors. Neurol India. 2011;59:647–8.
- 45. Barnett S, Moloney C, Bingham R. Perioperative complications in children with Apert syndrome:

a review of 509 anesthetics. Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21:72–7.

- Thomas K, Hughes C, Johnson D, Das S. Anesthesia for surgery related to craniosynostosis: a review. Part 1. PediatrAnesth. 2012;22:1033–41.
- 47. Stricker PA, Cladis FP, Fiadjoe JE, McCloskey JJ, Maxwell LG. Perioperative management of children undergoing craniofacial reconstruction surgery: a practice survey. Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21:1026–35.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Perioperative management of children with encephalocele: an institutional experience. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23:352–6.
- Rath GP, Dash HH. Anaesthesia for neurosurgical procedures in paediatric patients. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56:502–10.
- Vasudevan A, Kundra P, Priya G, Nagalakshmi P. Giant occipital encephalocele: a new paradigm. Pediatr Anesth. 2012;22:586–8.
- Cote CJ, Hartnick CJ. Pediatric transtracheal and cricothyrotomy airway devices for emergency use: which are appropriate for infants and children? Pediatr Anesth. 2009;19:66–76.
- 52. Prunty SL, Aranda-Palacios A, Heard AM, Chapman G, Ramgolam A, Hegarty M, et al. The 'can't intubate can't oxygenate' scenario in pediatric anesthesia: a comparison of the melkercricothyroidotomy kit with a scalpel bougie technique. Pediatr Anesth. 2015;25:400–4.
- Black AE, Flynn PER, Smith HL, Thomas ML, Wilkinson KA. Development of a guideline for the management of the unanticipated difficult airway in pediatric practice. Pediatr Anesth. 2015;25:346–62.

Check for updates



Anesthetizing Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients: A Practical Approach

Seelora Sahu, Amlan Swain, and Jitamitra Mishra

Key Points

- There are many challenges unique to neurosurgical pathologies in the pediatric age group, thus necessitating a specialized approach in safe anesthesia delivery.
- A focused preoperative evaluation and assessment is an essential part of the composite anesthesia regimen, which has a significant bearing on overall outcomes.
- There have been gigantic strides in neuromonitoring techniques that have considerably increased the scope of pediatric neurosurgery.
- Tailoring the perioperative management to specific neurosurgical entities, being prepared for intraoperative catastrophes, and accounting for the interactions of the anesthetic agents with immature and developing organ system are important considerations for this patient population.
- Adequate care to ensure the process of smooth emergence from anesthesia as well as comprehensive postoperative management, including judicious use of pediatric neurocritical care

S. Sahu (🖂) · A. Swain

Department of Anesthesia, Tata Main Hospital, Jamshedpur, Jharkhand, India e-mail: seelora.sahu@tatasteel.com; amlan.swain@ tatasteel.com

J. Mishra Utkal Healthcare Private Limited, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India modalities, goes a long way in improving patient care.

6.1 Introduction

The perioperative management of a child posted for a neurosurgical intervention is based on a robust understanding of the pediatric neurophysiology, the pathophysiologic effects of myriad neurosurgical entities, and the interplay between anesthetic drugs and cerebral pathophysiology in this subset of patients. From the preoperative period, until the child is discharged to the wards, the anesthesiologist's role is paramount in achieving the harmonious amalgamation of safe neuroanesthesia principles with high-end pediatric neurocritical care. There have been giant strides in modern-day neurosurgical practice, and it is imperative to develop high-level sub-specialty pediatric neuroanesthesia and neurocritical care to improve outcome measures. The ensuing treatise attempts to present practical aspects for the hands-on management of children presenting for neurosurgical procedures.

6.2 Preoperative Preparation

While evaluating children for neurosurgery, two significant evidentiary facts should be considered in the preoperative period, especially in emer-

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_6

| Problem | Presentation | Anesthetic implication |
|--------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Syndromes with associated airway anomalies | Usually well documented and anticipated | Difficult airway plans in place prior to induction |
| Respiratory illness | Usually have history of previous admissions or multiple hospital visits | History of steroids and bronchodilator drugs which may affect the anesthetic plan |
| Autistic child | Usually documented by the anesthetist during preop visit Parents can guide regarding the coping methods | Sedative anxiolysis Nonpharmacological methods like parental presence during induction of anesthesia (PPIA)/distraction Possibility of restraint may be discussed with the parents and due consent obtained Documented plan to abort anesthesia if needed |
| Cardiac comorbidities | Failure to thrive Cyanotic spells Frequent lower respiratory infections | Cardiology consult and ECHO Endocarditis prophylaxis Specialized centers if needed |
| Trisomy 21 | History of noisy breathing or excessive drooling Behavioral issues and seizures | Evaluation for coexisting cardiac and noncardiac conditions Documentation of atlantoaxial stability/ instability |
| Prematurity | History of chronic pulmonary disease Failure to thrive Frequent seizures and developmental delays Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) | Anticipate perioperative apnea and bradycardia <60 weeks' gestational age needs mandatory postoperative observation with oximetry |

Table 6.1 Conditions with special anesthetic implications

gency conditions. First, neonates and infants have the highest risk of mortality and morbidity during the perioperative period [1]. Second, respiratory and cardiac events account for most of the anesthetic complications in children [2]. A pediatric neuroanesthesiologist should always be wary of the neurosurgical entity necessitating surgery in the neonatal and infantile age groups and keep a careful watch for common comorbidities in the pediatric age group known to have disastrous consequences. A tabular format of such common conditions in the children presenting for surgery has been given as a ready reckoner (Table 6.1). Preoperative checks and operating room preparation have special significance in ensuring patient safety in this highly susceptible patient population. These aspects and anxiolysis in children with varied and obtunded neurological symptomatology are covered in more detail next.

6.2.1 Preoperative Checks

6.2.1.1 Preoperative Assessment

While preoperative evaluation is covered in Chap. 4, the practical points while assessing children during the preoperative period are covered consequently. Children presenting for neurosurgery essentially fall under any of the following categories: (a) those who are systemically well and require minimal assessment, (b) children with debilitating inborn diseases and rare syndromes which mandate a discrete and individualized preoperative management, and (c) otherwise fit children presenting for emergency surgery who exhibit rapid clinical deterioration-adequate care and vigilance is necessary for such children to avert catastrophes and facilitate urgent preoperative optimization and stabilization of the overall clinical condition. Also, psychosomatic issues are common in children presenting for neurosur-
gery and have a predilection toward complicating the anesthetic course, especially during induction and in the postoperative period [3–5].

As most neurosurgical procedures are emergencies, a comprehensive preoperative assessment is not always possible. Considering systemic effects of general anesthesia (GA) and the inherent stress because of surgery, it is advisable to assess the individual organ system in tandem with the developmental stage. Because some children would not have fully acquired the faculty of speech and may not fully comprehend their medical illness, in more cases than not, it becomes vital to establish meaningful communication with either their parent or primary caregiver. A detailed patient history goes a long way to identifying patients who would benefit from a focused evaluation and optimization in the preoperative period. As in standard anesthesia practice, the investigative modalities employed in the preoperative phase should be based on the history, clinical signs, and the neurosurgery planned.

A child's neurologic condition varies greatly and should dictate the specifics of the preoperative assessment. A relevant example would be wariness of latex allergy symptoms in children undergoing multiple neurosurgical procedures, especially in children with meningomyelocele [6]. Dehydration, fluid and electrolyte anomalies, obtunded upper airway reflexes, and use of steroids and antiepileptics are the specific points of interest while examining a neurologically injured child during the preoperative period. Especially in children on antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), therapeutic levels of AEDs and hematologic and hepatic systems' affliction because of long-term use and interactions with anesthetic agents assume significance [7, 8].

The preoperative examination should include a meticulous central nervous system (CNS) examination, especially because postoperative neurologic function vis-à-vis the preoperative state plays a vital role in the neurosurgical decision-making during the postoperative period. A note should be made of signs and symptoms of the brain stem and CNS dysfunction, muscle power, bulk and weakness, physical signs of dehydration, and recording an accurate body weight to facilitate judicious use of anesthetic drugs, intravenous (IV) fluids, and blood products [9].

One should be more vigilant while dealing with emergency surgery because of the unplanned nature, and consequent probability of more blind ends and a tumultuous course during the management of these cases. A neurologically deteriorated, fearful, or a child in pain may be easily mistaken for a quiet or shy child. Any signs of underlying critical illnesses like tachypnea, recession, grunting, accessory muscle use, gasping, bradycardia, or a prolonged capillary refill time should be sought after. Such a child should be resuscitated and optimized either before or during the surgery to avoid hemodynamic and cardiorespiratory catastrophe. Adhering to the ABC framework keeps things simple and ensures adequate stabilization of a decompensated critically ill child before anesthetic induction. Especially in emergent situations, a risk-benefit decision should be taken in inadequate fasting, and rapid sequence induction should be planned. Bradycardia and reduced consciousness are usually terminal signs and should herald ominous warning bells for severe intracranial hypertension and consequent herniation.

6.2.1.2 Fasting and Consent

The importance of preoperative fasting and instructions regarding regular medication cannot be overstated. There are many reasons to encourage clear fluids up to 2 h before surgery [10, 11]. These include the fact that infants and small children cannot tolerate dehydration, nausea and vomiting are more frequent in prolonged starvation, and hypoglycemia can be avoided. There is a paradoxical increase in gastric secretion after prolonged fasting, and children become more irritable at induction.

The preoperative visit should be utilized to obtain consent for the procedure from the parents, nearest blood relatives, or the legal guardians. Adequate time and effort should be devoted to explaining the surgical procedure and anesthesia techniques clearly and the potential perioperative complications [3]. The perioperative sequence of events to the parent/custodian and, if possible, to the child should be explained clearly. All concerns and questions that the parents and guardians have should be addressed adequately. In addition to the verbal information and use of written preoperative directives, it is mandatory to reduce confusion and increase compliance [3].

6.2.1.3 Radiology and Labs

A review of the neuroradiological scans in conjunction with the neurosurgical team is important to confirm the primary pathology, associated conditions such as hydrocephalus, compressed cisterns, and midline shifts as well as to plan the intraoperative positioning and other ergonomic issues [12]. Preoperative laboratory tests should include the hematocrit, coagulation parameters, and electrolytes as these patients may be receiving decongestant therapy or may be prone to dyselectrolytemia due to intracranial pathology. Adequate blood product estimation and preparation are important preoperative steps, as is an endocrinology evaluation in children with suprasellar pathologies [12]. In children on long-term anticonvulsants, preoperative liver function tests and a coagulation profile assume significance.

6.2.1.4 Checklist

The impact of iatrogenic diseases and human error on patient safety came to the forefront in medicine only at the turn of last century with the publication of a seminal treatise by the Institute of Medicine—"To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System" [13]. A landmark event in improving patient safety was the publication of the WHO Surgical Safety Checklist in 2009 [14].

There has been an increase in the use of checklists throughout all specialties of medicine in the last decade, especially in the realm of surgery, anesthesia, and critical care [13, 15, 16]. However, evidence on the use of preoperative checks in pediatric neurosurgical patients is less common [17, 18]. Institutions should develop pediatric checklists, especially for the common neurosurgical procedures. The aim should be to adapt universal WHO surgical safety checklist principles while including points specific to the pediatric age group (e.g., checking for parental involvement) and the aspects specific to the pathology itself (e.g., check for prior chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or dural resection in tumor surgeries). An illustrative example is given in Fig. 6.1; the utility of such checks needs to be validated further.

6.2.1.5 Anxiolysis on Day of Surgery

Confirmation of fasting, reviewing the preassessment record, and a change in the child's clinical status should be a mandatory protocol in all pediatric neurosurgical units. A child-friendly environment and allowing the child to enter the theater zone in his own clothes, if possible, go a long way in establishing a rapport between him and the anesthesiologist. Premedication, including sedatives for anxiolysis, should be considered on an individual basis [5].

An uncooperative child is frequently encountered in anesthesia practice, sometimes requiring physical restraints during anesthesia induction [19, 20]. Anxiety because of an alien environment, painful procedures, hospital personnel in scrubs, or just the fear of parental separation is at the root of this behavior. It must be addressed with due sincerity to ensure compliance during the induction of anesthesia [21].

Postoperative behavior changes may be related to these stressful experiences, which, though transient in most cases, may sometimes persist, thus being a cause of concern for both the parent and the treating neuroanaesthesiologist [22]. Apart from age, other factors predicting heightened anxiety are the child's temperament, anxious parents, a preceding morbid hospital stay, and a previous vaccination-related unpleasant experience. A shy, inhibited, dependent, and/ or withdrawn child is a definite red flag [5]; contrary to popular belief, gender does not play a role in predicting anxiety.

Psychological interventions like presurgical programs, play therapy, and parental presence during induction of anesthesia (PPIA) have been tried as potential strategies to allay anxiety prior to induction along with distraction (for IV) or engagement (for inhalation) at the time of induction [22, 23]. Although parental presence may be useful in reducing their own stress, the same may not hold true for the child being anesthetized.

lease fill in the blanks or mark with a \checkmark or \checkmark years old. Hi! My name is 1 am I am a good: girl boy. to the hospital The doctor date put an annow mank on me I got my bracele The docton told me and my panents about my sungency. The doctor asked me about my medicines The nurse asked me about my allengy I cannot eat on dwink anything today I took my showen/bath toolay My panents took off my cannings/bangles a keys See Yow m Today is the

Fig. 6.1 Illustrative preoperative checklist to be filled by the child with the help of the caregiver

Small infants [weight < 5 kgs], anticipated airway problems, critically ill children, and emergency procedures should ideally be excluded from this approach [24].

The use of sedatives given in the preinduction period significantly reassesses the transition from the holding area into the operating room. Midazolam remains the most commonly used pharmacological agent to allay anxiety, reliably providing sedation and anxiolysis at induction and a much calmer child postoperatively. An oral dose of 0.5 mg/kg usually initiates sedation within 5–10 min (peak 20–30 min) and lasting up to 45 min to an hour. The IV route of midazolam (0.1–0.2 mg/kg) may be preferred in children with features of raised ICP, especially when such access has been established, as the response is more predictable and quicker. However, it should be administered only under monitoring as CO₂ retention may cause catastrophic decompensation, and one should watch out for paradoxical agitation, which has sometimes been reported [25].

Supervision is mandatory even with the oral route of administration of midazolam with its superior safety threshold. Hence, the drug administration is usually withheld until the child arrives in the theater's safety. Reduced crying associated with this medication is particularly beneficial in children with vascular lesions where any agitation can be catastrophic but may be a delicate issue in a child with raised ICP (decreased consciousness, irritability, lethargy, failure to feed, bulging fontanelle, and cranial enlargement) as it may potentially unleash a vicious cycle of hypercapnia and intracranial hypertension by its negative impact on the medullary respiratory center. Analgesia-sparing effects are, however, speculative. Other routes are intranasal and rectal but do not usually find favors due to poor patient compliance [12, 25, 26]. Oral lorazepam and temazepam have also been tried (Table 6.2) in older children who require doses beyond midazolam safety ceiling, especially in longer surgeries [23].

Clonidine is another sedative with an excellent therapeutic index and minimal hemodynamic changes in healthy children. Administered orally (4 μ g/kg) or intranasally (2 μ g/kg), it provides preoperative anxiolysis, acts as an analgesic, decreases the requirement of volatile agents (hence a favorable impact on the CBF), and improves hemodynamic stability [26]. The IV preparation is tasteless and can be administered orally. Oral transmucosal fentanyl (given as lollipops) is an approved alternative and provides excellent conditions at induction. However, its use is constrained by the frequent occurrence of pruritus and vomiting, as well as the potential risk of respiratory depression [23, 27].

6.2.2 Operating Room Preparation

Apart from the standard operating room preparation before any neurosurgical procedure, specialized modifications are required for pediatric surgery, starting from the modalities to maintain body temperature to resuscitate the child. Before receiving the child in the operating room (OR), the temperature must be maintained in the range of 25-27 °C. Adequate warming apparatuses like warm blankets, air mattresses, or forced air devices, fluid warmers, etc. need to be available and set at appropriate temperature values. It is always advisable to prepare the IV fluid of choice in the correct amount according to the body weight, especially if a neonate is to be operated on. Adequate infusion sets and infusion pumps should be available, loaded with correctly labeled syringes. The anesthetic drugs should be calculated and prepared beforehand, considering the amount of fluid in each syringe. Some anesthesiologists prefer to have a leaflet of measurements and drug dose calculations for each patient ready in the OR beforehand to avoid miscalculations in stressed conditions. It is always advisable to use low-volume syringes (1 ml, 2 ml, and 5 ml) to prepare injectable medications to limit the volume of fluid infused through them, especially in babies prone to get volume overloaded easily. Pediatric-size equipment for positioning should be present beforehand according to the surgeon's discussion regarding the surgical procedure.

The monitor parameters and alarm limits, anesthesia workstation ventilator settings, and breathing circuit should be objectively tailored to

| Agent | Dose and route | Onset | Duration | Contraindications | Special remarks |
|-----------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Midazolam | 0.25–0.75 mg/kg (oral) 0.05–0.15 mg/kg (IV) 0.2–0.3 mg/kg (intranasal) 0.5–1.0 mg/kg (rectal) 0.2–0.3 mg/kg (sublingual) | Approx. 20 min on oral administration | 45 mins | Emergency surgery Upper airway disease Hepatic/renal derangements Respiratory depression | Paradoxical reactions on IV administration Burning sensation after intranasal spray |
| Lorazepam | 50–100 μg/kg (oral) in children 5–12 years; 1–4 mg (oral) in children 12–18 years | 60 min | 8–12 h (peak at 2 h) | Respiratory depression | Preferred in bigger children and longer procedures |
| Temazepam | 10–20 mg crushed tablet or as elixir | 60 min | | | |
| Fentanyl | 15–20 μg/kg (transmucosal) | 15–20 min | | | Vomiting Pruritus Respiratory depression |
| Clonidine | 4 μg/kg (oral) 2 μg/kg (intranasal) | 30–60 min | 6–10 h (peak 2–4 h) | Bradyarrhythmia | Analgesia Anesthesia sparing |

Table 6.2 Summary of anxiolytic premedicants

IV intravenous

the weight- and surgery-specific intraoperative requirements. The airway and intubation devices should be checked and laid out properly in a separate trolley for easy access. Care should be taken that adequate-size IV cannula is available in sufficient numbers and appropriately sized adhesive tapes are available to secure them. Proper oxygenation and transport equipment/devices should be ready for the child's swift shifting to the postanesthesia care unit (PACU) or pediatric intensive care unit (PICU).

On arrival in the OR, the patient surgical safety checklist should be filled confirming the identity, surgery, surgery site, etc., and standard monitoring should be attached to the child. Anesthesia should be induced with IV medications if the venous access is in place, or one should proceed with inhalational induction in the absence of an IV line.

6.3 Intraoperative Management

6.3.1 Vascular Access

All children presenting for neurosurgery require a properly functioning peripheral IV access appro-

priate for the neurosurgical entity and its expected perioperative course. In an emergency, intraosseous access should be considered early [28]. Considering the difficulty in obtaining IV access in children as well as the morbid and prolonged nature of hospital stay in children, the choice and site of central venous access should be a carefully weighted one. The decision to institute central venous access in the OR should be based on issues such as expected blood loss/fluid shifts/electrolyte imbalances, procedures at high risk for venous air embolism (VAE), diabetes insipidus (DI), and severe neurological impairment (traumatic brain injury, tumors) expected to require prolonged inotropic and ventilatory support.

A crucial consideration during the placement of IV access is to be mindful of and take effective steps to allay the child's anxiety. Parental presence, breastfeeding, distraction techniques, local anesthetic (LA) creams, and oral sucrose have been shown effective in reducing anxiety and procedural pain during IV access in children [29– 32]. Tourniquet, tapping over the vein, local warming, transillumination, and near-infrared devices are established aids that should be considered routine in pediatric neuroanesthesia setups [33–35].

Sedation, GA, and strict asepsis are essential for any procedure establishing central venous access [36-38]. Among the various routes, the internal jugular vein (IJV) and subclavian vein (SCV) are the most preferred central venous catheter (CVC) placements in pediatric neuroanesthesia. However, the femoral route does provide ease of access, lack of interference with cerebral venous return, and avoidance of pneumothorax [39]. In all types of vascular accesses, peripheral, central, and arterial, the role of ultrasound (USG) is well established. USG-guided cannulation is highly useful in guiding catheter placement and determining the appropriate catheter size, confirming catheter-tip placement, and preventing catheter-related complications [40].

In difficult IV access cases in critical scenarios, intraosseous (IO) access is a rapid alternative with a high success rate [29]. In younger children, the proximal tibia, anteromedial aspect, is preferred, whereas, in older children, the distal tibia is a good site [29]. The technicalities of achieving arterial access in children are the same for adults, except that in newborn babies, the umbilical artery also presents itself as a viable option [41].

6.3.2 Induction of Anesthesia

The goal of anesthetic induction is to avoid intracranial hypertension because of associated hypoxia, hypercapnia, and inhalational agentinduced increases in cerebral blood flow (CBF) while avoiding a significant decrease in blood pressure (BP) [42]. The use of thiopentone, propofol, and neuromuscular blockade is commonly practiced in neurosurgery; however, etomidate may be preferred in unstable hemodynamic states [43–45]. Except for ketamine, all IV induction agents cause a reduction in ICP [46, 47]. Inhalational induction with sevoflurane should be preferred in children without IV access or with difficult IV access. The concomitant use of hyperventilation should blunt its effect on increasing ICP. Additionally, sevoflurane has shown beneficial effects on regional cerebral oxygenation and lesser myocardial depression than less-irritant agents such as halothane [48, 49]. In full stomach scenarios with a high risk for gastric aspiration, rapid sequence anesthetic induction with thiopentone or propofol followed by rapid-acting muscle relaxants such as succinylcholine/rocuronium should be practiced. Succinylcholine is contraindicated in spinal cord injury and denervation syndromes; rocuronium is an ideal alternative for rapid sequence induction (RSI) in these cases [50, 51]. The effect of the individual anesthetic agents on neurophysiology is covered in Chap. 3.

Once IV access is secured, boluses of thiopentone (1-2 mg/kg) or propofol can be used to decrease the laryngoscopy response [38]. As all volatile anesthetics increase the CBF, and consequently, the ICP, efforts should be instituted to control ventilation as early in the course of anesthesia as possible.

6.3.3 Intubation (Airway Management)

The principles of airway management in children presenting for neurosurgical procedures have been covered in great detail in Chap. 5. However, from a practical standpoint, this crucial aspect requires an amalgamation of the knowledge of airway peculiarities in the pediatric age group and a high skill level in the use of various airway equipment. It is also imperative to consider the potential interactions of such management with the neurophysiological variables [52-55]. These challenges are further magnified by diseaserelated distortions of airway anatomy in children presenting for specific neurosurgical procedures (hydrocephalus, craniosynostosis, craniovertebral junction anomalies, etc.). In these patients, especially in view of intracranial hypertension, airway management should be tempered by concomitant use of opioids and hypnotics to avoid any increase in ICP stringently.

The use of cuffed endotracheal tubes (ETTs) is increasingly frequent in pediatric neurosurgery, and there is evolving evidence to suggest an association of uncuffed tubes with subglottic mucosal trauma and laryngospasm especially in the event of selecting inappropriately larger tube not taking into account the height and weight of child [53, 56]. In cases where cuffed ETT is used, processes should be developed to monitor and adjust cuff pressure [53] routinely.

While oral and nasal routes are used for intubation, the oral route is more extensively used, and the nasotracheal route is limited exclusively to specific indications in pediatric neurosurgery. The nasal route of intubation is especially preferred in complex craniofacial surgeries and some procedures performed in the prone position in small children requiring small-size endotracheal tube. In this group of children, it offers the advantage of increased stability, comfort, and the low propensity of intraoperative kinking in their tiny oropharyngeal cavities [57]. In conditions where nasotracheal intubation is planned, use of topical vasoconstrictors (0.25% phenylephrine or oxymetazoline on cotton-tipped applicators) and gentle dilatation of nares go a long way in decreasing the risk of a nosebleed [58]. However, nasal intubation is contraindicated in the transsphenoidal procedure, choanal stenosis, basilar skull fracture, and sinusitis. Some practical tips during the use of nasotracheal routes include keeping the tube's direction toward the chin and using sutures and wires to secure the tube in prolonged complex neurosurgical and craniofacial procedures.

Especially in neurosurgical positions requiring extreme neck flexion and twisting, the tube's proper length to be fixed should be decided in conjunction with the neurosurgical team to avoid inadvertent migration of the ETT during the procedure. Notwithstanding the intubation route, it is imperative to check for bilateral equal air entry after final positioning and secure the tracheal tube with care and caution to avoid intraoperative airway disasters in a compromised position with limited airway access. In cases of inadvertent extubation, direct laryngoscopy is the go-to rescue airway technique. However, in limited-access conditions, an adequately sized LMA is an important adjunct to maintain oxygenation and ventilation [59]. In "cannot intubate, cannot ventilate" situations during induction as well as in intraoperative airway disasters, the protocols are nearly the same as for an adult population except that a surgical approach is preferred in children <5–6 years of age as the compressible nature of structures precludes a needle cricothyrotomy [60].

The process of extubation in pediatric neurosurgery presents its own set of peculiar considerations. While there is a predilection toward extubation in a deeper plane, the evidence lacks that such a process results in significantly better effects on neurophysiological variables [61–63]. Besides neurosurgical pathologies hampering respiration (e.g., posterior fossa lesions, Chiari malformations), another phenomenon interfering with extubation includes airway edema, macroglossia, and pre-existing pulmonary dysfunction [64, 65]. Generally, an awake child adhering to extubation criteria is a good candidate for the same [66]. However, in problematic cases, prolonged ventilation, head up positioning, and diuresis may need to be employed to mitigate airway edema, while tracheostomy may be needed in severe unresponsive cases [67–69].

6.3.4 Maintenance of Anesthesia

There is ample evidence showing that low exhaled inhalational agent concentration with mild hyperventilation has favorable effects on ICP [39]. There is very little to choose between the use of total IV anesthesia (TIVA) and the administration of volatile agents at the minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) less than 1 (sevoflurane, isoflurane, desflurane). More often than not, a combination of these modalities is used and is acceptable. Opioids such as fentanyl or remifentanil, with or without nitrous oxide, and ventilation with neuromuscular paralysis are part of the standard anesthetic regimen [39, 70]. Halothane, on account of being a potent cerebral vasodilator and consequent intracranial hypertension, is currently out of favor in neuroanesthesia. Sevoflurane is the established agent of choice for inhalational induction. For maintenance of anesthesia, while TIVA is commonly practiced, among inhalational agents sevoflurane and desflurane are preferred to isoflurane because of their superior recovery profile [70, 71]. Nitrous oxide has been shown to increase ICP and cerebral metabolism, increase the propensity of postsurgery pneumocephalus as well as postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) and interfere with intraoperative neuromonitoring. Hence, its routine use may be discouraged in pediatric neuroanesthesia.

While choosing a muscle relaxant, train of four (TOF) monitoring is useful to maintain optimal neuromuscular blockade. The choice of the agent should be based on individual patient characteristics. However, in surgeries requiring intraoperative neuromonitoring (IONM) and intraoperative wake-up (e.g., during spinal cord surgery), the muscle relaxant regimens need to be tapered or abolished completely for a transient period. Subsets of patients on antiepileptic medications usually require larger than normal doses of non-depolarizing muscle relaxants and opioids because of hepatic enzyme induction.

Whereas fentanyl is a commonly used opioid, an increasing half-life on repeat dosing precludes its use in preterm infants with immature hepatic metabolism owing to the possibility of prolonged sedative and respiratory depressive effects. Remifentanil infusions offer the benefit of rapid recovery; however, it is associated with delirium and suboptimal analgesia. There is an increased use of α 2-agonist dexmedetomidine in pediatric neurophysiologic monitoring, certain specific procedures such as awake craniotomies, and facilitation in the rapid wake-up after surgery [72–75]. For a detailed effect of anesthetic effects on CNS physiology, the reader is referred to Chap. 3.

6.3.5 Monitoring

The details of monitoring both routine and IONM are interesting and covered in detail in Chap. 8; some salient practical points are highlighted in the next few paragraphs.

An electrocardiography, pulse oximeter, noninvasive BP, sphygmomanometer, capnograph, and a thermometer comprise minimal monitoring for pediatric neuroanesthesia. While instituting neuromuscular blockade monitoring, it is impor-

tant to remember that nerve stimulator should be placed at a normal neurologic function site to avoid overdosing, which might go undetected if a neurologically depressed nerve is chosen. In surgeries at high risk for venous air embolism (VAE), precordial Doppler ultrasound is recommended. A precordial Doppler, used in conjunction with capnography and arterial catheter, helps detect even minute VAEs. The site just on the right sternal border at the fourth intercostal space on the anterior chest is the best location for the Doppler probe [76]. In surgeries planned for IONM, electroencephalogram (EEG) and other electrophysiological paraphernalia need prior installation in closed coordination between neurosurgeon, neuroanesthesiologist, and neurophysiologist. Urinary output should be measured during prolonged procedures, in cases with anticipated large blood loss, and when diuretics or osmotic agents are administered [76].

6.3.5.1 Hemodynamic Monitoring

Pediatric neurosurgery warrants intense hemodynamic monitoring because of the risk of hemorherniation, rhage, VAE, or brain stem manipulation. Arterial cannulation is the cornerstone of hemodynamic monitoring in such cases. In addition to providing a real-time account of blood pressure, it allows sampling for serial measurements of blood parameters, thereby influencing appropriate metabolic, fluid, and blood component management. The arterial transducer should be ideally zeroed at the level of the head (lateral corner of the eye or the external auditory meatus) to provide an accurate mirror of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) [57].

The use of central venous catheters as a vascular access device has already been discussed. The fact that neither do they reliably predict intravascular volume, nor do they seem to be effective in aspiration of air in the event of VAE, has discouraged routine use of a central venous catheter (CVC) in children [77]. However, as reiterated before, CVC (subclavian, IJV, or femoral) might be required in certain neurosurgical scenarios, especially in surgeries expected to have significant blood loss and hemodynamic perturbations [78–80].

6.3.5.2 Neurophysiologic Monitoring

Advanced neurophysiologic monitoring, monitors of cerebral oxygenation, and seizure detection modalities (electrocorticography (ECoG), EEG, electromyography (EMG), transcranial Doppler (TCD), somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP), motor evoked potentials (MEPs), etc.) are an important cog in increasing the safety profile in cranium and spine surgeries. These are dealt with in more detail elsewhere (Chap. 8). The ergonomic considerations of instituting such monitoring and interaction of anesthetic regimens with such monitoring are important in the perioperative period.

6.3.6 Positioning

The small size of children and the intricacies of neurosurgical access make positioning in pediatric neurosurgery a challenging paradigm. The physiologic effects, indications, and salient points of different neurosurgery positions are similar to those in adults and are elucidated in detail in Chap. 7. Specific implications of positioning in children include generous use of padding, avoidance of head pinning systems in the neonate and small infants, proper positioning of instruments and grounding wires, pinpoint positioning of the tracheal tube in the airway, access to the airway and vascular ports under drapes, and avoidance of extreme head positions with a propensity for brain stem compression and cervical spinal cord ischemia [57, 81]. Positioning is an integral part of neuroanesthesia care and is covered in detail in Chap. 7.

6.3.7 Fluid and Blood Component Therapy

Blood component therapy in pediatric neurosurgery should elicit close cooperation between the anesthesiologist and the neurosurgeon. Important factors to consider would be the preoperative hematocrit, the child's weight, the location and type of surgical pathology, and comorbidities affecting tissue oxygenation. Especially in sur-

where life-threatening geries bleeding is expected, a clear management plan encompassing blood conservation strategy, an accurate estimation of ongoing blood loss, and keeping blood products ready and accessible are critical to the overall outcome of the surgery [82]. Assessing ongoing blood loss in neurosurgery, especially in children, is an onerous task because of drapes and use of Mayo trolley. Use of overhead cameras, monitoring of suctioned blood in calibrated containers, serial hematocrit estimations on arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis, and monitoring of coagulation parameters on thrombo-elastography (TEG) are recommended to guide blood component therapy [57]. There is no definite transfusion threshold. Factors enumerated before should be used to decide when to transfuse. However, blood product administration usually commences at a hematocrit of 21-25%, to which point of time losses should be managed by crystalloids and colloids [39].

The intricacies of fluid management will be covered in Chap. 10. However, it is important to understand that perioperative fluid management affects cerebral blood flow, potentially worsens brain edema, and affects electrolyte and glucose homeostasis. Generally speaking, normal saline is a common fluid in perioperative pediatric neurosurgery, barring premature infants in whom glucose-containing solutions assume significance [83]. However, certain caveats to the routine use of normal saline are beyond the scope of this chapter. Especially in lesions affecting the pituitary, such as craniopharyngioma, alternative IV fluids may need to be considered [84]. The routine use of cerebral decongestant therapy in mannitol and hypertonic saline also greatly affects perioperative fluid therapy. Simultaneously, loop diuretics have a place only in the scenario of fluid overload [57].

6.3.8 Glucose Homeostasis

Children are at significant risk of developing and suffering the disastrous effects of hypoglycemia. These are more pronounced in premature infants and sick neonates due to their limited gluconeogenesis and scarce glycogen reserves. The increased vulnerability of children to perioperative hypoglycemia necessitates stringent monitoring of glucose levels and may mandate continuous infusions of glucose at a rate of 5-6 mg/kg/min if blood glucose levels drop below 60 mg/dl [85]. At the other end of the spectrum, the relative insulin resistance caused by the stress response to surgery and critical illnesses has a high propensity to cause hyperglycemia with deleterious effects in the neurologically injured patients in the setting of cerebral ischemia [86, 87]. There is no doubt that hyperglycemia causes significant secondary damage to the already neurologically compromised brain, but a tight glycemic control with resultant hypoglycemia has shown no advantage either [88]. More recently, there has been a trend to steer clear of tight glycemic control practice because of significant evidence of the detrimental effects of resultant hypoglycemia [89]. In the present scenario, it is pertinent to diligently monitor and maintain the blood glucose levels at a conservative value of less than 180 mg/dl in an attempt to thwart the disastrous effects of hypoglycemia resulting from tight glycemic control, keeping in mind the vulnerabilities of the pediatric age group.

6.3.9 Temperature Regulation

Whereas thermoregulation is discussed in Chap. 9, preserving body heat in children during anesthesia is vital to decrease oxygen consumption and prevent hypoxemia. Maintenance of OR temperature of 25–27 °C, warm air convection blankets, heater humidifiers in the breathing circuit, overhead heaters, heating mattresses, and fluid warmers are effective strategies to regulate body temperature [90].

On the other end of the spectrum, despite favorable effects in traumatic brain-injured children, the incidence of complications such as coagulation abnormalities prevents the routine use of hypothermia in pediatric neurosurgical practice [91]. Hence, normothermia using active warming modalities is the intraoperative temperature goal [91].

6.3.10 Intraoperative Complications

Major adverse events in children undergoing neurosurgery are an important cause of morbidity and mortality associated with these procedures. The intraoperative complications might be surgical, anesthesia-related, pathologyrelated, or a result of the underlying critical illness. These complications are reported in up to 40-50% of cases. The most commonly encountered are hemorrhage, seizures, fluid and electrolyte disturbances, and coagulation disorders besides anesthesia-related complications specific to children [92]. Various factors like the urgent nature of these procedures, inherently associated comorbidities (such as prematurity), difficulty in establishing vascular access, and problems specific to the neurosurgical subgroup like impaired communication, sedation, and neurological deficits have been shown to increase morbidity and mortality in these patients [93].

Anesthesia-related complications might be mild, such as vomiting, laryngitis, and mild oral cavity lesions, or have serious ramifications. These include hypoxia, bradycardia, cardiac arrhythmia after anesthetic induction, dental fractures (intubation), bronchospasm, aspiration pneumonia, postoperative apnea, and anaphylaxis [94]. Besides the demographics like age, physiological, immunological, and laboratory conditions, a major contributor to these complications is the duration of anesthesia and surgery [95].

Every possible precaution should be taken to avoid an increase in ICP during the anesthetic and surgical maneuvers in these subsets of patients who are already at the edge of intracranial decompensation due to the underlying pathology. Steps should be tailored to prevent catastrophic consequences like mass effect and brain herniation as a result of even the smallest hemodynamic or ventilatory change. Pharmacological intervention should be preemptively undertaken at the time of ICP elevating procedures like laryngoscopy, rapid sequence orotracheal intubation, pin insertion, periosteum elevation, etc. [93, 96].

At all points of time in the intraoperative period, a meticulous awareness of the volume losses and prompt replacement with fluids and blood component therapy as necessary go a long way in preventing complications related to anemia and dehydration, especially in high-risk cases like craniosynostosis repairs, craniopharyngiomas, meningiomas, and vascular neurosurgeries. Intraoperative hypothermia and hyperthermia contribute to secondary brain injury and should be watched out for [93, 97].

A notorious intraoperative complication closely associated with intracranial surgeries is VAE. Augmented by the pressure discrepancy between the operative site and the heart (the heart is lower than the operative field) and a low central venous pressure (hypovolemia), it results in significant air entrainment in the central circulation. The inability of dural venous sinuses to collapse and the presence of spinal epidural and bridging veins predispose these children to the consequences of VAE. The management of VAE is largely based on actions to identify the problem, stop further air entrainment, and support the circulation, the details of which are explained in Chap. 7.

6.3.11 Emergence

Needless to say, the process of emergence and extubation is highly critical to the outcome of neurosurgery because of effects on ICP and postsurgical bleeding inside close cavities (cranium and spinal canal). PONV in neurosurgery is multifactorial, but in general, it is mostly because of the high emetic potential of blood in CSF compounded by headache and use of opioids. Multimodal techniques should be used to ameliorate the same and are discussed in great detail in Chap. 37. Among intravenous agents explored to control the extubation reflex in children undergoing neurosurgery, fentanyl, lignocaine, and dexmedetomidine have shown promise as effective agents. Autonomic blockers such as labetalol are effective in adolescents. However, while shown to be effective in the adult population, esmolol does not fulfill the safety criteria for use in children because of its predominant effect on the heart rate, a vital cog of the cardiac output in children. Adequate pharmacological reversal of neuromuscular blockade, confirmation of spontaneous ventilation and oxygenation, and an awake child are prerequisites for extubation in a child who has undergone neurosurgery. In cases of a stormy intraoperative course or children not meeting respiratory and neurological criteria for extubation, it is advisable to shift the child to a facility for postoperative ventilation while simultaneously employing methods to monitor intracranial hypertension (ICP monitoring and CT evaluation) [57].

6.4 Postoperative Care

6.4.1 PACU Considerations

Postanesthesia care should address concerns of the pediatric age group and oversee the recovery of the CNS. It should be viewed as a high specialty continuum of care from the intraoperative period [98, 99]. For clarity, practical recommendations for the organization of neurosurgical PACUs, care during the transition of these children from the operating room to these PACUs, and the specific entities requiring specialized care have been presented.

6.4.1.1 Organization of PACU

The pediatric neurosurgical PACU should be designed keeping in view the following factors [100]—(1) pediatric age group anthropometrics and relevant infrastructure in terms of monitoring, beds, drugs, airway, and other equipment and drug cards detailing pre-calculated drug dosage [101], (2) provisions to include the child's family in the postoperative care of these patients [100], and (3) a team having expertise in pediatric neurocritical care with evolving competencies in pediatric and neonatal advanced life support [102, 103].

6.4.1.2 Transport and Handover

Ideally, the PACU should be located as close to the operating room as possible. Before transport to the PACU, a clear chain of communication with certain specific points should be established like patient specifics, the perioperative course, and specific concerns, if any. The postoperative plan, including clinical decision regarding extubation and need for mechanical ventilation, should also be clearly communicated to the PACU team [100, 104]. Important considerations should be ensured while shifting (Table 6.3).

6.4.2 Specific Entities in PACU

6.4.2.1 Emergence Delirium

A thrashing, disoriented, crying, screaming, and inconsolable child in the PACU is common, especially in the age group of 2–6 years [105, 106]. It has shown an association with the newer inhalation anesthetics, and it is usually a one-off self-limiting episode [107, 108]. In neurosurgical subsets, it has the potential to increase ICP. Several drugs such as dexmedetomidine, propofol, ketamine, magnesium, and midazolam and modalities such as regional anesthesia and

 Table 6.3 Important considerations during ICU handover

- Detailed monitoring preferably under the direct supervision of the anesthesia team in the operating room
- Lines and catheters should be ensured to be in working condition; emergency drugs should be handy
- · Keep the child warm during transit
- Keep transit times as a short as possible in children
- Adequate provisions for ventilatory, hemodynamic, and other emergency supports
- Effective pre-shifting communication to the patient receiving team
- In children who are awake and extubated—a high index of suspicion for hypoxic events, adherence to stringent monitoring protocols as well as safety in the form of guard rails, padding, and lateral decubitus position
- A detailed handover with the incorporation of checklist and protocols—efforts to decrease human error while shifting are warranted in pediatric PACUs [99]
- Advisable for the operating room team to remain with the child during the initial stabilization and handover in the PACU the receiving team has comfortably assumed responsibility of the child

acupuncture have shown efficacy in prophylaxis. IV agents may at times be required to treat intractable cases albeit with parental consent [100].

6.4.2.2 Pain Management

Till not so long ago, pain perception in children was highly trivialized, to the point of being virtually nonexistent. However, in the past two decades, there has been a burgeoning amount of evidence that neonates and young children perceive and react to pain just the same as adults [109]. Another postulate that has been challenged recently is intracranial structures being pain insensitive. Post-craniotomy pain is a significant entity and requires optimum management in the postoperative period, especially in children [110]. In pediatric neurosurgery, the present pain management method is a multimodality approach targeting pain at various peripheral, spinal, and supraspinal sites. This approach results in better pain management than targeting only one site and is the underlying principle of treating pain in a multimodal fashion [110, 111]. It offers the advantage of utilizing various drugs described in the subsequent text to obtain maximum pain relief and minimize drug-related adverse effects on the CNS in children. The intricacies, routes, and dosages of postoperative pain management in children undergoing neurosurgeries will be covered in Chap. 38. Here, the general considerations of the two major pharmacological groups for postoperative pain, i.e., opioids and nonopioids, are elaborated.

Opioids

Opioids have been the mainstay of postoperative pain management. Still, their common side effects like nausea, vomiting, and sedation have deleterious effects on cerebral physiology in the form of increased PaCO₂ and cerebral vasodilation, consequently leading to cerebral edema and a disastrous increase in ICP. Despite these potential pitfalls, they continue to remain an integral part of perioperative pain management. The choice of opioid, dose, and administration route is based on practitioner preference, institutional protocol, and drug availability. However, IV route should be preferred in the contiguous postoperative period. For IV therapy, drugs found efficacious are morphine, fentanyl, and hydromorphone. Among oral opioids, oxycodone is preferred over codeine. One should always be aware of the common side effects of opioid use like nausea, vomiting, pruritus, constipation, and urinary retention while being vigilant of the more ominous respiratory depression necessitating increased monitoring such as capnography and integrated acoustic sensors [111, 112].

Non-opioids

The non-opioid analgesics, even though exhibiting lesser efficacy than their opioid counterparts, have effectively reduced opioid requirements. They are a quite diverse and heterogeneous group of anesthetic adjuvants. The most common nonopioids used in postoperative pediatric neurosurgery are acetaminophen (paracetamol) and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen, and the selective cyclooxygenase (COX-2) inhibitors (celecoxib) [113]. They have myriad actions of analgesia, antiplatelet, and antipyretic effects. They also have anti-inflammatory action by blocking peripheral and central prostaglandin and thromboxane production by inhibiting cyclooxygenase types 1, 2, and 3 and can be administered through various routes. A significant limitation of this class of drugs is a ceiling effect, which has led to an offshoot of combination forms with opioids such as codeine, oxycodone, or hydrocodone. However, inadvertent liver toxicity, especially with acetaminophen formulation, is a real concern and must be avoided [114]. The major non-opioids in addition to those enumerated above are used as adjuncts and are corticosteroids, a 2 adrenergic agonists (clonidine, dexmedetomidine, tizanidine), local anesthetics (lignocaine, bupivacaine, ropivacaine), nerve blocks (scalp block), and NMDA receptor antagonists (methadone). Details about mechanisms, routes, dosages, efficacy, side effects, and practical implications of these adjunct pharmacological agents in pediatric neurosurgical practice are covered in Chap. 38.

6.4.2.3 Adverse Respiratory Events and Mechanical Ventilation

Adverse respiratory events are common and represent an alarming two-thirds of critical events during the perioperative period in children [115]. The affliction of the CNS, which houses the vital respiratory centers, complicates matters manifold. A very close watch is mandated for respiratory insufficiency in neurosurgical children extubated, whether on the OR table or in the PACU.

A number of pediatric neurosurgical patients require ventilatory support, the period of ventilation is within 24-48 h to allow for effects of surgery to wear off, and assisted modes of ventilation are recommended to allow for ongoing neurological assessment. In children with poor lung mechanics, the effects of a conventional lungprotective strategy of low tidal volume, pressurelimited approach should be weighed against the effects of carbon dioxide retention and intracranial hypertension [39]. Effects on ICP are absent as long as the sutures and fontanelles are open [116]. A sizeable number of neonates and infants require controlled ventilation and sedation with muscle relaxants primarily because of severe neurological injury. The multiple systemic effects of the same, however routine use, are not advocated [117].

6.4.2.4 ICP Monitoring and Management

In children presenting with trauma and tumors, ICP monitoring is a routine of care at many centers and signifies ongoing intracranial hypertension even in CT changes [118]. Among the modalities available, intraventricular catheters offer therapeutic options and are the most widely used [39]. The methods used to manage intracranial hypertension include hypertonic saline (beware of hypernatremia), crystalloid therapy, use of steroids, and limited hyperventilation. Hyperventilation has been associated with reversible ischemia in children and should always be done in conjunction with monitoring blood gas and end-tidal carbon dioxide values [100].

6.4.2.5 Fluid and Electrolyte Disturbances

Inherent physiological considerations of pediatric neurosurgical patients like minuscule size, immature renal function, and impaired or varied intake of fluids, magnified by the effects of existing pathology and surgery on the brain, disrupt electrolyte fluid control mechanisms. This leads to severe disturbances in serum sodium and osmotic pressures in up to 10% of children undergoing neurosurgery and usually results in one of the three essential perioperative fluid and electrolyte disorders-viz., SIADH, diabetes insipidus, and CSW [119]. The details of these disorders are presented in Chap. 10. However, it is important to be very watchful for their timely diagnosis during the perioperative period as well as take timely and prompt corrective measures to mitigate evolving systemic and neuronal injury. Protocolbased diagnosis is especially important, especially because treatment modalities of these disturbances are radically different and should combine lab values of electrolytes and osmolarity in conjunction with urine output and

subtle clinical signs such as hyponatremic seizures. The importance of having a strong suspicion for and dismissing and treating these disorders timely cannot be overstated, and they have a significant effect on the neurosurgical outcome.

6.5 Conclusion

Anesthetizing children for neurosurgery is challenging; nonetheless, applying sound pediatric neuroanesthesia principles in conjunction with effective postoperative neurocritical care should go a long way in delivering state-of-the-art, safe anesthesia care. An attempt to schematically represent children's care presenting for brain tumor surgery has been made as a case in point (Fig. 6.2). The aim should be to develop evidencebacked protocol-based processes involving multiple disciplines to improve outcomes and decrease morbidity in children undergoing neurosurgical procedures.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

Fig. 6.2 Schematic flow diagram of the entire perioperative management of a pediatric neurosurgical patient. Abbreviations: *PAC* pre-anesthetic checkup, *NPO* nil per oral, *OR* operating room, *IV* intravenous, *SPO*₂ pulse oximetry, *EtCO*₂ end-tidal carbon dioxide, *ECG* electrocardiogram, *ICP* intracranial pressure, *RSI* rapid sequence intubation, *TIVA* total intravenous anesthesia, *N*₂*O* nitrous oxide, *TOF* train of four, *IONM* intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring, *DI* diabetes insipidus, *SIADH* syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion, *CSW* cerebral salt wasting, *PICU* postanesthesia care unit, *PONV* postoperative nausea and vomiting, *CT* computed tomography, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging



References

- Cohen MM, Cameron CB, Duncan PG. Pediatric anesthesia morbidity and mortality in the perioperative period. Anesth Analg. 1990;70(2):160–7.
- Becke K. Komplikationen in der Kinderanästhesie [complications in pediatric anesthesia]. Anaesthesist. 2014;63(7):548–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00101-014-2357-0.
- Langford R. The preparation of children for surgery. ATOTW. 2009;132. http://www.wfsahq.org/components/com_virtual_library/me-dia/64cd6bb5b430 7b722eedf89c4b4bd7d0-db600de236b211016cf0 b4647da75d42-132-prepara-tion-of-children-forsurgery.pdf
- 4. Advanced Life Support Group. Advanced paediatric life support. The practical approach. 5th ed. John Wiley & Sons, West Sussex, England.
- McGraw T. Preparing children for the operating room: psychological issues. Can J Anaesth. 1994;41(11):1094–103.
- Bernardini R, Catania P, Caffarelli C, Cardinale F, Franceschini F, Pelosi U, Peroni DG. Perioperative latex allergy. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2011;24(3 suppl):S55–60.
- Soriano SG, Kaus SJ, Sullivan LJ, Martyn JA. Onset and duration of action of rocuronium in children receiving chronic anticonvulsant therapy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2000;10(2):133–6.
- Soriano SG, Martyn JA. Antiepileptic-induced resistance to neuromuscular blockers: mechanisms and clinical significance. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2004;43(2):71–81.
- Melton AT, Antognini JF, Gronert GA. Prolonged duration of succinylcholine in patients receiving anticonvulsants: evidence for mild upregulation of acetylcholine receptors? Can J Anesth. 1993;40(10):939–42.
- APA Consensus Guideline on Perioperative Fluid Management in Children. V 1.1 September 2007 © Apagbi Review Date August 2010.
- Bhardwaj N. Perioperative fluid therapy and intraoperative blood loss in children. Indian J Anaesth. 2019;63(9):729–36.
- Vavilala MS, Sulpicio G, Soriano SG. Anaesthesia for neurosurgery. In: Davis PJ, Cladis FP, Motoyama EK, editors. Smith's anesthesia for infants and children. 8th ed. Elsevier: 2014.p.725.
- Byrnes MC, Schuerer DJ, Schallom ME, Sona CS, Mazuski JE, Taylor BE, et al. Implementation of a mandatory checklist of protocols and objectives improves compliance with a wide range of evidence-based intensive care unit practices. Crit Care Med. 2009;37(10):2775–81.
- Haynes AB, Weiser TG, Berry WR, Lipsitz SR, Breizat AH, Dellinger EP, et al. A surgical safety checklist to reduce morbidity and mortality in a global population. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(5):491–9.
- 15. de Vries EN, Hollmann MW, Smorenburg SM, Gouma DJ, Boermeester MA. Development and

validation of the SURgical PAtient Safety System (SURPASS) checklist. Qual Saf Health Care. 2009;18(2):121–6.

- de Vries EN, Prins HA, Crolla RM, den Outer AJ, van Andel G, van Helden SH, et al. Effect of a comprehensive surgical safety system on patient outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(20):1928–37.
- Zuckerman SL, Green CS, Carr KR, Dewan MC, Morone PJ, Mocco J. Neurosurgical check-lists: a review. Neurosurg Focus. 2012;33(5):E2.
- Norton EK, Rangel SJ. Implementing a pediatric surgical safety checklist in the OR and beyond. AORN J. 2010;92(1):61–71.
- Holm-Knudsen RJ, Carlin JB, McKenzie IM. Distress at induction of anaesthesia in children. A survey of incidence, associated factors and recovery characteristics. Paediatr Anaesth. 1998;8(5): 383–92.
- Lumley MA, Melamed BG, Abeles LA. Predicting children's presurgical anxiety and subsequent behavior changes. J Pediatr Psychol. 1993;18(4):481–97.
- Visintainer MA, Wolfer JA. Psychological preparation for surgery pediatric patients: the effects on children's and parent's stress responses and adjustment. Pediatrics. 1975;56(2):187–202.
- Watson AT, Visram A. Children's preoperative anxiety and postoperative behaviour. Paediatr Anaesth. 2003;13(3):188–204.
- Cunnington PMD. Management of the uncooperative frightened child. In: Bingham R, Thomas AL, Sury M, editors. Hatch and Sumner's textbook of paediatric anaesthesia. London: Hodder Arnold; 2007. p. 369–81.
- Tan L, Meakin GH. Anaesthesia for the uncooperative child. Oxf J Med BJA Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2010;10(2):48–52.
- McCluskey A, Meakin GH. Oral administration of midazolam as a premedicant for paediatric day-case anaesthesia. Anaesthesia. 1994;49(9):782–5.
- Rosenbaum A, Kain ZN, Larsson P, Lönnqvist PA, Wolf AR. The place of premedication in pediatric practice. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(9):817–28.
- Bozkurt P. Premedication of the pediatric patient anesthesia for the uncooperative child. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2007;20(3):211–5.
- Scott-Warren VL, Morley RB. Paediatric vascular access. BJA Education. 2015;15(4):199–206.
- Harrison D, Reszel J, Bueno M, et al. Breastfeeding for procedural pain in infants beyond the neonatal period. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;10(10):CD011248.
- Kuo HC, Pan HH, Creedy DK, Tsao Y. Distractionbased interventions for children undergoing venipuncture procedures: a randomized controlled study. Clin Nurs Res. 2018;27(4):467–82.
- Pillai Riddell RR, Racine NM, Gennis HG, Turcotte K, Uman LS, Horton RE, et al. Nonpharmacological management of infant and young child procedural pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;12(4):CD006275.

- EMLA, Oraqix (lidocaine/prilocaine) dosing, indications, interactions, adverse effects, and more [Internet]. https://reference.medscape.com/drug/ emlaoraqix-lidocaine-prilo-caine-343663.
- Andrew M, Barker D, Laing R. The use of glyceryl trinitrate ointment with EMLA cream for i.v. cannulation in children undergoing routine surgery. Anesth Intensive Care. 2002;30(3):321–5.
- 34. Hosokawa K, Kato H, Kishi C, Kato Y, Shime N. Transillumination by light-emitting diode facilitates peripheral venous cannulations in infants and small children. Acta Anesthesiol Scand. 2010;54(8):957–61.
- 35. Park JM, Kim MJ, Yim HW, Lee WC, Jeong H, Kim NJ. Utility of near-infrared light devices for pediatric peripheral intravenous cannulation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Pediatr. 2016;175(12):1975–88.
- 36. Stevens B, Yamada J, Ohlsson A, Haliburton S, Shorkey A. Sucrose for analgesia in newborn infants undergoing painful procedures. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;7(7):CD001069.
- Paternoster M, Niola M, Graziano V. Avoiding chlorhexidine burns in preterm infants. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2017;46(2):267–71.
- Linder N, Prince S, Barzilai A, Keller N, Klinger G, Shalit I, et al. Disinfection with 10% povidoneiodine versus 0.5% chlorhexidine gluconate in 70% isopropanol in the neonatal intensive care unit. Acta Paediatr. 2004;93(2):205–10.
- Soriano SG, McManu ML. Pediatric neuroanesthesia and critical care. In: Cottrell JE, Young WL, editors. Cottrell and Young's neuroanesthesia. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier; 2010. p. 327–42.
- Lamperti M, Bodenham AR, Pittiruti M, Blaivas M, Augoustides JG, Elbarbary M, et al. International evidence-based recommendations on ultrasoundguided vascular access. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38(7):1105–17.
- 41. Furay C, Howell T. Paediatric neuroanesthesia. Cont Educ Anesth Crit Care Pain. 2010;10(6):172.
- 42. Krane EJ, Phillip BM, Yeh KK, Domino KB. Anesthesia for paediatric neurosurgery. In: Smith RM, Mototyama EK, Davis PJ, editors. Smith's anesthesia for infants and children. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby; 2006. p. 651–84.
- Modica PA, Tempelhoff R. Intracranial pressure during induction of anesthesia and tracheal intubation with etomidate-induced EEG burst suppression. Can J Anesth. 1992;39(3):236–41.
- 44. Tulleken CA, van Dieren A, Jonkman J, Kalenda Z. Clinical and experimental experience with etomidate as a brain protective agent. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1982;2(suppl1):S92–7.
- Milde LN, Milde JH. Preservation of cerebral metabolites by etomidate during incomplete cerebral ischemia in dogs. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(3):272–7.
- Lockhart CH, Jenkins JJ. Ketamine-induced apnea in patients with increased intracranial pressure. Anesthesiology. 1972;37(1):92–3.

- Crumrine RS, Nulsen FE, Weiss MH. Alterations in ventricular fluid pressure during ketamine anesthesia in hydrocephalic children. Anesthesiology. 1975;42(6):758–61.
- Rhondali O, Juhel S, Mathews S, et al. Impact of sevoflurane anesthesia on brain oxygenation in children younger than 2 years. Paediatr Anesth. 2014;24(7):734–40.
- 49. Holzman RS, van der Velde ME, Kaus SJ, et al. Sevoflurane depresses myocardial contractility less than halothane during induction of anesthesia in children. Anesthesiology. 1996;85(6):1260–7.
- Cooperman LH. Succinylcholine-induced hyperkalemia in neuromuscular disease. JAMA. 1970;213(11):1867–71.
- Mazurek AJ, Rae B, Hann S, Kim JI, Castro B, Coté CJ. Rocuronium versus succinylcholine: are they equally effective during rapid-sequence induction of anesthesia? Anesth Analg. 1998;87(6):1259–62.
- Heinrich S, Birkholz T, Ihmsen H, Irouschek A, Ackermann A, Schmidt J. Incidence and predictors of difficult laryngoscopy in 11,219 pediatric anesthesia procedures. Paediatr Anesth. 2012;22(8):729–36.
- Sunder RA, Haile DT, Farrell PT, Sharma A. Pediatric airway management: current practices and future directions. Paediatr Anesth. 2012;22(10): 1008–15.
- Sims C, von Ungern-Sternberg BS. The normal and the challenging pediatric airway. Paediatr Anesth. 2012;22(6):521–6.
- Spiekermann BF, Stone DJ, Bogdonoff DL, Yemen TA. Airway management in neuroanesthesia. Can J Anesth. 1996;43(8):820–34.
- 56. von Ungern-Sternberg BS, Boda K, Chambers NA, Rebmann C, Johnson C, Sly PD, et al. Risk assessment for respiratory complications in paediatric anesthesia: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2010;376(9743):773–83.
- McClain CD, Soriano SG. Pediatric neurosurgical anesthesia. In: Cote C, Lerman J, Anderson B, editors. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children. 6th ed. London: Elsevier; 2018. p. 604–628 e5.
- Watt S, Pickhardt D, Lerman J, et al. Telescoping tracheal tubes into catheters minimizes epistaxis during nasotracheal intubation in children. Anesthesiology. 2007;106(2):238–42.
- Benumof JL. Laryngeal mask airway. Indications and contraindications. Anesthesiology. 1992;77(5): 843–6.
- Weiss M, Engelhardt T. Proposal for the management of the unexpected difficult pediatric airway. Paediatr Anesth. 2010;20(5):454–64.
- Holm-Knudsen RJ, Rasmussen LS. Paediatric airway management: basic aspects [published correction appears in Acta Anesthesiol Scand. 2009 Apr;53(4):552]. Acta Anesthesiol Scand. 2009;53(1):1–9.
- 62. Pounder DR, Blackstock D, Steward DJ. Tracheal extubation in children: halothane versus isoflu-

rane, anesthetized versus awake. Anesthesiology. 1991;74(4):653–5.

- 63. Patel RI, Hannallah RS, Norden J, Casey WF, Verghese ST. Emergence airway complications in children: a comparison of tracheal extubation in awake and deeply anesthetized patients. Anesth Analg. 1991;73(3):266–70.
- Cochrane DD, Adderley R, White CP, Norman M, Steinbok P. Apnea in patients with myelomeningocele. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1990;16(4–5):232–9.
- 65. Cochrane DD, Gustavsson B, Poskitt KP, Steinbok P, Kestle JR. The surgical and natural morbidity of aggressive resection for posterior fossa tumors in childhood. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1994;20(1):19–29.
- Miller KA, Harkin CP, Bailey PL. Postoperative tracheal extubation. Anesth Analg. 1995;80(1):149–72.
- McAllister RG. Macroglossia a positional complication. Anesthesiology. 1974;40(2):199–200.
- Teeple E, Maroon J, Rueger R. Hemimacroglossia and unilateral ischemic necrosis of the tongue in a long-duration neurosurgical procedure (letter). Anesthesiology. 1986;64(6):845–6.
- Ellis SC, Bryan-Brown CW, Hyderally H. Massive swelling of the head and neck. Anesthesiology. 1975;42(1):102–3.
- Singh D, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Sevoflurane provides better recovery as compared to isoflurane in children undergoing spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21(3):202–6.
- 71. Gupta P, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK. Comparison between sevoflurane and desflurane on emergence and recovery characteristics of children undergoing surgery for spinal dysraphism. Indian J Anaesth. 2015;59(8):482–7.
- Ard J, Doyle W, Bekker A. Awake craniotomy with dexmedetomidine in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15(3):263–6.
- Ma D, Hossain M, Rajakumaraswamy N, et al. Dexmedetomidine produces its neuroprotective effect via the alpha 2A-adrenoceptor subtype. Eur J Pharmacol. 2004;502(1–2):87–97.
- Ibacache ME, Munoz HR, Brandes V, Morales AL. Single-dose dexmedetomidine reduces agitation after sevoflurane anesthesia in children. Anesth Analg. 2004;98(1):60–3.
- Bekker A, Sturaitis MK. Dexmedetomidine for neurological surgery. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(1 suppl):1–10. discussion 1-10
- Soriano SG, McManus ML, Sullivan LJ, Scott RM, Rockoff MA. Doppler sensor placement during neurosurgical procedures for children in the prone position. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1994;6(3):153–5.
- Mirski MA, Lele AV, Fitzsimmons L, Toung TJK, Warltier DC. Diagnosis and treatment of vascular air embolism. Anesthesiology. 2007;106:164–77.
- Soliman DE, Maslow AD, Bokesch PM, et al. Transoesophageal echocardiography during scoliosis repair: comparison with CVP monitoring. Can J Anaesth. 1998;45(10):925–32.

- Grady MS, Bedford RF, Park TS. Changes in superior sagittal sinus pressure in children with head elevation, jugular venous compression, and PEEP. J Neurosurg. 1986;65(2):199–202.
- Cucchiara RF, Bowers B. Air embolism in children undergoing suboccipital craniotomy. Anesthesiology. 1982;57(4):338–9.
- Todres ID, deBros F, Kramer SS, Moylan FM, Shannon DC. Endotracheal tube displacement in the newborn infant. J Pediatr. 1976;89(1):126–7.
- Velardi F, Di Chirico A, Di Rocco C. Blood salvage in craniosynostosis surgery. Childs Nerv Syst. 1999;15(11–12):695–710.
- Arumainathan R, Stendall C, Visram A. Management of fluids in neonatal surgery. BJA Educ. 2018;18(7):199e203.
- 84. Mukherjee KK, Dutta P, Singh A, Gupta P, Srinivasan A, Bhagat H, et al. Choice of fluid therapy in patients of craniopharyngioma in the perioperative period: A hospital-based preliminary study. Surg Neurol Int. 2014;8(5):105.
- 85. Van den BG, Wilmer A, Milants I, Wouters PJ, Bouckaert B, Bruyninckx F, Bouillon R, Schetz M. Intensive insulin therapy in mixed medical/ surgical intensive care units: benefit versus harm. Diabetes. 2006;55(11):3151–9.
- Sandström K, Nilsson K, Andréasson S, Niklasson A, Larsson LE. Metabolic consequences of different perioperative fluid therapies in the neonatal period. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1993;37(2):170–5.
- Van den Berghe G, Schoonheydt K, Becx P, Bruyninckx F, Wouters PJ. Insulin therapy protects the central and peripheral nervous system of intensive care patients. Neurology. 2005;64(8):1348–53.
- Klein GW, Hojsak JM, Rapaport R. Hyperglycemia in the pediatric intensive care unit. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2007;10(2):187–92.
- Kitabchi AE, Umpierrez GE, Fisher JN, Murphy MB, Stentz FB. Thirty years of personal experience in hyperglycemic crises: diabetic ketoacidosis and hyperglycemic hyperosmolar state. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(5):1541–52.
- Gormley SMC, Crean PM. Basic principles of anesthesia for neonates and infants. BJA CEPD Rev. 2001;1(5):130–3.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP, Sharma MS, Dube SK, Rajagopalan V, Bithal PK. Rate and reasons for elective ventilation in patients undergoing intracranial tumor surgery. J Neuroanesthesiol Crit Care. 2014;1(2):125–30.
- 92. Fernández de Sevilla Estrach M, Cambra Lasaosa FJ, Segura Matute S, Guillén Quesada A, Palomeque Rico A. Postoperatorio de tumores cerebrales en la unidad de cuidados intensivos pediátricos [Pediatric intensive care after brain tumor surgery]. An Pediatr (Barc). 2009;70(3):282–6.
- Mekitarian Filho E, Carvalho WB, Cavalheiro S. Perioperative patient management in pediatric neurosurgery. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2012;58(3):388–96.

- 94. Aleksic V, Radulovic D, Milakovic B, Nagulic M, Vucovic D, Antunovic V, Djordjevic M. A retrospective analysis of anesthesiologic complications in pediatric neurosurgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(9):879–86.
- Hiljamae H. Anesthesic risk factors. Acta Chir Scand. 1989;550(Suppl):11–9.
- 96. Bissonnette B. Specificite de l'anesthesie de l'enfant en neurochirurgie. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2002;21(2):73–7.
- 97. Gurtner C, Paut O, Bissonnette B. Temperature regulation: physiology and pharmacology. In: Bissonnette B, Dalens B, editors. Pediatric anesthesia: principles and practice. New York: McGraw Hill Inc.; 2001. p. 184.
- Sun L, Guo R, Sun L. Dexmedetomidine for preventing sevoflurane related emergence agitation in children: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Acta Anesthesiol Scand. 2014;58(6):642–50.
- Koka BV, Soriano SG. Anesthesia for neonatal surgical emergencies. Semin Anesthes. 1992;9:309–16.
- 100. Taenzer AH, Havidich JE. The postanesthesia care unit and beyond. In: Coté C, Lerman J, Anderson BJ, editors. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2013. p. 980–92.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Critical elements for the pediatric perioperative anesthesia environment. Pediatrics. 2015;136(6):1200–5.
- 102. Awad SS, Fagan SP, Bellows C, et al. Bridging the communication gap in the operating room with medical team training. Am J Surg. 2005;190(5):770–4.
- 103. Mazzocco K, Petitti DB, Fong KT, et al. Surgical team behaviors and patient outcomes. Am J Surg. 2009;197(5):678–85.
- 104. Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Rockoff MA. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2002;20(2):389–404.
- 105. Cravero J, Surgenor S, Whalen K. Emergence agitation in paediatric patients after sevoflurane anesthesia and no surgery: a comparison with halothane. Paediatr Anesth. 2000;10(4):419–24.
- 106. Przybylo HJ, Martini DR, Mazurek AJ, et al. Assessing behaviour in children emerging from anesthesia: can we apply psychiatric diagnostic techniques? Paediatr Anesth. 2003;13(7):609–16.
- 107. Chandler JR, Myers D, Mehta D, et al. Emergence delirium in children: a randomized trial to compare total intravenous anesthesia with propofol and remifentanil to inhalational sevoflurane anesthesia. Paediatr Anesth. 2013;23(4):309–15.
- Lauder GR. Total intravenous anesthesia will supercede inhalational anesthesia in pediatric anesthetic practice. Paediatr Anesth. 2015;25(1):52–64.
- Yaster M. Multimodal analgesia in children. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27(10):851–7.

- 110. Bronco A, Pietrini D, Lamperti M, Somaini M, Tosi F, del Lungo LM, et al. Incidence of pain after craniotomy in children. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24(7):781–7.
- 111. Shay JE, Kattail D, Morad A, Yaster M. The postoperative management of pain from intra-cranial surgery in pediatric neurosurgical patients. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(7):724–33.
- 112. Nelson KL, Yaster M, Kost-Byerly S, Monitto CL. A national survey of American pediatric anesthesiologists: patient-controlled analgesia and other intravenous opioid therapies in pediatric acute pain management. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(3): 754–60.
- Kokki H. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for postoperative pain: a focus on children. Paediatr Drugs. 2003;5(2):103–23.
- 114. Kuehn BM. FDA committee: more restrictions needed on hydrocodone combination products. JAMA. 2013;309(9):862.
- 115. Tay CLM, Tan GM, Ng SBA. Critical incidents in paediatric anesthesia: an audit of 10000 anesthetics in Singapore. Paediatr Anesth. 2001;11(6):711–8.
- 116. Stewart AR, Finer NN, Peters KL. Effects of alterations of inspiratory and expiratory pressures and inspiratory/expiratory ratios on mean airway pressure, blood gases, and intracranial pressure. Pediatrics. 1981;67(4):474–81.
- 117. Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, Chesnut RM, du Coudray HEM, Goldstein B, Kochanek PM, Miller HC, Partington MD, Selden NR, Warden CR, Wright DW, American Association for the Surgery of Trauma; Child Neurology Society; International Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery; International Trauma Anesthesia and Critical Care Society; Society of Critical Care Medicine; World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies. Use of sedation and neuromuscular blockade in the treatment of severe pediatric traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4(3 Suppl):S34–7.
- 118. Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, du Coudray HEM, Goldstein B, Kochanek PM, Miller HC, Partington MD, Selden NR, Warden CR, Wright DW, American Association for the Surgery of Trauma; Child Neurology Society; International Society for Pediatric Neurosurgery; International Trauma Anesthesia and Critical Care Society; Society of Critical Care Medicine; World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies. Indications for intracranial pressure monitoring in pediatric patients with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4(3 Suppl):S19–24.
- 119. Au AK, Ray PE, McBryde KD, Newman KD, Weinstein SL, Bell MJ. Incidence of postoperative hyponatremia and complications in critically-ill children treated with hypotonic and normotonic solutions. J Pediatr. 2008;152(1):33–8.

Positioning Children During Neurosurgery

Vanitha Rajagopalan, Sujoy Banik, and Girija Prasad Rath

Key Points

- A wide range of surgical positions is required, in children, for optimal access during different neurosurgical procedures, with each position having its own physiological consequences.
- The unique concerns are related to physiological differences of children from adults and appropriate equipment required due to the variations in the physical dimension.
- Safe and comfortable positioning of the patient is teamwork involving close communication between the surgeons, anesthesiologists, and operating room staff.
- The ideal position is a balance between optimal surgical access and patient safety.
- Efforts to maintain appropriate temperature are mandatory when a prolonged positioning period is required.
- Commonly, the supine, lateral, prone, or sitting position and their modifications are used.
- It is important to maintain the patient's physiology as close to normal as possible and minimize the complications that can occur due to

S. Banik

various positioning with anticipation and continuous vigilance.

 Prevention of inadvertent neurologic injury by adequate padding cannot be overemphasized.

7.1 Introduction

Positioning refers to the body position in which a patient is placed for a surgical procedure. The optimal patient position should facilitate maximum surgical access with minimum physiologic perturbations or physical injury without compromising patient safety. The fundamental considerations about the position for neurosurgery aim to (a) provide the most acceptable access to the anatomical target, ensuring the comfort of the surgeon and patient and access to the anesthesiologist and adequate access for monitoring, (b) avoid brain retraction, (c) minimize intraoperative bleeding, (d) reduce intracranial pressure (ICP), (e) ensure adequate cerebral perfusion, (f) prevent compression or traction injuries (skin dehiscence, ocular injuries, peripheral nerve injuries), and (g) increase the likelihood of a successful surgery with a good outcome. Table 7.1 enumerates the goals for patient positioning for surgery. The optimum positioning of children for neurosurgery poses unique challenges due to the anatomical and physiological differences and the age-wise variations in surgical lesions. Safe and comfort-



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_7

V. Rajagopalan (⊠) · G. P. Rath

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

London Health Sciences Centre/St Joseph's Hospital London/Windsor Regional Hospital, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, Western University, London, ON, Canada

Table 7.1 Goals of surgical positioning

- Patient dignity
- Maintain physiological homeostasis
- Protect anatomical structures of patient's body to prevent injuries and complications
- Access to surgical site without posing undue stress on the patient's body
- Access to anesthesiologist to intravenous (IV) sites to administer medications, fluids, blood and blood products, anesthetic agents
- Allow positioning of surgical equipment (e.g., C-arm, operating microscope) for easy use by surgical team

able positioning of the pediatric patient is of paramount importance. Knowledge, planning, and teamwork are the major components of attentive positioning, which fulfils the aim of the surgical procedure and prevents the ensuing complications, thereby reducing perioperative morbidity. This chapter describes the special considerations for positioning pediatric patients for the commonly performed neurosurgical procedures in commonly used positions (supine, lateral, prone, sitting) and their variations, how the position is established, associated complications, and measures to mitigate these complications.

7.2 Historical Aspects

Dutton, in 1933, gave an account of the effects of body position on anesthesia [1]. Slocum and Allen carefully documented the position related to cardiorespiratory and neurovascular complications [2, 3]. Then, there were subsequent reviews by several authors which clarified several aspects related to positioning [4–9].

The constantly evolving neurosurgical approaches have always demanded newer positions over time. Several challenges and hurdles encountered through trial and error have prompted numerous adjustments to make positioning of patient safety and formulate the standard of care for positioning for pediatric neurosurgical procedures.

The sitting position was first introduced in 1913 by Thierry de Martel for excision of the intracranial tumor under local anesthesia; however, Horsley performed many such procedures in the lateral oblique position as far back as 1906. In 1928, Frazier and Gardner used this position in the USA for surgery on the Gasserian ganglion. The 1960s and 1970s were the prime periods for the sitting position for neurosurgical procedures. Over time, neurosurgeons have transitioned to the prone position, limiting the sitting position and its variations to individualized and institutional practice.

7.3 General Principles Common to all Pediatric Positions

The ideal position of the child for pediatric neurosurgery is a balance between good surgical access and patient safety in terms of avoidance of associated complications. Patient positioning is a cooperative effort of the operating room (OR) team comprising of the neurosurgeon, neuroanesthesiologist, nursing staff, technical staff, and housekeeping staff. Proper positioning of the patient is one of the most crucial steps in neurosurgery. Multiple factors like child's age, weight, size, and medical diseases including cardiorespiratory disorders and evaluation of potential positioning risks help identify the patient's tolerance to the planned position and plan appropriate modifications to the position. Hence, considerations for patient positioning during surgery forms a vital component of the preanesthetic evaluation. Important issues in positioning are access to the child, head positioning, securing the airway, and adequate protection of the eyes, skin, and peripheral nerves. Table 7.2 shows a checklist for safe positioning of the patient for surgery.

| Preoperative | Patient factors |
|------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| assessment | (a) Age |
| | (b) Height |
| | (c) Weight |
| | (d) Skin integrity |
| | (e) Ranges of motion |
| | (f) Preexisting conditions—Allergies, cardiorespiratory, immune, neurological systems, |
| | nutritional condition |
| | (g) Poor vision or blindness |
| | (h) Impaired mobility |
| | (i) Development and mental competence |
| | (j) Prosthetic devices |
| | (k) Implanted devices—Shunt tubes, plates, and screws |
| | (1) External devices—Indwelling catheters |
| | (a) The surgical procedure to be performed |
| | (a) The surgical procedure to be performed (b) The estimated duration of the procedure |
| | (b) The estimated duration of the procedure |
| Intro on onotivo | (c) Surgeon's and anestnesiologist's preferred surgical position |
| Intraoperative | (a) Varify notion tidentity |
| considerations | (a) verify patient identity (b) Marking of superiod site |
| | (b) Marking of subjects she |
| | (d) Concent checked |
| | (d) Consent checked |
| | (a) Transfer by adequate personnel each knowing their predetermined role |
| | (a) mansfer by adequate personnel each knowing then predetermined role (b) Operating table and all positioning accessories clean and ready to use |
| | (c) Head immobilized in the preferred device |
| | (d) Eves and face adequately protected |
| | (e) Pressure points well padded |
| | (f) Unlike adults, additional padding might be needed under edges of belt used for strapping/ |
| | wires/other monitoring aids |
| | (g) Cotton used for padding can get soaked in irrigating saline/sweat/ blood and can harden |
| | and lose cushioning effect and can worsen hypothermia. Hence caution must be exercised |
| | (h) Gentle application and removal of plasters and adhesives (delicate skin) |
| | (i) Diathermy cautery plate placed correctly and in contact with the body to prevent cautery |
| | burns |
| | (j) An in insulating layer of cotton or linen, may help prevent cautery burns due to the gel/ |
| | bolsters |
| | (k) Homeostasis maintained |
| | (1) All tubes, circuits, and monitors are free from compression and functional |
| | (m) All connections secured |
| | (n) Access to the patient is satisfactory |
| | (o) Measures to maintain temperature/normothermia |
| | (p) Patient strapped adequately |
| | Post positioning |
| | (a) Patient re-evaluated periodically |
| | (b) Pressure points checked from time to time in prolonged surgeries |
| | (c) Every time patient s/table position is altered intraoperatively, reassess patient |
| Postoperative | Check as the patient is undraped |
| assessment | (a) Assess the pressure points |
| | (b) Look for electrical burns, intactness of skin |
| | (c) Assess for signs of nerve compression |
| | (a) Outcome avaluation |
| | |

Table 7.2 Checklist for safe positioning of the patient for surgery

7.3.1 Transport and Handling

The child must be handled gently during shifting from his/her hospital bed to the transport cart, transit through the corridors and elevators en route to the operating suite, and on transfer onto the operating table. Critically ill children should be monitored during transport and physiologic stability maintained [5]. Adequate team members should be available for the safe transfer of the child onto the operating table with the planned use of shifting aids like draw sheets, mechanical patient movers like body rollers, slide boards, etc. The person at the head end, usually the anesthesiologist, is overall in charge of shifting who ensures the stability of head and neck and airway patency. Vigilance regarding arms, vascular lines, and monitors can be designated to other team members. Careful planning with each member's predetermined role before shifting the patient results in safe patient handling in all circumstances. The movement of the child from the operating table to the recovery bed or cart should also be performed gently and by enough team members to allow smooth transition without provoking any complication.

7.3.2 Equipment

7.3.2.1 The Surgical Table

A standard operating table with the necessary attachments that aid the positioning required for a particular procedure is used for every neurosurgical operation. Specialized tables are available to meet the unique requirements of spine surgery, such as Allen's table and Jackson's table. Soft, segmented table pads are standard parts of all operation tables that adhere to metal surfaces. The advantage of this is that the leg part of the table can be detached in very small children to allow the anesthesiologist access to the child.

7.3.2.2 Accessories

Side rails are present on both sides and on the ends of the procedure table. Various sizes and designs of locking sockets and clamps that fit onto the side rails are also present. They allow the

Table 7.3 Desirable properties of positioning devices

- Available in various sizes and shapes
- Durable (especially the reusable items)
- Conform to the patient's body and evenly distribute pressure
- Maintain a normal capillary interface pressure of 32 mmHg or less
- · Resistant to moisture and microorganisms
- Radiolucent
- Fire resistant
- Nonallergenic
- Easy to use
- Easy to clean/disinfect (if not disposable)
- · Easy to store, handle, and retrieve
- Cost-effective

fitting of various accessories like leg holders; shoulder supports; skull clamps; arm boards; supplementary upper limb support systems, which are devised to support the upper arm, forearm, wrist, and/or hand; lateral positioning bars; and posts. Table 7.3 shows the desirable properties of positioning devices.

7.3.2.3 Head Immobilization Devices

Head immobilization devices are used to immobilize the head, which can occur from surgical manipulation. They can be divided into rigid immobilization devices like cranial pin fixation or nonrigid immobilization frames like the horseshoe headrest. The utilization of skull clamps, though lower in children, is individualized on a case-to-case basis. Mayfield skull clamp is the most commonly used head immobilization device; others use the Sugita head clamp.

Guidelines for pediatric patients regarding the use of cranial pin fixation are unavailable. Its use is generally avoided in infants less than 1 year of age, and 5 years or more is often considered a safe age for the use of headpin by most neurosurgeons [10]. The practice regarding the size of pins and torque screw force pounds per square inch (lbs/psi) applied in children is extremely variable among the pediatric neurosurgical community [10]. The usual practice is that pediatric pins are used in smaller children and the pressure applied is 10 lbs./psi per year of age up to 30 lbs./ psi. Children are more susceptible to complications associated with cranial pin fixation than adults due to their thinner bones [11], and instances of depressed skull fractures, epidural hematomas, pneumocephalus, and venous air embolism (VAE) have been reported in literature [12–15]. Therefore, extreme caution should be exercised when using cranial pin fixation devices, and whenever possible, a padded horseshoe head-rest may be used. There are some warning signs during pin application, and one must pause and reassess the patient's safety by using appropriate imaging. These signs include pin plunge (pins going too deep within the skull), crackling sound, higher than 30 lbs./psi torque, and inability to sustain the pressure.

Application of cranial pin fixation is associated with significant stimulatory effects resulting in tachycardia and hypertension, which may have several deleterious consequences. Hence, this response must be abolished by deepening the plane of anesthesia by administering additional boluses of anesthetic agents or by local anesthetic injection at the pin site.

7.3.3 Protective Padding

A direct contact between the patient and the operation table surface or accessories can be a potential cause of pressure-related injury. A range of protective padding and devices (arm pads, donuts, rolls, heel cups) is available, providing cushioning and distribution of pressure evenly over a wider area to decrease the pressure-related injury. The body parts particularly susceptible to positioning-related pressure injury in a certain position should be identified and padded well. Table 7.4 shows the various pressure points to be aware of in different positions.

7.3.4 Physiology of Patient Positioning

7.3.4.1 Respiratory Physiology

It is essential to keep the ventilatory parameters within normal limits during neurosurgery to prevent a rise in arterial blood carbon dioxide partial pressure (PaCO₂) and subsequent increase in ICP. Respiratory function can be compromised in

| Supine | Occiput | | |
|---------|------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| | Scapulae | | |
| | Thoracic vertebrae (spinous process) Olecranon Sacrum and coccyx | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | Calves | | |
| | Calcaneum (heels) | | |
| Lateral | Dependent ear | | |
| | Acromion process | | |
| | Olecranon | | |
| | Dependent side ribs | | |
| | Iliac crest | | |
| | Greater trochanter | | |
| | Medial and lateral condyles | | |
| | Medial and lateral malleoli | | |
| Prone | Eyes | | |
| | Ears | | |
| | Malar prominences (cheeks) | | |
| | Acromion process | | |
| | Breasts | | |
| | Iliac crest | | |
| | Male genitalia | | |
| | Patellae | | |
| | Toes | | |
| Sitting | Occiput | | |
| | Scapulae | | |
| | Thoracic vertebrae (spinous process) | | |
| | Olecranon | | |
| | Sacrum and coccyx | | |
| | Buttocks | | |
| | Ischial tuberosity | | |
| | Thighs (posterior aspect) | | |
| | Popliteal fossa | | |
| | Calcaneum (heels) | | |

| Table 7.4 | Potential pressure points in different neurosur- | | |
|-----------------|--------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| gical positions | | | |

Pressure point(s)

Position(s)

certain positions like lateral or prone due to mechanical restriction of the chest wall, compression of the trachea [16], and reduced excursions of the abdomen, all of which can impair ventilation. Malposition of the endotracheal tube (ETT) is more common in children than in adults due to the shorter trachea. Extreme flexion of the neck may also cause kinking of the ETT [17] or endobronchial migration of the ETT in children and cause ventilation problems. Hence, it is better to decide the type of ETT (flexometallic vs. standard portex ETT) based on the intended surgical position. Once the desired position is finalized, the lung fields should be auscultated to assure proper placement of the tube confirmed by bilateral equal air entry; the mark on the tube at the level of lips is rechecked, and the fixation of the ETT is well-secured. The breathing circuit is supported properly without any compression or pull or tug on the circuit, to ensure unhindered ventilation and oxygenation throughout the surgical procedure.

7.3.4.2 Circulation

Stable hemodynamics is vital to any neurosurgical procedure to maintain adequate cerebral perfusion. The circulatory changes to specific positions can sometimes be very rapid and have major consequences, especially in pediatric patients as they depend on heart rate to maintain cardiac output than stroke volume due to limited contractility of the myocardium in this age group and the myocardial depressant activity of most of the anesthetic agents used in children.

Neck positions like flexion, extension, or rotation may cause obstruction to arterial blood flow as well as impair venous return from the head and neck. The former can increase ICP due to impaired cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), decreased oxygenation, and triggering of the cerebral vasodilatory cascade. On the other hand, the latter increases ICP due to increased blood volume due to impaired venous return. This also increases the chances of intraoperative venous bleeding from the surgical site and brain swelling resulting in difficult and prolonged surgery and higher chances of a patient being ventilated postoperatively, resulting in increased morbidity. This can also lead to airway edema and edema of the face and tongue, all causing postoperative respiratory compromise, especially after prolonged surgery in the prone position. This can be avoided by paying careful attention to the positioning of the head and neck during surgery.

Decreased systemic venous return can occur due to restrictions due to positioning aids in lateral or prone position due to the rolls and bolsters, which can increase intrathoracic and intra-abdominal pressures [18]. This, in turn, can cause a decrease in cardiac output and CPP. The increased pressures can be transmitted intracranially and cause a rise in ICP and increased bleeding in spinal surgery due to venous engorgement [19]. The fall in cardiac output can also cause decreased systemic perfusion resulting in ischemia of several organs like the liver, kidneys, and bowel [20-22]. This can be mitigated by careful positioning, avoiding abdominal compression.

7.3.4.3 Temperature Regulation

Maintenance of body temperature can be challenging when positioning a small child, especially due to the extended time required to establish the desired position before the final draping and start of surgery. Hypothermia is associated with complications like impaired coagulation resulting in increased intraoperative bleeding, surgical site infection, and delayed recovery [23]. Hence, efforts should be taken to maintain temperature during positioning. The operating room can be kept warm by adjusting the air-conditioning and room temperature when the child is brought in and till the final desired position is achieved and surgical draping is done. A heating mattress, overhead heating lamp, and blankets to cover the child may be used during the time of positioning. Forced air warmers (e.g., Bair Hugger) may be used after positioning as the position, and surgical procedure allows to maintain optimum temperature.

7.3.5 Head Position

The ideal head position should provide an optimal approach to the surgical target. The two principles that govern head position are as follows: (i) the imaginary trajectory joining the highest point of skull and the surgical target should be the shortest distance between those two points, and (ii) the perimetry of the craniotomy performed should be parallel to the floor [24].

Manipulation and positioning of the head for the neurosurgical procedure, if gone wrong, can have disastrous consequences. The safe margin allowed for head rotation is up to 45° away from the body, beyond which a pillow or roll must be placed beneath the opposite shoulder. The turning of the head must be done very slowly and smoothly, always supporting the neck and in alignment with the rest of the body as a single unit. Extremes of head position like hyperflexion, hyperextension, rotation, and lateral flexion should be avoided. Always two fingerbreadths distance between the patient's chin and the nearest bony point should be ensured. The goal is to keep an adequate distance between these two points so that there is no or minimal increase in the airway pressure.

7.3.6 Repositioning During Anesthesia

The presence of disease, trauma, and anesthesia can depress or abolish the compensatory reflex responses during postural changes to maintain the systemic blood pressure and tissue perfusion. These changes can be accentuated during positioning, posing a serious threat to homeostasis if meticulous care is not taken. Adequate depth of anesthesia, adequate intravascular volume (replenish fluid deficits), and gradual and gentle change in the posture of the patient to attain the final position are mandatory steps for repositioning the patient for surgery after induction of anesthesia. A light plane of anesthesia may lead to tachycardia and hypertension due to stimulation during positioning, thereby causing increased ICP. Similarly, bucking or coughing on the ETT may cause raised ICP. However, an excessive depth of anesthesia also should be avoided, which might cause hypotension; it leads to inadequate cerebral and systemic perfusion, vasodilatory cascade, and, thence, increased CBV and ICP. The postural changes made at the termination of the surgery to bring the patient back to the supine position must also be gradual and be performed diligently. Hemodynamic instability at this time may occur due to iatrogenic and unrecognized intravascular volume deficits, hypotherelectrolyte imbalance, and mia. residual anesthetic effects. These factors must be kept in mind and corrected before normalizing the position to have a favorable outcome.

Frequent measurements of blood pressure, if not continuously monitored, should be performed throughout the change in patient position. Care must be taken to prevent dislodgement of ETT, indwelling catheters, indwelling cannula, and monitoring lines. The duration of loss of monitoring ("blackout" state) and disconnection from ventilation should be as minimum as possible during positioning. When the case permits, at least the pulse oximetry monitoring must be continued uninterrupted.

Once the final position is established, reevaluation of the respiratory and circulatory systems (airway patency, adequate ventilation, and oxygenation, peak airway pressure, adequate blood pressure to maintain cerebral and systemic perfusion), eyes (ointment and taped shut), all pressure points (adequate padding), intactness of vascular and monitoring devices, and access to the child should be made.

7.4 Basic Positions in Neurosurgery

Most of the neurosurgical procedures are performed with the patient in one of the variations of the four basic positions: supine, lateral, prone, and sitting. The exact position of the patient for a particular procedure is influenced by the type of surgery being performed, preferences of the surgical team, institutional practices, and choice of anesthesiology team. Neurosurgical procedures are carried out in different positions (Table 7.5), and the physiological changes associated with each of the positions may be different (Table 7.6). These positions are established stepwise in each position (Table 7.7). However, in smaller children, these steps can vary and modifications improvised on a case-to-case basis for the safe positioning of the child. These positions may have advantages as well as disadvantages. The common complications encountered in each of the positions and their subsequent management have been described in Table 7.8. The positionrelated complications among the different positions are also compared in Table 7.9.

7.4.1 Supine Position

This is the basic position for surgeries on the supratentorial part of the brain, the pituitary fossa, and sellar and suprasellar compartments. The lesions in the lateral part of the posterior

| Position | Indication | | |
|--------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| Supine | 1 Craniotomies for supratentorial brain surgeries | | |
| Supilie | (a) Standard pterional craniotomy | | |
| | (h) Fronto temporoparietal (FTP) craniotomy | | |
| | (c) Bifrontal craniotomy | | |
| | (d) Anterior interhemispheric/transcallosal craniotomy | | |
| | (a) Temporal graniotomy | | |
| | (e) remporar cramotomy | | |
| | 2. Cramotomies for lateral posterior lossa lesions in young children | | |
| | 3. Transsphenoidal pitultary surgery (in older children) | | |
| | 4. Craniosynostosis surgery | | |
| | (a) Strip craniectomy | | |
| | (b) Cranial vault remodeling (CVR) | | |
| | (c) Fronto-orbital advancement | | |
| | 5. Ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt | | |
| | 6. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) | | |
| | 7. Repair of brachial plexus injuries | | |
| | 8. Vagal nerve stimulator placement | | |
| | 9. Transoral odontoidectomy | | |
| | 10. Anterior cervical spine surgery (traumatic) | | |
| | 11. Interventional neuroradiology procedures | | |
| | 12. Diagnostic computerized tomography (CT) scan, magnetic resonance imaging | | |
| | (MRI) | | |
| Lateral | 1. Craniotomies, retro-sigmoid approach for cerebellopontine (CP) angle tumors | | |
| | 2. Theco-peritoneal shunt | | |
| | 3. Lumbar drain placement | | |
| | 4. Anterolateral approach to the thoracolumbar spine | | |
| Three-quarter prone/park | Midline posterior fossa lesions | | |
| bench | | | |
| Prone | 1. Craniotomies | | |
| | (a) Midline posterior fossa lesions | | |
| | (b) Occipital | | |
| | (c) Posterior interhemispheric | | |
| | 2. Encephalocele | | |
| | 3. Foramen magnum decompression/cranio-cervical decompression | | |
| | 4. Atlantooccipital fixation | | |
| | 5. Spinal surgery | | |
| | (a) Posterior approach | | |
| | (b) Meningomyelocele | | |
| | (c) Detethering | | |
| Concorde (modified | 1 Craniotomies | | |
| concorde (modified | 1. Crainotonnes | | |
| prone) | Supra coreballer infratentorial | | |
| | Supra-celebenal initiatentorial | | |
| | | | |
| | 2. Cervical spine surgery | | |
| Sphinx (modified prone) | Craniosynostosis | | |
| | (a) Cranial vault remodeling | | |
| | (b) Endoscopic-assisted sagittal strip craniectomy | | |
| Sitting | 1. Craniotomies | | |
| | (a) Supra-cerebellar infratentorial approach to pineal region | | |
| | (b) Posterior transcallosal approach to pineal region | | |
| | (c) Posterior fossa | | |
| | 2. Upper cervical spine surgery | | |

 Table 7.5
 Common pediatric neurosurgical positions and their indication(s)

| | | Cardiovascular | | |
|----------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Position | Respiratory system | system | Nervous system | Others |
| Supine | Ventilation: Ventilation: Breathing mainly due to abdominal movement Improved ventilation-perfusion matching More uniform ventilation per unit volume of lung Perfusion: The majority of pulmonary circulation in zone 3 (arterial pressure > venous pressure > alveolar pressure; blood flow determined by the difference between arterial and venous pressure; less gravity-dependent) Lung volumes: FRC \downarrow TLC \downarrow CV: CV exceeds FRC in the supine position in children <7 years; increased alveolar-arterial oxygen tension is seen CC \leftrightarrow , \uparrow (slight) Vantilation: | $VR/CVP \uparrow$ $CO \uparrow$ $SV \uparrow$ $MAP \downarrow (SP \leftrightarrow, DP \downarrow, PP \uparrow, MAP \downarrow)$ $HR \downarrow$ $SVR \downarrow$ | $JVF \uparrow, ↔$ $JVR \downarrow, ↔$ CPP ↔, ↓ CSF drainage impaired $ICP- \uparrow$ | Urine flow ↓ Esophageal sphincter tone ↑ Gastric emptying time ↑ |
| Laterai | Ventilation: Dependent lung $-\downarrow \rightarrow$ atelectasis Nondependent lung $-\uparrow$ Perfusion: Dependent lung $-\uparrow$ Nondependent lung $-\downarrow$ Ventilation-perfusion mismatch $-\uparrow\uparrow$ Lung volumes: FRC \downarrow TLC \downarrow | $ \begin{array}{l} \forall R \downarrow \\ CO \downarrow \\ SV \downarrow \\ HR \uparrow, \leftrightarrow \\ MAP \downarrow \\ SVR \uparrow \\ PVR \uparrow \end{array} $ | $JVF\uparrow, \leftrightarrow$ $JVR\downarrow, \leftrightarrow$ ICP↑ | perfusion of dependent arm |
| Prone | Ventilation: ↑ Perfusion: ↑ Ventilation-perfusion ratio improved Lung volumes: FRC – ↑ | $ \begin{array}{l} VR \downarrow \\ SV \downarrow \\ CO \downarrow, \leftrightarrow \\ HR \uparrow, \leftrightarrow \\ MAP \downarrow, \leftrightarrow \end{array} $ | Head below the level of the heart $JVF - \uparrow$ $JVR - \downarrow$ $ICP - \uparrow$ Head neutral $JVF \uparrow, \leftrightarrow$ $JVR \downarrow, \leftrightarrow$ | Decreased venous return from face and obstruction to lymphatics – Facial edema |
| Sitting | Ventilation: ↑ (diaphragm and abdominal contents pushed caudally due to the effect of gravity) Perfusion: ↑ Ventilation-perfusion ratio improved Lung volumes: FRC ↑ TLC ↑ | $ \begin{array}{c} VR/CVP \downarrow \\ CO \downarrow \\ SV \downarrow \\ PVR \uparrow \\ SVR \uparrow \\ HR \leftrightarrow, \uparrow \\ MAP \downarrow \end{array} $ | CPP \downarrow (15%) (arterial pressure decreases by approximately 1 mm hg for every 1.25 cm distance above the level of the heart) Dural venous sinus pressure $-\downarrow$ | |

Table 7.6 Physiological changes associated with different neurosurgical positions

Abbreviations: *VR* venous return, *CVP* central venous pressure (mmHg), *CO* cardiac output (L/min), *SV* stroke volume (ml), *MAP* mean arterial pressure (mmHg), *SP* systolic pressure (mmHg), *DP* diastolic pressure (mmHg), *PP* pulse pressure (mmHg), *HR* heart rate (beats/min), *SVR* systemic vascular resistance (dynes/cm²/s), *PVR* pulmonary vascular resistance, *JVF* jugular venous flow, *JVR* jugular venous resistance, *CPP* cerebral perfusion pressure (mmHg), *FRC* functional residual capacity (ml), *TLC* total lung capacity (ml), *CV* closing volume (ml), *CC* closing capacity (ml) \uparrow increases, \downarrow decreases, \leftrightarrow unchanged

| Position | Steps to establish the position |
|----------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Supine | • Operation table is well padded |
| | Arms tucked comfortably along the side of the trunk |
| | Place pillow under the knees to slightly flex the hips and avoid stress on back—Lawn chair |
| | modification or contoured supine position |
| Lateral | • The side of the surgery must be marked, specified on the consent form, and reconfirmed before |
| | positioning |
| | • After anesthesia is induced, IV accesses and catheters are secured with patient in supine position |
| | Anesthesiologist takes control of the head and neck and coordinates with other team members in |
| | turning from supine to lateral |
| | • The alignment of the body must be maintained at all times to avoid stress on the spine |
| | • The downside arm must be abducted first to prevent it from being trapped under the laterally turned |
| | body |
| | • One assistant places one hand on the dependent shoulder and holds the nondependent shoulder |
| | with the other hand; the other assistant places one hand under the patient's dependent hips and |
| | grasps the pelvis and with the other hand holds the iliac crest of the nondependent side |
| | • Once the assistants are ready, the position is turned lateral at the call of the anesthesiologist on the |
| | count of three, who turns the head toward the direction of the turn keeping the head in the sagittal |
| | plane and moves it in alignment with the body |
| | • A padding is placed under the dependent clest to prevent compression of the axillary aftery on that |
| | • The polyis can be stabilized by flaving the lower log at the hip and knee while keeping the upper |
| | a fine pervise can be stabilized by nexing the lower reg at the hip and knee while keeping the upper |
| | • Padded rests are placed in front and back of the sternum and pelvis for further stability: the patient |
| | is stranged |
| | • The downside arm is abducted and flexed to not more than 90° and hung on a pillow and tied to the |
| | rail of the table at the head end. A crepe bandage may be placed in the dependent arm. The upper |
| | arm is on an armrest or pillow placed in front of the patient |
| | • Park bench position is a modification of the lateral position in which the upper arm is placed by |
| | the side of the patient along the trunk, and the shoulder is taped to the table |
| | • All pressure points must be well padded |
| | • All lines and monitors and peak airway pressure are noted and recorded for future management |
| Prone | • Once the patient is ready for turning prone, the bed or trolley is moved close and parallel to the |
| | operation table, and its height is adjusted to be level with the operation table |
| | • Bolsters or rolls or frames on which the patient is to be placed must be kept ready on the table |
| | • The anesthesiologist manages the head, neck, and airway and coordinates the turn, while two |
| | assistants (turner and receiver) are there on either side of the patient and one at the foot end. |
| | Smaller children can be made prone on the operating table itself |
| | • At the anesthesiologist signal, the breathing circuit is momentarily disconnected; the turner rotates |
| | the patient from supine to lateral to prone, in a slow and smooth manner. Simultaneously, the |
| | receiver receives the patient on the outstretched arms, and the anesthesiologist maintains the head |
| | in the sagittal plane always in alignment with the body and, then, rotates the head gently till it is |
| | face down and in the final desired position. Finally, the breathing circuit is quickly reconnected |
| | • In patients with less apneic reserve, especially in neonates, 100% oxygen should be administered |
| | before disconnections of the circuit |
| | • The trolley is then taken away, and all other monitors and lines are reattached, and their intactness |
| | checked |
| | • The arms are usually placed alongside the trunk of the patient. They may be placed above the |
| | patient's head for lower spine surgery. In that case, the shoulder is abducted and elbow flexed |
| | maximum up to 90°; hyperabduction of the shoulder and acute flexion of the elbow should be |
| | avoided |
| | • I ne abdomen must be tree from compression. The supports should be at the upper chest and pelvis |
| | The near should not slip and compress vital structures in the neck or the abdomen, or lower limbs |
| | • The peak airway pressure is checked and should be within acceptable limits |
| | • An me pressure points must be well padded and all lines and tubes free from compression |
| | • The face should be padded and eyes protected from direct compression |

Table 7.7 Steps for establishing the neurosurgical position(s)

| Table 7.7 | (continued) |
|-----------|-------------|
|-----------|-------------|

| Position | Steps to establish the position |
|----------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Sitting | The operating table should have a removable head section and separate controls for back and leg sections and flexion and head-down tilt The table should be well padded |
| | Compression stockings or Esmarch bandage applied to both lower limbs up to midthigh A large and soft pillow should be placed at the thigh section on which the patient's buttocks will rest to prevent compression of the sciatic nerve by the ischial tuberosity. The pillow also elevated the patient's body above the back section of the table The three-pinhead holder is placed in a supine position with the pins and holder placed away from the surgical field. Antibiotic ointment applied at the pin site helps prevent air embolism and provides antibacterial properties |
| | Initially, the table is given a reverse Trendelenburg tilt to aid venous return from the lower limbs; then, the table is flexed fully at the back-thigh hinge. The foot is lowered 30–45° so that the knees are flexed and brought to the heart level, and thighs are flexed up to 90° over the abdomen. The combination of the back section of table elevation and foot end is coordinated and adjusted to maintain the horizontal position of the lower legs at the level of the heart. All these maneuvers must be done very slowly and the blood pressure continuously monitored to detect any hypotension |
| | The head holder is attached to a support frame inverted U-shaped, the limbs of which are attached along the back section of the table. This allows the sitting patient to be lowered rapidly to the horizontal position in case of severe hemodynamic collapse by simply lowering the back section Correct positioning of head: Avoid extreme neck flexion, maintain two fingerbreadths (2–3cms) space between chin and anterior chest wall or the nearest bony prominence All bony prominences should be well padded |
| | Arms should be well padded and flexed across the chest or abdomen to remain within the inverted U-shaped frame and hands crossed over the lap After the final position is achieved, the arterial transducer should be placed at the level of the operative site to reflect the perfusion pressure at the operative site. The right atrial catheter should be transduced at the level of the heart |

| Position | Benefits | Adverse effects | Management |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Supine | The easiest position to achieve | Backache | Lawn chair or contoured supine position reduces stress on the back |
| | No special equipments required | Pressure point retractions | Awareness of all the pressure points and generous padding |
| | | Pressure alopecia | Use of soft head supports when possible; avoid hypotension and hypothermia |
| Lateral | Optimal position for unilateral posterior | Brachial plexus injury | Avoid stretch on the shoulder and thereby brachial plexus |
| fossa anter to sp | fossa approach and anterolateral approach to spine | Entrapment neuropathy of suprascapular nerve | Avoid circumduction of arm across the chest and extreme lateral tilt of head toward the contralateral side |
| | | Peroneal nerve neuropathy | Adequate padding of dependent lower limb |
| | | Decreased perfusion of dependent arm | Avoid axillary artery compression—Chest roll, park bench modification |
| | | Atelectasis of dependent lung | Recruitment maneuvers end operatively and continued in the postoperative period |
| | | Ocular compression | Protect the downside eye |
| | | Compression of the ear (downside ear) | Avoid compression of dependent ear |

 Table 7.8
 Risks and benefits of surgical position and complication management

(continued)

| Position | Benefits | Adverse effects | Management |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Prone Optimal positi posterior fossa surgery, poster approach for s Less chances of venous air emi (VAE) compar sitting position | Optimal position for posterior fossa surgery, posterior | Dropping the patient; loss of airway, vascular access lines, catheters, and monitors | Coordinated turning by a skilled team |
| | approach for spine Less chances of venous air embolism (VAE) compared to | Injury to arms (shoulder dislocation, humerus fracture, soft tissue injury) | Awareness regarding the possibility of undergoing arm to fall into the gap between trolley and operation table and careful attention during turning |
| | sitting position | Injury to eyes Corneal abrasions Ocular edema Postoperative visual loss (POVL)—Retinal ischemia, lens displacement, blindness | Ocular lubricants and tape eyelid shut, head elevation above heart, correct-size horseshoe headrest to prevent slipping of head and compression of eyes, adequate padding, avoiding hypotension and anemia |
| | | Compression of ear (downside ear)— Cartilaginous damage, disfiguration | Avoid compression of dependent ear |
| | | Injuries to facial and mandibular nerves | Avoid compression over the angle of mandible |
| | | Neck torsion, flexion, and extension | Avoid extremes of neck position |
| | | Intravascular volume pooling in lower limbs | Use compression stockings or Esmarch bandage from feet up to thighs |
| | | Compartment syndrome | Avoid sharp angulation of knees or hips, tight wraps around lower extremities |
| | | VAE | Monitoring, early detection, surgical steps to prevent air entrainment, air aspiration, and supportive management |
| | | Nerve injuries, brachial plexus, ulnar neuropathy | Avoid stretch Padding of olecranon |
| | | Thoracic outlet syndrome | A preoperative careful history, neck in the sagittal plane, arms tucked by the side without caudal stretch on shoulders or compression on the clavicle |
| | | Breast injuries (adolescent female children) | Breasts to be placed in neutral or medial configuration, nipples not stretched, and supporting surface fixed and smooth |
| | | Genital injuries (male children) | Check that external genitalia are free from compression after final position |

Table 7.8 (continued)

| Table 7.8 | (continued) |
|-----------|-------------|
|-----------|-------------|

| Position | Benefits | Adverse effects | Management |
|----------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Sitting | Optimal surgical exposure for posterior fossa surgery—Less tissue retraction and risks of cranial nerve damage, improved cerebral venous and cerebrospinal fluid drainage due to gravity, and less bleeding | Hypotension | Fluid preloading Modify the anesthetic technique Fluid resuscitation and vasopressors Lower limb compression stocking to augment venous return Continuous monitoring and minimizing severity and duration of hypotension |
| | | compression due to excessive neck flexion | patient's baseline, two fingerbreadths between mandible and neck to avoid acute neck flexion |
| | Patient's airway is easily accessible to the anesthesiologist | VAE | Monitoring, early detection, surgical steps to prevent air entrainment, air aspiration, and supportive management |
| | | Paradoxical air embolism | Rule out intracardiac defects |
| | | Cardiac dysrhythmias | Monitoring, timely recognition, identifying and eliminating cause when possible, prompt use of medications to restore normal sinus rhythm |
| | | Nerve injuries | Adequate padding |
| | | Pneumocephalus | Occurs 100% in sitting, 72% in a park bench, and 57% in prone to keep in mind in case of delayed arousal, ventilate with 100% FiO ₂ , or give high-flow oxygen—Resolving spontaneously Tension pneumocephalus is an emergency and may present as worsening consciousness or seizures; treatment is twisted drill evacuation of air at the bedside |
| | | Injuries to cervical vertebrae and spinal cord (mid-cervical flexion myelopathy)— Stretching of spinal cord due to excessive neck flexion resulting in spinal cord ischemia exacerbated by loss of autoregulation, intraoperative hypotension, and surgical retraction | Avoid extreme neck flexion, head positioning should be done slowly with careful torsion and flexion and never forced Avoid intraoperative hypotension and treat aggressively when occurs |
| | | Edema of face, tongue, and neck—Venous and lymphatic obstruction of tongue, macroglossia Ischemia of lower | Avoid extreme neck flexion Use soft intraoral bite block to have more pace in oral cavity and therefore less compression of tongue Avoid hyperflexion of thighs over the addomen, maximum 00° flaxion of thighs to |
| | | syndrome | prevent kinking of femoral vessels |

| | | Lateral/three-quarter | | | |
|---------------------------|--------|-----------------------|------------|-------|---------|
| Complication(s) | Supine | prone | Park bench | Prone | Sitting |
| Nervous system | | | | | |
| Cerebral ischemia | 0 | 0 | + | + | ++ |
| Cervical spine ischemia | 0 | 0 | + | + | ++ |
| Nerve palsies | | | | | I |
| Cranial nerve | ? | ++ | ? | ++ | + |
| Brachial plexus | ? | ++ | ++ | ? | + |
| Sciatic nerve | + | 0 | 0 | 0 | + |
| Peroneal nerve | ? | ? | ? | 0 | + |
| Airway | | | | | |
| Edema of face, tongue | 0 | + | 0 | ++ | ++ |
| Endotracheal tube | + | + | + | ++ | ++ |
| migration | ? | + | ? | ++ | ++ |
| Postoperative respiratory | | | | | |
| obstruction | | | | | |
| Pulmonary system | | | | | |
| Ventilation-perfusion | 0 | + | + | + | + |
| abnormalities | 0 | 0/+ | 0 | ++ | 0 |
| Increased airway | | | | | |
| pressures | | | | | |
| Cardiovascular system | | | | | |
| Hypotension | 0 | 0/+ | + | ++ | ++ |
| Dysrhythmias | 0 | 0/+ | ++ | ++ | ++ |
| Need for blood | +/ 0 | +/ 0 | + | ++ | + |
| transfusion | | | | | |
| Miscellaneous | | | | · · | |
| Eye compression | 0 | ++ | + | +++ | 0 |
| Postoperative visual loss | 0 | + | + | +++ | 0 |
| Compartment syndrome | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | + |
| Venous air embolism | + | + | ++ | ++ | +++ |
| Paradoxical air embolism | ? | ? | ? | + | ++ |
| Tension pneumocephalus | 0 | 0 | ? | 0 | ++ |

Table 7.9 Comparison of complications in different neurosurgical positions

0, +, ++, +++, showing relative chance of occurrence 0 being no risk to +++ being very high risk;?, risk not known



fossa may be approached with the patient lying supine with the head maximally turned to the contralateral side. The supine position avoids several of the complications accompanying other positions used in posterior fossa surgery. This position is easily achievable and does not require any special aids. The three common variations of supine position (Fig. 7.1) used in neurosurgery are (i) *horizontal position* where the patient is placed with his/her back completely flat against the operating table, (ii) *head-elevated supine position* where the whole body is tilted 10–15° above

horizontal axis from the head end, and (iii) *lawn chair (contoured supine) position* which results from 15° flexion at hips and knees and prevents stress on the back.

Pediatric patients are susceptible to airway obstruction in supine position due to neck flexion resulting from larger heads compared to torso. This can be prevented by placing a roll under the shoulders. If the head is turned to a side, there can be excessive tension due to stretch on the neck muscles and nerves, which must be avoided. All pressure points that are at risk in the supine position must be well padded.

7.4.2 Lateral Position

The lateral position is commonly used for access to the temporal lobe, skull base, and lateral posterior fossa lesions and also anterolateral approach to the thoracolumbar spine. It promotes gravityaided retraction of the dependent cerebellum and allows CSF and venous drainage from the uppermost posterior fossa, thus making it suitable for unilateral surgical procedures. The incidence of VAE and postural hypotension is low compared with sitting positions. The patient is easily accessible. The major disadvantage is the possibility of peripheral nerve damage.

The positioning of patients must be performed scrupulously. The upper limb is usually stretched and taped to prevent the shoulder from coming into the surgeon's view. Excessive traction should be avoided to prevent brachial plexus injury. Evoked potential (EP) monitoring may help in the detection of neural ischemia. Head-up tilt of the operating table causes the shoulder to fall away from the surgeon and allows better drainage of CSF and blood from the surgical site. A roll is placed under the chest just below the dependent axilla. Migration of the axillary roll (a misnomer; correct is chest roll placed beneath the dependent chest to keep axilla free from compression) may cause compression injuries to the brachial plexus [25] and must be checked after the final position (Fig. 7.2). The dependent arm is positioned along the patient's side. The dependent leg should be positioned flexed with a pillow between the knees to avoid lateral popliteal nerve damage.

The upper leg is placed straight with adequate padding. The patient's head is usually immobilized with three-pin skull fixation. If a headrest is used, the dependent ear and eye should be protected from compression injury [25–27].

7.4.3 Park Bench Position

This is an adaptation of the lateral position resembling a drunk reclining on a park bench. The dependent shoulder and arm, supported by a sling, are positioned outside the operating table.

The patient is semi-prone and the head rotated and flexed with the brow facing the floor. This



Fig. 7.2 Diagrammatic representation of lateral position

enables better access to midline structures than with the straight lateral position. The peripheral nerves have to be protected with good padding as well as with the lateral position. The incidence of venous engorgement and macroglossia is similar as with supine position with lateral head rotation [26, 28, 29].

7.4.4 Prone Position

The prone position is used to approach the midline posterior fossa structures, the cranio-cervical junction, and upper spinal cord and in major thoracic and lumbosacral spine surgery and detethering procedures of the spinal cord. The patients have to be carefully selected.

A "U-shaped" bolster is placed under the child to allow free movement of the abdomen and diaphragm and avoid ventilatory compromise in this position. Small rolls or bolsters can be placed under the upper chest and the pelvis in small children (Fig. 7.3). Displacement of the roll under the patient's abdomen would increase intra-abdominal pressure and compress the inferior vena cava and epidural veins, resulting in increased bleeding during spinal surgery.

The venous pooling in the lower limbs reduces the venous return, which may be poorly tolerated. The head is usually elevated to assist drainage of fluid from the surgical site, which predisposes to VAE, but its risk is less than the sitting position. VAE can occur in spinal surgeries, too, in the prone position [30]. If the horseshoe headrest is used, the eyes have to be protected and the face is adequately padded to avoid compressive complications [31]. Restricted access to the airway and monitoring apparatus is a major disadvantage of the prone position. Should cardiopulmonary resuscitation be required, it can be severely compromised due to inadequate access to the chest wall and delays due to repositioning the patient.

7.4.5 Head-Elevated Prone or Concorde Position

Head-elevated prone position is a modification of the prone position where the patient's head is flexed and is elevated above the level of the heart. Kobayashi described the Concorde position [32] to approach the pineal and cerebellar lesions via a suboccipital craniotomy. Here, the suboccipital craniotomy is done with the head neutral in the Sugita head clamp, and then, the head is tilted to the right with the face turned to the right to approach the surgical lesion [33, 34].

The modified prone positions allow safer access to the posterior fossa and cervical spine than the sitting position. Venous congestion at the surgical site is avoided due to gravitational drainage of blood. The head-elevated prone position based on the degree of head elevation above the level of the heart can cause cerebral hypoperfusion and VAE. Further, if resuscitation is needed, accessing the anterior chest for cardiac compres-

Fig. 7.3 Prone position in a 6-year-old child for midline suboccipital craniotomy and excision of posterior fossa tumor, placed on two bolsters at chest and pelvis (yellow arrows) wrapped with disposable warming blanket (blue arrow) of a convective temperature management system



sion may be difficult as it may be time-consuming and disrupt the surgical field. However, recent reports have described the successful resuscitation of pediatric patients undergoing neurosurgery by placing hands over scapulae and defibrillator pads in posterior lateral position while the patient still remaining prone [35, 36].

7.4.6 Sea Lion Prone or Sphinx Position

This is a modification of the head-elevated prone position [32] where the head is maintained in the midline. The neck is extended to allow maximum access to the top of the skull, and the back is arched or hyper lordotic. This position is used for craniosynostosis surgery.

7.4.7 Sitting Position

The sitting position bestows the surgeon with superior exposure of midline structures and the cerebellopontine angle. It minimizes the need for surgical retraction by promoting drainage of blood and CSF, and allowing the cerebellar hemispheres to fall away [37-39]. There are less bleeding, lower incidence of cranial nerve damage, and complete resection of the lesion. The anesthesiologist has unhindered access to the patient's airway, extremities, and monitoring apparatus. The chest wall is also accessible if there is a need for resuscitation. Ventilation is better than with other positions due to unrestricted diaphragmatic excursion, which is noted as improved vital capacity and functional residual capacity.

However, when alternative positions can be used more safely, the sitting position is infrequently used in most centers because of its possibility for serious and life-threatening complications [40] like significant hypotension, VAE, paradoxical air embolism (PAE), quadriplegia, pneumocephalus, and pneumoventricle [41]. Macroglossia and peripheral nerve injuries are much more likely to occur with the sitting position [42–45]. The incidence of VAE is found to be similar in adults and children [46]. A rare complication is bilateral posterior compartment syndrome. Tension pneumocephalus may occur if watertight dural closure is not done; the patient may present with altered sensorium and seizure postoperatively, which can only be relieved by immediate burr-hole drainage of air. However, with modern monitoring, early signs of VAE and brainstem compromise can be detected, and serious complications can be avoided. The relative contraindications for surgery in sitting position include open ventriculoatrial shunt, platypnea, orthodeoxia, diagnosed presence of patent foramen ovale (PFO), and extremes of age. Reports suggest this positioning is utilized safely for neurosurgery among children between 3 and 18 years of age [40], and even below the age of 3 years [43].

The patient is thus placed in the sitting position. The cranial fixation device, usually the three-pinhead holder, is applied following anesthesia induction. Thigh-high compression stockings are applied to the legs, ensuring that they do not act as a tourniquet and intermittent pneumatic compression throughout the surgery to prevent deep vein thrombosis (DVT). The cardiovascular parameters are closely monitored while the operating table is slowly flexed with the arterial pressure transducer at the level of the skull base. Before positioning, the patient is preloaded with intravenous fluids.

The final position is in-between semirecumbent and full sitting, with the knees flexed and the feet at the heart level. Over flexion of the hip should be avoided as it can cause kinking of the femoral vessels, and traction on the sciatic nerve. The common peroneal nerve may be compressed at the fibular head, and adequate padding can avoid this complication. Over flexion of the neck must be avoided [28, 29, 42, 44]. There should be at least two fingerbreadths between the chin and the nearest bony prominence (Fig. 7.4). The tongue should not protrude between the teeth. The arms are folded with the hands resting on the lap with overlapping open palms ("Buddha" posture). All the pressure points at the elbows and lateral and medial aspects of the knees and heels should be sufficiently padded.




7.5 Conclusion

Good patient positioning is the first step to a successful surgery. Attention to small details during positioning can prevent major catastrophes. Understanding the physiology related to each position enables us to consider the favorable and adverse consequences before the child is positioned. As neurosurgery is continually evolving with new procedures necessitating different positioning, prior assessment complications and new problems can be done to avoid future mistakes. Close communication between the surgical team, anesthesia team, and operating room personnel is key to optimal pediatric patient positioning. Maintaining homeostasis during the perioperative period is vital for good patient outcomes.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- 1. Dutton AC. The effects of posture during anesthesia. Anesth Analg Curr Res. 1933;12:66–74.
- 2. Slocum HC, Hoeflich EA, Allen CR. Circulatory and respiratory distress from extreme positions on the operating table. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1947;84:1051–8.

- Slocum HC, O'Neal KC, Allen CR. Neurovascular complications from malposition on the operating table. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1948;86(6):729–34.
- 4. Henschel AB, Wyant GM, Dobkin AB, Henschel EO. Posture as it concerns the anesthesiologist. Anesth Analg Curr Res. 1957;36:69.
- Little DM Jr. Posture and anaesthesia. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1960;7:2–15.
- Lincoln JR, Sawyer HP Jr. Complications related to body positions during surgical procedures. Anesthesiology. 1961;22:800–9.
- Britt BA, Gordon RA. Peripheral nerve injuries associated with anaesthesia. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1964;11:514–36.
- 8. Courington FW, Little DM Jr. The role of posture in anesthesia. Clin Anesth. 1968;3:24–54.
- Coonan TJ, Hope CE. Cardio-respiratory effects of change of body position. Can Anaesth Soc J. 1983;30(4):424–38.
- Berry C, Sandberg DI, Hoh DJ, Krieger MD, McComb JG. Use of cranial fixation pins in pediatric neurosurgery. Neurosurgery. 2008;62(4):913–8.
- Lee M, Rezai AR, Chou J. Depressed skull fractures in children secondary to skull clamp fixation devices. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1994;21(3):174–7.
- Anegawa S, Shigemori M, Yoshida M, Kojo N, Torigoe R, Shirouzu T, et al. Postoperative tension pneumocephalus- report of 3 cases. No Shinkei Geka Neurol Surg. 1986;14(8):1017–22.
- Pang D. Air embolism associated with wounds from a pin-type head-holder. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1982;57(5):710–3.
- Baerts WD, de Lange JJ, Booij LH, Broere G. Complications of the Mayfield skull clamp. Anesthesiology. 1984;61(4):460–1.
- 15. Vitali AM, Steinbok P. Depressed skull fracture and epidural hematoma from head fixation with

pins for craniotomy in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(8):917-23.

- Rittoo DB, Morris P. Tracheal occlusion in the prone position in an intubated patient with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Anaesthesia. 1995;50(8):719–21.
- Bhagat H, Kumar P, Thimmarayan G. Predisposition of snugly fitting endotracheal tube to intraoral kinking during paediatric neurosurgery in the prone position. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2010;38(6):1141–2.
- Dharmavaram S, Jellish WS, Nockels RP, Shea J, Mehmood R, Ghanayem A, Kleinman B, Jacobs W. Effect of prone positioning systems on hemodynamic and cardiac function during lumbar spine surgery: an echocardiographic study. Spine. 2006;31(12):1388–93.
- Park CK. The effect of patient positioning on intraabdominal pressure and blood loss in spinal surgery. Anesth Analg. 2000;91(3):552–7.
- Yuen VMY, Chow BFM, Irwin MG. Severe hypotension and hepatic dysfunction in a patient undergoing scoliosis surgery in the prone position. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2005;33(3):393–9.
- Pump B, Talleruphuus U, Christensen NJ, Warberg J, Norsk P. Effects of supine, prone, and lateral positions on cardiovascular and renal variables in humans. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2002;283:R174–R80.
- Mofredj A, Traore I, Beldjoudi B, Aoula D, Douiri R. Acute bowel ischemia following spinal surgery. South Med J. 2006;99(5):528–30.
- Horosz B, Malec-Milewska M. Inadvertent intraoperative hypothermia. Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther. 2013;45(1):38–43.
- Rozet I, Vavilala MS. Risks and benefits of patient positioning during neurosurgical care. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25(3):63–53.
- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Rockoff MA. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Anesthesiol Clin North America. 2002;20:389–404.
- 26. Bracco D, Bissonnette B. Neurosurgery and neurotraumatology: anesthetic considerations and post-operative management. In: Bissonnette B, Dalens BJ, editors. Pediatric anesthesia: principles and practice. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2002. p. 1120–53.
- Cheng MA, Todorov A, Tempelhoff R. The effect of prone positioning on intraocular pressure in anesthetized patients. Anesthesiology. 2001;95:1351–5.
- Jimbo H, Ikeda Y. Positioning of neurosurgical patients. In: Uchino H, Ushijima K, Ikeda Y, editors. Neuroanesthesia and cerebrospinal protection. 1st ed. Tokyo: Springer; 2015. p. 279–90.
- Zlotnik A, Vavilala MS, Rozet I. Positioning the patient for neurosurgical operations. In: Brambrink AM, Kirsch JR, editors. Essentials of neurosurgical anesthesia & critical care. 1st ed. New York: Springer; 2012. p. 151–7.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP, Sharma VB, Ajai Chandra NS. Venous air embolism during release of teth-

ered spinal cord in prone position. Neurol India. 2011;59(5):777–8.

- Jain V, Bithal PK, Rath GP. Pressure sore on malar prominences by horseshoe headrest in prone position. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2007;35(2):304–5.
- 32. Sengupta D, Dube SK, Rajagopalan V, Rath GP. Modified prone positioning during neurosurgery: sphinx and Concorde positions revisited. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2020; https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0040-1715356.
- Kobayashi S, Sugita K, Tanaka Y, Kyoshima K. Infratentorial approach to the pineal region in the prone position: Concorde position. Technical note. J Neurosurg. 1983 Jan;58(1):141–3.
- 34. Takasuna H, Tanaka Y. The modified Concorde position with an intraoperative skew head rotation: technical note. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2015;55(8): 680–2.
- 35. Abraham M, Wadhawan M, Gupta V, Singh AK. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the lateral position: is it feasible during pediatric intracranial surgery? Anesthesiology. 2009;110(5):1185–6.
- Burki AM, Mahboob S, Fatima T. CPR in prone position during neurosurgery. Anaesth Pain Intensive Care. 2017;21(2):275–8.
- Ausman JI. Three-quarter prone approach to the pinealtentorial region. Surg Neurol. 1998;29:298–306.
- Sala F, Krzan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18: 264–87.
- Black S. Outcome following posterior fossa craniectomy in patients in the sitting or horizontal positions. Anesthesiology. 1988;69:49–56.
- 40. Gupta P, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK. Complications related to sitting position during pediatric neurosurgery: an institutional experience and review of literature. Neurol India. 2018;66:217–22.
- 41. Gupta N, Rath GP, Mahajan C, Dube SK, Sharma S. Tension pneumoventricle after excision of third ventricular tumor in sitting position. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2011 Jul;27(3):409–11.
- Duke DA. Venous air embolism in sitting and supine patients undergoing vestibular schwannoma resection. Neurosurgery. 1998;42:1282–6.
- Harrison EA. The sitting position for neurosurgery in children: a review of 16 years' experience. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88:12–7.
- 44. Porter JM. The sitting position in neurosurgery: a critical appraisal. Br J Anaesth. 1999;82:117–28.
- Dalrymple DG. Cardiorespiratory effects of the sitting position in neurosurgery. Br J Anaesth. 1979;51:1079–82.
- 46. Bithal PK, Pandia MP, Dash HH, Chouhan RS, Mohanty B, Padhy N. Comparative incidence of venous air embolism and associated hypotension in adults and children operated for neurosurgery in the sitting position. Eur J Anesthesiol. 2004;21:517–22.

Monitoring Children Undergoing Neurosurgery

Siddharth Chavali 💿, Charu Mahajan 💿, and Girija Prasad Rath 💿

Key Points

- Minimizing secondary brain injury is the fundamental premise of perioperative management of neurologically injured children.
- Standard monitoring involves electrocardiogram (ECG), pulse oximetry (SpO₂), noninvasive blood pressure (NIBP), end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂), the fraction of inspired concentration of inhalational agents (FiAA), precordial stethoscope, temperature probe, peripheral nerve stimulator to monitor neuromuscular blockade, and a urinary catheter to monitor output.
- Multimodality neuromonitoring such as intracranial pressure (ICP) monitor, near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), transcranial Doppler (TCD), etc. can be used to determine adequate perfusion to the brain.
- Other modalities such as evoked potentials may be used to ensure the integrity of neurological tracts during surgery and prevent iatrogenic injury.
- Children have significantly different neurophysiology as compared to adults, which

C. Mahajan \cdot G. P. Rath (\boxtimes)

should be borne in mind when choosing parameters to monitor.

8.1 Introduction

Irrespective of the age of the patient, both anesthesia and surgery induce physiological changes, and therefore, there is a need for monitoring during the perioperative period. This need for monitoring continues into time spent in intensive care units (ICUs), with patients remaining in altered pathophysiological states. Advancements in surgical and anesthetic techniques have led to an increased number of complex neurosurgical procedures being performed in children and at an increasingly younger age. Perioperative monitoring in these children includes standard monitors suggested by the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) as well as other special monitors such as neuromonitoring, depending on the requirement of the patient and procedure. This chapter aims to detail the role of perioperative neuromonitoring in pediatric patients.

Neurological assessment may be difficult among pediatric patients, and these children are at risk for neurological injury during surgery. Multimodal monitoring techniques can help provide data regarding the structural as well as functional integrity of neuronal structures and may help prevent damage via early identification of neural structures and detection of neurological

Check for updates

S. Chavali

Neuroanaesthesia, Neurocritical Care, and Pain Management, Institute of Neurosciences, AIG Hospitals, Hyderabad, India

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_8

dysfunction at a potentially reversible stage. The use of perioperative neuromonitoring during neurosurgery in children has progressed substantially over the last decade. The same techniques used in adults can also be applied to the pediatric population, despite the added considerations of the immature nature of the pediatric nervous system (incomplete myelination, reduced conduction velocities, etc.), which may increase the difficulty in obtaining the data and also contribute to the increased sensitivity of neural tissue to anesthetic agents. The equipment also requires certain modifications in terms of size to enable neuromonitoring in the pediatric population. In

the interest of do no harm, neuromonitoring tech-

niques should be utilized whenever a potential

mechanism of injury exists.

Basic Monitoring The choice of monitoring modality depends on

the child's age, condition, and the nature of the surgery being performed. Standard monitoring for all pediatric neurosurgical patients (Fig. 8.1) involves electrocardiogram (ECG), pulse oximetry (SpO₂), noninvasive blood pressure (NIBP), end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂), a fraction of inspired concentration of anesthetic agents

(FiAA), precordial stethoscope, temperature probe, peripheral nerve stimulator to monitor neuromuscular blockade, and also a urinary catheter to monitor the output. Intravenous (IV) catheters, arterial catheters, and nerve stimulators are placed on a limb other than that being used by the neurosurgeon to assess motor function. An arterial cannula is frequently cited in craniotomies since there is a risk for sudden and significant hemodynamic flux. Increased paradoxical pressure tracing in children on positive pressure ventilation is often used as surrogate marker for intravascular volume depletion.

Capnography or EtCO₂ monitoring is useful to detect events such as airway obstruction or reduced respiratory efforts, especially in remote access locations such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) suites, and may also be useful for early identification of venous air embolism during neurosurgical (VAE) procedures. Normocapnia is usually maintained during neurosurgeries. Continuous temperature monitoring constitutes part of basic intraoperative monitoring; however, it takes on added significance in the pediatric operative setting. In infants or children undergoing prolonged surgeries, heat loss exceeds heat generation since they have a higher surface area/mass ratio than the adults. Surgeries commonly performed in this population, such as





8.2

ventriculoperitoneal shunt surgery, endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV), etc., cause significant temperature swings, and physicians should be aware that hypothermia can lead to impairment of cardio-respiratory function and delayed recovery from anesthesia.

8.3 Special Monitoring

This chapter deals primarily with neuromonitoring modalities in the pediatric population. However, modalities of intraoperative monitoring with special applications in the pediatric setting are also discussed. Central venous catheters are usually inserted for surgeries where large fluid shifts are expected and may be positioned in the right atrium when VAE is an intraoperative possibility. The central venous pressure essentially reflects the right atrial pressure and, in the setting of a normal tricuspid valve, approximates right ventricular end-diastolic pressure, which is a marker of preload. Precordial Doppler ultrasound may also be used in children undergoing craniotomies to monitor for VAE events since the large size of the head in children relative to the body predisposes them to air entrainment, especially in the head-up position. Another useful modality to screen for intraoperative emboli is the use of transesophageal echocardiography (TEE). TEE is a more sensitive tool for the detection of VAE events than precordial Doppler and is, in fact, so sensitive that it can detect even microbubbles that may be hemodynamically insignificant. TEE requires special expertise to operate as well as interpret findings, making it a resource-intensive monitoring modality.

Devices to monitor cardiac output and fluid responsiveness are useful in the operating room (OR) as well as the intensive care units (ICUs). They may be classified as invasive such as arterial catheters, pulmonary catheters, or esophageal probes, or noninvasive such as thoracic bioimpedance, ultrasound-based CO monitoring, etc. Bioimpedance cardiac output monitoring has the advantage of being completely noninvasive and cost-effective; however, its accuracy is still being evaluated. The basic principle behind cardiac output measurement based on bioimpedance measurement is that the heart chambers are electrically insulated. Hence, changes in chest impedance and reactance are linked to variations of volume passing through the aorta.

Point of care (POC) testings for various parameters have improved to high standards and are now reliable tools with the added advantage of portability. Devices to monitor hemoglobin levels, viscoelastic tests of coagulation, arterial blood gases, etc. have been studied and validated in the pediatric setting [1]. In neurosurgical cases, where large fluid shifts and blood loss is anticipated, such as during vascular or large intracranial tumor surgeries, use of viscoelastic tests of coagulation such as thromboelastography (TEG), rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM), or Sonoclot analysis as well as POC tests of hemoglobin may provide real-time feedback to treating physicians and guide hemostatic management. These tools may be especially beneficial in the pediatric population, which has limited hemodynamic reserve.

8.4 Monitoring the Nervous System

The fundamental premise of perioperative management of neurosurgical patients is the limitation of secondary injury to neural structures. In this regard, several new technologies (Fig. 8.2) have been developed in recent years, which help assess specific neural pathways at risk during certain surgeries. Children have an immature nervous system as compared to adults, with certain features such as incomplete myelination posing significant challenges to the monitoring of neural tracts.

8.4.1 Monitoring Intracranial Pressure and Cerebral Blood Flow

8.4.1.1 Intracranial Pressure (ICP)

Defining normal ICP values in children is difficult, as ICP may change as the child grows. The highest normal accepted value for ICP by con-



sensus between the ages of 4 and 16 is 12.9 mmHg. In mechanically ventilated children below the age of 1 year, a value of 5 mmHg is regarded as the upper limit of normal for ICP. Older children in this scenario have a maximal allowable ICP of 10 mmHg [2]. There has never been a randomized controlled trial of ICP monitoring in this age group. However, Mehta and colleagues suggested ICP monitoring to target a CPP of 45 mmHg after TBI to avoid brain ischemia [3]. According to guidelines for brain injury management in pediatric patients, elevated ICP should be treated when greater than 20 mmHg (level III recommendation) [4]. Other than the neurological examination, one of the most basic rough assessment methods of raised ICP in the pediatric age group is palpation of an open, tense anterior fontanelle, increased head circumference, and splayed cranial sutures [5]. Few important radiological features are as in Table 8.1.

ICP monitoring can be carried out by direct and indirect methods.

Direct Methods

 Ventricular Cannulation: An external ventricular drain (EVD) is considered the gold standard of ICP monitoring, as they can be used for monitoring as well as therapeutic purposes. The EVD is placed via a burr hole at Kocher's point into the frontal horn of the lateral ventricle, and ICP can be measured via a pressure transducer [6]. The major advantage of using such a system to measure ICP is that drainage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) can be used to control spikes in ICP. There is a risk of CSF infection when monitoring is done for greater than 72 h. Cannulation may also be a challenge when ventricles are compressed or displaced due to pressure effects. Ngo et al. studied rates of EVD-associated complications, and found a complication rate of 26% (overall) in children, with the most frequent complication being catheter infection (9.4%) [7].

- Epidural and Subdural ICP Devices: Subdural bolts need to be fixed to the cranial vault following insertion, and hence are not used in very young children. Although this monitoring modality carries the advantage of lesser infection rate than EVDs, CSF drainage cannot be performed [8]. Extradural devices tend to be bulky, and insertion may lead to the formation of an extradural hematoma at the site of insertion. Extradural monitors also tend to underread ICP, particularly at higher pressures.
- Intraparenchymal Devices: These devices are easy to place and have fewer infectious sequelae as compared to EVD's [9]. Insertion

| Traumatic brain injury | Acute hydrocephalus | Chronic hydrocephalus |
|---------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Basal cisternal compression | • Enlarged temporal horns of lateral | • Marked dilatation of the lateral and |
| Midline shift | ventricles | third ventricles |
| Presence of epidural | • Transependymal edema, or | Thinned and elevated corpus |
| hematomas | periventricular lucency | callosum |
| Subarachnoid/intraparenchymal | • Outward bowing of the third ventricle | Fenestration of the septum |
| blood | • A distended fourth ventricle may | pellucidum |
| | suggest that the obstruction is at the | Obliteration of the suprasellar |
| | level of the foramina of Luschka or | cistern |
| | Magendie | Forniceal depression |

Table 8.1 Radiological features of raised intracranial pressure in certain conditions

involves sitting a thin single-use catheter via a burr hole into the cranial vault, attempting to put it 1-2 cm into the brain parenchyma. Shifting of ICP trends was often encountered in earlier devices but is seen less frequently in current models [10]. The Camino ICP monitor is a fiber-optic device, which transmits light toward a movable mirror. Changes in ICP lead to changes in the position of the mirror, and changes in the reflected light are used to approximate an ICP value. The Codman sensor is a piezoelectric strain gauge device: changes in ICP cause bending of the transducer and change in its resistance; thus, ICP can be calculated (Fig. 8.3). One of the largest studies on ICP monitoring in pediatric trauma patients by Alkhoury et al. suggested a small survival advantage associated with ICP monitor insertion in patients with the most severe variants of brain injury, with a GCS of 3 [11]. However, children with ICP monitors had a prolonged ICU length of stay and more ventilator dependent days than children without ICP monitoring. Hence, more data is needed to define the proper use of ICP monitoring in this population. The ADAPT (Approaches and Decisions in Acute Pediatric Traumatic Brain Injury), *trial*, an observational study to evaluate the effectiveness of therapies that control intracranial hypertension, prevent secondary insults, and normalize metabolism, has recently completed recruitment of 1000 pediatric TBI patients over 2.5 years and 8 countries. This trial might answer some of the queries related to monitoring and acute medical management of children with traumatic brain injury soon.

Indirect Methods

These are noninvasive and include optic nerve sheath diameter and tympanic membrane displacement.

- **Optic Nerve Sheath Diameter (ONSD):** An acute increase in ICP is reflected in the perioptic nerve sheath, which then manifests as increased optic nerve sheath diameter [12]. Transorbital sonography is a safe and noninvasive method to measure the optic nerve sheath diameter (ONSD) for the diagnosis of raised ICP in children; it may facilitate the initiation of early treatment (Fig. 8.4). ONSD is measured by insonating the orbit in the transverse plane, 3 mm posterior to the papilla bilaterally. Upper normal limits for ONSD are considered to be 4 mm in infants and 4.5 mm in older children [13]. Studies have also suggested that when pediatric patients present with an ONSD >6.1 mm following TBI, invasive ICP monitoring should be considered [14].
- Tympanic Membrane Displacement (TMD): This technique that was described nearly 20 years ago by Marchbanks is a safe, painless, and noninvasive means of estimating ICP. The reflex contraction of the stapedius and tensor tympani muscles upon sound is affected by changes in ICP, which forms the premise for this monitoring modality [15]. As CSF and cochlear perilymph are connected via the cochlear aqueduct, an increase in ICP is transmitted to the stapes, changing the direction and magnitude of eardrum movement in response to sound. Inward movement of the tympanic membrane suggests high ICP,



Fig. 8.3 Intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring with Codman intraparenchymal catheter in a 2-year-old male child with severe traumatic brain injury



Fig. 8.4 Optic nerve sheath diameter (ONSD) measurement in a 2-year-old child with severe traumatic brain injury. ONSD measured 3 mm behind the papilla (A); a diameter of more than 4.5 mm (B) was considered as significant

and outward movement indicates normal or low ICP.

• Quantitative Pupillometry: This is a relatively new technology that can be used as a noninvasive tool to monitor the neurological status of patients. It provides an objective measure of velocities of changes in pupillary diameter and pupil size. Increased ICP has been associated with an increased latency in a change in pupillary diameter, which can be detected using this tool. Changes in pupil diameter can also provide an index of nociception through opioid-mediated constriction or dilation mediated by autonomic innervation of the muscles surrounding the iris, and pupillometry has previously been studied as an objective method to quantify pain intensity in children.

8.4.2 Monitoring Metabolism and Oxygenation

8.4.2.1 Near-Infrared Spectroscopy

Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) is a noninvasive means of monitoring regional brain tissue oxygenation, using infrared light, in a similar manner to pulse oximetry to measure the absorption of infrared light, by tissue chromophores [16]. The basic principle underlying NIRS is a change in the absorption patterns for specific wavelengths of infrared light when hemoglobin binds to oxygen. The NIRS sensor consists of a diode that emits light and two sensors that pick up light, all placed at a fixed distance from each other (Fig. 8.5). The diode emits the infrared light, which enters the superficial tissue, some of it is absorbed, and some is reflected back. The sensors are arranged in such a way that light reflected from superficial tissues reaches the closer sensor and light reflected from deeper tissues is picked up by a farther sensor. The reflected light is analyzed according to the Beer-lambert law. NIRS readings are interpreted as a single percentage value (rSO₂) between 15 and 95%, which is calculated as the ratio of oxyhemoglobin to total hemoglobin within the irradiated tissue. Dix et al. concluded that there was a good correlation between pediatric and neonatal NIRS sensors. However, a comparison between adult, pediatric, and neonatal sensors showed a difference in readings between 10 and 14%, with higher values in the pediatric and neonatal sensors [17].

Continuous monitoring of rSO_2 may help detect periods of decreased cerebral perfusion and help guide intervention at an early stage that may decrease the risk of neurological sequelae. Evidence suggests a potential benefit for its use



Fig. 8.5 Bilateral forehead NIRS (near-infrared spectroscopy) sensors (*black arrow*) and NIRS monitor (*blue arrow*) for regional cerebral oxygenation (rSO_2) monitoring (INVOSTM 5100C Cerebral/Somatic Oximeter) in a 3-year-old female child with retinoblastoma undergoing intra-arterial chemotherapy in the interventional neuroradiologic suite

in children during surgery for congenital heart defects in children [18]. Kurth et al. noted lower baseline rSO₂ in patients with cyanotic heart disease and found that rSO₂ values correlated with PaO₂ values. They suggested that NIRS use may be useful to identify the duration of cooling and cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) before deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) [19]. Current literature suggests that an absolute decrease of 20% from baseline NIRS values could serve as a trigger for intervention to prevent potential cerebral hypoxemia. NIRS may also find use as a prognostic indicator following TBI. Adelson et al. suggested that NIRS reliably detected changes in intracranial hemodynamics and may help understand the etiology of diffuse cerebral edema following pediatric TBI [20].

Within the OR or ICU settings, NIRS may also be used as a marker of cardiac output and tissue perfusion. NIRS may serve as a proxy for mixed venous oxygen saturation, and probes may be placed at various sites other than the head, such as in the abdomen, to measure mesenteric rSo_2 and renal area to predict ischemic renal injury.

8.4.2.2 Brain Tissue Oxygen (PbtO₂) Monitoring

Direct measurement of cerebral tissue oxygen tension serves as a reflection of cerebral perfusion and local oxygen extraction. The Licox monitor is basically a miniaturized Clark electrode, which continuously measures PbtO₂. The probe is typically inserted into the penumbra of injured tissue, through a burr hole into the right frontal white matter in the absence of localized lesions or else in the hemisphere having focal lesions. Oxygen from the tissue diffuses through a permeable membrane and creates a current proportional to the oxygen concentration within the tissue being sampled, typically an area of 18 mm². The Licox monitor converts the electrical current to a numerical value for PbtO₂. Normal PbtO₂ value is approximately 40 mmHg, and a value of 22 mmHg is considered to be the critical ischemic threshold of cerebral perfusion (18 ml/100 g/ min) [21]. It has been suggested that the reduced values of PbtO₂ in children with TBI are associated with a poorer prognosis [22]. Due to the lack of evidence for PbtO₂ monitoring, recent pediatric TBI guidelines suggest a level III recommendation to target a PbtO₂ \geq 10 mmHg [16]. These devices may be used to measure brain temperature as well. Measurement of core body temperature often leads to underestimating brain temperature, and dissociation between the two could be an indicator of poor prognosis. Measurement of brain temperature and timely institution of therapeutic hypothermia could improve outcomes by reducing secondary brain injury in conditions such as status epilepticus, meningitis, TBI, etc.

8.4.2.3 Jugular Venous Oximetry

Jugular venous oximetry (SjvO₂) measures the balance between oxygen supply and demand. A catheter similar to standard catheters used for monitoring central venous pressure is inserted into the jugular bulb of the internal jugular vein (IJV) ipsilateral to the lesion, in a retrograde manner for continuous monitoring or sample aspiration [23]. On a lateral radiograph, the tip of the catheter is positioned at the level of the mastoid process and also above the lower border of the C1 vertebra. The jugular blood contains blood being drained from both hemispheres of the brain, 70% from the ipsilateral and 30% from the contralateral hemisphere. Oxyhemoglobin has a specific light absorption pattern, and this is used in the monitoring of SjvO₂. These catheters typically contain two optical fibers, one to direct light into the blood and another to direct reflected light into a sensor that measures the absorption of light.

Oxygen demand in the brain is primarily influenced by the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygenation (CMRO₂). Increases in SjvO₂ may suggest increased CBF, increased oxygen delivery, or reduced CMRO₂ [24]. Similarly, decreased SjvO₂ may be due to reduced brain perfusion, hypoxemia, or increased CMRO₂. The normal range for SjvO₂ in adults is 50–75%, but normal ranges for children have not been established. Perez et al. observed a significant association between two and more events of SjvO₂ < 50% with poor outcomes in pediatric TBI patients; however, values >70% were not associated with worsened outcomes [25].

8.4.2.4 Cerebral Microdialysis

Monitoring the milieu of the brain tissue may help identify secondary brain injury at an early stage and allow the application of neuroprotective therapies. Cerebral microdialysis is a monitoring device used increasingly in the intensive care setting to understand cerebral energy metabolism [26]. Essentially, the catheter consists of a double-lumen probe with a semipermeable dialysis membrane at a gold tip. The probe is placed into the brain parenchyma and perfused with fluid isotonic with brain tissue interstitium. The perfusate traverses the membrane and reaches the brain parenchyma, where the exchange of the substances along the concentration gradient occurs. The fluid exits into a collecting chamber from where it is taken for chemical analysis. Since the perfusate flows at a constant rate $(0.3\mu l/$ min), the concentration gradient is maintained. Typically, metabolic markers (lactate, pyruvate, glucose), excitatory neurotransmitters (glutamate), and markers of tissue damage (glycerol) are measured. Tolias et al. used microdialysis in pediatric TBI and concluded that values for excitatory neurotransmitters in the pediatric population differed from previously defined values in adults [27]. Normal values have been established in the adult population but are still not defined in children [28].

8.4.3 Transcranial Doppler (TCD) Ultrasonography

Transcranial Doppler (TCD) has become a vital tool in adult neurocritical care, allowing continuous monitoring of changes in cerebrovascular blood flow [29]. It involves the use of a 2 Mhz probe to insonate basal cerebral arteries through certain windows within the cranial vault. The *Doppler effect* states that when sound strikes a moving object, the reflected wave undergoes a change in frequency directly proportional to the velocity of the reflector. This is the basis for calculating cerebral blood flow (CBF) velocity with TCD, assuming that the insonation angle and the vessel diameter are relatively constant. The insonated artery is identified through characteristics such as acoustic window, flow direction, and velocity in addition to waveform changes following maneuvers such as carotid artery compression. Increased flow velocities may indicate stenosis, vasospasm, or hyperdynamic circulation, whereas decreased values may indicate hypoperfusion, reduced ICP, or brainstem death. Various other factors, such as increased cardiac output, reduced hemoglobin levels, increased PaCO₂, cerebral vasodilatory agents, and hyperthermia, may also increase recorded TCD velocities. Flow velocities are typically higher in children than adults, increasing from birth and reaching their zenith at 6-8 years of age and then declining to the adult range by approximately 18 years of age.

Gosling's pulsatility index (PI) [(Peak systolic velocity (PSV)-End diastoilc velocity (EDV))/ Mean flow velocity (MFV)] provides information about vascular resistance; the normal range is 0.5–1.19 [30]. In adults, PI has been shown to correlate positively with increases in ICP; a PI change of 2.4% correlates to a 1 mmHg change in ICP [31]. In the pediatric population, TCD can be used to indirectly monitor ICP and cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), with studies finding an 80% sensitivity value [32]. In contrast, Figaji et al. stated that the pulsatility index of TCD might not consistently represent ICP in children, showing that further studies are needed to establish associations between PI and cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) [33]. TCD may also be used to evaluate cerebrovascular autoregulation. Disordered autoregulation has been observed in up to 40% of pediatric patients with significant TBI and has been associated with worsening outcomes [34]. TCD has also found an application in evaluating the risk of stroke in children with sickle cell disease. It has been seen that chronic blood transfusions, when implemented in children with middle cerebral artery (MCA) flow velocity of >200 cm/s, may decrease the risk of stroke by as much as 92% [35]. TCD may also provide information on cerebral hemodynamics with TBI, intracranial hypertension, CNS infections, and diagnosis of brain death in pediatric patients.

8.4.4 Monitoring of Function

8.4.4.1 Somatosensory Evoked Potentials (SSEPs)

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) comprise a volley of signals generated when peripheral nerves are electrically stimulated. These signals travel from the nerve stimulated and ascend via the ipsilateral dorsal columns into the medulla, where the response travels to the contralateral side at the level of the arcuate fibers. The impulse is then relayed to the ventral posterolateral thalamus via the medial lemniscus and into the cortex via the posterior portion of the internal capsule. Thus, monitoring SSEPs provides information regarding the integrity of neural tracts from the periphery to the primary sensory cortex. The cortical SSEP is depicted as a graph of amplitude (μV) against time (ms). The latency of each recording has a typical appearance, which is due to the velocity of conduction of the neural impulse, length of tract, and the number of intervening synapses. Hence, factors such as age, developmental status, height, temperature, and anesthetic regimen affect latency.

The most frequently used nerves are mixed peripheral nerves such as the ulnar, median, and posterior tibial nerves. Baseline amplitude and latency readings are obtained before the start of surgery to determine any preexisting anomalies. Intraoperative SSEPs are obtained at frequent intervals and evaluated against the baseline readidentify intraoperative ings to changes. Alternating unilateral stimulation is preferred to detect unilateral spinal cord injury. A change is considered significant if there is a more than 50% decrease in amplitude or a 10% increase in latency. Direct spinal cord trauma tends to cause immediate changes, whereas cord ischemia results in delayed changes. The disappearance rate reflects the severity of the ischemic event; acute loss of SSEPs necessitates immediate intervention by the surgical team [36].

Anesthetic agents may alter both the amplitude and latency of SSEPs in a dose-dependent manner. Subcortical SSEPs are relatively resistant to anesthetic drugs but are influenced by changes in body temperature and cord perfusion. Neuromuscular blockers do not directly affect SSEPs but may improve waveform quality by the elimination of EMG artifacts [37]. SSEP signals may be more difficult to obtain in young children (<2 years) since their waveform is influenced by the immaturity of the pediatric nervous system. Partially myelinated tracts result in blunted peaks with delayed latencies [38].

8.4.4.2 Motor Evoked Potentials (MEPs)

Motor deficits may occur intraoperatively without sensory defect when only SSEPs are monitored, necessitating the monitoring of motor tract integrity as well. MEP and SEP pathways are situated in different anatomical and vascular areas of the nervous system, and motor tracts are more susceptible to ischemia. Penfield's technique, the low-frequency (50-60 Hz) stimulation with biphasic stimuli (0.5 ms) delivered via a bipolar probe, was first described 70 years ago and was considered the gold standard in children. It is still used for language mapping but has been abandoned elsewhere due to the risk of triggering intraoperative seizures and the relatively low success rate in mapping the motor cortex in very young patients.

Transcranial MEPs are obtained by applying a stimulus directly over the scalp above the primary motor cortex. This electrical stimulus leads to depolarization of axons on pyramidal motor neurons (D wave) and interneurons (I wave) and then travels along corticospinal tracts, activating the spinal motor neurons [39]. The MEP recorded from electrodes placed in muscles of interest represents the compound muscle action potential (CMAP). D waves correlate with the number of functional fibers of corticospinal tracts and can be observed even at >1 MAC of anesthetic agents [40]. I waves are extremely sensitive to anesthetics and cortical hypoperfusion, showing a sudden fall in MEP amplitude of 50-75% [41]. In general, volatile agents have a negative effect on MEPs even at low doses, except for desflurane,

which has been used at 0.5 MAC [42]. Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) is the preferred anesthetic technique when MEPs are required, along with avoidance of muscle relaxants.

Increases in the strength of stimulus required to obtain the MEP of >50 V, increase in the number of stimuli, or significant decreases in amplitude (usually >80%) are generally considered significant. Infants may require a greater charge delivered to elicit reliable MEP responses, and this monitoring modality has lower reliability as such in children aged less than 6 years. In very young children, two other factors may complicate the acquisition of MEPs. The immaturity of the motor tracts leads to an increase in threshold; this may be balanced by the reduced thickness of the skull, which leads to lower impedance. Also, even though children have slower conduction velocities due to the immature motor tracts, they have shorter limbs, and this may balance out each other. Monitoring of motor as well as sensory pathways is now considered standard of care during corrective surgeries for spinal deformities such as scoliosis repair surgery, which is usually performed in the adolescent age group.

8.4.4.3 Electromyography (EMG)

Electromyography (EMG) refers to the recording of electrical activity that is produced by muscles. Intraoperative neuromonitoring (IONM) using either triggered or spontaneous EMG has become widely used for preserving neurological function during surgery. Small electrodes are placed in muscles that are innervated by the nerve roots at risk of injury. Stimulation of nerve roots or peripheral neurons produces a characteristic burst (short duration of irritation) or train (sustained irritation) of motor potentials called "neurotonic discharges," which show the presence and location of a nerve, as well as the potential for damage. The major point is that a sharp nerve transection may not lead to any change in EMG, and stimulation of the nerve distal to the injury will result in a normal EMG response.

EMG is recorded from muscles innervated by cranial nerves during intracranial surgeries and somatic muscles for other neurosurgical procedures. The facial nerve is the most frequently injured cranial nerve during cerebellopontine angle surgeries, and EMG patterns of the facial nerve have prognostic value for postoperative facial nerve function. Neuromuscular blocking drugs are avoided whenever cranial nerve EMGs are recorded, as muscles of the face are usually more sensitive to the effects of neuromuscular blockers (NMBs). In children, this technique is frequently used for monitoring lower limb, bladder, and anal sphincter integrity during excision and repair of meningomyelocele and lipoma as well as untethering of the tethered cords (Fig. 8.6).

8.4.4.4 Visual Evoked Potentials (VEPs)

VEP monitoring is performed to assess the visual pathway to prevent postoperative visual dysfunction. A light source is placed over closed eyelids, and each eye is stimulated separately by 40-100 flashes to obtain an averaged waveform. Recording montage includes electrodes placed over the occiput, in addition to an electroretinogram (ERG) reading to verify the arrival of light stimulus at the retina. Stable readings are difficult to obtain, and VEP data may not reach sufficient reliability to predict impending or established damage to visual tracts. Anesthetic agents significantly affect VEPs, especially volatile agents. This technique may be of use during surgeries that are adjacent to the optic tracts, as well as tumors involving or displacing the optic radiations [43]. Another potential application of VEP monitoring could be the assessment of development of children since the visual function triggers motor development and integrative functions. It has been observed that children with delayed VEP latencies showed more developmental delays than children with normal VEP latencies [44].

8.4.4.5 Brainstem Auditory Evoked Responses (BAERs)

BAERs are obtained by generating a series of repetitive sounds to stimulate the eighth cranial nerve while providing white noise to the other ear. The BAER is measured at the vertex, using an electrode placed over the mastoid as reference. Normal latencies are short; the total time for recording is usually about 10 ms, dividing BAERs into short-, medium-, and long-latency



Fig. 8.6 Needle electrode placement (*black arrow*) in the lower extremities for triggered electromyography (EMG) monitoring during spinal surgery in a 2.5-year-old child with myelomeningocele; a pediatric bispectral index (BIS) sensor (*white arrow*) is attached for the depth of anesthesia monitoring

responses. Clinically relevant responses are short-latency values, which are resistant to the effects of anesthesia and are known as waves I–V. These represent the distal cochlea (I), proximal cochlea (II), cochlear nucleus (III), lateral lemniscus (IV), and inferior colliculus (V) [45].

BAERs can identify injury to the vestibulocochlear nerve (CN VIII) during surgery or hypoperfusion within the brainstem during posterior fossa surgeries, acoustic neuroma resections, or resection of pontomedullary tumors [46]. Children with conditions such as Friedreich ataxia and Rett syndrome may have baseline aberrations in recorded BAERs. An amplitude reduction of >50% or an increase in absolute latency of any wave of >1 ms is considered to be a significant change in BAER. Injury to the vestibulocochlear nerve at its point of exit near the brainstem may cause partial sparing of wave I but can affect other waves. Loss of wave I signifies a complete hearing loss in the affected ear. This modality may be useful during surgeries involving the posterior fossa, brainstem, or skull base.

8.4.4.6 Electroencephalography

Electroencephalogram (EEG) represents the summated excitatory postsynaptic potentials and inhibitory potentials of cortical neurons, with frequencies being limited by insulation generated by the skull, galea, and scalp [47]. The EEG is dependent on age as well as the anesthetic regimen used. Sharp waves and spikes are suggestive of seizure disorders. Abnormally slow EEG is representative of systemic metabolic abnormalities. Anesthetic depth of the patient can be evaluated on EEG by mapping frequency and amplitude of background electrical activity - α -activity of 8–15 Hz, β -activity of 15–25 Hz, γ -activity of 4–7 Hz, and δ -activity of 1–3 Hz. Infants usually display higher-frequency values for similar depths of sedation than older children. Commercially available EEG monitors such as bispectral index (BIS) can be used to evaluate the depth of anesthesia (Fig. 8.6) reliably. However, these monitors are subject to interference from multiple sources such as electrocautery, motion, EMG activity, etc., which may limit their use.

Intraoperative EEG may be used to interrogate cerebral perfusion and help in early identification of cerebral hypoperfusion, test for seizure activity after cortical stimulation, and also evaluate anesthetic depth. As CBF nears 15 ml/100gm/ min, EEG demonstrates decreasing amplitude. When confounding factors are ruled out, an isoelectric EEG represents brain death or cessation of cortical blood flow, although children may show ongoing low-amplitude EEG activity even in the absence of cortical flow. Burst suppression induced by anesthetic agents is used as a technique for cerebral protection via a reduction in $CMRO_2$ [48]. Burst suppression is defined as periods of isoelectric EEG interspersed with burst activity. Factors that can affect intraoperative EEG recordings are hypothermia, hypoxia,

metabolites, and surgical manipulation. Electrocorticography (ECoG) is another procedure in which the EEG electrode grid is placed directly over the exposed cortical surface following craniotomy and is used to identify areas amenable to resection in children undergoing epilepsy surgery. This technique may help in accurate resection of seizure foci while preserving the integrity of motor, sensory, and language tracts.

8.5 Conclusion

Monitoring during pediatric neurosurgical procedures may help reduce or avoid incidences of perioperative neurological dysfunction. Constant communication between the operating personnel and the anesthesiologist is vital to provide quality patient care during surgeries requiring neuromonitoring. A sound knowledge of the different IONM modalities and their response to various anesthetic protocols may help tailor the anesthetic plan.

Conflict of Interest None declared for each author.

References

- Spielmann N, Mauch J, Madjdpour C, Schmugge M, Weiss M, Haas T. Accuracy and precision of hemoglobin point-of-care testing during major pediatric surgery. Int J Lab Hematol. 2012;34(1):86–90.
- Chambers IR, Jones PA, Lo TYM, Forsyth RJ, Fulton B, Andrews PJD, et al. Critical thresholds of intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure related to age in paediatric head injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(2):234–40.
- Mehta A, Kochanek PM, Tyler-Kabara E, Adelson PD, Wisniewski SR, Berger RP, et al. Relationship of intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure with outcome in young children after severe traumatic brain injury. Dev Neurosci. 2010;32(5–6):413–9.
- 4. Kochanek PM, Tasker RC, Carney N, Totten AM, Adelson PD, Selden NR, et al. Guidelines for the management of pediatric severe traumatic brain injury, third edition: update of the brain trauma foundation guidelines. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2019;20(3S):S1.
- 5. Wellons JC, Holubkov R, Browd SR, Riva-Cambrin J, Whitehead W, Kestle J, et al. The assessment of bulging fontanel and splitting of sutures in premature infants: an interrater reliability study by the hydro-

cephalus clinical research network. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;11(1):12–4.

- Raboel PH, Bartek J, Andresen M, Bellander BM, Romner B. Intracranial pressure monitoring: invasive versus noninvasive methods—a review. Crit Care Res Pract. 2012;2012:1–14.
- Ngo QN, Ranger A, Singh RN, Kornecki A, Seabrook JA, Fraser DD. External ventricular drains in pediatric patients. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2009;10(3):346–51.
- Wiegand C, Richards P. Measurement of intracranial pressure in children: a critical review of current methods. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2007;49(12):935–41.
- Gelabert-González M, Ginesta-Galan V, Sernamito-García R, Allut AG, Bandin-Diéguez J, Rumbo RM. The Camino intracranial pressure device in clinical practice. Assessment in a 1000 cases. Acta Neurochir. 2006;148(4):435–41.
- Anderson RCE, Kan P, Klimo P, Brockmeyer DL, Walker ML, Kestle JRW. Complications of intracranial pressure monitoring in children with head trauma. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2004;101(2):53–8.
- Alkhoury F, Kyriakides TC. Intracranial pressure monitoring in children with severe traumatic brain injury: national trauma data bank-based review of outcomes. JAMA Surg. 2014;149(6):544–8.
- Hansen H, Helmke K. The subarachnoid space surrounding the optic nerves. An ultrasound study of the optic nerve sheath. Surg Radiol Anat. 1996;18(4):323–8.
- Malayeri AA, Bavarian S, Mehdizadeh M. Sonographic evaluation of optic nerve diameter in children with raised intracranial pressure. J Ultrasound Med. 2005;24(2):143–7.
- 14. Young AMH, Guilfoyle MR, Donnelly J, Scoffings D, Fernandes H, Garnett M, et al. Correlating optic nerve sheath diameter with opening intracranial pressure in pediatric traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Res. 2017;81(3):443–7.
- Samuel M, Burge DM, Marchbanks RJ. Quantitative assessment of intracranial pressure by the tympanic membrane displacement audiometric technique in children with shunted hydrocephalus. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 1998;8(04):200–7.
- Kasman N, Brady K. Cerebral oximetry for pediatric anesthesia: why do intelligent clinicians disagree? Pediatr Anesth. 2011;21(5):473–8.
- Dix LML, van Bel F, Baerts W, Lemmers PMA. Comparing near-infrared spectroscopy devices and their sensors for monitoring regional cerebral oxygen saturation in the neonate. Pediatr Res. 2013;74(5):557–63.
- Brazy JE, Lewis DV, Mitnick MH, vander Vliet FFJ. Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral oxygenation in preterm infants: preliminary observations. Pediatrics. 1985;75(2):217.
- Kurth CD, Steven JM, Nicolson SC. Cerebral oxygenation during pediatric cardiac surgery using deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Anesthesiology. 1995;82(1):74–82.

- Adelson PD, Nemoto E, Colak A, Painter M. The use of near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) in children after traumatic brain injury: a preliminary report. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 1998;71:250–4.
- Friess SH, Kilbaugh TJ, Huh JW. Advanced Neuromonitoring and imaging in pediatric traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Res Pract. 2012;2012:1–11.
- 22. Figaji AA, Zwane E, Thompson C, Fieggen AG, Argent AC, Le Roux PD, et al. Brain tissue oxygen tension monitoring in pediatric severe traumatic brain injury. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25(10):1325.
- Matta BF, Lam AM, Mayberg TS, Shapira Y, Winn HR. A critique of the intraoperative use of jugular venous bulb catheters during neurosurgical procedures. Anesth Analg. 1994;79(4):745–50.
- Sheinberg M, Kanter MJ, Robertson CS, Contant CF, Narayan RK, Grossman RG. Continuous monitoring of jugular venous oxygen saturation in head-injured patients. J Neurosurg. 1992;76(2):212–7.
- 25. Pérez A, Minces PG, Schnitzler EJ, Agosta GE, Medina SAP, Ciraolo CA. Jugular venous oxygen saturation or arteriovenous difference of lactate content and outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4(1):33–8.
- 26. de Lima OM, Kairalla AC, Fonoff ET, Martinez RCR, Teixeira MJ, Bor-Seng-Shu E. Cerebral microdialysis in traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage: state of the art. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21(1):152–62.
- Richards DA, Tolias CM, Sgouros S, Bowery NG. Extracellular glutamine to glutamate ratio may predict outcome in the injured brain: a clinical microdialysis study in children. Pharmacol Res. 2003;48(1):101–9.
- Hillered L, Vespa PM, Hovda DA. Translational neurochemical research in acute human brain injury: the current status and potential future for cerebral microdialysis. J Neurotrauma. 2005;22(1):3–41.
- Mayans DR, Meads DB, Reynolds PS. Transcranial Doppler identifies a malfunctioning Extraventricular drain. J Neuroimaging. 2014;24(5):518–9.
- Michel E, Zernikow B. Gosling's Doppler pulsatility index revisited. Ultrasound Med Biol. 1998;24(4):597–9.
- Homburg A-M, Jakobsen M, Enevoldsen E. Transcranial Doppler recordings in raised intracranial pressure. Acta Neurol Scand. 1993;87(6):488–93.
- 32. Melo JRT, Di Rocco F, Blanot S, Cuttaree H, Sainte-Rose C, Oliveira-Filho J, et al. Transcranial Doppler can predict intracranial hypertension in children with severe traumatic brain injuries. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27(6):979–84.
- 33. Figaji AA, Zwane E, Fieggen AG, Siesjo P, Peter JC. Transcranial Doppler pulsatility index is not a reliable indicator of intracranial pressure in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Surg Neurol. 2009;72(4):389–94.
- 34. Vavilala MS, Muangman S, Tontisirin N, Fisk D, Roscigno C, Mitchell P, et al. Impaired cerebral autoregulation and 6-month outcome in children with

severe traumatic brain injury: preliminary findings. Dev Neurosci. 2006;28(4–5):348–53.

- 35. Adams RJ, McKie VC, Hsu L, Files B, Vichinsky E, Pegelow C, et al. Prevention of a first stroke by transfusions in children with sickle cell anemia and abnormal results on transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(1):5–11.
- 36. Steinberg GK, Gelb AW, Lam AM, Manninen PH, Peerless SJ, Neto AR, et al. Correlation between somatosensory evoked potentials and neuronal ischemic changes following middle cerebral artery occlusion. Stroke. 1986;17(6):1193–7.
- Sloan TB. Nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockade does not alter sensory evoked potentials. J Clin Monit. 1994;10(1):4–10.
- Eggermont JJ. On the rate of maturation of sensory evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1988;70(4):293–305.
- MacDonald DB. Intraoperative motor evoked potential monitoring: overview and update. J Clin Monit Comput. 2006;20(5):347–77.
- Burke D, Hicks R, Gandevia SC, Stephen J, Woodforth I, Crawford M. Direct comparison of corticospinal volleys in human subjects to transcranial magnetic and electrical stimulation. J Physiol. 1993;470:383–93.
- 41. Fujiki M, Furukawa Y, Kamida T, Anan M, Inoue R, Abe T, et al. Intraoperative corticomuscular motor

evoked potentials for evaluation of motor function: a comparison with corticospinal D and I waves. J Neurosurg. 2006;104(1):85–92.

- Zentner J, Thees C, Pechstein U, Scheufler KM, Würker J, Nadstawek J. Influence of nitrous oxide on motor-evoked potentials. Spine. 1997;22(9):1002–6.
- Taylor MJ, McCulloch DL. Visual evoked potentials in infants and children. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;9(3):357–72.
- 44. Kim J, Sung IY, Ko EJ, Jung M. Visual evoked potential in children with developmental disorders: correlation with neurodevelopmental outcomes. Ann Rehabil Med. 2018;42(2):305–12.
- Radtke RA, Erwin CW, Wilkins RH. Intraoperative brainstem auditory evoked potentials: significant decrease in postoperative morbidity. Neurology. 1989;39(2 Pt 1):187–91.
- 46. Grundy BL, Lina A, Procopio PT, Jannetta PJ. Reversible evoked potential changes with retraction of the eighth cranial nerve. Anesth Analg. 1981;60(11):835–8.
- Waziri A, Claassen J, Stuart RM, Arif H, Schmidt JM, Mayer SA, et al. Intracortical electroencephalography in acute brain injury. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(3):366–77.
- Purdon PL, Sampson A, Pavone KJ, Brown EN. Clinical electroencephalography for anesthesiologists part I: background and basic signatures. Anesthesiology. 2015;123(4):937–60.



9

Perioperative Thermoregulation in Children and Temperature Monitoring

Barkha Bindu and Ashish Bindra

Key Points

- Intraoperative hypothermia occurs in up to 50% of children.
- Children and infants are more prone to perioperative fluctuations in body temperature than adults. This is owing to morphological and physiological differences.
- Perioperative hyperthermia can result in hypoventilation, apnea, sympathetic stimulation, increased oxygen demand, and increased rates of surgical site infections (SSI) in infants and children.
- The risk of intraoperative hypothermia is present under general and regional anesthesia, and appropriate strategies should be formulated for prevention.
- Higher ambient temperature is advised for children under anesthesia.
- Preoperative warming increases total body heat content and reduces the temperature gradient between the core and the peripheral compartment, decreasing intraoperative hypothermia.

B. Bindu

A. Bindra (🖂)

9.1 Introduction

Human beings are homeothermic and tend to regulate their body temperature tightly within a narrow range of 36.5-37.3 °C. While thermoregulatory mechanisms are well developed in adults, they are relatively immature in children and infants, making them prone to fluctuations in body temperature. Exposure to anesthesia and surgery in pediatric patients further increases the incidence of temperature fluctuations. Understanding the thermoregulatory mechanisms in infants and children will help in the better perioperative care of these patients. This chapter discusses the physiology of thermoregulation in children, temperature monitoring, effects of anesthesia on body temperature, and methods to prevent perioperative temperature fluctuations.

9.2 Physiology of Thermoregulation

Thermal information is processed in three phases: afferent input, central regulation, and efferent responses. Hypothalamus is the principal site of thermoregulation in humans and integrates thermal information obtained from different body parts.

Afferent input: Thermosensitive receptors (both cold and warm) are located all over the body. Cold-sensitive receptors (maximum

Neuroanesthesiology and Critical Care, Medanta, The Medicity, Gurugram, India

Department of Neuroanesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_9

discharge rate of impulses at 25–30 °C) transmit to preoptic area of thalamus via A δ fibers. In contrast, warm receptors (maximum discharge rate of impulses at 45–50 °C) transmit via unmyelinated C fibers and spinothalamic tracts. Brain, spinal cord, skin, deep abdominal, and thoracic tissues contribute 20% to thermal input.

Central regulation: Hypothalamus integrates all afferent thermal information and regulates various efferent mechanisms to keep body temperature normal.

Efferent responses: Deviations in temperature from the normal range activate various effector mechanisms that alter heat production or heat loss to bring the temperature back to normal. Behavioral regulation is the most important and most efficient of all mechanisms and involves voluntary movement, dressing, altering ambient temperature, etc. Autonomic responses include cutaneous vasoconstriction, non-shivering thermogenesis, shivering, vasodilation, and sweating. The first and quickest response to hypothermia is cutaneous vasoconstriction. It reduces blood flow through arteriovenous shunts in the skin and can reduce heat loss by up to 25%. Non-shivering thermogenesis is the mechanism of heat production without associated muscle activity. It is the mainstay of heat production up to 1 year of age but has an insignificant role in adults. It takes place in brown fat and, to a lesser extent, in the skeletal muscle, liver, brain, and white fat. Activation of brown fat causes direct warming of blood because 25% of cardiac output flows through it. The mitochondria of brown fat cells produce heat by uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation and almost double metabolic heat production. It is attenuated by inhalational anesthetics, fentanyl, and propofol and is nonfunctional under general anesthesia [1]. Shivering manifests as involuntary, irregular muscle activity. Shivering has a minor role in the thermoregulation of newborn and infant due to poor muscle mass. In older children, it can increase metabolic heat production up to sixfold and increase oxygen consumption and CO₂ production of up to 400-600%, along with an increase in cardiac output. Shivering also increases intraocular and intracranial pressure. Vasodilation is mediated by

| Table 9.1 | Definitions of common terminologies relevant |
|-------------|----------------------------------------------|
| to thermore | egulation |

| Term | Definition |
|-------------|------------------------------------------|
| Threshold | Temperature at which a response is |
| temperature | triggered. Threshold for |
| | vasoconstriction is 36.5 °C and 36.0 °C |
| | for shivering |
| Inter- | The range of temperature over which |
| threshold | autonomic responses are not activated. |
| range | Bounded at its upper end by sweating |
| | threshold and lower end by |
| | vasoconstriction threshold. Normally, it |
| | is only a few tenths of a degree |
| | centigrade (thermoregulatory zone), |
| | but, under general anesthesia, the range |
| | can increase to up to 3–4 °C |
| Gain | The extent to which the intensity of |
| | thermoregulatory response increases |
| | with further deviation from the |
| | triggering threshold |
| Maximum | When the intensity of the response no |
| intensity | longer increases with further deviation |
| | in core temperature |
| Mean body | Physiologically weighted average |
| temperature | temperature from various tissues |
| Neutral | Ambient temperature at which oxygen |
| temperature | demand is minimal and |
| | thermoregulation is achieved through |
| | non-evaporative processes alone. |
| | Adults, 28 °C; neonates, 32 °C; |
| | preterm infants, 34 °C |

nitric oxide and inhibition of sympathetic activity by nerve blockade. *Sweating* helps in dissipating heat to the environment and is remarkably effective in reducing body temperature. Term neonates have the ability to sweat, but preterm infants of less than 30 weeks' gestational age have poorly developed sweat glands and weak sweat response. Common terminologies about thermoregulation have been described in Table 9.1.

9.2.1 Thermoregulation in Newborn

Newborns and infants are predisposed to hypothermia. In fact, the importance of thermoregulation in infants was recognized by Budin in the 1900s. He observed different mortality rates in infants with different body temperatures [2]. Large skin surface area to body mass ratio (neonates, 1.0; adults, 0.4), large head size (20% of body surface area), thin skull bones, sparse scalp hair, the proximity of highly perfused brain to the skin surface, minimal subcutaneous fat, reduced keratin content of the skin, reduced ability to produce heat, and immature thermoregulatory responses contribute to the high incidence of hypothermia in infants and newborns. Low ambient temperature in the operating room, cold intravenous fluids, cold and dry anesthetic gases, type of surgery [3], and large surgical incisions further add to these predisposing factors.

9.3 Effects of Anesthesia on Thermoregulation

Both general and regional anesthesia cause a drop in core temperature of 1-3 °C. Contributing factors include anesthesia-induced 30% reduction in metabolic rate, exposure to cold operating room environment, anesthesia-induced inhibition of thermoregulation, and internal redistribution of heat. Behavioral regulation is irrelevant under anesthesia, so autonomic effector responses become more important, and these, too, are markedly impaired by anesthesia.

General anesthetics decrease the threshold for cold responses by ~2.5 °C and increase the threshold for warm responses by about 1.3 °C. There is a widening of the inter-threshold range to 2-4 °C [4]. Inhalational anesthetic agents produce nonlinear inhibition of thermoregulatory responses. They also inhibit nonshivering thermogenesis. Desflurane, in particular, reduces gain response in addition to reducing the vasoconstriction threshold. Nitrous oxide reduces vasoconstriction threshold lesser than volatile anesthetic agents. Among intravenous anesthetic agents, opioids cause a linear decrease in vasoconstriction and shivering thresholds. Propofol [5] and dexmedetomidine [6] increase the sweating threshold and cause a marked linear decrease in the cold response threshold. Propofol also inhibits non-shivering thermogenesis. Clonidine for premedication does not worsen hypothermia during general anesthesia [7]. Atropine inhibits sweating, increases sweating threshold, and may cause hyperthermia in children.

Regional anesthesia was earlier thought to protect against hypothermia due to the preservation of central thermoregulation mechanisms. But the incidence and magnitude of hypothermia after regional anesthesia may be almost similar to or even more than general anesthesia [2]. Neuraxial blockade inhibits both afferent and efferent pathways, preventing vasoconstriction and shivering in the blocked areas. The degree of inhibition of thermoregulation is directly proportional to the number of dermatomes blocked [8]. Supplementation of regional anesthesia with analgesics or sedatives or combination with general anesthesia can further severely impair thermoregulation.

9.4 Perioperative Hypothermia

Hypothermia is defined as a core body temperature of less than 36 °C. Intraoperative hypothermia is reported in up to 50% of children [9]. Balance between heat loss and heat-generating mechanisms determines the intraoperative body temperature. Heat loss from the human body can occur by four mechanisms: radiation, convection, conduction, and evaporation. Mechanisms of heat loss under anesthesia have been described in Table 9.2. Heat loss by *radiation* is the most important heat loss mechanism under anesthesia because of the larger surface area to volume ratio in infants and newborns. The amount of heat lost depends on the temperature gradient between the two surfaces and can be reduced by increasing ambient room temperature. Operating room temperatures of 27° and 29 °C are generally used for full-term and premature newborns, respectively [2]. Convection is the second most important heat loss under anesthesia and is proportional to the square root of air speed. Convective losses can be substantial in operating rooms equipped with laminar flow. Evaporation is an energy-dependent process, and losses occur through skin, respiratory tract, and surgical wounds. The velocity of airflow, relative humidity of inspired air, and

| | | Contribution to |
|-------------|-----------------------|-----------------|
| | | heat loss under |
| Mechanism | Definition | anesthesia |
| Radiation | Transfer of energy | 39% |
| | between two objects | |
| | that are not in | |
| | contact but differ in | |
| | temperature | |
| Convection | Transfer of heat from | 34% |
| | an object to moving | |
| | molecules like air or | |
| | liquid | |
| Evaporation | Transfer of heat from | 24% |
| | body or mucosal | |
| | surface using latent | |
| | heat of evaporation | |
| Conduction | Transfer of heat | 3% |
| | between two surfaces | |
| | in direct contact | |

Table 9.2 Heat loss mechanisms under anesthesia

minute ventilation play an important role. Even the use of skin disinfectant solutions and wet drapes can cause evaporative losses. Heat loss via the respiratory tract contributes only 5–10% of total heat loss in adults. Still, it accounts for up to one-third of total heat loss in infants due to higher minute ventilation per kg body weight. This can be reduced by using warm moisturized gases. *Conduction* causes little heat loss under anesthesia since patients are well insulated from surrounding objects.

Various *heat-generating mechanisms* include voluntary muscle activity, non-shivering thermogenesis, shivering, and dietary thermogenesis. Non-shivering thermogenesis and shivering have been described above. *Voluntary muscle activity* does not contribute to heat production in the perioperative period, and *dietary thermogenesis* plays an insignificant perioperative role. Certain nutrients like proteins, amino acids, etc. are known to cause thermogenesis. Higher core temperature under anesthesia has been achieved using preoperative and intraoperative amino acid infusion [10]. Fructose administration also seems to have a similar effect.

For an easier understanding of the effect of anesthesia on body temperature, the human body can be thought to be divided into three compartments; central, peripheral, and skin (Fig. 9.1). (a)

Central (core) compartment includes the vesselrich group of organs such as the brain, heart, lungs, liver, kidneys, and endocrine glands. The temperature of this compartment represents the core temperature and is around 37 °C. It accounts for up to 22% of body weight in neonates and receives 75% of cardiac output. The size of this compartment increases under anesthesia due to the redistribution of heat. (b) The peripheral compartment includes the musculoskeletal system and acts as a buffer for any changes in core temperature by causing vasoconstriction or vasodilation. This compartment is typically 2-4 °C cooler than the core with a temperature of around 31–34 °C. (c) Skin (shell) compartment acts as a barrier between the other two compartments and the environment.

Hypothermia under general anesthesia develops in three phases [11]: initial rapid decrease, slow linear reduction, and plateau phase (Fig. 9.2). During the initial rapid decrease phase, anesthesia-induced peripheral vasodilation causes the redistribution of heat from the core to periphery, increasing the core compartment's size and resulting in a drop in core temperature by 0.5-1.5 °C while increasing peripheral temperature to around 35 °C. This redistribution of heat accounts for an 81% decrease in core temperature in the first hour of anesthesia. Rest 19% occurs due to decreased metabolic rate and increased heat loss. The slow linear reduction phase lasts up to 2-4 hours, and the core temperature falls at a rate of 0.5-1.0 °C. As body temperature falls, the gradient between skin and the surroundings reduces, resulting in reduced heat loss. Plateau (rewarming) phase occurred after 3-4 hours of anesthesia when heat lost equals heat produced. Body temperature stabilizes and remains unchanged thereafter. It is called a rewarming phase in children since thermoregulatory vasoconstriction in response to core hypothermia causes restriction of metabolic heat to the core. Studies have shown that preoperative warming helps prevent intraoperative hypothermia by increasing total body heat content and reducing the core to periphery temperature gradient [12, 13].





Hypothermia during *neuraxial anesthesia* is as severe as during general anesthesia. Core temperature decreases by around $0.5 \,^{\circ}C-1.0 \,^{\circ}C$. But these patients may not reach an equilibrium state since for plateau phase to occur, peripheral vasoconstriction must occur, which is inhibited by nerve block under regional anesthesia. Therefore, heat loss may continue until sympathetic function and vasoconstriction are restored, and hypothermia may be more severe than under general anesthesia. However, caudal block in children has been shown not to affect the vasoconstriction threshold, significantly [14].

9.4.1 Adverse Effects of Hypothermia

Hypothermia, defined as a temperature of less than 36 °C, is the most common thermal perturbation occurring perioperatively [15]. The risk is

higher with prolonged surgery and anesthesia time, extremes of age, patients with extensive burns, low preoperative temperature, severe trauma, and major fluid shifts.

The adverse effects of hypothermia include hypoventilation or apnea, precipitation of a preoperative cardiopulmonary deficiency due to increased oxygen demand, hypoxia and right to left shunt, anesthetic overdose, delayed recovery, sympathetic stimulation causing vasoconstriction leading to acidosis, impaired neutrophil function, wound infection, delayed wound healing, impaired platelet function causing impaired coagulation and hemostasis, increased blood loss, etc. [16, 17]

Another practically important consequence of hypothermia, postanesthetic shivering, has been reported in 6.6–66% of patients. It is an unpleasant sensation for the child and increases oxygen consumption by 200–500% [18] though the exact incidence of postoperative shivering in children is unknown, and the risk is higher in children. The use of intravenous induction agents, age older than 6 years, and prolonged surgery duration have been identified as risk factors [19]. Agents such as meperidine (0.35 mg/kg), clonidine, and dexmedetomidine (0.5 μ g/kg slowly) are used to treat shivering [18, 20].

9.5 Perioperative Thermal Manipulations

Various options available to prevent and treat perioperative hypothermia include preoperative warming, use of warm humidified gases, warm intravenous fluids, warm operating rooms, intraoperative use of various passive and active cutaneous warming devices, etc.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2008 guidelines (last updated December 2016) recommend preoperative warming of patients using forced air warmers, if the temperature is less than 36 °C, in adults coming for surgery. These guidelines also recommend preoperative risk assessment of patients for inadvertent perioperative hypothermia based on the presence of risk factors [21]. In the absence of

specific guidelines for pediatric patients, the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) standards which state that "every patient receiving anesthesia shall have temperature monitored when clinically significant changes in body temperature are intended, anticipated or suspected" and for office-based sedation, regional anesthesia, or general anesthesia, "the body temperature of the pediatric patient shall be measured continuously" must be followed.

Preoperative warming increases the total body heat content and reduces the core to periphery temperature gradient, thereby reducing redistribution hypothermia. Skin surface warming for as little as 30 minutes before anesthesia induction has been shown to prevent redistribution hypothermia [22]. Subjecting patients to an ambient temperature of 26 °C in the induction room and operation theatre for 30–40 minutes before anesthesia induction has also been found to reduce intraoperative hypothermia [12].

Airway heating and humidification does not increase body temperature but does help in preserving body heat [23]. Heat and moisture exchangers and ultrasonic heated humidifiers can be used. Heat and moisture exchangers are safer to use since they do not because airway burns and can also filter infective particles. The risk of over humidification and overhydration is low with them [24]. A relative humidity of 50% maintains normal ciliary function.

Intravenous fluids and blood must be warmed before administration, especially when rapid fluid administration is required. But excessive heating may cause hemolysis of red blood cells, whereas slow administration of fluids may result in loss of heat in the tubing itself before reaching the body [25]. Irrigation fluids must also be warmed to body temperature before use. Various devices are available for warming intravenous fluids. Warm water baths through which intravenous tubing is passed (counter-current warming systems; Fig. 9.3), aluminum plates near the patient end of tubing (dry heat technology), fluid warming cabinets, and blood warmers (at 43 °C) are various options available.

Skin warming can be done by passive insulation or active warming. Passive insulation is



Fig. 9.3 (a) Fluid warming cabinet. (b) Forced air warming blanket

done applying *cotton blankets*, *surgical drapes*, *plastic sheets*, *reflective composites* ("*space blankets*"), *or sleeping bags*. It is the most commonly used mechanism. Insulation is provided by the layer of still air trapped beneath the blanket; the amount of insulation provided by different devices is almost similar. A single layer of most of these devices reduces heat loss by approximately 30%, and the addition of extra layers of insulation reduces the heat loss only slightly [26]. Therefore, only passive insulation is insufficient to prevent hypothermia. The use of reflective blankets is advised to cover uninvolved skin areas. Head, which accounts for up to 20% of the total surface area, can be covered. Active warming devices include circulating water mattresses and garments, forced air warmers, resistive heating devices, negative pressure water warming systems, etc. (Fig. 9.3). Circulating water devices reduce conductive losses. They are available as both mattresses and garments, but their practical use is limited due to bulky nature. Forced air warmers are the most commonly used devices for active warming. They produce convective warming by circulating warm air around the patient. They have a fast warm-up time, have high warming capacity, do not produce burns, and are convenient to use. Resistive heating devices transfer heat by conduction through a mattress or blanket. Lowvoltage electric current is passed through semi-conductive polymer or carbon fiber systems to generate heat. They are reusable, energyefficient, easy to clean, and cost-effective and provide a practical alternative to forced air warmers [27] but can cause significant burns. *Negative pressure water warming systems* apply a subatmospheric pressure with a thermal load that opens arteriovenous shunts, promoting periphery to core heat transfer [28]. Their role in the intraoperative setting is doubtful. Infrared radiant heaters can be used before induction and in the postoperative period. But their prolonged use can increase insensible water losses, and skin burns can occur if placed too close to the patient.

Special care must be taken while transferring pediatric patients from the operating room to intensive care unit (ICU) or postanesthesia care unit (PACU). Neonates and infants must be transferred in an incubator, and older children should be covered with a warm blanket.

9.6 Temperature Monitoring

Intraoperative monitoring of temperature from at least one reliable site is essential to detect temperature fluctuations. Various devices to measure temperature are available. Earlier, *mercury-inglass thermometers* were used; but they were slow and cumbersome. Infrared thermometers are used for tympanic membrane and skin measurements; they are unsuitable for continuous monitoring. They are usually used for intermittent temperature monitoring in PACU and wards and have a quick response time. Electronic thermometers use thermistors and thermocouples. They are the most commonly used devices for intraoperative temperature monitoring. They are sufficiently accurate and inexpensive. Other devices like temperature-sensitive liquid crystals are easy and convenient to use but not accurate enough and are used to measure skin temperature. Handheld infrared scanners measure core temperature by measuring skin temperature. They detect the highest temperature in the temporal or forehead region.

Both core and peripheral temperatures can be measured clinically. Core temperature represents the temperature of the hypothalamus and remains reliable during extreme temperature fluctuations. Skin temperature tends to be considerably lower than the core temperature. Various temperature monitoring sites, their advantages, and disadvantages have been described in Table 9.3 [29]. Core body temperature can be measured from the tympanic membrane, nasopharynx, oropharynx, distal esophagus, pulmonary artery, etc. or in the peripheral sites which include the axilla, rectum, skin, bladder, etc. (Fig. 9.4). Skin temperature over carotid artery has been shown to accurately estimate the nasopharyngeal temperature in infants and young children during general anesthesia [30]. The recommended sites for temperature monitoring by NICE include pulmonary artery catheter, distal esophagus, urinary bladder, sublingual, axilla, and rectum [21]. The site of temperature monitoring depends on the site of surgery and accessibility of various sites. Generally, the least invasive site that gives the most reliable estimate of core temperature is preferred [31]. Commonly used sites under anesthesia are nasopharynx and axilla. However, nasal bleeding due to adenoids, influence of hot and humidified inhaled gases, and leak of anesthetic gases when using uncuffed endotracheal tubes in children is a cause of concern.

| Site | Remarks |
|---------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Tympanic | Ideal site. Probe need not directly |
| memorane | membrane perforation reported |
| Nasopharynx | Placed in posterior nasopharynx close to soft palate. Can cause nasal bleeding, especially in children with adenoids. Incorrect readings when used with uncuffed endotracheal tubes |
| Oropharynx | More inaccurate compared to nasopharynx |
| Distal esophagus | Placed with the help of esophageal stethoscope. Good option in pediatric patients. Inaccurate with high gas flows |
| Pulmonary artery | Invasive. Use limited to special situations like cardiac surgeries |
| Axilla | Widely used. Must be placed over axillary artery with arm closely adducted. Does not reflect fluctuations of body temperature |
| Rectum | Easily accessible. Probe should not be embedded in feces. Avoided in inflammatory bowel disease, neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, bowel/bladder irrigation. Widely used |
| Skin | Least invasive. Very unreliable |
| Bladder | Accurate reflection of core temperature if urine volume is high |

Table 9.3 Temperature monitoring sites



Fig. 9.4 Pediatric invasive temperature monitoring probe

9.7 Perioperative Hyperthermia

Anesthesia increases the threshold for warm responses by only 1-1.4 °C compared to a decrease of 2.5-3.5 °C in the threshold for cold

responses, i.e., under anesthesia, the body responds more strongly to hyperthermia than hypothermia. Vasodilation, which manifests as flushing, effectively dissipates heat. Term infants have the ability to sweat and dissipate heat when the ambient temperature rises. Premature infants of less than 30 weeks' gestational age have no sweating response due to poorly developed sweat glands [2]. Various causes of perioperative hyperthermia in children include primary central nervous system pathology, toxins, envenomation, sepsis, transfusion reaction, heat stroke, endocrinopathies, neuroleptic malignant syndrome, and malignant hyperthermia [32].

Intraoperative hyperthermia is associated with increased rates of surgical site infection (SSI) in infants aged 6 months or less [33], unlike in adults where hypothermia is known to be associated with higher SSI rates.

9.8 Malignant Hyperthermia in Children

The reported incidence of malignant hypothermia in children is around 17%. [34] Older inhalation anesthetic agents and succinylcholine are known to trigger MH. Desflurane and sevoflurane are weak triggers, while xenon and nitrous oxide do not trigger MH [35].

The most common initial signs are tachycardia and hypercarbia. Differences in clinical features among different age groups of children have been observed [36]. Since MH is primarily a disease of muscles, older children tend to have more severe symptoms (higher temperature, higher creatine kinase and potassium levels) due to greater muscle mass. Younger children have greater metabolic acidosis and lactic acid levels due to lower muscle reserve available to buffer the anaerobic metabolism during an acute MH episode. Active cooling, hydration, dextrose with insulin, and dantrolene (2.4 mg/kg initial dose, 5.9 mg/kg total dose) are the mainstays of treatment.

Though the relationship between muscular dystrophy and development of intraoperative hyperthermia has been commonly described, literature shows intraoperative heart failure, inhaled anesthetic-related rhabdomyolysis (absence of succinylcholine), and succinylcholine-induced rhabdomyolysis and hyperkalemia as *common intraoperative* anesthetic complications in these patients. There was no increased risk of malignant hyperthermia as compared with the general population [37].

9.9 Targeted Temperature Management in Pediatric Neurointensive Care

Targeted temperature management (TTM) includes a range of interventions from inducing hypothermia to fever prevention. Hypothermia confers neuroprotection by reducing programmed cell death and secondary inflammatory cascade. Present indications for therapeutic hypothermia (TH) in children include acute neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy and postcardiac arrest coma. The benefits of TTM in pediatric traumatic brain injury are still uncertain [38]. TH is being considered for the management of refractory status epilepticus [39]. However, continuous temperature monitoring and active fever prevention in critically ill pediatric neurological patients are of paramount importance.

9.10 Conclusion

Intraoperative fluctuations in temperature are common and can affect the outcome in children. Therefore, careful monitoring, prevention, and treatment of fluctuations in intraoperative temperature must be considered while formulating the anesthetic plan for pediatric patients. The site and device for temperature monitoring can be decided depending upon the surgical site and patient access.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

 Plattner O, Semsroth M, Sessler DI, Papousek A, Klasen C, Wagner O. Lack of non-shivering thermogenesis in infants anesthetized with fentanyl and propofol. Anesthesiology. 1997;86:772–7.

- Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B, Davis PJ. Thermoregulation: physiology and perioperative disturbances. In: Motoyama EK, Davis PJ, editors. Smith's anesthesia for infants and children, 7th ed; chapter 5. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier; 2006.
- Tander B, Baris S, Karakaya D, Ariturk E, Rizalar R, Bernay F. Risk factors influencing inadvertent hypothermia in infants and neonates during anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15:574–9.
- Lopez M, Sessler DI, Walter K, Emerick T, Ozaki M. Rate and gender dependence of the sweating, vasoconstriction, and shivering thresholds in humans. Anesthesiology. 1994;80:780–8.
- Matsukawa T, Kurz A, Sessler DI, Bjorksten AR, Merrifield B, Cheng C. Propofol linearly reduces the vasoconstriction and shivering thresholds. Anesthesiology. 1995;82:1169–80.
- Talke P, Tayefeh F, Sessler DI, Jeffrey R, Noursalehi M, Richardson C. Dexmedetomidine does not alter the sweating threshold, but comparably and linearly decreases the vasoconstriction and shivering thresholds. Anesthesiology. 1997;87:835–41.
- Bernard JM, Fulgencio JP, Delaunay L, Bonnet F. Clonidine does not impair redistribution hypothermia after the induction of anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1998;87:168–72.
- Leslie K, Sessler DI. Reduction in the shivering threshold is proportional to spinal block height. Anesthesiology. 1996;84:1327–31.
- Pearce B, Christensen R, Voepel-Lewis T. Perioperative hypothermia in the pediatric population: prevalence, risk factors and outcomes. J Anesth Clinic Res. 2010;1:102. https://doi. org/10.4172/2155-6148.1000102.
- Sellden E, Lindahl SG. Amino acid-induced thermogenesis reduces hypothermia during anesthesia and shortens hospital stay. Anesth Analg. 1999;89:1551–6.
- Sessler DI. Temperature regulation and monitoring. In: Miller RD, editor. Miller's anesthesia, 7th ed; chapter 48. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2009.
- Cassey JG, King RA, Armstrong P. Is there thermal benefit from preoperative warming in children? Paediatr Anaesth. 2010;20:63–71.
- Vanni SM, Braz JR, Modolo NS, Amorim RB, Rodrigues GR Jr. Preoperative combined with intraoperative skin-surface warming avoids hypothermia caused by general anesthesia and surgery. J Clin Anesth. 2003;15:119–25.
- Bissonnette B, Sessler DI. Thermoregulatory thresholds for vasoconstriction in pediatric patients anesthetized with halothane or halothane and caudal bupivacaine. Anesthesiology. 1992;76:387.
- Sessler DI. Mild perioperative hypothermia. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:1730–7.
- Trckova A, Stourac P. Influence of perioperative hypothermia on blood clotting in children. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2018;119:294–7.
- Lai LL, See MH, Rampal S, Ng KS, Chan L. Significant factors influencing inadvertent hypothermia in pediatric anesthesia. J Clin Monit Comput. 2019;33:1105–12.

- Kranke P, Eberhart HJ, Roewer N, Tramer MR. Postoperative shivering in children: a review on pharmacologic prevention and treatment. Paediatr Drugs. 2003;5:373–83.
- Akin A, Esmaoglu A, Boyaci A. Postoperative shivering in children and causative factors. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15:1089–93.
- Doufas AG, Lin CM, Suleman MI, Liem EB, Lenhardt R, Morioka N, et al. Dexmedetomidine and meperidine additively reduce the shivering threshold in humans. Stroke. 2003;34:1218–23.
- NICE. Inadvertent perioperative hypothermia: The management of inadvertent perioperative hypothermia in adults. NICE Clinical Guideline 65; 2008.
- Sessler DI, Schroeder M, Merrifield B, Matsukawa T, Cheng C. Optimal duration and temperature of prewarming. Anesthesiology. 1995;82:674–81.
- Hynson J, Sessler DI. Intraoperative warming therapies: a comparison of three devices. J Clin Anesth. 1992;4:194–9.
- Smith HS, Allen R. Another hazard of heated water humidifier. Anesthesia. 1986;41:215–6.
- Bissonnette B, Paut O. Active warming of saline or blood is ineffective when standard infusion tubing is used: an experimental study. Can J Anaesth. 2002;49:270–5.
- Rao S, Rajan M. Heat production and loss. Anesthesia. 2008;24:182–7.
- Kimberger O, Held C, Stadelmann K, Mayer N, Hunkeler C, Sessler DI, et al. Resistive polymer versus forced-air warming: comparable heat transfer and core rewarming rates in volunteers. Anesth Analg. 2008;107:1621–6.
- John M, Ford J, Harper M. Peri-operative warming devices: performance and clinical application. Anesthesia. 2014;69:623–38.
- 29. Leduc D, Woods S. Canadian Pediatric Society, Community Pediatrics Committee. Position Statement

Temperature measurement in pediatrics. 2000. http:// www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/temperaturemeasurement. Updated 2015. Accessed December 2016.

- 30. Jay O, Molgat-Seon Y, Chou S, Murto K. Skin temperature over the carotid artery provides an accurate noninvasive estimation of core temperature in infants and young children during general anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:1109–16.
- Bindu B, Bindra A, Rath G. Temperature management under general anesthesia: compulsion or option. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2017;33:306–16.
- Herlich A. Perioperative temperature elevation: not all hyperthermia is malignant hyperthermia. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23:842–50.
- Walker S, Amin R, Arca MJ, Datta A. Effects of intraoperative temperatures on postoperative infections in infants and neonates. J Pediatr Surg. 2020;55:80–5.
- 34. Rosero EB, Adesanya AO, Timaran CH, Joshi GP. Trends and outcomes of malignant hyperthermia in the United States, 2000 to 2005. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:89–94.
- Lerman J. Perioperative management of the paediatric patient with coexisting neuromuscular disease. Br J Anaesth. 2011;107(S1):i79–89.
- 36. Priscilla N, Ronald L. Malignant hyperthermia in children: an analysis of the North American malignant hyperthermia registry. Anesth Analg. 2014;118:369–74.
- Gurnaney H, Brown A, Litman RS. Malignant hyperthermia and muscular dystrophies. Anesth Analg. 2009;109(4):1043–8.
- Beneditti G, Silverstein FS. Targeted temperature management in pediatric neurocritical care. Pediatr Neurol. 2018;88:12–24.
- Brophy GM, Bell R, Claassen J, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation and management of status epilepticus. Neurocrit Care. 2012;17:3–23.



10

Fluid and Electrolytes Management in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery

Chiara Robba 💿, Israel Rosenstein, and Federico Bilotta 💿

Key Points

- The fluid management plan for children undergoing neurosurgical procedures should consider preoperative assessment, correction of existing deficit, calculation of intraoperative requirements and management thereof, postoperative management of the imbalances, and fluid therapy monitoring.
- Among children, a fall in blood pressure is usually a late sign of hypovolemia, and it should be rapidly corrected to maintain cardiac output and cerebral perfusion. Slower correction of dehydration, without the signs of hypovolemia, is acceptable.
- Avoid, if possible, colloids and glucose infusion. In the case of hypernatremia as a consequence of pituitary surgery (such as diabetes insipidus), infusion of 5% glucose solution may be considered.
- Electrolytes dysregulation, such as hyponatremia or hypernatremia, and K⁺ alterations are associated with worsening of the outcome.
- Attention should be paid to postoperative complications, particularly after surgery for

C. Robba (🖂)

Neurocritical Care Unit, Addenbrooke's Hospital, Cambridge University, Cambridge, UK

I. Rosenstein · F. Bilotta

sellar lesions (diabetes insipidus, syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion, cerebral salt wasting syndrome).

10.1 Introduction

Advances in neurosurgical techniques have changed the face of pediatric neurosurgical management, leading to generally improved outcomes. However, with the increasing demand, complexity, and improvement of care for children undergoing neurosurgical procedures, there is an increased need to develop guidelines to improve the level of care and assure uniform patient management. In particular, fluid and electrolytes management in the pediatric neurosurgical population requires careful attention to the intravenous (IV) fluid administration and close monitoring of fluid balance and assessment of the clinical status of the patient to prevent and correct perioperative complications. Neurosurgical patients are usually complex and often need a large number of fluids and hemo-components as well as postoperative monitoring in an intensive care setting. Moreover, several pathophysiological processes occur in this group of patients that make them vulnerable to peculiar electrolyte and fluid disturbances, including syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secretion, cerebral salt wasting syndrome (CSWS), and cranial diabetes insipidus (DI). This chapter

Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, Policlinico Umberto I Hospital, La Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_10

will review the main principles for fluid and electrolytes management in the pediatric population undergoing neurosurgical procedures.

10.2 General Considerations

Management of infants and children posted for neurosurgical procedures requires careful considerations of the unique challenges they present with. There are several important differences between the procedures performed in pediatric neurosurgical patients and those performed in the adult population, which are usually due to the anatomo-physiologic peculiarities of children. The types and characteristics of the central nervous system (CNS) tumors seen in the pediatric population are different from those in adults. Also, the management of some conditions (such as hydrocephalus) is much more challenging from both clinical and surgical perspectives, particularly when its onset is in infancy or childhood [1].

Because of the particular anatomical characteristics of the pediatric population, including a more compliant (viscoelastic) and not fully ossified skull, injuries to the brain mass (including tumors, hemorrhages, etc.) tend to progress indolently when compared with adult lesions. Additionally, considerations like the development of the spinal cord and associations with congenital disorders in pediatric patients also impact the decision-making process perioperatively compared to the adults.

Several anatomical, physiological, and anesthetic implications have to be taken into account (Table 10.1). A higher percentage of total body water in the pediatric population than adults makes them vulnerable to develop serious morbidity caused by fluid and electrolytic imbalance. They need a large volume of distribution for water-soluble medications, and low fat and muscle content provides a small reservoir for drugs that depend on redistribution into these tissues for their metabolism and the execution of their effect. Therefore, water-soluble drugs require larger doses for clinical effect (such as antibiotics and muscle relaxants), while drugs like thiopen**Table 10.1** Peculiar characteristics of neonatal physiology regarding fluid and electrolytes

| Neonatal physiologic variables | Characteristics regarding fluid and electrolytes |
|----------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Body water percentage and distribution | Term neonates: 75% (40% ECF, 35% ICF) Preterm neonates (23 weeks): 90% water (60% ECF, 30% ICF) Adults: 60% water (20% ECF, 40% ICF) |
| Fluid losses | Skin (70%) and respiratory tract (30%) are the major sources of insensible water losses (IWL) in neonates Preterm infants have a generally higher IWL |
| Cardiovascular physiology | Reduced cardiac contractility (low contractile mass/gram of cardiac tissue) Reduced ability to ↑ stroke volume Dependence on heart rate (↑ HR) to ↑ cardiac output (Treppe effect) High sensitivity to hypovolemia and anesthetic agents |
| Renal function | 25% functionality at birth with maturation by 2 years of age T_{0.5} of drugs excreted by glomerular filtration is prolonged Normal urine osmolality: 50–600 mEq/L in preterm and (50–?) 800 mEq/L in term infants |

ECF extracellular fluid, ICF intracellular fluid

tal (redistribution into fat) and fentanyl (redistribution into the muscle) have a longer clinical effect.

Moreover, renal and cardiovascular physiology and fluid losses present some differences in the pediatric population compared with adults (Table 10.1), making them more vulnerable to fluid dysregulation. In children, the fall in blood pressure is usually a late sign of hypovolemia, and hence, it is to be corrected rapidly to maintain effective cardiac output and cerebral perfusion.

In addition to all of the above considerations, in-depth knowledge of anticipated major possible adverse events is also essential in managing some of the unique surgical challenges. Fluid and electrolyte imbalance can also increase morbidity and mortality, and its prevention and prompt treatment should be a priority concern in pediatric neurosurgery.

10.3 Choice of Fluid During Pediatric Neurosurgery

Planning for fluid management in neurosurgical cases is extremely important, and communication between the surgeon and the anesthesiologist in this regard must be clear. In general, the target is to ensure euvolemia, avoiding both hypovolemia and hypervolemia and consequently hypoperfusion of the brain and other organs, and attenuate edema. Crystalloids should be the first choice, and in particular, 0.9% normal saline is commonly used because of its slight hyperosmolality (308 mOsm/L), which can help in attenuating the occurrence of brain edema (Table 10.2) [2]. Although there is no absolute contraindication, caution must be exercised with the use of colloids (hydroxyethyl starch). A recently published meta-analysis concluded that the established adverse effect profile of colloids such as renal injury and coagulopathy were not observed with their perioperative administration in noncardiac surgeries [3].

In patients with intracranial hypertension, osmotherapy using mannitol or hypertonic saline (3% or higher concentration) should be considered in order to reduce intracranial pressure (ICP). However, if possible, it is important to avoid using hypertonic solutions if a central line is not available so to avoid the risk of phlebitis. Attention should also be paid to the administration of diuretics (such as furosemide), which can be used to induce systemic diuresis, improve overall cerebral water transport, and decrease cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), but they can also determine hypovolemia and dehydration and reduced cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP).

Hypotonic saline solutions (including 0.45%) NaCl, 0.45% NaCl +5% dextrose, 0.18% NaCl +10% dextrose, 0.18% NaCl +4% dextrose, and 10% dextrose solutions) should be used with extreme caution in neurosurgical patients, as they can worsen cerebral edema, and should only be used to treat acute hypernatremia (Na >150 mEq/L) [4]. In particular, small children and neonates are more susceptible to hypoglycemia than adults, which may occur after preoperafasting. Thus, when initiating fluid tive management in neonates, the use of 0.9% NaCl and dextrose should be considered. Complications of hyperglycemia in neonates and preterm infants include dehydration due to diuresis and electrolyte disturbances and an increased risk of hypoxic-ischemic central nervous system (CNS) damage and have to be strictly avoided [5]. The current anesthetic practice involves dextrose solutions at a lower concentration (1-2%) instead of the traditional use of 5% solutions [6]. In children older than 5 years, in those who have a low risk of fasting-induced hypoglycemia, or in patients with documented hyperglycemia, 0.9% NaCl without dextrose is usually the standard of care [7]. Although a hyperglycemic response during surgery and anesthesia is anticipated (increased sympathetic system activity and gluconeogenesis), such a response may not occur in all patients and makes children especially prone to hypoglycemia. The incidence of intraoperative hypoglycemia has been estimated at 0-2.5% and

Table 10.2 Commonly used intravenous fluids

| Types | Na+ | K+ | Cl | Ca ²⁺ | Mg ²⁺ | Acetate lactate | Glucose | Phosphate | Osmolality |
|------------|-----|------|-----|------------------|------------------|-----------------|---------|-----------|------------|
| NS | 154 | | 154 | | | | | | 308 |
| RL | 1 | 4 | 109 | 3 | | 9 | | | 274 |
| Isolyte P | 26 | 21 | 21 | | 3 | 24 | 5 | 3 | |
| Plasmalyte | 140 | 5 | 98 | | 3 | 27 | | | 295 |
| Albumin 5% | 150 | <2.5 | 100 | | | | | | 330 |
| Hetastarch | 154 | | 154 | | | | | | 310 |

NS normal saline, RL Ringer's lactate

is generally seen with longer fasting periods (8–19 h). Hence, it becomes essential to monitor blood glucose levels intermittently when fasting is prolonged and glucose is not being supplemented intraoperatively [8].

Fluid management for neurosurgical procedures can be divided into several phases [9]:

- Fluid considerations before surgery.
- Preoperative assessment for fluid deficits and methods for correction.
- Estimating the requirements for maintenance fluids.
- Management of other losses (blood and third space loss) during surgery.
- Postoperative fluid management and modalities to monitor fluid therapy.

10.3.1 Fluid Considerations Before Surgery

In the preoperative phase, fluids are best administered through the oral/enteral route. The literature is not clear about which is the safest preoperative fasting practice in infants. Some authors consider it safe to anesthetize a child 3 h after the last breastfeeding; some suggest this concept is valid only in infants under 6 months of age, and others would allow surgery 4 h after the last breastfeeding [10]. It is generally accepted that children aged 6 months or older should safely be allowed to have clear fluids 2 h before surgery and that withholding of solid food should be done 8 h before surgery. This is essential to prevent dehydration in the child and, at the same time, reduce the risk of hypoglycemia and aspiration. Under 6 months of age, breast milk is allowed up to 4 h before surgery [11].

10.3.2 Assessment and Correction of Fluid Deficit

The preoperative assessment of the pediatric population undergoing neurosurgical procedures should take into account several factors.

An accurate collection of information about the patient's past medical history is necessary, focusing on congenital or acquired diseases that can increase the risk for dehydration or electrolyte imbalance (heart or kidney diseases, burns, etc.). Physical examination should include the weighting of the child (one of the most important criteria to assess the fluid balance in children) and the characteristics of the skin and mucosa (including dry mucosa, edema, and altered skin turgor). Clinical signs due to dehydration are tardive, in particular the hypotension. Therefore, trying to calculate the water deficit precisely using clinical signs may result in inaccuracies. In mild dehydration, the only clinical signs/symptoms may generally be just an increased thirst with dry mucosal membranes; in moderate dehydration, tachypnea, cool and pale peripheries with prolongation of capillary refill times, sunken eyes, reduced skin turgor, and low urine output can be useful additional clinical signs/symptoms. Finally, in severe dehydration, in addition to the signs of moderate dehydration, the child may be irritable and/or lethargic and have severe hypotension with deep acidotic breathing, which is late premorbid signs (Table 10.3) [12–14].

Laboratory tests should be obtained alongside the accurate clinical assessment, including serum electrolytes and plasma osmolality, blood urea, serum creatinine, urine electrolytes, and specific gravity, and, if necessary, arterial blood gases (ABGs).

Patients undergoing minor and elective surgery usually have only a minor fluid deficit, which is usually not necessary to correct. For major surgery, an initial bolus of 10 ml/kg of isotonic crystalloid (0.9% normal saline) or Ringer lactate or Hartmann's solution should be given in the first hour to correct the fluid deficit. The fluid normally used to replace this deficit should be isotonic, in particular, 0.9% sodium chloride. Should hypovolemia be present, a bolus of 10–20 ml/kg of an isotonic fluid must be administered and repeated as per Advanced Pediatric Life Support (APLS) guidelines [15].

| | Mild | Moderate | Severe |
|----------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|
| Grade of dehydration | (<3% water loss) | (3-10% water loss) | (>10% water loss) |
| General | Alert | Thirsty, lethargic | Cold, sweaty, limp |
| Pulse | Normal rate and volume | Rapid and weak | Rapid, feeble |
| Systolic pressure | Normal | Normal | Low |
| Respiratory rate | Normal | Increased, deep | Deep |
| Dry mouth | No | Yes | Yes |
| Eyes | Normal | Sunken | Sunken |
| Anterior Fontanelle | Normal | Sunken | Very sunken |
| Skin turgor | Normal (recoils instantly) | Reduced (1–2 s) | Severely reduced (>2 s) |
| Capillary refill | Not prolonged | Slightly prolonged | Prolonged |
| Neurological deterioration | No | Drowsiness | Severe |
| Urine output | Normal | Reduced | Reduced |
| Deficit | 30–50 ml/kg | 60–100 ml/kg | >100 ml/kg |
| | | | |

Table 10.3 Signs and symptoms of dehydration

 Table 10.4
 Holliday and Segar recommendations for fluid management (4-2-1 rule)

| Body weight (kg) | Daily fluid requirement |
|------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 0-10 | 4 ml/kg/h |
| 10-20 | 40 ml/h + 2 ml/kg/h above $10 kg$ |
| >20 | 60 ml/h + 1 ml/kg/h above $20 kg$ |

10.3.3 Maintenance Fluid Requirements

Fluid requirements due to fasting should be replaced according to the recommendations of Holliday and Segar for children and infants over 4 weeks of age, using the child's body weight (Table 10.4) [16]. According to Furman et al., the total amount of hourly maintenance requirements multiplied by hours of fluid restriction should be administered by giving 50% in the first hour and 25% during each of the next 2 h [17]. This management strategy was further modified by Berry et al., as they suggested the administration of a salty solution bolus during the first hour of the surgery (25 ml/kg for children 3 years old and younger, 15 ml/kg for older than 4 years) [18].

However, this formula should be just considered as a starting point only. Every individual child should always be monitored for response to fluid therapy, and adjustments should be made accordingly; in particular, clinical parameters to be assessed include heart rate, blood pressure, and capillary refill time.

 Table 10.5
 Fluid requirements for neonates

| Newborn term | Daily fluid requirement (ml/kg) |
|--------------|---------------------------------|
| Day 1 | 50-60 |
| Day 2 | 80 |
| >Day 7 | 100–150 |

In term neonates (>36-week gestational age), maintenance fluid requirements are reduced in the first few days after birth (Table 10.5). The normal infant will lose up to 10–15% of its body weight in water during this time. For the older children, the 4–2-1 rule (Holliday and Segar method) is followed. Certain conditions like burns, radiant heaters or phototherapy pyrexia, or excessive sweating result in hypermetabolic states resulting in increased requirements in maintenance fluids [19, 20].

During neurosurgical procedures, most children may be given fluids without dextrose. The maintenance fluid most commonly used during neurosurgery is an isotonic crystalloid, 0.9% sodium chloride. However, blood glucose and electrolytes should always be monitored, especially in long procedures, major surgery, or pituitary surgery. Perioperative dextrose (1–2.5% dextrose in Ringer's lactate solution) was shown to increase blood glucose in pediatric patients during surgery, which returned to normal levels about 1 h after surgery. The use of 2.5% solution was shown to yield a much greater increase in blood glucose, compared with 1% solution [21].

10.3.4 Management of Other Losses During Surgery

Generally, replacement of all losses during surgery should be done with 0.9% sodium chloride, or eventually Ringer lactate/Hartmann's solution, while colloids should be used only when deemed necessary. Intraoperative losses include third space loss and blood loss. During surgery, third space loss occurs due to extravasation of fluids from the intravascular compartments out to the tissues around the surgery site, and they should be replaced. It is generally accepted that superficial surgeries, including ophthalmic and neurosurgeries, result in the least amount of third space loss estimated at 1–2 ml/kg/h [22].

Even in this phase, it is important to assess clinical signs like heart rate, blood pressure, and capillary refill time to ensure adequate replacement. In case of bleeding, blood products transfusion should be considered. The determinants for blood transfusion are based on clinical signs, estimated blood volume (Table 10.6), preoperative hemoglobin and hematocrit values, and coexisting illnesses.

According to a study, a hemoglobin threshold of 7 gm/dL for red blood cell transfusion can decrease transfusion requirements without increasing adverse outcomes in critically ill children [23]. A fall in hematocrit of up to 25% from baseline values may be acceptable in children aged more than 3 months; however, in children with cyanotic congenital heart disease or severe respiratory diseases, a higher hematocrit target should be used to maintain appropriate tissue oxygenation. In infants younger than 3 months of age, it is not clear which is the hemoglobin and hematocrit threshold to consider for transfusion, but blood administration should be individually considered, according to the clinical

Table 10.6 The estimated blood volume in neonates and infants

| Age | Estimated blood volume (ml/kg) |
|--------------------|--------------------------------|
| Premature neonates | 95–100 |
| Full-term neonates | 85–90 |
| Infants | 80 |

conditions and the gestational age. However, mildly low hemoglobin and hematocrit values could be acceptable in small, older preterm infants [24, 25].

10.3.5 Postoperative Fluid Management and Monitoring of Fluid Therapy

Regarding postoperative fluid management (Table 10.7), it should be considered that surgery, pain, nausea, and vomiting are all potential causes of dehydration and ADH release, as well as other peculiar complications related to neurosurgical procedures, including DI or other electrolyte disturbances. The literature is not clear about which is the correct maintenance fluid rate during the postoperative period. Holliday and Segar's formula may be followed; isotonic fluids may be used to replace ongoing losses from drains or nasogastric tubes, with or without added electrolytes. Serum electrolytes, as well as hemoglobin and hematocrit, should be measured preand postoperatively. Moreover, children should be weighed prior and after the prescription and administration of fluids [21]. During the postoperative period, serum electrolytes should be monitored every 24 h in all children on IV fluids (or more frequently if abnormal). Particular attention is paid to patients who underwent pituitary surgery and who are vulnerable to electrolytic complications. Fluid monitoring should include a fluid input/output chart, urine output monitored hourly and replaced every 2-4 h. Apart from routine clinical parameters, advanced parameters

Table 10.7 Goals of postoperative fluid therapy

| Parameter | Target |
|------------------------|----------------------------|
| Urine output | 1–3 ml/kg/h |
| Allowable weight loss | 1–2% per day in first week |
| Urine specific gravity | 1005–1015 |
| Euglycemia | 75–100 mg/dl |
| Normonatremia | 135–145 mEq/L |
| Normokalemia | 4–5 mEq/L |
| Prevention of failure | Absence of edema/ |
| | dehydration/hepatomegaly |

like dynamic indices of fluid responsiveness like stroke volume variation (SVV), pulse pressure variation (PPV), and plethysmograph variability index (PVI) may be employed whenever available. Although they have been validated in adults, the data available for the pediatric population is limited due to the anatomical and physiological variations in cardiorespiratory parameters that make their efficacy limited [26, 27].

10.4 General Principles for Electrolytes Management

Neurosurgical patients receiving IV fluids should have their electrolytes checked daily by capillary sampling or venous blood gas analysis. Hyponatremia is the most common electrolytic disorder in this group of patients, and if SIADH or CSWS occurs, sodium may fall very rapidly, and the treatment becomes a clinical emergency. In general, any neurosurgical patient with a drop in sodium of more than 4 mEq/L since the last measurement or a Na⁺ <131 mEq/L should have an urgent clinical assessment. Repeat electrolytes and ABG analysis are to be done to confirm hyponatremia, and appropriate treatment is to be instituted. Any patient with Na⁺ <135 mEq/L on routine blood tests should be reviewed urgently, including the assessment of fluid balance, IV or enteral fluids, and replacement of Na+ losses [28]. Finally, patients with extraventricular drainage (EVD) in situ should have their electrolytes monitored twice a week.

10.5 Sodium Disturbances

10.5.1 Hyponatremia

Hyponatremia may occur in up to 20% of patients in the postoperative period and reach up to 50% of neurosurgical patients. The early signs of hyponatremia are nonspecific, and often the first presenting symptoms are neurological deterioration, seizures, or respiratory arrest. Headache is considered an early and common sign of hyponatremia, but this sign might not be obvious in young children. Initial symptoms may also include nausea or vomiting; and progress to confusion, seizures, stupor, and coma as hyponatremia worsens. Finally, severe hyponatremia may result in brain swelling (cerebral edema) and symptoms related to increased ICP. The magnitude of the symptoms is related to both the severity and the rate at which serum sodium levels drop [29]. Hyponatremia can increase mortality, which is significantly higher and directly related to the severity of electrolyte disturbance. Therefore, aggressive treatment as a medical emergency and pediatric intensive care admission is mandatory precaution [30].

There are several conditions which can lead to hyponatremia in the pediatric population (Table 10.8); however, in neurosurgical patients, the main causes of hyponatremia are the SIADH, resulting from excessive water retention after ADH secretion dysfunction, or the salt-losing brain syndrome, characterized by hyponatremia, polyuria, and severe dehydration [31]. Pituitary tumors are at higher risk for developing both these conditions, whereas in tumors not involving the hypothalamo-pituitary axis, SIADH occurs commonly. As the management of both these conditions is vastly different, accurate diagnosis and clinical and laboratory criteria are most essential (Table 10.9). Physiologically, ADH is secreted in cases of high plasma osmolality and decreased effective blood volume, which is detected by the osmoreceptors and baroreceptors in the aortic arch, carotid sinus, left atrium, and hypothalamus. ADH acts on the distal convoluted tubule and collecting ducts in the kidney in order to reabsorb water without reabsorbing solute.

Inappropriate ADH secretion occurs when this process happens in response to non-osmotic stimuli (Table 10.10). The main risk factors are stress, cerebral injury, mechanical ventilation, pain, and several drugs, including anesthetic agents and antiepileptic drugs. Patients affected by SIADH present with euvolemia or hypovolemia with hyponatremia, and therefore the clinical management should be based on Na⁺ replacement and fluid restriction.

In the salt wasting syndrome, there is an excessive release of the natriuretic peptide, which

| Reduced total body sodium | Clinical presentations |
|---------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Extrarenal | Vomiting diarrhea |
| LAttarenar | Fluid sequestration (sensis peritonitis pancreatitis) |
| | Cutaneous losses (burns) |
| | Vantaioulastomu ducinosa |
| | ventriculostomy drainage |
| Renal | Cerebral salt wasting syndrome |
| | Diuretics (osmotic/non-osmotic) |
| | Tubulointerstitial diseases |
| | Adrenal insufficiency |
| | Congenital adrenal hyperplasia, Addison's disease |
| | Renal diseases (obstructive uropathy, nephritis, pyelonephritis, renal tubular acidosis) |
| Increased total body | Congestive heart failure |
| sodium | Cirrhosis |
| | Nephrotic syndrome |
| | Renal failure |
| Normal total body sodium | SIADH |
| | Glucocorticoid deficiency |
| | Hypothyroidism |
| | Infantile water intoxication |
| | Abusive water intoxication |

Table 10.8 Causes of hyponatremia in the pediatric population

 Table 10.9
 Differential diagnosis between SIADH and CSWS

| Parameters | SIADH | CSWS |
|-----------------------|--------------|--------------|
| Extracellular fluid | Normal to | Low |
| volume | high | Negative |
| Fluid balance | Positive or | Increased or |
| Urine volume | neutral | normal |
| Central venous | Decreased or | Low |
| pressure | normal | High |
| Urine Na ⁺ | Normal to | (>40 mEq/L) |
| | high | |
| | High | |
| | (20- | |
| | 40 mEq/L) | |

SIADH syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone, *CSWS* cerebral salt wasting syndrome

leads to primary natriuresis and volume depletion, and therefore patients present with hypovolemia and hyponatremia. Thus, given the severe dehydration risk, an aggressive volume replacement with an isotonic solution and increased sodium supply is necessary.

In general, asymptomatic hyponatremia should be treated with enteral fluids as tolerated or with intravenous 0.9% sodium chloride solution and, eventually, fluid intake restriction if the child presents normal or increased volume. Patients with hyponatremic encephalopathy (seizure, coma) should be aggressively treated with **Table 10.10** The causes of syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secretion

| Central nervous | Meningitis, encephalitis |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------|
| system | Multiple sclerosis, neuropathy |
| | Brain trauma, tumor, and abscess |
| | Нурохіа |
| | Hydrocephalus |
| | Drugs (vincristine, salicylates) |
| | Cerebral thrombosis of |
| | hemorrhage |
| | Subarachnoid hemorrhage or |
| | subdural hemorrhage |
| Pulmonary | Pneumoniae |
| system | Asthma |
| - | Pneumothorax |
| | Positive pressure |
| Drugs | ADH analogs |
| 0 | Barbiturates |
| | Haloperidol, tricyclic, |
| | indomethacin, interferon, ecstasy |
| Miscellaneous | Tumors |
| | Postoperative and postprocedural |
| | patients |

an infusion of hypertonic 3% sodium chloride solution. 1 ml/kg of 3% sodium chloride will normally raise the serum sodium by 1 mEq/L, and attention should be paid to the rate of Na⁺ increase, which should not be higher than 1-2 mEq/L/h to avoid complications such as pontine myelinolysis. Hypertonic saline should be administered via a central vein, but it is important not to delay sodium administration for the insertion of the central venous line. The amount of Na⁺ required can be calculated as:

mmol of Na⁺ required = $(130 - \text{present serum Na}^+) \times 0.6 \times \text{Weight}(\text{kg})$

Sodium should be raised aggressively until serum Na⁺ reaches 125–130 mEq/L, or after clinical improvement. A slower Na⁺ correction should take place at this stage, and a 0.9% sodium chloride solution should be used. The addition of dextrose to this solution is still controversial, as generating hyperglycemia might worsen brain injury, and thus, should be considered on a case to case basis. During Na⁺ replacement, patients should be monitored for signs of increased ICP, and electrolytes should be rechecked every 4 h until Na⁺ is >130 mEq/L and, then, at least twice a day for the following 48 h. Finally, particular attention should be paid to patients with EVDs in situ, who might be more prone to hyponatremia due to sodium loss in CSF. The Na⁺ levels in CSF are similar to those of plasma, and when the EVD drainage rate is >10 ml/h, Na⁺ loss should be monitored and accurately replaced [32–34].

10.5.2 Hypernatremia

In hospitalized children, hypernatremia (serum Na⁺ >150 mEq/L) commonly occurs due to excessive water loss, restricted intake, or an inability to respond to thirst. It is, therefore, generally related to a systemic dehydrated status (Table 10.11). The magnitude of the hypernatremia signs is more severe when it develops rapidly or when serum Na⁺ >160 mEq/L, while chronic hypernatremia is often well tolerated. The severity of dehydration might be underestimated if clinical signs alone are used, compared to weight loss.

Improvement of hydration and establishing euvolemia should be targeted with 0.9% sodium chloride, given in boluses of 20 ml/kg. Once the initial fluid replacement is done, complete correction of hypernatremia should be done very slowly over at least 48 h to prevent cerebral edema, seizures, and brain injury. The correction rate should be no more than 12 mmol/kg/day and done with 0.45% or 0.9% sodium chloride with dextrose [35].

10.5.3 Diabetes Insipidus (DI)

Neurosurgical patients, especially with suprasellar tumors, are at high risk for many postoperative complications, including DI (Table 10.12). The deficiency of ADH secretion

 Table 10.11
 Causes of hypernatremia in the pediatric population

| Causes of | |
|-------------------|-----------------------------------------------|
| hypernatremia | Clinical presentation |
| Low total body se | odium |
| Extrarenal | Vomit, diarrhea, profuse sweating |
| losses | Osmotic diuresis (mannitol, glucose, |
| Renal losses | urea) |
| Inadequate | Insufficient lactation |
| intake | |
| Increased total b | ody sodium |
| Increased Na | Excessive administration of Na ⁺ , |
| intake | near-drowning (seawater) |
| Normal total bod | ly sodium |
| Extrarenal | Respiratory insensible losses, |
| losses | dermal insensible losses (fever, |
| Renal | burns, radiant warmers, |
| | phototherapy) |
| | Diabetes insipidus |

Table 10.12 Causes of diabetes insipidus

| Central | Clinical presentations |
|-------------|-----------------------------------------|
| Congenital | Inherited, idiopathic |
| Acquired | Cerebral trauma, sellar/suprasellar |
| | tumors |
| | Infections (meningitis, encephalitis) |
| | Post-neurosurgical procedures |
| | Vascular, aneurysms, thrombosis, etc. |
| Nephrogenic | 2 |
| Congenital | Inherited, mutation |
| Acquired | Renal failure, tubular disease |
| | Hypercalcemia, K ⁺ depletion |
| | Drugs (alcohol, lithium, diuretics, |
| | amphotericin B, etc.) |
| | Dietary abnormalities (primary |
| | polydipsia, decreased sodium intake) |
results in intravascular solvent loss, polyuria, and, dehydration, with consequent hypernatremia, which can occur within the first postoperative hours. In patients who underwent pituitary surgery, DI should always be suspected, and if serum Na⁺ level increases over 150 mEq/L, with urinary sodium levels below 20 mEq/L, polyuria, and dehydration. The therapy for DI is desmopressin, a synthetic ADH analog, which should be administered early to prevent metabolic complications described above. This medication can be administered intravenously, orally, or intranasally. Hypotonic saline solutions (e.g., 0.45% NaCl, 0.45% NaCl +5% dextrose, 0.18% NaCl +10% dextrose, 0.18% NaCl +4% dextrose, and 10% dextrose solutions) should only be used to treat active hypernatremia (Na >150 mEq/L) [36].

10.5.4 Hyperkalemia

Hyperkalemia (serum $K^+ > 5.5 \text{ mEq/L}$ in infants and >6 mEq/L in neonates) can cause general skeletal muscle weakness and substantial ECG changes, especially when serum K⁺ >7 mEq/L. Hyperkalemia is most commonly an artifact due to either hemolysis or release of K⁺ during clot formation in the specimen tube. Other causes of hypopotassemia are drugs, including β-blockers and digitalis, myonecrosis, and acidosis, as well as renal disorders or failure [37]. First-line treatment of hyperkalemia should include the administration of 100 µg/kg of 10% calcium gluconate. The second line of treatment consists of administration of sodium bicarbonate (1-2 mmol/kg), an infusion of 0.3-0.5 mg/kg/h of glucose with 1 unit of insulin for every 5 gm of glucose added, or an infusion of 2.5-5 mg of nebulized salbutamol (5 μ g/kg in neonates, IV) to increase intracellular shift of potassium. Finally, the removal of potassium from the body is achieved by administering 125-250 mg/kg calcium resonium rectally or orally,

by using either furosemide (1 mg/kg), dialysis, or hemofiltration.

10.5.5 Hypokalemia

Hypokalemia (serum $K^+ < 3.5 \text{ mEq/L}$) is usually caused by diuretic therapy. In intensive care and perioperative settings, additional causes include nasogastric suctioning, magnesium deficiency, and alkalosis or loss of K⁺ as a consequence of vomiting/diarrhea. Children are usually asymptomatic until K⁺ reaches 2.5 mEq/L, and then they might present with muscular symptoms such as cramps, cardiological complications (including arrhythmias, reduced cardiac contractility, ECG alterations like U waves, loss of T waves, and QT prolongation), and neurological deterioration. Hypokalemia is associated with poor outcomes in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and therefore should be aggressively treated [38]. This is also true for symptomatic hypokalemic children [39]. Management should focus on reversing the transcellular shifts (alkalosis) and on potassium replacement. Potassium can be administered orally (3-5 mmol/kg/day) or intravenously (recommended in severe hypokalemia, i.e., serum K⁺ <3 mEq/L). Potassium correction should not be faster than 0.25 mmol/kg/h while using a maximal peripheral concentration of 40 mEq/L of KCl. When a rapid correction is being done, it is essential to carry out the administration via a central line while monitoring the patient in the intensive care unit [38].

10.5.6 Hypocalcemia

Hypocalcemia (defined as corrected total Ca²⁺ <2 mEq/L, or <1.5 mEq/L in neonates) may produce various symptoms, including perioral, finger, and toe paresthesia, spasm, cardiac alterations including prolonged QT interval, and reduced cardiac contractility. Immediate treatment includes 10% calcium gluconate (0.5 ml/kg, up to a maximum of 20 ml over 10 min) or a solution of 10% calcium chloride (0.2 ml/kg, up to a maximum of 10 ml over 10 min), possibly through a central venous route. Newborns are prone to hypocalcemia due to physiologically lower albumin concentration, a normal fall occurring after birth, which later rises after the second day, and maternal diabetes mellitus. Other causes include encephalopathy, renal failure, DiGeorge syndrome, and disordered maternal metabolism [38].

10.5.7 Hypercalcemia

Hypercalcemia presents with a low incidence (<1% of hospitalized patients), and most of the cases are caused by hyperparathyroidism or malignant tumors. More rare causes include thyrotoxicosis and drugs. Presentation is nonspecific, including cardiovascular (hypotension/ hypovolemia and shortened QT interval on ECG), renal (polyuria, nephrocalcinosis), and neurological alterations. Patients require treatment if symptomatic, or if ionized $Ca^{2+} > 3.5 \text{ mEq/L}$ (14 mg/dL). Hypercalcemia can also produce hypercalciuria, which results in osmotic diuresis and hypovolemia. These patients are volume depleted and, therefore, require saline infusions; furosemide can be used to enhance excretion, but it can exacerbate hypovolemia and hypotension.

10.5.8 Hypophosphatemia

Hypophosphatemia is seen when serum phosphate levels fall below 0.8 mEq/L (or <2.7 mg/ dL) and occurs in 17–28% of postoperative patients. When glucose moves into cells, phosphate usually follows it, and thus, glucose overloading is the most common cause of hypophosphatemia in hospitalized patients [35]. Hypophosphatemia is often clinically asymptomatic, and even at levels of <1.0 mg/dL, it may not produce any obvious effects. However, common symptoms include muscle weakness and respiratory depression, and therefore, phosphate levels are to be monitored with attention in the postop-

erative period. Hypophosphatemia can lower cardiac output (CO), and patients with low CO and heart failure may respond to supplementation [38]. Phosphate replacement can be started intravenously if levels are very low, but when phosphate levels are higher than 2.0 mg/dL, a replacement can be given orally.

10.5.9 Hyperphosphatemia

It usually occurs after renal insufficiency (decreased secretion), widespread cell death related to tumor lysis, or rhabdomyolysis. Sucralfate calcium acetate tablets or antacids can be used to reduce serum levels.

10.5.10 Hypomagnesemia

Hypomagnesemia is found in 15% of ward patients and 60% of ICU patients. Main causes include other electrolyte abnormalities (hypohypophosphatemia, kalemia, hyponatremia, hypocalcemia), drugs (diuretics, furosemide, aminoglycosides, digitalis, amphotericin, cyclosporine), diarrhea, alcohol, and diabetes. The clinical findings include cardiac manifestations, ischemia, arrhythmia, and neurological deterioration. Hypomagnesemia has been shown to be studied in relation to vasospasm in patients with SAH, in both animal and human models. In a study including 283 SAH patients, 4 days of magnesium treatment compared with normal saline showed a favorable trend in the development of delayed cerebral ischemia (reduced by 34%) and resulted in a better outcome at 3 months [40]. Still, its role in a SAH is considered controversial.

10.5.11 Hypermagnesemia

Hypermagnesemia is found in up to 5% of hospitalized patients. The risk factors include massive hemolysis, renal adrenal insufficiency, hyperparathyroidism, and lithium toxicity. Magnesium is a calcium channel blocker, and thus, the prominent effects of hypermagnesemia are cardiac (ECG alteration, including prolonged AV conduction, heart block, and cardiac arrest). To treat hypermagnesemia, IV calcium gluconate (1 mg over 2–3 min) should be given, and eventually, if not effective, dialysis should be started. With preserved renal function, aggressive fluid resuscitation and furosemide are appropriate as well.

10.6 Conclusions

Recognizing the diverse nature of pediatric neurosurgery complications is imperative for appropatient management priate during the perioperative periods. Disturbances in salts and water balances are relatively common in children, and present diagnostic and therapeutic challenges, especially after brain surgeries for suprasellar and pituitary tumors. Sodium disturbances, and in particular hyponatremia, are the most common and critical disturbances, even if DI is commonly encountered as well. A proper fluid balance assessment and a prompt diagnosis are mandatory to improve the outcome of the pediatric neurosurgical population.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Rekate HL. The pediatric neurosurgical patient: the challenge of growing up. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2009;16(1):2–8.
- Bilotta F, Rosa G. Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(25):2635. author reply 2635-2636
- Thy M, Montmayeur J, Julien-Marsollier F, Michelet D, Brasher C, Dahmani S, et al. Safety and efficacy of perioperative administration of hydroxyethyl starch in children undergoing surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2018;35(7):484–95.
- Choong K, Kho ME, Menon K, Bohn D. Hypotonic versus isotonic saline in hospitalised children: a systematic review. Arch Dis Child. 2006;91(10):828–35.
- Leelanukrom R, Cunliffe M. Intraoperative fluid and glucose management in children. Pediatr Anesth. 2000;10(4):353–9.
- Mikawa K, Maekawa N, Goto R, Tanaka O, Yaku H, Obara H. Effects of exogenous intravenous glucose on

plasma glucose and lipid homeostasis in anesthetized children. Anesthesiology. 1991;74(6):1017–22.

- SAFE Study Investigators, Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society Clinical Trials Group, Australian Red Cross Blood Service, George Institute for International Health, Myburgh J, Cooper DJ, et al. Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(9):874–84.
- Welborn LG, McGill WA, Hannallah RS, Nisselson CL, Ruttimann UE, Hicks JM. Perioperative blood glucose concentrations in pediatric outpatients. Anesthesiology. 1986;65(5):543–7.
- 9. Perioperative_Fluid_Management_2007.pdf [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 21] https://www.apagbi. org.uk/sites/default/files/inline-files/Perioperative_ Fluid_Management_2007.pdf
- Cook-Sather SD, Nicolson SC, Schreiner MS, Maxwell LG, Park JJ, Gallagher PR, et al. Proponents of liberalized fasting guidelines. Anesthesiology. 2005;102(1):236–7. author reply 238
- 11. Smith I, Kranke P, Murat I, Smith A, O'Sullivan G, Søreide E, et al. Perioperative fasting in adults and children: guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2011;28(8):556–69.
- Paut O, Lacroix F. Recent developments in the perioperative fluid management for the paediatric patient. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2006;19(3):268–77.
- Zornow MH, Prough DS. Fluid management in patients with traumatic brain injury. New Horiz Baltim Md. 1995;3(3):488–98.
- Bissonnette B, Dalens BJ. Renal function, acid-base and electrolyte homeostasis. In: principles & practice of pediatric anesthesia. London: McGraw-Hill Education - Europe; 2002.
- Advanced Paediatric Life Support: A Practical Approach to Emergencies, 6th Edition | Wiley [Internet]. 6th ed. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2016 [cited 2020 Nov 21].
- Oh TH. Formulas for calculating fluid maintenance requirements. Anesthesiology. 1980;53(4):351.
- Furman EB, Roman DG, Lemmer LA, Hairabet J, Jasinska M, Laver MB. Specific therapy in water, electrolyte and blood-volume replacement during pediatric surgery. Anesthesiology. 1975;42(2):187–93.
- Berry FA. Practical aspects of fluid and electrolyte therapy. In: Anesthetic management of difficult and routine pediatric patients. 2nd Ed ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1986. p. 107–35.
- Cooper DJ, Myles PS, McDermott FT, Murray LJ, Laidlaw J, Cooper G, et al. Prehospital hypertonic saline resuscitation of patients with hypotension and severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2004;291(11):1350–7.
- Dubick MA, Wade CE. A review of the efficacy and safety of 7.5% NaCl/6% dextran 70 in experimental animals and in humans. J Trauma. 1994;36(3):323–30.
- 21. Datta PK, Aravindan A. Glucose for children during surgery: pros, cons, and protocols: a post-

graduate educational review. Anesth Essays Res. 2017;11(3):539-43.

- Cunliffe M. Fluid and electrolyte management in children. BJA CEPD Rev. 2003;3(1):1–4.
- Lacroix J, Hébert PC, Hutchison JS, Hume HA, Tucci M, Ducruet T, et al. Transfusion strategies for patients in pediatric intensive care units. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(16):1609–19.
- Kelly A, Machovec, Craig WB. Pediatric fluid management. In: Kaye AD, editor. Essentials of Pediatric Anesthesiology. Illustrated edition. Cambridge University Press; 2014. p. 298–304.
- Mahanna E, McGrade H, Afshinnik A, Iwuchukwu I, Sherma AK, Sabharwal V. Management of sodium abnormalities in the neurosurgical intensive care unit. Curr Anesthesiol Rep. 2015;4(5):387–92.
- 26. Yi L, Liu Z, Qiao L, Wan C, Mu D. Does stroke volume variation predict fluid responsiveness in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(5) [cited 2020 Nov 21]. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5428964/
- Lee J-H, Kim E-H, Jang Y-E, Kim H-S, Kim J-T. Fluid responsiveness in the pediatric population. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2019;72(5):429–40.
- Moritz ML, Ayus JC. Preventing neurological complications from dysnatremias in children. Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger. 2005;20(12):1687–700.
- Upadhyay UM, Gormley WB. Etiology and management of hyponatremia in neurosurgical patients. J Intensive Care Med. 2012;27(3):139–44.
- 30. Sherlock M, O'Sullivan E, Agha A, Behan LA, Rawluk D, Brennan P, et al. The incidence and pathophysiology of hyponatraemia after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Clin Endocrinol. 2006;64(3):250–4.
- 31. Rahman M, Friedman WA. Hyponatremia in neurosurgical patients: clinical guidelines develop-

ment. Neurosurgery. 2009;65(5):925–35. discussion 935-936

- Bettinelli A, Longoni L, Tammaro F, Faré PB, Garzoni L, Bianchetti MG. Renal salt-wasting syndrome in children with intracranial disorders. Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger. 2012;27(5):733–9.
- Holliday MA, Segar WE. The maintenance need for water in parenteral fluid therapy. Pediatrics. 1957;19(5):823–32.
- Moritz ML. Syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis and cerebral salt wasting syndrome: are they different and does it matter? Pediatr Nephrol Berl Ger. 2012;27(5):689–93.
- Moritz ML, Ayus JC. The changing pattern of hypernatremia in hospitalized children. Pediatrics. 1999;104(3 Pt 1):435–9.
- 36. Yamada S, Fukuhara N, Oyama K, Takeshita A, Takeuchi Y, Ito J, et al. Surgical outcome in 90 patients with craniopharyngioma: an evaluation of transsphenoidal surgery. World Neurosurg. 2010;74(2–3):320–30.
- Alimohamadi M, Saghafinia M, Alikhani F, Danial Z, Shirani M, Amirjamshidi A. Impact of electrolyte imbalances on the outcome of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective study. Asian J Neurosurg. 2016;11(1):29–33.
- Bilotta F, Guerra C, Rosa G. Update on anesthesia for craniotomy. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2013;26(5):517–22.
- Daly K, Farrington E. Hypokalemia and hyperkalemia in infants and children: pathophysiology and treatment. J Pediatr Health Care. 2013;27(6):486–96. quiz 497–8
- van den Bergh Walter M. Magnesium sulfate in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke. 2005;36(5):1011–5.

11

Blood Loss and Transfusion in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery

Rajeeb Kumar Mishra 💿 and Girija Prasad Rath 💿

Key Points

- Pediatric patients undergoing neurosurgical interventions are vulnerable to intraoperative bleeding.
- Pediatric physiology is diverse from that of adults, which precludes them from enduring even a small quantity of blood loss over a short duration.
- Various pediatric neurosurgical procedures are prone to massive blood loss, management of which requires a thorough understanding of body physiology, usage of blood products, and appropriate monitoring methods.
- Contemporary blood conservation techniques with special attention to the pharmacologic aspects of reducing transfusion requirements should be employed whenever deemed necessary.
- One should also know the adverse effects of blood transfusion, especially during a massive blood transfusion.

R. K. Mishra

Department of Neuroanaesthesia and Neurocritical Care, National Institute of Mental Health and NeuroSciences (NIMHANS), Bengaluru, India

G. P. Rath (⊠)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

11.1 Introduction

Pediatric blood transfusion practices during neurosurgical procedures differ from those of adults with regard to physiologic and hematologic considerations. Such differences dictate different guidelines for blood transfusion practices. In addition, pediatric patients are more susceptible to certain transfusion-related complications as compared to their adult counterparts [1]. A hemovigilance database that included both adults and children receiving transfusion revealed the incidence of reactions to be higher in children than the adults (6.2 vs.)2.4 per 1000 transfusions) [1]. The pediatric patients present with more incidence of allergic, febrile non-hemolytic, and hypotensive transfusion reactions [1]. Oxygen consumption in children is higher as compared to adults [2]. As the myocardium of a newborn operates to the full potential to meet the higher oxygen demand, it may not be able to compensate for diminished oxygen capacity by further increasing cardiac output and, thus, have a higher likelihood of cardiac decompensation and ischemia under stressful circumstances [2]. Optimal hemoglobin concentrations are, thus, higher in newborns as compared to the adults. The term neonate has mean hemoglobin values of 16.5 gm/dL [3], and the hemoglobin concentrations vary in children

Check for updates

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_11

| | | Mean | -2 standard |
|------------------------|---------|---------------|-------------|
| | | hemoglobin | deviations |
| Age | | level (gm/dL) | (gm/dL) |
| At birth (term infant) | | 16.5 | 13.5 |
| 1 month | | 13.9 | 10.7 |
| 2 months | | 11.2 | 9.4 |
| 3–6 months | | 11.5 | 9.5 |
| 6 months to 2 years | | 12.0 | 10.5 |
| 2–6 years | | 12.5 | 11.5 |
| 6-12 years | | 13.5 | 11.5 |
| 12-18 years | Males | 14.5 | 13.0 |
| | Females | 14.0 | 12.0 |

 Table 11.1
 Age-based hemoglobin levels in children and adolescents

and adolescents in an age-related manner (Table 11.1) [3]. Fetal hemoglobin (HbF) in the full-term newborn is highest at birth, decreasing at 5% per week until 6 months [4]. The basic differences between HbF and adult hemoglobin (HbA) are that HbF is of short life-span (90 vs. 120 days), poorly interact with 2–3-diphosphoglycerate (2–3-DPG), and have a decreased partial pressure of oxygen at which hemoglobin is 50% saturated (P_{50} ; 19 vs. 27 mmHg) [5]. HbF shows a leftward shift of oxygen-hemoglobin (O_2 -Hb) dissociation curve as a result of the high affinity of HbF for oxygen. Hence, younger infants have a lesser oxygen-carrying capacity, and thus, the target hemoglobin concentration

for transfusion red blood cells (RBC) to begin in a neonate should be higher than a much older child or a healthy adult [2]. Compared to a fullterm infant, premature infants have larger fractions of HbF and decreased erythropoietin production as an appropriate response to anemia [2]. Besides that, during early life (8–10 weeks of age), a gradual progressive decline in hemoglobin concentrations is observed in infants without any clinical evidence of anemia. This decline in hemoglobin is physiological and often referred to as "early anemia of infancy." [6] After reaching this nadir, hemoglobin concentrations begin to rise, ultimately attaining adult levels by 2 years of life [6].

11.2 Blood Volume Calculation

To manage blood loss and initiate blood transfusion, one must understand the maximum allowable blood loss (MABL) and estimated blood volume (EBV) [7]. The EBV is in the range of 90–100, 80–90, 70–80, and 70 ml/kg among preterm, neonates, infants, and children, respectively. The preoperative estimation of MABL may help to manage intraoperative blood loss and subsequent transfusions.

$$MABL = \frac{Starting Hematocrit - Target Hematocrit}{Starting Hematocrit} \times EBV$$

Blood transfusion is initiated once the estimated blood loss (EBL) reaches the calculated MABL [7]. However, preterm infants, children with comorbidities such as respiratory failure and congenital cyanotic heart disease, and those with mismatched ventilation and perfusion and a higher hematocrit (Hct) should be targeted for starting RBC transfusion [7]. The lost blood is usually replaced with either crystalloid in a ratio of 3 mL crystalloid for 1 mL of blood or in a ratio of 1:1 if colloids are preferred as a replacement [7]. However, in adults, studies have shown that the optimal ratio of crystalloids to blood loss is 1.5:1, which is more restrictive than the traditional 3:1 ratio [8].

11.3 Conditions Prone to Intraoperative Bleeding

Of particular note in pediatric neurosurgery, scenarios such as craniofacial surgeries, resection of vascular malformations (arteriovenous malformations), and highly vascular tumors (meningi-

| INCUIOSU | gical condition(s) |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Craniosy | iostosis: |
| etion • Sync | comic: Apert's syndrome, Crouzon's syndrome, Pfeiffer syndrome |
| nents • Non- | syndromic: Multi-suture involvement |
| ormations • Intra | ranial aneurysm |
| • Arte | ovenous malformations |
| Vein | of Galen malformation |
| scular • Choi | pid plexus papilloma |
| • Men | ngioma |
| • Med | lloblastoma (posterior fossa surgery) |
| • Tum | rs involving large vessels and sinuses |
| • Glor | us tumor |
| • Naso | pharyngeal angiofibroma |
| both • Prim | ary CNS sarcoma |
| • Seco | ndary metastatic CNS sarcoma. |
| Medical | intractable epilepsy due to unilateral hemispheric lesions: |
| • Con | enital (hemimegalencephaly, extensive porencephaly, and |
| Stur | e-Weber syndrome) |
| Perin synd | atal disorders (Rasmussen encephalitis and Lennox-Gastaut |
| traumatic • Acut | extradural hematoma |
| • Acut | subdural hematoma and contusion |
| | |
| rgery. • Scol | osis |
| my and • Cran | overtebral junction anomaly |
| n | |
| | |
| and | |
| | |
| nents nemts Non- rmations rmations rmations rmations reaction rmations reaction reac | syndromic: Multi-suture involvement ranial aneurysm ovenous malformations of Galen malformation oid plexus papilloma ngioma Illoblastoma (posterior fossa surgery) rs involving large vessels and sinuses us tumor pharyngeal angiofibroma rry CNS sarcoma idary metastatic CNS sarcoma. v intractable epilepsy due to unilateral hemispheric lesions: enital (hemimegalencephaly, extensive porencephaly, and e-Weber syndrome) atal disorders (Rasmussen encephalitis and Lennox-Gastaut ome) e extradural hematoma e subdural hematoma and contusion |

Table 11.2 Pediatric neurosurgical conditions prone to intraoperative bleeding

CNS central nervous system

oma), sarcoma, neurotrauma, epilepsy surgery (hemispherectomy), and scoliosis correction surgery are prone to significant blood loss and massive fluid shifts (Table 11.2). In children undergoing excision of brain tumors, the predictors of intraoperative blood transfusion are age < 4 years, a preoperative hemoglobin < 12.2gm/dL, and the duration of surgery >270 min [9]. In pediatric patients with age less than 10 years, undergoing hemivertebra resection, preoperatively determined total Cobb's angle and the number of fused levels were independently associated with the total blood loss [10]. In children undergoing craniosynostosis surgery, younger age, lower weight, and longer duration of surgery predisposed the children to transfusion of more than 50% circulating blood volume (CBV) [11].

11.4 Blood Transfusion Goals [12]

The hemorrhage management goals in pediatric patients should target the following principles:

- Hemodynamic stability should be maintained.
- End-organ perfusion and oxygen delivery should be preserved.
- Avoidance of excessive transfusion by using the point-of-care (POC) modalities and apt use of blood products.
- Reduction and early recognition of adverse effects associated with transfusion.
- Prevention of the dangerous triad of acidosis, coagulopathy, and hypothermia.

The maintenance of hemodynamic stability is of utmost priority; hence, temporizing measures such as vasopressor support are often required to maintain the blood pressure [13]. The use of lactate, base-deficit measurements [14], urine output, and near-infrared spectrometry (NIRS)-based cerebral oxygenation monitoring can help monitor end-organ perfusion. POC modalities such as rotational thromboelastometry (ROTEM) guide blood and component transfusion, especially during massive transfusion (MT), effectively decrease transfusion requirements and associated complication rates, and ultimately reduce healthcare costs [15].

11.5 Perioperative Monitoring of Blood Loss

11.5.1 Perfusion of Vital Organs Monitoring

As discussed previously, the goal of blood transfusion is to maintain hemodynamic stability and ensure adequate end-organ perfusion and oxygen delivery [12]. The intensity of monitoring depends on the extent of surgery and, hence, depends on the expected blood loss. The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) recommends heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation, capnography, and urine output monitoring in addition to clinical evaluation as a part of management. Hemoglobin and hematocrit (Hct) monitoring and arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis are based on clinical signs and EBL. Monitoring with invasive arterial blood pressure and central venous pressure is decided as per individual cases. Mixed venous oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and regional cerebral oxygen saturation using NIRS technology can be considered additional monitoring modalities. However, the central venous oxygen saturation (ScvO₂) can be used as an alternate to SvO_2 , the latter being more invasive [16].

11.5.2 Noninvasive Hemoglobin Monitoring

Technological advancements allow us to measure the real-time concentration of hemoglobin inside the operative room (OR), allowing us to decide on blood transfusion requirements. Numerous such devices exist, which measures the concentration of hemoglobin noninvasively [17]. One such device is the Radical-7 Pulse CO-Oximeter (Masimo Corporation, Irvine, CA), which can continuously estimate hemoglobin concentration (SpHb) in a noninvasive manner. A coefficient of correlation of 0.53 (P < 0.001) between SpHb and arterial sample hemoglobin (tHb) was observed in children undergoing neurosurgery [18]. However, the average difference (bias) between tHb and SpHb was 0.90 gm/ dL (95% confidence interval [CI], 0.48-1.32 gm/ dL), and 1 standard deviation of the difference was 1.35 gm/dL [18]. Hence, it was suggested that the SpHb values should be used cautiously while making transfusion decisions [18].

11.5.3 Intraoperative Blood Loss Estimation

Ongoing blood loss estimation is always a daunting task for anesthesiologists. Continuous visual assessment of the surgical field provides significant input, but inaccuracies always plague it. To improve the accuracy of visual estimation, one group of authors conducted an experiment where they mimicked surgical blood loss, using aspirated blood and different sizes of surgical gauze and photographed to create an analog of real surgical loss, which can be used to estimate the blood loss [19]. Quantitative measurement includes checking suction canisters, surgical sponges, and surgical drains. However, in pediatric patients, these methods might not be accurate. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to remain vigilant and observe the surgical field as well as use other adjuncts whenever available for making transfusion decisions.

11.5.4 Coagulation Monitoring [20]

Intraoperative coagulation monitoring can be theranostics, i.e., to diagnose and treat the underlying pathophysiological derangements during perioperative bleeding [15]. Periodic assessment of blood loss and communication with the surgical team are fundamental practices to detect impending or established coagulopathy. The utility of conventional coagulation tests, namely, prothrombin time (PT), partial thromboplastin time (PTT), and fibrinogen concentrations, during the intraoperative period is limited. Activated clotting time (ACT) monitoring is advised when a large intravenous (IV) dose of heparin is used intraoperatively or during interventional neuroradiological procedures.

11.5.5 Point-of-Care (POC) Coagulation Tests

Point-of-care (POC) tests [21] are employed to interpret the pathology rapidly and comprehensively, which allow the anesthesiologists to initiate the corrective measures early. POC coagulation tests such as thromboelastography (TEG), ROTEM, and sonoclot measurements are essential for patient blood management (PBM) [15]. The frequently used POC tests are TEG and ROTEM, which analyze the viscoelastic properties of blood, thus determining which component in the coagulation cascade is at fault. Age-specific reference ranges are described for all pediatric age group, which may be employed for monitoring coagulation in children [22].

11.6 Blood and Component Transfusion [23–25]

11.6.1 Red Blood Cell (RBC) Transfusion [24, 25]

The recommendations from Pediatric Critical Care Transfusion and Anemia Expertise Initiative (TAXI) [24] provide essential guidance and applicable tools to reduce superfluous RBC transfusion in critically ill pediatric patients (Table 11.3). However, as per the consensus panel recommendation, it is advised to transfuse RBC if hemoglobin concentration is between 7 and 10 gm/dL in pediatric patients with acute brain injury (e.g., trauma, stroke) [25]. The use of brain oxygen monitoring to guide RBC transfusion is not advised due to the lack of supporting literature to date [25]. In a randomized control trial (RCT) in pediatric critically ill patients, the use of restrictive blood transfusion strategy (hemoglobin trigger of ≤ 7 gm/dL) was considered better regarding the hemodynamic and laboratory values during the early period as compared to liberal transfusion strategy [26]. The implementation of PBM with restrictive transfusion trigger (<7 gm/dL) along with the use of prophylactic tranexamic acid, intraoperative cell recovery, and goal-directed therapy as per TEG

Table 11.3 Pediatric Critical Care Transfusion andAnemia Expertise Initiative (TAXI) recommendations[24]

| Recommendations | Level of evidence/ |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Recommendations RBC transfusion is recommended in critically ill children or those at risk for critical illness if the hemoglobin concentration is <5 gm/dL The TAXI cannot recommend a specific RBC transfusion decision-making strategy based upon physiologic metrics and | recommendation Strong recommendation Low-quality pediatric evidence Consensus panel expertise |
| Provide provide the provided and the provided a | Strong recommendation Moderate-quality pediatric evidence |
| • There is insufficient evidence to recommend transfusion thresholds in critically ill children who have a hemoglobin concentration between 5 and 7 gm/dL | Consensus panel expertise |
| • After the transfusion, a reasonable hemoglobin goal should be in a range between 7.0 gm/dL and 9.5 gm/dL | Weak recommendation, low-quality pediatric evidence |

resulted in a substantial reduction of transfusion in the adolescents undergoing correction of idiopathic scoliosis [27].

In most cases, a volume of packed RBC (PRBC) in the range of 10–20 mL/kg is often

PRBC volume(mL) = weight(kg)×hemoglobin increment(gm / dL)×transfusion factor

[Transfusion factor = 3/Hematocrit of transfused PRBC]

Therefore, a 10 mL/kg of transfused PRBC (60% Hct) provides a 2 gm/dL increment of hemoglobin.

11.6.2 Platelet Transfusion [23, 29]

Platelets are indicated in the following situations.

- (a) Age of the infant less than 4 months
 - Platelet count <20–30,000/µL in infants lacking platelet production.
 - Invasive procedures (other than neurological surgeries) or minor surgery: platelet count <50,000/µL.
 - Neurologic invasive procedures: platelet count <100,000/µL.
- (b) *Age of infant* ≥ 4 *months*
 - Prophylactic platelet transfusion is indicated with a platelet count <10,000/µL, as these patients are prone to spontaneous bleeding.
 - Transfusion of platelets is needed if the count <50,000/µL, preceding an urgent or emergent invasive procedure.
 - A count of more than 100,000/µL of platelets is recommended in patients scheduled for neurosurgical procedures.

If the expected blood loss is more than 40% of CBV, the platelets and clotting factors may be transfused to maintain hemostasis. The platelet dose recommended for transfusion is 1-2 units/10 kg or 10-15 ml/kg [30].

11.6.3 Fresh Frozen Plasma [23, 29, 30]

Fresh frozen plasma (FFP) contains all the factors of coagulation. Transfusion of FFP is indicated in specific factor deficiency only when factors are not readily available. FFP can be transfused as a supportive treatment in hepatic dysfunction, disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), or vitamin K insufficiency. FFP can be considered for replacement therapy in protein C or S deficiency and congenital antithrombin deficiency. FFP transfusion is a part of a massive transfusion protocol (MTP) to replenish the clotting factors. The volume of FFP needed for transfusion is 1 unit/10 kg or 10–15 ml/kg [23, 30], which increases the concentration of coagulation factor by 15–25% [29].

11.6.4 Cryoprecipitate

One unit of cryoprecipitate (10–15 mL) contains fibrinogen (150–250 mg), factor VIII (80–

used for initial transfusion [14]. However, to avoid the risk of over-transfusion, a formulabased (as below) estimation of PRBC transfusion volume may be used in pediatric patients [28]. 100 units), factor XIII, von Willebrand factor (VWF), and fibronectin. The recommended dose is 1–2 units/10 kg [23] or 5 ml/kg [29]. Cryoprecipitate is indicated [23] when there is bleeding in the presence of hypofibrinogenemia (fibrinogen <100–150 mg/dL), von Willebrand disease, hemophilia A, and factor XIII deficiency.

11.7 Massive Transfusion (MT) and Massive Transfusion Protocol (MTP)

Definitions of massive transfusion (MT) in adult patients do not apply to pediatric patients, and there are very few established definitions available. Blood transfusion in children is considered massive when the PRBC transfusion amounts to more than 50% of the total blood volume (TBV) in 3 h and >100% of TBV in 24 h or the PRBC transfusion supports to replace ongoing blood loss of >10% TBV per minute [31, 32]. MT involves selecting the appropriate type and amounts of blood components to be administered. The multipronged role of MTP is to help in guiding the ongoing resuscitation, providing logistic support, and preventing coagulopathy before it takes place. In adults, the application of MTP consequently achieved faster delivery of blood components, reduced rates of multi-organ dysfunction, and resulted in better 30-day survival [33]. Although MTP in pediatric trauma patients did not show any mortality benefit, the time to transfusion was reduced [34]. In MT, the blood component replacement is done to restore the hemostasis. Many adult MTP suggest a ratio of 1:1:1 of PRBC-FFP-platelets to represent whole blood loss best [32]. However, in pediatrics, most MT guidelines suggest a higher PRBC component advocating replacement in a PRBC-

FFP-platelet ratio of 2:1:1 [32]. Nevertheless, a study in severely injured children receiving MT at a PRBC-FFP ratio of 1:1 showed the highest survival rate; the higher ratios, such as 2:1 or \geq 3:1, were linked to increased mortality [35]. The use of POC coagulation tests significantly reduces the time for test results, thus guiding in transfusion.

Adjuvant therapeutic interventions, such as antifibrinolytics and local hemostatics, are frequently used to reduce perioperative blood loss. Clotting factor concentrates such as fibrinogen [36], prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC) [37], recombinant factors VIIa (rFVIIa), and factor XIII are used; their role in pediatric patients has not been studied adequately. As guided by the ROTEM analysis in children undergoing craniosynostosis repair surgery and requiring MT, administration of fibrinogen concentrate resulted in good hemostasis without adverse effects [36].

11.8 Consequences of Blood Transfusion

Blood transfusion carries various risks and consequences, starting from incompatibility, infectious risks, to various metabolic derangements. In a bleeding pediatric patient, the blood gas and electrolyte disturbances can magnify the risks to multiple levels.

11.8.1 Allergic and Febrile Nonhemolytic Reactions

Like adults, the children manifest allergic transfusion reactions and febrile non-hemolytic transfusion reactions (FNHTRs); however, these reactions occur variably. As compared to the adult population, the incidence of FNHTRs in children is more (0.47 vs. 1.9 per 1000 transfusions; p < 0.001) [1]. The allergic transfusion reaction and FNHTRs have been observed in 0.9% and 0.2% of the total number of transfused products [38].

11.8.2 Hemolytic Transfusion Reactions and Other Immunologic Considerations

The risk of hemolytic transfusion reactions is approximately 1:70,000 per unit [39]. Human error is the most common cause of a transfusion mismatch resulting in ABO incompatibility and hemolytic transfusion reactions, which can be mitigated by careful vigilance. Acute transfusion reactions occur during or within 24 h after blood transfusion, whereas the delayed complications occur later than 24 h after the blood product's transfusion [39].

Transfusion-associated graft vs. host disease is a possibility when lymphocytes are present in a transfused blood component and react with the host tissue. This is more of a concern for patients undergoing chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or other immunosuppressive therapies or for premature infants with a birth weight of less than 1200 gm [23]. Thus, irradiation of cellular blood components with an of 25Gy is recommended to hinder the lymphocyte proliferation effectively, thus reducing the possibility of graft vs. host disease [23].

11.8.3 Risk of Infectious Disease Transmission

In recent years, the risks of infection via transfusion have decreased owing to vigilant screening methods. The WHO recommends screening of donated blood for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis-B virus (HBV), hepatitis-C virus (HCV), and syphilis [40]. In India, all donated blood units undergo testing for the HIV antibodies (HIV1, 2), hepatitis-B surface antigen (HBsAg), hepatitis-C antibody, and malaria parasites [41].

11.8.4 Metabolic Repercussions

11.8.4.1 Hypocalcemia

Citrate, a calcium chelating agent present in the blood units, can cause hypocalcemia by chelating divalent calcium ions. Hypocalcemia is most often noticed in neonates and patients with impaired hepatic function leading to impaired metabolism of citrate. It is also observed during whole blood and FFP transfusion, as these products contain more concentration of citrate per unit volume [2]. Cardiac dysfunction can be prevented by maintaining the rate of transfusion lesser than 1 ml/kg/min, particularly the citrate containing products [2]. Dose of calcium gluconate is 15-30 mg/kg to treat hypocalcemia resulting from rapid transfusion [2]. Calcium chloride yields three times more ionized calcium than calcium gluconate; hence, the dose of calcium chloride is proposed to be 5-10 mg/kg in such scenarios [2].

11.8.4.2 Hyperkalemia

Transfusion-associated hyperkalemia is a risk involved in large volume transfusions in neonates and infants, leading to lethal cardiac arrhythmias. There is a linear relationship between the stored blood and hyperkalemia [42]. The incidence of hyperkalemia was found to be 4% (defined as serum $K^+ \ge 5.5 \text{ mEq/L}$) among a total of 160 units of PRBC transfused to 125 children; it further suggested that the hyperkalemia was more pronounced in patients who receive >12 days old stored blood [42]. Treatment of life-threatening arrhythmia caused by hyperkalemia warrants the use of calcium chloride (15-20 mg/kg). Alternately, calcium gluconate may be administered at a dose of 45-60 mg/kg. The other measures include administration of glucose and insulin, as well as administration of albuterol to shift potassium into the intracellular compartment [2].

11.8.4.3 Hypomagnesemia

Hypomagnesemia may also result in citrate chelating the divalent magnesium ions. In severe hypomagnesemia (<1.25 mg/dL), life-threatening arrhythmias can occur. The arrhythmias arising after transfusion of blood products may not respond to calcium administration. In such cases, magnesium sulfate may also be given at a bolus dose of 25–50 mg/kg, followed by an infusion of 30–60 mg/kg/24 h [2].

11.8.4.4 Acid-Base Changes

Transfusion of blood initially leads to an increased load of accumulated carbon dioxide and lactic acid, which results in a momentary mixed respiratory and metabolic acidosis. Carbon dioxide is ventilated out, and the lactic acid is buffered, leading to a null effect on acid-base status. Metabolic acidosis that occurs as a result of MT may signify underlying hypovolemia, insufficiency in tissue perfusion, hypoxemia, or the presence of systemic infections. Metabolic alkalosis seen with MT may occur secondary to citrate metabolism. Therefore, it is logical to limit the administration of sodium bicarbonate to treat the acid-base abnormalities [2].

11.8.4.5 Hypothermia

With the relatively large head size and body surface area, pediatric patients can quickly lose body heat and become hypothermic. Hypothermia adversely affects coagulation, oxygen delivery to tissues, and drug metabolism. Therefore, it is imperative to avoid hypothermia, especially during rapid administration of cold blood and blood products. Various warming methods are employed to maintain normothermia. At high transfusion rates (>100 ml/min), devices using magnetic induction (FMS 2000; Belmont Instrument Corp., Billerica, MA, USA) and countercurrent exchange system (Level 1 fast flow H-1200; Smiths Medical, London, UK) can prevent transfusion-associated hypothermia. Direct warming of the blood transfusion tubing or using an in-line warmer (Buddy, Belmont Instrument Corp.) can also be effective in maintaining the desired temperature at lower flow rates [32].

11.8.4.6 Transfusion-Associated Circulatory Overload (TACO)

Transfusion-associated circulatory overload (TACO) may result from transfusion of blood and blood components, with an overall incidence of

1-5.8% [43, 44]. However, in pediatric patients, the incidence varies from 1.5% to 76%, depending on the definitions used [44]. The possibility of TACO should be considered in patients developing breathing difficulty or hypertension during or within 6–12 h of transfusion [45].

11.8.4.7 Transfusion-Related Acute Lung Injury (TRALI)

Transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI) is an acute transfusion reaction characterized by respiratory distress, hypoxia, and diffuse bilateral pulmonary infiltrates seen on chest radiography during or within 6 h of transfusion [46, 47]. The incidence ranges from 0.02 to 1.12% per transfused blood product; a higher incidence of TRALI exceeding 5 to 8% has also been described in critically ill patients [47]. Unlike TACO, the risk of TRALI is not associated with the volume of the transfusion.

11.8.4.8 Transfusion-Related Immunomodulation (TRIM)

Immunosuppression, as a result of ABT, is termed as transfusion-related immunomodulation (TRIM) [48]. The TRIM concept attributed to either transfusion of pure RBC or the intermediate products from a stored RBC [49]. One should differentiate TRIM from other transfusion reactions such as alloimmunization, graft vs. host disease, and anaphylactic reactions related to ABT. TRIM is described in adults and older children; however, in premature infants, the occurrence of TRIM is negligible owing to their immature immune system [49]. Increased concentrations of interleukin-8 (IL-8) and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM) are often considered markers of TRIM. In premature infants, both these TRIM markers were monitored in a study; however, the immunomodulatory effects of RBC transfusion were not observed [50].

11.8.4.9 Blood Transfusion and Postoperative Morbidity in Children

There are pieces of evidence in the literature which link transfusion of blood to several postop-

erative morbidities in adult patients, such as the increased likelihood of infective complications, organ dysfunctions, longer hospital stay, early and late mortality, and total cost [51]. The large volume of PRBC is associated with longer mechanical ventilation and longer intensive care unit (ICU) stay [52]. Among the pediatric patients (median age of 27.5 months), blood transfusion was found to be an independent risk factor for postoperative complications [53]. It was observed that postoperative cardiocirculatory and respiratory failure were common in the transfusion group. The most common postoperative infective complications were pulmonary and abdominal sepsis [53].

11.8.4.10 Clinical Effect of Aging of Stored RBC

Collection and storage of RBC for transfusion at a later time is associated with various morphological and biochemical changes. It includes membrane alterations leading to reduced deformability and potassium leakage from the RBC and decreased 2-3 DPG activities. However, the clinical implications of these changes are uncertain. There has been an ongoing debate on the transfusion of freshly collected RBC (<7 days old) versus prolonged storage of RBC (>7-14 days old), on the clinical implications. Lacorix et al. reported that stored RBCs more than 7-14 days old might impact the physiology of RBC and, thus, can have a negative impact on the susceptible population when transfused [54]. Subsequently, the same groups of authors have concluded that freshly collected RBC (<7 days) does not offer any clinical and economic benefit when transfused compared to standard aged RBC in critically ill adults [55]. A similar RCT on patients aged ≥ 12 years compared the fresher RBC $(\leq 10 \text{ days old})$ with older RBC $(\geq 21 \text{ days old})$. They maintained that the duration of storage was not associated with the occurrence of multi-organ dysfunction [56]. Also, it was observed that there was no difference in the rate of hospital-acquired infections, morbidity, and mortality in neonates based on the transfusion of stored RBC [57].

11.9 Perioperative Blood Conservation Strategies

Preoperative assessment of anemia and correction should begin at least 4–8 weeks before surgery [58]. Although hemoglobinopathies pose a unique challenge, adequate preoperative evaluation, and preparation, with an appropriate anesthetic plan, scrupulous surgery, and proper postoperative care, can result in good surgical outcomes in such patients [59]. Of particular importance are patients with sickle cell disease, where maximum care should be provided to avert a perioperative sickling crisis. The goal is to reduce the episodes of crisis by preventing precipitating factors such as hypoxia, acidosis, and dehydration [60].

Various pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic methods (Table 11.4) during preoperative and intraoperative periods are often utilized to reduce ABT. Preoperative optimization of erythropoiesis, autologous blood transfusion, and antifibrinolytics are often employed among at-risk bleeding patients to reduce the use of ABT. In pediatric patients undergoing reconstruction of the cranial vault, the antifibrinolytics were most often utilized for blood conservation [61]. The use of cell saver was the next frequent method to conserve blood resources [61]. Apart

Table 11.4 Perioperative blood conservation strategies

| Preoperative erythropoiesis |
|------------------------------------------------------------|
| Erythropoietin |
| Local anesthetic infiltration |
| With vasoconstrictor (epinephrine) |
| Autologous blood transfusion |
| Preoperative autologous donation (PAD) |
| Acute normovolemic hemodilution (ANH) |
| Acute hypervolemic hemodilution (AHH) |
| Intraoperative cell salvage |
| Antifibrinolytics |
| Tranexamic acid |
| Epsilon aminocaproic acid |
| Surgical techniques |
| • Electric cautery |
| Vascular clips |
| Surgical local hemostatic agents |
| • Surgicel |
| • Gelfoam |
| • Flowseal |
| Fibrin glue |
| |

from these physio-pharmacological manipulations under anesthesia, several surgical techniques are utilized to reduce blood loss during the intraoperative period, such as the use of electric cautery and vascular clips. A local anesthetic agent and epinephrine for vasoconstriction help reduce bleeding from the skin incision site. Surgical local hemostatic agents with nonspecific effects on clotting cascade are popularly used during neurosurgery [62]. Commonly used agents are Surgicel (oxidized cellulose), Gelfoam (gelatin), Spongostan (gelatin), Flowseal (gelatinthrombin complex matrix), and Fibrin glue (thrombin-fibrinogen) and are utilized to achieve local hemostasis despite the limited literature that suggests their efficacy. Thrombin-gelatin matrix sealant has been opined to be a safe agent for strengthening hemostasis during posterior fossa surgery in pediatric low-grade tumors [63].

Preoperative erythropoietin (EPO) use increases hemoglobin levels, and consequently, perioperative transfusion is minimized [64, 65]. EPO in a subcutaneous dose of 100 U/kg thrice weekly for 3 weeks before the surgery and IV on the day of surgery increased the autologous blood donation and reduced the ABT in pediatric patients undergoing open-heart surgery [65]. For craniosynostosis surgery, preoperative EPO administration reduces the proportion of patients requiring ABT [64].

Autologous blood transfusion is employed in practice to avoid the risks associated with ABT and blood resource conservation. Autologous blood procurement can be done in three different ways, such as preoperative autologous donation (PAD), acute normovolemic hemodilution (ANH), and intraoperative blood salvage [66].

Preoperative autologous donation (PAD) should be considered in patients with a baseline hemoglobin level of more than 11 gm/dL. Although there is a dearth of literature on the pediatric population, no age and weight limits exist as far as the donors are concerned. The patients can donate up to 10.5 ml/kg and repeatedly donate (once per week); however, the previous donation should be at least 72 h before the scheduled surgery [66]. The volume of blood donated may be calculated using the formula [67].

$PAD Volume = EBV \times Hct1 - Hct2 / Hct1$

[EBV, estimated blood volume; Hct1, actual hematocrit; and Hct2, the target hematocrit]

Often the target hematocrit should not be less than 27% [67]. It has been observed in adult patients requiring neurosurgical intervention that the concomitant use of erythropoietin and PAD did not reduce the ABT. Moreover, the PAD resulted in anemia and increased transfusion requirements [68]. The findings are reasonable and may be extrapolated to pediatric patients as similar studies comprising of children are lacking. Moreover, the associated wastage of autologously donated blood was significant in this study [68].

Acute normovolemic hemodilution (ANH) removes whole blood from a patient shortly before the scheduled surgery and replaces the volume with acellular fluids [66]. Typically, 3 mL of crystalloids or 1 mL of colloid (albumin, dextran, starches) replaces for 1 mL of blood withdrawn. Like in PAD, a similar equation may be utilized for the removal of blood in ANH, as well [67]. The use of erythropoietin and ANH reduced the need for ABT in infants undergoing craniosynostosis surgery [69]. On the contrary, no difference in the incidence or amount of ABT was observed with ANH than the control group in an RCT of children undergoing craniosynostosis repair [70]. Because of the equivocal benefits it offers, the use of ANH as a strategy to reduce the ABT is not often employed as a part of a protocol.

Acute hypervolemic hemodilution (AHH) is another cost-effective method of RBC conservation, aiming to reduce ABT during surgery. Hemodilution is achieved by fast transfusion of crystalloids or colloids up to 20–30% of blood volume after anesthesia, to a target Hct value of not less than 25%. Both ANH and AHH were found to reduce the loss of red cells comparably, with AHH considered a simple technique as it does not involve withdrawal of blood [71]. AHH has been used safely in children undergoing spinal fusion [72]. Nevertheless, AHH may not replace ANH to reduce ABTs, but for expected blood losses less than 40% of blood volume, the application of AHH could be superior [73]. Nonetheless, AHH as a part of a multimodal blood conservation protocol has recently been observed to reduce the rate of blood transfusion significantly in children undergoing craniosynostosis repairs [74].

Intraoperative cell salvage is the process of utilizing a patient's own blood retrieved from the surgical field to produce autologously transfused blood by filtering and washing it. Cell salvage, therefore, returns RBCs and reduces the requirement for ABT. The intraoperative cell salvage may be considered in patients with a weight of more than 10 kg and is indicated when the expected blood loss is more than 40% [13]. A systematic review involving patients of age group 10-19 years undergoing scoliosis correction concluded that the cell saver reduces intraoperative ABT [75]. Spinal instrumentation and fusion surgeries are associated with significant blood loss, and thus, the use of cell saver devices should be beneficial. A retrospective review of children undergoing posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion observed use of cell salvage reduced intraoperative ABT; however, no significant differences were observed in the use of ABT during the perioperative period [76]. Some fluid agents cause lysis of RBCs such as sterile water, hydrogen peroxide, alcohol, and hypotonic solutions and thus absolutely contraindicated to be mixed with the salvaged blood products. Other relative contraindications to cell salvage include clotting agents (Gelfoam, Surgicel, Fibrin sealants), irrigation solutions (betadine/chlorhexidine, topical antibiotics), contaminants (urine, fat, bone, bone cement, infection), and papaverine [77].

Antifibrinolytics such as tranexamic acid, epsilon-aminocaproic acid (EACA), and aprotinin play an important role in decreasing blood loss and, thus, allogenic transfusions. The effectiveness of **tranexamic acid** is demonstrated in various neurological surgeries such as craniosynostosis [78–80], scoliosis correction [81, 82], pediatric intracranial tumor resections [83], and major pediatric surgery [84]. In adult isolated traumatic brain injury, the clinical randomization of an antifibrinolytic in significant head injury (CRASH-3) trial demonstrated a reduction in mortality when tranexamic acid is given within 3 h from injury [85]. Similarly, in pediatric patients, the use of tranexamic acid within the first 3 h of trauma is suggested as beneficial [86]. The dose of tranexamic acid varies in different literature. A loading dose of 10 mg/kg over 15 min, followed by a 5 mg/kg/h maintenance infusion, may be used, which will maintain a required plasma therapeutic concentration of 16 µg/ml [87]. Two different dose regimens of tranexamic acid in pediatric patients undergoing correction of scoliosis were compared: a tranexamic acid loading dose of 10 mg/kg followed by a maintenance dose of 1 mg/kg/h (lowdose regimen) vs. 50 mg/kg loading dose followed by a maintenance dose of 5 mg/kg/h (high-dose regimen). The high-dose regimen was associated with reducing intraoperative blood loss and consequent transfusion requirements [88].

EACA, in a loading dose of 100 mg/kg, followed by a continuous infusion of 40 mg/kg/h, has been shown to maintain therapeutic plasma concentrations [13, 87, 89]. In children undergoing cranial vault reconstruction surgery, a loading dose of 50 mg/kg followed by an infusion of 25 mg/kg has significantly reduced intraoperative blood loss [90]. Aprotinin usage in this context is limited since there is no evidence to suggest that it is more effective as compared to tranexamic acid or EACA in reducing blood loss during major pediatric surgeries [84].

11.10 Conclusion

Institutional protocols must be devised to manage perioperative bleeding in pediatric patients undergoing neurosurgery. It should be borne in mind that pediatric patients are different hematologically and physiologically from adults. Therefore, strict application and adherence to a protocol for transfusion of blood and blood products are essential for a successful outcome in neurosurgery. The application of vigilant perioperative monitoring, restrictive transfusion strategies, and apt blood conservation methods shift the pivot of care in bleeding pediatric patients from liberal protocols to minimal transfusion strategies.

Conflict of Interest None to declare.

References

- Oakley FD, Woods M, Arnold S, Young PP. Transfusion reactions in pediatric compared with adult patients: a look at rate, reaction type, and associated products. Transfusion. 2015;55(3):563–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.12827.
- Barcelona SL, Thompson AA, Coté CJ. Intraoperative pediatric blood transfusion therapy: a review of common issues. Part I: hematologic and physiologic differences from adults; metabolic and infectious risks. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(9):716–26. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1460-9592.2005.01548.x.
- Wang M. Iron deficiency and other types of anemia in infants and children. Am Fam Physician. 2016;93(4):270–8. http://europepmc.org/abstract/ MED/26926814
- Edoh D, Antwi-Bosaiko C, Amuzu D. Fetal hemoglobin during infancy and in sickle cell adults. Afr Health Sci. 2006;6(1):51–4. https://doi.org/10.5555/ afhs.2006.6.1.51.
- Kaufman DP, Khattar J, Lappin SL. Physiology, fetal hemoglobin. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2020. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK500011/.
- Widness JA. Pathophysiology of Anemia during the neonatal period, including anemia of prematurity. Neoreviews. 2008;9(11):e520. https://doi. org/10.1542/neo.9-11-e520.
- Barcelona SL, Thompson AA, Coté CJ. Intraoperative pediatric blood transfusion therapy: a review of common issues. Part II: transfusion therapy, special considerations, and reduction of allogenic blood transfusions. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(10):814–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9592.2004.01549.x.
- Yates DRA, Davies SJ, Milner HE, Wilson RJT. Crystalloid or colloid for goal-directed fluid therapy in colorectal surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2014;112(2):281–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/ aet307.
- Vassal O, Desgranges F-P, Tosetti S, et al. Risk factors for intraoperative allogeneic blood transfusion during craniotomy for brain tumor removal in children. Pediatr Anesth. 2016;26(2):199–206. https:// doi.org/10.1111/pan.12810.
- Ma L, Zhang J, Shen J, et al. Predictors for blood loss in pediatric patients younger than 10 years old undergoing primary posterior hemivertebra resec-

tion: a retrospective study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2019;20(1):297. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12891-019-2675-0.

- Park C, Wormald J, Miranda BH, Ong J, Hare A, Eccles S. Perioperative blood loss and transfusion in Craniosynostosis surgery. J Craniofac Surg. 2018;29(1):112–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SCS.0000000000004098.
- 12. Spilka J, Goobie SM. Tutorial 418 perioperative blood management in the pediatric patient. https:// www.wfsahq.org/components/com_virtual_library/ media/78863bb04ca7bc84b86c53c415bad66b-atow-418-00.pdf. 2020. Accessed 30 July 2020.
- Goobie SM, Haas T. Perioperative bleeding management in pediatric patients. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2016;29(3):352–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ACO.0000000000000308.
- Nystrup KB, Stensballe J, Bøttger M, Johansson PI, Ostrowski SR. Transfusion therapy in paediatric trauma patients: a review of the literature. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. 2015;23:21. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13049-015-0097-z.
- Görlinger K, Pérez-Ferrer A, Dirkmann D, et al. The role of evidence-based algorithms for rotational thromboelastometry-guided bleeding management. Korean J Anesth. 2019;72(4):297–322. https://doi. org/10.4097/kja.19169.
- Vallet B, Robin E, Lebuffe G. Venous oxygen saturation as a physiologic transfusion trigger. Crit Care. 2010;14(2):213. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc8854.
- Lee J-H, Park Y-H, Kim J-T. Current use of noninvasive hemoglobin monitoring in anesthesia. Curr Anesthesiol Rep. 2014;4(3):233–41. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40140-014-0070-9.
- Park Y-H, Lee J-H, Song H-G, Byon H-J, Kim H-S, Kim J-T. The accuracy of noninvasive hemoglobin monitoring using the radical-7 pulse CO-oximeter in children undergoing neurosurgery. Anesth Analg. 2012;115(6):1302–7. https://doi.org/10.1213/ ANE.0b013e31826b7e38.
- Ali Algadiem E, Aleisa AA, Alsubaie HI, Buhlaiqah NR, Algadeeb JB, Alsneini HA. Blood loss estimation using gauze visual analogue. Trauma Mon. 2016;21(2):e34131. https://doi.org/10.5812/ traumamon.34131.
- Kozek-Langenecker SA. Perioperative coagulation monitoring. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2010;24(1):27–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpa.2009.09.009.
- Weber CF, Zacharowski K. Perioperative point of care coagulation testing. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2012;109(20):369–75. https://doi.org/10.3238/ arztebl.2012.0369.
- 22. Oswald E, Stalzer B, Heitz E, et al. Thromboelastometry (ROTEM) in children: age-related reference ranges and correlations with standard coagulation tests. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105(6):827–35. https://doi. org/10.1093/bja/aeq258.

- 23. New York State Council on Human Blood and TransfusionServices. Guidelines for transfusion of pediatric patients. https://www.wadsworth.org/sites/ default/files/WebDoc/ped_tx_guidelines_2.pdf. 2016. Accessed 31 July 2020.
- 24. Valentine SL, Bembea MM, Muszynski JA, et al. Consensus recommendations for RBC transfusion practice in critically ill children from the pediatric critical care transfusion and anemia expertise initiative. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2018;19(9):884–98. https://doi.org/10.1097/PCC.000000000001613.
- Tasker RC, Turgeon AF, Spinella PC. Recommendations on RBC transfusion in critically ill children with acute brain injury from the pediatric critical care transfusion and anemia expertise initiative. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2018;19(9):S133–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/PCC.000000000001589.
- 26. Akyildiz B, Ulgen Tekerek N, Pamukcu O, et al. Comprehensive analysis of liberal and restrictive transfusion strategies in pediatric intensive care unit. J Trop Pediatr. 2018;64(2):118–25. https://doi. org/10.1093/tropej/fmx037.
- Ohrt-Nissen S, Bukhari N, Dragsted C, et al. Blood transfusion in the surgical treatment of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis-a single-center experience of patient blood management in 210 cases. Transfusion. 2017;57(7):1808–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ trf.14137.
- Davies P, Robertson S, Hegde S, Greenwood R, Massey E, Davis P. Calculating the required transfusion volume in children. Transfusion. 2007;47(2):212– 6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2007.01091.x.
- Steinbicker AU, Wittenmeier E, Goobie SM. Pediatric non-red cell blood product transfusion practices: what's the evidence to guide transfusion of the "yellow" blood products? Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2020;33(2):259–67. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ACO.000000000000838.
- Liumbruno G, Bennardello F, Lattanzio A, Piccoli P, Rossetti G. Recommendations for the transfusion of plasma and platelets. Blood Transfus. 2009;7(2):132– 50. https://doi.org/10.2450/2009.0005-09.
- Diab YA, Wong ECC, Luban NLC. Massive transfusion in children and neonates. Br J Haematol. 2013;161(1):15–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bjh.12247.
- Blain S, Paterson N. Paediatric massive transfusion. BJA Educ. 2015;16(8):269–75. https://doi. org/10.1093/bjaed/mkv051.
- 33. Livingston MH, Singh S, Merritt NH. Massive transfusion in paediatric and adolescent trauma patients: incidence, patient profile, and outcomes prior to a massive transfusion protocol. Injury. 2014;45(9):1301–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2014.05.033.
- 34. Hendrickson JE, Shaz BH, Pereira G, et al. Implementation of a pediatric trauma massive transfusion protocol: one institution's experience. Transfusion. 2012;52(6):1228–36. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2011.03458.x.

- Noland DK, Apelt N, Greenwell C, et al. Massive transfusion in pediatric trauma: an ATOMAC perspective. J Pediatr Surg. 2019;54(2):345–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.10.040.
- Haas T, Fries D, Velik-Salchner C, Oswald E, Innerhofer P. Fibrinogen in craniosynostosis surgery. Anesth Analg. 2008;106(3):725–31, table of contents. https://doi.org/10.1213/ane.0b013e318163fb26.
- 37. Fuentes-García D, Hernández-Palazón J, Sansano-Sánchez T, Acosta-Villegas F. Prothrombin complex concentrate in the treatment of multitransfusion dilutional coagulopathy in a paediatric patient. Br J Anaesth. 2011;106(6):912–3. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bja/aer140.
- 38. Yanagisawa R, Tatsuzawa Y, Ono T, et al. Analysis of clinical presentations of allergic transfusion reactions and febrile non-haemolytic transfusion reactions in paediatric patients. Vox Sang. 2019;114(8):826–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12833.
- Strobel E. Hemolytic transfusion reactions. Transfus Med Hemother. 2008;35(5):346–53. https://doi. org/10.1159/000154811.
- World Health Organization. Blood safety and availability: Key facts. World Health Organization Fact Sheet. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/blood-safety-and-availability. 2020. Accessed 5 Aug 2020.
- 41. Dhot PS. Amendments to Indian drugs and cosmetics act and rules pertaining to blood banks in armed forces. Med J Armed Forces India. 2005;61(3):264–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-1237(05)80170-4.
- 42. Raza S, Ali Baig M, Chang C, et al. A prospective study on red blood cell transfusion related hyperkalemia in critically ill patients. J Clin Med Res. 2015;7(6):417– 21. https://doi.org/10.14740/jocmr2123w.
- 43. Menis M, Anderson SA, Forshee RA, et al. Transfusion-associated circulatory overload (TACO) and potential risk factors among the inpatient US elderly as recorded in Medicare administrative databases during 2011. Vox Sang. 2014;106(2):144–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12070.
- 44. Bosboom JJ, Klanderman RB, Zijp M, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcome of transfusion-associated circulatory overload in a mixed intensive care unit population: a nested case-control study. Transfusion. 2018;58(2):498–506. https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.14432.
- 45. Wiersum-Osselton JC, Whitaker B, Grey S, et al. Revised international surveillance case definition of transfusion-associated circulatory overload: a classification agreement validation study. Lancet Haematol. 2019;6(7):e350–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3026(19)30080-8.
- 46. Kim J, Na S. Transfusion-related acute lung injury; clinical perspectives. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2015;68(2):101–5. https://doi.org/10.4097/ kjae.2015.68.2.101.
- McVey MJ, Kapur R, Cserti-Gazdewich C, Semple JW, Karkouti K, Kuebler WM. Transfusion-related acute lung injury in the perioperative patient. Anesthesiol J

Am Soc Anesthesiol. 2019;131(3):693–715. https:// doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0000000002687.

- Wang D, Zhou G, Mao S, Chen J, Liu Y. Allogeneic blood transfusion in 163 children with acute lymphocytic leukemia (a STROBE-compliant article). Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(7):e14518. https:// journals.lww.com/md-journal/Fulltext/2019/02150/ Allogeneic_blood_transfusion_in_163_children_ with.67.aspx
- Chao Y-H, Wu K-H. Transfusion-related immunomodulation in pediatric patients. Pediatr Neonatol. 2019;60(5):483–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pedneo.2019.09.001.
- Mohsen L, Youssef H, Abdelrahman H, et al. Effect of packed red blood cell transfusion on IL-8 and sICAM-1 in premature neonates at different postnatal ages. Pediatr Neonatol. 2019;60(5):537–42. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2019.01.010.
- Murphy GJ, Reeves BC, Rogers CA, Rizvi SIA, Culliford L, Angelini GD. Increased mortality, postoperative morbidity, and cost after red blood cell transfusion in patients having cardiac surgery. Circulation. 2007;116(22):2544–52. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.107.698977.
- Redlin M, Kukucka M, Boettcher W, et al. Blood transfusion determines postoperative morbidity in pediatric cardiac surgery applying a comprehensive blood-sparing approach. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;146(3):537–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jtcvs.2012.09.101.
- Kumba C, Querciagrossa S, Blanc T, Tréluyer J. Transfusion and postoperative outcome in pediatric abdominal surgery. J Clin Res Anesthesiol. 2018;1(1):1– 8. https://asclepiusopen.com/journal-of-clinicalresearch-in-anesthesiology/volume-1-issue-1/3.php
- Lacroix J, Hébert P, Fergusson D, et al. The age of blood evaluation (ABLE) randomized controlled trial: study design. Transfus Med Rev. 2011;25(3):197– 205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2011.03.001.
- 55. Walsh TS, Stanworth S, Boyd J, et al. The Age of BLood Evaluation (ABLE) randomised controlled trial: description of the UK-funded arm of the international trial, the UK cost-utility analysis and secondary analyses exploring factors associated with healthrelated quality of life and health-c. Health Technol Assess. 2017;21(62):1–118. https://doi.org/10.3310/ hta21620.
- Steiner ME, Ness PM, Assmann SF, et al. Effects of red-cell storage duration on patients undergoing cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(15):1419–29. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1414219.
- 57. Fergusson DA, Hébert P, Hogan DL, et al. Effect of fresh red blood cell transfusions on clinical outcomes in premature, very low-birth-weight infants: the ARIPI randomized trial. JAMA. 2012;308(14):1443– 51. https://doi.org/10.1001/2012.jama.11953.

- Kozek-Langenecker SA, Afshari A, Albaladejo P, et al. Management of severe perioperative bleeding: guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2013;30(6):270–382. https://doi. org/10.1097/EJA.0b013e32835f4d5b.
- Badejo OA, Idowu OK, Balogun JA, Shokunbi WA, Amanor-Boadu SD, Shokunbi MT. Outcome of cranial surgery in Nigerian patients with hemoglobinopathies: a retrospective study. Surg Neurol Int. 2019;10:16. https://doi.org/10.4103/sni.sni_180_18.
- Fisher L. Perioperative care of the patient with sickle cell disease. AORN J. 2011;93(1):150–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aorn.2010.08.019.
- 61. Stricker PA, Goobie SM, Cladis FP, et al. Perioperative outcomes and management in pediatric complex cranial vault reconstruction: a multicenter study from the pediatric craniofacial collaborative group. Anesthesiology. 2017;126(2):276–87. https://doi. org/10.1097/ALN.00000000001481.
- Lapierre F. Hemostatic Agents in Neurosurgery. In: D'Houtaud S, editor. . Rijeka: IntechOpen; 2012. p. Ch. 22. https://doi.org/10.5772/31319.
- 63. Baro V, Denaro L, d'Avella D. Securing hemostasis in pediatric low-grade posterior cerebral fossa tumors: the value of thrombin-gelatin hemostatic matrix. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2018;53(5):330–6. https://doi. org/10.1159/000491824.
- 64. Aljaaly HA, Aldekhayel SA, Diaz-Abele J, Karunanayka M, Gilardino MS. Effect of erythropoietin on transfusion requirements for craniosynostosis surgery in children. J Craniofac Surg. 2017;28(5):1315–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/SCS.000000000003717.
- 65. Sonzogni V, Crupi G, Poma R, et al. Erythropoietin therapy and preoperative autologous blood donation in children undergoing open heart surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2001;87(3):429–34. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bja/87.3.429.
- 66. Dudley M, Miller RD, Turnbull JH. Patient blood management: transfusion therapy. In: Gropper MA, editor. Miller's anesthesia. 9th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2020. p. 1560–4.
- Velardi F, Di Chirico A, Di Rocco C. Blood salvage in craniosynostosis surgery. Childs Nerv Syst. 1999;15(11):695–710. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s003810050459.
- McGirr A, Pavenski K, Sharma B, Cusimano MD. Blood conservation in neurosurgery: erythropoietin and autologous donation. Can J Neurol Sci/J Can des Sci Neurol. 2014;41(5):583–9. https://doi. org/10.1017/cjn.2014.14.
- 69. Meneghini L, Zadra N, Aneloni V, Metrangolo S, Faggin R, Giusti F. Erythropoietin therapy and acute preoperative normovolaemic haemodilution in infants undergoing craniosynostosis surgery. Pediatr Anesth. 2003;13(5):392–6. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1460-9592.2003.01091.x.

- Hans P, Collin V, Bonhomme V, Damas F, Born JD, Lamy M. Evaluation of acute normovolemic hemodilution for surgical repair of craniosynostosis. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2000;12(1):33–6. https://journals.lww.com/jnsa/Fulltext/2000/01000/Evaluation_ of_Acute_Normovolemic_Hemodilution_for.7.aspx
- Kumar R, Chakraborty I, Sehgal R. A prospective randomized study comparing two techniques of perioperative blood conservation: isovolemic hemodilution and hypervolemic hemodilution. Anesth Analg. 2002;95(5):1154–61., table of contents. https://doi. org/10.1097/00000539-200211000-00005.
- Chen Y, Chen Y, Ji C, Gu H, Bai J. Clinical observation of acute hypervolemic hemodilution in scoliosis surgery on children. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2008;88(41):2901–3.
- Singbartl K, Schleinzer W, Singbartl G. Hypervolemic hemodilution: an alternative to acute normovolemic hemodilution? A mathematical analysis. J Surg Res. 1999;86(2):206–12. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jsre.1999.5711.
- Wood RJ, Stewart CN, Liljeberg K, Sylvanus TS, Lim PK. Transfusion-free cranial vault remodeling: a novel, multifaceted approach. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2020;145(1):167–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PRS.000000000006323.
- Stone N, Sardana V, Missiuna P. Indications and outcomes of cell saver in adolescent scoliosis correction surgery: a systematic review. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2017;42(6):E363–70. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BRS.000000000001780.
- Miao Y-L, Ma H-S, Guo W-Z, et al. The efficacy and cost-effectiveness of cell saver use in instrumented posterior correction and fusion surgery for scoliosis in school-aged children and adolescents. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e92997. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0092997.
- Esper SA, Waters JH. Intra-operative cell salvage: a fresh look at the indications and contraindications. Blood Transfus. 2011;9(2):139–47. https://doi. org/10.2450/2011.0081-10.
- Goobie SM, Meier PM, Pereira LM, et al. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in pediatric craniosynostosis surgery: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2011;114(4):862–71. https://doi. org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e318210fd8f.
- Eustache G, Riffaud L. Reducing blood loss in pediatric craniosynostosis surgery by use of tranexamic acid. Neurochirurgie. 2019;65(5):302–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuchi.2019.09.020.
- Kurnik NM, Pflibsen LR, Bristol RE, Singh DJ. Tranexamic acid reduces blood loss in craniosynostosis surgery. J Craniofac Surg. 2017;28(5):1325–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/SCS.000000000003731.

- Sethna NF, Zurakowski D, Brustowicz RM, Bacsik J, Sullivan LJ, Shapiro F. Tranexamic acid reduces intraoperative blood loss in pediatric patients undergoing scoliosis surgery. Anesthesiology. 2005;102(4):727–32. https://doi. org/10.1097/00000542-200504000-00006.
- Karimi S, Lu VM, Nambiar M, Phan K, Ambikaipalan A, Mobbs RJ. Antifibrinolytic agents for paediatric scoliosis surgery: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur Spine J. 2019;28(5):1023–34. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00586-019-05911-8.
- Phi JH, Goobie SM, Hong KH, Dholakia A, Smith ER. Use of tranexamic acid in infants undergoing choroid plexus papilloma surgery: a report of two cases. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24(7):791–3. https://doi. org/10.1111/pan.12447.
- 84. Schouten ES, van de Pol AC, Schouten ANJ, Turner NM, Jansen NJG, Bollen CW. The effect of aprotinin, tranexamic acid, and aminocaproic acid on blood loss and use of blood products in major pediatric surgery: a meta-analysis. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2009;10(2):182–90. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PCC.0b013e3181956d61.
- Collaborators. C-3 trial. Effects of tranexamic acid on death, disability, vascular occlusive events and other morbidities in patients with acute traumatic brain injury (CRASH-3): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10210):1713–23. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32233-0.
- Beno S, Ackery AD, Callum J, Rizoli S. Tranexamic acid in pediatric trauma: why not? Crit Care. 2014;18(4):313. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc13965.
- Faraoni D, Goobie SM. The efficacy of antifibrinolytic drugs in children undergoing noncardiac surgery: a systematic review of the literature. Anesth Analg. 2014;118(3):628–36. https://doi.org/10.1213/ ANE.000000000000080.
- Johnson DJ, Johnson CC, Goobie SM, et al. High-dose versus low-dose tranexamic acid to reduce transfusion requirements in pediatric scoliosis surgery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2017;37(8):e552–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BPO.000000000000820.
- Eckert MJ, Wertin TM, Tyner SD, Nelson DW, Izenberg S, Martin MJ. Tranexamic acid administration to pediatric trauma patients in a combat setting: the pediatric trauma and tranexamic acid study (PED-TRAX). J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2014;77(6):852– 8.; discussion 858. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TA.000000000000443.
- Thompson ME, Saadeh C, Watkins P, Nagy L, Demke J. Blood loss and transfusion requirements with epsilon-aminocaproic acid use during cranial vault reconstruction surgery. J Clin Anesth. 2017;36:153–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinane.2016.10.007.

Part II

Anesthetic Management of Specific Problems



12

Hydrocephalus and CSF Diversion Procedures for Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients

Bhavna Hooda 💿 and Shalendra Singh 💿

Key Points

- Hydrocephalus is the commonest neurosurgical condition in infants and children.
- The excess cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) accumulation in hydrocephalus presents as macrocephaly in infants (volume hydrocephalus) and as intracranial hypertension in older children (pressure hydrocephalus).
- CSF diversion procedures remain the gold standard to bypass the functional or physical blockage of CSF flow.
- Grossly hydrocephalic children in the emergency present challenges due to associated congenital anomalies, macrocephaly, difficult airway, and a full stomach.
- Maintaining the pediatric cerebral physiology, normothermia, and judicious fluid therapy while addressing these issues underpins the anesthetic management.
- Rapid sequence intubation (RSI) should always be considered in emergency shunting.
- This chapter provides a comprehensive review on the pathophysiology of disturbed CSF hydrodynamics in the hydrocephalus, CSF

B. Hooda (🖂)

Department of Anaesthesiology and Critical Care, Command Hospital (SC), Pune, Maharashtra, India

Department of Anaesthesiology and Critical Care, Armed forced Medical College, Pune, Maharashtra, India shunting procedure, anesthetic concerns, and recognition and management of shunt-related complications.

12.1 Introduction

The writings about large hydrocephalic infant skulls in Egyptian medical literature can be found as early as 500 AD. A more scientific description is, however, credited to Hippocrates who coined the term "hydrocephalus" derived from the Greek word "hydro" meaning water and "kefale" meaning skull and described it as liquefaction of the brain with fluid accumulation surrounding the brain. The definition of hydrocephalus has since undergone several modifications. Simplistically, it was defined as the presence of dilated ventricles with an increased volume of intracranial cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [1]. A more comprehensive definition as proposed by Rekate and adopted by the International Hydrocephalus Working Group defines hydrocephalus as active distension of the ventricular system that results from the inadequate passage of cerebrospinal fluid from its point of production within the cerebral ventricles to its point of absorption into the systemic circulation [2].

Hydrocephalus presents with an overall prevalence of 1-1.5% with a childhood prevalence of 1-32 per 10,000 births depending on the population and the definition of hydrocephalus [3].

S. Singh

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_12

There is a typical bimodal distribution with pediatric hydrocephalus at one peak and the normal pressure hydrocephalus of the elderly at the other. In children, it is the commonest neurosurgical condition. with congenital hydrocephalus occurring in 0.2-0.8/1000 live births and neonatal acquired hydrocephalus occurring in 3-5/1000 live births [4]. Although reliable data for developing countries is unavailable, nevertheless the incidence is likely to be much more due to the higher incidence of neural tube defects, low birth weight, perinatal infections, and lack of antenatal diagnosis. Both males and females are equally affected by this condition. An exception to this is the X-linked hydrocephalus that is exclusively seen in males [5].

12.2 CSF Dynamics and Pathophysiology of Hydrocephalus

CSF hydrodynamics are vital for brain homeostasis. Approximately 80% CSF is produced by the choroid plexus of the ventricular system, primarily the lateral ventricles, and the remainder by the ependymal lining of the ventricles and cerebral vessels at a rate of 0.35 ml/min to a total volume of about 150 ml in adults, 60–100 ml in children and 50 ml in infants. CSF is produced at a rate of approximately 20 ml/h in adults, and complete

turnover occurs three or four times in 24 h [6]. Intuitively, CSF production in children should be proportional to the size of the brain for homeostasis. True estimates of CSF production in neonates and young children are difficult and are extrapolated from the hourly output from external ventricular drains. Studies suggest CSF production increases logarithmically with age and weight in children, reaching two-third adult levels by 2 years of age [7]. From the point of production, CSF circulates through the lateral ventricles into the slit-like third ventricle via the foramen of Monro. The third ventricle drains via the Sylvian aqueduct into the fourth ventricle which in turn circulates the CSF via a midline foramen of Magendie into the cerebello-medullary or basal cistern and laterally via the foramina of Luschka into the subarachnoid space of the spinal canal and the cerebral convexities. It is finally reabsorbed at the arachnoid granulations protruding into the dural sinuses, largely the superior sagittal sinus and the lumbar theca [6-8]. A hindrance anywhere from the point of production to the point of absorption results in hydrocephalus (Fig. 12.1).

The pathophysiology of hydrocephalus based on the traditional "bulk flow model" denotes a state of disturbed CSF hydrodynamics characterized by its excessive intracranial accumulation as a result of excessive production, impaired circulation, or absorption of CSF. There is ventriculo-



megaly beginning with enlargement of the frontal and occipital horns of the lateral ventricles. As the pressure rises, the ependymal lining gives way allowing CSF egress into the periventricular parenchyma, with sub-ependymal edema and progressive white matter involvement. Progressive white matter atrophy occurs as the hydrocephalus progresses and there is the loss of sulci and gyri with the cerebral mantle compressed against the cranium [9, 10]. As new insights into the CSF hydrodynamics point toward a role of intracranial arterial pulsations, a "hydrodynamic model" of impaired dissipation of these pulsations by the subarachnoid spaces, venous capacitance vessels and choroid plexus pulsation, is being postulated as a cause of hydrocephalus [11, 12].

The manifestations are governed by the underlying condition, the speed at which it progresses, and compensatory mechanisms. Infantile hydrocephalus typically presents with marked macrocephaly with preserved brain parenchyma. Before the cranial sutures fuse, the skull enlarges mitigating the effects of raised intracranial pressure (ICP) [10, 13]. Additionally, the force of ICP is splayed over a large ventricular area, thus minimizing brain parenchyma damage, and a "volume hydrocephalus" develops. Hydrocephalus presenting in older children, after the fusion of the sutures, presents as a "pressure hydrocephalus." The rigid skull fails to expand, and as the compensatory mechanisms are exhausted, there is a rapid rise in ICP with brain parenchymal damage [13].

12.3 Classification

Historically, Galen classified the fluid collections surrounding the brain into four anatomic presentations: between the brain and meninges, meninges and pericranium, pericranium and skin, and bone and the skin. It was not until the twentieth century that Professor Walter Dandy researched on experimental animal models and classified hydrocephalus into communicating and noncommunicating, terms which are still accepted worldwide. Based on the pathogenesis, onset, and genetic associations, hydrocephalus is classified as the following.

12.3.1 Communicating Vs. Noncommunicating Hydrocephalus

In communicating or nonobstructive hydrocephalus (Table 12.1), the defect remains at the level of arachnoid granulations resulting in subnormal reabsorption of CSF. Typically imaging shows a pan-ventriculomegaly. In non-communicating or obstructive hydrocephalus, the site of obstruction is upstream of the arachnoid granulations. Imaging the brain would show an enlargement of the ventricles upstream of the site of obstruction, e.g., triventricular hydrocephalus in aqueductal stenosis (Fig. 12.2).

12.3.2 Syndromic Vs. Nonsyndromic Hydrocephalus

Congenital hydrocephalus is described as nonsyndromic when it occurs in isolation with no additional system involvement, viz., L1CAMassociated hydrocephalus, AP1S2-associated hydrocephalus (Fried syndrome), Walker-Warburg/muscle-eye-brain disease, autosomal recessive form, holoprosencephaly, agenesis of the corpus callosum, etc. Syndromic forms are numerous, to name a few, RASopathies, FGFRassociated skeletal dysplasias, VACTERL-H, mucopolysaccharidoses, etc.

12.3.3 Congenital Vs. Acquired Hydrocephalus (Table 12.2)

12.3.3.1 Congenital Hydrocephalus

 (a) Neural tube defects: Neural tube defects: (NTDs) are the commonest congenital malformations affecting 1:1000 live births [14]. Particularly, myelomeningoceles (MMC) show a strong association with congenital hydrocephalus and are considered its major cause. Overall, there is an estimated inci-

| Communicating hydrocenhalus | Non-communicating/Obstructive hydrocenhalus |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Leptomeningeal inflammatory debris: • Post-infectious (following TORCH infections) • Post-hemorrhagic (SAH/IVH of prematurity) | Obstruction at the foramen of Monro • Congenital atresia of the foramen of Monro |
| Congenital absence of arachnoid granulations | Obstruction at the aqueduct of Sylvius Congenital aqueductal stenosis Tectal gliomas Posterior third ventricular mass lesions |
| Raised cerebral venous pressure Sagittal sinus thrombosis Craniostenosis | Obstruction at the fourth ventricle • Neural tube defects - Myelomeningocele and Chiari II malformation - Dandy Walker complex - Occipital encephalocoele • Posterior fossa tumors - Medulloblastomas, cerebellar astrocytomas, ependymomas • Developmental cysts • Tonsillar prolapse • Basilar impingement • Post-infectious or post-hemorrhagic ependymal scarring |
| Excessive CSF production and/or raised intraventricular CSF pulse pressure • Choroid plexus papilloma or hyperplasia • Choroid plexus carcinoma Raised CSF protein content • Spinal neurofibromas Carcinomatosis (meningeal infiltration) | |

 Table 12.1
 Etiology of pediatric hydrocephalus

SAH subarachnoid hemorrhage, IVH intraventricular hemorrhage, CSF cerebrospinal fluid





| Congenital | Acquired |
|-----------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Neural tube defects | Post-hemorrhagic |
| | hydrocephalus |
| Primary aqueductal | Infections |
| stenosis | Bacterial/viral |
| | meningitis, |
| | neurocysticercosis. |
| Secondary aqueductal | Posterior fossa tumors |
| gliosis | |
| • Germinal matrix | |
| hemorrhage | |
| Infections | |
| X-linked hydrocephalus | Low-pressure |
| Bickers-Adams | nydrocephalus |
| Syndrome Chievi molformation : | Constitutional |
| Chiari maiformations | Constitutional |
| Dender Weller er en eler | Name and ideals |
| Dandy-walker complex | Neurosarcoidosis |
| Vein of Galen | Rarely associated with |
| manormation | spinal tumors as |
| | ↑ protein ↑ venous |
| | hackpressure in the |
| | arachnoid granulations |
| Inheritable | Post-traumatic (severe |
| • Trisomy-13, -18, | traumatic brain injury) |
| -9 | |
| Triploidy | |
| Walker-Warburg | |
| syndrome | |
| • MASA | |
| Autosomal recessive | |
| hydrocephalus | |
| Holoprosencephaly | |
| Intrauterine infections | Increased venous sinus |
| • CMV | pressure |
| Ioxoplasmosis | Craniosynostosis |
| • Syphilis | Achondroplasia Vanous thrombosis |
| | venous inrombosis |
| Posterior fossa arachnoid | latrogenic |
| Change internation | (Hypervitaminosis A) |
| Cnoroid plexus | |
| papmonia or carcinoma | |

 Table 12.2
 Congenital versus acquired classification of hydrocephalus

dence of symptomatic hydrocephalus in 80% of children with MMC [15]. This is primarily obstructive hydrocephalus with a communicating component due to acquired Chiari II malformation causing a distorted skull base anatomy and fourth ventricular outflow tract

obstruction. Another NTD commonly associated with developmental hydrocephalus is occipital encephalocoele, with as many as 50% infants developing hydrocephalus.

- (b) Aqueductal stenosis is primarily obstructive hydrocephalus whereby the blockade in CSF flow can be primary or secondary to ependymal scarring following intrauterine infection or germinal matrix hemorrhage.
- (c) X-linked hydrocephalus is the most common genetic form of non-syndromic congenital hydrocephalus affecting 1 in 30,000 male births [15, 16]. Typically, there is aqueductal stenosis with hydrocephaly, spasticity with corticospinal tract hypoplasia, corpus callosum agenesis, small brain stem, pachygyria, and pathognomonic clasped thumbs (cortical thumb sign).
- (d) Chiari malformations: The most common and least severe Chiari malformation is type I that occurs in 1:1000 births with the hallmark of caudal displacement of cerebellar tonsils. In Chiari II, along with the cerebellar tonsils, the lower brainstem and the fourth ventricle descend past the foramen magnum and are almost invariably associated with myelomeningocele and spina bifida. The descent causes the CSF outflow tract to be obstructed at the foramen magnum producing an obstructive hydrocephalus.
- (e) Dandy-Walker malformation is a less common cause of infantile hydrocephalus accounting for 2–4% of cases [17, 18]. There is an enlarged fourth ventricle continuous with a posterior fossa cyst, atresia of the foramina of Luschka and Magendie (Fig. 12.3), abnormal cerebellar development, and elevation of the tentorium causing supratentorial hydrocephalus in up to 90% of cases.
- (f) Intrauterine infections due to enterovirus [19], lymphocytic choriomeningitis [20], cytomegalovirus (CMV), and toxoplasmosis (TORCH infections) have all been associated with hydrocephalus by inducing secondary



Fig. 12.3 Computed tomography brain image showing enlarged fourth ventricle continuous with a posterior fossa cyst, atresia of the foramina of Luschka and Magendie

aqueductal gliosis or impaired CSF absorption at the arachnoid granulations by inflammatory debris [21].

(g) **Arachnoid cysts** in the suprasellar region, quadrigeminal cistern, or the cerebellopontine angle may at times produce obstructive hydrocephalus in infants [22, 23].

12.3.3.2 Acquired Hydrocephalus

- (a) Post-infectious hydrocephalus: Although in the developed countries majority of cases are attributed to post-hemorrhagic hydrocephalus following intraventricular hemorrhage of prematurity, globally, post-infectious hydrocephalus is the commonest acquired cause of pediatric hydrocephalus. There is also a wide disparity between the spectra of bacteria causing neonatal sepsis between the developed and the developing world, Gram-negative organisms and tuberculosis being the predominant infections in the developing world.
- (b) Post-hemorrhagic hydrocephalus develops following intraventricular/subarachnoid hemorrhage as a result of prematurity (grade III or IV intraventricular hemorrhage), trauma, ruptured arteriovenous malforma-

tion, or systemic bleeding diathesis [24]. Although the initial presentation is obstructive type, they subsequently develop impaired absorption (communicating hydrocephalus). IVH is common in premature (\leq 32 weeks period of gestation) and very low birth weight babies (1500 g or less; 20% develop IVH) and extremely low birth weight preemies (1000 g or less; 45% develop IVH) with typical onset within 3 days postnatally [25]. An estimated 20–50% of infants develop permanent hydrocephalus.

(c) Central nervous system (CNS) neoplasms tend to predominantly involve midline posterior fossa, thus obstructing CSF flow at the fourth ventricle. In more than half the cases, hydrocephalus is present at the time of diagnosis or may be the initial presentation. Common etiologies are medulloblastomas, ependymomas, pilocytic astrocytomas, pineal region neoplasms, choroid plexus tumors, or rarely suprasellar extension of pituitary tumors [26]. Approximately 20% of patients develop permanent hydrocephalus postoperatively, which may be delayed for up to a year.

12.4 Clinical Presentations

The clinical presentation depends on the age at onset (with respect to the fusion of cranial sutures), underlying cause, rapidity of progression, duration, and presence of additional physical abnormalities. The common signs and symptoms are either a consequence of ventriculomegaly or raised ICP (Table 12.3).

• **During infancy**, the cranial sutures are open and allow the enlarging ventricles to be accommodated. A volume hydrocephalus develops whereby there is a large head with splayed sutures, ventriculomegaly, thin cerebral mantle, and low CSF pressure with minimal periventricular edema. Signs and symptoms are a consequence of the enlarged ventricles. The head enlargement is present if the occipitofrontal circumference (OFC) measurement is more than two standard deviations adjusted for a given age, gender, and gesta-(≥97th percentile) tional age [27]. Macrocephaly is suspected if [28] any abnormal OFC measurement is recorded, serial measurements are suggestive of the crossing of major percentile lines (10th, 25th, 50th, 75th, 90th centile), or head enlarges at a rate

| | Infants | Older children | |
|----------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Symptoms | Irritability | Psychomotor slowing Delayed developmental milestones | |
| | Poor feeding | Headache (particularly on waking up) associated with vomiting | |
| | Failure to thrive | Neck pain | |
| | Vomiting | Blurring of vision (papilledema) | |
| | Lethargy | Diplopia Due to third or sixth nerve palsy causing extra-ocular muscle paresis | |
| | Reduced motor activity | Stunted growth, obesity, and defects in sexual maturation Due to hypothalamic dysfunction due to the enlarged third ventricle | |
| | Cushing triad • Widened pulse pressure (increasing systolic, decreasing diastolic) • Bradycardia • Irregular respirations | Spastic gait Due to stretching of pyramidal tract in the periventricular region | |
| | | Somnolence | |
| Signs | OFC at or above the 97th centile for age | Papilledema | |
| | Frontal bossing | Upward gaze palsy | |
| | Sutural splaying | Parinaud syndrome • Up gaze palsy • Convergence retraction nystagmus • Pupillary hyporeflexia | |
| | Tense/bulging fontanelles | Collier sign (bilateral upper lid retraction) | |
| | Dilated scalp veins | Convergence-retraction nystagmus | |
| | Setting sun sign | Macewen sign (cracked pot sign) | |
| | Increased limb tone | Unsteady gait due to spasticity | |
| | | Macrocephaly | |
| | | Unilateral or bilateral sixth nerve palsy | |

 Table 12.3
 Clinical presentation of hydrocephalus

more than 1.25 cm/week, or increase in OFC of >2 cm/month (up to 6 months age).

Although increased OFC may be the earliest, most prominent sign in neonates and infants, other conditions such as subdural hematoma/ hygroma, benign extra-axial fluid collections of infancy, inherited familial macrocephaly, fragile X syndrome, overgrowth syndromes such as cerebral gigantism (Sotos syndrome) and Weaver syndrome, lysosomal storage disorders (Tay-Sachs, mucopolysaccharidosis, and gangliosidosis), leukodystrophies, and megalencephaly (familial, Cowden syndrome, neurocutaneous disorders, achondroplasia, etc.) need to be ruled out. A good guide is to plot the head circumference on the ageadjusted growth charts, more specifically onto the Weaver charts (OFC charted as per parental OFC to rule out familial causes) and prematurity adjusted charts. Neonates may at times present with the Cushing triad of apnea and bradycardia with irregular respirations, though this is less apparent as the infant grows and macrocephaly becomes notable.

Older children and adults: A pressure hydrocephalus develops as the sutures have fused and there is limited macrocrania, mild ventriculomegaly, thick cerebral mantle, high CSF pressure, and extensive periventricular ooze. As the child grows, the brain water content and, therefore, the brain compliance reduce and sutures fuse; the signs and symptoms of raised ICP manifest [29].

Headaches (particularly on waking up) are common, associated with vomiting, worsened by recumbent position, coughing, crying, and micturition/defecation. In advanced hydrocephalus, focal neurologic deficits (bilateral sixth nerve palsy), Parinaud syndrome (dorsal midbrain syndrome characterized by up gaze palsy, downward gaze preference or setting sun sign, the large pupil with light-near dissociation, skew deviation of eyes, convergenceretraction nystagmus, bilateral ptosis, and abnormal upper eyelid retraction or Collier sign), and new-onset seizures may be the sinister presentation and mandate emergent intervention [29].

12.5 Diagnosis of Hydrocephalus

Different diagnostic modalities for hydrocephalus are available other than the clinical presentation in a child (Table 12.4); some of them are detailed as below:

(a) Cranial ultrasound: Antenatal ultrasonography may reveal hydrocephalus and other neurodevelopmental anomalies [30]. Screening cranial ultrasound is recommended for all preterms born at 30 weeks or earlier as a tool to identify ventricular dilation, periventricular leukomalacia (PVL), and IVH. Screening window is recommended on all infants of ≤30 weeks' gestation once between 7 and 14 days of age (preferably first 48 h) and repeated between 36 and 40 weeks' post-conceptual age [31]. The early examination rules out IVH and any developmental anomalies, while late one rules out ventriculomegaly and

 Table 12.4
 Diagnostic criteria of hydrocephalus

| Diagnostic criteria | Corroborative criteria |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Size of both temporal horns (TH) is $\geq 2 \text{ mm in}$ width <i>Plus</i> Effaced Sylvian and interhemispheric fissures and the cerebral sulci OR | Ballooning of the frontal horns of lateral ventricles ("Mickey mouse" ventricles may indicate aqueductal stenosis) and/ or rounding of the third ventricle |
| Both TH are $\geq 2 \text{ mm}$ <i>Plus</i> Ratio of frontal horn width (FH) to internal diameter (ID: Measurement across the frontal horn between the inner table on each side) more than 0.5 | Periventricular lucency on CT, or periventricular high intensity signal on T2WI on MRI fluid- attenuated inversion recovery [FLAIR] sequences |
| | FH to ID ratio > 0.5 |
| | Evans ratio (ratio of FH to maximal biparietal diameter, BPD) more than 0.3 Thinning/atrophy of corpus callosum (chronic hydrocephalus) or |
| | upward bowing of the corpus callosum (acute hydrocephalus) |

progressive hydrocephalus. Though the cranial ultrasound hardly visualizes third and fourth ventricles, it serves as a useful guide as serial measurements of the lateral ventricle, is available bedside to follow up preemies with IVH, and helps decide upon need for surgical intervention. It also differentiates hydrocephalus from benign extra-axial fluid collections of infancy. The sonographic window is through the anterior fontanelle, and ventriculomegaly is present if ventricular atrium is more than 10 mm at term. If the posterior portion is larger than the anterior part of lateral ventricles (colpocephaly) and persists in the postnatal period, it is considered as abnormal. As the fontanelle closes by 12–18 months, the utility of this imaging is limited to infants. Progressive ventriculomegaly mandates additional imaging by CT/MRI.

- (b) Computed tomography: Most of the time, it is the initial modality of imaging due to ready availability and faster acquisition time, especially in the setting of raised ICP. However, there are concerns about radiation exposure, particularly in the follow-up of patients with hydrocephalus. Additionally, it provides little information about the underlying cause, and further imaging with MRI is quintessential [32].
- (c) Magnetic resonance imaging is the imaging modality of choice for suspected hydrocephalus as it delineates the ventricular system anatomically and pinpoints the pathologic processes causing altered CSF hydrodynamics [32]. The state of arachnoid membranes and trans-ependymal flow. tumor, or other pathologies is readily identifiable via MRI. T2-weighted images delineate the ventricular pathway and the basal cisterns [32]. Additionally, CSF flow studies are possible with turbo spin-echo (TSE), three-dimensional constructive interference in the steady state (3D-CISS), and cine phase-contrast sequences [33]. The need for sedation and longer acquisition time has precluded the use of MRI as routine imaging in infants and children. However, with the advent of ultra-fast MRI sequences (as half-Fourier acquisition single-shot turbo spin-

echo (HASTE) or single-shot fast spin-echo T2-W sequences), it is possible to obtain images within 5 min without sedation [34]. Limited imaging using ultra-fast MRI is now seen as used as an alternative to ultrasonography in the evaluation of infantile hydrocephalus [35].

(d) Skull radiographs: The typical beaten copper or silver beaten appearance is pathognomonic of hydrocephalus. There may also be sellar erosion in chronic hydrocephalus. Except for historical significance, this imaging has no current role in the workup.

12.6 Management with CSF Diversion Procedures

Medical literature from the first millennium is replete with the research work of Arab physician Abu Al Qasim (Latinized as Abulcasis) on infantile hydrocephalus and ventricular drainage as a possible treatment. However, the renaissance era showed little research in this field, and it was only in the late nineteenth century when Kay and Retzius developed sterile ventricular puncture procedure and external CSF drainage. However, Mikulicz in 1893 is credited with the first ever ventricular-subarachnoid-subgaleal shunt [36]. Over the years, a myriad of ventriculoperitoneal, ventriculovenous, ventriculopleural, ventriculoureteral, and lumboperitoneal shunts came in use; but procedure-related mortality was exceptionally high. What revolutionized the management of hydrocephalus was the development of ball valve-type ventriculo-caval shunt in 1952 by Nulsen and Spitz and is the forerunner for modern-day shunt systems [37]. Hence, in the late 1950s, VA shunts were the mainstay of treating hydrocephalus. Almost 94% of CSF diversion procedures were VA shunts till the early 1970s. However, it was increasingly recognized that these shunts needed revision with the child's longitudinal growth, and these were associated with a high risk of potential complications of thromboembolism, pulmonary hypertension, shunt nephritis, and sepsis. By the late 1980s, with silicon-based shunt catheters, there was a

resurgence of the VP shunts, and soon these shunts evolved as a mainstay in over 90% of cases. Despite significant advancement in shunt technology over the last six decades, the management of pediatric hydrocephalus remains an enigma for neurosurgeons. It also continues to be a major health burden in terms of prolonged treatment, multiple hospital admissions, and poor neurodevelopmental outcome. The available modalities aim to achieve a CSF diversion across the point of the hindrance of CSF dynamics (Fig. 12.4, Table 12.5).

12.6.1 CSF Shunts Used for Diversion Procedures

An implanted shunt functions by diverting the CSF from the ventricles or the subarachnoid space surrounding the brain and spinal cord to another body cavity or systemic circulation. This provides an alternative route for removal of the excess CSF, thus restoring the balance between CSF production, flow, and absorption. Typically, the shunt has the following essential components:

- (a) Proximal ventricular catheter: A catheter is placed into the frontal horn of the right or left lateral ventricle through a frontal or occipito-parietal burr hole (Fig. 12.5). The material for the catheters is silicone, and currently, antibiotic-impregnated and silver-impregnated polyurethane catheters are being increasingly used. It is speculated that these prevent a bacterial biofilm formation (silver) or form a zone of inhibition of bacterial colony growth (clindamycin and rifampicin impregnated), thus preventing shunt infection [35].
- (b) **Unidirectional valves** are the interface between the proximal and distal catheters that function to control the rate of CSF drainage. Traditionally, these valves work on the principle of differential pressure (DP), i.e., the CSF pressure head across the valve that



Fig. 12.4 Schematic diagram of CSF diversion procedures

| Temporary | Permanent |
|----------------------|------------------------------------------|
| External ventricular | CSF shunts |
| drainage | (a) Ventriculoperitoneal (VP) |
| | shunt |
| | Lateral ventricle to |
| | peritoneal cavity |
| | (b) Ventriculo-atrial/caval |
| | shunt (VA) or vascular shunt |
| | • Lateral ventricle to the |
| | right atrium via the jugular |
| | vein and SVC |
| | Typical candidates are |
| | those with morbid obesity, |
| | peritonitis, and extensive |
| | abdominal surgery or |
| | premature infants with |
| | (a) Ventricula plaural shunt |
| | • Usually a sacond line |
| | diversion technique |
| | Recommended for patients |
| | above 7 years of age to |
| | avoid problems related to |
| | hydrothorax |
| | (d) Lumbo-peritoneal shunt |
| | Communicating |
| | hydrocephalus, CSF |
| | fistula, and benign |
| | intracranial hypertension |
| | (e) Torkildsen shunt |
| | Ventricle to cisternal space |
| | (f) Miscellaneous: |
| | Arachnoid cyst or subdural |
| | hygroma to peritoneal |
| | cavity, ventriculo-ureteral, |
| | gall bladder, superior |
| | sagittal sinus, etc. |
| External lumbar | Endoscopic third |
| drainage | ventriculostomy (ETV) |
| Temporary | |
| intraventricular | |
| reservoirs with | |
| intermittent | |
| transcutaneous | |
| reservoir | |

 Table 12.5
 Available modalities for CSF diversion

allows CSF outflow when the valve's opening pressure (OP) is exceeded. Newer generation valves are either DP-adjustable or flow-regulated valves [38]. The pressureregulated valves work on the principle of differential pressure across the valve. The design may be slit valves, miter valves, diaphragm valves, or metallic spring-loaded ball-in-cone valves. Flow-regulated valves work by altering the resistance of the outflow tubing to maintain constant flow rate close to the rate of CSF secretion regardless of posture or straining, coughing, or Valsalva maneuver. These valves combine the features of a conventional DP valve with a variable flow restrictor to control the problems of siphoning.

Shunt technology is rapidly evolving with several new generation shunts in the market. It is therefore important to have a basic understanding of the valve mechanisms to allow clinicians to select wisely from the wide armamentarium of shunts for each patient.

Conventional differential pressure (DP) is further categorized as low (0–5 cmH₂O), medium (5–10 cmH₂O), or high (10–15 cmH₂O) pressure depending on the upper and lower pressure differential of the shunt. Though the indications determining the opening pressure gradient are relative, a common practical application is to place low-pressure shunts in infants with open fontanelles, medium-pressure shunt in older children, and high-pressure shunts in obstructive hydrocephalus in posterior fossa lesions.

Variable pressure valves may be (i) programmable valves or (ii) multistage flowregulated valves. Programmable valves are essentially second-generation valves that can be adjusted noninvasively by changing the DP magnetically from outside the body. These are basically DP valves with a ballcone mechanism controlled by a spring whose opening pressure can be altered using a magnetic field to alter the preload of the spring. These can be adjusted in the range of 10-150 cmH₂O and require a variable number of steps and, therefore, multiple office visits for the patient. The distinct advantage of programmability is the ability to fine-tune the valve performance for the patient without the need for revision surgery [38]. Multistage flow-regulated valves function by altering the caliber of the outflow tube in response to changes in the CSF pressure head, thus maintaining a constant flow.



Fig. 12.5 A. Frontal site of intraventricular catheter insertion at Kocher's point (1 cm anterior to the coronal suture and 2–3 cm lateral to the midline). The Frazier point (occipito-parietal burr hole, not depicted in the

- (c) Reservoir is the antechamber placed between the proximal catheter and the valve assembly underneath the skin in the postauricular area to allow CSF sampling, injecting drugs, and assessing the patency of the proximal and distal catheter in case of a shunt malfunction. Normally, on pushing the reservoir, it bounces back. Failure to spring back may be a sign of proximal shunt block, while a stiff reservoir may signify a distal catheter block.
- (d) Anti-siphon device: Siphoning and overshunting/over-drainage present a unique problem with CSF shunts as postural changes, straining, coughing, nocturnal vasogenic effects on CSF secretion all cause significant CSF sucking out of the ventricles/ lumbar theca through the shunt system [39]. The majority of the shunt-related complications are due to siphoning, i.e., proximal catheter blockage, slit ventricle syndrome, subdural/extradural collections, etc. To prevent this, some kind of anti-siphon and antigravity devices are incorporated into the shunt system to provide progressive resistance to flow and mitigate the negative pressure exerted with standing up. Siphon control devices are either membrane type, gravitational, or flow resistor [38–40].
- (e) Distal catheter is the distal end of the shunt assembly placed into the desired area of drainage, most commonly the peritoneal cav-



image, is 6 cm above the inion and 3 cm lateral to the midline). B. In situ intraventricular catheter in the lateral ventricle

ity. When the abdominal placement is contraindicated or technically difficult in conditions such as peritonitis, abdominal surgery, and morbidly obese, alternative sites such as the pleura or the right atrium may need to be considered.

Indian shunt systems: Considering the high cost of most internationally available shunt systems in developing countries and the need for repeated revision surgery for malfunction, indigenous valves such as Upadhyaya shunt system, Chhabra shunt system, and Sri Chitra shunt system are popular. These are conventional fixed DP types with slit and spring and Z-flow, available as low-pressure, medium-pressure, and high-pressure valves. Efficacy has been found to be comparable to the western shunt systems [4, 41, 42].

12.7 Endoscopic Third Ventriculostomy

Endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) is a neuroendoscopic procedure that involves creating new CSF egress from the third ventricle into the prepontine cistern and subarachnoid spaces surrounding the brainstem, thus bypassing the obstruction downstream. It is indicated in noncommunicating hydrocephalus with patent CSF pathway downstream and adequate CSF absorption [43]. It has also been efficacious in certain forms of communicating hydrocephalus such as idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus, posttraumatic hydrocephalus, hydrocephalus secondary to SAH, and tubercular meningitis [43].

Neuroendoscopy provides a safe, speedy, minimally invasive alternative to implanted shunts. An ideal third ventricle floor fenestration site should be in the midline to avoid the posterior communicating artery and posterior cerebral artery, in the area of tuber cinereum (prominence on the base of the hypothalamus), posterior to the infundibular recess and anterior to the mammillary bodies and tip of the basilar artery. The procedure however has its share of complications. Morbidity of 5-30% and operative mortality of <1% have been reported [44]. Serious complications occur due to injury to the structures in and around the floor of the third ventricle, i.e., posterior hypothalamus, midbrain, fornix, caudate, third, and sixth cranial nerves, and basilar artery and its perforators. These are attributed to poor surgical technique (ventriculostomy away from the midline), direct pressure from the perforating instrument or Fogarty balloon, high temperature of the cautery, or rapid distension of the third ventricle with jet irrigation.

12.8 Hydrocephalus Outcome

The outcome of hydrocephalus without treatment is grim with 50% mortality within 3 years and only 20% surviving to adulthood [45]. Depending on the follow-up period, the overall mortality with hydrocephalus and CSF diversion procedures is between 0 and 3% [4]. With surgical management, the mortality rates with nontumoral hydrocephalus are about 11% at 10 years. There is some degree of cognitive sequelae in approximately 12-50% of children and schooling difficulties affecting 20–60% of children [46]. Almost 60% of children have some motor disabilities with almost 13% requiring walking aids and another 17% requiring wheelchair for mobility. Optic nerve atrophy or cortical blindness occurs as a result of raised ICP. As a consequence, almost 83% of patients develop visual field defects, diplopia, vision loss, and visuoperceptive defects [47]. Endocrine sequels are common due to hypothalamic dysfunction with resultant hyperplasia, weight gain, and precocious puberty and reduced fertility [48]. The intellectual outcome of hydrocephalus is governed by the severity of parenchymal damage at presentation and is maximal in infantile hydrocephalus (PHH, post-meningitis) and posttraumatic hydrocephalus.

12.9 Anesthetic Management for CSF Diversion Procedures

Understanding and applying the basic neurophysiologic principles underpin the successful anesthesia in children presenting for CSF diversion procedures; a few additional concerns are paramount:

- Larger cranium and therefore larger blood volume are accounted for by the head and neck area in infants and children. Also, macrocrania predisposes the infants to hypothermia.
- In neonates with congenital hydrocephalus, enlarged head places the neck in flexion and makes the airway management difficult. Elevating the body with towels may be required to facilitate laryngoscopy.
- Hydrocephalus in infants, unlike adults, may present with nonspecific symptoms of raised ICP due to the pliant cranial sutures.
- Acute-onset intracranial hypertension requires emergent intervention to prevent serious neurologic sequelae.

12.9.1 Preoperative Assessment

Hydrocephalus may present with different perioperative scenarios (Table 12.6). A thorough preoperative evaluation should encompass baseline neurologic status, any neurologic deficits, and features of raised ICP. In shunted children, there may be subtle signs of new or worsening postural headache, new-onset seizures, and new neuro**Table 12.6** Presentations of hydrocephalus with different perioperative scenarios

- Prenatal diagnosis: With antenatal diagnosis and advancement in the field of in utero surgery, there is a trend toward prenatal management of hydrocephalus associated with MMC (fetal neurosurgery)
- Preterm patients with post hemorrhagic hydrocephalus
- Neonate with congenital/non-tumoral hydrocephalus
- · An older child with hydrocephalus
- Acute-onset intracranial hypertension in a shunted child
- · Shunt malfunction with hydrocephalus
- · Shunted child with fever
- Long-standing hydrocephalus with chronic headache

logic deficits suggestive of shunt malfunction or fever with meningismus and intra-abdominal infection pointing to shunt infection. Depressed sensorium may be a harbinger of aspiration, while repeated vomiting may cause dehydration and electrolyte imbalance. A focused examination is paramount to rule out raised ICP and its sequelae. In the case of multiple revisions, prolonged difficult surgery may be anticipated due to likely abdominal adhesions. In patients with VA shunt, pulmonary hypertension needs to be ruled out. In the case of a ventriculo-pleural shunt, pleural effusion on the same side may be present, and intermittent positive pressure ventilation (IPPV) may block the distal draining end. This mandates vigilant neurologic assessment and aggressive postoperative chest physiotherapy.

Laboratory studies are usually not necessary in infants and children, apart from baseline hemoglobin and total leucocyte counts. Serum electrolytes are governed by the suspicion of disturbed sodium homeostasis as in pituitary tumors with suprasellar extension, craniopharyngiomas, hypothalamic dysfunction, persistent vomiting, etc. Patients with an external ventricular drain may have excess sodium loss via the CSF necessitating preoperative serum electrolytes.

Congenital hydrocephalus may require evaluation for associated anomalies. Additionally, preemies commonly have associated anemia, coagulopathy or jaundice, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, or persistent fetal circulation that need to be borne in mind while anesthetizing these babies. Particularly, infants with vein of Galen malformation-associated hydrocephalus commonly present with high output cardiac failure making the anesthetic course tumultuous. In the case of ex premature infants, a note of the risk factors of postoperative apnea should be borne in mind while anesthetizing these babies, i.e., postconceptual age (PCA) less than 60 weeks, general anesthesia, history of apnea at home, anemia, stormy postnatal course, and presence of neurologic disease [49–53].

Seizure medication should be continued through the perioperative period. It is prudent to avoid sedation in children with an obtunded sensorium. An awake combative child may require oral/nasal midazolam. Ketamine is best avoided owing to its detrimental effects on ICP and cerebral blood flow (CBF). Systemic antibiotics are advocated at induction for all shunt surgeries.

Preoperative fasting rules as recommended should be followed (2–4-6 rule); clear fluids are allowed liberally till 2 h as prolonged fasting time in small children causes lack of cooperation, dehydration, and hypotension at the induction of anesthesia. Caution should be nevertheless exercised in children with obtunded sensorium [54].

12.9.2 Anesthetic Considerations

The ideal anesthetic is one that maintains the cerebral hemodynamics close to homeostasis; the choice of anesthetic is therefore guided by the concerns for CPP/ICP preservation. Grossly hydrocephalic children in the emergency present challenges to anesthesiologists due to associated congenital anomalies, macrocephaly, and a full stomach [55]. A difficult airway cart comes handy in tackling such scenarios. Shunt placement is an urgent procedure, so the child is fasted but an obtunded sensorium and risk of aspiration may necessitate rapid sequence intubation [56]. Rapid sequence intubation (RSI) should always be considered in emergency shunting, particularly shunt malfunction with acute intracranial hypertension. Further, the risk of RSI needs to be weighed against the risk of an unanticipated difficult airway in infants with large heads. In children, use of succinylcholine in RSI is a dilemma with its detrimental effects on ICP and undiagnosed muscular dystrophies; rocuronium may be a safe alternative as a part of RSI regime.

In children, volatile induction with sevoflurane and securing venous access for the further conduct of anesthesia is logical to avoid ICP rising in a crying, combative child. Intravenous (IV) induction with propofol or thiopentone may be undertaken if iv access is available. Maintenance of anesthesia is done with either TIVA or volatile agents supplemented with short-acting opioids (remifentanil/fentanyl) and muscle relaxants to achieve controlled ventilation and normocapnia along with standard monitoring modalities. Volatile anesthetics below 1 MAC can be safely used. Nitrous oxide is best avoided for its effect on increasing CBF [56]. One of the most noxious stimuli during the course of surgery is at the time of distal catheter tunneling when local anesthetic infiltration could be useful to alleviate the response. The anesthetic depth may be increased briefly by increasing dialed concentration of volatile agents and administration of titrated doses of opioid to counter such response [57, 58].

For VP shunt placement, the child is positioned supine with the head turned to the contralateral side and a roll under the ipsilateral shoulder to facilitate the tunneling of the distal catheter. The extremes of neck flexion/rotation should be avoided to allow unimpeded cerebral venous outflow and undesired endotracheal tube migration. Proper securing of the endotracheal tube is quintessential as tube migration is commonplace in young children with changes in head position.

Preoperative fasting is kept to the bare minimum (2 h) so that for short procedures (<1 h), there is hardly any requirement for fluid therapy. Preoperative deficits if any should be replaced before anesthesia is induced. In children, consensus guidelines recommend using background infusion with the solution of osmolarity as close to plasma with added metabolic anions (acetate, lactate, malate) and 1-2.5% glucose to maintain volume status and tissue perfusion while avoiding hypoglycemia, hyponatremia, hyperchloremia, and lipolysis/ketoacidosis [58, 59]. The best method to assess dehydration is by subtracting the current body weight from the immediate premorbid weight; however, this is usually unavailable and one has to rely on the clinical assessment. The deficit is calculated by multiplying the degree of dehydration by body weight (in kg) multiplied by a factor of 10 (e.g., a 5 kg child with 10% dehydration will have a fluid deficit of 500 ml). A rough guide is replacing with 10 ml/ kg boluses for each 1% dehydration [60]. Most pediatric patients undergoing CSF diversion procedures may have preoperative fluid deficits due to prolonged fasting in the face of the obtunded sensorium, repeated vomiting, and diuretic therapy or CSF loss from external ventricular drainage. It is difficult to reliably estimate the deficit, especially in the context of a large amount of CSF in the cranium contributing to the body weight. Therefore, an initial bolus of 10-20 ml/ kg of the balanced solution with 1–2.5% glucose may be a reasonable choice before anesthesia induction.

12.9.3 Postoperative Management

Postoperative analgesia can be maintained with paracetamol and NSAIDs. In the case of pleural shunts, the initial 48 h may require opioid supplementation for the sharp pleuritic pain. The expremature infants require adequate attention for postoperative apnea for at least 12 h in a high dependency unit. Non-osmotic stimuli such as stress, fever, pain, hypovolemia, hypoglycemia, etc. cause ADH release that peaks at 6-12 h, postoperatively [59]. Therefore, oral fluid intake should be encouraged early unless the sensorium is obtunded in which case; fluid management is guided by the same principle of using the balanced salt solution with glucose guided by the Holliday-Segar formula. Special caution is advocated in endoscopic third ventriculostomy where postoperative hypokalemia, hypernatremia, and CSF acidosis are noted with saline irrigation, while hyperkalemia is reported with Ringer lactate irrigation [61]. Therefore, it is advisable to
monitor serum electrolytes postoperatively to guide the choice of fluid therapy.

12.10 Shunt Complications

Shunt malfunction impairs the cognitive function and intellect, requires multiple hospital admissions and revision surgeries, and increases the risk of death. The failure rates are substantial in pediatric age group with 38% shunts failing in the first year and 5% every year thereafter. The two most common reasons are shunt blockage and shunt infection (Table 12.7) [62].

12.10.1 Shunt Blockage/ Under-Shunting

Shunt malfunction is estimated to have a mortality rate of 1% per year during the initial years of implantation [63]. Hardware issues are commonest in the first year of shunting ($\approx 10\%$). Clogging may occur in any of the shunt parts, the ventricular end being the most notorious. The ventricular end may get obstructed by the choroid plexus, scar, blood, or debris or may migrate into the brain parenchyma. Connectors at various segments or the tubing may fracture. The valve assembly may be poorly selected or get clogged by debris. The distal end may fracture, migrate, or get kinked or may form a pseudocyst.

Presentation is one of a raised ICP, and immediate evaluation of the shunt type, underlying etiology, any revisions, and presence of infection should be done. The most frequent symptoms in older children are vomiting and drowsiness, whereas infants commonly present with nausea, vomiting, irritability, and bulging fontanel. The shunt chamber must be palpated; the inability to depress the chamber may indicate distal obstruction, whereas slow, poor refilling may indicate proximal obstruction or a slit ventricle syndrome due to over-shunting. Shunt series (AP and lateral skull, chest, and abdominal radiographs) should be evaluated to rule out fractures/disconnections at any of the segments. Newer shunt systems may require CT scanning or radionuclide scintigraphy

| Tal | ble | 12.7 | Factors | predictive | of | shunt | failure |
|-----|-----|------|---------|------------|----|-------|---------|
|-----|-----|------|---------|------------|----|-------|---------|

| 1. Hardware- related | Type of valve: The incidence, however, has not been correlated with any particular valve type (DP/ flow-regulated/programmable) Material of the catheter: Antibiotic or silver-impregnated catheter tubing may reduce the chances of shunt infection |
|-------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 2. Patient factors | Age of the patient: Higher failure rate in pediatric (48%) compared to the adult population (27%), more so in the preemies Etiology of hydrocephalus: Higher chances of failure in myelomeningocele (MMC), posterior fossa neoplasms, post-hemorrhagic hydrocephalus, and aqueductal stenosis are noted Multiple revision surgeries Repeated shunt taps Time since shunting: Failure rates are inversely proportional to the time since insertion with maximal chances of failure in the first 6 months Malnutrition, craniospinal irradiation, steroid therapy, recent MMC repair, postoperative CSF fistula, and tracheostomy have all been found to predispose to shunt infectione |
| 3. Surgical factors | Surgical expertise Lower rate of complications is noted in high volume institutions Operating room (OR) factors: High operating room personnel traffic Multiple surgeries in the OR prior to shunting in the day Poor OR climate control Preoperative prophylactic antibiotics reduce shunt infection Good skin preparation and double gloving/changing gloves prior to shunt insertion Optimal length and positioning of the proximal catheter: The tip should ideally be sited at the atria of the lateral ventricle and away from the parenchyma Siting of distal catheter: VA shunts and VP shunts have a higher rate of revisions and morbidity compared to VP shunts |

with 99 m-Tc to delineate the site of malfunction. Shunt blockage requires urgent intervention in the form of exteriorization of the ventricular end, shunt revision, or abdominal end revision depending on the site of obstruction.

12.10.2 Shunt Infection

The presence of clinical symptoms in a shunted patient with a positive culture and/or pleocytosis may suffice to point toward shunt infection. It is reported in 5-15% of procedures, though the incidence may be as high as 50% in the developing countries [64–66]. There is a bimodal distribution with the first peak within 3-6 months of shunting and second peak after a year [67]. Neonates and infants have a higher incidence compared to older children and adults. Most infections are typically from the patient's skin Coagulase-negative flora. staphylococcus, Staphylococcus epidermidis, and Staphylococcus aureus ($\approx 60\%$) and Gram-negative bacilli (E. coli and Streptococcus hemolytic in neonates) account for early infections, whereas almost all late infections (>6 months) are caused by Staphylococcus epidermidis [4].

Typically, there are signs of raised ICP with fever, meningismus, abdominal pain with peritonism, erythema around the shunt tract with leukocytosis, and raised C-reactive protein. Fever occurring soon after the intervention and irritability are good predictors of shunt infection. Once all possible causes of systemic infection are ruled out by appropriate cultures, a shunt tap under strict aseptic conditions may be indicated to confirm the diagnosis. CT scanning may reveal shunt malfunction with enlarged ventricles, brain abscess, or subcutaneous pockets of pus along the CSF shunt path, and the shunt hardware can also be checked. Ependymal enhancement along with intraventricular fluid level due to sedimented debris may be seen on CT, suggestive of ventriculitis. MRI may reveal empyema along the tract or periventricular enhancement on FLAIR. Abdominal ultrasound may show a CSF pseudocyst.

The key to management is a high degree of suspicion in a shunted child with persistent fever despite antibiotics. Antibiotic therapy needs to be instituted early, though most cases only respond once the shunt hardware is removed. Broadspectrum antibiotic cover with vancomycin plus meropenem or cefepime is generally a reasonable choice while awaiting culture and sensitivity reports.

12.10.3 Over-Shunting

Up to 10% of patients develop symptoms related to over-drainage causing a state of intracranial hypotension in the supine position [68]. The siphoning with gravity causes the obstruction of the valve by ependymal or choroid plexus with episodes of intracranial hypertension. Overdrainage may cause a myriad of complications:

- Slit ventricle syndrome: A complete collapse of the ventricles occurs as a result of overdrainage in about 10–12% of shunted patients. These patients present with intermittent or complete shunt malfunction due to shunt occlusion by the ependymal scar [69, 70].
- Intracranial hypotension presents as a postural headache that resolves on lying supine. Serious symptoms due to downward displacement of the brainstem may be worrisome [71].
- Subdural hematomas are more commonly seen in adults with normal pressure hydrocephalus. There is tearing of the bridging cortical veins due to craniocerebral disproportion. Similarly, SDH may also occur in children with long-standing hydrocephalus with enlarged ventricles and a thin cerebral mantle [72].

Treatment usually mandates increasing the pressure in a programmable valve or upgrading to a higher-pressure valve, one with a siphon control device or flow-regulated valves.

12.10.4 Miscellaneous Complications

Immediate procedure-related risks are intraparenchymal/intraventricular/subdural hematomas, catheter misplacement, and stroke. At the abdominal end, pseudocyst may form following indolent infection with *Propionibacterium* acnes. Case reports of hollow viscus perforation, distal catheter migration, and volvulus are abundant. VA shunts may cause thrombosis, pulmonary hypertension, right heart failure, and shunt nephritis. Pleural shunts result in pleural effusions/hydrothorax. Seizures may occur in about 6–30% with an incidence of 2% per year. Risk factors being preemies with hydrocephalus, young age at first surgery, PHH, post-infectious HCP, post-traumatic HCP, following shunt obstruction, and shunt infection [73].

12.11 Special Anesthetic Considerations

12.11.1 Shunted Patient for Incidental (Laparoscopy) Surgery

Despite concerns of pneumoperitoneum causing an increase in ICP, a well-functioning shunt does not contraindicate laparoscopy [74]. The one-way valve in the shunt can withstand pressures up to 300 mmHg, and clamping the abdominal end of the shunt is not a wise idea as it may actually raise the ICP. More so, pneumoperitoneum exceeding 15 mmHg causes only transient, small in magnitude changes in ICP; in presence of a well-functioning shunt, this is hardly a cause for concern. Other concerns are with respect to the placement of central venous lines; the shunt tunnel should be well-demarcated to avoid shunt catheter damage.

12.11.2 Shunted Patient for MRI

This is the cause of concern in the case of programmable shunts as resetting, heating, and dislodgement of the shunt magnet are all possible during imaging. The valve assembly may also cause artifacts in the images. It is recommended to do an after check of the valve settings following MRI [75].

12.11.3 Shunted Patient for Neuraxial Block

The theoretical concerns are primarily retrograde shunt infection and meningoencephalitis/ventriculitis in shunted patients. Abundant literature on obstetric patients who underwent spinal anesthesia for cesarean or labor analgesia has found similar risk as to the general population. It is safe to say that neuraxial block can be safely administered using strict asepsis and systemic antibiotics in shunted patients [76].

12.12 Conclusion

Pediatric hydrocephalus remains a menacing burdensome diagnosis for the treating physicians with its resolute course, brain parenchymal effects of raised ICP, shunt complications, and multiple revisions despite successful surgical management of the underlying pathology. The course is arduous despite CSF diversion procedures; the outcomes are dismal in terms of morbidity and economic burden. Though ETV as a CSF diversion procedure is gaining wide acceptance in pediatric non-communicating hydrocephalus, CSF shunts remain the gold standard for diversion in majority of pediatric patients with hydrocephalus. Anesthetic management of these patients is challenging due to concerns regarding airway management, intracranial hypertension, intraoperative hemodynamic and electrolyte disturbances, associated congenital anomalies, and multiple revision surgeries. A thorough understanding of the pathophysiology, clinical presentation, and early management of the underlying pathology and shunt complications therein are paramount to achieve good functional outcome in pediatric hydrocephalus.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

 Raimondi AJ. A unifying theory for the definition and classification of hydrocephalus. Childs Nerv Syst. 1994;10(1):2–12.

- Rekate HL. The definition and classification of hydrocephalus: a personal recommendation to stimulate debate. Cerebrospinal Fluid Res. 2008;5:2.
- Tully HM, Dobyns WB. Infantile hydrocephalus: a review of epidemiology, classification and causes. Eur J Med Genet. 2014;57(8):359–68.
- Venkataramana NK. Hydrocephalus Indian scenario a review. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6(Suppl 1):S11–22.
- Alhousseini A, Zeineddine S, Husseini A, et al. Familial hydrocephalus and dysgenesis of the corpus callosum associated with Xp22.33 duplication and stenosis of the aqueduct of Sylvius with X-linked recessive inheritance pattern. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2019;84(4):412–6.
- Krishnan P, Raybaud C, Palasamudram S, et al. Neuroimaging in pediatric hydrocephalus. Indian J Pediatr. 2019;86:952–60.
- Yasuda T, Tomita T, McLone DG, Donovan M. Measurement of cerebrospinal fluid output through external ventricular drainage in one hundred infants and children: correlation with cerebrospinal fluid production. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2002;36(1):22–8.
- Bothwell SW, Janigro D, Patabendige A. Cerebrospinal fluid dynamics and intracranial pressure elevation in neurological diseases. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2019;16(1):9.
- Rocca MA, Battaglini M, Benedict RH, et al. Brain MRI atrophy quantification in MS: from methods to clinical application. Neurology. 2017;88(4):403–13.
- Sharma RK. Craniosynostosis. Indian J Plast Surg. 2013;46(1):18–27.
- Krishnamurthy S, Li J. New concepts in the pathogenesis of hydrocephalus. Transl Pediatr. 2014;3(3):185–94.
- Symss NP, Oi S. Theories of cerebrospinal fluid dynamics and hydrocephalus: historical trend. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;11(2):170–7.
- Dorner RA, Burton VJ, Allen MC, Robinson S, Soares BP. Preterm neuroimaging and neurodevelopmental outcome: a focus on intraventricular hemorrhage, post-hemorrhagic hydrocephalus, and associated brain injury. J Perinatol. 2018;38(11):1431–43.
- Hans JTD, Martin L, Akira H. Clinical neuroembryology: development and developmental disorders of the human central nervous system. 2nd ed. Heidelberg: Springer; 2014.
- 15. Isaacs AM, Riva-Cambrin J, Yavin D, et al. Agespecific global epidemiology of hydrocephalus: systematic review, metanalysis and global birth surveillance [published correction appears in PLoS One. 2019 Jan 10;14(1):e0210851]. PLoS One. 2018;13(10):e0204926.
- Rosenthal A, Jouet M, Kenwrick S. Aberrant splicing of neural cell adhesion molecule L1 mRNA in a family with X-linked hydrocephalus. Nat Genet. 1992;2(2):107–12.
- Treviño Alanís MG, González Cantú N, Montes Cruz JV, García Flores JB, Martínez Menchaca HR, Rivera SG. Dandy Walker malformation. Arch Argent Pediatr. 2014;112(1):103–4.

- Correa GG, Amaral LF, Vedolin LM. Neuroimaging of Dandy-Walker malformation: new concepts. Top Magn Reson Imaging. 2011;22(6):303–12.
- Chow KC, Lee C-C, Lin T-Y, Shen W-C, Wang J-H, Peng C-T, et al. Congenital enterovirus 71 infection: a case study with virology and immunohistochemistry. Clin Infect Dis. 2000;31(2):509–12.
- 20. Wright R, Johnson D, Neumann M, Ksiazek TG, Rollin P, Keech RV, et al. Congenital lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus syndrome: a disease that mimics congenital toxoplasmosis or Cytomegalovirus infection. Pediatrics. 1997;100(1):E9.
- 21. Simeone RM, Rasmussen SA, Mei JV, Dollard SC, Frias JL, Shaw GM, et al. A pilot study using residual newborn dried blood spots to assess the potential role of cytomegalovirus and toxoplasma gondii in the etiology of congenital hydrocephalus. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2013;97(7):431–6.
- Massimi L, Paternoster G, Fasano T, Di Rocco C. On the changing epidemiology of hydrocephalus. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25(7):795–800.
- Moritake K, Nagai H, Miyazaki T, Nagasako N, Yamasaki M, Tamakoshi A. Nationwide survey of the etiology and associated conditions of prenatally and postnatally diagnosed congenital hydrocephalus in Japan. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2007;47(10):448–52.
- Radic JA, Vincer M, McNeely PD. Outcomes of intraventricular hemorrhage and posthemorrhagic hydrocephalus in a population-based cohort of very preterm infants born to residents of Nova Scotia from 1993 to 2010. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;15(6):580–8.
- Ballabh P. Intraventricular hemorrhage in premature infants: mechanism of disease. Pediatr Res. 2010;67(1):1–8.
- Prasad KSV, Ravi D, Pallikonda V, Raman BVS. Clinicopathological study of pediatric posterior fossa tumors. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2017;12(3):245–50.
- Broere-Brown ZA, Baan E, Schalekamp-Timmermans S, Verburg BO, Jaddoe VW, Steegers EA. Sexspecific differences in fetal and infant growth patterns: a prospective population-based cohort study. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7:65.
- Marchand V. Canadian paediatric society, nutrition and gastroenterology committee. The toddler who is falling off the growth chart. Paediatr Child Health. 2012;17(8):447–54.
- Kahle KT, Kulkarni AV, Limbrick DD Jr, Warf BC. Hydrocephalus in children. Lancet. 2016;387(10020):788–99.
- Cavalheiro S, da Costa MDS, Mendonça JN, et al. Antenatal management of fetal neurosurgical diseases. Childs Nerv Syst. 2017;33(7):1125–41.
- Robinson S. Neonatal posthemorrhagic hydrocephalus from prematurity: pathophysiology and current treatment concepts. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;9(3):242–58.
- Damasceno BP. Neuroimaging in normal pressure hydrocephalus. Dement Neuropsychol. 2015;9(4):350–5.

- Battal B, Kocaoglu M, Bulakbasi N, Husmen G, Tuba Sanal H, Tayfun C. Cerebrospinal fluid flow imaging by using phase-contrast MR technique. Br J Radiol. 2011;84(1004):758–65.
- Mittal TK, Halpin SF, Bourne MW, et al. A prospective comparison of brain contrast characteristics and lesion detection using single-shot fast spin-echo and fast spin-echo. Neuroradiology. 1999;41(7):480–6.
- 35. Ha JY, Baek HJ, Ryu KH, et al. One-minute ultrafast brain MRI with full basic sequences: can it be a promising way forward for pediatric neuroimaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2020;215(1):198–205.
- Missori P, Paolini S, Currà A. From congenital to idiopathic adult hydrocephalus: a historical research. Brain. 2010;133(Pt 6):1836–49.
- Rachel RA. Surgical treatment of hydrocephalus: a historical perspective. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1999;30(6):296–304.
- Miyake H. Shunt devices for the treatment of adult hydrocephalus: recent Progress and characteristics. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2016;56(5):274–83.
- Tokoro K, Chiba Y, Abe H, Tanaka N, Yamataki A, Kanno H. Importance of anti-siphon devices in the treatment of pediatric hydrocephalus. Childs Nerv Syst. 1994;10(4):236–8.
- 40. Zachenhofer I, Donat M, Roessler K. The combination of a programmable valve and a subclavicular anti-gravity device in hydrocephalus patients at high risk for hygromas. Neurol Res. 2012;34(3):219–22.
- 41. Upadhyaya P, Bhargava S, Dube S, Sundaram KR, Ochaney M. Results of ventriculoatrial shunt surgery for hydrocephalus using Indian shunt valve evaluation of intellectual performance with particular reference to computerized axial tomography. Prog Pediatr Surg. 1982;15:209–22.
- 42. Prakash P, Dhandapani M, Ghai S, Singh NV, Dhandapani S. Quality of life among children who had undergone ventriculoperitoneal shunt surgery. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2018;13(2):189–94.
- Del Bigio MR, Di Curzio DL. Nonsurgical therapy for hydrocephalus: a comprehensive and critical review. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2016;13:3.
- Lee YH, Kwon YS, Yang KH. Multiloculated hydrocephalus: open craniotomy or endoscopy. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2017;60(3):301–5.
- Vinchon M, Baroncini M, Delestret I. Adult outcome of pediatric hydrocephalus. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28(6):847–54.
- 46. Blomstrand M, Holmberg E, Aberg MA, et al. No clinically relevant effect on cognitive outcomes after low-dose radiation to the infant brain: a populationbased cohort study in Sweden. Acta Oncol. 2014;53(9):1143–50.
- Andersson S, Persson EK, Aring E, Lindquist B, Dutton GN, Hellström A. Vision in children with hydrocephalus. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2006;48(10):836–41.

- 48. Heymsfield SB, Avena NM, Baier L, et al. Hyperphagia: current concepts and future directions proceedings of the 2nd international conference on hyperplasia. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2014;22(Suppl 1(0 1)):S1–S17.
- 49. Paulsen AH, Lundar T, Karl-Fredrik Lindegaard KF. Twenty-year outcome in young adults with childhood hydrocephalus: assessment of surgical outcome, work participation, and health-related quality of life. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;6:527–35.
- Liu LMP, Cote CJ, Goudsouzian NG, Ryan JF, Firestone S, Dedrick DF, Liu PL, Todres ID. Lifethreatening apnea in infants recovering from anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1983;59:506–10.
- Welborn LG, Hannallah RS, Luban NLC, Fink R, Ruttimann UE. Anaemia and postoperative apnea in former preterm infants. Anesthesiology. 1991;74:1003–6.
- Warner LO, Teitelbaum DH, Caniano DA, Vanik PE, Martino JD, Servick JD. Inguinal herniorrhaphy in young infants: Perianesthetic complications and associated preanesthetic risk factors. J Clin Anesth. 1992;4:455–61.
- 53. Malviya S, Swartz J, Lerman J. Are all preterm infants younger than 60 weeks postconceptual age at risk for postanesthetic apnea? Anesthesiology. 1983;78:1076–81.
- Taneja B, Srivastava V, Saxena KN. Physiological and anaesthetic considerations for the preterm neonate undergoing surgery. J Neonatal Surg. 2012;1(1):14.
- 55. Frykholm P, Schindler E, Sümpelmann R, Walker R, Weiss M. Preoperative fasting in children: review of existing guidelines and recent developments. Br J Anaesth. 2018;120(3):469–74.
- 56. Vagyannavar R, Bharti V, Hashim M. Difficult airway in a case of gross hydrocephalus for shunt surgery. Anesth Essays Res. 2017;11(4):1109–11.
- Prabhakar H, Rath GP, Bithal PK, Chouhan RS. Intracranial pressure and haemodynamic changes during the tunnelling phase of ventriculoperitoneal shunt insertion. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2005;22:947–50.
- Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK, Dash HH, Narang KS, Kalaivani M. Effects of butorphanol and fentanyl on cerebral pressures and cardiovascular hemodynamics during tunneling phase for ventriculoperitoneal shunt insertion. Middle East J Anesthesiol. 2008;19:1041–53.
- Oh GJ, Sutherland SM. Perioperative fluid management and postoperative hyponatremia in children. Pediatr Nephrol. 2016;31:53–60.
- Sümpelmann R, Becke K, Crean P, et al. European consensus statement for intraoperative fluid therapy in children. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2011;28(9):637–9.
- 61. Kanda K, Nozu K, Kaito H, Iijima K, Nakanishi K, Yoshikawa N, et al. The relationship between arginine vasopressin levels and hyponatremia following a percutaneous renal biopsy in children receiving hypo-

tonic or isotonic intravenous fluids. Pediatr Nephrol. 2011;26:99–104.

- Yadav YR, Parihar V, Pande S, Namdev H, Agarwal M. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2012;3(2):163–73.
- Bober J, Rochlin J, Marneni S. Ventriculoperitoneal shunt complications in children: an evidence-based approach to emergency department management. Pediatr Emerg Med Pract. 2016;13(2):1–23.
- Ferras M, McCauley N, Stead T, Ganti L, Desai B. Ventriculoperitoneal shunts in the emergency department: a review. Cureus. 2020;12(2):e6857.
- Gardner P, Leipzig T, Phillips P. Infections of central nervous system shunts. Med Clin North Am. 1985;69:297–314.
- Schoenbaum SC, Gardner P, Shillito J. Infections of cerebrospinal fluid shunts: epidemiology, clinical manifestations, and therapy. J Infect Dis. 1975;131:543–52.
- Shurtleff DB, Stuntz JT, Hayden PW. Experience with 1201 cerebrospinal fluid shunt procedures. Pediatr Neurosci. 1985/86;12:49–57.
- Hirsch JF, Hirsch E, Sainte Rose C, Renier D, Pierre-Khan A. Stenosis of the aqueduct of Sylvius. Etiol Treat J Neurosurg Sci. 1986;30(1–2):29–39.
- Ros B, Iglesias S, Martín Á, Carrasco A, Ibáñez G, Arráez MA. Shunt overdrainage syndrome: review of the literature. Neurosurg Rev. 2018;41(4):969–81.

- Mencser Z, Kopniczky Z, Kis D, Barzo P. Slit ventricle as a neurosurgical emergency: case report and review of literature. World Neurosurg. 2019;130:493–8.
- Reith W, Yilmaz U. Hydrozephalus und intrakranielle hypotension [hydrocephalus and intracranial hypotension]. Radiologe. 2012;52(9):821–6.
- 72. Sundström N, Lagebrant M, Eklund A, Koskinen LD, Malm J. Subdural hematomas in 1846 patients with shunted idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: treatment and long-term survival. J Neurosurg. 2018;129(3):797–804.
- Sato O, Yamguchi T, Kittaka M, Toyama H. Hydrocephalus and epilepsy. Childs Nerv Syst. 2001;17(1–2):76–86.
- Jackman SV, Weingart JD, Kinsman SL, Docimo SG. Laparoscopic surgery in patients with ventriculoperitoneal shunts: safety and monitoring. J Urol. 2000;164:1352–4.
- Zabramski JM, Preul MC, Debbins J, McCusker DJ. 3T magnetic resonance imaging testing of externally programmable shunt valves. Surg Neurol Int. 2012;3:81.
- Hirs I, Grbcic P. Cesarean section in spinal anesthesia on a patient with mesencephalic tumour and ventriculoperitoneal drainage -a case report. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2012;63(3):263–5.



13

Neural Tube Defects: Meningocele and Encephalocele

Charu Mahajan 💿

Key Points

- Neural tube defects (NTD) are either open or closed depending upon the defect during embryogenesis.
- Generally, open defects have an overall poor prognosis as compared to closed NTD.
- Meningomyelocele (MMC) is usually associated with other cranial and spinal malformations like hydrocephalus, Arnold-Chiari malformation II, corpus callosal agenesis, tethered cord syndrome, syringomyelia, etc.
- The surgery should be done as soon as feasible on an urgent basis rather than on an emergency basis.
- Pediatric age group, associated anomalies, possible difficult airway, and positioning makes anesthesia for patients with encephalocele quite challenging.
- These children may present for repeated surgeries and have a protracted disease course, often requiring a multi-specialty medical team.

13.1 Introduction

Neural tube defects (NTD) are one of the common congenital malformations of the central nervous system (CNS) responsible for either in utero fetal loss or chronic disability among those who survive. It may occur anywhere in the midline along the neural axis extending from the brain to the sacrum resulting in cranial or spinal dysraphism. Dysraphism means defective midline fusion or closure of neural tube, resulting in defects in nerve roots, spinal cord, or vertebrae. NTD can be divided into an open (aperta) defect if the overlying skin cover is absent or closed (occulta) type if the lesion is covered with skin [1]. There is cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leak in the open form, and the neuroepithelium protrudes externally through the defect. This loss of CSF is implicated in developing other CNS abnormalities resulting in a worse functional neurologic outcome than the closed NTD. Like cranial dysraphism, spinal dysraphism may be open or closed depending upon the presence or absence of exposed neural tissues, respectively [1]. The open spinal defects are usually associated with other brain malformations. In closed spinal dysraphism, there is congenital absence of a spinous process and part of the lamina. As a result, the neural tissue lies deep to an intact layer of skin. This type is usually not associated with brain maldevelopment, and the prognosis is also better than open defects.

C. Mahajan (🖂)

Department of Neuroanesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_13

| Cranial dysraphism | Spinal dysraphism | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Cranial dysraphism Open defects • Anencephaly • Iniencephaly • Craniorachischisis Closed defects • Encephalocele • Meningocele | Spinal dysraphism Spina bifida aperta: Myelomeningocele, myelocele, hemimyelocele, hemimyelomeningocele Spina bifida occulta: Split cord malformations (diastematomyelia, diplomyelia), dorsal dermal sinus, meningocele, lipomyelomeningocele, | |
| | lipomyelomeningocele, terminal syringo- | |
| | hydromyelocele, | |
| | abnormal filum | |
| | terminale, spinal | |
| | lipoma, caudal agenesis | |

 Table 13.1
 Classification of neural tube defects (NTDs)

The NTD spectra can thus be classified into cranial and spinal depending upon the site of maldevelopment (Table 13.1). Common ones are spina bifida and anencephaly, while rarer types include craniorachischisis and iniencephaly.

The incidence of NTD has decreased since the mandatory folic acid prescription for all pregnant women and has remained stable for the last 20 years. The birth prevalence, live birth, and stillbirth prevalence of neural tube defects in India are 4.1, 1.3, and 1.7 per 1000 births, respectively. Among the NTD, in India, the prevalence of anencephaly is highest (2.1 per 1000 births), followed by spina bifida (1.9 per 1000 births) [2]. The worldwide prevalence ranges from 1 to 3 in 1000 live births [3]. A systematic review found great variability in reporting of NTD prevalence between and also within countries ranging from 0.3 to 199.4 per 10,000 births, possibly due to variation in data collection and lack of surveillance/registry data in lower-income countries [4]. On a worldwide average, spina bifida is the most common type, followed by an encephaly and then encephalocele [4].

13.2 Embryology and Pathogenesis

The neurulation process, which occurs between 17 and 28 days post-conception, forms the brain and spinal cord. At the end of the second week

after fertilization, the embryo becomes a trilaminar disc consisting of three germ layers-ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm. The ectoderm overlying the notochord (at the cranial end) thickens to forms neural plate. At 3 weeks after gestation, a depression appears along its midline to form neural groove. With further deepening, the two edges start fusing in the midline to form the neural tube. This process of neural plate folding to form a cylindrical neural tube is known as primary neurulation. The neural tube divides into the cranial part, forming the early brain, and the caudal part forms the early spinal cord. The closure starts dorsally around the midpart of the neural plate and proceeds in cephalad and caudal direction. The openings at the two ends of the tube are known as cranial and caudal openings. The cranial neuropore closure (approx. day 24) is followed by caudal neuropore closure (day 28). Failure of anterior neuropore closure leads to anencephaly, and non-closure of posterior (caudal) neuropore results in spinal bifida. Failure of neural tube closure along its whole length gives rise to rachischisis. The development of the neural tube, its closure, and separation from the overlying ectoderm is completed beyond 4 weeks post-conception. Failure of fusion of neural folds and closure of neural tube, anywhere from cranial to caudal part during primary neurulation, results in different types of open NTDs. The secondary neurulation process deals with the hollowing of the neural tube, and formation of medullary cord and cavities that ensues in weeks five to six thus forming the lower spinal cord segments (sacral and coccygeal). Any defect in the process of secondary neurulation results in closed dysraphism. As this process occurs beneath the ectoderm, the lesions are covered by skin, hence known as closed NTD.

The genetic, nutritional, and environmental factors are implicated in the etiopathogenesis of NTDs. The risk is increased in the sibling of the affected case, same-sex twins, and offspring of consanguineous marriage [5]. The majority of the cases are sporadic, and it has been difficult to identify genetic risk factors because of the involvement of multiple genes and gene-environment interaction. The various genes like 5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase

(MTHFR), methionine synthase (MTR), methionine synthase reductase (MTRR), and cystathionine synthase are associated with increased risk of NTDs but with variable certainty [6]. Syndromic cases of NTD have associated chromosomal disorders like trisomy 13, trisomy 18, triploidy, or partial aneuploidy. Others include Meckel-Gruber syndrome, PHAVER syndrome, VATER syndrome, and X-linked disorder. Various other factors responsible are antenatal use of anti-epileptic drugs (valproic acid and carbamazepine), maternal diabetes, obesity, advanced maternal age, alcohol consumption, hypervitaminosis A, exposure to lead, nitrates, cytochalasin, febrile illness, and micronutrient deficiency (zinc and folic acid) [7]. However, folate deficiency leading to NTD has been a topic of controversy, and some implicate it as a risk factor only in the presence of predisposing genotype [8].

13.2.1 Primary Prevention

In 1991, the British Medical Research Council (MRC) conducted a multicentric randomized control trial to study the effect of supplementing folic acid to women at high risk of having pregnancy with NTD. This study confirmed that periconceptional supplementation with 4 mg folic acid significantly reduced the risk of recurrence of NTDs [9]. Based on this evidence, it has been suggested that all women of child-bearing age capable of becoming pregnant should consume $400 \ \mu g$ of folic acid daily in the preconception period and early pregnancy. High-risk women (those having previous pregnancy affected with NTD, receiving valproic acid or carbamazepine) should consume a higher dose of 4 mg of folic acid per day to prevent NTD [10].

13.3 Spinal Dysraphism

13.3.1 Meningomyelocele

Defect in neural arch results in herniation of meninges or neural tissue, resulting in different types of spinal dysraphism. Meningomyelocele (MMC) is a type of open NTD with congenital defect in vertebral arches leading to the formation of protruding membranous sac containing CSF, meninges, and nerve roots. If the herniated sac contains CSF without any neural tissue, then it is known as meningocele. MMC is the most common form of spinal NTD [3]. The commonest site of occurrence is the lumbosacral area (>80%), followed by thoracic and cervical regions [11]. The higher the level of spinal defect, the poorer the prognosis of the child. Overall incidence and prevalence of MMC have decreased following folic acid supplementation, better antenatal diagnosis, and legalization of medical termination of pregnancy.

13.3.1.1 Pathophysiology

The two-hit theory of nerve damage states first hit as the defective formation of the neural tube and second hit as the damage occurring in utero environment [12]. In this open-type defect, the neuroepithelium is exposed to the amniotic fluid in utero. This leads to damage to the neuronal tissue and neurodegeneration [3]. Moreover, loss of CSF through an open defect leads to nondistension of the neurocranium and the formation of the small posterior fossa and CNS maldevelopment [13]. Thus, it is often associated with brain abnormalities.

13.3.1.2 Clinical Presentation

The child usually presents with a membranecovered sac on the back (Fig. 13.1) at the time of birth. The lesion is usually cystic, and if the overlying membrane is disrupted, a CSF leak occurs, which might lead to meningitis. Depending on the site and age, the child may present with motor, sensory, or bowel/bladder involvement. The child may have partial or complete flaccid paralysis and loss of sensation below the level of lesion. Bowel and bladder involvement are seen in the majority of the patients. There is a loss of autonomic control below the level of the spinal lesion. Several other neurological abnormalities may coexist, like hydrocephalus (65-85%), Arnold-Chiari malformation (ACM) type II (55-60%), corpus callosal agenesis, microgyria,

Fig. 13.1 A 10-monthold child with lumbosacral meningomyelocele



arachnoid cyst, porencephalic cyst, tethered spinal cord, and syringomyelia [14]. Hydrocephalus usually develops by the second week of birth or after repair of MMC, when the CSF egress site is closed. The child may present with features of raised intracranial features if overt hydrocephalus is present. ACM II may present as brainstem or lower cranial nerve dysfunction resulting in feeding, swallowing, and breathing problems. In infants, central apnea, stridor, and swallowing disturbances may be evident. Older children may complain of neck pain, headache, and sensory symptoms in limbs. The malformation also results in obstruction to the flow of CSF, leading to development of hydrocephalus. Lower extremities may have deformities like club feet; and various other systems like renal, cardiac, and gastrointestinal tract may also be involved. Congenital cardiac defects like atrial septal defect (ASD), ventricular septal defect (VSD), tetralogy of Fallot (TOF), bicuspid aortic valve, coarctation of aorta, and anomalous pulmonary venous return may be seen and have an important bearing during perioperative management. Older children may have associated autonomic cardiovascular disturbances due to paraplegia and associated hypomobility [15].

13.3.1.3 Diagnosis

Prenatal diagnosis can be made by ultrasonography and maternal alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) levels. An abnormally high level of AFP indicates open neural tube defects. Further evaluation by ultrasound and amniocentesis may be done. In cases with raised AFP, ultrasound helps in differentiating NTD from other non-neurologic causes. The decision for termination of pregnancy may be taken depending on the lethality of the condition, legal laws of the country, and period of gestation. Prenatal diagnosis also helps in the decision for in utero correction of MMC depending upon the severity of the lesion and availability of expertise.

Postnatal diagnosis: X-ray will define any bony spinal abnormality and coexisting skull defects. CT scan of the head and spine can help to evaluate the hydrocephalus and spinal column. Complete MRI of the head and spine helps in the assessment of the cranial as well as spinal cord abnormalities.

13.3.1.4 Management

Management of spina bifida is multidisciplinary and at times requires multiple surgeries either for primary correction or for treatment of complications thereof. In addition, the child may also require urological and orthopedic interventions. Open defects may be repaired either in utero or postnatally. Antenatal surgery for correction of the open defect is less commonly practiced and is limited to few centers.

Antenatal management: The exposure of open neural tissue to amniotic fluid worsens the neurologic function [16]. So, in utero repair of open defect may halt the secondary neural tissue destruction and improve the neurologic outcome. The results of intrauterine surgery for repair of MMC have been found to be encouraging; but it is also associated with maternal and fetal risks. In a prospective trial, 158 women were randomized to undergo either MMC repair before 26 weeks of gestation (in utero) or standard postnatal repair. In utero repair was found to reduce the incidence of hydrocephalus and the need for ventriculoperitoneal shunts significantly. There were improved motor outcomes and ACM reversal in the preterm group. However, it was also associated with an increased risk of preterm delivery and uterine dehiscence at delivery [17]. Assessment of 1-year outcome of these patients revealed that when ventricle size is 15 mm or larger, prenatal surgery does not reduce the need for shunting [18]. For this reason, ventriculomegaly more than 20 mm is considered as a contraindication for in utero repair. The details of fetal surgery are beyond the scope of this chapter.

Postnatal management: The decision about the route of delivery depends upon the presence of gross hydrocephalus and obstetric indications. After delivery, all precautions must be taken to prevent any trauma or compression of exposed neural tissue. The child should be nursed in prone or lateral position, and the sac should be covered with saline dressings to prevent desiccation. It is generally believed that early closure of the defect decreases the risk of CSF leak and infection. However, there is insufficient evidence to support that the closure of MMC within 48 h decreases the risk of wound infection. A recent retrospective review found no difference in neurological and urodynamic deficits when early repair (within first 48 h after delivery) was compared with late repair (>48 h after delivery) of MMC [19]. If the closure is delayed beyond 48 h, antibiotics should be given to reduce infection risk (level III) [20]. Timing of the surgery depends upon the child's condition, and optimization is essential before proceeding. The surgery should be done as soon as feasible on an urgent basis rather than an emergency basis. If the sac is ruptured, antibiotics need to be started immediately.

13.3.1.5 Preanesthetic Preparation

During preanesthetic evaluation, complete history (including antenatal history, birth history, premature birth) and thorough examination of CNS and other systems should be made. Laboratory investigations include hemogram, blood sugar and renal function tests, and serum electrolytes. Other additional appropriate investigations may rule out the presence of other congenital anomalies. Chest X-ray helps to see the trachea (if short in length), lung shadows (any aspirational changes), and cardiac silhouette (congenital cardiac diseases). Cardiac abnormalities are common, and ECG along with cardiac consultation usually suffices. Preoperative echocardiography has been suggested in these children to rule out congenital heart disease but is not a routine protocol at all places. History of rubber allergy should be noted, and if positive, latex avoidance protocol should be followed. These children should not be exposed to latex to prevent sensitization. Despite prophylaxis, anaphylactoid reactions may still occur. Adequate blood and blood products should be arranged beforehand. Signs of brainstem or lower cranial nerve involvement points toward a possible need for mechanical ventilation postoperatively. Thoracolumbar MMC may be associated with abdominal muscle weakness, ineffective cough, and may also require postoperative ventilation [21]. Sedative premedication is contraindicated in these small children.

13.3.1.6 Anesthetic Management

The operation room (OR) should be prepared, keeping in mind the age of the child. Essential points include maintenance of OR temperature, availability of appropriate size equipment and airway devices, positioning aids, fluid warmers, etc. The standard monitoring includes electrocardiography, noninvasive blood pressure monitoring, pulse oximetry, capnography, temperature, and urine output. An important aspect of anesthesia management of such children is positioning, and the sac should always be free of any compression. The child may be placed either supine with a sac placed inside a doughnut or in a lateral position. Inhalational or intravenous induction may be done depending upon the availability of intravenous access. In a child who has associated ACM II, intubation should be carried out with the head in a neutral position to avoid any brainstem compression. These children may have a short trachea; hence, endobronchial intubation should be ruled out before the final fixation of the tracheal tube. Insertion of a ventriculoperitoneal shunt for hydrocephalus and repair of MMC can be done in the same sitting. For excision of MMC, the patient should be carefully placed prone. The abdomen should be free for unrestricted ventilation and unimpeded drainage by inferior vena cava. All pressure points related to the prone position should be adequately padded, and eyes should be kept free. Precautions for the prevention of hypothermia should be taken. Latex should be avoided to prevent contact sensitization. It is advisable to use non-latex gloves by all medical and paramedical staff, to avoid any known latex product in the sterile field by the surgeon; to use latex-free anesthesia face masks, reservoir bags, ECG leads, stethoscope, BP cuff, and tubing; and not to administer any intravenous injection through rubber injection port [22]. Inhalational anesthesia is preferred in children for their earlier recovery and rapid titration. In a study carried out by Singh et al., children who received sevoflurane had an earlier recovery than those maintained on isoflurane anesthesia [23]. Short-acting inhalational anesthetic agents are associated with an increased incidence of emergence delirium. In children aged 8-12 years, dexmedetomidine, when used as an anesthetic adjuvant to sevoflurane-based anesthesia, had a significant opioid-sparing effect and reduced postoperative pain and emergence agitation without adverse hemodynamic effects [24]. Similarly, on comparison of the effect of sevoflurane and desflurane, earlier tracheal extubation and emergence were seen in the desflurane group, while the incidence of emergence delirium was the same in both the groups [25, 26]. Muscle relaxants should be used sparingly for the maintenance of anesthesia. Fentanyl or remifentanil can be used for analgesia intraoperatively. In patients having large MMC, huge insensible losses and blood loss may occur, which can cause hemodynamic instability and needs to be adequately replaced. Large amounts of fluid/blood transfusion, a large area of exposed tissue, and infancy predispose these children to hypothermia. Complications related to prone positioning may also be encountered intraoperatively.

The surgical technique involves isolation of neural tissue, placing it back within the spinal canal, repair of dura mater, and closure of muscles, fascia, and overlying skin. These patients may also require untethering of cord. In cases of large MMC with large skin defects, a plastic surgeon may be required for performing flap closure of defect. This may make it a considerable long surgery, and anesthesia technique needs to be modified accordingly. At times, in children with clinically evident HCP, shunt surgery may be done in the same setting. The chances of hypothermia increase during such situations. The decision for endotracheal extubation depends upon neurological status of child, vitals, temperature, blood loss, metabolic profile, and duration of surgery.

After adequate reversal of neuromuscular blockade, trachea should be extubated only when child is awake, cough and gag reflexes return, and breathing is regular. Postoperatively, nursing should be done in supine or lateral position. Apnea or stridor may occur postoperatively and should be closely watched for in an intensive care unit. Autonomic disturbances are common in these children and require close monitoring. CSF leak, wound infection, and meningitis are the possible early postoperative complications. Other long-term complications are hydrocephalus, shunt malfunction, tethered cord, scoliosis, and worsening of features of ACM II. These children have associated vertebral deformities like scoliosis, kyphosis, or lordosis and often require subsequent surgeries. Neurogenic bladder and related complications often require urology consultations. Anal sphincter dysfunction may result in bowel incontinence. These children often require shunt revisions, surgeries for other congenital problems, and multispeciality follow-up. They often have associated cognitive disturbances.

13.3.1.7 Latex Allergy

The reported incidence of latex allergy varies from 20 to 65% in patients with spina bifida. It is due to the sensitization to latex due to repeated bladder catheterization and exposure to latex during hospital admissions [27]. The spectra include mild non-allergic irritant contact dermatitis, allergic contact dermatitis (type IV hypersensitivity) to more severe type I Ig E-mediated hyperreactions. sensitivity The most serious manifestation is the anaphylaxis, vascular collapse, and shock seen due to type I reaction. Patient may present with angioedema, hypotension, rash, and bronchospasm. Differential diagnosis is anaphylaxis to other drugs and is managed in a similar way. In the preoperative period, a careful history and pertinent risk factors indicating latex sensitization and food allergy should be evaluated. History of prior surgical procedures should also be noted. A child with confirmed type 1 allergy should be made to wear a latex allergy medical alert bracelet. Prophylactic use of antihistamines and corticosteroids is not recommended. Child should be posted first in OR list, and all equipment containing latex like BP cuffs, gloves, urinary catheters, face mask, reservoir bag, syringes, IV sets, drug vials with latex stoppers, and tourniquets should be removed from the site. Non-latex gloves, plastic airways, glass/latex-free syringes, PVC endotracheal tubes, neoprene bags, and silicon valves are safe to use. Barrier protection should be used, and latex-containing equipment should not come in contact with patients' skin.

In case of an intraoperative anaphylaxis, the exact diagnosis of latex allergy is a challenge. The first step is to check airway, breathing, and circulation (ABCs) along with removal of triggering agents. There may be delay in recognition of signs as the child is under drapes. The first presentation of anaphylaxis can be fall in blood pressure and increase in peak airway pressures (bronchospasm). Other signs may be angioedema, urticaria, rash, skin flushing, or tachycardia. This requires immediate treatment and prompt administration of 100% oxygen and intravenous fluids. Intravenous adrenaline 1–10 µg/kg bolus doses are given depending upon the severity of reaction, till blood pressure or bronchospasm improves. In case of circulatory arrest, bolus doses of adrenaline 10 µg/kg should be used as per protocol for advanced cardiac life support (ACLS). β -2 agonists via metered dose inhaler or nebulization helps in improving bronchospasm. After resuscitation, a vasopressor infusion is usually required for maintenance of blood pressure. In addition, secondary treatment includes administration of anti-histaminics like IV diphenhydramine 1-2 mg/kg (50 mg maximum) or IV ranitidine 1-2 µg/kg and corticosteroids like IV hydrocortisone 1-2 ug/kg. Arterial blood gas values should be collected and corrected accordingly. Blood sample for serum mast cell tryptase for confirmation of anaphylaxis may be sent once patient is stabilized. Skin prick test can be done later on to confirm latex allergy.

13.4 Occult Spinal Dysraphism

It is a type of congenital anomaly in which there is bony defect in spinal column and resulting structural deformities are limited to the spinal cord, which are not visible externally. The lesion is covered with an intact skin cover and CSF leak does not occur. The overall prognosis is usually better than open defects as there is no major motor/sensory involvement. During antenatal period, it is not associated with raised AFP as the dural lining is intact and neural tissue is not exposed to amniotic fluid. The child may remain asymptomatic for years and may be diagnosed incidentally on imaging studies. This type is usually associated with typical overlying cutaneous manifestations like nevus, hypopigmentation, tuft of hair, lipoma, hemangioma, telangiectasias,

dermal sinus, skin tags, or gluteal cleft. The different types of occult spinal dysraphism are enumerated in Table 13.1.

Lipomatous malformations are the most common type of closed spinal NTD. The lipomatous tissue can be present at filum, conus, and within or attached to the spinal cord. Lipomyelocele contains fat tissue only, while lipomyelomeningocele contains fat and neural tissue in the sac. The lipomatous tissue herniates through the bony defect and attaches to the spinal cord. The neurological symptoms are usually due to associated tethering of cord or due to compression by the lipomatous mass. This requires removal of lipomatous tissue and untethering of the cord.

Meningocele is a midline outpouching of fluid-filled meningeal sac without neural tissue herniation and is covered by normal skin or a membrane. The spinal cord is positioned within the spinal canal only. These are usually not associated with neurologic deficits and brain malformations. These usually occur in lumbosacral spine. The lumbar and sacral meningoceles are classified as closed spinal NTD, while posterior cervical NTD are difficult to exactly classify. The cervical meningoceles can be both open and closed and are often considered as transition between the two ends [1]. MRI helps to differentiate meningocele from MMC. Other types of associated occult dysraphism like tethered cord and split cord malformation should be ruled out. Surgical correction involves resection of herniated meninges and closure.

Congenital dermal sinus is an epithelial lined tract close to midline extending from the skin to anywhere up to the conus medullaris. It may get infected and can result in meningitis. It can cause mass effect if a dermoid cyst forms in the tract. Surgical treatment involves excision of the tract and dermoid cyst.

Split cord malformations (SCM) are the conditions in which the spinal cord is double. Type I SCM also known as diastematomyelia has two hemicords in two separate spinal canals, with each having its own meninges and a set of dorsal and ventral nerve roots. The two cords are separated from each other by an osteocartilagenous bony median septum (Fig. 13.2). It is associated

with overlying skin stigmata like nevi, tuft of hair, dimple, hemangioma, and lipoma. Symptom manifestations relate to associated tethered cord or MMC. There may be coexisting orthopedic problems like scoliosis, kyphosis, and foot deformities. Motor weakness, limb atrophy, sensory deficit, and bladder dysfunction are frequently seen. Untethering of the cord is the usual treatment required. It also involves removal of bony septum and reconstitution of dura as single tube. The anesthetic concerns are same as for excision of MMC and detethering of cord. In addition, removal of bony septum can cause significant intraoperative bleeding, and consequently hypotension may occur. In type 2 SCM, also known as diplomyelia, two hemicords along with four sets of dorsal and ventral nerve roots are present within a single dural tube separated by fibrous median septum. There is no associated spinal deformity at level of split. The fibrous band is removed, and cord is untethered during surgical correction. Though the septum is fibrous, still bleeding is an important intraoperative concern.

13.4.1 Tethered Cord Syndrome

Tethered cord syndrome (TCS) is defined as an entity which presents with symptoms and signs arising from abnormal spinal cord strain [28]. Inside the spinal canal, normally the spinal cord hangs free. In TCS, there is restriction of free movement of spinal cord either due to presence of thick filum or its abnormal adherence to an adjacent structure. It is often seen in association with other congenital malformations of the spinal cord and spinal dysraphism. As the spinal cord grows, stretching of cord results in decrease in blood flow and ischemic changes. In children, this condition is usually congenital; but acquired causes like infection, scarring, tumor, and MMC closure can also cause tethering of the cord due to development of fibrotic adhesions. The most common site of involvement is the lumbosacral region. Infants who undergo prenatal MMC closure may develop TCS later in life, at a similar or even higher rate than seen after postnatal repair [29]. In majority of the patients, it is recognized



Fig. 13.2 A 7-year-old boy presented with fecal and urinary incontinence with lower limb weakness and inability to walk since birth. He has history of meningomyelocele repair on day 3 of life. (a) Sagittal and (b) axial T2 MRI shows linear hypointense structure arising from the poste-

rior aspect of the L2 vertebral body extending up to the posterior elements, signs of spur (red arrow). # Note is made of closed meningocele defect inferior to the spur. (c) Sagittal and (d) axial NCCT show osseous spur at the level of L3 (blue arrow). # Note is made of spina bifida

by presence of associated cutaneous markers (tufts of hair, skin tags, dimples, benign fatty tumors, skin discoloration, or hemangiomas) and musculoskeletal or vertebral abnormalities. The neurological manifestations are quite subtle in children and gradual in progression. The symptoms and signs include leg and back pain especially on flexion of lower spine or vigorous physical activity, lower extremity weakness, gait impairment, hyperreflexia, sensory changes, and musculoskeletal abnormalities like clubfeet, atrophied lower leg muscles, scoliosis, kyphosis, etc. In older children, urinary incontinence, urinary tract infections, abnormal voiding, and fecal incontinence may be seen. Small children are unable to communicate, do not have bowel and bladder control, as well as are not ambulatory. This delays the recognition of TCS in small children. Diagnosis is done by detailed neuro-

logical examination and MRI (Fig. 13.3). MRI helps to identify the level of tethering, presence of other congenital conditions, and underlying cause of tethering. In addition, urodynamic assessment and electromyographic measurement of perineal floor muscles are also required. Children presenting for correction of scoliosis should undergo evaluation for TCS, and detethering should be done before orthopedic correction. The surgical technique involves detethering of the cord and dural repair in prone position. The anesthetic concerns are almost similar as during repair of MMC. Removal of associated bony spur (Fig. 13.2) may increase the risk of intraoperative bleeding. There are reports of venous air embolism during detethering of cord in prone position as the surgical site is above the level of the heart resulting in negative pressure gradient and air entrainment [30, 31]. This



Fig. 13.3 A 16-year-old boy presented with progressive weakness in both lower limbs. MRI shows low lying conus (L4-L5) level (red arrow) with tethering of the filum

terminale and a linear fat signal intensity lesion (lipoma) in the sacral spinal canal (blue arrow)

might occur from open dural sinuses or from opening of osseous venous channel during excision of bony spur. Intraoperative motor evoked potential (MEP) monitoring for identification of motor roots requires modification of anesthetic technique. It requires total intravenous anesthesia, use of halogenated agents less than 0.5 MAC, and omission of muscle relaxants. MEP can be evoked by transcranial stimulation, and recording is done from limb muscles and external anal sphincter. Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP) can be evoked by tibial or pudendal nerve stimulation and recorded from electrodes placed in epidural space or cortex. Electromyography (EMG) responses from muscles can be recorded by direct motor nerve root stimulation. Pudendal nerve stimulation can elicit bulbocavernous reflex which can be recorded from muscles of external anal sphincter. This is important for maintaining integrity of sphincter function. Postoperatively, children are nursed flat to minimize CSF pressure on the surgical repair site. Surgical complications include wound infection and CSF leak. Retethering is quite common after MMC repair, and child should be regularly followed thereafter.

13.5 Cranial Dysraphism

Cranial dysraphism is analogous to spinal dysraphism where a defect in development of brain or closure of skull during embryogenesis results in a spectrum of malformations. Different types of cranial NTD have been listed in Table 13.1.

Anencephaly: The NTD is limited to cephalic area, and there is absence of cerebral hemisphere and skull bones above the bony orbits. This condition is incompatible with life, and pregnancy should be terminated when diagnosed early in antenatal period.

Craniorachischisis: It is a rare and severe form of NTD involving the cephalic and spinal

zones. There is complete failure of neural tube formation because of non-closure of both cranial and caudal neural tubes. There is complete absence of skull and major defects in the vertebra and skin. This condition is also incompatible with life.

Iniencephaly: It is a rare disorder characterized by a defect in occipital bone, spina bifida at cervical vertebrae, and extreme retroflexion of the head.

Cranial meningocele: Protrusion of meninges and CSF through a defect in the skull results in formation of cranial meningocele.

Encephalocele: Here, encephalocele will be discussed in detail.

13.5.1 Encephalocele

Protrusion of intracranial tissue (meninges and brain parenchyma) through a defect in the skull leads to formation of a sac-like structure known as encephalocele (Fig. 13.4). Herniation of just meninges through a defect in the skull is termed as meningocele. As discussed earlier, its pathogenesis is a defect during neurulation in which neural folds fail to fuse anteriorly. The exact cause is not known and genetic and environmental factors also play a role. Irradiation, maternal fever, hypervitaminosis, folic acid deficiency, irradiation, viral infections, and drugs like warfarin, phenytoin, valproate, and carbamazepine



Fig. 13.4 A 1.5-year-old child with giant parieto-occipital encephalocele

are the implicated causative risk factors [32]. Encephaloceles constitute 8-19% of all craniospinal dysraphism. The worldwide incidence varies from 1/300 to -1/10,000 livebirths [33]. The prevalence is higher in Southeast Asia than in other parts of world. The different sites can be (a) posterior or occipital; (b) anterior or sincipital, also known as frontoethmoidal (e.g., nasofrontal, nasoethmoidal, nasoorbital), (c) basal (e.g., transsphenoidal, trans-ethmoidal, sphenoorbital, sphenoethmoidal); or (d) cranial vault (e.g., frontal, parietal, temporal, through anterior and posterior fontanelle) [34]. The occipital encephalocele is more common in Europe and the USA, while frontoethmoidal encephaloceles is commonly seen in Asia and African countries. Rarely, children may present with a giant encephalocele, size of which is even larger than the head [35]. These children often have difficulty in nursing because of the huge swelling. Encephalocele is often associated with other congenital cranial and extracranial anomalies. The neurologic problems include hydrocephalus, craniosynostosis, microcephaly, agenesis of the corpus callosum, Arnold-Chiari II malformation, porencephaly, cortical atrophy, Dandy-Walker malformation, developmental delay, vision problems, seizures, and mental and growth retardation. Other associated systemic abnormalities such as micrognathia, polydactyly, cleft lip/palate, spina bifida, vertebral abnormalities, renal agenesis, pulmonary hypoplasia, dextrocardia, patent ductus arteriosus, and septal defects have also been reported. Frontonasal encephalocele involves herniation of intracranial contents from foramen caecum to the junction of nasal and frontal bones presenting as a nasal mass, causing breathing difficulty. Transsphenoidal encephaloceles may present with CSF rhinorrhea, visual defect (in older children), epipharyngeal mass causing respiratory obstruction, and features of pituitary-hypothalamic insufficiency [36]. This is due to the involvement of structures like the pituitary gland, hypothalamus, and optic pathway. Patients with orbital encephaloceles have proptosis on presentation. Nasopharyngeal and transsellar transsphenoidal types have nasal mass and consequent respiratory obstruction [37]. An

enlarged head can be a result of associated hydrocephalus. On the other hand, occipital encephaloceles present with brainstem dysfunction, lower cranial nerve involvement, respiratory distress, and involvement of vital centers. Encephalocele is also recognized as a part of various syndromes like Knobloch syndrome, Meckel syndrome, Von Voss syndrome, Walker-Warburg syndrome, and aberrant tissue band syndrome [38].

Fetal ultrasonography is the main modality for antenatal detection. Serum alpha-fetoprotein is not usually raised because of the closed nature of this NTD. For postnatal diagnosis, CT scan provides information primarily about the bony defect, while MRI depicts the nature of herniated contents, details of the cranial defect, and other associated intracranial anomalies like Chiari malformation, aqueductal stenosis, corpus callosum agenesis, etc.

Surgery is done on an elective basis, as soon as feasible. An urgent repair is indicated if there is a rupture of sac or excoriation of overlying skin, which can cause CSF leak and predispose to the risk of developing meningitis. This makes it necessary for urgent repair [37]. In cases with large skull bone defects, cranioplasty may be required along with split thickness graft to restore complete closure of the defect.

Pediatric age group, associated anomalies, possible difficult airway, and positioning make anesthesia for this group quite challenging. Preanesthetic evaluation consists of complete history and examination of all systems. Other coexisting congenital anomalies, especially cardiac, pulmonary, and renal, should be completely evaluated because of the associated anesthesia risk.

Investigations include hemogram and electrolyte and renal function tests. Head CT shows the bony defect with herniation of neural tissue and the presence of hydrocephalus, if any. Brain MRI gives detailed information about other coexisting cranial malformations and hydrocephalus. An adequate amount of blood has to be arranged preoperatively.

Anesthesia technique: Sedative premedication should not be administered to these children. If fiber-optic bronchoscopy is planned, a dose of antisialagogue may be administered. Anesthesia technique must be planned according to the site and size of encephalocele, anticipated difficult mask ventilation, or intubation. Mask ventilation may be difficult in cases having large frontonasal encephalocele [39]. Compression of a frontonasal sac by face mask or of occipital sac during positioning has to be avoided in all cases. Undue pressure on the sac can increase the pressure on vital brain structures, raise ICP, and can rarely cause rupture of the sac. An occipital sac makes head extension and positioning difficult making intubation difficult. It is more difficult to attain an optimum position for intubation in a child with hydrocephalus and a large head. In children with occipital encephalocele, various positions used for induction and intubation are lateral decubitus, supine with swelling resting inside a doughnut, or head held beyond the table's edge with an assistant holding it. In children with giant encephalocele, the drainage of CSF from the sac before anesthesia induction helps make the swelling slack and makes positioning easier for mask ventilation and intubation [40]. An assortment of pediatric difficult airway equipment should always be kept ready to deal with a difficult airway. It has been experienced that laryngoscopy performed by a right-handed anesthesiologist in a patient placed in left-lateral position is easier [41]. In a retrospective study, difficult mask ventilation and intubation incidences were 5.9% and 19.5%, respectively [42]. Nasal intubation should not be attempted in intranasal encephalocele or basal encephaloceles. Inhalational induction with sevoflurane is advantageous as its rapid wash-off enables early awakening if the difficult airway is encountered. A practice of check laryngoscopy in lateral position after inhalational induction and administration of muscle relaxants only after visualization of the glottis safeguards against failed intubation [43]. For maintenance of anesthesia, short-acting volatile anesthetic agents are preferred. Intraoperative complications like hypotension, bradycardia/tachycardia, and hypothermia may be commonly seen. Rapid drainage of CSF from the encephalocele sac during surgery may result in hypotension, bradycardia, and even cardiac arrest. To avoid it, controlled drainage of CSF is always advocated. Other causes of refractory hypotension can be pituitaryhypothalamic insufficiency, hypothyroidism, and adrenal insufficiency, which may be seen in transsphenoidal encephalocele. Hypotension may require correction with fluids and vasopressors, even if it is secondary to loss of third space fluid. Poorly developed autonomic control may fail to retain body heat, thus accentuating hypothermia. Blood loss may occur during dissection of the large sac, cutting through suboccipital bone, damage to contents of sac like blood vessels or venous sinuses; and it requires urgent replacement. Other intraoperative complications secondary to prone position like dislodgement of tube, cannula, and catheters, increased abdominal pressure, and venous air embolism may also be encountered. Postoperatively, if all parameters are normal, the trachea is usually extubated once the child is fully awake and breathing well. In a few patients, mechanical ventilation may be required secondary to inadequate recovery, hypothermia, hemodynamic instability, respiratory complications, or other metabolic reasons. Apneic episodes in the postoperative period may occur and should be watched for in an ICU. Common postoperative complications seen are the development of hydrocephalus, cerebrospinal fluid leak, and meningitis. The prognosis of these patients depends upon the presence or absence of brain tissue within the herniated sac. If grossly herniated brain is damaged and gliotic, then the prognosis remains usually poor.

13.6 Conclusion

Neural tube defect is a worldwide common congenital anomaly affecting the most vulnerable small children. This pediatric population requires specialized anesthetic care for dealing with associated congenital anomalies, difficult airway, atypical positioning, and cardiorespiratory disturbances. These children may present for repeated surgeries and have a protracted course of the disease, often requiring a multispeciality medical team. Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Mc Comb JG. A practical clinical classification of spinal neural tube defects. Child Nerv Syst. 2015;31:1641–57.
- Bhide P, Sagoo GS, Moorthie S, Burton H, Kar A. Systematic review of birth prevalence of neural tube defects in India. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2013;97(7):437–43.
- Avagliano L, Massa V, George TM, Qureshy S, Bulfamante GP, Finnell RH. Overview on neural tube defects: from development to physical characteristics. Birth Defects Res. 2018:1–13.
- Zaganjor I, Sekkarie A, Tsang BL, et al. Describing the prevalence of neural tube defects worldwide: a systematic literature review. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0151586.
- Salih MA, Mushid WR, Seidahmed MZ. Classification, clinical features and genetics of neural tube defects. Saudi med J. 2014;35:S5–S14.
- Greene ND, Stanier P, Copp AJ. Genetics of human neural tube defects. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(R2):R113–29.
- Pulikkunnel ST, Thomas SV. Neural tube defects: pathogenesis and folate metabolism. J Assoc Physicians India. 2005;53:127–35.
- Copp AJ, Stanier P, Greene ND. Neural tube defects: recent advances, unsolved questions, and controversies. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(8):799–810.
- MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the medical research council vitamin study. Lancet. 1991;338:131–7.
- Wilson RD, Davies G, Désilets V, Reid GJ, Summers A, Wyatt P, Young D, Genetics Committee and Executive and Council of the Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. The use of folic acid for the prevention of neural tube defects and other congenital anomalies. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2003;25:959–73.
- Jacobs RA. Myelodysplasia. In: Wolraich ML, editor. Disorders of development and learning. 2nd ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 1996. p. 213–61.
- Stiefel D, Copp AJ, Meuli M. Fetal spina bifida: loss of neural function in utero. J Neurosurg. 2007;106:213–21.
- McLone DG, Knepper PA. The cause of Chiari II malformation: a unified theory. Pediatr Neurosci. 1989;15:1–12.
- Singh D, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Anesthetic concerns and perioperative complications in repair of myelomeningocele: a retrospective review of 135 cases. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:11–5.
- Leonardi-Figueiredo MM, de Souza HCD, Martins EJ, Squiaveto M, Mattiello-Sverzut AC. Damaged

cardiovascular autonomic control in wheelchairusing children and adolescents with myelomeningocele: a case-control study. Braz J Phys Ther. 2019;23(1):27–32.

- Meuli M, Meuli-Simmen C, Hutchins GM, Yingling CD, Hoffman KM, Harrison MR, Adzick NS. In utero surgery rescues neurological function at birth in sheep with spina bifida. Nat Med. 1995;1:342–7.
- Adzick NS, Thom EA, Spong CY, Brock JW 3rd, Burrows PK, Johnson MP, et al. MOMS investigators. A randomised trial of prenatal versus postnatal repair of myelomeningocele. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:993–1004.
- Tulipan N, Wellons JC 3rd, Thom EA, Gupta N, Sutton LA, Burrows PK, et al. MOMS investigators. Prenatal surgery for myelomeningocele and the need for cerebrospinal fluid shunt placement. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:613–20.
- Taskapilioglu MO, Turedi B, Altunyuva O, Utangac MM, Balkan ME, Kilic N. Retrospective analysis of early- and late- operated meningomyelocele patients. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;10:1007/ s00381-020-04860-8.
- Mazzola CA, Assassi N, Baird LC, et al. Congress of neurological surgeons systematic review and evidence-based guidelines for pediatric meningomyelocele: executive summary. Neurosurgery. 2019;85:299–301.
- Hamid R, Newfield P. Pediatric neuroanesthesia neural tube defects. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2001;19:219–28.
- Birmingham PK, Dsida RM, Grayhack SS, Han J, et al. Do latex precautions in children with myelodysplasia reduce intraoperative allergic reactions? J Pediatr Orthop. 1996;16:799–802.
- Singh D, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Sevoflurane provides better recovery as compared with isoflurane in children undergoing spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21:202–6.
- Gupta N, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Dash HH. Effect of intraoperative dexmedetomidine on postoperative recovery profile of children undergoing surgery for spinal dysraphism. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25:271–8.
- 25. Locatelli BG, Ingelmo PM, Emre S, Meroni V, Minardi C, Frawley G, Benigni A, Di Marco S, Spotti A, Busi I, Sonzogni V. Emergence delirium in children: a comparison of sevoflurane and desflurane anesthesia using the paediatric anesthesia emergence delirium scale. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:301–8.
- 26. Gupta P, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK. Comparison between sevoflurane and desflurane on emergence and recovery characteristics of children undergoing surgery for spinal dysraphism. Indian J Anaesth. 2015;59:482–7.
- Bohle B, Wagner B, Vollmann U, Niggemann B, Szepfalusi Z, et al. Characterisation of T cell responses to Hev b 3, an allergen associated with latex allergy in spina bifida. J Immunol. 2000;164:4393–8.

- Lew SM, Kothbauer KF. Tethered cord syndrome: an updated review. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2007;43:236–48.
- 29. Mazoula CA, Tyagi R, Assassi N, et al. Congress of neurological surgeons systematic review and evidence -based guideline on the incidence of tethered cord syndrome in infants with myelomeningocele with prenatal versus postnatal repair. Neurosurgery. 2019;85:E417–9.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP, Sharma VB, Ajai Chandra NS. Venous air embolism during release of tethered spinal cord in prone position. Neurol India. 2011;59:777–8.
- Kaloria N, Bhagat H, Singla N. Venous air embolism during removal of bony spur in a child of split cord malformation. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2017;8(3):483–4.
- 32. Bhagwat SN, Mahapatra AK, et al. Choux M, Di Rocco C, Hockley AD. Encephalocoele and anomalies of the scalp. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1999; London Churchill Livingstone:101–120.
- Shilpakar SK, Sharma MR. Surgical management of encephalocoele. J Neurosci. 2004;1:45–8.
- Suwanwela C, Suwanwela N. A morphological classification on sincipital Encephalomenigoceles. J Neurosurg. 1972;36:201–11.
- 35. Mahapatra AK. In: Ramamurthi R, Sridhar K, Vasudevan MC, editors. Management of encephalocele IN textbooks of operative neurosurgery (2 Vol.). New Delhi: BI Publications Pvt. Limited; 2005. p. 279–90.
- Smith DE, Murphy MJ, Hitchson PW, Babin RW. Transsphenoidal encephalocels. Surg Neurol. 1983;20(6):471–80.
- Mahapatra AK. Anterior encephalocele AIIMS experience a series of 133 patients. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6(Suppl 1):S27–30. https://doi. org/10.4103/1817-1745.85706.
- Cohen MM, Lemire RJ. Syndromes with cephaloceles. Teratology. 1982;25:161–72.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP. Anaesthetic management in a child with frontonasal encephalocele. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2010;26:570–1.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP. Is intraoperative cardiac arrest enough for cancellation of surgery in patients with neural tube defects? J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23:59–60.
- Mahajan C, Rath GP. Intubating children with giant occipital encephalocele in lateral position: right or left side? J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2011;27:575.
- 42. Mahajan C, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Perioperative management of children with encephalocele: an institutional experience. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23:352–6.
- 43. Mahajan C, Rath GP, Bithal PK, Mahapatra AK. Perioperative management of children with giant encephalocele: a clinical report of 29 cases. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2017;29:322–9.



14

Anesthesia for Fetal Neurosurgery

Suryakumar Narayanasamy, Kalysa R. Porter, and Rupi Parikh

Key Points

- Meningomyelocele repair is the most commonly performed neurosurgical intervention in the fetus, which can be performed via either an open approach or minimally invasive fetoscopic approach.
- Careful consideration of fetal and maternal physiology, maternal comorbidities, anesthetic and analgesic needs of both the mother and the fetus, and adequacy of uterine relaxation are some of the important aspects of anesthetic management of fetal neurosurgical intervention.
- Fetal interventions can impart significant risks to the mother and the fetus, which should be carefully considered prior to offering fetal intervention as a treatment modality.
- Fetal neurosurgery should be carried out by a multidisciplinary team in a tertiary care center capable of managing preterm infants.

14.1 Introduction

Prenatal diagnosis of various congenital abnormalities became feasible with the advancement in obstetric ultrasonography techniques. Fetal surgeries were developed to improve the postnatal outcome by early intervention in a very select group of prenatal defects. The first attempt at fetal surgery was performed in the early 1980s by creating bilateral ureterostomies to relieve urinary obstruction in a case of congenital hydronephrosis [1]. Widespread use of prenatal ultrasound in the 1980s led to increase in the diagnosis of prenatal hydrocephalus and various attempts to treat the hydrocephalus early by means of fetal interventions. Initial attempts to treat congenital hydrocephalus were aimed at reducing the hydrocephalus by ventriculo-amniotic shunting and repeated cephalocentesis. Multiple case reports of successful insertion of fetal ventriculoamniotic shunt as early as 1981 have been attempted to treat congenital hydrocephalus [2]. Unfortunately, many of these fetuses had associated congenital anomalies, which led to poor postnatal outcomes despite the prenatal interventions. The first annual meeting of International Fetal Medicine and Surgery Society held in 1982 outlined the criteria for invasive fetal treatment and the creation of an international fetal treatment registry [3]. The scope of fetal neurosurgery has grown considerably since then with the advancement of diagnostic, surgical, and anes-

S. Narayanasamy (🖾) · K. R. Porter · R. Parikh Department of Anesthesiology, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: Suryakumar.Narayanasamy@cchmc.org; Kalysa.Porter@cchmc.org; Jagroop.Parikh@cchmc.org

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_14

thetic techniques to include more complex intrauterine interventions.

14.2 Fetal Surgeries in General

Fetal interventions are separated into three main categories: minimally invasive procedures, mid-gestation procedures, and EXIT (ex utero intrapartum treatment) procedures. Minimally invasive procedures are performed fetoscopically through the use of trocars and dependence on ultrasonography to access the fetus for endoscopic intervention. The most commonly performed minimally invasive procedure is selective fetoscopic laser photocoagulation (SFLP) for the treatment of twin-to-twin transfusion syndrome (TTTS) (Table 14.1).

14.3 Fetal Neurosurgery

Fetal neurosurgical interventions in humans have been attempted since 1981 with initial attempts at repeated percutaneous needle aspiration as a treatment for hydrocephalus [4]. This was followed by the insertion of ventriculoamniotic shunts [2, 5]. However, the fetal outcome in either modality was not encouraging. Initial attempts at fetoscopic repair of meningomyelocele (MMC) were also met with poor outcomes. One of the important landmarks in fetal neurosurgery is the Management of Myelomeningocele Study (MOMS) trial, which was published in 2011; it showed significant benefits of fetal intervention compared to the postnatal repair of MMC [6]. This led to the widespread adoption of fetal repair of MMC and fetal centers' opening to perform these interventions. Other neurosurgical fetal interventions such as endoscopic third ventriculostomy for the management of hydrocephalus and embolization of vein of Galen malformation are presently in the experimental stage limited to very selected cases in highly experienced centers.

 Table 14.1
 Common fetal malformations and interventions

| Fetal malformation | Intervention |
|--------------------------|------------------------------|
| Twin-to-twin | Serial amnio-reduction, |
| transfusion syndrome | selective fetoscopic laser |
| (TTTS) | photocoagulation (SFLP), |
| | selective fetal reduction by |
| | radiofrequency ablation or |
| | fetoscopic cord coagulation |
| Twin reverse arterial | Selective fetal reduction by |
| perfusion (TRAP) | radiofrequency ablation or |
| sequence | fetoscopic cord coagulation |
| Lower urinary tract | Vesicoamniotic shunt, |
| obstruction/posterior | fetoscopic ablation, open |
| urethral valves (PUV) | fetal vesicostomy |
| Congenital pulmonary | Serial thoracentesis, |
| airway malformation | fetoscopic thoracoamniotic |
| | shunt placement, selective |
| | lobectomy, |
| | EXIT-to-resection |
| Congenital | Fetal endoscopic tracheal |
| diaphragmatic hernia | occlusion (FETO), |
| (CDH) | EXIT-to-airway, |
| | EXIT-to-resection |
| Amniotic band | Laser release of amniotic |
| syndrome | bands |
| Critical aortic stenosis | Aortic balloon valvuloplasty |
| with hypoplastic left | |
| heart syndrome | |
| (HLHS) | |
| HLHS with restrictive | Atrial septostomy with |
| or intact atrial septum | balloon or stent, |
| | EXIT-to-ECMO |
| Meningomyelocele | Open or fetoscopic MMC |
| (MMC) | repair |
| Sacrococcygeal | Open tumor debulking |
| teratoma | |

Adapted from Hoagland et al. [32]

14.4 Ventriculo-Amniotic Shunt for Hydrocephalus

The initial attempts of antenatal treatment of hydrocephalus include repeated ultrasoundguided percutaneous cephalocentesis to reduce the intracranial CSF volume. Unfortunately, other coexisting congenital abnormalities led to a poor postnatal outcome [4]. Soon after, ventriculo-amniotic shunt placement for hydrocephalus treatment was developed as a possible treatment for hydrocephalus [5]. However, these procedures' outcomes were poor secondary to unrecognized central nervous system (CNS) anomalies or shunt failure and migration. The reported incidence of associated CNS anomalies ranged between 70 and 84%, with many of these anomalies undetected during the prenatal period. Isolated ventriculomegaly without associated CNS anomalies, with an estimated 4-14% incidence, is one example of a condition that may benefit from a ventriculo-amniotic shunt [7]. The criteria to perform a ventriculo-amniotic shunt should include isolated progressive ventriculomegaly, early diagnosis (preferably within 28 weeks of gestation to minimize the risk of irreversible brain damage), progressive ventricular dilation, and exclusion of other anomalies by fetal MRI and karyotyping. Reports of the few selected cases of isolated ventriculomegaly treated with prenatal shunts, however, continue to show poor outcomes [8]. Currently, the role of prenatal VAS in the management of hydrocephalus is in experimental stage. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) is another experimental alternative fetal therapy for isolated ventriculomegaly [9].

14.5 Meningomyelocele Repair

Meningomyelocele (MMC) is the most common form of neural tube defect, with a reported 3.5 per 10,000 pregnancies in the United States [10]. MMC develops when the neural tube fails to close around 3–4 weeks of gestational age and can be associated with Arnold-Chiari malformation, obstructive hydrocephalus, hindbrain herniation, motor and sensory deficiency, loss of bowel and bladder control, tethered cord syndrome, and developmental delay. The concept of early fetal intervention stemmed from the hypothesis of a *two-hit hypothesis* in which neural injury stems from the failure to close the neural tube followed by the prolonged exposure of the neural tissue to the intrauterine environment worsening it [11]. Closing the neural tube defect early minimizes the neural tissue exposure to the amniotic fluid and is thought to improve neurological outcomes. Hindbrain herniation and Chiari II malformation can be reversed with fetal MMC repair [12]. The initial fetal MMC repairs were attempted in 1997 using a fetoscopic approach [13]. This approach was promptly abandoned due to poor outcomes and technical limitations [14]. Following this, standard closure of MMC repair through a maternal laparotomy and hysterotomy was adopted with encouraging results, which led to the Management of Myelomeningocele Study (MOMS), which compared the outcomes between prenatal and postnatal repair of MMC [6, 15, 16]. Pregnant women above the age of 18 years with a singleton fetus diagnosed with MMC between the T1 and S1 level, with a normal karyotype, were randomized between 19 and 26 weeks of pregnancy to undergo mid-gestation open fetal repair or postnatal repair. This MOMS trial was prematurely suspended after enrolling 183 patients (targeted for 200 patients) due to the superior efficacy of fetal surgery in reducing the need for a ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt by 50% and improving the motor outcomes at 30 months of age, when compared to postnatal repair in the interim analysis. Mothers in the MOMS trial who had prenatal surgery did experience a significantly greater obstetrical complication rate than noted in the postnatal surgery group, including chorioamniotic separation, pulmonary edema, oligohydramnios, placental abruption, spontaneous rupture of membranes, spontaneous labor, blood transfusion, and uterine dehiscence.

14.5.1 Open Approach

Open meningomyelocele repair involves maternal laparotomy followed by hysterotomy to deliver part of the fetus for repair. Maternal laparotomy typically involves a low transverse (modified Pfannenstiel) incision or a midline laparatomy followed by exteriorization of the uterus. At this point, uterine relaxation is achieved with the combination of volatile anesthetic agents and intravenous magnesium sulfate bolus followed by infusion. Supplemental doses of nitroglycerin can be used as needed to aid the uterine relaxation. A small hysterotomy incision is made after confirmation of the placental location. The risk of massive hemorrhage is high at this point due to the highly vascular and atonic uterus. Surgeons use a stapling device to extend the hysterotomy incision to reduce the risk of bleeding. The lumbar region of the fetus is exposed, and the MMC repair is carried out by the neurosurgeon using a patch with a large defect or through a primary closure with a smaller defect. A continuous warm crystalloid infusion into the uterus is given to maintain normothermia and a tamponade effect on the placenta. Following the MMC repair, a multiple layer closure is performed, followed by the laparotomy incision closure. This open approach carries significant risks, including preterm labor, bleeding, uterine dehiscence and rupture, pulmonary edema, chorio-amnionic membrane separation, placental abruption, placenta accreta, and the need for cesarean sections for future deliveries.

14.5.2 Fetoscopic Approach

The major concern with open fetal surgery is the associated maternal and fetal risk secondary to preterm delivery, uterine dehiscence, and the need for life-long cesarean delivery. This reinvigorated a renewed interest among the international fetal community in the fetoscopic approach to attempt to minimize the risk of maternal complications. Currently, two different types of fetoscopic approaches are described: percutaneous fetoscopic surgery and laparotomy-assisted fetoscopic surgery (Fig. 14.1).

The trocars are placed through the abdominal and uterine wall under ultrasound guidance in the entirely percutaneous approach. The advantages include minimal postoperative pain and avoidance of routine tocolysis [17]. The average gestational age for delivery reaches 33 weeks after the percutaneous fetoscopic approach, but the risk of preterm premature rupture of the membranes (PPROM) is very high (80%) [18, 19]. In the **laparotomy-based approach**, a uterus is exteriorized after a maternal laparotomy. Fetal access to MMC repair is gained by strategically placing the trocars through the uterine wall with ultrasound guidance. The expectation of significant postop-



Fig. 14.1 Fetal neurosurgery with (**a**) open and (**b**) fetoscopic approaches. [Courtesy: Dr. Jose L. Peiro MD PhD MBA, Cincinnati Fetal Care Center, USA]

erative pain requires a multimodel pain management strategy that often includes a preoperative high lumbar or low thoracic epidural catheter placement. In the laparotomy approach, the risk of PPROM is low (33%) compared to the percutaneous approach, and the average gestational age at delivery is improved to 36–37 weeks [20, 21]. The risk of fetal acidemia from intrauterine CO_2 insufflation is minimal, and using humidified CO_2 for insufflation is beneficial [22].

14.5.3 Maternal and Fetal Physiology

Fetal MMC repairs are typically scheduled in the second trimester between 19 and 26 weeks of gestation. Several physiologic changes need to be considered, which can significantly affect the anesthetic management during this time [23]. While a complete description of the physiologic changes are beyond the scope of this chapter, the most relevant descriptions of maternal (Table 14.2) and fetal (Table 14.3) changes along with their anesthetic implications are enlisted.

14.6 Anesthetic Management

14.6.1 Preoperative Preparation

Fetal interventions should be taken place in a specialized fetal center capable of performing emergent cesarian sections as well as taking care of extremely premature babies. The multidisciplinary team consists of providers from various fields, including maternal and fetal medicine, pediatric surgery, neurosurgery, anesthesiology, neonatology, pediatric cardiology, maternal and fetal nursing, and social workers. The patient should undergo extensive counseling regarding the risks and benefits of fetal surgery, and the same should be documented appropriately. It is also recommended that the patient should be residing close to the specialized center after the fetal intervention for close observation and to be able to reach the fetal center quickly for any emergencies such as premature labor.

| Physiologic changes | Anesthetic implication |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|
| Cardiovascular system | Exaggerated |
| Increased in intravascular | hypotension will likely |
| volume, cardiac output, heart | need vasopressors to |
| rate, and stroke volume; | maintain |
| decrease in systemic | uteroplacental |
| vascular resistance | perfusion |
| Aortocaval compression | Left lateral tilt by |
| (caval compression as early | wedge under the right |
| as 16 weeks) | hip to minimize IVC |
| | compression |
| Respiratory system | Potential for difficult |
| Mucosal engorgement | airway, need for |
| Increased minute ventilation, | smaller endotracheal |
| decreased functional residual | tubes, adequate |
| capacity, increased oxygen | preoxygenation |
| consumption | necessary |
| Need for postoperative | |
| tocolytics compromise | |
| ability to administer | |
| generous intravenous fluids. | |
| Risk for pulmonary edema | |
| postoperatively | |
| Gastrointestinal system | Aspiration risk |
| Stomach displacement, | |
| decreased lower esophageal | |
| sphincter tone | |
| Hematology | Risk of bleeding as |

well as deep vein

anesthesia

thrombosis (DVT),

caution with regional

 Table 14.2
 Maternal physiologic changes and anesthetic implications

14.6.2 Maternal Evaluation

Physiologic anemia of

pregnancy, gestational

thrombocytopenia, hypercoagulable state

Patients should be healthy ASA 1–2 status without significant comorbidities to be eligible for fetal intervention. Anesthetic management for fetal neurosurgical procedures begins with a focused maternal preoperative evaluation, including medical history and physical examination focused on the airway, cardiac, respiratory, musculoskeletal, and neurological systems. Laboratory studies, including complete blood count, electrolyte and coagulation studies, and blood typing and cross-matching, should be ordered as indicated. An electrocardiogram and an echocardiogram may be considered to evaluate patients with cardiovascular concerns. The proposed anesthetic plan along with the risks of

| Physiologic considerations | Anesthetic implications |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <i>Cardiovascular</i> Uteroplacental blood flow is directly proportional to uterine perfusion pressure and inversely proportional to uterine vascular resistance | Maternal hypotension decreases uteroplacental blood flow and fetal oxygen delivery |
| Hematologic Higher blood volume per kg body weight and placenta accounts for 2/3 of fetoplacental blood volume Maternal coagulation factors do not cross the placenta, and the liver is immature to produce adequate coagulation factors | Need more volume to achieve euvolemia Fetus is more prone for bleeding |
| <i>Thermoregulation</i> Unable to thermoregulate, dependent on maternal temperature | Continuous infusion of warm crystalloid solution into the amniotic cavity during open fetal repairs imperative to maintain normothermia |
| Nervous system Parasympathetic system is dominant and plays an important role in hemodynamic stability Stress response to noxious stimuli develops as early as 18 weeks, and cortical response to pain develops between 24 and 30 weeks | Fetal bradycardia is an early warning sign of fetal distress Fetal analgesia should be considered to minimize fetal pain perception and stress response |

 Table 14.3
 Fetal physiology and anesthetic implications

general and regional anesthesia should be discussed by the anesthesiologist in detail.

14.6.3 Fetal Evaluation

The fetal evaluation includes the estimation of gestational age and weight, multiple or singleton pregnancy, prior procedures (e.g., amnioreduction, thoracoabdominal shunt), fetal echocardiogram findings, karyotype (if completed), and other significant ultrasound and fetal ultrafast MRI findings. Fetal blood products consisting of 15–20 ml/kg O negative PRBCs should be available.

14.6.4 Operating Room Setup and Monitoring

Room setup on the day of the surgery should include a routine anesthesia machine check and a desflurane vaporizer. In addition to the standard ASA monitors, including temperature probe, an arterial line for hemodynamic monitoring and a bispectral index (BIS) monitor to assess anesthetic depth should be available. Two intravenous (IV) line setups with filter and/or warmer appropriate for blood transfusion as needed should be ready. Difficult airway equipment, including a video laryngoscope and/or fiberoptic scope, should be available if needed. An orogastric tube should be available to decompress the stomach after intubation.

14.6.5 Fetal Supplies

A second pulse oximeter monitor should be available for the fetus. A peripheral IV line with in-line volumetric cylinder tubing such as Buretrol[®] primed with normal saline and 24G angiocaths should be available in the event a fetal IV line needs to be established. Tubing and filter appropriate for blood transfusion should be in the room if fetal blood transfusion is warranted. Lastly, a fetal echocardiography machine should also be available as intermittent fetal cardiac echocardiography may be needed to be performed during the case to assess the volume status and well-being of the fetus.

14.6.6 Medications

Preoperatively the mother should receive oral non-particulate antacid such as bicitra to increase the pH of stomach contents and metoclopramide to promote gastric emptying. Anxiolytics to reduce maternal anxiety can be considered in the form of short-acting benzodiazepine such as midazolam before the administration of regional anesthesia.

| Medications | |
|------------------|------------------------------------|
| Premedication | Midazolam for anxiolysis, Bicitra |
| | and metoclopramide for anti- |
| | aspiration prophylaxis |
| Induction agents | Propofol |
| Muscle | Succinylcholine for rapid sequence |
| relaxants | induction, NDMR for maintenance |
| Opioids | Fentanyl, Morphine (preservative- |
| | free for neuraxial use) |
| Maintenance | Desflurane for uterine relaxation, |
| | Propofol infusion |
| Local | 0.2% Ropivacaine |
| anesthetics | |
| Uterine | Magnesium sulfate, Nitroglycerine, |
| relaxants | Terbutaline (see Table 14.5) |
| Vasopressors | Phenylephrine and ephedrine |
| | bolus, Phenylephrine infusion |
| Emergency | Atropine and epinephrine |
| medications | |
| Antibiotics | Per surgeon |
| | |

Table 14.4 Commonly used maternal medications for fetal neurosurgery

The most commonly used maternal medications for this surgery are outlined in Table 14.4. It may be of use to have a pre-made fetal anesthesia kit available, which contains commonly used medications.

14.6.7 Intraoperative Anesthetic Management

It is imperative that before the scheduled fetal intervention, a multidisciplinary team meeting involving all the providers to be held outlining the patient's preoperative condition, planned intervention, planned anesthetic management, maternal wishes regarding fetal resuscitation in case of emergent delivery, and any other safety concerns.

Typical anesthetic management includes placement of an epidural catheter awake followed by induction of general anesthesia. The epidural catheter is placed in the low thoracic or high lumbar (between T10 and L1) region for postoperative pain control and tested with 3 cc of 1.5% lidocaine with 1:200,000 epinephrine. The epidural should not be dosed at this time to avoid exacerbated hypotension during the intraoperative period due to high-dose volatiles, magnesium, and nitroglycerine boluses. Fentanyl and/or additional midazolam may be given as needed for pain or anxiolysis related to epidural placement.

The mother is then placed in the supine position with left uterine displacement by placing a roll under the right hip. General anesthesia is induced with a rapid sequence induction technique after adequate preoxygenation to minimize the risk of aspiration. Once the airway has been secured, a second IV line, arterial line, orogastric tube, temperature probe, BIS monitor, compression boots, and Foley catheter can be placed.

During the procedure, maintenance of anesthesia is accomplished with a combination of volatile anesthetic (desflurane 4-6%) and IV anesthetic agent such as a propofol infusion (started at 50 µg/kg/min) until the uterus is exposed. At this point, the propofol infusion is turned off, and volatile anesthetic concentration is increased to aid in the uterine relaxation. As blood pressure correlates with uteroplacental perfusion and thus fetal oxygenation, the goal should be to maintain maternal systolic blood pressure (SBP) >100 mmHg or mean arterial pressure (MAP) within 10-20% of baseline. Ephedrine (5-10 mg IV) boluses and/or phenylephrine (50-100 µg IV) boluses of phenylephrine infusion may be needed to achieve this goal. Unless there is excessive blood loss, IV fluid administration should be limited to a maximum of 1-1.5 L of crystalloid fluid to minimize the risk of postoperative maternal pulmonary edema.

14.6.8 Uterine Relaxation

Inadequate uterine relaxation can lead to umbilical cord compression and abruptio placenta. Adequate uterine relaxation should be maintained throughout the procedure. Surgical palpation of the uterus is the gold standard to assess for the degree of uterine relaxation. Multiple medications in combination, such as halogenated anesthetic agents, nitroglycerin, beta-adrenergic agonists like albuterol and terbutaline, magnesium sulfate, and oxytocin antagonist atosiban, are used to minimize the adverse effects on the mother, such as hemodynamic instability. Among the halogenated agents, desflurane seems to be the most potent uterine relaxant secondary to its potent Na⁺ channel blocking effects. Magnesium sulfate 4-6 gm IV bolus is given over 20 min upon laparotomy incision, followed by a 2-4 gm/hr infusion to assist in this effort. This should allow for a decreased volatile anesthetic concentration and thus avoid large swings in hemodynamics. Adequacy of uterine relaxation and magnesium sulfate dose should be confirmed with the maternal-fetal medicine (MFM) team. Serum Magnesium level is checked 30 min after the initial bolus is given and then every 2 hours thereafter to avoid magnesium toxicity. For continued increased uterine tone, nitroglycerin boluses (30-50 μ g at a time) or an infusion titrated up to 10 μ g/ kg/min can be started. If additional uterine relaxation is needed after the aforementioned interventions, the volatile anesthetic agent concentration may be increased as necessary (Table 14.5).

During an open laparotomy procedure, hysterotomy is performed using a stapling device to minimize blood loss. If the case is performed fetoscopically, the uterus is insufflated with CO_2 , and two to three ports are placed in the uterus (Fig. 14.1). Vigilance for detecting maternal bleeding (e.g., due to placental laceration, abruption) is critical, and frequent communication with the surgical team is imperative to the success of these procedures.

14.6.9 Fetal Anesthesia and Analgesia

Even though it is difficult to predict whether fetus can perceive pain, it seems prudent to provide

| Drug | Dose | |
|----------------|------------------------------------|--|
| Volatile | Titrate between 1.5 and 3 MAC as | |
| anesthetics | tolerated by hemodynamics | |
| Magnesium | 4–6 gm bolus over 30 min followed | |
| sulfate | by 2 gm infusion | |
| Nitroglycerine | 10–30 μg intermittent bolus; | |
| | 2-10 µg/kg/min infusion | |
| Terbutaline | 0.25 mg subcutaneously every 4 hrs | |
| Atosiban | 6.75 mg (bolus); 300 µg/min (3 h); | |
| | 100 µg/min (45 h) | |

analgesia to minimize the stress response and ensure immobility during the surgery. Functional spinal reflexes are present in the fetus by 19 weeks of gestation, cutaneous nociceptive receptors and spinothalamic tracts are fully developed after 20 weeks, and thalamocortical tracts are developed after 26–30 weeks [24]. The fetus is shown to produce stress hormonal responses such as increased plasma cortisol and beta-endorphin to painful stimuli [25]. Fetal anesthesia is primarily provided by the transfer of maternal volatile anesthetics through placental circulation. Upon fetal exposure, a fetal intramuscular (IM) cocktail (fentanyl 20 µg/kg, atropine 20 µg/kg, and vecuronium 0.2 mg/kg) is administered by the surgeon to ensure fetal immobility and analgesia. This medication is prepared by the anesthesia team and handed to the surgical team in a sterile manner at the beginning of the procedure.

At the end of fetal procedure, the fetus is returned to the uterine cavity, and the hysterotomy is sutured. The uterine ports are closed if the procedure was performed via fetoscopic approach. The volatile agent should be decreased at this point in the procedure, and the epidural should be loaded with 0.2% ropivacaine 10-20 ml and preservative-free morphine 3-4 mg per epidural. Magnesium sulfate infusion is usually continued and adjusted as needed after a discussion with the MFM team. Other pain control and antiemetic medications including acetaminophen 15 mg/kg and ondansetron 0.1 mg/kg IV can be given at this time. Neuromuscular blockade can be reversed with neostigmine and glycopyrrolate or sugammadex. The patient is then allowed to safely emerge from anesthesia and be extubated once fully awake to reduce aspiration risk.

14.6.10 Postoperative Anesthetic Management

Postoperatively, the mother will be transferred to postanesthesia care area for routine monitoring. The epidural block should be maintained for postoperative pain control. Care in the postanesthesia care area should include monitoring and maintenance of normal vital signs and tocodynamometry and fetal heart rate documentation. The mother should remain in the supine position with left uterine displacement. Once the patient has fully recovered from anesthesia and can tolerate clear liquids, the diet may be advanced as tolerated.

Continuous infusion of low concentration of local anesthetic medication such as 0.2% ropivacaine at a rate of 10-12 ml/hr. through the epidural catheter should be continued up to postoperative day two to ensure adequate pain control. IV acetaminophen 15 mg/kg (maximum 1 gram) every 6 hours is continued for up to 3 days or transitioned to oral acetaminophen if the pain is well controlled. Oral opioids such as oxycodone 0.1 mg/kg every 4 hours may be initiated once the patient tolerates oral intake. After discussion with the fetal surgery and MFM teams, and if postoperative pain is well controlled, the epidural catheter may be removed on the morning of postoperative day two. The timing of epidural removal should be considered in the context of pharmacologic venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis administration if applicable. Lastly, the Foley catheter can be removed 4 hours after epidural removal to help facilitate early ambulation and minimize discomfort and infection risk.

14.7 Outcome and Future Directions

The decreased need for VPS placement and improved neurological outcomes are the primary outcomes of validating prenatal MMC repairs despite the increased risk of prematurity and maternal risks. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) is an alternative technique with comparable 1-year failure-free survival rate to VPS placement. MOMS trial final update reports that prenatal repair in fetus with ventriculomegaly of 15 mm or larger does not improve outcomes [26]. As the postnatal treatment options for ventriculomegaly improve with time, the guidelines for prenatal repairs should reflect those changes. The most common cause of death in patients with MMC is renal failure [27]. A supplementary study by MOMS trial investigators found that at 30 months follow-up, there is no significant difference in mortality or requirement of clean intermittent catheterization between the prenatal and postnatal repair groups. Long-term followup of prenatal MMC repair patients is needed to compare renal failure and related mortality in patients surviving into adulthood [28]. Regarding maternal complications and preterm births, minimally invasive fetoscopic repair allows for future vaginal deliveries and reduces the risk of uterine dehiscence. Meta-analysis studies report that minimally invasive repair has a higher rate of premature births and obstetrical complications, and a similar VP shunt placement rate compared to the open repair groups [29, 30]. Prospective randomized control studies are needed comparing maternal complications and preterm births between open and fetoscopic repair. Cell-based therapies utilizing mesenchymal stem cells and fibroblast growth factors to augment or replace invasive repair are currently being studied in various fetal centers and shown to improve neurological functions and ability ambulate in ovine models [31]. It is still to be determined if anesthesia affects the developing fetal brain when administered for these cases. Effects of fetal anesthesia on postnatal cognitive function are currently unknown, and underlying cognitive dysfunction in MMC patients makes it difficult to estimate the effects of anesthesia per se.

14.8 Ethical and Legal Considerations

Current data indicates that the patients undergoing fetal intervention are delivering prematurely compared to postnatal intervention, and the risks associated with prematurity must be clearly explained to the parents. Similarly, the mother undergoing the open fetal repair must be explained about the future need for cesarean sections and associated risks. MOMS trial had strict inclusion criteria for patient selection for fetal intervention. As the outcome of fetal intervention gets better, further trials are needed to include patients with comorbidities. Outcomes at centers with limited experience may not be comparable to the high volume centers. Similarly, we still have limited data on fetoscopic repair, potentially increasing maternal complications and preterm births. Legal considerations regarding whether paternal consent is needed to operate on the fetus can vary depending on jurisdiction and country, and clear guidelines need to be established regarding the scope of maternal capacity to refuse the procedure due to increased personal risk if future studies demonstrate clear benefits of the prenatal intervention to the fetus.

14.9 Conclusion

Anesthesia for fetal surgery remains a reasonably new area within the field of anesthesiology. The MOMS trial's success provided some future direction, but additional data is needed for the fetoscopic repair. Anesthetic management of fetal surgery is currently being performed under the guidance of teams consisting of either pediatric or obstetric anesthesiologists. While there are established fetal centers globally, there has been a recent push for new centers to open and offer these services. While fetal surgery for neurosurgical defects is a promising field and has demonstrated success with MMC defects, there are complicating factors to be taken into account before considering fetal interventions. Standard guidelines for fetal anesthesia need to be constantly updated with new findings. Before any fetal intervention, careful assessment of fetal benefit should be considered against the risks to mother and fetus.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Harrison MR, Golbus MS, Filly RA, Callen PW, Katz M, de Lorimier AA, et al. Fetal surgery for congenital hydronephrosis. N Engl J Med. 1982;306:591–3.
- Clewell WH, Johnson ML, Meier PR, Newkirk JB, Zide SL, Hendee RW, et al. A surgical approach to the treatment of fetal hydrocephalus. N Engl J Med. 1982;306:1320–5.

- Harrison MR, Filly RA, Golbus MS, Berkowitz RL, Callen PW, Canty TG, et al. Fetal treatment 1982. N Engl J Med. 1982;307:1651–2.
- Birnholz JC, Frigoletto FD. Antenatal treatment of hydrocephalus. N Engl J Med. 1981;304:1021–3.
- Frigoletto FD Jr, Birnholz JC, Greene MF. Antenatal treatment of hydrocephalus by ventriculoamniotic shunting. JAMA. 1982;248:2496–7.
- Adzick NS, Thom EA, Spong CY, Brock JW, Burrows PK, Johnson MP, et al. A randomized trial of prenatal versus postnatal repair of myelomeningocele. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:993–1004.
- Chervenak FA, Berkowitz RL, Tortora M, Hobbins JC. The management of fetal hydrocephalus. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1985;151:933–42.
- Bruner JP, Davis G, Tulipan N. Intrauterine shunt for obstructive hydrocephalus--still not ready. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2006;21:532–9.
- 9. Peiro JL, Fabbro MD. Fetal therapy for congenital hydrocephalus-where we came from and where we are going. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36:1697–712.
- Parker SE, Mai CT, Canfield MA, Rickard R, Wang Y, Meyer RE, et al. Updated National Birth Prevalence estimates for selected birth defects in the United States, 2004-2006. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2010;88:1008–16.
- Adzick NS. Fetal myelomeningocele: natural history, pathophysiology, and in-utero intervention. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2010;15:9–14.
- Tulipan N, Hernanz-Schulman M, Bruner JP. Reduced hindbrain herniation after intrauterine myelomeningocele repair: a report of four cases. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1998;29:274–8.
- Bruner JP, Richards WO, Tulipan NB, Arney TL. Endoscopic coverage of fetal myelomeningocele in utero. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;180:153–8.
- Bruner JP, Tulipan NB, Richards WO, Walsh WF, Boehm FH, Vrabcak EK. In utero repair of myelomeningocele: a comparison of endoscopy and hysterotomy. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2000;15:83–8.
- Bruner JP, Tulipan N. Intrauterine repair of spina bifida. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2005;48:942–55.
- Sutton LN, Adzick NS, Bilaniuk LT, Johnson MP, Crombleholme TM, Flake AW. Improvement in hindbrain herniation demonstrated by serial fetal magnetic resonance imaging following fetal surgery for myelomeningocele. JAMA. 1999;282:1826–31.
- Lapa DA. Endoscopic fetal surgery for neural tube defects. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2019;58:133–41.
- 18. Lapa Pedreira DA, Acacio GL, Gonçalves RT, Sá RAM, Brandt RA, Chmait RH, et al. Percutaneous fetoscopic closure of large open spina bifida using a bilaminar skin substitute. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2018;52:458–66.
- Degenhardt J, Schürg R, Winarno A, Oehmke F, Khaleeva A, Kawecki A, et al. Percutaneous minimalaccess fetoscopic surgery for spina bifida aperta. Part II: maternal management and outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2014;44:525–31.

- Belfort MA, Whitehead WE, Shamshirsaz AA, Bateni ZH, Olutoye OO, Olutoye OA, et al. Fetoscopic open neural tube defect repair: development and refinement of a two-port. Carbon Dioxide Insufflation Technique Obstet Gynecol. 2017;129:734–43.
- Miller JL, Groves ML, Baschat AA. Fetoscopic spina bifida repair. Minerva Ginecol. 2019;71:163–70.
- Baschat AA, Ahn ES, Murphy J, Miller JL. Fetal blood-gas values during fetoscopic myelomeningocele repair performed under carbon dioxide insufflation. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2018;52:400–2.
- 23. Kacmar RM, Gaiser R. Physiologic changes of pregnancy. In: Chestnut D, Wong C, Tsen L, Ngan Kee WD, Beilin Y, Mhyre J, et al., editors. Chestnut's obstetric anesthesia: principles and practice. sixth ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2019. p. 13–37.
- Lowery CL, Hardman MP, Manning N, Hall RW, Anand KJ, Clancy B. Neurodevelopmental changes of fetal pain. Semin Perinatol. 2007;31:275–82.
- Giannakoulopoulos X, Sepulveda W, Kourtis P, Glover V, Fisk NM. Fetal plasma cortisol and betaendorphin response to intrauterine needling. Lancet. 1994;344:77–81.
- Tulipan N, Wellons JC, Thom EA, Gupta N, Sutton LN, Burrows PK, et al. Prenatal surgery for myelome-

ningocele and the need for cerebrospinal fluid shunt placement. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:613–20.

- Woodhouse CR. Myelomeningocele in young adults. BJU Int. 2005;95:223–30.
- Kabagambe SK, Chen YJ, Vanover MA, Saadai P, Farmer DL. New directions in fetal surgery for myelomeningocele. Childs Nerv Syst. 2017;33:1185–90.
- Araujo Júnior E, Tonni G, Martins WP. Outcomes of infants followed-up at least 12 months after fetal open and endoscopic surgery for meningomyelocele: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Evid Based Med. 2016;9:125–35.
- 30. Araujo Júnior E, Eggink AJ, van den Dobbelsteen J, Martins WP, Oepkes D. Procedure-related complications of open vs endoscopic fetal surgery for treatment of spina bifida in an era of intrauterine myelomeningocele repair: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2016;48:151–60.
- Wang A, Brown EG, Lankford L, Keller BA, Pivetti CD, Sitkin NA, et al. Placental mesenchymal stromal cells rescue ambulation in ovine myelomeningocele. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2015;4:659–69.
- Hoagland MA, Chatterjee D. Anesthesia for fetal surgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2017;27:873.



15

Perioperative Management of Children with Chiari Malformation

Varun Jain, Kashmiri Doley, and Sumit Sinha

Key Points

- Chiari malformation is a group of congenital malformations of the hindbrain and spinal cord associated with a constellation of symptoms due to compression of the medulla, lower cranial nerves, or flow obstruction to the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).
- Chiari I malformation is more common and diagnosed in adolescence or young adulthood.
- Chiari II malformation is associated with an array of spinal cord deformities like tethered cord, meningomyelocele, and hydrocephalus; it is usually diagnosed in infancy or childhood.
- CSF flow obstruction around the foramen magnum may cause symptoms of raised intracranial pressure.
- Foramen magnum decompression is the primary procedure performed to improve CSF flow dynamics.
- Difficult airway, autonomic dysfunctions, and challenging neurosurgical positioning are important anesthetic concerns in these children with the goal of early emergence from anesthesia after the surgery is over.

V. Jain $(\boxtimes) \cdot K$. Doley

Department of Neuroanaesthesia and Neurocritical Care, Paras Hospital, Gurugram, India e-mail: drvarun.jain@parashospitals.com

S. Sinha

Department of Neurosurgery, Paras Hospital, Gurugram, India

15.1 Introduction

Chiari malformation is a condition characterized by herniation of the lower part of the brain, namely, the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum into the spinal canal. The malformation was named after Austrian pathologist Prof. Hans Chiari, who described this in a 17-year-old female in 1891 [1]. Arnold-Chiari malformation was named in honor of Chiari and German pathologist Julius Arnold by the latter's pupils after they reported four meningomyelocele cases with alterations in the cerebellum and brainstem in 1907 [2]. However, Cleland was the first to describe Chiari malformation in a child with spina bifida, hydrocephalus, and anatomical variations of the cerebellum and brainstem in 1883 [2]. The prevalence of Chiari malformation is estimated at 1 per 1000 to 1 per 5000 individuals. The majority of Chiari I malformation cases are diagnosed in late childhood to early adulthood. Chiari II malformation is usually diagnosed at birth or in utero due to its association with meningomyelocele.

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_15

15.2 Posterior Cranial Fossa and Cervicomedullary Junction

The posterior cranial fossa is the most inferior part of the cranial cavity and is located between the tentorium cerebelli superiorly and foramen magnum inferiorly. The posterior cranial fossa is occupied mainly by the cerebellum and the brainstem. The foramina present in the bones forming the boundaries of the posterior cranial fossa transmit various important structures through them, including the seventh, eighth, ninth, tenth cranial nerves, the labyrinthine, vertebral, and the anterior and posterior spinal arteries. The medulla crosses the foramen magnum to continue as the spinal cord.

At the foramen magnum level, the CSF usually flows freely around the medulla, forming a CSF cushion that functions as a shock absorber. Normally, a large amount of CSF is collected at the back of the cerebellum in a space called the cisterna magna. The CSF flow dynamics are well maintained due to an unobstructed passage of CSF within the foramen magnum. Any herniation of tissue at this level can partially or completely hamper the CSF flow.

15.3 Pathophysiology of Chiari Malformation

The initiation of Chiari malformation happens due to the underdevelopment of the fetal skull during pregnancy itself. Various theories have been suggested to explain this anomaly. One such theory is the malformation or the overgrowth theory. According to this theory, as the brain grows relatively bigger than the skull during early childhood, there is crowding of the intracranial structures leading to herniation of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum [3]. Another theory is the hydrodynamic theory, which suggests that the herniated brain tissue blocks the normal flow of CSF, causing pulsating movement through the foramen magnum displacing the tonsils in a downward direction [3, 4]. There is an accumulation of the CSF in the brain and spinal canal, leading to hydrocephalus and syringomyelia.

15.4 Types of Chiari Malformation

Chiari initially described three types of malformation (Type I, Type II, and Type III); Type IV was later added to the classification [5]. Chiari malformations represent a varying spectrum of pathology of maldevelopment of the hindbrain (Table 15.1). Chiari I malformation is the commonest of Chiari malformation due to cerebellar tonsils' descent of more than 5 mm below the foramen magnum (Fig. 15.1). This type is usually the mildest and, therefore, is diagnosed during adolescence or young adulthood. It is associated with spinal syrinx (fluid-filled cavity in the spinal cord) in approximately 50% of cases [6]. Chiari II malformation is the next most common due to cerebellar vermis and lower brainstem herniation below the foramen magnum (Fig. 15.2). This is a pathologically more severe entity and manifests in infancy or early childhood due to associated meningomyelocele, hydrocephalus, tethered cord, and other neurospinal defects. It is described as the "Classic" Chiari malformation or Arnold-Chiari malformation. Up to 98% of children with meningomyelocele can have Chiari II malformation [7]. The occurrence of spinal

Table 15.1 Types of Chiari malformations

| Types | Description(s) |
|----------|---------------------------------------------|
| Type I | Herniation of cerebellar tonsils >5 mm |
| | below the foramen magnum |
| Type II | Caudal displacement of the cerebellar |
| | vermis and lower brainstem (medulla, |
| | pons, fourth ventricle) |
| Type III | Occipital or cervical encephalocele in |
| | addition to hindbrain herniation as seen in |
| | type II |
| Type IV | Cerebellar aplasia or hypoplasia |
| Type 0 | Spinal syrinx with no cerebellar herniation |
| | (zero herniation) |
| Type 1.5 | Tonsillar herniation, as seen in type I but |
| | with elongated brainstem and fourth |
| | ventricle (Bulbar variant of Type I). No |
| | neurospinal defects are present |
| Type V | Cerebellar agenesis with occipital lobe |
| | herniation through the foramen magnum |



Fig. 15.1 Chiari I malformation; cranio-cervical MRI (T2 sagittal section on the left side, T1 sagittal section on the right side) shows cerebellar herniation (solid black

arrow) below the foramen magnum (hollow black arrow) along with cervicothoracic syrinx (solid white arrow)

syrinx with no cerebellar tonsillar herniation is labeled as Chiari 0 malformation [8]. This is usually associated with scoliosis. Chiari Type III may present with occipital or cervical encephalocele (Fig. 15.3). Both Chiari Type III and IV are rare types and have a poor prognosis, usually not compatible with life. The Chiari Type V entity has recently been described with cerebellar agenesis and occipital lobe herniation below the foramen magnum [9].

15.5 Clinical Presentation

Children with Chiari I malformation are mostly asymptomatic and diagnosed incidentally. Symptoms may be varied due to abnormal CSF flow equalization, compression of the brainstem and cerebellar connections, and traction on the lower cranial nerves [10]. Headache (mostly occipital) and neck pain are common and exacerbated by exertion (cough and Valsalva maneuver). Dizziness, fainting, drop attacks, and sinus bradycardia are autonomic dysfunctions due to brainstem compression. Breathing disorders like central sleep apnea and obstructive sleep apnea may be in the initial presentation [11]. The loss of sensitivity to pain and temperature and weakness in the upper torso are due to syringomyelia. The problem in balance and coordination may also happen. Photosensitivity, blurred vision, nystagmus, and diplopia may be associated with visual complaints.

Chiari II presents in infants and younger children as difficulty in swallowing, slow or noisy



Fig. 15.2 Chiari II malformation; brainstem descent below the foramen magnum along with cervical meningo-myelocele (solid white arrow) in MRI whole spine T2 sagittal section

respiration leading to feeding problems, gagging, drooling from the angle of the mouth, and vomiting. Vocal cord impairment has been reported in up to 50% of patients [12]. Compression and traction on the lower cranial nerves, especially the vagus nerve, is the most likely cause of bilateral vocal cord paralysis and stridor [13]. Similarly, sleep apnea may occur in up to 83% of patients [12]. Stridor, apnea, and bradycardia are frequent and severe by 10–12 weeks of age and decrease in severity by 6 months of age [13]. Other common signs can include irritability, headbanging, and night-time awakening. In ACM, the child may present with just a bulge or swelling over the back due to meningomyelocele. Scoliosis may develop due to the tethered cord or because of syringomyelia. Urinary tract abnormalities such as vesicoureteral reflux or hydronephrosis may be present in up to 30% of children with meningomyelocele [14]. Besides these, Chiari malformations can be associated with various syndromes and pathologies (Table 15.2).

15.6 Diagnosis of Chiari Malformations

A definitive diagnosis of Chiari malformation can be made only with a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain, which would reveal an abnormal protrusion of the cerebellum toward the spinal canal with or without hydrocephalus [15]. Cerebellar tonsils' descent below the foramen magnum decreases with age [16]. MRI of the spine may also show syrinx within the spinal canal (Fig. 15.1). A CT may not reveal a Chiari malformation, and an X-ray has no role in diagnosing Chiari malformation.

The signs of raised intracranial pressure (ICP) may be delayed in infants due to a more compliant intracranial space attributed to the open fontanelle and cranial sutures. In a few cases, Chiari malformation diagnosis may be incidental as patients with Chiari malformation may remain asymptomatic for a long time before they develop clinical symptoms. ACM can also be detected with ultrasound during pregnancy as early as 12 weeks of gestation. Raised serum alpha-fetoprotein levels are a marker of neural tube defect [17].

15.7 Treatment Options

In asymptomatic children with Chiari malformation and those diagnosed incidentally, a regular follow-up with MRI is usually advised. Symptomatic treatment with pain medication is given for mild headaches; however, surgery remains the definitive treatment (Table 15.3). Surgery benefits children with persistent headache impacting quality of life and large or increasing size of syrinx and in presence of



Fig. 15.3 Chiari III malformation with occipital encephalocele (cranio-cervical MRI images: T2 left side, T1 right side)

abnormal neurological findings or presence of myelopathy. The most common surgical procedure performed for Chiari malformation is foramen magnum decompression or posterior fossa decompression surgery with or without duraplasty so as to restore normal CSF dynamics at cervicomedullary junction (CMJ) and relieve pressure on the cerebellum and hindbrain [18, 19]. In the presence of disrupted CSF dynamics, different shunt types and procedures are done to restore CSF flow. Minimally invasive techniques for tonsillectomy and endoscopic decompression of posterior fossa have also been shown to be safe and effective for surgical treatment of Chiari I malformation [20, 21]. Patients with meningoencephalocele require sac removal surgery to prevent meningitis or rupture of the sac. Sometimes, a ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt is performed for hydrocephalus prior to the removal of the sac. Infants with mild symptoms often improve with a VP shunt procedure alone, whereas infants with moderate to severe symptoms may require decompression surgery [22, 23]. In principle, associated abnormalities like hydrocephalus, meningomyelocele, tethered filum terminale, syringomyelia, and split cord malformations are treated with the "cranial to spinal rule," i.e., the more cranial abnormality is treated first. The duration of brainstem compression also affects the functional prognosis in Chiari malformation, with better surgi-
| Jackson-Weiss syndrome | | | |
|-----------------------------|----------|---------|-----------|
| 5 | 15.8 | An | esthet |
| Achondroplasia | 15.0 | / | counce |
| Osteopetrosis | | - | |
| Paget's disease | 15.8.1 | Pre | operat |
| Neurofibromatosis type I | | | |
| Waardenburg syndrome | Childre | en wi | th Chia |
| Atlantoaxial assimilation | ant for | o chu | nt proce |
| Caudal regression syndrome | ent Ioi | a silu | |
| Klippel-Feil syndrome | a poste | rior f | ossa deo |
| Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome | posted | for a | posteric |
| Cystic fibrosis | shunt ii | n situ | It is im |
| Fabry disease | is fund | tioni | a prop |
| Pierre-Robin syndrome | 18 Tulle | ·uom | ig prop |
| | reduces | s the r | isk of in |

Table 15.2 Associated anomalies and syndromes in Chiari malformations

- · Diastematomyelia
- Ehlers-Danlos syndrome
- · Marfan's syndrome
- · Apert syndrome

cal results seen when surgery is performed within 2 years of symptom onset [24]. However, infants and young children may recover, even if medullary dysfunction is long-standing [25].

ic Management

tive Evaluation

ri malformation may presedure, sac removal/repair, or compression surgery. Those or fossa surgery may have a portant to check if the shunt erly, as a functional shunt traoperative raised ICP.

| Type of Chiari | | Type of foramen magnum decompression | Various surgical approaches to | Various surgical approaches to | Various surgical approaches to |
|------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| malformation | Primary surgery | (FMD) | dura | arachnoid | cerebellar tonsils |
| Chiari I | Foramen magnum decompression | Only suboccipital craniectomy | Dura left intact | Arachnoid left intact | Subpial resection of tonsils (tonsillectomy) |
| Chiari II | | Suboccipital craniectomy with C1 arch excision | Dura opened and left open | Arachnoid dissection was done and CSF drained | Subpial resection of tonsils with pulling up of tonsils and tethering to overlying |
| | | | Dura opened and duroplasty done | Meticulous arachnoid dissection with freeing of tonsils | dura |
| Chiari III | Excision of the encephalocele and detethering of neural contents with the closure of the skin defect | | | | |
| Chiari IV | Usually no surgical treatment for the malformation itself | | | | |
| Chiari 0 | Treatment similar to Chiari I if all other causes are ruled out and the patient has deficits or troublesome symptoms | | | | |
| Chiari 1.5 | Surgical treatment similar to Chiari I if the patient is symptomatic | | | | |
| Hydrocephalus | Ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunting is done commonly. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) is also an option | | | | |
| Syringomyelia | Usually resolves spontaneously after FMD. Syringo-subdural and syringo-peritoneal or syringo- pleural shunts are now practiced rarely | | | | |
| Meningocele And tethered filum terminale | Often associated with Chiari malformations, particularly type II. Requires surgical repair with detethering of neural components | | | | |
| Split cord malformations | <i>cord</i> Need surgical excision of the septum and dural closure <i>rrmations</i> | | | | |

neurosurgical problems

CSF cerebrospinal fluid

A preanesthetic evaluation should include careful investigation of the medical history and a complete physical examination of the patient's airway and respiratory, cardiovascular, and neurologic systems to exclude possible associated comorbidity (Table 15.4). Signs and symptoms of raised ICT such as headache, vomiting, etc. should be carefully examined. Papilledema should be ruled out when raised ICP is suspected. Lumbar puncture, if needed, should be done cautiously to avoid herniation. Dehydration and deranged electrolytes should be corrected, which may be the result of vomiting due to raised ICP or following dysphagia. Pulmonary aspiration and infection may be present in children with dysphagia and impaired gag reflex, indicating lower cranial nerve dysfunction.

The importance of a thorough airway evaluation cannot be underestimated. Patients with Chiari malformation should be anticipated to have a difficult airway. Due to the altered anatomy of the skull base and upper cervical spine, there is restricted cervical mobilization. Moreover, the presence of basilar invagination makes the cervical spine extremely unstable. Since there is a risk of compression of the neural structures underneath, especially with the extreme neck

Table 15.4 Anesthetic challenges in a patient with Chiari malformation

| • Airway |
|--------------------------------------------------------------|
| Vocal cord palsy |
| – Stridor |
| Limitation in cervical spine mobility |
| – Scoliosis |
| Raised intracranial pressure |
| – Papilledema |
| Surgical position related |
| - Prone—Pressure on eyes, accidental extubation |
| Sitting—Venous air embolism, compromised |
| cerebral perfusion, macroglossia |
| – Supine |
| Autonomic dysfunction |
| Hemodynamic variations and instability |
| Altered thermoregulation |
| Abnormal sensitivity to neuromuscular agents— |
| Especially in patients with syringomyelia |
| Latex allergy—Especially in children with |
| meningomyelocele |
| Blood loss—Especially in large meningomyelocele |
| requiring skin grafting |
| |

flexion for surgery in the prone position, preoperative permissible neck flexion-extension must be assessed and documented. Patients with Chiari II malformation tend to have a higher incidence of airway abnormalities and other neurological dysfunctions. Sleep studies and flexible fiberoptic laryngoscopy is recommended for airway evaluation [12].

Operative position needs to be discussed with the neurosurgeon; the position could be prone, sitting, or Concorde for posterior fossa decompression. The shunt is performed in a supine position with the head turned to one side. Risks of venous air embolism, systemic hypotension, pneumocephalus, paraplegia, and peripheral nerve injury (ulnar, brachial plexus, sciatic) are associated with sitting position. In contrast, the risk of accidental extubation, airway and facial edema, and postoperative blindness increases with the prone position. Excessive pressure on the abdomen during prone positioning may cause venous congestion and bleeding. Preoperative screening with 2D echo should be done to rule out the presence of patent foramen ovale as surgery in a sitting position is contraindicated in the presence of intracardiac septal defects. Alterations in cardiovascular and respiratory physiology should be taken care of during the respective positioning of the patient.

Children with meningomyelocele, tethered cord, and spina bifida undergoing multiple surgical procedures are at higher risk of latex sensitization and allergy [26]. Urological evaluation should also be performed in all children with meningomyelocele because of the increased possibility of upper urinary tract anomalies [14].

15.8.2 Premedication

Premedication is avoided in children with signs of raised ICP as they may cause respiratory depression and hypercapnia. However, it is important to allay preoperative anxiety to avoid further increases in ICP. Premedication with oral benzodiazepines like midazolam has a calming effect and should be administered if appropriate, only under supervision. Steroid-induced hyperglycemia and diuretic-induced electrolyte abnormalities should be ruled out.

15.8.3 Monitoring

Monitoring of a patient with Chiari malformation includes routine monitors such as pulseoximetry, capnography, invasive arterial and noninvasive blood pressure monitoring, bispectral index (BIS), and temperature monitoring. Neuromuscular blockade may be monitored with a peripheral nerve stimulator due to undue sensitivity to the muscle relaxant. Central venous line placement is indicated in patients undergoing posterior fossa decompression due to the risk of venous air embolism, especially if the surgery is performed in a sitting position. Transesophageal echocardiography is desirable to detect the occurrence of venous air embolism. A precordial Doppler may be placed to detect even a minimal volume of a venous air embolus. Urine output monitoring should also be done in prolonged procedures. Arterial blood gas analysis is also recommended at regular intervals. Surgery near the brainstem and cranial nerves may necessitate neurophysiological monitoring to detect and revert any reversible neurological insult. Use of somatosensory evoked potential and motor evoked potential can guide about effect of positioning on spinal cord perfusion, intraoperative compression, and predict postoperative function in Chiari malformation [27, 28].

15.8.4 Induction of Anesthesia

Both inhalational and intravenous techniques can be employed for inducing anesthesia. Although inhalational induction may not be preferred in adults due to its effects on increasing intracranial pressure, sevoflurane has been widely used to induce anesthesia in the pediatric age group for the advantage of avoiding a restless and combative child in the process of securing an IV access. Neuromuscular blocking agent is administered to facilitate laryngoscopy and tracheal intubation and avoid any coughing, which may cause increases in ICP. It becomes necessary to immobilize the cervical spine in order to prevent any further neurological insult, and manual in-line stabilization is advisable. Flexible fiberoptic intubation, either awake or under sedation, decreases the extreme movement of the neck. Children with encephalocele or high meningomyelocele are intubated commonly in lateral decubitus position or with swelling supported by a doughnut or by placing the child's head beyond the edge of the table, supported by an assistant. Patients with vocal cord paralysis with stridor may even require a tracheotomy [29]. Early diagnosis and prompt airway management in these patients can be lifesaving.

In children with a high risk of aspiration, a rapid-sequence induction with thiopentone or propofol followed by rapid-acting muscle relaxants such as succinylcholine or rocuronium may be required. Succinylcholine should be avoided when there is muscle weakness due to the risk of hyperkalemia because of denervated muscles. Care should be taken to avoid extreme fluctuations in hemodynamics. Increased blood pressure during laryngoscopy can lead to raised ICP, whereas excessive blood pressure decreases can compromise cerebral perfusion pressure. Controlled hyperventilation before laryngoscopy may decrease the rise of intracranial pressure. An armored endotracheal tube is usually used to prevent kinking of the tube.

The presence of autonomic dysfunction in Chiari malformation complicates the anesthetic management further. Hemodynamic instability, altered temperature regulation, hypoxia, and hypocarbia may be observed during the perioperative period [22]. A strong vagal tone in children may cause bradycardia during laryngoscopy and intubation, which can be exaggerated by brainstem compression at the time of surgery.

15.8.5 Maintenance of Anesthesia

Anesthesia can be maintained with intravenous agents alone (TIVA) or with inhalational agents using a low MAC (less than 1). Patients with syringomyelia may show abnormal sensitivity to neuromuscular agents [21, 22]. Opioids like fentanyl are used for analgesia. Controlled mechanical ventilation with appropriate tidal volume and respiratory rate is continued to maintain normocapnia.

Dextrose-free fluids like normal saline and Ringers' lactate are usually used for fluid replacement. Blood loss should be meticulously monitored and appropriately replaced. Due to the risk of vascular injury, surgical steps should be closely monitored [18]. The vertebral artery may be injured during foramen magnum decompression and C1 laminectomy; the posterior inferior cerebellar artery may be injured during intradural exploration [25]. Blood loss should be assessed regularly and adequately replaced.

In children, the surface area of the head is comparatively large, so care should be taken to prevent hypothermia. Also, VP shunt procedure requires exposure of a large surface area and may lead to hypothermia. Warming devices such as warm air blankets and hot air mattresses should be used to maintain normal body temperature during surgery. Careful padding should be done to avoid any compression nerve injuries.

15.8.6 Awakening and Extubation

A smooth emergence from anesthesia is essential to avoid coughing or bucking on the endotracheal tube. Extubation should only be performed once the child follows commands or opens eyes and actively moves the extremities. Rapid recovery from the anesthesia allows early assessment of the neurological status. The presence of significant pneumocephalus can cause delayed awakening and can interfere with neurological function. The decision to keep the patient intubated is taken if there is extensive brainstem manipulation or suspected airway edema that interferes with adequate respiration.

15.8.7 Postoperative Management

Monitoring the child in the first 24 hrs postoperative period in the intensive care unit or a high dependency unit is necessary. Supplemental oxygen may be required for a certain period of time. Postoperative tension pneumocephalus is a known complication after surgeries are done in a sitting position. Close monitoring should be done to look for signs of brainstem dysfunction, particularly apnea, which is a rare but serious complication. Stridor may happen in postoperative period. Patients with type II CM may require a tracheostomy when extubation attempts are unsuccessful [12].

Extensive muscle dissection required during posterior fossa surgery leads to increased postoperative pain, neck muscle spasm, and nausea/ vomiting [30]. Occipital nerve blocks may be useful in alleviating this pain [31]. Acetaminophen is usually started intraoperatively and continued in the postoperative period. Titrated doses of opioids may also be needed for adequate analgesia but should be given along with antiemetics to prevent opioid-induced vomiting. Complications of surgery include meningitis, wound infection, stroke, hydrocephalus, or CSF fistula.

15.9 Conclusion

Chiari malformation is a group of congenital anomalies arising because of developmental malformation of hindbrain leading to symptoms of cerebellar or brainstem dysfunction or of CSF flow obstruction leading to the symptoms of increased intracranial pressure. Chiari I malformation is more common and diagnosed in adolescence, whereas Chiari II malformation is the next common and diagnosed in infancy or young children. Chiari III and IV usually do not survive long. Chiari malformation may be associated with several neurospinal malformations like meningomyelocele or tethered cord and associated syndromes. Foramen magnum decompression is the most common procedure to relieve the pressure of cerebellar compression on the brainstem. Anesthesia workup requires a thorough assessment of the airway and the cardiorespiratory system as autonomic dysfunction and breathing difficulties are common. Operating teams must cooperate to give optimal neurosurgical positions (sitting or prone), avoiding excessive neck flexion. Anesthesia should be suitable for neurophysiological monitoring and must be titrated with the intention of early emergence. Postoperative care involves close monitoring of neurological and cardiorespiratory parameters.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Chiari H. Concerning alterations in the cerebellum resulting from cerebral hydrocephalus. 1891. Pediatr Neurosci. 1987;13(1):3–8.
- Schijman E. History, anatomic forms, and pathogenesis of Chiari I malformations. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:323–8.
- Barry A, Patten BM, Stewart BH. Possible factors in the development of the Arnold-Chiari malformation. J Neurosurg. 1957;14(3):285–301.
- Gardner WJ. Hydrodynamic mechanism of syringomyelia: its relationship to myelocele. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1965;28(3):247–59.
- Ul Hassan A, Yaseen S, Rashid M, Afza R, Kaur M, Javid M. Arnold-Chiari malformation: anatomical variations and latest embryological perspective. Review of literature. Neurosurgery. 2016;43(5):2393–915.
- Arnautovic A, Splavski B, Boop FA, Arnautovic KI. Pediatric and adult Chiari malformation type i surgical series 1965-2013: a review of demographics, operative treatment, and outcomes. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;15:161–77.
- Talamonti G, D'Aliberti G, Collice M. Myelomeningocele: long-term neurosurgical treatment and follow-up in 202 patients. J Neurosurg. 2007;107(5 SUPPL):368–86.
- Chern JJ, Gordon AJ, Mortazavi MM, Tubbs RS, Oakes WJ. Pediatric chiari malformation type 0: a 12-year institutional experience. Clin Article J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;8(1):1–5.
- Tubbs RS, Muhleman M, Loukas M, Oakes WJ. A new form of herniation: the Chiari V malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28(2):305–7.
- Batzdorf U, Mcarthur DL, Bentson JR. Surgical treatment of Chiari malformation with and without syringomyelia: experience with 177 adult patients. J Neurosurg. 2013;118:232–42.
- Gosalakkal JA. Sleep-disordered breathing in Chiari malformation type 1. Pediatr Neurol. 2008;39(3):207–8.
- Choi SS, Tran LP, Zalzal GH. Airway abnormalities in patients with Arnold-Chiari malformation. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 1999;121(6):720–4.
- Setz ACW, De Boer HD, Driessen JJ, Scheffer GJ. Anesthetic management in a child with Arnold-Chiari malformation and bilateral vocal cord paralysis. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(12):1105–7.

- Hamid RKA, Newfield P. Pediatric neuroanesthesia: neural tube defects. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2001;19(2):219–28.
- Barkovich AJ, Wippold FJ, Sherman JL, Citrin CM. Significance of cerebellar tonsillar position on MR. Am J Neuroradiol. 1986;7(5):795–9.
- Mikulis DJ, Diaz O, Egglin TK, Sanchez R. Variance of the position of the cerebellar tonsils with age: preliminary report. Radiology. 1992;183(3):725–8.
- Cuckle H. Prenatal screening using maternal markers. J Clin Med. 2014;3(2):504–20.
- Giammattei L, Borsotti F, Parker F, Messerer M. Chiari I malformation: surgical technique, indications and limits. Acta Neurochir. 2018;160(1):213–7.
- Rocque BG, Oakes WJ. Surgical treatment of Chiari I Malformation. Vol. 26.Neurosurgery Clinics of North America. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2015. p. 527–31.
- Beecher JS, Liu Y, Qi X, Bolognese PA. Minimally invasive subpial tonsillectomy for Chiari I decompression. Acta Neurochir. 2016;158(9):1807–11.
- Ratre S, Yadav N, Yadav YR, Parihar VS, Bajaj J, Kher Y. Endoscopic Management of Arnold-Chiari Malformation Type i with or without Syringomyelia. J Neurol Surg , Part A Cent Eur Neurosurg. 2018;79(1):45–51.
- Messing-Jünger M, Röhrig A. Primary and secondary management of the Chiari II malformation in children with myelomeningocele. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:1553–62.
- Caldarelli M, Di Rocco C, Colosimo C, Fariello G, Di Gennaro M. Surgical treatment of late neurological deterioration in children with myelodysplasia. Acta Neurochir. 1995;137(3–4):199–206.
- Hidalgo JA, Tork CA, Varacallo M. Arnold Chiari malformation. StatPearls: StatPearls Publishing; 2020.
- McClugage SG, Oakes WJ. The Chiari I malformation. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;24(3):217–26.
- Konz KR, Chia JK, Kurup VP, Resnick A, Kelly KJ, Fink JN. Comparison of latex hypersensitivity among patients with neurologic defects. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95(5):950–4.
- Sala F, Kržan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Child Nerv Syst. 2002;18:264–87.
- Barzilai O, Roth J, Korn A, Constantini S. The value of multimodality intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in treating pediatric Chiari malformation type I. Acta Neurochir. 2016;158(2):335–40.
- Arora N, Juneja R, Meher R, Bhargava EK. Bilateral vocal cord palsy with Arnold Chiari malformation: a rare case series. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10(9):MR01–3.
- Jagannathan S, Krovvidi H. Anaesthetic considerations for posterior fossa surgery. Contin Educ Anaesthesia Crit Care Pain. 2014;14(5):202–6.
- Tonković D, Pavlović DB, Baronica R, Virag I, Bublić MM, Kovač N, et al. Regional anesthesia for neurosurgery. Acta Clin Croat. 2019;58(Suppl 1):48–52.



16

Anesthesia for Craniovertebral Junction Anomalies in Pediatric Patients

Rudrashish Haldar, Arun Kumar Srivastava, Priyadarshi Dikshit, and Kiran Jangra

Key Points

- The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) represents a specialized osseo-ligamentous coupling between the cranium and the cervical vertebral column enclosing the cervico-medullary junction and bears intricate relationships between bony structures, blood vessels, and the neural elements.
- Abnormalities of the CVJ can result from bony or soft tissue pathologies which may be developmental, genetic, or acquired.
- Clinical presentation may vary, including localized pain, radiculopathy, sensory loss, vertigo, lower cranial nerve palsies, quadriparesis/quadriplegia, and respiratory distress depending upon the level and grade of neural compression and the neurological substrates involved.

K. Jangra

- Surgical correction is the mainstay of treatment in most CVJ pathologies, with conservative management having a limited role.
- Anesthetic management involves specialized attention due to the unique pathology of the disease in addition to the usual concerns of pediatric patients; airway maintenance, meticulous assessment of blood loss, positioning, and careful extubation are the usual accompaniments of this procedure.

16.1 Introduction

The craniovertebral junction (CVJ) or craniocervical junction is a specialized articulation, coupling the cranium and the relatively mobile cervical vertebral column that is uniquely designed to provide mobility in addition to stability. It comprises of the basi-occiput, occipital condyles, atlas, and axis vertebrae. The CVJ has two major joints: the atlanto-occipital (stable) and the atlanto-axial (mobile) joints. Both joints provide mobility in different axes such that the atlanto-axial joint is comparatively less stable with greater degrees of mobility [1]. The CVJ encloses the cervico-medullary junction (CMJ), and there exists an intricate relationship between the bony, neural, and major vascular elements in this region.

R. Haldar (🖂)

Department of Anaesthesiology, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute of Medical Sciences (SGPGIMS), Lucknow, India

A. K. Srivastava · P. Dikshit Department of Neurosurgery, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute of Medical Sciences (SGPGIMS), Lucknow, India

Division of Neuroanaesthesia, Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

The incidence of CVJ anomalies is higher in the Indian subcontinent as compared to the rest of the world. Various permutations and combinations of bony and soft tissue anomalies exist, and these defects are rarely found in isolation. However, the most commonly encountered anomalies in isolation are mobile atlanto axial dislocaions (AAD) followed by the nonreducible AAD along with occipitalization of the atlas (C1) and various grades of basilar invagination (BI) [2]. The Chiari malformation is also commonly associated with different complex CVJ anomalies [3, 4]. The maximum numbers of cases are in India and are reported from states like Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, Rajasthan and parts of Gujarat, with the causes of such geographical clustering remaining speculative. The CVJ anomalies can be exclusive or may present with various combinations such as AAD with BI, AAD with Chiari malformation, BI with Chiari malformation, etc.

16.2 Anatomy of the Craniovertebral Junction (CVJ)

16.2.1 Embryological Basis of CVJ Anomalies

Embryological development of this region begins in the early weeks of intrauterine life when mesodermal cells condense to form notochordal process. This process invaginates between endoderm and ectoderm to form notochord: the ectoderm fuses to form neural tube. From the mesoderm on either side of the notochord, somites are formed, and the ventromedial portion of the somites (sclerotome) forms the vertebral bodies. The first four sclerotomes form the occipital bone. Out of these, the first two form the basi-occiput, the third forms the jugular tubercles, and the fourth (pro-atlas) forms parts of the foramen magnum, atlas, and axis [4, 5]. Anomalies may result out of fault in the development of the occipital sclerotomes and adjacent cervical sclerotomes during the early embryonic weeks. A few of them are depicted in Table 16.1.

 Table 16.1 Anomalies resulting from developmental defects in occipital and cervical sclerotomes

| Platybasia | Dysplasia of the occipital segments causing flattening of the clivus |
|--------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Basilar | Underdevelopment of basi-occiput, |
| invagination | occipital condyles, and rim of foramen |
| | magnum causing the invagination of |
| | the odontoid and arch of atlas |
| Occipital | Proatlas may develop into separate |
| vertebra | vertebrae |
| Anterior | Hypochondral bow of proatlas may |
| cervico- | persist and gain attachment to the |
| medullary | atlas, clivus, or the apical segment of |
| compression | the dens |
| Bipartite | Failure of fusion of proatlas with the |
| articular | atlas: Horizontal instability of the |
| facets | atlanto-occipital joint |
| Bicornuate | Dens body failing to fuse in utero |
| dens | resulting in a radiological V-shaped |
| | cleft |
| Klippel-Feil | Failure of segmentation of axis and |
| syndrome | the third vertebrae: Associated with |
| | Klippel-Feil syndrome |

16.2.2 Osseo-ligamentous Anatomy

The CVJ consists of occiput, the foramen magnum, the first two cervical vertebra, and the supporting ligaments encompassing the medulla oblongata and the upper cervical spinal cord. The upper surfaces of the lateral masses of the first cervical vertebrae are concave into which fit the occipital condyles in ball and socket configuration. There are three atlanto-axial joints, one each on either side between the lateral mass of atlas and upper articular surface of axis, and a median articulation between posterior surface of the anterior arch of atlas and the anterior surface of the odontoid process. The transverse atlantal ligament and the alar ligaments are the principal ligaments in the structural integrity of the atlantoaxial articulation. Other ligaments in order of decreasing importance include the capsular ligaments at each joint, the membrana tectoria, the apical ligament of the dens, and the anterior and posterior atlanto-occipital membranes. The atlanto-occipital and atlanto-axial joints are all synovial joints. The median joint between the atlas and the axis is of pivot type, while the two lateral atlanto-axial joints are of plane joint variety.

16.2.3 Neurovascular Structures of the CVJ

The neural contents of the CVJ include the caudal portion of the brainstem (medulla), CMJ, rostral spinal cord, obex of the fourth ventricle, lower cranial (IX, X, XI) nerves, and upper cervical nerves (C1, C2 nerve roots). In small posterior fossae, the cerebellar tonsils and biventral lobules of the cerebellum herniate downward and occupy the region of foramen magnum and the CVJ. The biventral lobules are located above the lateral part of the foramen magnum, while the tonsils overlie the posterior edge. Major arteries traversing the CVJ include bilateral vertebral arteries (VAs), posterior inferior cerebellar arteries (PICAs), and meningeal branches of the VA. Bilateral internal carotid arteries also remain anterior to and within 1-2 cms of the anterior end of the atlanto-occipital articulation. Major veins in relation to CVJ are the peri-vertebral venous plexus, extradural veins (extraspinal and intraspinal part), intradural (neural) veins, and dural venous sinuses (basilar venous plexus, circular sinus, and the occipital sinus). These veins anastomose through bridging and emissary veins.

16.3 Classification of CVJ Anomalies

Several classification systems of the CVJ anomalies have been proposed. A classification by Menezes categorizes the CVJ anomalies into "congenital" and "developmental (acquired)." [6] Another classification by Pang et al. is based on embryogenesis and includes "malformation of central pillar" and "malformation of surrounding rings." The central pillar malformations may result in instability and neural compression, as observed in BI and a retroflexed odontoid process [4]. However, for the ease of understanding, these abnormalities can be classified as per **anatomical anomaly**, bony or soft tissue related (Table 16.2). Soft tissue anomalies are also known as Chiari malformations, which are discussed in detail elsewhere [3].

Etiological classification is broadly based on congenital and acquired causes (Table 16.3).

Table 16.2 Anatomical classification of craniovertebral junction (CVJ) anomalies

| A. Bony cranioverte | ebral junction (CVJ) anomalies |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Major anomalies | Minor anomalies |
| • Platybasia | Dysplasia of atlas |
| Occipitalization | Dysplasia of occipital |
| • Basilar | condyles, clivus, etc. |
| invagination | |
| Dens dysplasia | |
| Atlantoaxial | |
| dislocation | |
| B Soft tissue or car | vice medullary junction (CMI) |

| B. SOJI IISSI | ie or cervico-meauliary jui | nction (CMJ) |
|---------------|-----------------------------|--------------|
| anomalies: | Chiari malformations | |

| Types | Features |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------|
| Chiari I | Cerebellar tonsillar descent into |
| malformation | the foramen magnum, with |
| | peg-shaped tonsils, usually with associated syringomyelia |
| Chiari II malformation | Downward descent of the |
| manormation | and a vermis: often with testal |
| | beaking in addition to |
| | svringomvelia/svringobulbia |
| | Commonly associated with |
| | lumbar meningomyelocele |
| Chiari III | Similar to Chiari II |
| malformation | malformation, but associated |
| | with high cervical |
| | meningomyelocele, often |
| | incompatible with life |
| Chiari IV | Severe cerebellar hypoplasia, |
| malformation | with no downward descent of |
| | cerebellar tonsil |
| | |

Table 16.3 Etiological classification of craniovertebral junction (CVJ) anomalies

| | Acquired |
|-------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| | (common in |
| Congenital (common in children) | adults) |
| Basilar invagination | Injuries |
| Atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD) | Infections |
| Odontoid dysplasia | (tuberculosis) |
| Os odontoideum | Rheumatoid |
| Atlas assimilation | arthritis |
| Congenital malformations or | Metastatic |
| syndromes (Marfan's, Down's, | diseases |
| Klippel-Feil, and Morquio's | |
| syndrome, achondroplasia, | |
| osteogenesis imperfecta) | |

Congenital anomalies are usually due to bony anomalies and are associated with anomalies of neural tissue, meninges, vascular anatomy, or any combination [7].

16.4 Syndromic Associations with CVJ Anomalies

Certain clinical syndromes have CVJ anomalies as the associated feature; the common syndromes with associated CVJ anomalies are listed in Table 16.4.

16.5 Pathophysiology of CVJ Anomalies

The pathophysiology of these disorders usually involves pressure over the neuraxis and alterations in the blood supply and CSF flow. In BI, the odontoid prolapses into the limited space of the

 Table 16.4
 Syndromic associations of craniovertebral junction (CVJ) anomalies

| Syndrome | Clinical features | CVJ anomaly |
|----------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Marfan's syndrome | Genetic disorder affecting the connective tissues Mutation in a gene (FBN1) on chromosome 15 Patients are tall and thin, with long arms, legs, fingers, and toes, arachnodactyly Aortic root dilatation/dissection, mitral valve prolapse Overly flexible joints, scoliosis, sternal deformities Lens dislocation, myopia | Atlantoaxial dislocation Features of dysfunction of the brainstem, cerebellum, spinal cord, and cranial nerves |
| (trisomy 21) | Down's factes: Flattened face, small head, short neck, protruding tongue, upward slanting palpebral fissures, unusually shaped or small ears Intellectual and developmental problems Congenital heart defects Poor muscle tone Excessive flexibility Short stature | • Anantoaxia instability (AAI) occurs in 14–24% of patients |
| Klippel-Feil syndrome | Abnormal fusion of at least two vertebrae in the neck Short neck Low hairline Restricted movement of the upper spine | C1-C2 hypermobility and instability Basilar invagination Chiari I malformation Diastematomyelia, Syringomyelia. |
| Morquio's syndrome (mucopolysaccharidosis type IV) | Large head, coarse facial features (prominent scalp veins, flat-bridged nose, and bulging forehead), widely spaced teeth Hepatosplenomegaly Short stature Heart and vision problems Hypermobile joints, scoliosis or kyphosis, bell-shaped chest with ribs flared out at the bottom, knock knees | Atlanto-axial subluxatio Odontoid hypoplasia, peri-odontoid soft tissue masse Spinal canal narrowing and spinal cord compression Communicating hydrocephalus |
| Achondroplasia | Fibroblast growth factor receptor-3 gene mutation Short limbed dwarfism Limited range of motion at the elbows Large head size Small fingers Normal intelligence | Underdeveloped skull base, facial bones Salient morphometric feature of foramen magnum stenosis causing CVJ compression On the sagittal view of imaging: "Teardrop configuration" |
| Osteogenesis imperfecta | Collagen-encoding gene defects Reduction in either the quality or the quantity of type I collagen | Platybasia, basilar impression, and basilar invagination Compression of the brainstem Aqueductal stenosis Hydrocephalus Spinal cord edema and syrinx |

foramen magnum and causes ventral compression at the CMJ. This has often been associated with a hypoplastic clivus, which is deviated upward, giving an impression of the cephalad migration of cervical spine into the posterior skull base [4]. Often there is associated foramen magnum stenosis, further accentuating neural compression. BI is a primary developmental (congenital) anomaly; it is seen in association with Klippel-Feil syndrome, Down's syndrome, etc. Secondary (acquired) BI due to softening of bones at the skull base is termed as "basilar impression"; it is seen in association with osteomalacia, Paget's disease, hyperparathyroidism, osteogenesis imperfecta, Hurler's syndrome, and rickets. The basilar impression may be associated with rheumatoid arthiritis, which is also known as "cranial settling." In platybasia (flattening of the skull base), there is a reduced volume of the posterior cranial fossa and resultant Chiari malformation (cerebellar herniation), syringomyelia with or without syringobulbia formation. The CVJ anomalies are often accompanied by anomalous fusion of the cervical vertebrae (e.g., Klippel-Feil syndrome) [8]. An increasingly recognized group is the complex Chiari malformation, which includes herniation of brainstem through the foramen magnum, kinking of medulla, retroflexion of odontoid, occipitalization of the atlas, BI, and syringomyelia. These patients require more aggressive bony decompression and fixation, unlike patients with pure Chiari malformation who can usually be managed with foramen magnum decompression alone [9].

16.6 Clinical Features of CVJ Anomalies

The clinical presentations due to the anatomical disorders include the following:

 Neck Pain: It may occur due to muscular contracture, bony instabilities, or compression of C2 root and greater occipital nerve. There may be associated torticollis. The primary event appears to be the cord compression due to the posterior displacement of the odontoid process. The physical manifestations and bony deformities, including the short neck and torticollis, may be the secondary protective responses to reduce the over-stretching of the spinal cord. A significant CVJ instability may incite neck pain, restricted neck movements, and cervical hyperlordosis [3]. History of pain in the neck or occiput with neurological symptoms suggests lower brainstem, upper cervical, or cerebellar involvement that should prompt investigations with neuroimaging.

- Weakness: Limb weakness, spastic paresis, hyporeflexia, and impaired vibration, pain, and temperature sensations may be present due to compression of the spinal cord. Pyramidal symptoms are predominantly affected, while spinothalamic dysfunctions are less frequent [3]. The different characteristic (cruciform, Elsberg phenomenon, U-shaped, and reverse U-shaped) patterns of weakness are explained based on the site of compression of the decussating pyramidal tract.
- **Respiratory Dysfunction:** Respiratory system is involved due to two major causes. One is the involvement due to weakness of muscles of respiration, and another one is central compression by odontoid. The weakness and dysfunction of respiratory muscles, including the diaphragm, results in poor coughing ability, decreased vital capacity, and increased atelectasis. This predisposes the patient to pneumonitis and type II respiratory failure. Compression of the brainstem and respiratory center disturbs the autonomic control, such as ninth and tenth cranial nerve dysfunction leading to decreased functional chemoreceptor afferents due to carotid body denervation insensitivity of peripheral chemoreceptor [10, 11]. These patients present with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) with symptoms of daytime somnolence, respiratory symptoms, focal brainstem signs, or myelopathy. Additionally, syringomyelia, which extends into the lower brainstem (syringobulbia), is a common finding with complex Chiari malformations, which further compromises the lower cranial nerves and respiration, necessitating prolonged postoperative ventilatory support.

 Vertigo, intermittent syncope, and visual disturbances may occur due to disturbance in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) flow dynamics and altered blood supply of the spinal cord [12]. There may be sphincter disturbances, the incidence of which is more in irreducible abnormalities [7].

16.7 Diagnosis of CVJ Anomaly

Diagnosis is usually made based on clinical history, symptoms, and neurological examinations. There may be difficulty in establishing the diagnosis in a pediatric patient as the manifestations are usually subtle and can easily be missed [13–15]. Moreover, the radiological pictures may be confusing due to the incomplete ossification of bones until 9 years [16].

16.7.1 Imaging Studies

The imaging modalities include plain X-rays (lateral, anteroposterior, or oblique views), computed tomographic (CT) scan, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and CT or MR angiography. Diagnosis of CVJ anomalies requires understanding and analysis of certain radiological lines whose variations signify abnormalities. These radiological lines were initially described on standard radiographs, and later CT scans were used (Table 16.5, Figs. 16.1, 16.2, and 16.3) [17]. The study of these imaginary lines is known as "craniometry," where the different lines, planes, and angles are studied in relation to each other concerning their different components [18]. There exist limitations for these measurements individually, and no single measurement is independently helpful. This is attributed to the variations in anatomical structures and planes [18]. Although dynamic X-rays may be useful in making the diagnosis, a three-dimensional (3D) CT scan is preferred as it allows better anatomic orientation, and MRI helps further ascertain the extent of neuronal compression. Atlanto-dental **interval (ADI)** represents the distance between the posterior surface of anterior arch of atlas and the anterior surface of the odontoid process at that level. Increased ADI more than 3 mm in adults or more than 5 mm in children suggests AAD (Fig. 16.2d).

If MRI and CT scan are unavailable, dynamic X-rays, lateral view, AP view, or oblique view may help make the diagnosis. Dynamic X-ray of the cervical spine is taken in full flexion and full extension to the extent tolerated by the patient without aggravating the symptoms (Fig. 16.4). Advanced modalities like CT or MR angiography may also help anatomic variations in the course of VAs to prevent intraoperative injuries. Assessment CT or MR angiograms superimposed on 3D reconstruction helps evaluate the dominance of VAs (Fig. 16.5) [19–21]. It helps the neurosurgeons understand the exact relationship of the VAs to the osseous CVJ structure dynamics with possibility of changes in location of the artery during the neck movements [22].

16.7.2 Acquired CVJ Pathologies

CVJ tuberculosis is indicated by the presence of prevertebral collection, odontoid erosion, and granulation tissues. Extensive ligamentous infiltration and hyperemic decalcification are also seen. Radiologically, in tuberculosis, three distinct stages are observed: Stage I includes retropharyngeal abscess and ligamentous laxity, while the bony architecture of C1-C2 is preserved. In stage II, there is the disruption of ligaments along with AAD, minimal bony destruction, and retropharyngeal mass. Stage III presents with marked bony destruction, complete obliteration of anterior arch of C1 and loss of odontoid process, significant AAD, and OA instability.

A specialized entity called **Grisel syndrome** involves subluxation of the atlanto-axial joint due to inflammatory ligamentous laxity following infections in the region of the head and neck (e.g., pharyngeal infection) [23].

| Description | Clinical presentation |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Lateral projection | |
| Foramen magnum line, McRae line (1, Fig. 16.1a) Line joining the basion and opisthion | Odontoid process should not cross this line In BI: Dens lies above this line Normal foramen magnum: 40 mm Stenosis: <20 mm Chiari malformation: >50 mm |
| Palato-occipital line: Chamberlain's line (2, Fig. 16.1a) Joins the posterior tip of the hard palate with the opisthion (posterior margin of the foramen magnum) | • The tip of the odontoid process should not be >5 mm above this line (range 0–5 mm) |
| Palato-suboccipital line: McGregor line (3, Fig. 16.1a) Modification of Chamberlain's line which extends between the posterior pole of the hard palate and the lowest point of the occipital basi-squamous surface Used when the opisthion could not be identified | • The tip of odontoid process should be no higher than 7 mm above this line (range 1–7 mm). |
| Wackenheim's clival canal line Line along the surface of clivus (1, Fig. 16.1b) and its extrapolation inferiorly into the upper cervical spinal canal | Line should fall tangent to the posterior aspect of the tip of the odontoid process In BL Intersecting the odontoid process |
| Craniovertebral or clivus-canal angle (2, Fig. 16.1b) formed at the intersection of Wackenheim's line with a line constructed along the posterior surface of the axis body and odontoid process | Normally ranges: 150° in flexion to 180° in extension At less than 150°: Ventral spinal cord compression may occur |
| • Basal angle, also known as Welcher's angle (Fig. 16.2c) formed at the intersection of the nasion with tuberculum sellae line (1) and the tuberculum-sellae with basion line (2) | • Average value: 132° • Platybasia: >140° |
| Klaus index: (5, Fig. 16.1c) Vertical line joining the Twining's line (3, from tuberculum sellae to the internal occipital protuberance) and McRae's line (4) | Normal height: 40–41 mm Small posterior fossa (platybasia/BI): Less than 30 mm |
| • Boogard's angle (Fig. 16.1d) is measured by drawing a line along the plane of the clivus (1) and another line from basion to opisthion intersecting the first line | Normal angle: 126° +/- 6° Platybasia: >136° |
| Bull's angle (Atlanto-palatal angle, Fig. 16.2a) Measured by the angle between the palatal line (1) and the line along the plane of atlas (2) | Normal: Less than 10° Presence of BI: >13° |
| • Ranawat's line (Fig. 16.2b) is the perpendicular distance between the center of the sclerotic ring of C2 and the line drawn along the axis of C1 | • Normal value: 15–17 mm • Presence of BI: <15 mm |
| Clark's stations (Fig. 16.2c) represent the zones made by vertically dividing the odontoid process into three equal parts They are named zones I, II, and III cranio-caudally | Normally the anterior arch of atlas should be in the zone I If anterior arch in the zones II or III, it is suggestive of BI |
| • Atlanto-dental Interval (Fig. 16.2d): From posterior surface to C1 arch to anterior surface to dens at the same level | Normal <5 mm in children and < 3 mm in adults Atlanto-axial dislocation: >5 mm and > 3 mm |
| Frontal projection | , |
| • Condylar angle/atlanto-occipital joint axis angle (Fig. 16.3a) | Average angle is 125^o (124–127^o) Becomes more obtuse in occipital condyle hypoplasia |
| Bi-digastric line (Fischgold & Metzer, 1, Fig. 16.3b) Line drawn between right and left digastric grooves | Also known as biventer line This line is situated 10 mm above the bi-mastoid line Odontoid tip normally should not project above this line |
| Bi-mastoid line (Fischgold & Metzer, 2, Fig. 16.3b) Line connecting the tip of two mastoid processes | The tip of the odontoid process of C2 normally projects less than or equal to 10 mm above this line In BI, this distance decreases |

Table 16.5 Craniometry (radiological lines, angles, and distances to diagnose) of basilar invasion (BI)



Fig. 16.1 Computed tomography scan of the head and neck in sagittal view. (a) *McRae's* line represents a line joining the basion and opisthion (1). *Chamberlain's line* (palate-occipital line) joins the posterior tip of the hard palate with the opisthion (2). *McGregor's* line (palato-suboccipital line) extends between the posterior pole of the hard palate and the lowest point of the occipital basisquamous surface (3). (b) *Wackenheim's clivus line (1)* represents a line along the surface of clivus and its extrapolation inferiorly into the upper cervical spinal canal. *Clivus-canal angle (2):* formed at the intersection of

16.8 Management of CVJ Anomalies

Management of these anomalies is mainly surgical; a conservative approach is rarely offered to the congenital subset compared to post-traumatic patients. Intermittent cervical traction has been identified to be symptom-relieving therapy for years [24, 25]. As reducibility is an important consideration in surgical management of these patients, preoperative traction is a valuable tool to assess the degree of reducibility and neurological status. Hard cervical collars and halo brace can be applied for a duration of 8–12 weeks. Gardner-Wells tong traction is also applied in

Wackenheim's line with a line constructed along the posterior surface of the axis body and odontoid process. (c) *Welcher's basal angle* is formed at the intersection of the nasion to tuberculum sellae (1) line and the tuberculum sellae to basion (2) line. *Twining's line* represents a line joining the tuberculum sellae to the internal occipital protuberance (3). The vertical distance of Twinning's line and McRae's line represents Klaus index (4). (d) *Boogard's angle* represents the angle between the line along the plane of clivus to the basion (1) and basion to opisthion line (2), intersecting the former

selected patients under local anesthesia to reduce the AAD prior to definitive surgery [26]. A weight of 2.5 kg is used for traction at head and CVJ; thereafter, 0.5 kg is added for each cervical vertebra. However, it is not used in children less than 3 years of age.

In pediatric patients, the management of this anatomical complexity offers specialized surgical challenges. These difficulties are due to the separation and re-segmentation of the spinal column at the CVJ as part of the development process. It requires an understanding of the age-dependent ossification process of the cartilaginous part of C1 and C2. To make a surgical plan, the stability of the CVJ must be assessed



Fig. 16.2 Computed tomography scan of the head and neck in sagittal view. (a) *Bull's angle* (atlanto-palatal angle) is measured by the angle between the palatal line (1) and the line along the plane of atlas (2). (b) *Ranawat's line* is the perpendicular distance between the center of the sclerotic ring of C2 and the line drawn along the axis of C1. (c) Clark's stations represent the zones made by

vertically dividing the odontoid process into one-thirds. They are named zones I, II, and III cranio-caudally. (d) Atlanto-dental interval (ADI) represents the distance between the posterior surface of the anterior arch of the atlas and the anterior surface of the odontoid process at that level



Fig. 16.3 Computed tomography scan of the head and neck in coronal view. (a) Atlanto-occipital joint axis angle is formed by a line drawn parallel to the atlanto-occipital joint. (b) Bi-digastric line: line drawn between right and

left digastric grooves (1). Bi-mastoid line: line drawn between the inferior tips of the mastoid processes bilaterally (2)



Fig. 16.4 Dynamic X-ray of the neck: (a) in full flexion position. Dens moving posteriorly increases the atlanto-dental interval (ADI) (marked by black line) and causes narrowing of spinal space. White arrow shows the mea-

surement of the distance using the scale (ADI > 1 cm). (b) In full extension: showing reduction in the ADI to <1 mm, indicating mobile AAD with reducibility on extension



Fig. 16.5 Three-dimensional reconstruction of computed tomography angiography showing abnormal vertebral artery loop (white arrow)

using a dynamic X-ray [1]. The atlanto-axial joint is called mobile when it reduces during extension and aggravates during flexion (Fig. 16.4). AAD is called reducible when BI is

corrected on traction application and irreducible if it does not. In reducible AAD, posterior fixation is practiced, while in fixed AAD, anterior transoral decompression (transoral odontoidectomy, TOO) and posterior fixation are planned.

16.9 Surgical Procedures

The surgical intervention aims to alleviate neural compression and correct the instability if any. The surgical procedures can be divided into three categories: (a) decompression, (b) fusion, and (c) a combination of both [5], a simplistic algorithm of which is shown in Fig. 16.6. The commonly undertaken anterior decompression procedures could be a transoral (microscopic- or endoscopic-assisted) decompression, endoscopic trans-nasal odontoidectomy, or transcervical approach (open or endoscopic). Similarly, the posterior fusion is commonly achieved with C1-C2 fusion (Goel and Harm's approach) [27], C1-C2 trans-articular screw placement (Magerl's technique) [28], occipito-cervical fusion [29, 30], or distraction, compression, extension, and reduction (DCER) and universal distraction technique (Fig. 16.7) [31, 32].

 Anterior decompression consists of removing the C1 body, the odontoid process, and

part of the C2 vertebra body to remove the ventral compression on the CMJ due to BI or the irreducible odontoid displacement. A midline approach through the posterior pharyngeal wall is employed. Using a high-speed drill, the anterior arch of the atlas and the odontoid process are drilled. Depending upon the situation, sometimes, the lower portion of the clivus and part of the C2 body is also removed. The alar, apical, cruciform, and tectorial membranes are also excised to decompress the dura mater. After achieving hemostasis, the posterior pharyngeal wall is closed in layers with interrupted sutures. This procedure produces gross instability in CVJ; hence, posterior fixation must be done to stabilize it.

Posterior Fixation involves fusing the occipito-cervical joint. The fusion is achieved using several types of instrumentation based on articular mass morphology, C1-C2 joint orientation, course of VA, and procedural preference of the neurosurgeon. The age-old contoured steel rods and sublaminar wires are replaced with either titanium rods and wire or lateral mass screws and plates (Goel and



Fig. 16.6 Flowchart depicting the principle of surgical procedure

Harm's technique) [27]. Several new techniques have been introduced by different authors, such as DCER technique having the universal goal of alleviating compression from the neuraxis and achieving robust fusion at CVJ [33, 34].

Both of these procedures, i.e., anterior decompression followed by the posterior fusion, can be done in the same sitting or in isolation with either of the approaches undertaken first followed by the second or vice versa [10].

16.10 Anesthetic Management

The anesthetic goals of the management of CVJ anomalies involve the adherence to the general anesthetic management principles for children and certain pertinent concerns specific to the underlying pathology.

16.10.1 Preoperative Evaluation and Optimization

A thorough preoperative evaluation is a must to assess associated other anomalies and the effect of CVJ anomaly on the patient's physiology. As the respiratory system is most affected, optimization should be initiated preoperatively. The respiratory insufficiency is assessed by pulmonary function tests (PFTs), laboratory or bedside. Predominantly, a restrictive pattern is seen; however, an obstructive pattern may be observed in some children [10, 33-36]. The pediatric patients may not be able to perform the PFTs, especially when traction is applied. In those children, bedside PFTs, such as respiratory rate, breathing pattern (abdominothoracic, predominantly abdominal, or paradoxical), breath-holding time, chest expansion, and single-breath count, may be the useful tools for assessment of the respiratory reserve. In children with respiratory insufficiency, preoperative chest physiotherapy and incentive spirometry are initiated to get acclimatized for the postoperative period. In patients with weak or absent gag and cough



Fig. 16.7 Various surgical procedures for the craniovertebral junction. C1, first cervical vertebra; C2, second cervical vertebra; DCER, distraction, compression, extension, and reduction; JRM, joint remodeling

reflexes, elective tracheostomy may protect the airway. For children who show the signs of OSA, polysomnography is required for confirmation [37]. As various syndromes are associated with CVJ anomalies, the advanced cardiac assessment may be indicated if there is any finding on auscultation or electrocardiography [38]. Preoperative somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs) from the extremities and neurodevelopmental assessment of muscle function along with proper documentation of prior limb weaknesses and neurologic deficits are necessary to assess postoperative improvement [5]. Evaluation of the airway should be done meticulously. Restriction of neck extension and presence of rigid collar complicate conventional method of airway control and, hence, call for a planned modified or alternate approach. Concurrent medications like baclofen (centrally acting muscle relaxant) are often administered in these children, which might have anesthetic drug interactions such as increased sensitivity to muscle relaxants [39, 40]. The potential complications should be explained, and appropriate consent should be taken from the parents [41]. Sedative premedication should, thus, be avoided or cautiously administered.

16.10.2 Monitoring

Basic monitoring involves electrocardiography (ECG), noninvasive blood pressure (NIBP), pulse oximetry, temperature, and end-tidal carbon dioxide; bladder catheterization aids in urine output monitoring. Beat-to-beat monitoring arterial blood pressure monitoring is usually indicated as surgery is conducted in the brainstem vicinity may elicit abrupt hemodynamic fluctuations [26]. Additionally, neurophysiological monitoring like motor evoked potential (MEP) or SSEPs allows prompt identification of changes at a reversible stage, thereby permitting immediate correction of the cause and avoidance of permanent neurologic deficits [38].

16.10.3 Induction of Anesthesia and Endotracheal Intubation

Control of the airway in these patients is fraught with the risks of increasing the neurologic compromise due to the movement of the unstable CVJ. Simultaneously, anomalous CVJ is a potentially difficult airway due to bony defects or the presence of inline traction and hard collar. Decreased oxygen reserve in pediatric patients makes them prone to rapid desaturation once spontaneous ventilation is abolished. Anesthesia can be induced using either intravenous (IV) or inhalational techniques, as the situation demands. Due to the varying degrees of preexisting paresis, succinylcholine is avoided though some authors advocate its usage [41]. Various maneuvers may be required to facilitate ventilation after anesthesia induction, such as jaw thrust, airway (oral or nasopharyngeal), and supraglottic device. Airway control should be done in a manner that causes the least movement of the neck. Awake fiberoptic intubation (FOB) is preferred as it causes minimal movement at the cervical region, and neurological status can be assessed simultaneously. However, the feasibility of the procedure in a conscious uncooperative child is questionable; in a cooperative child, titrated sedation and anesthesia of the airway may help secure the airway. In pediatric patients, various techniques can be used to secure the airway, including FOB under anesthesia (with or without paralysis), videolaryngoscope, and intubating laryngeal mask airway [38]. Manual inline stabilization (MILS) should be maintained during intubation attempts. A reinforced flexometallic tube may be used, which prevents kinking of the lumen during both the transoral and posterior fixation [36]. However, the probability of postoperative ventilation is high in children undergoing a combined approach where PVC tracheal tube could be a better choice and, hence, practiced frequently [26]. Usually, oral intubation is undertaken; however, sometimes, the nasal approach is chosen [42]. The laterality of fixing the endotracheal tube should be decided in consultation with the operating neurosurgeon, most commonly at the left angle of mouth. Peri-laryngeal packing may be done during transoral surgeries to prevent aspiration or ingestion of blood; however, it should be removed methodically at the conclusion of the surgery. During positioning of the child from supine to prone and vice versa, the head should be held carefully, and twisting or turning is avoided as much as possible. The head movements with respect to the rest of the body may cause excessive neurological compression leading to neurologic deficits, severe bradycardia, or even asystole. Hence, it is recommended to keep at least one vital monitor connected while turning the patient under anesthesia, such as ECG, pulse oximeter, or arterial BP. The head should be elevated to decrease bleeding, the eyes should be pressure-free, and the pressure points should be well-padded. Excessive abdominal compression impedes venous return and may contribute to bleeding from the operative site due to engorgement of the venous epidural plexus [43]. Extreme degrees of neck flexion may cause endobronchial intubation and intraoral kinking of the endotracheal tube (ETT) or brainstem compression in patients having Chiari malformation [38].

16.10.4 Maintenance of Anesthesia

Anesthesia can be maintained either with volatile agents or IV agents. In addition, oxygen, either air or nitrous oxide, can be used. Ventilatory strategies should ensure normocarbia; both hypoand hypercarbia are avoided. Intermittent boluses of nondepolarizing muscle relaxants and additional doses of opioids can be administered based on clinical requirements and responses. Crystalloid solutions, preferably balanced salt solutions, are infused to replenish the fasting period, hourly maintenance, and blood losses.

16.10.5 Intraoperative Complications

Significant blood losses may be encountered during dissection due to bleeding from the epidural vertebral venous plexuses during posterior fusion or anterior decompression in Transoral Odontoidectomy [43]. Depending upon the clinical needs and allowable blood loss, blood transfusion may be required. Vascular injuries (e.g., vertebral artery injury) should be anticipated with catastrophic consequences, and accordingly, resuscitative measures should be prepared beforehand if such an eventuality occurs [43]. Vascular injuries are usually observed during the dissection of the C2 ganglion, drilling during transoral odontoidectomy, or during the insertion of the screw in the axis [44]. The control of bleeding due to the bone hole is achieved with the use of bone wax. If vessels overlie the screw insertion site, an alternative site or method should be considered to fix the atlantoaxial joint [45]. Some authors advocate placing the construct screws on the side of the nondominant vertebral artery first [21].

During surgery via a transcervical approach, stimulation of the ansa cervicalis and sympathetic plexus can give rise to hemodynamic disturbances. Here, cessation of the stimulus and deepening the level of anesthesia can mitigate the disturbances. Abrupt hemodynamic changes like bradycardia or asystole are frequently observed when instrumentation is being done due to excessive pressures at the CVJ. During such events, the neurosurgeon should be notified for the prompt removal of the surgical stimulus. Anticholinergics should be avoided as these events are transient and may mask the surgical damage to vital areas of brain stem; the events resolve soon after the removal of the stimulus.

Pediatric patients being extremely vulnerable to hypothermia require vigilant temperature monitoring, covering of exposed parts, use of warming devices, warm IV fluids, and scrubbing and irrigating solutions. Hypotension should be avoided in these patients, as even temporary hypotension may lead to cord ischemia resulting in worsening of neurological outcome [44]. Autonomic dysfunction may be encountered that manifests as hypotension or bradycardia, which requires correction using volume expanders and shorter-acting vasopressors [36].

16.10.6 Electrophysiological Monitoring

Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) has increasingly been used to avoid neurological complications during surgery. During CVJ surgeries, the risk of neurological injuries exists both during both patient positioning and the surgical procedure. IONM, during the positioning, allows prompt recognition of impending neurologic injury, and real-time continuous IONM assesses the functional integrity of the spinal tracts [46]. The use of IONM is mainly described in relation to the intradural procedures; however, its wider application has also been described during spinal cord degenerative diseases. It helps in a better understanding of the pathophysiology of spinal cord injuries. In patients with severe myelopathy, SSEP and/or MEP monitoring should be considered. While using neuromonitoring, baseline preoperative values should be obtained prior to incision [44].

16.10.7 Extubation

Extubation should be attempted only with prior planning and preparation. Prolonged postoperative ventilation may lead to the occurrence of various complications; hence, early extubation is preferred [47]. In children with preexisting respiratory insufficiency or weak gag or cough reflexes, the tracheal extubation is usually delayed. Pronged surgery in a prone position may result in upper airway edema and obstruction. A cuff leak test may help in assessing the extent of airway edema before extubation. The use of intraoperative steroids and placement of a nasopharyngeal airway may help to reduce upper airway obstruction. However, it may not be effective for dependent edema [22]. Preoperative steroid administration may reduce the severity of oral and tracheal mucosal edema facilitating early extubation and avoidance of the need for tracheostomy [48]. As reintubation is difficult in these children due to airway edema and fixed cervical spine, difficult airway gadgets must be kept ready before tracheal extubation. Tube exchanger introduced through the ETT may also be used; however, it may aggravate obstruction and causes airway irritation.

16.11 Postoperative Management

Postoperatively, a wide variety of complications may be encountered for which the treating physician should be observant (Table 16.6). The majority of these cases require elective ventilation in

| Specific to anterior | Specific to posterior |
|--------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| approach (transoral | approach (occipito-cervical |
| odontoidectomy) | fusion) surgery |
| Damage to Eustachian | Neurological worsening |
| tube and hypoglossal | Craniovertebral junction |
| nerve | instability |
| Severe tongue swelling | Cord edema |
| Palatal and pharyngeal | Cerebrospinal fluid leak |
| dehiscence | • Meningitis |
| Retropharyngeal | Non-union |
| abscess | Hardware failure |
| Neurological worsening | Sudden death |
| Aspiration | |
| Cerebrospinal fluid leak | |
| Meningitis | |
| Delayed pharyngeal | |
| bleeding | |
| Craniovertebral | |
| junction instability | |

Table 16.6 Postoperative complications following surgi-
cal correction of craniovertebral junction (CVJ)
anomalies

view of oral edema. Also, central causes like medullary control of breathing, respiratory motor function, or sensory inputs may be affected, necessitating assisted ventilation. Children with congenital abnormalities of CVJ may have decreased preoperative pulmonary reserve. The postoperative complications after awakening from anesthesia include apnea, cyanosis, bronchospasm, and respiratory failure. These complications may be exaggerated due to oral secretions related to the prone position, preexisting stiffness of thoracic cage, and development of respiratory and cardiac problems due to intraoperative fluid overload. Some children may require ventilatory assistance in an ICU for 24-48 hours. Intraoperatively, resection of the uvula and soft or hard palate may cause postoperative palatal insufficiency. In rare cases, delay in the resumption of respiratory efforts may be due to excessively tight instrumentation exerting pressure over the respiratory centers, thereby requiring urgent decompression. In patients receiving blood transfusions, the incidence of postoperative pulmonary complications (POPCs) is higher along with the development of immune suppression and immune tolerance, thereby increasing the chances of nosocomial and postoperative infection. Monitoring the respiratory functions along with physiotherapy and phrenic nerve stimulation (diaphragmatic pacemakers) has been advocated to prevent POPCs [49, 50]. Regular limb mobilization, compression stockings, and intermittent pneumatic compression devices should be used to prevent the development of deep vein thrombosis. The use of anticoagulants (heparin/LMWH) should be considered for these patients who remain non-ambulatory for a significant duration. Heparin may be administered as a loading dose of 75 U/kg IV given over 10 min, followed by an initial maintenance dose of 20 U/kg/h (children), and the dose is adjusted to maintain aPTT between 55 and 85 sec; it must be measured daily once the therapeutic level is achieved [51, 52]. LMWHs (enoxaparin) are administered at the dose of 0.5 mg/kg every 12 hours, and doses are adjusted to achieve an anti-Xa activity in the range of 0.5-1 unit/ml 4-6 h after injection or a range of 0.5-0.8 unit/ml 2-6 h after injection [53, 54]. Judicious use of supportive measures like frequent postural change, nutritional support, chest physiotherapy, suctioning, spirometry, etc. improves the overall outcome of these children. The resumption of oral feeding should begin as early as possible through Ryle's tube. However, due to the presence of a suture line over the nasopharynx and oropharynx, placement of the same may be complicated, and an orogastric tube may be needed to be placed with the help of a laryngoscope.

16.11.1 Tracheostomy

Tracheostomy allows the prevention of POPCs and is a safeguard against airway obstruction from postoperative lingual edema [55]. Usual indications in these patients include the need for prolonged intubation, lower cranial nerve palsies, and development of POPCs and, in rare cases, as an emergency rescue measure due to extubation failure [55].

16.11.2 Post-discharge Care

Irrespective of the type of surgery, some rehabilitation is required in most children. The combined specialized expertise of physical therapists, speech, and occupational therapists may be required to regain muscular function for overall improvement in the quality of life. Maintenance of a safe environment and adequate support system at home are necessary for proper recovery and rehabilitation of these children.

16.12 Conclusion

Surgery for pediatric CVJ lesions can be challenging and risky. Technological progress (like 3D reconstruction) has aided CVJ surgery to achieve a new, higher efficacy and ease of performance. However, children with CVJ anomalies continue to provide a distinct set of challenges for the attending anesthesiologists due to the immature age of the patient coupled with the basic pathology and its associated comorbidities such as complex airway syndromic associations, intraoperative adverse events, need for postoperative prolonged ventilation, etc. To ensure safe conduct and successful outcomes in these children, a thorough understanding of the pathophysiology, as well as cautious and vigilant perioperative management, is necessary.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Goel A. Craniovertebral junction instability: a review of facts about facets. Asian Spine J. 2015;9:636–44.
- Kale SS, Ailawadhi P, Yerramneni VK, Chandra PS, Kumar R, Sharma BS. Pediatric bony craniovertebral junction abnormalities: institutional experience of 10 years. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6(Suppl 1):S91–5.
- Goel A. Basilar invagination, Chiari malformation, syringomyelia: a review. Neurol India. 2009;57:235–46.
- Donnally CJ III, Munakomi S, Varacallo M. Basilar invagination. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2020.
- Morota N. Pediatric Craniovertebral junction surgery. Neurol Med Chir. 2017;57:435–60.
- Menezes AH. Craniovertebral junction anomalies. In: Kim DH, Betz RR, Huhn SL, Newton PO, editors. Surgery of the pediatric spine. 1st ed. New York: Thieme; 2008. p. 137–47.

- Mehrotra A, Nair AP, Das K, Chunnilal JS, Srivastava AK, Sahu R, et al. Congenital paediatric atlantoaxial dislocation: Clinico-radiological profile and surgical outcome. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28:1943–50.
- Pang D, Thompson DN. Embryology and bony malformations of the craniovertebral junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27:523–64.
- Brockmeyer DL, Spader HS. Complex Chiari malformations in children: diagnosis and management. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2015;26(4):555–60.
- Marda M, Pandia MP, Rath GP, Bithal PK, Dash HH. Postoperative pulmonary complications in patients undergoing transoral odontoidectomy and posterior fixation for craniovertebral junction anomalies. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2013;29:200–4.
- Fisher MA, Casey LC, Ellman MH, Perlick SJ. Sleep apnea due to odontoid brainstem compression in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis. Neurology. 1986;36:163.
- Miyakoshi N, Hongo M, Kasukawa Y, Shimada Y. Syncope caused by congenital anomaly at the craniovertebral junction: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2014;8:330.
- Kumar R, Nayak SP. Management of pediatric congenital atlantoaxial dislocation: a report of 23 cases from northern India. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2002;36:197–208.
- Kumar R, Kalra SK. Pediatric atlantoaxial dislocation: nuances in management. J Pediatr Neurol. 2007;5:1–8.
- Kumar R, Kalra KS. Management concerns of pediatric congenital atlantoaxial dislocation in the developing milieu. Pan Arab J Neurosurg. 2007;11:28–37.
- David KM, Thorogood PV, Stevens JM, Crockard HA. The dysmorphic cervical spine in Klippel–Feil syndrome: interpretations from developmental biology. Neurosurg Focus. 1999;6(6):e1.
- Smoker WR, Khanna G. Imaging the craniocervical junction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(10):1123–45.
- Smoker WR. Craniovertebral junction: normal anatomy, craniometry, and congenital anomalies. Radiographics. 1994;14:255–77.
- Sardhara JC, Behari S, Jaiswal AK, Madan Mohan B, Sahu RN, Srivastava AK, et al. Risk stratification of vertebral artery vulnerability during surgery for congenital atlanto-axial dislocation with or without an occipitalised atlas. Neurol India. 2015;63:382–91.
- Menon RG, Prasad GL. Decoding the V3 segment of the vertebral artery. Neurol India. 2015;63:315–7.
- Goel A. Occipitocervical fixation: is it necessary? J Neurosurg Spine. 2010;13:1–2.
- Molinari R, Bessette M, Raich AL, Dettori JR, Molinari C. Vertebral artery anomaly and injury in spinal surgery. Evid Based Spine Care J. 2014;5:16–27.
- Bucak A, Ulu S, Aycicek A, Kacar E, Miman MC. Grisel's syndrome: a rare complication following Adenotonsillectomy. Case Rep Otolaryngol. 2014;2014:703021.
- 24. Moustafa IM, Diab AA. Multimodal treatment program comparing 2 different traction approaches for patients with discogenic cervical radiculopa-

thy: a randomized controlled trial. J Chiropr Med. 2014;13:157–67.

- Ozturk B, Gunduz OH, Ozoran K, Bostanoglu S. Effect of continuous lumbar traction on the size of herniated disc material in lumbar disc herniation. Rheumatol Int. 2006;26:622–6.
- Garg R, Sokhal N, Rath G. Anaesthetic consideration of a child with concomitant craniovertebral junction anomaly and arrested hydrocephalus. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg. 2015;66:33–6.
- Bourdillon P, Perrin G, Lucas F, Debarge R, Barrey C. C1-C2 stabilization by harms arthrodesis: indications, technique, complications and outcomes in a prospective 26-case series. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2014;100:221–7.
- Bahadur R, Goyal T, Dhatt SS, Tripathy SK. Transarticular screw fixation for atlantoaxial instability-modified Magerl's technique in 38 patients. J Orthop Surg. 2010;22:87.
- Kukreja S, Ambekar S, Sin AH, Nanda A. Occipitocervical fusion surgery: review of operative techniques and results. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2015;76:331–9.
- Mummaneni PV, Haid RW. Atlantoaxial fixation: overview of all techniques. Neurol India. 2005;53:408–15.
- 31. Sarat Chandra P, Bajaj J, Singh PK, Garg K, Agarwal D. Basilar invagination and atlantoaxial dislocation: reduction, deformity correction and realignment using the DCER (distraction, compression, extension, and reduction) technique with customized instrumentation and implants. Neurospin. 2016;16(2):231–50.
- 32. Chandra PS, Prabhu M, Goyal N, Garg A, Chauhan A, Sharma BS. Distraction, compression, extension, and reduction combined with joint remodeling and extra-articular distraction: description of 2 new modifications for its application in basilar invagination and atlantoaxial dislocation prospective study in 79 cases. Neurosurgery. 2015;77:67–80.
- 33. Rath GP, Bithal PK, Guleria R, Chaturvedi A, Kale SS, Gupta V, Dash HH. A comparative study between preoperative and postoperative pulmonary functions and diaphragmatic movements in congenital craniovertebral junction anomalies. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2006;18:256–61.
- Howard RS, Henderson F, Hirsch NP, Stevens JM, Kendall BE, Crockard HA. Respiratory abnormalities due to craniovertebral junction compression in rheumatoid disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 1994;53:134–6.
- 35. Lindberg P, Gunnarsson L, Tokics L, Secher E, Lundquist H, Brismar B, Hedenstierna G. Atelectasis and lung function in the postoperative period. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1992;36:546–53.
- Rosomoff HL. Occult respiratory and autonomic dysfunction in craniovertebral anomalies and upper cervical spinal disease. Spine. 1986;11:345–7.
- Botelho RV, Bittencourt LR, Rotta JM, Tufik S. A prospective controlled study of sleep respiratory events in patients with craniovertebral junction malformation. J Neurosurg. 2003;99:1004–9.

- Mascarenhas O. Anaesthesia management in craniovertebral junctional anomalies. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine. 2016;7:193–6.
- Dierdoff SF, Scott WJ. Anesthesia for patients with rare and co-existing diseases. In: Barash PG, Cullen BF, Stoelting RK, editors. Clinical anesthesia. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins; 2006. p. 510–1.
- Dorotta IR, Schubert A. Multiple sclerosis and anesthetic implications. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2002;15:365–70.
- Jain VK, Behari S. Management of congenital atlanto axial dislocation: some lessons learnt. Neurol India. 2002;50:386–97.
- Marks RJ, Forrester PC, Calder I, Crockard HA. Anaesthesia for transoral craniocervical surgery. Anaesthesia. 1986;41:1049–52.
- Haldar R, Misra G, Gupta D, Singh PK. Urinary retention manifesting as excessive venous ooze during Cranio-vertebral junction surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2017;29(3):376–7.
- Mummaneni PV, Haid RW. Transoral odontoidectomy. Neurosurgery. 2005;56(5):1045–50.
- 45. Mehrotra A, Chunnilal JS, Das KK, Srivastava A, Kumar R. Atlanto-axial dislocation associated with anomalous single vertebral artery and agenesis of unilateral internal carotid artery. Asian J Neurosurg. 2013;8:164.
- Sala F, Meneghelli P. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring for Craniovertebral junction surgery. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2019;125:369–80.
- 47. Marda M, Pandia MP, Rath GP, Kale SS, Dash H. A comparative study of early and late extubation following transoral odontoidectomy and posterior fixation. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2016;32:33–7.
- Pandey CK, Azim A, Matreja P, Raza M, Navkar DV, Singh RB, et al. Effect of preoperative dexamethasone on edema of oral and extra-oral structures following trans-oral decompression and posterior fusion. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2004;16:267–70.
- 49. Hirschfeld S, Exner G, Luukkaala T, Baer GA. Mechanical ventilation or phrenic nerve stimulation for treatment of spinal cord injury-induced respiratory insufficiency. Spinal Cord. 2008;46:738–42.
- 50. Velazco JF, Ghamande S, Surani S (2012) Phrenic nerve pacing: current concepts, current issues and recent advances in pacemaker therapy. IntechOpen, Attila Roka. https://doi.org/10.5772/48808. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/books/currentissues-and-recent-advances-in-pacemaker-therapy/ phrenic-nerve-pacing-current-concepts#B1. Accessed on 22 Sep 2020
- Andrew M, Marzinotto V, Massicotte P, Blanchette V, Ginsberg J, Brill-Edwards P, et al. Heparin therapy in pediatric patients: a prospective cohort study. Pediatr Res. 1994;35(1):78–83.
- Monagle P, Michelson AD, Bovill E, Andrew M. Antithrombotic therapy in children. Chest. 2001;119(1 Suppl):344S–70S.

- 53. Monagle P, Chalmers E, Chan A. deVeber G, Kirkham F, Massicotte P, Michelson AD. Antithrombotic therapy in neonates and children: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th edition). Chest. 2008;133(6 Suppl):887S–968S.
- 54. Trame MN, Mitchell L, Krümpel A, Male C, Hempel G, Nowak-Göttl U. Population pharmacokinetics of

enoxaparin in infants, children and adolescents during secondary thromboembolic prophylaxis: a cohort study. J Thromb Haemost. 2010;8(9):1950–8.

55. Landeiro JA, Boechat S, Christoph DH, Gonçalves MB, Castro I, Lapenta MA, et al. Transoral approach to the craniovertebral junction. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2007;65(4B):1166–71.



Anesthetic Concerns During Pediatric Spine Surgery 17

Hironobu Hayashi 💿, Jayanth R Seshan 💿, and Masahiko Kawaguchi 💿

Key Points

- Surgeons and anesthesiologists planning for pediatric spine surgery should be fully aware of the characteristics of the target condition, such as the age of onset and commonly affected sites, which influence treatment approaches and anesthetic management.
- Preoperative assessment for congenital vertebral anomalies should focus on cardiac, pulmonary, or neurological comorbidities.
- Myelomeningocele repair is often performed in neonates; attention should be paid to prevent compressing the sac during anesthesia induction.
- The aim of surgery for spinal lipomas and cord detethering (infants and toddlers) should be functional recovery and preventing delayed neurological decline due to retethering than complete excision.
- Surgical correction of idiopathic scoliosis, commonly performed in school-age children, involves the risk of major bleeding.
- Although intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring is increasingly used in children, there is considerable doubt on the immaturity

H. Hayashi · M. Kawaguchi (⊠) Department of Anesthesiology, Nara Medical University, Kashihara, Japan

J. R. Seshan

of the neural networks in infants and the risk of anesthetic overdose due to underdeveloped metabolizing systems, requiring careful monitoring titration.

17.1 Introduction

The most common surgical procedures for the spine by age group are as follows: myelomeningocele (MMC) repair in neonates, spinal lipoma resection in infants and toddlers, and correction of idiopathic spinal scoliosis in school-age children. Less frequent surgeries include the procedures for congenital spinal deformities, tumors, or vascular anomalies such as spinal arteriovenous malformation (AVM), cavernous malformation, dural arteriovenous fistula (AVF), and capillary telangiectasia. For safe and effective anesthetic management during spine surgery, the child should be placed in a comfortable prone position. An appropriate anesthetic protocol suitable for intraoperative neural monitoring should be chosen to minimize the risk of spinal nerve injury. It is not practical to make a "one size fits all" statement about anesthetic management for pediatric spine surgery since different types of such surgeries have different anesthetic considerations. For example, in patients undergoing MMC repair, attention should be paid to protecting the exposed neural tissue when introducing anesthesia. In patients undergoing spinal lipoma

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_17

removal and tethered cord release, anesthetic management suitable for intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) should be implemented to preserve function. For patients undergoing idiopathic scoliosis correction, the focus should be on appropriate anesthetic management for IONM, preparation for the possibility of bleeding, and postoperative pain management. The following sections will discuss the perioperative management for pediatric patients with common spine diseases like MMC, spinal lipoma, and idiopathic scoliosis and less common conditions like spinal tumors, vascular malformations, and neurofibromatosis.

17.2 Overview of Anesthetic Management

For safe and effective anesthetic management during spine surgery, the patient should be appropriately evaluated preoperatively and placed in a comfortable prone position during surgery, and an appropriate anesthetic agent that maximizes the effectiveness of IONM should be chosen to minimize the risk of spinal nerve injury during surgery. The types and doses of anesthetic agents should be carefully determined because they significantly impact the effectiveness of IONM.

17.2.1 Preoperative Evaluation and Preparation

Preoperative evaluation of the child posted for spine surgery should be individualized based on the pathology and the associated presenting features requiring further evaluation. All patients scheduled for elective surgeries must undergo basic investigations like complete blood counts (CBC) to look for baseline hemoglobin levels. Coagulation profile is warranted in cases with major anticipated losses, especially in associated neuromuscular diseases (NMDs). Further blood investigations are recommended based on the clinical condition of the child. Specific to spinal pathologies, a urinalysis must be done in cases of sphincter disturbances to look for asymptomatic urinary tract infection (UTI) as it may contribute to perioperative morbidity. A chest roentgenogram, electrocardiograph (ECG), and echocardiography are indicated in NMDs with suspected cardiac involvement. Pulmonary function testing may be done in an older child with kyphoscoliotic spine deformity. If the response to bronchodilator therapy be found (though a restrictive lung disease is more commonly observed), relevant therapy is initiated preoperatively. Airway management can be complicated by the involvement of the cervical spine necessitating imaging. Although less common, the anesthesiologist may face a situation where the child has been tracheostomized in the face of a difficult airway, commonly due to Klippel-Feil syndrome, Goldenhar syndrome, or Treacher Collins syndrome. It is essential to replace the tracheostomy with an endotracheal tube (ETT), especially in the prone position, to avoid traction due to the airway circuit and displacement of the tube (1). The risk of malignant hyperthermia (MH), though rare, should not be forgotten while anesthetizing children with NMDs (2).

17.2.2 Patient Positioning

Patients undergoing spine surgery are typically placed in the prone position. If the head of a child undergoing thoracic, lumbar, or sacral spine surgery does not fit in prone head support such as ProneView® (Dupaco Inc., Oceanside, CA), the surgeon should turn the head safely on one side to avoid kinking and obstruction of the ETT, eyeball pressure compression, and facial ulcers. Excessive head turning can lead to compression of the carotid artery, which may compromise cerebral perfusion, increase intracranial pressure (ICP), and cause venous hemorrhage resulting from poor venous return. Postoperative visual loss (POVL) is a rare complication of prone spine surgery, but with a devastating and irreversible outcome. The incidence of POVL after spine surgery is approximately 0.2% (3). For adults undergoing cervical spine surgery, the Mayfield skull clamp is used to stabilize the neck. However, the skull clamp is not suitable for infants because of

Table 17.1 Specific measures for positioning

- Optimize the head position

 Avoid eyeball compression
 Avoid excessive head-turning
- Prevent elongation and compression of the nerves and vessels of the extremities. In particular, the nerves of the ulnar and brachial plexus in the upper extremities and the femoral and peroneal nerves in the lower extremities are prone to paralysis
- Prevent skin lesions (e.g., blisters, exfoliation, pressure ulcers)
- Avoid abdominal compression

the risk of cranial fracture or epidural hemorrhage due to their thinner skull bones.

The specific measures should not be overlooked and are enumerated (Table 17.1). Optimal positioning can also be aided by the use of neurophysiological monitoring like in superman position; monitoring for upper extremity injuries can be done with the help of somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEPs).

17.2.3 Intraoperative Neurophysiological Monitoring (IONM)

Spine surgery involves a risk of physical damage to the nervous system by inadvertent compression or traction during maneuvers and postoperative spinal dysfunction due to the compromised blood supply. To prevent those outcomes, IONM should identify neural structures and evaluate their function during surgery. The purpose of neurophysiological mapping is to identify neural network structures. Evoked potentials (EPs) are monitored to evaluate motor, somatosensory, urinary, or bowel function. Thirumala et al. carried out a systematic review of the diagnostic accuracy of intraoperative transcranial MEP monitoring to detect neurological deficits during corrective spine surgery in patients with idiopathic scoliosis (4). Neurological deficits were observed at an incidence of 1.38% (29/2102). The sensitivity and specificity of MEP monitoring were 91% and 96%, respectively. Significant MEP decreases were 250 times more likely to be observed in patients with a new-onset motor deficit immediately after idiopathic scoliosis correction surgery than in those without.

IONM was long considered infeasible in young children, particularly infants and toddlers, because of their immature myelin sheaths and synapses and difficulty adjusting anesthetic doses. In recent years, however, remifentanil has facilitated intraoperative evoked potential monitoring in infants and young children because it can reduce the dose of hypnotics used and eliminate the use of muscle relaxants during maintenance anesthesia (5–9).

(a) Neurophysiological Mapping.

Neurophysiological mapping is performed to localize neural networks and differentiate spinal nerves from other tissues. Technically, the spinal nerve is electrically stimulated in the surgical field, and the corresponding muscle potentials are recorded from the lower extremity or external anal sphincter muscles. This mapping technique is particularly effective for differentiating nerves from fibrous or other connective tissues in a spinal lipoma during resection.

(b) Motor Evoked Potential (MEP) Monitoring.

MEP monitoring is conducted to evaluate the function of the descending motor pathways. Two different techniques of MEP monitoring following transcranial stimulation of the motor cortex described are (1) D-wave monitoring and (2) muscle MEP monitoring. Transcranial electrical stimulation is applied to the motor cortex, and the resulting compound muscle action potentials are recorded in all four extremities (Fig. 17.1). Intraoperative MEP monitoring can be successfully performed in babies as young as 1 month old. However, since their neural pathways are still growing, results may be unstable in younger children. The transcranial electrical stimulation required to elicit MEP responses should be stronger in younger children. Although no safety limit has been officially recommended for electrical stimulation in pediatric patients, the maximum intensity and voltage should be 200 mA and



Fig. 17.1 Motor evoked potential (MEP) monitoring. Schematic diagram shows the motor pathways involved in two types of MEP monitoring. D-wave monitoring is done by placing electrodes proximal and distal to the spinal

cord lesion and following a single wave stimulus. Muscle MEP monitoring is done from the peripheral muscle following multiple wave stimuli

500 V, respectively, considering their impact on the central nervous system (CNS). Propofol does not suppress MEP responses to the same extent as inhaled anesthetics. Nitrous oxide should not be used for maintenance anesthesia because it strongly suppresses MEP responses. Since opioids do not suppress MEP responses, there are no particular restrictions on their use as far as MEP monitoring is concerned.

(c) Somatosensory Evoked Potential (SSEP) Monitoring.

Somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP) monitoring evaluates the function of the ascending somatosensory pathways. The sensory nerve of the upper extremities (typically the median nerve) or lower extremities (typically the tibial nerve) is electrically stimulated, and the resultant SSEP waveforms are recorded over the scalp. SSEP waveforms reflect the joint position, vibration, and discriminatory tactile senses mediated by the posterior column-medial lemniscus pathway, but no pain or temperature sensation transmitted by the spinothalamic tract. The posterior column pathway is immature in children before 5 or 6 years of age and conducts at a lower velocity than in adults. Consequently, small children have more variation in latency.

(d) Bulbocavernosus Reflex (BCR) Monitoring.

BCR monitoring records the external anal sphincter muscle potentials elicited via the spinal reflex arc following pudendal nerve stimulation (Fig. 17.2). This technique allows for direct surveillance of the integrity of the sacral nerves that regulate urination, defecation, and sexual function. This technique is particularly useful for tethered cord release surgery in patients with spinal lipoma or patients undergoing other types of lumbosacral spine surgery (10). The incidence of postoperative voiding dysfunction is estimated at 10–20% for pediatric patients who undergo the release of tethered cord (11).

(e) Intraoperative Wake-up Test.

Intraoperative wake-up test in pediatric spine surgeries has been described in the literature (12, 13). For this test, the level of anesthesia is reduced



Fig. 17.2 Bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR) monitoring. BCR monitoring was performed in an infant with spinal lipoma during surgery. BCR is recorded from bilateral external anal sphincter muscles after electrical stimulation to the sensory branches of the pudendal nerve (the dorsal penile or clitoral nerve). For BCR recording, the needle electrodes are placed into the external anal sphincters on both sides (right and left). For stimulation of the dorsal penile or clitoral nerve, a single cathode on the dorsal surface and a single anode on the ventral surface of the penis have been placed. For stimulation of the bilateral dorsal clitoral nerves, a single cathode is placed on the clitoris and a single anode in the adjacent labia. Surface electrodes are used to stimulate the dorsal penile or clitoral nerve

until the patient is conscious enough to respond to the anesthesiologist's request to move the ankle or knee. Since this test necessitates the patient's full understanding and cooperation, it is not always viable for small children. If a patient undergoing scoliosis surgery is not securely fixed to the table and makes a forceful body movement upon emergence from anesthesia, it may cause spinal injury. In addition, the patient is at risk of air embolization resulting from active inspiratory effort upon awakening. Currently, propofol and remifentanil availability has enabled stable MEP monitoring, eliminating the need for the wake-up test. Exceptional cases may involve patients with motor nerve injury who do not respond to MEP stimulation.

17.2.3.1 Anesthetic Management for IONM During Pediatric Spine Surgery

Benzodiazepines and clonidine must be avoided because they have long half-lives and strongly suppress MEP responses (14, 15). If no intravenous (IV) line has been established, the anesthesiologist should perform slow induction with sevoflurane. Rapid induction with propofol is advised if an IV line is available. In addition to less airway irritation, sevoflurane has low solubility (blood-gas partition coefficient), which allows for rapid induction and elimination and causes little interference with subsequent MEP monitoring (16, 17). Since children have a larger central compartment volume than adults, children undergoing propofol anesthesia require higher bolus doses and higher early-stage injection rates to maintain the same steady-state concentrations (18, 19). Although nitrous oxide strongly suppresses MEP responses, it can be used for anesthesia induction.

For maintenance of anesthesia, propofol or inhaled anesthetics (sevoflurane or desflurane) are administered. Small children are at significant risk of propofol accumulation due to low clearance. Neonates have poor propofol clearance with substantial inter-individual variability. Infants from 3 to 12 months of age have immature liver enzyme systems (20, 21). These facts suggest the benefit of adjusting the maintenance anesthetic dose based on the exhaled drug concentration. Propofol accumulation in pediatric patients may be prevented by combining lowdose propofol and a low dose (≤ 0.5 minimal alveolar concentration, MAC) of inhalational anesthetic (22-24). Anesthesiologists administering propofol to children should be aware of propofol-related infusion syndrome (PRIS), which often presents a fatal complication. In patients undergoing continuous propofol infusion, the infusion rate should be minimized by concurrent administration of remifentanil (25). The various drugs used to maintain anesthesia

| | SSEP | MEP |
|-------------------------|---------------|------------------------|
| | amplitude | amplitude |
| Intravenous anesthetics | | |
| Barbiturates (low dose) | \rightarrow | ↓↓ |
| Benzodiazepine | Ļ | ↓↓ |
| Dexmedetomidine | \rightarrow | \rightarrow |
| ≤0.6 ng/mL | Ļ | ↓↓ |
| >0.6 ng/mL | Ļ | \rightarrow |
| Opioids | Ļ | ↓ |
| Propofol | 1 | \rightarrow |
| Ketamine | | |
| Inhalation anesthetics | | |
| Desflurane | Ļ | ↓↓ |
| Sevoflurane | Ļ | 11 |
| Isoflurane | 11 | 11 |
| Nitrous oxide | ↓↓ | ↓↓ |
| Muscle relaxant | | |
| Rocuronium bromide | \rightarrow | $\downarrow\downarrow$ |

Table 17.2 Effects of anesthetic agents on evoked potentials

SSEP: somatosensory evoked potential. MEP: motor evoked potential

 \downarrow : suppression, $\downarrow\downarrow$: severe suppression, \rightarrow : no change, \uparrow : increase

and their effects on neurophysiological monitoring are enlisted in Table 17.2.

17.3 Tethered Cord Syndrome (TCS)

Owing to its tapered shape, the lower end of the spinal cord is called the medullary cone. The spinal cord is anchored to the coccyx by a filament known as the terminal filum. At birth, the medullary cone is located at the third lumbar (L3) vertebra level. It gradually moves upward to the cranial side over time until it reaches the level of the L1 or L2 vertebra in adulthood. TCS is a stretch-induced neurological disorder caused by the fixation (tethering) of the medullary cone, often leading to progressive lower-limb sensorimotor deficits and neurogenic bladder and bowel dysfunction. Tethered cord release is the only definitive treatment option.

Pediatric patients with TCS typically have spina bifida, a congenital morphological abnormality of the neural tube that results from a failure of the vertebral arch to fuse early in development. Spina bifida has two clinical forms: open and occult. Open spina bifida represents an externally visible defect of the spine, whereas occult spina bifida does not have outward signs. One of the most common types of congenital neurological anomaly is classified as a type of open spina bifida. The occult spina bifida includes spinal cord lipoma, terminal filum lipoma, and congenital dermal sinus. Patients with spina bifida are at extremely high risk for latex sensitization and allergy due to long-term urethral catheterization and multiple surgeries. Therefore, patients with spina bifida must be treated in a latex-free environment.

17.4 Spina Bifida and Latex Allergy

Latex anaphylaxis may lead to significant morbidity. Deaths have been reported. Compared with adults, children are generally at a higher risk of latex sensitization due to long-term urethral catheter use and multiple surgeries. The condition of spina bifida per se might be an independent risk factor for latex sensitization, irrespective of the number of previous surgeries (26). Approximately 70% of patients with myelomeningocele have allergic reactions to latex (27). Latex-free precautions should be exercised starting at birth for patients with spina bifida (28).

17.5 Myelomeningocele (MMC)

MMCs predominantly occur in the lumbosacral region. These lesions occur when the spinal cord and meninges are contained in a saccular herniation that protrudes through a vertebral arch defect (29). MMCs that occur at the sacral level mainly cause bladder and bowel problems, whereas those at the lumbar level cause lower limb sensorimotor dysfunction.

If a neonate has incomplete closure of the spinal column that involves exposure of the spinal cord or leakage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), there is a high risk of immediate infection, and the neonate should undergo closure within 24–48 h of life. After birth, the neonate should be maintained in the prone position to prevent injury to the exposed nerve tissues. The surgeon makes a circumferential incision around the exposed neural placode to detach the arachnoid membrane; the dura, fascia, and skin are sutured in a water-tight manner to cover the spinal cord.

Children with MMC often develop hydrocephalus and Chiari type II malformation. More than 80% of patients with MMC have hydrocephalus that requires surgical treatment, such as ventriculoperitoneal shunt placement and foramen magnum decompression. The symptoms of Chiari type II malformation include wheezing, apnea, and dysphagia, which require airway management in the patient. Cervical MMCs occur very infrequently, constituting 4-8% of all cases of spina bifida; these lesions are distinctly different from lumbosacral MMCs. In the absence of hydrocephalus and Chiari type II malformations, cervical MMCs are not associated with neurological disorders. Elective surgery is indicated in typical cases where the spinal cord is covered, and its risk is small.

The recent development of maternal serum marker screening and fetal ultrasound imaging has enabled prenatal diagnosis of MMC, allowing for adequate planning of closure surgery at a very early stage of life. In this context, social attitudes and laws concerning prenatal screening and abortion may differ considerably from one country to another.

The anesthetic management for infants undergoing MMC surgery will be similar to that for neonates in general. In routine cases, lumbosacral MMCs are closed surgically within 24 to 48 hours after birth. The multidisciplinary surgical team members must share a common understanding of the operating risks through clinical conferences in advance. Optimal anesthetic management protocols should be selected to mitigate stress reactions to surgical intervention while maintaining sufficient cardiac function in neonates, who are very sensitive to inhalational and intravenous anesthetics. Opioid-based anesthetics are the agents of choice for neonates because they can stabilize hemodynamics most effectively. The anesthesiologist should bear in mind that neonates require a significantly longer time

to recover from anesthesia than older patients because of their immature hepatic and renal function; artificial ventilation may occasionally be needed postoperatively.

A latex-free environment is prepared during the preoperative period. The surgeon should take utmost care to prevent spinal injury and elevation of ICP due to the meningeal sac's compression. For this purpose, endotracheal intubation in the prone position may be helpful (30), but this technique is not widely accepted. Doughnut-shaped support or elastic pad can be inserted beneath the patient to maintain a secure position and protect the meningeal sac from direct contact with the table or other solid materials. In children with cervical MMC, cervical spine extension may occur during intubation, possibly leading to the displacement of the support pad placed to protect the sac from injury. For this reason, intubation may be performed while the neonate is held (31). In most cases, however, patients are transferred from the neonatal ICU to the operating room. Consequently, intubation is generally performed intravenous under anesthesia. Thiopental (3-4 mg/kg) or propofol (1.5-2 mg/kg) is used in combination with opioids. The anesthesiologist should carefully check the breathing status of neonates undergoing anesthesia, given the possibility that spontaneous breathing may stop. Mask ventilation may be used to supplement the oxygen supply. The use of high-dose muscle relaxants in neonates deserves careful consideration because they may have a delayed onset of action.

Intraoperative Management: Inhalational anesthetics are commonly used for general maintenance anesthesia. Propofol may be used for general IV anesthesia in patients suspected of having malignant hyperthermia or myotonic dystrophy and patients undergoing MEP or BCR monitoring (Fig. 17.3). In intubated neonates, tube tip position may vary by the length of one vertebral body along the trachea due to neck flexion and extension. Ventilation problems should be detected early using a chest or esophageal stethoscope and end-tidal carbon dioxide measurement. Accidental intraoperative extubation can easily result in serious hypoxemia and cardiopulmonary arrest in small children with a low



Fig. 17.3 A neonate with lumber myelomeningocele positioned prone for surgical excision with neurophysiologic monitoring electrodes in place. This neonate with lumber myelomeningocele underwent a closure operation within 48 h of birth. He was placed in a prone position after endotracheal intubation. The operation was accomplished by intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potential (MEP) and bulbocavernosus reflex (BCR). The electrodes to record BCR were still not set to the bilateral external anal sphincter muscles in this picture. No significant change in MEP and BCR monitoring were observed through the operation. There was no postoperative neurological deterioration

functional residual capacity. Neonates cannot be placed on prone head support devices designed for adults. Therefore, the head should be turned safely to one side to prevent compression of the eyeballs and the ETT when the neonate is maintained in the prone position. Generally, neonatal MMC repair does not involve much bleeding. Fluid infusions may be considered to compensate for CSF loss at the operative site, especially during prolonged procedures. Body temperature control is more difficult in patients with greater exposure to neural tissue. The OR should be maintained at a temperature higher than usual using a forced-air warming apparatus or another appropriate heating system. If the patient is a termed infant with no major comorbidities, the patient may be extubated in the operating room. Extubation should be performed in the prone or lateral position. The child should be nursed in the prone position; if associated with hydrocephalus or a Chiari malformation, the child should be monitored for postoperative apnea. Transfer of the child to the postanesthetic unit also should be done in a prone position. A continuous infusion of fentanyl (0.2–0.3 μ g/kg/h) may be used for postoperative analgesia.

17.6 Spinal Lipoma

Occult spina bifida includes two major conditions: congenital dermal sinus and spinal lipoma. Lumbosacral skin stigmata are frequently observed in patients with occult spina bifida. Spinal lipoma in younger children is suspected based on the presence of a subcutaneous mass, dimple, hypertrichosis, tail-like skin appendage, and other forms of skin stigmata. In contrast, diagnosis in older children is triggered by neurologic signs and symptoms such as lower limb sensorimotor dysfunction, bladder and bowel problems, and foot deformities (32). Since spinal lipomas are not malignant neoplasms, greater attention is directed to functional recovery and preventing delayed neurological decline due to retethering than to complete lipoma removal. Specifically, the basic objectives of surgical intervention include (1) unterhering of the spinal cord, (2) debulking of the lipoma, and (3) reestablishing normal anatomical structures (33). Before the onset of neurologic symptoms, prophylactic surgery is recommended for patients with spinal lipoma since neurologic manifestations are unlikely to respond to surgical treatment adequately. Surgical interventions are typically performed during infancy. IONM is effective for preventing surgically induced nerve injury in these children (34, 35). The modalities of choice include neurophysiological mapping to locate neurological structures through direct stimulation in the surgical field, MEP monitoring of the descending motor pathways, and BCR monitoring of bladder and bowel function. Since these techniques rely on muscle contraction, they should be started after the effects of any muscle relaxants administered for induction anesthesia have cleared. The use of muscle relaxants for maintenance anesthesia should, therefore, be avoided.

Preoperatively, a latex-free surgical environment may be ensured. For IONM, the anesthesiologist should carefully determine the optimal anesthetic protocol that avoids muscle relaxants. Since muscle relaxants strongly suppress neurophysiological mapping, MEP, and BCR responses, they should be administered at the minimum dose necessary for facilitating endotracheal intubation and subsequent positioning. The anesthesiologist must ensure that the anesthetic protocol will not interfere with the planned IONM. IV propofol is the first choice for surgeries that involve MEP or BCR monitoring. Inhalational anesthetics may be used for surgical procedures, but neurophysiologic monitoring performance is less satisfactory with inhalational anesthetics than with propofol. While the opioids do not interfere with neurophysiological monitoring, the use of muscle relaxants must be avoided in patients undergoing neurophysiological mapping, MEP monitoring, or BCR monitoring. A continuous infusion of fentanyl infusion at $0.5 \,\mu g/kg/h$ may be needed for postoperative sedation, depending on the extent of the surgical incision and the stress reaction.

17.7 Spinal Deformity

Pediatric patients with spinal deformity have a wide variety of congenital or idiopathic conditions involving abnormal spinal curvatures in the coronal or sagittal plane (Table 17.3). Abnormal spinal curvature may also develop as a result of NMDs acquired after spinal cord injury. In neonates and infants, severe spinal deformities can affect the thoracic cage and lung growth, thereby decreasing chest volume and respiratory function and ultimately leading to chronic respiratory failure. Spinal fixation surgery may be performed to prevent the progression of spinal deformity. In school-age and older individuals, spinal defor**Table 17.3** Syndromes and neuromuscular conditions associated with abnormal spinal curvature

- · Cerebral palsy
- Charcot-Marie-tooth disease
- Poliomyelitis
- Spinal muscular atrophy
- Arthrogryposis multiplex congenita
- Duchenne muscular dystrophy
- Congenital hypotonia
- Neurofibromatosis
 Marfan syndrome
- Marfan syndrome
 Eblers-Daplos syndrome
- Ehlers-Danlos syndrome
- Myelomeningocele
- Osteogenesis imperfecta congenita
- Achondroplasia

mity most commonly manifests as idiopathic scoliosis and kyphosis. Lateral curves of more than 45° and potentially progressive deformity are indications for surgery. Children with juvenile or adolescent idiopathic scoliosis are generally healthy and have no life-threatening pulmonary conditions. However, they may have psychological problems due to their effect on physical appearance.

17.7.1 Congenital Spinal Deformity

Pediatric patients who undergo fixation or other spinal deformity surgeries may have underlying congenital diseases, which could specifically impact their respiratory, cardiovascular, neurological, or other functions. These possibilities underscore the importance of comprehensive preoperative assessment. Jarcho-Levin syndrome and Jeune syndrome are congenital disabilities that cause the severe malformation of the spine and ribs, which result in severe respiratory dysfunction. Achondroplasia very frequently manifests as thoracolumbar kyphosis in infants, though most cases spontaneously improve once ambulation starts. It may progress to a fixed kyphotic deformity, seen in 15-30% of adults (36). Early sitting in infancy is considered a major risk factor for kyphosis (37, 38). It is recommended that infants with achondroplasia be restricted from unsupported sitting until they can independently achieve a sitting posture. Since children with achondroplasia are at a high risk of upper airway

obstruction, careful perioperative respiratory management is needed. Ellis-van Creveld syndrome is a genetic disorder characterized by thoracic hypoplasia, vertebral anomalies, and cardiac malformations. Approximately 60% of patients with this syndrome have an atrial septal defect (ASD) or an endocardial cushion defect.

Congenital scoliosis is frequently associated with cardiovascular anomalies such as mitral valve prolapses, ASD, and patent ductus arteriosus, as well as horseshoe kidney, muscular dystrophy, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, and Marfan syndrome (39). When infants with congenital scoliosis are scheduled for spine surgery, the preoperative assessment should include overall physical appearance, skin condition, and neuromuscular function. Measurement of the infant's height (or length) is important for evaluating skeletal growth. If a patient has disproportionately long arms, fingers, and toes, Marfan syndrome should be suspected. This syndrome is frequently complicated by cardiovascular conditions such as aortic root enlargement, aortic valve incompetence, aortic aneurysm, aortic dissection, and mitral valve prolapse. Therefore, they should undergo preoperative echocardiography and other cardiovascular evaluations. Surgery for scoliosis correction in the case of Marfan syndrome should not be undertaken before 4 years of age, considering the high risk of mortality due to cardiac and other comorbid conditions (40). If a patient has unstable joints and fragile skin combined with scoliosis, Ehlers-Danlos syndrome or other connective tissue disorders may be suspected. Common syndromic conditions manifesting with congenital scoliosis (40-44) and their comorbid presentations requiring the attention of the neuroanesthesiologist are listed in Table 17.4.

Anesthetic management needs to be optimized by considering the child's age and respiratory and cardiovascular comorbidities. Ensure that the anesthetic protocol will not interfere with any planned IONM, and plan for a wake-up test if the patient is old enough to cooperate. One invasive arterial line and two venous lines are to be maintained; central venous access or pulmonary arterial line may be required depending on the cardiac function of the patient. Suxamethonium **Table 17.4** Common syndromes associated with scoliosis and their anesthetic risks (40–44)

| Syndrome(s) | Anesthetic risks | |
|-------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| Down's syndrome | Cardiac involvement, cognitive | |
| | disturbances, thyroid disorders | |
| Klippel-Feil | Cervical spine involvement and | |
| syndrome | difficult airway | |
| Neurofibromatosis | Multiple tumors, complications | |
| | like renal artery stenosis, | |
| | pheochromocytomas | |
| Marfan syndrome | Cardiac | |
| Muscular | Malignant hyperthermia | |
| dystrophy | | |

and inhalational anesthetics are to be avoided if muscular dystrophy is present. Early tracheal extubation is usually encouraged, whenever possible. However, extubation at the end of surgery may not be a practical goal for children with moderate to severe respiratory problems. Intravenous patient-controlled analgesia (IV-PCA) for following extensive surgery is a reasonable option for postoperative pain management.

17.7.2 Idiopathic Scoliosis

Idiopathic scoliosis accounts for approximately 80% of all cases of scoliosis. Although it can be detected in infants and toddlers, it manifests most frequently in the pre-teen and teenage years and is more common in females. Typically, patients with idiopathic scoliosis are otherwise healthy. The key challenges for the anesthesiologist in surgery for this condition include preparing for a risk of major bleeding and ensuring that the anesthetic protocol does not interfere with any planned IONM. The children would experience severe postoperative pain due to extensive thoracic intervention. IV-PCA may be considered for postoperative pain control.

Preoperative Preparations: It is important to identify the risk factors for bleeding based on a preoperative assessment of the patient's medical history and family history. History of bleeding events like epistaxis, easy bruisability, bleeding instances following dental treatment, and menorrhagia in adolescent girls are relevant in the pediatric population. Tests for coagulation and plans for autologous blood transfusion, wherever possible, to avoid the risk of infection from allogeneic blood transfusions may be ensured preoperatively. Pre-donated autologous blood significantly reduces the need for allogeneic blood transfusion in scoliosis surgery (45). The benefits of an intraoperative cell salvage system remain a matter of debate (46, 47). IONM should include combined MEP and SEP monitoring; the intraoperative wake-up test for patients with preoperative motor nerve injury may be considered if the children are intellectually capable and old enough to cooperate with the examination.

Intraoperative Management: Administer short-acting muscle relaxants at the lowest dose necessary for facilitating endotracheal intubation and subsequent positioning. Recognize that these agents strongly suppress MEP responses. Place the patient in the prone position carefully to prevent pressure on the face and eyes. Use appropriate prone head positioning devices (e.g., ProneView[®]). If a long surgery that involves a risk of major bleeding is expected, place an invasive arterial pressure line to monitor blood pressure continuously and analyze arterial blood gas parameters at appropriate intervals. Secure two intravenous lines; a 20G or wider-bore line should be reserved for blood transfusion, while the other line is used for continuous anesthetic administration. Surgery for scoliosis correction involves a risk of major bleeding due to the fixation of multiple spinal segments. Use a warming device to prevent hypothermia. General anesthesia with intravenous propofol is the first choice for operations that include MEP monitoring. Inhaled anesthetics can also be used along with opioids, which do not interfere with IONM. In children undergoing MEP monitoring, do not use muscle relaxants. Alternatively, administer minimal doses of muscle relaxants continuously with neuromuscular monitoring. Perform the wake-up test if MEP measurements continually show a significant decrease or no response.

Risk of Major Bleeding: Scoliosis correction involves a risk of major bleeding, which increases the likelihood of allogeneic transfusion. Allogeneic transfusions have potential complications such as infection, fever, transfusionassociated circulatory overload, immunologic reactions, and allergic reactions. Allogeneic transfusions are also associated with a higher incidence of postoperative complications, longer hospital stay, and higher 30-day readmission rates (48). Use of the anti-fibrinolytic agent tranexamic acid may help reduce surgical blood loss (49).

Postoperative Management: Pain management is crucial after posterior spinal fusion in an adolescent with idiopathic scoliosis. This type of surgery may cause severe postoperative pain involving multiple vertebral bodies. Adolescents may have high levels of frustration and dissatisfaction when they are confined to bed with pain. Effective postoperative pain control can facilitate early out-of-bed activities, early postoperative feeding, and shorter hospital stay, thereby increasing patient satisfaction. IV-PCA with fentanyl and morphine is very effective for postoperative pain control.

17.8 Spinal Tumor Surgeries

Spinal cord tumors are classified into intradural (intra and extramedullary) and extradural tumors (Fig. 17.4). Intramedullary spinal cord tumors are the most common and contribute to 35-40% of intraspinal tumors in the pediatric population, including astrocytomas (60%) and ependymomas (30%), the major subtypes. The most common clinical presentation is that of pain along the spinal axis, which, if left unattended, can progress to sensory problems (dysesthesia/paresthesia), motor weakness, and autonomic disturbances (bladder/bowel involvement) depending on the level of the lesion. Young infants may manifest with crying (due to pain) and motor regression of achieved milestones). (loss motor Extramedullary tumors include schwannoma and neurofibroma (benign and generally avascular), meningiomas (usually not involving the nerve roots and rarely occur except in neurofibromatosis), and metastasis. The treatment of spinal tumors is surgical excision. Certain unique characteristics of spinal tumors and the corresponding implications for the neuroanesthesiologists are enlisted in Table 17.5.



Fig. 17.4 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of spinal tumors. (a): Mid-sagittal T2-weighted image of a 2-year-old female child who presented with quadriparesis showing intradural extramedullary (IDEM) mixed signal intensity lesion (white arrow) extending from C3 to C6 with a dural tail with severe spinal cord compression. The lesion was resected successfully and histopathological

examination revealed an atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumor. (b): Sagittal T2-weighted image of a 10-year-old male child who presented with back pain and progressive lower limb weakness demonstrated a hyperintense extradural lesion (white arrow) with lateral displacement of the cord extending from D3 to D7 levels which was successfully resected without any neurological deficits

| Lesion | Characteristics | Anesthetic implications |
|-------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Astrocytoma | Compress and displace white matter tracts with a distinguished plane making their excision easier High-grade malignant tumors (rare) have high vascularity and no definite plane | Neuromonitoring during retraction of the cord Bleeding with malignant tumors |
| Ependymoma | Central location within the cord with symmetric expansion | Gross total excision is possible without high morbidity with the use of neuromonitoring |
| Lipoma | Involvement of multiple segments with no clear plane. The goal of surgery: Decompression of the cord rather than complete excision | Chances of recurrence requiring multiple surgeries |
| Teratoma | Associated with congenital malformations like diastematomyelia, meningomyelocele | Chances of recurrence and requirement of redo surgeries with immature teratomas Associated with neurofibromatosis and may require systemic evaluation preoperatively |
| Oligodendroglioma | Preference for the meningeal spread | Component of intracranial hypertension and fluctuation of symptoms need documentation preoperatively |
| Hemangioblastoma | Associated with von Hippel Lindau syndrome | Evaluation for pheochromocytomas and intracranial tumors Risk of torrential intraoperative bleeding – Preoperative embolization has a role |

Table 17.5 Characteristics of spinal tumors and anesthetic implications

Surgical Considerations in Spine Tumors: Surgery for removal of spine tumors is considered with progressive symptomatology. The major goal of surgery is to remove the lesion with minimal traction on the spinal cord (50). Advances in surgical techniques and the advent of neuromonitoring have resulted in reduced postoperative morbidity. Intraoperative tools like ultrasonography assist the surgeon in localizing solid and cystic components, drainage of cysts, and confirmation of complete removal of the lesion (51). The major considerations in pediatric spine surgeries are:

- 1. Need for spinal fusion: The requirement of multiple-level laminectomies disrupts the spinal sagittal alignment and results in kyphoscoliosis, which is undesirable in growing children. Hence, it is imperative to do laminoplasty or spinal fusion (instrumentation), which results in increased operative time, increased bleeding, and an overall chance of increased morbidity. It is important to note here that there is a class of intramedullary tumors called holocord tumors, extending from the cervicomedullary junction to the conus medullaris. The establishment of spinal stability in such cases may be difficult with the high morbidity rates, as mentioned above. It also compounds the management of postoperative pain due to increased musculoskeletal manipulations.
- Tumors that present caudally (T10–T12 and below) tend to infiltrate the gray matter tracts, usually not seen with rostral tumors, and can result in postoperative neuro-deficits.
- 3. Prior irradiation and multiple surgeries increase the chances of wound dehiscence, adding to the morbidity.
- 4. For IONM in spinal tumors, it is recommended that both SSEP and MEP are used together to increase the sensitivity of the results. However, there are high chances of SSEPs being lost with initial myelotomy and, hence, more dependence on MEP. Several factors like level of lesion (conus: no possibility of distal monitoring as the corticospinal tracts have ended there), dural adhesions, or desynchronization

from previous surgery or irradiation hinder successful monitoring of MEP as well.

17.9 Spinal Vascular Malformations

Spinal vascular malformations encompass cavernous malformations (CM), arteriovenous malformations (AVM), and arteriovenous fistulas (AVF) (52–54). From a surgical perspective, they may be classified as neoplastic, aneurysms, AVM, and AVF, further divided based on the locations: extradural, intradural ventral, and intradural dorsal (55). Their presentation differs from spinal tumors in that acute neurological deficit due to hemorrhage from the lesion is more common compared to the chronic progressive deficit and pain with tumors. Diagnosis is established by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)/ magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) and digital subtraction angiography (DSA). DSA serves for both diagnostic and therapeutic (embolization) purposes. Treatment is usually by surgery, after preoperative embolization in some suitable cases, or by endovascular embolization. Considerations for surgery and anesthesia in these cases are the facilitation of neuromonitoring to detect neurological deficits and control bleeding. In these cases, the unique feature of neuromonitoring is that feedback from monitoring should not compromise the complete resection, considering the possibility of bleeding from residual lesions and the worsening of or development of new neurological deficits. The characteristics of spinal vascular lesions are described in Table 17.6.

17.10 Spinal Surgery for Neurofibromatosis

Neurofibromatosis (NF) covers a wide spectrum of manifestations ranging from neurocutaneous, neurologic, osseous, and soft tissue involvement (56, 57). Spinal deformities (scoliosis being the most common) and bone growth disorders are seen more commonly in NF-1 and intraspinal
| Cavernous | 1. Confined to 1-2 spinal levels |
|---------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| malformation | 2. Low risk of intraoperative |
| | bleeding |
| | 3. Iatrogenic bleed – Slow venous |
| | bleed, easily controlled with |
| | pressure and surface hemostatic |
| | agents |
| Arteriovenous | 1. Rare in children |
| malformation | 2. Supplied by medullary branches of anterior/posterior spinal arteries |
| | 3. Significant risk of hemorrhage |
| | 4. Angiography to identify and |
| | possibly embolize ventral feeders |
| | 5. Surgery: Larger levels of exposure |
| | are required to identify the feeders |
| | reliably |
| Arteriovenous | 1. Seen in neurofibromatosis type 1 |
| fistula | and teratomas |
| | 2. High risk of hemorrhage with high |
| | flow intradural ventral AVF |

 Table 17.6
 Characteristic features of spinal vascular malformations

lesions in either NF-1 or NF-2. Among the two types, manifestations in the pediatric age group are seen mainly in NF-1. Children diagnosed with NF may undergo spine surgeries for scoliosis and spinal tumors like neurofibromas. Manifestations that can hinder the smooth conduct of surgery and anesthesia in these patients include mental retardation, epilepsy, pheochromocytomas, and renal artery stenosis. Plexiform neurofibromas found in NF can have high vascularity due to the plexiform venous channels resulting in increased blood loss during surgery. Increased ligamentous laxity can result in atlantoaxial subluxation and hinder airway management in these patients. Meningiomas, spinal schwannomas, and ependymomas are different tumor types observed in association with NF-2.

17.11 Conclusion

Pediatric patients undergo spine surgeries for several reasons. In-depth knowledge of the pathological condition, the type of procedure to be undertaken, thorough preoperative evaluation, and a detailed discussion with the operating team members, including the surgeon and the neurophysiologist, are essential for the proper conduct of spinal surgery in children. Modifying the anesthetic plan, including airway management, maintenance of anesthesia in the intraoperative period to facilitate neurophysiological monitoring, managing complications, a decision regarding emergence and extubation, and managing postoperative pain are all crucial steps in such cases requiring the expertise of a neuroanesthesiologist.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Tobias JD. Anesthesia for spinal surgery in children. In: Andropoulos DB, Gregory GA, editors. Gregory's pediatric anesthesia. 1st ed. Oxford: Wiley; 2020. p. 714–39.
- Bamaga A, Riazi S, Amburgey K, Halliday W, Guerguerian A, Dowling J, et al. Neuromuscular conditions associated with malignant hyperthermia in paediatric patients: a 25-year retrospective study. Neuromuscul Disord. 2015;25:8259.
- Stevens WR, Glazer PA, Kelley SD, Lietman TM, Bradford DS. Ophthalmic complications after spinal surgery. Spine. 1997;22(12):1319–24.
- Thirumala PD, Crammond DJ, Loke YK, Cheng HL, Huang J, Balzer JR. Diagnostic accuracy of motor evoked potentials to detect neurological deficit during idiopathic scoliosis correction: a systematic review. J Neurosurg Spine. 2017;26(3):374–83.
- Rajshekhar V, Velayutham P, Joseph M, Babu KS. Factors predicting the feasibility of monitoring lower-limb muscle motor evoked potentials in patients undergoing excision of spinal cord tumors: clinical article. J Neurosurg Spine. 2011;14(6):748–53.
- Chen X, Sterio D, Ming X, Para DD, Butusova M, Tong T, et al. Success rate of motor evoked potentials for intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring: effects of age, lesion location, and preoperative neurologic deficits. J Clin Neurophysiol Off Publ Am Electroencephalogr Soc. 2007;24(3):281–5.
- Fulkerson DH, Satyan KB, Wilder LM, Riviello JJ, Stayer SA, Whitehead WE, et al. Intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials in very young children: clinical article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(4):331–7.
- Aydinlar EI, Dikmen PY, Kocak M, Baykan N, Seymen N, Ozek MM. Intraoperative Neuromonitoring of motor-evoked potentials in infants undergoing surgery of the spine and spinal cord. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2019;36(1):60–6.
- Yi YG, Kim K, Shin H-I, Bang MS, Kim H-S, Choi J, et al. Feasibility of intraoperative monitoring of motor evoked potentials obtained through transcranial electrical stimulation in infants younger than 3 months. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;23(6):758–66.

- Morota N. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring of the bulbocavernosus reflex during surgery for conus spinal lipoma: what are the warning criteria? J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;23(5):639–47.
- White JT, Samples DC, Prieto JC, Tarasiewicz I. Systematic review of urologic outcomes from tethered cord release in occult spinal Dysraphism in children. Curr Urol Rep. 2015;16(11):78.
- Polly DWJ, Klemme WR, Fontana JL, Sterbis MD. A modified wake-up test for use in very young children undergoing spinal surgery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2000;20(1):64.
- Govindarajan R, Babalola O, Gad-El-Kareem M, Kodali NS, Aronson J, Abadir A. Intraoperative wakeup test in neonatal neurosurgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2006;16(4):451–3.
- Kalkman CJ, Drummond JC, Ribberink AA, Patel PM, Sano T, Bickford RG. Effects of propofol, etomidate, midazolam, and fentanyl on motor evoked responses to transcranial electrical or magnetic stimulation in humans. Anesthesiology. 1992;76(4):502–9.
- 15. Calderón P, Deltenre P, Stany I, Kaleeta Maalu J-P, Stevens M, Lamoureux J, et al. Clonidine administration during intraoperative monitoring for pediatric scoliosis surgery: effects on central and peripheral motor responses. Neurophysiol Clin Clin Neurophysiol. 2018;48(2):93–102.
- Sloan T. Anesthesia and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(2):227–35.
- Yasuda N, Targ AG, Eger EI, Johnson BH, Weiskopf RB. Pharmacokinetics of Desflurane, sevoflurane, isoflurane, and halothane in pigs. Anesth Analg. 1990;71(4):340–8.
- McFarlan CS, Anderson BJ, Short TG. The use of propofol infusions in paediatric anaesthesia: a practical guide. Paediatr Anaesth. 1999;9(3):209–16.
- Schüttler J, Ihmsen H. Population pharmacokinetics of PropofolA multicenter study. Anesthesiology. 2000;92(3):727–38.
- Allegaert K, Peeters MY, Verbesselt R, Tibboel D, Naulaers G, de Hoon JN, et al. Inter-individual variability in propofol pharmacokinetics in preterm and term neonates. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99(6):864–70.
- Steur RJ, Perez RSGM, Lange JJD. Dosage scheme for propofol in children under 3 years of age. Pediatr Anesth. 2004;14(6):462–7.
- Sloan TB, Toleikis JR, Toleikis SC, Koht A. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during spine surgery with total intravenous anesthesia or balanced anesthesia with 3% desflurane. J Clin Monit Comput. 2015;29(1):77–85.
- 23. Yang J, Huang Z, Shu H, Chen Y, Sun X, Liu W, et al. Improving successful rate of transcranial electrical motor-evoked potentials monitoring during spinal surgery in young children. Eur Spine J. 2012;21(5):980–4.
- Cheng JS, Ivan ME, Stapleton CJ, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gupta N, Auguste KI. Intraoperative changes in

transcranial motor evoked potentials and somatosensory evoked potentials predicting outcome in children with intramedullary spinal cord tumors: clinical article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13(6):591–9.

- Fudickar A, Bein B. Propofol infusion syndrome: update of clinical manifestation and pathophysiology. Minerva Anestesiol. 2009;75(5):339–44.
- Hochleitner BW, Menardi G, Häussler B, Ulmer H, Kofler H, Reider N. Spina bifida as an independent risk factor for sensitization to latex. J Urol. 2001;166(6):2370–3.
- Yeh WSC, Kiohara PR, Soares ISC, Carmona MJC, Rocha FT, Galvão CES. Prevalence of sensitivity signals to latex in Meningomyelocele patients undergoing multiple surgical procedures. Braz J Anesthesiol. 2012;62(1):56–62.
- Hepner DL, Castells MC. Latex allergy: an update. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:1219–29.
- Patten BM. Embryological stages in the establishing og Myeloschisis with spina bifida. Am J Anat. 1953;93:365–95.
- van Zundert A, Kuczkowski KM, Tijssen F, Weber E. Direct laryngoscopy and endotracheal intubation in the prone position following traumatic thoracic spine injury. J Anesth. 2008;22(2):170–2.
- Okamoto A, Inoue S, Terada Y, Kawaguchi M, Furuya H. Anesthetic considerations for cervical myelomeningocele in an infant. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009;19(2):192–3.
- Finn MA, Walker ML. Spinal lipomas: clinical spectrum, embryology, and treatment. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;23(2):1–12.
- 33. Morioka T, Murakami N, Shimogawa T, Mukae N, Hashiguchi K, Suzuki SO, et al. Neurosurgical management and pathology of lumbosacral lipomas with tethered cord. Neuropathol Off J Jpn Soc Neuropathol. 2017;37(5):385–92.
- Pang D. Surgical management of complex spinal cord lipomas: how, why, and when to operate. A review: JNSPG 75th anniversary invited review article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2019;23(5):537–56.
- Sala F, Squintani G, Tramontano V, Arcaro C, Faccioli F, Mazza C. Intraoperative neurophysiology in tethered cord surgery: techniques and results. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29(9):1611–24.
- Ireland PJ, Pacey V, Zankl A, Edwards P, Johnston LM, Savarirayan R. Optimal management of complications associated with achondroplasia. Appl Clin Genet. 2014;7:117–25.
- Pauli RM, Breed A, Horton VK, Glinski LP, Reiser CA. Prevention of fixed, angular kyphosis in achondroplasia. J Pediatr Orthop. 1997;17(6):726–33.
- Misra SN, Morgan HW. Thoracolumbar spinal deformity in achondroplasia. Neurosurg Focus. 2003;14(1):e4.
- Janicki JA, Alman B. Scoliosis: review of diagnosis and treatment. Paediatr Child Health. 2007;12(9):771–6.
- Sponseller PD, Sethi N, Cameron DE, Pyeritz RE. Infantile scoliosis in Marfan syndrome. Spine. 1997;22(5):509–16.

- Theiss SM, Smith MD, Winter RB. The long-term follow-up of patients with Klippel-Feil syndrome and congenital scoliosis. Spine. 1997;22(11):1219–22.
- Kim HW, Weinstein SL. Spine update. The management of scoliosis in neurofibromatosis. Spine. 1997;22(23):2770–6.
- Milbrandt TA, Johnston CE. Down syndrome and scoliosis: a review of a 50-year experience at one institution. Spine. 2005;30(18):2051–5.
- 44. Herlich A, Drum ET. 5 anesthesia for pediatric spine surgery. In: Kim DH, editor. Surgery of the pediatric spine. New York, NY: Thieme; 2008. p. 57–64.
- Ridgeway S, Tai C, Alton P, Barnardo P, Harrison DJ. Pre-donated autologous blood transfusion in scoliosis surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2003;85-B(7):1032–6.
- 46. Bowen RE, Gardner S, Scaduto AA, Eagan M, Beckstead J. Efficacy of intraoperative cell salvage systems in pediatric idiopathic scoliosis patients undergoing posterior spinal fusion with segmental spinal instrumentation. Spine. 2010;35(2):246–51.
- Weiss JM, Skaggs D, Tanner J, Tolo V. Cell saver: is it beneficial in scoliosis surgery? J Child Orthop. 2007;1(4):221–7.
- 48. Elsamadicy AA, Adogwa O, Vuong VD, Mehta AI, Vasquez RA, Cheng J, et al. Association of Intraoperative Blood Transfusions on postoperative complications, 30-day readmission rates, and 1-year patient-reported outcomes. Spine. 2017;42(8):610–5.

- Slattery C, Kark J, Wagner T, Verma K. The use of tranexamic acid to reduce surgical blood loss. Clin Spine Surg. 2019;32(2):46–50.
- Jea A, Bhatia S, Ragheb J. 21 intramedullary spinal cord tumors. In: Kim DH, editor. Surgery of the pediatric spine. New York, NY: Thieme; 2008. p. 259–77.
- Nadkarni TD, Rekate HL. Pediatric intramedullary spinal cord tumors. Critical review of the literature. Childs Nerv Syst ChNS Off J Int Soc Pediatr Neurosurg. 1999;15(1):17–28.
- Scarff TB, Reigel DH. Arteriovenous malformations of the spinal cord in children. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1979;5(3):341–51.
- Song D, Garton HJL, Fahim DK, Maher CO. Spinal cord vascular malformations in children. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2010 Jul;21(3):503–10.
- 54. Maher CO, Smith E, Proctor M, Scott RM. 26 vascular malformations of the spinal cord. In: Kim DH, editor. Surgery of the pediatric spine. New York, NY: Thieme; 2008. p. 337–43.
- Spetzler RF, Detwiler PW, Riina HA, Porter RW. Modified classification of spinal cord vascular lesions. J Neurosurg. 2002 Mar;96(2 Suppl):145–56.
- Yaghmai I. Spine changes in neurofibromatosis. Radiographics. 1986 Mar;6(2):261–85.
- Tsirikos AI, Saifuddin A, Noordeen MH. Spinal deformity in neurofibromatosis type-1: diagnosis and treatment. Eur Spine J. 2005 Jun;14(5):427–39.

18

Craniosynostosis and Anesthetic Concerns

Karen Ruby Lionel <a>b, Ajay Prasad Hrishi <a>b, and Neeraja Ajayan <a>b

Key Points

- Craniosynostosis is a developmental anomaly attributed to the abnormal, non-physiologic, and premature fusion of one or more cranial sutures resulting in an abnormally shaped skull.
- This cranial deformity gradually progresses resulting in restricted brain growth and raised intracranial pressure leading to a neurocognitive decline.
- Surgical correction aims to restore an "acceptable" normal appearance of the skull and increase the intracranial volume to allow space for the rapidly growing brain.
- Syndromic craniosynostosis is associated with other system involvement, such as cardiac septal defects or skeletal abnormalities, which need to be evaluated before anesthesia.
- Since invasive and open surgeries are associated with hemodynamic changes attributed to massive blood loss, fluid shifts, and risk for venous air embolism, it is essential to be vigi-

K. R. Lionel

A. P. Hrishi (⊠) · N. Ajayan Division of Neuroanesthesia and Critical Care, Department of Anaesthesia, Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Sciences and Technology (SCTIMST), Trivandrum, India e-mail: drajay@sctimst.ac.in; drneerajaajayan@ sctimst.ac.in lant and maintain cardiovascular stability throughout the entire procedure.

 Meticulous care during the perioperative period with regard to airway management, positioning and optimal intraoperative complication management plays a significant role in ascertaining good postoperative outcomes.

18.1 Introduction

Craniosynostosis is a developmental anomaly attributed to the abnormal, non-physiologic, and premature fusion of one or more cranial sutures resulting in an abnormally shaped skull. Apart from the cranial dysmorphism, children with craniosynostosis have associated craniofacial anomalies such as mid-face hypoplasia, proptosis, and hypertelorism [1]. Virchow (1851) stated that when a cranial suture is fused, the bone growth at right angles to the affected suture is restricted, resulting in a compensatory growth that occurs parallel to this suture, allowing for continued brain growth, but attributing to the abnormal head shape [2]. The prevalence of craniosynostosis ranges from 3 to 5 per 10,000 births [3–5]. Dr. Paul Tessier, the father of modern craniofacial surgery, pioneered the surgical treatment of craniofacial dysmorphism associated with craniosynostosis. Advances in surgical techniques and neuroanesthetic refinements over the past century have resulted in dramatic

Check for updates

Department of Neuroanesthesia, Christian Medical College, Vellore, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_18

decreases in perioperative complications with significant improvements in cosmetic, neurodevelopmental, and psychosocial outcomes in children with craniosynostosis.

The children usually present with complaints of an abnormally shaped head, protruding eyes, and abnormal facies. Uncorrected craniosynostosis results in progression of the cranial deformity giving rise to the following complications:

- Cranial growth restriction leads to decreased intracranial volume resulting in increased intracranial pressure (ICP). ICP may be further increased due to associated abnormalities in cerebral venous drainage, obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) with elevated central venous pressures, and hydrocephalus, especially when multiple sutures are affected [6, 7].
- Psychosocial implications due to the deformity as the child interacts with peers.
- Neurodevelopmental issues attributed to cognitive impairment due to impeded brain growth and development as well as a consequence of increased ICP [8].

18.2 Embryology and Anatomical Variations of Craniosynostosis

The development of the skull starts from the 23rd day of intrauterine gestation [9]. Adjacent bones of the skull are separated by designated spaces called sutures. These sutures serve to allow molding of the skull, which plays an essential role during normal childbirth and helps accommodate the rapid growth of the infant's brain. Embryologically, the skull develops from the neurocranium, which has a membranous part that forms the skull vault and the cartilaginous part that forms the skull base. The normal anatomy of the sutures and fontanelles is illustrated in Fig. 18.1.

The closure of the posterior fontanelle occurs at 2-3 months of age, the sphenoidal fontanelle at 6 months, the mastoid fontanelle at 6-18 months, and the anterior fontanelle is the last to close

between 12 and 18 months after birth. The metopic suture typically starts to close at the age of 2 years. The sagittal suture begins to close after 22 years, the coronal suture after 24 years, and the lambdoid after 26 years. It is within the normal range for them not to fully close until the age of 40 years.

There is premature closure of sutures in children with craniosynostosis, leading to restriction of growth of skull bones along the suture lines attributing to various skull deformities (Table 18.1), schematically described in Fig. 18.2.

18.3 Classification of Craniosynostosis

The etiologic classification and the common causes are illustrated in Fig. 18.3.

(a) Non-syndromic Craniosynostosis.

When premature fusion of calvarial sutures occurs as an isolated condition not associated with any syndrome, it is termed non-syndromic craniosynostosis, seen in 80% of cases [10]. Non-syndromic craniosynostosis commonly affects only one suture. The most common type of craniosynostosis, scaphocephaly, involves only the sagittal suture (50% of cases) [11, 12]. The second most common type is plagiocephaly, attributed to the fusion of only the coronal suture (20% of cases). The premature fusion of only metopic suture results in trigonocephaly, contributing to 10% of the cases. These non-syndromic craniosynostoses have an autosomal dominant inheritance in 6–14% of cases [11].

(b) Syndromic Craniosynostosis.

Syndromic craniosynostosis accounts for 20% of craniosynostosis cases and has been described as part of over 150 syndromes [13, 14]. Muenke, Crouzon's, and Apert's syndrome are the most commonly associated syndromes (Fig. 18.4); while, Pfeiffer, Saethre-Chotzen, and Carpenter are worth the mention. These syndromes are commonly associated with other facial anomalies such as micrognathia and midfacial hypoplasia leading to obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) attributing to anesthetic concerns



Fig. 18.1 Anatomy of sutures and fontanelles. Source: Wikimedia; permission was obtained for use the picture. Visit link: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/deed.en

| Table 18.1 | Types of craniosynosto | sis |
|------------|------------------------|------|
| Deformity | (meanings from Greek) | Suti |

| Deformity (meanings from Greek) | Suture(s) involved |
|---------------------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Dolichocephaly (dolikhos meaning long) | Sagittal |
| Scaphocephaly (scaphe meaning boat) | Sagittal |
| Brachycephaly (braku meaning short) | Bicoronal |
| Anterior plagiocephaly (plagios meaning oblique) | Unicoronal |
| Turricephaly (turri meaning | Bilateral |
| tower) | lambdoid |
| Turribrachycephaly | Coronal+ |
| ("tower" + brachycephaly) | sagittal+ |
| | lambdoid |
| Posterior plagiocephaly/ | Unilateral |
| pachycephaly | lambdoid |
| Trigonocephaly (trigonos meaning three angles) | Metopic |
| Oxycephaly (oxys meaning | Sagittal + coronal |
| sharp) | + metopic |
| Kleeblattschädel (Kleeblatt | Sagittal + coronal |
| meaning cloverleaf; schadel | + lambdoid |
| meaning skull) ^a | pansynostosis |
| | |

^aIn German

of difficult mask ventilation, difficult intubation, as well as the need for postoperative care in an intensive care unit (ICU) to monitor for apneic episodes. Children with syndromic craniosynostosis have other associated systemic involvements (Table 18.2). This warrants careful evaluation and optimization during the perioperative period.

18.4 Diagnosis of Craniosynostosis

The diagnosis is usually made based on the phenotype of skull deformation (Fig. 18.2). For further evaluation, a computed tomographic (CT) scan and 3D bone reconstruction is done, allowing accurate diagnosis of specific suture involvement; facilitating surgical planning. Careful screening for systemic pathologies should also be done, particularly in children with syndromic craniosynostosis (Table 18.2).

18.5 Surgical Management of Craniosynostosis

18.5.1 Indications for Surgery

If left untreated, the cranial deformity in craniosynostosis gradually progresses, resulting in restricted brain growth and the dreadful consequences of raised ICP. Surgical correction aims to restore an "acceptable" normal appearance of the skull and increase the intracranial volume to allow space for the rapidly growing brain. Surgical interventions have attributed to a better cosmetic, neurodevelopmental, and psychosocial outcome in these children [15, 16].

It is essential to operate on these children for the following indications:



Fig. 18.2 Schematic diagram showing the commonly encountered craniofacial deformities. Source: Senarath-Yapa K, Chung MT, McArdle A, et al. (2012). Available via license: CC BY 4.0



Fig. 18.3 Etiological classification of craniosynostosis

- *Functional:* Restriction of brain growth leads to developmental delay and features of raised ICP and progressive visual loss.
- Cosmetic: As the child matures, the abnormally shaped skull will be a source of low self-esteem and body image, leading to psychological stress.
- *Emergency surgery* is indicated when children present with an imminent threat to vision, airway, or an acute and symptomatic increase in ICP.

18.5.2 Surgical Options

Surgical correction is directed at reshaping the cranial vault and thus, increasing the cranial volume allowing for normal brain development.

The surgical procedure can be classified into invasive or open surgery and minimally invasive or endoscopic surgery.

(a) Open Surgery for Craniosynostosis.



Fig. 18.4 (a) Apert's syndrome facies: front-on (a1) and lateral view (a2). (b) Crouzon's syndrome: front-on (b1) and lateral view (b2) (with permission from the parents of the children for publication of the images)

- Total Calvarial Reconstruction, Frontoorbital Advancement, and Remodeling: This is the traditional method of surgical treatment where a bicoronal craniotomy is performed and the malleable skull bone is removed, reshaped, and replaced on the deformed portions of the bony convexity, including the fused suture. Surgery is carried out by a team of neurosurgeons aided by craniofacial surgeons (Fig. 18.5).
- **Cranial Distraction**: This is indicated in children with a normal skull shape but with pansynostosis. A biparietal-occipital craniotomy is performed, and distractors are implanted in the cut bone. The screws placed are turned at 1 mm per day for 30 days over a three month period. This results in a distraction of 3 cm, an adequate increase in intracranial volume. After this period of 3 months, distractors are removed, and skin is closed as an office procedure.

- (b) Minimally Invasive Surgery or Endoscopic surgery.
- Strip Craniectomy with Use of Postoperative Molding Helmet: The fused sutures are excised in order to unlock the bone, and reshaping is carried out with a cranial molding helmet. This requires the child to wear the helmet for 23 h/day up to the age of 1 [17, 18].
- Strip Craniectomy with Spring Implantation: The fused sutures are excised to unlock the bone, and reshaping is carried out with the assistance of implanted custommade springs. A second surgery is done after 3 months for spring removal [19, 20].

18.5.3 Timing of Surgery

The timing of surgical intervention is controversial. The decision to operate between the age of 6

| | Genetic mutation | Inheritance | | |
|---------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Syndrome | locus | pattern | Incidence | Associated features |
| Apert's syndrome (acrocephalosyndactyly) | FGFR2 (chromosome 10) | Mostly sporadic de novo mutations and autosomal dominant | 1 in 65,000 | Midface hypoplasia, cleft palate, maxillary retrusion, proptosis, syndactyly, hypertelorism |
| Crouzon syndrome | FGFR2 (chromosome 10) | Mostly sporadic and autosomal dominant | 1 in 60,000 | Midface hypoplasia, hypertelorism, strabismus, proptosis, maxillary retrusion, beaked nose, cervical spine abnormalities (present in 1/3) |
| Muenke syndrome | FGFR3 (chromosome 4) | Autosomal dominant, 61% de novo mutations | 0.8–1 in 10,000 | Ptosis, unicoronal or bicoronal synostosis, hypertelorism, high- arched palate, abnormalities of phalanges without syndactyly, facial asymmetry |
| Pfeiffer syndrome | FGFR 1 (chromosome 8), FGFR2 (chromosome 10) | Autosomal dominant, de novo mutations | 1 in 100,000 | Maxillary retrusion, midface hypoplasia, nasopharyngeal stenosis, hypertelorism, proptosis, strabismus, partial syndactyly, cartilaginous tracheal sleeve, beaked nose, hearing loss, broad thumbs and great toes, radiohumeral synostosis of elbow, hydrocephalus, imperforate anus may occur |
| Saethre-Chotzen syndrome | TWIST (chromosome 7) | Familial and autosomal dominant | 1 in 25,000– 50,000 | Short stature, hypertelorism, hearing loss, facial asymmetry, low frontal hairline, mild partial syndactyly, ptosis, usually normal intelligence |
| Carpenter syndrome | RAB23 (RAS-associated protein) | Autosomal recessive | 1 in 1,000,000 | Midface hypoplasia low set ears, high-arched palate, flat nasal bridge, shallow orbital ridges, limb defects (pre-axial polydactyly), hypogonadism, omphalocele. Up to 50% have cardiac defects (ASD, VSD, PDA, PS, TOF, TGA) |

Table 18.2 Common syndromic craniosynostosis and its associated systemic features

and 12 months is based on the fact that rapid brain growth occurs during this time when the brain weight doubles by the sixth month of life and head circumference is halfway to full growth at about 8 months of age [21]. Minimally invasive surgical techniques such as extended strip craniectomy and, subsequent, helmet molding therapy, which relies on early rapid brain growth to drive remodeling, are sometimes considered from 3 to 6 months of age. Early surgery is advocated since the skull is more malleable with softer bone, and the ongoing brain growth is not compromised. The disadvantages of an early presentation (<6 months of age) for surgery are the increased inherent risks of anesthesia, reduced physiological blood reserve, increased incidence of restenosis rate, and poorer resolution of the cephalic index. Surgery at a later day assures a safer clinical course during anesthesia and surgery, as well as a lower requirement for a re-surgery. The disadvantages of delayed surgery are that the bone is less malleable, deformities may be more severe, and the skull has a reduced ability to ossify defects, thus requiring bone grafts [22]. Invasive surgeries are more complex procedures with an increased risk of complications such as massive blood loss, venous air embolism (VAE) along with the perils associated with a prolonged duration of surgery. These children also require postoperative admission to the ICU. Thus, invasive surgeries are ideally recommended for children after 6 months of age [23].

18.6 Anesthetic Management

18.6.1 Preoperative Concerns

(a) **Preoperative** Multidisciplinary Evaluation.

Since the cosmetic and functional prerequisites vary widely between each child affected by craniosynostosis, treatment has to be individualized. The team involves an anesthesiologist, neurosurgeon, a plastic and reconstructive surgeon, pediatric neurologist, child psychologist, otolaryngologist, a pediatric cardiologist, and an intensive care physician. Apart from these, the craniofacial team requires an audiologist, orthodontist, ophthalmologist, genetic experts and counselors, occupational and physical therapists, and pediatric nurses to make the treatment holistic [24, 25].

(b) Airway Assessment and Risk Evaluation for Need for Surgical Airway and Postoperative Ventilation.

Careful preoperative airway assessment is vital to the successful management of a difficult airway. This allows adequate time for forethought and stepwise execution of the plan for induction and intubation. Syndromic craniosynostosis is associated with difficult mask ventilation and intubation. Pre-anesthetic assessment must focus on features such as proptosis, mid-facial hypoplasia, and choanal atresia, which could contribute to difficult mask ventilation. Features such as adeno-tonsillar laryngo-tracheo-bronchomalahypertrophy, cia subglottic stenosis, laryngeal cleft, and vocal fold paresis are commonly associated with OSA and difficult intubation. Syndromic craniosynostosis, especially Crouzon's syndrome, is associated with cervical spine abnormalities and atlantoaxial dislocation (AAD); therefore, care should be taken to avoid excessive cervical spine movements during intubation and positioning. Similar concerns exist in Apert's syndrome, wherein the cervical vertebrae are fused, thereby restricting cervical spine movements. In patients presenting for midface advancement and reconstruction surgeries, a preoperatively planned tracheostomy is recommended. Other options are the submental or the retromolar intubation with reinforced flexometallic tubes.

Children with facial anomalies may present for cranial reconstruction surgery post-frontofacial advancement procedures. In such children, intubation will be difficult as a result of the altered relationships between the maxilla and mandible and reduced temporomandibular joint movement. An elective tracheostomy or fiber-



Fig. 18.5 Total calvarial reconstruction and fronto-orbital advancement (a), and remodeling (b)

optic intubation (FOI) needs to be considered in such scenarios.

Children with syndromic craniosynostosis are at risk for OSA syndrome (OSAS) [13]. OSA is associated with adenotonsillar hypertrophy, laryngo-tracheo-bronchomalacia, subglottic stenosis, laryngeal cleft, and vocal fold paresis. Various screening methods, such as the Brouillette questionnaire and scoring system, have been used as screening questionnaires for OSA [26]. However, polysomnography remains the gold standard for diagnosis [27]. Depending on the severity of OSAS as shown by the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) and an oxygenation desaturation index (ODI), noninvasive methods of ventilatory support such as continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) or bilevel positive airway pressure (BiPAP) or invasive methods such as a tracheostomy may be planned, for appropriate postoperative airway management. The risks and plans made must be communicated with the parents and the rest of the caregiving team. As per the craniosynostosis guidelines, it is strongly recommended to postpone surgery if there is a recent upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) as airway infections are associated with complications [28].

(c) Systemic Evaluation and Preoperative Concerns.

Syndromic craniosynostosis is associated with other systems involvement, such as cardiac septal defects or skeletal abnormalities, which need to be evaluated before anesthesia. Preoperative echocardiography is warranted to evaluate the cardiac status and screen for patent foramen ovale (PFO) and other congenital defects. Apert's syndrome is characterized by fused digits of the hands and feet, making intravenous (IV) access challenging (Fig. 18. 6). Children with syndromic craniosynostosis are highly prone to recurrent lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) and bronchospasm in the perioperative period. This is due to the lower airway compromise caused by stiff or vertically fused tracheal rings and the accumulation of secretions.

Raised ICP is seen in syndromic children with multiple suture involvement; 50% of children with compound craniosynostosis and 15–20% of children with simple craniosynostosis present with features of raised ICP [17, 21]. These features of raised ICP, can be attributed to multiple factors such as malunion of the skull bones resulting in a rigid skull box, OSA causing hypercapnia leading to increased cerebral blood flow (CBF), abnormal cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) circulation, and hydrocephalus.

(d) Baseline Hematological Evaluation and Optimization.

Hematological, biochemical, and coagulation profiles have to be done routinely during the preoperative period for adequate planning. Optimization of preoperative anemia is recommended by iron supplement and erythropoietin administration (EPO). The dose of EPO recommended is 600–200–100 U/kg, once to thrice a week, encouraged during 3 weeks preceding the elective surgery [29, 30].



Fig. 18.6 Limb defects seen in Apert's syndrome

18.6.2 Intraoperative Management of Craniosynostosis

(a) Mandatory Precautions.

The following things are mandatory before initiating the procedure:

- Checklists: The use of pre- and postoperative checklists and the time-out procedure before the start of surgery add to the safety of the entire perioperative process.
- Adequate blood and blood products must be cross-matched and readily available. The blood bank duty doctor must be intimated about the surgery and the possibility of activation of massive transfusion protocols.
- Availability of the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) bed and mechanical ventilator should be ensured. Due to the increased complexity and duration of the procedure planned in a relatively small child, certain patients may require elective postoperative ventilation. Even if the child is fit for tracheal extubation, it is safer to monitor the patient in the PICU during the postoperative period.
- (b) Intraoperative Concerns.
- Pediatric patient presenting for a prolonged and complex neurosurgical procedure.
- Difficult airway management in a syndromic child.
- Intraoperative patient positioning.
- Prevention and management of increases in ICP and preservation of the uninjured brain by providing brain relaxation during surgery.
- Maintenance of cerebral homeostasis with adequate cerebral perfusion and appropriate ventilation.

The anesthesiologist is faced with the multiple challenges of managing an infant with a developing central nervous system (CNS), an immature liver, and renal systems with altered response to drugs and impaired thermoregulation. Conventionally, neurosurgical operating rooms (ORs) have temperatures of 18–21 °C; However, in these cases, the theater's ambient temperature should be maintained at 24–27 °C before induction of anesthesia to prevent hypothermia. Drugs must be diluted and kept ready according to the weight of the child and equipment required for securing a difficult airway as well as difficult venous access must be available. Smooth induction and careful anesthesia maintenance are mandatory to prevent a further rise in ICP in children with reduced intracranial volume. IV or inhalational induction can be chosen subjectively based on the difficulty of mask ventilation and the ease of securing venous access.

(c) Airway Management.

Airway management in this subgroup of patients should preferably be dealt with by an experienced anesthesiologist. Non-syndromic children with craniosynostosis usually present with no difficulties in mask ventilation or tracheal intubation, whereas the syndromic children may present with difficulties. A surgical team is kept on standby if the need arises for a front of neck airway access in case of a failed intubation. Due to the difficulty in mask ventilation and associated congenital systemic anomalies, these children tend to desaturate faster than the normal population. Mask ventilation is a challenge due to the presence of proptosis, mid-facial hypoplasia, and choanal atresia. Small nares and a degree of choanal stenosis cause high resistance to airflow through the nasal route. Since most of these children are obligate mouth-breathers, after induction of anesthesia with a mouth closed and increased resistance offered by the choanal atresia, mask ventilation may become very difficult. To overcome this, the mouth is kept open with an oral airway, and the mask is held inversely to overcome the mid-facial hypoplasia, thus enabling mask ventilation. Associated structural abnormalities of the airway such as adenotonsillar hypertrophy, laryngo-tracheo-bronchomalacia, subglottic stenosis, laryngeal cleft, and vocal fold paresis make tracheal intubation difficult. In children with tracheomalacia, a smaller-size endotracheal tube is preferred. Children with syndromic craniosynostosis may have associated spine abnormalities, restricting the neck extension, further contributing to difficult intubation.

A planned fiber-optic intubation is optimal in children with craniofacial and cervical spine abnormalities. A pediatric D-blade CMAC videolaryngoscope may also be beneficial in establishing the airway in children with limited neck extension and in the presence of an anteriorly placed larynx [31]. In children in whom mid-face advancement (LeFort III and monobloc procedures) is considered, a planned preoperative tracheostomy is done, or other options such as the submental or the retromolar intubation with reinforced flexometallic tubes need to be considered after consultation with the surgical team. After tracheal intubation, the tube position should be checked with the head flexed and extended to prevent accidental endobronchial intubation or extubation during positioning.

(d) Monitoring and Anesthetic Management.

Apart from the routine monitors such as pulse oximetry, ECG, noninvasive blood pressure (BP), end-tidal carbon dioxide ($EtCO_2$), temperature, precordial Doppler and urine output, invasive monitoring is advocated. Invasive monitors include central venous access and an invasive arterial line to monitor beat-to-beat variations in the BP. These invasive monitors play an essential role in the early detection and management of intraoperative complications such as massive blood loss, VAE, as well as electrolyte and acid-base abnormalities.

A balanced anesthetic technique, which ensures cardiovascular stability with inhalational anesthetic (preferably sevoflurane), opioids (fentanyl and morphine), and intermediate-acting muscle relaxants (atracurium and cis-atracurium), is advocated. Remifentanil infusion (0.25– 0.5µg/kg/min) has also been well described [32, 33]. Scalp block with 0.2% ropivacaine or 0.25% levobupivacaine provides good intraoperative pain relief and has the advantage of providing postoperative analgesia as well [34].

(e) Patient Positioning.

Careful positioning allows for good surgical access as well as avoidance of related complications. Depending on the fused suture site, the child may be positioned supine with a reverse-Trendelenburg tilt or prone or in a modified prone position (sphinx position) [35]. In the "sphinx position," the child is positioned prone with the neck extended so that the chin rests on a support. Owing to the higher rate of perioperative complications such as VAE and hyperextension of the cervical spine, this position has fallen out of vogue in the recent past. Figure 18. 7 shows the precautionary measures taken prior to positioning for surgery. Care must be taken to prevent hyperextension of the neck, which may result in spinal cord injury and quadriplegia. In any position adopted, the eyes must be well protected. In cases of fronto-orbital advancement where there is an extensive dissection of the orbit, the eyes must be covered with a waterproof transparent dressing. In the prone position, care should be taken to avoid pressure on the eyes, and they must be well-padded and protected. The head should be kept, as much as possible, in the neutral position without hyperflexion or rotation to facilitate venous drainage from the brain.

(f) Intraoperative Complications.

Since invasive and open surgeries are associated with hemodynamic changes attributed to massive blood loss, fluid shifts and VAE, it is essential to maintain cardiovascular stability throughout the whole procedure. This can be achieved with adequate replacement of fluids and timely administration of blood and blood products. Complications like VAE leading to hemodynamic compromise must be detected early and treated appropriately, thus maintaining cerebral homeostasis.

• ICP Management.

Care should be taken to detect and manage scenarios resulting in an increase in ICP, such as light plane of anesthesia, inadequate analgesia, coughing on the endotracheal tube, full bladder, hypercarbia, and hyperthermia. During open surgeries such as strip cranioplasty and fronto-orbital advancement, it is crucial to provide adequate brain relaxation to prevent retraction injury. This is usually facilitated by using a single dose of an osmotic diuretic such as mannitol at a dose of 0.5 mg/kg given at the time of the craniotomy.

• Massive Blood Loss and Transfusion.

Invasive correction surgeries for craniosynostosis are associated with massive blood loss (Fig. 18.8), often exceeding 20–500% of the blood volume requiring massive transfusion; attributing to significant transfusion-related morbidity and mortality [36, 37]. The apposite management of massive blood loss in a patient with an age-related small circulating volume within a short period of time poses an anesthetic challenge [10]. Estimation of blood loss with adequate and appropriate



Fig. 18.7 Shows precautionary steps before positioning for craniosynostosis repair. (a) Securing the endotracheal tube, oral temperature probe, and eye covers with transparent adhesive plasters. (b) The central venous line has

replacement is vital for good perioperative outcomes. Each institution has its protocols for crossmatching and transfusion of blood and blood products. Coagulation profile and platelet counts need to be monitored during the intraoperative period in the event of massive blood loss. Often the estimation of blood loss is inaccurate due to been secured with the lumens facing caudal to facilitate access. (c) Final position for surgery on a head ring (with permission from the parents for the publication of images)

concealed bleeding under the surgical drapes [38, 39]. The methods by which blood loss and replacement calculations are made in the intraoperative period are explained in Table 18.3 [40].

Various blood conservation strategies have been tried in perioperative settings [Table 18.4]. Intraoperative strategies to minimize blood loss



Fig. 18.8 Continuous oozing of the blood from the surgical field during reconstructive cranioplasty

are appropriate positioning of the head, reverse-Trendelenburg to facilitate venous drainage from the scalp, infiltration of the skin with vasoconstrictors before incision, and use of antifibrinolytics. Tranexamic acid administration has been shown to significantly decrease the amount of blood loss and blood transfusion in children undergoing corrective surgery for craniosynostosis. The dose of tranexamic acid used is 20 mg/kg bolus over 15 min, followed by an infusion at 1–2 mg/kg/h or 5 mg/kg every 3 h [40]. A bolus of epsilon-aminocaproic acid (EACA), 100 mg/kg followed by 20-40 mg/kg/h, has been advocated as an alternative to tranexamic acid [41]. The use of continuous autotransfusion system (CATS) has also been shown to reduce homologous transfusion during the repair of craniosynostosis [42].

Risk factors for massive blood loss are synpansynostosis, dromic craniosynostosis, age < 18 months, and long duration procedures (>4 h) [36]. Point-of-care (POC) tests such as thromboelastography (TEG) or thromboelastometry (ROTEM) have been advocated for the precise management of massive blood transfusion and the titration of blood products [41]. Massive blood loss predisposes to depletion of coagulation factors and platelets, resulting in a consumptive and dilutional coagulopathy, which may need to be treated with cryoprecipitate, fresh frozen plasma, or platelets as guided by POC tests [43, 44]. Administration of cold blood results in hypothermia, which further contributes to the coagulopathy by causing a

| Table 18.3 | Intraoperative | blood loss | and | replacement |
|--------------|------------------|--------------------------|-----|-------------|
| calculations | in craniosynoste | osis [<mark>40</mark>] | | |

| Estimated blood volume (EBV) = |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------|
| 80 ml/kg for infants younger than 12 months |
| 75 ml/kg for children older than 12 months |
| Estimated Red Cell Volume (ERCV) = Estimated |
| Blood Volume (EBV) × Hematocrit/100 |
| $EBV_{lost} (ml/kg) = ERCV_{lost} (ml)/[wt (kg) \times$ |
| Preoperative hematocrit/100] |
| ERCV lost = ERCV preoperative + ERCV transfused |
| - ERCV postoperative |
| ERCV transfused $=$ PRBC (ml) transfused \times |
| Hematocrit of transfused PRBC/100 |
| Hematocrit for packed cells = 0.65 |
| |

 Table
 18.4
 Blood
 conservation
 strategies
 in

 craniosynostosis

Blood conservation strategies

- · Perioperative recombinant erythropoietin
- · Acute normovolemic haemodilution
- · Intraoperative cell salvage
- Antifibrinolytic drugs: Tranexamic acid, epsilonaminocaproic acid (EACA)
- Fibrin sealants or fibrin glue
- Postoperative cell salvage

10% decrease in the coagulation factor levels for every degree of fall in the temperature. Furthermore, hypocalcemia due to citrate overload and acidosis resulting from massive blood transfusion may worsen the coagulopathy. Since massive blood transfusion is expected in such children, it is wise to secure two peripheral venous accesses to administer blood rather than use central venous access for this purpose. This allows the high potassium content and the citrate to mix and get diluted before it returns to the heart.

• Venous Air Embolism.

The incidence of VAE is 2.6 to 86%, based on the monitoring modality; clinically significant VAE is encountered in 1-2% of patients [12, 45, 46]. VAE is common due to the open diploic veins of the skull, the reverse-Trendelenburg position, which facilitates the sucking in of air since the head is at a higher level as compared to the heart, massive bleeding with continuous ooze from the operative site, and the proximity to the venous sinuses.

Hypothermia.

Intraoperatively, a large surface area of the infant scalp, with its high perfusion is exposed to the ambient temperature. The effects of anesthesia, OR environment, and transfusion of large volumes of fluids, blood, and blood products put the infant at risk for hypothermia. Blood is stored at a temperature between 2 and 6 °C, whereas FFP is stored at -40 °C. These products should be administered through a warmer to prevent hypothermia. In addition, measures such as the use of fluid warmers, overhead radiant lights, forced air convection blankets, and circulating warm water mattresses are different methods utilized to prevent hypothermia.

Electrolyte Abnormalities.

Intraoperative electrolyte abnormalities such as hypocalcemia (due to citrate toxicity), hyponatremia, hyperkalemia, and metabolic acidosis are attributed to the massive blood transfusion and fluid shifts. These abnormalities need to be corrected with care; it is important to remember that an infant is not just a "small adult". Hyponatremia may also occur due to the cerebral salt wasting syndrome (CSWS) [47]. It has to be differentiated from the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion (SIADH) before the commencement of appropriate treatment measures.

18.6.3 Postoperative Concerns

(a) **Emergence Plan** [10].

Smooth emergence is targeted to prevent a rise in ICP and systemic hypertension resulting in excessive postoperative blood loss into the drain. After this complex surgery, the anesthesiologist may consider early extubation of the trachea or plan for elective ventilation based on different criteria (Table 18.5).

(b) Monitoring in a High Dependency Unit (HDU) or ICU.

Postoperative monitoring in an ICU is advocated for all children undergoing correction surgeries for craniosynostosis as they may encounter various postoperative complications.
 Table 18.5
 Extubation criteria for craniosynostosis

 patients undergoing surgery

| Early emergence and extubation | Postoperative ventilation and delayed extubation | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| • Short duration surgery (<4 h) | Prolonged procedure (>4 h) Prone position | | |
| Noninvasive surgical techniques | Invasive surgical techniques | | |
| Minimal blood loss and blood transfusion | Massive blood loss and transfusion Coagulation abnormalities | | |
| Hemodynamically stable | • Marked fluid shifts and on vasopressor support | | |
| Normothermia | Hypothermia | | |
| Normal electrolytes | Dyselectrolytemia | | |
| • Rapid recovery of spontaneous and stable breathing | History of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA)History of difficult airway | | |

• Airway Obstruction and Respiratory Distress.

If a child has undergone a cranial distraction procedure, tracheal extubation has to be planned gradually; it is advisable to allow the child to be completely awake with the return of airway reflexes. Re-intubation in these children is impossible due to the distraction screws placed over the maxilla and mandible and rods placed across the face. Hence, cutting pliers and screwdrivers should always be available to aid in the quick removal of the distracting screws and rods to gain access to the airway. In some cases, fiber-optic intubation has been described. Children who have been on a cranial distraction chronically may develop trismus making mouth opening difficult, and direct laryngoscopy is almost a non-viable option.

• Hypovolemia and Dyselectrolytemia.

Cardiovascular status must be continuously monitored to detect any further blood loss/fluid shifts, which may continue into the immediate postoperative period attributing to hemodynamic instability. These children are prone to large fluid shifts and dyselectrolytemia.

Coagulopathy and Bleeding.

Coagulopathy could occur due to massive transfusion, hypothermia, and, in rare cases, dis-

seminated intravascular coagulopathy (DIC). Optimization of coagulation parameters is of paramount importance during the perioperative period. Bleeding may continue into the postoperative period via the drains if there is uncorrected coagulopathy. Thus, the hemoglobin, as well as coagulation profile, will have to be closely monitored.

• Postoperative Pain and Analgesia.

Postoperative pain is managed with rectal or IV paracetamol (15 mg/kg). If the pain is not controlled by paracetamol in children older than 1 year of age, tramadol may be used. The role of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) is controversial as they may increase the risk of bleeding due to derangements of the coagulation profile. Opioids are avoided in syndromic children who have a history of difficult airway management or OSA. Short-acting opioids such as fentanyl are used as an infusion in children who are on elective postoperative ventilation and planned for delayed extubation. Preoperative scalp block with 0.2% ropivacaine or 0.25% levobupivacaine has been beneficial in providing pre-emptive analgesia and reducing acute postoperative pain. It is very effective in reducing immediate postoperative pain, especially in children less than 2 years [48].

18.7 Conclusion

Providing safe anesthesia for this unique group of children with craniosynostosis is a challenge. Surgery aims to promote normal brain development and achieve a cosmetic effect to avoid psychological trauma later in life. A well-coordinated multidisciplinary team is required to ensure a good outcome. Careful pre-anesthetic evaluation with particular attention to possible difficult airway and massive intraoperative bleeding is vital. Meticulous care concerning the difficult airway, intra-operative positioning, management of complications such as massive blood loss and transfusion, VAE, fluid, and electrolyte imbalance play a significant role in ascertaining good postoperative outcomes.

Acknowledgment(s) We would like to acknowledge the contributions of Dr. Kingsly Paul M and Dr. Anirudh K

Akamanchi, Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Christian Medical College, Vellore, for contributing the pictures of syndromic children and on intraoperative management of craniosynostosis repair.

Conflict of Interest: None.

References

- Ridgway EB, Weiner HL. Skull deformities. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2004;51(2):359–87.
- Alden TD, Lin KY, Jane JA. Mechanisms of premature closure of cranial sutures. Childs Nerv Syst. 1999;15(11–12):670–5.
- French LR, Jackson IT, Melton LJ 3rd. A populationbased study of craniosynostosis. J Clin Epidemiol. 1990;43(1):69–73.
- Singer S, Bower C, Southall P, Goldblatt J. Craniosynostosis in Western Australia, 1980-1994: a population-based study. Am J Med Genet. 1999;83(5):382–7.
- Boulet SL, Rasmussen SA, Honein MA. A population-based study of craniosynostosis in metropolitan Atlanta, 1989-2003. Am J Med Genet A. 2008;146A(8):984–91.
- Spruijt B, Joosten KF, Driessen C, et al. Algorithm for the Management of Intracranial Hypertension in children with syndromic Craniosynostosis. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2015;136(2):331–40.
- Thomas K, Hughes C, Johnson D, Das S. Anesthesia for surgery related to craniosynostosis: a review. Part 1. Paediatr Anaesth. 2012;22(11):1033–41.
- Noetzel MJ, Marsh JL, Palkes H, Gado M. Hydrocephalus and mental retardation in craniosynostosis. J Pediatr. 1985;107(6):885–92.
- Ursitti F, Fadda T, Papetti L, et al. Evaluation and management of non-syndromic craniosynostosis. Acta Paediatr. 2011;100(9):1185–94.
- Koh JL, Gries H. Perioperative management of pediatric patients with craniosynostosis. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25(3):465–81. viii
- 11. Kabbani H, Raghuveer TS. Craniosynostosis. Am Fam Physician. 2004;69(12):2863–70.
- Faberowski LW, Black S, Mickle JP. Incidence of venous air embolism during craniectomy for craniosynostosis repair. Anesthesiology. 2000;92(1): 20–3.
- Rasmussen SA, Olney RS, Holmes LB, et al. Guidelines for case classification for the national birth defects prevention study. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2003;67(3):193–201.
- Cohen MM Jr. Craniosynostoses: phenotypic/molecular correlations. Am J Med Genet. 1995;56(3): 334–9.
- Tessier P. The definitive plastic surgical treatment of the severe facial deformities of craniofacial dysostosis. Crouzon's and Apert's diseases. Plast Reconstr Surg. 1971;48(5):419–42.
- Waterhouse N. The history of craniofacial surgery. Facial Plast Surg. 1993;9(2):143–50.

- Jimenez DF, Barone CM. Endoscopic techniques for craniosynostosis. Atlas Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2010;18(2):93–107.
- Berry-Candelario J, Ridgway EB, Grondin RT, Rogers GF, Proctor MR. Endoscope-assisted strip craniectomy and postoperative helmet therapy for treatment of craniosynostosis. Neurosurg Focus. 2011;31(2):E5.
- Lauritzen CG, Davis C, Ivarsson A, Sanger C, Hewitt TD. The evolving role of springs in craniofacial surgery: the first 100 clinical cases. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;121(2):545–54.
- van Veelen ML, Mathijssen IM. Spring-assisted correction of sagittal suture synostosis. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28(9):1347–51.
- Jimenez DF, Barone CM. Early treatment of anterior calvarial craniosynostosis using endoscopic-assisted minimally invasive techniques. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(12):1411–9.
- Pearson A, Matava CT. Anaesthetic management for craniosynostosis repair in children. BJA Educ. 2016;16(12):410–6.
- Governale LS. Craniosynostosis. Pediatr Neurol. 2015;53(5):394–401.
- Buchanan EP, Xue Y, Xue AS, Olshinka A, Lam S. Multidisciplinary care of craniosynostosis. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2017;10:263–70.
- O'Hara J, Ruggiero F, Wilson L, et al. Syndromic Craniosynostosis: complexities of clinical care. Mol Syndromol. 2019;10(1–2):83–97.
- Brouilette R, Hanson D, David R, et al. A diagnostic approach to suspected obstructive sleep apnea in children. J Pediatr. 1984;105(1):10–4.
- Brouillette RT, Morielli A, Leimanis A, Waters KA, Luciano R, Ducharme FM. Nocturnal pulse oximetry as an abbreviated testing modality for pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. Pediatrics. 2000;105(2):405–12.
- Mathijssen IM. Guideline for Care of Patients with the diagnoses of Craniosynostosis: working group on Craniosynostosis. J Craniofac Surg. 2015;26(6):1735–807.
- Helfaer MA, Carson BS, James CS, Gates J, Della-Lana D, Vander KC. Increased hematocrit and decreased transfusion requirements in children given erythropoietin before undergoing craniofacial surgery. J Neurosurg. 1998;88(4):704–8.
- Velardi F, Di Chirico A, Di Rocco C, et al. "No allogeneic blood transfusion" protocol for the surgical correction of craniosynostoses. I. Rationale. Childs Nerv Syst. 1998;14(12):722–31. discussion 740-721
- Thakkar KD, Hrishi AP, Sethuraman M, Vimala S. Management of a difficult airway scenario in a case of Hurler's syndrome with a D-blade video laryngoscope. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2020; https:// doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1714451.
- de Beer DA, Mackersie A. Safety and efficacy of remifentanil infusion in craniosynostosis repair in infants. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2001;34(6):327.
- 33. Pietrini D, Ciano F, Forte E, et al. Sevofluraneremifentanil vs isoflurane-remifentanil for the surgi-

cal correction of craniosynostosis in infants. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(8):653–62.

- Rothera E, Chumas P, Liddington M, Russell J, Guruswamy V. Scalp blocks in non-syndromic craniosynostosis surgery - a retrospective case series review. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(8):894–5.
- 35. Sengupta D, Dube SK, Rajagopalan V, Rath GP. Modified prone positioning during neurosurgery: Sphinx and Concorde positions revisited. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2020; https://doi.org/10. 1055/s-0040-1715356.
- White N, Marcus R, Dover S, et al. Predictors of blood loss in fronto-orbital advancement and remodeling. J Craniofac Surg. 2009;20(2):378–81.
- Czerwinski M, Hopper RA, Gruss J, Fearon JA. Major morbidity and mortality rates in craniofacial surgery: an analysis of 8101 major procedures. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2010;126(1):181–6.
- Kearney RA, Rosales JK, Howes WJ. Craniosynostosis: an assessment of blood loss and transfusion practices. Can J Anaesth. 1989;36(4):473–7.
- Eaton MP. Antifibrinolytic therapy in surgery for congenital heart disease. Anesth Analg. 2008;106(4):1087–100.
- Goobie SM, Meier PM, Pereira LM, et al. Efficacy of tranexamic acid in pediatric craniosynostosis surgery: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2011;114(4):862–71.
- 41. Meier PM, Zurakowski D, Goobie SM, et al. Multivariable predictors of substantial blood loss in children undergoing craniosynostosis repair: implications for risk stratification. Paediatr Anaesth. 2016;26(10):960–9.
- 42. Dahmani S, Orliaguet GA, Meyer PG, Blanot S, Renier D, Carli PA. Perioperative blood salvage during surgical correction of craniosynostosis in infants. Br J Anaesth. 2000;85(4):550–5.
- Williams GD, Ellenbogen RG, Gruss JS. Abnormal coagulation during pediatric craniofacial surgery. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2001;35(1):5–12.
- 44. Haas T, Fries D, Velik-Salchner C, Oswald E, Innerhofer P. Fibrinogen in craniosynostosis surgery. Anesth Analg. 2008;106(3):725–31.
- 45. Tobias JD, Johnson JO, Jimenez DF, Barone CM, McBride DS Jr. Venous air embolism during endoscopic strip craniectomy for repair of craniosynostosis in infants. Anesthesiology. 2001;95(2):340–2.
- 46. Meyer PG, Renier D, Orliaguet G, Blanot S, Carli P. Venous air embolism in craniosynostosis surgery: what do we want to detect? Anesthesiology. 2000;93(4):1157–8.
- Byeon JH, Yoo G. Cerebral salt wasting syndrome after calvarial remodeling in craniosynostosis. J Korean Med Sci. 2005;20(5):866–9.
- Festa R, Tosi F, Pusateri A, et al. The scalp block for postoperative pain control in craniosynostosis surgery: a case control study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36(12):3063–70.

Anesthesia for Craniopagus Separation Surgery

19

Girija Prasad Rath , Siddharth Chavali , Ritesh Lamsal , and Deepak Gupta

Key Points Craniopagus twins (CPTs) are rare forms of the very uncommon conjoined twins; surgical separation of CPTs is one of the most complex neurosurgery procedures.

- The surgery includes the multi-staged separation of shared vasculature, interdigitating brain parenchyma, and reconstructive plastic surgery; the procedures are meticulously planned with a multidisciplinary team's participation.
- Multiple anesthesia episodes are required, such as for neuroimaging, tissue expander placement, multi-staged separation, and reconstructive surgeries.

- Neuroimaging procedures for CPTs can be carried out under sedation as well as general anesthesia.
- For separation surgery, clear communication is required among the anesthesia team members with specific attention to possible difficult airway, careful positioning, appropriate management of massive blood loss and fluid shifts, and anticipation of complications.
- With advances in medical technologies and surgical expertise, more separation attempts are expected despite the associated high cost and procedural complexities.

19.1 Introduction

Joined in utero, the conjoined twins are known as "Siamese twins." There are different theories related to aberrant embryogenesis proposing why conjoining occurs [1]. One such theory suggests that a single fertilized egg may not split fully during the process of formation of identical twins, and the zygotic division occurs 2 weeks after the development of the embryonic disc, resulting in the formation of conjoined twins (*fission theory*). The other theory suggests that two fertilized eggs fuse in the early part of the development process (*fusion theory*); subsequent splitting of primitive nodes and streak partially may lead to this rare phenomenon. Conjoined twins occur in not more than 1:50,000 to 1:200,000 births [2].

Check for updates

G. P. Rath (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

S. Chavali

Neuroanaesthesia, Neurocritical Care, and Pain Management, Institute of Neurosciences, AIG Hospitals, Hyderabad, India

R. Lamsal

Neuroanaesthesia, Department of Anaesthesiology, Tribhuvan University Teaching Hospital, Institute of Medicine, Kathmandu, Nepal e-mail: ritesh.lamsal@mmc.tu.edu.np

D. Gupta

Department of Neurosurgery, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_19

The conjoined twins are typically classified based on the part of the body where they join (Table 19.1). The incidence of different types also varies [3]. The most common types encountered are thoraco-omphalopagus, thoracopagus, omphalopagus, parasitic twins, and craniopagus; thoraco-omphalopagus is considered as the commonest type. Forty percent of the conjoined twins are still-born, and 60% are live-born; one-third of the live-born may die within 24 hours after birth due to congenital anomalies. Hence, the actual occurrence of conjoined twins is very rare, and only about 25% of these twins survive long enough to be candidates for surgical separation. Additionally, conjoined twins are genetically identical and are of the same sex. Conjoining is more common in females with a male/female ratio of 1:3 [4]. No association with heredity, race, maternal age, or environmental factors is established.

| Types of conjoined twins | Description(s) |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Common types | |
| Thoraco- omphalopagus | Fused bodies from the upper to the lower chest Heart is shared; may share liver or partly the digestive system |
| Thoracopagus | Bodies fused at the chest Heart is invariably shared |
| Omphalopagus | Fused bodies at the lower abdomen May share a liver, digestive system, and diaphragm; but never share a heart |
| Parasitic twins | Asymmetrically conjoined twins; one twin is small and less formed and is dependent on the other (larger twin) for survival |
| Craniopagus | Joined at the head, but not on the face or the base of skull |
| Rare types | |
| Xiphopagus | Fused at xiphoid process; no other organ involved except the liver |
| Ischiopagus | Joined at the ischium; the lower half of the two bodies are fused with spines |
| Pygopagus or iliopagus | Bodies fused at the pelvis (buttock) |
| Rachipagus | Fused at the back of their bodies with the fusion of the vertebral arches |

 Table 19.1
 Classification of conjoined twins

When such twins are fused at the skull, they are known as craniopagus conjoined twins. Craniopagus twins (CPTs) are one of the rarest forms of conjoined twins and account for 2-6%of all conjoined twins, with an incidence of approximately 1 in 2.5 million live births [4, 5]. In these twins, cephalic fusion may occur at any part of the calvarium except the face, foramen magnum, skull base, and vertebrae.

19.2 Historical Aspects of Conjoined Twins

The uniqueness and uncertain origin of conjoined twins have inspired many myths and legends in ancient literature for centuries. Art forms of different examples of conjoined twinning can be seen in museums throughout the world. They were feared as bad omens and, hence, were abandoned or even killed. Later, they were viewed with curiosity; they became sideshow acts, performed in circuses, or even became stage performers. They were also worshipped as gods due to their unusual appearances.

The Biddenden Maids (Mary and Eliza Chulkhurst), conjoined pygopagus twins, were born in the year 1100 in the Kentish village of Biddenden, England, and they lived as long as 34 years. They are considered the first documented case of conjoined twins [6]. Similarly, the first documented case of craniopagus twins (CPTs) of Bavaria, Germany, was mentioned as a monster (Ein monstrum) and was considered as a warning signal from God [6]. The twins born in 1491 were frontal CPTs and remained alive for 10 years. The other historical aspects of CPTs were well documented by the famous French surgeon Ambroise Paré in the sixteenth century, and his works were reprinted in 1840 (On Monsters and Marvels) as monsters who were a "warning from God" [6, 7]. In the eighteenth century, Sir Everard Home (1756-1832) reported a case of craniopagus parasiticus known as "Two-Headed Boy of Bengal," the CPTs born in India in the 1770s and whose skull is preserved at the Hunterian Museum at the Royal Society of Surgeons [6, 8]. Until the late 1800s, the CPTs

were considered "monsters." However, in the nineteenth century, August Förster (1822–1865) defined the twins joined at the head and introduced the term "craniopagus" in his works on the science of teratology [6]. Thenceforth, the adjective of "monster" was gradually replaced with different types of conjoined twins.

Chang and Eng Bunker, the original "Siamese twins" who were synonymous with conjoined twins during the early nineteenth century, participated in "freak shows" and became financially successful. Together, they fathered 21 children and died at the age of 62. Yvonne and Yvette McCarther, the American CPTs (born in 1949), were considered inoperable and lived up to 43 years. Despite their rarity, several CPTs lived into adulthood; nevertheless, more than 90% died by the age of 10 [6].

Surgery is considered successful when both twins survive more than 30 days after separation [6, 9]. The first craniopagus separation surgery was attempted unsuccessfully in 1928 [10]. Until 1950, several CPTs underwent urgent yet unsuccessful separation surgeries. The first successful surgery (Roger and Rodney Brodie) was carried out in stages by Oscar Sugar (1952-1953). In this case, one of the twins died after 1 month of craniopagus separation, while the other survived until 11 years of age [9]. During the last 50 years, advancements in medical science, surgical strategies, anesthesia, and intensive care have encouraged approaching craniopagus cases with renewed interest. In this context, the contributions of renowned pediatric neurosurgeons like Dr. Ben Carson and Dr. James T. Goodrich are worth mentioning. Dr. Goodrich was the single most experienced surgeon for this complex craniofacial disorder and performed seven cases of craniopagus separation [7].

19.3 Classification of Craniopagus Twins

Various classifications have been proposed for describing CPTs; the most common is the O'Connell classification (1976). O'Connell broadly divided CPTs based on the extent of the

union as well as extracranial versus intracranial involvements [11]. CPTs could be partial with smaller extracranial union limited to the dura mater or total with the large intracranial union and extensively shared cranial cavities. Bucholz et al. subclassified the total craniopagus into four types: frontal, parietal, temporoparietal, and occipital [12]. O'Connell further subclassified the total (vertical or parietal) craniopagus into three types (I, II, III) based on the orientations of faces of the twins due to the long axis of one head that is rotated over the other through different angles (Table 19.2). Winston proposed another classification based on the "deepest shared structures" [13]. In the same year, Gaist and colleagues expanded the O'Connell classification with the inclusion of a transitional category apart from partial and total categories; deformities of the brain and cerebral venous connections were also described [14]. Stone and Goodrich proposed a simple classification [9], reviewing 64 cases based on shared venous sinuses and the extent of brain compression as either partial or total craniopagus. There were two subtypes, angular or vertical, for each category. The vertical craniopagi, like O'Connell classification, are

 Table 19.2
 Common classifications of craniopagus twins

| Classifications | | | |
|------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Partial craniopagus | Total craniopagus | | |
| O'Connell classification | n | | |
| Extracranial, usually | Intracranial | | |
| frontal | Extensive surface area with | | |
| Sharing of minimal | wide connectivity of the | | |
| surface area | cranial cavity | | |
| | Type I: Facing same | | |
| | direction (<40°) | | |
| | Type II: Facing opposite | | |
| | direction (140–180°) | | |
| | Type III: Intermediate | | |
| | (40–140°) | | |
| Stone and Goodrich cla | ssification | | |
| Less significant | Significant shared dural | | |
| shared dural venous | venous sinus | | |
| sinus | Pronounced brain | | |
| Angular | compression | | |
| Vertical | • Angular: <140° intertwined | | |
| | longitudinal axis | | |
| | • Vertical: I, II, III based on | | |
| | O'Connell classification | | |

subclassified into three types based on intertwined axial facial rotations (Table 19.2). Browd et al. proposed a comprehensive grading system based on the issues related to separation surgery to evaluate the CPTs for surgical risks and possible success in separation [6].

19.4 Shared Vascular System in Craniopagus Twins

Cerebral venous system abnormalities are common in CPTs [11, 13]. Their complex nature may affect the separation surgery outcome due to significant intraoperative blood loss and postoperative venous infarcts. The superior sagittal sinus (SSS) may be absent in both the twins to be replaced by a single-shared SSS or circumferential venous sinus (CVS) (Fig. 19.1). Other than CVS, venous sinus lakes and separate SSS with interconnections between them have also been described [15]. These abnormalities may cause significant mixing of the venous circulation, and blood may drain to one twin preferentially. That leads to high blood pressure and cardiac output in one twin and low in the other [16, 17].

The cerebral arterial supply is usually separate in CPTs. Less commonly, there may be shared arterial supplies such as branches of one middle cerebral artery feeding both twins [18]; and large arteries may cross from one twin to another.

19.5 Management of Craniopagus Twins

Conjoined twins can be diagnosed during midpregnancy with a standard ultrasound examination; diagnosis also can be made by fetal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Delivery of these twins is commonly performed by a cesarean section a couple of weeks before the expected date; some twins have been reported to be delivered with normal vaginal delivery [19]. Proper evaluation needs to be carried out after delivery since CPTs may be associated with systemic comorbidities such as cardiovascular (hypo/hypertension, coarctation of the aorta, and patent ductus arteriosus), neurologic (hemiparesis, delayed milestones of development), and craniofacial (cleft lip and palate), genitourinary abnormalities, and anorectal agenesis. Cerebral blood flow (CBF) constitutes 15-20% of the cardiac output and in CPTs may present with unidirectional shunting of blood flow. Hence, the twins could present with features of cardiac straining as well as hypo/hypertensive episodes [6]. One of the twins may develop left ventricular hypertrophy secondary to chronic hypertension [20].



Fig. 19.1 Schematic diagram of a variant of shared venous architecture in craniopagus twins. A common venous sinus may drain the twins' cerebral cortices (Twin 1 and Twin 2)

Separation surgery for craniopagus twins is a very complex procedure. It requires appropriate planning before separation and reconstruction of different layers of tissue such as the skin, skull bone, dura mater, brain parenchyma, and vasculature. The separation surgery can be carried out as a routine procedure to allow the twins an independent life. Their separability is determined based on the extent of sharing of intracranial structures. Separation at a younger age $(\sim 1-2 \text{ years})$ is recommended; it is presumed the brain plasticity may help the early recovery of brain insult after separation surgery [9, 12, 21]. It is also reported that mortality is higher with such an extensive surgery at a younger age [22]. Besides this, CPTs are separated on an emergent basis due to one child's death, increasing the other's risk of death. Anesthetic and surgical concerns remain the same whether separation is planned as a routine or emergency procedure. Multiple procedures are carried out to achieve a successful separation. Neurosurgical separation includes the separation of shared vasculature, interdigitating brain parenchyma, white matter connections between the thalamic regions [23], and other structures [16]. Reconstructive surgery includes cranial and soft tissue coverage, plans for duroplasty, cranioplasty, and tissue flaps.

The final tissue defect in cases of total vertical CPTs is expected to be quite large in surface area. It is challenging to cover, exposing the twins to further complications despite a successful separation of brain tissue and vasculature. Much before the final separation surgery, tissue expanders can be placed to create the extra amount of skin required for coverage. The skin expanders are placed anteriorly followed by posteriorly and expanded with aliquots of 10 mL of saline at regular intervals [24]. Saline injection for expansion into the expanders is usually associated with severe pain and requires analgesic supplementation. At times, thinning of the skin following rapid expansion may lead to implant extrusion due to skin ulceration, commonly seen posteriorly. The total time taken for adequate expansion of the scalp may range from a few months to 1.5 years. The tissue expander use may be deferred until the final

separation surgery (expanders kept for 4–6 weeks) to reduce infection risk [6]. However, the use of microvascular skin flaps obviates the need for skin expanders.

19.5.1 Staged vs. Non-staged Separation

The staged concept of surgery is based on the risk of massive blood loss and the twins' ability to tolerate the surgery. The presence of a shared SSS or CVS is the most challenging aspect of craniopagus separation surgery. In a single-stage separation surgery, the CVS is given to one twin, while the sinus is reconstructed in the other. It increases cerebral venous pressure during the separation; hence, it may lead to a cascade of events favoring failure of the procedure rather than success [25]. In a multi-stage approach, one twin (dominant) receives the CVS. Simultaneously, the other (non-dominant) develops the venous drainage system over a period during which serial surgical ligation and detachments of draining veins are carried out [26]. Staged separation offers a more graded approach to change the venous drainage in both twins. It improves venous collateral circulation and, hence, venous drainage, thereby preventing increased venous pressure and the possibility of brain edema. During final venous separation, the channels in each brain are adequate to allow complete separation. This process also favors the integrity of dura and flap repair that would reduce the risk of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leak. The staged approach is also intended to minimize intraoperative hemorrhage and transfusion of blood products. It may allow the twins to recover from each stage before progressing to the next stage with a gap of 4-6 weeks or more while continuing supportive therapy. Nevertheless, the other potential advantages of the staged separation surgery are the reduced duration of general anesthesia (GA), less bleeding, fewer transfusion requirements of fluids and blood, less probability of brain edema and infarction, and lesser fatigue of the operating team [24]. Technological advances in endovascular therapy also help prevent the draining/bridging veins with coil embolization and avoid open surgery and associated complications [23]. Such procedures may play an essential role for staged surgeries in CPTs in the future.

After separation, the dominant twin may have robust vitals, whereas the non-dominant twin may present with low cardiac output, hypotension, oliguria, low weight, or failure to thrive. The staged approach is not required for partial CPTs.

19.6 Preoperative Evaluation and Preparation

There should be adequate preparations for manpower, equipment, and monitoring tools apart from a prior mock-drill before the CPTs are planned for separation. Multiple team meetings are necessary for appropriate planning and preparation.

19.6.1 Multidisciplinary Team (MDT)

A well-equipped multidisciplinary team (MDT) of surgical, anesthesia, and medical specialties, comprehensive radiological (anatomical) evaluation, addressing ethical concerns for separation, and parental participation are important prerequisites for the separation surgery of CPTs. MDT should ideally be formed under the leadership of a senior pediatric neurosurgeon, comprising of two pediatric neuroanesthesia leads (one for each twin), specialists from neuroradiology and imaging, pediatric intensive care, pediatric surgical specialties including plastic and reconstructive surgery, pediatric medicine specialties including cardiology and nephrology, and many other professionals [20]. The rarity of this complex, expensive, and lengthy yet technically challenging surgery for separation encourages international collaborations, particularly when planned in a developing country [23]. Moreover, multidisciplinary teleconferences are recommended in countries without extensive separation experiences in conjoined twins [27].

19.6.2 Neuroradiology and Imaging

Neuroimaging modalities such as computed tomography (CT), MRI, and digital subtraction angiography (DSA) contribute a very important role in diagnosing shared vasculature, interdigitating brain parenchyma, dura mater, and skull in the CPTs [26]. A comprehensive evaluation of the shared venous and arterial anatomy helps anticipate perioperative complications such as hemorrhage, air embolism, thrombosis, and infarction. Digital and 3D modeling of CT and MRI data is very useful for surgical planning and intraoperative guidance for the neurosurgeon. CT angiography (CTA) and venography (CTV) provide information on vascularity. CT venography is particularly utilized for planning at every stage of separation. MRI gives a detailed anatomical and developmental assessment of the shared cerebral cortex, ventricles, venous sinuses, and other anomalies. CTA and CTV are superior for studying the vasculature, whereas magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) and magnetic resonance venography (MRV) are superior in studying soft tissues, including brain parenchyma. In older or adult CPTs, functional MRI (fMRI) is used to define the hemispheric dominance of the language function and surgical planning [28].

DSA is used preoperatively for anatomical clarity of the vasculature, and venography helps to identify the twin with fully formed sinuses. A temporary balloon occlusion test may be carried out at the shared vinous sinus to test changes in the venous drainage and collaterals, hemodynamics, and requirements of a bypass [24, 29, 30]. Venous rerouting and promotion of collateralization can be achieved by using endovascular venous coil embolization [30, 31]. Full segment endovascular occlusion of the shared venous system has been utilized for successful separation [23]. The endovascular approach and separation could be a preferred procedure, since preoperative and intraoperative clipping and/or bypass creation are associated with very high risks. Coil embolization of shared arterial supply has also been utilized as a part of endovascular therapy in CPTs [18].

3D reconstruction of CT data helps in evaluating the extent of bone fusions in CPTs, which can be further reconstructed to create a life-sized 3D model of transparent acrylic and ceramic types as well as holograms for depicting vasculature in relation to the other tissues [26]. The 3D models better depict the surgical anatomy and are used for surgical reference at various steps along with intraoperative neuronavigation. It is also used to plan scalp tissue expanders' placement for adequate coverage and craniotomy and to design bone grafts for subsequent cranial reconstruction. Newer techniques such as computer-aided design and modeling, custom-made devices that used distraction osteogenesis and soft tissue molding, and intraoperative neuronavigation help successful separation among young twins [32].

19.7 Anesthetic Management

The CPTs may undergo many procedures under GA before the final separation surgery. Since most patients are young, GA is a prerequisite even for diagnostic imaging. Broadly, techniques may include (1) neuroradiologic imaging for planning and prognostication, (2) tissue expander placement at least in two stages, (3) single or staged separation, and (4) reconstructive plastic surgeries. Sometimes, an attempt to obtain central venous access for any reason other than surgery may also require GA.

During the preanesthetic evaluation, IV access and airway should be properly assessed along with a thorough general and systemic examination of the twins. It is advisable to restrict vascular access only to peripheral lines for minor procedures so that central veins could be utilized for the separation surgery. CPTs could likely present with difficult airways owing to distorted necks, conjoined heads with restricted mobility of head and neck, and congenital oropharyngeal anomalies. Possible problems with mask ventilation and endotracheal intubation should be anticipated. The signs of an increased airway obstruction would need nasopharyngeal airway in certain situations; a planned tracheostomy prior to separation surgery would prevent loss of airway under challenging conditions.

Anesthetic concerns depend on the procedure planned (Table 19.3). Prior confirmation of logistic support, MDT meetings, as well as mockdrill at different anesthetic areas are mandatory to prevent confusion and possible mismanagement. While all imaging and surgical procedures would focus simultaneously on both twins, anesthetic management would require their management as different individuals since they are physiologically different [20]. Hence, there should be two anesthesia teams led by two pediatric neuroanesthesiologists. They should be supported by human resources (assistants and staff), equipment (anesthetic workstations with monitors, infusion pumps, and other equipment), and materials (drugs with specific color code for each twin, blood, and products), all in duplication.

The anesthetic management for CPTs can be broadly described under two headings: (a) anesthesia for neuroimaging procedures and (b) anesthesia for separation surgery. However, there are possibilities that CPTs could present for other procedures on an elective or emergency basis [33, 34]. In such a CPT case, one twin (dominant) successfully underwent adenoidectomy for obstructive sleep apnea under anesthesia [34]. Such types of emergency surgeries in CPTs, imaging and neurointerventional procedures, and different staging surgeries before the final separation may be described under *nonseparation anesthesia* (Table 19.4). The detailed discussion on this topic is beyond the scope of this chapter.

19.7.1 Anesthesia for Neuroimaging Procedures

The nil per oral (NPO) status and normal routine blood and urine need to be ascertained beforehand [35]. Sedative **premedication** should ideally be avoided in the twins; however, oral anxiolytics in the presence of parents help alleviate apprehension before subsequent activities. Induction should be carried out preferably in a place with appropriate arrangements, if not the operating room (OR), before neuroimaging. The

| Procedure(s) | Anesthetic concern(s) |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Neuroimaging (CT, MRI, angiography) | Non-operating room anesthesia and other logistical issues Effective communication between two anesthesia team members and other supporting staffs Difficult airway and vascular access Positioning patient, personnel, and equipment in different neuroimaging setups with less optimal conditions for the twins Cross-transfer of administered drugs and fluids Hemodynamic disturbances Prolonged anesthesia time Hypothermia Contrast-related issues Anesthetic neurotoxicity at younger age group Issues with transportation to different neuroimaging suites |
| Tissue expander placements ^a | All concerns as above except 1, 4, 7, 9, 11 12. Surgical positioning for placement of expanders first anteriorly, and then posteriorly, in two stages |
| Separation surgery | All concerns as above except 1, 4, 7, 9, 11 13. Surgical positioning; preferably prone separation in the first stage followed by supine separation 14. Severe bleeding and massive transfusion 15. Massive fluid shift 16. Intraoperative tight brain 17. Venous air embolism (VAE) 18. Intraoperative cardiac arrest in one or both the twins and resuscitation 19. Long-duration surgery 20. Shifting of one twin immediately to the adjacent OR, kept ready, after separation, along with man, monitor, and machine 21. Infection control |
| Reconstructive surgery (duroplasty, cranioplasty, skin and tissue flaps/rotational flaps) | Massive fluid shift Hemorrhage and exsanguination of blood Brain bulge during the cranioplasty Infection control |
| Follow-up surgeries (ventriculoperitoneal shunt surgery for hydrocephalus and CSF leak, skin grafting) | The absence of skull bone may lead to accidental pressure on the brain during the surgical manipulation causing hemodynamic perturbations (e.g., bradycardia) Infection Wound dehiscence |

Table 19.3 Anesthetic concerns during the different procedure for craniopagus separation

^aThis procedure may be combined with neuroimaging to reduce the number of anesthetics.

| Table 19.4 Anesthesia encounters in craniopagus twin | ns |
|--------------------------------------------------------------|----|
|--------------------------------------------------------------|----|

| | Anesthesia for | Anesthesia for reconstructive surgery and |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Anesthesia for nonseparation surgery | separation surgery | additional follow-up procedures |
| Neuroimaging procedures: CT, MRI, angiography Endovascular separation Placement of tissue expanders to increase skin area necessary for coverage after final separation surgery Multi-staged separation procedures before the final separation Number of procedures depends on the separation planning Emergency surgical procedures not related to separation: For example, adenoidectomy, colostomy, etc. | Surgery during the final separation Occurs in the last and single planned attempt | Plastic and reconstructive procedures For example, duroplasty, cranioplasty, skin grafting, etc. Number of anesthetics depends on the requirements for individual twins Additional procedures: Ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt surgery for hydrocephalus Placement of lumbar drains |

difference in hemodynamic parameters (heart rate and blood pressure) gives a rough idea about the presence of physiological interdependence (cross circulation) in CPTs before neuroimaging. Cross-circulation between the twins may also be ascertained with IV injections of anticholinergic agents (atropine or glycopyrrolate) if an IV access is present. The variations observed in hemodynamics (heart rate) at different time points suggest the presence of cross-circulation [16, 17, 35]. Premedication with anticholinergics also helps reduce oropharyngeal secretion and may be useful, particularly when intramuscular ketamine is used for induction before IV access is secured [36]. Anesthesia may preferably be induced with sevoflurane if IV access is not secured in both the twins, else propofol may also be used. However, the procedure such as MRI can be carried out under sedation with oral triclofos, intermittent boluses of propofol along with O_2 supplementation [35].

The anesthetic induction may be carried out simultaneously in both twins or one after another at an interval of few minutes. Crossover of the anesthetic agents may induce anesthesia in the other twin simultaneously. Hence, oxygenation with mask ventilation should be carried out in both accordingly. Ideally, two anesthesia machines are utilized for anesthetizing CPTs. The anesthetic locations outside the OR are unlikely to have spacious accommodation for two sets of equipment and professionals. Hence, it requires adaptation to the available facility, which could be ensured during mock-drills prior to the procedures. In this context, the use of a single anesthetic machine with two breathing circuits attached to the common gas outlet with a Y-connection may be useful [37, 38]. In fact, arrangements of MRI-compatible anesthesia machines in duplication could be of logistic issue. Nevertheless, all other gadgets used in duplication should be MRI safe [38]. Heart rate, blood pressure (noninvasive and/invasive), oxygen saturation (SpO₂), ECG, and end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂) are to be monitored continuously from two monitors.

Many anesthesiologists prefer induction of the twin with hypertension and antihypertensive

therapy first. However, anesthesia-induced hypotension may cause a further decrease in blood pressure in the other (hypotensive) twin. Pharmacologic measures utilized to control hypo/ hypertensive episodes in these twins might not yield optimal results in the presence of crossover [37]. Hence, physiological control by placing the hypertensive twin higher up than the other twin with a pillow's help has been attempted. It helps to counter gravity-dependent shunting of the blood between the twins.

Transportation of the anesthetized twins to different locations outside the OR is required for preoperative neuroimaging. The twins under GA may have to be transported in a trolley with ventilatory and monitoring support. An optimal communication among supporting staff is desirable to prevent disconnection and kinking of breathing circuits, catheters, and lines. The twins could be at increased risk of adverse cardiac and respiratory events. The majority of them are preventable; if they occur, they may adversely affect the outcome [39]. Similarly, positioning during the procedures is problematic as none of the neuroimaging patient tables are specifically made for CPTs with conjoined heads. Combining all neuroimaging procedures as a single procedure may reduce the number of anesthetic attempts and, possibly, anesthesia toxicities, but it would increase the anesthesia time. The twins are prone to hypothermia due to prolonged anesthesia time and the low temperature of MRI and DSA suites. Appropriate precautions such as the use of warm crystalloid infusion and convection warmers and wrapping twins with warm blankets throughout the process may help prevent significant hypothermia.

Simultaneous **mask ventilation** after anesthetic induction of the twins might be difficult due to the paucity of space between them; the angular CPTs may lead to further difficulties in terms of mask ventilation as well as intubation. In the case of difficult mask ventilation, muscle relaxants should be avoided, and a check laryngoscopy (preferably videolaryngoscope) helps assess the situation. Supraglottic airways can be used in older CPTs undergoing neuroimaging under GA [38], whereas very small twins need tracheal intubation.

19.7.2 Anesthesia for the Separation Surgery

It is desirable to have multiple meetings of MDTs apart from few separate meetings among the team members for anesthetics. All proper investigations, including the imaging studies, are to be reviewed thoroughly. The anesthesia team should have a thorough understanding of the sequence of planned surgical steps and perioperative care. Such surgeries should be carried out in a referral medical center where the facilities can carry out such a complex procedure. The major concerns of separation include massive intraoperative hemorrhage, cerebral edema, venous infarcts, swelling of the skin flaps, and dehiscence of the repairs with CSF leak, meningitis, and exposed brain [25].

The basic **preanesthetic preparation** is more or less similar to neuroimaging procedures. One twin may be physiologically dominant, and the calculated anesthetic drug doses can be unpredictable. The planning should be done individually for each twin; drugs should be prepared in duplications in a dose appropriate for each twin. The body weight may be calculated by dividing the twins' total weight into two parts, assuming both are of similar weight. Each twin can handle a particular drug dose differently from the other. It would depend on the crossover of the circulation and hepatorenal function; the changes would be unpredictable after separation [40].

The laboratory investigations should include a complete hemogram, fasting blood sugar, hepatic and renal function tests, coagulation studies, blood grouping, and cross-matching for each twin individually. A chest X-ray and echocardiography for each twin should also be done.

The OR should be prepared beforehand, and all necessary drugs and equipment should be arranged meticulously with drugs labeled with color coding for each twin. The OR personnel should be counseled about their specific roles for this procedure. Two tables may be joined to create a single operating table considering the possible positioning of the CPTs (Fig. 19.2). A prior **simulation or rehearsal (mock-drill)** helps organize the OR and procedural planning [41], such as identifying space for the teams involved, anesthesia equipment, ventilator, and monitor in duplication. It also decides optimal patient positioning. Simulations on common intraoperative scenarios and emergencies are also suggested [42].

Both IV and inhalational induction with sevoflurane are considered suitable for the CPTs depending on the presence of an IV access [20]. Anesthesia for both twins may be induced simultaneously; however, one may take a longer time for the induction. Opioids such as fentanyl or remifentanil and muscle relaxants are to be given at a dose appropriate for each twin. Both nasotracheal and orotracheal intubation can be done [38]. While nasotracheal helps during continued postoperative mechanical ventilation after the separation, however, the possible increase in infection and meningitis incidence prevents its practice in neurosurgical patients. Hence, the orotracheal method is preferred as the endotracheal tube (ETT) can be secured relatively away from the surgical site. There may be difficulties in securing the airway when intubation is attempted in both twins simultaneously [35], or when there is restricted neck movement owing to conjoined and fixed heads. Twins with prolonged conjoining may develop cervical lordosis that inhibits mandibular growth causing further difficulties [43, 44]. The difficult airway cart should be kept ready in each case of conjoined twins. Direct laryngoscopy, as well as videolaryngoscope, are preferred during intubation. While appropriately sized cuffed PVC tubes may be used for anesthesia during neuroimaging procedures, it is preferable to use reinforced ETTs for separation surgery. There could be considerable manipulation of the head and neck during the intraoperative period leading to kinking of the ETT. In some of the CPTs, it may be necessary to lift and rotate one twin during laryngoscopy and intubation in the other and vice versa.

Vascular access may be difficult in younger CPTs; it may be complicated by a prolonged pre-separation period with multiple punctures of peripheral veins for different procedures. Central venous access for each twin with a triple-lumen catheter may be planned under ultrasound guidance. The access is needed for fluid management,



Fig. 19.2 Proposed operating room (OR) arrangements during craniopagus separation surgery

drug infusions, and measuring trend of central venous pressure (CVP) and as part of treatment in case of intraoperative venous air embolism

(VAE) to aspirate air [17]. The site of preference for central venous catheter placement may vary among the clinicians. The authors would prefer femoral or subclavian veins; however, an internal jugular vein can also be utilized after separation surgery whenever indicated. The goal is not to allow any of the central lines to come into the surgical field. The peripheral venous catheters can be placed in the limbs, preferably in the upper limbs. Arterial catheters should be placed in both the twins for continuous monitoring of blood pressure and arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis.

Monitoring should include all the routine parameters such as ECG, SpO₂, EtCO₂, arterial pressure, CVP, airway gases, blood loss, blood and fluid transfusion, and urine output [38]. Temperature can be recorded both from the core (esophageal and rectal temperature) and peripheral sites. Apart from these, neuromuscular monitoring (NMT), neurophysiologic monitoring (somatosensory and motor evoked potentials), and regional cerebral oxygenation (NIRS) may be measured.

Maintenance of anesthesia is done with inhalational agents (isoflurane/sevoflurane/desflurane) in oxygen and air. The use of nitrous oxide may be avoided in view of its effects on intracranial pressure and the possible occurrence of VAE [38]. Opioid supplementation at regular increments or as infusions can be given also help to achieve immediate postoperative analgesia. Total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) with or without muscle relaxant may be utilized in case of intraoperative tight brain and neurophysiologic monitoring, respectively. However, continuous infusion of propofol for a prolonged period should be avoided because of its potential adverse effects.

The positioning of the CPTs requires careful consideration and appropriate planning based on the available gadgets. The upper ends of two OR tables are joined together to the conjoined heads on a headpin or a specially prepared headrest [17]. Precautions must be taken to keep the twins surgically accessible while ensuring that the lines and circuits are not dislodged, twins are accessible to anesthesia teams, and the pressure points are well-padded. There is no particular recommendation available regarding the twins' surgical position for the initiation and completion of separation surgery. It may be started with the twins in

prone; final separation should be carried out with the twins in a supine position. It could be beneficial for last-minute turning (supine) of the twins after separation. On the contrary, if separated in prone, the twins may have to be transferred to separate tables in the prone position with fully exposed brains [38].

Management of fluid and blood loss needs utmost attention. Crystalloids and colloids are administered in a titrated manner to both children. During this prolonged surgical period, 1-2% dextrose solution may be preferred in younger twins to avoid intraoperative hypoglycemia. The insensible losses from the surgical site are unmeasurable. The near-ideal replacement of fluid and blood loss is difficult to achieve but should be guided by arterial waveform analysis, CVP trends, urine output, electrolytes, point-of-care determinations of ABGs, and thromboelastography. Blood loss estimation is complicated during the separation surgery. Even a moderate loss would have significant clinical problems, particularly in young twins. The bleeding from the common surgical would is different for each twin and is usually estimated from blood collected from the suction chamber, amount and weight of gauze pieces used, and hemoglobin and hematocrit values measured at regular intervals. Half of the estimated volume should be transfused to each twin [45]. Close monitoring of the hematological and coagulation status of each patient needs to be ensured throughout. The blood loss also could be managed with staged separation and preserving the cleavage plane between the separated brains with silicone sheets.

Complications such as hemodynamic perturbations, massive blood loss, brain edema, and hypothermia may occur during the perioperative period. **Hemodynamic disturbances** in the twins may occur due to blood loss and massive fluid shifts, and persistent differences in blood pressures throughout the surgery due to cross-circulation and a unidirectional vascular flow or unopposed shunting [20, 36, 38]. Therefore, one twin may remain hypotensive, whereas the other may present with hypertension; supplementation of fluids and inotropes in the hypotensive child

can worsen hypertension in the other twin without any obvious benefits [36]. The fluid volume requirements could be more significant in one twin, whereas the urine output is significantly more in the other [20], suggestive of a unidirectional intracranial flow pattern. The twin may become hypervolemic enough to develop cardiac failure. In contrast, the other twin might be oliguric/anuric, leading to renal failure and requiring continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT) and possibly renal transplantation [16]. This complication of unopposed shunting may occur at any time during the multi-staged separation during intraoperative or postoperative period requiring vasoactive managements and even withdrawal of blood in the twin with impending cardiac failure; it generally resolves after final separation [38]. Massive blood loss should be anticipated during the stage of venous separation. The loss has to be replaced with blood and products. It is unclear which twin is more affected by the blood loss. It is also not uncommon for one twin to present with more significant clinical symptoms of hemorrhage or volume overload following transfusion, despite the blood loss shared by both [40]. The loss can be extensive and may lead to hypovolemic shock, bradycardia, and even cardiac arrest requiring resuscitation [36]. VAE is a strong possibility at every stage of the separation surgery. Hypothermia may be attributed to the extensive surgical wound as well as prolonged surgical time, which causes heat loss by evaporation, radiation, and convection. All available measures should be utilized to prevent it and to maintain normothermia as intraoperative hypothermia affects the surgical outcome [43, 45]. Post-separation, the twins may develop brain edema due to the formation of venous infarct and deranged cerebral autoregulation after surgical manipulations. Infection at the surgical sites, meningitis, CSF leak, and ventriculitis may occur, requiring constant vigilance and preventive measures. The high potential for infection in such cases is due to the presence of an indwelling catheter, shunts, tissue expanders, and drains. Hence, antibiotics are used during the different periprocedural periods.

After final separation, one twin has to be transported to the adjacent OR with the anesthesia team assigned. The ventilator, monitor, and infusion of drugs accompany the twin to further reconstruct the dura, calvarium, and scalp with artificial dura, absorbable plates, and split skin grafts. Both the twins at this stage develop physiological changes manifested mainly with hemodynamic perturbations.

19.8 Postoperative Intensive Care

After separation, the twins develop a lot of physiological changes, develop hypotension, and often need inotropes to maintain blood pressure. One (non-dominant) twin may develop seizures due to venous infarcts' formation and require prophylactic antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). Continued ventilation with optimization of hemostasis, hypoxia, hypercarbia, hypotension, hypothermia, hypotension, and electrolyte abnormalities is mandatory. Seizures may also occur in any of the twins due to postoperative complications such as meningitis, hydrocephalus, and metabolic derangements [17]. Fluid shift and blood loss during the perioperative period need intensive fluid management and blood component therapy. Extensive venous infarcts may cause cerebral edema and brain bulge. Many exposed areas are prone to develop severe infection and septicemia; aggressive antimicrobial treatment helps to attain a better outcome.

The twins may need multiple wound dressing episodes, skin grafting in case of wound dehiscence, lumbar drainage for CSF leaks, and VP shunt insertion for hydrocephalus under sedation or GA as and when indicated. The individual status of the twins needs consideration for anesthetics. The surgical outcome is significantly better with the separation of partial CPTs, whereas with total CPTs, both mortality and morbidity are more [9]. One or both of the twins may have to undergo rehabilitation for neurologic and cognitive disabilities due to developmental reasons and surgical complications. The twins may have a prolonged hospital course even after the final separation surgery.

19.9 Legal and Ethical Concerns

Legal and ethical questions are always raised concerning the separation of conjoined twins irrespective of phenotypes. The issues encountered with CPTs are based on principles of autonomy (respect decision of patient), informed consent in young children, principles of beneficence, and nonmaleficence (act in the benefits of the patient and not harm the patient), and justice [46]. The ethics are made even more complex when one twin is dependent on the other for survival as the latter twin may have to be sacrificed for the former's survival. In this context, a review by the hospital ethics committee opinion may help. It has also been suggested to have a prior legal opinion before separation [42].

19.10 Conclusion

The separation surgery for CPTs is one of the most complex procedures undertaken in neurosurgery. Of late, successful separation has become more common with the advances in neuroimaging, neuroanesthesia, and neurosurgical techniques. Experience and expertise with this surgical procedure are limited. Hence, the MDT may prefer having interinstitutional or international collaborations, if required, to close the learning gap. The success of surgery depends on early separation (less than 1 year), the shared vasculature nature, and multi-staged surgery. Anesthetic management requires meticulous planning and clear communication among the team members with particular attention to the difficult airway, adequate intravascular access, careful positioning, appropriate intraoperative fluid and blood management, maintenance of normothermia, and effective management of the perioperative complications.

Conflict of Interest The authors were part of 'AIIMS Craniopagus Team' responsible for the first successful craniopagus separation surgery in India.

References

- Boer LL, Schepens-Franke AN, Oostra RJ. Two is a crowd: on the enigmatic Etiopathogenesis of conjoined twinning. Clin Anat. 2019;32:722–41.
- De Ugarte DA, Boechat MI, Shaw WW, Laks H, Williams H, Atkinson JB. Parasitic omphalopagus complicated by omphalocele and congenital heart disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2002;37:1357–8.
- Kaufman MH. The embryology of conjoined twins. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:508–25.
- Edmonds LD, Layde PM. Conjoined twins in the United States, 1970-1977. Teratology. 1982;25:301–8.
- 5. Spitz L, Kiely EM. Conjoined twins. JAMA. 2003;289:1307–10.
- Browd SR, Goodrich JT, Walker ML. Craniopagus twins. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;1:1–20.
- Lehrich BM, Brown NJ, Shahrestani S, Sahyouni R, Hsu FPK, Goodrich JT. 1946-2020: a historical perspective and his contributions to craniopagus separation. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2020;19:1–7. https://doi.org /10.3171/2020.5.PEDS20371. Epub ahead of print
- Bondeson J, Allen E. Craniopagus parasiticus. Everard Home's two-headed boy of Bengal and some other cases. Surg Neurol. 1989;31:426–34.
- Stone JL, Goodrich JT. The craniopagus malformation: classification and implications for surgical separation. Brain. 2006;129(Pt 5):1084–95.
- 10. Cameron H. A craniopagus. Lancet. 1928;1:284-5.
- O'Connell JE. Craniopagus twins: surgical anatomy and embryology and their implications. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1976;39:1–22.
- Bucholz RD, Yoon KW, Shively RE. Temporoparietal craniopagus. Case report and review of the literature. J Neurosurg. 1987;66:72–9.
- 13. Winston KR. Craniopagi: anatomical characteristics and classification. Neurosurgery. 1987;21:769–81.
- Gaist G, Piazza G, Galassi E, Cavina C, Salvioli GP. Craniopagus twins: an unsuccessful separation and a clinical review of the entity. Childs Nerv Syst. 1987;3:327–33.
- Harvey DJ, Totonchi A, Gosain AK. Separation of craniopagus twins over the past 20 years: a systematic review of the variables that lead to successful separation. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2016;138:190–200.
- Dunaway D, Jeelani NU. Staged separation of craniopagus twins. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2015;24:241–8.
- Goh KY. Separation surgery for total vertical craniopagus twins. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:567–75.
- Rutka JT, Souweidane M, ter Brugge K, Armstrong D, Zuker R, Clarke H, Creighton R, McLeod E, Khoury A, Hoffman HJ. Separation of craniopagus twins in the era of modern neuroimaging, interventional neuroradiology, and frameless stereotaxy. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:587–92.
- Drake E, Burym C, Money D, Pugash D, Gunka V. Anaesthetic management of a craniopagus conjoined twin delivery. Int J Obstet Anesth. 2008;17:174–6.

- Girshin M, Broderick C, Patel D, Chacko S, Reddy S, Staffenberg D, Goodrich J, Wasnick J. Anesthetic management of staged separation of craniopagus conjoined twins. Paediatr Anaesth. 2006;16:347–51.
- Gupta DK, Mahapatra AK, AIIMS Team Craniopagus. Addressing the shared circumferential sinus in craniopagus conjoined twins: is venous bypass an option? World Neurosurg. 2020;133:421–2.
- Walker M, Browd SR. Craniopagus twins: embryology, classification, surgical anatomy, and separation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:554–66.
- 23. Pataki G, Hudák I, Valálik I, Czeibert K, Csapody M, Jósvai A, Fekete A, Kalam A, Imam H, Hasan M, Salek AA, Islam S, Csókay A. Successful multistaged operative separation of 3-year-old craniopagus twins in a multidisciplinary, international collaboration. Surgery. 2020;168:226–30.
- 24. Pai KM, Naidu RC, Raja A, Rai YS, Kumar N, Kini A, Joseph S, Hegde V, Ballal HS, Rao R, Sharma SV, Valakatte VK. Surgical nuances in the separation of craniopagus twins - our experience and a follow up of 15 years. Neurol India. 2018;66:426–33.
- Staffenberg DA, Goodrich JT. Separation of craniopagus conjoined twins with a staged approach. J Craniofac Surg. 2012;23(7 Suppl 1):2004–10.
- Goldman-Yassen AE, Goodrich JT, Miller TS, Farinhas JM. Preoperative evaluation of craniopagus twins: anatomy, imaging techniques, and surgical management. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2020;41:951–9.
- 27. Fusaro MV, Becker C, Pandya S, Mcbride W, Alizadeh K, Iannotti V, Zelkovic P, Barst S, Tobias ME, Mohan A, Freda J, Gewitz M, Scurlock C. International teleconsultation on conjoined twins leading to a successful separation: a case report. J Telemed Telecare. 2018;24:482–4.
- Ho YC, Goh KY, Golay X, Hong WT, Lim SH, Pan AB, Chua VG, Hui F, Sitoh YY. Functional magnetic resonance imaging in adult craniopagus for presurgical evaluation. J Neurosurg. 2005;103:910–6.
- 29. van Ouwerkerk WJ, van den Berg R, Allison CE, Sibarani R, van Wijk JA, Smit LM, ten Voorde BJ, de Munck J, Kurk CA, Velthuys ME, van Leeuwen E, Bemmel L, Vandertop WP. Craniopagus: the Suriname-Amsterdam conjunction. Childs Nerv Syst. 2004;20:625–34.
- Harvey DJ, Vaca EE, Totonchi A, Gosain AK. Elevenyear follow-up of craniopagus twins after unsuccessful attempt at separation: are they better off? Cleft Palate Craniofac J. 2019;56:817–22.
- Alokaili RN, Ahmed ME, Al Feryan A, Goodrich JT, Aloraidi A. Neurointerventional participation in craniopagus separation. Interv Neuroradiol. 2015;21:552–7.

- Heuer GG, Madsen PJ, Flanders TM, Kennedy BC, Storm PB, Taylor JA. Separation of craniopagus twins by a multidisciplinary team. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:358–64.
- Campbell KM. A unique case of craniopagus twins: considerations and challenges for dental rehabilitation. Pediatr Dent. 2013;35:447–50.
- 34. Kozak FK, Fandiño M, Carpes LF, Peiris K, Malherbe S, Purdy R. Cranial conjoined twins: surgical and anesthetic challenges for a routine procedure: adenoidectomy and examination of ears. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2011;75:444–7.
- Vagyannavar R, Bhattacharyya A, Misra G, Hashim M. Asmita. Craniopagus twins for magnetic resonance imaging. Saudi J Anaesth. 2017;11:509–10.
- Huang WQ, Fang JY, Xiao LC, Jiang XP, Xia JH, Feng X, Jiang N. Anesthetic management for separation of craniopagus twins. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2004;48:919–21.
- Parameswari A, Vakamudi M, Raghupathy V, Siddhartha R. Anaesthetic management of total craniopagus twins for magnetic resonance imaging and cerebral angiography. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105:368–70.
- Wong TG, Ong BC, Ang C, Chee HL. Anesthetic management for a five-day separation of craniopagus twins. Anesth Analg. 2003;97:999–1002.
- 39. Haydar B, Baetzel A, Stewart M, Voepel-Lewis T, Malviya S, Christensen R. Complications associated with the anesthesia transport of pediatric patients: an analysis of the wake up safe database. Anesth Analg. 2020;131:245–54.
- Stuart GM, Black AE, Howard RF. The anaesthetic management of conjoined twins. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2015;24:224–8.
- 41. Simpao AF, Wong R, Ferrara TJ, Hedrick HL, Schwartz AJ, Snyder TL, Tharakan SJ, Bailey PD Jr. From simulation to separation surgery: a tale of two twins. Anesthesiology. 2014;120:110.
- Frawley G. Conjoined twins in 2020 state of the art and future directions. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2020;33:381–7.
- 43. Kobylarz K. Anaesthesia of conjoined twins. Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther. 2014;46:124–9.
- Khan ZH, Tabatabai SA, Saberi H. Anesthetic and surgical experience in a case of total vertical craniopagus. Surg Neurol. 1999;52:62–6.
- Chalam KS. Anaesthetic management of conjoined twins' separation surgery. Indian J Anaesth. 2009;53:294–301.
- 46. Lee M, Gosain AK, Becker D. The bioethics of separating conjoined twins in plastic surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2011;128:328e–34e.



20

Anesthesia for Minimally Invasive Neurosurgical Procedures in Children

Sethuraman Manikandan 💿 and Prakash Nair 💿

Key Points

- Minimally invasive neurosurgery (MIN) is gradually becoming popular among children for many neurosurgical conditions.
- Technological advancements in neuroendoscopes, image guidance systems, and availability of modalities like intraoperative computed tomographic (CT) scan, magnetic resonance imaging (iMRI), and robotic neurosurgery have revolutionized MIN.
- MIN has the potential to significantly reduce the occurrence of complications as well as hospital stay.
- Conditions that are amenable for MIN are hydrocephalus, biopsies for intracranial lesions, craniosynostosis repair, epilepsy surgeries, sellar and suprasellar tumors, and spinal surgeries.
- MIN with robotic assistance may help for more accurate resection of lesions, less blood loss, and faster recovery.

P. Nair

- Minimally invasive techniques for spine surgeries in children include decompressive surgeries as well as instrumentation for correction of different deformities.
- Anesthesia concerns vary based on the procedure carried out apart from the usual implications of a pediatric patient.

20.1 Introduction

Since the inception of the specialty of neurosurgery, conventional teaching was that "bigger opening is better." This statement was based on the principle that a larger opening could allow room for the swollen brain to expand adequately, resulting in lower intracranial pressure (ICP) and reducing the potential for retractor-induced ischemia to normal brain tissue. Adverse brain conditions could also be encountered due to inhalational anesthesia, vasodilatory effects of medications used to regulate blood pressure, and awkward patient positioning leading to brain swelling. Imaging techniques were not available during the early years of neurosurgery, and a large craniectomy allowed for easier localization of the lesion, easier control of bleeding, and room to perform resective surgery in cases of refractory brain bulge [1, 2]. Morbidity and mortality of traditional neurosurgery due to large craniotomies and subsequent brain damage during surgery were well-recognized a century ago [3, 4]. Over the last three decades, advancements in tech-

S. Manikandan (🖂)

Division of Neuroanaesthesiology and Neurocritical Care, Department of Anesthesiology, Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Sciences and Technology (SCTIMST), Trivandrum, Kerala, India

Department of Neurosurgery, Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Sciences and Technology (SCTIMST), Trivandrum, Kerala, India e-mail: kanmanis@sctimst.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_20

nology have eliminated most difficulties encountered by earlier generations of neurosurgeons. Recent imaging modalities provide accuracy within a few millimeters, and stereotactic guidance has increased the accuracy to the submillimeter level. Neuronavigation tools allow the surgeon to map the perfect trajectory to precisely target lesions while causing minimal damage to eloquent areas of the brain [5]. Advanced micro-equipment and endoscopes allow access to deeper tissues with minimal handling of adjacent brain tissues. Advancement in anesthesia techniques and a better understanding of neurophysiology and neuropharmacology have led to improved control over ICP in the perioperative setting. Facilitation of minimally invasive neurosurgery (MIN) requires preoperative planning with investigations such as computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and intraoperative aids like neuroendoscope (using small burr hole/craniotomy), neuronavigation (image guidance system), or the use of robotic aided surgery [6].

Pediatric patients presenting with various neurological conditions such as a tumor, obstruction of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) pathways, congenital and developmental anomalies of the skull and vertebral column, intractable epilepsies, and vascular anomalies may need neurosurgical procedures for their management. It has been wellrecognized that major neurosurgical procedures in pediatric patients carry lots of morbidities [7, 8]. The use of MIN procedures has been shown to reduce complications associated with some neurosurgical conditions and also reduce hospital stay and cost [9, 10]. However, MIN procedures may pose unique challenges to the anesthesiologist in the perioperative management of pediatric patients [11]. This chapter describes various neurosurgical conditions where minimally invasive techniques and their anesthetic management have been established (Table 20.1), and in the subsequent sections, the technology involved with MIN for cranial and spinal conditions has been discussed.

| Techniques | Indication | Procedure |
|----------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|
| Endoscopic transcranial procedures | Aqueduct stenosis, Hydrocephalus [12] | Endoscopic third ventriculostomy + ventriculoperitoneal shunt |
| | Craniosynostosis [13, 14] | Endoscopic strip craniectomy or spring cranioplasty |
| | Arachnoid cysts, tumors, biopsy [15] | Fenestration, Biopsy, decompression |
| | Hematoma/vascular malformation [16] | Evacuation |
| Endoscopic transnasal procedures | Sellar, suprasellar lesion [17] | Decompression of tumor |
| | CSF leak [18] | Repair |
| | Mucocele [19] | Resection, repair of defect |
| Image guidance surgery | Sellar lesion, tumors [20] | decompression |
| | Epilepsy [21] | Strip and depth electrode insertion |
| | Hydrocephalus [22] | Fenestration |
| Robot-guided surgery | Tumors [23] | Biopsy, decompression |
| | Epilepsy [24] | Depth electrode insertion |
| | Hydrocephalus [25] | Fenestration, septostomy |
| Minimally invasive spine surgery and VATS | Spinal trauma [26] | Decompression, fusion |
| | Scoliosis/kyphosis [27] | Correction of deformity, fusion |
| | Vertebroplasty/kyphoplasty [28] | Bone cement deposition |
| | Disc prolapse [29] | Discectomy |

 Table 20.1
 Different techniques and the procedures performed as minimally invasive neurosurgery (MIN)

20.2 Technology Aids to Minimally Invasive Neurosurgery

Three major technologies that led to advancement in MIN are neuroendoscopes, image guidance systems, and robotic neurosurgery. Understanding the technical aspects of these advanced procedures is relevant for anesthesiologists for efficient perioperative management.

20.2.1 Neuroendoscopy

Neuroendoscopy dramatically changed the approach from open craniotomies to minimally invasive techniques to manage different pathological entities. The first neuroendoscopic procedure was performed in 1910 by L'Espinasse, using a cystoscope [30]. Since then, the interest in endoscopy and the advancement of science has led to the development of special neuroendoscopes with varying viewing angles and instruments of different sizes that can pass through them. The instrument consists of a xenon-light source, which allows clear visualization of anatomical details, and a trocar with working channels for atraumatic insertion into the brain. Through the trocar, the endoscopes (sizes: 6 mm, 4.6 mm, and 3 mm diameter) can be inserted for further visualization of intracranial structures and the passage of irrigating fluids and instruments (Fig. 20.1).

Neuroendoscopic procedures have a wide variety of applications in pediatric neurosurgery. These procedures utilize the cavity of the lateral as well as the third ventricle and may be used to manage a spectrum of lesions that obstruct the CSF pathway. Many technological advances like the development of high-definition cameras, flexible scopes, rod lens telescopes and image guidance have made neuroendoscopic procedures safer and have improved surgical outcomes. During the initial days, the neuroendoscopes were primarily used for third ventriculostomy for obstructive hydrocephalus. Currently, neuroendoscopy is indicated for the management of (a) hydrocephalus, (b) intraventricular tumors, (c) intraventricular hemorrhage, (d) intracranial arachnoid cysts, (e) pineal region cysts, (f) colloid cysts, and intraparenchymal cysts [31, 12] (Table 20.1).



Fig. 20.1 Endoscopic view of the third ventricle and the neuroendoscopes-intraventricular with trocar and transnasal scopes
20.2.1.1 Neuroendoscopy for CSF Pathway Obstruction

Neuroendoscopy is performed in various conditions with obstruction to the CSF pathway, causing both communicating and non-communicating hydrocephalus. Some of these clinical scenarios where this procedure is employed include congenital hydrocephalus, aqueduct stenosis, entrapped lateral ventricle, fourth ventricular outlet obstruction (tumor, cyst) hydrocephalus, multi-loculated hydrocephalus, hydrocephalus with meningomyelocele, and failed ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunts.

The presence of dilated ventricles serves as a natural cavity for neuroendoscopic procedures. The use of the ventriculoscope permits the neurosurgeon to inspect the lateral and third ventricle anatomy. In cases of obstruction to CSF outflow in the posterior third ventricle (e.g., pineal region tumors or aqueductal stenosis), an endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) may be performed. In anterior third ventricular lesions (e.g., craniopharyngioma), the foramen of Monro may be occluded, and the lateral ventricles are dilated in isolation; the ventricular dilation may be asymmetrical if the outflow of only one of the ventricles is obstructed. In such a scenario, a VP shunt may be performed following an endoscopic septostomy through the septum pellucidum to establish CSF outflow from the entrapped ventricle (Fig. 20.2a, b). In multi-loculated hydrocephalus,



Fig. 20.2 (a) MRI image with shunt trajectory for endoscopic septostomy. (b) Endoscopic view of septostomy procedure in a patient with a failed ventriculoperitoneal shunt (shunt tube in situ)

the ventriculoscope is used to break the septations within the ventricle to create a single cavity that can be drained with a single shunt. The technique has been utilized for creating alternative channels of CSF outflow. This can be further augmented by performing foraminoplasty, aqueductoplasty, or aqueductal stenting. In patients having intraventricular tumors and concomitant hydrocephalus, neuroendoscopy may be used to treat hydrocephalus and performing a tumor biopsy in the same setting. Colloid cysts can be resected using neuroendoscopy. Certain tumors, especially craniopharyngiomas with a prominent cystic component, may be drained using a neuroendoscope, and a catheter connected to an Ommaya reservoir may be placed into the cyst cavity for repeated aspirations. This modality provides temporary relief to increased ICP before a definitive procedure in patients with acute hydrocephalus or those with poor general conditions who need preoperative optimization.

The traditional treatment of intracranial arachnoid cysts is to fenestrate the cysts into the subarachnoid space. The neuroendoscope introduced through a burr hole may be used for performing the fenestration while avoiding a craniotomy. Arachnoid cysts in the suprasellar and quadrigeminal cisterns may lead to hydrocephalus. In this setting, the cyst may be fenestrated into the ventricle.

20.2.1.2 Surgical Technique of ETV

The commonest indication for ETV is aqueductal stenosis. In this procedure, the patient is positioned supine, with the head placed on a head ring to minimize movement. In cases where image guidance is needed, the head may be fixed in a Mayfield head clamp. A burr hole is created at *Kocher's point*, which is located 2–3 cm lateral to the midline and just anterior to the coronal suture (Fig. 20.3). The dura is opened in a cruciate fashion after adequate hemostasis of



3 cm anterior to lambdoid suture in mid pupillary line



Fig. 20.4 (a) MRI image with endoscopic trajectory of the third ventricle. (b) Endoscopic view of steps of third ventriculostomy procedure

bleeding bone and soft tissue. After the ventricle is cannulated with the obturator mounted in the endoscope sheath, CSF is collected for biochemical analysis. The obturator is removed, and the ventriculoscope is introduced through the sheath, after which it is locked in place. The choroid plexus, thalamostriate vein, and septal vein are identified, and the scope is followed toward the foramen of Monro to enter into the third ventricle (Fig. 20.4a, b). The pre-mamillary membrane and the dorsum sellae are identified, and the membrane is perforated close to the dorsum sellae. This perforation must be carried all the way into the prepontine cistern. All arachnoid bands and membranes are released; the perforation is further dilated using a Fogarty catheter. Adequate precautions should be taken to protect the basilar artery and its bifurcation along with the perforators that arise from the bifurcation in order to avoid neurological deterioration due to a stroke. The ventricle is irrigated to remove blood present inside, and the scope is slowly removed, visualizing the cortical track for the presence of bleeding.

20.2.1.3 Advantages of ETV

ETV restores CSF circulation by diverting its flow into the prepontine cistern. This avoids the use of a permanent shunt system for the CSF diversion. The shunt systems are associated with long-term risks of hardware infection, obstruction, over-drainage of CSF, migration into other body cavities, and extrusion through the skin. The success rate of ETV in the treatment of hydrocephalus depends on its etiology; greater success is seen in older patients and obstructive hydrocephalus due to tumors, whereas premature and newborn children, children with myelomeningocele and post-infective hydrocephalus are poor candidates for this procedure.

20.2.1.4 Disadvantages of ETV

Despite ETV being a common procedure, the costs of the equipment are very high. However, a comparative study suggested ETV as a costeffective procedure compared to VP shunt insertion [32]. There are other disadvantages such as lack of widespread availability of endoscopes, minimal space available for the procedure, hand fatigue for the neurosurgeon holding the scopes for a prolonged time period, difficulty in controlling major vascular injury, and compromised visualization owing to the presence of blood and other tissues [33]. Procedural failure may occur if performed in patients without proper indications such as in normal pressure hydrocephalus, neonates, hydrocephalus due to subarachnoid hemorrhage, meningitis, and post-shunt ETV [34]. The procedure may fail if the stoma is not wide enough or the stoma re-occludes due to inflammation, bleeding, tumor growth, etc. Despite the procedure, the symptoms of raised ICP may not resolve if coexisting defect in CSF absorption occurs. The success of ETV in pediatric patients can be predicted by using Endoscopic Third Ventriculostomy Success Score (ETVSS), based on patients' age, etiology of hydrocephalus, and previous history of the shunt [35].

20.2.1.5 Anesthetic Challenges for ETV

The anesthetic concerns may include the concerns associated with anesthesia for the pediatric age group, emaciated children due to poor dietary intake, chronically raised ICP and enlarged head circumference, the presence of congenital anomalies, and electrolyte abnormalities due to frequent vomiting [36]. The intraoperative concerns may include difficulty positioning the child, anticipated difficult intubation, and increased sensitivity to anesthetic agents, opioids, and neuromuscular blocking agents. Preoperative fasting status may be inadequate due to the emergency nature of the surgery and delayed gastric emptying caused by raised ICP. A rapid sequence or modified rapid sequence induction may be planned for induction of anesthesia.

ASA standard monitors (ECG, pulse oximetry, blood pressure, temperature, EtCO₂, and urine output) are recommended for the procedure. Despite the term MIN, neuroendoscopy may last for a prolonged period. It may be associated with severe blood loss or hemodynamic fluctuations. An invasive arterial line may help to monitor beat-to-beat hemodynamic monitoring. It may also help early detection of cerebral ischemia due to an increase in ICP during the procedure and a fall in Cerebral perfusion Pressure (CPP) below threshold even before the onset of acute symptoms of raised ICP like bradycardia [15]. Additional monitoring may include transduction of endoscopic opening or CSF pressure (it represents ICP), depth of anesthesia monitoring, and blood biochemistry.

Short-acting anesthetic agents are preferred to facilitate early emergence as the procedure is usually short. Mild hyperventilation (PaCO₂ 32–35 mmHg) may help the control of ICP as well as ease the passage of the endoscope. The use of nitrous oxide is controversial and is better avoided in the presence of raised ICP, risks of intraoperative hemodynamic fluctuations and cerebral ischemia due to irrigating fluids, reduced CPP, and occurrence of tension pneumocephalus postoperatively [15]. Patients are extubated at the end of surgery unless the recovery is delayed, which requires further evaluation.

20.2.1.6 Choice of Irrigating Fluid

The choice of fluid, its temperature, and the irrigation rate through the endoscope can impact the procedure. Irrigation of the ventricular cavity with warm saline or Ringer's lactate (RL), for the clear endoscopic view as well as washout of the blood along its track, is usually carried out. Irrigating with warm fluids (37 °C) is necessary to prevent fogging of the scope and control bleeding. Cold fluids may cause stimulation of the hypothalamus and bradycardia or arrhythmias [37]. The speed of irrigation must be restricted to 10 mL/min, and the time of blockage of the outflow of endoscope must be restricted to 4 min or less to prevent a dangerous increase in ICP and fall in CPP. Various experimental studies evaluated CSF composition changes following irrigation with 0.9% normal saline (NS), RL, and artificial CSF. An infusion of 500 mL of NS causes a decrease in CSF pH by 0.2, cerebral temperature by 0.6 °C, and a decrease in other constituents of CSF like carbon dioxide, calcium, potassium, and bicarbonate; sodium and chloride levels may increase. These changes can cause postoperative vomiting, agitation, and transient neurological deficits, which are unrelated to the surgical procedure [38]. The use of large volumes of NS for irrigation may cause hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis. Moreover, NS has been implicated with cellular injury and apoptosis in experimental animals [39, 45]. Artificial CSF lacks widespread availability and is expensive. RL has better optical clarity. Both artificial CSF and RL are considered better choices for irrigation than NS [40, 46]. During prolonged surgeries, serum electrolyte measurement may help identify the electrolyte changes due to irrigating fluids, especially in neonates and infants.

20.2.1.7 Hemodynamic and Biochemical Changes During ETV

The passage of scope can lead to various intraoperative hemodynamic changes. There may be varied reasons for such changes: (a) the third ventricle is close to important structures such as the thalamus, hypothalamus, choroid plexus, basilar artery, and mamillary bodies; (b) rapid or cold infusion of irrigating fluids through the scope can lead to a sudden increase in the ICP and decreased in CPP; and (c) an ongoing blood loss due to vascular injury may be difficult to quantify, at times.

Significant intraoperative hemodynamic disturbances may include tachyarrhythmias, severe bradycardia, hypertension, and even cardiac arrest [41]. Tachycardia is the most frequent occurrence during ETV, which may be associated with hypertension [42]. Tachycardia is seen during high-speed irrigation and manipulation of scope in the ventricular cavity, while bradycardia usually occurs during the fenestration of the third ventricular floor [42, 43]. The hemodynamic changes may forewarn the anesthesiologist of changes in ICP and CPP. A rise in blood pressure occurs initially when CPP falls; the classical Cushing's response of bradycardia with hypertension is more common with an acute and sudden rise in ICP. An atypical Cushing's response consisting of tachycardia and hypertension may be observed when the ICP increased and CPP falls below 15 mmHg [44, 45]. In some cases, asystole has been reported possibly due to direct hypothalamic stimulation, whereas tachycardia is presumed to be due to impaired CPP [42].

Electrolyte disturbances may also be seen during the perioperative period in children undergoing ETV. Postoperative hypokalemia has been observed when NS is used as the irrigating fluid [46], whereas hyperkalemia has been observed following the use of RL [47]. Other causes of electrolyte disturbances include hypothalamic injury-causing diabetes insipidus (DI) or syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secretion. A prospective study suggested using NS as maintenance fluid and warm RL as irrigation fluid to prevent electrolyte disturbances [48].

20.2.1.8 Pressure Inside the Neuroendoscope (PIN) and CPP

Although neuroendoscopy is considered minimally invasive, a sudden severe increase in pressure in the neuroendoscope (sometimes above systemic pressure) can occur without any major systemic hemodynamics changes. This may be related to low intracranial compliance and infusion of a rapidly large volume of irrigating fluid without release or blockade of egress of irrigating fluids due to the snug fitting of the endoscope in small children. Intermittent draining of the irrigating fluid is necessary. The increase in pressure inside the neuroendoscope (PIN) has been associated with severe fall in cerebral perfusion as monitored by transcranial Doppler [49]. A high PIN may be associated with delayed recovery. Although a safe value of PIN is not established, it is important to measure it routinely, avoiding any sudden increase [50]. A cutoff pressure of PIN more than 30 mmHg has been associated with increased complications [15].

20.2.1.9 Complications During the ETV

Neuroendoscopic procedures are considered safe, with low rates of complication (8%) [51]. Hypothermia and hemodynamic changes (45%) are more common during the intraoperative period [42]. There may be intraoperative bleeding (3.7%), which could be significant, especially following an injury to the basilar artery. Often, the bleeding occurs due to venous injury, usually thalamostriate vein, and can be treated with continuous irrigation of fluids [52]. Blood loss may be significant for a small child, and at times, it is difficult to estimate the loss and the irrigation fluids. The hemodynamic changes alone may not always be useful to guide therapy; the point of care hemoglobin estimation may be helpful. VAE is a rare occurrence but should be considered for unexplained hemodynamic changes [53]. Care must be taken to protect the eyes and face with adequate padding, which are vulnerable to inadvertent injuries. Neurological injury to the surrounding structures like the thalamus, hypothalamus, and midbrain and cranial nerve dysfunction may occur (0.24%) and present with postoperative hematoma or infarct on computed tomographic (CT) scan or with clinical signs. The majority of these neurological injuries are transient and resolve spontaneously. Excessive drainage of CSF is another issue in these patients, which may present with acute subdural hemorrhage in the immediate postoperative period or delayed chronic subdural collections [54]. Reverse herniation of the brain has been reported due to sudden excessive release of CSF [55]. Pneumocephalus may occur and may manifest with seizure and delayed awakening at the end of the surgery [56]. Delayed awakening may also be seen due to intraoperative hypothermia, neurological injury, failed ETV, excessive PIN (>30 mmHg), cerebral edema, prolonged low CPP, increased sensitivity to anesthetic agents especially in infants, seizures, etc. Postoperative complications are infrequent following neuroendoscopy and may include fever, electrolyte imbalances (commonly hypokalemia), nausea and vomiting, CSF leaks, failure of ETV, hydrocephalus, infections, and postoperative cognitive decline due to damage to surrounding limbic structures like mamillary bodies, fornix, etc.

20.2.2 Image-Guided Neurosurgery

The need to integrate imaging modalities like CT scan and MRI to the operation theater during neurosurgery is well-recognized. The integration will help in the precise location of the pathological lesion, identify the vital structures nearby, reach the especially deep-seated lesion, minimize the damage to the surrounding normal brain, and help complete resection of the lesion [57]. Improvement in the image guidance system has helped in the conduct of minimally invasive spine surgeries (MISs). The procedure consists of preoperative imaging (CT/MRI) of the patient to diagnose and plan the surgery. The image sequences are loaded in the computerized image guidance system, which provides



Fig. 20.5 Image guidance system in neuro-operation theater

the three-dimensional view of the brain and lesion (Fig. 20.5). In the operating room (OR), after induction of anesthesia, the head frame is fixed. In cooperative children, frame fixation and procedure may be done in an awake state (e.g., deep brain stimulation surgery). The newer generation system uses a frameless guidance system. The trajectory is marked, the accurate depth of the lesion is measured, and complete resection is made using the system.

There is always a constrained OR space and difficulty accessing the airway of the child during the procedure. Hence, monitoring lines, ventilators, and other tubings should have an adequate length and need to be secured well [58]. The choice of anesthetic drugs depends on the neurosurgical procedure. If intraoperative neuromonitoring is planned, drugs affecting these modalities are avoided or administered at lesser doses. For example, the use of benzodiazepines, high MAC of inhalation agents during ECoG recording, and muscle relaxants during MEP recording should be avoided. Since the precision of trajectory is important, the use of osmotic diuretics, hyperventilation that causes brain shift, and hemodynamic fluctuations, especially hypertension, may

increase bleeding in the operative site and should be avoided. Possible complications related to airway compromise and hemodynamic instabilities may arise in the intraoperative MRI environment, which need appropriate attention. All the connections and patient ventilatory circuit must be rechecked before intraoperative scanning of the patient. Long length of ventilatory tubings and IV infusion lines are required to maintain anesthesia in such circumstances. It may cause delayed delivery of anesthetics to the patient. The MRI environment requires a low temperature to optimize the magnetic field; children may develop hypothermia and, hence, delayed recovery from anesthesia.

20.2.3 Minimally Invasive Robotic Neurosurgery

Robotic neurosurgery is one of the recent modalities increasingly being utilized for various pathologies. Despite the high costs involved, robotic surgeries are considered advantageous with accuracy, lesser blood loss, and faster recovery. Robotic neurosurgery also uses an advanced



Fig. 20.6 Ongoing epilepsy surgery with robotic neurosurgery guidance system (ROSA® Zimmer Biomet)

image guidance system; its use has been extended to the pediatric population. Robotic stereotactic assistance, also known as ROSA® (Zimmer Biomet/Medtech Surgical Montpellier, France) is a commonly used robotic device for neurosurgery. It consists of a robotic arm for precise positioning of the instruments in a predetermined trajectory using the preoperative MRI or CT scan of the patient toward the area of interest. Once the trajectory is registered, the robotic arm is aligned to the trajectory by the computer of the ROSA®, which allows the neurosurgeon to pass the instruments to the location of the lesion (Fig. 20.6). The robotic-assisted techniques in children are employed for neurosurgical procedures involving minimally invasive and stereotactic procedures like pediatric epilepsy, endoscopic transnasal surgeries, tumor removal, and ventriculostomy procedures. ROSA® is used in depth electrode placement unilaterally or bilaterally in stereoelectroencephalography (SEEG), deep brain stimulation (DBS), and laser thermal ablation of lesion or biopsy. The procedure has been seen to be associated with minimal complication rates [23, 59]. Robotic neurosurgery is usually carried out in supine position; it requires the fixation of headframes and strict immobility. Although a popular frameless system is also being used, the use of frame was found to increase surgery accuracy [60]. Anesthetic concerns are similar to image guidance surgery, like space constraints, longer duration of surgeries, and difficult patient access. General endotracheal anesthesia is commonly employed as the procedure may be prolonged, which requires strict immobility to prevent patient injury due to docking of robotic instruments [25]. In the event of a major intraoperative complication, emergency undocking of the robotic device must be readily available to resuscitate the child [25].

20.2.4 Specific Neurosurgical Procedures

20.2.4.1 Craniosynostosis

Craniosynostosis is characterized by the premature fusion of one or more cranial sutures resulting in the prevention of growth of the underlying brain. This results in abnormal expansion of other unaffected bones leading to the abnormal shape of the head and face. Uncorrected children may present with the features of raised ICP, craniofacial abnormalities, and neurocognitive defects. Surgical correction is the mainstay of treatment to prevent complications and cosmetic benefits. It is fraught with severe morbidity as well as major anesthetic challenges [61]. Advances in neuroendoscopy have led to radical changes in the management from open surgery to endoscopic treatment, reducing morbidity and mortality [13]. Surgical methods (Table 20.2) currently employed include open craniotomies, endoscopic strip craniectomy, or spring-assisted corrections (Fig. 20.7). The MIN approach is associated with reduced intraoperative blood loss, transfusion requirement, procedure times, and length of hospital stay compared to open surgery for craniosynostosis. However, there are no differences in the incidence of other complications related to the airway, pulmonary system, and hemodynamics, coagulopathy, and infections between the two groups [14, 62]. The incidence of VAE is also lower in endoscopic surgery compared to open repair [63].

20.2.4.2 Endoscopic Strip Craniectomy

Under general anesthesia, children are usually positioned prone on a head holder. If the metopic suture is involved, for combined surgery, a supine position is also utilized. Two linear incisions of 2 cm each are placed over the anterior fontanel and lambdoid suture, and a subcutaneous tunnel is created between the two incisions. Endoscope is inserted, and dissection is carried out, separating the fused subgaleal bone from the underlying dura mater. Scissors are used to cut strips of fused bone (8–10 cm length, 3–4 mm width) which is removed via the anterior fontanelle incision. Sometimes wedge is taken from the parietal bone to improve the space for the growth of the brain. The bony margins are refashioned appropriately, and hemostasis is achieved. Following surgery, appropriately customized helmets are placed, which should be worn 21 hours a day until 12 months or more to allow remodeling of the calvarium and brain growth [64].

| Surgery | Indications | Timing | Advantages | Disadvantages |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Open suturectomy with or without craniofacial advancement | Multiple suture involvement Syndromic children Associated facial and orbital correction Late presentation | After 6 months of age as the bone will become thicker and hold the screws | Multiple sutures can be handled | Prolonged surgery and hospital and ICU stay Venous air embolism Severe blood loss and transfusion needs Increased complications |
| Endoscopic strip craniectomy | Usually involving single or two sutures | Less than 6 months (usually done at 2–3 months | Early correction Less morbidity | Need for re surgeries Wearing of helmet mold for up to 12–24 months. Cannot be used in all types Redo-surgery |
| Endoscopic spring- assisted cranioplasty | Usually single but multiple sutures can be treated | Early surgery (<6 months) | Good outcome | Redo-surgery Cannot be used in all types |

Table 20.2 Showing different approaches to craniosynostosis management



Fig. 20.7 Diagrammatic representation of endoscopic strip craniectomy and spring-assisted cranioplasty of the sagittal suture

20.2.4.3 Spring-Assisted Cranioplasty

After a strip of bone is removed for springassisted cranioplasty, two springs are kept between the bony edges, one anteriorly and another posteriorly, and sutured to maintain the bony separation. The force applied by the spring usually ranges between 6 and 11 N [65]. The surgery may also be performed for multiple cranial sutures. The advantage of the spring-assisted cranioplasty over endoscopic strip craniectomy is that it avoids the use of a postoperative helmet. Comparison between the two procedures has shown similar outcomes [63].

20.2.4.4 Intraoperative Monitoring and Anesthetic Management

Important anesthetic concerns in children undergoing endoscopic surgery for craniosynostosis are very young age (<6 months), associated anomalies, and blood loss. Endoscopic procedures have significantly reduced surgical time and blood loss. Children with preoperative anemia may be treated with erythropoietin. Two wide-bore IV cannula are inserted. The single suture surgeries usually do not require invasive

arterial and central venous lines, but they may be warranted in complex surgeries [63]. General endotracheal anesthesia is routinely employed with muscle paralysis. Syndromic children with facial dysmorphism may cause difficult mask ventilation and intubation. Significant manipulation of the head and neck is anticipated during the surgery; hence, the risk of migration and kinking of the endotracheal tube (ETT) must be kept in mind, and reinforced ETT is preferred. Precordial Doppler is used in some centers for the detection of VAE [66]. These children may have increased ICP. Hence, a subdural ICP monitor may help assess the efficacy of the repair; ICP decreases following cranioplasty [67]. The use of antifibrinolytics (e.g., tranexamic acid) reduces blood loss and is found to be safe [68, 69]. During endoscopic surgery, the mean blood loss has been found to be 13 mL/kg; less than 4% children require blood transfusion. Severe bleeding may also occur due to injury to the sagittal sinus or other vessels [70].

Unlike open suturectomy, postoperative complications are minimal with neuroendoscopy, and the children require a shorter stay in the intensive care unit (ICU) and may be discharged within 48 h. ICU care may be required in children with comorbidities, syndromic association, and preoperative elevated ICP and those undergoing cranial vault reconstruction. Others can be managed in the postoperative wards [71]. Postoperative pain is managed with a combination of scalp block and systemic analgesics; usually, acetaminophen or morphine either alone or in combination is used [71].

20.2.4.5 Sellar and Suprasellar Tumors

In children, 18% of the CNS tumors are present in the sellar and suprasellar region, the common ones being craniopharyngioma (58%), pituitary adenoma (30%), germinoma (5.5%), and tumors related to the optic pathway [72]. In contrast to predominant nonfunctioning tumors seen in adults, functioning tumors (80-97%) are frequently associated with pediatric patients. Adrenocorticotropin (ACTH)-secreting adenoma is the most common one, which occurs during early childhood, followed by prolactin (PRL)and growth hormone (GH)-secreting adenomas. Excision by endoscopic transnasal approach has been carried out in children for sellar-suprasellar tumors despite being considered anatomically challenging than in adults [73]. The use of smaller scopes (2.7 mm and 3 mm in diameter) and "binostril four hand" approach allows the surgeon to decompress the tumors successfully, despite the fact that the pneumatization of sphenoid sinus in children is partial [17]. This approach better preserves visual function with gross total resection as compared to the transcranial approach.

20.2.4.6 Anesthetic Management

Anesthetic challenges are related to endocrine abnormalities, airway issues, and postoperative pain. A thorough preoperative assessment should be carried out. The endocrine functions, especially hypothyroidism and hypoadrenalism, may affect the perioperative outcomes, which need to be optimized during the preoperative period. Children with craniopharyngioma and functioning pituitary adenoma may be obese with a history of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) with a large tongue and a difficult airway. After anesthetic induction, videolaryngoscopic intubation may be useful for endotracheal intubation with a flexometallic tube. Oropharyngeal packing is normally carried out to prevent the trickling of blood inside the stomach and lower airway. The gauze-soaked epinephrine may be packed, or a relatively higher dose of epinephrine is injected intranasally, leading to hypertension and arrhythmias. Care should be taken to limit the dose of epinephrine; the anesthesiologist should be watchful for the occurrence of hemodynamic disturbances. It is important to provide a bloodless operating field during transnasal dissection, which can be achieved by avoiding precipitating factors like a lighter plane of anesthesia, hypercarbia, and hypertension. Induced hypotension with moderate blood pressure reduction using a higher concentration of inhalational anesthetic agents, dexmedetomidine, or vasodilators is employed if troublesome bleeding precludes the surgical access. Normocarbia for resection of the infra-diaphragmatic part of the tumor and mild hypercarbia to facilitate the suprasellar part may be ensured during the intraoperative period. Besides routine monitoring, visual evoked potential (VEP) may be useful for assessing the integrity of the optic pathway [74]. There may be intraoperative complications in the forms of hemodynamic fluctuation and arrhythmia. Bleeding may be severe following injury to the cavernous sinus or carotid artery located adjacent to the surgical site. Other complications include hyperglycemia, diabetes insipidus (DI), and electrolyte disturbances. These children tend to have an increased sensitivity to opioids and benzodiazepines and are prone to postoperative respiratory complications. The postoperative period may be associated with complications such as pain, DI, CSF leaks, epistaxis, endocrine dysfunctions, meningitis, and loss of vision that requires aggressive management [75].

20.2.4.7 Minimally Invasive Epilepsy Surgery

The use of MIN in epileptic children is increasingly being carried out. A low incidence of permanent neurological deficits, shorter hospital stays, and better outcomes have been observed with MIN techniques involving resection of focal cortical dysplasia, corpus callosotomy, hemispherotomy, and excision/lesioning of hypothalamic hamartoma [76, 77]. In some children with epilepsy, a preoperative surface EEG may be inconclusive and require bilateral intracranial electrode insertion (strips for surface or needle for depth placement). The electrodes are placed through a burr hole, or it may include stereotaxyor endoscope-assisted depth electrode placement. These procedures require a still child and are carried out under general anesthesia. Depth electrode placement may be required in multiple areas of the brain in some children. The child may be operated in a semi-sitting position; hence, appropriate precautions must be taken for the prevention of position related complications. The anesthetic concerns include the occurrence of perioperative seizures, drug interactions involving antiepileptic and anesthetic drugs, adverse effects of antiepileptic medications such as anemia, coagulation abnormalities, and thrombocytopenia due to bone marrow suppression. Intraoperative blood loss, delayed awakening, and convulsions may add to the perioperative concerns. The children may have to undergo another surgery to remove the intracranial electrodes placed and excise the localized epileptic focus.

20.2.4.8 Movement Disorders

MIN is used in the pediatric population to treat movement disorders like tremor, dystonia, and chorea, athetosis, hemiballismus, etc. These children usually present with involuntary and sustained muscle contractions, causing abnormal twisting and posturing; if left untreated, they may lead to permanent disabilities. Hence, early DBS surgery involving stimulation of globus pallidus internus (Gpi) nuclei is performed. DBS plays an established role in providing durable symptomatic relief and improving life quality with minimal morbidity [78]. In contrast to adults, where the procedure is done in an awake state along with neurological testing, children are psychologically unprepared and usually require general anesthesia (GA). Moreover, dystonia is the most common indication for DBS in children that presents with severe involuntary movements; these patients require GA with muscle relaxation. These procedures may be complicated by the occurrence of intraoperative seizures, bleeding, and neurological deficits. Anesthetic care should focus on intraoperative microelectrode recording (MER), autonomic dysfunction, and various drug interactions [79]. Propofol inhibits the firing of Gpi, reduces dystonia, and may interfere with monitoring [80]. Dexmedetomidine has been used for MER [81] with satisfactory results. Vasoactive medications like epinephrine and ephedrine may cause severe hemodynamic disturbances in children on L-dopa and selegiline, which need to be avoided [82].

As the DBS procedure requires preoperative planning MRI for location of neuclei, the child may require anesthesia to undergo the procedure. Adolescents and cooperative children can be managed with monitored anesthesia care like in adults.

20.2.5 Minimally Invasive Spine (MIS) Surgery

The major drawback of open spine surgery is the need for large incisions, damage to paraspinal muscles and ligaments due to dissection and retraction, and thermal injury by use of cautery. This may lead to muscle weakness, instability, severe pain, pulmonary dysfunction, and scar formation in the postoperative period. Complications like prolonged surgery, severe blood loss, wound infections, neurological deficits, and redo surgeries are common (36%) [83]. Various methods are used to reduce such complications and enhance recovery by applying minimally invasive spine surgery (MIS) and modified anesthesia protocols [84–86]. The use of MIS has also been associated with reduced pain and the need for analgesics.

20.2.5.1 Indications for MIS

MIS in pediatric patients has evolved for both decompression and instrumentation. It has been utilized for lumbar, thoracic, and cervical spine; both anterior and posterior approaches have been described in relation to it. Various spinal pathologies where MIS is used include spinal trauma, neoplasms, infections, and developmental disorders. Degenerative spine disease and intervertebral disc prolapses are commonly seen in adults and are relatively rare in children. Spinal deformities are another broad group affecting the children, including scoliosis, kyphosis, and lordosis of varying degrees [27]. The most common and challenging pediatric problem is scoliosis. In severe cases, if Cobb's angle is more than 45°, in a growing child, or in those with progressive disease, surgery is warranted [87]. The surgical approaches include posterior fusion surgery, anterior fusion, vertebral body wedge osteotomies, and stapling.

20.2.5.2 Surgical Approach

MIS was performed initially using a tubular retraction system where the surgeon used a microscope through the tube retractor to visualize the structures of interest. Newer developments include an endoscopic tube and extensible retractor system, which allows the endoscopic surgery (Fig. 20.8). In this technique, a 1.5 cm incision is made in the paramedian position, and a needle is first inserted through the incision to reach the junction of the pedicle and traverse the process of the respective vertebrae. Serial dilators are threaded over the needle with the advantage of minimal muscle damage by this technique. After dilatation, the desired size of the tube is inserted to reach the pedicle. Bony decompression and soft tissue release can be done through this tube via either microscopic or endoscopic approach, and finally, the spine is stabilized by interbody fusion using pins, nails, and/or rods.

20.2.5.3 Anesthetic Management

The salient anesthetic management of MIS in children is similar to open spine surgeries. Patients with congenital anomalies may have coexisting cardiopulmonary and neuromuscular problems and recurrent surgeries; hence, a thorough preoperative evaluation and planning should be done. Careful positioning during anesthetic induction and surgery is important as

Fig. 20.8 Endoscopic tubular spine assembly with scope holder, guidewire, serial dilator for paraspinal muscle splitting

structural deformities can lead to difficulty in positioning with possible neurological injuries [88]. Anesthetic plan to facilitate intraoperative neuromonitoring monitoring (IONM) may be required [89]; factors affecting evoked potentials such as anemia, hypotension, and hypothermia should be taken care of [90]. Adequate spinal cord perfusion is important to prevent neurological damage, and, hence, induced hypotension is discouraged during MIS and is contraindicated in children with preexisting neurological deficits [88]. Children may be taking analgesics for pain control in the preoperative period and may suffer from severe perioperative pain. Multimodal analgesia in the form of acetaminophen, morphine, gabapentin, and continuous epidural local anesthetic injection may have to be administered.

MIS for posterior cervical spine pathology is done either in the prone or sitting position. Sitting position helps in reducing intraoperative blood loss. However, it can be associated with a lot of complications that require appropriate attention. Neurovascular injuries may occur during instrumentation, fixation with wires and screws, and may result in dural tear, CSF leaks, nerve injuries, and vascular injuries (e.g., vertebral artery injury). At the thoracic level, MIS may lead to injury to the inferior vena cava, thoracic aorta, and viscera. Various postoperative complications like cardiopulmonary, visual loss, and airway edema may occur similar to that during the open surgeries [88], which anesthesiologists should know [91].

20.2.5.4 Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Surgery (VATS)

For anterior decompression of vertebral body, instrumentation intervertebral discectomy, and soft tissue release, especially kyphoscoliosis in the thoracolumbar spine, open thoracotomy or thoracoscopy is used. The use of video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (VATS) has reduced the morbidity associated with thoracotomy by ensuring the preservation of postoperative pulmonary functions, relieved pain, enhanced recovery, and reduced hospital stay [92].

20.2.5.5 Indications for VATS

VATS is indicated in children undergoing spine surgery for the prolapsed thoracic disc, decompression of vertebral osteomyelitis decompression, corpectomy, thoracic vertebral fracture, and anterior spinal release. VATS is also indicated for the fusion of vertebral body fusion with or without spinal instrumentation in case of scoliosis or kyphosis. For children undergoing scoliosis correction, the body weight should be more than 30 kg and Cobb angle less than 80°, with a Lenke type 1 or King 3 classification.

20.2.5.6 Contraindications for VATS

Children with poor forced expiratory volume in 1 min (FEV1) (FEV1 <50% of expected), presence of emphysema/bulla, inability to achieve lung separation or one-lung ventilation, and body weight <20 kg should not undergo VATS.

20.2.5.7 Perioperative Management of VATS

Surgery is carried out via right thoracotomy in the lateral position (Table 20.3). In multilevel release cases, the procedure may be prolonged, and one-lung ventilation may be continued for a longer duration. If both anterior release and posterior fusion are planned, the double-lumen tube (DLT) should be changed to a single lumen while turning the child prone. Another alternative is to withdraw the DLT so that the bronchial lumen is in the trachea before turning the child prone. Still, there are the chances of tube malposition and injury to the bronchus. There is a

 Table 20.3
 Anesthetic concerns in VATS for spine surgery

| Timings of | |
|----------------|------------------------------------------|
| procedure | Implications |
| Preoperative | Pulmonary function assessment and |
| | optimization (bronchodilators, chest |
| | physiotherapy, control of infections) |
| | Optimize hemoglobin levels |
| | (erythropoietin weekly injection) |
| | Evaluation of neuromuscular and |
| | cardiac functions |
| Intraoperative | Need for one lung ventilation using |
| | double lumen tube or bronchial |
| | blockers |
| | Control of bleeding |
| | Optimize hemodynamics |
| | Blood conservation methods |
| | (autologous donation, |
| | antifibrinolytics, cell salvage) |
| | Coagulation testing and |
| | management. (point of care testing) |
| | Intraoperative neuromonitoring |
| | Prevent hypothermia |
| | Management of hypoxemia during |
| | OLV (increasing FiO_2 , application of |
| | PEEP to dependent lung and if |
| | needed CPAP to non-dependent |
| | lung) |
| Postoperative | Watch for postoperative |
| concerns | complications, including atelectasis, |
| | Horner's syndrome, intercostal |
| | neuralgia, and pneumothorax |
| | Assess: functioning of chest tube |
| | and monitor pulmonary functions |
| | Analgesia (patient-controlled |
| | analgesic epidural/paravertebral |
| | continuous infusion) |
| | Early mobilization and prevention of |
| | infections |

risk of injury to the major vascular structures. Hence, adequate venous access and an arterial line for beat-to-beat monitoring of hemodynamics should be in place.

20.2.5.8 Vertebroplasty and Kyphoplasty

Pathological fractures of the vertebral body can occur in children and adolescents due to lytic lesions such as giant cell tumor, bone cysts, hemangioblastoma, and eosinophilic granuloma [93]. Patients usually present with localized pain and deformity; the diagnosis is confirmed by radiology. Bony decompression of the tumor with stabilization of the body is associated with longer operating time, severe blood loss, and increased morbidity. Alternatively, percutaneous procedures like vertebroplasty and/or kyphoplasty are available, where bone cement is injected into the vertebra body for stabilization in patients who cannot undergo major surgery or do not wish to undergo an open procedure. It minimizes major surgery complications and is normally carried out in a radiology suite as a daycare procedure [28]. The procedure is carried out in prone position. While in adolescents it can be carried out under MAC or sedation, uncooperative small children will need GA to undergo such a procedure. Short-acting anesthetics are administered during the procedure to facilitate rapid recovery. Due to the lytic nature of lesions, adequate padding and positioning are essential. Systemic embolization of bone cement has been reported as a complication and needs vigilance [94]. Monitoring oxygen saturation and end-tidal carbon dioxide may help identify hypoxia due to sedation, positioning, or pulmonary embolism.

20.3 Conclusion

Minimally invasive neurosurgery (MIN) is one of the most rapidly evolving techniques in the neurosurgical armamentarium of pediatric patients with the primary aim of improving the outcome and reducing complications. With advancements in imaging techniques, biomedical engineering, hardware and software, and robots, the indica-

tions will likely continue to expand in the future. The upcoming developments may include the use of micro-robots to minimize the space and to reach deeper brain structures, continuous-wave near-infrared spectroscopy (CW-NIRS) to differentiate gray and white matter based on blood flow and metabolism, 3D models of the brain with lesion using 3D printing techniques, preoperative surgical planning also known as "operation before operation" to reduce intraoperative complications, laser interstitial thermal therapy (LITT) for ablation of malignant lesions, focused ultrasound for epilepsy and movement disorders, etc. It is anticipated that more medically complex patients may undergo MIN in the future due to its benefits; the anesthetic management would be likely to be even more challenging in difficult environments. Hence it is important for the anesthesiologists to understand the needs of these advanced surgical procedures, to keep up to the challenges, and to develop and modify the anesthetic and monitoring techniques suitably to achieve the benefits of minimally invasive procedures, namely, rapid recovery, reduced morbidity, hospital stay, improved outcomes, and financial savings.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- 1. Teo C. The concept of minimally invasive neurosurgery. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2010;21(4):583–4.
- Ormond DR, Hadjipanayis CG. The history of neurosurgery and its relation to the development and refinement of the frontotemporal craniotomy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;36:E12.
- Rossolimo GI. Mozgovoi topograf (Brain topographer). Zhurnal Neuropathologii I Psichatrii imeni Korsakova/J Neuropath Psych Korsakow. 1907;7:640–4.
- Thomas DG, Kitchen ND. Minimally invasive surgery. Neurosurgery BMJ. 1994;308:126–8.
- Grunert P. From the idea to its realization: the evolution of minimally invasive techniques in neurosurgery. Minim Invasive Surg. 2013;2013:171369.
- Jahangiri FR, Pautler K, Watters K, Anjum SS, Bennett GL. Mapping of the somatosensory cortex. Cureus. 2020;12:e7332.
- Kuo BJ, Vissoci JR, Egger JR, et al. Perioperative outcomes for pediatric neurosurgical procedures: analysis of the national surgical quality improvement programpediatrics. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2017;19:361–71.

- Campbell E, Beez T, Todd L. Prospective review of 30-day morbidity and mortality in a paediatric neurosurgical unit. Childs Nerv Syst. 2017;33:483–9.
- Peretta P, Ragazzi P, Galarza M, et al. Complications and pitfalls of neuroendoscopic surgery in children. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(3 Suppl):187–93.
- Miwa T, Hayashi N, Endo S, Ohira T. Neuroendoscopic biopsy and the treatment of tumor-associated hydrocephalus of the ventricular and paraventricular region in pediatric patients: a nationwide study in Japan. Neurosurg Rev. 2015;38:693–704.
- Johnson JO. Anesthesia for minimally invasive neurosurgery. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2002;20: 361–75.
- Choudhri O, Feroze AH, Nathan J, Cheshier S, Guzman R. Ventricular endoscopy in the pediatric population: review of indications. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30:1625–43.
- Han RH, Nguyen DC, Bruck BS, et al. Characterization of complications associated with open and endoscopic craniosynostosis surgery at a single institution. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;17:361–70.
- 14. Thompson DR, Zurakowski D, Haberkern CM, et al. Endoscopic versus open repair for craniosynostosis in infants using propensity score matching to compare outcomes: a multi center study from the Pediatric Craniofacial Collaborative Group. Anesth Analg. 2018;126:968–75.
- Fàbregas N, Craen RA. Anaesthesia for endoscopic neurosurgical procedures. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010;23:568–75.
- Nishihara T, Morita A, Teraoka A, Kirino T. Endoscopy-guided removal of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: comparison with computer tomography-guided stereotactic evacuation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23:677–83.
- Locatelli D, Massimi L, Rigante M, et al. Endoscopic endonasal transsphenoidal surgery for sellar tumors in children. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2010;74:1298–302.
- Makary CA, Zalzal HG, Ramadan J, Ramadan HH. Endoscopic endonasal CSF rhinorrhoea repair in children: Systematic review with meta-analysis. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2020;134:110044.
- Di Rocco F, Couloigner V, Dastoli P, Sainte-Rose C, Zerah M, Roger G. Treatment of anterior skull base defects by a trans nasal endoscopic approach in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;6:459–63.
- Chen M, Xia N, Dong Q, et al. The application of 3D technology combined with image navigation in nasal skull base surgery. J Craniofac Surg. 2020;10.1097/ SCS.000000000006913.
- Fujimoto A, Okanishi T, Kanai S, Sato K, Nishimura M, Enoki H. Real-time three-dimensional (3D) visualization of fusion image for accurate subdural electrodes placement of epilepsy surgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2017;44:330–34.
- 22. Khan NR, De Cuypere M, Vaughn BN, Klimo P. Image guidance for ventricular shunt surgery: an anal-

ysis of ventricular size and proximal revision rates. Neurosurgery. 2019;84:624–35.

- Miller BA, Salehi A, Limbrick DD Jr, Smyth MD. Applications of a robotic stereotactic arm for pediatric epilepsy and neurooncology surgery. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2017;20:364–70.
- 24. Fady Girgis, Eric Ovruchesky, Jeffrey Kennedy, Masud Seyal, Kiarash Shahlaie, Ignacio Saez. Superior accuracy and precision of SEEG electrode insertion with frame-based vs. frameless stereotaxy methods. Acta Neurochirurgica. 2020;162(10):2527–32
- Kapoor I, Rath GP. Robotized surgical assistant in neurosurgery: anaesthetic implications! J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2016;3:151–2.
- Al-Sayyad MJ, Crawford AH, Wolf RK. Early experiences with video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery: our first 70 cases. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29:1945–52.
- Wiggins GC, Shaffrey CI, Abel MF, Menezes AH. Pediatric spinal deformities. Neurosurg Focus. 2003;14:e3.
- Lavelle W, Carl A, Lavelle ED, Khaleel MA. Vertebroplasty and kyphoplasty. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25:913–28.
- Montejo JD, Camara-Quintana JQ, Duran D, et al. Tubular approach to minimally invasive microdiscectomy for pediatric lumbar disc herniation. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;21:449–55.
- Shim KW, Park EK, Kim DS, Choi JU. Neuroendoscopy: current and Future Perspectives. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2017;60:322–6.
- Moorthy RK, Rajshekhar V. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy for hydrocephalus: a review of indications, outcomes, and complications. Neurol India. 2011;59:848–54.
- 32. Lim J, Tang AR, Liles C, et al. The cost of hydrocephalus: a cost-effectiveness model for evaluating surgical techniques. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;23:109–18.
- 33. Yadav YR, Bajaj J, Parihar V, Ratre S, Pateriya A. Practical aspects of neuroendoscopic techniques and complication avoidance: a systematic review. Turk Neurosurg. 2018;28:329–40.
- 34. Kulkarni AV, Riva-Cambrin J, Holubkov R, Browd SR, Cochrane DD, Drake JM, et al. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy in children: prospective, multi center results from the Hydrocephalus Clinical Research Network. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;18:423–9.
- Kulkarni AV, Drake JM, Mallucci CL, Sgouros S, Roth J, Constantini S, Canadian Pediatric Neurosurgery Study Group. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy in the treatment of childhood hydrocephalus. J Pediatr. 2009;155:254–9.e1.
- Ambesh SP, Kumar R. Neuroendoscopic procedures: anesthetic considerations for a growing trend—a review. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2000;12:262–70.
- Haldar R, Singh Bajwa SJ. Potential Neuroendoscopic Complications: an Anaesthesiologist's Perspective. Asian J Neurosurg. 2019;14:621–5.

- Salvador L, Valero R, Carrero E, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid composition modifications after neuroendoscopic procedures. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2007;50:51–5.
- Uchida K, Yamada M, Hayashi T, Mine Y, Kawase T. Possible harmful effects on central nervous system cells in the use of physiological saline as an irrigant during neurosurgical procedures. Surg Neurol. 2004;62:96–105.
- 40. Kazim SF, Enam SA, Shamim MS. Possible detrimental effects of neurosurgical irrigation fluids on neural tissue: an evidence-based analysis of various irrigants used in contemporary neurosurgical practice. Int J Surg. 2010;8:586–90.
- Cinalli G, Spennato P, Ruggiero C, Aliberti F, Trischitta V, Buonocore MC, et al. Complications following endoscopic intracranial procedures in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23:633–44.
- 42. Singh GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK, Dash HH. A retrospective analysis of perioperative complications during intracranial neuroendoscopic procedures: our institutional experience. Neurol India. 2011;59:874–8.
- Ganjoo P, Sethi S, Tandon MS, Chawla R, Singh D. Incidence and pattern of intraoperative hemodynamic response to endoscopic third ventriculostomy. Neurol India. 2009;57:162–5.
- 44. Kalmar AF, Van Aken J, Caemaert J, Mortier EP, Struys MM. Value of Cushing reflex as warning sign for brain ischaemia during neuroendoscopy. Br J Anaesth. 2005;94:791–9.
- 45. Kalmar AF, De Ley G, Van Den Broecke C, et al. Influence of an increased intracranial pressure on cerebral and systemic haemodynamics during endoscopic neurosurgery: an animal model. Br J Anaesth. 2009;102:361–8.
- El-Dawlatly AA. Blood biochemistry following endoscopic third ventriculostomy. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2004;47:47–8.
- 47. Anandh B, Madhusudan Reddy KR, Mohanty A, Umamaheswara Rao GS, Chandramouli BA. Intraoperative bradycardia and postoperative hyperkalemia in patients undergoing endoscopic third ventriculostomy. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 2002;45:154–7.
- Derbent A, Erşahin Y, Yurtseven T, Turhan T. Hemodynamic and electrolyte changes in patients undergoing neuroendoscopic procedures. Childs Nerv Syst. 2006;22:253–7.
- 49. Fàbregas N, Valero R, Carrero E, et al. Episodic high irrigation pressure during surgical neuroendoscopy may cause intermittent intracranial circulatory insufficiency. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13:152–7.
- Prabhakar H, Rath GP, Bithal PK, Suri A, Dash H. Variations in cerebral haemodynamics during irrigation phase in neuroendoscopic procedures. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2007;35:209–12.
- Bouras T, Sgouros S. Complications of endoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7:643–9.

- Schroeder HW, Niendorf WR, Gaab MR. Complications of endoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Neurosurg. 2002;96:1032–40.
- Bala R, Pandia MP. Venous air embolism during endoscopic third ventriculostomy. Asian J Neurosurg. 2018;13:431–2.
- Mohanty A, Anandh B, Reddy MS, Sastry KV. Contralateral massive acute subdural collection after endoscopic third ventriculostomy—a case report. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 1997;40:59–61.
- 55. Singha SK, Chatterjee N, Neema PK. Reverse herniation of brain: a less recognized complication in a patient with midline posterior fossa tumor postendoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21:354–5.
- Saxena S, Ambesh SP, Saxena HN, Kumar R. Pneumocephalus and convulsions after ventriculoscopy: a potentially catastrophic complication. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11:200–2.
- Schulz C, Waldeck S, Mauer UM. Intraoperative image guidance in neurosurgery: development, current indications, and future trends. Radiol Res Pract. 2012;2012:197364.
- Edler A. Special anesthetic considerations for stereotactic radiosurgery in children. J Clin Anesth. 2007;19:616–8.
- Nelson JH, Brackett SL, Oluigbo CO, Reddy SK. Robotic Stereotactic Assistance (ROSA) for pediatric epilepsy: a single-center experience of 23 consecutive cases. Children (Basel). 2020;7:E94.
- 60. Girgis F, Ovruchesky E, Kennedy J, Seyal M, Shahlaie K, Saez I. Superior accuracy and precision of SEEG electrode insertion with frame-based vs. frameless stereotaxy methods. Acta Neurochir. 2020;162(10):2527–32.
- Teichgraeber JF, Baumgartner JE, Waller AL, et al. Microscopic minimally invasive approach to non-syndromic craniosynostosis. J Craniofac Surg. 2009;20:1492–500.
- Tobias JD, Johnson JO, Jimenez DF, Barone CM, McBride DS Jr. Venous air embolism during endoscopic strip craniectomy for repair of craniosynostosis in infants. Anesthesiology. 2001;95:340–2.
- Jimenez DF, Barone CM. Endoscopic craniectomy for early surgical correction of sagittal craniosynostosis. J Neurosurg. 1998;88:77–81.
- 64. Arko L 4th, Swanson JW, Fierst TM, et al. Springmediated sagittal craniosynostosis treatment at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia: technical notes and literature review. Neurosurg Focus. 2015;38:E7.
- 65. Taylor JA, Maugans TA. Comparison of springmediated cranioplasty to minimally invasive strip craniectomy and barrel staving for early treatment of sagittal craniosynostosis. J Craniofac Surg. 2011;22:1225–9.
- 66. Thompson DR, Zurakowski D, Haberkern CM, et al. Endoscopic Versus open repair for craniosynostosis in infants using propensity score matching to compare outcomes: a multicenter study from the Pediatric

Craniofacial Collaborative Group. Anesth Analg. 2018;126:968–75.

- 67. Judy BF, Swanson JW, Yang W, Storm PB, Bartlett SP, Taylor JA, Heuer GG, Lang SS. Intraoperative intracranial pressure monitoring in the pediatric craniosynostosis population. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;22:475–80.
- 68. Goobie SM, Cladis FP, Glover CD, et al. Safety of antifibrinolytics in cranial vault reconstructive surgery: a report from the pediatric Craniofacial Collaborative Group. Paediatr Anaesth. 2017;27:670.
- 69. Goobie SM, Cladis FP, Glover CD, et al. Safety of antifibrinolytics in cranial vault reconstructive surgery: a report from the Pediatric Craniofacial Collaborative Group. Paediatr Anaesth. 2017;27:271–81.
- Riordan CP, Zurakowski D, Meier PM, et al. Minimally invasive endoscopic surgery for infantile craniosynostosis: a longitudinal cohort study. J Pediatr. 2020;216:142–9.e2.
- Bonfield CM, Basem J, Cochrane DD, Singhal A, Steinbok P. Examining the need for routine intensive care admission after surgical repair of nonsyndromic craniosynostosis: a preliminary analysis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;22:616–9.
- Rosemberg S, Fujiwara D. Epidemiology of pediatric tumors of the nervous system according to the WHO 2000 classification: a report of 1195 cases from a single institution. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21:940–4.
- Villwock JA, Villwock MR, Goyal P, Deshaies EM. Current trends in surgical approach and outcomes following pituitary tumor resection. Laryngoscope. 2015;125:1307–12.
- 74. Kamio Y, Sakai N, Sameshima T, Takahashi G, Koizumi S, Sugiyama K, Namba H. Usefulness of intraoperative monitoring of visual evoked potentials in transsphenoidal surgery. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2014;54(8):606–11.
- Rigante M, Massimi L, Parrilla C, et al. Endoscopic transsphenoidal approach versus microscopic approach in children. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2011;75:1132–6.
- Sood S, Marupudi NI, Asano E, Haridas A, Ham SD. Endoscopic corpus callosotomy and hemispherotomy. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:681–6.
- Chibbaro S, Cebula H, Scholly J, et al. Pure endoscopic management of epileptogenic hypothalamic hamartomas. Neurosurg Rev. 2017;40:647–53.
- Lipsman N, Ellis M, Lozano AM. Current and future indications for deep brain stimulation in pediatric populations. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;29:E2.
- Venkatraghavan L, Rakhman E, Krishna V, Sammartino F, Manninen P, Hutchison W. The effect of general anesthesia on the microelectrode recordings from pallidal neurons in patients with dystonia. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2016;28:256–61.
- Hutchison WD, Lang AE, Dostrovsky JO, Lozano AM. Pallidal neuronal activity: implications for models of dystonia. Ann Neurol. 2003;53:480–8.
- Lin YS, Liu KD, Chang C, Yang HZ, Tsou MY, Chu YC. Inhibitory concentration of propofol in combi-

nation with dexmedetomidine during microelectrode recording for deep brain stimulator insertion surgeries under general anesthesia. J Chin Med Assoc. 2020;83:188–93.

- Friedlander AH, Mahler M, Norman KM, Ettinger RL. Parkinson disease: systemic and orofacial manifestations, medical and dental management. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140:658–69.
- Yaszay B, Bartley CE, Sponseller PD, et al. Major complications following surgical correction of spine deformity in 257 patients with cerebral. Spine Deform. 2020:1–8.
- 84. Ozhan MO, Bakircioglu S, Bekmez S, Olgun ZD, Süzer A, Demirkiran HG, Yazici M. Improving safety and efficacy in the surgical management of low-tone neuromuscular scoliosis: integrated approach with a 2-attending surgeon operative team and modified anesthesia protocol. J Pediatr Orthop. 2021;41(1):e1–6.
- Menger R, Hefner MI, Savardekar AR, Nanda A, Sin A. Minimally invasive spine surgery in the pediatric and adolescent population: a case series. Surg Neurol Int. 2018;9:116.
- 86. Kamson S, Trescot AM, Sampson PD, Zhang Y. Fullendoscopic assisted lumbar decompressive surgery performed in an outpatient, ambulatory facility: report of 5 years of complications and risk factors. Pain Physician. 2017;20:E221–31.
- Yaman O, Dalbayrak S. Idiopathic scoliosis. Turk Neurosurg. 2014;24:646–57.
- Soundararajan N, Cunliffe M. Anaesthesia for spinal surgery in children. Br J Anaesth. 2007;99:86–94.
- 89. Gavaret M, Trébuchon A, Aubert S, Jacopin S, Blondel B, Glard Y, Jouve JL, Bollini G. Intraoperative monitoring in pediatric orthopedic spinal surgery: three hundred consecutive monitoring cases of which 10% of patients were younger than 4 years of age. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2011;36:1855–63.
- 90. Cheh G, Lenke LG, Padberg AM, Kim YJ, Daubs MD, Kuhns C, Stobbs G, Hensley M. Loss of spinal cord monitoring signals in children during thoracic kyphosis correction with spinal osteotomy: why does it occur and what should you do? Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2008;33:1093–9.
- 91. Reames DL, Smith JS, Fu KM, Polly DW Jr, Ames CP, Berven SH, et al. Complications in the surgical treatment of 19,360 cases of pediatric scoliosis: a review of the Scoliosis Research Society Morbidity and Mortality database. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2011;36:1484–91.
- Kokoska ER, Gabriel KR, Silen ML. Minimally invasive anterior spinal exposure and release in children with scoliosis. JSLS. 1998;2:255–8.
- 93. Polis B, Krawczyk J, Polis L, Nowosławska E. Percutaneous extra pedicular vertebroplasty with expandable intravertebral implant in compression vertebral body fracture in pediatric patient-technical note. Childs Nerv Syst. 2016;32:2225–31.
- Childers JC Jr. Cardiovascular collapse and death during vertebroplasty. Radiology. 2003;228:902–3.



21

Anesthetic Concerns During Surgical Excision of Intracranial Arteriovenous Malformations

Kiran Jangra
, Hemant Bhagat
, and Navneh Samagh

Key Points

- AVMs are the abnormal tangle of vasculature consisting of the feeding artery, draining vein, and central nidus.
- These grow in size with age, and low-flow AVMs are turned to high-flow and high-pressure AVMs as the age progresses, leading to the dilation of arteries and arterialization of veins.
- Most of the AVMs are asymptomatic in the pediatric age group, but various presentations include intracerebral hemorrhage, seizures, mass effects, ischemia, and congestive heart failure.
- Anesthetic management of AVMs follows the general principles of neuroanesthesia, including maintenance of adequate cerebral perfusion pressure, prevention of increase in intracranial pressure, and prevention and management of serious perioperative complications such as intracranial bleeding and normal perfusion pressure breakthrough (NPPB).

• The unique feature of anesthetic management for stereotactic radiosurgery is the requirement of anesthesia at multiple different locations including transport.

21.1 Introduction

Arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) are defined as an abnormal collection of dysplastic blood vessels wherein the arterial blood flows directly into the draining veins without any intervening neural parenchyma or capillary beds. These are usually congenital lesions with a lifelong risk of hemorrhage of about 2–4% per year [1]. These lesions tend to enlarge with age and may progress from low-flow AVMs at birth to medium- or high-flow and high-pressure AVMs in adulthood [2]. Grossly, it appears as a "tangle" of vessels with a well-circumscribed center called nidus (Fig. 21.1). Intracranial AVMs are classified as parenchymal and dural depending upon the location of AVMs. Intracranial AVMs in pediatric patients might present with congestive heart failure (CHF) in neonates, seizures or hemorrhage, and varying degree of ischemic symptoms. Anesthetic management in this group of patients is quite challenging as surgical interventions are associated with massive blood loss. The pediatric population has a low cardiopulmonary reserve and poorly tolerates such losses. This chapter describes the anesthetic management of

K. Jangra (🖂) · H. Bhagat

Division of Neuroanaesthesia, Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

N. Samagh

Department of Anaesthesia, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bathinda, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_21



Fig. 21.1 Structure of arteriovenous malformation consists of feeding artery, nidus, and draining vain. The faded area surrounding the AVM is the hypoperfused brain

patients with intracranial AVMs posted for various interventions.

21.2 Epidemiology

The exact incidence of AVMs is unknown, but a large autopsy study estimates it to be approximately 1.4–4.3% [3, 4]. AVMs constitute about 2% of all the strokes [5, 6] and 38% of all intracerebral hemorrhages (ICHs) in the age group of 15 and 45 years [7]. The prevalence of AVMs may be slightly higher in Asian populations with an equal or slight male preponderance [8–12]. AVMs are categorized as sporadic or syndromic in origin. The sporadic AVMs have a global prevalence of 0.04–0.52% [13, 14]. In children, 3–20% of AVMs are sporadic. Intracranial AVMs are located at the supratentorial site in the majority of the cases (70–97%), followed by infratentorial (3–30%) or deeper brain structures (5–18%) [15].

21.3 Etiopathogenesis

The etiology for the formation of AVM is not very clear. The molecular studies have demonstrated the upregulation and downregulation of various homeobox genes, such as Hox D3 and B3 [16, 17]. Various congenital diseases have also been associated with a higher incidence of AVMs, such as Osler-Weber-Rendu syndrome, hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia, and Wyburn-Mason syndrome. Children with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT) present with multiple familial AVMs [18]. Syndromic AVMs occur in approximately 2% of cases.

AVMs are usually believed to occur before the embryo is 44 mm in length. Till that time, the adult-type arterial wall structure was not formed. De novo formation may also occur rarely [19]. AVMs are composed of feeding arteries, draining veins, and an intervening dysplastic vascular "nidus," which is a tangle of abnormal vessels, which shunts the blood from the arterial to the venous system (Fig. 21.1). The absence of a capillary bed in the nidus results in the formation of low-resistance flow across the AV connections, which are devoid of gas exchange [20]. That consequence in high-flow circuitry leads to the dilation of arteries and arterialization of veins [20]. In long-standing cases, high flow leads to aneurysm formation in arteries and rupture of veins. Finally, the whole of the venous system of the brain and skull gets involved.

Shunting of blood through AVMs leads to arterial hypotension along the path of the shunt and venous hypertension in the downstream [21, 22]. There are the normal brain regions surrounding the AVMs in which cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is below the range of normal autoregulation (Fig. 21.1). Despite this, ischemic symptoms are usually absent due to adaptive microcirculatory changes secondary to hypoperfusion, such as a decrease in vascular resistance [23, 24]. Brain matter surrounding the AVM might show calcifications and hemosiderin-laden macrophages.

21.4 Criteria for Classification

AVMs are classified according to the Spetzler-Martin scale (SM) that includes the size of AVM, location in relation to the eloquent cortex, and type of venous drainage (Table 21.1) [25]. This grading system was established to estimate the

| Spetzler-Martin scale | Lawton scale | |
|-----------------------|--------------|-------------|
| Size of AVM (S) | Age | |
| Small (<3 cm) | 1 | <20 years |
| Medium (3-6 cm) | 2 | 20-40 years |
| Large (>6 cm) | 3 | >40 years |
| Location (E) | | Bleeding |
| Non-eloquent site | 0 | Ruptured |
| Eloquent site* | 1 | Unruptured |
| Venous drainage (V) | | Compactness |
| Superficial | 0 | Compact |
| Deep | 1 | Diffuse |

Table 21.1 Spetzler-Martin scale and Lawton gradingscale for intracranial arteriovenous malformations(AVMs)

*Sensorimotor, language, visual cortex, hypothalamus, thalamus, brain stem, cerebellar nuclei, or areas directly adjacent to these structures.

Table 21.2 Spetzler-Martin grading of arteriovenous malformations (AVMs)

| Grade | Features |
|-------|----------|
| Ι | S1 E0 V0 |
| II | S1 E0 V1 |
| | S1 E1 V0 |
| | S2 E0 V0 |
| III | S1 E1 V1 |
| | S2 E0 V1 |
| | S2 E1 V0 |
| | S3 E0 V0 |
| IV | S2 E1 V1 |
| | S3 E0 V1 |
| | S3 E1 V0 |
| V | S3 E1 V1 |

S size of the AVM; *E* eloquent area location; *V* venous drainage of AVM

risk associated with surgery. The AVM is categorized as small (<3 cm), medium (3–6 cm), or large (>6 cm) and is scored accordingly (Table 21.2). The larger the AVM, the higher is the magnitude of adjacent healthy brain exposed during surgery. The operating time is longer in resecting the larger-size AVM, thus increasing the anesthesia-induced complications. The AVM size determines the amount of blood flow through the AVM, the number and size of feeding arteries, and the area of steal.

The eloquent brain regions are those regions that harbor the sensory, motor, or language functions, and removal of such areas leads to a significant neurological deficit. Such areas include sensorimotor, visual, language, hypothalamus, thalamus, internal capsule, brain stem, cerebellar peduncles, and deep cerebellar nuclei [25].

The deep venous drainage pattern includes the drainage in any one or all of the deep veins, including basal veins, precentral cerebellar veins, and internal cerebral veins. The venous drainage pattern determines the ease of surgical resection of an AVM. Deeper venous drainage complicates the AVM excision, even if it is small.

A supplementary grading scale was proposed in 2010 by Lawton et al. (Table 21.1) [26]. The authors included other parameters, such as patient's age, bleeding at presentation, and AVM compactness. These points were abbreviated as ABCs.

21.4.1 Applications of the Grading Scheme

The predictive value of this grading system was evaluated by analyzing 100 consecutive AVMs following resection [25]. The complications following surgery were categorized as minor deficits, major deficits, and mortality. In Grade-I AVMs, the complete surgical was possible with minor technical difficulties and was associated with a lesser risk of severe morbidity or mortality. In contrast, the Grade-V AVMs were difficult to resect and were associated with significantly higher surgical morbidity and mortality.

The sum of the SM and Lawton grading scale is known as the "supplemented Spetzler-Martin scale" (SM-Supp). This combination score has the highest predictive accuracy for AVM operability. The SM-Supp score of 6 has been validated as the boundary to operate an AVM [27].

21.5 Clinical Presentations

The pediatric age group (<20 years of age) constitutes approximately 15–33% of all patients with AVMs [6, 28, 29]. Most of the patients with AVMs are asymptomatic (18–20%), but if symptoms appear, then ICH is the most common symptom [30, 31]. This is followed by seizures in

| Asymptomatic | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------|--|
| • Hemorrhage | |
| • Seizures | |
| • Mass effects due to: | |
| – Hematoma | |
| – Edema | |
| Gradually expanding abnormal vascular | |
| structures such as venous aneurysms | |
| • Ischemia | |
| Raised intracranial pressure (ICP) | |
| Metabolic depression (diaschisis) | |
| Hydrocephalus with macrocephaly ^a | |
| Congestive heart failure with cardiomegaly ^a | |

Table 21.3 Clinical presentations of cerebral arteriovenous malformation (AVM)

• The prominence of forehead veins (due to increased venous pressure)^a

^aSeen only in pediatric patients

8–25% [32, 33] and CHF in 18% of patients [34, 35]. Various presentations of AVMs are enumerated in Table 21.3 and described in detail vide infra.

Hemorrhage

The most common presentation of AVMs is spontaneous ICH, which is seen in about 50-79% of all patients with AVM [32, 33]. After initial hemorrhage, there may be a heightened risk of rebleeding during the first 12 months (2–4% per year) [1]. Depending upon the presence of risk factors [36, 37] (Table 21.4), the incidence of rebleeding varies from 1 to 30% in a year [37]. The various causes of bleeding include rupture of nidal vessels, associated aneurysmal bleed, or venous outflow obstruction. Patients with AVM may have an associated intracranial aneurysm, in 10% of cases. Aneurysmal rupture remains the most common cause of spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) both in adults and in pediatric patients; AVM bleed is the second common cause of SAH in children [38]. This might explain the lower incidence of vasospasm after AVM bleed. The "buffering" effect of the fistula protects the AVMs from rupture due to variations in systemic blood pressure during the perioperative period [39].

Seizures

Almost 15–35% of AVMs present with seizure as the first symptom [6, 28, 40]. Seizures occur due to local effects of AVM, including cortical irritation, ischemia caused by the steal phenomenon, neuronal damage, associated hemorrhage, and gliosis [42]. In most cases, seizures are focal but can also be generalized. Various risk factors for seizure occurrence in these children are enumerated in Table 21.5 [43–45].

Headache

Headache is another common complaint in patients with AVM. It can occur even in the absence of AVM rupture [46]. The typical locations of headaches are hemicrania (either ipsilateral or contralateral) and the occipital region. The hypothesis for the origin of headache is the involvement of the meningeal artery that results in an increased blood supply of AVM [41].

Neurological Deficit

Isolated neurological deficit without underlying hemorrhage is seen in around 10% of the

Table 21.4 Risk factors for rebleeding

- Presentation with ICH (strong) (best-studied)
- Deep location and venous drainage (best-studied)
- Advanced age and small size AVMs (less robust)
- Related aneurysm (harder to define)
- High intranidal pressure (measured by direct puncture of feeding artery or during angiography)

ICH intracerebral hemorrhage; *AVM* arteriovenous malformation

Table 21.5 Predictors for the occurrence of seizures in patients with arteriovenous malformation (AVM)

| Location |
|--------------------------------------------------------|
| Supratentorial |
| Frontal or temporal location |
| Large (>6 cm), superficial, and cortical location |
| Angioarchitectural |
| Feeding by the middle cerebral artery |
| Cortical feeding artery |
| Absence of aneurysms |
| Presence of varices in the venous drainage |
| Association of a varix in the absence of an intranidal |
| aneurysm |

patients with AVM [10, 40, 46, 47]. The causes of neurological deficits might be recurrent hemorrhages, the local mass effect of the AVM, ischemia due to the steal phenomenon, and hydrocephalus. Factors predicting the increased risk of neurological deficits include the large size of AVM and low flow in the surrounding brain due to a large amount of shunting [48, 49]. However, a few studies refute this hypothesis as decreased blood is compensated by increased oxygen extraction [47, 50]. The clinical manifestations of the local mass effect vary as per the location of AVM. The involvement of eloquent areas may present as limb weakness, vision disturbances, hearing, and speech problems are also seen [51].

Congestive Heart Failure (CHF)

CHF presents in 18% of children less than two years of age [34, 35]. It can be the sole presenting symptom in neonates. AVMs constitute the low-resistance pathways for blood that rapidly returns to the heart. This rapid return of blood increases the venous inflow to the heart resulting in failure. The CHF causes a reduction in output to the other organ systems resulting in multi-organ failure that complicates the anesthetic management. Preoperative CHF thus carries a very poor prognosis [52].

21.6 Diagnosis

A variety of diagnostic modalities are used to diagnose AVMs. Non-contrast computed tomography (CT) has low sensitivity, but serpiginous isointense or slightly hyperintense vessels, intracerebral hemorrhage, mass effect, calcification, and hypodensities can be visualized. Postcontrast strong enhancement is seen on CT scan (Fig. 21.2) [53, 54]. Tightly packed "honeycomb" appearance of flow voids is a characteristic feature on T1- (Fig. 21.3a) and T2-weighted (Fig. 21.3b) sequences of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). MRI is more sensitive and also provides information regarding the localization and topography of an AVM. Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) is a non-invasive modal-



Fig. 21.2 Post-contrast computed tomography shows strongly enhancing serpiginous (arrow) arteriovenous malformation



Fig. 21.3 Magnetic resonance imaging (T1, right side, and T2, left side-weighted image) of parieto-occipital region shows arteriovenous malformation with multiple flow voids created by high flow of blood (arrows)



Fig. 21.4 Magnetic resonance angiography shows complete anatomical architecture of arteriovenous malformation (arrow)

ity and provides some data without detailed information about feeding arteries or venous anatomy (Fig. 21.4). Arteriography is considered the "gold standard" for providing detailed information such as the presence of intranidal or feeding artery aneurysms, venous drainage pattern, and nidus characterization (Fig. 21.5). Superselective angiography provides physiological and functional data. Currently, it is strongly recommended to get an MRI study and fourvessel angiography to delineate the complete anatomy of AVM [55].

21.7 Treatment of AVM

Various treatment modalities are available for children with AVMs. It ranges from conservative management with regular follow-ups to microsurgical resection, endovascular embolization, and stereotactic radiosurgery. These children with AVM may present to the anesthesiologists for diagnostic procedures, emergency decompressions, or definitive surgeries such as resection, coiling, or embolization.

21.8 Anesthetic Management

The anesthetic goals in children with AVMs follow the general goals of neuroanesthesia, including maintenance of adequate CPP, prevention of



Fig. 21.5 Super selective angiography of a 12-year-old male child shows complete angioarchitecture of arteriove-nous malformation; (a) (Left side) shows feeding artery,

nidus, and draining vein angiography, (**b**) Angiography of following glue embolization shows complete occlusion

increase in intracranial pressure (ICP), and prevention and management of serious perioperative complications such as intracerebral bleeding and normal perfusion pressure breakthrough (NPPB). Anesthetic management may vary depending on the available treatment modality and has been discussed under five broad categories: (1) anesthetic management for diagnostic interventions (CT, MRI, and angiography), (2) for emergency craniotomy, (3) for microsurgical resection of AVM, (4) for endovascular embolization, and (5) for stereotactic radiosurgery.

21.8.1 Anesthetic Management for Diagnostic Interventions

Preoperative Preparation and Premedication: A thorough preoperative evaluation is needed, including the airway patency, respiratory compromise, cardiovascular instability, neurological status (including signs and symptoms of raised ICP), fasting state, and any therapeutic measures already undertaken [56]. A good rapport must be established with the child as well as the parents. Investigations including complete hemogram, serum electrolytes, coagulation profile, and liver function tests (if the child is under long-term anticonvulsant therapy) should be obtained.

Infants or younger children rarely require premedication, but it is indicated for older and uncooperative children. Midazolam, a shortacting benzodiazepine agent, is highly effective in allaying anxiety and producing amnesia [57]. Sedation should be given in the preoperative area under direct supervision. Narcotics are usually avoided in patients with raised ICP because of their inciting nausea and respiratory depression [58].

Specific Management: CT scan is usually done under appropriate sedation and monitoring if the child is cooperative and contrast is not required, but, in a few cases, GA may be needed. The choice of anesthetic agents depends on the signs and symptoms of the patients and availability and familiarity with sedative agents. Various choices available are oral or intravenous (IV) midazolam, propofol, ketofol, triclofos, and dexmedetomidine [58]. If the procedure is prolonged, sedation can be supplemented with IV midazolam or an infusion of propofol and dexmedetomidine.

Angiography might be done as a semiemergency or on an elective basis. The child might need either conscious sedation or GA. Among the IV agents, both thiopentone and propofol can be used safely, and rocuronium or succinylcholine can facilitate the intubation [59]. During angiography, radiopaque dye injections are frequently used to visualize the lesion that may contribute to the significant fluid loading in the small and compromised infant [60].

21.8.2 Anesthetic Management for Emergency Craniotomy

Intracranial hematomas following AVM rupture may lead to neurological dysfunction, coma, and even death due to a sudden massive rise in ICP. In such scenarios, emergency decompressive craniotomy is done with or without evacuation of the hematoma. Twenty percent of AVMs manifest in the pediatric age group, and 60-80% of these patients present with hemorrhage [61-64]. Acute onset of severe headache and rapid deterioration of consciousness with or without a focal neurologic deficit in a previously healthy child indicate "stroke" due to hemorrhage. If the hematoma is small and the child is conscious and alert, further evaluation is carried out in the form of angiography; and conservative management follows until definitive treatment for AVM is planned. Massive hematoma inside the brain causes an acute rise in ICP, leading to cerebral herniation syndromes [65].

Immediate management in such cases includes supportive care such as securing the airway (Glasgow coma scale score is less than 8), ventilation, and hemodynamic stabilization. Measures must be taken to decrease ICP, including the use of mannitol or hypertonic saline. In the cases of IVH, an external ventricular drain (EVD) may be considered. However, EVD placement acutely decreases the ventricular size and might aggravate intraparenchymal hemorrhage leading to brain herniation [65]. Hyperventilation should be instituted with care as it can decrease the perfusion of the normal brain. After initial stabilization urgent non-contrast CT (NCCT) scan should be done, and decompression should be planned as soon as possible. Delay in emergency decompression after massive intraparenchymal hematoma is associated with a high risk of early mortality [65]. In these children, emergency angiography increases the risk of rebleeding, neurological deterioration, and cardiovascular complications.

Definitive treatment in the form of emergency endovascular therapy is not recommended in these children as life-threatening brain compression caused by hematoma cannot be relieved by this modality of treatment. Hematoma can distort the angioarchitecture and alter the flow dynamics within the AVM, rendering selective catheterization difficult [65]. After initial stabilization and evacuation of the hematoma, delayed angiography is done, and the endovascular procedure can be planned for the residual lesion.

Complete surgical excision of the AVM at the time of hematoma evacuation is controversial. It will prevent the risk of rebleeding, but it increases the risk of torrential blood loss due to difficulty in controlling feeding pedicles which cannot be identified by prior neuroradiological evaluation [65]. There is a higher risk of permanent neurological deficit if the hematoma overlies the eloquent areas.

Anesthetic Goals: During anesthetic management of AVM surgery or emergency craniotomy, the goals are to maintain hemodynamic stability, CPP, control of ICP, management of fluid and blood losses, rapid and smooth emergence, and early neurological assessment. Major anesthetic concerns during these surgeries are massive blood loss and brain swelling after removal of hematoma. Hence, large-bore IV access should be secured, and invasive BP monitoring is recommended. An adequate amount of blood and blood products should be made available before the procedure.

Induction and Tracheal Intubation: The child posted for decompressive hemicraniectomy is usually intubated in the preoperative period in

the emergency department. Those who are not intubated before should undergo rapid-sequence induction and intubation. Both propofol and thiopentone are comparable in attenuating the cardiovascular and ICP changes to the manipulation of the airway [66]. Propofol is being increasingly used in neurosurgery in children. The benefits of its use include the ability to titrate the level of anesthesia rapidly, lack of accumulation despite prolonged anesthesia resulting in rapid recovery, easy maintenance in remote locations and during transport, antiemetic properties, and decreased OR pollution [67, 68]. Although ketamine raises ICP by increasing CBF and remains contraindicated in the poorly compliant brain, its favorable actions on the cardiovascular system make it beneficial in children presenting with CHF. Before tracheal intubation, IV lidocaine, an additional bolus of anesthetic agents, or shorter-acting opioids may be used to prevent or treat pressor reflexes. Mild hyperventilation using a bag and mask may be tried in children with increased ICP [34]. Nitrous oxide in oxygen with an inhalational agent appropriate to the patient's clinical condition is commonly used [56].

Vecuronium or atracurium may be used as muscle relaxants. Since these children are often on anticonvulsive therapy, increased dose requirement of narcotics and muscle relaxants must be kept in mind [69]. There is no single best anesthetic agent, and both inhalation and IV agents can be used safely in these children. Mild hypocapnia with arterial $CO_2 <35$ mmHg is considered to be useful in controlling the ICP [56]. The children with CHF are treated with digoxin, diuretics, dopamine, or other inotropic drugs; the drugs should be continued perioperatively.

Monitoring: Besides the standard American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) monitors, invasive BP should be monitored. It aids in continuous blood pressure monitoring, sampling for serial blood gases, hematocrit, electrolytes, and glucose levels. Central venous line insertion is controversial as smaller lumen and long length precludes its use for fluid resuscitation or aspiration of air during venous air embolism [54, 70].

If the hematoma is situated closer to the eloquent areas, neurophysiological monitoring such as somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP), motor-evoked potentials (MEP), brain auditoryevoked potential (BAEP), visual-evoked potential (VEP), and electroencephalographic (EEG) monitoring may be considered. SSEP has been useful in recognizing cerebral ischemia, MEP is useful for the AVM near the motor tracts, and BAEP evaluates brainstem status in posterior fossa and AVMs [71–75]. If hyperventilation is instituted for brain edema in the postoperative period, jugular venous oximetry or cerebral tissue oxygenation should be monitored.

Fluid Balance and Blood Loss: Intravenous fluid administration governs the movement of water across the blood-brain barrier. Edema fluid in the brain can be reduced by using osmotic diuretics and fluid restriction. It should be aimed to achieve a balance between cerebral dehydration therapy and adequate circulatory volume to ensure adequate cerebral blood perfusion [56]. Normal saline is most widely used as a maintenance fluid in neurosurgeries because of its mild hyperosmolarity and ability to reduce brain edema [57]. There is no exact formula to calculate the maintenance fluid requirement; however, a formula to guide the volume has been suggested [76]. Hypotonic solutions should be avoided as maintenance fluid. The use of hydroxyethyl starch is controversial as it may cause coagulopathy or acute kidney injuries.

During a craniotomy, the intraoperative blood loss should be managed by rapidly optimizing the circulating blood volume, oxygen-carrying capacity, colloid osmotic pressure, hemostatic capability, and biochemical balance. Blood replacement should be started before reaching the maximum allowable blood loss as small-bore cannulas may not allow infusion matching the ongoing losses. Controlled hypotension is also advocated to minimize perioperative losses in selective cases [77]. Transfusion of stored blood can precipitate hyperkalemia in small children, and if combined hypocalcemia and hypothermia, it might cause cardiac arrhythmias [78].

Postoperative Care: Patients with massive hematoma usually have poor preoperative neurological status and invariably need postoperative mechanical ventilation. Close monitoring of any further deterioration in neurological status should be monitored. Besides this, edema expansion after decompression should be masnaged with cerebral decongestants and controlled ventilation to avoid hypoxia and hypercapnia. Hemodynamics should be maintained within the normal range to maintain adequate perfusion pressure.

21.8.3 Anesthetic Management for Microsurgical Resection of AVM

General anesthesia goals, preoperative assessment, premedication, and monitoring are the same as those scheduled for investigational procedures or emergency craniotomy. The anesthetic concerns specific to microsurgical resection are highlighted here. In most cases, AVM resection is done electively. Hence, there is adequate time to evaluate and optimize patients with comorbidities.

Goals of Anesthesia: The primary anesthetic goal during AVM resection is to provide a relaxed brain to minimize retractor-induced brain ischemia [79]. Brain relaxation can be achieved by burst suppression using barbiturates, but it causes delayed awakening and does not found to the outcome. There are various pharmacological (e.g., decongestants, sedatives, or hypnotics) and non-pharmacological interventions (e.g., the position of the head, airway pressures, euthermia, euglycemia, and normal electrolytes) to provide a relaxed brain. Systemic hypotension reduces the cerebral perfusion pressure and acts synergistically with retractor pressure to cause cerebral ischemia.

The other goal is to prevent secondary brain insults with avoidance of hypotension, hyperthermia, hypoxia, hypercapnia, hyperglycemia, hyper-/hyponatremia, and hypo- or hypercapnia. It is recommended to maintain euvolemia, normotension, isotonicity, normoglycemia, and mild hypocapnia.

Anesthesia Technique: The choice of an anesthetic, narcotic, or muscle relaxant does not affect the outcome [80]. The goal of smooth induction with the maintenance of hemody-

namics and rapid emergence must be followed in choosing the anesthetic agent. Even though raised ICP is not a problem in patients for elective surgery, these patients might have poor intracranial compliance. It is advisable to avoid anesthetics and vasoactive agents that can produce cerebral vasodilation, such as a high dosage of inhalational agents [57]. The incidence of AVM rupture is very low during induction and intubation, but 10% of these patients might have an associated aneurysm that can rupture with fluctuation in blood pressure [81]. If the AVMs lie near the eloquent areas, awake craniotomy with neurophysiological monitoring may be used in cooperative children to avoid postoperative neurological deficits.

Hemodynamic Control: Adequate precautions should be taken to deal with the excessive intraoperative bleeding as well as perioperative brain swelling. Controlled hypotension might be useful in a few patients with large AVMs and deep arterial supply. As small and deep-seated feeders are difficult to control, controlled hypotension might help achieve hemostasis [82]. If there is torrential bleeding, the surgeon might apply a temporary clip. In such scenarios, lowering the blood pressure might assist the surgeons in visualizing the bleeding vessel. The choice of agent to induce hypotension varies as per the patient's underlying medical conditions and the discretion of the treating anesthesiologist. In cases where massive blood loss is expected, rapid ventricular pacing can be used to provide controlled hypotension [83].

Emergence and Extubation: Blood pressure should approach near normal or slightly higher after bleeding is stopped to check whether hemostasis is complete or not. If the brain is relaxed and homeostasis is achieved, extubation should be planned as an awake patient is the best neurological monitor. Emergence hypertension should be prevented and treated as fast as possible to avoid brain swelling and tumor bed hematoma [60]. If awakening is delayed or new onset of neurological deficits appears, an urgent CT scan should be done to rule out brain edema and hemorrhage.

Children who had massive hemorrhage intraoperatively, longer duration of surgery, inadequate hemostasis, and brain bulge after AVM resection should undergo elective mechanical ventilation in the postoperative period. Optimum sedation that keeps the child calm and allows neurological assessment should be given. Dexmedetomidine is currently gaining popularity in this field [84].

Postoperative Care: Postoperative CT scan should be performed to look for immediate complications, including hematoma formation and cerebral edema. An angiogram can also be planned once the child is stabilized to confirm complete resection of the AVM during the immediate postoperative period. Antibiotics, steroids, and seizure medications must be continued, and optimal analgesia is to be managed by using multimodal techniques such as scalp block, shortacting opioids, acetaminophen, etc.

Complications: The most common complication is the sudden occurrence of brain swelling after AVM resection, known as "hyperperfusion syndrome." There are two hypotheses proposed for brain swelling after AVM resection (Fig. 21.6). One hypothesis suggests that the chronic hypoperfusion of the normal brain surrounding the AVM

causes maximum vasodilation in the blood vessels. These dilated vessels do not undergo constriction when the flow is restored after resection of AVM and leads to cerebral edema and hemorrhage even if perfusion pressure is normal [85]. This hypothesis is known as "normal perfusion pressure breakthrough" (NPPB), where cerebral hyperemia occurs due to increased flow through the dilated vessels, but perfusion pressure remains within the normal limits. According to this theory, cerebral edema and hemorrhage can be reduced by staged resection of feeders of AVM or by combining the procedure with endovascular procedures [15]. It is recommended to resect the AVM within a few days after embolizing the feeding artery to avoid the formation of collaterals. Immediate supportive care includes burst suppression using propofol or thiopentone, the use of cerebral decongestants, and controlled ventilation to prevent hypoxia and hypercapnia. Along with the supportive and resuscitative measures to decrease ICP, control of systemic blood pressure with shorter-acting antihypertensive agents, like esmolol or nicardipine, might reduce cerebral edema.



Fig. 21.6 Depicts the post-coiling hemorrhagic complication secondary to normal perfusion pressure breakthrough. (a) Digital subtraction angiography shows the coiling of arteriovenous malformation (coils indicated by

arrow). (b) Non-contrast computed tomography scan showing intracranial hematoma formation post-coiling (thick arrow indicates hematoma; doted arrow indicates coil artifacts)

This hypothesis is challenged by a few pieces of evidence from observational studies. One study concludes that cerebral edema is a global phenomenon and is not restricted to the hypoperfused brain surrounding the AVM [7]. The other evidence states that there is no relationship between the degree of hypotension produced by shunt preoperatively and postoperative cerebral flow changes [7]. Literature also reports that autoregulation is shifted to the left but not impaired, and CO₂ reactivity is also preserved, suggesting that vessels are not paralyzed [86]. With these pieces of evidence, it appears that the NPPB is an exception rather than a rule for cerebral edema [79, 84].

There is an alternate hypothesis proposed known as "occlusive hyperemia." It occurs due to either arterial stagnation or venous occlusion before the ligation of the feeding artery [87– 90]. Various mechanisms of arterial stagnation, include increased resistance to flow, endothelial abnormalities, and reflex vasoconstriction to normal or increased perfusion pressures. Venous occlusion might occur due to stenosis, agenesis, or major venous sinus occlusion and compression of AVM with hematoma. Controlled hypotension is deleterious if the mechanism of cerebral edema is venous occlusion. The evidence regarding one particular hypothesis is weak, and their impact on the management of AVM moderate. A few authors suggest that both these theories coexist and are termed "arteriocapillary-venous hypertensive syndrome" [91]. One more hypothesis proposes that cerebral edema is caused by the breach in the blood-brain barrier due to excessive protease activity and growth hormone abundance, as seen in the patients with ischemic stroke after the restoration of blood [92]. As there is a lack of strong evidence on optimum hemodynamics, tight control of blood pressure is recommended postoperatively.

A stroke might also occur after AVM resection due to accidental injury to the arteries of the normal brain or due to en passage arteries supplying both AVM and distal normal brain. It also presents unexpected brain swelling postoperatively. In this situation, blood pressure is augmented to increase the collateral circulation along with other measures to reduce cerebral edema. Steal phenomenon, as well as, NPPB can coexist in the same patient.

Intraoperative moderate to severe *hypothermia* might occur in the setting of massive hemorrhage and affect the coagulation cascade leading to a "lethal triad" of acidosis, hypothermia, and coagulopathy. Strict temperature monitoring is recommended. Mild hypothermia can protect the brain, but its effect on improving outcomes is not yet proven. Postoperative hyperthermia must be avoided, especially if intraoperative mild hypothermia is instituted.

21.8.4 Anesthetic Management for Endovascular Procedures

Embolization is indicated for large AVMs that are not amenable to surgical resection or radiosurgery. In such situations, the goal of embolization is to decrease the flow through AVM to decrease the symptoms or halt the progression. Other indications for this procedure include presurgical embolization, embolization before radiosurgery, and residual lesion after surgery may be required as a part of the multimodal approach. The advantages of presurgical embolization include lesser blood loss and shorter surgical time, obliteration of surgically inaccessible vessels, and theoretically staged reduction in the flow of nidus [82]. Embolization before radiosurgery has the advantage of reducing the size of AVM, thereby increasing the cure rate. It eliminates the predictors of hemorrhage during radiosurgery, such as intranidal aneurysms and venous aneurysms, and also reduces the symptoms of venous hypertension [82]. For small lesions, intravascular embolization can be used as a sole technique, but long-term follow-ups are required in such cases as there is a risk of recanalization [93].

Embolization is particularly useful in highrisk patients, e.g., patients with coagulopathy and CHF, as it reduces the size and complications of AVMs. The embolic materials available currently can be divided into solid and liquid agents. The former category includes polyvinyl alcohol particles, fibers, micro-coils, and micro balloons [94–97], while liquid agents include cyanoacrylate monomers such as I-butyl cyanoacrylate and N-butyl cyanoacrylate (NBCA), ethylene vinyl alcohol polymers, and absolute alcohol [98–103]. The Food and Drug Administration has approved NBCA for intracranial AVMs.

General anesthesia with endotracheal intubation is usually required for AVM embolization in pediatric patients. Anesthesia goals are mostly similar to what has been discussed in the previous section, where a few additional concerns are mentioned here.

Besides neurological status, preoperative evaluation should also include a history of protamine and contrast allergy (including insulin use, fish allergy), coagulopathy, CCF, and recent steroid use. Past and present ischemic symptoms must be kept in mind while using controlled hypotension during embolization. There is no single choice of anesthetic agents. Both IV and inhalational agents can be used safely for induction and maintenance. Besides the routine monitors recommended by ASA, an arterial line must be secured following induction as there is a need for hemodynamic manipulation with vasoactive drugs. Microcatheter coaxial sheath can also be used to get arterial pressure. A pulse oximeter should preferably be placed on the lower limb cannulated with a femoral sheath to detect femoral artery occlusion during the procedure and postoperative compression for hemostasis. The patient should be catheterized as the osmotic effect of contrast agents induces diuresis.

Heparin should be titrated to keep the activated clotting time one and half times normal. During glue injection, blood pressure should be decreased to avoid glue migration to the systemic circulation. Hypotension decreases the flow through the AVM feeding artery and provides the time for the glue to occlude the AVM. Patients with prior history of ischemic symptoms can develop infarct during hypotension, especially if combined with hyperventilation. Sodium nitroprusside, being a cerebral vasodilator, is considered the best agent to induce hypotension [104]. Theoretically, it maintains CPP by its cerebral vasodilating action. In high-flow AVM, a cardiac standstill might be required during the glue

injection [105]. Deliberate hypertension may be required in special situations such as cerebral ischemia secondary to arterial vasospasm or inadvertent occlusion of the major vessels due to glue displacement.

The incidence of hemorrhagic complications is 2–4% after the embolization of AVMs [23]. During hemorrhagic complications, heparin should be reversed, and blood pressure should be reduced. Efforts should be made to decrease blood pressure and ICP with various maneuvers. These include increasing the depth of anesthesia using propofol or thiopentone boluses, use of cerebral decongestants (mannitol and furosemide), transient hyperventilation, head-up position, and burr hole drainage of CSF in the intervention suite. Postoperatively, children might present with symptoms of cerebral edema and as seen after surgical resection. They should be observed in the ICU for at least 24 h. In severe cases, postoperative mechanical ventilation may be continued till ICP stabilizes or patients start improving.

21.8.5 Anesthetic Management for Stereotactic Radiosurgery

Stereotactic radiosurgery is a technique of irradiating the blood vessels of AVM that results in progressive luminal obliteration. These vessels finally undergo involution over time, and AVM volume is reduced [106]. The ionizing sources used for radiosurgery are photon beams using cobalt-60 gamma-ray or linear accelerator x-ray and proton or heavy ion particle beam. The technical steps of SR are shown in Fig. 21.7.

Radiosurgery is most useful in patients with small AVMs (size <3 cm and volume <10 cm³), and AVMs located near the eloquent areas as radiations are focused and cause less damage to the surrounding brain [107–109]. Other indications include AVMs inaccessible to surgery or embolization and if coexisting medical diseases precludes the surgical resection.

The goals of radiosurgery are to control the symptoms like headache, seizures, minimizing the risk of hemorrhage, and obliteration of AVM **Fig. 21.7** The technical steps of stereotactic radiosurgery. Each step forward depicts the movement of the patient. *OR* operating room; *CT* computed tomography; *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging



Application of Stereotactic frame (in angiography suite or

(Recovery room)

[104, 107, 108]. There is almost complete occlusion of AVM in 80% of patients within 2–3 years [110]. The features of the anesthetic management and technique of SR are mentioned in Table 21.6.

• Specific Concerns During Stereotactic Frame Placement

Application of the stereotactic frame usually requires general anesthesia with endotracheal intubation or laryngeal mask airway [111–113]. General anesthesia is usually indicated for reasons such as better control of hemodynamics and airway [61]. As pediatric patients are uncooperative for proper placement of frame, they usually require a deeper sedation depth if sedation is planned. Excessive sedation can compromise both the airway and hemodynamics and increase the ICP due to hypoxia and hypercapnia. The stereotactic **Table 21.6** Unique features of anesthetic management for stereotactic radiosurgery

- Anesthesia is required at multiple different locations, including transport
- Patients should be calm and cooperative for long hours
- Decreased access to the patient's airway and the patient for resuscitation
- Transport must be quick and safe at a different location
- Underlying pathophysiology and neurological deterioration can occur while transport
- Remote location, radiation hazards, contrast-induced reactions, and hemorrhage during catheterization of femoral artery
- Movements during stereotactic position and delivery of the radiation beams might result in treatment failure, skull fracture, and pin displacement leading to epidural or subdural hematoma
- Procedures might extend up to 10–12 h with continuous anesthesia in a single setting

frame overlies the nose and mouth, rendering the airway difficult to secure in case of an emergency. To overcome such problems, the lower arch of the frame can be placed so that the mouth is free (Fig. 21.8). Also, a mask with a shorter height and lesser dead space should be used to negotiate the smaller available space (Fig. 21.9). Besides this, the essential precaution is to carry the frame's wrench along with the patient to quickly remove the frame if there is an inadvertent airway compromise.

Concerns During Patient Transport

These patients need multiple means of transport. The first stereotactic frame is applied under sedation or GA, and then MRI is done, followed by transfer to the gamma knife center (Fig. 21.6). Appropriate precautions should be adopted during the transport of these children.

The transport itinerary must be mapped in advance with knowledge of emergency exits. The availability of a sufficient transport workforce should be ensured. Transport routes must be checked prior to the barriers to ensure smooth transport. All portable transport monitors, including pulse oximetry, blood pressure and ECG, and infusion systems, must be charged and confirmed for battery backup. Emergency reintubation and ventilation equipment supplies must be available. Adequate depth of anesthesia should be maintained during the transport. Inhalational agents are not favored as the agent delivery as it is not possible during the transport. Usually, anesthesia is maintained with propofol infusions.

Concerns During Radiation Exposure

The patients are monitored through closedcircuit cameras in the console rooms. The room temperature of the gamma knife center is usually very low, and it becomes necessary to monitor and maintain the temperature of these patients for early awakening [111, 114]. To avoid bladder distention, catheterization should be considered. All pressure points should be adequately padded to avoid compression injuries [114]. Most of the patients with good preprocedural neurological status can be extubated after accessing the patient's neurological status. Delayed awakening is very common as most of these patients are extubated in the postoperative period [82]. AVM is associated with an increased risk of

Fig. 21.8 Sketch of stereotactic radiosurgery frame applied on patient's face. Usual placement (with convexity of arch facing downward) covers the mouth and nose and makes it difficult to secure the airway if need arises. Rotating this bar by 180° (indicated by pink-colored and dotted image) uncovers the face and part of the nose making mask holding and intubation easier





Anatomical face mask Mask with more height interferes when frame in situ

Fig. 21.9 Shows anatomical face mask (extreme left) having more height and larger dead space and is difficult to negotiate underneath the stereotactic frame. Other two

spontaneous deep vein thrombosis in children, and this risk is further increased due to prolonged immobility during anesthesia in stereotactic radiosurgery. Hence, the use of sequential compression devices is advised in these children [115, 116]. Immediate complications occurring after radiosurgery are rare. Most of the complications are delayed and matching the time frame of AVM occlusion secondary to inflammation. Intracerebral hemorrhage and inadequate occlusion persist up to 3 years in 14–19% of cases [82].

21.9 Conclusion

AVM is a rare congenital tangle of abnormal blood vessels associated with an increased risk of bleeding, seizures, and/or CHF, especially in neonates. The complex pathophysiology of AVM might pose a great challenge for anesthesiologists. The anesthetic management of AVM includes thorough preoperative assessment and optimization, meticulous planning of anesthesia, and appropriate monitoring. One has to be prepared for intraoperative and postoperative complications, including massive hemorrhage, venous air embolism, and sudden severe cerebral edema after AVM resection. Postoperative man-



Round mask Rendall Bakers Socek mask



masks (round, middle, and Rendell-Baker-Soucek mask, extreme right) carry shorter height and can be easily fitted underneath the frame

agement should be planned as per preoperative status, intraoperative hemodynamic disturbances, and immediate postoperative complications in these groups of children.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Kondziolka DL, McLaughlin MR, Kestle JR. Simple risk predictions for arteriovenous malformation hemorrhage. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:851–5.
- Greenberg MS. Arteriovenous malformation. In: Greenberg MS, editor. Handbook of neurosurgery. 6th ed. Stuttgart: Germany Thieme International; 2004. p. 835–8.
- Padget DH. The cranial venous system in man in reference to development, adult configuration and relation to the arteries. Am J Anat. 1956;98:307–40.
- Stapf C, Labovitz DL, Sciacca RR, Mast H, Mohr JP, Sacco RL. Incidence of adult brain arteriovenous malformation hemorrhage in a prospective population-based stroke survey. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2002;13(1):43–6.
- Fogarty-Mack P, Pile-Spellman J, Hacein-Bey L, Osipov A, DeMeritt J, Jackson EC, et al. The effect of arteriovenous malformations on the distribution of intracerebral arterial pressures. Am J Neuroradiol. 1996;17:1443–9.
- Duong DH, Young WL, Vang MC, Sciacca RR, Mast H, Koennecke HC, et al. Feeding artery pressure and venous drainage pattern are primary determinants of

hemorrhage from cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Stroke. 1998;29:1167–76.

- Young WL, Kader A, Ornstein E, Baker KZ, Ostapkovich N, Pile-Spellman J, et al. Cerebral hyperemia after arteriovenous malformation resection is related to "breakthrough" complications but not to feeding artery pressure. The Columbia University Arteriovenous Malformation Study Project. Neurosurgery. 1996;38:1085–93.
- Hacein-Bey L, Nour R, Pile-Spellman J, Heertum RV, Esser PD, Young WL. Adaptive changes in autoregulation to chronic cerebral hypotension with arteriovenous malformations: an acetazolamide enhanced single-photon emission CT study. Am J Neuroradiol. 1995;6:1865–74.
- Brown RD Jr, Wiebers DO, Torner JC, O'Fallon WM. Frequency of intracranial hemorrhage as a presenting symptom and subtype analysis: a population-based study of intracranial vascular malformations in Olmsted Country. Minnesota J Neurosurg. 1996;85:29–32.
- Arteriovenous Malformation Study Group. Arteriovenous malformations of the brain in adults. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1812–8.
- 11. Boudreau NJ, Varner JA. The homeobox factor Hox D3 promotes integrin α 5 β 1 expression and function during angiogenesis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:4862–8.
- Myers C, Charboneau A, Boudreau NJ. Homeobox B3 promotes capillary morphogenesis and angiogenesis. J Cell Biol. 2000;148:343–51.
- Putman CM, Chaloupka JC, Fulbright RK, Awad IA, White RI, Fayad PB. Exceptional multiplicity of cerebral arteriovenous malformations associated with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (Osler Weber Rendu). Am J Neuroradiol. 1996;17: 1733–42.
- Berman MF, Sciacca RR, Pile-Spellman J, Stapf C, Connolly ES Jr, Mohr JP, et al. The epidemiology of brain arteriovenous malformations. Neurosurgery. 2000;47:389–96.
- Sarwar M, McCormick W. Intracerebral venous angioma. Case report and review. Arch Neurol. 1978;35:323–5.
- Gross CR, Kase CS, Mohr JP, Cunningham SC, Baker WE. Stroke in south Alabama: incidence and diagnostic features-a population based study. Stroke. 1984;15:249–55.
- Perret G, Nishioka H. Report on the cooperative study of intracranial aneurysms and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Section VI. Arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1966;25:467–90.
- Toffol G, Biller J, Adams HJ. Nontraumatic intracerebral hemorrhage in young adults. Arch Neurol. 1987;44:483–5.
- Tay C, Oon C, Lai C, Loong SC, Gwee AL. Intracranial arteriovenous malformations in Asians. Brain. 1971;94:61–8.

- Albert P. Personal experience in the treatment of 178 cases of arteriovenous malformations of the brain. Acta Neurochir. 1982;61:207–26.
- Parkinson D, Bachers G. Arteriovenous malformations. Summary of 100 consecutive supratentorial cases. J Neurosurg. 1980;53:285–99.
- Crawford PM, West CR, Chadwick DW, Shaw MD. Arteriovenous malformations of the brain: natural history in unoperated patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1986;49:1–10.
- Ondra SL, Troupp H, George ED, Schwab K. The natural history of symptomatic arteriovenous malformations of the brain: a 24-year follow-up assessment. J Neurosurg. 1990;73:387–91.
- 24. Mast H, Mohr JP, Osipov A, Pile-Spellman J, Marshall RS, Lazar RM, Stein BM, Young WL. 'Steal' is an unestablished mechanism for the clinical presentation of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Stroke. 1995;26(7):1215–20.
- Spetzler RF, Martin NA. A proposed grading system for arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1986;65:476–83.
- Lawton MT, Kim H, McCulloch CE, Mikhak B, Young WL. A supplementary grading scale for selecting patients with brain arteriovenous malformations for surgery. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(4):702–13.
- 27. Jiao Y, Lin F, Wu J, Li H, Wang L, Jin Z, Wang S, Cao Y. A supplementary grading scale combining lesion-to-eloquence distance for predicting surgical outcomes of patients with brain arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 2018;128(2):530–40.
- Graf C, Perret G, Torner J. Bleeding from cerebral arteriovenous malformations as part of their natural history. J Neurosurg. 1983;58:331–7.
- Svien H, McRae J. Arteriovenous anomalies of the brain. Fate of patients not having definitive surgery. J Neurosurg. 1965;23:23–8.
- Brilli R, Sacchetti A, Neff S. Familial arteriovenous malformation in children. Pediatr Emerg Care. 1995;11:376–8.
- Sano K, Ueda Y, Saito I. Subarachnoid hemorrhage in children. Childs Brain. 1978;4:38–46.
- Hdlaky JP, Lejeune JP, Blond S, Pruvo JP, Dhellemmes P. Cerebral arteriovenous malformations in children: report on 62 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 1994;10:328–33.
- Kelly JJ, Mellinger J, Sundt TJ. Intracranial arteriovenous malformations in childhood. Ann Neurol. 1978;3:338–43.
- Millar C, Bissonnette B, Humphreys R. Cerebral arteriovenous malformations in children. Child Nerv Syst. 1991;7:43–7.
- Hara H, Burrows P, Flodmark O, Terbrugge K, Humphreys R. Neonatal superficial cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1994;20:126–36.
- 36. Stapf C, Mast H, Sciacca RR, Choi JH, Khaw AV, Connolly ES, et al. Predictors of hemorrhage in

patients with untreated brain arteriovenous malformation. Neurology. 2006;66:1350–5.

- 37. Kim H, Sidney S, McCulloch CE, Poon KY, Singh V, Johnston SC, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in longitudinal risk of intracranial hemorrhage in brain arteriovenous malformation patients. Stroke. 2007;38:2430–7.
- Westra DL, Colohan ART. Pediatric subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2008;104:401–5.
- 39. Gao E, Young WL, Pile-Spellman J, Joshi S, Duong H, Stieg PE, et al. Cerebral arteriovenous malformation feeding artery aneurysms: a theoretical model of intravascular pressure changes after treatment. Neurosurgery. 1997;41:1345–56.
- Fults D, Kelly DJ. Natural history of arteriovenous malformations of the brain: a clinical study. Neurosurgery. 1984;15:658–62.
- Michelson W. Natural history and pathophysiology of arteriovenous malformations. Clin Neurosurg. 1978;26:307–13.
- 42. Turjman F, Massoud T, Sayre J, Fernando V, Guglielmi G, Duckwiler G. Epilepsy associated with cerebral arteriovenous malformations: a multivariate analysis of angioarchitectural characteristics. Am J Neuroradiol. 1995;16:345–50.
- 43. Im SH, Han MH, Kwon BJ, Ahn JY, Jung C, Park SH, et al. Venous-predominant parenchymal arteriovenous malformation: a rare subtype with a venous drainage pattern mimicking developmental venous anomaly. J Neurosurg. 2008;108:1142–7.
- Blackwood W. Two cases of benign cerebral telangiectasis. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1994;52:209–12.
- 45. Bourdeau A, Cymerman U, Paquet ME, Meschino W, McKinnon WC, Guttmacher AE, et al. Endoglin expression is reduced in normal vessels but still detectable in arteriovenous malformations of patients with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia type 1. Am J Pathol. 2000;156:911–23.
- 46. Brown RJ, Wiebers D, Forbes G, O'Fallon WM, Piepgras DG, Marsh WR, et al. The natural history of unruptured intracranial arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:352–7.
- 47. Mast H, Mohr JP, Osipov A, Pile-Spellman J, Marshall RS, Lazar RM, et al. 'Steal' is an unestablished mechanism for the clinical presentation of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Stroke. 1995;26:1215–20.
- Spetzler RF, Hargraves RW, McCormick PW, Zabramski JM, Flom RA, Zimmerman RS. Relationship of perfusion pressure and size to risk of hemorrhage from arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1992;76:918–23.
- Manchola IF, De Salles AA, Foo TK, Ackerman RH, Candia GT, Kjellberg RN. Arteriovenous malformation hemodynamics: a transcranial Doppler study. Neurosurgery. 1993;33:556–62.
- Fink G. Effects of cerebral angiomas on perifocal and remote tissue: a multivariate positron emission tomography study. Stroke. 1992;23:1099–105.

- 51. Dinca EB, de Lacy P, Yianni J, Rowe J, Radatz MW, Preotiuc-Pietro D, Kemeny AA. Gamma knife surgery for pediatric arteriovenous malformations: a 25-year retrospective study. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10(5):445–50.
- Melville C, Walsh K, Sreeram N. Cerebral arteriovenous malformations in the neonate: clinical presentation, diagnosis and outcome. Int J Cardiol. 1991;31:175–80.
- LeBlanc R, Ethier R, Little J. Computerized tomography findings in arteriovenous malformations of the brain. J Neurosurg. 1979;51:765–72.
- Kumar A, Fox M, Vinuela F, Rosenbaum AE. Revisited old and new findings in unruptured larger arteriovenous malformations of the brain. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1984;8:648–55.
- 55. Al-Shahi R, Pal N, Lewis SC, Bhattacharya JJ, Sellar RJ, Warlow CP, AVM Observer Agreement Study Group. Observer agreement in the angiographic assessment of arteriovenous malformations of the brain. Stroke. 2002;33(6):1501–8.
- Millar C, Bissonnette B, Humphreys RP. Cerebral arteriovenous malformations in children. Can JAnaesth. 1994;41:321–31.
- Rath GP, Dash HH. Anaesthesia for neurosurgical procedures in paediatric patients. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56(5):502–10.
- Lauer KK, Connolly LA, Schmeling WT. Opioid sedation does not alter intracranial pressure in head injured patients. Can J Anaesth. 1997;44:929–32.
- Thompson JR, Schneider S, Ashwal S, Holden BS, Hinshaw DB Jr, Hasso AN. The choice of sedation for computed tomography in children: a prospective evaluation. Radiology. 1982;143:475–9.
- Sinha PK, Neema PK, Rathod RC. Anesthesia and intracranial arteriovenous malformation. Neurol India. 2004;52(2):163–70.
- Mori K, Murata T, Hashimoto N, Handa H. Clinical analysis of arteriovenous malformations in children. Childs Brain. 1980;6:13–25.
- Fong D, Chan S. Arteriovenous malformations in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 1988;4:199–203.
- Eiras J, Gómez-Perún J, Carcavilla LI, Alberdi J. Surgical experience of arteriovenous malformations in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 1987;3:156–60.
- Takeshita M, Kagawa M, Izawa M, Kitamura K. Hemorrhagic stroke in infancy, childhood, and adolescence. Surg Neurol. 1986;26:496–500.
- 65. Meyer PG, Orliaguet GA, Zerah M, Charron B, Jarreau MM, Brunelle F, et al. Emergency management of deeply comatose children with acute rupture of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Can J Anaesth. 2000;47(8):758–66.
- 66. Ravussin P, Guinard JR, Ralley E, Thorin D. Effect of propofol on cerebrospinal fluid pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in patients undergoing craniotomy. Anaesthesia. 1988;43:37–41.
- Borgeat A, Wilder-Smith OHG, Suter PM. The nonhypnotic therapeutic applications of propofol. Anesthesiology. 1994;80:642–56.
- Martin TM, Nicolson SC, Bargas MS. Propofol anesthesia reduces emesis and airways obstruction in paediatric outpatients. Anesth Analg. 1992;76:144–8.
- 69. Soriano SG, Sullivan LJ, Venkatakrishnan K, Greenblatt DJ, Martyn JA. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of vecuronium in children receiving phenytoin or carbamazepine for chronic anticonvulsant therapy. Br J Anaesth. 2001;86:223–9.
- Cucchiara RF, Bowers B. Air embolism in children undergoing suboccipital craniotomy. Anesthesiology. 1982;57:338–9.
- Buchthal A, Belopavlovic M. Somatosensory evoked potentials in cerebral aneurysm surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 1992;9:493–7.
- Chang SD, Lopez JR, Steinber GK. The usefulness of electrophysiological monitoring during resection of central nervous system vascular malformations. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 1999;8:412–22.
- Kodama K, Goto T, Sato A, Sakai K, Tanaka Y, Hongo K. Standard and limitation of intraoperative monitoring of the visual evoked potential. Acta Neurochir. 2010;152:643–8.
- Deshaies EM, Singla A, Allott G, Villwock MR, Li F, Gorji R. Multimodality intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring during Onyx embolization of cerebrovascular malformations. Neurodiagn J. 2015;55(1):12–24.
- 75. Zhou Q, Li M, Yi L, He B, Li X, Jiang Y. Intraoperative neuromonitoring during brain arteriovenous malformation microsurgeries and postoperative dysfunction: a retrospective follow-up study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(39):e8054.
- Holliday MA, Segar WE. The maintenance need for water in parenteral fluid therapy. Pediatrics. 1957;19:823–32.
- 77. Henriksen L, Thorshauge C, Harmsen A, Christensen P, Sorensen MB, Lester J, et al. Controlled hypotension with sodium nitroprusside: effects on cerebral blood flow and cerebral venous blood gases in patients operated for cerebral aneurysms. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1983;27:62–7.
- Brown KA, Bissonnette B, McIntyre B. Hyperkalaemia during rapid blood transfusion and hypovolaemic cardiac arrest in children. Can J Anaesth. 1990;37:747–54.
- Ravussin P, Moeschler O, Graftieaux JP, De Tribolet N. Détente et protection cérébrales au bloc opératoire [Relaxation and protection of the brain on the operating table]. Neurochirurgie. 1994;40(6):359–62.
- Schifilliti D, Grasso G, Conti A, Fodale V. Anaestheticrelated neuroprotection: intravenous or inhalational agents? CNS Drugs. 2010;24(11):893–907.
- Hashimoto T, Young WL. Anesthesia-related considerations for cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Neurosurg Focus. 2001;11(5):e5.
- 82. Ogilvy CS, Stieg PE, Awad I, Brown RD Jr, Kondziolka D, Rosenwasser R, et al. AHA Scientific Statement: recommendations for the management of intracranial arteriovenous malformations: a state-

ment for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2001;32(6):1458–71.

- Hockley A, Tso MK, Almekhlafi MA, Lodha AK, Clegg R, Luntley J, et al. Rapid cardiac ventricular pacing to facilitate embolization of vein of Galen malformations: technical note. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10(5):445–50.
- 84. Kitsiripant C, Kamata K, Kanamori R, Yamaguchi K, Ozaki M, Nomura M. Postoperative management with dexmedetomidine in a pregnant patient who underwent AVM nidus removal: a case report. JA Clin Rep. 2017;3(1):17.
- 85. Kumar S, Kato Y, Sano H, Imizu S, Nagahisa S, Kanno T. Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough in arteriovenous malformation surgery: the concept revisited with a case report. Neurol India. 2004;52:111–5.
- Young WL, Prohovnik I, Ornstein E, Ostapkovich N, Sisti MB, Solomon RA, et al. The effect of arteriovenous malformation resection on cerebrovascular reactivity to carbon dioxide. Neurosurgery. 1990;27:257–67.
- Spetzler RF, Wilson CB, Weinstein P, Mehdorn M, Townsend J, Telles D. Normal perfusion pressure breakthrough theory. Clin Neurosurg. 1978;25:651–72.
- Mullan S, Brown FD, Patronas NJ. Hyperemic and ischemic problems of surgical treatment of arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1979;51: 757–64.
- Al-Rodhan NR, Sundt TM, Peipgras DG, Nichols DA, Rüfenacht D, Stevens LN. Occlusive hyperemia: a theory for the hemodynamic complications following resection of intracerebral arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:167–75.
- Wilson CB, Hieshima G. Occlusive hyperemia: a new way to think about an old problem. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:165–6.
- Morgan M, Winder M. Haemodynamics of arteriovenous malformations of the brain and consequences of resection: a review. J Clin Neurosci. 2001;8(3):216–24.
- Rosell A, Lo EH. Multiphasic roles for matrix metalloproteinases after stroke. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2008;8:82–9.a.
- Vinuela F, Dion JE, Duckwiler G, Martin NA, Lylyk P, Fox A, et al. Combined endovascular embolization and surgery in the management of cerebral arteriovenous malformations: experience with 101 cases. J Neurosurg. 1991;75:856–64.
- Berenstein A, Graeb DA. Convenient preparations of ready-to-use particles in polyvinyl alcohol foam suspension for embolization. Radiology. 1982;145:846.
- Eskridge JM, Hartling RP. Preoperative embolization of brain AVMs using surgical silk and polyvinyl alcohol. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1989;10:882. Abstract.
- Horton JA, Marano GD, Kerber CW, Jenkins JJ, Davis S. Polyvinyl alcohol foam-Gelfoam for thera-

peutic embolization: a synergistic mixture. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1983;4:143–7.

- Fournier D, Ter Brugge KG, Willinsky R, Lasjaunias P, Montanera W. Endovascular treatment of intracerebral arteriovenous malformations: experience in 49 cases. J Neurosurg. 1991;75:228–33.
- Wallace RC, Flom RA, Khayata MH, Dean BL, McKenzie J, Rand JC, et al. The safety and effectiveness of brain arteriovenous malformation embolization using acrylic and particles: the experiences of a single institution. Neurosurgery. 1995;37:606–15.
- Berenstein AB, Krall R, Choi IS. Embolization with n-butyl cyanoacrylate in the management of CNS vascular lesions. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1989;10:883. Abstract.
- Pelz DM, Fox AJ, Vinuela F, Drake CC, Ferguson GG. Preoperative embolization of brain AVMs with isobutyl-2-cyanoacrylate. Am J Neuroradiol. 1988;9:757–64.
- 101. Lylyk P, Vinuela F, Vinters HV, Dion J, Bentson J, Duckwiler G, Lin T. Use of a new mixture for embolization of intracranial vascular malformations: preliminary experimental experience. Neuroradiology. 1990;32:304–10.
- 102. Lylyk P, Vinuela F, Dion JE, Duckwiler G, Guglielmi G, Peacock W, et al. Therapeutic alternatives for vein of Galen vascular malformations. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:438–45.
- 103. Yakes WF, Krauth L, Ecklund J, Swengle R, Dreisbach JN, Seibert CE, Baker R, Miller M, VanderArk G, Fullagar T, Prenger E. Ethanol endovascular management of brain arteriovenous malformations: initial results. Neurosurgery. 1997;40(6):1145–52; discussion 1152–4.
- McDowell GD. Induced hypotension and brain ischaemia. Br J Anaesth. 1985;57:110–9.
- 105. Pile-Spellman J, Young WL, Joshi S, Duong S, Vang MC, Hartmann A, et al. Adenosine-induced cardiac pause for endovascular embolisation of cerebral arteriovenous malformations: technical case report. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:881–6.

- 106. Ogilvy CS. Radiation therapy for arteriovenous malformations: a review. Neurosurgery. 1990;26:725–35.
- 107. Lunsford LD, Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC, Bissonette DJ, Jungreis CA, Maitz AH, et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery for arteriovenous malformations of the brain. J Neurosurg. 1991;75:512–24.
- Steiner L, Lindquist C, Adler JR, Torner JC, Alves W, Steiner M. Clinical outcome of radiosurgery for cerebral arteriovenous malformations. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:1–8.
- 109. Colombo F, Pozza F, Chierego G, Casentini L, De Luca G, Francescon P. Linear accelerator radiosurgery of cerebral arteriovenous malformations: an update. Neurosurgery. 1994;34:14–20.
- 110. Gerszten PC, Adelson PD, Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC, Lunsford LD. Seizure outcome in children treated for arteriovenous malformations using gamma knife radiosurgery. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1996;24:139–44.
- 111. Baker KC, Isert PR. Anaesthetic considerations for children undergoing stereotactic radiosurgery. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1997;25:691–5.
- 112. Bauman GS, Brett CM, Ciricillo SF, Larson DA, Sneed P, Staplers LJ, et al. Anaesthesia for pediatric stereotactic radiosurgery. Anesthesiology. 1998;89:255–7.
- 113. Stokes MA, Soriano SG, Tarbell NJ, Loeffler JS, Alexander E 3rd, Black PM, et al. Anesthesia for stereotactic radiosurgery in children. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1995;7:100–8.
- Edler A. Special anesthetic considerations for stereotactic radiosurgery in children. J Clin Anesth, 2007. 19(8):616–8.
- 115. Morris RJ, Woodcock JP. Evidence-based compression: prevention of stasis and deep vein thrombosis. Ann Surg. 2004;239:162–71.
- Baetz MD, Pylypchuk G, Baetz M. A complication of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Ann Intern Med. 1994;121:468–9.



Anesthetic Management of Cerebral Aneurysm Surgery in Children

22

Ritesh Lamsal and Charu Mahajan 💿

Key Points

- Subarachnoid hemorrhage is the most common presentation in children with cerebral aneurysms.
- Although both surgical clipping and endovascular techniques are popular, endovascular techniques are increasingly preferred in recent times.
- During the conduct of anesthesia, it is crucial to maintain stable hemodynamic parameters, perform smooth induction of anesthesia, adequate depth of anesthesia, control intracranial pressure, maintain normothermia, and ensure adequate cerebral oxygenation.
- Rebleeding, delayed cerebral ischemia, hydrocephalus, seizure, fluid imbalance, and dyselectrolytemia are commonly encountered complications in children with cerebral aneurysms.
- Timely management of complications is important to prevent secondary neurological injury.

e-mail: ritesh.lamsal@mmc.tu.edu.np

C. Mahajan (🖂)

22.1 Introduction

Cerebral aneurysms are abnormal, focal dilatations of cerebral arteries that are usually found at points where vessels branch. In children less than 20 years of age, over 10% of cases of hemorrhagic strokes are caused by spontaneous rupture of cerebral aneurysms [1].

Less than 5% of total intracranial aneurysms are seen in patients who are younger than 18 years [2]. Although rare, ruptured intracranial aneurysms have been reported even in neonates [3, 4]. More than 70% of pediatric cerebral aneurysms are found in the anterior circulation with a slight male preponderance [2, 5, 6]. Adult cerebral aneurysms have been studied in-depth and discussed in several clinical studies. Still, much less is known about the pathogenesis, risk factors, classification schemes, and optimal treatment modalities of pediatric aneurysms. Even though pediatric aneurysms differ from adult aneurysms in many ways, a lot of the existing information has been extrapolated from adult literature.

22.2 Etiopathogenesis

The pathogenesis of pediatric intracranial aneurysm is not fully understood. Two main hypotheses have been proposed. The first hypothesis proposes luminal factors such as high blood flow velocity, shear stress, and blood turbulence in the

R. Lamsal

Department of Anaesthesiology, Tribhuvan University Teaching Hospital, Institute of Medicine, Kathmandu, Nepal

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_22

etiogenesis of aneurysms based on the observation that aneurysms are common at sites of arterial bifurcation and arterial-anatomic variants. The second hypothesis suggests abluminal factors such as a morphological abnormality of the vessel wall, functional dysfunction of vessel wall, exogenous risk factors, and systemic diseases as the cause of the development of aneurysms.

It must be noted that many of the established risk factors in adults such as advanced age, chronic hypertension, smoking, drug abuse, and chronic kidney disease are not found in children, underscoring the differences in the formation and natural course of this condition from adults. The underlying cause of aneurysms in children with no systemic diseases remains perplexing; however, several genetic mutations have been implicated, such as the TSC2 and the PKD1 genes (weak vascular wall in tuberous sclerosis and polycystic kidney disease, respectively), the COL3A1 gene (abnormal procollagen in Ehlers-Danlos syndrome), and sickle cell genes (abnormal red cells that cause endothelial injury) [7–10]. The presence of coarctation of the aorta is a well-established risk factor for the development and rupture of aneurysms in children [11]. Some comorbidities associated with the development of cerebral aneurysms in children are listed in Table 22.1.

22.3 Types and Location

The four main types of pediatric intracranial aneurysms are saccular (berry), fusiform, traumatic, and infective. Saccular aneurysms are formed because of the disintegration of the elastic layer of the artery. The aneurysmal sac is composed of hyalinized intima and adventitia, with an abnormal tunica media. The internal elastic lamina terminates at the neck of the aneurysm and is absent in the sac. Saccular aneurysms were earlier thought to be congenital or developmental in origin, while recent evidence points toward hemodynamically induced degenerative vascular injury. Fusiform aneurysms are caused by severe

| Table 22.1 | Some | associated | comorbidities | in | children |
|--------------|------|------------|---------------|----|----------|
| with aneurys | ms | | | | |

| Renal | Connective tissue. |
|-------------------------------|--------------------|
| Polycystic kidney disease | genetic |
| Alport syndrome | Ehlers-Danlos |
| Fibromuscular renal artery | syndrome |
| hyperplasia | Marfan's |
| | syndrome |
| | Angelman |
| | syndrome |
| | Cystic fibrosis |
| Cardiovascular | Others |
| Coarctation of aorta | Meningocele |
| Hypoplastic left heart | Autism |
| Aortic valve stenosis | Arachnoid cyst |
| Double outlet right ventricle | |
| Moyamoya disease | |
| Hematological, inflammatory, | |
| autoimmune | |
| Sickle cell anemia | |
| Kawasaki disease | |
| Takayasu's disease | |
| Thalassemia | |
| Lupus erythematosus | |
| Idiopathic thrombocytopenic | |
| purpura | |
| Polyarteritis nodosa | |
| Tuberous sclerosis | |
| Neurofibromatosis type I | |
| Von Hippel-Lindau disease | |
| Ataxia telangiectasia | |

atherosclerosis or degenerative changes in childhood. Traumatic aneurysms constitute 5-40% of pediatric aneurysms and are most commonly seen in the distal anterior cerebral artery (ACA) or in the major vessels along the skull base [12]. In the truest sense, traumatic aneurysms are pseudo-aneurysms because they are caused by endothelial damage and thus have a different pathophysiology. Children with traumatic aneurysms have a history of blunt or penetrating head injury or prior intracranial surgery. Infective aneurysms can be multiple and are more common in the anterior circulation, and many children have associated comorbid conditions like immunodeficiency, congenital or acquired endocarditis, and meningoencephalitis. Bacterial infections are more commonly implicated in aneurysms of infective etiology. Dissecting (nontraumatic) aneurysms have the dissection between the tunica intima and the media. These are four times more common in children compared with adults [13]. Posterior circulation aneurysms are overrepresented in children and are three to four times more common than in adults. Complex aneurysms such as giant, multiple, mycotic, or those in unusual locations are more common in children than adults [5, 14]. Nearly one-fourth of pediatric aneurysms can be giant [5].

22.4 Clinical Presentation

The most common presentation of intracranial aneurysms in symptomatic children is subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Patients may present with headache, features of direct compressive effects, focal neurologic deficits, and seizures. Fusiform aneurysms tend to bleed less. Giant aneurysms commonly present with mass effects. In children, they can sometimes be confused for intracranial tumors on neuroimaging [15]. Seizures or acute hydrocephalus at presentation are twice as common in children compared with adults. Clinical examination and laboratory investigations may reveal a decreased level of consciousness, features of intracranial hypertension, fever, meningism, photophobia, retinal hemorrhage, dyselectrolytemia, and electrocardiographic changes. In young children with elevated ICP and mass effect, additional findings like tense fontanelle, splayed sutures, and opisthotonic posturing may be seen. For unclear reasons, children generally present with better clinical grades than adults and also seem to be less susceptible to developing delayed cerebral ischemia [14].

22.5 Diagnosis

A non-contrast computed tomography (NCCT) of the head is the first investigation in a child with suspected intracranial bleeding. If the NCCT or clinical findings suggest SAH, additional imaging in the form of CT angiogram (CTA) or magnetic resonance angiogram (MRA) of the circle of Willis can be done (Fig. 22.1). The sensitivity of both CTA and MRA to pick aneurysms more than 5 mm in size approaches 100%. With recent advances, the sensitivity to pick even small aneurysms approximates 98–100% [16]. The potential advantage of MRA over CTA is that it does not require iodinated contrast use and limits the exposure of harmful ionizing radiation in young children. Digital subtraction angiography (DSA), while invasive, is the gold standard for the diagnosis of cerebral aneurysms and gives detailed information about the exact site, size, configuration, and neck of the aneurysm, which is important for making treatment decisions (Fig. 22.2).



Fig. 22.1 In a 4-year-old child, axial NCCT head showed (a) well-defined hyperdense lesion (thick white arrow), s/o bleed with perilesional hypodensity (edema) in right temporal lobe with thin SDH in right temporal lobe convexity (thin white arrow). Axial T2 MRI showed (b) well-defined flow void in right distal M1 MCA (thick white

arrow) with gliotic changes in the right temporal lobe (thin white arrow). Phase contrast MRI showed (c) intense enhancement within the aneurysm (thick white arrow). Time of flight MRA showed (d) a well-defined aneurysm in right distal M1 MCA (thick white arrow)



Fig. 22.2 Digital subtraction angiography right ICA AP run showed (**a**) a well-defined lobulated aneurysm in right distal M1 MCA (thick arrow) with paucity of cortical ves-

22.6 Clinical Grading

The first popular grading of SAH based on the severity of clinical findings was done by Botterell et al. (into five grades) and was later modified by Hunt and Hess [17, 18]. A further modification added "Grade 0" for unruptured aneurysms (Table 22.2) [19]. The modified Hunt and Hess (H&H) scale is most commonly used to grade the aneurysm at presentation, prognosticate, and guide neurosurgical or interventional therapy. However, it has been criticized for interobserver variation owing to the ambiguity in the terms used while grading, with poor operational definitions. Terms like lethargy, confusion, and stupor may be interpreted differently by different observers. Similarly, some patients may have clinical features that overlap in two different grades (e.g., severe headache in an unruptured aneurysm). No separate clinical grading scale exists in children. Predicted mortality rates based on H&H grades have been calculated in adults and are probably not applicable to children.

The World Federation of Neurological Surgeons (WFNS) scale was introduced in 1988 to improve upon the H&H scale and increase objectivity while assigning grades. The WFNS scale compresses the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) into five categories and also incorporates neurological motor deficits [20] (Table 22.2).

Recently, a modified WFNS (mWFNS) scale has been proposed in which adult patients with (**b-d**) showed lobulated aneurysm in right distal M1 MCA, directed antero-supero-laterally (thick white arrow)

sels in right MCA territory (thin arrow). DSA 3D images

SAH and a GCS score of 14 are assigned to grade II, and those with a total score of 13 are assigned to grade III, irrespective of the presence of neurological deficit [21]. Although untested in children, the mWFNS score may be better at accurately prognosticating SAH patients than the original score, but further validation is required.

The Fisher grading is based on computed tomography (CT) findings in SAH (Table 22.2). The original Fisher grading was modified by Frontera et al. to account for concomitant intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) in admission CT scans. It was found to predict symptomatic vasospasm after SAH more accurately than the original Fisher grade (Table 22.2) [22, 23].

Although the Fisher grading is widely used to grade SAH in adults, its applicability in children (using adult CT scan measurement values) is unclear. No separate grading system based on CT findings is available in children.

22.7 Complications of Aneurysmal SAH

22.7.1 Rebleeding

Rebleeding of the aneurysm occurs in nearly half of the children with intracranial aneurysm, and for reasons that are not clear, it is consistently more frequent than in adults [24–26]. The classic presentation of rebleeding is a child with a dete-

| Grading | Grade 1 | Grade II | Grade III | Grade IV | Grade V |
|---------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Modified Hunt and Hess [19] ^a | Asymptomatic or mild headache and normal neurological examination | Moderate-severe headache, nuchal rigidity, no neurologic deficits other than cranial nerve palsy | Lethargy, confusion, or mild focal deficits | Stupor, moderate to severe hemiparesis, possible early decerebrate rigidity, vegetative disturbances | Deep coma, decerebrate rigidity, moribund appearance |
| World federation of neurological surgeons [20] | GCS-15, no motor deficit | GCS 13–14, no motor deficit | GCS 13–14, motor deficit present | GCS 7–12, motor deficit present or absent | GCS 3–6, motor deficit present or absent |
| Fisher [22] | No blood detected | Diffuse or thin layer of SAH (<1 mm thick) | Localized clot or thick layer of SAH (≥1 mm thick) | Intracerebral or intraventricular blood with diffuse or no SAH | |
| Modified Fisher [23] ^b | Focal or diffuse thin SAH, no IVH | Focal or diffuse thin SAH with IVH | Thick SAH, no IVH | Thick SAH with IVH | |

Table 22.2 Different grading systems for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage

^aGrade 0—unruptured aneurysm

^bGrade 0—no SAH/IVH

GCS Glasgow Coma Scale, SAH Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, IVH Intraventricular Hemorrhage

rioration of consciousness, new-onset neurological signs, and abnormal vital signs. Some factors that predispose to rebleeding include poor-grade aneurysm, presence of an intracerebral or an intraventricular hematoma, posterior circulation aneurysm, deranged coagulation parameters, and delayed surgery. Rebleeding has also been described during induction of anesthesia, laryngoscopy, intubation, and during other intraoperative events such as brain retraction and sudden evacuation of the hematoma. The incidence of rebleeding is highest in the first 24-48 h of the first bleed. Studies carried out in adults have found that antifibrinolytic drugs like tranexamic acid protect against rebleeding, especially when administered early in the course of treatment [27]. However, there are conflicting results of ischemic complications with their use [27, 28]. A recently published meta-analysis of ten trials concluded that there is no conclusive evidence to support the use of antifibrinolytics in treating patients with aneurysmal SAH, and further trials are required to evaluate its effectiveness [29]. The same results may also be corroborated to children.

22.7.2 Vasospasm and Delayed Cerebral Ischemia

Vasospasm is the reactive narrowing of the conducting vessels around the area of the subarachnoid bleeding caused by the irritant effect of blood and its breakdown products. Vasospasm is an important cause of morbidity and mortality in patients before and after the therapeutic procedure. Vasospasm is generally not seen before 3 days of the initial bleed, peaks at the end of 7 days, and wanes by 3 weeks. In adults with aneurysmal SAH, angiographically evident vasospasm is estimated to be present in 40-60% of patients, and clinically significant vasospasm is seen in 20-30% of patients. However, the incidence of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) is lower in children (~10%) compared with adults, and children tolerate SAH better [3, 30–33]. Reasons for better outcomes in children may be related to higher cerebral blood flow, better collateral circulation, and less sensitivity to post-hemorrhagic spasm [30, 34]. Nevertheless, vasospasm causing cerebral ischemia or infarction is an important cause of significant morbidity in children.

22.7.2.1 Diagnosis of Vasospasm

(a) Clinical: The sudden or gradual appearance of neurological deficits after 3 days of the onset of hemorrhage unexplained by concurrent structural or metabolic abnormalities suggests vasospasm.

Transcranial Doppler (TCD) is the most common noninvasive modality to diagnose vasospastic arteries. Vasospasm narrows the caliber of cerebral vessels and increases the flow velocity through these vessels. A rise of TCD-determined flow velocity more than 50 cm/s in 24 h or a flow velocity >120 cm/s are taken as indicators of vasospasm in adults. However, the cerebral blood flow velocity is lower in children and has a wide variation across age groups compared with adults. TCD studies show that the cerebral blood flow velocity is approximately 24 cm/s in neonates, which increases and peaks at around 7-9 years of age (approximately 100 cm/s) [34]. In older children, the cerebral blood flow velocity gradually decreases parallel adult values (approximately to 50 cm/s) [35]. Thus, it is difficult to establish flow velocity cut-off values in children to diagnose vasospasm. Serial TCD monitoring to establish trends may be more useful than absolute numbers.

- (b) Cerebral angiography is the most sensitive tool to diagnose cerebral vasospasm; however, the invasive nature of this modality precludes its frequent use in children. Around one-third of adults with angiographically detected vasospasm develop clinical features. This number is lower in children.
- (c) Jugular bulb oximetry: By detecting changes in cerebral oxygen extraction, jugular bulb oximetry is useful in predicting impending vasospasm. Patients who develop clinically significant vasospasm have an elevated cerebral oxygen extraction a day earlier than it can be recognised by the onset of symptoms of cerebral ischemia.
- (d) Xenon-enhanced CT scans, single photon emission computed tomography, and several other cerebral blood flow measuring tools, although not common in routine clinical

practice, can be used for the diagnosis of vasospasm.

22.7.2.2 Treatment of Vasospasm and Delayed Cerebral Ischemia

Early endovascular or neurosurgical treatment of the aneurysm is the most important strategy to prevent vasospasm. "Triple H" therapy, including hypertension, hypervolemia, and hemodilution, has long been the mainstay for the management of cerebral vasospasm. This strategy, believed to increase cerebral blood flow (CBF) by expanding intravascular volume and reducing blood viscosity is no longer favored. Hemodynamic augmentation is now considered to be the first-line therapy to treat DCI. This can be achieved by increasing intravascular volume alone or by the use of vasopressors like norepinephrine and phenylephrine. There are practical problems of defining the target threshold for augmentation of blood pressure in children, as normal blood pressure has a wide range in children across different age groups. Hypervolemia increases cardiac output and may result in improved perfusion to the hypo-perfused regions, even though its use has been challenged in studies [36]. Even though in adults with DCI, there is emerging evidence to support euvolemia instead of hypervolemia, this is not clear in children. The risks of hypervolemia include congestive cardiac failure, pulmonary edema, coagulopathy, dilutional hyponatremia, and rebleeding. The benefit of hemodilution is not clear either and is the most controversial element of Triple H. A target hematocrit of 30-35% has been suggested in adults to provide an optimal balance between oxygencarrying capacity and blood viscosity. The target hemoglobin value to achieve adequate cerebral oxygenation with optimal CBF is not known in children. Blood pressure augmentation should not be done before the aneurysm is secured. Even though there is a paucity of studies in children, no controlled trial has shown improved mortality with Triple H therapy [37, 38].

Nimodipine, which is a calcium channel blocker, is used for the prevention and treatment of vasospastic arteries and is the only proven pharmacological therapy to improve outcome after aneurysmal SAH in adults. The typical pediatric dose of oral nimodipine is 1 mg/kg every 4 h. However, some studies in children with SAH suggest that oral nimodipine use does not eliminate risk of vasospasm and cannot improve prognosis in cases having rebleeding and infarction [39]. In some children, significant hypotension has been seen after oral nimodipine use [39]. Owing to the risk of significant hypotension, the use of intravenous nimodipine in children is uncommon. Large prospective studies examining different dosing regimens and clinical benefits of nimodipine are warranted in children.

Magnesium sulfate has several physiological effects such as cerebral vasodilation, calcium antagonism, inhibition of excitatory postsynaptic potentials, and inhibition of the formation of free radicals after tissue injury. It has shown some promise in reducing vasospasm and improving outcomes with minimal side effects. However, two large randomized trials have found conflicting results on the benefits of magnesium in SAH [40, 41]. A follow-up meta-analysis also failed to demonstrate a favorable neurological outcome of magnesium after SAH [42]. Studies in children are not available. Endothelin receptor antagonists such as clazosentan were found to improve vasospasm in animal models, but the benefits did not translate in human trials [43-46]. Statins were earlier believed to be of benefit in SAH because of their antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects, but large studies have not shown a significant benefit with their use [47]. Several other drugs that showed early promises, such as tirilazad, which a lipid peroxidation inhibitor, and nicaraven, a hydroxyl radical scavenger, are not useful either. Interventional strategies such as balloon angioplasty for focal stenosis and intra-arterial administration of vasodilators are labor intensive, involve significant risks, and are less commonly performed in children compared with adults.

22.7.3 Hydrocephalus

Hydrocephalus can be acute, occurring within 72 h of the initial bleeding, or chronic, occurring weeks or sometimes even months after the initial

episode. Patients with poor-grade and large-sized aneurysms, thick SAH or intraventricular bleeding, and posterior circulation aneurysms have an increased risk of developing hydrocephalus. Hydrocephalus occurs in 20–30% of adults with aneurysmal SAH and is more common in children, probably because of the greater incidence of posterior circulation and complex aneurysms. Acute hydrocephalus may require the placement of an external ventricular drain (EVD) for decompression, and many children with chronic hydrocephalus require a CSF shunting procedure like ventriculoperitoneal shunt.

22.7.4 Seizures

Seizures are detrimental and should be promptly terminated because they increase CBF and increase oxygen requirements in an already compromised brain. Up to one-third of children with SAH can have seizures, which is more than in adults [48]. Seizures are more likely in patients with poor-grade SAH, intracerebral bleed, severe vasospasm, cerebral infarct, and rebleeding. There is no high-quality evidence on the benefit of prophylactic anti-seizure medications in adults or children with cerebral aneurysms [49].

22.7.5 Fluid and Electrolyte Disturbances

Intracranial volume contraction, hyponatremia, hypokalemia, hypocalcemia, and hypomagnesemia are common findings in children with SAH. Hyponatremia is extremely common and has been found in up to one-third of patients with SAH. The peak incidence of hyponatremia is between the 2nd and 10th days of SAH. Uncorrected hyponatremia lowers the seizure threshold, worsens cerebral edema, and can alter the level of consciousness. Prompt identification of the cause of hyponatremia is important to determine the appropriate treatment. In cerebral salt-wasting syndrome (CSWS), there is hyponatremia with concomitant extracellular volume contraction. Treatment with isotonic crystalloids to replenish sodium and water is appropriate. If syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion (SIADH) is present, it is reasonable to restrict fluid intake and administer hypertonic saline. In children with SIADH, the fluid restriction should be done judiciously, as it can lead to rapid intravascular volume depletion and hemodynamic instability, which increases the risk of cerebral ischemia.

22.7.6 Pulmonary and Cardiac Complications

Pulmonary edema and hospital-acquired pneumonia are common problems in children with aneurysmal SAH. Myocardial dysfunction and arrhythmias are also common. Although 50–100% of adult patients with SAH have ECG changes, such as T-wave inversion, ST depression, U waves, and QT prolongation, the true incidence of electrocardiographic changes in children is not known. Arrhythmia most frequently occurs in the first week of SAH. Possible causes include injury to the posterior pituitary with norepinephrine release resulting in subendocardial injury, and concomitant dyselectrolytemia.

22.8 Treatment of Cerebral Aneurysm in Children

The treatment of unruptured cerebral aneurysms in children can be divided into surgical, endovascular, and conservative approaches [50]. The management of pediatric intracranial aneurysms differs from adults because of the complexities and heterogeneity of aneurysms seen in children. Children with SAH are most appropriately cared for in dedicated neuro-centers that have experienced neurovascular surgeons, neuroanesthesiologists, neurointerventionalists, and neurointensivists. In any child with SAH, medical management should be immediately started to stabilize the child and prevent secondary neurologic complications. It is important to be cognizant of the child's intravascular volume status and hemodynamic parameters, which usually

require the placement of a urinary catheter and strict charting of fluid balance. In a critically ill child, an indwelling arterial line is useful to optimize blood pressure and titrate vasoactive drugs. The requirement of sedatives and analgesics to treat the child's anxiety and the headache of SAH should be balanced against the need to perform a frequent neurological examination. In some children with hydrocephalus, CSF flow diversion may be required before or after securing the aneurysm.

The best modality of securing pediatric aneurysms remains a matter of debate. Both endovascular procedures and surgical clipping have been widely performed with good results [51, 52]. There are concerns about the durability of endovascular devices as children's life expectancy is longer compared with adults [12, 52]. However, a recent meta-analysis found both endovascular and surgical treatments yielded comparable longterm clinical outcomes in children [53]. The International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) in adults with ruptured aneurysms showed that endovascular coiling was more likely to result in independent survival than neurosurgical clipping, albeit with a slightly increased risk of rebleeding [54]. A long-term follow-up of the same cohort suggested that even though rebleeding is slightly increased after endovascular coiling, the probability of disability-free survival is higher in the endovascular group compared with neurosurgical clipping at 10 years [55]. Even though endovascular therapeutic options are increasingly preferred, treatment choice in different hospitals seems to be guided by protocols for adults, the preference and expertise of the neurosurgical units, and patient preference.

22.8.1 Surgical Treatment

Clipping of the aneurysm has been extensively described in the neurosurgical literature. There are reports of several surgical techniques, such as clipping, proximal occlusion with or without bypass, trapping, and wrapping of the aneurysm. The most commonly employed method is to clip the neck of the aneurysm. Aneurysms are increasingly being clipped early, within 24–48 h. The anesthesia goals are tailored for each child primarily based on the preoperative grade of the aneurysm, the proposed surgery, and the need for additional modalities such as intracranial-extracranial bypass procedures. Induced hypotension during the dissection phase of the aneurysm is no longer practiced, and instead many surgeries are carried out using proximal occlusion with temporary clips. Mild hypothermia (32–34 °) and various drugs like mannitol, thiopental, etomidate, propofol, and steroids have been proposed for cerebral protection during temporary clipping with no reliable evidence of their effectiveness [56–58].

22.8.2 Anesthetic Consideration During Surgical Clipping

The goals of neuroanesthesia during surgical clipping are to ensure stable perioperative hemodynamic parameters, perform smooth induction and extubation, provide adequate depth of anesthesia, lower the ICP, and maintain adequate cerebral oxygenation, normothermia, and normocarbia to mild hypocarbia. Unlike in adults, optimal perioperative blood pressure targets are not defined in children. It is reasonable to maintain the intraoperative blood pressure close to the baseline value throughout the conduct of anesthesia. Importantly, the blood pressure should not be allowed to drop below 20% of the baseline value, especially in poor-grade aneurysms, when the brain is already at a critical perfusion threshold. The neuroanesthesiologist should be prepared for a sudden and massive blood loss; it is crucial to have blood and blood products readily available for immediate administration.

22.8.2.1 Induction of Anesthesia

Propofol (1–2 mg/kg) or thiopental (4–6 mg/ kg) in combination with opioids like fentanyl (2–4 μ g/kg) or sufentanil (0.3–0.5 μ g/kg) is commonly used for induction of anesthesia. Atracurium (0.5–0.8 mg/kg), vecuronium (0.1–0.12 mg/kg), or rocuronium (0.6–1.2 mg/kg) can be used for muscle paralysis. Laryngoscopy and

intubation should be quick and smooth. Adjuncts such as lidocaine (1-2 mg/kg), beta-blockers like esmolol (0.25–1 mg/kg), or labetalol (5–20 mg) and additional boluses of fentanyl or propofol are useful to reduce the hemodynamic surge of laryngoscopy and intubation and before other intensely stimulating procedures like insertion of skull pins. A sudden rise of blood pressure will increase the transmural pressure gradient across the aneurysm wall, potentially leading to aneurysm rupture. The intraoperative rupture of the aneurysm carries a very poor prognosis, and it is important to take appropriate preventive measures. Although quite difficult in children, the placement of an arterial catheter before induction of anesthesia is useful for better controlling blood pressure.

22.8.2.2 Monitoring

Besides standard ASA monitoring (ECG, NIBP, EtCO₂, SpO₂, and temperature), direct intraarterial blood pressure monitoring helps in beatbeat monitoring of blood pressure and close titration of vasoactive medications. At least one large-bore intravenous cannula and a central venous catheter are typically inserted. Monitoring the depth of anesthesia (derived electroencephalograph monitor, like bispectral index) and the degree of neuromuscular block (neuromuscular transmission monitor, like train-of-four) may be useful to titrate anesthetics and muscle relaxants. Unlike in adults, the use of intraoperative neuromonitoring like cerebral oximetry, jugular bulb oximetry, transcranial Doppler, and evoked potentials have rarely been described during pediatric aneurysm surgeries.

22.8.2.3 Maintenance of Anesthesia

With the increasing trend of early surgery for cerebral aneurysms, the challenges of providing a lax brain in an under-prepared patient while at the same time maintaining intraoperative hemodynamics are increasing. Volatile anesthetics like isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane or total intravenous anesthesia with propofol and fentanyl (0.5–2 μ g/kg/h) or remifentanil (0.125– 0.25 μ g/kg/min) can be used. There is no strong evidence to avoid the use of nitrous oxide, and its use varies in different institutions. However, it is prudent to avoid nitrous oxide in patients with high-grade SAH or those with intraoperative "tense brain." Mannitol (20%), an osmotic diuretic, is frequently used to provide brain relaxation as a slow infusion in dosages of 0.25 mg/kg. Hypertonic saline is an alternative; no intraoperative study has shown a clear outcome benefit of one over the other in children [59-62]. Experimental models have shown possible benefits of inducing mild hypothermia (33-35 °C) for neuroprotection; however, this has not translated into a clinical benefit in aneurysm surgeries [63]. Normocarbia to mild hypocarbia (PaCO₂: 35-40 mmHg) is most commonly employed. Controlled hypotension during the early dissection phase of the surgery is no longer practiced. Instead, occlusion of the feeding vessels using temporary clips may be used to facilitate exposure and prevent aneurysm rupture. The potential problems using temporary clips are focal cerebral infarction and arterial damage because of the clip application. It is important to augment the blood pressure during temporary clipping to maintain regional cerebral perfusion by an increased collateral blood flow.

Sometimes, the surgeon may request the anesthesiologist to administer intravenous indocyanine green (ICG) dye after clipping the aneurysm. ICG is a near-infrared fluorescent dye used to detect major surgical issues like residual filling of the clipped aneurysm and parent or branching artery occlusion, while the surgical field remains exposed intraoperatively so that immediate revision can be done if required [64]. It is available as a lyophilized green-colored powder that is dissolved in sterile water before intravenous administration. The safety and effectiveness of ICG have been established in children, and the maximum permissible dose is 2 mg/kg [65].

22.8.2.4 Recovery and Extubation

The decision to extubate the trachea at the end of the surgery is based on preoperative patient status and intraoperative surgical or anesthetic events. Good-grade aneurysm patients with an uneventful intraoperative course may be extubated inside the operating room. Others may require a period of postoperative mechanical ventilation. These patients should be shifted to the intensive care unit for ventilation and further management.

22.8.3 Endovascular Treatment

In the last few years, there has been a tremendous shift in the treatment approach for pediatric aneurysms from open surgery to endovascular techniques and multi-modality therapeutic plans. A growing body of evidence points at the safety of the endovascular approach and its effectiveness in preventing early rebleeding [66, 67]. Several observational and small cohort studies have found the overall clinical outcome of endovascular treatment to be as good or even superior to open surgical methods in children [68-71]. It is particularly useful when a difficult anatomic location of the aneurysm precludes the use of open surgical methods, such as with posterior circulation aneurysms. Similarly, partially clipped aneurysms and patients with poor-grade aneurysms benefit from endovascular methods. The most popular endovascular technique uses the Guglielmi detachable coil (GDC), which is inserted into the aneurysmal sac, setting up secondary thrombosis. Adjuvant techniques like balloon-assisted coiling or stentassisted coiling can be used to support a widenecked aneurysm and prevent coil prolapse into the parent artery [72]. Other endovascular options such as placement of flow-diverting stents (like Pipeline Embolization Device), liquid embolization, or endovascular vessel sacrifice may be required to treat complex aneurysms [53, 73].

22.8.3.1 Anesthetic Considerations During Endovascular Treatment

The major considerations include providing anesthesia care in a suboptimal anesthetic environment outside the operation rooms, transportation of patients, anticoagulation, management of sudden catastrophic events such as aneurysm rupture and contrast-related anaphylaxis, ensuring early recovery from anesthesia for neurological assessment, protection from radiation hazards, and the care of generally sicker and underprepared patients, who may have been considered too risky to undergo urgent neurosurgical procedures.

22.8.3.2 Choice of Anesthesia

General anesthesia with endotracheal intubation is preferred in children as it allows immobility for accurate imaging and intervention, control of PaCO₂, and prompt management of possible catastrophic complications. Patient accessibility is always a problem in radiological suites; using two large-bore cannulas with extension tubing is important. Standard ASA monitoring is mandatory. An invasive arterial catheter is useful for beat-to-beat BP monitoring as well as for blood sampling.

22.8.3.3 Maintenance of Anesthesia

Like in surgical clipping, both total intravenous anesthesia and volatile anesthetics have been used. There is no clear superiority of one anesthetic technique over another. Anticoagulation is achieved using a loading dose of 60–80 units/kg heparin followed by either intermittent boluses or a continuous infusion to maintain activated clotting time (ACT) two to three times the baseline [72].

22.8.3.4 *Recovery and Extubation*

The course of recovery from anesthesia and the decision to extubate the trachea at the end of the procedure follows the same basic principles outlined in open surgical methods.

22.9 Conclusion

Intracranial aneurysms in children are rare. As there are very few studies in pediatric cerebral aneurysms, little is known about their pathogenesis, clinical grading, and treatment modalities. Most of the anesthetic practices have been simply extrapolated from evidences that are derived from adult literature. Even though the basic principles of neuroanesthesia and neurocritical care may remain the same, caution must be exercised when extrapolating such evidences. Large prospective studies in pediatric aneurysm surgeries are clearly warranted.

Conflict of Interest None declared for each author.

References

- Jordan LC, Johnston SC, Wu YW, Sidney S, Fullerton HJ. The importance of cerebral aneurysms in childhood hemorrhagic stroke: a population-based study. Stroke. 2009;40:400–5.
- Hetts SW, Narvid J, Sanai N, Lawton MT, Gupta N, Fullerton HJ, Dowd CF, Higashida RT, Halbach VV. Intracranial aneurysms in childhood: 27-year single-institution experience. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2009;30:1315–24.
- Goia A, Garrido E, Lefebvre M, Langlois O, Derrey S, Papagiannaki C, Gilard V. Ruptured intracranial aneurysm in a neonate: case report and review of the literature. World Neurosurg. 2020;140:219–23.
- Mohotti JE, Carter NS, Zhang VJW, Lai LT, Xenos C, Asadi H, Chandra RV. Neonatal intracranial aneurysms: case report and review of the literature. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;21:471–7.
- Garg K, Singh PK, Sharma BS, Chandra PS, Suri A, Singh M, Kumar R, Kale SS, Mishra NK, Gaikwad SK, Mahapatra AK. Pediatric intracranial aneurysms—our experience and review of literature. Childs Nerv Syst. 2014;30:873–83.
- Roche JL, Choux M, Czorny A, Dhellemmes P, Fast M, Frerebeau P, Lapras C, Sautreaux JL. [intracranial arterial aneurysm in children. A cooperative study. Apropos of 43 cases]. Neuro-Chirurgie. 1988;34:243–51.
- Brook-Carter PT, Peral B, Ward CJ, Thompson P, Hughes J, Maheshwar MM, Nellist M, Gamble V, Harris PC, Sampson JR. Deletion of the tsc2 and pkd1 genes associated with severe infantile polycystic kidney disease—a contiguous gene syndrome. Nat Genet. 1994;8:328–32.
- Halvorson CR, Bremmer MS, Jacobs SC. Polycystic kidney disease: inheritance, pathophysiology, prognosis, and treatment. Int J Nephrol Renov Dis. 2010;3:69–83.
- North KN, Whiteman DA, Pepin MG, Byers PH. Cerebrovascular complications in ehlers-danlos syndrome type iv. Ann Neurol. 1995;38:960–4.
- Oyesiku NM, Barrow DL, Eckman JR, Tindall SC, Colohan AR. Intracranial aneurysms in sicklecell anemia: clinical features and pathogenesis. J Neurosurg. 1991;75:356–63.

- 11. Donti A, Spinardi L, Brighenti M, Faccioli L, Leoni C, Fabi M, Trossello MP, Gargiulo GD, Bonvicini M. Frequency of intracranial aneurysms determined by magnetic resonance angiography in children (mean age 16) having operative or endovascular treatment of coarctation of the aorta (mean age 3). Am J Cardiol. 2015;116:630–3.
- Sanai N, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gupta NM, Perry V, Sun PP, Wilson CB, Lawton MT. Pediatric intracranial aneurysms: durability of treatment following microsurgical and endovascular management. J Neurosurg. 2006;104:82–9.
- Gemmete JJ, Toma AK, Davagnanam I, Robertson F, Brew S. Pediatric cerebral aneurysms. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2013;23:771–9.
- Mehrotra A, Nair AP, Das KK, Srivastava A, Sahu RN, Kumar R. Clinical and radiological profiles and outcomes in pediatric patients with intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10:340–6.
- Jian Z, Yang Z, Smerin D, Xiong X. Intracranial giant aneurysms in children and adolescents misdiagnosed as intracranial tumors before operation: 2 cases report. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2018;11:6268–75.
- 16. Villablanca JP, Jahan R, Hooshi P, Lim S, Duckwiler G, Patel A, Sayre J, Martin N, Frazee J, Bentson J, Vinuela F. Detection and characterization of very small cerebral aneurysms by using 2d and 3d helical ct angiography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2002;23:1187–98.
- Botterell EH, Lougheed WM, Scott JW, Vandewater SL. Hypothermia, and interruption of carotid, or carotid and vertebral circulation, in the surgical management of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 1956;13:1–42.
- Hunt WE, Hess RM. Surgical risk as related to time of intervention in the repair of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 1968;28:14–20.
- Hunt WE, Kosnik EJ. Timing and perioperative care in intracranial aneurysm surgery. Clin Neurosurg. 1974;21:79–89.
- Drake CG, Hunt WE, Sano K, Kassell N, Teasdale G, Pertuiset B, et al. Report of World Federation of Neurological Surgeons Committee on a Universal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Grading Scale. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:985–6.
- Sano H, Satoh A, Murayama Y, Kato Y, Origasa H, Inamasu J, Nouri M, Cherian I, Saito N. Modified world federation of neurosurgical societies subarachnoid hemorrhage grading system. World Neurosurg. 2015;83:801–7.
- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM. Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. Neurosurgery. 1980;6:1–9.
- Frontera JA, Claassen J, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Temes R, Connolly ES Jr, MacDonald RL, Mayer SA. Prediction of symptomatic vasospasm after sub-

arachnoid hemorrhage: the modified fisher scale. Neurosurgery. 2006;59:21–7.

- Vaid VK, Kumar R, Kalra SK, Mahapatra AK, Jain VK. Pediatric intracranial aneurysms: an institutional experience. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2008;44:296–301.
- Proust F, Toussaint P, Garnieri J, Hannequin D, Legars D, Houtteville JP, Freger P. Pediatric cerebral aneurysms. J Neurosurg. 2001;94:733–9.
- 26. Storrs BB, Humphreys RP, Hendrick EB, Hoffman HJ. Intracranial aneurysms in the pediatric age-group. Childs Brain. 1982;9:358–61.
- Hillman J, Fridriksson S, Nilsson O, Yu Z, Saveland H, Jakobsson KE. Immediate administration of tranexamic acid and reduced incidence of early rebleeding after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective randomized study. J Neurosurg. 2002;97:771–8.
- Fodstad H, Forssell A, Liliequist B, Schannong M. Antifibrinolysis with tranexamic acid in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a consecutive controlled clinical trial. Neurosurgery. 1981;8:158–65.
- Baharoglu MI, Germans MR, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Roos YB. Antifibrinolytic therapy for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;2013:Cd001245.
- Lasjaunias P, Wuppalapati S, Alvarez H, Rodesch G, Ozanne A. Intracranial aneurysms in children aged under 15 years: review of 59 consecutive children with 75 aneurysms. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21:437–50.
- Aryan HE, Giannotta SL, Fukushima T, Park MS, Ozgur BM, Levy ML. Aneurysms in children: review of 15 years experience. J Clin Neurosci. 2006;13:188–92.
- Huang J, McGirt MJ, Gailloud P, Tamargo RJ. Intracranial aneurysms in the pediatric population: case series and literature review. Surg Neurol. 2005;63:424–32.
- Beez T, Steiger HJ, Hanggi D. Evolution of management of intracranial aneurysms in children: a systematic review of the modern literature. J Child Neurol. 2016;31:773–83.
- Suzuki J, Kodama N. Moyamoya disease—a review. Stroke. 1983;14:104–9.
- Udomphorn Y, Armstead WM, Vavilala MS. Cerebral blood flow and autoregulation after pediatric traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Neurol. 2008;38:225–34.
- 36. Lennihan L, Mayer SA, Fink ME, Beckford A, Paik MC, Zhang H, Wu YC, Klebanoff LM, Raps EC, Solomon RA. Effect of hypervolemic therapy on cerebral blood flow after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke. 2000;31:383–91.
- Sen J, Belli A, Albon H, Morgan L, Petzold A, Kitchen N. Triple-h therapy in the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet Neurol. 2003;2:614–21.
- Egge A, Waterloo K, Sjoholm H, Solberg T, Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B. Prophylactic hyperdynamic postoperative fluid therapy after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a clinical, prospective, randomized, controlled study. Neurosurgery. 2001;49:593–605.

- Heffren J, McIntosh AM, Reiter PD. Nimodipine for the prevention of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in 12 children. Pediatr Neurol. 2015;52:356–60.
- 40. Wong GK, Poon WS, Chan MT, Boet R, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee BC. Intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (imash): a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase iii trial. Stroke. 2010;41:921–6.
- 41. Westermaier T, Stetter C, Vince GH, Pham M, Tejon JP, Eriskat J, Kunze E, Matthies C, Ernestus RI, Solymosi L, Roosen K. Prophylactic intravenous magnesium sulfate for treatment of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical study. Crit Care Med. 2010;38:1284–90.
- 42. Wong GK, Boet R, Poon WS, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee BC. Intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated systemic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2011;15:R52.
- 43. Povlsen GK, Edvinsson L. Mek1/2 inhibitor u0126 but not endothelin receptor antagonist clazosentan reduces upregulation of cerebrovascular contractile receptors and delayed cerebral ischemia, and improves outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2015;35:329–37.
- 44. Laban KG, Vergouwen MD, Dijkhuizen RM, Sena ES, Macleod MR, Rinkel GJ, van der Worp HB. Effect of endothelin receptor antagonists on clinically relevant outcomes after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2015;35:1085–9.
- 45. Ma J, Huang S, Ma L, Liu Y, Li H, You C. Endothelinreceptor antagonists for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Crit Care. 2012;16:R198.
- Vergouwen MD, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Endothelin receptor antagonists for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis update. Stroke. 2012;43:2671–6.
- 47. Su SH, Xu W, Hai J, Wu YF, Yu F. Effects of statinsuse for patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Sci Rep. 2014;4:4573.
- Al-Jarallah A, Al-Rifai MT, Riela AR, Roach ES. Nontraumatic brain hemorrhage in children: etiology and presentation. J Child Neurol. 2000;15:284–9.
- 49. Connolly ES Jr, Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, Hoh BL, Kirkness CJ, Naidech AM, Ogilvy CS, Patel AB, Thompson BG, Vespa P. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. Stroke. 2012;43:1711–37.
- Bisson DA, Dirks P, Amirabadi A, Shroff MM, Krings T, Pereira VM, Muthusami P. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms in children: 18 years' experience in a tertiary care pediatric institution. J Neurosurg. 2019:1–6.

- Amelot A, Saliou G, Benichi S, Alias Q, Boulouis G, Zerah M, Aghakhani N, Ozanne A, Blauwblomme T, Naggara O. Long-term outcomes of cerebral aneurysms in children. Pediatrics. 2019;143
- 52. Stiefel MF, Heuer GG, Basil AK, Weigele JB, Sutton LN, Hurst RW, Storm PB. Endovascular and surgical treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms in pediatric patients. Neurosurgery. 2008;63:859–65.
- 53. Yasin JT, Wallace AN, Madaelil TP, Osbun JW, Moran CJ, Cross DT, Limbrick DD, Zipfel GJ, Dacey RG, Kansagra AP. Treatment of pediatric intracranial aneurysms: case series and meta-analysis. J Neurointerv Surgery. 2019;11:257–64.
- 54. Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Yu LM, Clarke M, Sneade M, Yarnold JA, Sandercock P. International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (isat) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups, and aneurysm occlusion. Lancet. 2005;366:809–17.
- 55. Molyneux AJ, Birks J, Clarke A, Sneade M, Kerr RS. The durability of endovascular coiling versus neurosurgical clipping of ruptured cerebral aneurysms: 18 year follow-up of the uk cohort of the international subarachnoid aneurysm trial (isat). Lancet. 2015;385:691–7.
- 56. Ogilvy CS, Carter BS, Kaplan S, Rich C, Crowell RM. Temporary vessel occlusion for aneurysm surgery: risk factors for stroke in patients protected by induced hypothermia and hypertension and intravenous mannitol administration. J Neurosurg. 1996;84:785–91.
- Lavine SD, Masri LS, Levy ML, Giannotta SL. Temporary occlusion of the middle cerebral artery in intracranial aneurysm surgery: time limitation and advantage of brain protection. J Neurosurg. 1997;87:817–24.
- Galvin IM, Levy R, Boyd JG, Day AG, Wallace MC. Cooling for cerebral protection during brain surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;1:Cd006638.
- Raghava A, Bidkar PU, Prakash MV, Hemavathy B. Comparison of equiosmolar concentrations of hypertonic saline and mannitol for intraoperative lax brain in patients undergoing craniotomy. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6:73.
- Gemma M, Cozzi S, Tommasino C, Mungo M, Calvi MR, Cipriani A, Garancini MP. 7.5% hypertonic saline versus 20% mannitol during elective neurosurgical supratentorial procedures. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1997;9:329–34.
- 61. Erard AC, Walder B, Ravussin P. [effects of equiosmolar load of 20% mannitol, 7.5% saline and 0.9% saline on plasma osmolarity, haemodynamics and plasma concentrations of electrolytes]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2003;22:18–24.
- 62. Rozet I, Tontisirin N, Muangman S, Vavilala MS, Souter MJ, Lee LA, Kincaid MS, Britz GW, Lam AM. Effect of equiosmolar solutions of mannitol versus hypertonic saline on intraoperative brain

relaxation and electrolyte balance. Anesthesiology. 2007;107:697-704.

- 63. Nguyen HP, Zaroff JG, Bayman EO, Gelb AW, Todd MM, Hindman BJ. Perioperative hypothermia (33 degrees c) does not increase the occurrence of cardiovascular events in patients undergoing cerebral aneurysm surgery: findings from the intraoperative hypothermia for aneurysm surgery trial. Anesthesiology. 2010;113:327–42.
- 64. Ma CY, Shi JX, Wang HD, Hang CH, Cheng HL, Wu W. Intraoperative indocyanine green angiography in intracranial aneurysm surgery: microsurgical clipping and revascularization. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2009;111:840–6.
- 65. Esposito C, Del Conte F, Cerulo M, Gargiulo F, Izzo S, Esposito G, Spagnuolo MI, Escolino M. Clinical application and technical standardization of indocyanine green fluorescence imaging in pediatric minimally invasive surgery. Pediatr Surg Int. 2019;35:1043–50.
- 66. White PM, Lewis SC, Gholkar A, Sellar RJ, Nahser H, Cognard C, Forrester L, Wardlaw JM. Hydrogelcoated coils versus bare platinum coils for the endovascular treatment of intracranial aneurysms (helps): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2011;377:1655–62.
- 67. Molyneux AJ, Clarke A, Sneade M, Mehta Z, Coley S, Roy D, Kallmes DF, Fox AJ. Cerecyte coil trial:

angiographic outcomes of a prospective randomized trial comparing endovascular coiling of cerebral aneurysms with either cerecyte or bare platinum coils. Stroke. 2012;43:2544–50.

- Agid R, Souza MP, Reintamm G, Armstrong D, Dirks P, TerBrugge KG. The role of endovascular treatment for pediatric aneurysms. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21:1030–6.
- Lasjaunias PL, Campi A, Rodesch G, Alvarez H, Kanaan I, Taylor W. Aneurysmal disease in children. Review of 20 cases with intracranial arterial localisations. Interv Neuroradiol. 1997;3:215–29.
- Alawi A, Edgell RC, Elbabaa SK, Callison RC, Khalili YA, Allam H, Alshekhlee A. Treatment of cerebral aneurysms in children: analysis of the kids' inpatient database. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;14:23–30.
- Garg M, Shambanduram S, Singh PK, Sebastian LJD, Sawarkar DP, Kumar A, Gaikwad S, Chandra PS, Kale SS. Management of pediatric posterior circulation aneurysms-12-year single-institution experience. World Neurosurg. 2018;116:e624–e33.
- De Sloovere VT. Anesthesia for embolization of cerebral aneurysms. Curr Opin Anesthesiol. 2014;27:431–6.
- Lv X, Jiang C, Li Y, Yang X, Wu Z. Endovascular treatment for pediatric intracranial aneurysms. Neuroradiology. 2009;51:749–54.



Anesthetic Management of Vein of Galen Malformations

23

Jayanth R Seshan and Girija Prasad Rath 💿

Key Points

- True vein of Galen malformations are fistulous communications in the cerebral midline resulting in high-flow shunts and present as high-output cardiac failure in neonates.
- The advent of modern endovascular embolization techniques has drastically reduced mortality and improved neurological outcomes.
- Medical management of cardiac failure takes priority over definitive treatment, but emergency endovascular embolization may be carried out in a neonate with cardiac failure refractory to medical management.
- Anesthetic challenges in managing this group of children involve age-related considerations, difficult airway primarily due to increased head circumference, possible hemodynamic instability during the course of anesthesia, and requirement of postoperative ventilation.
- In neonates posted for emergency embolization, additional anesthetic considerations include difficulty in securing intravenous and invasive arterial lines, dyselectrolytemia (diuretics, digoxin, acidosis), maintenance of adequate systemic perfusion to prevent volume overload and worsening of heart failure

and prevent hypoperfusion and worsening of renal injury (contrast and drug-induced).

23.1 Introduction

Vein of Galen malformations (VOGMs) are rare congenital anomalies that constitute 1% of all intracranial vascular malformations and represent 30% of vascular malformations in the pediatric population [1]. The anomaly was mentioned initially by Steinheil (1895); however, the first clinical description of a vein of Galen aneurysm was given by Jaeger et al. (1937) [2]. Variably referred to as "aneurysms of the vein of Galen," "arteriovenous aneurysms of the vein of Galen," "vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations," and "vein of Galen malformations," true VOGMs are actually persistence of the embryonic median prosencephalic vein and not the vein of Galen. The incidence of this condition in the population is 1:25,000 with a male preponderance (3:1) [3]. Left untreated, the mortality rate is almost 100% and with high morbidity in the form of cardiac failure and long-term neurodevelopmental delay [4].

J. R. Seshan · G. P. Rath (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_23

23.2 Anatomy and Embryology of VOGM

The normal vein of Galen, or the great cerebral vein, is a part of the deep venous system of the brain. It is a short (1-2 cm) thick vein located behind the splenium of the corpus callosum in the midline. It courses posteriorly where it joins the inferior sagittal sinus to form the straight sinus that ultimately drains into the confluence of sinuses (torcular Herophili) [5].

Vein of Galen arteriovenous malformations are congenital abnormal communications between arterial feeders and draining veins located in the midline in the choroidal fissure. The feeding arteries include the anterior and posterior choroidal arteries and the anterior cerebral artery, supplying the choroid plexus. Venous drainage is through the median prosencephalic vein (MPV) of Markowski, which is the embryonic precursor of the vein of Galen (Fig. 23.1) [2].

The development of cerebral vasculature can be divided into three stages, initial extra embryonal stage, extrinsic vascularization (around the neural tubes), and intrinsic vascularization, where blood vessels develop within the cerebral parenchyma. Between 6 and 11 weeks of gestation, the cortical arterial network develops from the internal carotid artery. The venous drainage of the brain at this stage is through the median prosencephalic vein, which develops in the root of the diencephalon. Except for its most distal part, regression of this vein occurs at around 11 weeks of gestation when the newly formed internal cerebral veins take over the venous drainage. The distal part of the median prosencephalic vein joins the internal cerebral vein, and the paired internal cerebral veins join to form the great vein of Galen [2].

Any abnormality in the development of cerebral vasculature during this phase between 6 and 11 weeks of gestation results in direct arteriovenous communication between the arterial network and median prosencephalic vein. The lack of a fibrous wall and its presence unsupported in the cistern of velum allows the vein to expand and balloon out as the flow increases preventing its regression [6]. The falcine sinus (connecting straight sinus and superior sagittal sinus), which usually disappears beyond the fetal stage, may continue to persist. Straight sinus may be absent.



Fig. 23.1 Schematic diagram showing the development of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation with its feeders. (a) The median prosencephalic vein (MPV) drains into the straight sinus (SS) and further into the torcula (T). Normal anastomosis exists between the pericallosal and the distal branches of the posterior cerebral artery (PCA).

(b) Enlarged and malformed MPV with arterial feeders from pericallosal and posterior choroidal arteries (PChA) draining into an accessory torcula (AT) through a persistent embryonic falcine sinus (FS) and a possible stenotic straight sinus (SS)

23.3 Pathophysiology

Cardiovascular: VOGM is characterized by a low-resistance and high-flow shunt. Changes in cardiovascular physiology and blood flow patterns between fetal circulation and postnatal life determine the pathophysiology of this condition. During fetal life, the low-resistance placental circulation prevents higher shunt fraction across the VOGM. But, changes in vascular resistance in the postnatal period results in a sudden and progressive increase in blood flow through the cranial shunt. It is estimated that around 80% of cardiac output flows through the VOGM, which results in increased venous return and pulmonary overload (pulmonary hypertension), and cardiac failure. Cyanosis may result due to increased right-sided pressures and a right-to-left shunt through the ductus arteriosus and the patent foramen ovale [7].

Secondly, the large arteriovenous shunt causes wide pulse pressure, and the resistance across the shunt may be so low that it can cause a reduced or retrograde flow in the aorta during diastole, which results in reduced coronary perfusion and increases the risk of myocardial ischemia and hence cardiac failure. Thus, cardiac failure may be multifactorial and be refractory to medical management [8]. Aortic flow reversal may also lead to renal hypoperfusion and injury.

Neurological: Immaturity of the cerebral venous system is the major pathophysiological factor in VOGM. Cerebral venous hypertension results from the large amount of blood flowing through it due to the VOGM. Structural defects like an immature deep cerebral venous system, absent sinuses including the straight sinus, and jugular bulb stenosis might result in aggravation of the cerebral venous pressure. Also, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) reabsorption in the neonate occurs through the ventricular ependyma and brain parenchyma into the medullary veins as the arachnoid granulations do not mature until 16-18 months of age. The increased venous pressure in the brain in VOGM is reflected in the cortical and medullary veins impairing CSF reabsorption and results in hydrocephalus [9].

Together, cerebral venous hypertension and hydrocephalus lead to impaired cerebral oxygenation, edema, and subependymal atrophy. The most severe form of this cerebral atrophy is called *melting brain syndrome* [10, 11].

23.4 Clinical Manifestations

The clinical features are mainly cardiac and neurological. Age and severity of presentation may vary based on the shunt size (Table 23.1). The presentation in neonates varies from asymptom-

| | Age at diagnosis | | | |
|--------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|
| Parameter | Prenatal | Neonate | Infant | Older child |
| Clinical presentation | Incidental diagnosis | Heart failure (left-to-right shunt causing volume overload on the heart) | Macrocephaly and hydrocephalus | Headaches, developmental delay, hydrocephalus |
| Angiographic type | | Choroidal | Mural > choroidal | Mural |
| Severity | Melting brain detected on fetal MRI detects poor prognosis | Most severe forms in this age group. Mortality increases with delay in diagnosis or prompt treatment of heart failure | Less severe. Heart failure controlled with medications and presenting for elective embolization | Usually mild. Developmental delay may persist |
| Management | Facilitate the delivery of a child at a tertiary care center equipped to manage the condition | Medical management of heart failure. Emergency embolization of feeders to reduce the shunt fraction | Elective embolization | Elective embolization |

 Table 23.1
 Differences in vein of Galen malformation based on age of presentation [17–19]

atic cardiomegaly to refractory cardiac failure. Common initial presentation in a neonate is that of the rapid deterioration of an initially unremarkable postnatal period; there is worsening of cardiac failure presenting with severe respiratory distress and usually requiring mechanical ventilation. Signs include prominent carotid pulsation and weak peripheral pulses, acrocyanosis, coarse breath sounds over both lung fields, ejection systolic murmur heard over the precordium, a continuous carotid bruit, and a soft cranial bruit (heard better over the posterior cranium) based on the shunt fraction and severity of heart failure [12, 13]. Unless promptly detected and managed, multiorgan failure may ensue. Other forms of presentation include mild cardiac failure and failure to thrive. Neurological features include seizures and macrocephaly secondary to hydrocephalus. Older children generally present with milder symptoms, which include those of venous outflow obstruction like increased head size and prominent facial veins. Initial presentation in adulthood is extremely rare but has been reported. Presenting features include headaches (SAH), focal deficits, and even incidental diagnosis [14-16].

23.5 Diagnosis

The presentation of a high-output cardiac failure in a neonate with normal cardiac anatomy on a transthoracic echocardiogram should prompt the clinician to look for a high-flow extracardiac vascular shunt in the form of a VOGM. Various investigative modalities are available for the diagnosis:

• *Prenatal ultrasound* occasionally detects the VOGM as a midline pulsatile hypoechoic lesion during the third trimester of pregnancy (28–34 weeks of gestation). Confirmation of the diagnosis is obtained with a color flow Doppler. The major significance of prenatal diagnosis is to assess the extent of the cerebral damage, to plan delivery and treatment of the lesion at a center equipped with appropriate specialties [20]. Fetal echocardiogram and



Fig. 23.2 Antenatal T2 MRI sagittal view showing a hypointense enlarged sac near the floor of the third ventricle communicating with the torcula suggestive of the vein of Galen malformation (arrowheads: red, VOGM; blue, falcine sinus; yellow, torcula)

antenatal MRI (Fig. 23.2) reveal the extent of cardiomegaly and neurological damage, respectively, which helps decide an appropriate further plan of management, including termination of pregnancy (abortion) [21–23].

- *Trans-fontanelle ultrasound* is done in a neonate with cardiac failure and an unremarkable thoracic echocardiogram.
- Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT)/magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is usually the initial mode of evaluation. MR angiography (MRA) helps assess the type of lesion, presence of a nidus, venous drainage, and thrombosis, if any, and determine the number and the nature of arterial feeders. Imaging also reveals other features like hydrocephalus, the extent of cerebral atrophy, and calcifications and helps plan treatment appropriately (Fig. 23.3). Susceptibilityweighted imaging (SWI) is a recent MRI technique which allows for high-resolution imaging of the cerebrovascular architecture without the requirement of intravenous contrast administration, making it more useful in this group of patients with a higher risk



Fig. 23.3 (a) Non-contrast axial CT scan of the head preembolization showing dilated venous sac (black arrow) near the floor of the third ventricle with communication with the torcula (red arrow) and no significant evidence of

of renal injury (prematurity, multiorgan dysfunction, and multiple procedures requiring contrast agents—MRI, DSA). It also assesses the extent of cortical venous congestion, which is an indicator of cerebral parenchymal damage [24].

 Digital subtraction angiography (DSA) is the gold standard for the diagnosis of VOGM. It is best done at the time of embolization considering the risk of high doses of contrast dyes required for CT/MRI and DSA and the subsequent risk of renal damage and preventing the need for multiple anesthesia exposures in a neonate (Fig. 23.4). brain parenchymal damage or calcifications. (b) Axial, sagittal, and coronal non-contrast CT showing obliteration of the venous sac post-embolization with glue cast (hyperdensity indicated by yellow arrows)

23.6 Differential Diagnosis

The differential diagnosis of a midline hypoechoic lesion in the brain on ultrasonographic evaluation should include arachnoid cysts, porencephaly, and choroid plexus cysts. They can present with hydrocephalus, seizures, and neurodevelopmental delay, but the presence of cardiac failure effectively rules out their diagnosis. Even in the absence of cardiac manifestations, a simple demonstration of blood flow in the lesion with a color flow Doppler is sufficient [25, 26]. Further, true vein of Galen malformation has to be differentiated from a varix and an ectasia:



Fig. 23.4 Left vertebral angiogram: frontal (**a**) and lateral (**b**) projections showing mural-type vein of Galen malformation supplied by feeders from posterior choroi-

dal arteries (blue arrowheads). (c, d) Post-glue embolization showing obliteration of the venous sac

• Vein of Galen varix represents a dilated vein of Galen without any arteriovenous shunt [17]. Neonates present with rightsided cardiac failure due to hypoxia and pulmonary hypertension. Treatment of cardiac failure generally results in the resolution of varix without the need for operative intervention [27].

 Vein of Galen ectasia (dilatation): It occurs due to an outflow obstruction. The dilated vein usually drains an aneurysm in the subarachnoid space and the adjacent parenchyma. It usually presents later in childhood with delayed psychomotor development, intracranial hemorrhages, or focal deficits depending on the degree of stenosis or thrombosis of the vein. Clinical presentation in the neonatal period is rare. Seizures and heart failure are also uncommon [28, 29].

23.7 Classification VOGM

Multiple classification systems have been proposed in the past, based on the angiographic appearance of the vessels. The most commonly used is the system proposed by Lasjaunias, which classifies the malformations into two types: choroidal and mural [30].

Choroidal type is characterized by the location of the fistula at the anterior end of the median prosencephalic vein and mural type by the fistula on the wall of the median prosencephalic vein, mostly on the inferolateral margin. The major difference between the two types is the nature of the feeding vessels. Multiple feeders in choroidaltype VOGM give the appearance of an arterial maze in contrast to the fewer feeders in mural type, which makes embolization relatively less complicated. Mural-type VOGM also presents with lesser degrees of heart failure [31].

23.8 Medical Management

Treatment of VOGM consists of initial medical management and stabilization of heart failure in the neonates before proceeding with endovascular intervention. Optimal heart failure management includes reducing pulmonary hypertension, facilitation of adequate perfusion to vital organs, and prevention of multiorgan dysfunction. Betaadrenergic agonists (dopamine, dobutamine, adrenaline) commonly used for heart failure results in tachyarrhythmias, which can further reduce diastolic coronary perfusion and potentiate the risk of myocardial ischemia [32]. The improvement in cardiac contractility expected with these drugs may not be significant due to right ventricular dilatation. The addition of arterial vasodilators such as sodium nitroprusside (SNP) 1–5 µg/kg/min, glyceryl trinitrate (GTN) $1-5 \mu g/kg/min$, or milrinone (0.75 $\mu g/kg/min$) to low-dose dopamine (<10 µg/kg/min) produces considerable improvement in systemic perfusion and reduces metabolic acidosis. Milrinone, in particular, reduces both systemic and pulmonary vascular resistances. Hence, it favors forward flow into the systemic circulation and reduces the afterload on the failing right ventricle, respectively [33]. It also plays a significant role in preventing neurological damage by stabilizing hemodynamic parameters in the intraoperative period and preventing cerebral hyperemia in the immediate postoperative period. Once acute heart failure is resolved, maintenance therapy with a combination of digoxin and diuretics may be initiated. Although digoxin continues to be a part of the treatment for chronic heart failure, its role in offering mortality benefits has been questioned by recent trials [34, 35]. As a general rule, diuretics and varying doses of inotropic support may be initiated in mild to moderate cardiac failure without cyanosis for initial stabilization.

23.8.1 Management of Pulmonary Hypertension [36–40]

The development of pulmonary hypertension leads to severe hypoxemia, respiratory distress, and cyanosis. An increase of pulmonary artery pressures to supra-systemic levels can occur, leading to the development of a right-to-left shunt through the patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) or an arterial septal defect (ASD). Knowledge of management of such cases posted for emergency embolization is of prime importance to the neuroanesthesiologist:

- The medications are usually continued in the perioperative period and may result in exaggerated effects of anesthetic agents.
- 2. Optimization of ventilatory strategies.
- Perioperative events causing hypoxia, hypercarbia, or acidosis can further aggravate the pulmonary vascular resistance and pose difficulties in management.

Initial management of pulmonary hypertension is oxygen therapy (pulmonary vasodilator), the delivery of which depends on the severity. Usually, these neonates are intubated and mechanically ventilated with high oxygen requirements. General management includes maintenance of normothermia, normoglycemia, correction of dyselectrolytemia (neonates are prone to hypocalcemia) and adequate intravascular volume, and initiation of inotropic support.

Conventional volume-targeted mode of ventilation with low peak inspiratory pressures (PIP) and optimal positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) to maintain normocarbia (PaCO₂: 40–45 mmHg) or mild permissive hypercarbia (PaCO₂ up to 60 mmHg) is preferred. The target is to correct hypoxia, recruit alveoli, and also prevent ventilator-induced lung injury. Ventilator dyssynchrony increases the work of breathing, and hence the neonates should be adequately sedated, preferably with fentanyl (1 μ g/kg/h), considering its hemodynamic stability.

Pharmacotherapy includes the use of inhaled nitric oxide (iNO) at a dose of 20 parts per million (ppm). iNO is a selective pulmonary vasodilator with little effect on systemic circulation. Once initiated, the effect is observed as early as 30 min, noted by an increase in PaO₂. Phosphodiesterase (PDE) inhibitors milrinone (PDE-3) and sildenafil (PDE-5) can be used as additional therapy or as alternatives to iNO. SNP and GTN can also be used as both are NO donors and cause systemic as well as pulmonary vasodilatation.

It is recommended to maintain the patency of ductus arteriosus in this condition to allow for systemic circulation (and counter for significant diastolic steal phenomenon) by using prostaglandin infusions (PGE1 or PGE2).

23.9 Definitive Treatment

The major goal of treatment of VOGM is to prevent neurodevelopmental delay that occurs as a consequence of cerebral venous hypertension. The definitive treatment for the obliteration of the VOGM is carried out once heart failure is managed initially on presentation. Treatment options available include endovascular embolization, surgery, and stereotactic radiotherapy (Table 23.2). Surgery is associated with extremely high mortality and morbidity. Radiotherapy is less effective compared to surgery and endovascular therapy.

| | Endovascular | Microsurgery | Gamma knife |
|-----------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Preference | Almost all treatable cases undergo embolization | Obsolete (with the advent of modern endovascular methods) | Done only in atypical presentation or secondary to failure of endovascular treatment |
| Success rates (clinical outcomes) | Up to 75% | 10–15% | 40–50% |
| Advantages | Immediate relief It can be done as an emergency procedure even in patients with severe heart failure Less invasive and hence less morbidity | 1. Complete occlusion and immediate relief albeit in a relatively stable (some amount of neurological/cardiac compromise) patient after the failure of embolization | 1. Cure rates similar to or even better than microsurgery |
| Disadvantages | Technical difficulties in the neonate Complications related to embolic materials: dislodgement, hemorrhage, etc. | A high rate of complications: massive blood loss, cardiac arrest The requirement of hypotension, deep hypothermia Complications related to positioning—sitting position | No immediate relief Done only in the simplest angioarchitecture Theoretical concerns of tumors post-radiation |

Table 23.2 Comparison of treatment options for the vein of Galen malformation [41–44]

23.9.1 Endovascular Embolization

Endovascular embolization of the feeder vessels is a safe treatment option with superior results. It is usually performed at around 5 months of life as the procedure may be difficult in the neonatal period, where medical management of heart failure takes precedence [3, 45]. In cases of heart failure refractory to medical therapy, emergency embolization may be performed in the neonatal age group to reduce the shunt fraction and not majorly focus on complete obliteration of the malformation [9].

The decision about emergency embolization may be considered based on the Bicetre score, a 21-point scale that assesses cardiac, respiratory, neurological, hepatic, and renal functions [46, 47]. The system involvement is graded from normal (score 5) to derangements resistant to medical management such as refractory cardiac failure, permanent neurological deficit, hypoxia despite mechanical ventilation, coagulopathy with deranged liver enzymes, and anuria (score 0). A score of more than 12 indicates wellpreserved major organ function, and ideal treatment in such cases would be to delay embolization until 5 months of age. A score of 8-12 indicates worsening function and is an indication for emergency embolization. A score of less than 8 indicates a poor prognosis.

23.9.1.1 Route of Embolization

Trans-arterial, transvenous, and transtorcular approaches have been described. The transtorcular route, previously believed to yield better results, has now been replaced by the arterial route, which is safer and yields better results even with embolization of limited feeders rather than complete occlusion [28, 48]. Access is usually established through the femoral artery. In neonates, the umbilical artery can also be cannulated for the procedure (up to the third day of life). It is essential to preserve this artery, especially in cases where the prenatal diagnosis has been established [49]. The transvenous route is associated with complications like hemolysis due to flow through a partially occluded feeder and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) [50, 51].

23.9.1.2 Embolic Agents

Liquid acrylic agents (n-butyl cyanoacrylate) and coils are used for embolization. Liquid agents have the advantage of being able to be injected through the microcatheter into the tortuous circulation of the neonate and the infant. The advantages are a better chance of permanent occlusion and a reduced procedure time, which is crucial in these patients. Coils, used currently, are replacing the liquid agents as they can be better maneuvered to the exact location of the malformation. There is a reduced risk of distal migration with coils. Even if it occurs, coils can be retrieved easily, unlike the liquid agents [28]. Recently, Onyx glue has been used in the endovascular embolization of cerebral AVMs, including VOGM. It is a non-adhesive slow-polymerizing agent composed of a mixture of ethylene-vinyl alcohol (EVOH) in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). When placed, the occlusion of flow is achieved, not by thrombosis but by the mechanical obstruction, further reducing the risk of distal migration [52]. The injection of this agent is also better controlled compared to other agents.

23.9.2 Stereotactic Radiosurgery

Different types of radiation—gamma knife, linear accelerator, and proton beam—have been used to treat cerebral arteriovenous malformations, the main mechanism being radiationinduced intimal injury. The role of stereotactic radiotherapy is currently restricted to cases with atypical presentation and those not amenable to endovascular therapy [41, 53, 54]. The disadvantages include a longer duration of treatment required, typically months or years.

23.10 Anesthetic Considerations in Vein of Galen Malformations

The anesthetic goals in VOGM are similar to other neurosurgical procedures, such as avoidance of increase in intracranial pressure (ICP), maintenance of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), and cerebral oxygenation. The induction and maintenance of anesthesia should be done carefully while preventing hypotension or desaturation. The anesthetic concerns for a neonate or child posted for embolization of VOGM and preparedness are mentioned in Table 23.3.

23.10.1 Preoperative Evaluation

A complete preoperative evaluation should be carried out in a neonate/child being posted electively to embolize VOGM. This includes eliciting an appropriate history of events from the postnatal period, including heart failure and management. Records should be sought for which may reveal evidence of multiorgan dysfunction. The child may continue to be on anti-failure medications and anti-seizure prophylaxis; details of such medications should be noted. The systemic examination should be carried out to evaluate the current status of cardiac function and identify signs of heart failure if any. Neurological examination should focus on documentation of focal deficits. The presence of macrocephaly is an indicator of a potentially difficult airway and requires proper head positioning during the anesthetic induction.

Investigations to be sought include hemoglobin levels to assess for anemia and coagulation profile to rule out possible hepatic dysfunction related to cardiac failure. Failure to thrive and recurrent infections due to malnourishment may be observed in these children, resulting in anemia, altered blood counts, and hypoproteinemia. Dyselectrolytemia may be evident following nausea and vomiting associated with hydrocephalus and raised ICP and diuretic use for cardiac failure management. Digoxin, if used, warrants caution **Table 23.3** Anesthetic concerns in children with the vein of Galen malformation

| Anesthetic concerns | Preparedness |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|
| Neonatal age: low | Strict weight-based fluid |
| weight, | calculations and |
| susceptibility to | administration, titration of |
| anesthetic drugs, | drugs to effect, forced air |
| and hypothermia | warmers, warming |
| Anticipation and | blankets, warm intravenous |
| management of | fluids |
| difficult airway: | Appropriate head |
| macrocephaly and | positioning, difficult |
| hydrocephalus | airway cart |
| Managing heart | Continue inotropic |
| failure | medications, maintain |
| perioperatively | hemodynamic stability, |
| Fluid management | and adequate depth of |
| and electrolyte | anesthesia, opioids, muscle |
| imbalance | relaxants |
| Considerations of | • Prevention of fluid |
| anesthesia in a | overload, maintaining |
| remote location | adequate perfusion, use of |
| Considerations in | diuretics if required, |
| interventional | frequent monitoring of |
| neuroradiology suite | ABG for electrolytes, |
| • Detection and | lactate, and blood sugar |
| management of | levels |
| intraoperative | • Equipment availability— |
| complications | oxygen, suction, |
| associated with the | resuscitation, denormator, |
| procedure | and monitoring. Personnel |
| | availability: reducing |
| | Dediction sofety |
| | • Radiation safety, |
| | anti-coaguiation and |
| | neversal, intravenous |
| | |
| | • Bradycardia blood loss |
| | and hemodynamic |
| | instability Close |
| | communication with |
| | neuroradiologist to detect |
| | and manage complications |
| | and munuge complications |

as co-administration with diuretics may cause hypokalemia and precipitate toxicity. It may also occur due to renal failure associated with multiorgan dysfunction or contrast-induced. Though not routinely recommended, a clinical suspicion or anticipation of critical events should warrant estimation of serum digoxin levels (normal therapeutic range: 0.8–2 ng/mL) [34]. Chest roentgenogram findings include cardiomegaly with pulmonary congestion (plethora), increased right atrial and right ventricular size, widening of the superior mediastinum, and anterior displacement of the upper airway. An electrocardiogram shows right axis deviation, right atrial enlargement, right ventricular hypertrophy, severe/fulminant heart failure, or biventricular hypertrophy [18, 58]. A transthoracic echocardiogram reveals important information for the neuroanesthesiologist, like associated congenital anomalies like septal defects and coarctation of aorta, and evidence of pulmonary hypertension. Both these lesions are hypothesized to be related to the blood flow characteristics and shunt flow related to VOGM. The common findings are dilatation of cardiac chambers suggestive of volume overload, elevated pulmonary artery pressures (pulmonary hypertension), tricuspid regurgitation, PDA, or an intracardiac right-to-left shunt [52]. The presence of a sinus venosus ASD increases the chances of paradoxical embolism, especially in the case of distal migration of liquid embolizing agent; it should be carefully considered [60].

23.10.2 Induction

The major anesthetic concerns of induction are hemodynamic responses associated with the use of pharmacological agents and those of laryngoscopy and intubation. Both inhalational and intravenous agents can be used for induction while attempting to maintain hemodynamic parameters within baseline levels. Opioids like fentanyl $(1-2 \ \mu g/kg)$ to prevent hemodynamic responses and non-depolarizing muscle relaxants to facilitate smooth endotracheal intubation are routinely used. Also of equal concern is the relatively short apnea time and possible hypoxia in this age group.

There may be difficulty securing IV lines in neonates posted for the emergency procedure due to the peripheral vasoconstriction secondary to heart failure and its pharmacological management. In such cases, it is prudent to opt for central venous cannulation, preferably under ultrasound guidance.

23.10.3 Monitoring

Apart from the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) standard monitors, namely, peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO_2) , non-invasive blood pressure, ECG, capnography (EtCO₂), and temperature, all the patients undergoing embolization should have invasive arterial blood pressure monitoring. Central venous cannulation might pose challenges due to a pulsatile venous column due to the high-flow shunt and a bright red appearance of blood due to a higher oxygen content secondary to the lower oxygen extraction in the brain [61]. Temperature monitoring, warm IV fluids, and forced-air warming blankets are essential for preventing hypothermia and its associated complications. Urine output monitoring is an indirect estimator of volume status and should be continued in the post-procedural period as there is a risk of contrast-induced renal injury. Furthermore, the child may be on diuretics, and the possible use of osmotic agents warrants urinary catheterization and monitoring in the periprocedural period.

23.10.4 Concerns During the Procedure

During the procedure, anesthesia is maintained with a balanced technique consisting of inhalational agents, opioids, and a non-depolarizing neuromuscular blocker to maintain immobility.

23.10.4.1 Fluid Management

Fluid management is challenging due to multiple factors. Little evidence is available regarding the optimal fluid therapy during the procedure, especially in neonates with VOGM and heart failure. Various concerns are discussed below:

 Neonates do not tolerate fluid overload in cardiac failure. The volume of contrast dye and arterial flush used during the procedure are major contributors to fluid overload. Although the literature suggests the use of up to 10 mL/kg body weight, it is advisable to restrict the usage of contrast to a maximum of 5 mL/kg (preferably iso-osmotic) to reduce the risk of volume overload and contrast-induced nephropathy [62–64]. At the same time, pre-procedural dehydration due to fasting status and diuretics might result in hypotension and possible cardiovascular collapse due to depressant effects of anesthetic agents; blood loss due to any cause may further complicate hypotension.

- 2. Determining the volume of maintenance fluids using the standard Holliday and Segar method in these children does not account for the fact that the method devised was intended for use in children assuming normal urine output and energy expenditure. Energy expenditure in mechanically ventilated children reduces due to various reasons: sedation, humidification of inspired air resulting in reduced insensible water loss, and increased ADH secretion. Ultimately, the fluid requirement is reduced by approximately one-third [65, 66].
- 3. Choice of fluid in the perioperative period is also a matter of concern and debate over several years considering the metabolic requirements of glucose in neonatal age group, concerns of sodium handling by the immature renal system, and tonicity of fluid administered influencing cerebral edema in a susceptible population [66, 67].
- 4. During the procedure, the neonate usually receives fluid and infusions of inotropic medications and anesthetic agents (opioids and muscle relaxants) that add to the total volume of fluids administered.
- 5. Monitoring intravascular volume status through central venous pressure (CVP) is unreliable in such neonates.
- 6. Urine output monitoring is hindered by factors like osmotic diuresis induced by contrast media, creating a false impression of adequate volume status, while it may also precipitate renal failure.
- Other indicators of fluid responsiveness, both static (including CVP) and dynamic, do not apply to the pediatric population, whereas no

such study is available for the neonatal age group. The reason cited for this includes a more compliant thoracic wall and arterial tree, unlike adults. Studies indicate that only a few parameters are better indicators of fluid responsiveness in the pediatric population undergoing mechanical ventilation, which include plethysmography variability index (PVI) and pulse pressure variation (PPV). However, these (findings) are small studies, and the values are convasoactive medications founded bv or hypothermia causing peripheral vasoconstriction, both common to neonates with CCF undergoing emergency embolization [68–70].

With the available evidence, it may be reasonable to consider isotonic crystalloid (0.9% normal saline) as the maintenance fluid of choice and restriction of the volume administered to two-thirds of the total calculated requirement. It is essential to monitor the total volume of contrast and flush injected during the entire procedure. At the authors' institute, the maximum volume of contrast agent is restricted to 5 mL/kg and used in a diluted form (with normal saline). It might be prudent to monitor and maintain the hourly urine output at 0.5-1 mL/kg/h. This can be facilitated by a continuous infusion of diuretic (furosemide 0.1-0.4 mg/kg/h) and titrating the dose of inotropic agents to maintain the arterial blood pressure at preoperative levels or that appropriate for age. Arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis may be performed at regular intervals to monitor for electrolyte levels (sodium, base deficit), blood glucose levels (supplement if levels below 70 mg/dL), serum lactate levels (an indicator of peripheral perfusion; fluid bolus if levels are high), PaO₂ (hypoxia may be aggravated by fluid overload), and PaCO₂. Available dynamic indices of fluid responsiveness may be used according to institutional practice.

23.10.4.2 Other Concerns

During the procedure, hypotension may be requested before injection of the embolizing agent in order to reduce the high flow across the shunt that can cause migration of the embolizing agent. The child with heart failure may not tolerate it and, hence, be avoided. Currently, detachable coils are deployed at the distal end of the feeding arteries to reduce the flow at the required. This avoids the need for induced hypotension [71].

The general consensus in emergency embolization is that the goal should be to achieve acceptable levels of improvement in heart failure. This can be achieved with partial embolization, which should be done in an acceptable duration (2 h). By limiting the procedure and the time is taken, certain complications like hypothermia and contrast-induced toxicity can be prevented. Also, the redistribution of cerebral blood flow after embolization can be limited to levels that can be handled by the immature cerebral vasculature [72].

23.10.5 Complications

Intra-procedural complications include bradycardia during or immediately after embolization attributed to a transient increase in ICP. Strict vigilance is required during this step, and pharmacological intervention is rarely required. Communication between the neuroanesthesiologist and the interventional neuroradiologist is essential. Other procedure-related complications include rupture of the thin-walled fistula or the feeding vessels from an iatrogenic perforation or a microcatheter rupture resulting in hemorrhagic complications [71]. Commonly encountered preventable complications include hypothermia in the interventional neuroradiology suite and fluid overload. Repeated femoral artery puncture may lead to occlusion and lower limb ischemia. It can be prevented by imaging-guided cannulation at the beginning of the procedure, and proper care, including compression and hemostasis after the procedure is over [73].

Major procedural complications are expected with larger shunts. The immature cerebral vasculature at neonatal age groups results in poor handling of the increased blood volumes that occur immediately after the procedure. Venous hypertension secondary to embolization may result in intracranial hemorrhage and perfusion pressure breakthrough. It can be prevented by doing a staged embolization and maintaining normotension postoperatively [74]. A less common but dreaded complication is distal migration of the embolizing agent resulting in pulmonary embolism. In the presence of a right-to-left cardiac shunt, a paradoxical embolism can occur too.

23.11 Post-Procedure Management

Mechanical ventilation may be required in the post-procedural period to maintain hemodynamic and respiratory stability until improvement is noted in the clinical condition [75]. Indicators of response to emergency embolization in neonates include improvement in signs of heart failure evidenced by a reduction in the requirement of inotropic support echocardiographic findings of reduced pulmonary artery pressure and closure of the right-to-left shunt (PDA) [59]. These changes may be seen in the first few hours to few days after emergency embolization. Maintaining the lower limb in a neutral position for 6 h (if femoral artery access was obtained), frequent neurological assessment and monitoring of distal pulses at regular intervals all form a part of post-procedural care [73]. In this period, the role of neuroanesthesiologist involves, and not restricted to, maintenance of adequate sedation, monitoring for clinical improvement, and weaning from mechanical ventilation.

Development of new focal neurological deficits, seizures, worsening of hydrocephalus, cerebral hyperperfusion, cerebral edema, venous infarcts, and precipitation of congestive cardiac failure are all possible in the immediate postprocedural phase [61]. Maintenance of hemodynamic stability is essential to prevent possible post-procedure complications, including cerebral venous thrombosis and hemorrhagic complications akin to perfusion pressure breakthrough.

23.12 Brain Melting Phenomenon and Hydrocephalus

The brain melting phenomenon refers to the most severe form of neurological injury in VOGM. It is characterized by progressive and extensive cerebral atrophy, white matter calcifications, hydrocephalus, and severe cognitive dysfunction that occurs secondary to cerebral venous hypertension. It may also occur after CSF diversion procedures for hydrocephalus in VOGM [23, 45]. In utero diagnosis of this condition is one of the indications for termination of pregnancy.

Hydrocephalus in VOGM is described as hydrodynamic (hydrocephalus without raised ICP) with defective CSF absorption due to immature arachnoid granulations and the increased venous sinus pressure [76]. Primary treatment of the lesion usually leads to gradual resolution of hydrocephalus. Rarely, hydrocephalus results due to obstruction of the aqueduct of Sylvius by the lesion as well. In such conditions, the child may require a CSF diversion procedure (ventriculoperitoneal shunt or endoscopic third ventriculostomy). Such procedures are usually done after primary embolization and are associated with a significant risk of hemorrhage due to the venous engorgement [77, 78]. Placement of ventricular shunts before embolization reverses the pressure gradient between the ventricles and brain parenchyma, resulting in aggravation of cerebral atrophy and white matter calcification [45, 46].

23.13 Prognosis

One of the major prognostic factors in VOGM is the age of presentation: earlier onset indicates a higher severity of the disease and probable severe brain damage in utero, decreasing the possibility of good neurological recovery [28, 79]. Nearnormal neurodevelopmental outcomes have been described in children with a later age of presentation consistent with lesser degrees of cerebral damage and lower shunt flows. Treatment strategies also influence the outcome. Surgery carries the highest risk of mortality with large amounts of blood loss and poor neurological outcomes in survivors. Although considered safer, mortality rates of nearly 40% have been reported after the endovascular interventions [79, 80]. According to a recent meta-analysis, significant risk factors indicating poor outcomes include prenatal diagnosis, neonatal cardiac failure, and low neonatal Bicetre score [80].

23.14 Conclusion

Management of VOGM poses multiple periprocedural challenges and requires a multidisciplinary approach consisting of neonatologists, neurologists, pediatric cardiologists, interventional neuroradiologists, and neuroanesthesiologists. Adequate pre-procedural planning and vigilant procedural monitoring help prevent and prompt management of complications, thereby preventing neurodevelopmental dysfunctions.

Conflict of Interest None to declare.

References

- 1. Gupta AK, Varma DR. Vein of Galen malformations: review. Neurol India. 2004;52(1):43–53.
- Raybaud CA, Strother CM, Hald JK. Aneurysms of the vein of Galen: embryonic considerations and anatomical features relating to the pathogenesis of the malformation. Neuroradiology. 1989;31(2):109–28.
- Bhattacharya JJ, Thammaroj J. Vein of galen malformations. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(Suppl 1):i42–4.
- Khullar D, Andeejani AMI, Bulsara KR. Evolution of treatment options for vein of Galen malformations: a review. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;6(5):444–51.
- Lin PM, Mokrohisky JF, Stauffer HM, Scott M. The importance of the deep cerebral veins in cerebral angiography: with special emphasis on the orientation of the foramen of monro through the visualization of the "venous angle" of the brain. J Neurosurg. 1955;12(3):256–77.
- Gailloud P, O'Riordan DP, Burger I, Levrier O, Jallo G, Tamargo RJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. J Perinatol. 2005;25(8):542–51.
- Patel N, Mills JF, Cheung MMH, Loughnan PM. Systemic haemodynamics in infants with vein of Galen malformation: assessment and basis for therapy. J Perinatol. 2007;27(7):460–3.

- Nielsen G. Arteriovenous malformations as a cause of congestive heart failure in the newborn and infant. Three cases with different haemodynamic mechanisms. Eur J Pediatr. 1984;142(4):298–300.
- Lasjaunias P, Garcia-Monaco R, Rodesch G, Ter Brugge K, Zerah M, Tardieu M, et al. Vein of Galen malformation. Endovascular management of 43 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 1991;7(7):360–7.
- Gómez DG, DiBenedetto AT, Pavese AM, Firpo A, Hershan DB, Potts DG. Development of arachnoid villi and granulations in man. Cells Tissues Organs. 1981;111(3):247–58.
- Bhattacharya JJ, Jenkins S, Zampakis P, Behbahani M, Teasdale E, Papanastassiou V. Endovascular treatment of AVMs in Glasgow. Interv Neuroradiol. 2005;11(Suppl 1):73–80.
- O'Donnabhain D, Duff DF. Aneurysms of the vein of Galen. Arch Dis Child. 1989;64(11):1612–7.
- Golombek SG, Ally S, Woolf PK. A newborn with cardiac failure secondary to a large vein of Galen malformation. South Med J. 2004;97(5):516–8.
- Muquit S, Shah M, Bassi S. Vein of Galen malformation presenting in adulthood. Br J Neurosurg. 2008;22(5):692–4.
- Xu DS, Usman AA, Hurley MC, Eddleman CS, Bendok BR. Adult presentation of a familialassociated vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation: case report. Neurosurgery. 2010;67(6):E1845–51.
- Pareek K, Shrivastava T, Sinha VD. Choroidal type of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation in adult patient with unusual presentation of orthostatic headache. Asian J Neurosurg. 2018;13(2):418.
- Berenstein A, Lasjaunias P. Arteriovenous Fistulas of the Brain. In: Surgical Neuroangiography 4 Endovascular Treatment of Cerebral lesions. 1st ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag; 1992. p. 267–317.
- Allen HD. Moss & Adams' Heart Disease in Infants, Children, and Adolescents, Including the Fetus and Young Adult. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2016. 1900 p.
- Gold A, Ransohoff J, Carter S. Vein of galen malformation. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 1964;40:SUPPL 11:1–31.
- 20. Paladini D, Deloison B, Rossi A, Chalouhi GE, Gandolfo C, Sonigo P, et al. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation (VGAM) in the fetus: retrospective analysis of perinatal prognostic indicators in a twocenter series of 49 cases. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2017;50(2):192–9.
- Rodesch G, Hui F, Alvarez H, Tanaka A, Lasjaunias P. Prognosis of antenatally diagnosed vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. Childs Nerv Syst. 1994;10(2):79–83.
- Campi A, Scotti G, Filippi M, Gerevini S, Strigimi F, Lasjaunias P. Antenatal diagnosis of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation: MR study of fetal brain and postnatal follow-up. Neuroradiology. 1996;38(1):87–90.
- 23. Hergan F, Huisman T. "Melting brain" as complication of a vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation

diagnosed by fetal MRI. Clin Obstet Gynecol Reprod Med. 2018;4

- 24. Jagadeesan BD, Cross DT, Delgado Almandoz JE, Derdeyn CP, Loy DN, McKinstry RC, et al. Susceptibility-weighted imaging: a new tool in the diagnosis and evaluation of abnormalities of the vein of Galen in children. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2012;33(9):1747–51.
- Pilu G, Falco P, Perolo A, Sandri F, Cocchi G, Ancora G, et al. Differential diagnosis and outcome of fetal intracranial hypoechoic lesions: report of 21 cases. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 1997;9(4):229–36.
- Shanmugam S, Bhagavati A. Prenatal evaluation of vein of Galen malformation with three dimensional Doppler angiography—a case report. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2006;16(4):753.
- 27. Mochizuki Y, Niimi Y, Sato S, Inoue T, Kuwamoto K, Shima S, et al. Clinical course and management of vein of Galen varix of the neonate: a case report and literature review. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2019;54(4): 281–7.
- Jones BV, Ball WS, Tomsick TA, Millard J, Crone KR. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation: diagnosis and treatment of 13 children with extended clinical follow-up. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2002;23(10):1717–24.
- Alvarez H, Garcia Monaco R, Rodesch G, Sachet M, Krings T, Lasjaunias P. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2007;17(2):189–206.
- Lasjaunias PL, Chng SM, Sachet M, Alvarez H, Rodesch G, Garcia-Monaco R. The management of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. Neurosurgery. 2006;59(5 Suppl 3):S184–94; discussion S3–13.
- Mitchell PJ, Rosenfeld JV, Dargaville P, Loughnan P, Ditchfield MR, Frawley G, et al. Endovascular management of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations presenting in the neonatal period. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2001;22(7):1403–9.
- 32. Frawley G, Dargaville P, Mitchell P, Tress B, Loughnan P. Clinical course and medical management of neonates with severe cardiac failure related to vein of Galen malformation. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2002;87(2):F144–9.
- 33. De Rosa G, De Carolis MP, Tempera A, Pedicelli A, Rollo M, Morena TC, et al. Outcome of neonates with vein of Galen malformation presenting with severe heart failure: a case series. Am J Perinatol. 2019;36(2):169–75.
- 34. Jain S, Vaidyanathan B. Digoxin in management of heart failure in children: should it be continued or relegated to the history books? Ann Pediatr Cardiol. 2009;2:149–52.
- DIgitalis Investigation Group. The effect of digoxin on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med. 1997;336(8):525–33.
- 36. Thunberg CA, Morozowich ST, Ramakrishna H. Inhaled therapy for the management of periop-

erative pulmonary hypertension. Ann Card Anaesth. 2015;18(3):394.

- 37. Hansmann G, Koestenberger M, Alastalo T-P, Apitz C, Austin ED, Bonnet D, et al. 2019 updated consensus statement on the diagnosis and treatment of pediatric pulmonary hypertension: the European Pediatric Pulmonary Vascular Disease Network (EPPVDN), endorsed by AEPC, ESPR and ISHLT. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2019;38(9):879–901.
- Nair J, Lakshminrusimha S. Update on PPHN: mechanisms and treatment. Semin Perinatol. 2014;38(2):78–91.
- Lakshminrusimha S, Keszler M. Persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. NeoReviews. 2015;16(12):e680–92.
- Dhillon R. The management of neonatal pulmonary hypertension. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2012;97(3):F223–8.
- Payne BR, Prasad D, Steiner M, Bunge H, Steiner L. Gamma surgery for vein of Galen malformations. J Neurosurg. 2000;93(2):229–36.
- 42. Hoffman HJ, Chuang S, Hendrick EB, Humphreys RP. Aneurysms of the vein of Galen: Experience at The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto. J Neurosurg. 1982;57(3):316–22.
- Yasargil MG, Antic J, Laciga R, Jain KK, Boone SC. Arteriovenous malformations of vein of Galen: microsurgical treatment. Surg Neurol. 1976;(3):195–200.
- 44. Yaşargil MG. AVMs of the Vein of Galen Region. In: Microneurosurgery Vol IIIB. Stuttgart: Thieme [u.a.]; 1987. p. 323–52.
- 45. Berenstein A, Paramasivam S, Sorscher M, Molofsky W, Meila D, Ghatan S. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation: advances in management and endovascular treatment. Neurosurgery. 2019;84(2):469–78.
- 46. Mortazavi MM, Griessenauer CJ, Foreman P, Shahripour RB, Shoja MM, Rozzelle CJ, et al. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations: critical analysis of the literature with proposal of a new classification system: a review. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;12(3):293–306.
- 47. Lasjaunias P. Introduction and general comments on intracranial arteriovenous diseases. In: Vascular diseases in neonates, infants and children. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1997. p. 49. (Interventional Neuroradiology Management).
- Mickle JP, Quisling R, Ryan P. Transtorcular approach to vein of Galen aneurysms. 1985. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1994;20(2):163–8.
- Hoang S, Choudhri O, Edwards M, Guzman R. Vein of Galen malformation. Neurosurg Focus. 2009;27(5):E8.
- Charafeddine L, Numaguchi Y, Sinkin RA. Disseminated coagulopathy associated with transtorcular embolization of vein of Galen aneurysm in a neonate. J Perinatol. 1999;19(1):61–3.
- 51. Rosenberg EM, Nazar GB. Neonatal vein of Galen aneurysms: severe coagulopathy associated

with transtorcular embolization. Crit Care Med. 1991;19(3):441–3.

- Triano MJ, Lara-Reyna J, Schupper AJ, Yaeger KA. Embolic agents and microcatheters for endovascular treatment of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. World Neurosurg. 2020;141:383–8.
- Triffo WJ, Bourland JD, Couture DE, McMullen KP, Tatter SB, Morris PP. Definitive treatment of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation with stereotactic radiosurgery. J Neurosurg. 2014;120(1):120–5.
- Alexander MJ, Tolbert ME. Targeting cerebral arteriovenous malformations for minimally invasive therapy. Neurosurgery. 2006;59(suppl_5):S3-178–83.
- Maddirala S, Theagrajan A. Non-operating room anaesthesia in children. Indian J Anaesth. 2019;63(9):754.
- Youn AM, Ko Y-K, Kim Y-H. Anesthesia and sedation outside of the operating room. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2015;68(4):323–31.
- 57. Patel S, Reddy U. Anaesthesia for interventional neuroradiology. BJA Educ. 2016;16(5):147–52.
- Carey BE. Chest x-ray findings in arteriovenous malformation of the great vein of Galen. Neonatal Netw. 2000;19(3):71–4.
- 59. Chevret L, Durand P, Alvarez H, Lambert V, Caeymax L, Rodesch G, et al. Severe cardiac failure in newborns with VGAM. Prognosis significance of hemodynamic parameters in neonates presenting with severe heart failure owing to vein of Galen arteriovenous malformation. Intensive Care Med. 2002;28(8):1126–30.
- McElhinney DB, Halbach VV, Silverman NH, Dowd CF, Hanley FL. Congenital cardiac anomalies with vein of Galen malformations in infants. Arch Dis Child. 1998;78(6):548–51.
- Hrishi AP, Lionel KR. Periprocedural management of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation patients: an 11-year experience. Anesth Essays Res. 2017;11(3):630.
- 62. Berenstein A, Fifi JT, Niimi Y, Presti S, Ortiz R, Ghatan S, et al. Vein of Galen malformations in neonates: new management paradigms for improving outcomes. Neurosurgery. 2012;70(5):1207–13; discussion 1213–1214.
- 63. Trout AT, Dillman JR, Ellis JH, Cohan RH, Strouse PJ. Patterns of intravenous contrast material use and corticosteroid premedication in children—a survey of Society of Chairs of Radiology in Children's Hospitals (SCORCH) member institutions. Pediatr Radiol. 2011;41(10):1272–83.
- Gupta RK, Bang TJ. Prevention of Contrast-Induced Nephropathy (CIN) in interventional radiology practice. Semin Interv Radiol. 2010;27(4):348–59.
- Cavari Y, Pitfield AF, Kissoon N. Intravenous maintenance fluids revisited. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2013;29(11):1225–8; quiz 1229–31.
- Carcillo JA. Intravenous fluid choices in critically ill children. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2014;20(4):396–401.

- 67. Renner J, Broch O, Duetschke P, Scheewe J, Höcker J, Moseby M, et al. Prediction of fluid responsiveness in infants and neonates undergoing congenital heart surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2012;108(1):108–15.
- Byon H-J, Lim C-W, Lee J-H, Park Y-H, Kim H-S, Kim C-S, et al. Prediction of fluid responsiveness in mechanically ventilated children undergoing neurosurgery. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110(4):586–91.
- Gan H, Cannesson M, Chandler JR, Ansermino JM. Predicting fluid responsiveness in children: a systematic review. Anesth Analg. 2013;117(6): 1380–92.
- Hadian M, Severyn DA, Pinsky MR. The effects of vasoactive drugs on pulse pressure and stroke volume variation in postoperative ventilated patients. J Crit Care 2011;26(3):328.e1–8.
- 71. Kim DJ, Suh DC, Kim BM, Kim DI. Adjuvant coil assisted glue embolization of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation in pediatric patients. Neurointervention. 2018;13(1):41–7.
- 72. Ashida Y, Miyahara H, Sawada H, Mitani Y, Maruyama K. Anesthetic management of a neonate with vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations and severe pulmonary hypertension. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(6):525–8.
- Baird LC, Selden NR. Vein of Galen malformation. In: Neurosurgery by example. Oxford University Press; 2019. p. 157–64.
- Gupta AK, Rao VRK, Varma DR, Kapilamoorthy TR, Kesavadas C, Krishnamoorthy T, et al. Evaluation,

management, and long-term follow up of vein of Galen malformations. J Neurosurg. 2006;105(1):26–33.

- 75. Ramakrishnan RM, Goraksha SU, Thakore BP, Monteiro JN, Butani MT. Anaesthetic management of vein of Galen malformation in a very low birth weight preterm baby for endovascular embolisation. J Neuroanaesth Crit Care. 2016;03(2):137–40.
- Zerah M, Garcia-Monaco R, Rodesch G, Terbrugge K, Tardieu M, de Victor D, et al. Hydrodynamics in vein of Galen malformations. Childs Nerv Syst. 1992;8(3):111–7; discussion 117.
- Schneider SJ, Wisoff JS, Epstein FJ. Complications of ventriculoperitoneal shunt procedures or hydrocephalus associated with vein of Galen malformations in childhood. Neurosurgery. 1992;30(5):706–8.
- 78. Jea A, Bradshaw TJ, Whitehead WE, Curry DJ, Dauser RC, Luerssen TG. The high risks of ventriculoperitoneal shunt procedures for hydrocephalus associated with vein of Galen malformations in childhood: case report and literature review. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2010;46(2):141–5.
- Malarbi S, Gunn-Charlton JK, Burnett AC, Prentice TM, Williams A, Mitchell P, et al. Outcome of vein of Galen malformation presenting in the neonatal period. Arch Dis Child. 2019;104(11):1064–9.
- Giorgi L, Durand P, Morin L, Miatello J, Merchaoui Z, Lambert V, et al. Management and outcomes of neonatal arteriovenous brain malformations with cardiac failure: a 17 years' experience in a tertiary referral center. J Pediatr. 2020;218:85–91.e2.



24

Anesthetic Concerns in Children with Brain Abscess and Congenital Heart Disease

Surya Kumar Dube 💿 and Girija Prasad Rath 💿

Key Points

- Brain abscess is one of the serious complications encountered in children with congenital cyanotic heart disease (CCHD).
- At the time of presentation, these children may have symptoms related to both cardiac and neurological disorders, which makes anesthetic management more challenging.
- Management of brain abscess depends upon the neurological status of the patient, the location of the abscess, and the number and size of the abscesses.
- Surgical options available are burr-hole craniotomy and stereotactic aspiration, open craniotomy, or neuroendoscopic drainage of the abscess.
- Depending upon the clinical condition of the child as well as the type of surgery, the choice of anesthesia can be a monitored anesthesia care or general anesthesia.
- Multi-systemic involvement as a part of a few syndromic associations along with dehydration, electrolyte abnormality, coagulation disorders, and hemodynamic instability complicates the perioperative management further.

• A clear understanding of the pathophysiological processes involved is highly desirable for a successful outcome.

24.1 Introduction

Brain abscess is a serious complication of congenital cyanotic heart disease (CCHD). The reported prevalence of brain abscess through the hematogenous spread of microorganisms in CCHD is about 6–51% [1, 2]. However, CCHD accounts for about 13–70% of all cases of brain abscesses with identified risk factors [1, 2]. The commonly affected age group is between 4 and 7 years. The introduction of antibiotics and the advent of better diagnostic and therapeutic modalities have improved the outcome in this group of patients.

Any intracranial procedure in a child with CCHD poses a unique challenge to the anesthesiologist, who has to simultaneously manage the demands of the deranged heart and the brain without compromising the functionality of either. With a better understanding of the physiology and advent of newer monitoring modalities, anesthetic management in these children with CCHD undergoing noncardiac surgeries has been improved significantly.

S. K. Dube $(\boxtimes) \cdot G$. P. Rath

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_24

24.2 Etiopathogenesis of Brain Abscess in Children with Cardiac Disease

Various risk factors, including cardiac and dental conditions, have been described (Table 24.1) for the causation of brain abscess [3], which is relatively more common in children with CCHD (Fig. 24.1). Although any type of CCHD may cause an intracranial abscess, the most common condition associated is Fallot's tetralogy or tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) [3-6]. Other CCHDs predispose to brain abscess including transposition of great vessels, tricuspid atresia, pulmonary stenosis or atresia, and double-outlet right ventricle [1–3, 7, 8]. The common association of TOF with cerebral abscess could be because it is the most common type of CCHD and is amenable to surgical correction with a relatively greater life span in these patients. In contrast, other CCHDs are more complex cardiac abnormalities; hence, less chance of patient survival. Children with CCHD may have diminished arterial oxygen saturation, metabolic acidosis, and increased blood viscosity due to compensatory polycythemia. The altered viscosity of blood may cause focal cerebral ischemia, often in the distribution of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) [1, 7–9]. These children (with CCHD) may also develop minute encephalomalacia, a hypoperfused and hypoxic brain tissue. During dehydration or cardiac dysfunction, the hyperviscosity and decreased microcirculatory blood may exaggerate minute encephalomalacia or induce focal cerebral thrombosis: these areas subse-

 Table 24.1 Risk factors for the formation of brain abscess [3]

- Congenital heart disease
- · Sinus and otogenic infections
- · Poor dental hygiene
- · Complications from dental procedures
- Immunosuppression
- Neurosurgical interventions
- Penetrating skull injury
- Comminuted fracture of the skull
- Congenital lesions of the head and neck (e.g., dermal sinuses)
- As a complication of meningitis (rare)



Fig. 24.1 Computed tomographic scan of the brain of a 10-year-old boy shows a large well-defined cystic lesion with thin enhancing walls (ring enhancement) in the left frontal lobe suggestive of cerebral abscess

quently serve as a nidus for bacterial infection. The hematogenous infection can spread into the systemic circulation through a right-to-left shunt bypassing the pulmonary capillary bed, which possesses phagocytic filtering action. The shunted blood with infectious organisms reaches the sites of cerebral thrombosis or encephalomalacia, which may initiate focal cerebritis and, ultimately, a cerebral abscess [12]. The hematogenous mode of spread also accounts for the subcortical and multiple numbers of abscesses often encountered in these children [1]. Brain abscess in children with CCHD has a relatively higher predilection for MCA territory. It is more common in the supratentorial compartment, and the most common site is the frontal lobe. The other possible sites for brain abscess can be the temporal lobe, parietal lobe, and occipital lobe, and in a few cases, it can be at multiple locations [1, 7, 10, 11]. The most common organisms isolated from brain abscess in patients with CCHD are Streptococcus viridans, microaerophilic streptococci, anaerobic streptococci, and occasionally Haemophilus species [12, 13]. However,

anaerobic organisms and polymicrobial infections may also contribute toward the development of brain abscess.

24.3 Clinical Presentation and Management of Brain Abscess

24.3.1 Clinical Presentation

As reported in the literature, the peak incidence of brain abscess in children with CCHD is in between 4 and 7 years [7]. These children may present with signs and symptoms of both CCHD and brain abscess. Besides, they may have clinical presentations of other associated congenital anomalies as well. The classic clinical triad of fever, headache, and the focal neurologic deficit is relatively uncommon and is present in about 16–25% of brain abscess cases [14–16]. Usually, the presentation of brain abscess is because of mass effect, and often the signs and symptoms of systemic infection are not evident. The most common presentations are headache and vomiting secondary to increased intracranial pressure (ICP). Seizures have been reported to be present in 10-50% of cases [1, 17, 18]. Depending upon the size and location of the abscess, children can have focal neurological deficits. Some children may present with altered sensorium with nuchal rigidity because of increased intracranial mass effect or intraventricular rupture of the abscess. The clinical signs are papilledema, lateralizing signs such as hemiparesis or cranial nerve palsies, exaggerated deep tendon reflexes, pupillary signs, and aphasia. Third or sixth cranial nerve palsies, anisocoria, and papilledema may indicate increased ICP [19, 20]. The clinical presentations due to various CCHDs are summarized in Table 24.2.

Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) is one of the most common CCHD associated with brain abscess. It comprises four cardiac abnormalities: right ventricular outflow obstruction, right ventricular hypertrophy, ventricular septal defect, and dextroposition of the aorta. The clinical presentation of TOF is described in Table 24.2. Plain X-ray chest may show the characteristic boot-shaped heart (coeur en sabot in French) with upturned cardiac apex due to right ventricular hypertrophy, increased concavity of pulmonary artery segment, and enlarged aorta along with decreased pulmonary vascularity causing oligemic lung fields (Fig. 24.2). Uncorrected TOF children may have a high mortality rate, but current medical and surgical advancements enable many patients to survive longer. The different perioperative problems encountered in a patient with TOF are cyanotic spells, coagulation abnormality secondary to polycythemia, cardiac failure, hemodynamic instability, and electrolyte and acid-base abnormality.

24.4 Management Options

Management of brain abscess in children depends on the patient's neurologic status, location, number, and size of the abscess. The children are usually started with intravenous (IV) broad-spectrum antimicrobial agents, which are continued until appropriate antibiotics are initiated based on the pathogens identified after culture and sensitivity established from the intraoperative specimens [17]. Patients with surgically inaccessible lesions, early cerebritis, abscesses with a size of less than 2 cm, multiple small abscesses, or medical comorbidities are treated with nonsurgical means, and serial imaging studies are conducted to assess the effectiveness of antibiotic therapy [3, 17, 23,24]. The duration of IV antimicrobial therapy is usually 4-6 weeks in immunocompetent patients and longer in immunosuppressed patients. The role of corticosteroids in brain abscess management is controversial since steroids are known to inhibit capsule formation around the abscess, that limits the brain abscess. Steroids are usually considered in patients with considerable mass effect secondary to significant cerebral edema causing neurological deficits and/or impending herniation [25]. The role of prophylactic anticonvulsant medication in these patients is not well defined. Short-term prophylactic use of anticonvulsants in children with brain abscess involving cortical structures is often practiced. However, some cen-
| TUNC LAL SIGN | s and symptoms of congenitar equilate near diseases [21, 22] |
|-------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Disease(s) | Clinical presentation(s) |
| Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF) | Easy fatigability, dyspnea on exertion, frequent squatting, cyanotic spells Cyanosis (depends on the degree of right ventricular obstruction), cyanotic spells, ejection systolic murmur, heard at left upper sternal border Chest X-ray shows boot-shaped heart (Fig. 24.2) with decreased pulmonary vascular markings; ECG characteristics of right axis deviation; right bundle branch block pattern, if tetralogy is repaired |
| Transposition of the great arteries (TGA) | Easy fatigability, dyspnea, poor feeding, lethargy The degree of cyanosis and auscultatory findings is different depending on the types of cardiac defect. Children may present with heart failure. (a) TGA with intact ventricular septum: Central cyanosis. Cyanosis is at birth. Soft murmurs or none at all. S₁ is usually normal in these patients. S₂ is single and accentuated (b) TGA with large ventricular septal defect (VSD): Cyanosis may be mild initially, although it is usually more apparent with stress or crying. Increased right ventricular impulse; a loud, single S2; usually no systolic murmurs (c) TGA with VSD and left ventricular outflow tract obstruction: Cyanosis is prominent at birth. A single S2 and a systolic ejection murmur may be present (d) TGA with VSD and pulmonary vascular obstructive disease: A loud, single S2 is present. Cyanosis is usually present and can be progressive despite palliative therapy. Chest X-ray is non-specific. Sometimes "egg on string" appearance due to anteriorly placed aorta |
| | compared to the main pulmonary artery |
| Tricuspid atresia | Cyanosis at birth Easy fatigability, dyspnea, tachypnea, poor growth, and development Evidence of right heart failure, older children, exhibit digital clubbing S1 often normal and S2 often single; murmur with variable intensity heard, best heard at the lower left sternal border Chest X-ray may show moderate to massive right atrial enlargement; pulmonary vascular markings are usually decreased ECG shows left axis deviation with tall peaked P waves (secondary to right atrial hypertrophy). Left ventricular hypertrophy is seen in almost all cases, and right ventricular influence on ECG is usually little or absent |
| Pulmonary atresia | Clinical features depend upon the presence or absence of VSD Cyanotic at birth if the ventricular septum is intact. May present with cyanosis later in the presence of VSD depending upon the collateral blood flow channels Systolic murmur may be heard at the pulmonary area; a pansystolic murmur may be heard because of associated tricuspid insufficiency Chest X-ray shows from small to markedly enlarged heart depending on the degree of tricuspid insufficiency. Right atrial enlargement may be present in case of significant tricuspid insufficiency ECG shows left axis deviation |
| Double outlet right ventricle (DORV) | Always associated with VSD If VSD is subaortic and without pulmonary stenosis (PS), the clinical picture resembles that of a large VSD If a subaortic VSD and pulmonic and subpulmonic stenosis are present, the physiology and the clinical features resemble that of TOF If VSD is subpulmonic, the presentation resembles TGA with VSD |

 Table 24.2
 Signs and symptoms of congenital cyanotic heart diseases [21, 22]

ters reserve the use of anticonvulsant medications only for children who had a seizure at the time of presentation [3].

Operative management is beneficial in terms of diagnostic and therapeutic context. The different surgical options available include burr-hole craniotomy and stereotactic aspiration, open craniotomy, or neuroendoscopic drainage of the abscess. Cerebral hemispheric lesions of <2.5 cm in diameter may be managed with antibiotics and stereotactic aspiration to document causative microorganism(s). However, a lesion of more than 2.5 cm diameter may require stereotactic aspiration or surgical excision, depending upon the location of the abscess (within or near the eloquent brain cortex). For deep-seated abscesses



Fig. 24.2 Plain chest X-ray of a child with Fallot's tetralogy shows a typical boot-shaped heart with upturned cardiac apex and hyperlucent lung fields

and/or abscesses nearer the eloquent brain areas, stereotactic aspiration may be more appropriate. Large abscesses with a significant mass effect should undergo decompression as early as possible. Additionally, intraventricular rupture of an abscess usually needs surgical debridement, ventricular drainage, and the use of systemic and intraventricular antimicrobial agents.

Stereotactic Aspiration

It involves image-guided stereotactic aspiration followed by irrigation of the abscess cavity with antibiotic solution. It can be conducted at any stage of evolution of the abscess, and it can help obtain samples for cultures [26]. The advantage of this technique is that it allows access to multiple and deep-seated abscesses, it has a low complication rate, it permits a minimal craniotomy, and it allows multiple aspirations [27, 28]. The reported complications of this technique are the formation of an intracerebral hematoma or intraventricular rupture of the abscess [17].

Craniotomy and Aspiration

This approach is beneficial if the abscess is superficial and is located close to the brain surface. A miniature craniotomy or burr hole may be used for abscess drainage. It may be helpful in cases of failure of resolution of the abscess following multiple aspirations [24]. The shortcomings of this approach are the unsuitability of its use for lesions in the early stage or lesions located within or near the eloquent cortex and relatively higher surgical risk in children with comorbidities/heart disease [17]. Regarding the surgical management of brain abscess near the eloquent cortex, the recent reports have highlighted the feasibility for awake craniotomy in patients with CCHD or severely compromised cardiac function [29, 30].

Neuroendoscopic Aspiration

This is another approach that is gaining popularity among neurosurgeons. Unlike the stereotactic approach, neuroendoscopic aspiration permits the direct visualization of the abscess and aspiration of its contents. This technique is speculated to be useful in the management of multiloculated abscesses [17, 31].

24.5 Anesthetic Considerations

Any intracranial procedure in a child with CCHD poses a unique challenge during anesthesia. An equilibrium must be set up between prerequisite of the heart and brain without further imperiling the functions of either. Children with CCHD and brain abscess have various associated problems concerning the underlying cardiac disease as well as ongoing medications. The problems are mainly related to chronic hypoxemia and its resultant manifestations in the forms of delayed milestones of development and growth retardation, persistent breathlessness, easy fatigability, recurrent pulmonary infections, fever, metabolic abnormalities, and multi-organ failure. There may be a neurological sequelae secondary to cerebral ischemia and cerebral abscess. Also, children of TOF with pulmonary stenosis or pulmonary atresia may have other structural and functional abnormalities due to associated syndromes such as Down's syndrome, DiGeorge syndrome, Velocardiofacial syndrome, and conotruncal anomaly face syndrome.

24.6 Preoperative Evaluation

It involves the evaluation of a neurologic patient with particular attention to its cardiovascular system. Patients with CCHD are invariably cyanotic, and the state of cyanosis does affect the other systems, which require careful consideration. It is desirable to include the data regarding the type of lesion, previous surgery, previous cardiac catheterization, or echocardiography in the history related to the cardiovascular system. Details of previous complications related to heart disease and history of heart failure, arrhythmias, medication changes, and residual shunts should be taken into account. Arrhythmia and heart failure are the two most important cardiac issues in patients with congenital heart diseases (CHDs) [32]. Children who underwent palliative procedures for cyanotic heart diseases may present with pathophysiological abnormalities in the form of the residual shunt, heart block, or arrhythmias. Various arrhythmias described in this context include atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter, supraventricular tachycardia, ventricular arrhythmias, and bundle branch block(s) [32]. The ECG after repair of tetralogy typically shows a right bundle branch block (RBBB) pattern in the majority of the children [33]. There is a possibility of complete heart block among a few, which the anesthesiologist should be aware of. A significant cardiac arrhythmia may lead to life-threatening hemodynamic instabilities and even sudden cardiac death during the perioperative period. Hence, a pediatric cardiologist's opinion should be sought to ascertain the child's current status whenever in doubt. It would also help decide appropriate antimicrobial prophylaxis to prevent endocarditis, optimize cardiac medication(s), help interpret ECG in doubtful situations, or even get a bedside echocardiographic evaluation of cardiac function/abnormality.

It is prudent to enquire about the growth pattern, exercise tolerance, and ability to feed, as these are considered general measures of adequate cardiac compensation. A child with a decreased cardiac reserve may not be able to keep up with peers/siblings. Patients with CCHD may have associated heart failure as a result of volume overload or arrhythmia. In infants, poor feeding and poor weight gain are usual manifestations of heart failure, whereas the older children may present with tachycardia, respiratory difficulty (tachypnea or dyspnea), poor exercise tolerance, cool extremities, cardiac gallops, and rales [32].

Other relevant history like history of cyanosis, fainting spells, adoption of unusual position like squatting, and predisposing factors that cause hypercyanotic spell will be helpful. Apart from the cardiovascular system examination, a focused neurologic examination, which includes assessing the level of consciousness, motor/sensory abnormality, pupillary responses, and equality and cranial nerves function, must be carried out. The preoperative investigations should include routine hemogram, hematocrit, serum electrolytes, liver, renal function tests, coagulation study, ECG, chest X-ray, and recent echocardiography. The preoperative evaluation should also include an inquiry about the dose and duration of ongoing medications as well as any complication related to those medications.

24.7 Preoperative Optimization

The children of CCHD and brain abscess have certain conditions that need to be optimized before surgery.

24.7.1 Dehydration and Electrolyte Abnormality

These children often present with dehydration secondary to vomiting, fever, poor oral intake, use of hyperosmolar agent/diuretics, excessive heat, and diarrhea due to various reasons. Dehydration can exacerbate CCHD-induced blood hyperviscosity. In children, skin turgor, moistness of mucous membrane, and urine output are more reliable indications of volume status than are blood pressure and heart rate. A hypovolemic child with CCHD can have profound hemodynamic alteration during anesthetic induction and surgical positioning. Hypovolemia leads to hypotension, which might decrease cerebral blood flow, especially when combined with positive pressure ventilation. A lethargic patient will become more alert with fluid therapy, and a more accurate preoperative neurologic assessment can be made. Hence, it is essential to identify and aggressively manage dehydration. Besides, prolonged preoperative fasting should be avoided, and hyperosmolar agents should be administered cautiously.

Efforts should also be made to correct metabolic and electrolyte abnormalities. Children with heart failure and on diuretic medication may have preoperative electrolyte abnormalities; severe hyperchloremic metabolic alkalosis may occur in some children [32]. There may be the presence of hypokalemia and hypocalcemia, which predispose to arrhythmias. Hence, correction of calcium and potassium abnormalities and avoidance of hyperventilation may be emphasized [32]. If the child received digoxin, the decision on its continuation should be consulted.

24.7.2 Coagulation Abnormality

Children with CCHD may have different coagulation abnormalities such as thrombocytopenia, abnormal platelet function, coagulation factor deficiencies due to impaired hepatic function or vitamin K deficiency, primary fibrinolysis, and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) [34, 35]. The exact reason for the coagulation abnormality is still not known. However, polycythemia and associated hyperviscosity are the major contributing factor for the pathogenesis of coagulation abnormalities [35, 36]. Congenital coagulation disorders like von Willebrand factor and factor XII deficiency may present in these children, further complicating the bleeding problems. Every effort should be made to detect and correct hemostatic abnormalities with suitable therapy to minimize perioperative blood loss. The different methods adopted for improving coagulation status in these children include phlebotomy, administration of blood components such as fresh frozen plasma (FFP), platelet concentrate or cryoprecipitate, and pentoxifylline

[35]. Severely cyanotic patients with hematocrit \geq 60% may develop coagulopathy, and preoperative phlebotomy may benefit them [34, 35]. Vitamin K supplementation helps in the normalization of coagulation abnormalities in the presence of normal hepatic function. However, in cases with hepatic dysfunction, there will be qualitative and quantitative defects in coagulation factors; hence, vitamin K supplementation is unlikely to be beneficial.

24.7.3 Hyperviscosity Syndrome

Children with CCHD have a compensatory increase in red blood cell (RBC) mass due to renal release of erythropoietin as an adaptive response to chronic hypoxemia. Under normal circumstances, the serum erythropoietin level returns back to baseline values once there is a sufficient increase in RBC mass and hemoglobin concentration. However, in cases of CCHD, an exaggerated response is observed due to the continuing release of erythropoietin owing to the failure of tissue oxygen concentration to improve beyond a limit. Hence, there is a further rise in hematocrit without increasing blood volume; it increases the blood viscosity even further [37]. The continued increase in erythrocyte mass leads to decompensated erythrocytosis and produces various harmful effects by compromising tissue oxygen delivery. The resultant hyperviscosity syndrome is characterized by headache, faintness, dizziness, fatigue, depressed mentation, paresthesia of limbs, blurred, or double vision [38].

Iron deficiency anemia is another concern in children with CCHD. In infants and children, the usual causes are nutritional deficiency, repeated phlebotomy, epistaxis, or hemoptysis. Iron deficiency causes a change in RBC shape from normal biconcave to micro-spherical, thereby reducing its deformability. Reduced deformability of RBCs prevents the normal passage of RBCs through the microcirculatory bed [39, 40]. Iron deficiency and polycythemia together can seriously impact the tissue perfusion because of increased viscosity. It also leads to symptoms of hyperviscosity at a level of packed cell volume much lower than that known to produce these symptoms [35, 41].

Phlebotomy is beneficial for patients with hematocrit levels of >65% with symptomatic hyperviscosity when dehydration is not the cause [34, 37]. Dehydration is detrimental in children with CCHD as it may lead to a rapid rise in the hematocrit level with clinical features of hyperviscosity. The rational approach is volume repletion rather than phlebotomy in those patients. Phlebotomy is generally not required in patients with compensated erythrocytosis and, if not appropriately employed, may result in symptomatic iron deficiency and an increase in whole blood viscosity [35]. Detailed description of phlebotomy is beyond the scope of this chapter. However, in simpler terms, phlebotomy involves gradual extraction of blood from the circulation through a large-bore venous catheter in a small aliquot. The resultant volume depletion is replenished with an equivalent volume of colloid or isotonic saline solutions. It is advisable to check for the coagulation parameters before phlebotomy and 24 h later [35]. Phlebotomy without volume repletion can cause dehydration and may adversely affect tissue oxygenation, which is not advisable [42]. Phlebotomized blood can be appropriately stored for the possible need of an autologous transfusion [32]. If hyperviscosity symptoms persist even after phlebotomy, a possible association of iron deficiency has to be ruled out [35].

24.7.4 Cyanotic Spell

Cyanotic spells are the hallmarks of severe TOF described with varied synonyms such as *hypox-emic*, *anoxic*, *or hypoxic spells*, *hyper-apneic spells*, *tetralogy or tet spells*, *blue spells*, etc. The anesthesiologist may encounter these episodes during the perioperative period. The spells may be manifested as sudden onset of cyanosis or deepening of cyanosis, sudden onset of dyspnea, alterations in consciousness (irritability/syncope), and decreased intensity or even disappear-

ance of the systolic murmur [21]. These episodes may begin in the neonatal period, but most commonly, they start at the age of 4-6 months of life [21]. These spells occur due to increased right-toleft (R-L) cardiac shunt triggered by an increased sympathetic activity resulting from crying, agitation, feeding, defecation, or fright [21, 43]. The exact pathophysiology of these spells is poorly understood. It is usually initiated with paroxysmal hyperpnea that leads to increase work of breathing, causing increased oxygen consumption. The venous return also increases due to decreased intrathoracic pressure by the hyperpnea. Associated hypoxia prompts a fall in systemic vascular resistance (SVR) that increases the R-L shunt. There is also associated infundibular spasm or constriction, which results in increased pressure in the right side of the heart leading to the R-L shunt. During a spell, the infant will appear pale and limp secondary to poor cardiac output [43, 44]. Different management strategies are suggested during a cyanotic spell (Table 24.3). However, β -adrenergic agonists are absolutely contraindicated, as they increase cardiac contractility, which may lead to further infundibular narrowing. Prophylactic use of propranolol 1 mg/kg orally every 4 h is recommended, which may prevent subsequent cyanotic spells [21].

24.7.5 Oxygen Therapy

Erythrocytosis is uncommon in children with CCHD if systemic arterial oxygen saturation is more than 85% [45]. Oxygen supplementation is beneficial in them as it improves saturation and prevents an increase in blood viscosity. Oxygen should be supplemented during severe cyanosis episodes and short intervals of hypoxia, which some children may develop during crying or straining. Facemask oxygenation is effective, but it may not be acceptable to a few children leading to further excitements, which may predispose to a cyanotic spell. Oxygen hood is more acceptable and remains an alternative in such situations.

| Medication(s)/maneuver(s) | Rationale(s) |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Supplementation of 100% oxygen | It alleviates hypoxemia |
| Knee-chest position or compression of the femoral artery | Transiently increases SVR and prevents R-L shunt |
| Morphine sulfate (0.05–0.1 mg/kg) | Some degree of sedation, depressant action on respiration, and hyperpnoea |
| Sodium bicarbonate (1–2 mEq/kg) | Correction of metabolic acidosis helps normalize SVR and lessen hyperpnoea |
| Phenylephrine (5–10 µg/kg IV or 2–5 µg/kg/min as an infusion) | Increases SVR and reduce R-L shunting |
| β-Adrenergic blockers like propranolol (0.1 mg/kg) or esmolol (500 μg/kg followed by an infusion of 50–300 μg/kg/min) | Reduce cardiac contractility, thereby reducing infundibular spasm Reduced heart rate would improve diastolic filling, increase heart size, and increase the diameter of the right ventricular outflow tract |
| Isotonic crystalloid solution | Enhances preload and increases heart size, which may further increase the diameter of the right ventricular outflow tract |

 Table 24.3
 Management of cyanotic spells [21, 43]

24.7.6 Antibiotic Prophylaxis

As per the American Heart Association (AHA) recommendations, antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent infective endocarditis (IE) is required for patients with different conditions (Table 24.4) [46]. Hence, appropriate IE prophylaxis should be given to the children with brain abscess, if indicated.

24.8 Preoperative Preparation

The general fasting rule of 2 h for clear liquids, 4 h for breast milk, 6 h for formula feeds, and 8 h for solid food is acceptable for children with congenital heart disease. Prolonged preoperative fast**Table 24.4** American Heart Association (AHA) recommendations for conditions requiring antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent infective endocarditis [46]

- · Patients with prosthetic cardiac valves
- Patients with prior infective endocarditis
- Patients with unrepaired or palliated cyanotic congenital heart disease including shunts and conduits
- Patients with congenital heart disease repair with prosthetic material or device placed by surgery or catheter intervention during the first 6 months after placement
- Patients with congenital heart disease repair with residual defect at the site or adjacent to the site of prosthetic patch or device that inhibits endothelialization
- Cardiac transplantation recipients who develop cardiac valvulopathy

ing should be avoided as dehydration can rapidly increase the hematocrit level, leading to symptomatic hyperviscosity. There are several benefits of starting IV fluid and oxygen supplementation. Glycopyrrolate causes less tachycardia than atropine and hence is preferred in patients with cardiac disease when the anti-sialogogue effect is desirable. Corticosteroids and anticonvulsants should be continued during the perioperative period. Generally, sedative premedicants are avoided in a child with an altered level of consciousness. For children with heart disease undergoing procedure, the neurosurgical oral midazolam is useful, which may induce sedation with little cardiovascular or respiratory effects compared to opiates [47]. There are several benefits of premedication with morphine in patients with TOF. However, morphine is contraindicated in neurosurgical patients due to its respiratory depressant action, which causes retention of carbon dioxide leading to increased ICP.

24.9 Anesthetic Techniques

As compared to the healthy patient population, a higher rate of perioperative complication and/or mortality has been observed in children with CCHD undergoing noncardiac surgeries. The factors responsible include age <2 years, emer-

gency surgery, children having severe cyanosis, poorly compensated congestive cardiac failure, and major cardiac anomalies [34, 48, 49]. Different surgical options available for brain abscess management are stereotactic aspiration, craniotomy, and neuroendoscopy. Likewise, the anesthetic techniques can be either general anesthesia (GA) or monitored anesthesia care (MAC). The choice of anesthetic technique depends on the clinical condition of the child as well as the type of surgery. Among the children who undergo aspiration of intracerebral abscess are those with significant midline shift or cerebral edema or those who had cyanotic spells, and these children may have relatively higher perioperative mortality or morbidity [50, 51]. Anxiety, pain, excessive cry, and struggle may trigger a cyanotic spell or further increase ICP. MAC is usually not a preferred option in children as they are uncooperative and psychologically not prepared. However, awake craniotomy can be an option for managing brain abscess in eloquent brain areas among cooperative adolescents [29, 30]. The key to successful management, in this case, is to have a thorough understanding of the physiological derangements and to modify the anesthetic techniques as per the need. In children with prior respiratory abnormalities, altered consciousness, significant midline shift, mass effect, cerebral edema, and deep-seated abscess, the choice is GA with controlled ventilation.

Standard monitors such as noninvasive blood pressure measurements, ECG, pulse oximetry, temperature monitoring, capnography, and arterial blood gas analysis are normally utilized. In addition, invasive monitoring such as arterial blood pressure, central venous pressure (on a case-to-case basis), and transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) may be needed depending upon the type of surgery. The anesthetic goals in such children should be the maintenance of oxygenation (both cerebral and systemic), hemodynamic stability, and cerebral perfusion pressure; prevention of further rise in ICP; prevention and management of cyanotic spells; and management of perioperative arrhythmias. The target also should be to decrease the R-L shunt as much as possible and avoid factors that increase systemic oxygen demand [32, 43]. This can be achieved with the maintenance of intravascular volume, systemic vascular resistance, and adequate hydration, provision of satisfactory sedation and analgesia, and avoidance of additional increase in pulmonary vascular resistance.

Anesthetic management of children with uncorrected CCHD requires a meticulous understanding of the factors that might influence the extent of R-L intracardiac shunt. An increase in R-L shunt may cause a decrease in pulmonary blood flow, thereby causing arterial hypoxemia. Factors responsible for the decrease in SVR, like volatile anesthetic agents, vasodilators, histaminereleasing drugs, β -adrenergic receptor agonists, α -adrenergic receptor antagonists, and hyperthermia, should be avoided. The anesthesiologist should have immediate access to medications that increases SVR, such as phenylephrine. Different neurosurgical positions may produce different effects on the SVR, which should be dealt with appropriately. An increase in PVR causes an increase in the magnitude of the R-L shunt. Hence, the factors that increase PVR, such as hypoxia, hypercarbia, hypothermia, excessive airway pressure, and metabolic acidosis, should be avoided. Increased myocardial contractility is another important factor that has to be avoided. It may increase resistance to right ventricular outflow due to resultant infundibular obstruction, thereby increasing the magnitude of R-L intracardiac shunt [43, 52, 53]. Hence, β -adrenergic receptor agonists are absolutely contraindicated. In fact, it is advisable to continue the β -blockers till the induction of anesthesia in children who received it to prevent cyanotic spells [52]. One should be aware of the possibility of migration of air bubbles into the systemic circulation. Therefore, every effort should be made to prevent the entry of even the slightest of air into the systemic circulation. Due to the presence of an R-L shunt, the onset of action of intravenously administered drugs may be quicker. Hence, IV anesthetics need to be administered in a slow, titrated manner. On the contrary, minimal amounts of the inhaled anesthetic agents reach the systemic circulation, thus delaying anesthesia

| Agent | Effect on SVR | Effect on PVR |
|----------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Propofol | Decrease | No effect/decrease |
| Ketamine | Increase/no effect | No effect/decrease |
| Thiopentone | Decrease | Increases |
| Etomidate | Decrease ^a /minimal effect | Minimal/no effect |
| Dexmedetomidine | Increase | Decrease/no effect |
| Midazolam | No/minimal effect | No/minimal effect |
| Morphine | Decrease | Increase/no effect |
| Fentanyl | Decrease/no effect | No effect |
| Nitrous oxide ^b | No effect | No effect |
| Potent volatile agents | Decrease | Decrease/no effect |

 Table 24.5
 Effects of different anesthetic agents on systemic and pulmonary vasculature [53–59]

^aEtomidate also causes a decrease in SVR, but as compared to propofol and thiopentone, the magnitude of the decrease is less, and the SVR returns to baseline values faster than thiopentone and propofol

^bNitrous oxide has little effect on pulmonary hemodynamics in infants, with or without pulmonary hypertension. However, it increases PVR in adults with pulmonary hypertension

induction. Different anesthetic agents have different effects on systemic and pulmonary circulation (Table 24.5).

The evidence in favor of any particular anesthetic agent in children with CCHD and brain abscess is limited. However, the anesthetic technique should be designed in such a way that it prevents a sudden remarkable change in intracardiac shunt, myocardial contractility, SVR, PVR, ICP, or compromise in CPP. Intravenous induction is favorable owing to delay in the onset of action of inhaled agents and potential cardiovascular depressant effect of potent inhalational anesthetics, which are to be utilized at high concentrations during induction. Hence, it is wiser to obtain IV access before induction of anesthesia, if possible. Based on its favorable effects on the SVR and PVR, ketamine is the ideal agent for induction anesthesia in children with CCHD. It is the induction agent of choice when a decrease of SVR is unwarranted and also in children with pulmonary hypertension [60]. However, ketamine is not a preferred agent in neuroanesthesia practice, especially in cases where the ICP is raised or the intracranial compliance is altered. Nevertheless, in the absence of increased ICP or altered cerebral compliance, ketamine can safely be used. Etomidate is a good alternative with its less deleterious cardiovascular effects (Table 24.5). The concerns of adrenal suppression with etomidate are not significant in clinical practice, and the effect usually lasts up to 24 h

[56, 61]. It is worthwhile noting that whatever induction agent is used, it has to be injected slowly with titrated doses in order to avoid sudden hemodynamic changes.

For the maintenance of anesthesia, both isoflurane and sevoflurane can be used; they have a minimal effect on myocardial contractility or shunt fraction [60]. Halothane decreases myocardial contractility and maintains SVR and hence a good agent for these patients [43]. However, it has unfavorable effects on cerebral physiology and ICP, and hence it is not preferred in patients with intracranial pathology. There are limited data regarding the effect of desflurane in children with CCHD. The use of nitrous oxide is controversial in the setting of increased ICP or deranged intracranial compliance. There are chances of paradoxical air embolism in these children; hence, nitrous oxide should not be used, particularly when there is an obvious risk of VAE s (e.g., right-to-left shunt). In cases of TGAs, delivery of high-inspired oxygen concentration is desirable, and hence nitrous oxide is better to be avoided. Opioids or benzodiazepine can be used to maintain anesthesia with precautions to avoid decrement of systemic blood pressure and SVR. Muscle relaxants with histamine-releasing potential are to be avoided as they may decrease SVR. Pancuronium is considered a good muscle relaxant in these children as it minimally affects systemic blood pressure and SVR. However, its prolonged duration of action is undesirable in cases where early recovery is necessary.

Controlled mode mechanical ventilation is preferred, and care should be taken to avoid excessive positive airway pressure, which may increase the resistance to pulmonary blood flow. Hypercarbia has deleterious effects on cerebral physiology and increases PVR; hence, it should be avoided. Normocarbia is desirable, and prolonged hyperventilation is also avoided. Dehydration is detrimental to these children and adequate intravascular volume has to be maintained. Isotonic crystalloid remains the maintenance fluid of choice. Blood and blood products may be required depending upon the magnitude of blood loss. Whenever possible fresh-packed RBCs are to be used. As these children present with erythrocytosis, blood replacement is not considered until 20-25% of intravascular blood volume is lost [34, 52]. Ideally, glucosecontaining fluid is avoided in a neurosurgical setting, but hypoglycemia is undesirable. Glucose supplementation is required in sick pediatric patients, and it is better to monitor intraoperative blood glucose levels for guidance. Hyperosmolar agents are often used in neurosurgical settings which can cause dehydration if the intravascular volume is not well maintained. In addition, there are certain hemodynamic effects of mannitol infusion, which may be undesirable. The data on the use of hypertonic saline in this subset of patients lacks any recommendation. It is prudent to keep a watch on hemodynamic parameters during the administration of hyperosmolar agents. Both hypo- and hyperthermia are considered harmful; normothermia should be ensured with appropriate measures. If there are no concerns, early tracheal extubation is preferred to prevent further reduction in pulmonary blood flow due to prolonged mechanical ventilation.

Two serious intraoperative complications need special mention in these cases: VAE and intraoperative cyanotic spells. The management of VAE is beyond the scope of this chapter. Intraoperative cyanotic spells can occur in these patients, which needs to be managed appropriately (Table 24.3) [62]. Major causes of intraoperative cyanotic spells are inadequate depth of anesthesia and hypovolemia. A decrease in saturation during a cyanotic spell is often preceded by a decrease in $EtCO_2$ and an increase in $PaCO_2$ and $EtCO_2$ gradient due to the decrease in pulmonary blood flow. A similar picture may also occur with VAE and severe hypotension. It is sometimes tricky, but it is important to distinguish these conditions as their management strategies are different.

These children should be managed in the neurosurgical ICU during the postoperative period. Invasive monitoring should be continued until the child is hemodynamically stable. Postoperative management should focus on the maintenance of hemodynamics; oxygenation, and ICP; seizure control; and adequate postoperative analgesia.

24.10 Conclusion

Brain abscess is a dreadful complication associated with CCHD in children. Anesthetic management in a case of CCHD with brain abscess can be challenging for the anesthesiologists who have to simultaneously meet the demands of both the heart and brain without jeopardizing either. A clear understanding of cardiovascular and intracerebral pathophysiology is essential for a successful outcome in these children.

Conflict of Interest None to declare.

References

- Moorthy RK, Rajshekhar V. Management of brain abscess: an overview. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;24(6):E3.
- Fischbein CA, Rosenthal A, Fischer EG, Nadas AS, Welch K. Risk factors for brain abscess in patients with congenital heart disease. Am J Cardiol. 1974;34:97–102.
- Sheehan JP, Jane JA, Ray DK, Goodkin HP. Brain abscess in children. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;24(6):E6.
- 4. Yang SY. Brain abscess associated with congenital heart disease. Surg Neurol. 1989;31(3):129–32.
- Takeshita M, Kagawa M, Izawa M, Takakura K. Current treatment strategies and factors influencing outcome in patients with bacterial brain abscess. Acta Neurochir. 1998;140:1263.e70.
- Tekkök IH, Erbengi A. Management of brain abscess in children. Review of 130 cases over a period of 21 years. Childs Nerv Syst. 1992;8:411.e6.

- Kagawa M, Takeshita M, Yato S, Kitamura K. Brain abscesses in congenital cyanotic heart disease. J Neurosurg. 1983;58:913.e7.
- Takeshita M, Kagawa M, Yonetani H, Izawa M, Yato S, Nakanishi T, Monma K. Risk factors for brain abscess in patients with congenital cyanotic heart disease. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1992;32(9): 667–70.
- Chakraborty RN, Bidwai PS, Kak VK, Banarjee AK, Khattri HN, Sapru RP, et al. Brain abscess in cyanotic congenital heart disease. Indian Heart J. 1989;41(3):190–3.
- Roche M, Humphreys H, Smyth E, Phillips J, Cunney R, McNamara E, O'Brien D, McArdl O. A twelveyear review of central nervous system bacterial abscesses; presentation and aetiology. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2003;9(8):803–9.
- Lumbiganon P, Chaikitpinyo A. Antibiotics for brain abscesses in people with cyanotic congenital heart disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;2013(3):CD004469. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD004469.pub3.
- Saez-Llorens XJ, Umana MA, Odio CM, McCracken GH Jr, Nelson JD. Brain abscess in infants and children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1989;8:449–58.
- Menon S, Bharadwaj R, Chowdhary A, Kaundinya DV, Palande DA. Current epidemiology of intracranial abscesses: a prospective 5-year study. J Med Microbiol. 2008;57(Pt 10):1259–68.
- Brouwer MC, Coutinho JM, van de Beek D. Clinical characteristics and outcome of brain abscess: systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurology. 2014;82(9):806–13.
- Tseng JH, Tseng MY. Brain abscess in 142 patients: factors influencing outcome and mortality. Surg Neurol. 2006;65(6):557–62.
- Sharma BS, Gupta SK, Khosla VK. Current concepts in the management of pyogenic brain abscess. Neurol India. 2000;48:105–11.
- Frazier JL, Ahn ES, Jallo GI. Management of brain abscesses in children. Neurosurg Focus. 2008;24(6):E8.
- Muzumdar D, Jhawar S, Goel A. Brain abscess: an overview. Int J Surg. 2011;9(2):136–44.
- 19. Maston DD, Salam M. Brain abscess in congenital heart disease. Paediatrics. 1961;27:772.
- Raimondi AJ, Matsumoto S, Miller RA. Brain abscess in children with congenital heart disease I. J Neurosurg. 1965;23:588.
- Yetmen AT, Miyamoto SD, Sondheimer HM. Cardiovascular disease. In: Hay Jr WW, Levin MJ, Sondheimer JM, Deterding RR, editors. Current pediatric diagnosis and treatment. 17th ed. New York: Lange Medical Books/McGraw Hill; 2005. p. 558–624.
- 22. Bashore TM, Granger CB, Jackson KP, Patel MR. Heart disease. In: Papadakis MA, McPhee SJ, editors. Current medical diagnosis and treatment. 56th ed. New York: McGraw Hills Education; 2017. p. 322–438.

- Wong TT, Lee LS, Wang HS, Shen EY, Jaw WC, Chiang CH, et al. Brain abscesses in children—a cooperative study of 83 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 1989;5:19–24.
- Ciurea AV, Stoica F, Vasilescu G, Nuteanu L. Neurosurgical management of brain abscesses in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 1999;15:309–17.
- Wispelwey B, Scheld WM. Brain abscess. In: Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R, editors. Principles and practice of infectious diseases. 4th ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1995. p. 887–900.
- Lu CH, Chang WN, Lui CC. Strategies for the management of bacterial brain abscess. J Clin Neurosci. 2006;13:979–85.
- Chacko AG, Chandy MJ. Diagnostic and staged stereotactic aspiration of multiple bihemispheric pyogenic brain abscesses. Surg Neurol. 1997;8:278–83.
- Skrap M, Melatini A, Vassallo A, Sidoti C. Stereotactic aspiration and drainage of brain abscesses. Experience with 9 cases. Minim Invasive Neurosurg. 1996;39:108–12.
- 29. D'Antico C, Hofer A, Fassl J, Tobler D, Zumofen D, Steiner LA, Goettel N. Case report: emergency awake craniotomy for cerebral abscess in a patient with unrepaired cyanotic congenital heart disease. F1000Res. 2016;5:2521.
- Meng L, Weston SD, Chang EF, Gelb AW. Awake craniotomy in a patient with ejection fraction of 10%: considerations of cerebrovascular and cardiovascular physiology. J Clin Anesth. 2015;27(3):256–61.
- Longatti P, Perin A, Ettorre F, Fiorindi A, Baratto V. Endoscopic treatment of brain abscesses. Childs Nerv Syst. 2006;22:1447–50.
- Yumul R, Emdadi A, Moradi N. Anesthesia for noncardiac surgery in children with congenital heart disease. Sem Cardiothoracic Vasc Anesth. 2003;7(2):153–65.
- Vetter VL, Horowitz LN. Electrophysiologic residua and sequelae of surgery for congenital heart defects. Am J Cardiol. 1982;50(3):588–604.
- Raha A, Ganjoo P, Singh A, Tandon MS, Singh D. Surgery for brain abscess in children with cyanotic heart disease: anesthetic challenges. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2012;7:23–6.
- Tempe DK, Virmani S. Coagulation abnormalities in patients with cyanotic congenital heart disease. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2002;16:752–65.
- Wedemeyer AL, Edson JR, Krivit W. Coagulation in cyanotic congenital heart disease. Am J Dis Child. 1972;124:656–60.
- 37. Perloff JK, Rosove MH, Sietsema KE, Territo MC. Cyanotic congenital heart disease: a multisystem disorder. In: Perloff JK, Child JS, editors. Congenital heart diseases in adults. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders; 1998. p. 199–226.
- Rosove MH, Perloff JK, Hocking WG, Child JS, Canobbio MM, Skorton DJ. Chronic hypoxaemia and decompensated erythrocytosis in cyanotic congenital heart disease. Lancet. 1986;2(8502):313–5.
- 39. Linderkamp O, Klose HJ, Betke K, et al. Increased blood viscosity in patients with cyanotic con-

genital heart disease and iron deficiency. J Pediatr. 1979;95:567–9.

- Schmid-Schonbein H, Wells R, Goldstone J. Influence of deformability of human red cells upon blood viscosity. Circ Res. 1969;25:131–43.
- 41. Gaiha M, Sethi HP, Sudha R, Arora R, Acharya NR. A clinico-hematological study of iron deficiency anemia and its correlation with hyperviscosity symptoms in cyanotic congenital heart disease. Indian Heart J. 1993;45:53–5.
- 42. Rosenthal A, Nathan DG, Marty AT, Button LN, Miettinen OS, Nadas AS. Acute hemodynamic effects of red cell volume reduction in polycythemia of cyanotic congenital heart disease. Circulation. 1970;42:297–308.
- DiNardo JA. Tetralogy of Fallot. In: Yao FSF, editor. Anesthesiology problem oriented patient management. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. p. 903–24.
- DiNardo JA. Anesthesia for congenital heart disease. In: DiNardo JA, Zvara DA, editors. Anesthesia for cardiac surgery. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing; 2008. p. 167–251.
- Walker F, Mullen MJ, Woods SJ, Webb GD. Acute effects of 40% oxygen supplementation in adults with cyanotic congenital heart disease. Heart. 2004;90(9):1073–4.
- 46. Warnes CA, Williams RG, Bashore TM, Child JS, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, et al. ACC/AHA 2008 guidelines for the management of adults with congenital heart disease: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to develop guidelines for the management of adults with congenital heart disease). Circulation. 2008;118:2395–451.
- Levine MF, Hartley EJ, Macpherson BA. Oral midazolam premedication for children with congenital cyanotic heart disease. A comparative study. Can J Anaesth. 1993;40:682–3.
- Flick RP, Sprung J, Harrison TE, Gleich SJ, Schroeder DR, Hanson AC, et al. Perioperative cardiac arrests in children between 1988 and 2005 at a tertiary referral center: a study of 92 881 patients. Anesthesiology. 2007;106:226–37.
- Baum VC, Barton DM, Gutgesell HP. Influence of congenital heart disease on mortality after noncardiac surgery in hospitalized children. Pediatrics. 2000;105:332–5.

- Prusty GK. Brain abscesses in cyanotic heart disease. Indian J Pediatr. 1993;60:43–51.
- Atiq M, Ahmed US, Allana SS, Chishti NK. Clinical features and outcome of cerebral abscess in congenital heart disease. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2006;18:21–4.
- Steppan J, Maxwell BG. Congenital heart disease. In: Hines RL, Marschall KE, editors. Stoelting's anesthesia and co-existing disease. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2018. p. 129–49.
- 53. Lam JE, Lin EP, Alexy R, Aronson LA. Anesthesia and the pediatric cardiac catheterization suite: a review. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25:127–34.
- Junghare SW, Desurkar V. Congenital heart diseases and anaesthesia. Indian J Anaesth. 2017;61:744–52.
- 55. Criado A, Maseda J, Navarro E, Escarpa A, Avello F. Induction of anaesthesia with etomidate: haemodynamic study of 36 patients. Br J Anaesth. 1980;52:803–6.
- 56. Kaushal RP, Vatal A, Pathak R. Effect of etomidate and propofol induction on hemodynamic and endocrine response in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting/mitral valve and aortic valve replacement surgery on cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Card Anaesth. 2015;18:172–8.
- Boer F, Bovill JG, Ros P, van Ommen H. Effect of thiopentone, etomidate and propofol on systemic vascular resistance during cardiopulmonary bypass. Br J Anaesth. 1991;67:69–72.
- Khan KS, Hayes I, Buggy DJ. Pharmacology of anaesthetic agents: intravenous anaesthetic agents. Conti Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2014;14:100–5.
- Rich GF, Roos CM, Anderson SM, Daugherty MO, Uncles DR. Direct effects of intravenous anesthetics on pulmonary vascular resistance in the isolated rat lung. Anesth Analg. 1994;78:961–6.
- White MC, Peyton JM. Anaesthetic management of children with congenital heart disease for noncardiac surgery. Conti Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2012;12:17–22.
- De Jong A, Jaber S. Etomidate for anesthesia induction: friends or foe in major cardiac surgery? Crit Care. 2014;18:560.
- 62. Mishra N, Dube S, Kapoor I, Rath G, Bithal P. Anesthetic management of children with tetralogy of fallot undergoing craniotomy and evacuation of brain abscess. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26:508.



25

Anesthesia for Moyamoya Disease in Children

Kenji Yoshitani 💿

Key Points

- Moyamoya disease (MMD) is a chronic, progressive, occlusive cerebrovascular disease of the circle of Willis with unknown etiology, which predominantly occurs in Eastern Asia.
- The pathogenesis of MMD remains unknown and is diagnosed by angiography, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging.
- Clinical presentation of MMD is mainly as transient ischemic attack, headache, seizure, and hemorrhage in pediatric patients.
- Perioperative dehydration, and agitation leading to hypocapnia, should be avoided; premedication is necessary to prevent crying.
- Cerebrovascular reserve is important to prevent perioperative cerebral infarction.
- Perioperative normocapnia, normovolemia, and normotension are recommended.
- Maintenance of normal hematocrit (30%) is essential to prevent the deleterious effects of hemodilution as well as hyperviscosity.
- Total intravenous anesthesia is preferable to prevent the emergence of delirium; dexmedetomidine helps prevent it.

25.1 Introduction

Moyamoya disease (MMD) is a chronic, occlusive cerebrovascular disease of the circle of Willis with unknown etiology predominantly seen in Eastern Asia. The estimated annual prevalence and incidence of MMD in Japan are 3.16 and 0.35 per 100,000 population, respectively [1]. It has a female predominance, with a female/male ratio of 1.8:1 [2]. On the other hand, the incidence of MMD in the United States is 298 patients in California and Washington (0.086/100,000). The estimated incidence in European countries is approximately one-tenth of that in Japan [3, 4]. Takeuchi and Shimizu from Japan (1957) were the first to describe this condition as "hypogenesis of bilateral internal carotid arteries" [5]. Later on (1969), Suzuki and Takaku described it as moyamoya disease in English literature. MMD is a progressive disorder; bypass surgery (revascularization) remains the treatment of choice [6].

25.1.1 Moyamoya Disease Versus Moyamoya Syndrome

Moyamoya syndrome can be defined as patients who, along with the characteristic moyamoya vasculopathy, also present with recognized associated conditions such as sickle cell disease, neurofibromatosis type 1, previous therapeutic irradiation of skull, Down's syndrome, congeni-

K. Yoshitani (🖂)

Department of Transfusion and Department of Anesthesiology, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center, Osaka, Japan e-mail: ykenji@ncvc.go.jp

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_25

tal cardiac anomalies, renal artery stenosis, giant cervicofacial hemangiomas, or hyperthyroidism. This may also be considered moyamoya secondary to the primary condition, distinguished from MMD. The pathogenesis of cerebral vasculopathy seen in MMD is usually a part of the underlying disease/syndrome. Moyamoya syndrome differs from MMD in clinical presentations, the natural history and course, and treatment considerations. It is to be kept in mind that the term Moyamoya phenomenon is simply used to describe the characteristic vasculopathy features of the condition on angiography regardless of the cause. Bilaterality and no associated conditions described above are characteristic of MMD, whereas unilateral presentation and any of the abovementioned conditions favor the diagnosis of moyamoya syndrome [7].

25.2 Pathophysiology of Moyamoya Disease

The prevalence of MMD shows an ethnic difference. MMD may be associated with genetic inheritance with multiple chromosomes being involved: 3p24.2-p26, 6q25, 8q23, 12p12, and 17q25 [8-10]. An autosomal dominant mode of inheritance is suggested with low penetrance or polygenic mode [8]. The pathogenesis of the disease remains unknown. The histopathological changes in major intracranial arteries, the carotid artery, and the middle cerebral artery terminations in patients with MMD are eccentric fibrocellular thickening of the vascular intima resulting from the proliferation of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and fibrosis leading to the vessel occlusion from hyperplasia of smooth muscle cells and thrombosis, suggesting the involvement of various growth factors as well [11].

MMD is characterized by moyamoya vessels, which are basically a network of fragile collateral vessels at the brain's base. These moyamoya collaterals are perforating arteries that, on histopathological examination, show different features like fibrin deposits in their walls, fragmented elastic lamina, and attenuated media. It is believed that arterial stenosis due to regional brain hypoxia induces the production of moyamoya collaterals [12]. In addition to the moyamoya vessels, increased microvascular density and diameter—a finding referred to as cortical microvascularization and responsible for regulating cortical perfusion is suggested to be specific to MMD [13, 14].

25.3 Clinical Presentation

MMD has two peaks in terms of age distribution, the first in young children around 6 years old and the second in young adults. The two main clinical features of MMD are ischemic attacks and intracranial hemorrhage. Ischemic symptoms are the most common clinical presentation across all age groups, while hemorrhage, though less common overall, is found in the adult population. Ischemic features include transient ischemic attacks (TIAs) and cerebral infarctions [1]. The brain is rapidly developing in children under 6 years of age, resulting in a relatively high cerebral metabolic oxygen ratio and, thus, higher cerebral blood flow (CBF) [15]. Pediatric patients with MMD have lower CBF than healthy children [16], and they, therefore, develop TIAs more frequently. It is important to prevent and adequately treat ischemic attacks in such children. In addition, headache, seizure, and involuntary movement are also common presentations. Others include hemiparesis, dysarthria/aphasia, and cognitive impairments. Intracranial hemorrhage occurs due to the fragility of the collateral vessels and is rarely found in Asian countries [17].

25.4 Diagnosis

The diagnostic criteria of MMD include [1] steno-occlusive changes at the terminal portion of the internal carotid artery (ICA), which may or may not be associated with similar findings at the proximal portion of the anterior cerebral artery (ACA) and/or middle cerebral arteries (MCAs),

and [2] demonstration of a network of abnormal vessels in the vicinity of the occlusive or stenotic lesions in the artery by digital subtraction angiography (DSA). The diagnosis of MMD requires that both these findings be present bilaterally. The steno-occlusive disorder may be associated with compensatory collateral networking of vessels in the base of the brain, angiographically described as a "puff of smoke," from which the term moyamoya (in Japanese) is derived.

Although DSA is the gold standard diagnostic modality for MMD, the steno-occlusive changes of the circle of Willis can also be reliably demonstrated with magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) and three-dimensional computed tomography angiography (3D-CTA). Especially in pediatric cases, MRA would be preferred compared with invasive DSA. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used to demonstrate acute or chronic infarcts with diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) or T1-/T2-weighted imaging, respectively. More significant findings suggestive of MMD include the "ivy sign" and demonstration of flow voids. Ivy sign refers to the linear high-intensity signals that follow a sulcal pattern, as seen in fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) sequences due to the reduced cortical blood flow. Flow voids in MRI are common in the stenotic vessels (ICA, MCA, ACA) and also in the region of basal ganglia and thalamus from the collateral vessels (Fig. 25.1) [18, 19].

25.5 Electroencephalography

The role of electroencephalography (EEG) in MMD is restricted to screening in children and not for specific diagnosis. "Re-build-up" phe-



Fig. 25.1 Imaging in moyamoya disease: (a, b) Axial T2 MRI sections showing multiple basal collaterals with nonvisualization of both terminal ICAs (long white arrows). (c) Axial FLAIR image showing multiple collaterals in sulcal space suggestive of "ivy sign" (long white arrows). (d) Time of flight MR angiography (technique to visualize flow within vessels without the need for contrast) of circle of Willis showing non-visualization of the both terminal ICAs with multiple basal and pial collaterals (long white arrows). (\mathbf{e} , \mathbf{f} .) Right and left carotid angiogram (DSA) in AP projection showing non-visualization of the both terminal ICAs with multiple basal collaterals (short thick arrows) (Suzuki grade III). (\mathbf{g} , \mathbf{h}) Right vertebral angiogram lateral and AP projections with multiple compensatory pial collaterals, forming the anterior circulation (short thick arrows) (Suzuki grade III) nomenon is a rare yet, well-recognized EEG phenomenon in a child with MMD. It is characterized by a slowing of frequency and appearance of slow waves that appear after attenuation of the ordinary build-up, which is the appearance of monorhythmic high-voltage generalized slow activities during hyperventilation. It occurs because of the reduced cerebrovascular reserve.

25.6 Other Diagnostics

25.6.1 Cerebrovascular Reserve

To prevent perioperative ischemic stroke, cerebrovascular reserve should be evaluated before surgery. Cerebral angiography and MRA are used for classifying the stage of MMD according to Suzuki's angiographic classification, which is categorized into five stages [6] (Table 25.1). However, since neither modality can evaluate cerebral hemodynamics, these must be assessed with functional neuroimaging techniques such as ¹⁵O-positron emission tomography (PET) and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT).

Misery perfusion, defined as an increased oxygen extraction fraction according to ¹⁵O-PET, indicates that oxygen transport and supply are insufficient to compensate for reduced CBF and oxygen extraction is increased as a result (Fig. 25.2). Misery perfusion is thought to indicate impaired cerebral hemodynamics and is an operative sign of revascularization [20]. Whether it occurs unilaterally or bilaterally is important for preventing ischemic stroke. Anesthesiologists should carefully monitor preoperative functional neuroimaging results.

Table 25.1 Classification of moyamoya disease by angiographic features

| Stage | Details |
|---------|-------------------------------------|
| Stage 1 | Narrowing of the carotid fork |
| Stage 2 | Initiation of moyamoya vessels |
| Stage 3 | Intensification of moyamoya vessels |
| Stage 4 | Minimization of moyamoya vessels |
| Stage 5 | Reduction of moyamoya vessels |
| Stage 6 | Disappearance of moyamoya vessels |

25.7 Medical Management

The goals of treatment in MMD are to prevent the aggravation of cerebral ischemia, prevent the recurrence of ischemic attacks, and ameliorate the symptoms. Neither medical nor surgical modalities reverse the previously existing cerebral ischemia.

Pharmacological management involves the use of antiplatelet, anti-epileptic and calcium channel blocking (CCB) agents. Antiplatelets like aspirin are used to prevent embolism from microthrombi seen at the stenotic regions. Controversies exist regarding its use in MMD as the cause of stroke in this condition is not thromboembolic; rather, it occurs due to hemodynamic phenomena [21, 22]. CCBs are used to reduce symptoms like headaches or migraines. It is essential to use them cautiously as their hypotensive effect can reduce cerebral perfusion in the absence of autoregulation [23]. The medical treatment does not prevent the progression of adult MMD. In a previous study, the 5-year risk of recurrent ipsilateral stroke in MMD patients who were treated surgically was 17%, while in conservatively treated symptomatic patients, the risk was 65% in those with unilateral disease and 85% in those with bilateral disease [24]. Therefore, pediatric MMD patients with recurrent or progressive TIAs are candidates for surgery, mainly superficial temporal artery (STA) to middle cerebral artery (MCA) anastomosis (bypass).

25.8 Surgical Treatment: Direct Versus Indirect Bypass

The basis of surgical management is to use the external carotid artery as a blood flow source to the cerebral cortex (revascularization). There are many different operative techniques, but surgery is basically classified as a direct and indirect revascularization procedure (Table 25.2). Direct procedures result in an immediate increase in CBF, while several weeks are required before a significant change is seen with indirect procedures. Multiple factors decide the choice of procedure like patient's age, anatomical size of the vessels, preoperative hemodynamics (CBF and



Fig. 25.2 Schematic diagram of misery perfusion. *CBF* cerebral blood flow; *CBV* cerebral blood volume; *CVMR* cerebro-vasomotor reactivity; *OEF* oxygen extraction ratio. As stenosis becomes more severe, cerebral perfusion pressure decreases. To keep cerebral blood flow con-

stant, small arterioles dilate, thus increasing cerebral blood volume. Further stenosis causes CBF reduction and an increase in the oxygen extraction ratio, called misery perfusion

| Procedure | Details |
|----------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Direct bypass surgery | Most performed superficial temporal artery (STA) to middle cerebral artery (MCA) bypass surgery |
| Encephaloduroarteriosynangiosis (EDAS) [25] | A favorable indirect revascularization procedure in which the STA is mobilized and then sutured to the edges of the opened dura, which is often combined with STA-MCA bypass |
| Pial synangiosis [26] | Pial synangiosis is a procedure rerouting healthy scalp blood vessels to the brain, bypassing the narrowed vessels of moyamoya, which is performed in pediatric cases |
| Encephalomyosynangiosis (EMS) [27] | A surgical procedure performed most commonly in pediatric moyamoya disease as indirect revascularization to bypass the occlusive terminal internal carotid and/or circle of Willis vessels promotes collateral vessel formation |
| Encephaloduroarteriomyosynangiosis (EDAMS) [28] | Combination of EDAS and EMS |

 Table 25.2
 Surgical procedures for moyamoya disease

status of cerebral vasculature), and the degree of preoperative conditions. Historically, direct procedures were reserved for adult patients as the smaller caliber of vessels made the procedure technically difficult in children. Nowadays, with the advent of better diagnostic and surgical techniques, many centers perform direct revascularization in feasible children.

25.9 Preoperative Management

The major goal of perioperative management in MMD is to maintain adequate cerebral perfusion. Any undue increase or decrease in hemodynamic parameters alters cerebral perfusion and results in ischemic or hemorrhagic manifestations. Several factors influence perioperative management and are discussed below.

25.9.1 Dehydration

Higher CBF is required to supply sufficient oxygen to developing brain tissue, but CBF is decreased in children with MMD [15, 16]. Preoperative dehydration due to fasting should be avoided. To help prevent hypovolemia, aggressive preoperative intravenous (IV) hydration beginns on the day before surgery is recommended [29]. This administration route enables rapid induction of anesthesia in patients with MMD, which helps prevent crying.

25.9.2 Review of Medications

It is critical to review the chronic medications taken by patients with MMD. Aspirin, antiseizure medications, and anti-hypertensives like calcium channel blockers, which are used to prevent vasospasm, should be continued until the day of surgery. Because the serum concentrations increase rapidly after oral administration, aspirin can be administered intraoperatively via a gastric tube to treat acute thrombus formation in the bypass graft. Aspirin treatment is normally resumed on the first postoperative day.

25.9.3 Premedication

Premedication has been widely used to prevent crying before the induction of anesthesia. Crying leads to hypocapnia with cerebral vasoconstriction, reduced CBF, and cerebral ischemia. We previously reported that premedication was not associated with postoperative transient neurologic events (TNEs) [30]. Although no clear evidence has supported the use of premedication for MMD, midazolam is frequently used as premedication in these groups of children [31]. Regarding postoperative analgesia, clonidine may be effective in children. A Cochrane Database Systematic Review reported that clonidine could have a beneficial effect on postoperative pain in children [32], and it may therefore be effective as premedication. We believe that premedication is beneficial to prevent crying.

25.9.4 Induction of Anesthesia

Induction of anesthesia must be smooth, ensuring maintenance of hemodynamic parameters within baseline levels to prevent any increase in intracranial pressure (ICP) and at the same time to ensure adequate depth of anesthesia. Both intravenous and inhalational induction techniques can be used in children, but it is important to prevent hyperventilation. After establishing an intravenous line, the use of opioids and lidocaine to prevent hemodynamic responses to laryngoscopy and intubation may be beneficial. Non-depolarizing neuromuscular blocking agents with less histamine release are to be preferred for maintenance of hemodynamic stability [33, 34].

25.10 Intraoperative Anesthetic Management

25.10.1 Monitoring

Apart from the standard American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) techniques, other important techniques such as invasive arterial blood pressure measurement, electroencephalography, and cerebral oximetry are employed frequently in patients with MMD. Capnography is one of the most important assessments because $PaCO_2$ should be titrated to achieve normocapnia. The other intraoperative goals are to maintain normothermia and normotension, prevent hypoxia, and maintain normal hematocrit. The hematocrit of 30–42% is suggested to maintain adequate oxygen supply to the brain [35].

25.10.2 Partial Pressure of Arterial Carbon Dioxide (PaCO₂)

The role of carbon dioxide as a potent modulator of the tone of cerebral vessels is well-known. It influences CBF in the setting of ventilator use and is a major determinant of neurologic complications in MMD [36]. By increasing cerebral blood volume, vasodilation compensates for reduced CBF in the context of reduced cerebral perfusion pressure (Fig. 25.2). Generally, hypercapnia increases CBF by vasodilating healthy vessels. However, already dilated diseased vessels to compensate for reduced CBF could not dilate. Furthermore, the blood flow moves to dilate healthy vessels from the already dilated vessels, known as the steal phenomenon. Hypercapnia-induced reductions in blood flow have been observed with intraoperative regional CBF monitoring [37]. As the collateral vessels which are responsible for perfusion of these regions are already maximally dilated, they are unable to dilate with hypercapnia [38]. We need to take care to maintain normocapnia to prevent intraoperative ischemia.

25.10.3 Blood Pressure

Invasive arterial pressure monitoring is mandatory to maintain blood pressure within ageappropriate target ranges. The habitual blood pressure level in patients with MMD is lower target range of intraoperative blood pressure, and CBF is completely pressure-dependent due to loss of autoregulation in ischemic regions [39].

25.10.4 Cerebral Oximetry (Near-Infrared Spectroscopy)

There have been few reports of intraoperative monitoring of regional cerebral oxygen saturation (rSO₂), but Lin et al. reported reduced rSO₂ during the *re-build-up phenomenon* typically due to hyperventilation-induced hypocapnia in patients with MMD [40]. In this phenomenon, EEG shows slow polymorphous high voltage in the frontal lobes, whether unilaterally or bilaterally.

Cerebral oximetry devices have been developed that can be used in STA-MCA bypass [41]. The usefulness of rSO_2 in STA-MCA bypass has not been reported but should be demonstrated soon.

Furthermore, rSO_2 has been used to evaluate cerebrovascular autoregulation in pediatric MMD [42]. Impaired autoregulation was observed when rSO_2 increased as a result of elevated blood pressure. This technique has been applied in cardiac surgery and may be effective in neuroanesthesia.

25.10.5 Anesthetic Agents

During the anesthetic management for revascularization surgery, it is crucial to prevent cerebral infarction perioperatively in children presented with TIAs. Anesthesia is normally maintained intravenously using propofol or with volatile agents, sevoflurane or desflurane. There is no definitive recommendation regarding which approach is better for patients with MMD. However, volatile anesthetic agents increase intracranial pressure (ICP) more than propofol (Tables 25.3 and 25.4); in one craniotomy study, the subdural pressure was 5.8 ± 4.6 mmHg with propofol and 9.4 ± 6.6 mmHg with sevoflurane (p < 0.05) [43]. The effect of inhalational anesthesia on regional CBF was also examined in patients with MMD [44]. Isoflurane may reduce the regional cortical blood flow levels, provoking the intracranial steal phenomenon (Table 25.2). Based on the above findings, propofol is recommended during revascularization in pediatric

| | Propofol | Isoflurane | Sevoflurane |
|--------------------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|
| MAP (mmHg) | 87 ± 13 | 71 ± 12 | 74 ± 11 |
| Subdural pressure (mmHg) | 5.8 ± 4.6 | 9.8 ± 6.3* | 9.4 ± 6.6* |
| CPP (mmHg) | 82 ± 14 | 61 ± 11* | $64 \pm 10^{*}$ |
| PaCO ₂ (mmHg) | 28.5 ± 3.0 | 29.3 ± 2.3 | 30.8 ± 3.0* |
| SjO ₂ (%) | 52 ± 11 | 57 ± 12* | 56 ± 12* |

 Table 25.3
 Intracranial pressure and cerebral hemodynamics in patients with cerebral tumors: difference among anesthetic agents

Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. *MAP* mean arterial pressure; *CPP* cerebral perfusion pressure; *SjO*₂ jugular bulb oxygen saturation. *p < 0.05

This table has been modified from Anesthesiology 2003; 98:329-36

 Table 25.4
 Effect of inhalational anesthesia on cerebral circulation in moyamoya disease

| | Propofol | Isoflurane | <i>p</i> -Value |
|----------------------------------|----------------|--------------|-----------------|
| Parietal middle (mL/100 g/min) | 14.3 ± 8.3 | 10.1 ± 7.0 ↓ | 0.006 |
| Parietal inferior (mL/100 g/min) | 15.8 ± 5.2 | 12.4 ± 7.0 ↓ | 0.004 |
| SjO ₂ (%) | 57 ± 9.8 | 67 ± 8.5 ↑ | 0.0006 |

*SjO*₂ jugular bulb oxygen saturation. $\uparrow\downarrow$: *p* < 0.05

This table has been modified from J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11(1):25-30

patients with MMD. Another benefit of propofol is that it causes less agitation than inhalational anesthetic agents. This topic is discussed in the next section.

25.10.6 Emergence Delirium

Crying after surgery is associated with transient neurological deficits in children with MMD [30]. To prevent crying, it is imperative to avoid emergence delirium (ED). It has been observed that the incidence of crying or restlessness in the recovery room in children (10 months to 6 years of age) was up to 30% upon arrival and in the first 10 min of awakening [45].

Risk factors for ED were found to be the age of the patient, mental state, postoperative pain, anesthesia technique, and surgical procedure [46]. Generally, children less than 6 years of age belonging to either gender, those with active, impulsive, emotional, or unsociable personalities who use volatile anesthetic agents (sevoflurane or desflurane) are associated with increased risk of ED [47]. Regional anesthesia, combined with general anesthesia, reduced the incidence of ED. In a study on surgery for inguinal hernia in children, the combination of caudal block and sevoflurane anesthesia significantly reduced the incidence of ED [48–50]. Propofol is a preferable anesthetic in pediatric patients with MMD. Pain control is also crucial for preventing ED.

Pharmacological therapy, for instance, with sedatives, effectively reduces the incidence of ED. In children with MMD, sedation administration after extubation has significantly lowered the incidence of transient neurological events [30]. Generally, to confirm whether intraoperative motor deficits have occurred, neurosurgeons require anesthesiologists to extubate immediately after the surgery is over. To avoid ED, a sedative agent is started just before the end of the procedure. Dexmedetomidine, a highly selective alpha-2 agonist with both analgesic and hypnotic properties and a weak respiratory depressant effect, is suitable for postoperative sedation. Intravenous administration of dexmedetomidine during the intraoperative period has been observed to reduce the incidence of ED in children [51]. Analgesic effects of alpha-2 agonists have been proposed to contribute to the lower incidence of ED in pediatric patients [52].

25.11 Postoperative Management

25.11.1 Postoperative Ischemic Complications

Postoperative ischemic complications occurred in 10.3% of pediatric patients with MMD. Risk factors for ischemic complications were preoperative infarct on CT, younger age, higher Suzuki grade, and posterior cerebral artery stenosis or occlusion [53].

25.11.2 Cerebral Hyperperfusion

Cerebral hyperperfusion was seen in 4.5% of patients who underwent surgical revascularization for MMD [54]. As stated in the previous section, post-extubation sedation was associated with a reduced incidence of transient neurological events [30]. Sedative agents for extubation would reduce the likelihood of ED and transient neurological events. Hyperperfusion may cause delayed intracranial hemorrhage postoperatively, which should be avoided. Kemayama and colleagues reported that 3.0% of revascularization patients with 270% increases in CBF had delayed intracranial hemorrhage compared with patients without cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome [54]. In addition to postoperative sedation, additional strategies should be explored for preventing postoperative hyperperfusion.

25.11.3 Pain Control

Pain can cause postoperative agitation and can also cause crying. Crying should be avoided as it causes hyperventilation and decreases cerebral blood flow. Multiple options are available to reduce postoperative pain. They include perioperative sedation, painless wound dressing techniques, or absorbable wound suture closures, which help reduce the incidence of strokes, TIAs, and length of stay [55].

25.12 Conclusion

Despite the higher prevalence of MMD, particularly in Asian countries, only a few reports are available on pediatric patients with MMD. Consequently, the evidence is limited concerning the anesthetic management for preventing perioperative ischemic events. Hence, the current practice of anesthetic management of MMD depends mostly on the opinions of experts. Under such circumstances, a continued focus on the upcoming literature may help optimize the anesthetic management of MMD in pediatric patients.

Conflict of Interest No conflict of interest to declare.

References

- Kuroda S, Houkin K. Moyamoya disease: current concepts and future perspectives. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(11):1056–66.
- Kuriyama S, Kusaka Y, Fujimura M, Wakai K, Tamakoshi A, Hashimoto S, et al. Prevalence and clinicoepidemiological features of moyamoya disease in Japan: findings from a nationwide epidemiological survey. Stroke. 2008;39(1):42–7.
- Uchino K, Johnston SC, Becker KJ, Tirschwell DL. Moyamoya disease in Washington State and California. Neurology. 2005;65(6):956–8.
- Yonekawa Y, Ogata N, Kaku Y, Taub E, Imhof HG. Moyamoya disease in Europe, past and present status. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 1997;99(Suppl 2):S58–60.
- Takeuchi K, Shimizu K. Hypoplasia of the bilateral internal carotid arteries. Brain Neve. 1957;9:37–43.
- Suzuki J, Takaku A. Cerebrovascular 'moyamoya' disease. Disease showing abnormal net-like vessels in base of brain. Arch Neurol. 1969;20(3):288–99.
- Phi JH, Wang K-C, Lee JY, Kim S-K. Moyamoya syndrome: a window of moyamoya disease. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2015;57(6):408–14.
- Mineharu Y, Liu W, Inoue K, Matsuura N, Inoue S, Takenaka K, et al. Autosomal dominant moyamoya disease maps to chromosome 17q25.3. Neurology. 2008;70(24 Pt 2):2357–63.
- Sakurai K, Horiuchi Y, Ikeda H, Ikezaki K, Yoshimoto T, Fukui M, et al. A novel susceptibility locus for moyamoya disease on chromosome 8q23. J Hum Genet. 2004;49(5):278–81.

- Yamauchi T, Tada M, Houkin K, Tanaka T, Nakamura Y, Kuroda S, et al. Linkage of familial moyamoya disease (spontaneous occlusion of the circle of Willis) to chromosome 17q25. Stroke. 2000;31(4):930–5.
- Kono S, Oka K, Sueishi K. Histopathologic and morphometric studies of leptomeningeal vessels in moyamoya disease. Stroke. 1990;21(7):1044–50.
- Takagi Y, Kikuta K-I, Sadamasa N, Nozaki K, Hashimoto N. Proliferative activity through extracellular signal-regulated kinase of smooth muscle cells in vascular walls of cerebral arteriovenous malformations. Neurosurgery. 2006;58(4):740–8; discussion 740–748.
- Czabanka M, Peña-Tapia P, Schubert GA, Woitzik J, Vajkoczy P, Schmiedek P. Characterization of cortical microvascularization in adult moyamoya disease. Stroke. 2008;39(6):1703–9.
- Bang OY, Fujimura M, Kim S-K. The pathophysiology of moyamoya disease: an update. J Stroke. 2016;18(1):12–20.
- Schöning M, Hartig B. Age dependence of total cerebral blood flow volume from childhood to adulthood. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16(5):827–33.
- 16. Kuroda S, Kamiyama H, Abe H, Yamauchi T, Kohama Y, Houkin K, et al. Cerebral blood flow in children with spontaneous occlusion of the circle of Willis (moyamoya disease): comparison with healthy children and evaluation of annual changes. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1993;33(7):434–8.
- Guzman R, Lee M, Achrol A, Bell-Stephens T, Kelly M, Do HM, et al. Clinical outcome after 450 revascularization procedures for moyamoya disease. Clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2009;111(5):927–35.
- Fujiwara H, Momoshima S, Kuribayashi S. Leptomeningeal high signal intensity (ivy sign) on fluid-attenuated inversion-recovery (FLAIR) MR images in moyamoya disease. Eur J Radiol. 2005;55(2):224–30.
- Yamada I, Matsushima Y, Suzuki S. Moyamoya disease: diagnosis with three-dimensional time-of-flight MR angiography. Radiology. 1992;184(3):773–8.
- Samson Y, Baron JC, Bousser MG, Rey A, Derlon JM, David P, et al. Effects of extra-intracranial arterial bypass on cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism in humans. Stroke. 1985;16(4):609–16.
- 21. Kraemer M, Berlit P, Diesner F, Khan N. What is the expert's option on antiplatelet therapy in moyamoya disease? Results of a worldwide Survey. Eur J Neurol. 2012;19(1):163–7.
- 22. Yamada S, Oki K, Itoh Y, Kuroda S, Houkin K, Tominaga T, et al. Effects of surgery and antiplatelet therapy in ten-year follow-up from the registry study of research committee on moyamoya disease in Japan. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2016;25(2):340–9.
- Scott RM, Smith ER. Moyamoya disease and moyamoya syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(12):1226–37.
- Hallemeier CL, Rich KM, Grubb RL, Chicoine MR, Moran CJ, Cross DT, et al. Clinical features and outcome in North American adults with moyamoya phenomenon. Stroke. 2006;37(6):1490–6.

- Matsushima Y, Fukai N, Tanaka K, Tsuruoka S, Inaba Y, Aoyagi M, et al. A new surgical treatment of moyamoya disease in children: a preliminary report. Surg Neurol. 1981;15(4):313–20.
- Hannon KE. Pial synangiosis for treatment of Moyamoya syndrome in children. AORN J. 1996;64(4):540–54; quiz 557–60.
- Karasawa J, Kikuchi H, Furuse S, Sakaki T, Yoshida Y. A surgical treatment of 'moyamoya' disease 'encephalo-myo synangiosis'. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 1977;17(1 Pt 1):29–37.
- Kinugasa K, Mandai S, Kamata I, Sugiu K, Ohmoto T. Surgical treatment of moyamoya disease: operative technique for encephalo-duro-arterio-myo-synangiosis, its follow-up, clinical results, and angiograms. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(4):527–31.
- Smith ER, Scott RM. Surgical management of moyamoya syndrome. Skull Base. 2005;15(1):15–26.
- 30. Matsuura H, Yoshitani K, Nakamori Y, Tsukinaga A, Takahashi JC, Nakai M, et al. Transient neurological events after surgery for pediatric moyamoya disease: a retrospective study of postoperative sedation practices. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2020;32(2):182–5.
- Baykan N, Ozgen S, Ustalar ZS, Dagçinar A, Ozek MM. Moyamoya disease and anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2005;15(12):1111–5.
- Lambert P, Cyna AM, Knight N, Middleton P. Clonidine premedication for postoperative analgesia in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;1:CD009633.
- Brown SC, Lam AM. Moyamoya disease—a review of clinical experience and anaesthetic management. Can J Anaesth. 1987;34(1):71–5.
- Parray T, Martin TW, Siddiqui S. Moyamoya disease: a review of the disease and anesthetic management. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2011;23(2):100–9.
- Kansha M, Irita K, Takahashi S, Matsushima T. Anesthetic management of children with moyamoya disease. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 1997;99(Suppl 2):S110–3.
- Soriano SG, Sethna NF, Scott RM. Anesthetic management of children with moyamoya syndrome. Anesth Analg. 1993;77(5):1066–70.
- Kurehara K, Ohnishi H, Touho H, Furuya H, Okuda T. Cortical blood flow response to hypercapnia during anaesthesia in Moyamoya disease. Can J Anaesth. 1993;40(8):709–13.
- Ikezaki K, Matsushima T, Kuwabara Y, Suzuki SO, Nomura T, Fukui M. Cerebral circulation and oxygen metabolism in childhood moyamoya disease: a perioperative positron emission tomography study. J Neurosurg. 1994;81(6):843–50.
- Zipfel GJ, Fox DJ, Rivet DJ. Moyamoya disease in adults: the role of cerebral revascularization. Skull Base. 2005;15(1):27–41.
- 40. Lin Y, Yoshiko K, Negoro T, Watanabe K, Negoro M. Cerebral oxygenation state in childhood moyamoya disease: a near-infrared spectroscopy study. Pediatr Neurol. 2000;22(5):365–9.

- Itoh M, Inagaki M, Koeda T, Takeshita K. Cerebral oxygenation in childhood moyamoya disease investigated with near-infrared spectrophotometry. Pediatr Neurol. 1994;10(2):149–52.
- Lee JK, Williams M, Jennings JM, Jamrogowicz JL, Larson AC, Jordan LC, et al. Cerebrovascular autoregulation in pediatric moyamoya disease. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23(6):547–56.
- 43. Petersen KD, Landsfeldt U, Cold GE, Petersen CB, Mau S, Hauerberg J, et al. Intracranial pressure and cerebral hemodynamic in patients with cerebral tumors: a randomized prospective study of patients subjected to craniotomy in propofol-fentanyl, isoflurane-fentanyl, or sevoflurane-fentanyl anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 2003;98(2):329–36.
- 44. Sato K, Shirane R, Kato M, Yoshimoto T. Effect of inhalational anesthesia on cerebral circulation in Moyamoya disease. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11(1):25–30.
- 45. Cole JW, Murray DJ, McAllister JD, Hirshberg GE. Emergence behaviour in children: defining the incidence of excitement and agitation following anaesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2002;12(5):442–7.
- Kanaya A. Emergence agitation in children: risk factors, prevention, and treatment. J Anesth. 2016;30(2):261–7.
- 47. Kain ZN, Caldwell-Andrews AA, Maranets I, McClain B, Gaal D, Mayes LC, et al. Preoperative anxiety and emergence delirium and postoperative maladaptive behaviors. Anesth Analg. 2004;99(6):1648–54, table of contents.
- 48. Aouad MT, Kanazi GE, Siddik-Sayyid SM, Gerges FJ, Rizk LB, Baraka AS. Preoperative caudal block prevents emergence agitation in children following sevoflurane anesthesia. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2005;49(3):300–4.

- 49. Demirbilek S, Togal T, Cicek M, Aslan U, Sizanli E, Ersoy MO. Effects of fentanyl on the incidence of emergence agitation in children receiving desflurane or sevoflurane anaesthesia. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2004;21(7):538–42.
- 50. Kuratani N, Oi Y. Greater incidence of emergence agitation in children after sevoflurane anesthesia as compared with halothane: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. 2008;109(2):225–32.
- 51. Pickard A, Davies P, Birnie K, Beringer R. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of intraoperative α₂-adrenergic agonists on postoperative behaviour in children. Br J Anaesth. 2014;112(6):982–90.
- 52. Tong Y, Ren H, Ding X, Jin S, Chen Z, Li Q. Analgesic effect and adverse events of dexmedetomidine as additive for pediatric caudal anesthesia: a meta-analysis. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(12):1224–30.
- 53. Muraoka S, Araki Y, Kondo G, Kurimoto M, Shiba Y, Uda K, et al. Postoperative cerebral infarction risk factors and postoperative management of pediatric patients with moyamoya disease. World Neurosurg. 2018;113:e190–9.
- 54. Kameyama M, Fujimura M, Tashiro R, Sato K, Endo H, Niizuma K, et al. Significance of quantitative cerebral blood flow measurement in the acute stage after revascularization surgery for adult moyamoya disease: implication for the pathological threshold of local cerebral hyperperfusion. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2019;48(3–6):217–25.
- Nomura S, Kashiwagi S, Uetsuka S, Uchida T, Kubota H, Ito H. Perioperative management protocols for children with moyamoya disease. Childs Nerv Syst. 2001;17(4–5):270–4.

Anesthesia for Pediatric Deep Brain Stimulation Surgery

26

Joseph Nascimento Monteiro, Bhoomika Thakore, and Kiran Jangra

Key Points

- Dystonia is the most common indication for deep brain stimulation in the pediatric population.
- Anesthetic implications are to provide optimal surgical conditions and patient comfort, with ideally no or minimal anesthetic interference to intraoperative microelectrode recording, including neuromonitoring for target localization with stable, controlled intraoperative hemodynamics.
- The choice of the anesthetic technique is individualized for safe and effective anesthesia.
- Good patient outcomes depend on team work, well-designed multidisciplinary consensus protocols, and systems.
- Several refinements and evolution of the surgical and the anesthetic techniques have been documented; future multicentric, collaborative trials will help formulate recommendations.

J. N. Monteiro (🖂) · B. Thakore

K. Jangra

26.1 Introduction

There is a broad spectrum of neurological illnesses in pediatric patients leading to movement disorders and finally affecting the developmental and functional capacities. Historically, functional neurological disorders like Parkinson's disease were treated with surgeries like thalamotomy, pallidotomy, and cingulotomy, which involved mainly the lesioning of deep brain structures. These procedures were irreversible and frequently associated with various permanent side effects [1]. Wertheimer, a psychologist, compiled a book on movement disorders for the first time, while Otfrid Foerster, a German neurologist and neurosurgeon, has been recognized as the pioneer of surgery for movement disorder. In 1960, advances in stimulator technology and Melzack and Wall's gate theory initiated a paradigm shift tiled the way for deep brain stimulation (DBS) [2]. In 1987, DBS was finally recognized as an alternative to the ablation procedures for reducing symptoms of Parkinson's disease [3]. Advantages like reversibility, the possibility of bilateral stimulation, ability to titrate the stimulation dose and safety, and long-term benefits have made DBS a favorable option for not only Parkinson's disease but also many functional neurosurgery procedures [4]. Various indications of DBS are tabulated in Table 26.1. The other indications are juvenile parkinsonism, Tourette's syndrome, pediatric obesity, epilepsy, and

Check for updates

Department of Anesthesiology, P D Hinduja National Hospital and Medical Research Centre, Mumbai, India

Division of Neuroanaesthesiology, Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_26

| Table 26.1 Indications for I | DBS |
|--------------------------------------|-----|
|--------------------------------------|-----|

| Co | mmon indications |
|-----|---------------------------------------------------------|
| 1. | Parkinson's disease |
| 2. | Dystonia: generalized, focal, tardive |
| 3. | Obsessive-compulsive disorder, Tourettes |
| 4. | Epilepsy |
| 5. | Pain: neuropathic, nociceptive, cluster headaches |
| 6. | Depression: major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder |
| 7. | Tremors: essential, post-traumatic, multiple |
| | sclerosis, post-stroke, rubral |
| Un | common indications |
| 1. | Post-traumatic stress disorder |
| 2. | Progressive supranuclear palsy |
| 3. | Obesity/anorexia |
| 4. | Addiction |
| 5. | Autism |
| 6. | Aggression |
| 7. | Persistent vegetative state, minimally conscious |
| | state |
| Pot | ential future indications |
| 1. | Alzheimer's disease |
| 2. | Tinnitus |
| 3. | Urinary incontinence |
| 4. | Anti-social behavior/morality |
| 5. | Hypertension |
| | |

obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) [5]. In the entire spectrum of childhood movement disorders, dystonia is the most common, most severe, and most challenging movement disorder. Dystonia is described here in detail, and other pathologies, where DBS is indicated in pediatric patients, are elaborated in Table 26.2. The management of movement disorder needs a multidisciplinary approach that includes a neurologist, neurosurgeon, neuroanesthesiologist, neuropsychologist, nursing staff, and physiotherapist to help in rehabilitation.

26.2 Dystonias

Dystonia is a group of movement disorders characterized by intermittent or sustained, abnormal muscle contractions and twisting movements resulting in painful and debilitating postures. These are classified as primary (idiopathic) or secondary (due to other pathologies, including stroke, cerebral palsy, and neurodegenerative diseases) [6]. Depending upon the clinical manifestations, primary dystonias can be generalized (involving muscles of the entire body), segmental (involving adjoining parts of the body), or focal (involving a single muscle or one group of muscles) [7].

To understand the pathophysiological changes in dystonia, one must understand the normal motor circuitry. Figure 26.1 provides the schematic diagram to understand the control of movements by basal ganglion [8]. This data is derived from neurophysiological and anatomical studies. The basal ganglia are a group of nuclei that include caudate nucleus and putamen (known as striatum), globus pallidus internal segment (GPi) and external segment (GPe), subthalamic nucleus (STN), and the pigmented substantia nigra (SNr), also known as the pars compacta (Fig. 26.2). The major function of the basal ganglion is planning and modulation of movements. Major inputs to basal ganglion originate in the cerebral cortex (motor and sensorimotor) and thalamic nuclei (centromedian and parafascicular nuclei). The nigrostriatal pathway (SNr to the striatum) synapses via dopaminergic type 1 (D1) receptors in direct (facilitatory) pathway neurons and via D2 receptors in indirect (inhibitory) pathway neurons. The outflow pathways from the basal ganglion are of two types, direct and indirect pathways. The direct pathway is output via GPi and SNr to the thalamus and brain stem. It is a monosynaptic inhibitory pathway, which acts through gamma-aminobutyric acid [GABA] neurotransmitter. The indirect (polysynaptic, excitatory) pathway is output via GPe and STN, where glutamate is a neurotransmitter. The GPi and SNr neurons tonically inhibit thalamocortical projection neurons of the thalamus (ventral anterior, ventrolateral, and intralaminar nuclei), and brain stem. Hence, increased basal ganglia output may decrease the movements, whereas reduced basal ganglia output may lead to the increased movement because of the disinhibition of these neurons.

In dystonia, the direct pathway appears to be overactive, resulting in less GPi activity and enhanced thalamocortical activation. It most probably leads to the changes in patterning and

_

| Disease | Clinical features | DBS target |
|-------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Dystonia | Syndrome of sustained muscle contractions, frequently causing Twisting Repetitive movements Painful, abnormal postures | Bilateral pallidal DBS |
| Tourette's syndrome | Chronic motor and vocal tics In combination with concomitant behavioral disorders including obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder | DBS: thalamus is the most common target (Cm-PoF and Voa) STN VC/VS NAc |
| Juvenile parkinsonism | Juvenile parkinsonism is defined as the development of: Parkinsonian symptoms or signs before the age of 21 Tremor Bradykinesia Focal dystonia | DBS of the STN and GPi has been highly successful |
| Pediatric psychiatric disorders OCD | Obsessional symptoms compulsive acts that cause distress and interfere with daily activities | Anterior capsule NAc STN Inferior thalamic peduncle VC/VS-DBS |
| Pediatric obesity | BMI >35 with a serious comorbidity BMI >40 with only mild comorbidities | Lateral and ventromedial hypothalamus NAc Rationale is based on hypothalamic involvement in homeostasis, feeding behavior, and energy expenditure For NAc is based on the reinforcing properties of high-calorie food |
| Epilepsy | Refractory to pharmacotherapy | Anterior nucleus of the thalamus |

Table 26.2 Indications of deep brain stimulation (DBS) in pediatric patients

DBS deep brain stimulation; *Cm-PoF* centromedian–parafascicular nuclear complex of the thalamus; *Voa* ventralisoralis complex; *STN* subthalamic nucleus; *VC/VS* ventral capsule/ventral striatum; *NAc* nucleus accumbens; *GPi* globus pallidus interna; *BMI* body mass index

synchrony of discharge, resulting in manifestations of the disease. There is a complex interplay of cholinergic internuncial neurons (excitatory) and dopamine (inhibitory) on the projection neurons.

This makes the basis of surgical treatment and DBS in dystonia. Surgical treatments involve lesioning of thalamic nuclei or the pallidum. These procedures are associated with a risk of severe complications, including hemiparesis and dysarthria [9, 10]. DBS is a more promising treatment modality in patients who are refractory to medical therapy.

The medical management includes anti-Parkinsonian, anticholinergic drugs, baclofen, or botulinum toxin injections, but these are only marginally effective [5, 11].

26.3 Deep Brain Stimulation (DBS)

DBS is approved for pediatric and adult patients with dystonia and should be considered only when conservative management has failed to control the symptoms optimally. Unlike pallidotomy, DBS is less damaging, reversible, and adjustable and has a lesser effect on cognitive and motor functions. Based on the pathophysiology of dystonia, the GPi is the common target of DBS



Fig. 26.1 Anatomy of basal ganglion. *GPe* globus pallidus externa; *GPi* globus pallidus interna; *STN* substantia nigra; *A* anterior; *MD* medial dorsal; *LD* lateral dorsal nuclei of thalamus

for dystonia [12–14]. It has been demonstrated that primary generalized dystonia (PGD) and segmental dystonia have a good response to bilateral pallidal DBS [15]. The outcomes of GPi-DBS are more favorable in pediatric patients with DYT1 mutation and focal cervical dystonia [16, 17]. In secondary dystonia, DBS is not very effective due to underlying neurodegenerative pathology.

Accurate electrode placement is important in determining the success of DBS. It is highly effective in controlling the rigidity, bradykinesias, dyskinesias, and tremors. The bilateral implants improve the gait quality and gait freezing effectively. It is more successful in younger patients with lesser disabilities. Currently, it is mostly performed stereotactically. DBS involves three surgical procedures and two magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) sessions. Various steps of the DBS procedure are depicted in Table 26.3 [18].

The entire procedure can be done on the same day or in two stages, where the internalization of the generator can be done on another day, generally within 3 days to 2 weeks of the intracranial insertion of the electrode. The overall result is the same, whether staged or same-day surgery is performed [19]. Frameless stereotaxy has also been used for DBS. Trajectories are planned preoperatively on a contrast-enhanced volumetric MRI. On the day of surgery, six skull fiducials are placed circumferentially around the skull and a thin cut computed tomographic (CT) scan obtained, which is merged with the preoperative MRI. The trajectory is manually aligned by a



Fig. 26.2 Circuits for the control of motor system. Dotted arrows indicate inhibitory (γ -aminobutyric acid [GABA]ergic) connections; solid arrows, excitatory (glutamatergic) connections. *CM* centromedian nucleus of thalamus; *CMAr* rostral portion of cingulate motor area; *CMAd* dorsal portion of cingulate motor area; *CMAv* ventral portion of cingulate motor area; *GPe* external segment of the globus pallidus; *GPi* globus pallidus interna; *M1* primary motor cortex; *Pf* parafascicular nucleus of the thalamus;

neuronavigation system and guide cannula placed above the target [20]. Microelectrode recording (MER) and intraoperative MRI confirm the lead placement. Robot-assisted frameless DBS has also been performed in a similar fashion. It has been shown to increase operational efficiency while improving accuracy and safety [21].

26.4 Anesthetic Challenges

DBS is usually opted in patients with severe dystonia. Such patients may be receiving multiple medications and are prone to drug interactions. Generally, the goal of anesthesia for the DBS procedure is to have immobile and awake patients. In awake patients, the MER is preserved, intraoperative testing can be done to improve symptoms with a stimulus, and unwanted neurologic or psychological side effects can be detected early. Dystonia surgeries are an exception and are

PMd dorsal premotor cortex; *PMv* ventral premotor cortex; *PPN* pedunculopontine nucleus; *SMA* supplementary motor area; *SNc* substantia nigra pars compacta; *SNr* substantia nigra pars reticulata; *STN* subthalamic nucleus; *VApc* ventral anterior nucleus of thalamus pars parvocellularis; *VLn* ventrolateral nucleus of thalamus pars medialis; *VLo* ventrolateral nucleus of thalamus pars oralis; *VLcr* ventrolateral nucleus of thalamus pars caudalis; *c* caudal; *cl* caudolateral; *d* dorsal

usually performed under general anesthesia. Due to abnormal postures and muscle contractions, patients may not be able to lie down for a prolonged period on the operating table. There may be an increased risk of movement or even fracture of the stereotactic fixation system. Pediatric dystonia is even more problematic as small children may not cooperate for the awake procedure, and heavy sedation may be needed that can prove fatal. GA is also not without problems. It interferes with clinical testing and assessment of adverse effects such as paresthesia or abnormal motor activity due to the damage of adjacent structures (internal capsule and medial lemniscus). If DBS is planned under GA, intraoperative MRI is essential for the electrodes' accurate placement [22]. The older children (adolescents) with preserved cognition may be the candidate for the awake procedure [23]. Thus, a suitable anesthetic plan should be discussed with the surgeon and the patient before the procedure.

| Step 1 | Frame fixation/ventricular implantation: a stereotaxic base ring together with a localizer is fixed to the patient's head (Fig. 26.3a) |
|--------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Step 2 | Targeting MRI: High-resolution images of the target area are obtained and transferred via Ethernet to the computer workstation, which is used to derive the target coordinates and pathway or trajectory for the recording and stimulating electrodes and DBS electrode (Fig. 26.3b) |
| Step 3 | Implantation of electrodes in target: Right and left frontal bur holes are made. The aiming arc is then placed on the base ring, and the microelectrode guide is attached to it (Fig. 26.3c). An array of four microelectrodes is advanced to the right (and subsequently the left) targets with continuous recording of electrical activity known as microelectrode recording (MER). A microelectrode is passed along its trajectory toward the target nuclei (STN or GPi) as neuronal activities are simultaneously recorded. Specific brain structures can be identified based on their unique patterns of spontaneous neuronal firing [18] Macrostimulation testing is done if the procedure is performed under sedation. It helps confirm whether stimulation at the confirmed location improves patient symptoms and causes no side effects Proper positioning is confirmed with intraoperative fluoroscopy The DBS electrode is then locked in place with a silastic ring, and fluoroscopy is repeated to assure proper electrode position; the other side is implanted similarly (Fig. 26.3d) |
| Step 4 | Post-implant control MRI (Fig. 26.4b)/CT (Fig. 26.4b): to confirm the position of the electrodes |
| Step 5 | Implantation of programmable stimulator: After the test stimulation has been found to be satisfactory, the permanent stimulator is inserted in the sub-clavicular region in a subcutaneous pouch |

Table 26.3 Surgical steps during deep brain stimulation (DBS) procedure

MRI magnetic resonance imaging; DBS deep brain stimulation; STN subthalamic nuclei; GPi globus pallidus interna



Fig. 26.3 Steps of DBS procedure. (a) Fixation of head frame (shown by arrow). (b) Planning for trajectory. (c) Implantation of electrodes: aiming arc (Leksell stereotactic

frame, double arrow) and DBS guide tube (single arrow). (d) Fluoroscopic image during the procedure with DBS electrode (double arrow) and guide tubes (single arrow)



Fig. 26.4 Magnetic resonance imaging (**a**) and computed tomography (**b**) showing confirmation of placement of DBS electrodes (indicated by arrows) at the target site

The effect of various anesthetic agents on MER is mentioned in Table 26.4 [24–30].

26.5 Preanesthetic Preparation

A detailed preanesthetic checkup is needed before the procedure, emphasizing the primary pathology and pharmacotherapy therapy, explaining the perioperative risks, establishing a rapport with the patient, ruling out contraindications to MRI, and formulating the anesthetic plan. Adequate preoperative fasting should be followed as per guidelines. Among the routine blood investigations, the coagulation profile is most important as a deranged coagulogram is a risk of intraoperative intracranial bleed. The procedure should be delayed if the INR >1.5 until optimized. The concerns for the patient undergoing DBS are summarized in Table 26.5 [31].

26.6 Monitoring

Intraoperative monitoring includes an electrocardiogram (ECG), noninvasive blood pressure (NIBP), pulse oximetry (SPO₂), end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂), and bispectral index (BIS). As the total duration of anesthesia is prolonged, the patients are vulnerable to hypothermia. Hence, temperature monitoring and prevention of hypothermia is essential. The vital monitoring (ECG, NIBP, SPO₂, and EtCO₂) should be continued during transport to the MRI suite and then back to the operating room (OR). The monitoring poses a great challenge in the MRI suite as all the equipment should be MR safe or compatible. MR-safe devices are those which do not pose any additional risk to the patient while being used in an MRI suite. MR-compatible devices are MR safe and, besides, do not affect the image quality. Besides monitors in MRI suite, a slave monitor

| Anesthetics such as benzodiazepines, barbiturates, propofol, etomidate, and volatile agents [24] | The effect of anesthetic drugs is non-homogeneous at different brain regions and varies with the target nuclei and specific disease Potentiate the inhibitory actions of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) within the basal ganglia. Hence, the effect will depend upon the amount of GABA input to the various nuclei GPi neurons are known to have higher GABA input than STN. Hence, GPi neurons are more suppressed [25] The effect on Vim nuclei is unclear As subcortical areas are susceptible to GABA receptor-mediated medications, these can abolish the MER and stimulation testing [26] Less than 1 MAC of desflurane has been successfully used in DBS surgeries [27] |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Propofol [28, 29] | Though it attenuates MER, it has been successfully used for MER from GPi, STN, and Vim Reduces the firing rates of the GPi nucleus also in patients with dystonia and PD, more pronounced in PD Should be stopped at least 15 min before the simulation testing |
| Dexmedetomidine | Considered an ideal sedative agent for DBS surgeries At doses of 0.3–0.6 μg/kg/h does not interfere with MER and assessment of motor functions in PD |
| Ketamine | Has little effect on MER and has been used successfully in pediatric patients undergoing DBS [30] |

Table 26.4 Effect of anesthetic agents on microelectrode recording

GPi globus pallidus interna; *MER* microelectrode recording; *STN* subthalamic nucleus; *MAC* minimum alveolar concentration; *Vim* ventral intermediate nucleus; *PD* Parkinson's disease; *DBS* deep brain stimulation

| Parameters | Concerns | |
|--------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| A. Disease-related | | |
| Dystonia | Risk of hemodynamic instability and laryngospasm Spasmodic dysphonia and associated neurodegenerative disorder Cerebral palsy—poor communication Growth retardation | |
| Epilepsy | Recurrent seizures Developmental delay Multiple seizure medications: altered drug interactions | |
| B. Drug related | | |
| Drug interactions | Levodopa Drugs decrease the efficacy of levodopa Anticholinergic Antispasmodics (dicyclomine and hyoscyamine) Anti-histamines Antiepileptic (phenytoin) Tricyclic antidepressants (amitriptyline) Metoclopramide Drugs increase the effects of levodopa Acetaminophen Antacids containing aluminum Calcium and magnesium Severe nausea and vomiting Levodopa potentiates the effects of antihypertensives resulting in a precipitous fall in blood pressure Halothane increases the potential for arrhythmias in patients taking levodopa | |

Table 26.5 Anesthetic considerations and drug interactions for patients undergoing deep brain stimulation (DBS)

may be placed in the console room. A closedcircuit television monitoring focused on the patient, and the monitor should be used to zoom in on the patient in the gantry. The anesthesiologist must be familiar with the fringe fields and the place where various resuscitation equipment can be used safely. MRI being a noisy procedure, earplugs, or other auditory protection during MRI may reduce the patient stimulation and may permit lesser doses of sedatives or hypnotic agents.

26.7 Anesthetic Techniques

Studies show that the accuracy of lead placement, outcome/success of DBS, cost of surgery, and the risk of complications are statistically the same when performed under GA with/without MER due to advances like neuronavigation and intraoperative MRI suite [22, 32–34].

Varied anesthesia techniques have been used, such as propofol infusion alone or in combination with fentanyl or remifentanil [35, 36]. These sedation techniques may be associated with airway and respiratory complications such as airway obstruction, respiratory depression, and aspiration [37, 38]. GA is usually administered in the pediatric population and patients with severe dyskinesias. In contrast, scalp nerves blocked with conscious sedation may be used in cooperative children [39–41].

26.7.1 Local Anesthesia/Awake Craniotomy

This technique is not very popular in pediatric patients and patients with dystonia. Local infiltration at the pin site for frame fixation and burr-hole incision site must be preferred with longer-acting drugs like bupivacaine and ropivacaine. Scalp block can also be given along or as a sole technique and has better hemodynamics than local infiltration [37]. The following nerves are blocked for DBS procedure: supratrochlear, supraorbital, zygomaticotemporal, and auriculotemporal. At each nerve, 1–2 mL of 0.25% bupivacaine with adrenaline (1 in 200,000) is given. The maximum dose of local anesthetic should be calculated before the infiltration. If the volume is insufficient, the strength can be diluted by adding normal saline to achieve the desired volume. As the scalp block is extremely painful, it should be given after adequate sedationanalgesia or under inhalational anesthetic agents, in pediatric patients. Re-infiltration at closure can be done if the patient complains of discomfort. The pulse generator procedure is obviously done under general anesthesia.

26.7.2 Monitored Anesthesia Care

Monitored anesthesia care (MAC) with sedation is a frequently used technique for electrode placement for DBS. The most commonly used drugs are midazolam, fentanyl, propofol infusions, and dexmedetomidine infusions. As benzodiazepines are known to cause interference with the MER, it should be given well before the procedure. All infusions are continued till the burr-hole part and then stopped 20–30 mins before the MER stage, except dexmedetomidine. Some authors have continued dexmedetomidine in low dose 0.2- $0.3 \mu g/kg/h$ throughout the procedure without any significant effect on MER [42]. Supplemental oxygen is provided via nasal prongs or Hudson mask. BIS monitoring helps titrate sedation and arousal state for MER. Studies show that when BIS value >80, MER signals were equivalent to an awake state [31]. There is a limitation of using BIS to titrate sedation; it is not affected by non-GABA receptor sedative agents such as dexmedetomidine. Hence, it may underestimate the depth of anesthesia. Difficult airway equipment like fiberoptic bronchoscope and various sizes and types of laryngeal mask airway (LMA) need to be kept handy, as the rigid frame may hinder airway manipulation.

26.7.3 General Anesthesia (GA): Induction and Maintenance

GA provides a higher level of acceptance in some patients with anxiety, severe movement disorders,

pediatric age groups, and a preferred technique in children. The child is pre-oxygenated before induction, and GA is induced with intravenous fentanyl citrate (1 μ g/kg), in the absence of the availability of shorter-acting remifentanil, followed by propofol (1-1.5 mg/kg) and atracurium besylate (0.5 mg/kg). The appropriately sized cuffed endotracheal tube should be used and taped securely after confirming the accurate placement. Both volatile anesthetic agents such as sevoflurane, isoflurane, desflurane, and total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) using propofol and dexmedetomidine can be used. Antiemetics, such as ondansetron, a serotonin antagonist, should be used to prevent or treat emesis. After the fixation of the head frame, the child is transported for the targeting MRI.

Following the MRI, the child is transported back to the OR, the head prepared and fixed, to insert the electrodes into the target areas. During the MER phase, BIS is kept between 70 and 90. After the implant is placed, the patients are shifted for control MRI or CT scan. The patient is again transferred to the OR for implantation of the programmable stimulator. The neuromuscular blockade is reversed using neostigmine (0.05 mg/kg) and glycopyrrolate (0.08 mg/kg).

26.8 Complications

A larger series have described various surgical complications, including hematoma formation (supraventricular, micro-hematoma with minor symptoms, asymptomatic micro-hematoma, or subdural hematoma) and intraventricular bleed (trans-ventricular approach). Late complications include local site infection, hematoma in subcutaneous pocket, and rupture of external extension requiring re-implantation. To avoid hemorrhagic surgical complications, preoperative optimization coagulation profile is a must. Other complications reported are thromboembolism, venous air embolism, postoperative confusion, apraxia of the eyelid, and transient psychological complications such as mania, paranoia, and depression [43]. However, no mortality has been reported. Rarely, intraoperative ischemic events have been reported due to the deviation in entry point on the cortex or along the path causing vascular injury [44]. If intra-extracranial pressure gradient is preserved, it can avoid pneumocephalus and consequent brain parenchymal shift resulting in accurate electrode placement and better longterm outcome [45]. A case of tension pneumocephalus has been reported after pulse generator implantation. It was observed that the patient developed mild pneumocephalus after DBS electrode placement, and this air expanded due to the use of nitrous oxide during pulse generator placement under GA [46]. The common complications and their management are tabulated in Table 26.6.

26.9 Postoperative Care

Postoperatively, patients are shifted to an intensive care unit (ICU) or a high dependency unit (HDU) for overnight care and are discharged home on the postoperative day 3. Later on, the programming of the stimulators is done. When the procedure is performed under sedation and has proceeded uneventfully, some centers recently follow fast track (FT) protocol and shift patients to a neurosurgical ward after a CT scan in 6 h [47]. Thus, safe perioperative care needs a teamwork and well-designed protocols and infrastructure.

26.10 Patient with DBS Implant for Non-DBS Surgery

Preoperatively assess the patient for the indication for DBS insertion and optimize medical issues. The severity of symptoms should be assessed when the DBS stimulator is deactivated. When the device is turned off, and symptoms are severe, oral medications may be needed. Get information about the DBS device and check the battery status and last check by neuro physician. A chest x-ray should be done to identify the course of DBS wires not to be damaged during surgery.

Consult a neuro physician and make sure the programmer is aware and present during surgery

| Complications | Sign and symptoms | Prevention and management | |
|----------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Airway complications (during awake technique) | CoughingSneezingLaryngospasm or bronchospasm | Judicious use of sedation Administration of aspiration prophylaxis Secure airway, if needed Clear the airway < use nasal cannula/ nasopharyngeal/oropharyngeal airway < LMA < intubate | |
| Respiratory depression (during awake technique) | Desaturation Tachycardia and hypertension Bradycardia Arrhythmias | Check patency of airway, breathing, and circulation Check level of sedation Supplement oxygen or increase the flow and concentration If still persists secure the airway | |
| Intracranial hemorrhage | Features of raised ICP Loss of consciousness Bradycardia, hypertension, irregular respiration Seizures | Optimize coagulation preoperatively Manage airway/breathing/circulation Measures to decrease ICP (decongestants/ give anesthetic agent to reduce CMRO₂/ control blood pressure) | |
| Seizures | Due to cortical irritation and damage/ICH | Check patency of airway, breathing, and circulation Give Propofol boluses if MER is still planned If not controlled, benzodiazepines and antiepileptics should be used | |
| Venous air embolism | Fall in end-tidal carbon dioxide Hypotension Tachycardia Arrhythmias | Immediately lower the head end and resuscitate as per hemodynamics Supplement high oxygen concentration Symptomatic treatment: manage vitals | |
| Pneumocephalus | If patient is awake: deterioration of consciousness, confusion, with or without lateralizing signs, severe restlessness Seizures If patient is under G-delayed awakening | Urgent CT head Small amount of air may get clear on its own, but tension pneumocephalus may need a burr hole and drainage | |
| Neurological deficit | Injury/stimulation of internal capsule | Neurological status should be examined periodically during electrode placement during MAC and LA And immediately after awakening if the patient is under GA | |
| Hypothermia | ShiveringAcidosis | Cover the patient as much as possibleUse warming blanketsWarm intravenous fluids | |
| Deep vein thrombosis | Painful swelling in the legs | Use compression stockings/graduated compression stockings | |

Table 26.6 Common complications in deep brain stimulation (DBS) surgery

LMA laryngeal mask airway; *ICP* intracranial pressure; *CMRO*₂ cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen; *ICH* intracranial hemorrhage; *CT* computed tomography; *MAC* monitored anesthesia care; *LA* local anesthesia; *GA* general anesthesia

[48]. ECG artifacts are seen due to DBS and, more so, in the unipolar stimulation type. If ECG interpretation is very difficult, one may have to put off the DBS and increase the medicine dose to tide over the off period [18].

Intraoperatively, turn the device off to decrease electromagnetic interference. During regional

anesthesia, a higher level of sedation may be needed in patients with severe symptoms. The use of electrocautery can lead to thermal damage in the brain, reprogramming, or damage of the DBS [49, 50]. The use of bipolar diathermy may reduce these risks. If monopolar diathermy is used, place the grounding pad as far as possible from the pulse generator, and diathermy should be delivered in the lowest energy with short pulses. When reprogramming is not possible during emergency surgery, proceed with precautions, such as use bipolar cautery, minimum power settings, and short bursts. Remember to turn on the device before reversal and extubation. Postoperatively assess the device function by doing a neurological examination, and the relevant representative should check the device.

Pacemakers may have cross-interference with DBS devices. Therefore, the pacemaker pulse generator and DBS stimulator should be implanted far from each other [51]. The use of both external and intracardiac defibrillators may cause thermal injury around the DBS device, resulting in malfunctioning or damage. The external defibrillator's paddles should be placed perpendicular to the DBS lead system and as far as possible from the pulse generator [18]. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) does not cause interference with the DBS system, but ECT electrodes must be applied away from the DBS system [52, 53]. A peripheral nerve stimulator also does not interfere with the DBS system. MRI can cause heating of the DBS system resulting in brain damage and reprogramming or damage of DBS devices, and these devices may cause image artifacts.

26.11 Conclusion

Deep brain stimulation in pediatrics is a wellestablished procedure for various neurological disorders. The anesthesia optimum technique is the one, which provides maximum patient comfort without interfering with electrophysiology. The choice of the anesthetic technique is individualized for safe and effective anesthesia. Several refinements and evolution of the surgical and the anesthetic techniques have been documented. However, larger multicentric collaborative studies are needed to provide evidence-based recommendations in the future. Good patient outcomes depend on teamwork and well-designed multidisciplinary consensus protocols and infrastructure.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Lozano AM, Lang AE. Pallidotomy for Parkinson's disease. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:1377–81.
- Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science. 1965;150:971–9.
- Benabid AL, Pollak P, Gervason C, Hoffmann D, Gao DM, Hommel, et al. Long-term suppression of tremor by chronic electrical stimulation of the ventral intermediate thalamic nucleus. Lancet. 1991;337:403–6.
- Doshi PK. Expanding indications for deep brain stimulation. Neurol India. 2018;66(Suppl S1):102–12.
- DiFrancesco MF, Halpern CH, Hurtig HH. Pediatric indications for deep brain stimulation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28:1701–14.
- Fahn S, Bressman SB, Marsden CD. Classification of dystonia. Adv Neurol. 1998;78:1–10.
- DiFrancesco MF, Halpern CH, Hurtig HH, Baltuch GH, Heuer GG. Pediatric indications for deep brain stimulation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28(10):1701–14.
- DeLong MR, Wichmann T. Circuits and circuit disorders of the basal ganglia. Arch Neurol. 2007;64(1):20–4.
- 9. Lin JJ, Lin SZ, Chang DC. Pallidotomy and generalized dystonia. Mov Disord. 1999;14(6):1057–9.
- Lozano AM, Kumar R, Gross RE. Globus pallidus internus pallidotomy for generalized dystonia. Mov Disord. 1997;12(6):865–70.
- Burke RE, Fahn S, Marsden CD. Torsion dystonia: a double-blind, prospective trial of high-dosage trihexayphenidyl. Neurology. 1986;36(2):160–4.
- Diamond A, Shahed J, Azher S, Dat-Vuong K, Jankovic J. Globus pallidus deep brain stimulation in dystonia. Mov Disord. 2006;21(5):692–5.
- Loher TJ, Hasdemir MG, Burgunder JM, Krauss JK. Long-term follow-up study of chronic globus pallidus internus stimulation for posttraumatic hemidystonia. J Neurosurg. 2000;92(3):457–60.
- Ostrem JL, Starr PL. Treatment of dystonia with deep brain stimulation. Neurotherapeutics. 2008;5(2):320–30.
- Kupsch A, Benecke R, Muller J, Trottenberg T, Schneider GH, Poewe W, et al. Pallidal deep-brain stimulation in primary generalized or segmental dystonia. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(19):1978–90.
- Krauss JK, Pohle T, Weber S, Ozdoba C, Burgunder JM. Bilateral stimulation of globus pallidus internus for treatment of cervical dystonia. Lancet. 1999;354(9181):837–8.
- Kulisevsky J, Lleo A, Gironell A, Molet J, Pascual-Sedano B, Pares P. Bilateral pallidal stimulation for cervical dystonia: dissociated pain and motor improvement. Neurology. 2000;55(11):1754–5.
- Poon CC, Irwin MG. Anaesthesia for deep brain stimulation and in patients with implanted neurostimulator devices. Br J Anaesth. 2009;103(2):152–65.
- Nada EM, Rajan S, Grandhe R, Deogaonkar M, Zimmerman NM, Ebrahim Z, et al. Intraoperative hypotension during second stage of deep brain stimu-

lator placement: same day versus different day procedures. World Neurosurg. 2016;95:40–5.

- Holloway KL, Gaede SE, Starr PA, Rosenow JM, Ramakrishnan V, Henderson JM. Frameless stereotaxy using bone fiducial markers for deep brain stimulation. J Neurosurg. 2005;103(3):404–13.
- Ho AL, Pendharkar AV, Brewster R, Martinez DL, Jaffe RA, Xu L, et al. Frameless robot-assisted deep brain stimulation surgery: an initial experience. Oper Neurosurg. 2019;17:424–31.
- Liu Z, He S, Li L. General anesthesia versus local anesthesia for deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2019;97(5–6):381–90.
- Zech N, Seemann M, Seyfried TF, Lange M, Schlaier J, Hansen E. Deep brain stimulation surgery without sedation. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2018;96(6):370–8.
- Hippard HK, Watcha M, Stocco AJ, Curry D. Preservation of microelectrode recordings with nongabaergic drugs during deep brain stimulator placement in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;14:279–86.
- Benarroch EE. Subthalamic nucleus and its connections: anatomic substrate for the network effects of deep brain stimulation. Neurology. 2008;70:1991–5.
- Bindu B, Bithal PK. Anaesthesia and deep brain stimulation. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2016;3:197–204.
- 27. Sanghera MK, Grossman RG, Kalhorn CG, Hamilton WJ, Ondo WG, Jankovic J. Basal ganglia neuronal discharge in primary and secondary dystonia in patients undergoing pallidotomy. Neurosurgery. 2003;52:1358–73.
- Tao J, Nunery W, Kresovsky S, Lister L, Mote T. Efficacy of fentanyl or alfentanil in suppressing reflex sneezing after propofol sedation and periocular injection. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008;24:465–7.
- Steigerwald F, Hinz L, Pinsker MO, Herzog J, Stiller RU, Kopper F, et al. Effects of propofol anesthesia on pallidal neuronal discharges in generalized dystonia. Neurosci Lett. 2005;386:156–9.
- 30. Furmaga H, Park HJ, Cooperrider J, Baker KB, Johnson M, Gale JT, et al. Effects of ketamine and propofol on motor evoked potentials elicited by intracranial microstimulation during deep brain stimulation. Front Syst Neurosci. 2014;8:89.
- Chakrabarti R, Ghazanwy M, Tewari A. Anesthetic challenges for deep brain stimulation: a systematic approach. N Am J Med Sci. 2014;6(8):359–69.
- 32. Wang J, Ponce FA, Tao J, Tao J, Yu HM, Liu J, et al. Comparison of awake and asleep deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: a detailed analysis through literature review. Neuromodulation. 2020;23(4):444–50.
- 33. Matias CM, Frizon LA, Nagel SJ, Lobel DA, Machado AG. Deep brain stimulation outcomes in patients implanted under general anesthesia with frame-based stereotaxy and intraoperative MRI. J Neurosurg. 2018;129:1572–8.

- Lefranc M, Zouitina Y, Tir M. Asleep robot-assisted surgery for the implantation of subthalamic electrodes provides the same clinical improvement and therapeutic window as awake surgery. World Neurosurg. 2017;106:602–8.
- Herrick IA, Craen RA, Gelb AW, Miller LA, Kubu CS, Girvi, et al. Propofol sedation during awake craniotomy for seizures: patient-controlled administration versus neurolept analgesia. Anesth Analg. 1997;84(6):1285–91.
- Piccioni F, Fanzio M. Management of anesthesia in awake craniotomy. Minerva Anestesiol. 2008;74(7–8):393–408.
- 37. Hans P, Bonhomme V, Born JD, Maertens De Noordhoudt A, Brichant JF, Dewandre PY. Targetcontrolled infusion of propofol and remifentanil combined with bispectral index monitoring for awake craniotomy. Anaesthesia. 2000;55(3):255–9.
- Sinha P, Koshy T, Gayatri P, Smitha V, Abraham M, Rathod R. Anesthesia for awake craniotomy: a retrospective study. Neurol India. 2007;55(4):376–81.
- Pinosky ML, Fishman RL, Reeves ST. The effect of bupivacaine skull block on the hemodynamic response to craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 1996;83(6):1256–61.
- Hartley EJ, Bissonnette B, St-Louis P, Rybczynski J, McLeod ME. Scalp infiltration with bupivacaine in pediatric brain surgery. Anesth Analg. 1991;73(1):29–32.
- 41. Nguyen A, Girard F, Boudreault D, Fugère F, Ruel M, Moumdjian R, et al. Scalp nerve blocks decrease the severity of pain after craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2001;93(5):1272–6.
- Grant R, Gruenbaum SE, Gerrard J. Anaesthesia for deep brain stimulation: a review. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2015;28(5):505–10.
- Hooper AK, Okun MS, Foote KD. Venous air embolism in deep brain stimulation. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2009;87(1):25–30.
- 44. Cui Z, Pan L, Liang S. Early detection of cerebral ischemic events on intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging during surgical procedures for deep brain stimulation. Acta Neurochir. 2019;161(8):1545–58.
- Beggio G, Raneri F, Rustemi O, Scerrati A, Zambon G, Piacentino M. Techniques for pneumocephalus and brain shift reduction in DBS surgery: a review of the literature. Neurosurg Rev. 2020;43(1):95–9.
- 46. Jain V, Prabhakar H, Rath GP, Sharma D. Tension pneumocephalus following deep brain stimulation surgery with bispectral index monitoring. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2007;24(2):203–4.
- Martín N, Valero R, Hurtado P, Gracia I, Rumia J. Experience with "fast track" postoperative care after deep brain stimulation surgery. Neurocirugia. 2016;27(6):263–8.
- 48. Yeoh TY, Manninen P, Kalia SK, Venkatraghavan L. Anesthesia considerations for patients with an implanted deep brain stimulator undergoing surgery: a review and update. Can J Anaesth. 2017;64(3):308–19.

- Weaver J, Kim SJ, Lee MH, Torres A. Cutaneous electrosurgery in a patient with a deep brain stimulator. Dermatol Surg. 1999;25:415–7.
- Martinelli PT, Schulze KE, Nelson BR. Mohs micrographic surgery in a patient with a deep brain stimulator: a review of the literature on implantable electrical devices. Dermatol Surg. 2004;30:1021–30.
- 51. Ozben B, Bilge AK, Yilmaz E, Adalet K. Implantation of a permanent pacemaker in a patient with severe

Parkinson's disease and a preexisting bilateral deep brain stimulator. Int Heart J. 2006;47:803–10.

- 52. Minville V, Chassery C, Benhaoua A, Lubrano V, Albaladejo P, Fourcade O. Nerve stimulator-guided brachial plexus block in a patient with severe Parkinson's disease and bilateral deep brain stimulators. Anesth Analg. 2006;102:1296.
- Moscarillo FM, Annunziata CM. ECT in a patient with a deep brain-stimulating electrode in place. J ECT. 2000;16:287–90.
Awake Craniotomy in Children

27

Nitasha Mishra (), Suman Sokhal (), Girija Prasad Rath (), and P. Sarat Chandra ()

Key Points

- Awake craniotomy is a commonly performed neurosurgical procedure that helps intraoperative electrocorticography (ECoG) or brain mapping to prevent injuries of the eloquent cortex when the surgery is carried out in its vicinity.
- In children, it is mainly indicated for epilepsy surgery and excision of supratentorial tumors on or near the eloquent cortex.
- The success of the procedure depends on the child's psychological preparedness to undergo the brain surgery in an awake state, hence, the importance of preoperative counseling.
- Uncooperative children, those with mental retardation, dysphasia, language problems,

N. Mishra

S. Sokhal \cdot G. P. Rath (\boxtimes)

P. S. Chandra

and diminished consciousness level, should not undergo awake craniotomy.

- The procedure is usually carried out with anesthetic techniques such as an asleepawake-asleep (AAA) maneuver and monitored anesthesia care (MAC).
- Awake craniotomy is a safe and feasible pediatric practice option, which should be performed based on appropriate surgical and patient selection criteria.

27.1 Introduction

Awake craniotomy is a well-accepted neurosurgical procedure in adult patients that helps resection of lesions on or close to the eloquent cortex when surgery is carried out in its vicinity (Fig. 27.1). In the pediatric population, extraoperative mapping with strip or grid electrodes or intraoperative neurophysiologic monitoring (IONM) under general anesthesia (GA) is commonly preferred for brain mapping. As the GA is known to suppress the cortical responses, the brain mapping requires the patient to remain awake. The noninvasive functional mapping may also guide the resection of lesions around the eloquent cortex. Diagnostic modalities such as positron emission tomography (PET), functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), and magnetoencephalography are utilized, preoperatively, to localize sensory, motor, and language func-

Department of Anaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), Bhubaneswar, India

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

Department of Neurosurgery & In-Charge, Centre of Excellence for Epilepsy, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_27



Fig. 27.1 Eloquent areas of the brain

tions [1, 2]. However, in children, these techniques have limitations in identifying the ictal foci; hence, they may have limited utility when the surgery is carried out near the critical cortex. Moreover, the fMRI identifies a specific cortical area during a definite task rather than the area critical to these functions. Hence, there is a possibility of overestimation of a functional cortex amounting to inaccuracies during resections of the lesions [1, 3]. Therefore, the procedure of awake craniotomy may be preferred in children, as in adults with similar indications, to overcome these inadequacies.

An eloquent cortex may be defined as a functional area of the brain, damage of which might lead to permanent neurologic deficits (Table 27.1; Fig. 27.1); the main areas of interest during awake craniotomy are Broca's motor speech area, Wernicke's sensory speech areas, and the motor cortex. The main goal of awake craniotomy is to preserve brain function with the performance of maximal possible resection of the lesion (e.g., tumor or epileptic foci) [4]. It may be associated with better operative outcomes as it avoids perioperative morbidity and complications of GA [5–7].

27.2 History of Awake Craniotomy

In ancient times, patients were treated for seizure disorder by trephination of the skull [8, 9]. Awake craniotomy was introduced for seizure disorders; its use was extended to different surgeries around near-critical regions of the brain. The modern methods of awake craniotomy took shape in the 1950s when Dr. Wilder Penfield, the first director of the Montreal Neurological Institute, performed craniotomies under local anesthesia (LA) in patients with epilepsy [10]. The realm of awake craniotomies further progressed with the advent of neuroleptic anesthesia techniques. However, the side effects of dopaminergic drugs such as dystonia and extrapyramidal symptoms led to less usage of this technique. During the 1960s, opioids combined with neuroleptics provided sedation and pain control; it was the preferred

| Eloquent cortex | Brain area | Clinical |
|------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|
| Primary motor | Precentral | Involved in |
| cortex | avrue situated | avacuting |
| (Brodmonn | gylus, situated | voluntary motor |
| (Broumann | nortion of the | (abrilled) |
| alea 4) | from tol lob o | (Skilled) |
| | Irontal lobe. | Stimulation |
| | Localed | Sumulation |
| | immediately | causes focal |
| | anterior and | movements of |
| | parallel to the | muscle groups in |
| | central sulcus | the opposite side |
| | (central fissure | of the body, |
| | or Rolandic | based on area |
| | fissure) | stimulated |
| Primary | Postcentral | Somatosensory |
| somatosensory | gyrus lies in the | homunculus |
| cortex | parietal lobe, | represents the |
| (Brodmann | posterior to the | distribution of the |
| areas 3, 1, 2) | central sulcus | contralateral |
| | | body parts on the |
| | | gyrus |
| | | Process afferent |
| | | somatosensory |
| | | input and |
| | | contributes to the |
| | | integration of |
| | | sensory and |
| | | motor signals |
| | | necessary for |
| | | skilled movement |
| Primary visual | Posterior pole | Receives. |
| cortex | of the occipital | integrates, and |
| Striate cortex | lobe: in the | processes visual |
| (Brodmann | gyrus superior | information |
| area 17) | and inferior to | relayed from the |
| | the calcarine | retinas |
| | sulcus | retilius |
| Primary | Superior | Responsible for |
| auditory cortex | temporal gyrus | the conscious |
| (Brodmann | in the temporal | nerception of |
| (21001110111) area 41 42) | lobe | sound (nure tones |
| area +1, +2) | 1000 | and nitch) |
| Broca's motor | Lateral frontal | Associated with |
| speech area | lobe in the | spaceh |
| (Brodmann | dominant | production and |
| (Diouinanii araa 44) | homisphoro | articulation |
| aica 44) | nemisphere, | articulation |
| | usually the left | |

Table 27.1 Eloquent cortex of the brain and its functions

(continued)

method during awake craniotomies. The resurgence practice of awake craniotomy occurred in the early 2000s with the use of shorter-acting hypnotic agents like propofol, fentanyl, remifentanil, and dexmedetomidine. The use of propofolremifentanil combination has revolutionized the

| Table 27.1 (continue | d) | |
|----------------------|----|--|
|----------------------|----|--|

| | | Clinical |
|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|
| Eloquent cortex | Brain area | implication |
| Wernicke's | Posterior | Responsible for |
| sensory speech | superior | the |
| area | temporal lobe | comprehension |
| (Brodmann | in the dominant | of speech; |
| area 22) | hemisphere | associated with |
| | | language |
| | | processing |
| | | (written/spoken) |
| | | and |
| | | understanding |
| | | |

concept of awake craniotomy, allowing advanced neurosurgical techniques and expanding the indications in various surgeries for supratentorial tumors, arteriovenous malformations (AVMs), and aneurysms near critical regions of the brain as well as in deep brain stimulation (DBS). With the advent of modern neuroaesthetic techniques and better perioperative care, the procedure of awake craniotomy became feasible and promising in pediatric patients where the use of noninvasive functional mapping methods such as fMRI and magnetoencephalography has not been proven effective to identify the eloquent cortex. Despite extensive literature in the adult population, only a few case series have been published to date regarding awake craniotomy in children [1, 11-15]. The most challenging aspects on which the success of these procedures depends are appropriate criteria for patient selection and psychological readiness of the child toward a surgical procedure to be carried out in an awake state.

27.3 Age and Awake Craniotomy

With decreasing age, a child's ability to understand, cooperate, and cope with the stressful surgical environment becomes more difficult. The minimal age for neurosurgery in awake state has not been well-established despite the fact that the youngest patient operated is 8 years old [16]. There is, however, no defined role for awake craniotomy in children less than 10 years because of non-cooperation and poor sensitivity of brain mapping due to axon myelinization. The scarcity of literature regarding the procedure may also be attributed to the perception that the eloquent functions may recover and re-organize after an injury in very young children. Nevertheless, awake brain surgery (ABS) is considered feasible in the age group of 10 and 18 years (adolescents). Screening and preparation are essential during the preoperative period to identify a cooperative child who can safely undergo the procedure.

27.4 Indications and Contraindications for Awake Craniotomy in Children

Awake craniotomies were initially performed for epilepsy surgery and the excision of the tumors near the eloquent cortex; they have been expanded to involve managing other lesions such as intracranial hematomas, abscesses, and aneurysms and AVM bleeds. A stereotactic brain biopsy, burr-hole craniotomy for subdural hygroma, and deep brain stimulation (DBS) surgery may be the other indications for awake craniotomy in children. Refusal to consent and uncooperative children are common contraindications. Table 27.2 provides a comprehensive list of the indications and contraindications for awake craniotomy in children.

27.5 Preoperative Preparation of the Child

27.5.1 Preoperative Team Visit

A multidisciplinary team involving neurologists, neurosurgeons, neuroanesthesiologists, neuropsychologists, and neurophysiologists together should assess the suitability for the procedure and risk-benefit ratio; it helps achieve maximal postoperative neurosurgical and cognitive outcome. Children who are uncooperative, those with mental retardation, dysphasia, language problems, and diminished level of consciousness should not undergo awake craniotomy. Children with comorbid conditions like obstructive sleep

| Table 27.2 | Indications | and | contrainc | lications | for | ped | iat- |
|---------------|-------------|-----|-----------|-----------|-----|-----|------|
| ric awake cra | aniotomy | | | | | | |

| Indications and benefits | Contraindications |
|--------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|
| Tumors | Absolute |
| Identification of | Patient/parental refusal |
| eloquent areas | to consent |
| Better resection and | Uncooperative child |
| preservation of | Mental retardation |
| neurological function | Agitative child |
| | Profound dysphasia |
| | and language problem |
| | Learning/cognitive |
| | disabilities |
| Epilepsy | Relative |
| Identification of seizure | Anticipated difficult |
| foci | intubation |
| Preservation of | Obstructive sleep |
| eloquent cortex | apnea |
| Permits intraoperative | Chronic cough/ |
| ECoG monitoring | wheezing |
| without undue | Uncontrolled seizures |
| suppression by | Highly vascular tumors |
| anesthetic agents | Down's syndrome |
| Vascular lesions | Medical conditions |
| Arteriovenous | preventing the child |
| malformations | from lying down for |
| Intracranial aneurysms | long hours |
| Cavernomas | |
| Dystonia | 1 |
| • Deep brain stimulation | |
| (DBS) surgery | |

apnea, difficult airway, cognitive disorders (e.g., Down's syndrome), pre-existing neurological deficits, and features of significant brain swelling should also not be considered for the procedure (Table 27.2).

The team members (Fig. 27.2) should take part in the preoperative counseling of the patient. The counseling normally includes a thorough psychological assessment to build trust and allay anxiety at both the child and parental levels. Poor communication and inappropriate preparations may lead to a lack of intraoperative cooperation; these are the most common causes of failure of performing awake craniotomy in children [17, 18]. Suppose the native language of the child differs from the operative team. In that case, a language translator should be part of the team who should build rapport during the preoperative visit intraoperative communications. better for Adequate patient preparation appears to have a



Fig. 27.2 Team management for pediatric awake craniotomy

protective effect on the psychological sequel of an awake craniotomy [19]. Despite adequate psychological preparation, at least 10-15% of adults reportedly develop intraoperative anxiety issues [20]. Therefore, the risk of psychological and anxiety problems is expected to be even more, in the pediatric population. Hence, an evaluation by a child psychiatrist and speech therapist is essential. Many clinicians proposed their institutional protocols to deal with such issues. Labuschagne et al. [21], in an 11-year-old, planned for awake brain surgery (ABS) and arranged a simulated theater experience before the actual surgery being carried out, with a close replication of the operating room (OR) attire, lighting, monitors, and positioning. This exercise enabled the OR team to assess the child's coping skills and helped the anesthesiologists decide appropriate anesthetic techniques. Riquin et al. [22] described a very comprehensive preparation phase, including having the child examined by a child psychiatrist and exposing to hypnotic conditioning. The child was offered an opportunity to meet another child who underwent surgery in an awake state by showing the patient pictures and a video describing the atmosphere of the OR, a visit to the OR, and a chance to meet the surgical and anesthetic team. The technique of hypnotic conditioning was utilized at the time of anesthesia induction. None of the patients reported any long-term psychiatric or psychological issues when evaluated at 3 months, thus concluding that ABS is an equally safe and feasible option for pediatric patients. McDowell and colleagues [23] developed and implemented a novel protocol in collaboration with certified child life specialists (CCLS) to enhance the patient experience and compliance surrounding awake craniotomy, thereby strengthening the ability to tolerate the procedure in pediatric patients. The protocol was found to be feasible, although it requires prospective validation. Huguet et al. [24] proposed a protocol for institutional practice and derived a set of selection criteria based on medical, psychological, and institutional factors. It was highlighted that the age of the child should not be the main criterion for selection. Instead, developmental and psychological maturity should be given priority while selecting а pediatric patient for ABS. Nevertheless, the age cut-off of 10 years seems appropriate mainly due to methodological reasons. There is limited child collaboration at age less than 10 years, the higher current intensity requirement, and reduced mapping sensitivity of both motor and language functions apart from the anesthetic reasons.

27.5.2 Preoperative Workup

It should include fMRI to locate the dominant hemisphere precisely apart from conventional MRI. The fMRI has been advocated in adults as well as children not only for its diagnostic superiority but also for its use during neuronavigation.

From an anesthesiologist's perspective, a thorough evaluation of the airway and the risk of airway obstruction under sedation should be assessed, and the anesthesia technique should be chosen accordingly. The extent of the lesion, degree of brain edema, intracranial pressure (ICP), surgery duration, and the expected intraoperative blood loss should be discussed by the operative team and planned as desired. Patient drug charts need to be reviewed for the antiepileptic medications if any and should be continued till the morning of surgery.

27.5.3 Premedication

Antibiotic and antiemetic prophylaxis should be given at the start of surgery. Parenteral presence before induction of anesthesia (PPIA) in children to reduce anxiety is controversial but is expected to reduce psychological impact. PPIA has been suggested to be an effective means of anxiety management in neurosurgical procedures for both parents and children [25]. But whether PPIA could be extended to the practice of pediatric craniotomy or not is debatable. awake Premedication with short-acting benzodiazepines has been opted by few clinicians [11], but many still reject it as it interferes with the cortical mapping and ECoG recordings [26]. However, some physicians prefer short-acting benzodiazepines such as midazolam for anxiolysis. Intravenous (IV) cannulation may be carried out by a painless method with prior (30 min to 2 h) application of a eutectic mixture of LA (EMLA) cream. The dorsum of the hand on the side not to be used for intraoperative evaluation, i.e., ipsilateral to the side of the lesion, is preferred for this purpose. It is better to secure another IV access under sedation for further requirements during the perioperative period.

27.5.4 Operating Room Setup

On the day of surgery, all necessary anesthetic equipment for GA should be prepared. An airway trolley that includes appropriate sizes of face masks, laryngeal mask airways (LMAs), nasopharyngeal airways, and endotracheal tubes (ETTs) should be available. It is better to keep the video laryngoscope and fiberoptic bronchoscope of appropriate sizes ready for possible airway loss during the intraoperative period. The OR temperature should be set as per the comfort of the child, and unnecessary noise should be strictly avoided. Warming mattresses or blankets should be kept ready along the prewarmed fluids to prevent hypothermia and shivering during the surgical course. Possible locations of different OR personnel and equipment are depicted in Fig. 27.3. It is essential to place a board at the

OR's entrance informing others that an awake procedure is going on. The OR staff should also be restricted from speaking appropriately and not utter anything that may upset the child.

27.5.5 Positioning of the Child

The location of the lesion always decides the position of the patient. Usually, a supine or lateral position is preferred for awake craniotomy. A sitting or semi-sitting position may be utilized for lesions located in the occipital cortex; however, the comfort of the child is of utmost importance. The OR temperature must be appropriate; the surgical table should be covered with a soft, thick mattress. The surgical team must be instructed to speak softly inside the OR. It is important to remember the instruments' position (Fig. 27.3) to minimize unnecessary movements of objects and OR personnel. The face must be in a position that allows the child to look at the anesthesiologist, interact whenever required, and participate in various brain mapping tasks (Fig. 27.4). The face should also be adequately accessible to secure the airway during intraprocedural emergencies. An L-shaped bar attached to the operating table's left side is used to hang the surgical drape; it prevents the patient's face from being covered. Tenting of the drapes over the face helps achieve these objectives. A rigid pin fixation is used for the head holding; immobility is beneficial during the stimulation mapping. An audio-video recorder system may be used so that the operating surgeon can see and hear the patient's responses during cortical mapping [27].

27.5.6 Anesthesia Techniques

The goals for anesthesia are to optimize the child's conditions for cortical mapping and keep the child awake yet cooperative during intraoperative neurological testing while minimizing the surgical pain and anxiety (Table 27.3). The choice of anesthetic regimens depends on an interplay of multiple factors, which include age and psychological maturity of the child; psychological pre-



Fig. 27.3 Proposed operating room set up for pediatric awake craniotomy



paredness; comfort in patient positioning; duration of surgery; extent of the lesion; adequacy of analgesia, including the scalp nerve block; and appropriate communication among the team members. The anesthetic regimens commonly used pediatric ACs in are (a)

face visible and

accessible to the

bar

sleep-awake-sleep (SAS) or asleep-awake-asleep (AAA) technique and (b) conscious sedation (CS) or monitored anesthesia care (MAC). In the AAA technique, the child is anesthetized (GA) with or without airway devices until dural opening and is allowed to wake up with airway

| Maintain cooperation of the child |
|-----------------------------------------------|
| Provision of optimal analgesia, sedation, and |
| anxiolysis |
| Comfortable positioning of the child |
| Prevention of nausea, vomiting, and seizures |
| Achieve homeostasis |
| Provision of safe airway/adequate ventilation |
| Ensure hemodynamic stability |
| Minimal interference with ECoG recording |
| During epilepsy surgery |

 Table 27.3
 Anesthetic goals for pediatric awake craniotomy

removal; GA is again induced after excision of the lesion. In MAC, the patient is kept comfortable for surgery, targeting different sedation levels at various points of surgery and maintaining spontaneous breathing. MAC techniques [28, 29] and AAA or SAS [1, 14] methods have been utilized quite often, with none recommended superior to the other. However, the most extensive study on pediatric awake craniotomies favored the AAA technique over MAC [26]. Agitation and non-cooperation due to pain are significantly higher in children as compared to adults. Hence, the utmost goal of a regimen in children should be to provide balanced anesthesia or sedation to prevent anxiety and agitation and simultaneously achieve intraoperative neurophysiologic and cognitive benefits.

27.5.6.1 Asleep-Awake-Asleep (AAA) Technique

Here, the first part of the surgery is conducted under the asleep phase after the induction of GA using hypnotics such as propofol and short-acting opioids such as remifentanil and fentanyl. The airway may be secured with LMA as it causes less coughing and gagging as compared to the ETT. The child can be kept under either spontaneous or mechanical ventilation. Procedures such as an arterial cannula, a central venous catheter (CVC), and Foley's catheter placements should be carried out after induction of anesthesia. Utmost care should be taken while positioning the child; adequate padding, warmth, and comfort should be ensured as the surgical procedure with multiple tasks may get prolonged and tiresome for the child. Surgical drapes are kept in a

tented position away from the face for easy communication; it helps prevent claustrophobia in the awake phase (Fig. 27.4). Before applying Mayfield clamps, the scalp block is given using LA agents like bupivacaine and ropivacaine. Additionally, the skin may be infiltrated at pin insertion as well as the skin incision sites.

The asleep phase can proceed until the dura is open, after which the patient needs to be awakened for resection of the lesions under various neurophysiological monitoring methods. During the awake phase, LMA may be removed using a "no-touch technique" [26], following which supplemental oxygen can be given via nasal prongs or an oxygen mask.

During the third phase (asleep phase), after the resection of the lesion, the child may be allowed to remain asleep again, using light sedation or GA. This phase is crucial as the child might be tired of a persistent posture for a prolonged time and may not cooperate until skin closure. However, some clinicians prefer not to anesthetize the patient at this stage, which is known as the *asleep-awake (AA) technique* [27].

The AAA technique is more comforting to the child and the operative team as the asleep phase causes lesser anxiety and agitation in the intraoperative period, the ability to provide adequate analgesia, and the ability to control brain swelling by controlled ventilation advantages of this technique. However, the choice of anesthetics should be done judiciously and be appropriately timed off so that they do not affect the neurophysiologic monitoring.

27.5.6.2 Monitored Anesthesia Care (MAC) or Conscious Sedation (CS)

With this technique, the child remains awake or moderately sedated and maintains a spontaneous airway throughout the surgery [30]. This approach needs a completely relaxed, matured, and cooperative child as several painful procedures are performed such as IV catheter placement, screw fixation, craniotomy, dural incision, and scalp closure though adequate analgesia is assured by using scalp block and short-acting analgesics. This procedure is performed in such a way that the child remains sedated but is arousable with the use of short-acting agents to avoid respiratory depression and airway compromise. The child is made fully awake just after dural opening till dural closure for cortical mapping and tumor (lesion) excision. A frequently used sedative regimen includes low-dose propofol $20-50\mu g/kg/min$ and remifentanil $0.01-0.06\mu g/kg/min$ infusions titrated to make the child drowsy yet arousable without any airway obstruction. Awake craniotomy under MAC may also be carried out with an infusion of dexmedetomidine $0.2-0.7\mu g/kg/h$ [31].

27.5.6.3 Regional Scalp Block

Regional scalp block is a well-described procedure in adult neurosurgical patients undergoing awake craniotomy [32]. The scalp is locally anesthetized in children by blocking of both the anterior scalp (supraorbital and supratrochlear nerves) and posterior scalp (greater occipital nerves) using 0.25% bupivacaine with 1:200,000 epinephrine along with frequent aspirations to prevent intravascular injection (Fig. 27.5). The "scalp block" in children has been extended to block six nerves on either side, such as the supraorbital, supratrochlear, zygomaticotemporal, auriculotemporal, lesser occipital, and greater occipital nerves for awake craniotomy [33]. The regional scalp block remains an adjunct to the anesthetic techniques followed. As the procedure is painful, it should be carried out once the child is sedated or anesthetized. Apart from scalp



Fig. 27.5 Schematic diagram of regional scalp block in a child

block, LA infiltration of the Mayfield head clamp's pin site and along the incision lines, preferred. Scalp block also offers advantages of intraoperative hemodynamic stability, decreased side effects of high-dose opioids (nausea, itching), respiratory depression, and postoperative pain relief. As an alternative to the bilateral nerve blocks of the scalp, some clinicians prefer performing a ring block of the scalp where LA is infiltrated circumferentially around the scalp 2 inches apart to complete a ring to prevent nerve impulses to that area. As the scalp block requires a large volume of LAs infiltrated, it is desirable not to exceed the upper limit for the individual agents suggested (Table 27.4) [34]. The use of vasoconstrictors such as adrenaline at dilution of 1:200000 (5µg/ml) helps minimize LA toxicity by reducing absorption and maximizing the blockade duration.

27.5.7 Choice of Sedatives and Anesthetics

Various sedatives and anesthetic drugs have been used during pediatric awake craniotomy with the AAA technique. They include propofol, remifentanil/fentanyl combinations, and dexmedetomidine either alone or in combination with propofol infusions. Propofol is preferred over volatile anesthetic agents for easy titrability, the effect on ICP, and the ability to maintain cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP). It is used in dose ranges of 90 to 150µg/kg/min for anesthesia maintenance in the AAA technique and 50-100µg/kg/min for sedation [26]. However, at higher doses, especially in patients under MAC, complications such as hypoventilation, respiratory depression, and hemodynamic instability may be encountered. Propofol does not have an analgesic effect; and hence, it has to be given in combination with opioid-based regimens, which may further aggravate respiratory depression. It has antiepileptic properties that may interfere with ECoG responses, and hence, the infusion is preferably stopped 20 min before the recording.

Dexmedetomidine is a highly selective α -2 agonist added to the armamentarium of awake

| | Dose (mg/kg) | | Onset of action | |
|-----------------|--------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------------------------------|
| Drug(s) | Without adrenaline | With adrenaline | | Duration of action ^a (h) |
| Lidocaine | 4.5 | 6–7 | Fast (1-3 min) | 1–3 |
| Bupivacaine | 2-2.5 | 2.5–3 | Slow (2–10 min) | 2-8 |
| Levobupivacaine | 2 | 3 | Slow (2–10 min) | 4–12 |
| Ropivacaine | 2-3 | 3-4 | Slow (3–15 min) | 5-8 |

 Table 27.4
 Commonly used local anesthetic drugs for scalp block in children

^aMaximum duration of action mentioned includes the addition of adrenaline

craniotomy. It provides sedation, analgesia, and anxiolysis without any significant respiratory depression. When added to propofol and opioid regimens, dexmedetomidine decreases the requirements of opioids, the incidence of respiratory depression, and interference with intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) [35]. The data available on dexmedetomidine use in pediatric awake neurosurgery is limited. Ard et al. [12] were the first to report its use in the SAS technique for the smooth conduct of awake neurosurgery and neurophysiologic testing in children. It was used in doses of 0.15-0.3µg/kg/h without causing any interference with ECoG recordings. Since then, it has been used in many pediatric awake neurosurgeries safely. Dexmedetomidine infusion (0.2-0.7µg/kg/h) is normally started after a loading dose of 0.5-1µg/ kg given over 10-15 min. Due to its central sympatholytic action, dexmedetomidine may cause hypotension and bradycardia. When given too rapidly, it may cause intense hypertension due to peripheral vasoconstriction.

Standard analgesia for awake craniotomy can be achieved with scalp block. Despite the reliability and efficacy of scalp block, some patients may complain of pain; moderate pain incidence is approximately 20% [26]. The use of shortacting opioids like fentanyl boluses or remifentanil infusion is indispensable in such scenarios.

27.5.8 Routine Monitoring

Standard monitors such as electrocardiography, pulse oximetry, respiratory rate, and noninvasive and invasive blood pressure are applied (Fig. 27.6). In sedated and spontaneously breathed children, the end-tidal CO_2 can be moni-

tored along with a nasal cannula, which helps simultaneous supplementation of oxygen (2–3 l/ min). Foley's catheterization should be done after the child is sedated or anesthetized during the initial asleep phase; it helps monitor the urine output. Various depth of anesthesia monitoring modalities using processed electroencephalogram such as bispectral index (BIS) and spectral entropy [36] may help titration of sedatives and anesthetics as well as help well-timed emergence. Clinical sedation assessment scores such as Ramsay sedation score (RSS) [37, 38] and Mackenzie and Grant score [39] are commonly utilized to keep track of the sedation level, with RSS targeted between 2 and 3 during the procedure.

27.5.9 Neurophysiologic Monitoring

Historically, preoperative functional brain mapping has been used to identify the eloquent areas of the cortex. However, recent advances recommend the use of intraoperative neurophysiological mapping. An experienced neurophysiology team is essential for evaluating the functional testing and monitoring during the stimulation mapping. Constant communication among the team members, particularly during the procedure, is an important aspect. This procedure has the added benefit of keeping a patient awake and, hence, considered as the standard care during excision of supratentorial lesions. Other benefits of intraoperative stimulation and mapping include its ability to provide direct, quick feedback to the neurosurgeon, its reliability on brain shifts, and the advantage of identifying and continuously monitoring all functionally important

Fig. 27.6 Standard monitoring in a child undergoing awake craniotomy under monitored anesthesia care (MAC)



structures during the resection. Penfield method is the most common technique which utilizes bipolar stimulation at 50–60 Hz for this purpose.

Functional mapping for the sensorimotor areas is safe and effective in children belonging to different age groups, including infants (motor only) [40].

27.5.9.1 Motor Mapping

Motor cortical mapping is done primarily in lesions close to the precentral gyrus (frontal lobe) and corticospinal tracts. It is performed by direct electrical stimulation of the brain using a handheld stimulator and performed by placing a bipolar or monopolar electrode on the cortical surface with typical initial use of current at a frequency of 60 Hz and amplitude 1 mA. The stimulation parameters may vary based on various studies: between 0.14 and 200 ms for pulse width, 20 and 50 Hz for frequency, 0.5 and 200 mA for current intensity, and 3–25 s for the train [40].

The motor strip location is estimated, and this area is stimulated at increasing amplitudes until movements are visually demonstrated on the contralateral side of the body. As the stimulation mapping requires repetitive electrical stimulation of the cortex with higher currents, there is a possibility of focal or even generalized seizures. Iced cold saline is kept ready for irrigation; its use aborts the focal seizures and prevents secondary Simultaneous generalization. motor-evoked potential (MEP) recordings may also be done to corroborate the findings. Identification of the central sulcus can easily be made using the phase reversal technique on somatosensory-evoked potential (SSEP), alternatively [41]. However, it should be borne in mind that cortical mapping in children less than 10 years of age requires higher charges (amperage threshold) than adults due to the presence of a higher percentage of unmyelinated fibers resulting in lesser excitability of the motor cortex.

27.5.9.2 Language Mapping

Language (speech) mapping is normally performed in the left hemisphere of the brain, where most of the language areas are present. It includes a battery of tasks to be completed by patients while the cortical regions are stimulated. The language functions tested depend on the site of the lesion. They include verbal fluency (e.g., enumeration of the months of the years, days of the week, engaging conversation about hobbies, about families), repetition (of word or sentences), comprehension (pyramids and palm test or sentence completion), visual object naming, word generation, reading, and writing. For language mapping, the technique involves using bipolar current at a frequency of 50–60 Hz. Two types of responses are obtained after electrical stimulation, namely, "positive response" when the speech is facilitated by stimulation, and "negative response," where the speech is suppressed or arrested. Continuous ECoG should also be monitored to detect subclinical seizures, which could be a source of naming errors.

27.5.9.3 Mapping of Visual Function

Few neurosurgeons prefer visual mapping for tumors located near the occipital cortex; it is carried out more in younger patients with anticipated partial or complete loss of vision that may significantly compromise the quality of life. The simple responses include the visualization of dark spots and shapes that correlate with the calcarine fissure and peristriate cortex stimulation, respectively. The complex responses include the visualization of formed hallucinations corresponding to stimulation of basal temporooccipital cortex [42, 43]. The drawbacks of visual mapping are the possibility of seizures induced by the direct stimulation of the cortex, and the technique does not ensure the functional integrity of motor tracts. Moreover, the injuries of nerve tracts due to vascular injuries or pressure of retractors are gradual in onset and may not be directly evident on mapping techniques.

27.5.9.4 Electrocorticography (ECoG)

ECoG provides recordings directly from the surface of the cerebral cortex employing grid and/or strip electrodes. It is frequently applied during surgery for tumors accompanied by secondary epilepsy or medically refractory seizure disorders to identify the seizure foci and the irritative zone and to predict the surgical outcome in epilepsy surgeries. The major advantages of using ECoG readings are that it provides pre- and postresection seizure foci and helps in better delineating the eloquent cortex by direct electrical stimulation. Cortical stimulation mapping is normally carried out along with ECoG for functional mapping of the cortex and identifying critical areas with the patient in an awake state. The simultaneous ECoG recording is used to determine spontaneous or stimulation-induced epileptic discharges known as after discharges (ADs). The ADs occur after the current stimulation of the cortex to detect non-convulsive seizures. Ideally, the current strength used for cortical stimulation should not exceed the threshold for the occurrence of ADs [44]. However, the concept is limited by the variations shown in the threshold of ADs across the cortex [45].

27.5.10 Management of Complications

Various complications known to adult awake craniotomies such as seizures, intraoperative hypertension, airway obstruction, agitation, and brain bulge may also occur during pediatric awake surgeries (Table 27.5). Serious complications may occur in 20% of the children [26]. Seizure incidence may vary from 3% to 16%, with a higher incidence occurring in children with epilepsy on presentation. Continuous and successive stimulation of cortical areas during mapping amounts to higher risk. Local anesthetics, if used at higher than the maximum allowable doses, may lead to seizures. The prevention of seizure is important during awake craniotomy as a generalized tonicclonic seizure (GTCS) may lead to Todd's palsy. Later on, it may be difficult to get motor responses

 Table 27.5
 Possible complications during pediatric awake craniotomy

| System(s) | Complications |
|----------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Respiratory | Airway obstruction |
| complications | Respiratory depression |
| Cardiovascular | Hypotension or hypertension |
| complications | Tachycardia or bradycardia |
| Neurological | Seizures |
| complications | Neurological deficit |
| | Brain swelling |
| Other | • Pain |
| complications | Agitation |
| | Nausea/vomiting |
| | Non-cooperation and |
| | conversion to general |
| | anesthesia (GA) |
| | Venous air embolism (VAE) |

on the affected side. Therefore, the LA doses must be kept within the maximum safe limit to prevent toxicity [46]. Preoperative antiepileptic medication is necessary except during excision of epileptic foci. Low-voltage stimulation used for cortical mapping is expected to reduce the incidence of seizures. In case of intraoperative seizures, ice-cold saline (3-4 °C) should be irrigated using an aseptic syringe, and the patient's head must be supported. The cold saline irrigation remains the first line of management, followed by small propofol or midazolam boluses to abort the continuous seizures. Additionally, antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) such as phenytoin, benzodiazepines, barbiturates, and valproate may be given. However, AEDs might not be a good choice as they interfere with cortical mapping and ECoG recordings. Conversion to GA should be the final option if nothing helps control seizures that may lead to bodily harm or excessive sedation and respiratory depression leading to loss of airway. Seizures are reported in 3.3% of cases [26] and are usually self-limiting and stopped with icecold saline irrigation.

To avoid local anesthetic systemic toxicity (LAST), calculated doses of LA with intermittent aspiration should be used. Adrenaline may be added to reduce systemic absorption; however, it is essential to watch for probable seizures and the cardiovascular toxicity of LAs. Management should include rescue measures, thiopentone sodium, or propofol boluses to control seizures; even conversion to GA may be required. IV intralipid may also help counter LAST.

Agitation (incidence 6.7%) has been suggested to be the most common complication; it is an expected effect of the young age and may also due to fear of pain. Hypertension may occur secondary to agitation, anxiety, and pain.

Pain is a frequent complaint during awake craniotomies; it leads to more severe agitation and non-cooperation in children. Special care should be taken at the time of application of Mayfield pins, skin incision, dural incision, and surgical handling around perivascular structures. Scalp block is efficacious but may not be sufficient always. Hence, there is a need to perform additional skin infiltration at pin sites, pledgets soaked with LA solutions to be placed on the dura, and boluses of short-acting opioids or administration of IV paracetamol. Care should be taken to avoid excess opioid administration, which may cause respiratory depression and somnolence interfering with the mapping tasks. Excessive opioid administration may lead to nausea and vomiting sensations, which might be quite disturbing both for the patient and the operating neurosurgeon, mainly when the head is pinfixed. Pre-emptive antiemetics and dexamethasone may preferably be given at the start of surgery to prevent nausea and vomiting.

Respiratory depression may occur due to various reasons, most commonly, as the sedative agents' side effects. It may lead to loss of airway, and may require different maneuvers for treatment, ranging from awakening the child, jaw thrust, and insertion of a nasopharyngeal cannula to the placement of an appropriately sized supraglottic device. A high-flow nasal cannula (HFNC) may be considered [47] in children where airway obstruction is a concern (e.g., obese child).

Brain swelling (tight brain or brain bulge) is another serious problem that requires careful attention. The patient may be encouraged for self-hyperventilation (hypocapnia). An extra bolus of the hyperosmolar solution may be given, particularly during tumor surgeries. Generally, large tumors with significant peritumoral edema are not advisable to undergo awake surgery as they are prone to intraoperative brain bulge.

VAE is a rare but catastrophic complication; sitting awake craniotomy increases the risk further. In an awake child, continuous coughing with a fall in oxygen saturation and tachypnea should raise suspicion toward VAE. It is well reported among adults undergoing awake craniotomy [48–50]. VAE is also reported to children undergoing awake craniotomy [51], although pertinent data concerning the pediatric patients is scarce.

27.6 Postoperative Care

In the postoperative period, the child should be nursed in a head-up position. Vitals should be monitored with special attention toward temperature, urine output, and pain assessment. Children younger than 6 years can be evaluated by the Faces, Legs, Activity, Cry and Consolability Scale (FLACC, 0-10 scores) [52] and the Wong-Baker Faces Pain Rating Scale (WBFS) [53]. For children older than 6 years, both the numeric rating scale (NRS) [54] and WBFS scale may be considered. The WBFS is composed of sequences of facial images suggesting the "worst pain imaginable" to the happiest face, depicting "no pain." NRS is a line of pain intensity, marked with numbers 0-10, where "0" indicated "no pain" and "10" suggests "worst pain imaginable." The patient might complain of nausea and vomiting and needs to be managed as per the protocol. Early and "on-demand" oral feeding should be started in the postoperative period in these children. Although fluids can be started as early as possible, yet caution should be exercised for solids as opioids are administered during the intraoperative period. Continued assessment for the new-onset neurological deficits and seizures should be done in the postoperative period.

27.7 Conclusion

Awake craniotomy is a safe and feasible pediatric practice option that should be performed based on appropriate surgical and patient selection. Cooperation and psychological preparedness are more important than the child's age, which should be stressed during the preoperative evaluation, preferably by a multidisciplinary team involving pediatric neurologists, neuroanesthesiologists, neurosurgeons, and neuropsychologists. Preoperative psychological preparation has been suggested to improve both surgical and cognitive outcomes. The choice of the anesthetic technique should depend upon the overall psychological maturity of the child. It should be targeted toward a balanced approach complementing both the child and OR personnel. Constant communication throughout the procedure is necessary for the success of awake brain surgery.

Conflict of Interest None declared for each author.

References

- Balogun JA, Khan OH, Taylor M, Dirks P, Der T, Carter Snead Iii O, et al. Pediatric awake craniotomy and intra-operative stimulation mapping. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21:1891–4.
- Kim SK, Wang KC, Hwang YS, et al. Intractable epilepsy associated with brain tumors in children: surgical modality and outcome. Child Nerv Syst. 2001;17:445–52.
- Duffau H. Lessons from brain mapping in surgery for low-grade glioma: insights into associations between tumour and brain plasticity. Lancet Neurol. 2005;4:476–86.
- Surbeck W, Hildebrandt G, Duffau H. The evolution of brain surgery on awake patients. Acta Neurochir. 2015;157:77–84.
- Danks RA, Rogers M, Aglio LS, Gugino LD, Black PM. Patient tolerance of craniotomy performed with the patient under local anesthesia and monitored conscious sedation. Neurosurgery. 1998;42:26–8.
- Khu KJ, Doglietto F, Radovanovic I, Taleb F, Mendelsohn D, Zadeh G, Bernstein M. Patients' perceptions of awake and outpatient craniotomy for brain tumor: a qualitative study. J Neurosurg. 2010;112:1056–60.
- Wrede KH, Stieglitz LH, Fiferna A, Karst M, Gerganov VM, Samii M, von Gösseln H-H, Lüdemann WO. Patient acceptance of awake craniotomy. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2011;113:880–4.
- Horax G. Neurosurgery. A historical sketch. Springfield, IL: Thomas; 1952. p. 10–5.
- Marshall C. Surgery of epilepsy and motor disorders. In: Walker AE, editor. A history of neurological surgery. New York: Hafner Publishing Co; 1967. p. 288–305.
- Penfield W, Pasquet A. Combined regional and general anesthesia for craniotomy and cortical exploration. Anesth Analg. 1954;33:145–64.
- Akay A, Rükşen M, Çetin HY, Seval HÖ, İşlekel S. Pediatric awake craniotomy for brain lesions. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2016;51:103–8.
- Ard J, Doyle W, Bekker A. Awake craniotomy with dexmedetomidine in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15:263–6.
- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Wang FK, Kull L, Madsen JR, Black PM, et al. The effect of propofol on intraoperative electrocorticography and cortical stimulation during awake craniotomies in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2000;10:29–34.
- Delion M, Terminassian A, Lehousse T, Aubin G, Malka J, N'Guyen S, et al. Specificities of awake cra-

niotomy and brain mapping in children for resection of supratentorial tumors in the language area. World Neurosurg. 2015;84:1645–52.

- Lohkamp LN, Beuriat PA, Desmurget M, Cristofori I, Szathmari A, Huguet L, et al. Awake brain surgery in children-a single-center experience. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36:967–74.
- Riquin E, Martin P, Duverger P, et al. A case of awake craniotomy surgery in an 8-year-old girl. Childs Nerv Syst. 2017;33:1039–42.
- Santini B, Talacchi A, Casagrande F, Casartelli M, Savazzi S, Procaccio F, et al. Eligibility criteria and psychological profiles in patient candidates for awake craniotomy: a pilot study. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2012;24:209–16.
- Lohkamp LN, Mottolese C, Szathmari A, Huguet L, Beuriat PA, Christofori I, et al. Awake brain surgery in children-review of the literature and state-of-the-art. Childs Nerv Syst. 2019;35:2071–7.
- Milian M, Luerding R, Ploppa A, Decker K, Psaras T, Tatagiba M, et al. "Imagine your neighbour mows the lawn": a pilot study of psychological sequelae due to awake craniotomy: clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2013;118:1288–95.
- Milian M, Tatagiba M, Feigl GC. Patient response to awake craniotomy—a summary overview. Acta Neurochir. 2014;156:1063–70.
- 21. Labuschagne J, Lee CA, Mutyaba D, Mbanje T, Sibanda C. Awake craniotomy in a child: assessment of eligibility with a simulated theatre experience. Case Rep Anesthesiol. 2020:6902075.
- 22. Riquin E, Dinomais M, Malka J, Lehousse T, Duverger P, Menei P, et al. Psychiatric and psychologic impact of surgery while awake in children for resection of brain tumors. World Neurosurg. 2017;102:400–5.
- McDowell MM, Ortega Peraza D, Abel TJ. Development and implementation of a novel child life protocol to enhance psychosocial support for pediatric awake craniotomies: technical note. Neurosurg Focus. 2020;48(2):E5.
- Huguet L, Lohkamp LN, Beuriat PA, Desmurget M, Bapteste L, Szathmari A, et al. Psychological aspects of awake brain surgery in children—interests and risks. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36:273–9.
- 25. Waseem H, Mazzamurro RS, Fisher AH, Bhowmik S, Zaman RA, Andrew A, Bauer DF. Parental satisfaction with being present in the operating room during the induction of anesthesia prior to pediatric neurosurgical intervention: a qualitative analysis. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2018;21(5):528–34.
- Alcaraz García-Tejedor G, Echániz G, Strantzas S, Jalloh I, Rutka J, Drake J, et al. Feasibility of awake craniotomy in the pediatric population. Pediatr Anesth. 2020;30:480–9.
- 27. Olsen KS. The asleep-awake technique using propofol-remifentanil anaesthesia for awake cra-

niotomy for cerebral tumours. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2008;25:662–9.

- Klimek M, Verbrugge SJC, Roubos S, van der Most E, Vincent AJ, Klein J. Awake craniotomy for glioblastoma in a 9-year-old child. Anaesthesia. 2004;59:607–9.
- Everett LL, Van Rooyen IF, Warner MH, Shurtleff HA, Saneto RP, Ojemann JG. Use of dexmedetomidine in awake craniotomy in adolescents: report of two cases. Pediatr Anesth. 2006;16:338–42.
- Sokhal N, Rath GP, Chaturvedi A, Dash HH, Bithal PK, Chandra PS. Anaesthesia for awake craniotomy: a retrospective study of 54 cases. Indian J Anaesth. 2015;59(5):300–5.
- Sheshadri V, Chandramouli BA. Pediatric awake craniotomy for seizure focus resection with dexmedetomidine sedation-a case report. J Clin Anesth. 2016;32:199–202.
- Osborn I, Sebeo J. "Scalp block" during craniotomy: a classic technique revisited. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:187–94.
- Sebeo J, Osborn IP. The use of "scalp block" in Pediatric patients. Open J Anesthesiol. 2012;2:70–3.
- 34. Butterworth JF IV. Clinical pharmacology of local Anesthetics. In: Cousins MJ, Bridenbaugh PO, editors. Neural blockade in clinical anesthesia and pain medicine. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2009. p. 96–113.
- Stevanovic A, Rossaint R, Veldeman M, Bilotta F, Coburn M. Anaesthesia management for awake craniotomy: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0156448.
- Rath GP, Prabhakar H. Spectral entropy monitoring in a patient undergoing awake craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2007;19:144.
- 37. Tijero T, Ingelmo I, García-Trapero J, Puig A. Usefulness of monitoring brain tissue oxygen pressure during awake craniotomy for tumor resection: a case report. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2002;14:149–52.
- Whittle IR, Midgley S, Georges H, Pringle AM, Taylor R. Patient perceptions of "awake" brain tumour surgery. Acta Neurochir. 2005;147:275–7.
- 39. Herrick IA, Craen RA, Blume WT, Novick T, Gelb AW. Sedative doses of remifentanil have minimal effect on ECoG spike activity during awake epilepsy surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2002;14:55–8.
- Gallentine WB, Mikati MA. Intraoperative electrocorticography and cortical stimulation in children. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2009;26(2):95–108.
- Sala F, Krzan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18: 264–87.
- Nguyen HS, Sundaram SV, Mosier KM, Cohen-Gadol AA. A method to map the visual cortex during an awake craniotomy. J Neurosurg. 2011;114:922–6.

- Lee HW, Hong SB, Seo DW, Tae WS, Hong SC. Mapping of functional organization in human visual cortex: electrical cortical stimulation. Neurology. 2000;54:849–54.
- 44. Szelényi A, Bello L, Duffau H, Fava E, Feigl GC, Galanda M, Neuloh G, Signorelli F, Sala F, Workgroup for Intraoperative Management in Low-Grade Glioma Surgery within the European Low-Grade Glioma Network. Intraoperative electrical stimulation in awake craniotomy: methodological aspects of current practice. Neurosurg Focus. 2010;28(2):E7.
- Pouratian N, Cannestra AF, Bookheimer SY, Martin NA, Toga AW. Variability of intraoperative electrocortical stimulation mapping parameters across and within individuals. J Neurosurg. 2004;101(3):458–66.
- Garavaglia MM, Hare GMT, Cusimano MD. Local anesthetic toxicity during awake craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25(3):355–6.
- 47. Smith SC, Burbridge M, Jaffe R. High flow nasal cannula, a novel approach to airway management in awake craniotomies. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2018;30(4):382.
- Kumar R, Goyal V, Chauhan RS. Venous air embolism during microelectrode recording in deep brain stimulation surgery in an awake supine patient. Br J Neurosurg. 2009;23:446–8.

- Deogaonkar A, Avitsian R, Henderson JM, Schubert A. Venous air embolism during deep brain stimulation surgery in an awake supine patient. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg. 2005;83:32–5.
- Balki M, Manninen PH, McGuire GP, El-Beheiry H, Bernstein M. Venous air embolism during awake craniotomy in a supine patient. Can J Anaesth. 2003;50:835–8.
- Gooden CK, Osborn IP. Venous air embolism during deep brain stimulation surgery in an awake child. Can J Anesth. 2010;57:88–9.
- 52. Babl FE, Crellin D, Cheng J, Sullivan TP, O'Sullivan R, Hutchinson A. The use of the faces, legs, activity, cry and consolability scale to assess procedural pain and distress in young children. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2012;28:1281–96.
- 53. Savino F, Vagliano L, Ceratto S, Viviani F, Miniero R, Ricceri F. Pain assessment in children undergoing venipuncture: the Wong-Baker faces scale versus skin conductance fluctuations. PeerJ. 2013;12:e37.
- 54. Pagé MG, Katz J, Stinson J, Isaac L, Martin-Pichora AL, Campbell F. Validation of the numerical rating scale for pain intensity and unpleasantness in pediatric acute postoperative pain: sensitivity to change over time. J Pain. 2012;13:359–69.



28

Anesthesia for Epilepsy Surgery in Children

Ashish Bindra 💿 and Manjari Tripathi

Key Points

- The global prevalence of surgical epilepsy among pediatric patients is reasonably high.
- The type of surgery required varies from lesionectomy to complex disconnective surgeries.
- Anesthesiologists are involved in the provision of anesthesia during preoperative imaging, surgical excision of the epileptic focus, and management of perioperative complications.
- Preoperative evaluation of a child with chronic epilepsy should consist of assessing the neurological status, screening for syndromic associations, and adverse effect/interactions of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs).
- Intraoperative goals include maintenance of cerebral and systemic hemodynamics, facili-

A. Bindra (🖂)

tation of surgical dissection, intraoperative neuromonitoring, and early emergence.

- Most epilepsy surgeries are conducted under general anesthesia; awake craniotomy is done in cases with lesions near the eloquent cortex.
- The ideal anesthetic technique causes minimal interference with electrocorticography (ECoG) and other neurophysiological recordings.

28.1 Introduction

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurological disorders and results in significant disability in individuals of all ages worldwide [1]. According to recent literature, 11.2% of the world's children and adolescent suffer from one of the disabilities. including childhood epilepsy, intellectual disability, and sensory impairments [2, 3]. The prevalence of pediatric epilepsy is high across the globe, and the treatment gap is wide [1]. The incidence and prevalence of epilepsy in developing countries are not well documented due to irregular reporting, diagnostic difficulties, and lack of standardization. The prevalence of pediatric epilepsy in India is around 5.5 per 1000 population [4]. A considerable stigma is associated with epileptic disorders. Illiteracy, poverty, and lack of a trained workforce make the treatment further difficult [5].

Long-standing epilepsy results in adverse effects on brain development, learning, language,

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

M. Tripathi

Department of Neurology, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_28

and life quality besides posing a major financial burden. The burden of disability, thus arising, is substantial, hampers the quality of life, and keeps increasing with age [2]. Surgery is offered to patients with surgically remedial epilepsy. There is enough evidence suggesting the advantages of surgery over medical management alone for seizure control and mitigating the effects of recurrent seizures on the developing brain [6].

This chapter emphasizes the perioperative management of children for epilepsy surgery, including perioperative drug review, preoperative workup, anesthetic considerations, and perioperative complications.

28.2 Epileptic Seizure

International league against epilepsy has given a set of definitions for better understanding and diagnosis of the disease [7, 8]. An epileptic seizure is a transient occurrence of signs and/or symptoms due to abnormal excessive or synchronous neuronal activity in the brain. The term transient is used to demarcate time, with a clear start and finish. Neonatal seizures, acute symptomatic seizures, neurocysticercosis, and febrile seizures are commonly encountered seizures in childhood [9]. Epilepsy is a tendency to have recurrent unprovoked seizures. According to the conceptual definition, epilepsy is a brain disorder characterized by an enduring predisposition to generate epileptic seizures and the neurobiological, cognitive, psychological, and social consequences of this condition [9]. The definition of epilepsy requires the occurrence of at least one epileptic seizure. According to the practical definition, epilepsy is characterized by at least two unprovoked (or reflex) seizures occurring >24 h apart or one unprovoked (or reflex) seizure and a probability of further seizures similar to the general recurrence risk (at least 60%) after two unprovoked seizures, occurring over the next 10 years or diagnosis of an epilepsy syndrome [7].

Some epileptic episodes are idiopathic in nature, probably with the genetic background. In contrast, others are secondary to brain tumors, stroke, or other congenital disorders. An acute symptomatic seizure can be due to acute systemic and cerebral causes. Perinatal injuries are a major causative factor in the pediatric group [10].

28.3 Drug Refractory Epilepsy

Drug refractory epilepsy (DRE), also known as intractable epilepsy, is a continuation of seizures despite maximally tolerated doses of more than two antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) with an occurrence of an average of one seizure per month for approximately 18 months with no more than a 3-month seizure-free period in these 18 months [11]. Longer duration of seizure disrupts developmental progress and normal childhood activity and causes cognitive decline. About 30-40% of children are non-responders to medical treatment, out of which 50% can be cured with surgery [12]. With recent advances in diagnosis and surgical and anesthetic methodology, epilepsy surgery is increasingly possible even in very small children without age-related contraindications.

28.4 Resolution of Epilepsy

Epilepsy is resolved for individuals who had an age-dependent epilepsy syndrome but are now past the applicable age or those who have remained seizure-free for the last 10 years, with no seizure medicines for the last 5 years [9].

28.5 Seizure Semiology

The seizure semiology is the study of signs of epilepsy and depends upon the brain's area from which seizure originates and its spread pattern. Clinical symptoms are transient and vary from loss of awareness and consciousness or a disturbance of movement, mood, sensation, or mental function. Seizure semiology in children more than 6 years of age is similar to that in adults and may include auras, staring or behavioral arrest, automatisms, and versive and dystonic posturing. However, children less than 6 years of age may present with symmetric motor signs of the limbs. Language and cognitive development are required to describe seizure semiology reliably. Younger children with long-standing epilepsy and children with cognitive impairment and generalized epilepsy are usually unable to describe their symptoms [13]. The frequency of complex automatisms increases with age. Video electroencephalography (vEEG) is an important tool to study seizures. An anesthesiologist should note seizure semiology correctly to diagnose it during the perioperative period and differentiate it from another perioperative behavioral dysfunction.

28.6 Medical Management of Epilepsy

Most of epilepsies respond to drug management. The most common reason for medical management failure is incorrect diagnosis or drug and suboptimal drug dosing. The initial AED is usually started as monotherapy, if it results in adverse effects, an alternative AED is selected. Lamotrigine and carbamazepine are considered drugs of choice in focal epilepsies, while valproate is probably the most effective drug for primary generalized seizures [14, 15]. In cases of no response, combination therapy is often required. The mechanism of action of commonly used AEDs is summarized in Table 28.1. AEDs are divided into two categories: older AEDs like phenytoin, carbamazepine, valproate, phenobarbitone, and primidone have potent enzyme-inducing properties; as a result, there are complex interactions with commonly used drugs in the perioperative period resulting in altered plasma concentration of these medications as well as AEDs. The commonly affected drugs are antibiotics, immunosuppressants, cardiovascular drugs, other AEDs, and muscle relaxants. Macrolide antibiotics, particularly erythromycin, are potent inhibitors of CYP3A4, which is involved in carbamazepine metabolism and can lead to carbamazepine toxicity. Concomitant use of carbapenem antibiotics can lead to a significant decrease in serum valproate concentrations. Despite this, these drugs are cheaper, effective, and hence commonly used to manage epileptic disorders in children. Newer AEDs like levetiracetam, lamotrigine, gabapentin, and tiagabine have simple pharmacokinetics and limited hepatic metabolism. They have lesser side effects; no need for serum drug monitoring, once or twice daily dosing; and fewer drug-todrug interactions. However, there are little data to suggest the efficacy of newer over older AEDs.

Anesthetic agents can have drug interactions with AEDs and may result in suboptimal or overdosing of the latter. Calculation and maintenance dosing of AEDs during periods of starvation are thus of great importance. AEDs are central nervous system depressants and may potentiate the sedative effect of anesthetic drugs.

28.7 Evaluation of Patients with Refractory Seizures

The ideal selection of surgical candidates requires a thorough preoperative workup. The clinical presentation and disease profile decide the type of investigations required. Surgical procedure depends on clinical, electrophysiological, neuroimaging, and neuropsychological evaluations and establishment of an electro-clinical-radiological [electroencephalography (EEG), semiology, and radiological investigations] concordance. Preoperative workup greatly improves the ability to localize the seizure focus and characterize its relationship to the brain's functional areas [16]. Neuroanesthesiologists play a crucial role by facilitating various investigations that may require monitored anesthesia care (MAC), management of status epilepticus, or general anesthetic administration. A battery of tests has been described for preoperative workup, but all the tests may not be required and/or available for each case at all centers. ILAE has made recommendations which help choose between various preoperative investigations depending upon the requirement and feasibility [17].

28.8 Electroencephalography (EEG)

Interictal EEG and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the most commonly used tests to diagnose surgical epilepsy patients. In EEG, *the amplitude* is the height of the wave; *frequency* is the number of cycles per second the wave crosses

| Mechanism of | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| action | Drugs | Properties | Major side effects |
| Modulation of voltage-dependent sodium channel | Phenytoin | Inducer of hepatic cytochrome P450 and glucuronyl transferase Antiepileptic Antiarrhythmic Therapeutic plasma level 10–20 µg/ml | Hypotension with a rapid infusion rate. Steven-Jhonson's syndrome, rash, diplopia, ataxia, nystagmus, gingival hyperplasia, hirsutism, neuropathy, cerebellar degeneration, decreased bone density |
| | Fosphenytoin | Pro-drug of phenytoin. IV and IM use | Same as phenytoin except for causes less hypotension and more paresthesia, hyperphosphatemia in patients with end stage renal disease |
| | Carbamazepine | Undergoes hepatic metabolism Mixed enzyme inducer and inhibitor of hepatic cytochrome P450 and glucuronyl transferase Safe for use during pregnancy The need for serum drug-level monitoring | Gastrointestinal discomfort, rash, ataxia, dizziness, diplopia, hyponatremia, benign leucopenia (no need of intervention unless count falls <1000/mm3), cardiac conduction abnormalities It can increase the metabolism of concomitantly administered anti-seizure drugs like phenytoin, ethosuximide, valproic acid, and clonazepam |
| | Oxcarbazepine | Less potent than carbamazepine Less potent inducer of hepatic enzymes than carbamazepine | Similar to carbamazepine. Hyponatremia more common |
| | Eslicarbazepine | Inducer of hepatic cytochrome P450 and glucuronyl transferase | Sedation, headache, dizziness, hyponatraemia, leucopenia |
| | Lacosamide | Minimal drug interactions | Approved for use in patients greater than 17 years of age. Mild side effects. Dizziness, ataxia, vertigo |
| | Zonisamide | CYP2C19 inhibitor Drug-level monitoring is not required | Dizziness, nausea, PR prolongation |
| | Lamotrigine | Minor inducer of own metabolism | Rash, nausea, rarely drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS), aseptic meningitis |
| Enhancement of fast GABA- | Clobazam | Moderate inhibitor of hepatic enzymes | Sedation, ataxia, dysarthria, behavioral changes |
| mediated synaptic inhibition | Phenobarbitone | Oldest and cheapest. Multiple drug interactions. Mostly used for neonatal seizures. Mean steady-state level 14–21 µg/ml | Sedation, restlessness, confusion, skin rash, bone marrow depression, liver failure |
| | Gabapentinoids (gabapentin and pregabalin) | Used as adjunctive. No hepatic enzyme induction | Generally well-tolerated, somnolence, dizziness, ataxia, headache, tremor, weight gain, and peripheral edema |
| | Vigabatrin | Weak inducer of hepatic enzymes | Dizziness, ataxia, fatigue |
| | Tiagabine | Used as adjunctive treatment for seizures | Dizziness, tremor, depression, ataxia |

 Table 28.1
 Common antiepileptic drugs (AEDs)

(continued)

| Mechanism of | Dmage | Droportion | Major side effects |
|-------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Calcium channel inhibitor | Ethosuximide | Therapeutic range 40–100 µg/ml Interaction with other anti- seizure medications | Gastrointestinal symptoms, nausea, vomiting, headache, dizziness |
| Synaptic release machinery | Levetiracetam | Broad therapeutic window. One of the most commonly prescribed AEDs. No drug interactions | Somnolence, ataxia, dizziness, depression |
| | Brivaracetam | Analog of levetiracetam Minimal drug interactions | Somnolence, ataxia, dizziness, depression |
| Glutamate receptors | Perampanel | Significant drug interactions with other anti-seizure medications | Behavioral adverse reactions including aggression, hostility, irritability, and anger; dizziness, somnolence |
| Pleotropic/mixed | Valproate | First-line, broad-spectrum AED, potent enzyme inhibitor. Therapeutic level ranges from 50 to 100µg/ml; but concentrations up to 150µg/ml are well tolerated | Nausea, vomiting, and gastrointestinal upset, weight gain, hepatotoxic, thrombocytopenia (though bleeding is rare), increased blood ammonia concentrations leading to lethargy, hyperammonic encephalopathy in patients with genetic defect in urea metabolism, neural tube defects, orofacial and digital anomalies in fetus |
| | Felbamate | Minimal drug interactions | Cognitive impairment, acute myopia, angle-closure glaucoma, inhibition of carbonic anhydrase resulting in reduced serum bicarbonate (hyperchloremic non-anion gap metabolic acidosis, oligohydrosis (elevated body temperature), renal stones, weight loss, oral cleft in fetus |
| | Topiramate | Minimal drug interactions | Drowsiness, cognitive impairment, renal stones, inhibition of carbonic anhydrase, weight loss (similar to topiramate) |
| | Zonisamide | Minimal drug interactions | Somnolence, pyrexia, diarrhea |

Table 28.1(continued)

the zero-voltage line, and *time* is the duration of epileptic activity. The usual base frequency in a normal conscious patient is in the beta wave range (>13 Hz), and this comes to the alpha range (8–13 Hz) with the closure of eyes or mild sedation. Activation of EEG is a term that refers to the production of higher-frequency waves. EEG depression is predominant in slower frequencies like theta or delta (<4–7 Hz). Epilepsy results in the generation of high-voltage spike waves of certain recognizable patterns in specific

epileptic focus in the brain. Ictal EEG is the EEG recording during a seizure, whereas interictal EEG is the waveform between the seizures and is characteristic of epilepsy disorder. The interictal EEG is often utilized for diagnosing epilepsy (Fig. 28.1). However, EEG activity is easily affected by agents causing cortical suppression, common examples being anesthetic agents, and AEDs. Localization of epileptic focus may become difficult under the influence of such drugs.



Fig. 28.1 Electroencephalography (EEG) the interictal waveform pattern

28.9 Ictal EEG with Video

The video EEG (vEEG) monitoring refers to EEG with a video recording of patients to see the correlation between the clinical manifestation of seizure and EEG. vEEG may be done for short or long term. It provides information on seizure focus localization, semiology, and differentiation of seizure from non-epileptic events (Fig. 28.2).

28.10 Extra-Operative Invasive EEG Monitoring

It is the procedure of placement of intracranial electrodes under anesthesia and monitoring postoperatively for seizure. It is performed in patients who have had inconclusive noninvasive investigations, dual pathology, or discordant noninvasive data. Subdural, strip, depth, or a combination of electrodes is placed through a craniotomy or a burr hole, and the recordings

obtained are thereafter monitored for a few days. It helps in localization of the seizure focus and its spread. It is important for extratemporal seizure localization, which is more common in pediatric patients. Intraoperative MRI and stereotaxy are being increasingly used to guide accurate positioning of these electrodes. The complications include the risk of meningitis, subdural or intracranial hematoma, and herniation. The procedure is done under general anesthesia and is typically followed by repeat surgery after 4-5 days to remove the grid and strip electrodes once the seizure area is demarcated. The use of nitrous oxide may be curtailed during redo surgery, as it may result in the expansion of residual intracranial air [18].

28.11 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

High-resolution MRI with a defined acquisition protocol is required for localizing seizure focus; however, the extent of resection may not be



Fig. 28.2 Video EEG recorded four events which show left complex partial seizures with secondary generalization. Ictal rhythmic delta activity seen at F8-T4 (red and blue colors depict right- and left-sided leads, respectively)

defined (Fig. 28.3a–f). There can be multiple areas of pathology visible on MRI, but the exact lesion producing seizure will not be identified. Interpretation of MRI images may be difficult in the pediatric population due to variable development and myelination changes. MRI in children often requires general anesthesia.

28.12 Functional MRI (fMRI)

fMRI is a noninvasive technique to know seizure focus and its relation with eloquent cortex. It is a noninvasive test that helps lateralize language function and motor function but has limited memory localization. It is preferred over other invasive tests like *Wada or cortical stimulation*. It is less accurate in post-ictal states, vascular malformations, and large mass lesions with edema. Interpreting MRI in small children may be challenging due to different central nervous system maturation and evolution.

28.13 Magnetoencephalography (MEG)

MEG is a functional neuroimaging modality used for brain mapping. It records tiny magnetic fields produced by electrical currents in the brain, using magnetometers. It can do three-dimensional localization of the source of interictal spikes. MEG can define smaller foci (4–8 cm²) compared to EEG (10–15 cm²). MEG is usually done along with EEG in patients without abnormality on MRI or patients with multifocal lesions [19]. Anesthetic agents greatly affect MEG.

28.14 Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT)

SPECT scan shows hyperperfusion in seizure focus during the ictal period and hypoperfusion during interictal period. The investigation



Fig. 28.3 MRI shows different pathologies of surgical epilepsy. (a) Right-sided mesial temporal sclerosis, hippocampal atrophy, dilatation of ipsilateral horn, and increased T2 signal. (b) Left insular focal cortical dysplasia. (c) Tuberous sclerosis. (d) Rasmussen encephalitis:

requires the injection of radionuclide at the time of seizure, followed by scanning in the SPECT suite. The timing of radionuclide injection is critical, and late injections may not provide reliable information (Fig. 28.3c).

28.15 Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

PET scan is usually done during the interictal period. The PET scan can further clarify the seizure location by showing an area of decreased metabolism at the seizure focus during the inter-ictal period. MRI showing right cortical atrophy with ex-vacuo ventricular dilation. (e) Right-hemispheric hypertrophy (megalencephaly). (f) Sturge-Weber syndrome: MRI showing volume loss and prominent leptomeningeal enhancement in the left cerebral cortex

28.16 Wada Test

Wada test is the gold standard test for preoperative language and memory mapping. Most of the data is available from adults. Its applicability in predicting long-term neurocognitive functioning in pediatric patients is limited due to different neurodevelopment seen in the pediatric brain. Wada test and superselective Wada test are used to lateralize language and memory functions in each hemisphere. Wada test is conducted by selectively injecting a short-acting anesthetic agent (amobarbital, methohexital, propofol, etomidate) into one of the internal carotid arteries directly or through an intra-arterial catheter placed in the femoral artery [20]. Injection of short-acting anesthetic agents results in deactivation of the corresponding half of the brain. If the right carotid is injected, the brain's right side is inhibited and cannot communicate with the left side and vice versa. This inhibits any language and memory function in that hemisphere, and evaluation of the other hemisphere is done by engaging patients in language and memoryrelated tests. A simultaneous EEG recording confirms that the injected side of the brain is inactive. The superselective Wada test is done by injecting the anesthetic drug directly into the artery supplying the lesion. Wada/superselective Wada simulates the functional outcome following resective or disconnective surgery. Lesion producing epilepsy can be safely removed if inhibiting that half of the brain/selective area produces no major functional deficit. The memory function results are not as reliable as the mesial temporal structures that deal with memory function that are mainly perfused by posterior circulation. Wada test is not practiced widely in children across the globe due to difficulty in its execution in younger children, especially mentally retarded, noncooperative, and apprehensive [21]. Children may be offered short-acting anesthetic at the time of vessel puncture but have to be kept awake and cooperative at the time of intracarotid injection and subsequent testing.

28.17 Role of Anesthesiologist during Preoperative Workup

The anesthesiologist is often involved in the facilitation of preoperative workup of children posted for epilepsy surgery [19]. Most of the imaging procedures require a still and cooperative patient. Young children and patients with cognitive impairment pose special challenges to the anesthesiologist. The required level of sedation can range from anxiolysis to deep sedation. Deep sedation is more commonly required for prolonged procedures such as MRIs and SPECT scans and can be achieved using volatile or inhalational agents. Imaging techniques like MEG are

highly sensitive to anesthetic agents. There should be clear communication with the neurologists discussing the influence of drugs on the investigation results. Hypnotic agents like propofol and thiopental may produce myoclonic movements without EEG activity, whereas etomidate and methohexital produce myoclonic activity along with epileptiform activity in EEG [22]. The druginduced activity should be differentiated from an epileptic seizure. The drug-induced EEG changes are nonspecific and do not have any localization value [17]. Similarly, volatile agents can also produce changes in EEG. Dexmedetomidine, an alpha-2 agonist, is a promising agent for providing sedation in epileptic patients without much effect on electrophysiologic recordings.

28.18 Choice and Types of Epilepsy Surgery

The type of surgery is determined by the nature of the abnormality and results of preoperative testing. Surgical procedures commonly performed are described in Table 28.2. The procedure may vary from simple lesionectomy to complex disconnection surgeries. Thorough knowledge of pathology, seizure semiology, drug history, type of surgical procedure, and possible complications is required for successful perioperative management [23–27].

Vagus nerve stimulator consists of two main parts, a programmable pulse generator implant and a helical electrode wrapped around the left vagus nerve in the neck. The device delivers open-loop stimulation. The current output, pulse, frequency, and signal can be adjusted as per predetermined protocols. The device can be controlled externally by a handheld magnet. Vagus nerve stimulator is usually implanted under general anesthesia. No specialized neuromonitoring is required [28].

Deep brain stimulation for control of seizures is becoming increasingly popular. However, neurostimulation techniques are more defined in patients above 18 years of age. Its role in pediatric patients is still under study. Complex disconnective surgeries are increasingly being

| | Anesthetic plan and concerns | Up to 20% pediatric patients have temporal lobe epilepsy Extra temporal lobe epilepsy requires neurophysiological monitoring to demarcate lesion Lesions near the eloquent cortex may require an awake craniotomy Fairly stable perioperative course | Corpus callosotomy: Done under general anesthesia, standard anesthetic technique for craniotomy, no EEG recordings required, surgery near sagittal sinus, risk of bleeding, and venous air embolism. Vagus nerve stimulation: Done mostly on left-side, day-care procedure, under general anesthesia Intraoperative complications: Bradycardia, cardiac arrest, vocal cord, and laryngeal muscle dysfunction | Require intraoperative demarcation of epileptogenic zones using ECoG |
|----------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Surgical procedure | Lesionectomy Decision to operate and results depend upon good presurgical evaluation and concordance of evidence Good result with minimal morbidity | Generally palliativeCorpus callosotomyVagal nerve stimulation | Multilobar resective surgery Disconnective surgery Depends upon concordance between imaging and functional evaluations |
| rative concerns during epilepsy surgery | Disease characteristics | These lesions are usually without the involvement of functional motor, visual, and language cortex | Drop attacks characteristic of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome Variable mental retardation | Epileptogenic zone extends to large areas of temporal, parietal, and occipital lobes. Central and frontal areas are generally spared |
| Table 28.2 Disease characteristics and intraoper | Pathology (Fig. 28.3a-f) | Focal lesions Mesial temporal sclerosis (Fig. 28.3a) Dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumor (DNET) Focal cortical dysplasia (Fig. 28.3b) Hippocampal sclerosis Sturge-weber syndrome (focal) Hypothalamic hamartoma Gliosis (traumatic) Ganglioglioma Vascular lesions/cavernoma | Multifocal lesions Lennox-Gastaut syndrome West syndrome West syndrome Bi-hemispheric sequelae of traumatic/ vascular/infectious pathology | Sub-hemispheric lesions Bi-hemispheric sequelae of traumatic/ vascular/infectious pathology Incidence: Around 5% |

.

| | | | A |
|-----------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Pathology (Fig. 28.3a–1) | Disease characteristics | Surgical procedure | Anesthetic plan and concerns |
| Hemispheric lesions | Tuberous sclerosis: Intracranial, cutaneous, | Disconnective surgery | Based on the interruption of the |
| Tuberous sclerosis | cardiac, renal, pulmonary tubers. Needs detailed | Hemispherotomy | epileptic network |
| Infantile hemiplegic syndrome | cardiac and renal workup | Peri-insular | Anesthetic concerns: General |
| Rasmussen's encephalitis | Infantile hemiplegic spasm: Pathology affecting | Trans-opercular | anesthesia, highest morbidity |
| Disorders of neuronal migration | the entire hemisphere, resulting in early-onset | Trans-sylvian | epilepsy surgery |
| Hemimegalencephaly | unilateral paralysis | Vertical | Long duration, blood loss, |
| Sturge-weber syndrome | Imaging: Hemispheric atrophy with dilated | | electrolyte and metabolic |
| (encephalotrigeminal angiomatosis) | ventricular system | | disturbances, coagulopathy, |
| Cerebrovascular accidents | Rasmussen's encephalitis: Typically, unilateral, | | delayed extubation |
| Thromboembolic episodes | chronic childhood encephalitis, viral or | | Complications are Less with |
| 1 | autoimmune in origin | | functional hemispherotomy |
| | Presents as hemiplegia, cognitive dysfunction, | | practice now a days as |
| | and focal motor seizures | | compared to hemispherectomy, |
| | Hemimegancephaly: Neuroblast migratory defect. | | which was earlier practiced |
| | Hamartomatous malformation of brain resulting | | |
| | in extreme asymmetry. May be isolated or | | |
| | associated with other neurocutaneous syndromes | | |
| | Symptoms: Seizure, mental retardation, | | |
| | hemiparesis, hemianopia | | |
| | MRI: Abnormal gyration, ventriculomegaly, | | |
| | colpocephaly, occipital sign, overall increased | | |
| | size of hemisphere, giant neurons, neuronal | | |
| | heterotopias | | |
| | These may occur in children with heart disease, | | |
| | undergoing cardiac surgery, use of extra-corporeal | | |
| | membrane oxygenation | | |
| | Struge Weber Syndrome: Characterized by pial | | |
| | angiomatosis and intracranial calcifications. May | | |
| | be localized or diffuse, unilateral or bilateral. | | |
| | Presents as port-wine stains, glaucoma, seizures, | | |
| | and variable degrees of mental retardation depend | | |
| | on the extent of lesion. Look for airway | | |
| | hemangiomas | | |

done using minimally invasive endoscopic techniques [29]. Robot-assisted stereotaxis allows for more precise placement of intracranial depth electrodes [30]. Intraoperative MRI ensures completeness of resection of the epileptogenic area in the peri-eloquent cortex.

28.19 Preoperative Anesthetic Evaluation and Preparation

The preoperative examination should be thorough and includes physical examination, history of perinatal neurological insult, febrile seizures, perinatal hypoxia, preterm/premature birth, CNS infection, head injury, chronic medical illness, prior anesthetic history, and drug allergies. Any recent acute illness should also be noted. Systematic screening for airway anomalies, congenital cardiac defects, associated syndromes like tuberous sclerosis, hemimegalencephaly, Sturge-Weber syndrome, and mental retardation should be done. Table 28.2 enlists the causes of surgically remediable epilepsy, disease characteristics, common surgical procedures, and anesthetic concerns.

In children planned for awake craniotomy, the ability to cooperate during awake procedures should be tested. The onset, duration, type, and frequency of seizure disorder should be noted. Understanding seizure semiology helps identify seizure in the perioperative period and differentiate it from delirious movements, inadequate reversal, myoclonic jerks, or a new-onset seizure. A note of AEDs, adequacy of seizure control with ongoing medication, should be known to the anesthesiologist. Continuation or discontinuation of AEDs and anxiolytic premedication on the morning of surgery depends upon intraoperative requirements and should be guided by institutional protocol.

Age-dependent alterations in physiology should be kept in mind while planning the anesthetic technique. Children under 2 years have lower mean arterial blood pressure and a low cerebral autoregulatory reserve; hence, the perioperative blood loss is poorly tolerated. Massive blood loss, fluctuations in blood pressure, and electrolyte disturbances are critical in neonates with limited cardiac reserve. Immaturity of the renal and hepatic systems should be considered while planning intraoperative fluid and drug dosages of anesthetics/AEDs. Sudden cardiac death and respiratory events are not uncommon in small children. Baseline hemogram, coagulation studies, and arrangement of blood are essential for all craniotomies.

Ketogenic diet is a popular treatment modality for controlling seizures. It is a diet high in fat and low in protein and carbohydrates to produce a ketotic and acidotic state. Hypoalbuminemia is common with this diet. Ketogenic diet is not a contraindication to anesthesia administration [31]. Monitoring for preoperative and intraoperative acidosis, serum glucose, and ketones is recommended, especially during long surgeries [32].

The surgical technique and intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring should be discussed preoperatively with the neurological and neurosurgical team. Commonly carried out intraoperative neurophysiology monitoring includes ECoG and cortical stimulation. Drugs interfering with physiological recordings, especially benzodiazepines, should be avoided as premedicants. AEDs may be omitted where seizure elicitation is planned during the intraoperative period. Many centers prefer to continue the routine AEDs in the morning of surgery, as most of the resections are based on interictal recordings.

Anesthetic agents and AEDs interact with each other and affect each other's efficacy resulting in suboptimal or overdosing or risk of intraoperative seizures. General anesthetics and AEDs interact with Na+ channels and GABA_A receptors at therapeutic concentrations resulting in overlapping of clinical spectrum. Hence, general anesthetics also possess anticonvulsant activity, while many AEDs have sedative effects [33]. AEDs and anesthetic agents also share common metabolic pathways, which results in an alteration in the distribution and clearance during their simultaneous use. It results in a change in the duration and degree of sedation achieved. AEDs that are enzyme inducers decrease the duration of sedatives and muscle relaxants' duration, resulting in the need for frequent dose repetitions. Prolonged use of phenytoin and carbamazepine is known to cause resistance to the action of nondepolarizing muscle relaxants. Conversely, AEDs with enzyme inhibitory properties may prolong sedation and recovery time in the postoperative period. Such situations result in frustration and displeasure among the anesthesiologists, children, and their parents.

Preoperative investigations should include a hemogram (significant blood loss with craniotomy in small children), coagulation profile (coagulability changes following neurosurgery, the effect of AEDs), hepatic and renal profile to look for side effects of AEDs (Table 28.1), and other system screenings according to syndromic association.

Planning the preoperative period is important in preschool children who have separation anxiety. Children with mental disabilities pose special challenges. Short-acting drugs in low doses are recommended in these children. Oral, intravenous, or nasal midazolam is commonly used as premedicant. These drugs may interact with ECoG. Thus, the role of the anesthesiologist is to design an appropriate timing and dosage of premedication which does not interfere with waveform recording [34].

28.20 Intraoperative Anesthetic Technique

The intraoperative anesthetic goal is to maintain cerebral and systemic hemodynamics, facilitate surgical dissection, enable intraoperative neuromonitoring, early emergence, and manage perioperative complications. Anesthetic regimen depends on the patient profile, type of surgery, and the anesthetist's experience with each agent. The inherent challenges of pediatric anesthesia, surgery complexity, intraoperative blood loss, hemodynamics, and temperature variability cannot be neglected. Although awake craniotomy is better for intraoperative neurological testing, general anesthesia offers the advantage of comfort, for both patient and physician, in cases with well-demarcated seizure focus on preoperative structural and functional mapping. The children are usually apprehensive and less cooperative; moreover, the availability of advanced perioperative neuroimaging technologies does not make awake craniotomy a commonly utilized procedure for pediatric epilepsy surgery. Anesthesia can be induced using an inhalational or intravenous (IV) technique depending upon the degree of cooperation and IV access availability. Sevoflurane is a commonly used inhalation agent; however, it has an epileptogenic potential. Propofol and thiopentone can be used alternatively in patients with IV access. Hypnotic agents can depress the ECoG potentials. Sevoflurane has been commonly used for induction.

28.21 Intraoperative Monitoring

28.21.1 Anesthesia Monitoring

The type of procedure being performed determines the choice of monitoring [16]. Standard noninvasive monitors would suffice for diagnostic imaging procedures performed under sedation. Under general anesthesia, surgical resections with no intraoperative neuromonitoring testing pose concerns similar to usual craniotomy. Standard ASA monitors including ECG, pulse oximetry, arterial line for blood gases and accurate blood pressure monitoring, and end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂) should be used. Management of smaller children with complex pathology undergoing disconnective surgeries is challenging. Such patients are prone to high blood loss, hemodynamic instability, coagulation abnormalities, and electrolyte disorders. Monitors to diagnose and manage volume loss are paramount. Monitoring invasive arterial pressure, central venous pressure, serial hematocrit, urine output, arterial blood gases, electrolytes, and coagulation are crucial for a successful outcome in such cases. Two large-bore cannulas are required for volume replacement; normovolemia should be the target. Calculation of allowable blood loss and early transfusion avoids hemodynamic instability.

In patients planned for intraoperative brain mapping for seizure localization, additional anesthetic goals include considering anesthetic agents' effect on EEG. Maintenance of normothermia, normocarbia, and depth of anesthesia is especially important (Table 28.3). Titrating anesthesia depth, end-tidal concentration, or minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration (MAC) of anesthetic agents can help optimal ECoG monitoring.

28.21.2 Neuromonitoring

Intraoperative neuromonitoring aims to localize the epileptogenic zone and guide its complete resection. Anesthetic agents have a variable effect on central neural transmission, thereby producing excitatory or suppressive patterns on EEG. The overall effect depends upon the ratio of suppression of inhibitory or excitatory neurons in cortical and subcortical brain structures with changing anesthetic depth. Broadly at lower doses, anesthetic agents have an excitatory effect, and increasing depth results in neuronal depression. Anesthetic agents like propofol, thiopentone, etomidate, and methohexitone cause myoclonic activity mimicking seizure. Etomidate and methohexitone may produce epileptiform EEG changes [35].

28.21.2.1 Electrocorticography (ECoG)

ECoG is the electrical recording obtained by placing electrodes directly on the exposed cortex [36]. ECoG is similar to scalp EEG, without the dispersion and attenuation of potentials by the scalp and skull. It has a larger amplitude, which ranges between 30 and 50μ V/mm. The frequency band-pass filter range is between 0.5 and 70 Hz, which ensures adequate capture of epileptiform discharges. The ECoG electrodes are embedded in flexible plastic sheets of variable size in a grid or strip fashion (Fig. 28.4a, b). The grid/strip electrodes are placed at the cortical surface, whereas depth electrodes are used for recordings from deep structures like the hippocampus and amygdala (Fig. 28.4c). Electrodes are positioned

Table 28.3 Anesthetic concerns for intraoperative electrocorticography (ECoG)

| Time period | Anesthetic concerns |
|----------------|----------------------------------------------|
| Preoperative | Avoid benzodiazepine and |
| period | barbiturate premedication as they |
| | suppress ECoG |
| | • Explain to patient and relatives |
| | about the risk of intraoperative |
| | awareness |
| | Routine AEDs may be continued |
| Intraoperative | Induction agent: Preferable |
| period | opioids, short-acting barbiturates. |
| | Barbiturates and propofol may |
| | suppress the seizure recordings |
| | for some time |
| | • Maintenance: Either inhalational |
| | or intravenous technique may be |
| | used along with muscle |
| | relaxation, and opioid, and N_2O |
| | can be used |
| | • ECOG recordings |
| | • Proporoi should be tapered down |
| | 20-30 minutes before the |
| | • Low concentration volatile agent |
| | along with opioid or |
| | dexmedetomidine can be |
| | continued during ECoG |
| | recordings |
| | Muscle relaxant should be |
| | continued |
| | Pharmacoactivation in cases |
| | where adequate ECoG recordings |
| | are not obtained |
| | • After ECoG recordings: Regular |
| | maintenance anesthetics should |
| | be continued |

AED antiepileptic drugs, ECoG electrocorticography

on the seizure focus area already defined by preoperative testing. The signals obtained are graphically displayed on the monitor (Fig. 28.5). ECoG usually interprets the inter-ictal data. The signals obtained are used to demarcate and adequately resect the epileptogenic zone. Co-registration techniques are widely used to delineate discrete epileptic focus; however, ECoG is still a commonly used technique to define epileptogenic zones intraoperatively.

Recording ECoG under anesthesia is a challenge as anesthetic agents can enhance or depress the epileptiform activity or can themselves be epileptogenic. With increasing anesthetic depth, the waveform changes from predominant



Fig. 28.4 Shows different size grid electrodes (a), different size strip electrodes (b), and and depth electrodes (c)

 α -waves (8–12 Hz) to higher frequency β -activity (13–30 Hz), which progresses to high-amplitude low-frequency θ (5–7 Hz) and δ -waves (1–4 Hz) followed by burst suppression. β-Waves can imitate and mask epileptiform activity, and burst suppression pattern quashes interictal discharges. Epileptiform activity is a sharp and transient electrical activity. As ictal activity is difficult to record under anesthesia, ECoG relies on interictal activity manifesting as spikes, poly-spikes, sharp waves, or a combination of all. Maintenance of constant and low anesthetic depth is required for acquisition and interpretation intraoperative ECoG. After the demarcation of the irritative zone by ECoG, surgical resection is performed to ensure its complete removal.

Role of Anesthetic Agents on ECoG

Volatile anesthetics have a dose-dependent effect on neuronal excitability. This effect is minimal at low doses, background interictal spikes are suppressed at 1 MAC, and the effect becomes most noticeable at near-burst suppression doses, i.e., 1.5 times MAC [37]. Thus, lower concentrations of inhaled drugs are required for intraoperative ECoG recordings, though there is a risk of awareness in such situations. Sevoflurane and enflurane have been shown to enhance nonspecific spike activities. Sevoflurane at 1.5–2 MAC has been associated with the generation of a widespread irritative response, especially with hypocapnia [38, 39]. Low-dose sevoflurane may have a proconvulsant effect. These agents are not

recommended for ECoG recordings. The neuroexcitatory properties and epileptogenic potential of isoflurane, desflurane, and halothane are low despite a few seizure like movement with isoflurane have been described [40]. Low concentration of isoflurane or desflurane for maintenance is advised for ECoG recordings. Bispectral index (BIS) monitoring may be helpful to titrate the anesthetic depth.

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is largely considered inactive for both the development and the treatment of seizure activity. However, its complex interactions with other anesthetic agents are known [41]. Alone, the agent can produce fast frontal dominant high-frequency (>30 Hz) activity. The effect N₂O, in combination with volatile anesthetics, has been variably reported. Both decreases in ECoG activity and no change in spike frequency with N_2O (50–70%) use have been observed [42, 43]. Many of the centers use 50–70% of N₂O without any effect on interictal spikes [44]. However, other studies comparing volatile versus IV anesthesia suggested the addition of N₂O as a carrier gas reduced ECoG score [45, 46]. **Propofol** is a common anesthetic used for sedation during diagnostic procedures as well as intraoperatively during surgery. The anticonvulsant properties of propofol are well established, but its proconvulsant potential has also been reported. Propofol generates beta EEG activity, concealing underlying spike-wave activity for up to 20 min after discontinuation of the infusion. A sedative dose of propofol has been reported not to affect epileptiform activity in patients with complex partial epilepsy [46]. Propofol has been successfully used during electrocorticography in patients with intractable epilepsy and documented no seizure activity or a decrease in the number of spikes or burst suppression patterns. Few authors have reported an increase in spike activity with propofol [47]. A study analyzed the effect of sedative dose of propofol on EEG in 25 pediatric epilepsy patients during sedation for MRI. The use of propofol was not associated with any epileptiform activity. The



Fig. 28.5 Illustrative case of a 12-year-old, right-handed male, age of seizure onset 2 years, duration of seizure 10 years, seizure frequency four times per week. Seizure semiology included no aura, eyes, and head deviation to left, followed by tonic-clonic movements of all limbs, duration of seizure 30 s–1 min. No neurological deficits. Video EEG localized seizure to the right frontal lobe. The

child was posted for resection of the lesion under general anesthesia with isoflurane 0.5 MAC at the time of recording. (a) Preoperative imaging shows right premotor cortex focal cortical dysplasia. (b) ECoG before resection of the lesion shows high spikes in area localized. (c) Postresection ECoG shows marked improvement in spike activity





Fig.28.5 (continued)

EEG changes consisted of an increase in beta activity with suppression of theta activity. Propofol induced beta activity and suppression of spike-wave patterns disappeared after 4 h. The data supported the concept of propofol being a sedative-hypnotic agent with anticonvulsant properties [48, 49].

Dexmedetomidine is an α_2 -agonist which has gained enormous popularity in neuroanesthesia practice. Though many studies demonstrate the effect of the drug on ECoG in adult patients, the pediatric implications are extrapolated from adult data, stating that dexmedetomidine is a near-ideal agent for obtaining intraoperative ECoG recordings. It does not interfere with interictal epileptiform activity. Dexmedetomidine does not possess any motor-stimulatory effect. It has recently been utilized as an adjuvant for awake craniotomy in children, but the doses used by different authors varied with no standard dosing schedule defined yet [50, 51]. Dexmedetomidine can be used as an adjuvant for intraoperative ECoG recordings. Dexmedetomidine infusion at 1µg/kg has been shown to increase spike activity [52].

Opioids are widely used as adjuvant analgesics and sedatives intraoperatively. Synthetic opioids such as alfentanil, fentanyl, sufentanil, and remifentanil don't increase the risk of perioperative seizures and produce minimal changes in ECoG. However, higher bolus doses result in an increase in interictal spike activity in the abnormal brain and can be used for pharmacoactivation of ECoG [53, 54].

Pharmacoactivation: Activation of cortical electrical activity during ECoG is practiced by some centers when there is no spontaneous interictal discharge (IID) activity on ECoG. Drugs are used to increase the excitability of epileptogenic focus, help demarcate, and identify resectable zone(s). The use of drugs should increase the frequency of spiking or increase in the spike distribution and/or both; however, the induced electroclinical seizure should have the same characteristics, onset, and propagation as the patient's typical spontaneous seizure. Short-acting opioids like alfentanil (20–100µg/kg), etomidate (0.2 mg/ kg), and methohexital (25-100 mg) are most widely used for pharmacoactivation [53]. Alternately, isoflurane, sevoflurane N₂O, fentanyl, and remifentanil can be used in high doses to activate ECoG. Ketamine causes global cerebral stimulation rather than specific activation. Hyperventilation is known to cause ECoG activation. Nonspecific activation of ECoG, overestimation of seizure zone, and frank seizure development are few of the important concerns during pharmacoactivation. Hence, many centers refrain from using pharmacoactivation.

The most popular general anesthetic technique utilizes low levels of volatile anesthetic agents along with opioid administration during ECoG monitoring (Table 28.3). Dexmedetomidine infusion at the time of ECoG is another useful technique. Neuromuscular blockers should be continued during this time to prevent movement and interference with EcoG. A low level of anesthetics used at the time of recordings may lead to awareness; depth-of-anesthesia monitoring may be useful at this stage [17, 45, 53, 54].

28.21.2.2 Cortical Stimulation under General Anesthesia

Intraoperative cortical mapping is used for the localization of the eloquent cortex (sensory/ motor strip). It can be done using sensory-evoked potential and/or direct cortical stimulation. In direct cortical stimulation, through the ECoG grid, the short-duration electric current is used to stimulate a particular area of the cortex. Highfrequency stimulation consists of 50 Hz, 1 ms, 0.5-2.5 mA, and < 5 s stimulus threshold. Lowfrequency protocol uses a stimulation threshold of 1 Hz, 20-40 s, and 0.5-5 mA [55]. The cortical stimulation results in activation or inhibition of a particular function controlled by it, such as limb movement, memory function, etc. The subdural and/or stereo encephalography (depth) electrodes allow cortical stimulation to be done in small children during the perioperative period (bedside) [56, 57]. Seizures can be induced by cortical stimulation, which helps in the delineation of the epileptogenic zone. Stimulation protocols are defined for children. Incomplete myelination and a greater proportion of small fibers render this modality of monitoring unpredictable [58]. Electrocortical stimulation mapping is considered the "gold standard" for functional localization. It can be used in either the intraoperative or extra-operative setting. The monitoring can be done using subdural or stereotactic depth electrodes. It is specially used for language mapping in the younger patients [59]. Intraoperative mapping helps delineate subcortical white matter

tracts during surgical resection. TIVA is a popular regimen for intraoperative cortical mapping. The use of intraoperative MRI demarcates resectable zone and decrease the postoperative neurological deficit [21, 60].

28.21.3 Awake Craniotomy and Excision for Epilepsy

Awake craniotomy is done to resect lesions near the eloquent areas of the cortex and was first described for epilepsy surgery. The patient remains awake for neurophysiological testing during lesion resection. Awake craniotomy is particularly challenging in pediatric patients since the success of the procedure lies in patient cooperation. However, it has been successfully described in children [61, 62]. Generally, it is done in patients above 10 years of age. A thorough preoperative workup for localization of seizure focus is required in smaller children. Two anesthetic techniques are described for awake craniotomy, asleep-awake-asleep (S-A-S or AAA), and awake-awake-awake or conscious sedation supplemented with scalp block and pin site infiltration of local anesthetic agents [63]. In the former, the patient receives general anesthesia and secured airway for most of the time when patient cooperation is not required. The patient is made awake at the time of neurophysiological testing. In the latter technique, the patient remains under sedation throughout the procedure **[64]**. S-A-S technique is preferred in children. Depending upon the lesion location, a patient must perform a set of tests related to motor, language, and memory testing. Direct electrical cortical stimulation is done to localize motor and speech areas. The stimulation may result in seizures. It can be treated by irrigation of the surgical field by ice-cold saline, or with intravenous midazolam, propofol, or thiopental bolus.

28.21.4 Emergence and Awakening

The children should be reversed, and rapid awakening should be facilitated at the end of surgery. Patients going extensive surgery, massive fluid, or intraoperative hemodynamic disturbances resulting in brain edema may require short-term postoperative ventilation. Children on multiple AEDs, disconnective procedures may have delayed awakening.

28.21.5 Complications in the Perioperative Period

The perioperative complications of epilepsy surgery are dependent upon the type of surgery being performed. Resection of lesions is less challenging for anesthesiologists than disconnective surgeries in pediatric patients, which may pose hemodynamic challenges due to complexity and longer duration of the procedure. Commonly encountered perioperative complications are enlisted below.

An intraoperative seizure may occur during awake craniotomy, pharmacoactivation, or cortical stimulation. It generally stops with the removal of the stimulus. If it does not stop, the irrigation of cold saline over the cortex is the best treatment since it will not interfere with subsequent electrical recordings [65]. If the seizure does not stop with cold saline irrigation, then propofol bolus (10-30 mg), subsequently followed by midazolam (2-5 mg), or thiopentone (25-50 mg), can be given. Long-acting antiepileptic drugs like phenytoin can be given. However, all these drugs can have a substantial effect on ECoG monitoring. Patients with continued seizure may have problems with awakening and require prolonged ventilation in the postoperative period. Titration of AEDs and EEG monitoring to localize the cause of seizures is required in these cases [66]. Treatment protocol to manage seizure should be in place. The management of airway, breathing, and circulation is of paramount importance.

Intraoperative brain swelling is not a common finding during epilepsy surgery. It may be seen during the implantation of electrodes for invasive recordings or pathology with mass effect. It can be managed by head-up position, hyperventilation, and a repeat dose of hyperosmotic agent [9]. Brain shift: brain swelling has been reported with hemispherectomy.

Intraoperative hemodynamic changes: The risk of blood loss may be higher in infants because they tend to require extensive surgery in the face of a small blood volume. Complex disconnective surgeries and large resective surgeries can result in hemodynamic disturbances due to greater blood loss associated with them. Hemispherectomies are particularly prone to excessive blood loss, hypothermia, and electrolyte disturbances [67–69]. Coagulation issues secondary to excessive blood loss and thromboplastin release during disconnection surgeries can be detrimental in pediatric patients. with the advent of functional, minimally invasive procedures, blood loss and surgery duration are decreased. Intraoperative bradycardia and transient asystole have been reported during the electrodes' initial stimulation and positioning during vagus nerve implant.

Delayed emergence and postoperative drowsiness may be attributed to post-ictal confusion, the effect of AEDs, and the anesthetic agents' residual effect. Many patients with complex disconnective surgery need elective ventilation postoperatively due to drowsiness [67–69]. Such patients are at risk of airway obstruction and aspiration; hence, they need to be continued with mechanical ventilation for some time.

Postoperative neurological deficits: Surgery can result in anticipated neurologic deficits related to the region of brain resection [6]. Most of the neurological complications are minor and transient. Minor neurologic complications up to 11.2% have been reported in the pediatric population. The most common complications are minor visual field defects, especially superior quadrantanopia, stroke, hemiparesis, monoparesis, third and fourth nerve palsy, and dysphasia [70]. Another complication is postoperative hydrocephalus, especially in patients undergoing hemispherotomy. Perioperative mortality is uncommon following epilepsy surgery and has been reported in 0.4% of temporal lobe epilepsy and 1.2% extratemporal epilepsy [71]. Brain swelling, hypovolemia secondary to excessive blood loss in pediatric patients, hypoxia, and infection are reported causes of mortality.

Recurrent/residual seizures: Engel's classification is commonly used to describe the outcome of epilepsy surgery [72]. The score ranges from I to IV, with I being seizure-free and IV being no worthwhile improvement. Seizure outcome depends upon the type of pathology and completeness of resection. Seizure-free outcomes are reported in 40-70% of cases. Simultaneously, palliative procedures aim to reduce the disabling seizures, and resective surgeries target cessation of seizure. Resection of cortical dysplasia, mesial temporal sclerosis, and hemispherectomy is associated with seizure control of up to 80-85%. Neocortical resections have a marginally less good outcome. Seizure control is less effective in patients with multifocal or poorly defined lesions on preoperative testing. Improper localization of seizure focus and incomplete reaction are the most common reasons for surgical failure [73]. Reoperations are common in cases of surgical failure. A perioperative seizure should be recorded and treated immediately. Acute control of seizure can be achieved with benzodiazepines. Most commonly used agent is midazolam 0.15 mg/kg (5 mg in children 15-30 kg) or lorazepam 0.1 mg/kg IV (repeated after 10 minutes if necessary) for immediate control, followed by long-acting agents like fosphenytoin 20 mg/kg, phenobarbital 20 mg/kg, or levetiracetam 10 mg/ kg. The choice and dosing of AEDs should be individualized as per treating neurologist.

Infections: There is a risk of septic and aseptic meningitis following epilepsy surgery, especially with invasive EEG monitoring. Infections of vagus nerve implants have been reported and generally require removal of the hardware.

28.22 Conclusion

Anesthesia for epilepsy surgery in the pediatric patient is challenging. Planning a safe anesthetic regimen requires an understanding of the disease characteristics, pediatric physiology, drug interactions in the perioperative period, and requirement of intraoperative hemodynamic and neuromonitoring. Most pediatric epilepsy surgery requires general anesthesia with special attention to titrate anesthetic drugs to facilitate intraoperative monitoring. Awake craniotomy is done in few cases with lesions around the eloquent cortex and with inadequate preoperative localization of the seizure focus. With recent advances in surgery and anesthesia, epilepsy surgery in children carries low mortality and results in seizure reduction and improved quality of life.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

- Singh A, Trevick S. The epidemiology of global epilepsy. Neurol Clin. 2016;34:837–47.
- Olusanya BO, Wright SM, Nair MKC, et al. Global burden of childhood epilepsy, intellectual disability, and sensory impairments. Pediatrics. 2020;146(1):e20192623.
- World Health Organization, The World Bank. World report on disability. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. www.who.int/disabilities/world_ report/2011/report.pdf
- 4. Gadgil P, Udani V. Pediatric epilepsy: the Indian experience. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6:S126–9.
- Love CE, Webbe F, Kim G, Lee KH, Westerveld M, Salinas CM. The role of executive functioning in quality of life in pediatric intractable epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2016;64:37–43.
- Dwivedi R, Ramanujam B, Chandra PS, et al. Surgery for drug-resistant epilepsy in children. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1639–47.
- Fisher RS, Acevedo C, Arzimanoglou A, et al. A practical clinical definition of epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2014;55(4):475–82.
- Luder H, Akamatsu N, Amina S, Baumgartner C, et al. Critique of the 2017 epileptic seizure and epilepsy classifications. Epilepsia. 2019;60:1032–9.
- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, Rossetti AO, Scheffer IE, Shinnar S, Shorvon S, Lowenstein DH. A definition and classification of status epilepticus--report of the ILAE task force on classification of status epilepticus. Epilepsia. 2015;56:1515–23.
- Aaberg KM, Surén P, Søraas CL, et al. Seizures, syndromes, and etiologies in childhood epilepsy: the international league against epilepsy 1981, 1989, and 2017 classifications used in a population-based cohort. Epilepsia. 2017;58(11):1880–91.
- Berg AT, Vickrey BG, Testa FM, Levy SR, Shinnar S, DiMario F, et al. How long does it take for epilepsy to become intractable? A prospective investigation. Ann Neurol. 2006;60:73–9.
- Kalilani L, Sun X, Pelgrims B, Noack-Rink M, Villanueva V. The epidemiology of drug-resistant epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Epilepsia. 2018;59(12):2179–93.
- Park JT, Fernandez-Baca VG. Epileptic seizure semiology in infants and children. Seizure. 2020;77:3–6.
- Goldenberg MM. Overview of drugs used for epilepsy and seizures: etiology, diagnosis, and treatment. P T. 2010;35(7):392–415.
- Katzung BG, Masters SB, Trevor AJ. Basic & clinical pharmacology. 2013. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical; 2012.
- 16. Jayakar P, Gaillard WD, Tripathi M, Libenson M, Mathern GW, Cross JH, and on behalf of the Task Force for Paediatric Epilepsy Surgery, Commission for paediatrics, and the diagnostic commission of the international league against epilepsy. Diagnostic test utilization in evaluation for resective epilepsy surgery in children Epilepsia 2014;55:507–18.
- Malhotra V, Chandra SP, Dash D, Garg A, Tripathi M, Bal CS, Tripathi M. A screening tool to identify surgical candidates with drug refractory epilepsy in a resource limited setting. Epilepsy Res. 2016;121:14–20.
- Reasoner DK, Todd MM, Scamman FL, Warner DS. The incidence of pneumocephalus after supratentorial craniotomy. Observations on the disappearance of intracranial air. Anesthesiology. 1994;80(5):1008–12.
- Chui J, Venkatraghavan L, Manninen P. Presurgical evaluation of patients with epilepsy: the role of the anesthesiologist. Anesth Analg. 2013;116(4):881–8.
- Patel A, Wordell C, Szarlej D. Alternatives to sodium amobarbital in the WADA test. Ann Pharmacother. 2011;45:395–401.
- Schevon CA, Carlson C, Zaroff CM, et al. Pediatric language mapping: sensitivity of neurostimulation and Wada testing in epilepsy surgery. Epilepsia. 2007;48(3):539–45.
- Purdon PL, Sampson A, Pavone KJ, Brown EN. Clinical electroencephalography for Anesthesiologists: part I: background and basic signatures. Anesthesiology. 2015;123(4):937–60.
- Lee YJ, Lee SJ. Temporal lobe epilepsy surgery in children versus adults: from etiologies to outcomes. Korean J Pediatr. 2013;56:275–81.
- Soriano SG, Bozza P. Anesthesia for epilepsy surgery in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2006;22:834–43.
- Dorfmüller G, Delalande O. Pediatric epilepsy surgery. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013;111:785–95.
- Jayalakshmi S, Panigrahi M, Nanda SK, Vadapalli R. Surgery for childhood epilepsy. Ann Indian Acad Neurol. 2014;17:S69–79.
- Kim SK, Wang KC, Hwang YS, Kim KJ, Chae JH, Kim IO, Cho BK. Epilepsy surgery in children: outcomes and complications. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;1:277–83.
- Valencia I, Holder DL, Helmers SL, Madsen JR, Riviello JJ Jr. Vagus nerve stimulation in pediatric epilepsy: a review. Pediatr Neurol. 2001;25(5):368–76.
- Chandra PS, Kurwale N, Garg A, Dwivedi R, Malviya SV, Tripathi M. Endoscopy-assisted interhemispheric transcallosal hemispherotomy: preliminary description of a novel technique. Neurosurgery. 2015;76:485–94.
- Gonzalez-Martinez J, Mullin J, Vadera S, et al. Stereotactic placement of depth electrodes in medically intractable epilepsy. J Neurosurg. 2014;120(3):639–44.

- Soysal E, Gries H, Wray C. Pediatric patients on ketogenic diet undergoing general anesthesia-a medical record review. J Clin Anesth. 2016;35:170–5.
- Valencia I, Pfiefer H, Thiele EA. General anaesthesia and ketogenic diet: clinical experience in nine patients. Epilepsia. 2002;43:525–9.
- 33. Lingamaneni R, Hemmings HC Jr. Differential interaction of anaesthetics and antiepileptic drugs with neuronal Na+ channels, Ca2+ channels, and GABAA receptors. Br J Anaesth. 2003;90:199–211.
- Perucca E. Clinically relevant drug interactions with antiepileptic drugs. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2006;61:246–55.
- 35. Lissek T, Obenhaus HA, Diztel DA, Nagai T, Miyawaki A, Sprengel R, Hsan MT. General anaesthetic conditions induce network synchrony and disrupt sensory processing in the cortex. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016;14:10. 64
- Murphy M, O'Brien TJ, Morris K, Cook MJ. Multimodality image-guided epilepsy surgery. J Clin Neurosci. 2001;8:534–8.
- Iijima T, Nakamura Z, Iwao Y, Sankawa H. The epileptogenic properties of the volatile anesthetics sevoflurane and isoflurane in patients with epilepsy surgery. Anesth Analg. 2000;91:990–5.
- Hisada K, Morioka T, Fukui K, Nishio S, Kuruma T, Irita K, Takahashi S, Fukui M. Effects of sevoflurane and isoflurane on electrocorticographic activities in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2001;13:333–7.
- 39. Watts AD, Herrick IA, McLachlan RS, Crean RA, Gelb AW. The effect of sevoflurane and isoflurane anesthesia on interictal spike activity among patients with refractory epilepsy. Anesth Analg. 1999;89:1275–81.
- McClain CD, Soriano SG. Anesthesia for intracranial surgery in infants and children. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2014;27:465–9.
- Voss LJ, Ludbrook G, Grant C, Sliegh JW, Barnard JP. Cerebral cortical effects of desflurane in sheep: comparison with isoflurane, sevoflurane and enflurane. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2006;50: 313–9.
- Modica PA, Tempelhoff R, White PF. Pro- and anticonvulsant effects of anesthetics. Part I. Anesth Analg, 1990;70:303–15.
- Fiol ME, Boening JA, Cruz-Rodriguez R, Maxwell R. Effect of isoflurane (forane) on intraoperative electrocorticogram. Epilepsia. 1993;34:897–900. 12
- 44. Asano E, Benedek K, Shah A, Juhasz C, Shah J, Chugani D, et al. Is intraoperative electrocorticography reliable in children with intractable neocortical epilepsy? Epilepsia. 2004;45:1091–9.
- 45. Kurita N, Kawaguchi M, Hoshida T, Nakase H, Sakaki T, Furuya H. Effects of nitrous oxide on spike activity on electrocorticogram under sevoflurane anesthesia in epileptic patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2005;17:199–202.
- 46. Bindra A, Chouhan RS, Prabhakar H, Dash HH, Chandra PS, Tripathi M. Comparison of the effects of different anaesthetic techniques on electrocorticography in patients undergoing epilepsy sur-

gery—a bispectral index guided study. Seizure. 2012;21:501–7.

- 47. Samara SK, Sneyd RJ, Ross DA, Henry T. Effects of propofol sedation on seizures and intracranially recorded epileptiform activity in patients with partial epilepsy. Anesthesiology. 1995;82:843–51.
- Perks A, Cheema S, Mohanraj R. Anaesthesia and epilepsy. Br J Anaesth. 2012;108:562–71.
- 49. Meyer S, Shamdeen MG, Kegel B, Mencke T, Gottschling S, Gortner L, Grundmann U. Effect of propofol on seizure-like phenomena and electroencephalographic activity in children with epilepsy vs children with learning difficulties. Anaesthesia. 2006;61:1040–7.
- Mason KP, O'Mahony ZD, Libenson MH. Effects of dexmedetomidine sedation on the EEG in children. Pediatr Anaesth. 2009;19:1175–83.
- 51. Oda Y, Toriyama S, Tanaka K, Matsuura T, Hamaoka N, Morino M, Asada A. The effect of dexmedetomidine on electrocorticograpphy in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy under sevoflurane anaesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2007;105:1272–7.
- 52. Chaitanya G, Arivazhagan A, Sinha S, et al. Dexmedetomidine anesthesia enhances spike generation during intra-operative electrocorticography: a promising adjunct for epilepsy surgery. Epilepsy Res. 2015;109:65–71.
- Cascino GD, So EL, Sharbrough FW, Strelow D, Lagerlund TD, Milde LN, O'Brien PC. Alfentanilinduced epileptiform activity in patients with partial epilepsy. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1993;10(4):520–5.
- Chui J, Manninen P, Valiante T, Venkatraghvan L. Tha anesthetic considerations of intraoperative electrocorticography during epilepsy surgery. Anesth Analg. 2013;117:479–86.
- Kovac S, Kahane P, Diehl B. Seizures induced by direct electrical cortical stimulation—mechanisms and clinical considerations. Clin Neurophysiol. 2016;127(1):31–9.
- Reddy RV, Moorthy SS, Dierdorf SF, Deitch RD Jr, Link L. Exicitatory effects and electroencephalographic correlation of etomidate, thiopental, methohexital and propofol. Anesth Analg. 1993;77:1008.
- 57. Daniel RT. Role of surgery in pediatric epilepsy. Indian Pediatr. 2007;44:26–73.
- Mannien PH, Burke SJ, Wennberg R, Lozano AM, El Beheiry H. Intraoperative localization of an epileptogenic focus with alfentanil and fentanyl. Anesth Analg. 1999;88:1101–6.
- Kortenskaja M, Wilson A, Lee KH. Real-time functional mapping with ECoG in pediatric epilepsy surgery: comparison with fMRI and ESM findings: case study. Clin EEG Neurosci. 2014;45:205–11.

- 60. Sacino M, Ho CY, Murnick J, Keating RF, Gaillard WD, Oluigbo CO. The role of intraoperative MRI in resective epilepsy surgery for peri-eloquent cortex cortical dysplasia and heteropias in pediatric patients. Neurosurg Focus. 2016;40:1–8.
- Balogun JA, Khan OH, Taylor M, et al. Pediatric awake craniotomy and intra-operative stimulation mapping. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21(11):1891–4.
- 62. Lohkamp LN, Mottolese C, Szathmari A, et al. Awake brain surgery in children-review of the literature and state-of-the-art. Childs Nerv Syst. 2019;35(11):2071–7.
- Alcaraz García-Tejedor G, Echániz G, Strantzas S, et al. Feasibility of awake craniotomy in the pediatric population. Paediatr Anaesth. 2020;30(4):480–9.
- Ard J, Doyle W, Bekker A. Awake craniotomy with dexmedetomidine in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15(3):263–6.
- 65. Sokhal N, Rath GP, Chaturvedi A, Dash HH, Bithal PK, Chandra PS. Anaesthesia for awake craniotomy: a retrospective study of 54 cases. Indian J Anaesth. 2015;59:300–5.
- 66. Jehi L. Medication management after epilepsy surgery: opinions versus facts. Epilepsy Curr. 2013;13:166–8.
- Bindra A, Chouhan RS, Prabhakar H, Chandra PS, Tripathi M. Perioperative implications of epilepsy surgery: a retrospective analysis. J Anesth. 2015;29:229–34.
- Sheshadri V, Raghavendra S, Chandramouli BA. Perioperative anaesthetic concerns during pediatric epilepsy surgeries: a retrospective chart review. J Neuroanesth Crit Care. 2016;3:110–4.
- Flack S, Ojemann J, Haberkern C. Cerebral hemispherectomy in infants and young children. Pediatr Anesth. 2008;18:967–73.
- Hader WJ, Tellez-Zenteno J, Metcalfe A, et al. Complications of epilepsy surgery: a systematic review of focal surgical resections and invasive EEG monitoring. Epilepsia. 2013;54(5):840–7. https://doi. org/10.1111/epi.12161.
- d'Orio P, Rizzi M, Mariani V, et al. Surgery in patients with childhood-onset epilepsy: analysis of complications and predictive risk factors for a severely complicated course. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2019;90(1):84–9.
- 72. Engel J Jr, Ness PV, Rasmussen T, Ojemann L. Outcome with respect to epileptic seizures. In: Engel Jr J, editor. Surgical treatment of the epilepsies. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Raven Press; 1993. p. 609–21.
- Kim DW, Lee SK, Chu K, et al. Predictors of surgical outcome and pathologic considerations in focal cortical dysplasia. Neurology. 2009;72(3):211–6.



29

Anesthetic Considerations for Supratentorial Space-Occupying Lesions in Children

Nidhi Bidyut Panda, Ankur Luthra, Summit Dev Bloria, Sonia Kapil, and Ashish Aggarwal

Key Points

- The supratentorial space-occupying lesions (SOLs) in children are mostly intracranial tumors but may also be due to the occurrence of abscesses, cysts, hematomas, or other lesions.
- Pediatric brain tumors constitute the second most common malignancy amounting to 20% of all malignancies in childhood.
- Astrocytoma, low-grade glioma, craniopharyngioma, and choroid plexus papilloma are the most common subtypes of supratentorial tumors in children.
- The anesthetic goals remain similar to the adults; however, pediatric patients are more frequently amenable to certain complications such as increased blood loss, hypothermia, venous air embolism, electrolyte imbalances, etc.

N. B. Panda (\boxtimes) · A. Luthra Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Post-graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

S. D. Bloria Department of Critical Care, SMVDN Superspeciality Hospital, Jammu, India

S. Kapil Paras Hospital, Panchkula, Haryana, India

- The anticipation of the complications and adequate preparations should be made well in advance to prevent catastrophic consequences.
- Special procedures like stereotactic procedures, gamma knife radiosurgery, and awake craniotomy for excision of the eloquent cortex lesions pose great challenges for the anesthesiologist; they require meticulous planning and preparation along with psychological counseling of the child.

29.1 Introduction

The supratentorial space-occupying lesions (SOLs) in children are mostly composed of intracranial tumors but may also be due to the presence of abscesses, cysts, hematomas, or other lesions. Primary brain tumors are the most common solid tumors in childhood. The brain tumors are considered the second most common malignancy in children after leukemia; they account for approximately 20% of all malignancies in the pediatric age group [1].

The incidence of primary cerebral tumors among the pediatric population is 2.4–3.5/100,000 children, with around 3000 new cases diagnosed every year in the United States. Astrocytic tumors are the most common pediatric intracranial tumors in India, followed by medulloblastomas and supratentorial primitive neuroectodermal

A. Aggarwal

Department of Neurosurgery, Post-graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_29

tumors (PNETs) [2]. Nearly 60–65% of the lesions are located in the infratentorial region; metastasis is rare during childhood. These tumors can be benign or malignant and may have a varied presentation at different age groups.

29.2 Classification of Pediatric Supratentorial Tumors

The WHO classification (2016) of pediatric brain tumors (Table 29.1) includes genetic and epigenetic profiling, which impacts its diagnosis. Thus, it allows for subgrouping of the heterogeneous tumor groups leading to complete renaming of some tumor types. Hence, risk stratification, staging, and treatment planning become easier. Generally, WHO grade I and II tumors are amenable to surgery, and chemo-radiation is provided to WHO grade III and IV tumors.

There are primary brain tumors present during infancy and even during the first week of life (Table 29.2). Most of these tumors grow over the congenital seedlings of the tumors present during the intrauterine life of the fetus.

29.3 Common Pediatric Supratentorial Tumors

29.3.1 Low- or High-Grade Glioma

Pediatric gliomas may be astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, and oligoastrocytomas; 30% of these tumors are hemispheric astrocytomas. They constitute around 8-15% of all childhood brain tumors. Typically found deep within the hemispheres, these are slow-growing; they can occur in the white matter or the cortex. They commonly present with seizures (>80%), especially when the lesion is located in the frontal or temporal lobes. The solid part of the tumor is iso- to hypodense (Fig. 29.1a) on non-contrast computed tomographic (CT) scan, and it may enhance partially or completely (Fig. 29.1b) [3]. Lowgrade astrocytoma of other histology are homogeneous, well-circumscribed, non-enhancing masses associated with mild or no edema and are

| Table 29.1 | WHO | classification | of | pediatric | supratento- |
|----------------|------|----------------|----|-----------|-------------|
| rial brain tum | iors | | | | |

| Τı | imor types | WHO grade |
|----|----------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|
| 1. | Diffuse astrocytic and oligodendroglial tumors | |
| | Diffuse astrocytoma | WHO grade II |
| | Anaplastic astrocytoma | WHO grade III |
| | • Glioblastoma | WHO grade |
| | Diffuse midline glioma | WHO grade |
| | Oligodendroglioma | WHO grade |
| 2. | Other astrocytic tumors | |
| | Pilocytic astrocytoma | WHO grade I |
| | Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma | WHO grade I |
| | Pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma | WHO grade II |
| 3. | Ependymal tumors | |
| | • Ependymoma | WHO grade II or III |
| 4. | Choroid plexus tumors | |
| | Choroid plexus papilloma | WHO grade I |
| | Atypical choroid plexus papilloma | WHO grade II |
| | Choroid plexus carcinoma | WHO grade III |
| 5. | Neuronal and mixed neuronal- glial tumors | |
| | • Dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumor | WHO grade I |
| | Ganglioglioma | WHO grade I |
| | Desmoplastic infantile astrocytoma and ganglioglioma | WHO grade I |
| 6. | Tumors of the pineal region | |
| | Pinealoblastoma | WHO grade IV |
| 7. | Embryonal tumors | |
| | Medulloblastoma | WHO grade IV |
| 8. | Tumors of the sellar region | |
| | Craniopharyngioma | WHO grade I |

WHO World Health Organization

free from hemorrhage. High-grade gliomas (e.g., anaplastic astrocytoma or glioblastoma multiforme) are rare in children but grow rapidly when

| Tumors during the first | |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| week of life | Tumors during infancy |
| Teratoma | • Glioma |
| Astrocytoma | Atypical teratoma |
| Primitive | Primitive |
| neuroectodermal | neuroectodermal tumor |
| tumor | Craniopharyngioma |
| Ependymoma | Ependymoma |
| Choroid plexus | Choroid plexus |
| papilloma | papilloma/carcinoma |
| | • Teratoma |

 Table 29.2
 Tumors of the newborns and infants

present, with a poor prognosis. They show heterogeneity from necrosis or hemorrhage and present with more extensive edema on imaging. These tumors require extensive surgery for a prolonged period of time and may be associated with increased intraoperative bleeding.

29.3.1.1 Subependymal Giant Cell Astrocytoma (SEGA)

Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (SEGA) is a subgroup of supratentorial gliomas, which occurs in 5-15% of patients with tuberous sclerosis. The prognosis in children with SEGA is considered better than that in patients with giant cell components of other astrocytomas. They appear as round to ovoid in the region of foramen of Monro and often extend into the lateral ventricle (Fig. 29.1c). Despite being a low-grade tumor, its location may lead to obstruction of lateral ventricles and hydrocephalus. These children may present with features of raised ICP, seizures, and focal neurologic signs; they require shunt surgery before total excision of the tumor.

29.3.1.2 Supratentorial Ependymomas

Ependymomas are the third most common intracranial tumors (overall incidence 6-12%) in the pediatric population, after astrocytomas and medulloblastomas [4]. One third of the ependymomas are located in the supratentorial compartment. Most of these children present with non-specific symptoms of increased ICP. These are intraparenchymal, wellcircumscribed masses and usually present as a

large vascular cyst (Fig. 29.1d) with possible areas of hemorrhage and calcification. They usually have limited infiltrations into the surrounding structures. After surgery and radiotherapy, the 5-year survival rate is 50–80%; the role of chemotherapy is not well-established.

29.3.1.3 Primitive Neuroectodermal Tumor (PNET)

These are rare embryonal but highly malignant tumors; they present early in childhood, grow rapidly, and have a poor prognosis. The highly cellular tumors are composed mostly of undifferentiated cells. PNET of the pineal gland is known as pineoblastoma. On imaging (CT scan), the tumor may present with a large, hyperdense solid portion with cystic areas and calcification [3] (Fig. 29.2a); hemorrhage may be found in 10% of cases. MRI may show isointense solid portions in the grey matter on T2 and FLAIR and restricted diffusion on DWI with an increased blood volume [3]. PNETs are often observed in older children and present with features of increased ICP such as early morning headache, vomiting, lethargy, and seizures.

Gangliogliomas and Gangliocytomas are uncommon (<3%) pediatric brain tumors where both nerve and glial cells participate in the neoplastic process. Half of the children present with seizures, mostly complex partial seizure types. The tumors could be described as lowdensity, well-circumscribed lesions with minimal mass effect or edema on CT scan. Tumors may be solid, cystic, and cystic with a mural nodule or may appear as many small cysts with variable enhancement in the solid portion.

29.3.1.4 Dysembryoplastic Neuroepithelial Tumor (DNET)

DNETs are most commonly diagnosed in children experiencing seizures and are the second leading cause of epilepsy in children. These are slow-growing tumors that contain both glial and neuronal elements. The children present with intractable partial epilepsy due to associated focal cortical dysplasia that may need intraoperative cortical mapping to resect epileptic



Fig. 29.1 Images of different pediatric supratentorial tumors. (a) Axial T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain shows (arrow) heterogeneous enhancing hypointense lesion with hyperintense borders suggestive of high-grade glioma in left insula. (b) Axial non-contrast computed tomographic (CT) scan of the head shows (arrow) hypodense lesion (solid portion) in the right hemisphere with small hyperdensity in the periphery of the lesion, suggestive of large cystic and

small solid components of the tumor, respectively. (c) Axial T1-weighted MRI shows heterogeneous (arrow) intensity iso-to-hyper-intense irregular lesion near the foramen of Monro extending to right lateral ventricle suggestive of subependymal giant cell astrocytoma. (d) Axial T2-weighted MRI shows a large cystic component of the tumor along with a heterogeneously enhancing solid portion (arrow) in the right frontal region suggestive of ependymoma

foci. Most commonly (60%), these tumors are located in the temporal lobe, followed by frontal and parietal lobes. The median age of presentation is 5 months, and they typically present as a hemispheric lesion with a large cystic component (Fig. 29.2b), commonly involving multiple lobes. The peripheral solid component often involves the leptomeninges. The tumor is curable after surgery without recurrence and has an excellent prognosis.



Fig. 29.2 (a) Axial T1-weighted MRI shows an isointense lesion with surrounding edema (arrow) in the left parietal region suggestive of the supratentorial central primitive neuroectodermal tumor (PNET). (b) T2-weighted MRI shows hyperintense lesion (arrow) suggestive of dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumor (DNET) in the right occipital region. (c) T1-weighted

MRI shows a hyperintense and heterogeneously enhancing lesion in the left frontal horn of lateral ventricle (arrow) suggestive of intraventricular ependymoma. (d) Axial section T1-weighted contrast magnetic resonance imaging showing a frond-like enhancing lesion in lateral ventricle suggestive of choroid plexus papilloma

29.3.1.5 Intraventricular Tumors

These are benign tumors projecting into the ventricles or deeply located in the lateral or third ventricles (Fig. 29.2c). Most of these tumors grow slowly and remain clinically silent until they reach a significant size. The most common lateral ventricular tumor in children is choroid plexus papilloma, which presents as obstructive hydrocephalus and intracranial hypertension. These are highly vascular tumors that may remain silent for a long period and, hence, attain an extreme size before the diagnosis. These tumors have particular postoperative problems resulting from the disturbance of CSF circulation.

29.3.1.6 Choroid Plexus Tumors

Choroid plexus papillomas constitute approximately 2-5% of all intracranial neoplasms in children [5]. Nearly 10–20% of choroid plexus tumors occur in infancy [5]. These are the most common lateral ventricular tumors in children, with around 70-90% presenting in less than 2 years. They have a predilection for the fourth ventricle in adults and are common in males. Choroid plexus papillomas are histologically benign lesions; however, focal brain invasion may at times be present. Children usually present with hydrocephalus and marked ventricular dilation. CSF overproduction is the cause of hydrocephalus in most of these children. These lesions are iso-to-hyperdense on CT scans, hypointense on T1-weighted, and iso-tohyperintense on T2-weighted MR images [3]. They are highly vascular and hence strongly enhanced with contrast administration (Fig. 29.2d). Enlarged choroidal arteries are often present, and the lateral posterior choroidal arteries frequently represent the major blood supply. Both anterior and posterior choroidal arteries may contribute to blood supply depending on the site of the tumor. An anastomosis of both vessels may supply a choroid plexus carcinoma. These tumors calcify in 25% of cases.

Children with choroid plexus papilloma may present with macrocrania, hydrocephalus, and increased ICP. Blood loss during intraoperative resection of the tumor is a major concern in small children. For highly vascular tumors, preoperative embolization may be carried out. Embolization may not be feasible all the time because tiny feeder arteries supply the tumors and the approach is difficult. Complete resection of welldifferentiated papilloma is essentially curative, and no adjunctive treatments are needed.

29.3.1.7 Craniopharyngiomas

These benign neuroepithelial tumors constitute around 5-10% of all brain tumors in childhood and are more commonly seen in the age group of 5-14 years [3]. Histologically, craniopharyngiomas are of two types: adamantinomatous type characterized by the frequent presence of cysts and calcification and papillary squamous histology without calcification or cyst formation. Adamantinomatous type is common in children, whereas the papillary type is more common in adults. These tumors are nearly always suprasellar in a location with intrasellar extension present in half of the cases. They hence are considered as the most common childhood tumor in the sellar region. Cystic content tends to be unenhanced on T1-MRI due to high protein content, whereas solid component and cyst walls enhance with contrast [3]. Children with craniopharyngioma often present with visual disturbances and endocrine abnormalities apart from the features of raised ICP (Fig. 29.3a).

29.3.1.8 Pineal Tumors

The pineal neuroendocrine gland is located in the posterior aspect of the third ventricle (Fig. 29.3b, c). Pineal tumors constitute about 3-8% of tumors in children. Increased ICP due to obstruction in CSF flow and diplopia is the most common presenting complaint [6]. Most of the children are clinically present when the tumor is still small, and many are curable with radiation and chemotherapy. At least 17 histologically distinct tumor types may occur in the pineal region, although germinoma and astrocytoma are the most common ones. Literature suggests a strong bias for treatment with ventricular shunting followed by radiation therapy, owing to a history of poor outcomes after surgical excision [6].



Fig. 29.3 (a) T2-weighted MRI shows a large solid cystic lesion (cystic content tends to be unenhanced on T1-MRI due to high protein content, whereas solid component and cyst walls enhance with contrast) in the

sellar region. (**b**, **c**) A well-defined homogeneous (nonenhancing) T1-hypointense and T2-hyperintense cyst-like mass in the pineal region suggests a pineal cyst



Fig. 29.4 (a) CT scan shows a homogeneously enhancing hyperdense extra-axial lesion with a broad base and a dural cleft present around it in the right parietal region, suggestive of supratentorial meningioma. (b) The coronal

section of T1-weighted MRI shows a hyperintense lesion in the sellar region and extends to para-sellar areas suggestive of optic pathway glioma

29.3.1.9 Supratentorial Meningioma

These are rare (<5%) supratentorial tumors in children. They are highly vascular, more aggressive than adult meningiomas (Fig. 29.4a) and are often excised surgically. The most common locations for meningiomas in children are the cerebral convexity (40%), followed by

ventricles (15%), infratentorial space (8%), intraparenchymal (5%), parasagittal (4%), and the sellar and cavernous sinus region (8%) [7]. Complete tumor resection is the best option to prevent recurrence and improve prognosis. Surgical resection of pediatric meningiomas is a neurosurgical challenge due to difficulty in early diagnosis, large size at presentation, relatively less blood volume in children, occurrence in unusual locations, tight adherence to vital vessels and nerves, and the associated risks of prolonged surgery such as hypothermia, massive blood transfusion, etc. Intraoperative control of bleeding is one of the most important considerations with these tumors.

29.3.1.10 Hypothalamic Astrocytomas or Optic Pathway Glioma

These lesions may be pre-chiasmatic, chiasmatic, and postchiasmatic gliomas based on the location. Up to 20% of children with type neurofibromatosis (NF) will develop optic pathway glioma (OPG), usually at a younger age [3], and rarely occur after 6 years of age. OPG associated with NF1 may have a more indolent course than non-NF1 children. Gliomas of the hypothalamus can grow inferiorly to involve the optic chiasma and, hence, the site of origin of the large tumor. Hypothalamic hamartomas are isointense to cortex on T1 and isointense to slightly hyperintense on T2, and they do not enhance contrast administration (Fig. 29.4b). Hamartomas present with drug-resistant epilepsy; gelastic seizure is the hallmark of the lesion.

29.4 Pathophysiology of Supratentorial Tumors

The narrow autoregulation range (20–60 mmHg) in children makes them susceptible to both cerebral ischemia and intraventricular hemorrhage beyond the lower and upper limits, respectively [8, 9]. Normal ICP is between 2 and 6 mmHg compared to 5 and 15 mmHg in older children. The cerebral blood flow velocities also vary with age, rising to a peak by 6 years.

As governed by the Monro-Kellie doctrine, the sum of volumes of the brain, CSF, and intracerebral blood is constant. A proportionate increase in one compartment causes a reciprocal reduction in one or both of the remaining two. Unlike adults and older children, who have a closed compartment, the presence of open fontanel compensates for any rise in the intracranial volume and masks the effects of any space-occupying lesions in infants and younger children [10, 11].

The symptoms of raised ICP in supratentorial lesions are either due to the mass itself, the surrounding vasogenic edema, or hydrocephalus (overproduction of CSF as in choroid plexus papilloma, obstruction to CSF outflow, or reduced reabsorption). The important consequences of the rise in ICP are cerebral ischemia due to reduced CPP, midline shift, and herniation of the brain. Fast-growing tumors have marked peritumoral edema. It occurs due to disruption of the blood-brain barrier due to "leaky vessels," which responds well to corticosteroid therapy [12]. Cerebral autoregulation plays an important role in preserving cerebral blood flow under normal conditions by causing "myogenic response" at the level of cerebral arterioles.

Rhondali et al. have found that a minimum mean blood pressure of 35 mmHg or within 20% of baseline blood pressure is needed to ensure cerebral perfusion in healthy full-term neonates younger than 6 months of age [13]. The mechanisms of cerebral autoregulation may be disrupted in patients with brain tumors, making them perfusion pressure dependent and, thus, susceptible to ischemia or hyperperfusion even at the normal range of blood pressures [14].

29.5 Clinical Presentation

The patients may present with signs and symptoms of raised ICP or with focal neurological deficits. Headache, nausea, vomiting, blurring of vision, or papilledema may be present in older children (Table 29.3); on the other hand, neonates and infants present with a large head, excessive crying, failure to thrive, and respiratory distress. Irregular respiration (Cheyne-Stokes breathing) along with Cushing's triad (bradycardia, high blood pressure, and irregular respiratory pattern) may occur in the presence of uncal herniation. Seizures and neurological deficits are common in supratentorial pathologies [15]. Children with suprasellar pathologies may also present with

| Neonates and infants | Children |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Irritability and excessive | Headache |
| crying | Vomiting |
| Decreased level of | Diplopia |
| consciousness | Seizures |
| Seizures | Papilledema |
| Enlarged head | Decreased level of |
| Dilated scalp veins, open | consciousness |
| fontanels | Cranial nerve palsies (III, |
| Sunset sign | VI) |
| Cranial nerve palsies | Cushing's triad |
| Cushing's triad | |

Table 29.3 Clinical presentation of children with supratentorial tumors

slowly progressive vision loss and endocrine dysfunction (growth retardation, delayed puberty). The hypothalamic-pituitary dysfunction is a common presentation and may require steroid therapy and thyroid supplementation in the perioperative period [16].

29.6 Anesthetic Management

29.6.1 Preoperative Evaluation, Optimization, and Premedication

Preoperative evaluation (Table 29.4) aims to assess the signs of the mass effect of the tumor, status of cerebral autoregulation, and comorbidities in the child so that a perioperative anesthetic strategy can be planned to preserve homeostasis and prevent irreversible neuronal injuries. A thorough evaluation includes a detailed history; physical examination; hematological, biochemical, and radiological assessment; and discussion with the neurosurgeon regarding intraoperative concerns for a holistic approach to manage pediatric patients. The presence of signs and symptoms of raised ICP is of particular concern. The presence of vomiting and poor intake may cause dehydration, hypovolemia, and electrolyte abnormality. A decreased level of consciousness may increase the risk of aspiration.

Diabetes insipidus (DI) may occur with an incidence of 8–35% during the preoperative period in the patients with peri-sellar tumors,

 Table 29.4
 Preoperative concerns in pediatric patients

- Prematurity: Postoperative apnea
- · Difficult intravenous cannulation
- Presence of congenital heart disease
- Hypothalamic pituitary disease: Diabetes insipidus (DI), adrenal insufficiency
- Hepatic and hematologic disorders with anticonvulsants
- · Electrolyte abnormalities
- Hypovolemia
- Anxiety and premedication
- Gastroesophageal reflux: Aspiration risk

raising concern regarding the volume and sodium status in the patients. The diagnosis depends on the lesion site, serum hypernatremia (>145 mEq/L), urinary sodium levels <20 mEq/L, and the presence of dehydration [17]. An invasive hemodynamic monitoring is rarely needed in the preoperative period itself to replace hourly fluid losses. Apart from the neurological examination, a thorough cardiovascular evaluation may be needed in premature neonates and infants to look for intra-cardiac shunts, which may increase the risk of venous air embolism (VAE) [18].

Radiological assessment should include the site and size of the tumor, any significant mass effect, midline shift, herniation, hydrocephalus, and vascularity of the mass. A preoperative discussion with the surgeon regarding the positioning during surgery predicted blood loss and risk of injury to eloquent and vital areas that help in proper perioperative anesthetic care of the child [18]. Preoperative investigations are tailored as per the surgical procedure. Hematocrit, coagulogram, serum electrolytes, renal function tests, and other investigations are ordered if deemed necessary. Blood and blood products are arranged as per the requirement. Patients with suprasellar tumors may need a complete endocrinological evaluation and therapeutic correction [16, 18].

Premedication should be individualized depending on the presence of raised ICP, level of consciousness, anxiety, and age of the child. Neonates and infants up to 7 months do not need any sedative premedication as stranger anxiety has not developed. In older children, premedication may be needed. Preoperative anxiety and excessive crying can cause a rise in ICP, while excessive sedation may cause hypoventilation, hypercapnia, and apnea, further increasing the ICP. If planned in pediatric patients with intracranial space-occupying lesions, sedative drugs are given in titrated doses under the monitoring and supervision of anesthesiologists. Midazolam is a preferred anxiolytic sedative drug in children and can be administered through oral or intravenous routes. Newer drugs like dexmedetomidine are also showing promising results as non-sedative premedication in pediatric patients. In children with altered consciousness and symptoms of increased ICP, sedative premedication should be avoided [18-21].

Anticonvulsants and steroids are continued till the day of the surgery. Children with a history of seizures should have a preoperative assessment to confirm therapeutic blood levels of anti-seizure medications. Parental presence during the induction of anesthesia may be an alternative to allay anxiety in children.

29.7 Intraoperative Management

29.7.1 Vascular Access

Central venous access is required when there is an anticipation of massive intraoperative blood loss such as large meningiomas, surgeries near the venous sinuses, increased risk of VAE, cardiovascular morbidity such as major congenital heart diseases, decreased myocardial function, prolonged hospital stay, and difficult peripheral IV access. Cannulation of an artery such as radial, femoral, dorsalis pedis, or posterior tibial artery is preferred in children undergoing craniotomy for supratentorial tumors. Continuous monitoring of invasive blood pressure helps guide the hemodynamic management in children with exhausted intracranial compliance. The arterial line also helps in frequent blood sampling for hematocrit, electrolytes, blood sugar, and blood gas analysis [19, 21].

29.7.2 Induction of Anesthesia

The goals of induction of anesthesia are maintenance of adequate cerebral perfusion and avoiding a further rise in ICP. Hypoxia, hypertension, hypotension, hypercapnia, hypocapnia, and venous outflow obstruction should be avoided in children with supratentorial space-occupying lesions. The preoperative status of the child dictates the appropriate technique used for anesthetic induction.

An IV induction with thiopentone (5-8 mg/ kg) or propofol (1.5-3 mg/kg) is preferred in children with features of raised ICP. In the absence of IV access, inhalational induction is indicated as crying and struggling may further increase the ICP. Sevoflurane is the agent of choice for inhalational induction in the pediatric population as it is non-irritant with less incidence of laryngospasm and bronchospasm. The cerebral vasodilatory effects of the inhalational agents should always be borne in mind; mild hyperventilation may be instituted to counter this action. Once an IV line has been secured, an opioid and neuromuscular blocking agent is administered. Children at a high risk of aspiration should undergo rapid sequence intubation (RSI). Succinylcholine has been attributed to increasing ICP; however, prior hyperventilation and bolus of IV anesthetic with cerebral vasoconstricting effects may mitigate its effect on ICP. Rocuronium (1.2 mg/kg) may be used as an alternative muscle relaxant in children for RSI when succinylcholine is contraindicated (e.g., long-standing paresis, hyperkalemia, etc.). The possible association of an undiagnosed myopathy in children may dissuade anesthesiologists from administering succinylcholine.

29.7.3 Airway Management

Pediatric airway differs from adults in many ways. Apart from congenital abnormalities, associated hydrocephalus may pose difficulty in securing the airway. Previously, uncuffed endotracheal tubes (ETTs) were recommended for pediatric patients up to 6 years. However, with the advent of low-pressure and high-volume micro-cuffs, these ETTs are better suited. Nonetheless, minimal air leak should be allowed during ventilation to avoid compromises in perfusion of tracheal mucosa. Reinforced ETTs are preferred during surgeries performed in prone and sitting positions. The ETTs should be properly secured with adhesive tapes after ensuring bilateral equal air entry. Tight bandages around the neck should avoided be to prevent venous outflow obstruction.

29.8 Pharmacology of Anesthetic Agents in Children

The sensitivity of infants to sedatives, hypnotics, inhalational agents, and narcotics is significantly higher due to the immaturity of the CNS, incomplete myelination, immature blood-brain barrier, and increased permeability of the brain. The minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) of inhalational anesthetics is much lower for neonates (0–31 days of age) than for older infants. Although infants have increased anesthetic requirements, the margin of safety, i.e., the difference between adequate anesthesia and profound cardiovascular depression, is relatively lower. Apart from the effect of the anesthetic agents on CBF and cerebral metabolism, their effects on the evoked potentials (EPs) should also be considered.

The inhalational anesthetic agents usually increase CBF due to direct vasodilation and can preserve flow-metabolism coupling up to MAC 1.5–1.8. Beyond this, there may be decoupling of flow-metabolism, which results in a direct rise in CBF and the subsequent rise of CBV and ICP. Unlike inhalational anesthetics, the IV agents preserve flow-metabolism coupling and are cerebral vasoconstrictors. They may cause a reduction of CBF and ICP and, hence, better suited for use in intracranial pathologies. Similarly, their interference with EPs is minimal and is favored during intraoperative neuromonitoring (IONM).

29.9 Maintenance of Anesthesia

The goal of anesthetic maintenance in a child undergoing surgical excision of the supratentorial lesion is to ensure adequate control of ICP, provide "a slack brain" during surgery, maintain hemodynamic stability and bloodless operative field, prompt detection and management of complications, and finally smooth and early emergence from anesthesia at the end of the surgery. The choice of anesthetics during pediatric supratentorial tumor excision is a topic of debate. It depends on the presence of an intracranial mass effect, hemodynamic stability, need for IONM, and plan for elective postoperative mechanical ventilation. IV anesthetic agents are preferred when the child presents with features of increased ICP and decreased intracranial compliance. The proponents of IV anesthetic agents advocate the vasoconstriction "neuroprotective effects," while those favoring inhalational anesthetics argue over these agents' more predictable recovery profile. Inhalational agents decrease CMRO₂, but the direct cerebrovasodilatory effect may further cause a rise in the ICP and "brain bulge" at the time of the bone flap elevation. The IV agents, on the other hand, have both cerebral metabolic suppression and vasoconstrictive effects. Nevertheless, the choice of anesthetic agents has not been shown to have any difference in the outcome of the neurosurgical procedures [20-22].

A comparison of propofol, isoflurane, and the combination of two agents in patients undergoing craniotomy for supratentorial intracranial surgery found no difference in the intraoperative hemodynamics and recovery time with the three regimens [23]. Another similar comparison in patients undergoing supratentorial craniotomy concluded that propofol-maintained and volatile-maintained anesthesia were associated with similar brain relaxation scores. The mean ICP values were lower, and CPP values higher with propofol-maintained anesthesia; however, the neurological outcome was not different [24].

The commonly used technique for maintaining anesthesia during excision of supratentorial SOL in a child is the combination of an inhalational agent, like sevoflurane or isoflurane, with an opioid (e.g., fentanyl). The inhalational agents may be used safely in patients with small, superficially located tumors with minimum mass effect and midline shift. Anesthesiologists prefer to use propofol infusion in older children to excise large tumors with significant mass effect and signs of raised ICP. The US FDA has approved the use of propofol in the maintenance of anesthesia in children more than 2 months and for induction of anesthesia more than 3 years of age [25].

Fentanyl is the most commonly used opioid in children for intraoperative analgesia. The half-lives of fentanyl and other related synthetic opioids, including sufentanil, may be prolonged with repeated dosing and prolonged infusions. They undergo hepatic metabolism, which is immature in infants, thus increasing the risk of respiratory depression and sedation in the immediate postoperative period. Remifentanil, on the other hand, undergoes rapid clearance by plasma esterases. When administered at a rate of 0.2–1.0 μ g/kg/min, it is considered an ideal opioid for rapid emergence from anesthesia. However, delirium and inadequate analgesia (shorter duration of action) may occur during the recovery phase.

Application of skull pin produces a noxious effect resulting in significant hemodynamic stimulation. A bolus of IV anesthetic agent (propofol 0.5–1 mg/kg), a short-acting opioid (fentanyl 1–2 μ g/kg or remifentanil 0.25–1 μ g/kg), or β -blockers (esmolol or labetalol) is generally administered to obtund the pin response. Pin-site infiltration with local anesthetics or scalp block prevents excessive hemodynamic stimulation without producing any side effects.

Neuromuscular drugs per se do not have any effect on CBF. The children on chronic anticonvulsant therapy may exhibit the early metabolism of the non-depolarizing muscle relaxants (NMDR), thus increasing the frequency and dose of the NDMRs. Atracurium is preferred over vecuronium or rocuronium in neonates and infants because of its rapid metabolism independent of the liver and renal functions, which are immature in infants.

29.10 Intraoperative Monitoring

Monitoring in neurosurgical patients is decided by parameters such as age, neurological status, intracranial compliance, hemodynamic status, site of the surgery, vascularity of the lesion, the position of the patient during surgery, and localization and identification of eloquent areas. Standard monitoring in pediatric patients includes electrocardiogram, invasive arterial blood pressure, pulse oximetry, capnography, neuromuscular monitoring (TOF count), temperature, blood loss, and urine output monitoring. Central venous pressure (CVP) monitoring is preferred in children at risk of massive blood loss, major fluid shift, and high risk for VAE. Intraoperative arterial blood pressure monitoring provides beat-tobeat variability. It is useful in cases with possible massive blood loss (e.g., resection of meningioma, choroid plexus papilloma, etc.), major fluid shifts, electrolyte imbalances (craniopharyngioma surgery and risk of DI), and repeated measures of ABGs.

Pulse oximetry is important in pediatric patients as it not only provides continuous oxygen saturation monitoring but also gives a rough idea of intraoperative fluid status using plethysmographic variability (PPV). However, it is subject to motion artifacts, and its measurement becomes difficult in hypothermic children. EtCO₂ monitoring is of vital significance; it provides an estimation of continuous CO₂ levels in the blood and hence an overall idea of other ventilatory parameters and indirectly monitors for VAE and blood loss. VAE is always a risk even in children undergoing craniotomy in the supine position. The head is commonly kept above the heart level during the excision of supratentorial SOLs. The incidence of VAE in children depends upon the intraoperative monitoring technique. An incidence of 9.3% has been reported in the sitting position; VAE-associated hypotension occurs in 2% of children without any direct link between VAE and outcome [26].

Jugular venous saturation monitoring helps guide adequacy of cerebral oxygen supply and demand but is less commonly used in pediatric patients. NIRS and TCD are not commonly used in children, and the data regarding their intraoperative use is limited. IONM may be required for the identification of eloquent areas during the excision of lesions. Motor mapping with the child under general anesthesia or conscious sedation is increasingly used to localize the motor cortex and optimize tumor excision. Anesthetic requirement and technique should be discussed with the neurosurgeon and the neurophysiologist preoperatively. The IONM modalities used for pediatric supratentorial tumors are somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs), transcranial motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), free-running and triggered electromyography (EMG), direct cortical and subcortical stimulation (DCS, DsCS), and electroencephalography (EEG). Volatile agents have the greatest impact, while the IV agents have less suppressive effects or may even enhance certain evoked potentials (EPs), as in the case of ketamine and etomidate. MEPs are the most susceptible to anesthetic effects, and SSEPs are intermediate, while the auditory brainstem responses (ABRs) and EMGs are fairly resistant to anesthetic effects. Neuromuscular blocking agents will ablate the MEPs and EMGs but improve the quality of SSEPs and ABRs by eliminating the EMG artifact. The application of IONM to pediatric neurosurgical cases poses special problems. Infants and toddlers are neurologically immature and have incomplete myelination, reduced conduction velocities, and fewer monosynaptic connections between the corticospinal tract and alpha-motor neurons. The presence of genetic disorders can also dramatically impact the ability to acquire IONM data and the sensitivity to anesthetic agents.

Advances in intraoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have enabled neurosurgeons to define tumor margins during the surgical excision. This provides the opportunity for excision of the lesion without causing iatrogenic damage to normal brain tissue or leaving residual tumor in a single operative session. However, this combined surgical and imaging procedure is associated with prolonged anesthesia time and the requirement of proper care of anesthetic equipment in a magnetic environment [27].

29.11 Positioning

Positioning children undergoing neurosurgery is done to provide optimal surgical access to the target area of the brain. The six basic positions are performed during supratentorial tumor resection: supine, lateral, semi-lateral (Janetta), prone, three-quarter prone (park bench), and sitting position. Mayfield pins are usually recommended for children over 5 years of age. Lateral and sitting positions are rarely used in pediatric supratentorial surgeries. The sitting position is most commonly utilized for the excision of pineal tumors. The risks involved in positioning include hemodynamic various instability, upper airway edema, peripheral neuropathies, VAE, postoperative vision loss, etc. All operating room personnel associated with patient care should be involved in taking appropriate precautions to avoid and manage these complications. Excessive extension and flexion of the neck may lead to inadvertent extubation, endobronchial migration of ETT, kinking, and tongue and upper airway edema and may impede the venous outflow from the brain. Access to vascular lines, airway, and breathing circuit should be ensured prior to the commencement of the surgery.

29.12 Fluid Management

Isotonic, non-glycemic, warm fluids are used to target normovolemia and normotension. Isotonic solutions (0.9% normal saline) are preferred over hypotonic solutions (like Ringer's lactate) to maintain target serum osmolality of 290–300 mOsm/L as hypo-osmolality may increase the brain edema. A recent study supported the use of balanced crystalloid solutions in children undergoing brain tumor resection in place of normal saline [28].

CBF constitutes 55% of the total cardiac output making pediatric patients vulnerable to cardiovascular collapse after sudden blood loss during intracranial surgery. Thus, the aim to maintain the intravascular volume status should begin in the preoperative period itself with careful administration of maintenance and replacement fluids. Maximum allowable blood loss should be calculated in all pediatric patients undergoing craniotomy; a minimum hematocrit value of 25% should be targeted. Volume resuscitation in the ratio of 3:1 for crystalloid to blood loss or 1:1 ratio with colloid to blood loss may be carried out. The intraoperative use of colloids in children is still debatable and sparsely studied. A meta-analysis opined that intravascular volume expansion with low molecular weight 6% hydroxyethyl starch (HES) did not modify renal function, blood loss, or transfusion requirements when administered to children during the perioperative period [29]. Rather, large volume resuscitation with rapid infusion of saline (>60 ml/kg) may be associated with hyperchloremic acidosis. Glucose-containing solutions (5% dextrose, DNS, etc.) are no longer used in intracranial surgeries to avoid hyperglycemia, which may further aggravate cerebral injury. However, the risk of hypoglycemia in pre-term and sick full-term neonates (<50 mg/dl) should always be borne in mind. With limited reserves of glycogen and limited gluconeogenesis, small premature infants may require dextrosecontaining fluids to maintain a desired blood sugar level. Tight glycemic control (70-100 mg/ dL) in the pediatric population is not practiced because of the risk of hypoglycemic episodes; the blood sugar value of less than 180 mg/dl is usually targeted. Goal-directed fluid therapy depends on individual intravascular volume optimization to get a maximum cardiac stroke volume. Both static and dynamic parameters are used to guide fluid administration during the perioperative period. Dynamic parameters include stroke volume variation, pulse pressure variation, systolic pressure variation, aortic blood flow variation, plethysmographic variability index, and 2D echocardiography involving velocity time integral (VTI). These parameters are more reliable and better suited for assessing changes during perioperative fluid requirements. However, the data on the pediatric population is scarce. Gan et al. reviewed the reliability of dynamic variables based on the heart-lung interaction. They observed that respiratory variation in aortic blood flow peak velocity was the only reliable variable predicting fluid responsiveness in children [30]. Literature in adult patients suggests that patients with low SVV had a shorter ICU stay, fewer postoperative neurological events, and lower intraoperative serum lactate [31]. It is pertinent to remember that during surgeries, such as excision of craniopharyngioma or other sellar tumors, frequent monitoring of sodium is warranted. Dextrose-insulin infusions or ½ NS may have to be titrated according to the ongoing hypernatremia and DI.

29.13 Hyperosmolar Therapy and Optimization of Surgical Field

Both mannitol and hypertonic saline at equiosmolar concentrations may be used in children; provide similar intraoperative brain they conditions. A prospective open-label randomized study on 30 children under 16 years of age with severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) found mannitol and hypertonic saline equally beneficial [32]. Adult data demonstrates the maintenance of better hemodynamics with the use of hypertonic saline and may be considered when choosing hyperosmolar therapy in pediatric patients. The other advantage of using 3% hypertonic saline is a more rapid volume expansion compared with mannitol. Therefore, hypertonic saline may have a theoretical benefit in treating refractory raised ICP; however, the outcome remains unchanged.

29.14 Intraoperative Crisis Management

29.14.1 Intraoperative "Brain Bulge" or "Tight Brain"

This is an important and frequently encountered complication, especially in older children. The management becomes important from an anesthesiologist's point of view. The primary goals are to control brain tension via control of CBF and metabolism and provide a relaxed "slack" brain. The major factors to be considered are proper ventilatory strategies such as avoidance of hypercapnia and hypoxemia and early institution of mild hyperventilation. Similarly, sympathetic and arterial pressure control by ensuring an adequate depth of anesthesia and analgesia and uninterrupted cerebral venous drainage with proper head positioning should be done. Careful attention to these factors improves the status of the intracranial pressure-volume curve and ensures the adequacy of cerebral perfusion while preventing untoward increases in ICP. Important steps to prevent and treat "intraoperative brain bulge" are enumerated in Table 29.5 and Table 29.6, respectively.

29.14.2 Severe Blood Loss

Blood loss can be difficult to assess during craniotomies because of constant oozing onto the surgical drapes and irrigation with saline fluid. Certain tumor types such as choroid plexus papillomas, high-grade gliomas and glioblastomas, pineoblastomas, and suprasellar meningiomas are prone to bleed more than other subtypes. Hence, a greater word of caution needs to be taken in the presence of such pathologies. The maximum allowable blood loss (MABL) should be carefully estimated and replaced with 3 mL of isotonic fluid per ml of blood loss. If blood loss is less than or equal to the MABL and no further

| Parameter | Intervention | Rationale |
|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Smooth anesthetic induction | Ensure smooth induction by the use of titrated doses of induction agent and preventing hemodynamic responses to laryngoscopy and intubation using boluses of opioids, esmolol, or lidocaine before laryngoscopy Prevent response to skull pin fixation using local anesthetic infiltration, scalp block, or opioid or propofol/thiopentone bolus | Prevent undue hemodynamic responses and changes in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and intracranial pressure (ICP) |
| Head and neck positioning | Give a slight head-up position (10–15°) Prevent extreme neck flexion (at least two-finger breadth distance between chin and sternum) Ensure no extreme neck rotation | Appropriate positioning ensures adequate venous drainage Preventing a head-down position is essential to prevent an increase in CPP and, hence, ICP |
| Ventilatory strategies | Adjust ventilatory settings to achieve normal peripheral and arterial oxygen saturation, normocapnia, and normal airway pressures Baseline arterial blood gas to ensure normal PaCO₂ and rule out discrepancies between EtCO₂ and PaCO₂ | Both hypoxia and hypercapnia can cause cerebral vasodilatation, increased cerebral blood volume, and a rise in ICP. High airway pressures can impede venous return from the head and neck region |
| Anesthetic technique | Choose between the use of total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA), a balanced anesthetic technique, and the use of nitrous oxide to control the ICP | Baseline clinical neurological assessment, review of imaging, and communication with neurosurgeon can help identify anticipated intraoperative events to plan an anesthetic technique that prevents worsening of neurological injury |
| Osmotherapy | Mannitol (0.25–1 gm/kg) or hypertonic saline (3–5 ml/kg) are given over 15–20 mins during craniotomy | Osmotherapy intends to reduce the overall cerebral water content and, thereby, cerebral volume |
| CSF drainage | Ventriculostomy/external ventricular drainage (EVD) | When severe edema or mass effect is present on imaging, an EVD can be inserted in the contralateral lateral ventricle. CSF aspiration, if required, can be used as a rescue measure to treat "tight brain" |

Table 29.5 Steps to prevent intraoperative brain bulge

PaCO₂ partial pressure of arterial oxygenation, EtCO₂ end-tidal carbon dioxide, CSF cerebrospinal fluid

| Intervention | Rationale |
|----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Hyperventilation | Institution of moderate hyperventilation ($PaCO_2 28-30 \text{ mmHg}$) results in cerebral vasoconstriction and CBF reduction. It is considered one of the most effective as it has an immediate onset of action |
| Osmotherapy | Mannitol can be repeated and further doses considered if necessary. Alternatively, hypertonic saline can also be used. Additionally, furosemide (0.3–0.4 mg/kg) boluses can be given and redoes, if needed |
| Reverse Trendelenburg | Ensuring the head-up position (if not given previously) can effectively facilitate venous drainage and reduce ICP |
| Anesthetic agents | Switch off nitrous oxide. Boluses of propofol/thiopentone may be given. Converting to TIVA helps achieve better cerebral vasoconstriction and should be considered |
| Stable vital parameters | Prevent and treat hypotension. Hypovolemia, blood loss, diuretics, and deep anesthesia can all cause hypotension and have to be treated with fluids, blood, and/or vasopressors as required Prevent and treat hypoxia Ensure normal airway pressures. High airway pressures in children may be due to bronchospasm, high airway resistance due to small caliber (internal diameter) of the endotracheal tube, rotation or flexion of the neck causing kinking. Inhaled bronchodilators, ET suctioning, and neutral neck positioning can be done Treat anemia. Low hematocrit can also cause increased cerebral blood flow and contribute to |
| | a tight brain |
| Others | Steroids. Dexamethasone (4 mg) bolus can be given but ineffective as onset takes a longer time CSF drainage. If a ventriculostomy or lumbar CSF drain has been inserted, CSF aspiration (maximum of 20 ml and a slow rate of aspiration of less than 2 ml/min) can be a good rescue measure to treat the tight brain |

Table 29.6 Interventions to manage intraoperative brain bulge

PaCO₂ partial pressure of arterial oxygenation, CSF cerebrospinal fluid

significant blood loss occurs or is anticipated during the postoperative period, packed red blood cell (PRBC) transfusion is generally avoided. If the child has reached the MABL and significantly more blood loss is expected during surgery, the child should receive PRBCs in sufficient quantity to maintain the hematocrit more than 25%. Fresh frozen plasma (FFP) may be administered to replenish clotting factors lost during a massive blood transfusion.

Infants undergoing complex cranial vault reconstructive procedures such as craniosynostosis repair are at increased risk of intraoperative hemorrhage and need for blood transfusion. Apart from PRBC and FFP, cell salvage techniques, fibrinogen concentrates, off-label recombinant factor VII, and tranexamic acid (10 mg/kg bolus followed by 1 mg/kg/h infusion) have also been used in these children [33]. Similarly, the use of tranexamic acid has also been suggested to reduce intraoperative blood loss during excision of highly vascular tumors such as choroid plexus papilloma [34]. Additionally, thromboelastography carries an important role in the perioperative assessment and monitoring of the coagulation system in pediatric patients undergoing craniotomy for primary brain tumors. Thromboelastography data may help recognize children at increased risk of bleeding or thromboembolic events, thereby closely monitoring and early intervention that may reduce morbidity and mortality. The principle of thromboelastography operation is that it provides a visual representation of viscoelastic changes occurring in a coagulating sample of blood [35].

29.14.3 Intraoperative Hypothermia

Infants and children are especially prone to develop hypothermia due to their large surfacearea-to-volume ratio; other causes may include awake non-anesthetized children, large exposed areas, long-duration surgery vasodilation, and low temperature of administered fluid and blood products. The low muscle mass may cause the inability to shiver, and an absence of thermal insulation, e.g., subcutaneous fat, especially in premature children, makes them prone to developing hypothermia [36–40]. Hypothermia may be prevented by ensuring warm operation theaters, use of prewarmed IV fluids, use of fluid and blood warmer, forced air-warming devices, as well as intraoperative temperature monitoring.

29.14.4 Electrolyte Imbalance

Several conditions are associated with electrolyte imbalance in children including the consequences of osmotherapy, blood transfusion, use of frusemide, and metabolic acidosis. Diabetes insipidus (DI) is a complication of pediatric surgical procedures, commonly seen in association with craniopharyngioma. The occurrence of DI is diagnosed from an increasing serum sodium value (>150 mg/dL) accompanied by a high (>4 mL/kg/h) output of dilute urine. Preoperative central DI is associated with 8–35% of craniopharyngioma patients, and the incidence is 70–90% after excisional surgery [41].

29.14.5 Intraoperative Seizure Prophylaxis

Children on preoperative anti-seizure medications need to be supplemented during the perioperative period. Phenytoin (15 mg/kg) and levetiracetam (10–15 mg/kg) are the most commonly used anti-seizure drugs [42]. Both these drugs, when given, should be diluted and administered over 15–20 min. Because of its propensity to cause hypotension and the risk of extravasation, phenytoin should be diluted to a concentration of less than 10 mg/mL and infused at the rate of 1–3 mg/kg/min (maximum of 50 mg/min) [43, 44].

29.14.6 Emergence from Anesthesia

Emergence from general anesthesia and extubation is a time of immense physiological stress. Sympathetic stimulation during emergence can cause hemodynamic and metabolic reactions. The phase is associated with increased oxygen consumption and catecholamine release leading to tachycardia, hypertension, and hyperglycemia. The events may lead to increased CBF and cerebral oxygen consumption, potentially causing a rise in ICP [45-48]. A prospective randomized study compared the awakening properties of inhalational anesthetics such as isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane in 60 pediatric patients who underwent craniotomy for excision of supratentorial tumors [49]. The mean emergence and extubation times and the time interval to reach Aldrete score 9 were observed to be significantly shorter in the desflurane and sevoflurane groups than the isoflurane group. No significant changes were observed concerning intraoperative brain swelling, hemodynamic fluctuations, and postoperative shivering or vomiting.

29.15 Early Vs. Delayed Emergence and Extubation

The rationale of rapid emergence in the children undergoing neurosurgery is necessary to permit an early neurological evaluation and manage complications. Major complications after intracranial surgery are seen in 13-27% of patients [50]. Majority of the children benefit from early extubation, which outweighs the potential risks. However, conditions such as a preoperative altered level of consciousness, surgeries lasting for a long duration (>6 h), intraoperative complications, massive blood loss, prolonged period of ischemia with the use of retractors, and associated severe cardiac and respiratory diseases may warrant continuation of mechanical ventilation and, hence, delayed tracheal extubation. The advantages of delayed emergence/extubation are lesser chances of hypoxemia, hypercarbia, and proper hemodynamic stabilization of the child.

The recovery and extubation should be planned before the surgery is over after discussing the pros and cons of early vs. delayed emergence with the neurosurgeon (Table 29.7).

| Advantages of early emergence and extubation | Disadvantages of early emergence and extubation | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| Early evaluation of the neurologic status and re-intervention, if needed Early assessment of the baseline clinical status Less hemodynamic changes and catecholamine surge Done in the operation theater by the anesthesiologist familiar with the child Avoid ICU costs | The residual effect of opioids and muscle relaxants may increase the risk of post-extubation apnea and hypoxia The patient may have residual hypothermia It is difficult to monitor the respiratory parameters during the transfer of the child to postoperative ICU or HDU | | |
| | | | |

Table 29.7 Advantages and disadvantages of early emergence

ICU intensive care unit, HDU high dependency unit

29.16 Postoperative Management

29.16.1 Post-Craniotomy Pain Management in Children

Postoperative analgesia presents a unique problem in the management of pediatric patients. Pain is usually underestimated despite the reported incidence of moderate to severe pain in 60% of the patients during the first postoperative day [51]. Paracetamol and opioids are the most common drugs used for acute post-craniotomy pain. Acetaminophen and paracetamol (10-15 mg/kg; max 60 mg/kg in 24 h) have weak analgesic action and may not suffice as sole analgesic agents. However, they have been used through IV, oral, and rectal routes. NSAIDs such as ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen, and ketorolac and selective COX-2 inhibitors have varying degree of analgesic, antipyretic, anti-inflammatory, and antiplatelet effects. The antiplatelet action, risk of bleeding, and possible postoperative hematoma preclude their use in high-risk patients [52, 53].

Morphine, codeine, tramadol, and fentanyl are the most commonly prescribed opioids for postcraniotomy pain. Concerns of vomiting, sedation, respiratory depression, interference with the neurological examination, and delayed weaning exist with the use of opioids [52, 53]. Local anesthetics used in scalp block or wound infiltration also form a part of the multimodality management of post-craniotomy pain [54, 55]. Alpha-2 agonists such as dexmedetomidine have sedative and analgesic effects, with recent evidence supporting its use in supratentorial tumors [56, 57].

29.16.2 Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting (PONV)

PONV is a prevalent problem in children with a demonstrated incidence of around 30–40% [58, 59]. Few case studies have been published in this regard, and literature regarding nausea and vomiting in children mainly focuses on surgeries in the infratentorial region. Routine administration of anti-emetic drugs like ondansetron (0.1 mg/kg) is useful but is currently only recommended for use in children older than 2 years [60]. Dexamethasone may be given to pediatric patients before emergence in recommended doses [61].

29.16.3 Stereotactic Radiosurgery in Children

Stereotactic radiosurgery employs the gamma knife, cyberknife, or linear accelerator. Both neoplastic and non-neoplastic intracranial lesions in children are managed using stereotactic radiosurgery. In children with recurrent astrocytoma, metastatic germ cell tumors, and medulloblastoma, these procedures are used; they make use of imaging techniques such as angiography, MRI, and CT localization along with the actual therapy. These procedures require shifting of an anesthetized child to different locations of interest with added concerns. Stereotactic radiosurgery is indicated for treating highly vascular, nonmalignant intracranial tumors and several inoperable malignant neoplasms. Due to the stereotactic frame and localization of the treated area within 1.2-1.3 mm of spatial error, absolute akinesia and immobilization of the head are needed throughout the length of the procedure. Careful preparation and planning are required before the actual treatment. The radiosurgery site must have all facilities for administering general anesthesia to a child.

On the day of treatment, GA is induced before placing the cranial pins to secure the stereotactic frame. Children usually do not tolerate this painful and uncomfortable procedure with only the infiltration of local anesthesia. Hence, GA needs to be administered from the beginning of the procedure. The anesthesia goals remain the same with the provisions of hemodynamic stability, absolute immobility, and the use of routine monitoring modalities. Since anesthesia administration may be difficult and challenging in the peripheral environment outside the operation theater with limited human resources and technical skills, special considerations must be carefully looked into.

29.16.4 Awake Craniotomy in Children

Awake craniotomy with direct cortical stimulation and mapping is employed to resect pathological lesions located near the eloquent brain. However, only a small series of awake craniotomies have been conducted in children. The feasibility, safety, and anesthetic management of awake craniotomy in the pediatric population are still being questioned. Mostly, the procedure is carried out in asleep-awake-asleep technique for children over 7 years [62]. Short-acting drugs like remifentanil, propofol, and sevoflurane are used for inducing GA. The child, who has been counseled well in the preoperative period, is awakened during surgery for a neurological examination when the surgeon is haneloquent cortex. The dling the main intraoperative complications include agitation, excessive respiratory depression, seizures, increased ICP, and bradycardia. Despite the challenges and complications, this procedure's success depends highly on the preoperative counseling, the child's mentation and psychology, the adequacy of a calm OT environment, and preparation to convert the procedure into GA on a case-to-case basis.

29.17 Conclusion

Pediatric supratentorial SOLs are a diverse group of lesions associated with specific concerns. The combined age-specific patient concerns and tumor-related issues make anesthetic management a highly skilled task with little room for complacency. The major complications like blood loss, hypothermia, air embolism, etc. may be life-threatening in children but can be avoided with meticulous planning. A good team effort with effective coordination among neurosurgeons, anesthesiologists, and operating room personnel helps achieve the desired goal.Conflict of InterestNil.

References

- Maher CO, Raffel C. Neurosurgical treatment of brain tumors in children. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2004;51:327–57.
- Jain A, Sharma MC, Suri V, Kale SS, Mahapatra AK, Tatke M, et al. Spectrum of pediatric brain tumors in India: a multi-institutional study. Neurol India. 2011;59(2):208–11.
- Grossman RI, Yousem DM. Neuroradiology. 2nd ed. Philadelhphia: Mosby; 2003.
- Alexiou GA, Moschovi M, Stefanaki K, Panagopoulos D, Tsotra M, Siozos G, et al. Supratentorial ependymomas in children: analysis of nine cases. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2013;8(1):15–8.
- Bettegowda C, Adogwa O, Mehta V, Chaichana KL, Weingart J, Carson BS, Jallo GI, Ahn ES. Treatment of choroid plexus tumors: a 20-year single institutional experience. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10(5):398–405.
- Abay EO II, Laws ER Jr, Grado GL, et al. Pineal tumors in children and adolescents. Treatment by CSF shunting and radiotherapy. J Neurosurg. 1981;55:889–95.
- Caroli E, Russillo M, Ferrante L. Intracranial meningiomas in children: report of 27 new cases and critical analysis of 440 cases reported in the literature. J Child Neurol. 2006;21:31–6.
- Wintermark M, Lepori D, Cotting J, Roulet E, van Melle G, Meuli R, et al. Brain Perfusion in children: Evolution with age assessed by quantitative perfusion computed tomography. Pediatrics. 2004;113:1642–52.
- 9. Pryds O. Control of cerebral circulation in the highrisk neonate. Ann Neurol. 1991;30:321–9.
- Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, Chesnut RM, du Coudray HE, Goldstein B, et al. Guidelines for the acute medical management of severe traumatic brain injury in infants, children, and adolescents. Surgical

treatment of pediatric intracranial hypertension. Pediatr Crit Care. 2003;4:S56–9.

- 11. Adelson PD, Bratton SL, Carney NA, Chesnut RM, du Coudray HE, Goldstein B, et al. Guidelines for the acute medical management of severe traumatic brain injury in infants, children, and adolescents. Critical pathway for the treatment of established intracranial hypertension in pediatric traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2003;4:S65–S6.
- Bruce JN, Crisculo GR, Merrill MJ, Moquin RR, Blacklock JB, Oldfield EH. Vascular permeability induced by protein product of malignant brain tumors: inhibition by dexamethasone. J Neurosurg. 1987;67:880–4.
- Rhondali O, André C, Pouyau A, Mahr A, Juhel S, De Queiroz M, et al. Sevoflurane anesthesia and brain perfusion. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25:180–5.
- Filho EM, Carvalho WB, Cavalheiro S. Perioperative patient management in pediatric neurosurgery. Rev Assoc Med Bras. 2012;58:388–96.
- Rath GP, Dash HH. Anesthesia for neurosurgical procedures in pediatric patients. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56:502–10.
- Furay C, Howell T. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Cont Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2010;10:172–6.
- Dabrowski E, Kadakia R, Zimmerman D. Diabetes insipidus in infants and children. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016 Mar;30(2):317–28.
- Cote CJ. Pediatric Anesthesia. Miller's anesthesia. 8th ed. Elseiver: Philadephia; 2015.
- McClain CD, Soriano SG. Anesthesia for intracranial surgery in infants and children. Curr Opin Anesthesiol. 2014;27:465–9.
- 20. Sakabe T, Matsumoto M. Effect of anesthetic agents and other drugs on cerebral blood flow, metabolism and intracranial pressure. In: Cottrell, Young, editors. Neuroanesthesia. 5th ed. Philadephia: Elseiver; 2010.
- Szabo EZ, Luginbuehl I, Bissonnette B. Impact of anesthetic agents on cerebrovascular physiology in children. Pediatr Anesth. 2009;19:108–18.
- Todd MM, Warner DS, Sokoll MD, Maktabi MA, Hindman BJ, Scamman FL, et al. A prospective, comparative trial of three anesthetics for elective supratentorial craniotomy. Anesthesiology. 1993;78:1005–20.
- Talke P, Caldwell JE, Brown R, Dodson B, Howley J, Richardson CA. A comparison of three anesthetic techniques in patients undergoing craniotomy for supratentorial intracranial surgery. Anesth Analg. 2002;95:430–5.
- 24. Chui J, Mariappan R, Mehta J, Manninen P, Venkatraghavan L. Comparison of propofol and volatile agents for maintenance of anesthesia during elective craniotomy procedures: systematic review and metaanalysis. J Can Anesth. 2014;61:347–56.
- Smith MC, Williamson J, Yaster M, Boyd GJ, Heitmiller ES. Off label use of medications in children undergoing sedation and anesthesia. Anaesth Analg. 2012;115:1148–54.
- Harrison EA, Mackersie A, McEwan A, Facer E. The sitting position for neurosurgery in children: a review. Anesthesia. 2002;88:12–7.

- McClain CD, Rockoff MA, Soriano SG. Anesthetic concerns for pediatric patients in an intraoperative MRI suite. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2011;24:480–6.
- Lima MF, Neville IS, Cavalheiro S, Bourguignon DC, Pelosi P, Malbouisson LMS. Balanced crystalloids versus saline for perioperative intravenous fluid administration in children undergoing neurosurgery: a randomized clinical trial. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2019;31(1):30–5.
- 29. Thy M, Montmayeur J, Julien-Marsollier F, Michelet D, Brasher C, Dahmani S, et al. Safety and efficacy of perioperative administration of hydroxyethyl starch in children undergoing surgery: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2018;35:484–95.
- Gan H, Cannesson M, Chandler JR, Ansermino JM. Predicting fluid responsiveness in children: a systematic review. Anesth Analg. 2013;117(6):1380–92.
- 31. Wu CY, Lin YS, Tseng HM, Cheng HL, Lee TS, Lin PL, et al. Comparison of two stroke volume variationbased goal-directed fluid therapies for supratentorial brain tumor resection: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Anaesth. 2017;119:934–42.
- 32. Kumar SA, Devi BI, Reddy M, Shukla D. Comparison of equiosmolar dose of hyperosmolar agents in reducing intracranial pressure-a randomized control study in pediatric traumatic brain injury. Childs Nerv Syst. 2019;35:999–1005.
- Stricker PA, Fiadjoe JE. Anesthesia for craniofacial surgery in infancy. Anesthesiol Clin. 2014;32:215–35.
- 34. Phi JH, Goobie SM, Hong KH, Dholakia A, Smith ER. Use of tranexamic acid in infants undergoing choroid plexus papilloma surgery: a report of two cases. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(7):791–3.
- El Kady N, Khedr H, Yosry M, El Mekawi S. Perioperative assessment of coagulation in pediatric neurosurgical patients using thromboelastography. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2009;26(4):293–7.
- Leslie K, Sessler DI. Perioperative hypothermia in the high-risk surgical patient. Bes Pracand Res Clin Anaesthesio. 2003;17:485–98.
- Kurz A. Thermal care in the perioperative period. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2008;22:39–62.
- Reynolds L, Beckmann J, Kurz A. Perioperative complications of hypothermia. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2008;22:645–57.
- Torossian A. Thermal management during anesthesia and thermoregulation standards for the prevention of inadvertent perioperative hypothermia. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2008;22:659–68.
- Rajagopalan S, Mascha E, Na J, et al. The effects of mild perioperative hypothermia on blood loss and transfusion requirement. Anesthesiology. 2008;108:71–9.
- 41. Ghirardello S, Hopper N, Albanese A, Maghnie M. Diabetes insipidus in craniopharyngioma: post-operative management of water and electrolyte disorders. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2006;19(Suppl 1):413–21.
- Vignesh V, Rameshkumar R, Mahadevan S. Comparison of phenytoin, valproate and Levetiracetam in pediatric convulsive status epilep-

ticus: a randomized double-blind controlled clinical trial. Indian Pediatr. 2020;57(3):222–7.

- Hardesty DA, Sanborn MR, Parker WE, Storm PB. Perioperative seizure incidence and risk factors in 223 pediatric brain tumor patients without prior seizures. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(6):609–15.
- 44. Levati A, Savoia G, Zoppi F, Boselli L, Tommasino C. Peri-operative prophylaxis with phenytoin: dosage and therapeutic plasma levels. Acta Neurochir. 1996;138(3):274–8.
- 45. Ciofolo MJ, Clergue F, Devilliers C, Ben Ammar M, ViarsP. Changes in ventilation, oxygen uptake, and carbon dioxide output during recovery from isoflurane anesthesia. Anesthesiology. 1989;70:737–41.
- 46. Breslow MJ, Parker SD, Frank SM, Norris EJ, Yates H, Raff H, et al. Determinants of catecholamine and cortisol responses to lower extremity revascularization. Anesthesiology. 1993;79:1202–9.
- 47. Bruder N, Stordeur JM, Ravussin P, Valli M, Dufour H, Bruguerolle B, et al. Metabolic and hemodynamic changes during recovery and tracheal Extubation in neurosurgical patients: immediate versus delayed recovery. Anesth Analg. 1999;89:674–8.
- Bruder N, Pellissier D, Grillot P, Gouin F. Cerebral hyperemia during recovery from general anesthesia in neurosurgical patients. Anesth Analg. 2002;94:650–4.
- 49. Ghoneim AA, Azer MS, Ghobrial HZ, El Beltagy MA. Awakening properties of isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane in pediatric patients after craniotomy for supratentorial tumors. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(1):1–6.
- Sawaya R, Hammoud M, Schoppa D, Hess KR, Wu SZ, Shi WM, Wildrick DM. Neurosurgical outcomes in a modern series of 400 craniotomies for treatment of parenchymal tumors. Neurosurgery. 1998;42:1055–6.
- De Benedittis G, Lorenzetti A, Migliore M, Spagnoli D, Tiberio F, Villani RM. Postoperative pain in neurosurgery: a pilot study in brain surgery. Neurosurgery. 1996;38:466–70.
- de Gray LC, Matta BF. Acute and chronic pain following craniotomy: a review. Anesthesia. 2005;60:693–704.

- Shay JE, Kattail D, Morad A, Yaster M. The postoperative management of pain from intracranial surgery in pediatric neurosurgical patients. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;2:724–33.
- 54. Guilfoyle MR, Helmy A, Duane D, Hutchinson PJ. Regional scalp block for post craniotomy analgesia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Anesth Analg. 2013;116:1093–102.
- 55. Festa R, Tosi F, Pusateri A, Mensi S, Garra R, Mancino A, Frassanito P, Rossi M. The scalp block for postoperative pain control in craniosynostosis surgery: a case control study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;17
- Turgut N, Turkmen A, Ali A, Altan A. Remifentanil propofol vs dexmedetomidine-propofol-anesthesia for supratentorial craniotomy. Middle East J Anaesthesiol. 2009;20:63–70.
- Haldar R, Kaushal A, Gupta D, Srivastava S, Singh PK. Pain following craniotomy: reassessment of the available options. Biomed Res Int. 2015:1–8.
- McCartney CJ, Sinha A, Katz J. A qualitative systematic review of the role of Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists in preventive analgesia. Anesth Analg. 2004;98:1385–400.
- Eberhart LH, Geldner G, Kranke P, et al. The development and validation of a risk score to predict the probability of postoperative vomiting in pediatric patients. Anesth Analg. 2004;99:1630–7.
- 60. Furst SR, Sullivan LJ, Soriano SG, et al. Effects of ondansetron on emesis in the first 24 hours after craniotomy in children. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:325–8.
- Law A, Lo A, Christiansen N. Ondansetron use for children under 2-year old on postsurgical nursecontrolled analgesia. Arch Dis Child. 2012;97:e11.
- 62. Lohkamp LN, Mottolese C, Szathmari A, Huguet L, Beuriat PA, Christofori I, et al. Awake brain surgery in children-review of the literature and state-of-the-art. Childs Nerv Syst. 2019;35(11):2071–7.



Anesthetic Management of Posterior Fossa Surgery in Children

Gyaninder Pal Singh 💿 and Gaurav Singh Tomar 💿

Key Points

- The posterior fossa is a tight and rigid compartment with poor compliance having important and vital brain structures, including the brainstem and cerebellum.
- The most common pathology affecting the posterior fossa is brain tumor, which accounts for almost 54–70% of all brain tumors.
- The approach to a pediatric neurosurgical patient is different from adults because of agerelated changes in neurophysiology and cranial development.
- The signs and symptoms of raised intracranial pressure in pediatric neurosurgical cases are age-specific.
- Sitting craniotomy offers advantages of better surgical access and a clear operative field but poses a significant challenge for anesthesiologists; venous air embolism is an important and potentially life-threatening complication of posterior fossa surgery.
- In children, blood loss due to surgery or tumor bleed into the cavity constitutes a major fraction of total blood volume; adequate replacement of losses by fluids and blood is important

G. P. Singh (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

G. S. Tomar

to maintain hemodynamic stability and organ perfusion.

30.1 Introduction

Posterior fossa tumors are more common in children as compared to adults. The majority of brain tumors (54-70%) in the pediatric age group occur in the posterior fossa (15-20% in adults) [1, 2]. The reason behind the propensity of these tumors to occur in the posterior fossa has not been elucidated to date. Posterior fossa lesions may be neoplastic, developmental, or vascular lesions amenable to surgical intervention. Chiari malformations occur as congenital defects when a portion of the skull base fails to grow large enough to accommodate the cerebellum that would result in brain tissue extending into the spinal canal. By far, the most common posterior fossa tumors of childhood are astrocytomas, medulloblastomas, ependymomas, and brainstem gliomas. Cerebellar astrocytomas, usually slow-growing and benign, are the most common (40-50%), followed by medulloblastomas (malignant) comprising (20-25%) of all pediatric brain tumors [3]. Other less frequent tumors include atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumor, hemangioblastoma, dermoid, schwannoma, cerebellar gangliocytoma, meningioma, and metastatic tumors [4] (Fig. 30.1). The median age at diagnosis of posterior fossa tumors in children is approximately 6-9 years, with a peak inci-

Department of Critical Care, Indian Spinal Injuries Centre (ISIC), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_30



Fig. 30.1 Distribution of posterior fossa tumors in children

dence in the first decade of life. Most of the tumors occur in the midline and are frequently found associated with hydrocephalus (Fig. 30.2). Success with surgical intervention has become possible because of improved understanding of physiology, advances in imaging and microsurgical techniques, excellent anesthetic techniques available, and advances in the child's perioperative care. These, in turn, have improved the survival and quality of life in children.

30.2 Anatomy of Posterior Fossa

Boundaries: Posterior fossa is bounded anteriorly by petrous part of temporal bone and clivus, posteriorly by occipital bone, laterally by the mastoid and squamous part of the temporal bone, superiorly by tentorium cerebelli, and inferiorly by foramen magnum.

Contents: Posterior fossa lodges a large portion of the brainstem, such as the lower midbrain, pons, and medulla, as well as the cerebellum. The



Fig. 30.2 Computed tomographic (CT) scan of the brain, showing a posterior fossa tumor (black arrow) with hydrocephalus. The lateral and third ventricles (white arrow) are dilated due to obstruction to CSF flow

brainstem contains 3rd to 12th cranial nerve nuclei and vital centers such as cardiac, respiratory, etc. The efferent and afferent fiber tracts connect the brain to the spinal cord.

Blood supply: Structures located in the posterior fossa receive their blood supply through the vertebrobasilar system, located on the ventral aspect of the brainstem. The blood is drained by the adjacent venous sinuses, including the petroclival sinus, straight sinus, occipital sinus, transverse sinus, and sigmoid sinus that ultimately drain into internal jugular veins.

Various pathological lesions, both benign and malignant, may occur in the posterior fossa. These lesions can arise from the brain parenchyma, cranial nerves, meninges, vessels, or skull bone. There may be inflammation, infection, neoplasms, traumatic space-occupying lesion (SOL), vascular lesions leading to hemorrhage or infarction, and metastasis from other regions. The lesions in this area present with a variety of clinical manifestations. The presence of hydrocephalus secondary to obstruction of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) flow through the aqueduct of Sylvius may lead to intracranial hypertension [5]. Moreover, the mass effects of the lesion may lead to a rise in intracranial pressure (ICP).

30.3 Clinical Manifestations

Initially, the child may present with nonspecific symptoms such as listlessness, headache, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, anorexia, and personality changes. Later, cerebellar or brainstem signs like ataxia, dysmetria, hemiparesis, and lower cranial nerve deficits may develop. More specific clinical syndromes may occur with tumors that rapidly involve in neural structures such as acoustic neuromas, other cerebellopontine (CP) angle tumors, and brainstem glioma. Signs and symptoms due to posterior fossa tumors, particularly astrocytoma, are a result of elevated ICP due to CSF outflow obstruction. In infants, an enlarged head or bulging fontanelle, widely spaced cranial sutures, and irritability may indicate hydrocephalus. Malnutrition because of poor feeding in infants

and dehydration is also noted among chronically ill children. In older children, signs of raised ICP will include headache, vomiting, papilledema, and a reduced level of consciousness.

Herniation of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum (especially in children) present with meningismus, head tilt, muscle spasm, opisthotonus, vomiting, skew deviation of the eyes, downbeat nystagmus (vertical nystagmus), and typical "posturing" from tonsillar herniation. The paroxysmal spells that are characterized by drop attacks with or without loss of consciousness, abnormal extensor posturing, and varying degrees of respiratory compromise (known as "cerebellar fits") [6] may occur in conditions causing cerebellar herniation [7]. Bulbar palsies with vocal cord paralysis, swallowing and gag dysfunction, occipital headache, and neck pain may also occur. Further herniation may compress the medulla, subsequently causing irregular respiration and death.

30.4 Preoperative Evaluation of Lesions

Imaging: Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) remains the two important imaging modalities for posterior fossa lesion. CT scan is a useful tool to assess the severity of hydrocephalus in an emergency. However, due to bony artifacts, the CT scan is inferior to MRI for posterior fossa imaging. MRI has greatly improved the diagnosis of posterior fossa soft tissue pathological lesions (Fig. 30.3). MRI allows differentiation of intraaxial and extra-axial lesions and visualization of the surrounding anatomical structures. It provides detailed information for the pathological diagnosis of lesions. In extra-axial lesions, there is the displacement of parenchymal structures, bone erosion, well-delineated margins, and contiguity with surrounding dura or bony structures. In contrast, intra-axial lesions do not erode bone and have indistinct margins. A full craniospinal pre- and post-contrast MRI scan should be done before surgery to ensure complete tumor staging.

Fig. 30.3 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of a 10-year-old child showing a large lesion in the posterior fossa

Neurophysiologic Studies: Brainstem auditory-evoked responses (BAER) and electronystagmography are occasionally required for diagnosis. However, these can provide useful information for the diagnosis of acoustic neurilemmomas. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) has an important role in preserving important structures and functions during the surgical procedure.

Preoperative Audiometry: It can be useful in older children for assessing hearing preservation before acoustic schwannoma surgery.

30.5 Management of Posterior Fossa Lesions

30.5.1 Medical Management

Posterior fossa tumors mostly present with cerebral/cerebellar edema and hydrocephalus. There is no primary medical therapy for such lesions. However, to reduce the compression or mass effect of lesions on the surrounding structures, medications like diuretics, corticosteroids, antiemetics, and intravenous (IV) fluid hydration is generally administered. This helps mitigate the secondary effects of the tumor and intracranial hypertension, such as headaches, vomiting, and dehydration. Obstructive hydrocephalus is a common finding, occurring in 71-90% of children with posterior fossa tumors [8]. Managing symptomatic obstructive hydrocephalus (CSF diversion procedure) before surgical removal of the tumor may give relief of symptoms to such children. Moreover, it may allow some delay in resection surgery for pre-resection adjuvant therapy in certain circumstances and avoid resection under emergent conditions [9, 10]. Some children with acute symptoms of brainstem involvement or herniation should undergo an emergency operation [4].

30.5.2 Surgical Management

Symptomatic obstructive hydrocephalus management before tumor excision has two different schools of thought on this aspect as CSF shunting (internal or external) may expose the patient to the additional inherent shunt risks including infection/meningitis, shunt malfunctioning, over/ under drainage, or any other surgical complications. Nevertheless, young age ≤ 2 years, medulloblastoma, and brainstem compression are considered as independent predictors for hydrocephalus in the pediatric patient population. Therefore, preoperative intervention is generally advised before surgical excision of posterior fossa tumors at many centers [11].

Perioperative external ventricular drainage (EVD) of CSF, using an Ommaya reservoir, enables the safe removal of tumors. Restoration of CSF circulation provides an effective means to control and prevent hydrocephalus secondary to posterior fossa tumors in children [12].

Craniectomy is generally performed according to the site and size of the tumor. For posterior fossa tumors, the most common operative approaches are midline, paramedian, or retromastoid. The aim of surgery is to obtain gross total resection of the tumor; however, it may not always be possible depending on the type and



location of tumor and involvement of the surrounding structures. The use of advanced intraoperative techniques like neuro-navigation, ultrasonography, and MRI may aid in maximal safe resection of tumors. Radiation therapy may be useful in case of subtotal removal to eradicate the residual tumor on follow-up. In interstitial brachytherapy, radioactive material is implanted into the tumor bed intraoperatively to deliver a continuous, localized dose of irradiation to tumor cells. Chemotherapy with new therapeutic medications may have a role in the treatment of residual tumors after surgery.

Immunotherapy, though under the investigational phase, aims at the activation of cellmediated cytotoxic responses and humoral-mediated cytotoxic response against the tumor cells. In the near future, advancements in neurosurgical management perspectives include stereotactic radiosurgery that utilizes only the distinct physical properties of the irradiation to deliver radiation doses to the tumor cells only by virtue of the differences in radiobiological properties normal and pathological malignant tissues [13, 14].

30.5.3 Anesthetic Management

The posterior fossa is the home ground for the brainstem, which houses cardiovascular and respiratory centers, reticular activating system (RAS), major motor and sensory pathways, and lower cranial nerve nuclei. It thus poses a challenge for the anesthesiologists, as the intraoperative goals are to maintain cardiovascular and respiratory stability, facilitate surgical access, and minimize nervous tissue trauma.

30.5.3.1 Pre-Anesthesia Checkup

 Complete medical history, including perinatal history, should be sought with respect to intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) or disability associated with prematurity at birth, respiratory tract infections, vaccination status, and syndromic association since birth. Seizure disorder-related history needs to be assessed for type and adequacy of therapy. Any residual speech, sensory, or motor dysfunction/deficit should be recorded.

- The list of medications patients receive before surgery, such as mannitol, diuretics, benzodiazepines, and steroids, which may alter electrolyte balance or hemodynamics during surgery, needs to be reviewed.
- Physical status of the children, dehydration, body weight (at birth and current), and assessment of syndromic features, particularly about cardiac, respiratory, and airway, are important. These factors also determine the patient's position during posterior fossa surgery.
- The level of consciousness, i.e., Glasgow coma scale (GCS) score at the time of admission and before surgery, should be sought. Any focal motor or sensory deficit should be documented along with examination for signs and symptoms of increased ICP.
- Routine investigations should include complete blood count (CBC) to rule out anemia and sepsis, blood chemistry to rule out dehydration and dyselectrolytemia, baseline coagulation profile to rule out coagulopathy and hemostatic disorder, electrocardiogram (ECG) to rule out cardiac arrhythmia and ischemia, chest radiograph to rule out secondary chest infection, and echocardiography may be done to rule out patent foramen ovale and cardiac septal defects.

30.5.3.2 Preoperative Preparation of the Child

Administration of steroids (dexamethasone) is usually commenced on the child's presentation to mitigate the effect of edema and decrease ICP. This often leads to improvement in symptoms. Besides, diuretics can also be given to reduce the mass effect to some extent. In clinical practice, mannitol or 3% hypertonic saline is not substantially useful in posterior fossa lesions as anti-edema measures. Acute hydrocephalus may require urgent surgical intervention in the form of placement of EVD, ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt, or an endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV). This intervention significantly reduces the overall morbidity and mortality rates by normalizing raised ICP, improving the patient's general condition, and preventing postoperative ICP elevation. However, there is a possibility of upward herniation in posterior fossa tumors undergoing preliminary shunting and the risk of spreading medulloblastomas through VP shunts [15, 16].

Premedication should be individualized after assessing the patient in terms of physical status, evidence of increased ICP, level of anxiety, and corticosteroids intake. Oral benzodiazepines or anti-sialagogues may be given 60 min before surgery under supervision. They are effective in reducing anxiety and oral secretions without a significant effect on ICP. However, in children with evidence of increased ICP, sedatives and narcotic premedication should be avoided as these medications decrease respiratory drive. Thus, resultant hypoventilation and retention of CO_2 may further increase ICP.

30.5.3.3 Induction of Anesthesia

Induction of general anesthesia aims to maintain cerebral oxygenation and to avoid any increase in ICP. It can be performed by either IV or inhalational agent (sevoflurane). Propofol or barbiturates has the advantage of a profound reduction in cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂), cerebral blood flow (CBF), and ICP. Induction is achieved by administering a judicious dose of an induction agent, an opiate, and a muscle relaxant. Following anesthesia induction, endotracheal intubation is performed with an appropriately sized reinforced micro-cuffed endotracheal tube (ETT). The tube position should be checked with the head in a flexed position, as the ETT may migrate few millimeters inside due to head flexion during surgery. The ETT should be properly secured using water-resistant tape (e.g., Tegaderm) to avoid loosening due to blood and/or secretions. It is essential to re-confirm the position of ETT after final positioning the child for surgery. Hypertensive responses and coughing on ETT during laryngoscopy should be avoided by administering additional doses of a short-acting opiate such as remifentanil/fentanyl and/or hypnotic agent. Smooth and gentle induction of general anesthesia is the prime goal. An acceptable induction sequence combines four steps:

- 1. Pre-oxygenation with or without sevoflurane.
- Fentanyl 1–2 μg/kg or remifentanil 1 μg/kg IV over 30–60 s; thiopentone 3–4 mg/kg or propofol 1.5–2 mg/kg IV followed by mask ventilation to ensure airway patency and adequate ventilation.
- 3. Rocuronium 0.8–1.0 mg/kg IV and mask hyperventilation with oxygen until the neuro-muscular blockade is achieved.
- Lidocaine 1.5 mg/kg IV and/or additional propofol 0.5–1 mg/kg or thiopentone 1–2 mg/kg IV just before tracheal intubation may be given, if required.

In emergent situations (patients with a full stomach), modified rapid sequence induction (RSI) can be performed using the same combination of drugs as routine induction. Here, a higher dose of rocuronium 1.0-1.2 mg/kg is used for intubation, and cricoid pressure may be applied, but mask ventilation is avoided. Fentanyl, remifentanil, or sufentanil make induction and tracheal intubation smooth.

30.5.3.4 Intraoperative Monitoring

Monitoring aims to maintain cardiovascular stability, ensure adequate central nervous system (CNS) perfusion, and detect and treat venous air embolism (VAE). For pediatric posterior fossa procedures, the risk of VAE, as well as its monitoring and treatment, are similar to the adults. Precordial Doppler is essential, and central venous access (right heart catheters) is generally required when the procedure is planned in a sitting position. Apart from standard 5-lead ECG, pulse oximetry and non-invasive blood pressure (NIBP), invasive blood pressure (IBP), capnography (EtCO₂), end-tidal and minimal alveolar concentration (MAC) of inhalational agents, neuromuscular monitoring, core body temperature, central venous catheter, esophageal stethoscope, and precordial stethoscope along with transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) monitoring are also desirable in such cases if found feasible and available [17]. However, the use of TEE in children for intraoperative neurosurgery remains controversial, with the reported risk of glottic and esophageal trauma.

TEE Monitoring: The pediatric TEE probe, because of its small size and greater flexibility, makes them well suited for use in children and infants and provides high-quality imaging. TEE probe selection for infants and children primarily depends on the weight of the patient and the probe size [18]. Pediatric bi-plane, as well as mini-multiplane probes, is available for use in neonates, infants, and small children. More recently, a pediatric micro-multiplane probe has been introduced for use in the tiniest babies, representing the smallest multiplane device available today. Commercially available pediatric bi-plane and mini-multiplane TEE probe (7-10 mm in diameter) can be used in infants or children weighing more than 3.0 kg, while pediatric micro-multiplane TEE probe can be used for infants over 2.5 kg. Adult TEE probes can be used in children weighing more than 25–30 kg [18].

Neuromonitoring: The brainstem auditoryevoked potentials (BAEPs) is the best option available for direct monitoring of brainstem function. Median nerve SSEPs can also be used simultaneously. BAEPs are resistant to most anesthetic agents. Somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) are affected by the inhalation anesthetics, and the addition of nitrous oxide potentiates the depressant effects of inhalational agents on SSEPs [19] (Table 30.1). The desired safe level of MAC to obtain the recordings is considered to be less than 0.5. A 50% reduction in amplitude, greater than 10% increase in latency, loss of waveform, or any alterations in vital signs should be considered as warning signs to stop tumor manipulation and/or relax retractor pressure on the brain and to allow vital signs to normalize. Intraoperative electromyography (EMG) can be recorded from direct stimulation of cranial nerves fifth, sixth, seventh, ninth, tenth, eleventh, and twelfth.

30.5.3.5 Positioning the Child during Posterior Fossa Surgery

Posterior fossa surgeries may be performed in various positions depending on the location of the lesion, patient's condition, surgeon's experience, and preference. Different positions used are supine with head rotation to the opposite side,

Table 30.1 Effect of various anesthetic agents on evoked responses

| | SSEP | | |
|------------------------|-----------|---------|-----|
| Anesthetic agent | Amplitude | Latency | MEP |
| Halothane (0.5–1 | Ļ | 1 | ++ |
| MAC) | | | |
| Isoflurane (0.5-1 MAC) | Ļ | 1 | ++ |
| Sevoflurane (0.5-1 | Ļ | 1 | ++ |
| MAC) | | | |
| Desflurane (0.5-1 | Ļ | 1 | ++ |
| MAC) | | | |
| Nitrous oxide (0.5-1 | Ļ | - | ++ |
| MAC) | | | |
| Thiopentone | Ļ | 1 | ++ |
| Propofol | Ļ | - | ++ |
| Etomidate | 1 | | + |
| Ketamine | 1 | | + |
| Opioids | Ļ | 1 | - |
| Benzodiazepines | - | - | +++ |
| Dexmedetomidine | - | - | + |
| Muscle relaxants | _ | _ | +++ |

MAC minimum alveolar concentration, *SSEP* somatosensory-evoked potential, *MEP* motor-evoked potential, (–) negligible/no effect, (+) minimal effect, (++) significant effect, (+++) profound effect

prone, Concorde (modified prone position), lateral decubitus, park bench, and sitting position. Pediatric patients are commonly operated on in prone position for posterior fossa surgeries.

Though it remains controversial, the sitting position remains preferred by a small percentage of neurosurgeons for posterior fossa surgery. In this position, the head of the patient (older children) is secured in a three-pin head holder. Infiltration of the scalp and periosteum with local anesthetic at pin-site reduces hypertensive responses. Bony prominences such as ischial tuberosity, heal, knee, elbow, vertebral column are properly padded. Intermittent pneumatic compression devices or elastic compression stockings are applied on bilateral legs to limit blood pooling. Elbows and the legs are supported and kept padded to avoid stretching of brachial plexuses and common peroneal nerves. The distance of at least 2-2.5 cm is maintained between the chin and chest to avoid stretching of the cervical spinal cord and obstruction of venous drainage from the head, face, and tongue. Also, the placement of a large airway or bite block and



Fig. 30.4 Sitting position for posterior fossa surgery in a child. (a) The elbow is supported over the thigh (white arrow) to prevent drooping of shoulders and injury to brachial plexus. (b) All pressure points are adequately pad-

ded with cotton. The knees and legs are at the heart level (black arrow) to prevent pooling of blood in the lower limbs and improve venous return to the heart

Table 30.2 Advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications of surgery in the sitting position

| Advantages | Disadvantages | Contraindications |
|---------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Lower airway pressure | Increased risk of VAE | Intracardiac defects |
| Easy diaphragmatic excursion | Tension pneumocephalus | Severe hypovolemia |
| Better access to ETT and thorax for | - Cardiovascular instability/ | – Cachexia |
| monitoring | hypotension | Severe hydrocephalus |
| Improved erebral venous drainage and less | Airway/tongue edema | - Open ventriculoatrial shunt |
| blood loss | Peripheral nerve injuries | Extremes of age |
| - Visualization of the face for motor responses | Deep vein thrombosis | Impaired cardiac function |
| during neural stimulation | Subdural hematoma | - Degenerative cervical spine |
| - Better surgical exposure, less tissue retraction, | Rapid escape of CSF from | disease |
| less cranial nerve damage, and complete | ventricular system | Significant cerebrovascular |
| resection of tumor possible | | disease and signs of |
| | | cerebral ischemia when |
| | | upright and awake |

ETT endotracheal tube, VAE venous air embolism, CSF cerebrospinal fluid

excessive neck rotation is avoided. Excessive flexion at the hip joint is avoided to prevent sciatic nerve injury and abdominal compression. Knees and legs are usually kept at the heart level to prevent pooling of blood to the lower limbs and prevent hypotension (Fig. 30.4). Advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications of neuro-surgery in the sitting position are summarized in Table 30.2 [17, 20, 21].

The prone position is advantageous as it lowers the incidence of VAE as well as provides optimal surgical access to the posterior fossa, craniocervical junction, and upper spinal cord. The patient's head is elevated to decrease venous bleeding and is rested over the horseshoe headrest or fixed using a three-pin head holder or Mayfield clamps, particularly in older children. Compression over the face in a prone position may be prevented by using a horseshoe with gel padding or keeping cotton paddings over the face. Care should be taken to prevent compression of the eyeballs. Despite precautions, there may be pressure sores on malar prominences, transient or long-term blindness from retinal artery thrombosis due to compression on the eyeball, and edema of conjunctiva; the access to the surgical field may be adequate, unlike sitting position [21–23].

The lateral position is suitable for the unilateral procedures of the posterior fossa, such as excision of cerebellopontine angle lesions. It improves surgical access by draining CSF and blood from the operating field and helps autoretract the cerebellum by gravity. The VAE is reported in 10–15% of cases operated in lateral or prone (horizontal) position [24]. The major problems associated with the lateral position are ventilation-perfusion mismatch in the dependent lung and peripheral nerve injuries such as stretching of brachial plexus and pressure injuries to the nerves.

The supine position with the head rotated to the contralateral side is utilized to gain access to the lateral structures of the posterior fossa. Reverse Trendelenburg positioning to improve venous drainage from the brain is usually given. However, it should be kept in mind that each 2.5 cm increase in the vertical height of the head above the level of the heart leads to a 2-mmHg reduction in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP).

30.5.3.6 Maintenance of Anesthesia

The goal for maintenance of anesthesia is to decrease the ICP and to maintain hemodynamic stability. It can be achieved with either a balanced technique or TIVA. Each technique has some benefits, and there is no evidence that one technique is superior to the other. The choice for the anesthetic agent is based on the child's condition, the requirement for surgery and monitoring, and the anesthesiologist's preference. Propofol has the theoretical advantage that it reduces cerebral blood volume (CBV) and ICP and preserves autoregulation and vascular reactivity. During TIVA, propofol is generally used in doses of 100-300 µg/kg/min infusion along with opioid either fentanyl 1 µg/kg or remifentanil at 0.1-0.2 µg/kg/h combined with or without N₂O in O₂. Mannitol may be administered in doses of 0.25-1 gm/kg to attenuate an acute increase in ICP, but its role in posterior fossa surgery has not been well-defined. Moreover, it may potentiate hemodynamic instability in the sitting position. Development of pneumocephalus resulting from sudden decompression of the ventricles following the drainage of CSF has been reported, with the risk being higher in sitting position [25].

Tachycardia or hypertension at the time of skin closure should be treated with either β -blocker (esmolol) or both ($\alpha + \beta$) blocker (labetalol). Nitrous oxide is better avoided if the patient is anticipated to develop the intraoperative tight brain, VAE, or pneumocephalus (recent

intracranial surgery or trauma); it may aggravate both the air embolus and pneumocephalus.

30.5.3.7 Fluid Management

Isotonic 0.9% normal saline (NS) or balanced salt solution is considered as the fluid of choice for neurosurgical patients; it holds good for children, as well. Avoid dextrose-containing solution in children older than 1 month. Hypoglycemia during surgery is rare in most children except premature infants, neonates less than 48 h old, and children below the third centile in weight [26]. Children with a duration of surgery of more than 3 h may also be at risk of hypoglycemia, and thus, in them, the blood sugar should be monitored intraoperatively. Routine administration of dextrose-containing fluids should be reserved for those at risk of hypoglycemia [27]. The volume of fluid to be administered should be calculated according to weight, hours of fasting, and ongoing losses. An adequate amount of fluid should be given and kept in accordance with blood loss, hemodynamic stability, and urine output. Excessive fluid administration may cause brain edema at the sites where the blood-brain barrier is disrupted.

30.5.3.8 Blood Loss and Transfusion Trigger

Bleeding from scalp wounds and bone makes it difficult to quantify the blood loss accurately. Moreover, blood loss due to surgery or tumor bleed into the cavity constitutes a major fraction of total blood volume in the pediatric population. Blood products are invariably required, perioperatively, in vascular lesions, other large tumors, and head trauma patients. Blood loss of more than 10% of a child's body weight is considered significant. It should be timely replaced with blood and/or blood products to maintain hemo-dynamic stability and systemic organ perfusion. Target hematocrit is to be maintained in the range of 30–35%.

30.5.3.9 Temperature Regulation

The goal is to maintain normothermia throughout the perioperative period. Fluid warmers, forced-air warming devices, and blankets are generally needed to maintain the child's body temperature. However, mild permissive hypothermia (34–35 °C) decreases CMRO₂ and may act as a neuroprotectant in conditions with raised ICP. However, the complications due to hypothermia (e.g., coagulopathy, dyselectrolytemia, metabolic acidosis) should also be acknowledged and, hence, better avoided.

30.5.3.10 Emergence from Anesthesia

Early and smooth emergence from anesthesia is the primary goal. Coughing and straining over the ETT should be avoided. It is generally assumed safe to extubate the trachea if surgery is accomplished uneventfully without much traction on the brainstem or hemodynamic instability. However, the patient may be electively ventilated and be allowed to awaken slowly in the ICU after continued ventilation and a period of monitoring. Such cases include patients with large and deep-seated tumors with frequent traction on the brainstem and hemodynamic changes during the surgery, large intraoperative blood loss and fluid shifts requiring inotropes and vasopressors, etc. These patients may have apnea or decrease sensorium with diminished airway reflexes after tracheal extubation. Failure to recover from anesthesia should prompt further investigations such as a CT scan of the brain to exclude any complications.

30.5.3.11 Postoperative Care

Post-craniotomy/craniectomy children are generally managed in an intensive care unit or high dependency unit. Postoperative mechanical ventilation for 24 h is generally required among children after large-sized posterior fossa tumor surgery posing difficulty in tumor dissection with more incidence of brainstem handling intraoperatively. Extubation trial is only attempted after ascertaining the integrity of bulbar and lower cranial nerve function by the anesthesiologist, along with adequate recovery from the anesthesia.

Pain in postoperative patients should not be ignored. It is prudent to adopt a multimodal strategy to provide adequate analgesia. Acetaminophen in the form of suppository given per-rectally is usually commenced during the intraoperative period and continued after surgery. Debate still exists around non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs' potential contribution to postoperative bleeding, but recent evidence does not support this hypothesis [28].

30.5.4 Complications of Posterior Fossa Surgery

30.5.4.1 Brainstem and Cranial Nerve Stimulation (Trigemino-Cardiac Reflex, Glossopharyngeal-Vagal Reflex)

Direct stimulation of the trigeminal nerve or its nucleus may elicit trigemino-cardiac reflex (TCR), leading to bradycardia/asystole and hypotension. Vagus nerve stimulation can cause bradycardia and escape rhythms [29, 30]. Hypotension can result from pontine or medullary compression. Ventricular and supraventricular arrhythmias can also occur due to brainstem stimulation during the procedure. Brainstem encroachment and handling by the surgeon is considered a critical period of surgery and warrants close monitoring of hemodynamic parameters.

30.5.4.2 Endotracheal Tube Kinking and Accidental Extubation

Kinking or dislodgement of ETT may be encountered during the perioperative period. It causes a rise in airway pressure and the inability to ventilate the patient adequately. It may further lead to intraoperative brain swelling. Intraoperative manipulation of head positions such as extreme flexion or head rotation may cause the ETT to kink. The use of reinforced ETT may prevent this complication. During brain surgery, dislodgement of ETT is a dreaded complication requiring immediate intervention and placement of ETT back into the trachea. This is particularly important in infants and small children as the margin of safety is less (small length of tube). Accidental extubation is more frequent with uncuffed ETT in the prone position as the tapes loosened due to secretions or pull of gravity.

30.5.4.3 Venous Air Embolism (VAE)

VAE is considered to be the most feared complication associated with the sitting position. Etiopathological factors include negative intravascular pressure relative to the atmosphere, gravitational effects of low CVP, open veins and non-collapsible venous channels, and poor surgical dissection/technique. End-tidal nitrogen monitoring is most specific for the diagnosis of VAE and can detect its occurrence 30-90 sec earlier than end-tidal carbon dioxide ($EtCO_2$) [29]. The sensitive monitor for the detection of VAE includes precordial Doppler and TEE. The use of precordial Doppler is limited by electrocautery interference while TEE being most sensitive. TEE has reported a risk of glottic and esophageal trauma with restrictions imposed by patient size and position. The reported incidence of VAE in children is 9.3–33% [20, 31–33], while the incidence of VAE associated with hypotension among children ranges from 20.9% to 33% [20, 34]. This is significantly less than the adults where the reported incidence is 25–50% [35] and even up to 85–100% in some studies [36]. This discrepancy in the incidence of VAE could be because of many factors like different methods of monitoring [31, 32], the variation in age groups among studied cohort, the variation in cerebral sinus pressure according to the age group, the effect of fluid preloading of the patients before final sitting position, the use of compression stockings in lower limbs, hemodynamic fluctuations in the sitting (or lounging) positions, and also the study design [20, 31, 32, 34]. The lower incidence of VAE detected in children may be attributed to the presence of relatively higher (positive) dural sinus pressure or the confluence sinus pressure in children as compared to the adults [20, 37].

30.5.4.4 Hydrocephalus

Almost 80% of children with posterior fossa tumors present with hydrocephalus. It persists among 30% during the postoperative period, possibly due to scarring at the aqueduct or distortion of the fourth ventricle or fourth ventricular outlet foramina [30, 31]. They may require a postoperative VP shunt surgery if not inserted during the preoperative period.

30.5.4.5 Pneumocephalus

The incidence of pneumocephalus varies with position and is seen in 100% of cases operated in

a sitting position [32]. However, the progression of pneumocephalus into tension pneumocephalus requiring intervention is reported among 3-6% cases [34]. Etiopathogenesis for this is multifactorial, viz., diminution of brain volume secondary to administration of mannitol or hypertonic saline, hyperventilation, removal of spaceoccupying lesions, contraction of intravascular blood volume associated with acute hemorrhage, the gravitational effect of sitting position, and intraoperative drainage of CSF with the "Inverted Pop Bottle Analogy" (i.e., as CSF pours out, air bubbles migrate to the top of the cranium) [33]. This explains the accumulation of air in subdural space after slow continuous gravitational drainage of CSF in sitting position. Tension pneumocephalus may manifest during the intraoperative period with hemodynamic instability (Cushing's response) [38], convulsion, and inability to reverse after closure, while in the postoperative period as seizures, confusion, headache, and new-onset neurological deficits. If left untreated, it may cause brain herniation and even death. Management includes supine position, 100% oxygen ventilation, and immediate twist-drill aspiration of air through burr holes.

30.5.4.6 Quadriplegia (Mid-Cervical Flexion Myelopathy)

Besides a surgical complication, it can occur due to stretching of the spinal cord at C-5 level due to over flexion of the head on the neck, causing spinal cord infarction [39]. Also, persistent hypotension in the perioperative period can compromise regional cord perfusion leading to such a condition. Electrophysiologic monitoring might enable early identification of spinal cord dysfunction to minimize or avoid this complication.

30.5.4.7 Postoperative Cranial Nerve Dysfunction/Brainstem Swelling/Compression

These complications are often encountered following posterior fossa surgeries in pediatric patients.

30.5.4.8 Macroglossia

Tongue swelling may occur when a large oral airway is kept for a prolonged period of time, leading to obstruction of its venous and lymphatic drainage. Extreme flexion of the head with chin resting on the chest may further aggravate it. Extreme flexion of the neck may also lead to airway obstruction and hypoxemia or hypercapnia during the intraoperative period [40].

30.5.4.9 Airway and Swallowing Difficulties

Children with brainstem or cerebellopontine angle tumors may develop postoperative vocal cord paresis/plegia, making them susceptible to aspiration and respiratory complications leading to often emergent airway interventions. This may be prevented by assessing vocal cord movement before tracheal extubation, and in case of bilateral vocal cord paralysis, tracheostomy should be a reasonable option [41].

30.5.4.10 Posterior Fossa Syndrome (PFS)

PFS or cerebellar mutism is generally described in the pediatric age group. It can be defined as temporary loss of speech after posterior fossa surgery that is not related to cerebellar bleed, infection, degenerative, or neoplastic pathology [42, 43]. Ataxia, neurobehavioral, and emotional problems are also defined as primary symptoms apart from mutism. This usually manifests 1-2 days after surgery and may last for a day to several months. The incidence of PFS has been reported to be 8-25% in the retrospective series and even higher in prospective studies [42, 43]. Medulloblastoma, particularly located in the midline and involving vermis, has also been found to be a risk factor for the PFS as it is the most prevalent malignant post fossa tumor in the pediatric age group. However, the exact etiology of PFS is still not known, except for transient ischemia and edema, as a result of manipulation of the dentate nuclei and superior cerebellar peduncles.

30.5.4.11 Re-Exploration

Surgical re-exploration is sometimes required in cases that develop postoperative complications such as hydrocephalus, subdural hematoma formation, etc.

30.5.4.12 Reintubation

Reintubation during the postoperative period may be attributable to factors like altered sensorium, pulmonary edema, subdural hematoma (SDH) formation, and seizures due to tension pneumocephalus [44]. The incidence of reintubation in such neurosurgical patients can be as high as 16% and attributed to both anesthetic and surgical factors [45, 46].

30.5.4.13 Seizures

Postoperative seizures are rarely encountered in children after posterior fossa surgery. If presented postoperatively, seizures could be secondary to hematoma formation or tension pneumocephalus in most cases [47].

30.5.4.14 CSF Leakage/ Pseudo-Meningocele

Posterior fossa craniotomies may be complicated by CSF leak, pseudo-meningocele, and intracranial hypotension. Several factors that can predispose to CSF leak include tumor size, dural invasion of the tumor, hydrocephalus, blood in CSF, brain edema, and defective closure of the dura mater. Pseudo-meningoceles are defined as clinically symptomatic fluid collections under the skin surrounding the surgical site. MRI is useful in diagnosing this reversible complication [48]. Secondary dural closure may be performed using pericranium, muscle, glue, sealants, or fat graft to augment the dural closure. Additionally, fibrin glue or polyethylene glycol (PEG) sealants can be used to reduce the CSF leak rate [49].

30.5.4.15 Meningitis

After surgery, septic meningitis may occur due to poor postoperative care, unmanaged pre-existing ventriculitis, or infected shunt prior to surgery. This is considered a poor prognostic sign leading to higher morbidity and mortality. Aseptic meningitis is a recognized complication after posterior fossa surgery. It is often short and self-limiting [50].

30.5.4.16 Dyselectrolytemia

In general, hypokalemia and hyponatremia are the most common electrolyte disorders encountered

following intracranial surgery. Uncorrected hyponatremia is often a poor prognostic sign postoperatively. The most common postoperative factors associated with electrolyte imbalance are the use of diuretics and dehydration. Although rare, cerebral salt-wasting syndrome (CSWS) and the syndrome of inappropriate anti-diuretic hormone secretion (SIADH) may develop after posterior fossa surgery leading to hyponatremia [51–53]. These syndromes are directly related to altered mechanisms of osmolarity regulation between the brain and kidney.

30.5.4.17 Pulmonary Infection/Sepsis

The impaired gag reflex is a well-known factor to cause chest infection due to impaired swallowing, pooling of saliva in the oral cavity, and silent aspiration. Other possible factors attributable to postoperative chest infections could be a high incidence of postoperative elective ventilation, decreased sensorium, and reintubation [54]. The incidence of pulmonary infection/sepsis can be as high as 21% among these patients [45].

30.6 Conclusion

Posterior fossa space-occupying lesions are among the most critical brain lesions because of the limited space and proximity to the brain's vital structures. Almost two-thirds of all childhood brain tumors originate in the posterior fossa. Obstructive hydrocephalus is a common finding in these children that manifests as signs and symptoms of raised ICP and often requires a CSF diversion procedure before the definitive surgery. Posterior cranial fossa surgery in children poses a challenging task for both neuroanesthesiologists and neurosurgeons. It may be associated with various complications, some of which are exclusive to the surgical location. However, with a better understanding of tumor biology, progressive improvements in imaging modalities, advancement in microsurgical techniques, and anesthesia management, the survival and outcome for children with posterior fossa tumors have considerably improved.Conflict of InterestNone.

References

- Johnson KJ, Cullen J, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Ostrom QT, Langer CE, Turner MC, McKean-Cowdin R, Fisher JL, Lupo PJ, Partap S, Schwartzbaum JA, Scheurer ME. Childhood brain tumor epidemiology: a brain tumor epidemiology consortium review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2014;23: 2716–36.
- O'Brien DF, Caird J, Kennedy M, Roberts GA, Marks JC, Allcutt DA. Posterior fossa tumours in childhood: evaluation of presenting clinical features. Ir Med J. 2001;94:52–3.
- Wilson M, Davies NP, Brundler MA, McConville C, Grundy RG, Peet AC. High resolution magic angle spinning 1H NMR of childhood brain and nervous system tumours. Mol Cancer. 2009;8:6. https://doi. org/10.1186/1476-4598-8-6.
- Prasad KSV, Ravi D, Pallikonda V, Raman BVS. Clinicopathological study of pediatric posterior fossa tumors. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2017;12:245–50.
- Manqubat EZ, Chan M, Ruland S, Roitberg BZ. Hydrocephalus in posterior fossa lesions: ventriculostomy and permanent shunt rates by diagnosis. Neurol Res. 2009;31:668–73.
- McCrory PR, Bladin PF, Berkovic SF. The cerebellar seizures of Hughlings Jackson. Neurology. 1999;52:1888–90.
- MacRobert RG, Feinier L. Cerebellar fits. Arch Neurol Psychiatr. 1921;5:296–304.
- Sainte-Rose C, Cinalli G, Roux FE, Maixner R, Chumas PD, Mansour M, Carpentier A, Bourgeois M, Zerah M, Pierre-Kahn A, Renier D. Management of hydrocephalus in pediatric patients with posterior fossa tumors: the role of endoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Neurosurg. 2001;95:791–7.
- Di Rocco F, Jucá CE, Zerah M, Sainte-Rose C. Endoscopic third ventriculostomy and posterior fossa tumors. World Neurosurg. 2013;79:S18.e15–9
- Lam S, Reddy GD, Lin Y, Jea A. Management of hydrocephalus in children with posterior fossa tumors. Surg Neurol Int. 2015;6(Suppl 11):S346–8.
- Won SY, Dubinski D, Behmanesh B, Bernstock JD, Seifert V, Konczalla J, Tritt S, Senft C, Gessler F. Management of hydrocephalus after resection of posterior fossa lesions in pediatric and adult patientspredictors for development of hydrocephalus. Neurosurg Rev. 2020;43:1143–50.
- Jiang C, Wu X, Lin Z, Wang C, Kang D. External drainage with an Ommaya reservoir for perioperative hydrocephalus in children with posterior fossa tumors. Childs Nerv Syst. 2013;29:1293–7.
- Horisawa S, Nakano H, Kawamata T, Taira T. Novel use of the Leksell gamma frame for stereotactic biopsy of posterior fossa lesions: technical note. World Neurosurg. 2017;107:1–5.
- Hamisch C, Kickingereder P, Fischer M, Simon T, Ruge MI. Update on the diagnostic value and safety of stereotactic biopsy for pediatric brainstem tumors:
a systematic review and meta-analysis of 735 cases. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2017;20:261–8.

- Epstein F, Murali R. Paediatric posterior fossa tumours: hazards of the "preoperative" shunt. Neurosurgery. 1978;3:348–50.
- Fiorillo A, Maggi G, Martone A, Migliorati R, D'Amore R, Alfieri E, Greco N, Cirillo S, Marano I. Shunt-related abdominal metastases in an infant with medulloblastoma: long-term remission by systemic chemotherapy and surgery. J Neuro-Oncol. 2001;52:273–6.
- Ganslandt O, Merkel A, Schmitt H, Tzabazis A, Buchfelder M, Eyupoglu I, Muenster T. The sitting position in neurosurgery: indications, complications and results. A single institution experience of 600 cases. Acta Neurochir (Wien). 2013;155:1887–93.
- 18. Puchalski MD, Lui GK, Miller-Hance WC, Brook MM, Young LT, Bhat A, Roberson DA, Mercer-Rosa L, Miller OI, Parra DA, Burch T, Carron HD, Wong PC. Guidelines for performing a comprehensive transesophageal echocardiographic: examination in children and all patients with congenital heart disease: recommendations from the American Society of Echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2019;32:173–215.
- 19. Bithal PK. Anaesthetic considerations for evoked potentials monitoring. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2014;1:2–12.
- Harrison EA, Mackersie A, McEwan A, Facer E. The sitting position for neurosurgery in children: a review of 16 years' experience. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88:12–7.
- Rath GP, Bithal PK, Chaturvedi A, Dash HH. Complications related to positioning in posterior fossa craniectomy. J Clin Neurosci. 2007;14:520–5.
- Epstein NE. How to avoid perioperative visual loss following prone spinal surgery. Surg Neurol Int. 2016;7(Suppl 13):S328–30.
- Jain V, Bithal PK, Rath GP. Pressure sore on malar prominences by horseshoe headrest in prone position. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2007;35:304–5.
- Albin MS, Carroll RG, Maroon JC. Clinical considerations concerning detection of venous air embolism. Neurosurgery. 1978;3:380–4.
- Prabhakar H, Ali Z, Rath GP, Bithal PK. Tension pneumocephalus following external ventricular drain insertion. J Anesth. 2008;22:326–7.
- Leelanukorum R, Cunliffe M. Intraoperative fluid and glucose management in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2000;10:353–9.
- Wilson CM, Walker AI. Perioperative fluids in children. Update in Anaesthesia. 2005;19:36–8.
- Arron MNN, Lier EJ, de Wilt JHW, Stommel MWJ, van Goor H, Ten Broek RPG. Postoperative administration of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in colorectal cancer surgery does not increase anastomotic leak rate: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2020.; S0748–7983(20): 30644–2; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2020.07.017.
- Goyal K, Philip FA, Rath GP, Mahajan C, Sujatha M, Bharti SJ, Gupta N. Asystole during posterior fossa

surgery: report of two cases. Asian J Neurosurg. 2012;7:87-9.

- Tomar GS, Sharma RK, Chaturvedi A. Glossopharyngio-vagal reflex: a matter of concern during neurosurgery. Neurol India. 2018;66:1822–4.
- 31. Bithal PK, Pandia MP, Dash HH, Chouhan RS, Mohanty B, Padhy N. Comparative incidence of venous air embolism and associated hypotension in adults and children operated for neurosurgery in sitting position. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2004;21:517–22.
- 32. Meyer PG, Cuttarree H, Charron B, Jarreau MM, Perie AC, Sainte-Rose C. Prevention of venous air embolism in paediatric neurosurgical procedures performed in sitting position for combined use of MAST suit and PEEP. Br J Anaesth. 1994;73:795–800.
- Cucchiara RF, Bowers B. Air embolism in children undergoing suboccipital craniotomy. Anesthesiology. 1982;57:338–9.
- 34. Gupta P, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK. Complications related to sitting position during pediatric neurosurgery: an institutional experience and review of literature. Neurol India. 2018;66:217–22.
- Duke DA, Lynch JJ, Harner SG, Faust RJ, Ebersold MJ. Venous air embolism in sitting and supine patients undergoing vestibular schwannoma resection. Neurosurgery. 1998;42:1282–6.
- 36. Mammoto T, Hayashi Y, Ohnishi Y, Kuro M. Incidence of venous and paradoxical air embolism in neurosurgical patients in the sitting position: detection by transesophageal echocardiography. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1998;42:643–7.
- Iwabuchi MS, Sobata E, Ebina K, Tsubakisha H, Takiguchi M. Dural sinus pressure: various aspects in human brain surgery in children and adults. Am J Phys. 1986;250:389–96.
- 38. Singh M, Vasudeva VS, Rios Diaz AJ, Dunn IF, Caterson EJ. Intraoperative development of tension pneumocephalus in a patient undergoing repair of a cranial-dural defect under nitrous oxide anesthesia. J Surg Tech Case Rep. 2015;7:20–2.
- Yahanda AT, Chicoine MR. Paralysis caused by spinal cord injury after posterior fossa surgery: a systematic review. World Neurosurg. 2020;139:151–7.
- Chowdhury T, Gupta N, Rath GP. Macroglossia in a child undergoing posterior fossa surgery in sitting position. Saudi J Anaesth. 2012;6:85–6.
- Tomar GS, Kumar N, Saxena A, Goyal K. Head injury patient with bilateral vocal cord paralysis: a mistake and a lesson learnt. BMJ Case Rep. 2015;2015:bcr2015212292. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr-2015-212292.
- Aquilina K. The surgical management of posterior fossa tumours in children. Adv Clin Neurosci Rehabil. 2013;13:21–2.
- Kupeli S, Yalcın B, Bilginer B, AkalanN HP, Buyukpamukcu M. Posterior fossa syndrome after posterior fossa surgery in children with brain tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56:206–10.
- Albin MS, Babinski M, Maroon JC, Janetta PJ. Anaesthetic management of posterior fossa sur-

gery in the sitting position. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1976;20:117–28.

- 45. Bharati SJ, Pandia MP, Rath GP, Bithal PK, Dash HH, Dube SK. Perioperative problems in patients with brainstem tumors and their influence on patient outcome. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2016;32:172–6.
- 46. Vidotto MC, Sogame LC, Gazzotti MR, Prandini M, Jardim JR. Implications of extubation failure and prolonged mechanical ventilation in the postoperative period following elective intracranial surgery. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2011;44:1291–8.
- Suri A, Mahapatra AK, Bithal P. Seizures following posterior fossa surgery. Br J Neurosurg. 1998;12:41–4.
- Manley GT, Dillon W. Acute posterior fossa syndrome following lumbar drainage for treatment of suboccipital pseudomeningocele. J Neurosurg. 2000;92:469–74.
- 49. Lee YM, Ordaz A, Durcanova B, Viner JA, Theodosopoulos PV, Aghi MK, McDermott MW. Cerebrospinal fluid leaks and pseudomeningocele after posterior fossa surgery: effect of an autospray Dural sealant. Cureus. 2020;12:e8379.
- 50. Hillier CEM, Stevens AP, Thomas F, Vafidis J, Hatfield R. Aseptic meningitis after posterior fossa

surgery treated by pseudomeningocele closure. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2000;68:218–9.

- 51. Guerrero-Domínguez R, González-González G, Acosta-Martínez J, Rubio-Romero R, Jiménez I. Cerebral salt wasting syndrome in the posterior fossa surgery post-operative period: case report. Rev Colomb Anestesiol. 2015;43(S1):61–4.
- 52. Ruiz-Juretschke F, Arístegui M, García-Leal R, Fernández-Carballal C, Lowy A, Martin-Oviedo C, Panadero T. Cerebral salt wasting syndrome: postoperative complication in tumours of the cerebellopontine angle. Neurocirugia (Astur). 2012;23:40–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucir.2011.08.001.
- 53. Hiranrat P, Katavetin P, Supornsilchai V, Wacharasindhu S, Srivuthana S. Water and sodium disorders in children undergoing surgical treatment of brain tumors. J Med Assoc Thail. 2003;86(Suppl 2):S152–9.
- Sogame LC, Vidotto MC, Jardim JR, Faresin SM. Incidence and risk factors for postoperative pulmonary complications in elective intracranial surgery. J Neurosurg. 2008;109:222–7.



31

Perioperative Management of Children with Traumatic Brain Injury

Ankur Khandelwal 💿 and Deepak Sharma

Key Points

- Traumatic brain injury (TBI) in children occurs mostly secondary to motor vehicle accidents, falls, physical assaults, sports injuries, and abuse.
- Various factors that predispose children to TBI are large head-to-torso ratio, a disproportionally greater weight of the head, and thin calvarium. Pliability of the skull, less volume of cerebrospinal fluid, fewer myelinated neural tissue, higher cerebral metabolic rate, and narrow autoregulatory curve further increase the vulnerability to damage.
- Management strategies should focus on rapid diagnosis, aggressive initial resuscitation, and prevention of secondary insults such as hypotension, hypoxemia, dyscarbia, and dysglycemia.
- The primary goals of anesthetic management include providing adequate anesthesia and analgesia, optimizing surgical conditions, avoiding secondary insults, maintaining opti-

mal cerebral perfusion pressure, and avoiding an increase in intracranial pressure.

 Appropriate multimodal neuromonitoring and multidisciplinary rehabilitation approaches should be instituted to facilitate early recovery and improve long-term outcomes.

31.1 Introduction

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) represents a global health problem causing significant disability and mortality among all age groups, particularly young children and adolescents. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the young population most commonly affected by TBI has bimodal age distribution (0-4 and 15-19 years). Children up to 14 years of age in the United States of America (USA) constitute about half a million emergency department (ED) visits annually for TBI. TBI affects male children more commonly than females [1]. TBI in children occurs mostly due to motor vehicle accidents, falls, physical assaults, sports injuries, and abuse. Patients with Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score \geq 13 constitute more than 80% of TBI and are classified as mild TBI. Only a small fraction (less than 10%) of mild TBI patients require surgical intervention [2]. Due to differences in brain structure and physiology, the spectrum of clinical manifestations, and severity, the management

A. Khandelwal

Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care, School of Medical Sciences & Research, Sharda Hospital, Greater Noida, India

D. Sharma (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology & Pain Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: dsharma@uw.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_31

and outcome in children differ significantly from the adult population.

31.2 Prehospital Care

The goal of prehospital care is to rapidly stabilize the injured patient and prevent secondary injuries. Prehospital care of children with TBI requires a unique skill set and training. Data regarding pediatric prehospital care and outcomes is limited. Moderate-severe TBI should be considered lifethreatening and necessitates aggressive management of airway, breathing, and circulation followed by rapid transportation of the patient to a tertiary healthcare center. Stabilization of the cervical spine should be ensured. Multiple intubation attempts in children have been associated with the delay in transport and lower GCS scores at discharge [3]. Current recommendations do not favor tracheal intubation over bag-valve mask ventilation for prehospital care [3]. However, patients with GCS ≤ 8 , hypoxemia, hypercarbia, aspiration, or signs of elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) should be considered for tracheal intubation. Prophylactic hyperventilation should be avoided. Bleeding from the scalp wound can be significant and should be controlled by direct pressure on the wound. Fluid resuscitation is indicated in patients with hypovolemia, which usually manifests as hypotension with narrow pulse pressure, tachycardia, weak pulse, prolonged capillary refill time (>3 s), and other signs of volume depletion [4]. However, it should be remembered that hypotension is a late manifestation of shock in children. Appropriate and effective prehospital care in such critically injured children can maximize survival chances and improve neurological outcomes.

31.3 Pathophysiology

The primary brain injury (mechanical) occurs at the time of initial impact and results from displacement of the structures of cranial vault. The primary injury serves as the nidus, which evolves over minutes or hours or days and involves a cascade of cellular, vascular, and biochemical events [5, 6]. A mild injury elicits less inflammatory response than moderate or severe TBI [7, 8]. Subsequent secondary brain injury causes dysregulation of cellular functions through various mechanisms like depolarization, excitotoxicity, disruption of calcium homeostasis, free radical generation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and membrane damage, which in turn aggravates inflammation, edema, ischemia, and necrosis (Fig. 31.1) [9]. If timely and necessary interventions are delayed, intracranial hypertension can progress rapidly, leading to an accentuation of neurological deficit and herniation. Favorable prognosis following TBI can be expected if early and aggressive management is executed to limit secondary brain injury.

31.4 Neuroimaging

Computed tomography (CT) of the head is the initial and preferred imaging modality for rapid detection of intracranial injury, cerebral edema, mass effect, midline shift, and/ or herniation during the first 24 h after TBI (Fig. 31.2) [10]. CT is also particularly beneficial for evaluating bones and detecting acute parenchymal or subarachnoid hemorrhage [11]. However, obtaining CT of the head for diagnostic purposes in children with mild TBI is not routinely indicated because of the risks associated with radiation exposure. Pediatric Emergency Care Applied Research Network (PECARN, Fig. 31.3) [12] and Canadian Assessment of Tomography for Childhood Head injury (CATCH, Table 31.1) [13] criteria can be used to predict the need for head CT after mild TBI. Up to 7.5% of children seen in the ED with mild TBI suffer intracranial injury [14]. A CT scan is usually repeated in severe TBI in (1) absence of neurologic improvement; (2) persistent or increasing ICP; or (3) assessment of neurologic status is difficult (e.g., sedation, paralytic agents) [10]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is not indicated routinely in the acute evaluation of suspected or diagnosed mild TBI. Skull radiograph is not indicated for diagnosing pediatric mild TBI [14].



Fig. 31.1 Schematic showing pathophysiological changes during secondary injury in TBI. *NOS* nitric oxide synthase, *NMDA* N-methyl-D-aspartic acid, *AMPA* α -amino-

3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *TNF* tumor necrosis factor, *IL* interleukin, *BBB* blood brain barrier



Fig. 31.2 Non-contrast computed tomographic scans of head (axial section) showing various patterns of traumatic brain injury. Arrow points (**a**) Extradural hemorrhage (**b**)

Acute subdural hemorrhage (c) Punctate hemorrhage in diffuse axonal injury (d) Bifrontal contusions (e) Subarachnoid hemorrhage (f) Intraventricular hemorrhage

GCS=14 or other signs of altered а YES mental status, or palpable skull CT recommended fracture NO Occipital or parietal or temporal scalp Observation versus CT on the basis of other clinical hematoma, or history of LOC \geq 5 s, or YES factors including: • Physician experience • Multiple severe mechanism of injury, or not versus isolated findings • Worsening symptoms or acting normally per parent signs after emergency department observation • Age NO CT not recommended GCS=14 or other signs of altered b YES mental status, or signs of basilar skull CT recommended fracture NO Observation versus CT on the basis of other clinical History of LOC, or history of vomiting, YES factors including: • Physician experience • Multiple or severe mechanism of injury, or versus isolated findings • Worsening symptoms or severe headache signs after emergency department observation Parenatal preference NO CT not recommended

Fig. 31.3 Pediatric Emergency Care Applied Research Network: the PECARN rule. Suggested computed tomographic (CT) algorithm for pediatric TBI with GCS scores of 14–15. (a) Includes children less than 2 years of age, and (b) Includes children aged 2 years and older. Severe mechanism of injury includes motor vehicle collision with patient ejection, death of another passenger, or rollover; pedestrian or bicyclist without helmet struck by a motor-

ized vehicle; falls of more than 3 feet or more than 5 feet for panel **b**); or head struck by a high-impact object. Patients with isolated loss of consciousness, isolated headache, isolated vomiting, and certain types of isolated scalp hematomas in infants older than 3 months, have a risk of clinically-important TBI substantially lower than 1%

31.5 Surgical Indications and Interventions

Surgical intervention in pediatric patients with TBI requires optimal anesthetic management. Common indications for the operative management in TBI are listed in Table 31.2. The perioperative period is an extension of ongoing resuscitation to restrict further injury and prevent secondary insults. As the intracranial compensatory mechanisms in children are less developed than in adults, perioperative management should be tightly regulated. The primary goals of anesthetic management should focus on providing adequate anesthesia and analgesia; optimizing surgical conditions; avoiding secondary insults such as hypoxemia, hypotension, dyscarbia, and dysglycemia; maintaining optimal cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP); and avoiding increase in ICP. To achieve the desired goals (Table 31.3), perioperative management should be carefully planned. This chapter will focus on the perioperative management of TBI in pediatric patients with various broad domains (Table 31.4). **Table 31.1** Canadian assessment of tomography for childhood head injury: the CATCH rule

CT of the head is required only for children with minor TBI and any one of the following findings:

High risk (need for neurologic intervention)

- Glasgow coma scale score < 15 at 2 h after injury
- · Suspected open or depressed skull fracture
- · History of worsening headache
- · Irritability on examination

Medium risk (brain injury on CT scan)

- Any sign of basal skull fracture (e.g., hemotympanum, "raccoon" eyes, otorrhea or rhinorrhea of the cerebrospinal fluid, Battle's sign)
- · Large, boggy hematoma of the scalp
- Dangerous mechanism of injury (e.g., motor vehicle crash, fall from elevation ≥3 ft. [≥91 cm] or 5 stairs, fall from bicycle with no helmet)

The presence of any one of the four high-risk or three medium-risk factors in the rule would identify any CT-visible brain injury with a sensitivity of 98.1% (95% CI 94.6–99.4%) and a specificity of 50.1% (95% CI 48.5–51.7%) and would require that 51.9% of patients with minor TBI undergo CT

 Table 31.2
 Indications for operative management in TBI

- Open, compound, depressed fracture with mass effect
- Neurological deterioration in the presence of \geq 25 ml hematoma
- Hematoma measuring ≥40 ml regardless of neurological status
- Hematoma measuring 25 ml in a critical region such as the posterior fossa
- Increase in the volume of hematoma on repeat imaging
- Midline shift >5 mm
- · Contralateral ventricular enlargement
- Diffuse cerebral edema
- · Refractory intracranial hypertension

31.6 Preoperative Evaluation and Consent

A focused medical examination should be promptly conducted prior to anesthetic administration. In urgent/emergency procedures, only brief history outlined by the mnemonic SAMPLE (Signs and symptoms, Allergies, Medications, Past medical/surgical history, Last oral intake, Events related to injury) along with focused clinical examination (airway, breathing, circulation, neurological examination, extracranial injuries) may suffice [15]. Routine laboratory testing

Table 31.3 Desired intraoperative goals in TBI

- · Adequate depth of anesthesia
- Mild hyperoxygenation or at least PaO₂ > 60 mmHg
- Normocapnia (PaCO₂ 35–40 mm hg). Controlled hyperventilation only for short term control of brain bulge. PaCO₂ ≤ 30 mmHg should be absolutely avoided. Avoidance of high PEEP.
- Cerebral perfusion pressure > 40 mmHg
- Avoid hypotension. Use of vasopressors (noradrenaline/phenylephrine) to treat hypotension.
- Normal osmolality/mild hyperosmolality
- Normovolemia
- Maintain hemoglobin at 7–10 g/dl. Fresh frozen plasma should be used to correct coagulopathy and not as volume replacement
- Random blood sugar: 80–180 mg/dl
- Avoid hyperflexion, hyperextension, and extreme rotation of neck during positioning. Prevent ocular and peripheral nerve injuries by appropriate padding.
- · Avoid hyperthermia. No role of routine hypothermia
- · No role of perioperative steroids
- Anticonvulsant for prevention of early posttraumatic seizure
- · Prophylactic broad-spectrum antibiotic

Table 31.4 Different domains of perioperative management during TBI

· Preoperative evaluation

- Intravenous access
- Airway management
- Anesthetic medications
- Oxygenation and ventilation
- Cerebral perfusion pressure and hemodynamic targets
- · Fluid and blood component administration
- Glycemic control
- Positioning
- Temperature management
- Management of intracranial hypertension
- · Perioperative steroids
- · Seizure prophylaxis
- Antibiotic prophylaxis

should not delay emergent procedures. Blood products should be promptly available, and hence, a type and cross-match should be ordered. Since coagulopathy is associated with trauma in general and TBI, the coagulation profile is useful in critically injured patients. Serial arterial blood gas (ABG) testing is valuable in assessing dynamic changes in hematocrit, oxygenation, and acid-base status as well as glucose levels.

The family members or close relatives of the patient should be informed about the prognosis

and goals for postoperative care of the patient. Informed consent for surgery, anesthesia, and postoperative ventilation should be taken.

31.7 Intravenous Access

Securing intravenous access in pediatric trauma patients often becomes challenging, particularly when complicated with low blood pressure (BP). A restless and uncooperative child may be challenging to manage safely. The intraosseous route can be used for initial resuscitation if there is a failure to cannulate the peripheral veins [16]. However, it demands expertise; the failure rate is as high as 16% even with trained operators [17]. Moreover, it is difficult to secure and maintain in place, especially during surgery, and can potentially malfunction at a critical time [18]. Children that shifted to operation theater (OT) without peripheral cannulation can undergo inhalation induction followed by cannulation of peripheral veins or large central veins if the need arises.

31.8 Airway Management

Given the risk of worsening brain injury and progressive cerebral edema, patients with severe TBI $(GCS \le 8)$ will require urgent tracheal intubation [19]. Moreover, obtunded airway reflexes secondary to impaired neurological status necessitate securing the airway to prevent aspiration. Further, TBI patients should be presumed to have a full stomach and undergo rapid sequence induction (RSI) although recent studies have questioned the benefit of this technique [20, 21]. Additional challenges in airway management in pediatric TBI include the possibility of associated cervical spinal injury (CSI), blood and vomitus in the mouth, and laryngopharyngeal injury. All TBI patients should be presumed to have CSI unless excluded. Thus, extreme care should be taken to minimize the patient's neck movement during intubation. Video laryngoscopy with manual in-line stabilization (MILS) is very effective in minimizing neck movement. Flexible fiberoptic laryngoscopy is typically not suitable.

Tracheal intubation should be performed smoothly and gently to prevent hemodynamic responses and ICP accentuation. In patients with basilar skull fractures, nasotracheal intubation should be avoided [22].

31.9 Anesthetic Drugs

Preservation of cerebral autoregulation, vasoreactivity, the coupling between cerebral blood flow (CBF) and cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen consumption (CMRO₂), and stable hemodynamics are the most important criteria for selecting appropriate anesthetic agent during neurosurgery. Given that there is no single ideal anesthetic agent for neurosurgery, the current practice in neurosurgical anesthesia should ensure optimal cerebral dynamics while minimizing adverse effects.

31.9.1 Induction Agents

Intravenous and volatile agents exert diverse effects on CBF, cerebral blood volume (CBV), and CMRO₂. Intravenous agents including thiopental, propofol, and etomidate reduce CMRO₂, with an associated decrease in CBF, CBV, and ICP. However, thiopental and propofol may cause a reduction in CPP secondary to systemic hypotension. In addition, with intact autoregulation, systemic hypotension is compensated by cerebral vasodilatation to maintain CBF, which in susceptible individuals might cause an increase in CBV and ICP [23]. Despite the well-known adrenal suppressive effects of etomidate, data pertaining to its unfavorable effects on survival are lacking. It affects MAP minimally; however, it increases CPP secondary to a reduction in CMR and ICP [24]. Historically, because of concerns related to its ICP-increasing effects, ketamine was avoided in patients with TBI; however, it has been shown to decrease ICP during painful interventions [25]. A systematic review that evaluated the effect of ketamine on ICP in five studies involving 101 adults and two studies involving 55 children showed that ketamine administration did not

increase ICP. Overall, ketamine reduced ICP in three studies and increased CPP and MAP in two studies. None of the studies reported adverse events related to ketamine. Data on outcomes were poorly reported. Essentially, the ICP does not increase with ketamine in sedated and ventilated severe TBI patients; in fact, it may decrease in select cases (Oxford level 2b, Grade C) [26]. Furthermore, it has also been shown that ketamine at dosages of 4 mg/kg or less does not significantly increase intraocular pressure in pediatric patients without eye injuries [27, 28].

Volatile anesthetic agents (halothane, isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane) decrease CMRO₂; however, they increase CBF, CBV, and ICP in a dose-dependent manner by cerebral vasodilatation. In neurosurgical anesthesia, halothane is nearly obsolete. Other agents may be used in <1.0 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) [29]. The use of nitrous oxide (N₂O) in neurosurgical anesthesia continues to be debatable given its negative effects on intracranial dynamics, specifically, increase in CBF, CMRO₂, and ICP. Thus, it is prudent to avoid its use in severe TBI [30–33].

31.9.2 Neuromuscular Blocking Drugs

When rapid neuromuscular blockade is required, succinylcholine or rocuronium can be used to achieve optimal intubating conditions. Concerns regarding an increase in ICP with succinylcholine have not been substantiated in systematic studies. Another known adverse effect of succinylcholine includes bradycardia and, in extreme cases, asystole, especially with repeat doses in young children (<5 years) and infants. As such, atropine is recommended as a premedication in patients receiving a second dose of succinylcholine [34]. Succinylcholine causes post-junctional membrane depolarization resulting in potassium ion efflux that produces an increase of 0.5-1.0 mEq/l in serum potassium concentration. Therefore, its use is contraindicated in patients with hyperkalemia, history of muscular dystrophy, extensive crush injuries with rhabdomyolysis, and within 48–72 h after burns or acute spinal cord injury [35]. Rocuronium, a nondepolarizing muscle relaxant, can be used as an alternative drug to achieve rapid intubating conditions. However, it has a longer duration of action. The non-depolarizing agents can be used effectively to provide surgical relaxation and ensure immobility as they lack a direct effect on ICP. It is postulated that they increase cerebral venous drainage by eliminating thoracic skeletal tone and consequently decrease ICP. However, they are not recommended routinely in the postoperative period as they are associated with increased adverse effects and unfavorable outcomes [36, 37].

31.10 Oxygenation and Ventilation

Hypoxemia ($PaO_2 < 60 \text{ mm Hg}$) increases CBF, CBV, and ICP in a linear fashion and, thus, demands aggressive management. Application of positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) recruits collapsed alveoli and improves oxygenation [38]. However, few studies have demonstrated ICP accentuation with high PEEP in adult TBI patients [39, 40]. In a study of 21 pediatric patients undergoing surgery for intracranial neoplasm, Pulitano et al. did not find any significant difference in ICP after increasing PEEP from 0 to 8 cm H_2O [41]. Moreover, a large change in the intrathoracic pressure in children results in only minor change in chest wall pressure due to steep volume-pressure relationship. As such, pleural pressure is minimally affected even with a large change in ventilator pressure. This explains the higher cardiovascular tolerance of children to the application of PEEP [42]. However, current literature recommends augmenting oxygenation by first increasing the FiO₂ and inspiratory time rather than PEEP [43].

The principle of ventilatory strategy in neurosurgery is to maintain normocapnia. Worse perioperative outcomes have been observed with both hypercapnia and hypocapnia. Although hypocapnia decreases CBF by causing vasoconstriction, it also predisposes to the risk of cerebral ischemia. It is suggested that hyperventilation be used only for short-term control of ICP and facilitation of surgical exposure during craniotomy. Prophylactic hyperventilation to a $PaCO_2$ level below 30 mmHg is not recommended within the first 48 h of TBI. Advanced neuromonitoring for assessing cerebral ischemia may be considered if hyperventilation is done (level III recommendation) [10].

31.11 Cerebral Perfusion Pressure and Hemodynamic Targets

The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines recommend immediate intervention at an ICP \geq 20 mmHg (level III recommendation) [10]. Although the target CPP in neonates and infants is not well defined, unlike adult TBI [44], the guidelines recommend maintaining CPP above 40 mmHg (level III recommendation) [10]. Chambers et al. proposed age-stratified critical levels of CPP. CPP values of 43, 54, and 58 mmHg in the age groups of 2–6, 7–10, and 11–16 years, respectively, were shown to be associated with favorable outcomes [45].

Various studies have clearly shown that even a single perioperative hypotension episode after TBI can adversely affect the outcome [46, 47]. Data from the Traumatic Coma Data Bank clearly showed an association between hypotension and increased mortality rate in children with TBI [48]. Moreover, the limits of cerebral autoregulation are not well defined in infants and children. William et al. suggested that intraoperative BP should be targeted to maintain a child's preoperative baseline BP if it was obtained without distress and with an appropriately sized cuff. However, during the unreliable recording of baseline BP, they suggested that the 50th percentile for MAP in children at the 50th percentile for height is approximately 55 mmHg and 67 mmHg at 1 and 5 years, respectively. The degree and duration of relative hypotension that can safely be tolerated remain unclear [49].

In both animal and human studies, norepinephrine has been shown to have a more consistent and predictable effect in CPP augmentation as compared to dopamine [50, 51]. Additionally, norepinephrine reduces the regional oxygen extraction fraction and consequently increases brain tissue oxygen levels [52, 53]. In a retrospective study, in severe TBI patients who received dopamine, norepinephrine, or phenylephrine, the maximal increase in MAP and CPP from baseline was noticed with phenylephrine [54]. Either phenylephrine or norepinephrine can be effectively used for optimizing blood pressure intraoperatively.

31.12 Fluid and Blood Component Administration

Perioperative fluid management in pediatric patients after TBI can impact the postoperative outcome. Concerns regarding fluid management include the type of fluid (crystalloids versus colloids), osmolarity of fluid, and liberal versus restrictive approach. Maintaining a euvolemic and isotonic or mild hypertonic state is the cornerstone of fluid management.

Typically, iso-osmolar crystalloids are recommended as the fluid of choice. Isotonic normal saline (0.9% NS) with an osmolarity of 308 mOsm/l is the most commonly used fluid for neurosurgical cases. However, large volume isotonic saline causes normal anion gap hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis (HCMA), and thus, serum chloride and acid-base status should be monitored during large-volume saline resuscitation [55, 56]. Balanced salt solutions such as plasmalyte A (osmolarity of about 295 mOsm/L) may be preferred as alternatives to isotonic saline during imminent hyperchloremia. Changes in plasma osmolality (<5%) have been shown to increase brain water content and ICP [57]. Lactated Ringer's solution is a hypoosmolar fluid (osmolarity 275 mOsm/l) that can increase cerebral edema in large volumes, although small volumes are considered safe.

During large-volume resuscitation, it is advisable to infuse colloids and/or blood transfusion to restrict the volume of crystalloids being administered. Colloids contain large molecules that remain within the intravascular compartment. They expand the intravascular volume and stabilize the systemic BP without aggravating cerebral edema. However, there is a lack of robust data to support their use in TBI. A metaanalysis showed lower mortality with crystalloids [58]. A subgroup analysis followed by a post hoc analysis of SAFE study in adult TBI patients found increased mortality with 4% albumin compared to 0.9% saline in TBI. This was attributed to increased extravasation of albumin in areas of disrupted blood-brain barrier leading to increased vasogenic edema and also to hypotonic stress of 4% albumin (260 mOsm/kg) [59, 60]. Safe volume of hydroxyethyl starch (HES) is undetermined, although deleterious effects on kidney and coagulation have been reported [61–64].

In severe TBI, anemia can aggravate brain injury secondary to decreased cerebral oxygen delivery [65]. Acute traumatic coagulopathy is common in isolated TBI and increases the likelihood of red blood cell (RBC) transfusion. Following acute brain injury, there is release of tissue factor which activates the coagulation cascade resulting in formation of thrombin and consumption of clotting factors. Coagulopathy may be further compounded in the presence of hypothermia, acidosis, and hypocalcemia. Risk factors for acute traumatic coagulopathy in children include GCS ≤ 8 , increasing age, higher severity of illness score, and brain contusions/ lacerations [66]. Epstein et al. reported that acute traumatic coagulopathy was associated with high transfusion rates of 41% and high mortality (17 to 86%) [67]. Little is known regarding optimal transfusion practices in pediatric patients with TBI. A recent retrospective study that reviewed pediatric TBI outcomes found that 178 out of 1607 pediatric patients received RBC transfusion [68]. The authors demonstrated that RBC transfusion was associated with unfavorable outcomes and increased mortality. Therefore, they suggested that a transfusion trigger of 8.0 g/dl be considered in children with TBI. Early administration of tranexamic acid in adults within 3 h of TBI has been shown to significantly decrease head injury-related deaths in mild and moderate TBI with no evidence of adverse effects or complications (CRASH-3 trial) [69].

31.13 Glycemic Control

Hyperglycemia has been shown to worsen neurological outcome in both adult [70-72] and pediatric TBI [73-75]. Various mechanisms of hyperglycemia after TBI include catecholamine surge and cortisol release secondary to stress response, insulin resistance, and pituitary and/or hypothalamic dysfunction [76–78]. As such, it is suggested to avoid dextrose containing fluids except in cases of established hypoglycemia. On the contrary, treatment of hyperglycemia should be intensively monitored in order to prevent iatrogenic hypoglycemia [79]. Since both hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia are associated with adverse sequelae, blood glucose concentrations should be monitored intermittently during the perioperative period. A commonly acceptable range of perioperative blood glucose is between 80 and 180 mg/dl.

31.14 Positioning

Careful positioning of the neurosurgical patients requires appropriate anesthetic depth, maintenance of oxygenation and hemodynamic stability, and safeguarding of invasive monitors. Transient disconnection of invasive vascular catheters and tracheal tube is often required during the process of positioning. It is optimal to monitor at least pulse oximetry and blood pressure to avoid a complete "blackout" state [80].

During positioning, special care should be taken to avoid extreme flexion, extension, and rotation of the head to ensure optimal cerebral venous drainage [81]. The free movement of the abdominal wall should be ensured. Other less common complications include swelling of face, neck, and airway, increased airway pressures, and macroglossia leading to airway obstruction, pressure sores, and peripheral nerve damage and should be prevented by ensuring appropriate padding and avoiding direct compression.

31.15 Temperature Management

Initial studies showed an improvement in neurological outcome following initiation of mild hypothermia in children with severe TBI [82–84]. The proposed mechanism involves hypothermiainduced reduction in CMRO₂, CBF, and ICP. However, recent randomized controlled trials such as Hypothermia Pediatric Head Injury Trial [85] and Cool Kids Trial [86] failed to show any improvement in neurological outcome following prophylactic initiation hypothermia in children with severe TBI. Similar results have been observed in a few other recently conducted studies [87, 88]. The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines recommend an institution of moderate hypothermia (32–33 °C) only as rescue therapy for ICP control (level III recommendation) and avoiding it prophylactically in severe TBI (level II recommendation). Rewarming should be done gradually at a rate of 0.5 °C per hour or slower to avoid complications [10]. Various complications of induced hypothermia include hemodynamic instability, arrhythmias, hyperglycemia, coagulopathy, sepsis, and rebound intracranial hypertension during and after rewarming [89, 90].

On the other hand, hyperthermia increases metabolic demands, lipid peroxidation, inflammation, and excitotoxicity and lowers the seizure threshold and should be strictly prevented and treated aggressively [91]. Several studies have shown that hyperthermia significantly increases ICU and hospital stay duration and worsens neurological functions at 6 months after the initial injury [92, 93].

31.16 Management of Intracranial Hypertension

31.16.1 Hyperosmolar Solutions

Hyperosmolar solutions (mannitol, hypertonic saline) are effective in decreasing intracranial hypertension through two discrete mechanisms: (1) plasma expansion and resultant decrease in blood viscosity and decreased CBV due to cerebral autoregulation-driven cerebral vasoconstriction and (2) osmotic effect that draws cerebral edema fluid from brain tissue into the circulation. Either agent can be considered for intraoperative brain relaxation. However, there is a lack of robust evidence to recommend any specific hyperosmolar therapy to improve overall outcomes. In a recent prospective observational study, Shein et al. noticed that children with severe TBI, when treated with multiple drug regimens (fentanyl, mannitol, 3% HTS, pentobarbital), are known to reduce ICP; HTS was associated with the most favorable cerebral hemodynamics and fastest resolution of intracranial hypertension [94]. Effectiveness of 7.5% and 23.4% HTS in reducing ICP, augmenting CPP, and minimizing total fluid volume in children has also been shown [95, 96]. The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines recommend the use of 3% HTS for intracranial hypertension in the bolus dose ranging from 2 to 5 ml/kg over 10-20 min (level II recommendation) and continuous infusion at a rate of 0.1-1 ml/kg/h, administered on a sliding scale (level III recommendation). A bolus of 0.5 ml/kg of 23.4% HTS (maximum 30 ml) is also suggested for refractory ICP (level III recommendation) [10]. Although recent evidence favors the use of HTS, mannitol is still commonly used in the management of intracranial hypertension in pediatric TBI (20% mannitol; 0.25-1 gm/kg). The commonly recommended upper limit of osmolality for mannitol and HTS is 320 and 360 mOsm/l, respectively [97].

Half molar sodium lactate (SL), another hypertonic agent (1020 mOsm/l), has been shown to effectively reduce intracranial hypertension in adult TBI [98, 99]. The probable mechanism of ICP reduction due to SL involves limiting cellular edema through the extrusion of chloride and water [99]. Other beneficial effects of SL infusion involve maintenance of serum chloride levels (unlike 3% HTS) [99], preservation of extracellular brain glucose levels [100], improved mitochondrial oxidative respiration [101], and attenuation of cognitive deficits following TBI [102]. However, its utility during the intraoperative period in pediatric neurosurgical patients is yet to be ascertained.

31.16.2 Barbiturate Coma

The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines recommend high-dose barbiturate therapy in cases of intracranial hypertension refractory to medical and surgical interventions. If barbiturates are used, baseline hemodynamics should be stable. Continuous monitoring of arterial blood pressure is recommended. Cardiovascular support should be provided to maintain adequate CPP (level III recommendation) [10].

31.16.3 Decompressive Craniectomy

The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines recommend decompressive craniectomy to treat neurologic deterioration, herniation, or intracranial hypertension refractory to medical management (level III recommendation) [10]. In adults with severe diffuse TBI and refractory intracranial hypertension, early bifrontotemporoparietal decompressive craniectomy decreased ICP and the duration of ICU stay but was associated with more unfavorable outcomes on Glasgow Coma Scale-Extended (GOS-E) at 6 months [103, 104].

31.17 Perioperative Steroids

Many studies in adults, including the multi-center CRASH study, did not show any benefit with the use of steroids in TBI [105–107]. Complications of steroids like hyperglycemia, gastrointestinal bleeding, adrenal suppression, and increased risk of infection have been shown to worsen outcome. The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines also stated that there is no role of steroids to improve neurological outcome or lower ICP in TBI patients (level III recommendation) [10].

31.18 Seizure Prophylaxis

The incidence of post-traumatic seizures (PTS) in children after severe TBI has been reported to be as high as 19% [108]. PTS affect TBI patients through various mechanisms: increasing excito-

toxicity, increasing ICP and CMRO₂, aggravating cerebral hypoxia, and causing fluctuations in systemic blood pressure [109, 110]. The risk factors for early PTS (\leq 7 days of injury) after severe TBI are younger age (<2 years), mechanism of injury (non-accidental trauma), skull fracture, GCS \leq 8, and presence of a subdural hematoma [108, 111–113].

Phenytoin, if administered prophylactically, has been shown to decrease the incidence of early PTS but not late PTS (>7 days of injury) [114, 115]. The 2019 pediatric TBI guidelines also recommend the prophylactic use of anticonvulsant to reduce the incidence of early PTS (level III recommendation) but, however, could not generate sufficient evidence to recommend levetiracetam over phenytoin [10].

31.19 Antibiotic Prophylaxis

Infections are common after pediatric TBI (particularly penetrating brain injury) and increase the incidence of morbidity and mortality [116]. These include local wound infection, meningitis, ventriculitis, or brain abscess caused by the presence of contaminated foreign object including skin, hair, or bone fragments inside the brain. The severity of infection is compounded in the presence of cerebrospinal fluid leak, air sinus injury, trans-ventricular injury, or injuries crossing the midline. All TBI cases should receive broadspectrum antibiotic prophylaxis and continued for at least 6 weeks [117].

31.20 Postoperative Intensive Care

Care in an intensive care unit (ICU) is directed toward maintaining systemic homeostasis and preventing/treating any complications. Multimodal neuromonitoring by simultaneous assessment of cerebral and systemic hemodynamics, cerebral oxygenation, and metabolism allows individualized patient care. Appropriate analgesia (multimodal approach) should be ensured to prevent harmful complications of pain. Optimizing glucose levels, temperature, electrolytes, and acid-base status, correcting coagulation abnormalities, and ensuring optimal nutritional support should be the utmost concerns. Enteral nutritional support should be initiated early (within 72 h of injury) to improve outcome and reduce mortality [10]. Early tracheostomy is recommended to reduce the duration of mechanical ventilation, although there is no concrete evidence that it reduces the incidence of nosocomial pneumonia or overall mortality in children. Recently, the CENTER-TBI study showed that early tracheostomy (≤ 7 days from admission) in adult TBI was associated with a reduced length of ICU stay and better neurological outcome at 6 months [118]. Appropriate rehabilitation (multidisciplinary) should be implemented to facilitate early recovery and improve long-term outcome [119, 120].

31.21 Miscellaneous Conditions

 Abusive head trauma (AHT): AHT is the most common cause of non-accidental TBIrelated mortality. The American Academy of Pediatrics has defined AHT as "the constellation of cerebral, spinal, and cranial injuries that result from inflicted TBI to infants and young children." [121] With an overall incidence of around 12%, AHT is the leading cause of death under 2 years of age [122]. The risk factors include young parents, poor socioeconomic status, disturbed family environment, and prematurity or disability of the child. Children with developmental disorders are at higher risk of abuse [123].

The presentation may vary from cerebral concussion to irreversible brain damage and/ or death. Sentinel signs have been observed in 30% of infants with AHT. These include bruising (face, forehead, ear, extremity, trunk) in 80% of cases, intraoral injury (frenulum injury, tongue contusion) in 11% of cases, and fracture (including both acute and healing) in 7% of cases [124].

 Paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity (PSH): PSH is characterized by sympathetic hyperactivity, which manifests as simultaneous paroxysmal transient increases in heart rate, blood pressure, respiratory rate, temperature, sweating, and motor (posturing) activity [125]. PSH has been described in 13–14% of children following acquired brain injury [126, 127]. Constipation, distended abdomen or bladder, increased respiratory secretions, infections, pressure sore, and just an intravenous cannulation are known triggers [128]. Since PSH is a diagnosis of exclusion, there may be a delay in diagnosis, even if the index of suspicion is high. Severe brain injury and consequent PSH in children have been associated with worse clinical outcomes, prolonged periods of hospital stay, and intensive care support [125, 129]. Commonly advocated medications are beta-blockers (propranolol), central alpha-blockers (clonidine), bromocriptine, gabapentin, benzodiazepine, medications for hyperthermia (baclofen, dantrolene), and opioids [129, 130].

- 3. Growing skull fractures (GSF): GSF is a rare complication of pediatric head trauma that is associated with cranial defect and delayed onset neurological deficits [131]. The etiopathogenesis of GSF is not fully understood, but the presence of diastatic linear skull fracture, dural and arachnoid disruption with cerebrospinal fluid leak, and underlying contusion of the brain is an invariable accompaniment. The reported incidence of GSF ranges from 0.05% to 0.6% of skull fractures in children [132]. Fall from height has been found to be the most common mode of injury in these children [133]. Their usual site is the parietal region, which presents as a cystic, non-tender swelling with an underlying palpable bony defect. Less common sites for GSF are the posterior fossa, skull base, and orbital region [134]. Early diagnosis and treatment are essential to avoid complications.
- 4. Cranioplasty: Cranioplasty is a reconstructive procedure that is mostly done after decompressive craniectomy. It provides structural, cosmetic, and physiological rehabilitation. The technique is challenging in children as compared to adults because of the growing calvarium and thin bones [135]. Autologous bone grafts are preferred in children as their

osseointegration with the growing skull has been well established [136]. However, in resource-poor healthcare settings, the storage of autologous bone at controlled temperatures is technically difficult. Again, subcutaneous pockets may not be suitable for very young children because of their limited abdominal fat thickness [137]. The current trend in practice appears to be the use of particulate bone grafts or exchange cranioplasty in infants. In older children, custom-made implants using titanium or hydroxyapatite have been used successfully [138]. Regarding the timing, it was previously suggested that cranioplasty, if done after at least 6 months, and preferably after 12 months of the craniectomy, resulted in a lower infection rate [139]. However, recent studies have favored early (<6 weeks) cranioplasty in view of reduced occurrence of bone resorption and a better outcome [140, 141].

31.22 Conclusion

TBI in children continues to increase as a cause of fatality worldwide. Apart from falls and sportsrelated injuries, as access to motorized transportation expands, more children are susceptible to road traffic accidents either as passengers or pedestrians. Children have unique injury patterns and responses to injury. Future developments in the management of pediatric TBI should focus on the appropriate training of prehospital healthcare providers and the development of protocols and guidelines to improve prehospital care. The development of effective neuroprotective strategies is the need of the hour. Controversies in pediatric TBI regarding surgical versus medical management, the timing of surgery, use of ketamine, blood transfusion threshold, effective anticonvulsant, invasive versus noninvasive neuromonitoring, early versus late tracheostomy, etc. should be resolved by conducting large randomized controlled trials. Attention should be paid to employ effective rehabilitation to ultimately restore quality of life and dignity after trauma.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Faul M, Xu L, Wald MM, Coronado VG. Traumatic brain injury in the United States: emergency department visits, hospitalizations and deaths 2002–2006. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control; 2010.
- Dewan MC, Mummareddy N, Wellons JC 3rd, Bonfield CM. Epidemiology of global pediatric traumatic brain injury: qualitative review. World Neurosurg. 2016;91:497–509.
- Ehrlich PF, Seidman PS, Atallah O, Haque A, Helmkamp J. Endotracheal intubations in rural pediatric trauma patients. J Pediatr Surg. 2004;39:1376–80.
- Seid T, Ramaiah R, Grabinsky A. Pre-hospital care of pediatric patients with trauma. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci. 2012;2:114–20.
- Prins M, Greco T, Alexander D, Giza CC. The pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury at a glance. Dis Model Mech. 2013;6:1307–15.
- Greve MW, Zink BJ. Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Mt Sinai J Med. 2009;76:97–104.
- Schimmel SJ, Acosta S, Lozano D. Neuroinflammation in traumatic brain injury: a chronic response to an acute injury. Brain Circ. 2017;3:135–42.
- Fraunberger E, Esser MJ. Neuro-inflammation in pediatric traumatic brain injury-from mechanisms to inflammatory networks. Brain Sci. 2019;9:319.
- Hall ED. Stroke/traumatic brain and spinal cord injuries. In: Taylor JB, Triggle DJ, editors. Comprehensive Medicinal Chemistry II. 2nd ed. New York: Elsevier; 2007. p. 253–77.
- Kochanek PM, Tasker RC, Carney N, Totten AM, Adelson PD, Selden NR, et al. Guidelines for the Management of Pediatric Severe Traumatic Brain Injury, Third Edition: Update of the Brain Trauma Foundation Guidelines. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2019;20(3S Suppl 1):S1–S82.
- Lee B, Newberg A. Neuroimaging in traumatic brain imaging. NeuroRx. 2005;2:372–83.
- Kuppermann N, Holmes JF, Dayan PS, Hoyle JD Jr, Atabaki SM, Holubkov R, et al. Identification of children at very low risk of clinically-important brain injuries after head trauma: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2009;374:1160–70.
- Osmond MH, Klassen TP, Wells GA, Correll R, Jarvis A, Joubert G, et al. CATCH: a clinical decision rule for the use of computed tomography in children with minor head injury. CMAJ. 2010;182:341–8.
- Lumba-Brown A, Yeates KO, Sarmiento K, Breiding MJ, Haegerich TM, Gioia GA, et al. Centers for disease control and prevention guideline on the diagnosis and management of mild traumatic brain injury among children. JAMA Pediatr. 2018;172:e182853.
- Khandelwal A, Bithal PK, Rath GP. Anesthetic considerations for extracranial injuries in patients

with associated brain trauma. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2019;35:302–11.

- Soriano SG, Eldredge EA, Rockoff MA. Pediatric neuroanesthesia. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2002;20:389–404.
- 17. Tobias J. Author's reply. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18:895–6.
- Joshi G, Tobias JD. Intentional use of intra-arterial medications when venous access is not available. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17:1198–202.
- 19. Davis DP, Koprowicz KM, Newgard CD, Daya M, Bulger EM, Stiell I, et al. The relationship between out-of-hospital airway management and outcome among trauma patients with Glasgow Coma Scale Scores of 8 or less. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2011;15:184–92.
- El-Orbany M, Connolly LA. Rapid sequence induction and intubation: current controversy. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:1318–25.
- 21. Birenbaum A, Hajage D, Roche S, Ntouba A, Eurin M, Cuvillon P, et al. Effect of cricoid pressure compared with a sham procedure in the rapid sequence induction of anesthesia: the IRIS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg. 2019;154:9–17.
- Tobias JD. Airway management for pediatric emergencies. Pediatr Ann. 1996;25:317–20. 323-8
- Brüssel T, Theissen JL, Vigfusson G, Lunkenheimer PP, Van Aken H, Lawin P. Hemodynamic and cardiodynamic effects of propofol and etomidate: negative inotropic properties of propofol. Anesth Analg. 1989;69:35–40.
- Tobias JD. Etomidate: applications in pediatric critical care and pediatric anesthesiology. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2000;1:100–6.
- Bar-Joseph G, Guilburd Y, Tamir A, Guilburd JN. Effectiveness of ketamine in decreasing intracranial pressure in children with intracranial hypertension. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2009;4:40–6.
- Zeiler FA, Teitelbaum J, West M, Gillman LM. The ketamine effect on ICP in traumatic brain injury. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21:163–73.
- Drayna PC, Estrada C, Wang W, Saville BR, Arnold DH. Ketamine sedation is not associated with clinically meaningful elevation of intraocular pressure. Am J Emerg Med. 2012;30:1215–8.
- Halstead SM, Deakyne SJ, Bajaj L, Enzenauer R, Roosevelt GE. The effect of ketamine on intraocular pressure in pediatric patients during procedural sedation. Acad Emerg Med. 2012;19:1145–50.
- Engelhard K, Werner C. Inhalational or intravenous anesthetics for craniotomies? Pro inhalational. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2006;19:504–8.
- Field LM, Dorrance DE, Krzeminska EK, Barsoum LZ. Effect of nitrous oxide on cerebral blood flow in normal humans. Br J Anaesth. 1993;70:154–9.
- 31. Strebel S, Kaufmann M, Anselmi L, Schaefer HG. Nitrous oxide is a potent cerebrovasodilator in humans when added to isoflurane. A transcranial Doppler study. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1995;39:653–8.

- 32. Schmidt M, Marx T, Armbruster S, Reinelt H, Schirmer U. Effect of xenon on elevated intracranial pressure as compared with nitrous oxide and total intravenous anesthesia in pigs. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2005;49:494–501.
- 33. Lacopino DG, Conti A, Battaglia C, Siliotti C, Lucanto T, Santamaria LB, Tomasello F. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound study of the effects of nitrous oxide on cerebral autoregulation during neurosurgical anesthesia: a randomized controlled trial. J Neurosurg. 2003;99:58–64.
- Pek JH, Ong GY. Emergency intubations in a highvolume pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2018;34:852–6.
- Orebaugh SL. Succinylcholine: adverse effects and alternatives in emergency medicine. Am J Emerg Med. 1999;17:715–21.
- Vernon DD, Witte MK. Effect of neuromuscular blockade on oxygen consumption and energy expenditure in sedated, mechanically ventilated children. Crit Care Med. 2000;28:1569–71.
- Hsiang JK, Chesnut RM, Crisp CB, Klauber MR, Blunt BA, Marshall LF. Early, routine paralysis for intracranial pressure control in severe head injury: is it necessary? Crit Care Med. 1994;22:1471–6.
- Mercat A, Richard JC, Vielle B, Jaber S, Osman D, Diehl JL, Expiratory Pressure (Express) Study Group, et al. Positive end-expiratory pressure setting in adults with acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2008;299:646–55.
- Shapiro HM, Marshall LF. Intracranial pressure responses to PEEP in head-injured patients. J Trauma. 1978;18:254–6.
- 40. Videtta W, Villarejo F, Cohen M, Domeniconi G, Santa Cruz R, Pinillos O, Rios F, Maskin B. Effects of positive end-expiratory pressure on intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2002;81:93–7.
- 41. Pulitanò S, Mancino A, Pietrini D, Piastra M, De Rosa S, Tosi F, De Luca D, Conti G. Effects of positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) on intracranial and cerebral perfusion pressure in pediatric neurosurgical patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25:330–4.
- 42. Kaditis AG, Motoyama EK, Zin W, Maekawa N, Nishio I, Imai T, Milic-Emili J. The effect of lung expansion and positive end-expiratory pressure on respiratory mechanics in anesthetized children. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:775–85.
- Bhalla T, Dewhirst E, Sawardekar A, Dairo O, Tobias JD. Perioperative management of the pediatric patient with traumatic brain injury. Paediatr Anaesth. 2012;22:627–40.
- 44. Carney N, Totten AM, O'Reilly C, Ullman JS, Hawryluk GW, Bell MJ, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury, Fourth Edition. Neurosurgery. 2017;80:6–15.
- 45. Chambers IR, Stobbart L, Jones PA, Kirkham FJ, Marsh M, Mendelow AD, et al. Age-related differ-

ences in intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in the first 6 hours of monitoring after children's head injury: association with outcome. Childs Nerv Syst. 2005;21:195–9.

- 46. Marshall LF, Becker DP, Bowers SA, Cayard C, Eisenberg H, Gross CR, et al. The National Traumatic Coma Data Bank. Part 1: design, purpose, goals, and results. J Neurosurg. 1983;59:276–84.
- Tepas JJ 3rd, DiScala C, Ramenofsky ML, Barlow B. Mortality and head injury: the pediatric perspective. J Pediatr Surg. 1990;25:92–5.
- Luerssen TG, Klauber MR, Marshall LF. Outcome from head injury related to patient's age. A longitudinal prospective study of adult and pediatric head injury. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:409–16.
- Williams M, Lee JK. Intraoperative blood pressure and cerebral perfusion: strategies to clarify hemodynamic goals. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:657–67.
- Kroppenstedt SN, Sakowitz OW, Thomale UW, Unterberg AW, Stover JF. Norepinephrine is superior to dopamine in increasing cortical perfusion following controlled cortical impact injury in rats. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2002;81:225–7.
- 51. Steiner LA, Johnston AJ, Czosnyka M, Chatfield DA, Salvador R, Coles JP, et al. Direct comparison of cerebrovascular effects of norepinephrine and dopamine in head-injured patients. Crit Care Med. 2004;32:1049–54.
- 52. Friess SH, Bruins B, Kilbaugh TJ, Smith C, Margulies SS. Differing effects when using phenylephrine and norepinephrine to augment cerebral blood flow after traumatic brain injury in the immature brain. J Neurotrauma. 2015;32:237–43.
- 53. Johnston AJ, Steiner LA, Chatfield DA, Coles JP, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi PG, et al. Effect of cerebral perfusion pressure augmentation with dopamine and norepinephrine on global and focal brain oxygenation after traumatic brain injury. Intensive Care Med. 2004;30:791–7.
- 54. Sookplung P, Siriussawakul A, Malakouti A, Sharma D, Wang J, Souter MJ, et al. Vasopressor use and effect on blood pressure after severe adult traumatic brain injury. Neurocrit Care. 2011;15:46–54.
- Scheingraber S, Rehm M, Sehmisch C, Finsterer U. Rapid saline infusion produces hyperchloremic acidosis in patients undergoing gynecologic surgery. Anesthesiology. 1999;90:1265–70.
- Wan S, Roberts MA, Mount P. Normal saline versus lower-chloride solutions for kidney transplantation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016:CD010741.
- Tommasino C, Moore S, Todd MM. Cerebral effects of isovolemic hemodilution with crystalloid or colloid solutions. Crit Care Med. 1988;16:862–8.
- Perel P, Roberts I, Ker K. Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013:CD000567.
- Finfer S, Bellomo R, Boyce N, French J, Myburgh J, Norton R, et al. A comparison of albumin and saline for fluid resuscitation in the intensive care unit. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:2247–56.

- 60. SAFE Study Investigators, Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society Clinical Trials Group, Australian Red Cross Blood Service. Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:874–84.
- Mutter TC, Ruth CA, Dart AB. Hydroxyethyl starch (HES) versus other fluid therapies: effects on kidney function. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013:CD007594.
- 62. Lagny MG, Roediger L, Koch JN, Dubois F, Senard M, Donneau AF, et al. Hydroxyethyl starch 130/0.4 and the risk of acute kidney injury after cardiopulmonary bypass: a single-Center retrospective study. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2016;30:869–75.
- 63. Li N, Statkevicius S, Asgeirsson B, Schött U. Effects of different colloid infusions on ROTEM and Multiplate during elective brain tumour neurosurgery. Perioper Med (Lond). 2015;4:9.
- 64. Kind SL, Spahn-Nett GH, Emmert MY, Eismon J, Seifert B, Spahn DR, Theusinger OM. Is dilutional coagulopathy induced by different colloids reversible by replacement of fibrinogen and factor XIII concentrates? Anesth Analg. 2013;117:1063–71.
- LeRoux P. Haemoglobin management in acute brain injury. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2013;19:83–91.
- 66. Talving P, Lustenberger T, Lam L, Inaba K, Mohseni S, Plurad D, et al. Coagulopathy after isolated severe traumatic brain injury in children. J Trauma. 2011;71:1205–10.
- Epstein DS, Mitra B, O'Reilly G, Rosenfeld JV, Cameron PA. Acute traumatic coagulopathy in the setting of isolated traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Injury. 2014;45:819–24.
- Acker SN, Partrick DA, Ross JT, Nadlonek NA, Bronsert M, Bensard DD. Blood component transfusion increases the risk of death in children with traumatic brain injury. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2014;76:1082–7.
- 69. CRASH-3 trial collaborators. Effects of tranexamic acid on death, disability, vascular occlusive events and other morbidities in patients with acute traumatic brain injury (CRASH-3): a randomised, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10210):1713–23.
- Rovlias A, Kotsou S. The influence of hyperglycemia on neurological outcome in patients with severe head injury. Neurosurgery. 2000;46:335–42.
- Takanashi Y, Shinonaga M, Nakajima F. Relationship between hyperglycemia following head injury and neurological outcome. No To Shinkei. 2001;53:61–4.
- Lam AM, Winn HR, Cullen BF, Sundling N. Hyperglycemia and neurological outcome in patients with head injury. J Neurosurg. 1991;75:545–51.
- Smith RL, Lin JC, Adelson PD, Kochanek PM, Fink EL, Wisniewski SR, et al. Relationship between hyperglycemia and outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2012;13:85–91.
- Elkon B, Cambrin JR, Hirshberg E, Bratton SL. Hyperglycemia: an independent risk factor

for poor outcome in children with traumatic brain injury. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2014;15:623–31.

- Cochran A, Scaife ER, Hansen KW, Downey EC. Hyperglycemia and outcomes from pediatric traumatic brain injury. J Trauma. 2003;55:1035–8.
- 76. Sharma D, Jelacic J, Chennuri R, Chaiwat O, Chandler W, Vavilala MS. Incidence and risk factors for perioperative hyperglycemia in children with traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg. 2009;108:81–9.
- 77. Young B, Ott L, Dempsey R, Haack D, Tibbs P. Relationship between admission hyperglycemia and neurologic outcome of severely brain-injured patients. Ann Surg. 1989;210:466–72.
- Lipshutz AK, Gropper MA. Perioperative glycemic control: an evidence-based review. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:408–21.
- Bilotta F, Caramia R, Cernak I, Paoloni FP, Doronzio A, Cuzzone V, et al. Intensive insulin therapy after severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized clinical trial. Neurocrit Care. 2008;9:159–66.
- Shapiro H, Drummond J. Neurosurgical Anesthesia. In: Miller RD, editor. Anesthesia. 4th ed. New York, NY: Churchill Livingstone Inc.; 1994. p. 1897–946.
- Todd M, Warner D. Neuroanesthesia: a critical review. In: Rogers MC, Tinker J, Covino B, Longnecker D, editors. Principles and practice of anesthesiology. St Luis Missouri: Mosby-Year Book, Inc.; 1993.
- Hendrick EB. The use of hypothermia in severe head injuries in childhood. Arch Surg. 1959;79:362–4.
- Biswas AK, Bruce DA, Sklar FH, Bokovoy JL, Sommerauer JF. Treatment of acute traumatic brain injury in children with moderate hypothermia improves intracranial hypertension. Crit Care Med. 2002;30:2742–51.
- 84. Adelson PD, Ragheb J, Kanev P, Brockmeyer D, Beers SR, Brown SD, et al. Phase II clinical trial of moderate hypothermia after severe traumatic brain injury in children. Neurosurgery. 2005;56:740–54.
- Hutchinson JS, Ward RE, Lacroix J, Hébert PC, Barnes MA, Bohn DJ, et al. Hypothermia therapy after traumatic brain injury in children. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2447–56.
- 86. Adelson PD, Wisniewski SR, Beca J, Brown SD, Bell M, Muizelaar JP, et al. Comparison of hypothermia and normothermia after severe traumatic brain injury in children (cool kids): a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12:546–53.
- Beca J, McSharry B, Erickson S, Yung M, Schibler A, Slater A, et al. Hypothermia for traumatic brain injury in children-a phase II randomized controlled trial. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:1458–66.
- Tasker RC. Hypothermia did not improve mortality or disability in severe traumatic brain injury. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed. 2014;99:119.
- Bourdages M, Bigras JL, Farrell CA, Hutchison JS, Lacroix J. Canadian Critical Care Trials Group Cardiac arrhythmias associated with severe trau-

matic brain injury and hypothermia therapy. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2010;11:408–14.

- Sandestig A, Romner B, Grände PO. Therapeutic hypothermia in children and adults with severe traumatic brain injury. Ther Hypothermia Temp Manag. 2014;4:10–20.
- Araki T, Yokota H, Morita A. Pediatric traumatic brain injury: characteristic features, diagnosis, and management. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo). 2017;57:82–93.
- 92. Bao L, Chen D, Ding L, Ling W, Xu F. Fever burden is an independent predictor for prognosis of traumatic brain injury. PLoS One. 2014;9:e90956.
- 93. Natale JE, Joseph JG, Helfaer MA, Shaffner DH. Early hyperthermia after traumatic brain injury in children: risk factors, influence on length of stay, and effect on short-term neurologic status. Crit Care Med. 2000;28:2608–15.
- 94. Shein SL, Ferguson NM, Kochanek PM, Bayir H, Clark RS, Fink EL, et al. Effectiveness of pharmacological therapies for intracranial hypertension in children with severe traumatic brain injury—results from an automated data collection system timesynched to drug administration. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2016;17:236–45.
- 95. Rallis D, Poulos P, Kazantzi M, Chalkias A, Kalampalikis P. Effectiveness of 7.5% hypertonic saline in children with severe traumatic brain injury. J Crit Care. 2017;38:52–6.
- 96. Piper BJ, Harrigan PW. Hypertonic saline in paediatric traumatic brain injury: a review of nine years' experience with 23.4% hypertonic saline as standard hyperosmolar therapy. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2015;43:204–10.
- Hawryluk GWJ. Editorial. Sodium values and the use of hyperosmolar therapy following traumatic brain injury. Neurosurg Focus. 2017;43:E3.
- Ichai C, Armando G, Orban JC, Berthier F, Rami L, Samat-Long C, et al. Sodium lactate versus mannitol in the treatment of intracranial hypertensive episodes in severe traumatic brain-injured patients. Intensive Care Med. 2009;35:471–9.
- 99. Ichai C, Payen JF, Orban JC, Quintard H, Roth H, Legrand R, et al. Half-molar sodium lactate infusion to prevent intracranial hypertensive episodes in severe traumatic brain injured patients: a randomized controlled trial. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39:1413–22.
- 100. Holloway R, Zhou Z, Harvey HB, Levasseur JE, Rice AC, Sun D, et al. Effect of lactate therapy upon cognitive deficits after traumatic brain injury in the rat. Acta Neurochir. 2007;149:919–27.
- 101. Levasseur JE, Alessandri B, Reinert M, Clausen T, Zhou Z, Altememi N, et al. Lactate, not glucose, up-regulates mitochondrial oxygen consumption both in sham and lateral fluid percussed rat brains. Neurosurgery. 2006;59:1122–30.
- Rice AC, Zsoldos R, Chen T, Wilson MS, Alessandri B, Hamm RJ, et al. Lactate administration attenuates

cognitive deficits following traumatic brain injury. Brain Res. 2002;928:156–9.

- 103. Cooper DJ, Rosenfeld JV, Murray L, Arabi YM, Davies AR, D'Urso P, et al. Decompressive craniectomy in diffuse traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:1493–502.
- 104. Hutchinson PJ, Kolias AG, Timofeev IS, Corteen EA, Czosnyka M, Timothy J, et al. Trial of decompressive craniectomy for traumatic intracranial hypertension. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1119–30.
- 105. Gudeman SK, Miller JD, Becker DP. Failure of highdose steroid therapy to influence intracranial pressure in patients with severe head injury. J Neurosurg. 1979;51:301–6.
- Saul TG, Ducker TB, Salcman M, Carro E. Steroids in severe head injury: a prospective randomized clinical trial. J Neurosurg. 1981;54:596–600.
- 107. Edwards P, Arango M, Balica L, Cottingham R, El-Sayed H, Farrell B, et al. Final results of MRC CRASH, a randomised placebo-controlled trial of intravenous corticosteroid in adults with head injuryoutcomes at 6 months. Lancet. 2005;365:1957–9.
- Arango JI, Deibert CP, Brown D, Bell M, Dvorchik I, Adelson PD, et al. Posttraumatic seizures in children with severe traumatic brain injury. Childs Nerv Syst. 2012;28:1925–9.
- Engel J Jr, Kuhl DE, Phelps ME, Rausch R, Nuwer M. Local cerebral metabolism during partial seizures. Neurology. 1983;33:400–13.
- Hunt RF, Boychuk JA, Smith BN. Neural circuit mechanisms of post-traumatic epilepsy. Front Cell Neurosci. 2013;7:89.
- 111. Liesemer K, Bratton SL, Zebrack CM, Brockmeyer D, Statler KD. Early post-traumatic seizures in moderate to severe pediatric traumatic brain injury: rates, risk factors, and clinical features. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28:755–62.
- 112. Chung MG, O'Brien NF. Prevalence of early posttraumatic seizures in children with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury despite Levetiracetam prophylaxis. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2016;17:150–6.
- 113. O'Neill BR, Handler MH, Tong S, Chapman KE. Incidence of seizures on continuous EEG monitoring following traumatic brain injury in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:167–76.
- 114. Lewis RJ, Yee L, Inkelis SH, Gilmore D. Clinical predictors of post-traumatic seizures in children with head trauma. Ann Emerg Med. 1993;22:1114–8.
- 115. Khan AA, Banerjee A. The role of prophylactic anticonvulsants in moderate to severe head injury. Int J Emerg Med. 2010;3:187–91.
- 116. Koestler J, Keshavarz R. Penetrating head injury in children: a case report and review of the literature. J Emerg Med. 2001;21:145–50.
- 117. Pruitt BA. Guidelines for the management of penetrating brain injuries. J Trauma. 2001;51:S1–S86.
- 118. Robba C, Galimberti S, Graziano F, Wiegers EJA, Lingsma HF, Iaquaniello C, et al. Tracheostomy practice and timing in traumatic brain-injured

patients: a CENTER-TBI study. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46:983–94.

- Popernack ML, Gray N, Reuter-Rice K. Moderateto-severe traumatic brain injury in children: complications and rehabilitation strategies. J Pediatr Health Care. 2015;29:e1–7.
- 120. Forsyth R, Basu A. The promotion of recovery through rehabilitation after acquired brain injury in children. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57:16–22.
- 121. Christian CW, Block R, Committee on Child Abuse and Neglect, American Academy of Pediatrics. Abusive head trauma in infants and children. Pediatrics. 2009;123:1409–11.
- 122. Hahn YS, Raimondi AJ, McLone DG, Yamanouchi Y. Traumatic mechanisms of head injury in child abuse. Childs Brain. 1983;10:229–41.
- Bernardi B, Bartoi C. Nonaccidental head injury (child abuse). In: Pediatric neuroradiology. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2005. https://doi. org/10.1007/3-540-26398-5_20.
- 124. Sheets LK, Leach ME, Koszewski IJ, Lessmeier AM, Nugent M, Simpson P. Sentinel injuries in infants evaluated for child physical abuse. Pediatrics. 2013;131:701–7.
- 125. Alofisan TO, Algarni YA, Alharfi IM, Miller MR, Charyk Stewart T, Fraser DD, et al. Paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity after severe traumatic brain injury in children: prevalence, risk factors, and outcome. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2019;20:252–8.
- 126. Kirk KA, Shoykhet M, Jeong JH, Tyler-Kabara EC, Henderson MJ, Bell MJ, et al. Dysautonomia after pediatric brain injury. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2012;54:759–64.
- 127. Krach LE, Kriel RL, Morris WF, Warhol BL, Luxenberg MG. Central autonomic dysfunction following acquired brain injury in children. J Neurol Rehabil. 1997;11:41–5.
- Letzkus L, Keim-Malpass J, Kennedy C. Paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity: autonomic instability and muscle over-activity following severe brain injury. Brain Inj. 2016;30:1181–5.
- 129. Pozzi M, Conti V, Locatelli F, Galbiati S, Radice S, Citerio G, et al. Paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity in pediatric rehabilitation: clinical factors and acute pharmacological management. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2015;30:357–63.
- 130. Zheng RZ, Lei ZQ, Yang RZ, Huang GH, Zhang GM. Identification and management of paroxysmal sympathetic hyperactivity after traumatic brain injury. Front Neurol. 2020;11:81.
- 131. Singh I, Rohilla S, Siddiqui SA, Kumar P. Growing skull fractures: guidelines for early diagnosis and surgical management. Childs Nerv Syst. 2016;32:1117–22.
- Reddy DR. Growing skull fractures: guidelines for early diagnosis and effective operative management. Neurol India. 2013;61:455–6.
- 133. Prasad GL, Gupta DK, Mahapatra AK, Borkar SA, Sharma BS. Surgical results of growing skull

fractures in children: a single centre study of 43 cases. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31:269–77.

- 134. Wang X, Li G, Li Q, You C. Early diagnosis and treatment of growing skull fracture. Neurol India. 2013;61:497–500.
- 135. Rocque BG, Amancherla K, Lew SM, Lam S. Outcomes of cranioplasty following decompressive craniectomy in the pediatric population: a systematic review. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2013;12:120–5.
- Flannery T, McConnell RS. Cranioplasty: why throw the bone flap out. Br J Neurosurg. 2001;15:518–20.
- 137. Waqas M, Ujjan B, Hadi YB, Najmuddin F, Laghari AA, Khalid S, et al. Cranioplasty after craniectomy in a pediatric population: single-center experience

from a developing country. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2017;52:77–9.

- 138. Salam AA, Ibbett I, Thani N. Paediatric cranioplasty: a review. Interdiscip Neurosurg. 2018;13:59–65.
- Hockley AD, Goldin JH, Wake MJ, Iqbal J. Skull repair in children. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1990–199;16:271–5.
- 140. Piedra MP, Thompson EM, Selden NR, Ragel BT, Guillaume DJ. Optimal timing of autologous cranioplasty after decompressive craniectomy in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2012;10:268–72.
- 141. Oh JS, Lee KS, Shim JJ, Yoon SM, Doh JW, Bae HG. Which one is better to reduce the infection rate, early or late cranioplasty? J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2016;59:492–7.

Perioperative Management of Pediatric Spine Injury

32

Gyaninder Pal Singh
, Barkha Bindu
, and Kanwaljeet Garg

Key Points

- Pediatric spine injury is a devastating condition with a substantial lifelong impact on the patient, family, and society.
- Age-related differences in the pediatric spine and the growth potentials in children lead to different patterns, mechanisms, and injury levels compared to adults.
- The pediatric population is at a greater risk for spinal cord injury without radiographic abnormality than adults.
- The initial resuscitation should focus on managing respiratory and hemodynamic parameters while maintaining immobilization of the neck and/or spine to prevent secondary injury.
- Perioperative management should maintain hemodynamic and respiratory parameters, facilitate surgical conditions and neuromonitoring, prevent complications, minimize pain, and enhance early recovery.

G. P. Singh (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

B. Bindu

K. Garg

Department of Neurosurgery, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

- Early surgical intervention and stabilization of the spine can facilitate early mobilization of these children and reduce complications.
- Those who survive the acute phase of spine injury usually require long-term rehabilitation.
- Neurological recovery following spinal cord injury is thought to be better in children than adults.

32.1 Introduction

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is a devastating condition that leads to substantial complications. Although relatively less common, spinal injuries in pediatric patients are associated with higher mortality and morbidity as compared to adults [1, 2]. The anatomy and biomechanical properties of the pediatric spine are different from adults, and this makes it a different entity from adult spinal injuries [3]. The distribution of spinal injuries across various spinal segments is also different in pediatric patients compared to adults. Children are particularly prone to cervical spine injuries, and they account for 60-80% of all pediatric spinal injuries [2]. Moreover, spinal injury is more likely to be associated with traumatic brain injury (TBI) in children resulting in poorer outcomes than adults [4]. Thus, it is important to have a high degree of suspicion for prompt diagnosis and early management for better functional recovery [5].

Check for updates

Department of Neuroanaesthesia and Critical Care, Medanta- The Medicity, Gurugram, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_32

The chances of cervical spinal injury in children are high due to the relatively large head size compared to the trunk, weak neck musculature, and horizontal orientation of the facets. The age-related differences in children and adults and the growth potentials in children result in a difference in the incidence and presentations of spine trauma as well as in the pattern, mechanism, and levels of injury [2, 6]. Thus, it demands an understanding of the unique aspect of the pediatric spine for appropriate evaluation, diagnosis, and management necessary to reduce morbidity associated with this condition [2].

Children with unstable cervical spine injuries are more likely to have associated neurologic injury and must be treated with great caution [7]. In patients with a suspected cervical spine injury, extreme care should be taken to limit the movement of the cervical spine in order to prevent the secondary neurologic injury until definitive stabilization is ascertained [7].

32.2 Epidemiology

Spinal trauma is less common in children than adults, with an estimated incidence of 1.99 per 100,000 children in the United States [8]. Pediatric spinal injury patients constitute 1–10% of all spine injuries [9]. The reported incidence of pediatric spine injury in different studies varies depending on the cohort and the age included. Although the exact incidence is unknown, the true incidence may be underestimated as the spinal injuries may be masked by other trauma features. The coincident TBI reported with spine injury in children varies from 25% to 38.8% [10–13].

There are age-related differences in the distribution of spinal injury among children. The incidence of injury is higher at the C1–C2 level in children less than 3 years, with girls more commonly affected [14, 15]. However, the incidence of injury to the lower cervical and thoracolumbar spine increases with age, with adolescent males 4 times affected than females [16]. Motor vehicle accidents (MVAs) are the most common causes of spine injury in children among all age groups. Other causes may include fall from a height, sports and recreational injuries, pedestrian and bicycle injuries, and child abuse. Falls and abuses are relatively common in young children, while older children are often injured during MVAs and sports or recreational activities. Also, birth-related injuries (obstetric causes) may lead to spinal cord injuries in neonates with an incidence of 1 in 60,000 births [17].

32.3 Anatomy of Pediatric Spine

In humans, the spinal or vertebral column consists of 33 vertebrae (bony elements), including 7 cervical, 12 thoracic, 5 lumbar, 5 sacral, and 4 coccygeal vertebrae. These bony elements are separated by intervertebral disks (fibrocartilaginous) and supported by ligaments. However, the bodies of lower vertebrae, i.e., 5 sacral and 4 coccygeal vertebrae, later fuse to form the bony sacrum and coccyx, respectively, reducing the number of vertebrae to 26 in the adults. The vertebral column provides attachments to muscles and supports the trunk. Also, it protects the spinal cord and nerve roots and serves as a site for hemopoiesis.

Certain anatomic and biomechanical differences exist between the immature spine of children and adults that include greater mobility of the spine owing to ligamentous laxity, shallow angulations and horizontal orientation of facet joints, immature development of neck musculature, underdeveloped spinous processes, physiologic anterior wedging of vertebral bodies, and incomplete ossification of vertebrae the (Table 32.1). Due to these anatomical differences, the pediatric spine is more prone to neurological injury without musculoskeletal damage than adults.

In children, the larger head size relative to the body results in a higher center of gravity and fulcrum of neck motion. After 8 years, the fulcrum of movement changes from C2-3 to C5-6 (i.e., **Table 32.1** Important anatomical variations of the pediatric spine from adults

- Head is relatively larger to the body, and thus fulcrum of neck movement is located at C2–C3 in the younger children compared to C5–C6 in older children and adults.
- Weak neck muscles
- Ligamentous and joint capsule laxity
- The horizontal orientation of the facet joints in younger children
- Mild physiological anterior "wedging" of vertebral bodies
- Underdeveloped spinous processes
- Incomplete ossification of the odontoid process (depending on the age of the child)
- Presence of primary and secondary ossification center

the adult fulcrum), which is also reflected in the types and patterns of spinal injury in different age groups [9]. The upper cervical spine (from the occiput to C3) is more commonly injured in young children (<8 years), while the lower cervical and dorso-lumbar spines are more often involved in older children and adults [18].

32.4 Radiology

Based on radiographic findings, the pediatric spine injury can be broadly classified into two groups: injury with radiographic abnormalities (fracture, dislocation, subluxation) and without radiographic abnormalities (SCIWORA). The routine radiological investigations to evaluate pediatric spinal trauma patients include plain X-rays, computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Usually, plain X-ray or CT is done only when there is high suspicion or neurological symptoms of spinal cord injury. It has been recommended to get spinal imaging in children who have unexplained hypotension or experience cardiac arrest, as these may suggest the presence of cervical spinal cord injury [19]. Screening imaging is not indicated in patients with low risk for cervical spinal injury as per the NEXUS (National Emergency X-Radiography Utilization Study) criteria [20]. Dynamic cervical radiographs may

help diagnose ligamentous injuries without fracture, especially in the high cervical spine.

MRI can be helpful in the diagnosis of SCIWORA, which accounts for about 20% of pediatric spinal cord injuries and occurs predominantly in children younger than 8 years of age. SCIWORA is rare in adolescents and adults and is often seen in cervical and thoracic levels, but is rare in the lumbar region. It occurs due to the elasticity and flexibility of the child's spine. The pediatric spine can withstand elongation without any fracture, but the spinal cord gets injured.

One has to be careful in considering the agerelated changes in maturation when viewing something abnormal in pediatric radiographs as the fusion of various parts of vertebra happens at a particular age and may be misinterpreted as a fracture. Some examples of this include pseudosubluxation of C2 on C3, anterior overriding of atlas related to the odontoid on extension and exaggeration of the atlantodental interval (ADI), and radiolucent synchondrosis between the odontoid and C2 body [21]. Important radiological variations between pediatric and adult spine are given in Table 32.2.

32.5 Management

Spinal cord injuries in children may occur from varying modes of injuries ranging from congenital defects like Down's syndrome [23], traumatic breech deliveries, physical abuse (shaken baby syndrome) to road traffic accidents, diving injuries, and fall from heights. The mechanisms of injury include hyperflexion, hyperextension, and vertical compression injuries [24]. Almost 50% of children with spine injuries show no abnormality on spine X-ray [25]. Almost 60-80% of all pediatric vertebral injuries are in the cervical region compared to adults in whom cervical injuries constitute 30-40% of all vertebral injuries. Further, in young children, injuries to the upper cervical spine are more common and associated with higher morbidity and mortality.

| Radiological features | Adults | Children | Implication(s) |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Atlantodental interval (ADI) (distance between the anterior aspect of the dens and the posterior aspect of the anterior ring of the atlas) | Less than 3 mm | May be up to 5 mm | Normal ADI confirms that the transverse ligament is intact. ADI 3–5 mm may be normal in children |
| Pseudo-subluxation (caused due to the horizontally placed facet joints in younger children, which later becomes more vertical as the spine matures) | Absent | It may be normally present (anterior displacement of C2 in relation to C3 and a lesser extent C3 over C4) | Resembles ligamentous injury |
| Secondary ossification centers | Absent | Present (especially of spinous processes and unfused ring apophyses of vertebral bodies) | It may be confused with fractures (these should be differentiated as they appear as smooth and regular with a subchondral sclerotic line delineating the growth plate in contrast to fractures which are irregular and can occur anywhere) |
| Physiological wedging (wedging of the vertebral bodies) | Absent | May show mild anterior wedging of the vertebral bodies (up to 3 mm) until the endplates are fused; most clearly evident in C3 vertebrae | May be confused with a compression fracture [22] |
| Absence of cervical lordosis | Potentially pathological | May be normally seen in children up to 16 years when the neck is in a neutral position | The absence of cervical lordosis may not always be pathological in children |
| Pure ligamentous injuries without fracture | Uncommon | Quite common in children, particularly in children <10 years of age with cervical spine injuries | The absence of fracture on CT imaging or plain radiographs does not exclude injury in the pediatric cervical spine |

Table 32.2 Important radiological variations between the pediatric and adult spine

32.5.1 Initial Management

Initial management must focus on resuscitation of the injured patient (Table 32.3). Maintaining adequate gas exchange and end-organ perfusion is fundamentals of initial management. Hypoxia and hypotension are detrimental. Once stable, a more comprehensive assessment, including a thorough neurological examination, is performed. All patients should be treated as if they have an unstable spine until proven otherwise. Spinal movement during intubation can cause secondary neurological injury. Hence, immobilization of the cervical spine before radiographic and/or clinical clearance is the standard of care [26]. Reportedly, 18% of patients with cervical spine injury need intubation within 30 min of arrival in the emergency department [27].

32.5.1.1 Immobilization of Cervical Spine

There are certain key differences in the management of pediatric and adult cervical spine injuries [7]. Children have a relatively larger head circumference that causes relative cervical flexion when placed supine on a horizontal surface [28]. Therefore, either a backboard with the trunk elevated by 25 mm should be used, or the head should be placed in an occipital recess when immobilizing the spine in children <8 years age [28].

Various techniques can be used to stabilize the cervical spine (Table 32.4), including soft and hard collars, sandbags, or supportive blocks and tape. The use of cervical traction in children has specific concerns and is rarely described in the literature. The thinner cranium increases the like-

lihood of inner cranial table penetration; lighter bodyweight provides less counterforce to traction, and more elastic ligaments and less welldeveloped musculature increase the potential for overdistraction. Manual in-line stabilization (MILS) is a more widely accepted technique, although it can cause poor visualization and increase intubation failure rates [29]. MILS is

| Table 32.3 | Goals | of initial | management |
|------------|-------|------------|------------|
|------------|-------|------------|------------|

• Immobilize head and neck in all patients of trauma until spine injury is excluded

• Immobilization of the spine may be achieved by placing the patient on a spine board with neck neutral, sandbags on either side of the head, and 3-inch adhesive tape to secure the head to the spine board

• Watch for signs of respiratory compromise; tracheal intubation, if required

 Maintain mean arterial pressure (MAP) according to the age-specific targets. Avoid fluid overload and pulmonary edema

• Bradycardia, if associated with hemodynamic instability, is treated with atropine

• In the case of gastric distension, a nasogastric tube is inserted to decompress the stomach

is inserted to decompress the stomach

• Frequent neurological examination (sensory, motor, Glasgow coma scale (GCS) score, pupillary response) and expeditious radiological examination

· Maintain normothermia

| Tal | ole 3 | 32.4 | Cervical | spine | immo | bilization | techniques |
|-----|-------|------|----------|-------|------|------------|------------|
|-----|-------|------|----------|-------|------|------------|------------|

| Technique | Important considerations |
|------------------|----------------------------------|
| Sandbag, blocks, | Effective in reducing cervical |
| tape | spine movement in all directions |
| | Make intubation difficult |
| Cervical collars | Do not completely eliminate |
| | cervical spine movement during |
| | intubation |
| | Anterior portion of the collar |
| | makes mouth opening difficult |
| | Make intubation difficult |
| Manual in-line | Reduces neck movement during |
| stabilization | intubation |
| (MILS) | The preferred method for |
| | intubation in cervical spine |
| | injury |
| Axial traction | May cause distraction, |
| | subluxation |
| Halo brace | Effective in limiting cervical |
| | spine movement in all directions |
| | Makes direct laryngoscopy |
| | difficult |
| | Fiber-optic intubation is |
| | preferred |

shown to cause significantly lesser movement during intubation than cervical collars [30].

32.5.1.2 Tracheal Intubation

Intubation using direct laryngoscopy causes maximum movement in the upper cervical spine at occiput–C1 and C1–C2 levels [31]. This gives rise to the possibility of aggravation of SCI during intubation. Different intubation techniques have been studied in patients with cervical spine injury; advantages and disadvantages of each of them are discussed (Table 32.5). Technically, intubation techniques that do not need direct visualization of the glottis require less extension of the cervical spine. However, the literature suggests that the maximum movement of the cervi-

| Table 32.5 | Techniques | of tracheal | intubation |
|------------|------------|---------------|------------|
| TUDIC JZ.J | rechniques | or tracilicar | intuoation |

| Table 52.5 Teeninques of trachear intubation | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Techniques | Advantages | Disadvantages | | | |
| Direct laryngoscopy (DL) | Takes less time | Extension at atlantooccipital and C1–C2 levels | | | |
| Video- laryngoscopy | Better visualization | Cervical motion similar to DL [33] | | | |
| Fiber-optic oral intubation | Better visualization Minimal cervical movement May be performed in the awake and co-operative child; neurological assessment is possible during and after intubation | Longer time for intubation Difficult in cases where acute airway management is required Awake fiber- optic intubation is difficult in uncooperative patients | | | |
| Fiber-optic nasotracheal intubation | Excellent visualization of the glottis Substantially less cervical motion Neck hyperextension is not required | Considerably time-consuming Difficult in an emergency setting Contraindicated in basilar skull fracture and craniofacial trauma | | | |
| Laryngeal mask airway | May be helpful when intubation is not possible | High pressure on upper cervical vertebrae | | | |

cal spine occurs during intubation and not during glottic visualization [32–34]. Hence, the clinical benefit of using indirect techniques in cervical spine injury is not proven. Laryngeal mask airway and surgical access are part of the ASA difficult airway algorithm. These are desperate measures to prevent hypoxia when intubation and ventilation are not possible.

32.5.1.3 Management of Systemic Effects of Spine Injury

The SCI can have a multisystem presentation; Table 32.6 provides a brief overview of the systemic manifestations of SCI along with their management.

32.5.2 Medical and Surgical Management of Spine Injury

The medical management or presurgical management of pediatric spinal injuries is not as well described. The role of bolus corticosteroids has been extensively studied in adults, but there is no evidence available from the pediatric population. Similarly, the optimal mean arterial pressure is also not defined for pediatric patients. Hence, the goal for the adult population is followed in children without any level 1 evidence.

32.5.2.1 Cervical Spine Injuries

Conservative Management

Cervical spine injuries can be managed with closed reduction using traction. Halo fixation can be done in children but requires modified instrumentation. Specialized pediatric halo rings are required, and 8-10 pins are used. Less force (2- to 4-inch pounds) is used than is used in adults [36]. A CT scan of the head may be done before the halo ring placement as the areas for pin placement where the skull is sufficiently thick can be identified [37]. However, the complication rates of halo in children are more than in adults. It is estimated that up to 68% of children develop complications after applying traction like pin site infection, skull perforation, or even brain abscess [38]. Perhaps this is why halo is less commonly used these days, especially in countries with tropical weather. Another pertinent risk to be kept in mind while considering traction in children is the risk of overdistraction at the level of injury or atlanto-occipital junction. The reasons for overdistraction may include

| System(s) | Signs and symptoms | Management |
|------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Cardiovascular | Spinal shock: Motor and sensory loss below the level of injury, | Invasive hemodynamic |
| system | loss of sympathetic autonomic function | monitoring |
| | Neurogenic shock: Hypotension, bradycardia, hypothermia, | Vasopressors |
| | relative hypovolemia from increased venous capacitance due to | (norepinephrine, |
| | functional sympathectomy. Absence of tachycardia because | phenylephrine), colloids |
| | cardiac accelerator fibers arise from T1 to T4 | Mean arterial pressure as |
| | <i>Injury above T7</i> : Decreased adrenal response to stress, absence of | per age should be |
| | tachycardic response to hypotension | maintained |
| | Hypovolemic shock: Hypotension, tachycardia | |
| Central nervous | Raised intracranial pressure (ICP) | ICP lowering measures |
| system | | |
| Respiratory | Airway obstruction, aspiration, flail chest, pneumothorax | Intubation, ventilation |
| system | Poor cough decreased respiratory drive | Chest tube |
| | | $PaO_2 > 60 \text{ mmHg} [35]$ |
| Gastrointestinal | Gastroparesis, neurogenic bowel | Nasogastric tube insertion |
| system | | |
| Genitourinary | Neurogenic bladder | Urinary catheter |
| system | | |
| Coagulation | Deep venous thrombosis (DVT), pulmonary embolism | DVT prophylaxis |
| cascade | | |

Table 32.6 Systemic effects of spine injury

ligamentous laxity, less muscle mass, and less body weight [21, 39].

Conservative or non-surgical management is followed in the scenarios of pediatric cervical spinal injury patients, as below.

Neonatal injuries: Neonates can get spinal cord injury during birth either related to an abnormal presentation like a breech presentation or due to the application of assistive devices like forceps. The most common neonatal injury locations are the upper cervical spine, followed by the cervicothoracic junction [40]. Treatment depends on the location of the injury, residual neurological function, and weight of the child. Pang and Hanley reported the use of an external immobilization device (thermoplastic molded device that contoured to the occiput, neck, and thorax) for neonates [41]. Velcro straps across the forehead and torso were used to immobilize the infants completely.

Odontoid epiphysiolysis: The synchondrosis of the C2 body and dens fuses completely by the age of 7 years and is prone to get injuries in preschool-aged children [42]. It can be diagnosed on a plain X-ray where anterior or posterior angulation of the odontoid can be made. This injury can be managed successfully by external immobilization using a halo vest or Minerva jacket. Fassett and colleagues reported that 80% of such injuries could be managed non-operatively, with fusion rates as high as 93% [43].

Atlantoaxial rotatory subluxation is commonly seen in children and can even occur following minor trauma. It often reduces spontaneously, and, if it does not, traction and external immobilization are enough in most cases [21].

Subaxial cervical spinal injuries mandate spinal immobilization for healing. This can be achieved either by external immobilization or internal fixation. External immobilization may be required in conjunction with the placement of temporary traction to restore alignment.

SCIWORA: Patients with SCIWORA may have recurrent episodes; external orthosis may be required for a prolonged period to prevent further injury.

Surgical Management

Many pediatric cervical spine trauma patients have SCI associated with vertebral column injury.

These patients may require surgical decompression and fixation. There is no evidence regarding the timing of surgery in pediatric patients with SCI, unlike in adults where an early surgery has been proven to be beneficial [21]. The choice of approach (anterior or posterior) depends on the location of injury and degree of compression of the spinal cord. Moreover, the age of the patient and size of the vertebral body, pedicle, and lateral masses also play a major role in deciding the approach. It is sometimes challenging to find appropriately sized screws and cages that could be used safely in pediatric patients, especially young children.

32.5.2.2 Thoracolumbar Spine Injuries

Fractures of the thoracolumbar (TL) spine are rare in children (1-2%) of all pediatric fractures). The commonest mechanism of these fractures is high-velocity trauma, the other lesser common mechanisms being a fall from height and sports trauma. Thoracolumbar fractures are rare in children less than 8 years of age due to the large head to trunk ratio, which results in predominantly cervical spinal injuries. These older children tend to have fracture patterns similar to adults, while the fractures in younger children are different.

Compression Fractures

These are the commonest TL fractures seen in the pediatric population and occur most commonly at the thoracolumbar junction. These fractures are managed conservatively with a thoracolumbosacral orthosis (TLSO) brace.

Burst Fractures

These result from axial loading when the nucleus pulposus is pushed into the vertebral body resulting in damage to the anterior and posterior column. There can be associated retropulsion of fracture fragments into the spinal canal and associated spinal cord or conus or cauda equina injury, depending on the injured spinal level (Fig. 32.1). Burst fractures can be stable as well as unstable, depending on the degree of vertebral body damage and focal kyphosis. Stable burst fractures can be managed conservatively, while the unstable ones require internal fixation in the



Fig. 32.1 A 13-year-old girl with a history of falls from the first floor of the house and presented with pain complaints in her lower back and weakness in bilateral lower limbs. On examination, she had an ASIA D injury with bladder involvement. A non-contrast computed tomo-

form of pedicle screws with or without anterior column support.

Flexion-Distraction Injuries

Flexion-distraction injuries are a severe form of injuries and include chance fractures. They have high chances of being associated with multiple solid organ injuries, which must be looked for and treated appropriately. These fractures can be purely osseous, purely ligamentous, or a combination of both. Fractures with osseous components alone can be managed by external immobilization like a TLSO brace, while the ones with ligamentous or disk injury will require an internal fixation using pedicle screws.

Spinous Process/Transverse Process Fractures

Blunt trauma can result in fractures of the spinous process or transverse process. Most of the time, there is no instability, and rarely they may be associated with unstable pelvic injuries or iliolumbar ligament injury. Pain control is the only treatment required for these fractures. graphic (CT) scan of the lumbosacral spine (a) sagittal and (b) axial section shows L1 burst fracture with resultant kyphosis. She was taken up for L1 corpectomy and pedicle screw fixation; (c) postoperative image shows implants in situ

32.5.3 Perioperative Anesthetic Management

The children of varying ages (neonate to adolescent) present for surgery following spine trauma. The surgical options for pediatric spine injuries include traction and immobilization, vertebral fusion, laminectomy, etc. Thus, these children need to be managed based on their age and planned surgical procedures.

32.5.3.1 Preoperative Evaluation

Preoperative assessment should include the details of previous medical and surgical procedures, associated medical conditions, previous anesthetic records, and treatment history. A detailed systemic examination must be performed. Thorough neurological assessment and any preoperative deficits should be documented. The airway must be evaluated, and a plan for securing the airway may be formulated. Awake intubation, if needed and feasible, is to be explained to the patient beforehand. All routine preoperative investigations should be ordered.

32.5.3.2 Intraoperative Anesthetic Management

The important aspects of anesthetic management of acute pediatric SCI are summarized in Table 32.7.

Induction of Anesthesia

General anesthesia is the technique of choice for any spine surgery. Induction of anesthesia can be done using inhalational or intravenous (IV) agents. Propofol can be used for induction of anesthesia in children older than 3 years. Nondepolarizing neuromuscular blockers are used for intubation. Armored (reinforced) tracheal tubes reduce the risk of kinking. Intubation in a nonemergent situation may be carried out with any of the techniques described (Table 32.5). Fiberoptic-aided intubation provides better visualization and lesser movement of the cervical spine. The use of fiber-optic intubation in both awake and sleep states is acceptable [34].

Venous access must be adequate. For surgeries in prone positioning, the patient should be turned prone while maintaining the spine alignments. Care should be taken to prevent dislodgment of the lines (intravenous, arterial, and urinary catheters) during positioning. All pressure points must be adequately padded.

Maintenance of Anesthesia

Management aims to avoid spinal cord ischemia by maintaining spinal cord perfusion pressure and providing a bloodless surgical field. Venous congestion should be minimized by careful positioning and avoiding abdominal compression.

| Table 32.7 | Management | goals | of | anesthesia |
|------------|------------|-------|----|------------|
|------------|------------|-------|----|------------|

- Avoid secondary injury to the spinal cord
- · Manual in-line stabilization (MILS) is the best
- technique to be used with direct laryngoscopy • Avoid hypoxia and hypotension
- Avoid hypoxia and hypotension
- Bradycardia is treated with chronotropic agents like dopamine and hypotension with fluids and vasopressors having α-agonist action
- · Judicious fluid management
- Careful extubation depending on the level of spine injury

Inhalation or IV techniques may be used for the maintenance of anesthesia. Propofol may be used for maintenance in children more than 2 months of age [44]. Remifentanil, being an ultra-short acting opioid with profound analgesia, has become a popular choice. It is being used for the maintenance of anesthesia with both inhalation and IV agents.

Intraoperatively, it is advisable to set agespecific targets for MAP and heart rate on a case to case basis. IV fluids, colloids, blood products, and vasopressors might be needed to achieve this goal. Goal-directed fluid therapy using isotonic crystalloids is commonly practiced. Blood loss may be excessive in some procedures and must be replaced; hemoglobin levels are generally targeted at 8–10 g/dL.

Adequate oxygenation with $PaO_2 > 60 \text{ mmHg}$ has been shown to provide some degrees of neuroprotection [45]. Normothermia and normoglycemia (blood glucose <180 mg/dL) should be maintained. Children and infants are prone to hypothermia compared to adults due to physiological differences. Operation theater temperature should be maintained at 27 °C.

Intraoperative Monitoring

Monitoring should include electrocardiography (ECG), blood pressure, pulse oximetry, capnography, anesthetic agent monitoring, temperature, and neuromonitoring (described later). Arterial blood pressure and central venous pressure monitoring may be advocated on a case to case basis, e.g., in patients with associated cardiac disease and where major fluid shifts/blood loss is anticipated. Urine output should be monitored with a urinary catheter.

Recovery and Tracheal Extubation

Early recovery and neurological assessment to determine any complication or new neurological deficits are the goals. However, the clinical condition and the nature of the surgery performed largely determine whether to extubate the trachea or continue elective mechanical ventilation during the postoperative period. Children with high cervical injury, preoperative respiratory or cardiovascular compromise, and prolonged surgeries are some of the common reasons for postoperative ventilation [46].

Intraoperative Neuromonitoring

Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM) is now a standard of care in spine surgery [47]. Various monitoring modalities available are wake-up test, somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP), motor evoked potentials (MEP), and dermatomal responses.

Wake-Up Test

First described by Vauzelle et al. in 1973 [48], it assesses the anterior, i.e., motor functions, of the spinal cord [49]. It can be performed with both inhalation and IV anesthesia. A standard wake-up test is not possible in infants and small children. In this age group, alternative techniques like tetanic stimulation of lower limbs can be performed [50]. The major disadvantage of the wake-up test is that it cannot assess spinal cord function continuously during the procedure. Also, accidental extubation and air embolism on deep inspiration are practical complications.

Somatosensory Evoked Potentials (SSEP)

Baseline potentials must be recorded to document neurological dysfunction and to assess the feasibility of IONM. A decrease in amplitude of more than 50% and/or increase in latency by 10% is considered significant. Anesthetic agents, level of surgical stimulation, hypothermia, etc. interfere with SSEP. Volatile agents, cold, hypoxia, hypercarbia, and spinal ischemia suppress both SSEPs and MEPs [51].

Motor Evoked Potentials (MEP)

Transcranial MEPs (TcMEP) play a critical role in spine surgery. They are extremely sensitive to the effects of inhalational anesthetics and neuromuscular blockers [52]. Hence, muscle relaxants are to be used sparingly. Ideally, tcMEP monitoring must commence before intubation. IV anesthetic agents like propofol, ketamine, and opioids should be preferred.

Specific Intraoperative Considerations

Important considerations in pediatric spine surgeries include positioning, spinal cord monitoring, blood conservation strategies, and management of complications, including new neurologic deficits.

Positioning

With an unstable cervical spine, the risk of secondary neurological injury during positioning is high. While positioning a patient supine, the logroll technique and a sliding board should preferably be used.

The prone position is the most commonly used position for spine surgeries. The patient lies with the face facing the floor, and chest and iliac crests are supported by bolsters or jelly rolls such that there is no compression of the abdomen. The head is placed neutral in a headrest or turned to one side. In older children and adolescents, special frames like Wilson's frame or Relton-Hall frame may be used for specific surgical procedures or special operating table, e.g., Allen[®] (Hillrom; United States) may be used for complex spine surgeries requiring rotation of the patient from supine to prone and vice versa under anesthesia.

Most complications associated with prone position can be prevented by meticulous attention to minute details. The endotracheal tube must be carefully secured, and all lines should be free before making the patient prone to avoid accidental extubation and dislodgement of vascular access. The eye must be taped and properly padded to prevent corneal abrasions, conjunctival edema, and postoperative visual loss. Free abdominal movement is essential to ensure adequate ventilation, reduce intra-abdominal pressure, and reduce bleeding from the epidural plexus. Macroglossia can be prevented by proper head and neck positioning.

Spinal Cord Blood Flow (SCBF)

A single anterior spinal artery supplies the anterior two-thirds of the spinal cord, while the posterior one-third is supplied by a pair of posterior spinal arteries that form a plexus. There is no collateral flow between the anterior and posterior circulations. There are watershed areas at upper thoracic and lumbar levels making the cord vulnerable to ischemia.

Spinal cord metabolism is lower than that of the brain; SCBF is lower than cerebral blood flow (CBF). Animal data suggest that both SCBF and CBF are regulated by similar factors [53]. Spinal cord perfusion pressure is equal to the difference between the mean arterial pressure and extrinsic pressure on the spinal cord. Extrinsic pressure might occur due to tumor, hematoma, or spinal venous congestion. The autoregulation limits are 45–180 mmHg and may be affected by severe hypoxia, hypercapnia, and trauma [53].

Blood Conservation Strategies

Spine surgeries are prone to major bleeding. Adequate blood and blood products are a prerequisite for surgery. Acute normovolemic hemodilution (if feasible), antifibrinolytic agents (tranexamic acid, ϵ -aminocaproic acid) [54], good surgical technique and hemostasis, correct positioning when prone, hypotensive anesthesia (only with adequate cord monitoring), use of cell saver, intrathecal opioids, and monitor use of coagulation products are techniques that help in blood conservation.

Intraoperative Complications and New Neurological Deficits

Intraoperative complications include secondary injury to the spinal cord, pneumo- and hemothorax, blood loss, and cardiac arrest. Spinal cord injuries can occur due to direct surgical trauma to the cord, distraction injury due to instrumentation, improper positioning, and hypotension or during intubation. If a new neurological deficit is identified intraoperatively, corrective measures like removing the instrument and correction of metabolic causes should be performed. IONM remains the standard of care in spine surgeries to avoid permanent neurologic deficits.

32.5.3.3 Postoperative Management

Postoperative Pain Management

Cervical spine surgeries are associated with the least amount of pain, while thoracic and lumbar spinal fusion and instrumentation are associated with the maximum pain. Various techniques used in pediatric patients include opioids, neuraxial techniques (intrathecal, epidural), regional blocks, wound infiltration, and non-opioid analgesics [55]. Older children can use patientcontrolled analgesia (PCA). Currently, a multimodal regimen involving different analgesic techniques is preferred for the management of pain.

Management of Complications

Postoperative complications include the neurologic deficit, visual loss, arachnoiditis, epidural hematoma, anemia, coagulopathy, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leak, atelectasis, pneumonia, urinary retention, paralytic ileus, and DVT. Anterior cervical procedures may be complicated by dysphagia, hoarseness of voice, and airway compromise due to hematoma or edema. Awareness of these complications is important for the prevention and management of postoperative complications.

Deep Venous Thrombosis (DVT)

DVT is reported in 2.3–6% of spine surgeries [56]; hypotension, hypovolemia, and hypothermia predispose it. Prolonged or multiple level surgeries and lumbar surgeries further increase the risk of postoperative DVT [57]. Mechanical prophylaxis for low-risk patients and combined mechanical and pharmacological prophylaxis for high-risk patients are advised, preferably, within 48–72 h of surgery [58].

Anterior Spinal Artery Syndrome

Anterior spinal artery (ASA) syndrome results from spinal cord ischemia in the region supplied by ASA. It generally occurs after surgeries involving aortic cross-clamping but may also occur from persistent hypoperfusion or vertebral injury. Clinical features include a motor weakness that is more than the sensory symptoms; the causative factors need to be corrected.

Postoperative Visual Loss (POVL)

POVL is reported in 0.2% cases after spine surgery [59]. Preoperative anemia, blood transfusion, use of Wilson frame, prolonged procedures (>6 h), and posterior approach surgeries are some of the factors that predispose to POVL [60]. Postoperative visual assessment and ophthalmologic evaluation in case of the deficit should be performed.

Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) Leak

Dural tear as part of the surgery or inadvertently causes CSF leak. If left unrepaired, the leak can cause headaches and meningitis.

Epidural Hematoma

An epidural hematoma may occur due to trauma itself or iatrogenically. It may further be complicated by mass effect and subsequent neurologic deficits. An MRI of the spine is the preferred method to evaluate an epidural hematoma.

32.5.4 Intensive Care Management

Pediatric spine trauma patients may require intensive care unit (ICU) admission either for conservative management or after surgery. ICU management is the continuity of care, which begins early in the emergency department (ED). It has a similar focus on stabilization and secondary injury prevention with additional considerations like adrenal insufficiency, autonomic dysfunction, ongoing shock, temperature dysregulation, bowel dysfunction, neurogenic bowel and/or bladder, appropriate nutrition, and prevention of venous thromboembolism and decubitus ulcers [61].

32.5.4.1 Hemodynamic Management

Patients with acute spine injury are prone to neurogenic, hemorrhagic, and/or mixed shock, which necessitates early stabilization in the ED and subsequent management in the ICU. Neurogenic shock leads to vasodilatation and hypotension without a compensatory rise in heart rate. There is unopposed parasympathetic activity due to loss of sympathetic fibers. The risk of neurogenic shock is more with higher SCI and severe (complete) cord injury. These patients may respond to IV fluids but usually will require vasoactive/ionotropic support. Drugs having both α and β agonist activity like noradrenaline, adrenaline, or dopa-

mine will be required to maintain blood pressure and prevent reflex bradycardia. Spinal cord injury below T5 will present with hypotension without bradycardia, and drug with an α -agonist activity like phenylephrine is reasonable in such cases.

In cases of polytrauma with a spine injury, hemorrhage may lead to hypovolemic or mixed shock. Aggressive fluid resuscitation and vasopressors may be required to treat hypovolemia and hypotension and control bleeding. The treatment of hypotension is important to ensure adequate organ perfusion and prevent ischemia of the spinal cord. Since many patients with SCI present with some degree of shock, management of shock is crucial during the early stages of ICU stay. Moreover, SCI patients with neurogenic shock are at risk of developing relative adrenal insufficiency and may require hydrocortisone supplementation [62]. These patients have reduced catecholamines, and orthostatic hypotension may persist even after achieving hemodynamic stability, which gradually resolves over a period of time [63].

Bradycardia is common in high spinal cord injury due to loss of sympathetic supply to the heart and parasympathetic overactivity. These patients are also at higher risk of non-specific ST changes and other arrhythmias. A procedure like tracheal suctioning or intubation may trigger severe bradycardia (requiring treatment with atropine) or even cardiac arrest.

32.5.4.2 Respiratory Management

A significant number of patients with SCI present with respiratory compromise. This is particularly seen in patients with cervical cord injury. Depending on the severity of respiratory compromise, patients may require mechanical ventilation support. Nearly half of the patients with cervical cord injury may require prolonged mechanical ventilation [64]. The strategy of mechanical ventilation should be individualized based on the requirement and lung condition. Aggressive respiratory management is needed to prevent secondary lung infections and to wean from a mechanical ventilator. Early tracheostomy should be considered in children where prolonged mechanical ventilation is anticipated. Tracheostomy improves respiratory care and facilitates early weaning from mechanical ventilation, thereby allowing early mobilization.

32.5.4.3 Management of Autonomic Dysfunctions

Autonomic dysfunctions (or autonomic dysreflexia) in SCI patients result from unopposed afferent stimulation distal to injury level. It is seen in 20–70% of patients with SCI above the T6 level and is unlikely to occur in injuries below the T10 level [65]. Autonomic dysreflexia usually develops weeks to months after the injury but has also been reported as early as the first day following injury.

Any stimulation below the level of injury may initiate the afferent impulse that elicits reflex sympathetic activity. This causes diffuse vasoconstriction and a rise in blood pressure. In normal individuals, this is counteracted by stimulation of baroreceptors in the carotid sinus leading to increased parasympathetic outflow, causing vasodilation and slowing of heart rate. However, in patients with SCI, the parasympathetic impulse cannot travel below the injury level, thereby leading to unopposed sympathetic vasoconstriction below the injury level, causing systemic hypertension. However, the compensatory parasympathetic response occurs above the injury level, causing bradycardia and vasodilation above the injury level.

These patients present with varied manifestations that include severe headache, visual disturbances, nasal stuffiness, anxiety, nausea and vomiting, diaphoresis, flushing, and piloerection above the injury level. The skin may be dry and pale because of vasoconstriction below the level of injury. Hypertension may be asymptomatic or severe to cause hypertensive crisis complicated by left ventricular dysfunction and pulmonary edema. Retinal detachment, seizures, intracranial bleed (hemorrhagic stroke), and death have also been reported. Common stimuli that cause autonomic dysreflexia are distension of bladder or rectum, urinary tract infections, urinary bladder catheterization, pressure ulcers, fractures, and surgical procedures below the injury level. Treatment includes control of blood pressure and

removal of noxious stimuli. Blood pressure should be monitored closely, and any possible stimulus like bladder or bowel distension or infection should be treated. If the trigger cannot be identified or blood pressure remains high, pharmacological treatment with drugs having a rapid onset and short duration of action should be initiated, e.g., nitrates (sublingual), nifedipine (oral or sublingual), captopril (sublingual), IV hydralazine, labetalol (if no bradycardia), or infusions of nitroglycerine or clevidipine (with close titration of infusion using intra-arterial pressure monitoring).

32.5.4.4 Prophylaxis of Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT)

Children with significant SCI are at risk of developing DVT and thrombo-embolization due to immobilization of limbs and body. The incidence of venous thromboembolism in the pediatric trauma population is reported to be 0.2–0.33%, and SCI is an independent risk factor for venous thromboembolism [66]. The risk of venous thromboembolism is higher in adolescents compared to infants and children. Thus, mechanical and/or pharmacological prophylaxis should be used based on the appropriateness of each patient. Early mobility decreases the risk of VTE.

32.5.4.5 Bowel and Bladder Dysfunctions

Neurogenic shock in SCI patients may result in shock bowel syndrome due to prolonged periods of bowel hypoperfusion. These patients should be managed with aggressive volume resuscitation to restore perfusion to the injured bowel. Bowel and bladder dysfunction are common in patients with SCI, ranging from incontinence to retention. An appropriate regimen for the evacuation of bowel and bladder and proper hygiene is important for providing comfort and preventing infection. Neurogenic bowel regimens may include the use of drugs like stool softeners and laxatives. Neurogenic bladder may require aseptic intermittent catheterization for retention or drugs like oxybutynin to control urinary incontinence.

32.5.4.6 Thermo-Dysregulation

Patients with SCI may manifest with altered body temperature regulation such as poikilothermia (body temperature varies according to environmental temperature) or quad-fever (fever occurring for weeks to months after injury) [67, 68]. This thermo-dysregulation is more common in high SCI patients [67].

32.5.4.7 Nutritional Care

Early enteral nutrition is the goal and should be started as early as possible. Determining each individual's appropriate calorie requirement is crucial to provide adequate nutrition and improve health and recovery. Immobility also leads to bone demineralization and osteopenia, particularly in patients with high SCI. Vitamin D deficiency is common in these patients, and it should be supplemented. The spontaneous pathological fracture may develop due to osteopenia [69].

32.5.4.8 Prevention of Decubitus Ulcers

Frequent change of patient's position at regular intervals (every 2–3 h) and air mattresses are important to prevent decubitus ulcers.

32.6 Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation in children with spinal cord injuries poses unique challenges due to the complex developmental process of the child. Thus, the approach should be age-appropriate and familycentered with the active involvement of parents in child development. Generally, the rehabilitation care following SCI is divided into acute and longterm phases [70]. In an acute setting, the goals are to prevent muscle contractures and muscle wasting, as well as to prevent pressure ulcers [71]. The long-term challenges in chronic SCI management include regaining function for daily living activities, maintaining muscle mass, and re-establishing family and community involvement [61].

The SCI in children can result in spasticity or may affect the growth and development of the skeleton requiring orthopedic correction procedures.

Spasticity, caused by upper motor neuron injury, is usually managed by non-pharmacological modalities like physical therapy, hydrotherapy, as well as by drugs [5]. Physical therapy includes a range of motion exercises and passive stretching that reduces spasticity and improves the movement range over time. Hydrotherapy also helps to decrease the spasticity and lower the requirement of antispasmodic medications. Various oral drugs have been used to treat spasticity, the most common being baclofen, which acts as an agonist on GABA (inhibitory) receptors. Children with focal hypertonicity may benefit from intramuscular injections of botulinum toxin. It inhibits the release of acetylcholine from the pre-synaptic axons at the neuromuscular junctions [72]. Pediatric SCI may cause spastic hip subluxation or dislocation. This is a common sequel involving over 90% of children with SCI below 10 years of age. Moreover, injury before spine maturity may lead to spine deformity such as scoliosis, and two-thirds of these children will require surgical interventions in the later part of life [5]. Stem cell-based interventions for SCI are still in experimental stages. Animal studies have shown some benefit, but clinical studies so far have not shown encouraging results.

The primary aim of rehabilitation is to gain independence, which can be achieved either by restorative or compensatory interventions. Exercises appropriate for the child (designed/ modified according to the patient's limitations), electrical stimulation, and prostheses enhance the ability to restore independence and maintain an active lifestyle [73]. Involvement with the community and participation with diverse peer group improves the quality of life and emotional health [74].

32.7 Conclusion

Pediatric spine injury, though rare, is a devastating entity. Appropriate and timely management of these children may prevent secondary injuries and help to achieve a better outcome. The management includes maintenance of airway, circulation, and immobilization of spine in the pre-hospital setting and early resuscitation in ED and ICU with a focus of care on treating shock, respiratory insufficiency, and stabilization of an unstable neck and/or spine while preventing the secondary injuries, simultaneously [**61**]. Radiology plays an important role in determining the extent of the injury and the need for surgery. However, interpretation of imaging requires an understanding of age-related differences between pediatric and adult spines. Although there is no evidence regarding the appropriate timing of surgery in pediatric patients, early surgical intervention and stabilization of the spine can facilitate early mobilization of these children and reduce complications. Perioperative management should aim at maintaining hemodynamic and respiratory parameters, facilitate surgical conditions and neuromonitoring, prevent perioperative complications, minimize pain, and enhance early recovery. Most of the children will require long-term rehabilitation to gain independence and improve their quality of life. Family and community support can play a major role in helping the child adjust and cope with long-term challenges and transform a potentially life-ending injury to a life filled with new possibilities and hope.

Conflict of Interest None to Declare.

References

- Nitecki S, Moir CR. Predictive factors of the outcome of traumatic cervical spine fracture in children. J Pediatr Surg. 1994;29:1409–11.
- Jones TM, Anderson PA, Noonan KJ. Pediatric cervical spine trauma. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19:600–11.
- Rush JK, Kelly DM, Astur N, Creek A, Dawkins R, Younas S, Warner WC Jr, Sawyer JR. Associated injuries in children and adolescents with spinal trauma. J Pediatr Orthop. 2013;33:393–7.
- Brown RL, Brunn MA, Garcia VF. Cervical spine injuries in children: a review of 103 patients treated consecutively at a level 1 pediatric trauma center. J Pediatr Surg. 2001;36:1107–14.
- Tatka J, Elbayer J, Vojdani S, Pallotta N, Malik A, Barsi J. Pediatric spinal cord injury. J Spine. 2016;S7:007.
- Reynolds R. Pediatric spinal injury. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2000;12:67–71.
- Vanderhave KL, Chiravuri V, Caird MS, Farley FA, Graziano GP, Hensinger RN, Patel RD. Cervical spine

trauma in children and adults: perioperative considerations. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19:319–27.

- Vitale MG, Goss JM, Matsumoto H, Roye DP Jr. Epidemiology of pediatric spinal cord injury in the United States: years 1997 and 2000. J Pediatr Orthop. 2006;26:745–9.
- 9. Roche C, Carty H. Spinal trauma in children. Pediatr Radiol. 2001;31:677–700.
- Cirak B, Ziegfeld S, Knight VM, Chang D, Avellino AM, Paidas CN. Spinal injuries in children. J Pediatr Surg. 2004;39:607–12.
- Iida H, Tachibana S, Kitahara T, Horiike S, Ohwada T, Fujii K. Association of head trauma with cervical spine injury, spinal cord injury, or both. J Trauma. 1999;46:450–2.
- Michael DB, Guyot DR, Darmody WR. Coincidence of head and cervical spine injury. J Neurotrauma. 1989;6:177–89.
- Piatt JH Jr. Pediatric spinal injury in the US: epidemiology and disparities. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;16:463–71.
- Basu S. Spinal injuries in children. Front Neurol. 2012;3:96.
- Ruge JR, Sinson GP, McLone DG, Cerullo LJ. Pediatric spinal injury: the very young. J Neurosurg. 1988;68:25–30.
- DeVivo MJ, Vogel LC. Epidemiology of spinal cord injury in children and adolescents. J Spinal Cord Med. 2004;27(Suppl 1):S4–10.
- Vogel LC. Unique management needs of pediatric spinal cord injury patients: introduction. J Spinal Cord Med. 1997;20:9.
- Singh A, Goyal N, Gupta DK, Mahapatra AK. An overview of spinal injuries in children: series of 122 cases. Indian J Neurotrauma. 2011;8:25–32.
- Bohn D, Armstrong D, Becker L, Humphreys R. Cervical spine injuries in children. J Trauma. 1990;30:463–9.
- Viccellio P, Simon H, Pressman BD, Shah MN, Mower WR, Hoffman JR. NEXUS Group A prospective multicenter study of cervical spine injury in children. Pediatrics. 2001;108:E20.
- Rozzelle CJ, Aarabi B, Dhall SS, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Ryken TC, Theodore N, Walters BC, Hadley MN. Management of pediatric cervical spine and spinal cord injuries. Neurosurgery. 2013;72(Suppl 2):205–26.
- Swischuk LE, Swischuk PN, John SD. Wedging of C-3 in infants and children: usually a normal finding and not a fracture. Radiology. 1993;188:523–6.
- Nader-Sepahi A, Casey AT, Hayward R, Crockard HA, Thompson D. Symptomatic atlantoaxial instability in down syndrome. Neurosurgery. 2005;103:231–7.
- McCall T, Fassett D, Brockmeyer D. Cervical spine trauma in children: a review. Neurosurg Focus. 2006;20:E5.
- Slack SE, Clancy MJ. Clearing the cervical spine of pediatric trauma patients. Emerg Med J. 2004;21:189–93.

- Crosby ET. Airway management in adults after cervical spine trauma. Anesthesiology. 2006;104:1293–318.
- Criswell JC, Parr MJ, Nolan JP. Emergency airway management in patients with cervical spine injuries. Anaesthesia. 1994;49:900–3.
- 28. Herzenberg JE, Hensinger RN, Dedrick DK, Phillips WA. Emergency transport and positioning of young children who have an injury of the cervical spine: the standard backboard may be hazardous. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1989;71:15–22.
- 29. Thiboutot F, Nicole PC, Trépanier CA, Turgeon AF, Lessard MR. Effect of manual in-line stabilization of the cervical spine in adults on the rate of difficult orotracheal intubation by direct laryngoscopy: a randomized controlled trial. Can J Anaesth. 2009;56:412–8.
- Majernick TG, Bieniek R, Houston JB, Hughes HG. Cervical spine movement during orotracheal intubation. Ann Emerg Med. 1986;15:417–20.
- 31. Sawin PD, Todd MM, Traynelis VC, Farrell SB, Nader A, Sato Y, Clausen JD, Goel VK. Cervical spine motion with direct laryngoscopy and orotracheal intubation: an in vivo cinefluoroscopic study of subjects without cervical abnormality. Anesthesiology. 1996;85:26–36.
- 32. Fitzgerald RD, Krafft P, Skrbensky G, Pernerstorfer T, Steiner E, Kapral S, Weinstabl C. Excursions of the cervical spine during tracheal intubation: blind oral intubation compared with direct laryngoscopy. Anaesthesia. 1994;49:111–5.
- 33. Robitaille A, Williams SR, Tremblay MH, Guilbert F, Thériault M, Drolet P. Cervical spine motion during tracheal intubation with manual in-line stabilization: direct laryngoscopy versus GlideScope videolaryngoscopy. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:935–41.
- Manninen PH, Jose GB, Lukitto K, Venkatraghavan L, El Beheiry H. Management of the airway in patients undergoing cervical spine surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2007;19:190–4.
- Mahoney BD, Ruiz E. Acute resuscitation of the patient with head and spinal cord injuries. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 1983;1:583–94.
- Lauweryns P. Role of conservative treatment of cervical spine injuries. Eur Spine J. 2010;19(suppl 1):S23–6.
- Letts M, Kaylor D, Gouw G. A biomechanical analysis of halo fixation in children. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1988;70:277–9.
- Dormans JP, Criscitiello AA, Drummond DS, Davidson RS. Complications in children managed with immobilization in a halo vest. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1995;77:1370–3.
- Dickman CA, Papadopoulos SM, Sonntag VK, Spetzler RF, Rekate HL, Drabier J. Traumatic occipitoatlantal dislocations. J Spinal Disord. 1993;6:300–13.
- MacKinnon J, Perlman M, Kirpalani H, Rehan V, Sauve R, Kovacs L. Spinal cord injury at birth: diagnostic and prognostic data in twenty-two patients. J Pediatr. 1993;122:431–7.

- Pang D, Hanley EN. Special problems of spinal stabilization in children. In: Cooper P, editor. Management of posttraumatic spinal instability. Park Ridge: Am Assoc Neurol Surgeons; 1990. p. 181–206.
- Mandabach M, Ruge JR, Hahn YS, McLone DG. Pediatric axis fractures: early halo immobilization, management and outcome. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1993;19:225–32.
- Fassett DR, McCall T, Brockmeyer DL. Odontoid synchondrosis fractures in children. Neurosurg Focus. 2006;20:E7.
- 44. Eyres R. Update on TIVA. Paediatr Anaesth. 2004;14:374–9.
- Kikura M, Batman BT, Tanaka KA. Perioperative ischemic stroke in noncardiovascular surgery patients. J Anesth. 2010;24:733–8.
- Almenrader N, Patel D. Spinal fusion surgery in children with non-idiopathic scoliosis: is there a need for routine postoperative ventilation? Br J Anaesth. 2006;97:851–7.
- 47. Sale F, Krzan MJ, Deletis V. Intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring in pediatric neurosurgery: why, when, how? Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18:264–87.
- Vauzelle C, Stagnara P, Jouvinroux P. Functional monitoring of spinal cord activity during spinal surgery. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1973;93:173–8.
- 49. Dorgan JC, Abbott TR, Bentley G. Intra-operative awakening to monitor spinal cord function during scoliosis surgery. Description of the technique and report of four cases. Bone Joint Surg Br. 1984;66:716–9.
- Polly DW Jr, Klemme WR, Fontana JL, Sterbis MD. A modified wake up test for use in very young children undergoing spinal surgery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2000;20:64–5.
- Boisseau N, Madany M, Staccini P, Armando G, Martin F, Grimaud D, Raucoules-Aimé M. Comparison of the effects of sevoflurane and propofol on cortical somatosensory evoked potentials. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88:785–9.
- Hilibrand AS, Schwartz DM, Sethuraman V, Vaccaro AR, Albert TJ. Comparison of transcranial electric motor and somatosensory evoked potential monitoring during cervical spine surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2004;86:1248–53.
- Rubinstein A, Arbit E. Spinal cord blood flow in the rat under normal physiological conditions. Neurosurgery. 1990;27:882–6.
- Sethna NF, Zurakowski D, Brustowicz RM, Bacsik J, Sullivan LJ, Shapiro F. Tranexamic acid reduced intraoperative blood loss in pediatric patients undergoing scoliosis surgery. Anesthesiology. 2005;102:727–32.
- 55. Fisher CG, Belanger L, Gofton EG, Umedaly HS, Noonan VK, Abramson C, Wing PC, Brown J, Dvorak MF. Prospective randomized clinical trial comparing patient-controlled intravenous analgesia with patientcontrolled epidural analgesia after lumbar spinal fusion. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28:739–43.
- Cheng JS, Arnold PM, Anderson PA, Fischer D, Dettori JR. Anticoagulation risk in spine surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2010;35(9 suppl):S117–24.
- Oda T, Fuji T, Kato Y, Fujita S, Kanemitsu N. Deep venous thrombosis after posterior spinal surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2000;25:2962–7.
- Christie S, Thibault-Halman G, Casha S. Acute pharmacological DVT prophylaxis after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28:1509–14.
- 59. Shen Y, Drum M, Roth S. The prevalence of perioperative visual loss in the United States: a 10-year study from 1996-2005 of spinal, orthopedic, cardiac, and general surgery. Anesth Analg. 2009;109:1534–45.
- 60. American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Perioperative Visual Loss. Practice advisory for perioperative visual loss associated with spine surgery: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on perioperative visual loss. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:274–85.
- Lemley K, Bauer P. Pediatric spinal cord injury: recognition of injury and initial resuscitation, in hospital management, and coordination of care. J Pediatr Intensive Care. 2015;4:27–34.
- Pastrana EA, Saavedra FM, Murray G, Estronza S, Rolston JD, Rodriguez-Vega G. Acute adrenal insufficiency in cervical spinal cord injury. World Neurosurg. 2012;77:561–3.
- Claydon VE, Steeves JD, Krassioukov A. Orthostatic hypotension following spinal cord injury: understanding clinical pathophysiology. Spinal Cord. 2006;44:341–51.
- Lemons VR, Wagner FC Jr. Respiratory complications after cervical spinal cord injury. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1994;19:2315–20.
- 65. Allen KJ, Leslie SW. Autonomic Dysreflexia. [Updated 2020 Sep 25]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482434/ (Assessed 27 October 2020).
- Thompson AJ, McSwain SD, Webb SA, Stroud MA, Streck CJ. Venous thromboembolism prophylaxis

in the pediatric trauma population. J Pediatr Surg. 2013;48:1413–21.

- 67. Krassioukov AV, Karlsson AK, Wecht JM, Wuermser LA, Mathias CJ, Marino RJ, Joint Committee of American Spinal Injury Association and International Spinal Cord Society. Assessment of autonomic dysfunction following spinal cord injury: rationale for additions to International Standards for Neurological Assessment. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2007;44:103–12.
- Sugarman B, Brown D, Musher D. Fever and infection in spinal cord injury patients. JAMA. 1982;248:66–70.
- Betz RR. Unique management needs of pediatric spinal cord injury patients: orthopedic problems in the child with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. 1997;20:14–6.
- Nas K, Yazmalar L, Şah V, Aydın A, Öneş K. Rehabilitation of spinal cord injuries. World J Orthop. 2015;6:8–16.
- 71. Yue JK, Winkler EA, Rick JW, Deng H, Partow CP, Upadhyayula PS, Birk HS, Chan AK, Dhall SS. Update on critical care for acute spinal cord injury in the setting of polytrauma. Neurosurg Focus. 2017;43:E19.
- Kaji R, Osako Y, Suyama K, Maeda T, Uechi Y, Iwasaki M, GSK1358820 Spasticity Study Group. Botulinum toxin type A in post-stroke lower limb spasticity: a multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J Neurol. 2010;257:1330–7.
- Bryden AM, Ancans J, Mazurkiewicz J, McKnight A, Scholtens M. Technology for spinal cord injury rehabilitation and its application to youth. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2012;5:287–99.
- 74. Kelly EH, Klaas SJ, Garma S, Russell HF, Vogel LC. Participation and quality of life among youth with spinal cord injury. J Pediatr Rehabil Med. 2012;5:315–25.



33

Anesthesia for Interventional Neuroradiologic Procedures in Children

Ranadhir Mitra (p, Leve Joseph Devarajan Sebastian (p, Ritesh Lamsal (p, and Girija Prasad Rath (p)

Key Points

- Anesthesia for neurointervention in pediatric patients assumes greater significance with advances in neurointervention technology, including advances in coils, catheters, embolization devices, and other equipment.
- It is challenging to provide anesthesia in a non-operating room for the pediatric patient where at one end of the spectrum there is the concern of radiation and monitoring while, at the other end, there are specific challenges

L. J. D. Sebastian

R. Lamsal

that may arise during the process of intervention.

- All elective cases should ideally undergo a detailed preoperative anesthesia assessment, but sometimes an on-table evaluation is carried out due to emergency nature of the procedure. The nature of urgency of the procedure should be discussed with the radiologist, neurologist, or neurosurgeon to allow proper scheduling or resource allocation.
- The neuroanesthesiologist should provide immobility, periodic ventilatory variations, and smooth recovery with a watch on intracranial pressure.

33.1 Introduction

Interventional neuroradiology has advanced by leaps and bounds in the current decade due to advancements in both hardware and imaging. The scope of neurovascular intervention in children is important as even though pediatric brain malformations are rare (0.06–0.11%), the risk of rupture is higher than in adults [1] and is the most common cause of spontaneous intracranial hemorrhage and recurrent debilitating seizures in this age group. For the neuroanesthesiologist, it brings to the table the issues of maintaining physiology of the brain and difficulties of administering anesthesia in the unfamiliar non-operative environment along with the usual challenges of a

R. Mitra

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Neurocritical Care, Utkal Institute of Medical Sciences and Hospital, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

Department of Neuroimaging and Interventional Neuroradiology, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

Department of Anaesthesiology, Tribhuvan University Teaching Hospital, Institute of Medicine, Kathmandu, Nepal e-mail: ritesh.lamsal@mmc.tu.edu.np

G. P. Rath (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, Neurosciences Centre, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_33

pediatric patient. The commonly encountered pediatric neurointerventional procedures may be diagnostic or therapeutic (Table 33.1).

33.2 Relevant Neuroanatomy

The vascular neuroanatomy of a child is different from an adult because of the inflexibility of the vasculature and the associated physiology, which can rapidly produce symptoms or be lethal, unlike in an adult. The parent artery supplying the anterior cerebral circulation is the internal carotid artery (ICA), which consists of seven embryonic segments and is classified by Bouthillier [9] as C1 (cervical), C2 (petrous), C3 (lacerum), C4 (cavernous), C5 (clinoid), C6 (ophthalmic), and C7 (communicating). The variations in the ICA occur in the segmental agenesis of the embryonic segments or deviations in the course. The branches of these segments and their anatomical knowledge are important to anticipate complications during the intervention (Table 33.2). The posterior circulation is supplied by the vertebral arteries (VA) that combine to form the basilar artery (BA),

 Table 33.1
 Commonly practiced pediatric neurointerventional procedures

| Diagnostic procedures | Therapeutic procedures |
|---------------------------|------------------------------|
| Cerebral or combined | Embolization of |
| cerebral and spinal | congenital pial |
| angiography for [1, 2] | arteriovenous |
| known or suspected | malformation (AVM) in |
| vascular malformations, | the brain [2], dural AV |
| vasculitis, moyamoya | shunts [3], the vein of |
| disease, intracranial | Galen malformation |
| hemorrhage, headache, | (VOGM) [4], extracranial |
| acute stroke, intractable | vascular lesions of head |
| epistaxis | and neck, and spinal |
| To diagnose neoplasm | vascular malformations [5] |
| or infection and | Ischemic/embolic stroke |
| fluoroscopy-guided | intervention within the |
| biopsy of lesions | window period [6] |
| | Catheter-based |
| | mechanical or chemical |
| | thrombolysis in dural |
| | sinus thrombosis [7] |
| | • Intra-arterial delivery of |
| | chemotherapy (melphalan) |
| | as a treatment for |
| | retinoblastoma |

which then divides into the posterior cerebral arteries (PCA) (Table 33.3).

Collateral or anastomotic pathways are vascular pathways, which provide alternate perfusion if the primary vessel is occluded. They include primary collaterals from the circle of Willis (CoW) and secondary collaterals from the ophthalmic artery (extracranial-intracranial pathways) and leptomeningeal vessels. The CoW collaterals are useful in acute and chronic cerebrovascularocclusive diseases (CVOD). However, a complete CoW is present in only 40% of cases [10]. Extracranial-intracranial anastomosis is useful in chronic CVOD and more so when any material injected into the external carotid artery blocks the anastomosis. Leptomeningeal vessels supply the watershed zone and have a role in acute infarct of those areas during hypotensive episodes.

33.3 Pre-Procedural Preparation of the Child

A quick pre-intervention evaluation by the anesthesiologist needs to be carried out when a child is posted for interventional procedures. Most of these interventions are carried out as daycare procedures, e.g., spinal arteriovenous fistula (AVF), intra-arterial chemotherapy for retinoblastoma, etc.

33.4 History

An important history in a pediatric patient is about fasting hours or nil per oral status. This is followed by a detailed history of the current illness. The important points in this regard are the following:

- **Cavernous malformation**: They most commonly present with seizures (45%) and cerebral hemorrhage (41%).
- Hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia: The most common presentation is epistaxis, while the central nervous system (CNS) lesions can also present with stroke, transient ischemic attack (TIA), and abscess.

| ICA segments | Branches | Areas of brain supplied | Clinical importance |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| C4 | Tentorial and inferior hypophyseal artery | Nearby cranial nerves | Anastomose with the external carotid artery (ECA) |
| C5 | Ophthalmic artery (OA) | Eyeball, ocular muscles, etc. | When there is the regression of OA, then the entire orbit is supplied by the middle meningeal artery, and with this variant, any tumor embolization (e.g., meningioma) supplied by ECA can cause blindness |
| Terminal ICA divides into anterior cerebral artery (ACA) [A1 (horizontal segment), A2 (vertical segment), A3 (genu segment), and A4–A5 (terminal portions)] and middle cerebral artery (MCA) [M1 (horizontal segment), M2 (insular segment), M3 (opercular segment), and M4 (cortical branches)] | A1 \rightarrow small perforating branches called medial lenticulostriate arteries (out of which the largest is the recurrent artery of Heubner) A2 \rightarrow orbitofrontal artery and frontopolar artery A3 \rightarrow pericallosal and callosomarginal artery M1 \rightarrow medial and lateral lenticulostriate (LS) arteries, anterior | The superficial and deep branches supply the inferior frontal lobe, the medial surface of the frontal and parietal lobes, anterior corpus callosum, deeper cerebrum, diencephalon, the limbic structure, head of caudate, and the anterior limb of the internal capsule $LS \rightarrow$ perforating branches Supplying basal ganglia and capsular regions ATA \rightarrow anterior temporal lobe | Hypoplastic A1 occurs more commonly than aplastic A1 Aplastic A1 occurs with ACom (anterior communicating artery) aneurysm where any compromise of the neck can lead to frontal lobe infarct |

| Tabl | e 33.2 | Internal | carotid artery | (ICA) |) segments, | their | branches, | and | suppl | y areas | wit | h the | eir c | linical | imp | licatio | ons |
|------|--------|----------|----------------|-------|-------------|-------|-----------|-----|-------|---------|-----|-------|-------|---------|-----|---------|-----|
|------|--------|----------|----------------|-------|-------------|-------|-----------|-----|-------|---------|-----|-------|-------|---------|-----|---------|-----|

Table 33.3 Vertebral artery (VA) and basilar artery (BA) branches and areas supplied with their clinical importance

| Artery | Branches | Areas of the brain supplied | Clinical importance |
|--------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| VA | PICA (posterior inferior cerebellar artery) | Brainstem, inferior cerebellar hemisphere, vermis, and choroid plexus | Occlusion of PICA (or, vertebral artery) leads to Wallenberg syndrome (neurological manifestation due to involvement of brainstem and cerebellum \rightarrow vertigo, nausea, and truncal ataxia) |
| BA | Anterior Inferior cerebellar (AICA), superior cerebellar (SCA), posterior cerebral arteries (PCA), and brainstem perforators PCA segments are P1(pre-communicating), P2(ambient), P3 (quadrigeminal), and P4 (terminal) | AICA \rightarrow anterior inferior part of cerebellum, internal auditory meatus nerves SCA \rightarrow superior part of the Cerebellar hemispheres Occipital lobe, the inferior part of the temporal lobe, and various deep structures including the thalamus and the posterior limb of the internal capsule | The most important variant clinically is the "Fetal PCA" where the P1 segment is absent or hypoplastic and the PCom (posterior communicating artery) is larger than the P1 segment [and supplies blood to the PCA from the anterior circulation (or, ICA)] Therefore, in PCOM aneurysm with fetal PCom, any inadvertent block of PCom can lead to occipital infarct |

• Vein of Galen malformation (VOGM): They comprise 30–50% of all vascular malformations in children with an incidence of 1:25,000 [11]. Postnatally, the most common presentation is of congestive cardiac failure (CCF), pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) with respiratory distress, or multiorgan failure [12]. The other presentations are hydrocephalus and macrosomia. The presence of neurological symptoms at presentation implies a poor outcome.

- **Pediatric intracranial aneurysm**: The incidence is around 0.6–4.6% [13] with major clinical symptoms of sudden severe headache, chronic headache, proptosis, hemiparesis, and unconsciousness.
- Moyamoya disease: The most common presentation of moyamoya disease in children is clinical features of cerebral ischemia or infarction (hemiparesis, aphasia, sensory loss, etc.), especially when these features are associated with commonly performed vigorous activities like crying, coughing, or blowing, due to reduced blood carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) levels. There can be symptoms related to posterior circulation ischemia, like visual disturbances [14]. Other presenting features are headache, seizures, or choreiform movements.

An overview of the distribution of vascular malformations in children based on age [15] has been described (Table 33.4). Other anesthesia-related information should include relevant antenatal histories like perinatal hypoxia, determination of gestational age, history of prior anesthesia exposure, adverse drug reactions and allergy, and immunization status.

33.5 Physical Examination

Physical examination should be carried out to record baseline vital parameters, hydration status of the child, airway examination, and assessment of the cardiovascular system (CVS), the respiratory system (RS), and the central nervous system (CNS). The pertinent points during airway examination include the history of chronic cold and stuffed nose, which may indicate the possibility of a high-arched palate, while a history of snoring and nasal regurgitation of liquid may indicate lower cranial nerve involvement (sensitivity to opioid, apneic episodes during recovery) [16]. Medication history includes information of any sedative causing respiratory depression that implies heightened sensitivity to these drugs. The

| | | Vascular |
|-----------|-----------------------|--------------------|
| Age | Clinical features | malformation |
| In-utero | Congestive cardiac | Pial arteriovenous |
| | failure (increased | malformation |
| | heart rate > 200/ | (AVM) of high |
| | min, ventricular | flow nature, vein |
| | premature | of Galen |
| | contraction, | malformation |
| | tricuspid | (VOGM), or dural |
| | regurgitation), | sinus |
| | hydrocephalus, loss | malformations |
| | of brain tissue | |
| Neonatal | Multi-organ failure, | VOGM, pial |
| period | congestive cardiac | AVM, dural sinus |
| | failure, intracranial | malformation |
| | hemorrhage, | |
| | seizures | |
| Infancy | Hydrocephalus, | VOGM, pial |
| | seizures, mental | AVM, aneurysm, |
| | retardation, | cavernoma |
| | intracranial | |
| | hemorrhage | |
| Childhood | Intracranial | Pial AVM, |
| | hemorrhage, | aneurysm, |
| | progressive | cavernoma, dural |
| | neurological | arteriovenous |
| | deficits, seizure, | shunt |
| | headache | |

Table 33.4 Age-wise distribution of neurovascular malformations with clinical features

airway examination is done as per routine practice, and any anticipated difficulty should prompt appropriate preparation. As in the operation room (OR), the neuroanesthesiologist should maintain an adequate depth of anesthesia and muscle relaxation to prevent any undue rise of intracranial pressure (ICP) during airway management [17].

The respiratory system examination should focus on identifying active infection and differentiation between uncomplicated upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) and lower respiratory tract infection (LRTI). Since it takes around 6 weeks for inflammation to resolve, a decision on delaying the intervention may be taken if respiratory tract infection is present in patients scheduled for non-emergent procedures.

The CVS examination is done based on five main aspects [18]: a) breathlessness due to heart failure and the age-related causes (the first week, left heart obstruction, e.g., coarctation or aortic stenosis; the first month, left to right shunt, e.g., ventricular septal defect [VSD], atrial septal defect [ASD], and patent ductus arteriosus [PDA]; after the first month, rheumatic fever, dilated cardiomyopathy, myocarditis, endocarditis, arrhythmia), b) cyanosis, c) dysmorphism, d) failure to thrive, and e) scars on thorax implying previous cardiac surgery.

In the scenario of neurointervention, a diagnosis of VOGM should encourage the anesthesiologist to search for other signs of heart failure. Secondly, heart failure should prompt close monitoring of the volume of heparinized flush used during digital subtraction angiography (DSA) and interventions.

The best signs of dehydration are prolonged capillary refill time, decreased skin turgor, and abnormal respiration. In an emergency scenario, severe dehydration should be resuscitated first by isotonic crystalloids like normal saline (NS) or Ringer's lactate (RL) of about 20–60 ml/kg [19].

CNS examination should document the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score, neurologic deficits, and any signs of raised ICP such as vomiting, anisocoria, depressed respiration, etc.

33.6 Investigation

Currently, the consensus is not to routinely investigate a pediatric patient during the preoperative period until it is reasonably certain that the current history and physical examination findings demand it, or it may improve the outcome of surgery [20, 21]. Certain tests like hemoglobin [22] or electrocardiogram (ECG) [23] are done only if there is any expectant blood loss (unlikely in any endovascular neurointervention) or if there is an audible murmur on auscultation. The investigations that have some merit in pediatric patients posted for endovascular neurointervention are:

 Renal function tests due to exposure to the contrast (associated risk of contrast-induced nephropathy, CIN) and to optimize serum electrolytes (K⁺) before the procedure to reduce the risk of wire-induced arrhythmias. 2. Blood grouping and cross-matching are usually done only when the patient is on anticoagulant medications [24].

33.7 Preprocedural Checklist

After the evaluation of the child, a preprocedural check should be carried out comprising of the following:

- **Support staff or personnel**: Any procedure under moderate sedation to general anesthesia (GA) requires second help or personnel trained in pediatric life support. It is recommended that the sedation provider should be able to manage any sedation deeper than intended.
- **Equipment:** An emergency cart should be available, comprising of all the age-appropriate devices required for the resuscitation of an apneic or unconscious patient.
- **Monitoring devices**: All the standard American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) monitors such as ECG, pulse oximeter with a pediatric probe, capnometer, and size-appropriate noninvasive blood pressure (NIBP) cuff are used. A temperature probe should be used when the age of the child is less than 2 years. In situations like cerebral aneurysms where beat-tobeat blood pressure recording needs to be monitored, invasive arterial blood pressure recording can be done either at the radial artery or the side port of the femoral line used by the radiologist. The defibrillator with ageappropriate paddles should be checked.

Some newer monitoring devices that are used in intervention lab are (a) mask system with mainstream capnograph (cap-ONE from Nihon Kohden Corporation, Japan) [25] that can be used without any advanced airways; (b) piezoelectric apnea alarm sticker attached to the neck to detect lack of airflow >30 s (Masimo RRa, from Masimo Corporation, USA) [26]; and (c) electrical impedance-based spirometry (Respiratory Motion ExSpirion, from RVM, USA) [27].

A final check of informed consent and fasting status (as per ASA) [28, 29] is done. Special precautions include the availability of a lead apron, thyroid shields for protection against radiation, extra-long IV extension lines (e.g., 200 cm long) to administer drugs away from the site of the procedure, pressure bags for rapid infusion, and body warmers like forced-air warming blankets to prevent hypothermia. In-line warming devices for warming the IV infusion line are also useful to prevent hypothermia. Figure 33.1 shows a typical image of a neurointervention suite.

33.8 The Procedure of Neurointervention

The incidence of complications in pediatric patients following neurointervention is lower than in adults due to the straight vascular course (particularly in older children), lack of atherosclerosis, and high collateral flow. The incidence of neurological complications is reported at 0.9% [30] or less [31].

Due to the small radial artery, the femoral artery is the preferred route of vascular access for angiography. The arterial puncture may be difficult due to the smaller caliber of the vessel, greater mobility, superficial presence, and a higher likelihood of vasospasm. Hence, ultrasonography may be preferred in such cases, and the contralateral femoral artery may be utilized if there is a previous history of angiography. Alternatively, the umbilical artery may be used in neonates and newborns as the artery remains patent for up to 5 days.

At first, a local anesthetic infiltration is done at the presumed puncture site (especially in cooperative older children while in uncooperative or younger children, general anesthesia is administered before puncture), and the arterial access is established by a micro-puncture needle; ultrasound may be used where the arterial pulsation is feeble. A 4F (French) diagnostic catheter is commonly used; a 5F catheter may be required in the teenagers. Choice of guidewires and catheters is different in pediatric patients based on their weight (Table 33.5) [32]. A continuous warm (prewarmed saline to body temperature is used to prevent hypothermia) heparinized flush is maintained during the procedure. Usually, a bolus dose of heparin of approximately 50-100 U/kg is given, restricting the maximum dose up to 2000 U. It is followed by an infusion of heparinized flush fluid at the rate of 30 ml/h at a concentration of 3000-4000 U/l. However, in very small children, non-heparinized warm saline is also used. The maximum dose of contrast agent (isoosmolar, non-ionic contrast) used is around 4-6 ml/kg in neonates and 6-8 ml/kg in older children [33]. In most cases of angiography (diagnostic), less than 20 ml of contrast agent is used [34] with a maximum dose of 7 ml/kg [35].

Fig. 33.1 Figure shows a neuroradiologic suite with ongoing neurointervention in a child (a) interventional neuroradiologist, (b) anesthesiologist, (c) child on the intervention table, (d) multiparameter patient monitor, (e) angiography monitor, (f) protective shield for radiation exposure, and (g) image intensifier



| Weight | Needle size in | Wire size in | Catheter |
|--------|----------------|--------------|----------|
| (kg) | gauge (G) | inch | size |
| <7 | 21 | 0.018 | 4 |
| <7 | 21 | 0.018 or | 4 |
| | | 0.021 | |
| 7–16 | 19 | 0.025 | 5 |
| 16–27 | 18 | 0.035 | 5 |

Table 33.5 Needle, guidewire, and catheter selection based on weight of the patient

Since the growing nervous system is more sensitive to radiation, hence, the principle of ALARA (as low as reasonably achievable) is followed. For that, several measures are considered during the procedure such as pulsed fluoroscopy instead of continuous mode, a reduced dose of radiation per pulse/frame/road map [36], a reduced distance between patient and image intensifier, tight collimation to only the area of interest, beam angulation away from radiosensitive areas (like eyes, breasts, testes, thyroid, etc.), use of previous still image instead of live fluoroscopy for review, and low dose protocols [37]. After 1 month, a review of the patient may be undertaken if the total cumulative surface dose is greater than 2 Gy [38].

Anesthesia alerts: A careful titration of intravenous (IV) fluids infused during the procedure is done by taking into account the heparinized flush as a part of the maintenance regimen. There is a high likelihood of hypothermia in pediatric patients due to exposure to the low temperature of the suite, as well as cold flush fluid inadvertently drenching the drapes. Monitoring of body temperature along with the use of forced warming blankets and warm flushing fluids (as mentioned above) should be done routinely.

33.9 Anesthesia Technique

Anesthesia goals are smooth induction and recovery, complete immobility or neuromuscular relaxation during the procedure, maintenance of stable hemodynamics throughout the procedure, anticoagulation maintenance and reversal if required, maintaining adequate cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), and management of complications and radiation hazards.

There is no consensus over a particular mode of anesthesia in adult patients, but general anesthesia is most commonly used in pediatric patients. The separation anxiety is high in a crying or restless child less than 5 or 6 years of age. Hence, the guardian may be allowed inside the suite at the time of anesthetic induction. For older children, adequate counseling might suffice. In the pre-induction phase, narcotics like IV fentanyl 2-3µg/kg are given to blunt the stress response followed by induction with either propofol 2.5-3.5 mg/kg or thiopentone sodium 5-10 mg/kg followed by neuromuscular relaxation with rocuronium 0.6 - 1.2mg/kg, vecuronium bromide 0.08-0.1 mg/kg, atracurium 0.5 mg/kg, or cis-atracurium 0.15 mg/kg. Both total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) and an inhalational agent may be used for the maintenance of anesthesia. A background infusion of muscle relaxant or time-adjusted boluses should be used for relaxation for immobility during intervention or image acquisition. The intraprocedural volume status should be euvolemia or slight hypervolemia, and isotonic fluids like NS or plasmalyte may be used. After reversal of the residual neuromuscular blockade at the end of the procedure, tracheal extubation may be attempted if the preinduction GCS was normal, without any clinical or radiological evidence of raised ICP, and the procedure remained uneventful.

The femoral sheath is removed after the procedure, and the site is compressed for 15–20 min or longer as needed to prevent hematoma formation. One common practice is to use a pulse oximeter on the toe of the same limb and compress with a force slightly less than that required to obliterate the pulse wave. A pressure dressing is then applied at the site of the arterial puncture.

All children who undergo intervention under general anesthesia should be observed after the procedure in an area with a multiparameter monitor and oxygen supply with resuscitation equipment nearby. Before shifting to the wards, a safety practice is to wait till the child is awake for at least 20 min in a quiet environment [39] while maintaining oxygen saturation and airway and is normothermic. All children should be kept supine with legs flat for 4–6 h to prevent hematoma formation.

33.10 Commonly Performed Neurointerventional Procedures

33.10.1 Digital Subtraction Angiography (DSA)

Unlike in adult patients, young children are frequently administered general anesthesia even during diagnostic procedures, making it the most frequent procedure to be done under general anesthesia in this patient population.

33.10.2 Intracranial Aneurysm

There are certain stark differences between pediatric and adult aneurysms with a greater male preponderance, more posterior circulation location. increased complexity, non-modifiable comorbidities, a lower rate of vasospasm, and, overall, less mortality [40] in the former. There is insufficient data to establish either clipping or coiling as the standard of treatment in children, even though there is a lean toward coiling in recent times (Fig. 33.2) [41]. A recent metaanalysis suggests similar outcomes [42]. There are limited data concerning the use of flowdiverting devices for the treatment of aneurysms in children. The major concerns of flow-diverting devices in children revolve around the durability and long-term safety of these devices, the ongoing growth of the cerebral vessels in children, and the need for prolonged antiplatelet medications.

The chief anesthesia goal is to prevent rupture through control of BP surges (recorded by invasive blood pressure) that may occur during laryngoscopy, intubation, or anytime during the procedure. Despite adequate measures, the complication may occur, as below:

• **Rupture:** Normally, once the femoral access is established, heparin is used for anticoagulation to attain an activated clotting time (ACT) of

250–300 s. If any inadvertent rupture occurs during the procedure as heralded by contrast extravasation on angiography and the sudden rise of blood pressure (due to increased ICP), the anesthesiologist might need to reverse the anticoagulation with protamine (1 mg of protamine for every 100 U of heparin). Hyperventilation may be needed to reduce the ICP. In the meantime, the radiologist either inflates the balloon (in a balloon-assisted procedure) and/or rapidly packs the rupture with the placement of coils. An external ventricular drain (EVD) can be rapidly inserted to lower the ICP.

Thromboembolism risk is higher if the size of the aneurysm is >10 mm with neck >4 mm. The first sign is the development of a flow defect around the coils. Other signs like abrupt termination of the vessel, loss of arterial branch, absence of blush in the capillary phase, and stagnation of contrast may be seen [43]. The anesthesiologist should immediately increase the arterial blood pressure to improve while collateral flow. the radiologist administers glycoprotein IIb-IIIa receptor antagonists like abciximab or tirofiban, either IV or intra-arterial (IA).

33.10.3 Cerebral Arteriovenous Fistula (AVF) and Arteriovenous Malformation (AVM)

33.10.3.1 Cerebral Arteriovenous Fistula (AVF)

AVFs are usually acquired arteriovenous shunts within the dura mater involving the wall of the dural sinus or nearby cortical vein. They are distinct from AVMs, generally congenital malformations within the brain parenchyma supplied by pial arteries. Unlike in adults who present with pulsatile tinnitus, or ICH, or raised ICP, children commonly present with cardiac features (murmur, CCF, etc.). Hence, in a child presenting with CCF, only palliative embolization is carried out to reduce the failure, followed by a definitive embolization later. With supportive history, the anesthesiologist should include in the pre-



Fig. 33.2 Mycotic aneurysm of the right distal anterior cerebral artery (DACA): A 2-year-old male child presented with fever and irritability. Axial NCCT (**a**) shows a well-defined globular iso-to-mild hyperdense lesion in the right anterior frontal lobe (arrow) with a thin rim of peripheral eccentric calcification. Axial CT angiogram (**b**) shows a filling of contrast within the lesion (arrow) with peripheral eccentric thrombus suggestive of an aneurysm. Axial T2 (**c**) and T1 (**d**) show an aneurysm (arrow) in the

right anterior frontal lobe near the anterior interhemispheric fissure with mass effect. Digital subtraction angiography (DSA) (e) anteroposterior (AP) and (f) lateral view confirm the aneurysm in the right DACA originating from the frontopolar artery (arrow). Post-embolization DSA AP (g) and lateral (h) show coil mass within the aneurysm with complete exclusion from the circulation (arrow) and good antegrade flow within the distal arteries

anesthesia evaluation a two-dimensional echocardiography (2D- ECHO) to rule out failure and also to identify any right-to-left shunt like patent foramen ovale (PFO) for risk of paradoxical embolization [44, 45].

33.10.3.2 Arteriovenous Malformation (AVM)

In the case of AVM, embolization is either staged (for neonates and infants) or done before surgery (for age > 1 year). The rate of obliteration is inversely proportional to the size of the nidus (<3 cm) and the number of feeder arteries (<4) [46]. The embolic materials used are either solid, like polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) particles, silicon, latex balloon, and coils, or liquid, such as n-butyl cyanoacrylate (nBCA), onyx, and fibrin glue (Fig. 33.3). In recent times, only liquid embolic materials are used for AVM embolization with other materials of mere historical importance. The most important complication during the procedure is stroke due to glue migration to an arterial feeder of the normal brain or a draining vein or hemorrhage due to perforation or venous hypertension accompanying stroke. During embolization, embolic material entry into the arterial side of the AVM may be prevented by hyperventilation. It leads to vasoconstriction in the normally autoregulated (rest of the portion other than AVM) brain and shunting of blood into the AVM (area with impaired autoregulation). Embolic material entry into the venous side of AVM may lead to venous hypertension and subsequent hemorrhage, which is the most feared complication. The embolus entry into the venous side of the AVM may be prevented by a reduction of arterial pressure (slight induction of hypotension) from the baseline values [47]. Post-



Fig. 33.3 A 7-year-old boy presented with seizures and vision disturbance. Previous CT images (a) during acute neurological illness at the age of 6 months show a large occipital bleed with intraventricular extension. Left vertebral artery (VA) angiogram (b, c) reveal multi-hole pial arteriovenous fistula (AVF) supplied by the left posterior cerebral artery (PCA) branches opening into a large

venous sac with cortical venous reflux and venous congestion. Two separate feeders were selectively catheterized (\mathbf{d}, \mathbf{e}) using microcatheters and were embolized $(\mathbf{f},$ glue cast indicated by white arrow). Control left VA angiogram (\mathbf{g}, \mathbf{h}) reveals a complete exclusion of the fistula

embolization, the anesthesiologist should lower the blood pressure to prevent the phenomenon of normal perfusion pressure breakthrough (NPPB). In NPPB, cerebral edema occurs when normal blood flow is restored to the ischemic bed, which has a loss of autoregulation owing to chronic ischemia. This blood pressure regulation should be made both during the patient's transport and in the post-procedure recovery area [48].

33.10.3.3 Vein of Galen Malformation (VOGM)

VOGM presents as CCF in the neonate, hydrocephalus in young children, and headache or SAH in older children. The pre-anesthesia checkup may include a 2D-ECHO. VOGMs are treated with glue (nBCA) embolization (via arterial route) in multiple stages. It is a high-flow malformation, and hence, the glue may fly off to distal parts of draining veins similar to AVM or dural AVF. Hence, hypotension is induced during glue injection (i.e., flow arrest). The choice of agent is based on the expertise of the practitioner, condition of the patient, and blood pressure goals.

33.10.3.4 Retinoblastoma and Intra-Arterial Chemotherapy

Intra-arterial chemotherapy (IAC) is also known as superselective ophthalmic artery (OA) chemotherapy, chemo-embolization, or chemosurgery. IAC is an accepted modality of treatment in group D and E intra-ocular retinoblastoma [International Classification of Retinoblastoma (ICRB)] with good clinical outcomes [49]. Generally, the OA (from femoral artery \rightarrow ICA \rightarrow OA \rightarrow target arteries, i.e., central retinal artery [retina] and ciliary artery [choroid]) is preferred for direct instillation of chemotherapeutic agents such as melphalan (commonly), topotecan, or both. The anesthesia goals include complete immobility during the injection. Postintubation vasoconstrictors like oxymetazoline or xylometazoline may be sprayed through the nostril on the side of the tumor to ensure that the chemotherapeutic agent stays within the OA [8]. The microcatheter is positioned at the ostia of the OA, which can be ascertained by the characteristic "blush" seen in the choroid on contrast injection with little or no run past the retina. The

chemotherapeutic agent is injected over 30 min (Fig. 33.4).

Two important phenomena require the attention of the anesthesiologist:

 Respiratory event occurs in 29% of the cases [50]. There is a sudden drop in tidal volume with desaturation without any bronchospasm as reflected by normal capnograph and absence of wheeze when the microcatheter is in the external carotid artery (ECA) or OA even before any injection is given. It can be detected by a decrease in >10 ml of tidal volume when using pressure control ventilation (PCV). The treatment involves informing the neuroradiologist to stop and withdraw the microcatheter, ventilate with 100% oxygen, and administer adrenaline $0.5-1\mu g/kg$ boluses intravenously (IV).



Fig. 33.4 A 4-year-old girl with left retinoblastoma: (a) axial T2 image shows a left retinal mass (arrow); (b) left internal carotid artery (ICA) angiogram in lateral view: arrow shows left ophthalmic artery (OA), (c) roadmap

showing superselective access of the left OA with a microcatheter (MC), (\mathbf{d}) microcatheter angiogram of the OA: chemotherapeutic agents are injected through the microcatheter selectively into the OA

2. Hemodynamic events usually follow the respiratory event in which there is a sudden onset of hypotension and bradycardia when there is the catheter in OA or ICA. Prior administration of adrenaline during the respiratory event prevents its occurrence. The treatment is also adrenaline. Both the events are explained by the "diving reflex" or the "trigemino-cardiac reflex (TCR)" in which the afferent is carried by the ophthalmic division of the trigeminal nerve via the anterior ethmoidal nerve while the efferent limb comprises the vagus nerve [51].

33.10.4 Spinal DSA and Vascular Interventions

Spinal vascular malformations in children are rare, congenital lesions and complex to treat (Fig. 33.5). Involvement of the spinal cord may cause venous congestion and hemorrhage leading to myelopathy. This may present with pain, neurological deficits such as paraplegia, and bladder and bowel involvements [52]. The various presentations and approaches in pediatric patients differ from adults in the following aspects [53]:

- 1. Clinically, children are more likely to present acutely due to hemorrhage.
- 2. Genetic syndromes (especially when age is less than 2 years) like hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT) or somatic nonheritable mutation [spinal arteriovenous metameric syndrome (SAMS)] are more likely associated with children.
- Anatomically, children commonly present with high-flow lesions in intradural (intramedullary or perimedullary), extradural, and paraspinal locations, whereas dural locations are more common in adults.
- Cervical and thoracic regions are more commonly affected in children.
- 5. The arteries are more tortuous; hence, instead of the over-the-wire catheter, flow-directed microcatheters are used, and consequently, instead of coils, more often n-butyl cyanoacrylate (NBCA) or small particles such as polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) beads are used.

The decision of endovascular intervention depends on the severity and rapidity of disease progression and the presence of features of a high risk of re-rupture on DSA like pseudoaneurysm with ruptured AVM, nidal aneurysm, or venous outflow obstruction. Generally, the outcome is good



Fig. 33.5 Spinal cord pial macrofistula; a 7-year-old girl with acute onset paraparesis; (a) MRI showed multiple dilated vascular flow voids (blue arrow) with extensive cord edema, (b) DSA shows macrofistula at the upper dorsal level (yellow arrow), fed by radiculo pial artery (red arrow) from right vertebral artery, (c) superselective microcatheter angiography with tip of micro-

catheter (black arrow) close to the fistulous point for glue injection, (d) native image shows glue cast (black arrow); (e) post glue embolization, check angiogram shows preservation of the spinal axis (red arrow); (f) follow-up MRI shows disappearance of flow voids and cord edema. The child improved significantly 1 month after embolization

(around 60%) [54] with intervention. General anesthesia is used for both DSA (to reduce motion artifact) and intervention. Post-intervention, they are managed in the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) or neurointensive care unit with the goals of maintaining baseline blood pressure and euvolemia.

33.11 Iodinated Contrast Media (ICM)

Usually, hypo-osmolar (monomer) or iso-osmolar (dimer) (290 mOsm/kg H₂O, e.g., iodixanol) iodinated contrast agents are preferred over hyperosmolar agents [55] for interventional neuroradiologic procedures. Hypo-osmolar ICMs have 2-3 times of plasma osmolality (600-800 mOsm/kg H₂O), e.g., iohexol (Omnipaque), iopamidol (Isovue), iopromide (Ultravist), and ioversol (Optiray), whereas hyperosmolar agents have 5-8 times of plasma osmolality. The reactions to contrast may be anaphylactic, which are IgE-mediated fatal reactions, characterized by tachycardia, hypotension, laryngeal edema, etc. Anaphylactoid or idiosyncratic reaction via complement system activation through histamine and/or serotonin may occur; the symptoms may range from minor (urticaria, pruritus) to moderate (laryngeal edema, bronchospasm) or even severe (hypotension, shock, cardiac arrest). Physiochemotoxic reactions are non-immunologically mediated reactions depending on ionicity, volume, osmolality, and route of administration of the contrast agents and may present with nausea, flushing, and contrast-induced nephropathy (CIN). To prevent these, a set of questions can be asked during the pre-anesthetic check to identify the subset of patients who are more likely to have the abovementioned reactions. Patients with a history of previous allergic reactions to ICM, shellfish, and povidone-iodine, asthma (increases risk by 6 times), and thyroid disorders are at an increased risk of allergic reactions [56]. Some patients with increased risk of CIN or contrastinduced acute kidney injury (CI-AKI) are renal transplant recipients; patients with a single kidney, with renal malignancy, on dialysis, with diabetes mellitus, and with high blood pressure

requiring medication; those who have undergone surgery in the past 6 weeks; and patients with risk factors for chronic kidney disease (renal dysplasia, chronic glomerulonephritis, etc.), acute illness, ICM exposure within the previous 2 days, and the use of metformin.

CIN/CI-AKI is defined as a decline of kidney function represented by either a 25% increase in serum creatinine from baseline or a 0.5 mg/dl (44µmol/l) increase in its absolute value within 48-72 h after IV administration of contrast agent [57]. CIN in the pediatric population has been reported variedly in literature as uncommon [58] to as high as 10.3% [59]. The mechanism [60] of ICM-induced CIN can be by direct cytotoxic effects (proximal renal tubular cell vacuolation), oxidative damage to cells, renal artery vasoconstriction [increased plasma levels of asymmetrical dimethylarginine (ADMA) which inhibits nitric oxide (NO)] causing outer medullary ischemia/ hypoxia, etc. As mentioned above, when there are risk factors for CIN, then some preventive measures that can be employed are using iso-osmolar non-ionic contrast medium, withdrawal of nephrotoxic agents especially if eGFR <60 ml/min, a gap of at least 48-72 h between any two contrast studies, stopping of metformin and restarting 48 h later, and minimizing the volume of contrast administration which has been set variedly in different studies ranging from 2 ml/kg [61] to 5 ml/kg [2] while in some the net volume has been fixed as per the number of vessels studied e.g., 2.5 ml/vessel [62] by using saline mixed contrast (50% each) during angiography and using 1-2 ml/vessel. Prophylactic intervention includes pre-procedure hydration by saline 4 ml/kg for an infant or 6 ml/ kg for children 6 h before DSA [63]. Still, it is not found to be effective [64] (similarly for N-acetylcysteine [65], sodium bicarbonate [66]).

33.12 Allergic Reactions

For patients with moderate to severe risk of allergic reactions, prior history of cutaneous reactions, upper airway edema, or cardiovascular collapse, the following prophylactic regimen [67] may be used before ICM administration

| | Drugs | Dosage | Timing of administration |
|----------------|-----------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|
| Elective cases | Diphenhydramine | 1.25 mg/kg PO (up to 50 mg) | 1 hour before giving contrast |
| | Prednisone | 0.5–0.7 mg/kg PO (up to 50 mg) | At 13, 7, and 1 h prior to giving contrast |
| | Diphenhydramine | 1.25 mg/kg PO (up to 50 mg) | 1 hour before giving contrast |
| | Hydrocortisone | 2 mg/kg IV | At 5 and 1 h prior to giving contrast |

Table 33.6 Prophylactic drug regimen in pediatric patients with risk of contrast allergy as per elective or emergency case

Table 33.7 Suggested steps in the event of an intraprocedural anaphylactic reaction

i. Recognition of the event, inform the interventionalist and stop the procedure

ii. For cutaneous reactions like urticaria or pruritus (moderate to severe), non-selective antihistamines, like diphenhydramine, either orally or intravenously (IV), may be used (1 mg/kg IV or PO slowly over 1–2 min)

iii. If there is a cardiac arrest, then the pediatric advanced life support (PALS) algorithm [68] should be followed

iv. For bronchospasm, inhaled salbutamol $100\mu g/puff$ (6 puffs <6 y, 12 puffs >6 y), IV salbutamol infusion $(1-5\mu g/kg/min)$, magnesium sulfate 50 mg/kg over 20 min (maximum dose of 2 g), aminophylline 10 mg/kg over 1 h (maximum dose of 500 mg),

hydrocortisone 2–4 mg/kg (maximum dose of 200 mg) v. For shock/ hypotension, a crystalloid bolus of 20 ml/kg is given

vi. Adrenaline: (IV dose)

- Bolus: Dilution 1 mg in 50 mL = $20\mu g/ml$
- Moderate anaphylaxis: 0.1 ml/kg or 2µg/kg
- Life-threatening anaphylaxis: 0.2–0.5 ml/kg or 4–10µg/kg
- Dose to be repeated every $1-2 \min$, if unresponsive
 - In the absence of IV access, IM adrenaline 1:1000 1 mg/ml lateral thigh <6 y = 0.15 mL (150µg), 6–12 y = 0.3 ml (300µg), >12 y = 0.5 ml (500µg) may be used and repeated every 5 min as required
 Adrenaline infusion: 1 mg adrenaline in 50 ml (20µg/ml) started at 0.3 ml/kg/h (0.1µg/kg/min) and titrated to maximum 6 ml/kg/h (2µg/kg/min)

(Table 33.6). In the event of an anaphylactic reaction, the necessary steps may be followed (Table 33.7); it includes the recommendations of pediatric advanced life support (PALS) algorithm in case of cardiac arrest [68].

33.13 Radiation Hazards

All personnel including the pediatric patient present inside the radiology suite are prone to adverse effects of radiation exposure. Children are vulnerable as there is a greater risk of radiation-related cancer in children than adults. Usually, children have a high mitotic rate in the cells during the growing phase and are more susceptible to radiation-induced DNA damage. Associated congenital syndromes in these children may prevent recovery of the damaged DNA leading to cancerous conditions. Therefore, to prevent radiation exposure, the number of imaging studies should be minimized, or alternative modalities like ultrasonography or magnetic resonance imaging may be utilized for imaging whenever possible. Other strategies may include shielding the child with lead, use of pulsed fluoroscopy, reducing space between the child and image receiver, and optimizing the distance between the child and radiation source [69].

33.14 Conclusion

The successful anesthetic management of various neurointerventions in the radiology suite depends on a thorough understanding of the pathophysiology of various disorders, the critical steps of the procedure, taking leadership to update the interventional suite environment as per anesthesia requirement, and training of the staff. Even though pediatric neurovascular malformations are rare and complex, the outcome is good with meticulous endovascular techniques. As children have a long life expectancy, every effort should be made to facilitate an uneventful neurointervention by performing smooth induction and emergence from anesthesia and providing continual immobility during the procedure. It is important to remain vigilant during critical steps of the neurointervention and provide a good environment for post-procedure observation.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- El-Ghanem M, Kass-Hout T, Kass-Hout O, et al. Arteriovenous malformations in the pediatric population: review of the existing literature. Interv Neurol. 2016;5(3–4):218–25.
- Wolfe TJ, Hussain SI, Lynch JR, Fitzsimmons BF, Zaidat OO. Pediatric cerebral angiography: analysis of utilization and findings. Pediatr Neurol. 2009;40(2):98–101.
- Thiex R, Williams A, Smith E, Scott RM, Orbach DB. The use of onyx for embolization of central nervous system arteriovenous lesions in pediatric patients. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2010;31(1):112–20.
- terBrugge KG. Neurointerventional procedures in the pediatric age group. Childs Nerv Syst. 1999;15(11–12):751–4.
- Lylyk P, Viñuela F, Dion JE, Duckwiler G, Guglielmi G, Peacock W, Martin N. Therapeutic alternatives for vein of Galen vascular malformations. J Neurosurg. 1993;78(3):438–45.
- Du J, Ling F, Chen M, Zhang H. Clinical characteristic of spinal vascular malformation in pediatric patients. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25(4):473–8.
- Ellis MJ, Amlie-Lefond C, Orbach DB. Endovascular therapy in children with acute ischemic stroke: review and recommendations. Neurology. 2012;79(13 Suppl 1):S158–64.
- Gobin YP, Dunkel IJ, Marr BP, Brodie SE, Abramson DH. Intra-arterial chemotherapy for the management of retinoblastoma: four-year experience. Arch Ophthalmol. 2011;129(6):732–7.
- Bouthillier A, van Loveren HR, Keller JT. Segments of the internal carotid artery: a new classification. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(3):425–32.
- Kapoor K, Singh B, Dewan IJ. Variations in the configuration of the circle of Willis. Anat Sci Int. 2008;83(2):96–106.
- 11. Lasjaunias P, Hui F, Zerah M, Garcia-Monaco R, Malherbe V, Rodesch G, Tanaka A, Alvarez H. Cerebral arteriovenous malformations in children. Management of 179 consecutive cases and review of the literature. Childs Nerv Syst. 1995;11(2):66–79.
- Geibprasert S, Krings T, Armstrong D, Terbrugge KG, Raybaud CA. Predicting factors for the followup outcome and management decisions in vein of Galen aneurysmal malformations. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(1):35–46.
- Liang J, Bao Y, Zhang H, Wrede KH, Zhi X, Li M, Ling F. The clinical features and treatment of pediatric intracranial aneurysm. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25(3):317–24.
- Ibrahimi DM, Tamargo RJ, Ahn ES. Moyamoya disease in children. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(10):1297–308.
- Krings T, Geibprasert S, Terbrugge K. Classification and endovascular management of pediatric cerebral vascular malformations. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2010;21(3):463–82.

- Horeczko T, Mahmoud M. The pre-sedation assessment and implications on management. In: Pediatric sedation outside of the operating room. New York: Springer; 2015. p. 41–70.
- Mamie C, Habre W, Delhumeau C, Argiroffo CB, Morabia A. Incidence and risk factors of perioperative respiratory adverse events in children undergoing elective surgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2004;14(3): 218–24.
- Richens T. Paediatric cardiology. Hutchison's Atlas of Pediatric Physical Diagnosis 2014;31:126.
- Canavan A, Arant BS Jr. Diagnosis and management of dehydration in children. Am Fam Physician. 2009;80(7):692–6.
- Section on Anesthesiology Bridges Committee. Evaluation and preparation of pediatric patients undergoing anesthesia: section on anesthesiology. Pediatrics. 1996;98(3):502–8.
- 21. Serafini G, Ingelmo PM, Astuto M, Baroncini S, Borrometi F, Bortone L, Ceschin C, Gentili A, Lampugnani E, Mangia G, Meneghini L. Preoperative evaluation in infants and children: recommendations of the Italian Society of Pediatric and Neonatal Anesthesia and Intensive Care (SARNePI). Minerva Anestesiol. 2014;80(4):461–9.
- 22. Olson RP, Stone A, Lubarsky D. The prevalence and significance of low preoperative hemoglobin in ASA 1 or 2 outpatient surgery candidates. Anesth Analg. 2005;101(5):1337–40.
- Von Walter J, Kroiss K, Höpner P, Russwurm W, Kellermann W, Emmrich P. Preoperative ECG in routine preoperative assessment of children. Anaesthesist. 1998;47(5):373–8.
- 24. Meyers PM, Blackham KA, Abruzzo TA, Gandhi CD, Higashida RT, Hirsch JA, Hsu D, Moran CJ, Narayanan S, Prestigiacomo CJ, Tarr R, Hussein MS, Society for NeuroInterventional Surgery. Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery Standards of Practice: general considerations. J NeuroInterv Surg. 2012;4(1):11–5.
- 25. Nagoshi M, Morzov R, Hotz J, Belson P, Matar M, Ross P, Wetzel R. Mainstream capnography system for nonintubated children in the postanesthesia care unit: performance with changing flow rates, and a comparison to side stream capnography. Paediatr Anaesth. 2016;26(12):1179–87.
- Khurmi N, Patel P, Koushik S, Daniels T, Kraus M. Anesthesia practice in pediatric radiation oncology: Mayo Clinic Arizona's experience 2014–2016. Paediatr Drugs. 2018;20(1):89–95.
- Gomez-Morad AD, Cravero JP, Harvey BC, Bernier R, Halpin E, Walsh B, Nasr VG. The evaluation of a noninvasive respiratory volume monitor in pediatric patients undergoing general anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2017;125(6):1913–9.
- 28. Coté CJ, Wilson S, American Academy of Pediatrics, American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Guidelines for monitoring and managing pediatric patients before, during, and after sedation for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures: update 2016. Pediatrics. 2016;138(1):e20161212.

- 29. American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee. Practice guidelines for preoperative fasting and the use of pharmacologic agents to reduce the risk of pulmonary aspiration: application to healthy patients undergoing elective procedures: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee on Standards and Practice Parameters. Anesthesiology. 2011;114(3):495.
- Pettersson H, Fitz CR, Harwood-Nash DC, Chuang S, Armstrong E. Iatrogenic embolization: complication of pediatric cerebral angiography. Am J Neuroradiol. 1981;2(4):357–61.
- Fung E, Ganesan V, Cox TS, Chong WK, Saunders DE. Complication rates of diagnostic cerebral arteriography in children. Pediatr Radiol. 2005;35(12):1174–7.
- Gerlock AJ, Mirfakhraee M. Essentials of diagnostic and interventional angiographic technique. United States: WB Saunders Co.; 1985.
- 33. Heran MK, Marshalleck F, Temple M, Grassi CJ, Connolly B, Towbin RB, Baskin KM, Dubois J, Hogan MJ, Kundu S, Miller DL. Joint quality improvement guidelines for pediatric arterial access and arteriography: from the Societies of Interventional Radiology and Pediatric Radiology. Pediatr Radiol. 2010;40(2):237–50.
- Burger IM, Murphy KJ, Jordan LC, Tamargo RJ, Gailloud P. Safety of cerebral digital subtraction angiography in children. Stroke. 2006;37(10):2535–9.
- Ashour R, Orbach DB. Interventional neuroradiology in children: diagnostics and therapeutics. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2015;27(6):700–5.
- 36. Kahn EN, Gemmete JJ, Chaudhary N, Thompson BG, Chen K, Christodoulou EG, Pandey AS. Radiation dose reduction during neurointerventional procedures by modification of default settings on biplane angiography equipment. J Neurointerv Surg. 2016;8(8):819–23.
- 37. Song Y, Han S, Kim BJ, Oh SH, Kim JS, Kim TI, Lee DH. Feasibility of low-dose digital subtraction angiography protocols for the endovascular treatment of intracranial dural arteriovenous fistulas. Neuroradiology. 2020;28:1–7.
- Connolly B, Racadio J, Towbin R. Practice of ALARA in the pediatric interventional suite. Pediatr Radiol. 2006;36(2):163–7.
- 39. Malviya S, Voepel-Lewis T, Ludomirsky A, Marshall J, Tait AR. Can we improve the assessment of discharge readiness? A comparative study of observational and objective measures of depth of sedation in children. Anesthesiology. 2004;100(2):218–24.
- Beez T, Steiger HJ, Hänggi D. Evolution of management of intracranial aneurysms in children: a systematic review of the modern literature. J Child Neurol. 2016;31(6):773–83.
- Jian BJ, Hetts SW, Lawton MT, Gupta N. Pediatric intracranial aneurysms. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2010;21(3):491–501.
- 42. Yasin JT, Wallace AN, Madaelil TP, Osbun JW, Moran CJ, Cross DT, Limbrick DD, Zipfel GJ, Dacey RG, Kansagra AP. Treatment of pediatric intracra-

nial aneurysms: case series and meta-analysis. J Neurointerv Surg. 2019;11(3):257–64.

- Orrù E, Roccatagliata L, Cester G, Causin F, Castellan L. Complications of endovascular treatment of cerebral aneurysms. Eur J Radiol. 2013;82(10):1653–8.
- 44. Radvany MG, Gregg L. Endovascular treatment of cranial arteriovenous malformations and dural arteriovenous fistulas. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2012;23(1):123–31.
- 45. Lefler JE, Van VHA. Endovascular treatment of cerebral arteriovenous fistulas in children. Pediatric Neurovascular Disease: Surgical, Endovascular, and Medical Management. 2006:152.
- 46. Zaidat O, Alexander M. Endovascular treatment of cerebral arteriovenous malformations in children. Pediatric neurovascular disease: surgical, endovascular, and medical management. Thieme. N Y. 2006:167–75.
- Joung KW, Yang KH, Shin WJ, Song MH, Ham K, Jung SC, Lee DH, Suh DC. Anesthetic consideration for neurointerventional procedures. Neurointervention. 2014;9(2):72–7.
- Lee CZ, Young WL. Anesthesia for endovascular neurosurgery and interventional neuroradiology. Anesthesiol Clin. 2012;30(2):127–47.
- Manjandavida FP, Stathopoulos C, Zhang J, Honavar SG, Shields CL. Intra-arterial chemotherapy in retinoblastoma—a paradigm change. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2019;67(6):740–54.
- Kato MA, Green N, O'Connell K, Till SD, Kramer DJ, Al-Khelaifi M, Han JH, Pryor KO, Gobin YP, Proekt A. A retrospective analysis of severe intraoperative respiratory compliance changes during ophthalmic arterial chemosurgery for retinoblastoma. Pediatr Anesth. 2015;25(6):595–602.
- Chen J, Olutoye OA. Anesthesia for ophthalmological surgery. Gregory's Pediatric Anesthesia 2020:881–92.
- 52. Zhang HJ, Silva N, Solli E, Ayala AC, Tomycz L, Christie C, Mazzola CA. Treatment options and longterm outcomes in pediatric spinal cord vascular malformations: a case report and review of the literature. Child Nerv Syst. 2020;6
- Moftakhar P, Hetts SW. Pediatric spinal vascular malformations: diagnosis and treatment. J Pediatr Neuroradiol. 2013;2(3):283–92.
- Du J, Ling F, Chen M, Zhang H. Clinical characteristic of spinal vascular malformation in pediatric patients. Childs Nerv Syst. 2009;25(4):473.
- 55. Eng J, Subramaniam RM, Wilson RF, Turban S, Choi MJ, Zhang A, Suarez-Cuervo C, Sherrod C, Hutfless S, Iyoha EE, Bass EB. Contrast-induced nephropathy: comparative effects of different contrast media [internet]. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2015. Report No.: 15(16)-EHC022-EF
- 56. Rhee CM, Bhan I, Alexander EK, Brunelli SM. Association between iodinated contrast media exposure and incident hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism. Arch Intern Med. 2012;172(2): 153–9.

- 57. Kellum JA, Lameire N, Aspelin P, Barsoum RS, Burdmann EA, Goldstein SL, Herzog CA, Joannidis M, Kribben A, Levey AS, MacLeod AM. Kidney disease: improving global outcomes (KDIGO) acute kidney injury work group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. Kidney Int Suppl. 2012;2(1):1–38.
- Bedoya MA, White AM, Edgar JC, Pradhan M, Raab EL, Meyer JS. Effect of intravenous administration of contrast media on serum creatinine levels in neonates. Radiology. 2017;284(2):530–40.
- Cantais A, Hammouda Z, Mory O, Patural H, Stephan JL, Gulyaeva L, Darmon M. Incidence of contrastinduced acute kidney injury in a pediatric setting: a cohort study. Pediatr Nephrol. 2016;31(8):1355–62.
- Hoffman CE, Satillan A, Rotman L, Gobin YP, Souweidane MM. Complications of cerebral angiography in children younger than 3 years of age. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13:414–9.
- Haq MFU, Yip CS, Arora P. The conundrum of contrast-induced acute kidney injury. J Thorac Dis. 2020;12(4):1721–7.
- Morris PP. Practical neuroangiography. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013.
- Burrows PF, Robertson RL, Barnes PD. Angiography and the evaluation of cerebrovascular disease in childhood. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 1996;6:561–88.
- 64. Nijssen EC, Rennenberg RJ, Nelemans PJ, Essers BA, Janssen MM, Vermeeren MA, van Ommen V, Wildberger JE. Prophylactic hydration to protect renal function from intravascular iodinated contrast material

in patients at high risk of contrast-induced nephropathy (AMACING): a prospective, randomised, phase 3, controlled, open-label, non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10076):1312–22.

- 65. ACT Investigators. Acetylcysteine for prevention of renal outcomes in patients undergoing coronary and peripheral vascular angiography: main results from the randomized acetylcysteine for contrastinduced nephropathy trial (ACT). Circulation. 2011;124(11):1250–9.
- 66. Zoungas S, Ninomiya T, Huxley R, Cass A, Jardine M, Gallagher M, Patel A, Vasheghani-Farahani A, Sadigh G, Perkovic V. Systematic review: sodium bicarbonate treatment regimens for the prevention of contrast-induced nephropathy. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151(9):631–8.
- Stepanovic B, Sommerfield D, Lucas M, von Ungern-Sternberg BS. An update on allergy and anaphylaxis in pediatric anesthesia. Pediatr Anesth. 2019;29(9):892–900.
- 68. Duff JP, Topjian A, Berg MD, Chan M, Haskell SE, Joyner BL Jr, Lasa JJ, Ley SJ, Raymond TT, Sutton RM, Hazinski MF. 2018 American Heart Association focused update on pediatric advanced life support: an update to the American Heart Association guidelines for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. Circulation. 2018;138(23):e731–9.
- Nelson O, Bailey PD Jr. Pediatric anesthesia considerations for interventional radiology. Anesthesiol Clin. 2017;35:701–14.



Neuroanesthesia at Remote Locations

34

Gentle Sunder Shrestha p and Pradip Tiwari

Key Points

- The number of diagnostic and interventional procedures performed under anesthesia outside operation theater is increasing.
- The unfamiliarity of anesthesiologists with the environment, equipment, procedure, and assistance, as well as medically complex patients, can result in reduced patient safety.
- Pre-procedural patient evaluation and preparation and adequate monitoring are critical to provide safe anesthetic care.
- Adequately trained anesthesia providers, with standard monitoring, proper record keeping, and careful titration of drug effects to achieve a recognized sedation endpoint, are key to maximizing patient safety.
- The presence of a strong static magnetic field, high-frequency electromagnetic waves, darkened room, loud acoustic noise, radiofrequency heating, unintentional projectiles, and restricted patient access creates unique challenges for providing anesthesia in MR units.
- The physical obstacle of the imaging equipment, the distance from the patient, and expo-

G. S. Shrestha (🖂)

sure to ionizing radiation are the challenges for delivering safe anesthesia for CT scan.

34.1 Introduction

Remote site is defined as any location at which an anesthesiologist is required to provide general or regional anesthesia or sedation away from the main operation theater suite and/or anesthesiology department and in which it cannot be guaranteed that the help of another anesthesiologist will be available [1]. Anesthesiologist is frequently involved in anesthetizing children with neurological disorders undergoing therapeutic and diagnostic procedures. These procedures are steadily increasing every year.

The goals for procedural sedation/ anesthesia are the following:

- "Do No Harm."
- It can be achieved when the child is managed by an adequately trained anesthesia provider, with standard monitoring modalities, proper record keeping, and careful monitoring after the procedure until discharge criteria have met.
- Minimize pain and discomfort.
- Minimize the anxiety of the child and family.
- Abolish movement to improve safety for invasive procedures and to optimize imaging studies.

Department of Anaesthesiology, Tribhuvan University Teaching Hospital, Kathmandu, Nepal

P. Tiwari

Department of Critical Care Medicine, Civil Service Hospital of Nepal, Kathmandu, Nepal

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_34

34.2 Challenges

Anesthesia at remote locations may pose a significant risk for the patient [2]. Providing anesthesia in pediatric neurological patients outside the operating room creates a new set of challenges for anesthesiologists. Decreased safety can result from the following factors [3]:

- **Patient:** Children scheduled to undergo anesthesia at remote locations require special consideration because of the physiological differences. A full appreciation of physiological, anatomical, and pharmacological characteristics is key to safe anesthesia (Table 34.1). Children may be too sick or too frail patient with complex medical conditions. In emergencies, little to no information about the patient may be available, and patient preparation may not be adequate. Children with depressed level of consciousness and raised intracranial pressure (ICP) possess unique challenges of maintaining cerebral perfusion, avoiding hypercarbia and hypoxia.
- **Environment:** Unfamiliar location, lack of adequate space for anesthesia equipment and drugs, energy hazards, and compromised assessment of the child increase the risk of complications during the procedure.
- Equipment: Unfamiliar equipment layout, inconvenient location of anesthesia equipment and drugs, and new technologies may render the delivery of quality anesthesia difficult. Equipment may also be less well maintained.
- Assistance and communication: Support and medical personnel in a remote location may not be familiar with the equipment and drugs needed for safe anesthesia. Working with an individual whom anesthesiologist has not met before and who may not appreciate a fine line between a stable case and a potentially dangerous case may be dangerous.
- **Procedure**: Complexity of procedure, the unfamiliarity of the procedure, and longer duration are the challenges for safe anesthesia.

| Table 34.1 | Characteristics | of children | that | differentiate |
|-------------|-----------------|-------------|------|---------------|
| them from a | dults [3] | | | |

| Physiological | Increased heart rate and metabolic |
|-----------------|--------------------------------------|
| | Decreased blood pressure |
| | Increased respiratory rate and chest |
| | compliance |
| | Decreased lung compliance and |
| | functional residual capacity |
| | Cardiac output is heart rate |
| | dependent. |
| | An elevated ratio of body surface |
| | area to body weight |
| | Elevated body water content |
| | Impaired thermogenesis |
| | Less efficient respiration |
| Anatomical | Less complaint ventricles |
| | Transitional circulation |
| | Immature sarcoplasmic reticulum |
| | Small diameter airways |
| | Larger tongue in relation to the |
| | oropharynx |
| | Larynx more cephalic |
| | Epiglottis short, stubby, and |
| | omega-shaped |
| | Funnel-shaped larynx |
| | Prominent tonsils and adenoids |
| | Smaller veins and arteries |
| | Lesser glycogen stores |
| Pharmacological | A large volume of distribution for |
| | water-soluble drugs |
| | Reduced total plasma protein |
| | Reduced renal clearance |
| | Immature hepatic biotransformation |
| | Higher minimum alveolar |
| | concentration |
| | Immature neuromuscular junction |
| | Rapid induction from inhaled |
| | anesthetics |

34.3 Pre-Procedural Assessment and Preparation

Pre-procedural evaluation and preparation are critical to providing safe and qualified anesthetic care. This includes a thorough understanding of anesthetic techniques and the radiological procedure, preparation of the anesthetizing location and familiarities, and patient preparation.

34.4 Preparation of Patient

The children should be screened for coexisting medical conditions before the procedure; medical conditions should be optimized. A comprehensive medical history and a focused physical examination should be performed. The ASA Practice Advisory for pre-anesthesia evaluation, an evidence-based guideline that explains all aspects of preoperative assessment and testing, should be followed [4]. Inadequate preassessment is frequently attributed to sedationrelated adverse events and, hence, poor outcomes. Appropriate pre-procedural consultation with a specialist medical and/or anesthesiologist decreases the incidence of adverse outcomes. Informed consent should incorporate detailed information about the planned procedure, potential risks of the procedure, and sedation/anesthesia. ASA fasting guidelines should be followed to avoid the risk of aspiration [5].

Children with increased risk of pulmonary aspiration, depressed consciousness level, raised intracranial pressure (ICP), the possibility of airway obstruction, history of sleep apnea, conditions where increased partial pressure of arterial carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) could cause harm, renal or hepatic dysfunction, severe cardiac comorbidities, and a severe pulmonary disorder, premature infants, and uncooperative children are at increased risk of sedation-related complications.

34.5 Premedication

Premedication is usually not required for young infants; however, older children may need premedication. Numerous agents can be used as sedative premedication. Commonly used drugs include midazolam, temazepam, dexmedetomidine, ketamine, and opioids. Midazolam, clonidine, and ketamine are available as an oral formulation. Intranasal dexmedetomidine is an alternative for a child refusing oral premedication. Topical local anesthesia should be used before IV cannulation. Topical lidocaineprilocaine, liposomal lidocaine, tetracaine gel, and amethocaine gel may be used depending on availability.

34.6 Preparation of Anesthesia Location

The limitations of working in the relative "resource limitation" of the non-theater or nonhospital setting, possible lack of skilled operating department practitioners and/or assistants, and familiar equipment should be recognized. The preparation that is not different than the standard operation theater should be ensured. The proper functioning of the anesthesia machine, monitors, types of equipment related to airway, resuscitation, and safe patient care must be established. ASA standards for basic anesthetic monitoring should be adhered to [6]. The ASA has developed standards for non-operating room anesthesia (NORA) described in Table 34.2 [7].

34.7 Anesthetic Techniques

Anesthetic techniques in the remote location depend on the child's age, underlying neurological condition, drug tolerance, anticipated procedure, and procedure length (Table 34.3). This ranges from monitored anesthesia care (MAC) and conscious sedation to general anesthesia (GA). MAC is an anesthesia service in which an anesthesiologist will participate in the care of a patient undergoing a therapeutic or diagnostic procedure [8]. Sedation is a drug-induced depression of consciousness, a continuum ultimately ending up in GA. While increasing sedation level from minimal sedation through moderate sedation and deep sedation to GA, the physiological system is increasingly depressed. The likelihood of adverse events increases as the level of seda-

Table 34.2 Remote location requirements

- A reliable oxygen source (preferably piped from central source) sufficient for the length of the procedure with a backup supply (equivalent to full E-type oxygen cylinder)
- A source of suction that meets operating room standards
- If inhalation anesthetics are administered, the system for scavenging waste anesthetic gases should be adequate and reliable
- A self-inflating hand resuscitator bag can provide at least 90% and provide positive pressure ventilation, adequate anesthesia drugs, all supplies and equipment needed for the intended anesthesia care, and sufficient monitoring equipment that adheres to the "standards for basic Anesthetic monitoring"
- An anesthesia machine with equivalent functions to that employed in operating rooms is required if inhalation anesthesia is to be provided
- Adequate electrical outlets. "Wet location" should have either electric circuits with ground fault circuit interrupters or isolated electric power
- Adequate lights to the patient, monitoring equipment, and anesthesia machine
- Space sufficient to accommodate required equipment and personnel and to allow easy access to the patient, monitoring equipment, and anesthesia machine
- An emergency cart with emergency drugs, a defibrillator, and other equipment necessary to provide cardiopulmonary resuscitation
- Trained staff to support the anesthesiologist and a reliable means of two-way communication to request assistance
- Building and safety codes and facility standards, if they exist, they should be observed
- Appropriate post-anesthesia care should be provided

Adapted from ASA Guidelines 2018

tion increases, and it may not always be possible to predict how an individual will react. Hence, the practitioner should be able to rescue patients whose sedation level becomes deeper than initially intended or develop unanticipated complications. Titrating a drug to effect is key to achieve a recognized sedation endpoint with maximal patient safety. Children may require more sedation and GA as they cannot endure long and/or uncomfortable procedures. The ASA defines four different levels of sedation (Table 34.4) [8]. General anesthesia with endotracheal intubation may be safer than deep sedation in some patients (e.g., infants, obstructive sleep apnea) and procedures on prone position, MRI, and poor

| Table 34.3 | Common | indications | and | anesthetic | consid- |
|---------------|-----------|--------------|--------|------------|---------|
| erations of p | rocedures | in remote lo | ocatio | on | |

| | | Anesthetic |
|-----------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Procedure | Common indication | considerations |
| CT scan | Trauma, ICH, bone | – Physical |
| | lesion, | obstacle due to |
| | hydrocephalus, | imaging |
| | seizures, tumors | equipment |
| | | Distance to the |
| | | patient |
| | | Hazards of |
| | | ionizing radiation |
| | | Exposure to |
| | | ionizing radiation |
| MRI | Seizures, vascular | Screening for |
| | lesions (aneurysms, | ferromagnetic |
| | AVMs, hemangioma), | object |
| | CNS inflammation, | – MR-safe/ |
| | developmental delay, | MR-conditional |
| | tumor and staging, | anesthesia |
| | sensorineural hearing | equipment |
| | loss, hypotonia, | – Planning for |
| | metabolic disorders | emergencies |
| | | - Hearing |
| | | protection |
| Gamma | Treatment of tumors, | – Absolute |
| knife | arteriovenous | immobility while |
| | malformations, and | in frame |
| | trigeminal neuralgia | |
| PET/ | Diagnosis and staging | – Minimize the |
| SPECT | of CNS tumors, | effect of the |
| scan | identification of | anesthetic drug in |
| | seizure foci | cerebrai |
| | | circulation and |
| | | Avoid daytroop |
| | | - Avoid dextrose |
| | | intravenous fluid |
| ECT | Savara damagaian | Ampagia and |
| EUI | severe depression, | - Annesia and |
| | mama, catatoma | Control of |
| | | - Collubrol |
| | | changes of ECT |

CT computed tomography, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *PET* positron emission tomography, *SPECT* single-photon emission computed tomography, *ECT* electroconvulsive therapy, *ICH* intracerebral hemorrhage, *AVM* arteriovenous malformation, *CNC* central nervous system

access to patient's airway. Laryngeal mask airway (LMA) may be an alternative and easy airway management tool.

Many drugs (Table 34.5), single or in combination, can be used to achieve the required sedation level. Alternative routes like intranasal,

| | Minimal | Moderate sedation/ analgesia (conscious | | |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| | sedation-anxiolysis | sedation) | Deep sedation/analgesia | General anesthesia |
| Responsiveness | Preserved response to verbal stimulation | Purposeful ^a response following tactile or verbal stimulation | Purposeful ^a response to repeated or painful stimulation | Unarousable to any stimulus |
| Airway | Intact | No intervention required | Intervention may be required | Intervention often required |
| Spontaneous ventilation | Intact | Sufficient | May be sufficient | Frequently insufficient |
| Cardiovascular function | Intact | Usually preserved | Usually preserved | May be impaired |

 Table 34.4
 Depth of sedation provided during remote location neuroanesthesia

^aReflex withdrawal from a painful stimulus is not considered a purposeful response

| | | Onset of | Duration of | |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | | action | action | |
| Drug | Dose | (min) | (min) | Comments |
| Chloral hydrate | PO or PR: 30–100 mg/kg | 20–30 | 60–150 | No intrinsic analgesia, unpredictable effect, CNS depression with repeat dosing and impaired liver function, gastric irritation, no antagonist |
| Midazolam | IV: 0.05–0.1 mg/kg (maximum 0.4 mg/kg) <i>IM</i> : 0.1–0.2 mg/kg PO: 0.5 mg/kg IN: 0.2–0.6 mg/kg PR: 0.3–0.5 mg/kg | 2–5 15–20 15–30 10–20 15–30 | 30-60 45-90 60-90 30-60 60-90 | Excellent anxiolysis; combination with opioids may produce respiratory depression; Antagonist: Flumazenil |
| Fentanyl | IV: 1–4 μg/kg | 2–3 | 20–60 | Good analgesia; respiratory depression when combined with midazolam; chest wall rigidity when pushed rapidly; Antagonist: Naloxone |
| Ketamine | IV: Loading dose: 1–2 mg/ kg Maintenance: 0.25–1 mg/ kg q10–15 min IM: 2–5 mg/kg | 2–5 5–10 | 15–60 15–60 | Dissociative anesthesia may increase bronchial and salivary secretions, good analgesia, emergence hallucinations in children >10 years |
| Propofol | IV: Loading 1–1.5 mg/kg Maintenance 0.25–0.5 mg/ kg every 3–5 min; or infusion of 50–150 mg/kg/ min | 1-2 | 5-10 | Rapid induction of general anesthesia; can cause apnea |
| Sevoflurane | Inhalation: 2–3% | - | - | May cause airway obstruction and laryngospasm contraindicated in intracranial hypertension |
| Dexmedetomidine | IV: 0.5–1 μg/kg loading; 0.2–0.7 μg/kg/h infusion PO: 2.6 μg/kg | 10 30–45 | 85 | Anxiolysis, sedation, and analgesia don't depress respiration, may cause airway obstruction |
| Remifentanil | IV: 0.5 µg/kg bolus; 0.1 µg/kg/min | 1–2 | 2-4 | Ultra-short acting can be used in combination with propofol, midazolam, etc. |

 Table 34.5
 Commonly used drugs for remote location neuroanesthesia [9]

transmucosal, rectal, and intramuscular routes can be used for children without IV access requiring a lesser sedation level.

34.8 Complications

Complications of neuroanesthesia at remote locations range from common post-anesthetic complications to death. Airway obstruction and respiratory depression due to oversedation are not an uncommon complication. Unintended intubation, difficult bag and mask ventilation, wheezing, desaturation, and aspiration are also encountered. Similarly, IV-related complications, inadequate anesthesia, vomiting, and hypothermia are seen. Equipment malfunction, nerve injury, eye injury, hemorrhage, and death are reported. Allergic reactions to contrast or drugs, radiation injury, and unintentional projectiles are also seen.

34.9 Post-Procedural Care

Children recovering from all forms of sedation should receive care in an appropriately staffed and equipped post-procedural care area. Following the procedure, standard postprocedural care must be achieved even if alternative sites lack dedicated recovery facilities and personnel. The standard of care should be the same as the care provided in the main operating suites. Children should be observed until they are at or near their baseline level of consciousness and are no longer at risk for cardiopulmonary depression or airway compromise. The designated care provider should monitor and record the vital signs, along with continuous pulse oximetry monitoring.

Post-anesthesia care may be provided in the units that are at some distance from the anesthetizing location. The principles of safely transporting the patient should be followed. Problems like the emergence delirium, agitation, pain, airway obstruction, and hemodynamic instability should be anticipated. Nausea and vomiting should be prevented as the Valsalva maneuver resulting from it increased intracranial pressure. Largely the procedures at the remote sites are performed on a daycare basis. Discharge criteria should be established and followed for all daycare cases.

34.10 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is a type of scan that uses a magnetic field and radio waves, to produce detailed images of organs and tissues of the body. MRI is increasingly used for diagnostic procedures as well as for therapeutic interventions. The continuous presence of the strong static magnetic field, time-varied magnetic field, high-frequency electromagnetic waves, and restricted patient access creates unique challenges for providing anesthesia in MR units. Other challenges are darkened room, loud acoustic noise, radiofrequency heating, and unintentional projectiles.

Currently, the magnetic field's strength in the scanner used is 1.5 to 3 Tesla (T). One Tesla (T) is the equivalent of 10,000 Guess (G); the earth's magnetic field is only 0.5G [10]. Thus, any ferromagnetic material brought in proximity of the MRI scanner can become a projectile due to the strong, attractive force created by the scanner. Even a small projectile can injure or kill someone in their path.

34.11 MRI Scanner Design [10, 11]

The ASA and American College of Radiology have delineated zones to describe the physical plan of the MRI suite (Fig. 34.1).

- *Zone I*: This is the area outside the MR environment. It is freely accessible to the general public. Through this area, patients, healthcare professionals, and other employees can access the MR site.
- Zone II: This is the buffer zone between public-accessible zone I and strict-controlled zone III. Patients are received in this zone and are kept under the supervision of MR person-



Fig. 34.1 Layout of MRI suite. These are named as zones I through IV with increasing magnetic field exposure

nel. In this zone, answers to MR screening questions and patient histories are obtained. The zone should include an area for the induction of anesthesia and/or management of recovery from anesthesia. It should be equipped with a defibrillator, airway equipment, wall and backup oxygen supplies, suction, code cart, and appropriate drugs.

- Zone III: It is the restricted zone just outside the magnet room. Unrestricted access by unscreened non-MR personnel or ferromagnetic objects can result in various complications due to the interactions between the ferromagnetic objects and the MR environment. All MR-unsafe objects should be removed before entry to zone III.
- *Zone IV*: This zone contains the scanner magnet and is always located within zone III. All equipment and monitors used in this zone should be MR safe and/or conditional.

34.12 Anesthetic Considerations for MRI

MRI suite is usually noisy and claustrophobic. Complex scans and whole-body scans usually take 20 minutes to 1 hour. Anesthesia is usually required for children and infants to keep motionless during that period. The American College of Radiology and the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations have

- Education:
- Safety education regarding the physical environment of the MRI scanner
- Magnet hazards in zone III and IV
- Limitations and challenges of monitoring
- Safe response to code blue
- Screening of anesthesia care provider for the presence of ferromagnetic objects
- Patient screening:
- High-risk medical condition
- Implanted ferromagnetic devices and objects (pacemaker, cardioverter defibrillator, nerve stimulator, prosthetic valves, surgical clips, orthopedic implants)
- Embedded foreign bodies (iron filings, permanent eyeliner tattoo)
- Preparation
- Determination and implementation of an individualized anesthetic plan
- Optimal positioning of equipment and personnel
- Plan for the management of emergencies
- Patient management
- Monitoring: Similar to standards for basic anesthesia monitoring, MR-safe/MR-conditional monitors, provision of remote monitoring
- Anesthetic care: MR-safe/MR-conditional anesthesia equipment and pumps, light levels of anesthesia is usually adequate
- Airway management: Appropriate prior airway plan and prior plan to address common airway issues during the procedure
- Management of emergencies: Medical emergencies:
 - Initiate CPR whenever indicated
 - Remove the patient out of zone IV
 - Call for help
 - Transport the patient to a previously identified safe area for resuscitation
 - Fire, projectile emergencies, and quench
- Post-procedural care:
- Similar to ASA standards of post-anesthetic care
- Oral and written discharge instructions

developed standards, guidelines, and recommendations for the MRI suite, and the ASA formulated specific practice advisory (Table 34.6) [12]. The pre-procedural assessment should focus on identifying patients and personnel who have ferrous implants or fragments, surgical clips, cochlear implants, pacemakers, and prosthetic valves.

Most MRI studies are associated with minimal patient discomfort. Patients should receive the same monitoring as suggested by ASA standards for basic anesthesia monitoring. The equipment used in the MRI suite are classified as MR safe, MR conditional, and MR unsafe. MR-safe equipment do not constitute additional MR hazards, while MR-unsafe equipment constitute hazards in the MR environment. The safety of MR-conditional equipment depends on the different properties of the MR environment. Monitors and anesthesia equipment used in zone III and IV must be MR safe/conditional. Frequently light sedation is sufficient, but sedating a child can be difficult and unpredictable. General anesthesia is preferred in sick children and children with raised ICP. The anesthesia induction should be done in a dedicated anesthetic room located outside of the 5 Gauss line. Anesthesia machine used in zone IV should be MR safe or conditional. When MR-safe equipment are not available, IV anesthetic agents and inhalational agents can be delivered using additional circuits or tubing from the equipment in zone III. RF generators produce very loud noises (>90 dB). Hearing protection is mandatory for both the child and healthcare personnel present in the scanning room [13]. Medical emergencies must be anticipated, and a plan must be in place. The recovery of patients undergoing sedation and/or GA should be consistent with the ASA standards of post-anesthesia care [14].

34.13 Management of Emergencies during MRI

The emergencies in the MRI suite include medical emergencies, projectiles, quenching, and fire. When a pediatric patient suffers cardiac arrest in zone IV, cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) should be initiated as indicated; the child should be removed from zone IV and transported to a previously designated area for resuscitation. The resuscitation area, usually in zone II, should be located close to zone IV. Quenching is the rapid, almost explosive, escape of liquid helium and the accompanying loss of superconductivity. A large volume of helium gas is generated; if not properly vented, quench fills zone IV leading to asphyxia. Quenching may occur due to a system fault or deliberate action to shut down the magnetic field. When quench occurs, the child should be immediately removed from zone IV, and oxygen should be administered.

34.14 Computed Tomographic Scan

The challenges for anesthesiologists for sedation and/or anesthesia during computed tomographic (CT) scan include physical obstacle of the imaging equipment, the distance to the patient, the hazards of ionizing radiation, and exposure to ionizing radiation. Interference in monitoring is not a problem in CT scans. Chemotoxic reactions of contrast agents, renal toxicity, and allergic reactions are additional concerns for contrast-enhanced CT scans (Table 34.7) [15]. Most of the diagnostic scans can be performed without sedation or minimal sedation. Complex interventions require deeper sedation or even GA.

Chemotoxic reactions are caused by the physiochemical effects of contrast agents on organs and vessels. These reactions are dose and concentration dependent. The clinical presentations of contrast reactions may vary depending on the severity (Table 34.8). The incidence of acute adverse reaction to contrast is 5–8% [16]. Severe life-threatening reaction occurs in 0.05–0.1% of injections of conventional contrast media. Otherwise, non-life-threatening and selflimiting, chemotoxic reactions may become lifethreatening in unstable children.

34.15 Neuroradiologic Procedures

Anesthesia is increasing requested for different neuroradiological procedures, both diagnostic and therapeutic. Cerebral angiography, embolization, and sclerotherapy of vascular lesions and balloon-occlusion of vascular malformation, as well as radiation therapy to various CNS tumors, have unique anesthetic considerations. The details of these procedures are discussed elsewhere in this book.

 Table 34.7
 Chemotoxic effects of intravascular contrast

| Effects | Mechanism | |
|----------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Vascular changes | | |
| Hypervolemia | Increased plasma | |
| | osmolality | |
| High cardiac output | Increase in plasma | |
| | osmolality | |
| Local pain or | Alteration in vascular | |
| inflammation | permeability | |
| Formation of | Alteration in vascular | |
| microthrombus | permeability | |
| Increase in blood flow | Dilatation of vessels | |
| Hypotension | Dilatation of vessels | |
| Cerebral changes | | |
| Dilated external carotid | Hyper-osmolality | |
| artery | | |
| Alterations in systemic | Stimulation of | |
| blood pressure | chemoreceptors, | |
| | hyper-osmolality, and | |
| | sodium load | |
| Fluctuations in heart rate | Stimulation of | |
| | chemoreceptors | |
| Tachypnea | Stimulation of | |
| | chemoreceptors | |
| Increased blood-brain | Hyper-osmolality | |
| barrier permeability | | |
| Variations in neuro- | High concentration of | |
| electrical activity | ions | |
| Cardiac changes (specific | to coronary angiography) | |
| Dilated coronary artery | Hyper-osmolality | |
| Decrease in heart rate | | |
| Conduction abnormalities | | |
| Ventricular fibrillation | Calcium ion binding | |
| Myocardial depression | Calcium ion binding | |
| Renal changes | | |
| Sustained renovascular | Hyper-osmolality | |
| constriction leading to | | |
| decreased blood flow | | |
| Proteinuria | Increase in glomerular | |
| | permeability | |
| Osmotic diuresis | Non-reabsorbable solutes | |
| Toxic effects on renal | Probable molecular | |
| tubules | toxicity | |

Table 34.8 Classification of severity of contrast media reactions

| Minor | Moderate | Severe |
|-------------|----------------------|--------------------|
| Vomiting | Faintness | Anaphylactic |
| (minimal) | Vomiting (severe) | shock |
| Urticaria | Urticaria (profound) | Cardio- |
| (limited) | Facial edema | respiratory arrest |
| Pruritus | Airway edema | Seizures |
| Diaphoresis | Bronchospasm | Pulmonary |
| Nausea | (mild) | edema |

34.16 Gamma Knife Radiosurgery

Gamma knife radiosurgery is a treatment modality in which radiotherapy is delivered to a very precise area of the brain. This procedure is used to treat brain lesions such as tumors, arteriovenous malformations, and trigeminal neuralgia. Head should be absolutely immobile during the entire length of the procedure because of the use of a stereotactic frame and localization of the treated area to within 1.2–1.3 mm of spatial error (Fig. 34.2). A stereotactic frame will be placed around the head, and MRI brain scans will be done with the external frame in place. The child needs to be absolutely immobile while in the stereotactic frame (Fig. 34.3). Any movement during this time may result in the failure of imaging and skull fracture. Displacement of the pin in the skull might result in epidural or subdural hematoma as well.

The anesthetic technique depends on the length and type of procedure and the patient's comorbidities. Discussion between anesthesiologists, radiologists, and neurosurgeon is key to determine the optimal anesthetic regimen. The discussion should also include the expected length of the procedure, site of the procedure, the expected level of procedural stimulation, and positioning. The procedure requires deep sedation or GA. There is no definitive evidence to suggest the superiority of one anesthetic agent or technique over another. General anesthesia is preferred over sedation as pediatric sedation carries risks such as desaturation, airway obstruction, aspiration, need for emergency intubation, and seizures [17]. As in the other areas outside operation theater, the communication between anesthesiologists and proceduralists is essential, to ensure optimal patient management.



illustration of the principles of gamma knife radiosurgery. Gamma ray beams converge at the intended target to deliver a therapeutic dose of radiation

Fig. 34.2 An



Fig. 34.3 Schematic diagram of the stereotactic radiosurgery frame applied to a child. The anterior arch in front of the face should be placed as inverted "U," as shown by dotted pink shadow to get better airway exposure

34.17 Positron Emission Tomography and Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography

Positron emission tomography (PET) is a modality to study physiological and pharmacological processes as they occur in the living brain by injecting radioactive compounds. PET scan assesses regional blood glucose uptake and metabolism. Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) is a nuclear medicine technique that maps the regional cerebral blood flow. SPECT scans are used to identify epileptic foci and for evaluation of brain injury and suspected brain inflammation. PET scans are commonly used to distinguish benign from malignant neoplasms, staging the malignancy, determining the response to therapy, and distinguishing scar from residual neoplasm [18]. The PET/ SPECT scan obtained in an anesthetized and stressed child might not correctly represent the awake properties of the brain. Anesthetics can alter the neurophysiological parameters, including cerebral blood flow (CBF) and cerebral metabolism, affecting the kinetics of PET/ SPECT tracers. Also, alteration of hemodynamics due to anesthesia can indirectly influence PET/ SPECT findings; physiological parameters should be monitored and maintained closer to baseline. Both hyper- and hypoglycemia should be avoided as blood glucose levels can affect cerebral function by modulating neuroprotective mechanisms and properties of the blood-brain barrier.

34.18 Electroconvulsive Therapy (ECT)

Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) induces generalized, tonic-clonic epileptic seizures and several physiological changes. It causes transient activation of parasympathetic activity followed by more prominent sympathetic activation. Cerebral metabolic rate (CMR) increases, which results in a marked increase in CBF and ICP. There is also increased intraocular and intragastric pressure. The anesthetic requirements for ECT include amnesia and muscle relaxation for and control of hemodynamic changes and related complications. Earlier, ECT used to be administered without general anesthesia (GA), leading to emotional trauma and morbidities. Currently, GA is utilized with propofol (common), methohexital, or thiopentone as induction agents, and muscle paralysis is achieved, preferably with succinylcholine administration. The use of GA for ECT has improved the tolerability of patients, also reducing the morbidities.

In children and adolescents, ECT is being used to treat major psychiatry illnesses such as severe and medication-resistant depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and catatonia. ECT has been commonly utilized among children between 12 and 17 years to counter severe psychosis, suicidality, symptoms refractory to pharmacotherapy, catatonic symptoms, and self-injurious behaviors [19]. However, no report is available on the use of ECT in children less than 6 years of age. Minor adverse effects such as headache, nausea/vomiting, and amnesia have been reported, which are transient yet common, after ECT. Some patients may end up with severe complications like cardiac arrhythmias and prolonged seizures. Nevertheless, ECT has been increasingly utilized as a treatment modality in children.

34.19 Conclusion

The need for anesthesia and sedation for pediatric patients in a remote location is increasing. Providing anesthesia to a pediatric patient with a neurological disorder is not without risk. Pre-procedural patient evaluation and preparation, trained anesthesiologists, adequate monitoring, and familiarity with the equipment and location are critical for providing safe and qualified anesthetic care.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Nevin M, Brennan L. Anaesthetic services in remote sites. R Coll Anaesth London [Internet] 2014;1–5. www.rcoa.ac.uk/node/637.
- Metzner J, Posner KL, Domino KB. The risk and safety of anesthesia at remote locations: the US closed claims analysis. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2009;22(4):502–8.
- Butterworth JF, Mackey DC, JDW. Clinical anesthesiology. 5th ed. Mc Graw Hill; 2013. p. 927–33.
- 4. Apfelbaum JL. Practice advisory for preanesthesia evaluation. Anesthesiology. 2012;116(3):522–38.
- 5. American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee on standards and practice parameters. Practice guidelines for preoperative fasting and the use of pharmacologic agents to reduce the risk of pulmonary aspiration: application to healthy patients undergoing elective procedures: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Com. Anesthesiology. 2011;114(3):495–511.
- Guidelines of the American Society of Anesthesiologists: Directory of Members, American Society of Anesthesiologists. Park Ridge, IL, American Society of Anesthesiologists, 1997, p 394.
- American Society of Anesthesiologists Committee on Standards and Practice Parameters. Statement On Nonoperating Room Anesthetizing Locations. 2013;2. https://www.asahq.org/For-Members/~/ media/For Members/Standards and Guidelines/2014/ statement on non-operating room anesthetizing locations.pdf.
- Anesthesiologists A society for. Minimal sedation anxiolysis responsiveness. 2014;1–2.
- 9. Goudra BG, Singh PM. Out of operating room anesthesia. Springer; 2017.
- Rogoski J. 2012 Operating Room Design Manual. 2012;37–43.
- Kanal E, Barkovich AJ, Bell C, et al. ACR guidance document on MR safe practices: 2013. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2013;37(3):501–30.
- The American Society of Anesthesiologysits Task Force on Anesthetic Care for Magetic Resonacce imaging. Practice advisory on anesthetic care for magnetic resonance imaging. Anesthesiology. 2015;122(3):495–520.
- Price DL, De Wilde JP, Papadaki AM, Curran JS, Kitney RI. Investigation of acoustic noise on 15 MRI scanners from 0.2 T to 3 T. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2001;13(2):288–93.
- 14. Apfelbaum JL, Silverstein JH, Chung FF, et al. Practice guidelines for postanesthetic care an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Postanesthetic Care. Anesthesiology. 2013;118(2):291–307.
- Rubin D. Anesthesia for ambulatory diagnostic and therapeutic radiology procedures. Anesthesiol Clin. 2014;32(2):371–80.

- Bush WH, Swanson DP. Acute reactions to intravascular contrast media: types, risk factors, recognition, and specific treatment. Am J Roentgenol. 1991;157(6):1153–61.
- Murat I, Constant I, Maud'Huy H. Perioperative anaesthetic morbidity in children: a database of 24 165 anaesthetics over a 30-month period. Paediatr Anaesth. 2004;14(2):158–66.
- Roberts EG, Shulkin BL. Technical issues in performing PET studies in pediatric patients. J Nucl Med Technol. 2004;32:5–9.
- Stein ALS, Sacks SM, Roth JR, Habis M, Saltz SB, Chen C. Anesthetic management during electroconvulsive therapy in children: a systematic review of the available literature. Anesth Analg. 2020;130(1):126–40.



Anesthesia for Children with Neuromuscular Diseases

35

Sameera Vattipalli
, Girija Prasad Rath
, and Umeshkumar Athiraman

Key Points

- Neuromuscular disorders (NMDs) are a heterogenous group of conditions characterized by myopathy due to the involvement of muscle, peripheral nerve, or neuromuscular junction.
- They are rare, mostly inherited, with multisystem involvement and associated with serious anesthesia-associated complications.
- Children with NMDs are at risk for respiratory complications owing to poor airway tone, bulbar dysfunction, poor cough with an insufficient clearing of secretions, chronic lower airway disease due to aspiration, and sleepdisordered breathing.
- Cardiac myocyte involvement leads to the development of cardiomyopathy and heart failure.
- Malignant hyperthermia, propofol infusion syndrome, and anesthesia-induced rhabdomy-

S. Vattipalli · G. P. Rath (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India

U. Athiraman

olysis are the major anesthesia-related complications in these children.

- Succinylcholine is contraindicated in any patient with NMD.
- Increased sensitivity to nondepolarizing muscle relaxants may result in the prolonged neuromuscular blockade and, hence, mandates judicious use in conjunction with neuromuscular monitoring.
- A preoperative discussion with a neurologist and meticulous planning are essential to manage a "floppy" child with undiagnosed myopathy successfully.

35.1 Introduction

Neuromuscular disorders (NMDs) are a heterogenous group of conditions characterized by myopathy due to the involvement of peripheral nerve, neuromuscular junction, or muscle [1]. Children with diagnosed or undiagnosed NMDs pose unique challenges to an anesthesiologist owing to their multisystem involvement and increased susceptibility to severe, often fatal anesthesia-related complications. The combined incidence of NMDs is estimated to be 160/100000 [2]. As they are rare, NMDs are not subjected to extensive research. Most of the literature available is based on anecdotal reports and retrospective studies [2, 3]. A majority of NMDs are inherited [4]. Anesthesiologists cater to these

Department of Anesthesiology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, USA e-mail: uathira@wustl.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_35

children as a part of diagnostic workup (e.g., muscle biopsy or magnetic resonance imaging), disease-related surgical procedures (e.g., scoliosis surgeries), incidental surgeries, or in intensive care scenarios. A thorough understanding of the pathophysiology of the disease process and anesthetic implications are critical in the perioperative management of these patients.

NMD refers to many disorders, and discussing all of them in detail is beyond the scope of this text. This chapter focuses on common disorders that have significant anesthetic implications. Moreover, there are several reports of asymptomatic children with undiagnosed myopathies, who develop serious complications while they receive anesthesia for routine surgery. Knowledge of NMDs and their clinical presentation will help anesthesiologists identify undiagnosed myopathy features and direct the patients for further evaluation before proceeding with a non-emergent surgery.

35.2 Classification of Neuromuscular Diseases in Children

The term NMD encompasses more than 70 diagnoses with often overlapping phenotypes [2]. A detailed classification is given in Table 35.1 [5]. However, for simplicity, these can be broadly grouped as myasthenic syndromes (problems with the release of acetylcholine or its action), channelopathies (disorders relating to sarcolemma), dystrophies, myotonias (abnormalities in myofibrils), and mitochondrial myopathies. It is critical to emphasize that overlap in the phenotype exists.

The prejunctional disorders are characterized by the upregulation of acetylcholine receptors and, hence, associated with the possibility of severe hyperkalemia after succinylcholine administration. Junctional disorders like myasthenic syndromes show sensitivity to nondepolarizing muscle relaxants and resistance to succinylcholine. However, it is the postjunctional disorders that are implicated in serious adverse reactions in response to anesthesia. Currently,

| Table | 35.1 | Classification | of | neuromuscular | diseases |
|-------|------|----------------|----|---------------|----------|
| (NMD | s) | | | | |

| Prejunctional | A. Motor neuron disorders |
|----------------|------------------------------------|
| disorders | a. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis |
| | (ALS) |
| | b. Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) |
| | c. Friedreich's ataxia |
| | B. Peripheral neuropathies |
| Junctional | a. Myasthenia gravis |
| disorders | b. Lambert-Eaton syndrome |
| Postjunctional | A. Progressive muscular |
| disorders | dystrophies |
| | a. Dystrophinopathy: Duchenne's |
| | and Becker's muscular dystrophy |
| | b. Limb-girdle muscular |
| | dystrophies |
| | c. Facioscapulohumeral muscular |
| | dystrophy |
| | e. Oculopharyngeal muscular |
| | dystrophy |
| | B. Congenital muscular dystrophies |
| | C. Congenital myopathies |
| | a. Central core myopathy (Shy- |
| | Magee syndrome) |
| | b. Multiminicore or multicore |
| | myopathy |
| | c. Nemaline rod myopathy |
| | d. Myotubular myopathy |
| | e. Myosin storage myopathy |
| | f. Sarcotubular myopathy |
| | D. Myotonias |
| | a. Myotonic dystrophy: DM1 and |
| | DM2 |
| | b. Non-dystrophic myotonias: |
| | myotonia congenita, |
| | paramyotonia congenita, and |
| | Schwartz-Jampel syndrome |
| | E. King-Denborough syndrome |
| | F. Metabolic myopathies |
| | a. Mitochondrial cytopathies |
| | b. Diseases of carnitine pathway |
| | c. Myoadenylate deaminase |
| | deficiency |
| | d. Glycogenosis type 5 |
| | e. Familial periodic paralysis |

DM1 myotonic dystrophy type 1, *DM2* myotonic dystrophy type 2

there is no general consensus available related to the anesthetic management of these patients.

A brief outline of myasthenic syndromes, muscular dystrophies, myotonia dystrophica, mitochondrial myopathies, and spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) are described in this chapter. Other disorders like cerebral palsy and brachial plexopathy that can present with clinical manifestations similar to NMDs are also briefly described. General and disease-specific anesthetic considerations pertaining to these disorders are discussed, along with an approach to undiagnosed myopathies.

35.2.1 Myasthenic Syndromes

Myasthenic syndromes particularly involve neuromuscular junction resulting in impaired neuromuscular transmission by affecting either release of acetylcholine (Ach) or its action on the postsynaptic membrane [6]. Of these, 10% occur in children less than 16 years of age. While myasthenia gravis (MG) in adults is an acquired disease, this is not always the case in children. Myasthenic syndromes can be classified into three groups: transient neonatal MG, juvenile (autoimmune MG), and congenital myasthenic syndromes (Table 35.2) [7–9].

35.2.2 Channelopathies

As the name suggests, this group of genetic disorders is characterized by dysfunction of voltagegated/ligand-gated channels on the postsynaptic membrane or sarcolemma [6]. Some categorize these under metabolic myopathies, e.g., chloride ion channel defect in myotonia congenita and calcium and sodium channel defects in hypo- and hyperkalemic periodic paralysis, respectively.

35.2.3 Muscular Dystrophies

Muscular dystrophies refer to more than 30 genetic diseases that result in defective synthesis or regeneration of contractile proteins [10]. They are characterized by weakness due to muscle degeneration. The complete absence or presence of abnormal dystrophin or other glycoproteins results in dissociation of muscle cell contraction from the surrounding connective tissue. Ineffective contraction leads to muscle weakness. Sarcolemmal instability leads to degeneration and atrophy. Most of the degenerated muscle is

 Table 35.2
 Myasthenic syndromes

| Transient myasthenia gravis | Seen in babies born to mother with MG; 20–30% of them develop clinical signs Mechanism: Passive transfer of acetylcholine receptor (AChR) antibodies across the placenta Presentation: Ptosis, facial weakness, poor cry, suckling and swallowing difficulties, and respiratory distress Onset: Within 72 hours of birth; usually resolves in 5 weeks. Good response to anticholinesterases |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Turranila | Esponse to anticipance |
| myesthenie | Machanism: Autoimmuna |
| gravis | destruction of AChRs in |
| gravis | postsynaptic membrane |
| | Presentation and clinical course |
| | similar to adult-onset |
| | MG Predominantly ocular |
| | symptoms: benign course. Managed |
| | with anticholinesterases and steroids |
| | similar to adult-onset myasthenia |
| | gravis |
| Concential | Machaniama Constin mutations |
| Congenital | • Mechanism: Genetic mutations |
| myastnemic | neuromuscular transmission |
| syndromes | Various types of mutations present |
| | at prosynaptic synaptic and |
| | at presynaptic, synaptic, and |
| | posisynaptic levels. All of them |
| | Consting testing is passed for |
| | denetic testing is necessary for |
| | from myonethies (due to the |
| | possibility of overlapping signs) |
| | Possibility of overlapping signs) |
| | depende on the type of mutetier |
| | acpends on the type of mutation |

eventually replaced with fat and connective tissue [6]. Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (DMD) is the most common and most severe form of muscular dystrophy; its clinical features are summarized in Table 35.3 along with those of *Becker's muscular dystrophy* [2, 4, 11].

35.2.4 Myotonic Syndromes

Myotonic syndromes are a set of diseases characterized by the presence of myotonia regardless of the mechanism. Myotonia is a "slow relaxation of muscle following a voluntary (e.g., hand grip) or stimulated (percussion or electric) contraction."

| | Inheritance/genetic | | Common |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Туре | defect/incidence | Clinical features | surgeries |
| Duchenne's muscular dystrophy | X-linked recessive Characterized by absent dystrophin 1:3500 | Most commonly encountered myopathy in the operating room and most severe dystrophy. Male predominance Presents in early childhood (2–6 years of age) Clinical features depend on the age of presentation Up to 90% have a positive family history. Clinical features: Proximal muscle weakness Progressive weakness, wheelchair-bound by 10–13 years Joint contractures (due to limb disuse) Scoliosis in 60–90% of patients (owing to truncal motor weakness) Pseudohypertrophy of calf muscles is the hallmark (muscle bulk replaced by fat) Gower's sign Other system involvement: Restrictive pulmonary disease (spine abnormalities and involvement of respiratory muscles) 30% have cardiac manifestations by 14 years; ECG changes (70–80%; poor R-wave progression, deep q-waves in lateral leads) and conduction defects (~48%) Cardiomyopathy (100% by 18 years) Mitral valve prolapse due to degeneration in papillary muscle Usually, die of cardiorespiratory failure by 30 years of age Management: Glucocorticoids, gene therapy, and cardiorespiratory support | Muscle biopsy Contracture release Tendon transfer Correction of spine deformities Scoliosis surgery is the most common major surgery in this subgroup of patients |
| Becker's muscular dystrophy | Reduced amount of dystrophin | Milder disease than Duchenne's muscular dystrophy Less severe weakness Presentation in the second decade Milder disease progression Life span can extend till fifth decade Cardiac involvement is rare <16 years of age. But 75% of patients have ECG abnormalities | - |

Table 35.3Muscular dystrophies

Other triggers are cold temperature and pharmacological agents like succinylcholine. Myotonia dystrophica (with its two subtypes DM1 and DM2) continues to be described as a disease associated with myotonia despite the abundant evidence of its multisystem involvement. In fact, muscle stiffness or myalgia is not a common complaint in this group compared to those presenting with non-dystrophic myotonias i.e., myotonia congenita, paramyotonia congenita, and potassium-associated myotonias (these are essentially channelopathies). The salient clinical features of myotonia dystrophica and myotonia congenita are described in Table 35.4 [12–14].

35.2.5 Mitochondrial Myopathies

These are characterized by inborn errors of metabolism, mainly affecting adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production in mitochondria due to defects in the respiratory chain with an incidence of 1:5000 live births [4]. Defects in nuclear DNA (encodes 85% of protein subunits in mitochondria) follow the mendelian inheritance pattern. They are seen in most pediatric mitochondrial myopathies, whereas defects in mitochondrial DNA (encodes 15% of protein subunits) are seen in adults. At least ten common disorders are described in the literature with varied clinical presentations (Table 35.5).

| | DM1 and DM2 | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Types | DM2 is seen in adults. It doesn't have a congenital form | | | |
| Inheritance/genetic | Autosomal-dominant inheritance | | | |
| defect/incidence | Unstable repeat expansion disorder | | | |
| | Delayed inactivation of sodium channels after an action potential is responsible for myotonia. | | | |
| | DM1: CTG nucleotide repeat on chromosome 19 | | | |
| Clinical features | Three types depending on the age of presentation | | | |
| | Congenital DM1 - Almost always have a maternal inheritance with an aggravated | | | |
| | presentation in the newborn due to genetic phenomenon "anticipation" (with each mitosis, the | | | |
| | number of repeats increases, making it very unstable) | | | |
| | • Born as floppy babies due to generalized hypotonia; tone gradually improves in early | | | |
| | childhood. By 10 y, 75% have clinical myotonia. (Absent before 3-5 years of age) | | | |
| | Multisystem involvement | | | |
| | Weak cry and impaired sucking and swallowing | | | |
| | • Facial diplegia with open tent-shaped mouth | | | |
| | • Mental retardation and delayed speech | | | |
| | Aspiration pneumonia and sleep-disordered breathing | | | |
| | Cardiomyopathy and conduction abnormalities | | | |
| Gastrointestinal manifestations (reflux and gastroparesis) | | | | |
| | • Endocrinal and psychiatric disorders and cataract | | | |
| | Childhood-onset DMI—uneventful neonatal period. Moderately delayed early motor | | | |
| | development. No typical facies. Speech and learning difficulties, cognitive defects, and | | | |
| | A held smooth DM is the election of DM1 | | | |
| ~ . | Adult-onset DM is the classical form of DM1 | | | |
| Common surgeries | Muscle/organ biopsies | | | |
| | CTEV correction (present in 50%) | | | |
| | Inguinal hernia repair | | | |
| | Gastrostomy and tracheostomy during later stages of life | | | |

Table 35.4 Myotonia dystrophica (DM)

DM1 myotonic dystrophy type 1, DM2 myotonic dystrophy type 2, CTEV congenital talipes equinovarus

35.2.6 Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA)

SMA is a progressive NMD characterized by degeneration of spinal anterior horn cells and brainstem nuclei [15]. Prominent clinical features are hypotonia, respiratory insufficiency, bulbar dysfunction, and sleep-disordered breathing. It can also be associated with autonomic dysfunction. Of the four types, type 1 presents in infancy and rarely survives to adolescence; SMA types 2 and 3 are present later in life, and type 4 is an adult-onset SMA. Apart from diagnostic, orthopedic procedures, these children require tracheostomy, gastrostomy, fundoplication, and scoliosis surgeries. Most of the complications in these patients are related to the respiratory system as their cardiac function is usually normal.

35.3 Anesthetic Considerations

Children with NMDs have special perioperative requirements and are best managed with a multidisciplinary approach. Anesthesiologists provide anesthetic care for these children in two different scenarios: (A) child with diagnosed or suspected muscle disease and (B) asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic child with undiagnosed or undefined myopathy for routine surgery.

35.3.1 Anesthetic Considerations for Diagnosed NMDs

35.3.1.1 General Considerations

 Concerns related to respiratory system involvement: Patients with NMDs are at risk for respiratory complications owing to poor
airway tone, bulbar dysfunction, poor cough (due to thoracic and abdominal muscle weakness along with bulbar dysfunction) with an insufficient clearing of secretions, and chronic lower airway disease due to aspiration [2, 16]. Decreased chest wall compliance with or without the presence of scoliosis and other chest wall deformities, sleep-disordered breathing, and diminished hypercarbia response are also often seen. Additional considerations are tongue hypertrophy leading to upper airway obstruction or intubation difficulties in DMD and gastroesophageal reflux (due to abdominal muscle spasticity and esophageal incoordination) in case of cerebral palsy. Preoperative evaluation of these children should include assessment of baseline

Table 35.5 Mitochondrial myopathies

| | ini injopunios |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Genetic defect | Clinical features |
| Defects in protein subunits of the respiratory chain In adults, defects in I and III complexes In children, defects in I and IV complexes and multiple combinations can be seen | Can present at any age Childhood—More severe, multiorgan involvement Organ involvement depends on the tissue distribution of defective DNA Severity depends on the relative concentration of normal and defective DNA in those tissues CNS: Encephalopathy, seizures, stroke associated with hemiplegia, ataxia, and bulbar palsy Myopathy (varying severity, from exercise intolerance to generalized hypotonia) Hearing and visual loss Gastrointestinal: Bowel dysmotility and swallowing problems Cardiomyopathy (20% incidence, contributing to mortality of 70% below 30 years) Respiratory involvement (aspiration) Nocturnal desaturation and increased opioid sensitivity Others Hepatic and renal involvement Hypoglycemia and anemia |

oxygen saturation in room air, arterial blood gas (ABG) analysis, and pulmonary function tests (PFTs). Less than 50% forced vital capacity predicted postoperative respiratory complications and vital capacity less than 680 ml predicted daytime hypocapnia in patients with DMD [17, 18]. Preoperative noninvasive ventilation (for patients at risk of hypoventilation) and incentive spirometry (for patients with ineffective cough) could be employed to optimize their respiratory status. Opioids and anesthetic agents are to be judiciously administered and titrated to effect. Children with respiratory compromise might need tracheal extubation on noninvasive ventilation (NIV) or require postoperative ventilation. Chest physiotherapy, adequate pain control, and assisted airway clearance with chest physiotherapy and cough assist devices, along with judicious fluid balance and nutritional support, are essential for good outcomes.

Concerns related to cardiovascular system involvement: Along with striated muscle, most NMDs can also affect cardiac myocytes. Due to muscle weakness, it is difficult to elicit a history of breathlessness or comment on NYHA status. Heart failure with cardiomyopathy could present with nonspecific symptoms like weight loss, abdominal pain, sleep disturbance, fatigue, and decreased urine output [19]. Similarly, chest pain could be musculoskeletal or cardiac in origin. Hence, careful examination and thorough evaluation in conjunction with a cardiologist are essential for preanesthetic evaluation. Preoperative vitals should be recorded. Resting tachycardia and hypotension at baseline indicate the occurrence of possible severe intraoperative hemodynamic perturbations, especially with major surgeries like scoliosis correction. Careful examination for the presence of murmur, gallop, peripheral edema, and hepatomegaly is needed. Dependent edema is not helpful as it can occur due to no ambulation as well [19]. Needless to say, preoperative ECG is mandatory for documentation of rhythm and acts as a baseline to compare and observe

new changes during the intra- and postoperative period. Echocardiography (resting echo and dobutamine stress echo to evaluate the response of cardiac muscle to intraoperative stress) and Holter monitoring are advocated as per necessity. Cardiac MRI provides information regarding the extent of myocardial fibrosis involvement in these patients. These findings may precede the left ventricular dysfunction and, hence, sometimes advocated in patients with DMD and BMD.

Regional NMD: anesthesia and Cardiorespiratory complications, opioid sensitivity and sleep-disordered breathing, and probability of fatal anesthesia-related complications in children with NMDs make regional anesthesia (as a sole anesthetic technique or in conjunction with general anesthesia) a safer choice. Hence, it should be considered while formulating an anesthetic plan. Younger age, cognitive impairment (even older children might be uncooperative), contractures, and the presence of spine abnormalities (kyphoscoliosis) can make it technically challenging. Meticulous examination and documentation of preoperative neurological deficits are imperative. Regional anesthesia is preferably avoided in rapidly progressing NMD (differentiation between disease progression and the effect of the blockade can be difficult) [20]. Attention to the technique and use of adjuncts like ultrasound should be employed as injuries from needles/catheters and toxic effects of local anesthetics could exacerbate the preexisting nerve damage [21]. Sympathetic blockade due to neuraxial block can exacerbate preexisting autonomic dysfunction and can be detrimental in children with severe cardiac dysfunction; hence, caution should be exercised [20]. Nevertheless, regional anesthesia should be preferred and employed wherever feasible in this patient population.

 Malignant hyperthermia (MH) susceptibility: MH is a pharmacogenetic disorder characterized by a hypermetabolic state induced by a defect in calcium homeostasis that results in sustained contracture in skeletal muscles. Its incidence in children is 1:15,000 [4]. Inheritance is autosomal dominant—several of the genetic mutations on chromosome 19 in the area coding for ryanodine receptor (ryanodine controls the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, defects lead to excessive calcium release).

The only NMDs with definite MH susceptibility is King-Denborough syndrome, central core disease, multiminicore disease, and Evans myopathy [2, 6]. Variants of RYR1 and certain variants of CACNA1S and STAC3 genes are associated with MH susceptibility (e.g., periodic paralysis and nemaline myopathies with these gene variants are MH susceptible) [22]. However, MH-like symptoms are seen in many NMDs in response to volatile agents and succinylcholine. It is now established that DMD does not have MH susceptibility, and the symptoms described in the literature are due to rhabdomyolysis.

Caffeine-halothane contracture test is the gold standard for diagnosing MH [4]. With the advent of dantrolene, mortality has drastically decreased from more than 60% to 1.4% by 2000. It is a hypermetabolic crisis presenting with tachycardia, tachypnea, increased end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂), increased oxygen consumption, acidosis, hyperkalemia, muscle rigidity, rhabdomyolysis, and hyperthermia [23]. The triggers for MH are succinylcholine and volatile agents (halothane>isoflurane). Though considered weak triggers, MH reactions continue to occur with desflurane and sevoflurane [4]. Children with MH susceptibility should be scheduled as the first case of the day (minimum volatile concentration in ambient air). The anesthetic station should be flushed for 10 min with more than 10 l/min fresh gas flow to minimize the inhalational anesthetic concentration to less than 10 ppm (with the ventilator switched on after changing soda lime and breathing circuit). Newer workstations might require longer flush times. UK Malignant Hyperthermia Registry issued guidelines recommending 90-second flush before attaching activated charcoal filters to both the limbs [24]. Use of

activated charcoal filters eliminate the necessity of longer flush times and renders anesthesia machine volatile free in less than 3 minutes [25, 26]. Earliest sign of MH is the rapidly increasing EtCO₂ [4, 23]. Metabolic and respiratory acidosis along with tachycardia, electrolyte imbalance, and rhabdomyolysis occurs which, if left untreated, may progress to severe hyperthermia, disseminated intravascular coagulation, cardiac and renal failure, and death. Intravenous dantrolene is the definitive treatment for MH. It inhibits ryanodine and thereby the excessive release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Each dantrolene vial contains 20 mg of the drug and 3 gm of mannitol and sodium hydroxide adjusted to pH, which needs to be reconstituted with 60 ml of sterile water. The reconstituted solution turns orange. The usual dose of dantrolene is 2.5 mg/kg as a rapid intravenous bolus. Its complications include muscle weakness, gastrointestinal symptoms, respiratory failure, and chronic phlebitis (slow infusions). Repeat dosing can be given if symptoms reappear. There is no role of preoperative dantrolene [4]. Patients with suspected MH need muscle biopsy, genetic testing, and an identification bracelet.

Anesthesia-induced rhabdomyolysis (AIR) is a phenomenon observed in patients with muscular dystrophy characterized by skeletal muscle breakdown and release of myoglobin, creatinine kinase, and potassium leading to acute life-threatening hyperkalemia after exposure to triggers like succinylcholine or volatile anesthetics [3]. Dystrophinglycoprotein complex is responsible for maintaining the integrity of sarcolemma during and after muscle contraction. Its absence makes sarcolemma unstable, resulting in its chronic tearing and destruction [3, 4]. Succinylcholine-induced depolarization and fasciculations are implicated with the occurrence of rhabdomyolysis, whereas the mechanism of the volatile agents causing rhabdomyolysis is still unclear. It is postulated that volatile anesthetics make sarcolemma unstable so that any superimposed insult on the already unstable membrane precipitates lysis. Several reports in the literature support this hypothesis. They have evidenced a greater number of complications in the recovery room where volatile agents' concentration is minimal but could have been triggered by factors such as shivering, rigidity, and agitation [6, 10, 27]. It is commonly seen with younger children (<8 year old) due to active destruction and regeneration of muscle bulk compared to the older children and adolescents where the muscle fibers are fibrotic and no longer regenerating [4]. All volatile agents have been implicated in rhabdomyolysis (halothane>sevoflurane>i soflurane), and the minimal safe concentration to use in the patients is not known [4]. Aggressive management of hyperkalemia, hemodynamic support, hydration, and diuresis to prevent myoglobin precipitation in renal tubules is vital [4].

Propofol infusion syndrome (PRIS): All the anesthetic agents are known to affect mitochondrial function, with the prompt restoration of function on discontinuation, but propofol is of particular concern due to the risk of PRIS [2]. Mechanism of PRIS involves impairment of mitochondrial oxidation and transport of free fatty acids, which is similar to the pathophysiology of mitochondrial disorders. Concerns have been expressed about an association between mitochondrial disease and susceptibility to PRIS, which could occur with lower doses and shorter infusion times than normal individuals (the usual implicated dose is >4 mg/kg/h for >48 h). Hence, it is prudent to avoid or restrict its use to very brief procedures in patients with mitochondrial myopathies [4, 6].

35.3.1.2 Disease-Specific Anesthetic Considerations

Most important anesthetic considerations for the common neuromuscular disorders are summarized in Table 35.6 [3, 4, 10–13, 15, 19, 27–31]. Other less frequent NMDs that a neuroanesthesiologist frequently encounters are summarized along with considerations below.

35.3.2 Disorders with Clinical Manifestations Similar to NMDs

35.3.2.1 Cerebral Palsy

It is a spectrum of neurological disorders affecting movement and posture due to injury to the developing brain [32]. These children present with varying degrees of the motor, sensory, and cognitive impairment. Multiple fetal, maternal, and acquired factors have been implicated in its etiology [4, 32, 33]. Clinical presentation of these children and important anesthetic considerations are outlined in Table 35.7 [4, 32–34].

35.3.2.2 Brachial Plexopathy

Birth injury (due to extensive stretch during delivery) and traumatic brachial plexus injury are the

| Disorder | Anesthetic considerations | Anesthetic plan |
|----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (DMD) | DMD is the most severe muscular dystrophy In DMD Early childhood→ongoing skeletal muscle damage →rhabdomyolysis, and hyperkalemia in response to triggers are the main concerns Late adolescence and adulthood→cardiac and respiratory failure are concerns Possible difficult airway due to progressive fibrosis of masseter muscle (restricted mouth opening) and neck muscles (affecting flexion and extension) Cardiomyopathy could be undiagnosed as they are wheelchair bound and rarely exert. Preop echo mandatory for diagnosis Restrictive lung disease, upper airway dysfunction, and sleep apnea. Need preoperative pulmonary function tests. If preoperative forced vital capacity is below 50%, patient might need postoperative mechanical ventilation [10] On long-term glucocorticoids as a part of the management | Regional can be safely administered. But it can be challenging due to spine abnormalities No susceptibility to MH AIR with succinylcholine and inhaled anesthetics (halo>sevo>iso). Minimal safe concentration not known. Cardiac arrest was reported with even <10 min of volatile-based anesthesia The prudent option is TIVA. There is minimal risk with brief inhalational induction till IV line is secured Upregulation of endorphin receptors→ increased opioid sensitivity. Titrate opioids carefully NDMR for induction. Can have prolonged action and high chances of residual paralysis. Use in conjunction with TOF monitoring. No adverse effects with sugammadex Use potassium free crystalloids. Colloids are safe Recovery: Defer extubation in case of concerns for respiratory depression. High chances of postoperative apnea Postoperative pain: NSAIDs can trigger rhabdomyolysis. Use regional techniques wherever possible. Caution with opioids |
| Mitochondrial myopathies | Multisystem involvement. Thorough preoperative evaluation, including hepatic and renal function tests and echocardiography Bowel dysmotility, gastroesophageal reflux along with bulbar palsy→ high risk of aspiration. Anti-aspiration prophylaxis Preoperative optimization of respiratory function. Treat aspiration-associated infections, and assess for and treat airway reactivity. NIV for OSA and nocturnal desaturation In patients with lactic acidosis, avoid excessive fasting and lactate-containing solutions | Volatiles can be used. No risk of rhabdomyolysis. However, caution with cardiomyopathy and ventricular dysfunction Increased sensitivity to opioids Succinylcholine is contraindicated TOF monitoring during NDMR usage. Both sensitivity and resistance to NDMR are possible Caution with propofol. Even standard doses can cause acidosis mimicking PRIS Avoid lactate-containing solutions Recovery Might require prolonged postoperative ventilation |

Table 35.6 Anesthetic considerations in neuromuscular diseases

| Disorder | Anesthetic considerations | Anesthetic plan |
|---------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Disorder Myotonia dystrophica (DM) | Anesthetic considerations Swallowing difficulties and aspiration pneumonia Cardiomyopathy and conduction abnormalities High risk for aspiration. Anti-aspiration prophylaxis and modified RSI Myotonia and considerations Triggers can be physical (hypothermia and shivering, electrocautery, surgical stimulation) or pharmacological (succinylcholine, etomidate, methohexital) Myotonic contractures can interfere with positioning and intubation Administration of muscle relaxant or regional anesthesia does not prevent myotonic contracture (defect lies in the muscle, not in nerve or neuromuscular junction) Mexiletine and phenytoin should be handy for its management Maintain temperature and avoid shivering | Anesthetic plan Myotonic contractures can result in an incomplete neuraxial blockade No susceptibility to MH. Inhalational agents can be used (caution with effects on myocardial contractility). Agents with a faster recovery profile are preferred Titrate IV agents and opioids to effect. Increased sensitivity was reported Pain during propofol injection and etomidate can precipitate myotonia NDMR can be given. Consider dose titration and monitoring. (Muscle wasting is present; even small doses can prolong recovery) Use of neostigmine is controversial due to a case report mentioning severe muscular weakness after NMB reversal. However, whether the weakness was due to DM or an excessive dose of neostigmine could not be ascertained [30]. This finding was not confirmed in any of the other studies. It is generally agreed that neostigmine does not produce untoward reactions in DM Recovery and postoperative period Respiratory muscle weakness and need for postoperative ventilation. (Majority of anesthetic complications are respiratory; worsening of respiratory symptoms should be anticipated.) Extreme caution with the use of opioids. NSAIDs are safe. Prolonged postoperative |
| Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) | Cardiac function is usually normal, except in cases of very severe pulmonary hypertension. Preoperative testing is not mandatory Difficult airway due to joint contractures, cervical spine immobility, and reduced mouth opening have been reported [31]. There is no risk of MH susceptibility in SMA [15] | All anesthetic agents can be safely used without any adverse effects Motor neuron degeneration can cause dysregulation of acetylcholine receptors; succinylcholine should be avoided As with other NMDs, NDMR should be titrated to effect and in conjunction with neuromuscular function monitoring (increased sensitivity and prolonged action can be seen) Recovery and postoperative concerns Prolonged emergence and need for postoperative mechanical ventilation should be anticipated [15, 31] Agents that could suppress postoperative respiratory drive should be avoided |

Table 35.6 (continued)

MH malignant hyperthermia, *NDMR* nondepolarizing muscle relaxants, *NIV* non invasive ventilation, *OSA* obstructive sleep apnoea, *TIVA* total intravenous anesthesia

common mechanisms of brachial plexopathy in the pediatric population. Risk factors for birth injuries include shoulder dystocia, large birth weight, assisted deliveries, prolonged labor, and breech presentation [35, 36]. Children with obstetric brachial plexus injuries should be evaluated for injuries to the phrenic nerve and clavicle, intracranial hemorrhage, and torticollis, all of which bear

| Clinical features | Seizures (30%) |
|-------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Joint contractures |
| | Gastroesophageal reflux and aspiration |
| | Chronic pneumonia and reactive airway disease |
| | Anemia (nutritional deficiency, multiple surgeries, associated blood loss, and chronic diseases |
| | like pneumonia/aspiration) |
| | Platelet dysfunction |
| | Decreased clotting factors |
| | Scoliosis (20%) |
| Common | Baclofen pump insertion |
| surgical | Dental surgeries |
| procedures | Orthopedic surgeries and contracture release |
| | Nissen's fundoplication for gastroesophageal reflux disease |
| | Scoliosis correction |
| | Dorsal rhizotomy |
| Anesthetic | Multiple preoperative medications (anticonvulsant, antispasticity, anti-reflux) |
| considerations | Baclofen should not be stopped abruptly to avoid withdrawal |
| | Gastroesophageal reflux and bulbar palsy can lead to chronic pneumonia, failure to clear secretions, and reactive airway disease. A full course of preoperative antibiotics along with bronchodilators to treat wheeze might be required Anti appiration prophylaxis |
| | Positioning challenges due to chronic contractures and kyphoscoliosis |
| | Difficult airway owing to temporomandibular joint dysfunction along with dental caries and |
| | the loose tooth should be evaluated |
| | • Patients with cerebral palsy do not mount a hyperkalemic response to succinylcholine. (Minimal upregulation of extra-junctional acetylcholine receptors. A probable theory is that the muscles were never fully developed and hence cannot mount a significant hyperkalemic response to succinylcholine.) |
| | • Baclofen and dantrolene can cause delayed recovery of NMB. But patients with cerebral palsy can demonstrate resistance to NDMR. Hence, monitoring is advised |
| | • Pain difficult to assess. More sensitive to opioids (OSA and nocturnal desaturation and upregulation of endorphin receptors might be the cause) |
| | • Little subcutaneous fat and the altered threshold for shivering due to neurocognitive dysfunction. Hence, difficult to maintain temperature perioperatively. Aggressive measures are required |
| | • Risk of extensive blood loss (platelet deficiency and dysfunction along with decreased clotting factors in the setting of anemia) |

Table 35.7 Clinical features and management of cerebral palsy

NMB neuromuscular blockers, NDMR nondepolarizing muscle relaxants, OSA obstructive sleep apnea

significant perioperative concerns [35]. Traumatic brachial plexus injuries are rare in children with a prevalence of approximately 0.1%, the most common cause being motor vehicle accidents. They are often associated with a head injury and upper extremity vascular lesions [37].

Type of injury and severity determines the presentation and extent of recovery [35]. Diagnostic modalities include myelography, MRI, CT scan with myelography, and nerve conduction studies [36, 38]. There can be neurological recovery with minor injuries, but persistent palsy requires microsurgical intervention. Surgical management options include nerve

transfer, tendon and muscle transfers, and nerve grafts/conduits (mainly in obstetric palsies) [38]. Level of injury determines the surgical plan. Nerve grafts can be used for reconstruction in case of postganglionic rupture. However, nerve root avulsions require nerve transfer [35].

Both diagnostic procedures and surgical intervention in young children require anesthesia. Anesthetic concerns for brachial plexus repair include long-duration surgery, intraoperative neuromonitoring (muscle relaxants should be avoided), and respiratory complications (owing to preoperative coexisting phrenic nerve palsy, atelectasis, the possibility of delayed weaning, and ineffective postoperative physiotherapy due to the thick plaster cast after surgery) [35].

35.3.3 When to Suspect NMDs in Asymptomatic or Mildly Symptomatic Children

Although the anesthesia fraternity is well primed to anticipate and prevent anesthesia-related critical events with patients with diagnosed NMDs, undiagnosed myopathies still remain a challenge. It has been observed that the vast majority of complications occur in patients with undiagnosed myopathy, especially related to DMD and other dystrophinopathies [39]. In an ideal scenario, anesthesiologist should bear in mind the cues suggesting the possibility of myopathies, e.g., progressive weakness of limbs, frequent muscle stiffness or cramps during exercise and at rest, episodes of cola-colored urine especially after exercise, hypotonia (floppiness) in the neonatal period, family history of hereditary myopathies, evident bone malformations (hip, palate, spine, foot, chest), enlarged firm calves, slow relaxation after voluntary contraction, and raised serum creatine phosphokinase (CPK) [3, 40]. It should be noted that some of the abovementioned symptoms/signs could result from neuropathy or motor neuron disease. Hence, the absence of other causative pathology should be established before attributing these to undefined myopathy.

Elective surgery should be withheld in children with suspected symptoms, and expert consultation should be sought for further evaluation. Genetic testing, biochemical analysis, and muscle biopsy, along with meticulous clinical examination, are mandatory before proceeding with any elective surgery.

35.3.4 Considerations for Children with Suspected Myopathy for Muscle Biopsy (or Emergency Surgery)

The estimated risk of rhabdomyolysis or MH in a child with undiagnosed myopathy is $\leq 1.09\%$

[6, 41]. Nevertheless, management of a "floppy" child with an undiagnosed myopathy is complicated for several obvious reasons. These patients should have a thorough preoperative evaluation of cardiac and respiratory disease, aspiration risk, difficult airway assessment, and minimum fasting time. It is worth to note that previous uneventful anesthesia with volatile anesthetics does not guarantee safety as fatal AIR has been reported in the literature in patients with prior uneventful inhalational agent-based anesthetics [6, 42].

Muscle biopsies are usually carried out under local anesthesia in adults and older children. However, infants and younger children require regional anesthesia with sedation or general anesthesia (GA). Regional anesthetic techniques (commonly spinal anesthesia) have been successfully employed in patients with undefined myopathy [28, 43].

When GA is planned, it is prudent to discuss with the primary physicians (pediatrician and/or neurologist) regarding the most probable diagnosis based on clinical features and laboratory investigations before formulating an anesthetic plan. Volatile agents should be used with great caution in patients with elevated creatinine kinase, history of DMD, or similar pathology with increased risk of AIR. Caution is advised as there are cardiac arrest reports in patients with dystrophy with as short as <10-minute exposure to volatile anesthetics [28]. Elevated lactates suggest mitochondrial myopathies, which increases the chance of PRIS3, and therefore, volatile agents are an option in these patient groups. It is however risky to set store on preliminary suspicions alone. Discrepancies between prebiopsy diagnosis and post-biopsy findings have been reported in about 22% of patients in a retrospective study [28]. Prior genetic testing to exclude susceptible variants of RYR1, as well as CACNA1S and STAC3, has been suggested to obtain more information about MH susceptibility [22]. Nevertheless, succinylcholine is contraindicated in any child with undefined myopathy. It is advisable not to use propofol if mitochondrial enzyme analysis is required from the biopsy specimen.

Regional anesthesia should be the first choice in a child with undiagnosed myopathy. If not feasible, total intravenous anesthesia (TIVA) without succinylcholine appears to be the logically safe option for these patients for diagnostic procedures. However, the anesthesiologist should be aware that this approach does not guarantee the absence of anesthesia-related complications as rhabdomyolysis has been reported with nontriggering anesthetics and in fasted individuals [27]. Unexpected MH deaths have also been reported without volatile anesthetic use [44]. Hence, regardless of the anesthetic technique used, vigilant monitoring to enable early detection and treatment of complications is mandatory for the safe conduct of anesthesia. These procedures should never be conducted as day-care procedures as complications like AIR could occur in the immediate postoperative period. In addition, these patients mandate strict cardiac and respiratory disease postoperative monitoring. It is advisable to monitor these patients in the intensive care unit (ICU) or high dependency unit (HDU) during the immediate postoperative period.

35.4 Chronic Pain Management in Children with NMD

Chronic pain is an important ailment in patients with NMDs, contributing significantly to disease burden and quality of life [45]. Literature states that more than 70% of parents of children with DMD reported chronic pain in their children [46]. Studies conducted in the adult population show that NMDs are associated with chronic pain commonly involving the lower back and legs, often reporting severe intensity [47]. Characterized pain is mostly musculoskeletal [45], but neuropathic pain is also described in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease disorders [48, 49]. There is insufficient literature to characterize chronic pain in pediatric NMDs.

Significant delays in referral to pain clinic have been reported in the pediatric population [50]. Older children can self-report pain, but recognizing chronic pain in infants and younger children is difficult and requires careful evaluation. Diagnosis involves recognizing pain behaviors and utilization of pain assessment tools [51]. Multimodality approach involving physical and psychological therapy along with pharmacological interventions are necessary to manage chronic pain in the pediatric population [52].

35.5 Stem Cell Therapy

Significant functional impairment caused by NMDs is responsible for the poor quality of life with no promise of a cure. Degeneration of muscle/nerve/neuromuscular junction is often irreversible. However, as specific defective gene/ proteins responsible for these inherited disorders have been identified, there has been great interest in utilizing them as targets of therapy [53]. Gene therapy targets the defective gene (replacing or repairing it) or modifying other genes (unrelated to the actual genetic defect) to induce growth modulating agents (facilitate muscle regeneration) and anti-inflammatory agents (that modulate immune response) [53]. The combination of stem cell and gene therapy shows the promise of a treatment for degenerative NMDs.

Many stem cell therapy applications have been explored in muscular dystrophies, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, myasthenia gravis, cerebral palsy, and other conditions like spinal cord injury, Friedreich's ataxia, and spinocerebellar ataxia [54–56]. Genetic modification of stem cells by incorporating corrective genes has shown promising results in animal studies involving muscular dystrophies [57]. However, the results are yet replicated to the same extent in clinical trials [54].

The process of stem cell harvesting and transplantation can be carried out under local anesthesia in adults. However, young children and even older children with cognitive impairments are uncooperative and require general anesthesia or monitored anesthesia care with sedation [58]. It is unclear whether the type or duration of anesthesia can affect the stem cell yield [59]. Nonetheless, it is logical to avoid nitrous oxide for stem cell harvesting. In vitro studies showed that amide local anesthetics induce time- and dose-dependent cellular apoptosis, and also, adhesion of mesenchymal stem cells effects seemingly minimal with ropivacaine [60–62]. Hence, caution is warranted during concurrent administration with local anesthetics. Apart from perioperative care, the anesthesiologists' skills may also be sought in case of intrathecal, epidural, or caudal delivery of stem cells [63]. Currently, the preferred way of stem cell delivery in NMDs is the direct injection into the target tissues. However, a lot of research is underway, and newer gene-editing techniques can open up new avenues for muscle/tissue regeneration enabling other methods of delivery [57].

35.6 Conclusion

Due to their unique anesthesia requirements and association with severe life-threatening complications, meticulous planning and careful conduct of anesthesia are mandated in children with NMDs. Hence, the anesthesiologist should familiarize themselves with the pathophysiology of various NMDs and their anesthetic considerations to provide optimal anesthetic care. Vigilant monitoring and early recognition of lifethreatening complications ensure prompt treatment and a safe perioperative course.

Conflict of Interest None to declare.

References

- Crespo V, James MLL. Neuromuscular disease in the neurointensive care unit. Anesthesiol Clin. 2016;34(3):601–19.
- Kynes JM, Blakely M, Furman K, Burnette WB, Modes KB. Multidisciplinary perioperative care for children with neuromuscular disorders. Child Basel Switz. 2018;5(9):126.
- Brandom BW, Veyckemans F. Neuromuscular diseases in children: a practical approach. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23(9):765–9.
- Lerman J. Perioperative management of the paediatric patient with coexisting neuromuscular disease. Br J Anaesth. 2011;107:i79–89.
- Booij LH. Anaesthesia in children with neuromuscular disease. Anaesthesiol Rescue Med Ratow. 2013;1

- Ragoonanan V, Russell W. Anaesthesia for children with neuromuscular disease. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2010;10(5):143–7.
- Juvenile MS. Myasthenia gravis: a short review. Progress Asp Pediatr Neonatol [Internet]. 2018;2(1) Available from: https://lupinepublishers.com/ pediatrics-neonatal-journal/fulltext/juvenilemyasthenia-gravis-a-short-review.ID.000127.php
- Nomura Y. Myasthenia gravis in children: Issues and challenges. Clin Exp Neuroimmunol. 2019;10(2):96–104.
- Hantaï D, Richard P, Koenig J, Eymard B. Congenital myasthenic syndromes. Curr Opin Neurol [Internet]. 2004;17(5) Available from: https://journals.lww.com/co-neurology/Fulltext/2004/10000/ Congenital_myasthenic_syndromes.4.aspx
- Echeverry-Marín PC, Bustamante-Vega ÁM. Anesthetic implications of muscular dystrophies. Colomb J Anesthesiol. 2018 Jul;46(3):228–39.
- McLeod ME, Creighton RE. Review article: anesthesia for pediatric neurological and neuromuscular diseases. J Child Neurol. 1986;1(3):189–97.
- Veyckemans F, Scholtes J-L. Myotonic dystrophies type 1 and 2: anesthetic care. Brandom B, editor. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23(9):794–803.
- Anderson B, Brown T. Anaesthesia for a child with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1989;17(3):351–4.
- Ho G. Congenital and childhood myotonic dystrophy: current aspects of disease and future directions. World J Clin Pediatr. 2015;4(4):66.
- Graham RJ, Athiraman U, Laubach AE, Sethna NF. Anesthesia and perioperative medical management of children with spinal muscular atrophy. Pediatr Anesth. 2009;19(11):1054–63.
- Blatter JA, Finder JD. Perioperative respiratory management of pediatric patients with neuromuscular disease. Brandom B, editor. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23(9):770–6.
- 17. Birnkrant DJ, Panitch HB, Benditt JO, Boitano LJ, Carter ER, Cwik VA, et al. American College of Chest Physicians consensus statement on the respiratory and related management of patients with duchenne muscular dystrophy undergoing anesthesia or sedation. Chest. 2007;132(6):1977–86.
- Toussaint M, Steens M, Soudon P. Lung function accurately predicts hypercapnia in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Chest. 2007;131(2):368–75.
- Cripe LH, Tobias JD. Cardiac considerations in the operative management of the patient with Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy. Brandom B, editor. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23(9):777–84.
- Marsh S, Ross N, Pittard A. Neuromuscular disorders and anaesthesia. Part 1: Generic anaesthetic management. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2011;11(4):115–8.
- Racca F, Mongini T, Wolfler A, Vianello A, Cutrera R, Del Sorbo L, et al. Recommendations for anesthesia and perioperative management of patients

with neuromuscular disorders. Minerva Anestesiol. 2013;79(4):419–33.

- Litman RS, Griggs SM, Dowling JJ, Riazi S. Malignant hyperthermia susceptibility and related diseases. Anesthesiology. 2018;128(1):159–67.
- Rosenberg H, Pollock N, Schiemann A, Bulger T, Stowell K. Malignant hyperthermia: a review. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2015;10(1):93.
- Guidelines for the use of activated charcoal filters [Internet]. The UK MH registry. 2017 [cited 2020 Nov 19]. https://www.ukmhr.ac.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2017/07/Guidelines-for-ACFs-Jul17.pdf
- Bilmen JG, Gillies RL. Clarifying the role of activated charcoal filters in preparing an anaesthetic workstation for malignant hyperthermia—susceptible patients. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2014;42(1):51–8.
- Bilmen JG, Hopkins PM. The use of charcoal filters in malignant hyperthermia: have they found their place? Anaesthesia. 2019;74(1):13–6.
- Segura LG, Lorenz JD, Weingarten TN, Scavonetto F, Bojanić K, Selcen D, et al. Anesthesia and Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy: review of 117 anesthetic exposures. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23(9):855–64.
- 28. Shapiro F, Athiraman U, Clendenin DJ, Hoagland M, Sethna NF. Anesthetic management of 877 pediatric patients undergoing muscle biopsy for neuromuscular disorders: a 20-year review. Veyckemans F, editor. Pediatr Anesth. 2016;26(7):710–21.
- Dekker E. Anaesthesia and the paediatric patient with neuromuscular disease. South Afr J Anaesth Analg. 2010;16(1):18–21.
- Buzello W, Krieg N, Schuckewei A. Hazards of neostigmine in patients with neuromuscular disorders. Br J Anaesth. 1982;54(5):529–34.
- Islander G. Anesthesia and spinal muscle atrophy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23(9):804–16.
- Prosser DP, Sharma N. Cerebral palsy and anaesthesia. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2010;10(3): 72–6.
- 33. Rudra A, Chatterjee S, Sengupta S, Iqbal A, Pal S, Wankhede R. The child with cerebral palsy and anaesthesia. Indian J Anaesth. 2008;52(4):397.
- 34. Shaikh SI, Hegade G. Role of Anesthesiologist in the management of a child with cerebral palsy. Anesth Essays Res. 2017;11(3):544–9.
- Hazama A, Kinouchi K, Kitamura S, Fukumitsu K. Brachial plexus birth injuries: anaesthesia for surgical nerve reconstruction and preoperative myelography and computed tomographic myelography. Pediatr Anesth. 1999;9(5):403–7.
- Waters PM. Update on management of pediatric brachial plexus palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 2005;25(1):116–26.
- Dorsi MJ, Hsu W, Belzberg AJ. Epidemiology of brachial plexus injury in the pediatric multitrauma population in the United States: clinical article. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;5(6):573–7.
- Bhandari PS, Maurya S. Recent advances in the management of brachial plexus injuries. Indian J Plast Surg. 2014;47(02):191–8.

- Gurnaney H, Brown A, Litman RS. Malignant hyperthermia and muscular dystrophies. Anesth Analg. 2009;109(4):1043–8.
- Trevisan CP, Accorsi A, Morandi LO, Mongini T, Savoia G, Gravino E, et al. Undiagnosed myopathy before surgery and safe anaesthesia table. Acta Myol. 2013;32(2):100–5.
- 41. Flick RP, Gleich SJ, Herr MMH, Wedel DJ. The risk of malignant hyperthermia in children undergoing muscle biopsy for suspected neuromuscular disorder. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(1):22–7.
- Schieren M, Defosse J, Böhmer A, Wappler F, Gerbershagen MU. Anaesthetic management of patients with myopathies. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2017;34(10):641–9.
- 43. Ishida Y, Morita M, Sasaki T, Taniguchi A. Spinal anesthesia for muscle biopsy in an infant with a suspected neuromuscular disorder: a case report. JA Clin Rep. 2020;6(1):84.
- Brandom BW, Muldoon SM. Unexpected MH deaths without exposure to inhalation anesthetics in pediatric patients. Morton N, editor. Pediatr Anesth. 2013;23(9):851–4.
- 45. Carter GT, Miró J, Ted Abresch R, El-Abassi R, Jensen MP. Disease burden in neuromuscular disease. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2012;23(3):719–29.
- 46. Engel JM, Kartin D, Carter GT, Jensen MP, Jaffe KM. Pain in youths with neuromuscular disease. Am J Hosp Palliat Med. 2009;26(5):405–12.
- Miró J, Gertz KJ, Carter GT, Jensen MP. Chronic pain in neuromuscular disease. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2012;23(4):895–902.
- Carter GT, Jensen MP, Galer BS, Kraft GH, Crabtree LD, Beardsley RM, et al. Neuropathic pain in Charcot-Marie-tooth disease. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1998;79(12):1560–4.
- 49. Pazzaglia C, Vollono C, Ferraro D, Virdis D, Lupi V, Le Pera D, et al. Mechanisms of neuropathic pain in patients with Charcot-Marie-Tooth 1 A: a laser-evoked potential study. Pain. 2010;149(2):379–85.
- Cucchiaro G, Schwartz J, Hutchason A, Ornelas B. Chronic pain in children: a look at the referral process to a pediatric pain clinic. Int J Pediatr. 2017;2017:1–7.
- 51. Hauer J, Houtrow AJ. Section on hospice and palliative medicine, council on children with disabilities. Pain assessment and treatment in children with significant impairment of the central nervous system. Pediatrics. 2017;139(6):e20171002.
- Clinch J, Eccleston C. Chronic musculoskeletal pain in children: assessment and management. Rheumatology. 2008;48(5):466–74.
- Meregalli M, Farini A, Torrente Y. Stem cell therapy for neuromuscular diseases. In: Stem cells in clinic and research. IntechOpen; 2011.
- Orbay H, Mizuno H. Translational research in stem cell treatment of neuromuscular diseases. ISRN Stem Cells. 2013;2013:1–17.
- 55. Shroff G. Human embryonic stem cells in the treatment of spinocerebellar ataxia: a case series. J Clin Case Rep. 2015;05:1.

- 56. Shroff G, Gupta A, Barthakur JK. Therapeutic potential of human embryonic stem cell transplantation in patients with cerebral palsy. J Transl Med. 2014;12:318.
- Bertoni C. Emerging gene editing strategies for Duchenne muscular dystrophy targeting stem cells. Front Physiol. 2014;5:148.
- Abraham M, Devasia A, George S, George B, Sebastian T. Safety of pediatric peripheral blood stem cell harvest in daycare setting: an institutional experience. Anesth Essays Res. 2019;13(1):91–6.
- 59. Shah S, Bhargava A, Bhagat S, Bhurani D, Agrawal N. Clinical pearls in pediatric anesthetic considerations for peripheral blood stem cell transplant and lacunae in our current knowledge. J Curr Oncol. 2018;1(2):89.
- 60. Dregalla RC, Lyons NF, Reischling PD, Centeno CJ. Amide-type local anesthetics and human mesenchymal stem cells: clinical implications for stem cell therapy. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2014;3(3):365–74.
- Wu T, Smith J, Nie H, Wang Z, Erwin PJ, van Wijnen AJ, et al. Cytotoxicity of local anesthetics in mesenchymal stem cells. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;97(1):50–5.
- Rahnama R, Wang M, Dang AC, Kim HT, Kuo AC. Cytotoxicity of local anesthetics on human mesenchymal stem cells. J Bone Jt Surg-Am. 2013;95(2):132–7.
- 63. Shroff G, Sonowal N. Role of anesthetists in human embryonic stem cells transplantation in patients with spinal cord injury. J Anesth Clin Res. 2015;06:5.



Regional Anesthesia for Neurosurgery in Children

36

Rani A. Sunder 💿 and Rashmi Bhatt 💿

Key Points

- Regional techniques are gaining popularity as anesthesia and analgesia modalities in children in several clinical scenarios.
- Scalp nerve blocks are used as anesthetic techniques for awake brain surgery as well as analgesia for other craniofacial procedures.
- Most of the nerve blocks can safely be performed with the use of ultrasound guidance.
- Regional techniques in children with preexisting neurological conditions can be challenging and should be considered on a case-to-case basis.
- Regional anesthesia should be avoided in children with documented tethered spinal cord syndrome, diastematomyelia, or spina bifida with associated cutaneous lesions, multilevel vertebral body involvement, neurologic deficits, or bowel or bladder dysfunction.
- Neurologic injury attributable to regional anesthesia procedures may be caused by direct trauma, neurotoxicity, or ischemia.

Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, Seattle Children's Hospital, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: rani.sunder@seattlechildrens.org

36.1 Introduction

Regional techniques find use as anesthesia and analgesia modalities in children with several clinical scenarios. As anesthesia techniques, nerve blocks are integral to performing awake craniotomy, and some spinal procedures, while as analgesia techniques, they contribute to postoperative analgesia after several neurosurgical procedures. Regional techniques have been well established in the adult population for a long time, but they are gaining popularity among children only recently. As experience grows and expertise develops, these techniques, several advantages with relatively fewer risks, are getting more acceptance among the pediatric anesthesiologists. The principles of these regional techniques are shared with adults, but few salient points stand out, which have been discussed in detail through this chapter. Although less commonly encountered in children, preexisting neurological conditions may have a bearing on utilizing the regional techniques for anesthesia or analgesia. There is an increasing number of children with previous neurosurgery, presenting for a follow-up or an unrelated medical intervention, who may be a candidate for the regional techniques; this aspect is described from the pediatric perspective in the latter part of this chapter.

R. A. Sunder (🖂)

R. Bhatt

Consultant Anaesthesia, Madhukar Rainbow Children's Hospital, New Delhi, Delhi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_36

36.2 Neurosurgical Indications in Children

The common neurosurgical conditions in children, for which regional anesthesia techniques may be indicated have been listed (Table 36.1) and described below.

36.3 Regional Anesthesia for Awake Craniotomy: Scalp Block

Awake craniotomy is a well-established procedure for the neurosurgical management of brain lesions located near or within critical cortical and subcortical regions. These range from the areas involved in language, to those regulating motor functions, resulting in a significant deficit if the surgical accuracy were to be compromised. This is only complicated further by variations in the organization of these areas in the brain, and the possible distortion due to the tumor mass. To tackle these problems, cortical mapping via direct stimulation in an awake patient has come to be

Table 36.1 Neurosurgical indications of regional techniques in children

| Craniotomy for awake brain surgery |
|--------------------------------------------------------|
| Postoperative pain management of craniofacial |
| procedures |
| Vagal nerve stimulator placement |
| Repair of neural tube defects |

Spine surgeries

the gold standard to enable maximal resection of the lesions, while minimizing the risk of neurological damage [1]. It goes without saying that the patient's understanding of the procedure and cooperation are critical to achieving this. The technique is increasingly being used to resect supratentorial eloquent lesions and epileptogenic foci, and in pediatric patients with dystonia undergoing deep brain stimulation (DBS) [2].

The regional anesthesia techniques are an important aspect that one needs to be familiar with, before venturing into awake brain surgery. These techniques are described below for awake brain surgery, craniofacial procedures, and placement of vagal nerve stimulators. These can be administered safely to children of all ages, provided the safe doses and volume of local anesthetic agents are adhered to. Various nerve blocks of the scalp and face, are increasingly used to provide intraoperative as well as postoperative analgesia for pediatric head and neck surgeries (Table 36.2). These nerve blocks have become popular in maxillofacial, otorhinolaryngologic, and plastic surgeries of the face and scalp. However, performing these nerve blocks as a part of the anesthetic technique has primarily been limited to neurosurgery to facilitate awake brain surgery. With the growing popularity of ultrasonography for peripheral nerve blocks, more anesthesiologists are gaining the expertise in performing these blocks as well, more so as some of these nerve blocks also find a place in the management of chronic pain.

| Type of block | Indications |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Supraorbital/ | Frontal scalp incisions for craniotomy, scalp nevi excision, dermoid excision, and |
| supratrochlear | ventriculoperitoneal shunts |
| Infraorbital | Cleft lip repair |
| | Endoscopic sinus surgery |
| Greater palatine | Cleft palate repair |
| Auriculotemporal | Temporoparietal incision of the scalp |
| Mental nerve | Lower lip surgery |
| Greater occipital nerve | Posterior fossa surgery |
| | Occipital neuralgias |
| Superficial cervical | Tympano-mastoid surgery |
| plexus | Ear surgery |
| | Anterior cervical incisions like vagal nerve stimulator placement |
| | Thyroid surgery |

Table 36.2 Common head and neck nerve blocks in children along with their indications

In children, nerve blocks of the head and neck region are safe and performed using welldescribed and easily identified anatomical landmarks. The safety margin is higher, considering the fact that these nerves are mainly sensory and usually terminal branches with a lower risk of nerve damage than the motor nerve blockade for extremity surgeries. The local anesthetic volume needed for performing these blocks is low, which reduces the potential for its toxic effects [3–5].

Irrespective of the approach used, anatomical or ultrasound guided, it is vital to be aware of the dermatomal distribution of the nerves supplying different areas. The primary sensory nerve supply of the head and neck region is through the three branches of the trigeminal nerve, i.e., the fifth cranial nerve (Fig. 36.1) and cervical nerve roots C2-C4 (superficial cervical plexus) providing sensory supply to the occipital and postauricular area (Figs. 36.1 and 36.2). Blockade of one or more of these nerves provides effective analgesia if appropriate divisions are identified based on the planned surgical procedure. The analgesic effect continues well into the postoperative period, possibly reducing opioid consumption. A good regional anesthetic technique prevents hemodynamic changes during pinning for head fixation, as a part of the surgical position as well as the noxious stimulus of the surgery. These nerve blocks, along with the recommended volumes of local anesthetics, have been enumerated in Table 36.3.

36.3.1 Equipment

Weight-based calculation of the dose and total volume of a local anesthetic (LA) to be used is mandatory for every single child. Evidence suggests a rapid rise in the systemic levels of levobupivacaine and ropivacaine when used in regional blocks than other drugs, albeit without signs of cardiovascular or central nervous system toxicity. The dose and type of LA used for blocks must be recorded and communicated with the surgeon to ensure that the surgical supplementation carried out for the skin, temporalis fascia, and dura mater does not exceed the maximum allowable dose. Drugs used for scalp block (children and adults) include bupivacaine, levobupivacaine, and ropivacaine in varying concentrations, with or without epinephrine [6]. Epinephrine (1:200000) is usually added to the LA mixture to increase the total amount of LA that can be used, to decrease



Fig. 36.1 Main branches of the trigeminal nerve: "the great sensory nerve of head and neck"



Fig. 36.2 Sensory supply of the head and neck

Table 36.3Nerves blocked for awake craniotomy andlocal anesthetic volume (based on the age of the child)

| | Local anesthetic volume |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| Nerve blocked | required |
| Supraorbital nerve | 1–1.5 ml |
| Supratrochlear nerve | 1 ml |
| Zygomaticotemporal | 1–3 ml |
| nerve | |
| Auriculotemporal nerve | 1–2 ml |
| Lesser occipital nerve | 1–2 ml |
| Greater occipital nerve | 1.5–3 ml |
| Greater auricular nerve | 0.5–1 ml |

localized bleeding, to reduce the systemic absorption and toxicity of the drug, and to maximize the duration of action. The anesthesiologist should always be on the lookout for features of systemic absorption like tachycardia and hypertension, with epinephrine containing solutions or inadvertent intravascular injection. Literature suggests an improvement in the quality of blocks with the addition of either dexamethasone (8 mg) or magnesium sulfate (500 mg) or both in adult patients [7]. However, no such information has been recorded in pediatric patients.

The preferred needle size is 27G to 30G, and very low volumes of local anesthetic are injected (Table 36.3). For USG guidance, a high-frequency linear probe of 10 MHz or more is the probe of choice. The blocks are generally performed after general anesthesia (GA) is induced, utilizing the asleep phase of "asleep-awake-asleep" technique, with full monitoring in place [8].

36.3.2 Technique

The scalp block includes infiltration of local anesthetics to seven nerves on each side (Fig. 3). This is an anatomical block and hence requires a lesser volume of the drug than a ring block would, reducing the possibility of toxicity. A ring block also has the disadvantage of not providing anesthesia deep to the temporalis fascia [9]. At the end of the scalp block, further LA infiltration may be needed for the pin insertion sites as well as the incision site for craniotomy (field block).

• Supraorbital Nerve: A Branch of V1 Distribution of the Trigeminal Nerve.

The supraorbital nerve, with the accompanying vessels, emerges from the supraorbital foramen. On palpation, it is felt as a notch on the superior orbital rim. It divides into a deep and superficial branch. The deep branch courses superiorly and laterally in the loose areolar tissue between the galea and the pericranium and runs parallel to the superior temporal line of the skull. It provides sensory supply to the scalp, piercing the galea near the coronal suture and dividing into its terminal branches. The medially located superficial division divides near its origin into multiple branches that pierce the frontalis muscle and pass cephalad to supply the forehead and up to 3.5 cm of the frontal scalp.

With the child in a supine position, the supraorbital notch is easily palpated by running a finger from the midline laterally along the eyebrow or orbital rim. The needle is inserted into the supraorbital notch perpendicularly, and 1-1.5 ml of the local anesthetic is injected into the space after careful aspiration. Firm pressure is applied after the injection.

The supraorbital notch can also be identified with a high-frequency linear transducer and placing it above the orbital rim. The bone appears as a hyperechoic linear edge with an underlying dark shadow. The notch is visualized as a "bone gap" or a "discontinuity in the bone." Ultrasound can also be useful in locating any vessels in the vicinity using color Doppler function, thereby preventing intravascular injection of the local anesthetic. Ultrasound guidance is also useful to avoid nerve damage and injection into the foramina, where relevant.

• Supratrochlear Nerve: A Branch of V1 Distribution of the Trigeminal Nerve.

The supratrochlear nerve exits the orbit through a notch at the superior orbital rim, above the trochlea, and medial to the supraorbital notch. Most of the skulls (97%) possess bilateral supratrochlear notches; variations observed include bilateral foramina (1%), a notch on one side, and a foramen on the other (2%). Immediately after the exit, the nerves penetrate the corrugator and the frontalis muscle, supplying cutaneous sensation to the nasal bridge, medial upper eyelid, and medial forehead.

To block the supratrochlear nerve, the needle is withdrawn to skin level after blocking the supraorbital nerve and directed a few millimeters medially toward the apex of the nose. A further 1 ml is injected after aspiration.

Besides frontal craniotomies, blockade of these two nerves also helps in upper eyelid surgery, frontal ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt placement, Ommaya reservoir insertion, and plastic surgeries like excision of pigmented nevus in the anterior scalp, dermoid cysts, and benign tumors with skin grafting.

Zygomaticotemporal Nerve: A Branch of V2 Distribution of the Trigeminal Nerve.

The zygomaticotemporal nerve passes through the temporalis muscle and enters the temporalis fascia, innervating a small area of the forehead and the temporal area. Therefore, the local anesthetic infiltration is to be done deep and superficial to the temporalis muscle. Anatomical landmarks include the lateral edge of the supraorbital margin where infiltration begins and is continued to the distal aspect of the zygomatic arch.

• Auriculotemporal Nerve: A Branch of V3 Distribution of the Trigeminal Nerve.

It innervates the temporal areas, the auricle, and the scalp region above the auricle. The local anesthetic is injected about 1 cm anterior to the auricle, behind the superficial temporal artery, which is palpable just above the posterior part of the zygoma.

• Lesser Occipital Nerve: A Branch of the Second or Third Cervical Spinal Nerve.

The innervation of the posterolateral part of the scalp, posterior to the auricle, is by the lesser occipital nerve. Sensory blockade of this nerve is performed by infiltration of local anesthetic subcutaneously behind the auricle, starting from the top down to the earlobe and along the superior nuchal line to the greater occipital nerve.

A case of sudden unconsciousness during a lesser occipital nerve block has been reported in an adult with an occipital bone defect due to previous posterior fossa surgery [10]. Although no such event has been described in pediatric patients, an occipital nerve block is better avoided in the presence of a bone defect, due to the possibility of an inadvertent subarachnoid injection.

• Greater Occipital Nerve: A Branch of the Second Cervical Spinal Nerve.

Arising from the first and second cervical vertebrae, the greater occipital nerve ascends upward to innervate the skin over the posterior part of the scalp. The sensory supply can extend up to the vertex and over the auricle. Anatomically, it can be located by palpating the occipital artery, which is a branch of the external carotid artery. The artery can be felt approximately 3-4 cm lateral to the external occipital protuberance, along the superior nuchal line. The nerve is usually present medial to the occipital artery. The midpoint of a line drawn between the mastoid process and the occipital protuberance, is taken as a guide to block this nerve in children, whereas in infants, it has been suggested that a distance equal to the width of the medial three fingers of the patient from the occipital protuberance is a better landmark [11]. Best performed with the child in a lateral or prone position, 3 ml of local anesthetic drug is infiltrated using a "fanning" technique at this point to block the greater occipital nerve.

The USG-guided technique, similar to the one described in adults, uses a linear probe of 10 MHz or more. An in-plane approach is described using the obliquus capitis as a land-mark. The probe is initially placed over the spinous process of the C1 vertebra in the midline and then moved caudally to identify the bifid C2 vertebra. The probe is now rotated laterally and then moved laterally to identify the obliquus capitis muscle. In this position,

the greater occipital nerve lies superficial to the muscle and can be blocked easily.

The other indications of greater occipital nerve block described in children include postoperative analgesia following occipital craniotomies, cranioplasties, posterior parietal VP shunts, and occipital neuralgia.

• Greater Auricular Nerve: A Branch of the Second and Third Cervical Spinal Nerves.

It is the largest of the ascending branches from the upper cervical nerve roots. It emerges from the posterior border of the sternocleidomastoid muscle and divides into anterior and posterior branches. The great auricular nerve innervates the skin over the parotid gland, mastoid process, and the auricle. Blockade of this nerve is performed by injecting the local anesthetic 2 cm posterior to the auricle at the level of the tragus.

36.4 Regional Anesthesia for Craniofacial Surgery

Craniofacial surgery in the pediatric population includes surgery for craniosynostosis and cleft lip and palate surgery. These procedures pose several anesthetic challenges in terms of difficult airway management, prolonged duration, significant blood loss, and the need for postoperative ventilation. Several such procedures are carried out in very young infants, in whom postsurgical pain is difficult to assess and managed only with opioids. The addition of regional anesthetic techniques, in the form of nerve blocks of the scalp and face, provides excellent intraoperative and postoperative analgesia, also reducing opioid consumption [12, 13].

Some of the surgical procedures for craniosynostosis include strip craniectomy, cranioplasty, total vault reconstruction, minimally invasive endoscopic surgery, fronto-orbital remodeling, and posterior calvarial vault expansion. The use of scalp nerve blocks has been described to reduce blood loss during craniofacial surgery and perioperative analgesia [13]. Although definite evidence for the former is lacking, reduced requirements of intraoperative opioids have been noticed. Other advantages include hemodynamic stability, increased time to need for rescue analgesia, and reduced doses of rescue analgesia in the postoperative period [14].

Scalp block, like many nerve infiltration methods, is a pre emptive method of analgesia [15]. Suppression of the inflammatory cascade at the surgical site or even its reversal is hypothesized to occur with a scalp nerve block. When given postoperatively, a longer duration of action is achieved. Adequate measures to control pain in the immediate postoperative period help prevent chronic post-craniotomy pain, although evidence in this regard is limited [16, 17].

Use of scalp block with or without additional infiltration around the surgical site has also been reported in excision of scalp nevi in children, resulting in complete blockade of nociception at the wound site for a few hours [18]. Performing a supraorbital and supratrochlear nerve block has also been found useful in midline dermoid excisions.

A modified technique, described as the "extended scalp block" which involves infiltration around the supraorbital, supratrochlear, auriculotemporal, and posterior auricular nerves, can be used in patients undergoing neurovascular reconstruction surgery (moyamoya disease). The benefits reported are maintenance of stable hemodynamic parameters along with a reduction in the requirement of inhalational anesthetic agent, hence reduced effect on cerebral perfusion pressure [19].

36.5 Regional Anesthesia for Vagal Nerve Stimulator Implantation: Neck Block

Vagus nerve stimulation (VNS) is a nonpharmacological treatment for pharmaco-resistant epilepsy. VNS is increasingly used for various indications among adults. Though the results have been favorable, limited evidence is available in the form of case series in children. It finds particular benefit in patients with multifocal epileptogenic zones or those who are difficult to localize and, hence, difficult to manage with surgery. The rationale of VNS therapy is that repetitive stimulation of the vagus nerve can inhibit the hypersynchronous cortical activity that is associated with seizure activity. As adjunctive therapy, it has also been observed to improve attention, cognition, behavior, mood, and quality of life besides reducing seizure burden [20].

While vagal nerve stimulator placement has been carried out successfully under regional or local anesthetic in adults, children need GA for the procedure. However, regional anesthesia techniques may be used to provide analgesia at the wound site. A combination of superficial and deep cervical plexus block is needed for regional anesthesia, whereas only superficial cervical plexus block is sufficient for analgesia [21].

36.5.1 Anatomy and Technique

The superficial cervical plexus is derived from the C2 to C4 nerve roots and is purely sensory. It is seen to wrap the belly of the sternocleidomastoid muscle at the cricoid level, where it divides into four branches, innervating the skin over the shoulder in a cape-like distribution.

With the patient in a supine or semi-recumbent position and the head turned to the opposite side, a horizontal line drawn from the cricoid cartilage to intersect the posterior border of the sternocleidomastoid is identified. At this point, 1–3 ml of local anesthetic solution is injected subcutaneously while avoiding the external jugular vein, which lies in close proximity. Older children may need higher volumes like 5–15 ml. A deep injection should be avoided to prevent a deep cervical plexus block, resulting in complications like paralysis of the recurrent laryngeal nerve, hemidiaphragmatic palsy, and Horner's syndrome due to unilateral sympathetic ganglion blockade.

USG guidance may be used to perform this block. The position is similar to the landmark technique, with adequate exposure of the neck and upper chest. The transducer is placed on the lateral part of the neck, over the sternocleidomastoid at its midpoint, corresponding to the cricoid cartilage. The transducer is then moved posteriorly till the posterior edge tapering off could be visualized. At this point, it is useful to try to identify the brachial plexus or the interscalene groove. The cervical plexus may be seen as a small collection of hypoechoic nodules, superficial to the prevertebral fascia overlying the interscalene groove. Either the in-plane or out-of-plane technique can be used for needle insertion. After negative aspiration, 1–2 ml of local anesthetic agent is injected. Once the correct spread is visualized, the rest of the volume can be injected to envelop the plexus.

36.6 Regional Techniques and Preexisting Neurologic Disease

Anesthetic management of children with preexisting neurologic diseases poses unique challenges. Surgical trauma, tourniquet pressure, improper patient positioning, or anesthetic techniques may result in new neural injuries and postoperative neurologic deficits, making its evaluation difficult. Independent of the anesthetic technique employed, progressive neurologic diseases such as multiple sclerosis may worsen in the perioperative period. In these cases, the most logical and conservative approach would be to avoid regional anesthesia. However, the benefit of regional anesthesia and analgesia in high-risk cases must be considered on a case-by-case basis. Whenever used, a meticulous technique, including the use of image guidance wherever feasible, must be employed to minimize the risk of further neurologic injury.

The *double crush syndrome*, first proposed by Upton and McComas in 1973, is a general term referring to the coexistence of dual compressive lesions along the course of a nerve, wherein the presence of a proximal lesion apparently renders the nerve vulnerable to further injury when there is a distal compression [22]. Both the proximal and distal insults, however minor or subclinical, act synergistically to cause a clinically significant and potentially permanent nerve injury. It was initially described in patients with concomitant cervical radiculopathies and median or ulnar neuropathies and later extended to include injury even from non-compressive mechanisms. These include toxic (chemotherapeutics, local anesthetic agents), metabolic (aging, diabetic neuropathy), ischemic (tourniquet related), or traumatic (surgical traction, needle/catheter placement) etiologies. The presence of a preexisting neurological condition, whether neuraxial or peripheral, is thought to be an additional mechanism by which minor or subclinical symptoms interact, resulting in new or worsening neurologic deficits.

36.7 Neural Tube Defects

Neural tube defects (NTDs) are congenital anomalies of neural development that primarily affect the cranium or spine. Clinical presentation varies from cranial defects (e.g., anencephaly, exencephaly, encephalocele), open spinal dysraphism, and closed spinal dysraphism [23]. Anecdotal reports suggest using epidural analgesia or spinal anesthesia during labor and delivery of a child in a parturient with spina bifida cystica and subsequent surgical correction. It has been opined to exercise caution while performing neuraxial blockade in such children; it could be technically challenging as there may be an unpredictable spread of the drug, and there is an associated risk of inadvertent dural puncture.

To perform the neuraxial blockade under these clinical circumstances, it is recommended that the site of needle insertion should be at a level above the original lesion (isolated spina bifida occulta) due to the limitations in local anesthetic spread [24]. It is not uncommon for patients with spina bifida to present with cutaneous manifestations like a tuft of hair, sinus or subcutaneous lipoma, and neurologic symptoms including autonomic dysfunction in the form of bladder or bowel involvement. Such children tend to have tethered spinal cord syndrome or diastematomyelia, which contraindicates the application of neuraxial techniques. Since complications have been reported after neuraxial procedures in children with previously unrecognized neurologic problems, it is important to be vigilant and

observe for cutaneous signs and examine for deficits before attempting such procedures.

Another condition in children where inadvertent dural puncture can occur with a caudal block or cause incomplete spinal anesthesia is dural ectasia [25–27]. It refers to an abnormal widening or ballooning of the dural sac, most commonly observed within the lumbosacral region of the spinal cord. Conditions associated with dural ectasia include Marfan syndrome (63–92%), Patau syndrome (trisomy 13), Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, neurofibromatosis type I, and ankylosing spondylitis.

At present, there are no definitive recommendations for the safety of neuraxial blockade in children with NTDs due to the wide spectrum of abnormalities, their associated risks, and a lack of proper and large-scale evidence. But regional anesthesia should be avoided in children with prior sensorimotor neurologic deficits, bladder or bowel involvement, documented TCS, diastematomyelia, spina bifida with associated cutaneous lesions, or radiological evidence of involvement of multiple vertebral levels. If regional procedures are to be considered in patients with NTDs (e.g., isolated spina bifida occulta, prior meningomyelocele repair), radiographic imaging should be undertaken to rule out complex findings and then a decision made after a comprehensive risk/benefit analysis. The risk of technical difficulties, extensive cephalad spread of local anesthetic, sacral sparing, inadvertent dural puncture, and neurologic injury should be highlighted to the parents/legal guardian. If the neuraxial blockade is performed under these clinical conditions, the needle insertion site is kept at a level above the vertebral abnormality or site of prior surgical repair.

The role of USG-guided neuraxial procedures in children has been well established for caudal epidural injection but has specifically not been studied in children with preexisting neurological conditions. The evidence for lumbar neuraxial procedures is even more scarce. One randomized study evaluated USG guidance for epidural catheter placement in children aged 0–6 years, but these children were otherwise neurologically healthy [28]. Therefore, despite ultrasoundsuggested increased speed and accuracy of the procedure, the extent of its benefits may be limited in children with spinal anomalies.

36.8 Brain Tumors, Aneurysms, and Arteriovenous Malformations

Administration of spinal or epidural anesthesia in children with preexisting intracranial masses or vascular lesions such as brain tumors (primary or metastatic), saccular aneurysms, or arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) increases the risk of neurologic compromise. Cerebral herniation, infarction, or subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) may occur as a result of changes in intracranial pressure (ICP) and mean arterial pressure (MAP) due to neuraxial blockade. Dural puncture is contraindicated in patients when there is evidence of increased ICP like cerebral edema, midline shift, or obliteration of the fourth ventricle. In such cases, dural puncture causes a leak of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) under pressure and results in herniation. The drop in CSF pressure due to dural puncture acutely increases the aneurysmal transmural pressure (MAP-ICP) gradient, causing a rupture and SAH. Rupture of an occult AVM coincident with dural puncture has been reported during an attempt for epidural anesthesia [29]. Due to the risk of accidental dural puncture, epidural and caudal anesthesia are contraindicated in patients with raised ICP. Also, ICP may increase further by the injection of local anesthetic solutions into the epidural space. However, neuraxial anesthesia may be considered in patients with surgically repaired vascular malformations with minimal or no risk of neurologic complications.

36.9 Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a recurrent seizure disorder that affects 0.5–1% of the population. Epilepsy may be idiopathic, typically beginning in childhood, or presenting intracranial pathologic conditions like neoplasm, trauma, infection, or stroke. Children with seizure disorder undergo several surgical procedures safely under anesthesia, and various regional techniques in seizure disorders have been described. Precautions during the performance of regional anesthesia procedures include measures to minimize the systemic levels of LA by selecting appropriate volume and dose, addition of vasoconstrictors, and also slow and incremental injection through a short-bevel needle with a frequent aspiration to prevent intravascular injection, and considering the possibility of continuous infusion of a low volume of the drug through a catheter. In addition to precautionary measures, these patients must be continuously monitored for early warning signs of local anesthesia systemic toxicity (LAST). Seizures are one of the central nervous system manifestations of LAST and can occur even with the intravascular injection of very small amounts of the drug [30]. The likelihood of CNS side effects is amplified with hypoventilation leading to hypercapnia and acidosis, all of which may occur due to oversedation. CNS toxicity leading to seizures can occur in the postoperative period if infusions of LA are not carefully managed and monitored.

36.10 Neurosurgical Complications After Regional Techniques

Neurologic injury resulting from regional anesthesia occurs due to various mechanisms like trauma, neurotoxicity, and ischemia. Permanent neurologic injury due to direct needle- or catheter-induced trauma, though rare, is possible. These pressure effects from an epidural or spinal hematoma after a lumbar puncture (diagnostic or therapeutic) also contribute to the neurologic complications. The paresthesia technique has also been postulated as one of the factors for neurologic injury after brachial plexus block but without any conclusive data for evidence [32]. The overall incidence of persistent paresthesia has been estimated to be 0.08% after spinal anesthesia and 2% after brachial plexus block [31, 32]. Needle-bevel configuration influences the frequency and severity of peripheral nerve damage during regional anesthesia; increased incidence of complications is observed using long-beveled needles, highlighting the importance of minimizing direct needle trauma in patients risk for neurologic complications [33, 34]. Neurologic deficits after regional anesthesia may directly result from LA toxicity, indicating the potential neurotoxicity of anesthetic solutions [35–39]. Patients with underlying nerve dysfunction tend to have a decreased LA requirement and a decreased threshold for neurotoxicity [37]. Hence, the general agreement is that LA administered in clinically appropriate doses and concentrations does not cause nerve damage. Rather, the prolonged exposure to high concentrations of LA solutions causes permanent neurologic deficits [40].

Neural ischemia may occur due to systemic or local vascular insufficiency. Spinal cord ischemia in the watershed areas (between radicular arteries) occurs due to systemic hypotension associated with spinal anesthesia (or even without), causing flaccid paralysis of the lower extremities (anterior spinal artery syndrome). Theoretically, the addition of vasoconstrictors like epinephrine or phenylephrine to the local anesthetic may result in local ischemia, especially in patients with the microvascular disease [36, 41]. Clinical studies have failed to provide adequate evidence against the use of such vasopressors, with only isolated case reports that suggest other risk factors as well [42]. The Neural Double Crush patients with preexisting neurological conditions may be at increased risk for regional anesthesiarelated nerve injury.

Studies regarding risk factors for the development of neurologic injury after regional anesthesia are scarce. Several disorders of the central and peripheral nerves may require further evaluation to identify and provide information regarding ideal anesthetic techniques. The largest series of neuraxial anesthesia in the patient with a preexisting CNS condition included 139 patients [43], post-polio syndrome and multiple sclerosis being the most common disorders. The majority of these patients had sensorimotor deficits at the time of the blockade. The significant finding in the study was that no patient developed a new or worsening neurologic deficit during the postoperative period, as compared to the preoperative findings (0.0%; 95% CI 0.0–0.3%).

36.11 Epidural and Spinal Anesthesia After Major Spine Surgeries

Previous spinal surgery has been considered as a relative contraindication to the use of regional anesthesia. Chronic back pain and fear of exacerbation of preexisting back problems are the major reasons for patient refusal for neuraxial anesthesia. Technically, performing spinal or epidural anesthesia becomes difficult due to postoperative anatomical changes making needle or catheter placement more complicated. The changes include injury to ligamentum flavum resulting in adhesions within or obliteration of the epidural space affecting the spread of the LA, leading to an incomplete or "patchy" block. The possibility of dural puncture is increased, and when required, the subsequent intervention with epidural blood patch also becomes difficult due to altered anatomy. The usually performed midline or paramedian approaches for needle placement in a spinal segment that has undergone bone grafting and posterior fusion is not possible. It can be accomplished at unfused segments only. With epidural anesthesia, a false loss of resistance has been reported to occur frequently. Anecdotal reports suggest that epidural anesthesia may be successfully performed in patients who underwent previous spinal surgery. However, successful catheter placement on the first attempt is possible in only 50% of patients, even when an experienced anesthesiologist is carried out. Complications include inadvertent dural puncture, traumatic needle placement, and unsuccessful placement of epidural needle/catheter, especially if the spinal fusion is between L5 and S1.

36.12 Conditions Mimicking Spinal Canal Stenosis in Children

Morquio's disease (MPS IV) is the most common mucopolysaccharidosis syndrome (MPS) compatible with longevity. The major neurosurgical presentation in this condition is a shortened spine with platyspondyly and odontoid hypoplasia leading to C1–C2 instability with cervical myelopathy requiring surgical stabilization of the C1–C2 junction. MPS IV is due to a deficiency of the enzyme galactose-6-sulfatase, which leads to imperfect processing of keratan sulfate. The other major clinical presentations include severe short stature, marked bilateral hip coxa vara, acetabular dysplasia with a waddling gait, and genu valgum. Anesthetic considerations in these patients include a difficult airway due to cervical spine instability. Performance of neuraxial blocks also becomes difficult due to the associated kyphosis and scoliosis. Even when successfully performed, neuraxial blocks may be ineffective due to the abnormal accumulation of glycosaminoglycans in the epidural space.

Epidural lipomatosis is another condition that can present a situation for challenging neuraxial block. The cauda equina is normally mobile within the CSF; it may move about as the child changes posture. The dural sac and CSF cushion generally ensure the correct placement of the spinal needle, minimizing the risk of accidental traumatic nerve injury. Epidural lipomatosis with or without a small spinal canal leads to reduced CSF volume and a less movable cauda equina, resulting in nerve injury after the administration of spinal anesthesia. Post-spinal neuropathies are usually transient, but paresthesia and pain at injection may increase the risk of long-term damage. Diagnostic methods like electromyography (EMG) are unreliable because EMG measures only large nerve fiber signals, and it may take up to 3 weeks before a nerve injury can be confirmed.

36.13 Neuraxial Blocks in Patients with Preexisting Baclofen Pumps

Intrathecal baclofen (ITB) pumps are increasingly used in children with cerebral palsy (CP), spinal cord injury, and upper motor neuron disorders to treat spasticity and dystonia. Though medical management of hypertonicity with these agents improves comfort, ease of care, and function for these children, additional corrective orthopedic procedures are often necessary to improve gait and mobility. These orthopedic procedures include osteotomy, muscle-tendon lengthening, and foot-realignment procedures. Ambulatory children between ages 6–10 years often undergo several of these procedures in one setting, a practice known as single-event multilevel surgery (SEMLS) that may result in significant postsurgical sciatic nerve stretch. Epidural anesthesia can be used for perioperative pain management for these procedures.

Anesthesiologists are wary of placing epidural catheters in patients with intrathecal catheters. Concerns include accidental damage to the intrathecal catheter or pump apparatus, infection, risk of intrathecal migration of the epidural catheter, and exaggerated epidural response. A few cases reports in the literature report uneventful placement of epidural catheters in patients with ITB pumps for labor analgesia and orthopedic procedures [44]. Safe placements of epidurals with concurrent ITB pump for SEMLS and femoral osteotomy have been reported [45]. The balance deficit found in children with CP is mainly caused by muscle tone imbalance (spastic agonist and weak antagonist).

It is imperative to determine the entry level of the intrathecal catheter to avoid damage to the ITB catheter with epidural placement. Epidurals may be sited above or below the level of the intrathecal ITB insertion site. Surgical interventions around the neuraxis may cause the epidural space scarring and result in misdirected epidural catheters and patchy blocks. Real-time fluoroscopic placement of epidural catheters seems to be the best course in these patients with the potential for difficult placement and catheter malposition.

Post-procedure cross-sectional imaging, for either postsurgical or dedicated epidural catheter evaluation, may be used to confirm catheter course and tip position as well as related complications. As compared to computed tomography (CT) scan, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) better characterizes soft tissues, including potential spinal cord insults. Of note, the normal appearance of injectate may mimic other causes of fluid collection, particularly abscess. CT scan more noticeably displays small-caliber epidural catheters, which may be augmented by nonionic radiographic contrast material. Both modalities may be limited by metal artifacts related to the ITB pump and/or spinal fusion hardware.

CSF leak is a rare but clinically significant complication of ITB pump placement, estimated to occur in approximately 5% of patients. In a case series of patients with CRPS-related dystonia treated with ITB pump, there was a high incidence of post-dural puncture headache (PDPH) even in the absence of CSF leak [46]. In more than half of these patients, symptoms were noted to persist beyond the typical time frame, in one case for as long as 36 months despite two attempts for an epidural blood patch. For these infrequent complications, the response to an epidural blood patch has been found to be variable.

In conclusion, epidural blocks in patients with baclofen pumps should be considered on a caseto-case basis. The protocol should include serial neurologic documentation in collaboration with rehabilitation medicine and orthopedic surgery teams. LA infusions could be diluted down to facilitate neurologic examinations in the postoperative period. Potential synergism of adjuvants and baclofen with local anesthetics should be considered. Sciatic stretch is a real concern in patients with limb-lengthening procedures. Routine epidurograms should be considered to verify the epidural catheter position.

36.14 Local Anesthesia Toxicity

Local anesthetic systemic toxicity (LAST) is not a very common complication, but it is potentially fatal in children when it occurs. The estimated incidence is 0.76–1.6:10,000, with a majority of the complications that occur in infants. It is essential to be well versed with the maximum safe doses of various local anesthetic preparations (Table 36.4) even though the minimum effective dose should be used. Early CNS signs and symptoms in children may be masked by concomitant GA and delay the diagnosis. Early CNS toxicity may also be mistaken for poor analgesia in infants and children with special needs. The potency of the anesthetic agent, pharmacoki-

Table 36.4 Common local anesthetic preparations with their recommended maximum doses and duration of action

| | Maximum | |
|------------------|-----------|--------------------|
| | dose (mg/ | Duration of action |
| Agent | kg) | (min) |
| Procaine | 10 | 60–90 |
| 2-chloroprocaine | 20 | 30-60 |
| Tetracaine | 1.5 | 180-600 |
| Lidocaine | 5 | 90–200 |
| Bupivacaine | 2.5 | 180-600 |
| Ropivacaine | 2.5 | 180-600 |
| Levobupivacaine | 2.5 | 180-600 |

 Table 36.5
 Local anesthetic toxicity in children: key points

- It may be due to inadvertent vascular injection, excessive absorption, or accidental overdose.
- Neonates at high risk: immature hepatic metabolism
- Infants: increased volume of distribution, decreased LA binding proteins, longer elimination half-life, and reduced plasma cholinesterase
- On suspicion, stop the injection and call for help.
- Symptomatic treatment; benzodiazepines for seizures, epinephrine for hypotension (up to 1 µg/ kg), treat arrhythmias but avoid vasopressin, calcium channel blockers, and beta-blockers
- Monitor and correct acidosis, hypercarbia, and hyperkalemia.
- Administer 20% intralipid emulsion; bolus of 1.5 ml/kg followed by infusion @ 15 ml/kg/h (0.25 ml/kg/min) to a maximum dose of 12 ml/kg, along with supportive resuscitation

netic properties like rate of biotransformation and penetration through the blood-brain barrier, and acid-base status of the patient (hypercapnia and acidosis decrease the convulsive threshold by up to 50%) are the factors affecting CNS toxicity. Though multiple reasons are suggested for aggravation of LAST in children, recent data from pediatrics registries suggests an overall low incidence in children than adults [47]. The factors attributed to low incidence include the use of lower volumes of drugs; administration of LA under GA, thereby increasing seizure threshold; and a lower burden of comorbidities [48]. The key points about local anesthetic toxicity in children are summarized in Table 36.5, and additional reading of the guidelines by the Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland (AAGBI) is recommended. Basic life support with prompt administration of intralipid emulsion (bolus of 20% solution 1.5 ml/kg followed by infusion at the rate of 15 ml/kg/h) immediately after airway management is the cornerstone of management.

36.15 Conclusion

Regional anesthesia techniques improve the postoperative experience of both children and parents or caregivers and facilitate the efficient use of hospital facilities. The safety and efficacy of most of these techniques have been established in children as well, and therefore, anesthesiologists must become skilled in performing these procedures. Training in the acquisition of ultrasound imaging and needling skills and knowledge of pediatric anatomy and physiology should be an integral component of specialty training. In children with preexisting neurological conditions, a careful case analysis of the risk-benefit ratio can help deliver the standard care within the confines of patient safety.

Acknowledgments The authors acknowledge feedback of Dr. Jayanth Seshan, MD of All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India, to improvise the presentation of this chapter.

References

- Alcaraz García-Tejedor G, Echániz G, Strantzas S, Jalloh I, Rutka J, Drake J, et al. Feasibility of awake craniotomy in the pediatric population. Paediatr Anaesth. 2020;30(4):480–9.
- Lohkamp L-N, Beuriat P-A, Desmurget M, Cristofori I, Szathmari A, Huguet L, et al. Awake brain surgery in children: a single-center experience. Childs Nerv Syst ChNS Off J Int Soc Pediatr Neurosurg. 2020;36(5):967–74.
- Suresh S, Voronov P. Head and neck blocks in children: an anatomical and procedural review. Paediatr Anaesth. 2006;16(9):910–8.
- Suresh S, Voronov P. Head and neck blocks in infants, children, and adolescents. Paediatr Anaesth. 2012;22(1):81–7.
- Voronov P, Suresh S. Head and neck blocks in children. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2008;21(3):317–22.

- Guilfoyle MR, Helmy A, Duane D, Hutchinson PJA. Regional scalp block for postcraniotomy analgesia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesth Analg. 2013;116(5):1093–102.
- Nasr YM, Waly SH, Morsy AA. Scalp block for awake craniotomy: Lidocaine-bupivacaine versus lidocaine-bupivacaine with adjuvants. Egypt J Anaesth. 2020;36(1):7–15.
- 8. Sebeo J. The Use of "Scalp Block" in Pediatric Patients. Open J Anesthesiol. 2012;02:70–3.
- Burnand C, Sebastian J. Anaesthesia for awake craniotomy. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2014;14(1):6–11.
- Sprenger T, Seifert CL. Coma after greater occipital nerve blockade in a patient with previous posterior fossa surgery. Headache. 2013;53(3):548–50.
- Prigge L, van Schoor AN, Bosenberg AT. Anatomy of the greater occipital nerve block in infants. Paediatr Anaesth. 2019;29(9):945–9.
- Thomas K, Hughes C, Johnson D, Das S. Anesthesia for surgery related to craniosynostosis: a review. Part 1. Pediatr Anesth. 2012;22(11):1033–41.
- Rothera E, Chumas P, Liddington M, Russell J, Guruswamy V. Scalp blocks in nonsyndromic craniosynostosis surgery—a retrospective case series review. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(8):894–5.
- Festa R, Tosi F, Pusateri A, Mensi S, Garra R, Mancino A, et al. The scalp block for postoperative pain control in craniosynostosis surgery: a case control study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36(12):3063–70.
- Kissin I. Preemptive analgesia. Anesthesiology. 2000;93(4):1138–43.
- Bronco A, Pietrini D, Lamperti M, Somaini M, Tosi F, del Lungo LM, et al. Incidence of pain after craniotomy in children. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24(7):781–7.
- Nguyen A, Girard F, Boudreault D, Fugère F, Ruel M, Moumdjian R, et al. Scalp nerve blocks decrease the severity of pain after craniotomy. Anesth Analg. 2001;93(5):1272–6.
- Kim J-S, Kim GW, Park DH, Ahn HE, Chang MY, Kim JY. Effects of scalp nerve block on pain and emergence agitation after paediatric nevus surgery: a clinical trial. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2017;61(8):935–41.
- Ahn HJ, Kim JA, Lee JJ, Kim HS, Shin HJ, Chung IS, et al. Effect of preoperative skull block on pediatric moyamoya disease. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2(1):37–41.
- Hauptman JS, Mathern GW. Vagal nerve stimulation for pharmacoresistant epilepsy in children. Surg Neurol Int. 2012;3(Suppl. 4):S269–74.
- Kirse DJ, Werle AH, Murphy JV, Eyen TP, Bruegger DE, Hornig GW, et al. Vagus Nerve Stimulator Implantation in Children. Arch Otolaryngol Neck Surg. 2002;128(11):1263.
- Upton AR, McComas AJ. The double crush in nerve entrapment syndromes. Lancet Lond Engl. 1973;2(7825):359–62.
- James HE, Walsh JW. Spinal dysraphism. Curr Probl Pediatr. 1981;11(8):6–25.

- Griffiths S, Durbridge JA. Anaesthetic implications of neurological disease in pregnancy. Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain. 2011;11(5):157–61.
- Hanumanthaiah D, Sudhir V. Neuraxial block in a patient with dural ectasia. Indian J Anaesth. 2013;57(6):624–5.
- 26. Hebl JR, Horlocker TT, Kopp SL, Schroeder DR. Neuraxial blockade in patients with preexisting spinal stenosis, lumbar disk disease, or prior spine surgery: efficacy and neurologic complications. Anesth Analg. 2010;111(6):1511–9.
- Bui AH, Marco AP. Peripheral nerve blockade in a patient with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. Can J Anaesth. 2008;55(10):718–9.
- 28. Willschke H, Marhofer P, Bösenberg A, Johnston S, Wanzel O, Sitzwohl C, et al. Epidural catheter placement in children: comparing a novel approach using ultrasound guidance and a standard loss-of-resistance technique. Br J Anaesth. 2006;97(2):200–7.
- Leffert LR, Schwamm LH. Neuraxial anesthesia in parturients with intracranial pathology: a comprehensive review and reassessment of risk. Anesthesiology. 2013;119(3):703–18.
- Perkins WJ, Lanier WL, Sharbrough FW. Cerebral and hemodynamic effects of lidocaine accidentally injected into the carotid arteries of patients having carotid endarterectomy. Anesthesiology. 1988;69(5):787–90.
- Phillips OC, Ebner H, Nelson AT, Black MH. Neurologic complications following spinal anesthesia with lidocaine: a prospective review of 10,440 cases. Anesthesiology. 1969;30(3):284–9.
- Selander D, Edshage S, Wolff T. Paresthesiae or no paresthesiae? Nerve lesions after axillary blocks. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1979;23(1):27–33.
- 33. Selander D, Dhunér KG, Lundborg G. Peripheral nerve injury due to injection needles used for regional anesthesia. An experimental study of the acute effects of needle point trauma. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1977;21(3):182–8.
- 34. Rice AS, McMahon SB. Peripheral nerve injury caused by injection needles used in regional anaesthesia: influence of bevel configuration, studied in a rat model. Br J Anaesth. 1992;69(5):433–8.
- 35. Schneider M, Ettlin T, Kaufmann M, Schumacher P, Urwyler A, Hampl K, et al. Transient neurologic toxicity after hyperbaric subarachnoid anesthesia with 5% lidocaine. Anesth Analg. 1993;76(5):1154–7.
- 36. Myers RR, Heckman HM. Effects of local anesthesia on nerve blood flow: studies using lidocaine with and without epinephrine. Anesthesiology. 1989;71(5):757–62.
- Kalichman MW, Calcutt NA. Local anestheticinduced conduction block and nerve fiber injury in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Anesthesiology. 1992;77(5):941–7.
- Rigler ML, Drasner K, Krejcie TC, Yelich SJ, Scholnick FT, DeFontes J, et al. Cauda equina syndrome after continuous spinal anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1991;72(3):275–81.

- Drasner K. Models for local anesthetic toxicity from continuous spinal anesthesia. Reg Anesth. 1993;18(6 Suppl):434–8.
- 40. Selander D. Neurotoxicity of local anesthetics: animal data. Reg Anesth. 1993;18(6 Suppl):461–8.
- 41. Bromage PR. 'Paraplegia following epidural analgesia': a misnomer. Anaesthesia. 1976;31(7):947–9.
- 42. Kane RE. Neurologic deficits following epidural or spinal anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 1981;60(3):150–61.
- 43. Hebl JR, Horlocker TT, Schroeder DR. Neuraxial anesthesia and analgesia in patients with preexisting central nervous system disorders. Anesth Analg. 2006;103(1):223–8. table of contents
- 44. Ali Sakr Esa W, Toma I, Tetzlaff JE, Barsoum S. Epidural analgesia in labor for a woman with an intrathecal baclofen pump. Int J Obstet Anesth. 2009;18(1):64–6.
- 45. Norlin R, Tkaczuk H. One-session surgery for correction of lower extremity deformities in

children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 1985;5(2):208–11.

- 46. Munts AG, Voormolen JHC, Marinus J, Delhaas EM, van Hilten JJ. Postdural puncture headache in complex regional pain syndrome: a retrospective observational study. Pain Med Malden Mass. 2009;10(8):1469–75.
- 47. Polaner DM, Taenzer AH, Walker BJ, Bosenberg A, Krane EJ, Suresh S, et al. Pediatric Regional Anesthesia Network (PRAN): a multi-institutional study of the use and incidence of complications of pediatric regional anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2012;115(6):1353–64.
- 48. Neal JM, Barrington MJ, Fettiplace MR, Gitman M, Memtsoudis SG, Mörwald EE, et al. The Third American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine Practice Advisory on Local Anesthetic Systemic Toxicity: Executive Summary 2017. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2018;43(2):113–23.

Part III

Postoperative Care and Miscellaneous Topics



37

Recovery and Postoperative Care in Children Undergoing Neurosurgery

Sangeetha R. Palaniswamy and Sriganesh Kamath

Key Points

- Children undergoing neurosurgery pose inherent challenges during recovery and in the postoperative period.
- Uniqueness in airway anatomy, systemic physiology, and some neurosurgical pathologies necessitates modification in the anesthetic techniques and perioperative care.
- Poor preoperative neurological status, surgery involving vital cranial structures, significant bleeding, perioperative hemodynamic fluctuations, postoperative respiratory insufficiency, and new-onset neurological deficits may necessitate postoperative intensive care unit management.
- Delay in recovery beyond the window of anticipation should trigger a sequence of investigative and therapeutic measures.
- Specific pediatric neurosurgical conditions present with distinct postoperative issues. Thorough understanding and careful management are essential to achieve desirable recovery and good clinical outcomes.

37.1 Introduction

Pediatric neurosurgery forms about one-third of the total neurosurgical procedures in most tertiary care centers. Good anesthesia care in children undergoing neurosurgery should incorporate essential principles of both neuroanesthesia and pediatric anesthesia. Postoperative recovery is an important component of perioperative management in children undergoing neurosurgical procedures. Early and smooth recovery is essential to assess neurological function and avoid perturbations in systemic hemodynamics and resultant intracranial dynamics. This chapter discusses various aspects of recovery from anesthesia and general principles of early postoperative management relevant to anesthesiologists in children undergoing neurosurgery.

37.2 Physiological Changes During Recovery After Neurosurgery

Catecholamine release, sympathetic nervous system activation, and increased oxygen consumption are prominent physiological changes during the recovery phase [1]. Systemic hypertension is defined on an individualized basis, depending on the child's baseline blood pressure (BP). Figure 37.1 demonstrates the interplay of

S. R. Palaniswamy \cdot S. Kamath (\boxtimes)

Department of Neuroanaesthesia and Neurocritical Care, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), Bengaluru, Karnataka, India e-mail: sangeetharp@nimhans.ac.in; sriganeshk@nimhans.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_37



cardio-respiratory systems in neurological recovery during emergence from anesthesia.

37.3 Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Pathways

The goal of ERAS pathways is to achieve enhanced recovery and good postoperative outcomes by implementing multiple processes together that maintain patient's physiology close to normal in the perioperative period. Preoperative counseling, avoiding prolonged fasting, liberal use of regional anesthesia, opioid-sparing analgesic approach, appropriate and judicious use of intravenous fluids, maintenance of normothermia, and early mobilization are key interventions to promote enhanced postoperative recovery after neurosurgery in children. The benefits of ERAS pathways include reduced complications such as postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV), pain, shivering, bladder and bowel dysfunction, and increased satisfaction. Early discharge from intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital, reduced healthcare costs, and lower rates of redo surgery, readmission, and mortality [2].

37.4 Implications of Poor Recovery in Children

Poor recovery indicators such as hypertension, tachycardia, airway obstruction, laryngospasm or bronchospasm, seizures, emergence agitation (EA), slowed recovery, etc. are associated with delayed discharge from postanesthesia care unit (PACU), additional investigations and interventions, and long-term behavioral changes [3]. Hence, efforts to improve recovery time and quality should begin before surgery, continue during the intraoperative period, and extend into the PACU.

37.5 Impact of Anesthetic Management on Postoperative Recovery

The postoperative recovery is predominantly impacted by the quality of intraoperative management during neurosurgery. Anesthetic drugs greatly influence the recovery profile. Spine surgeries serve as a better model than cranial surgeries to study the influence of anesthesia on

Fig. 37.1 Basic interplay of cardiorespiratory system in neurological recovery during emergence recovery. The recovery profile is attributable primarily to the anesthetic management in this population, unlike cranial surgeries, where recovery is likely to be influenced by intracranial pathologies and neurosurgical factors [4].

In a study comparing isoflurane and sevoflurane anesthesia in children undergoing spinal dysraphism surgery, authors observed shorter time to extubation (6.4 vs 10.7 min), emergence (7.8 vs 12.8 min), and achieving full Aldrete score (13.9 vs 20.3 min) with sevoflurane. There was no difference for other recovery attributes such as EA, discharge time from the PACU, or time for first analgesia requirement in the postoperative period [5]. In another study by the same group where sevoflurane was compared with desflurane anesthesia in 60 children for spinal dysraphism surgery, shorter time for emergence and extubation was seen with desflurane (2.75 vs 8 min and 3 vs 5.5 min, respectively) when compared to sevoflurane. There was no difference in other recovery characteristics [6].

The use of adjuvants, such as dexmedetomidine during surgery, also provides advantages during recovery from anesthesia. In a randomized controlled trial (RCT) involving 36 children, the impact of intraoperative dexmedetomidine on recovery characteristics was evaluated after surgery for spinal dysraphism. Children who received dexmedetomidine had lower pain scores, lower agitation scores, and faster time achieving full modified Aldrete score after surgery. Similarly, postoperative opioid consumption was lower, time to the first analgesic requirement was longer, PONV was lesser, and heart rate and BP were better maintained with dexmedetomidine when compared to placebo [7].

Despite increasing neurophysiological monitoring, few centers still perform intraoperative wake-up tests to assess neurological function during spine surgeries. It is important that the wake-up is smooth to minimize major perturbations in cardio-respiratory physiology. When combined with sevoflurane anesthesia, low-dose dexmedetomidine provided hemodynamic stability and good wake-up condition in 60 children during scoliosis surgery [8]. In cranial surgeries, smooth and early recovery is warranted to avoid intracranial adverse events and facilitate quick neurological assessment. The choice of anesthetic technique plays an important role in achieving favorable recovery. In an RCT comparing isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane anesthesia in 60 patients undergoing supratentorial surgeries for brain tumors, the emergence and extubation times and the time for reaching an Aldrete score of nine were significantly shorter with desflurane and sevoflurane than with isoflurane. Other variables, such as hemodynamics and postoperative shivering or vomiting, were similar to all anesthetics [9].

There are many situations where general anesthesia may not be appropriate in children undergoing craniotomies for pathologies involving eloquent brain areas. In these children, intraoperative clinical or electrophysiological assessments necessitate either awake surgery or asleep-awake-asleep pattern of anesthesia. Use of dexmedetomidine or a combination of dexmedetomidine, ketamine, remifentanil, and nicardipine provides smooth transitions between asleep-awake-asleep conditions and facilitates neuropsychological assessments and electrophysiological monitoring during surgery [10-12]. However, dexmedetomidine as a sole agent may be inadequate in children undergoing stereotactic procedures, and supplementation of additional anesthetic such as propofol can complicate recovery [13].

37.6 Assessment of Recovery

After surgery, recovery characteristics are usually assessed in terms of time to extubation, quality of extubation, time to spontaneous eye opening and following verbal commands, and hemodynamic changes during extubation. Postoperative recovery is also evaluated in terms of occurrence or otherwise of PONV, shivering, pain, EA or delirium, cognitive dysfunction, and change in neurological, respiratory, and hemodynamic status compared to the preoperative period.

37.7 Desired Recovery Profile

Early recovery from anesthesia and extubation is preferable in most scenarios provided children fulfill the extubation criteria. The success of extubation in children undergoing neurosurgery is dependent on anesthetic, surgical, and patient factors, and these should be met (Fig. 37.2). When early extubation is considered, an approach suggested in Fig. 37.3 may be preferred in children undergoing neurosurgery. Occasionally, planned delayed recovery and extubation might be necessary for exceptional situations to minimize complications and improve outcomes. In either scenario, the following characteristics are considered as desirable for a good recovery.

- Stable respiratory parameters: No coughing, patient-ventilator asynchrony, retching, desaturation, airway obstruction, hypo- or hypercarbia, etc.
- *Stable cardiovascular parameters*: Sinus rhythm, acceptable intravascular volume, heart rate and BP, adequately replaced blood loss.
- *Favorable neurological and psychomotor recovery*: No EA, return of consciousness without new neurological deficits.

37.8 Dilemmas in Decision-Making

37.8.1 Early Versus Delayed Recovery

Recovery from anesthesia occurring within the initial few minutes after surgery is generally described as early recovery. If the recovery is over several minutes to hours after surgery, it would be late or delayed recovery. The pattern of recovery (early vs delayed) should be individualized with consideration of multiple factors, namely, patient-related (clinical status, primary pathology, co-existing congenital anomalies, ease of securing the airway), surgery-related (elective/emergency nature of the surgery, intermediate to major risk surgery, surgery close to vital centers, cranial nerves, major blood vessels, and vascular sinuses), perioperative course (hemodynamic and metabolic status, degree of fluid shift, the requirement of blood transfusion), and anticipated complications unique to different pathologies. The advantages and disadvantages of early versus delayed recovery are enumerated in Table 37.1.

Early recovery may be suitable in children with normal preoperative sensorium, easy air-



Fig. 37.2 Factors contributing to successful extubation in children undergoing neurosurgery



Fig. 37.3 Suggested approach for extubation and recovery after pediatric neurosurgery

 Table 37.1
 Advantages and disadvantages of early and delayed recovery and extubation after neurosurgery in children

| Early recovery | Delayed recovery |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Advantages | Advantages |
| Rapid neurological assessment possible | Provides opportunity to stabilize systemic |
| Early detection and management of complications | hemodynamics and intracranial homeostasis |
| Avoids problems with intensive care and prolonged | Reduced chance of pain and agitation |
| intubation and ventilation | Facilitates invasive monitoring, oxygenation and |
| Avoids sedation needs, agitation, and pain | ventilation, and intensive care |
| Avoids coughing and bucking and resultant systemic | Avoids secondary insults in the event of |
| and intracranial stress response | complications in the immediate postoperative period |
| Disadvantages | Disadvantages |
| Hemodynamic perturbations and their impact on | Early neurological assessment not possible |
| injured/operated nervous tissue | • Inability to detect complications early and intervene |
| Increased possibility of pain and agitation | early |
| Possibility of adverse cardio-respiratory events and secondary brain insults | • Problems associated with sedation, intensive care, and prolonged ventilation |
| Need for multiple quick interventions in case of | • Coughing, bucking and airway spasm with resultant |
| complications | systemic/intracranial stress response |

way, uneventful perioperative course, and an uncomplicated surgical technique not involving critical areas. Patients with stable cerebral parameters such as apparently normal cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral metabolic rate (CMRO2) and intracranial pressure (ICP), absence of seizures, and good lower cranial nerve function and normal systemic homeostasis such as normotension (age-appropriate), normoxia, normothermia, and normal metabolic parameters are also candidates for early recovery.

Planned delayed recovery may be warranted for those requiring postoperative ventilation due to anticipated and inadvertent perioperative adverse events or in whom neurological and cardio-respiratory recovery is expected to occur over a prolonged timeframe. It is prudent to delay extubation following prolonged (>6 h) extensive surgery with major blood loss, fluid shifts, and hypothermia, or where a significant risk of cerebral ischemia is possible due to excessive retractor pressure or involvement of major blood vessels, and when airway edema is likely due to excessive neck flexion, as in sitting or prone position. Planned delayed recovery provides time for achieving cardiovascular, metabolic, and thermal stability, optimization of oxygenation and ventilation, and amelioration of edema associated with neural tissue handling.

37.8.2 Awake Versus Deep Extubation

Awake extubation is ideal in pediatric neurosurgery if accompanying surges in hemodynamic parameters can be minimized. This helps in avoiding unnecessary adverse airway events and should be considered in children with a difficult airway. It also ensures ability of the child to protect airway from secretions or obstruction as consciousness would have returned to preoperative status.

Deep extubation avoids agitation, coughing, hemodynamic activation, and consequent disturbance in the intracranial homeostasis. However, deep extubation might lead to loss of airway and respiratory insufficiency in a yet-to-be fully recovered child and potentially subject it to risk of hypoxia, hypercapnia, and pulmonary aspiration [14].

37.8.3 Postoperative ICU Versus Ward Care

Most children have a good recovery after neurosurgery, can be extubated in the operating room, and shifted to a ward with a facility for physiological monitoring. In children without significant pre-existing neurological or systemic physiological derangements, ward care is appropriate if surgery is minor and uneventful. However, vigilant monitoring at least in the initial 24 h is warranted as acute adverse events are known after intracranial surgery.

Few children need transfer to ICU after elective neurosurgery for invasive monitoring and mechanical ventilation. Reasons include poor preoperative neurological status, adverse perioperative event, prolonged surgery, or extensive neuronal handling. ICU stay permits longer, more frequent, and vigilant monitoring and care of these patients.

Rarely, transfer to ICU after initial shifting to the ward may be required to manage complications. Children with primitive neuroectodermal tumors and those undergoing repeat craniotomy are more likely to require transfer to ICU after initial admission to the ward [15]. A balanced approach and well-documented protocol help transfer patients between ICU and ward, when required.

Care in the pediatric ICU (PICU) involves close monitoring of cardiovascular, respiratory, and neurological function. The readiness of weaning from sedation, mechanical ventilation, hemodynamic support, and other measures such as anti-edema and antibiotic therapy should be assessed daily and tailored to the individual patient or as per PICU protocols.

37.9 Common Issues and Their Management During Recovery

Recovery and care in the postoperative period after neurosurgery require added vigilance in children. Systematic assessment of cardiorespiratory and neurological system, timely and appropriate administration of due medications and anticipation, prevention, and management of potential complications are key components of perioperative care that should be continued during recovery and in the immediate postoperative period. The common postoperative issues after pediatric neurosurgery and their management are enumerated in Table 37.2 and discussed below.

Table 37.2 Common postoperative complications after pediatric neurosurgery

| System | Complications |
|----------------|----------------------------------------|
| Cardiovascular | Brady- or tachycardia, arrhythmia, |
| | hypo- or hypertension, cardiac arrest |
| Respiratory | Desaturation, apnea, hypo- or |
| | hypercarbia, airway obstruction, |
| | laryngo- or bronchospasm, |
| | pulmonary aspiration, pulmonary |
| | edema |
| Neurological | Seizures, delayed or non-awakening, |
| | agitation, new-onset behavioral |
| | changes, neurological deficits, raised |
| | intra cranial pressure, pain |
| Miscellaneous | Hypo- or hyperthermia, |
| | dyselectrolytemia, hypo- or |
| | hyperglycemia, anemia, coagulation |
| | disorders |

37.9.1 Unintended Delayed Recovery

One of the undesirable components of recovery from anesthesia after neurosurgery is delayed awakening. Recovery is termed as "delayed" when there is an unprecedented lag exceeding the expected time to awakening from anesthesia (usually 20–30 min), defined in the context of an otherwise uneventful procedure.

Several anesthetic, surgical, and patient factors contribute to delayed awakening after neurosurgery in children. The causes for delayed recovery, approach to diagnosis, and management options are shown in Fig. 37.4. Anesthetic causes include inappropriately timed or excessively dosed anesthetic drugs apart from the selection of anesthetic technique itself. Other intraoperative factors include unstable cardiovascular and respiratory status, acidosis, hypothermia, and glucose and electrolyte abnormalities. Surgical causes include stroke, operative or remote site hematoma, venous air embolism, cerebral edema, or pneumocephalus [16]. Non-



Fig. 37.4 Causes for delayed recovery, approach to diagnosis, and management options

awakening after anesthesia and bradycardia, hypertension, and irregular respiration have been reported from tension pneumocephalus following infratentorial surgery [17]. It is important to use age-appropriate minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) of volatile anesthetics during neurosurgery in children. Inappropriate MAC can result in under-dosing or over-dosing and affect recovery from anesthesia [18].

37.9.2 Emergence Agitation

This represents a constellation of myriad components, emergence delirium (ED), pain, discomfort, anxiety, and PONV, leading to excessive motor activity threatening both self-harm (removal of indwelling catheters, cannulas, and drain tubes) and a predicament for parents and attending healthcare workers. EA is mostly seen with sevoflurane and desflurane. Prophylactic use of fentanyl (1–2 µg/kg), clonidine (1–3 µg/kg), dexmedetomidine (0.1–0.25 µg/kg), or ketamine (0.25 mg/kg) [19] has shown to reduce EA.

37.9.3 Delirium

ED and postoperative delirium (POD) are a spectrum of postoperative cognitive dysfunction (POCD) with varied incidence depending on several factors. A simple behavior assessment scale, the Pediatric Anesthesia Emergence Delirium (PAED) scale, helps in the diagnosis of ED in children [20]. Predisposing factors include younger age, preoperative anxiety, perioperative electrolyte imbalance, volatile anesthetics, and intracranial surgery (mostly of the frontal region). The use of above mentioned drugs (fentanyl, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, ketamine) administered toward the end of surgery have shown to minimize ED and POD. However, these drugs can delay recovery and discharge from PACU. Apart from pharmacological interventions, ED can be better managed by the reunion of children with their parents [21].

37.9.4 Hemodynamic Complications

The most common hemodynamic changes during emergence and recovery after neurosurgery in children are tachycardia and hypertension. These are seen as a consequence of awakening from anesthesia and can also be a manifestation of pain. Age-appropriate BP targets must be established and maintained using antihypertensive drugs such as labetalol to avert breach of surgical hemostasis and cerebral hyperemic or hemorrhagic complications [22].

Hypotension is rare and is more likely due to reduced intravascular volume from inadequate fluid or blood administration during surgery. Fluid boluses and transfusion correct hypotension from these causes. Bradycardia may be a sign of intracranial hypertension, the cause of which should be ascertained and acted upon. It may be the only manifestation of skull pininduced extradural hematoma [23]. Unexplained bradycardia should warrant immediate work-up for prompt diagnosis and management.

Brainstem surgeries can result in persistent hemodynamic perturbations, which can continue during recovery and in the postoperative period. Knowledge of the underlying pathophysiological process avoids unnecessary anxiety and overzealous correction of numerical parameters. The greater resting vagal tone in children renders them susceptible to trigemino-cardiac vagal reflex during craniosynostosis surgeries [24].

37.9.5 Respiratory Complications

Upper airway obstruction is a common problem in children after neurosurgery. Obesity, obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), prolonged surgery in the flexed neck position, and deep extubation predispose to airway obstruction. Manifestations include noisy breathing, tracheal tug, sternointercostal respiratory excursions, and desaturation. OSA is commonly seen in children with Cushingoid features, craniofacial anomalies, and craniosynostosis. Nursing in the lateral position with neck extension, triple airway maneuver (head-tilt, chin-lift, and jaw-thrust), and oral airway placement help maintain airway patency and relieve obstruction in most patients. Rarely, reintubation may be necessary. Unattended hypoxia can quickly worsen to cardiac arrest as children have a low functional residual capacity, which results in rapid desaturation.

Post-extubation stridor could be due to laryngeal edema from repeated or traumatic intubation or a snuggly fitting tracheal tube. It can restrict airflow across the narrow subglottic region in children. Nebulized adrenaline results in vasoconstriction and bronchodilation and improves symptoms in these children.

Laryngospasm is common in children during the perioperative period. Airway manipulation in hyper-reactive airway (from recent upper respiratory tract infection), noxious stimulus during lighter plane of anesthesia, and trickling of blood and secretions during extubation can precipitate laryngospasm. Removal of the irritant stimuli and oxygen administration with positive pressure usually help resolve this complication. Occasionally, propofol (0.8 mg/kg), succinylcholine (1 mg/kg) with atropine (0.02 mg/kg), and re-intubation may be required to curtail an unresolved laryngospasm [25].

Pulmonary edema can occur from respiratory obstruction due to high inspiratory negative intrathoracic pressure generated against an obstructed glottis. Measures to relieve obstruction and positive pressure ventilation help in the management of negative pressure pulmonary edema.

Respiratory insufficiency or apnea episodes are occasionally seen after posterior fossa surgeries, in those with neural tube defects with associated brainstem dysgenesis, or in preterm infants. Careful monitoring and reassessment of neuromuscular function are pre-requisites before further investigation. If opioid-associated respiratory depression is suspected, it should be reversed with intravenous naloxone 0.01 mg/kg (repeated every 2–3 min, if required), and pain is further managed with non-opioid analgesics.

37.9.6 Pain Management

Pain is common after neurosurgery, especially after infra-tentorial or spine surgery. Various scales

have been used for its assessment in children. Multimodal analgesia should be provided to minimize postoperative pain and reduce side effects of analgesics. Loco-regional analgesia such as scalp block [26], incision and pin site local anesthetic infiltration for craniotomy, and epidural, caudal, and erector spinae plane block [27] for spine surgery provide pre-emptive analgesia which continues into the early postoperative period and facilitates pain-free recovery from anesthesia. Systemic drugs such as paracetamol, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, opioids, and co-analgesics (lignocaine, dexmedetomidine, and ketamine as infusion or oral gabapentinoids in older children) also help in preventing and managing postoperative pain. In older children, patient-controlled analgesia with opioids (fentanyl or morphine) can be practiced and is effective and safe [28]. Nonopioid analgesia is an attractive option in the adult neurosurgical population [29]. Similar benefits are likely in children and may be considered for painfree recovery without opioid-related side effects.

37.9.7 Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting

PONV is a common complication after neurosurgery in children with a reported incidence of 24–66% [30, 31]. A higher incidence (73%) is observed in children undergoing posterior fossa surgery. Younger children and those receiving desflurane are more likely to develop PONV [32]. Other risk factors described in adults such as female gender, surgery for craniopharyngioma or involving cranial nerves and spine, prolonged surgical duration, and inhalational anesthesia could also contribute to PONV in children [33]. PONV results in discomfort and increased ICP and contributes to intracranial hyperemia and bleeding with adverse consequences. Prophylactic administration of ondansetron (0.1 mg/kg), or granisetron (10-80 µg/kg), minimizing opioid dose, and using intravenous anesthesia technique reduce PONV. Metoclopramide (0.25 mg/kg) and dexame has one (0.15 mg/kg) can be used to treat PONV. However, perioperative steroids can lead to intestinal perforation, complicating the postoperative course [34].
37.9.8 Hypothermia

Hypothermia, defined as a core temperature less than 36 °C, is common in the perioperative period in children undergoing neurosurgery, with at least 50% developing it in the absence of active warming [35]. Greater body surface area to weight ratio, cold ambient temperature, inadequate warming, prolonged surgery, and large quantities of fluid administration predispose children to hypothermia [36]. Hypothermia results in shivering and increased oxygen consumption in the postoperative period. Treatment includes active warming, oxygen supplementation, and drugs such as pethidine (0.5 mg/kg), clonidine (1.5 μ g/kg), and dexmedetomidine (0.5 μ g/kg).

37.9.9 Seizures

Postoperative seizures in children could be a continuation of pre-existing seizures from intracranial pathology or de novo after surgery due to handling of the brain. All anti-epileptic drugs should be continued in the perioperative period, and additional doses may be administered when significant blood loss occurs to maintain their plasma levels. In children undergoing neurosurgery with no prior seizures, the incidence of perioperative seizure was 7.5%. Supra-tentorial tumor surgery, age < 2 years, and hyponatremia were associated with the occurrence of seizures [37]. Postoperative seizure occurrence was not related to brain incision, while hyponatremia significantly contributed to postoperative seizures in another study [38].

37.10 Specific Conditions and Postoperative Issues

The general principles of managing pediatric patients during the recovery phase mandate further specialized care that caters to the specific underlying primary neurosurgical pathology.

37.10.1 Tumor Surgery

Major surgery can result in hypothermia, massive blood loss, and significant fluid shifts with the requirement of continued ventilator support. The transfusion to body volume ratio can be high in children, with potential for complications such as life-threatening hyperkalemia, acidosis, and hypocalcemia [39]. Diffuse bleeding, hypotension, and brain bulge could be unusual manifestations of transfusion reaction [40]. Identifying the cause and correcting transfusion-associated complications should take precedence. A planned delay in recovery may be preferred.

Children undergoing infratentorial surgeries require vigilant monitoring as rapid decompensation can occur after handling the brainstem and lower cranial nerves. Surgeries close to the brainstem can cause edema or injury and contribute to apnea, vocal cord palsy with stridor, abnormal respiration, and hemodynamic disturbances.

Cerebellar mutism encompassing reduced speech, hypotonia, and ataxia is a rare transient postoperative complication commonly seen after 1 to 2 days of posterior fossa surgery [41]. It is not associated with loss of consciousness or cranial nerve dysfunction. It is thought to be due to vascular disturbances and damage to the dentatothalamo-cortical pathway from manipulation of cerebellar region around the fourth ventricle [42].

Postoperative neurological deficit (POND) is a commonly encountered complication after pediatric neurosurgery. Monitoring of changes in the evoked potentials (motor, somato-sensory, brainstem auditory) can predict and prevent POND after cranial and spine surgeries [43].

Dysphagia is an under-recognized manifestation after posterior fossa surgery in children and can lead to complications such as pulmonary aspiration, pneumonia, airway interventions, and sepsis. Dysphagia is associated with younger age, aggressive tumors, and higher hospital resource utilization [44].

Craniotomies in atypical positions (sitting, lateral, or prone), an predispose to *glossal and pharyngeal edema* precluding early on-table extubation and possibility of postoperative airway obstruction. Peripheral nerve injuries are likely with prolonged surgeries in abnormal positions if adequate precautions and careful examination are not performed [45].

Children undergoing craniopharyngioma surgery are predisposed to metabolic, hemodynamic, and electrolyte disequilibrium. Delayed recovery can occur from frontal lobe manipulation during surgery, electrolyte disturbance, or non-convulsive seizures. The pre-existing or surgery-associated hypothalamo-pituitary dysfunction can cause hypo- or hyperthermia and diabetes insipidus (DI) anytime during the perioperative period. Preoperative anticipation and preventive strategies contribute to the amelioration of the intensity of these changes during emergence. The incidence of DI can be as high as 70-90% and is diagnosed with serum sodium >150 mEq/L, serum osmolarity >300 mosm/kg, urine output >4 ml/kg/h, and urine osmolarity <300 mosm/kg. Management includes administration of hypotonic fluids such as 0.2% or 0.45% saline alone or with dextrose for both replacement and maintenance and vasopressin infusion at 0.5-1 mU/kg/min titrated to urine output of <2 ml/kg/h. The presence of disturbed thermoregulation and behavioral and memory disturbances often heralds unfavorable outcomes in these children [46–48].

37.10.2 Epilepsy and Functional Surgery

Most children with medically refractory seizures are evaluated and considered for surgical management. The common procedures performed include focal lesion resection, disconnective surgeries (hemispherotomy, corpus callosotomy), and vagal or direct brain stimulation. Antiepileptic medications, seizures, and disconnection surgeries can delay recovery. Acute postoperative seizures in children herald a poor prognosis; hence, intraoperative supplementation of anti-epileptic medication is warranted, especially if significant blood loss has occurred [49]. Older children can undergo awake surgery for the treatment of their seizure disorder. Recovery from sedation is better, and postoperative complications are less. However, apnea can occur, and constant vigilance is needed throughout the perioperative period [50]. Children undergoing hemispherotomy for refractory seizures can develop postoperative hyperthermia, which poses a diagnostic dilemma and requires unconventional management [51].

Children with severe dystonia undergo deep brain stimulation to manage their drug-resistant manifestations. The intraoperative electrical recording is important to place the stimulating electrode correctly. Titration of anesthetic agent with depth of anesthesia monitoring and appropriate selection of drugs not only helps in uneventful intraoperative management but also provides smooth recovery and postoperative course [52].

37.10.3 Neurovascular Surgery

Ischemic complications are common in children undergoing neurosurgery, especially for vascular pathologies. The most common neurovascular surgery in children is for moyamoya disease (MMD). Vascular bypass or encephalo-duroarterio-myo-synangiosis (EDAMS) procedures are done to enhance CBF in MMD. These children are vulnerable to postoperative ischemic complications, especially from crying (due to shivering, pain, hunger, and parental separation), induced hyperventilation, and hypocapnia or hypotension. Predictors for postoperative ischemic complications in MMD are preoperative infarction, younger age, higher Suzuki grade, and posterior cerebral artery occlusion [53]. POND is common (13% incidence) and secondary to cerebral ischemia in children undergoing surgery for MMD. A prolonged hospital course is seen in younger children and those with longer anesthesia duration and POND [54]. Ensuring smooth, non-agitated, and pain-free recovery and postoperative period is important to prevent new-onset POND. Hence, adequate multimodal analgesia using scalp block and systemic drugs, temperature management, and early parental involvement are vital in these patients. In contrast, hypercapnia can induce cerebral steal phenomenon, worsening the CBF across the diseased blood vessels. Low-dose dexmedetomidine during extubation results in comfort, normocapnia, and absence of pain and ischemic complications [55].

The intracranial arterio-venous malformation is another indication for neurovascular surgery in children. A perioperative seizure is common and is associated with adverse outcomes. Seizure can be detected by using electroencephalogram or cerebral oxygen monitoring as seizure increases oxygen extraction resulting in cerebral deoxygenation [56]. Management of seizures and pain and maintaining lower BP levels in the immediate postoperative period are important aspects of postoperative care to prevent hyperemia-related complications.

37.10.4 CSF Diversion Procedures

Surgeries for hydrocephalus include cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) diversion techniques such as endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV), external ventricular drain (EVD) placement, or ventriculo-peritoneal (VP) shunt surgery. These children do not present significant challenges as ICP reduces after the procedure, and recovery and postoperative process are generally smooth and uncomplicated. However, rarely, complications can occur such as inadvertent cerebral injury, pneumothorax, failure of technique, CSF over-drainage and its complications, and bowel perforation which require close monitoring and appropriate intervention. If CSF diversion is made for posterior fossa pathology, lower cranial nerve function should be considered in the decision-making regarding extubation and postoperative care.

37.10.5 Craniosynostosis

Cranial remodeling surgeries are commonly performed to repair craniosynostosis, complicating the airway, craniofacial growth, and cerebral homeostasis. Vigilant monitoring for signs of raised ICP consequent to cranial remodeling is desirable. If ICP is monitored during surgery, it should be continued in the postoperative period. Significant blood loss requiring massive blood transfusion can complicate postoperative course with hypothermia, hemodynamic imbalance, and delayed recovery. Syndromic association with co-existent airway compromise and cardio-respiratory involvement necessitates a careful evaluation of extubation and postoperative care [57].

37.10.6 Cranio-Vertebral Junction Anomalies

Corrective procedures for atlanto-axial dislocation, Arnold-Chiari malformation, and upper cervical spinal pathology involve proning and handling of the cervico-medullary junction and structures close to the patient's airway. After observation in the ICU, a planned delayed recovery should be considered, and extubation performed after confirmation of adequate spontaneous breathing. Syndromic associations (Down's syndrome and Klippel-Feil syndrome) can have congenital cardiac and airway anomalies that require careful consideration during recovery [58].

37.10.7 Spine Surgery

The postoperative course of corrected scoliosis can be complicated by neurological injury, massive blood transfusion, and multiple levels of instrumentation, necessitating the use of multimodal analgesia [59]. Co-existing muscular dystrophies or neuromuscular scoliosis may complicate pre-existing reduced forced vital capacity and congenital heart disease (CHD). These patients need mechanical ventilation before their pulmonary function improves to acceptable levels. Tracheostomy should be considered if longer course of mechanical ventilation is anticipated. Intravenous, interpleural, or epidural infusion of local anesthetic and/or opioids provides effective postoperative analgesia with minimal side effects [60]. Children with meningomyelocele and encephalocele often have associated non-neurological congenital malformations and defective temperature regulation [61]. These factors should be considered during extubation and recovery along with careful positioning to

avoid pressure on the operative site after surgery. Caring in the lateral position and strict aseptic precautions avoid the risk of meningitis in the postoperative period.

37.10.8 Brain Trauma Surgery

Pediatric trauma resulting in intracranial hematoma or contusion with significant midline shift may necessitate emergent surgery. Compromised intracranial compliance and disturbed cerebral autoregulation are common after surgery, contributing to cerebral ischemia or postoperative edema. The intraoperative goals of systemic and cerebral homeostasis should be continued in the postoperative period. Prevention of secondary brain injury is necessary by avoiding and treating hypotension, hypoxia, hypoglycemia, hyperglycemia, and hyperthermia.

37.10.9 Neuroendoscopy

Endoscopic choroid plexus coagulation and ETV are performed for managing obstructive hydrocephalus. Inadvertent injury to the pituitary gland, hypothalamus, or fornix and manipulation of third ventricular floor can predispose to cranial nerve palsies, delayed recovery, hematoma from injured ependymal veins, CSF leak, electrolyte imbalance, memory disturbance, hypothermia, cognitive dysfunction, cardiac arrhythmias, and neurogenic pulmonary edema [62].

37.10.10 Surgery for Neuro-infections

The incidence of perioperative complications is high in children with cyanotic CHD undergoing brain abscess surgery. Avoiding tachycardia in the perioperative period is important in these children to minimize complications [63]. Position-related desaturation should be borne in mind after anesthesia for brain abscess surgery in children with cyanotic CHD. Careful monitoring should be continued in the postoperative period [64].

37.10.11 Neuroradiologic Interventions

Most diagnostic imaging procedures are safely performed under sedation with either dexmedetomidine or propofol infusion. Post-procedural recovery is smooth with both techniques, and these patients can be discharged the same day without any adverse effects from procedure or anesthesia [65]. Rarely, in syndromic patients where respiratory adverse events are known, such as Joubert syndrome, the selection of appropriate anesthetic techniques helps smooth recovery and avoidance of peri-procedural complications [66].

Children undergoing interventional neuroradiological procedures, however, require general anesthesia. Safe and smooth emergence should be aimed, as done after surgery. Neurological status, hypothermia, contrast or protamine reactions, and puncture site hematoma should be carefully monitored after the procedure. Endovascular treatment is commonly performed for neurovascular pathologies such as vein of Galen malformation (VOGM) or AVMs in children. Cerebral oxygen monitoring helps detect peri-procedural complications and predicts the success of the neurointervention [67]. Post-procedural recovery and management are crucial in preventing complications in these children. This is especially true after embolization of VoGM where high-output congestive cardiac failure and pulmonary hypertension may require close monitoring and management in pediatric neuro-ICU. Post-embolization complications are high (38%) and include seizures, thrombosis, infarction, hydrocephalus, cerebral hyperperfusion with consequent hemorrhage and edema, and cardiac failure [68]. BP control with antihypertensive drugs, sedation and reduction in pulmonary vascular resistance with morphine, and careful fluid and temperature management should be considered in the post-procedural period [69].

37.10.12 Neurosurgery in Children with Syndromic Associations

Children with neurosurgical pathologies are likely to be associated with syndromes, making their perioperative management, including recovery from anesthesia, challenging. Children with Down's syndrome undergo neurosurgical interventions for atlanto-axial instability, MMD, stroke, and seizure disorders. These children can pose problems during recovery and in the postoperative period due to interplay between anesthesia, neurosurgical pathology, intracranial surgery, and inherent multisystem involvement [70]. Pediatric patients with Marfan's syndrome may require neurosurgical intervention for the management of cerebrospinal leak or sacral meningocele. Monitoring for adverse respiratory and cardiac events is needed in the postoperative period [71]. Children with Crouzon's and Apert's syndrome who present for surgery for craniosynostosis correction often have associated cardiac and airway anomalies and require special attention during recovery and postoperative phase [72, 73]. Multisystem involvement, significant blood loss, and airway difficulty are common in children with Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome [74]. These factors should be considered during perioperative care and recovery from anesthesia.

37.11 Discharge from PACU

Specific criteria for discharge of children from PACU after neurosurgery are unavailable. A period of 30 min of observation in the PACU allows reasonable time for assessment and stabilization of physiological parameters and is desirable after extubation. Stable cardio-respiratory parameters, return of protective airway reflexes, recovery of consciousness to preoperative levels, control of pain and PONV, and absence of active surgical bleeding are essential before children are discharged to the ward. Parental presence in the PACU may be encouraged to reduce crying and negative behavior [75, 76].

37.12 Conclusion

Recovery from anesthesia and postoperative management requires special considerations in children undergoing neurosurgery. Preoperative preparation and intraoperative management also affect recovery. After anesthesia, good recovery entails planning, preparation, and performance of safe and swift extubation as soon as possible. While early and smooth recovery is the norm in pediatric neurosurgical patients, planned delayed extubation and recovery may be desirable in certain situations. Both neurosurgical and pediatric considerations determine postoperative care after neurosurgery in children.

References

- Bruder N, Ravussin P. Recovery from anesthesia and postoperative extubation of neurosurgical patients: a review. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1999;11(4):282–93.
- Hagan KB, Bhavsar S, Raza SM, et al. Enhanced recovery after surgery for oncological craniotomies. J Clin Neurosci. 2016;24:10–6.
- Kain ZN, Mayes LC, Wang SM, Hofstadter MB. Postoperative behavioral outcomes in children: effects of sedative premedication. Anesthesiology. 1999;90(3):758–65.
- Ayrian E, Kaye AD, Varner CL, et al. Effects of anesthetic management on early postoperative recovery, hemodynamics and pain after supratentorial craniotomy. J Clin Med Res. 2015;7(10):731–41.
- Singh D, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Sevoflurane provides better recovery as compared with isoflurane in children undergoing spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21(3):202–6.
- Gupta P, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Bithal PK. Comparison between sevoflurane and desflurane on emergence and recovery characteristics of children undergoing surgery for spinal dysraphism. Indian J Anaesth. 2015;59(8):482–7.
- Gupta N, Rath GP, Prabhakar H, Dash HH. Effect of intraoperative dexmedetomidine on postoperative recovery profile of children undergoing surgery for spinal dysraphism. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013;25(3):271–8.
- Quan LX, An HX, Wang DX. Impact of dexmedetomidine-sevoflurane anesthesia on intraoperative wake-up test in children patients undergoing scoliosis surgery. Beijing Da Xue Xue Bao. 2016;48(5):855–9.
- Ghoneim AA, Azer MS, Ghobrial HZ, El Beltagy MA. Awakening properties of isoflurane, sevoflurane,

and desflurane in pediatric patients after craniotomy for supratentorial tumours. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(1):1–6.

- Sheshadri V, Chandramouli BA. Pediatric awake craniotomy for seizure focus resection with dexmedetomidine sedation-a case report. J Clin Anesth. 2016;32:199–202.
- Hippard HK, Watcha M, Stocco AJ, Curry D. Preservation of microelectrode recordings with non-GABAergic drugs during deep brain stimulator placement in children. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;14(3):279–86.
- Ard J, Doyle W, Bekker A. Awake craniotomy with dexmedetomidine in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2003;15(3):263–6.
- Fahy CJ, Okumura M. Sedation for paediatric stereotactic radiosurgery: the dexmedetomidine experience. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2004;32(6):809–11.
- Baijal RG, Bidani SA, Minard CG, Watcha MF. Perioperative respiratory complications following awake and deep extubation in children undergoing adenotonsillectomy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25(4):392–9.
- Gabel BC, Martin J, Crawford JR, Levy M. Questioning the need for ICU level of care in pediatric patients following elective uncomplicated craniotomy for brain tumors. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;17(5):564–8.
- Sinclair RCF, Faleiro RJ. Delayed recovery of consciousness after anaesthesia. Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain. 2006;6(3):114–8.
- Vimala S, Reddy MK, Rao UG. Non-awakening from anesthesia following posterior fossa surgery due to skull pin-induced tension pneumocephalus. Neurol India. 2011;59(4):641–2.
- Byrappa V, Kamath S, Venkataramaiah S. Misinterpretation of minimum alveolar concentration: importance of entering demographic variable. Indian J Anaesth. 2014;58(4):504–5.
- Kararmaz A, Kaya S, Turhanoglu S, Ozyilmaz MA. Oral ketamine premedication can prevent emergence agitation in children after desflurane anaesthesia. Pediatr Anesth. 2004;14:477–82.
- Sikich N, Lerman J. Development and psychometric evaluation of the post anesthesia emergence delirium scale. Anesthesiology. 2004;100:1138–45.
- Reduque LL, Verghese ST. Paediatric emergence delirium. Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain. 2013;13(2):39–41.
- Sinha PK, Neema PK, Rathod RC. Anesthesia and intracranial arteriovenous malformation. Neurol India. 2004;52:163–70.
- Nandi R, Redhu S, Patir R, Dash HH. Sudden and persistent bradycardia: An unexpected indicator of pin-site extradural hematoma in a pediatric patient. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2018;5(3):187–9.
- Guedes, et al. Delayed trigemino-cardiac reflex after maxillofacial surgery: case report. Rev Brasil Anestesiol. 2019;69(3):315–8.

- Orliaguet GA, Gall O, Savoldelli GL, Couloigner V. Case scenario: perianesthetic management of laryngospasm in children. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:458–71.
- 26. Festa R, Tosi F, Pusateri A, et al. The scalp block for postoperative pain control in craniosynostosis surgery: a case control study. Child's Nerv Syst. 2020;36:3063–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00381-020-04661-z.
- Goyal A, Kamath S, Kalgudi P, Krishnakumar M. Perioperative analgesia with erector spinae plane block for cervical spine instrumentation surgery. Saudi J Anaesth. 2020;14:263–4.
- Xing F, An LX, Xue FS, Zhao CM, Bai YF. Postoperative analgesia for pediatric craniotomy patients: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Anesthesiol. 2019;19(1):53.
- Darmawikarta D, Sourour M, Couban R, Kamath S, Reddy KK, Shanthanna H. Opioid-free analgesia for supratentorial craniotomies: a systematic review. Can J Neurol Sci. 2019;46(4):415–22.
- Subramaniam K, Pandia MP, Dash M, et al. Scheduled prophylactic ondansetron administration did not improve its antiemetic efficacy after intracranial tumour resection surgery in children. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2007;24(7):615–9.
- Furst SR, Sullivan LJ, Soriano SG, McDermott JS, Adelson PD, Rockoff MA. Effects of ondansetron on emesis in the first 24 hours after craniotomy in children. Anesth Analg. 1996;83:325–8.
- Neufeld SM, Newburn-Cook CV, Schopflocher D, Dundon B, Yu H, Drummond JE. Children's vomiting following posterior fossa surgery: a retrospective study. BMC Nurs. 2009;8:7.
- 33. Jangra K, Kumari K, Panda NB, Samagh N, Luthra A. Postoperative nausea and vomiting in neurosurgical patients: current concepts and management. Neurol India. 2018;66:1117–23.
- RP S, Kamath S, Srinivas D, Venkataramaiah S. Fatal intestinal perforation in a paediatric neurosurgical patient. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2019;6:43–4.
- 35. Mutchnick I, Thatikunta M, Braun J, et al. Protocoldriven prevention of perioperative hypothermia in the pediatric neurosurgical population [published online ahead of print 2020 Feb 14]. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2020;25(5):548–54.
- Akin A, Esmaoglu A, Boyac A. Postoperative shivering in children and causative factors. Pediatr Anesth. 2005;15:1089–93.
- Hardesty DA, Sanborn MR, Parker WE, Storm PB. Perioperative seizure incidence and risk factors in 223 pediatric brain tumor patients without prior seizures. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2011;7(6):609–15.
- Massimi L, Battaglia D, Bianchi F, Peraio S, Peppucci E, Di Rocco C. Postoperative epileptic seizures in children: is the brain incision a risk factor? Neurosurgery. 2018;82(4):465–72.
- Palaniswamy SR, Beniwal M, Venkataramaiah S, Srinivas D. Perioperative management of pediatric

giant supratentorial tumors: challenges and management strategies. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2019;14:211–7.

- Reddy M, Sriganesh K, Bhadrinarayan V, Raghavendra B. Unusual manifestation of blood transfusion reaction as diffuse operative site oozing, hypotension and brain swelling. J Anaesth Clin Pharmacol. 2011;27(1):130–1.
- 41. Turgut M. Cerebellar mutism. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;1(3):262.
- 42. Aguiar PH, Plese JP, Ciquini O, Marino R. Transient mutism following a posterior fossa approach to cerebellar tumors in children: a critical review of the literature. Childs Nerv Syst. 1995;11(5):306–10.
- 43. Cheng JS, Ivan ME, Stapleton CJ, Quinones-Hinojosa A, Gupta N, Auguste KI. Intraoperative changes in transcranial motor evoked potentials and somatosensory evoked potentials predicting outcome in children with intramedullary spinal cord tumors. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;13(6):591–9.
- 44. Goethe EA, Gadgil N, Stormes K, Wassef A, LoPresti M, Lam S. Predicting dysphagia in children undergoing surgery for posterior fossa tumors. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36(5):925–31.
- 45. Rath GP, Bithal PK, Chaturvedi A, Dash HH. Complications related to positioning in posterior fossa craniectomy. J Clin Neurosci. 2007;14:520–5.
- Moningi S. Anaesthetic management of children with craniopharyngioma. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2017;4:S30–7.
- 47. Ghiarardello S, Hopper N, Albanese A, Maghnie M. Diabetes insipidus in craniopharyngioma: post-operative management of water and electrolyte disorders. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2006;19(Suppl 1):413–21.
- Cohen M, Bartels U, Branson H, Kulkarni AV, Hamilton J. Trends in treatment and outcomes of pediatric craniopharyngioma, 1975–2011. Neuro-Oncology. 2013;15:767–74.
- Greiner HM, Horn PS, Arya R, et al. Acute postoperative seizures and long-term outcome following pediatric epilepsy surgery. Seizure. 2014;23(6):483–6.
- Sriganesh K, Sabeena B, Reddy M. Apnea during awake epilepsy surgery: an unusual cause for a rare complication. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(1):75–6.
- Korepu P, Sriganesh K, Vinay B. Hyperpyrexia following hemispherotomy and role of unconventional therapy. J Neuroanaesthesiol Crit Care. 2014;1:210–1.
- Sriganesh K, Manikandan S. Anesthetic management of a child with severe dystonia and G6PD deficiency for deep brain stimulation. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(3):271–2.
- 53. Muraoka S, Araki Y, Kondo G, et al. Postoperative cerebral infarction risk factors and postoperative management of pediatric patients with Moyamoya disease. World Neurosurg. 2018;113:e190–9.
- 54. Jagdevan S, Sriganesh K, Pandey P, Reddy M, Umamaheswara Rao GS. Anesthetic factors and outcome in children undergoing indirect revascular-

ization procedure for Moya Moya disease: an Indian perspective. Neurol India. 2015;63(5):702–6.

- 55. Honjo K, Osato T, Omori S, et al. Preventing crying after revascularization surgery in pediatric patients with Moyamoya disease: sedation with dexmedetomidine. No Shinkei Geka. 2019;47(5):525–30.
- Chakrabarti D, Byrappa V, Kamath S. Acute changes in the cerebral oximetry during intraoperative seizures: a NIRS based observation. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(3):269–70.
- Pearson A, Matava CT. Anaesthetic management for craniosynostosis repair in children. BJA Education. 2016;16(12):410–6.
- 58. Rath GP, Bithal PK, Guleria R, et al. A comparative study between preoperative and postoperative pulmonary functions and diaphragmatic movements in congenital craniovertebral junction anomalies. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2006;18:256–61.
- Weiss HR, Goodall D. Rate of complications in scoliosis surgery - a systematic review of the Pub Med literature. Scoliosis. 2008;3:9.
- Kulkarni AH, Ambareesha M. Scoliosis and anaesthetic considerations. Indian J Anaesth. 2007;51:486–95.
- Rao GS, Kamath S. Of water bags and wind pipes: the travails of securing airway in occipital encephalocoele. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2011;2:117–8.
- Jung TY, Chong S, Kim IY, et al. Prevention of complications in endoscopic third ventriculostomy. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2017;60(3):282–8.
- 63. Vimala S, Krishnakumar M, Goyal A, Sriganesh K, Rao GSU. Perioperative complications and clinical outcomes in patients with congenital cyanotic heart disease undergoing surgery for brain abscess. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2020;11(3):375. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0040-1709260.
- 64. Srinivasaiah B, Theerth KA, Sriganesh K. Oxygen desaturation during drainage of brain abscess in prone position in a child with Eisenmenger syndrome. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2016;28(4):433–4.
- 65. Sriganesh K, Saini J, Theerth K, Venkataramaiah S. Airway dimensions in children with neurological disabilities during dexmedetomidine and propofol sedation for magnetic resonance imaging study. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2018;46(3):214–21.
- 66. Sriganesh K, Byrappa V, Sritam J, Sudhir V, Saini J, Umamaheswara RG. Anesthetic management of patients with Joubert syndrome: a retrospective analysis of a single institutional case series. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24(11):1180–4.
- Sriganesh K, Vinay B, Arvinda HR. Near-infrared spectroscopy changes during embolization of a vein of Galen malformation. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(3):267–8.
- Hrishi AP, Lionel KR. Periprocedural management of vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation patients: an 11-year experience. Anesth Essays Res. 2017;11:630–5.
- 69. Chevret L, Durand P, Alvarez H, et al. Severe cardiac failure in newborns with VGAM. Prognosis

significance of hemodynamic parameters in neonates presenting with severe heart failure owing to vein of Galen arteriovenous malformation. Intensive Care Med. 2002;28:1126–30.

- Hwang SW, Jea A. A review of the neurological and neurosurgical implications of Down syndrome in children. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2013;52(9):845–56.
- Cheuret E, Edouard T, Mejdoubi M, et al. Intracranial hypotension in a girl with Marfan syndrome: case report and review of the literature. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(4):509–13.
- 72. Cinalli G, Renier D, Sebag G, Sainte-Rose C, Arnaud E, Pierre-Kahn A. Chronic tonsillar herniation in Crouzon's and Apert's syndromes: the role of prema-

ture synostosis of the lambdoid suture. J Neurosurg. 1995;83(4):575–82.

- Ko JM. Genetic syndromes associated with craniosynostosis. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2016;59(3):187–91.
- 74. Sangeetha RP, Baskar N, Kamath S, Dixit P. Craniotomy in Klippel-Trenaunay syndrome: concerns and challenges. Indian J Anaesth. 2019;63:1033–5.
- Fina DK, Lopas LJ, Stagnone JH, Santucci PR. Parent participation in the postanesthesia care unit: fourteen years of progress at one hospital. J Perianesth Nurs. 1997;12:152–62.
- Diniaco MJ, Ingoldsby BB. Parental presence in the recovery room. AORN J. 1983;38:685–93.



Postoperative Pain Management of Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients

38

Motaz Awad, Suryakumar Narayanasamy, and Vidya Chidambaran

Key Points

- Pain after neurosurgery usually results from skin incision and meningeal irritation after craniotomies and muscle dissection and cerebrospinal fluid loss after posterior cervical and spine surgeries.
- Balanced multimodal strategies including opioids, non-opioid adjuncts such as muscle relaxants, and opioid-sparing medications such as acetaminophen and nonpharmacological approaches need to be accounted for individual variability and surgery specific requirements.
- Monitoring, especially for sedation and respiratory depression, is important when using opioids through patient or proxy-controlled analgesia as it can confound neurological assessments.
- Physicians should pay attention to the development of persistent post-craniotomy pain, which has a reported incidence of 23–80% after posterior fossa procedures.

• Future studies are needed to optimize pediatric-specific dosing regimens for tailored safe and effective postoperative analgesia to minimize the use of opioids wherever possible.

38.1 Introduction

Healthcare providers commonly underestimate pain after pediatric neurosurgery [1, 2]. The notion that the brain parenchyma lacks nociception shaped the impression that postcraniotomy pain was minimal [3]. In particular, young children are thought not to experience or recall noxious stimuli to the same extent as adults do [4]. Furthermore, pain assessment in children who are unable to communicate appropriately can be difficult, especially for providers not experienced in pediatric care. In addition, out of concern for the risks associated with analgesics after neurosurgery, providers tend to avoid pursuing therapies. The administration of opioids and other drugs with side effects, including sedation, vomiting, and miosis, can confound the postoperative neurologic exam. Hypercapnia resulting from respiratory depression can worsen intracranial pressure [5]. Finally, NSAIDs have generally been avoided due to platelet dysfunction consequences and increased intracranial bleeding [6].

M. Awad · S. Narayanasamy (⊠) · V. Chidambaran Department of Anesthesia, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center and University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: Suryakumar.Narayanasamy@cchmc.org; Vidya.Chidambaran@cchmc.org

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_38

However, recent evidence suggests a significant incidence of severe pain and inadequate pain relief after neurosurgery [1, 2, 7]. Poorly managed postoperative pain, in general, is associated with adverse outcomes [5]. Several well-recognized hospitals now routinely incorporate multimodal therapy when managing pain after pediatric neurosurgery, safely achieving low postoperative pain scores [8].

Consequently, the perception and management of pediatric postoperative neurosurgical pain are changing. This chapter reviews the current understanding of pain after pediatric neurosurgery and pharmacologic and non-pharmacologic therapies. It also discusses the approach to pain assessment in children to help guide providers who do not routinely care for children.

38.2 Pain Pathophysiology in Neurosurgery

Multiple nerves innervate the scalp (Fig. 38.1). The ophthalmic division of the trigeminal nerve innervates the forehead and anterior scalp. Its maxillary and mandibular divisions innervate the skin anterior to the ear. The greater occipital nerve mediates sensation to the posterior scalp, vertex, and skin over the ear. The lesser occipital nerve innervates the dermatome posterior to the ear. Finally, it is thought that the third occipital nerve may provide sensation to the posterior aspect of the scalp [9, 10].

The supratentorial dura mater receives branches from each of the three divisions of the trigeminal nerve. Innervation of the infratentorial



Fig. 38.1 Innervation of the scalp. Source: NYSORA.com

| Behavior | 0 | 1 | 2 |
|---------------|----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| Face | No particular expression or smile | Occasional grimace or frown, withdrawn, disinterested | Frequent to constant quivering chin, clenched jaw |
| Legs | Normal position or relaxed | Uneasy, restless, tense | Kicking or legs drawn up |
| Activity | Lying quietly, normal position, moves easily | Squirming, shifting, back and forth, tense | Arched, rigid, or jerking |
| Cry | No cry (awake or asleep) | Moans or whimpers; occasional complaint | Crying steadily, screams, sobs, frequent complaints |
| Consolability | Content, relaxed | Reassured by touching, hugging, or being talked to, distractible | Difficult to console or comfort |

Table 38.1 FLACC pain scale [16]

dura mater involves contributions from the hypoglossal nerve, vagus nerve, and first three cervical nerves [11]. When the intracranial dura mater is stimulated, pain is induced and referred to as the ophthalmic and mandibular division territories. Stimulation of the pia mater was recently shown to produce referred pain in the ophthalmic division [3].

Surgical trauma to overlying soft tissue and peri-cranial muscles accounts for a significant amount of pain. Suboccipital and subtemporal craniotomies involve resecting posterior cervical, occipitalis, and temporalis muscles, resulting in higher incidence of muscle spasm than other approaches [9]. Meningeal irritation from bone dust can also contribute to post-craniotomy pain [5]. Finally, cerebrospinal fluid leakage can lead to loss of cushioning effect on the brain parenchyma and stretching of the meninges and cranial nerves resulting in headaches [12]. A pounding or pulsating sensation, similar to that of tension headaches, is a common finding in postcraniotomy pain [13]. The headache is often felt superficial, suggesting a somatic origin, likely caused by surgical trauma to overlying soft tissue and peri-cranial muscle [1].

After spinal surgery, sources of pain may include the vertebrae and intervertebral disks, nerve roots and dura, and ligaments and muscles. These structures are innervated by the dorsal rami of spinal nerves. Pain may be due to mechanical irritation, compression, inflammation, neuropathic, or muscle spasms. The severity of postoperative pain correlates with the degree of surgical dissection [14].

38.3 Pain Assessment in Children

Children may be unable to self-report pain if they are too young, too distressed, or developmentally delayed with cognitive and communicative deficits. Assessment of postoperative pain requires observation of a child's behavior or the use of pictorial scales. For assessing postoperative pain in the hospital in children and adolescents aged 3-18 years, the Face, Legs, Arms, Cry, Consolability (FLACC) scale is recommended (Table 38.1) [15, 16]. The scale is widely used in children aged 2 months to 18 years. However, it has been consistently shown that unlike parents, healthcare professionals frequently underestimate pain in children and pain scores are lower in developmentally delayed children [17]. Additionally, for postoperative pain at home, the Parents' Postoperative Pain Measure (PPPM) is recommended due to high reliability and consistency. Fifteen items are scored 0 or 1, and it has a low burden [15]. For older and normally developed children (7-17 years), the Numerical Rating Scale (NRS) for pain intensity is an appropriate and validated pain indicator [18].

38.4 Multimodal Analgesia After Neurosurgery/Spine Surgery

Multimodal analgesia involves utilizing various medications, techniques, and non-pharmacologic therapies that differ in their sites and mechanisms throughout the nervous system. Multimodal therapy results in additive or synergistic effects, providing more effective pain relief than single-modality interventions [19]. Multimodal analgesia can potentially minimize adverse events by reducing opioid requirements as well [20, 21]. Clinicians should offer multimodal analgesia for managing postoperative pain in children and adults. Providers must recognize that multiple potential combinations are possible and appropriate, considering the surgical procedure, patient preference, and individual factors [19]. With the recent emphasis on opioid minimization and enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) protocols, especially for spine surgeries, multimodal analgesia (MMA) regimens are popular [22, 23] and cost-effective [24, 25]. It is imperative to understand the indications, risks, and benefits of the different components of MMA regimens to further create new evidence-based protocols.

It is important to appreciate that opioids still have the primary role in postoperative analgesia. Their use will be discussed first, followed by the different components of MMA.

38.4.1 Opioids

Opioids, in general, act mainly on the mu-receptors to mediate analgesia. However, each opioid acts at multiple opioid receptors with different affinities, yielding different clinical effects [26]. Opioids that are commonly administered in the immediate perioperative period include intravenous (IV) fentanyl, hydromorphone, and morphine. These are given either as-needed (pro re nata [PRN]) or through patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) device, and it remains unclear if either method is safer or more effective than the other [4]. Despite using different opioid delivery methods among major institutions such as PRN, PCA, or nurse-controlled analgesia (NCA), the same degree of pain relief and parental satisfaction can be achieved [8]. The doses commonly administered are outlined in Table 38.2.

38.4.2 Patient-Controlled Analgesia

Patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) provides a mechanism for self-titrating the opioids providing superior pain control and patient satisfaction [27]. PCA offers superior pain control and improved patient satisfaction for patients undergoing complex spine surgeries, posterior fossa surgeries, and supratentorial intracranial surgeries without any increase in opioid-related

| Drugs | Oral | Intravenous |
|-----------------|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|
| Oxycodone | 0.1 mg/kg Q3-4 h | N/A |
| Morphine | 0.3 mg/kg Q4–6 h | 0.1 mg/kg Q2 h |
| Hydromorphone | 0.05 mg/kg Q4-6 h | 5–10 μg/kg Q4–6 h |
| Fentanyl | N/A | 1–2 µg/kg |
| Methadone | 0.1–0.2 mg/kg Q12–24 h | 0.1 mg/kg Q12–24 h |
| Acetaminophen | 10-15 mg/kg Q6-8 h, max dose 75 mg/ | 10-15 mg/kg Q6-8 h, max dose 75 mg/kg |
| | kg | |
| Ketorolac | N/A | 0.5 mg/kg (max dose 15 mg) Q6–8 h |
| Dexamethasone | | 0.1–1 mg/kg Q6–8 h |
| Diazepam | 0.05–0.1 mg/kg Q4–6 h (max 5 mg/ | 0.05–0.1 mg/kg Q4–6 h (max 5 mg/dose) |
| | dose) | |
| Methocarbamol | 15 mg/kg Q8 h | 15 mg/kg Q8 h |
| Baclofen | 2.5–5 mg Q6–8 h | |
| Gabapentin | 3–5 mg/kg Q8 h | N/A |
| Dexmedetomidine | N/A | 0.5-2 µg/kg bolus: $0.2-0.7$ µg/kg infusion |

Table 38.2 Commonly used analgesic drugs and dosage intervals [43, 65]

| Patient-controlled | analgesia | (PCA) | dosing | guidelines |
|--------------------|-----------|-------|--------|------------|
| | | | | |

| | PCA dose | Lockout time interval | Continuous | Breakthrough pain |
|---------------|------------|----------------------------------|----------------|-------------------|
| Drug | | | infusion rate | loading dose |
| Morphine | 20 µg/kg | 7 min for patient-controlled and | 0–20 µg/kg/h | 50 μg/kg q4–6 h |
| Hydromorphone | 4–5 µg/kg | 10–15 min for parent/nurse | 0–3 µg/kg/h | 10 μg/kg q4–6 h |
| Fentanyl | 0.25 µg/kg | controlled PCA | 0–0.15 µg/kg/h | 0.5–1 µg/kg/h |

| Drug | Indication | Route | Dose |
|-----------------|------------------------------------------------|-------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Ondansetron | Nausea/emesis | IV/PO | 0.15 mg/kg |
| Diphenhydramine | Itching/nausea | IV/PO | 0.5–1 mg/kg |
| Hydroxyzine | Itching | РО | 0.25–0.5 mg/kg (oral) |
| Nalbuphine | Itching/urinary retention | IV | 0.01–0.02 mg/kg every 4 h |
| Naloxone [34] | Over-sedation, itching, respiratory depression | IV/IM | 1–2 μg/kg (for over-sedation); 10–20 μg/kg (for life-threatening respiratory depression); 0.25 μg/kg/h IV infusion (itching) |

Table 38.3 Treatment of opioid side effects [4]

adverse events [28, 29]. Developmentally normal 6-7-year-old children will be able to associate pain relief with pressing a button when explained. In children, less than 6 years of age or with developmental delay, either nurse-controlled analgesia (NCA) or nurse plus parent-controlled analgesia (NCA + P) with longer bolus intervals can be utilized as an alternative to PRN bolus regimens. Basic PCA setup with drugs and dosages are described in Table 38.2. Typically, morphine PCA is utilized at the rate of 0.01–0.03 mg/kg intermittent boluses at the interval of 7–10 min. For NCA, the interval limit should be set at longer intervals of 10–15 min. The alternatives to morphine include hydromorphone, fentanyl, and butorphanol if contraindication or side effects for morphine exist.

When a child can tolerate oral medications, oxycodone is commonly prescribed. Unlike codeine, oxycodone is not a prodrug and, therefore, not subject to variable morphine production due to CYP450 2D6 (CYP2D6) isoenzyme inter-patient variability [30]. Weightbased doses and dosing intervals for a selection of opioids are mentioned in Table 38.2.

Common side effects of opioids include constipation, itching, nausea, and vomiting, some of which can be especially distressing in children. Adverse effects of opioid analgesia include sedation and respiratory depression. These clinical signs may be mistaken for or contribute to increased intracranial pressure, respectively, during the postoperative period [31]. While the incidence of opioid-related adverse events in hospitalized children is low (0.11–0.41%), these risks must be recognized as they can increase postoperative morbidity [32]. Risk factors in hospitalized children include the age of less than 1 year, both obesity and being underweight, and a history of obstructive sleep apnea, prematurity, and developmental delay [33]. Exercising caution with opioid administration is highly stressed in an attempt to minimize complications. Titration to the individual response after opioid administration is essential due to variable pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacogenomic factors [32]. The dosing of agents prescribed to treat opioid side effects is described in Table 38.3. One must be cognizant of the sedating effects of diphenhydramine and hydroxyzine [4]. Nalbuphine, an opioid agonist-antagonist, can be used for pruritus while also providing a degree of pain relief. However, its ceiling analgesic effect makes its use for pain relief difficult for moderate to severe pain [30]. Naloxone is a competitive opioid antagonist used mainly to reverse opioidinduced respiratory depression or sedation [34].

The types of opioids used intraoperatively can impact postoperative pain. Remifentanil is a frequently used opioid during spine surgery as it does not interfere with neuromonitoring and its short duration of action [35]. However, it may increase postoperative opioid requirements due to acute opioid tolerance in surgeries such as pediatric scoliosis surgery, where analgesic requirements generally exceed those for other procedures [36]. Methadone is a mu-opioid agonist and an N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist [37]. It reduces pain scores and opioid consumption after major spine surgery. In children undergoing spine surgery, 0.25 mg/kg methadone IV before surgical incision followed by 0.1-0.15 mg/kg/h for 4 h was deemed to ensure adequate plasma concentrations [38].

38.4.3 Acetaminophen

Acetaminophen is a ubiquitous non-opioid analgesic in pediatric practice. Its central analgesic effect is mediated through the activation of descending serotonergic pathways [39]. Proposed primary mechanisms of action include COX-3 enzyme inhibition and acting as a cannabinoid agonist and NMDA antagonist in the spinal cord [40]. It has demonstrated opioid-sparing potential across numerous studies [41]. Oral, IV, and available rectal formulations are [42]. Acetaminophen has an excellent safety profile. Weight-based dosing is adjusted for the child's age to minimize hepatic toxicity. Regardless of the route of delivery, the maximum daily dosing is 75 mg/kg [43].

Regarding the route of delivery, the IV form is associated with higher Cmax concentrations and better analgesia than the oral form [44]. In adolescents undergoing spine surgery, IV acetaminophen decreases postoperative opioid consumption and, with fewer opioid-related side effects, improves oral intake. It may reduce the duration of hospital stays. Rectal bioavailability tends to be relatively low and variable [45].

38.4.4 Non-steroidal Antiinflammatory Drugs

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) mediate analgesia through COX-2 inhibition [46]. While their use demonstrates an opioidsparing effect and decreases PONV during the postoperative period in children [47], the literature on NSAID use after pediatric intracranial surgery is sparse. A meta-analysis demonstrated reduced postoperative pain up to 24 h after brain surgery in adults when using NSAIDs [48]. However, NSAIDs have been avoided after intracranial surgery due to COX-1 enzyme-mediated platelet dysfunction [49]. Even small amounts of bleeding can cause mass effect and compression in specific neurosurgical procedures [4]. Of the NSAIDs commonly used, ibuprofen has demonstrated minimal effect on platelet function and has been advocated for use after neurosurgery in children [6, 50].

The use of COX-2 selective inhibitors, devoid of antiplatelet effects, and risk of postoperative bleeding have been suggested [5]. While parecoxib administration has reduced opioid consumption after tonsillectomy in children, the literature lacks studies focusing on pediatric neurosurgery [51]. Furthermore, parecoxib administration at dural closure after craniotomy in adults failed to show a clinical benefit [52]. Finally, NSAIDs have decreased postoperative opioid consumption in posterior spine fusion surgery without demonstrating increased bleeding [35]. Thus, it appears that short-term exposure to NSAIDs, including lowdose ketorolac (<110 mg/day), is not associated with an increased incidence of nonunion after spinal fusion [53]. The conventional use of ketorolac 0.5 mg/kg/dose IV every 6 h for a total of six doses was shown to reduce pain scores and morphine consumption and improve activity on postoperative days 1 and 2 after spine fusion [54].

38.4.5 Antidepressants

Antidepressants may provide postoperative analgesia in neurosurgery by relieving neuropathic pain. This includes the tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), and serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs). Examples of drugs used include amitriptyline, venlafaxine, and duloxetine. In addition to neuropathic pain, treating any concomitant depression can improve patients' perception of pain [55]. The evidence for the use of an antidepressant in postoperative pain is limited [56]. High-quality studies need to be conducted to assess their clinical efficacy definitively.

Furthermore, antidepressants can have multiple adverse effects. SSRIs are associated with increased perioperative bleeding [57]. Starting postoperative amitriptyline can cause increased sedation. Finally, many of the antidepressants are known to cause serotonin syndrome [30].

38.4.6 Gabapentinoids

Gabapentin and pregabalin are the most common gabapentinoids used in pain management. Both

bind to presynaptic voltage-gated calcium channels, leading to decreased calcium influx and ultimately inhibit the neurotransmitter release [5]. They have been used to treat complex regional pain syndrome, diabetic neuropathy, and postherpetic neuralgia [58]. Many studies in adults demonstrate reduced postoperative pain with perioperative gabapentin [5]. Preoperative gabapentin can decrease postoperative opioid consumption in adolescents, but pediatric studies are few in neurosurgery [4]. These drugs can contribute to increased postoperative sedation. Studies in children undergoing spine fusion show a positive impact [59–61]; however, a metaanalysis in adults did not support the use of preoperative gabapentinoids [62]. Pregabalin's impact on postoperative pediatric pain remains unclear, with studies showing conflicting results on postoperative pain or opioid consumption after scoliosis surgery in adolescents [63, 64]. When used, gabapentin is started preoperatively and given for 5 days as 10-15 mg/kg per day divided every 8 h for children [65].

38.4.7 Muscle Relaxants

There are many muscle relaxants with different mechanisms of action. Commonly used benzodiazepines include lorazepam and diazepam. Non-benzodiazepine muscle relaxants cyclobenzaprine, and include baclofen, methocarbamol. Muscle relaxants may help alleviate muscle spasms related to manipulating the peri-cranial muscles and may be the mainstay of analgesia after posterior fossa decompression and occipital craniotomies. However, sedation is a potential side effect. Optimal dosing for these drugs has not been investigated [4].

38.4.8 Alpha-2 Agonists

Commonly used alpha-2 agonists in pain management are clonidine, tizanidine, and dexmedetomidine. Alpha-2 receptors can be found in the central nervous system, including the dorsal horn and the locus ceruleus. Alpha-2 receptor activation leads to reduced neural firing by decreasing calcium influx and reduced norepinephrine release. Less activity in the ascending noradrenergic pathways and reduced substance P formation in the spinal cord result in sedation and analgesia. Because these drugs bind to alpha-1 receptors, bradycardia and hypotension may develop [66].

Clonidine improves postoperative pain in children when given before surgery at a dose of $4 \mu g/$ kg per os (PO) [67]. Tizanidine has a shorter duration of action and lesser hemodynamic changes [66]. Research into tizanidine's utility in pediatric postoperative pain is lacking. Dexmedetomidine is highly selective for alpha-2 receptors. Both intraoperative boluses (0.3-2.0 µg/kg) and infusions (0.2–0.7 µg/kg/h) reduce emergence delirium, PONV, and, after certain outpatient surgeries, postoperative opioid consumption [65]. In neurosurgery patients in the perioperative setting, it also demonstrated reduced pain scores and perioperative opioid consumption [68]. With any alpha-2 agonist, postoperative sedation can be a possible side effect.

38.4.9 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids inhibit the synthesis and release of proinflammatory mediators. Corticosteroids have been shown to reduce postoperative pain and opioid consumption, as well as reduce PONV and hospitalization [4, 69]. Single intraoperative administration of dexamethasone ranging from 0.15 to 1.0 mg/kg has been shown to reduce postoperative pain in children undergoing tonsillectomy [70]. Further studies are needed to determine the optimal dosing for postoperative relief. For the antiemetic effect, pain dexamethasone is given at 0.1 mg/kg doses in children [43]. From a surgical perspective, it reduces intracranial edema after neurosurgery. It is routinely given after intracranial surgery and may help reduce postoperative pain as well [4].

38.4.10 NMDA Antagonists

The N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors play a role in mediating windup, tolerance, and opioid-induced hyperalgesia [71]. NMDA receptor antagonists reduce opioid tolerance and reduce central hypersensitivity [5, 71]. Methadone, in particular, offers long-lasting analgesia even after a single dose and reduces postoperative opioid consumption and pain scores in comparison to other opioids [72]. As methadone can increase the QT interval, a screening electrocardiogram before administration is recommended to evaluate the interval. Regular electrocardiograms must be performed if treatment is continued postoperatively. The recommended pediatric methadone dose is 0.1 mg/kg [43].

Ketamine has multiple binding sites, but the NMDA receptor is the primary site of action. Its psychotropic effects preclude its use in intracranial surgery. Furthermore, several studies investigating perioperative ketamine infusions in children for spine fusion failed to demonstrate an opioid-sparing effect [73, 74]. However, scientific societies on pain in the United States have established guidelines for perioperative use of ketamine and recommend a low-dose IV ketamine bolus with a maximum dose of 0.35 mg/kg followed by a subanesthetic infusion of 0.15 to 1 mg/kg/h titrated to the lowest effective dose [75].

38.4.11 Non-pharmacologic Therapy

There are numerous non-pharmacologic therapies aimed to reduce acute postoperative pain. Behavioral interventions commonly include distraction, play, cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), and active relaxation training. Nonbehavioral interventions include acupuncture, massage, and music therapies [76].

Many studies show reduced postoperative pediatric pain scores from non-pharmacological therapy [77], likely through the release of endorphins. Acupuncture therapy has even demonstrated therapeutic benefit in infants. Furthermore, when a pilot pediatric inpatient acupuncture program was incorporated into managing various painful conditions, both chronic and acute, it was met with positive feedback and high demand from patients and families, suggesting an appropriate use for pediatric pain [78].

CBT adheres to the principle that thoughts, emotions, and behaviors are intimately connected and that one's perception has a significant impact on behavioral, physiological, and emotional responses. CBT has an established role in managing chronic pain in children and adolescents [79]. Overall, more studies on behavioral therapies and acute postoperative pediatric pain, including neurosurgical patients, are needed.

38.4.12 Nerve Blocks

Utilizing regional anesthetic techniques in children when applicable is strongly encouraged as a component of multimodal analgesia to reduce postoperative opioid requirements [19]. Local anesthetics reversibly block the conduction of neural impulses by acting on sodium channels and preventing the passage of ions and, subsequently, the generation of the action potential [4]. Different scalp blocks, including the supraorbital, greater, and lesser occipital nerve blocks, have utility in various procedures, depending on the location of the incision [5]. Even skin infiltration of local anesthetic before incision reduces postoperative opioid requirements [80]. These blocks have demonstrated efficacy in procedures such as craniosynostosis surgery, craniotomies, and scoliosis surgery (erector spinae block) [80-82]. A detailed description of individual nerve blocks is discussed elsewhere in this book.

38.4.13 Preemptive Analgesia

Preemptive analgesia primarily refers to the initiation of antinociceptive therapy before the onset of painful stimuli with a goal of preventing central sensitization and central hyperexcitation of the pain pathways and the central nervous system. Fentanyl by continuous infusion during neurosurgical procedures has been shown to be effective in minimizing postoperative analgesic requirements in pediatric patients [83]. Preemptive analgesia with preoperative oral NSAID, supraorbital and infraorbital perineural blockade, and local anesthetic infiltration along the incision improves pain scores and reduces postoperative analgesic requirement in frontotemporal craniotomy [84]. An acceptable regimen would include: (1) preoperative oral acetaminophen, pre-incision scalp nerve blocks, or local anesthetic infiltration based on the location of the incision; (2) an intraoperative infusion of a short-acting opioid (fentanyl or remifentanil) to ensure analgesia during surgery; and (3) scheduled IV acetaminophen along with intermittent PRN bolus doses of long-acting narcotic either by PCA or NCA to minimize the postoperative onset of inflammatory pain.

38.4.14 Special Considerations

Patient-related and surgery-related factors should be taken into consideration while managing postoperative pain in children. For example, while children undergoing certain surgeries such as posterior fossa decompression are associated with nausea and muscle tightness, they especially benefit from muscle relaxants and less from opioids. Also, anxious children may benefit from benzodiazepines and/or dexmedetomidine infusions, especially after laminectomies for tethered cord repair, where surgical concerns may dictate that they stay supine for up to 72 h after surgery. Continuous monitoring of oxygen saturation, respiratory rate, and end-tidal carbon dioxide (using nasal capnometry) has been recommended for safety while using opioid PCA for all patients. It may especially benefit children undergoing neurosurgery where there is an increased risk of subsequent elevation in ICP (with respiratory depression) and pupillary size changes secondary to overzealous use of opioids [85, 86].

38.5 Chronic Postsurgical Pain and Persistent Postcraniotomy Pain

Chronic postsurgical pain (CPSP) is defined as pain lasting longer than 3 months after surgery, which is localized or referred in relation to the surgical area; the other possible causes of pain are excluded [87, 88]. Based on the same criteria, persistent post-craniotomy headache (PPCH) has been defined by the International Classification for Headache Disorders (ICHD-3) as a headache with onset within 7 days of a craniotomy and lasts longer than 3 months duration without any other causes for the headache [89].

The incidence of post-craniotomy pain varies widely based on the location and pathology. In general, posterior fossa procedures and acoustic neuroma excision surgeries were reported to have a higher risk of developing persistent post-craniotomy pain with a reported incidence ranging between 23 and 80%. Supratentorial surgeries were reported to have 6–12% incidence of chronic headache after 2–12 months after surgery.

Preoperative pain, anxiety, and surgical duration may increase the risk of developing chronic pain [90]. Also, pain catastrophizing, sleep disturbances [91], and depression [92, 93] play a role in shaping maladaptive pain coping responses and influence the development of CPSP. It is important to identify and address the preoperative risk factors to minimize the risk of CPSP.

Modifications in surgical techniques could help reduce the risk of persistent post-craniotomy pain, including performing a craniotomy instead of a craniectomy when possible, replacement of the bone flap at the end of the surgery, duraplasty rather than direct dural closure to prevent tension on the dura mater, avoidance of fibrin glue, and excessive drilling of the posterior auditory canal to minimize the risk of aseptic meningitis [9].

The most common presenting complaint could be chronic tension headaches from pericranial muscle tension, intermittent migraine headache, or cervicogenic headache due to positioning during surgery in patients undergoing posterior fossa surgery with underlying degenerative disk disease. Excessive CSF leak can cause orthostatic headaches, and the overuse of analgesics can lead to a rebound headache.

Chronic pain could lead to restrictions in daily activities and increased healthcare service utilization and affects sleep, appetite, and school attendance [94]. It increases the risk of anxiety, depression, and somatic complaints both in the patients and the parents [95]. CPSP leads to significant functional disability, poor quality of life [96, 97], loss of school days, and increased healthcare costs.

Treatment is based on the type and etiology of the pain and includes both non-pharmacological and pharmacological treatments. Nonpharmacological methods such as physiotherapy, supportive neck collars, acupuncture, TENS, cryotherapy, radiofrequency ablation, and cognitive behavior therapy can be useful adjuvants.

Pharmacological treatments include analgesics such as acetaminophen, NSAIDs, and mild opioids. Topical analgesics such as capsaicin can be used over painful scar tissues for symptomatic relief. Trigger point injections with local anesthetics and long-acting particulate steroids can be useful in cervicogenic headaches. Botox (botulinum toxin A) injections can provide shortterm relief for pain secondary to increased muscle tension. Gabapentin is useful in neuropathic pain, including associated hyperalgesia and allodynia over scar tissue [98]. Sodium valproate is shown to be effective in migraine-like headaches in post-craniotomy and posttraumatic head injury patients [99]. Carbamazepine and lamotrigine are the other anticonvulsants used as second-line treatment for persistent headaches [100]. Sumatriptan (5-HT1 agonist) is effective in persistent headaches after acoustic neuroma excision and migraine-type headaches [101].

38.6 Role of Genetic Factors and Epigenetics for Postoperative Pain

Opioids have narrow therapeutic indices and significant inter-patient variability in response, leading to adverse side effects like respiratory depression and sedation [102–104]. Genetic variations influence both opioid pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics [105]. There is evidence that genetic factors are linked to increased risk for acute and chronic postsurgical pain after some surgeries like spine fusion [106–108]. In addition, gene-environmental interactions have also been identified as influencing acute to chronic postsurgical pain transitions after spine surgery in children [109].

38.6.1 Opioid Pharmacogenomics

- Genetic Influences on Opioid Pharmacokinetics: Most oral opioids (oxycodone, tramadol, codeine, hydrocodone) are metabolized by CYP2D6 enzyme to a more active metabolite. CYP2D6 enzyme is controlled by a highly polymorphic gene CYP2D6 whose variants affect activity of the enzyme resulting in several metabolizer phenotypes such as poor, intermediate, normal, and ultra-rapid (UM). Several case reports of deaths in children after tonsillectomies [110–112] and an infant of a mother who was prescribed codeine [113, 114] as well as children prescribed weight-based tramadol [115, 116] have been attributed to their CYP2D6 UM phenotype leading to high concentrations of the active metabolite [117–119]. This has led to advisories on the administration of codeine and tramadol in children who are less than 12 years old, especially in those with obstructive sleep apnea [113, 120, 121]. This is an important aspect influencing opioid choice and prescribing to children after surgery.
- Genetic Influences on Opioid Pharmacodynamics: Genetic influence on opioid pharmacodynamics is mostly due to gene variants resulting in altered opioid receptor numbers or structure, altered transport of opioids into and out of the central nervous system, and altered cofactor influences like endocannabinoids. Polymorphism on mu-receptor gene OPRM1 has been shown to result in opioid resistance due to decreased opioid receptor density [122, 123]. The variants of ATPbinding cassette sub-family B member 1 (*ABCB1*), a surface phosphor-glycoprotein

which acts as an opioid efflux transporter at the blood-brain barrier (BBB), significantly alter the cerebral concentration of opioids. Children with certain *ABCB1* polymorphism had higher incidence of respiratory depression leading to prolonged hospital stay after tonsillectomy [124]. The relevance of ABCB1 polymorphism in postoperative pain management neurosurgical patients with compromised BBB is unknown.

- **Epigenetic Effects on Acute and Chronic** Postsurgical Pain: Epigenetics is the study of non-structural genetic factors that may affect gene expression and are modifiable by environmental factors [125]. Epigenetic regulatory mechanisms "activate" or "silence" genes through DNA methylation, histone modification, and miRNA interference [125]. In children undergoing spine fusion, blood DNA methylation at the promotor of OPRM1 gene region was associated with higher-risk CPSP [126]. It was postulated that inhibition of transcription factor binding by DNA methylation might decrease OPRM1 gene expression, resulting in a decreased opioid response and, hence, increased pain responses. Chidambaran et al. investigated whole blood DNA methylation profiles using epigenomewide association approaches and identified genomic pathways underlying CPSP and anxiety sensitivity [90, 127]. Since environmental modulation affects epigenetics, these non-pharmacological findings indicate approaches (diet, exercise, mindfulness) might help decrease the risk for CPSP after spine surgery [128].
- **Clinical Implications:** Genomic technologies are becoming more cost-effective and, therefore, could, in the future, be a roadmap for the use of the "right opioid" in the "right dose" for the "right patient." Not only can this assist in bypassing the problems associated with our present trial and error strategies of opioid dosing, but it would also allow risk stratification via genetic risk signatures [129]. In addition, understanding the genetic guide preventive pathways could and therapeutic approaches. Epigenetic markers

could serve as biomarkers but also guide the development of epigenetically programmed drugs [130]. Recent advances in gene-editing technology and individual gene-targeted approaches offer promising avenues to develop individualized, safe, and effective acute and chronic pain management regimens after major surgeries.

38.7 Conclusion

Safe and effective pain management is the foundation for a quicker postoperative functional recovery. While there is a diverse menu to choose from, one must consider the risks and benefits of current multimodal therapies and select targeted therapies commensurate to the intensity and nature of the pain. It is also prudent to recognize surgical factors in addition to individual factors while treating pain in children. Awareness, screening, follow-up, and management for postcraniotomy headache and chronic postsurgical pain are critical to prevent disability and psychological comorbidities from chronic pain as adulthood the child grows into with socioeconomic consequences for society. Improved screening for patients at risk of poor pain preoperative targeted coping, riskoptimization, and minimization of opioids using non-pharmacological therapies and individualized multimodal regimens are all important for safe and effective postoperative pain management in this unique patient population.

References

- De Benedittis G, Lorenzetti A, Migliore M, Spagnoli D, Tiberio F, Villani RM. Postoperative pain in neurosurgery: a pilot study in brain surgery. Neurosurgery. 1996;38:466–9. discussion 9-70
- Mordhorst C, Latz B, Kerz T, Wisser G, Schmidt A, Schneider A, et al. Prospective assessment of postoperative pain after craniotomy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2010;22:202–6.
- Fontaine D, Almairac F, Santucci S, Fernandez C, Dallel R, Pallud J, et al. Dural and pial pain-sensitive structures in humans: new inputs from awake craniotomies. Brain. 2018;141:1040–8.

- Shay JE, Kattail D, Morad A, Yaster M. The postoperative management of pain from intracranial surgery in pediatric neurosurgical patients. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:724–33.
- Vadivelu N, Kai AM, Tran D, Kodumudi G, Legler A, Ayrian E. Options for perioperative pain management in neurosurgery. J Pain Res. 2016;9:37–47.
- Bauer DF, Waters AM, Tubbs RS, Rozzelle CJ, Wellons JC 3rd, Blount JP, et al. Safety and utility of scheduled nonnarcotic analgesic medications in children undergoing craniotomy for brain tumor. Neurosurgery. 2010;67:353–5. discussion 5-6
- Quiney N, Cooper R, Stoneham M, Walters F. Pain after craniotomy. A time for reappraisal? Br J Neurosurg. 1996;10:295–9.
- Maxwell LG, Buckley GM, Kudchadkar SR, Ely E, Stebbins EL, Dube C, et al. Pain management following major intracranial surgery in pediatric patients: a prospective cohort study in three academic children's hospitals. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:1132–40.
- de Gray LC, Matta BF. Acute and chronic pain following craniotomy: a review. Anaesthesia. 2005;60:693–704.
- Kemp WJ 3rd, Tubbs RS, Cohen-Gadol AA. The innervation of the scalp: a comprehensive review including anatomy, pathology, and neurosurgical correlates. Surg Neurol Int. 2011;2:178.
- Lv X, Wu Z, Li Y. Innervation of the cerebral dura mater. Neuroradiol J. 2014;27:293–8.
- Haldar R, Kaushal A, Gupta D, Srivastava S, Singh PK. Pain following craniotomy: reassessment of the available options. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:509164.
- Gantenbein AR, Sarikaya H, Riederer F, Goadsby PJ. Postoperative hemicrania continua-like headache—a case series. J Headache Pain. 2015;16:526.
- 14. Seki H, Ideno S, Ishihara T, Watanabe K, Matsumoto M, Morisaki H. Postoperative pain management in patients undergoing posterior spinal fusion for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: a narrative review. Scoliosis Spinal Disord. 2018;13:17.
- von Baeyer CL, Spagrud LJ. Systematic review of observational (behavioral) measures of pain for children and adolescents aged 3–18 years. Pain. 2007;127:140–50.
- Merkel SI, Voepel-Lewis T, Shayevitz JR, Malviya S. The FLACC: a behavioral scale for scoring postoperative pain in young children. Pediatr Nurs. 1997;23:293–7.
- Rajasagaram U, Taylor DM, Braitberg G, Pearsell JP, Capp BA. Paediatric pain assessment: differences between triage nurse, child and parent. J Paediatr Child Health. 2009;45:199–203.
- von Baeyer CL. Numerical rating scale for selfreport of pain intensity in children and adolescents: recent progress and further questions. Eur J Pain. 2009;13:1005–7.

- 19. Chou R, Gordon DB, de Leon-Casasola OA, Rosenberg JM, Bickler S, Brennan T, et al. Management of Postoperative Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American Pain Society, the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists' Committee on Regional Anesthesia, Executive Committee, and Administrative Council. J Pain. 2016;17:131–57.
- McDaid C, Maund E, Rice S, Wright K, Jenkins B, Woolacott N. Paracetamol and selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for the reduction of morphinerelated side effects after major surgery: a systematic review. Health Technol Assess. 2010;14:1–153. iii-iv
- 21. Elia N, Lysakowski C, Tramer MR. Does multimodal analgesia with acetaminophen, non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, or selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors and patient-controlled analgesia morphine offer advantages over morphine alone? Meta-analyses of randomized trials. Anesthesiology. 2005;103:1296–304.
- 22. Maheshwari K, Avitsian R, Sessler DI, Makarova N, Tanios M, Raza S, et al. Multimodal analgesic regimen for spine surgery: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Anesthesiology. 2020;132:992–1002.
- Muhly WT, Sankar WN, Ryan K, Norton A, Maxwell LG, DiMaggio T, et al. Rapid recovery pathway after spinal fusion for idiopathic Scoliosis. Pediatrics. 2016;137:e20151568.
- 24. Fletcher ND, Andras LM, Lazarus DE, Owen RJ, Geddes BJ, Cao J, et al. Use of a novel pathway for early discharge was associated with a 48% shorter length of stay after posterior spinal fusion for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Pediatr Orthop. 2017;37:92–7.
- Fletcher ND, Shourbaji N, Mitchell PM, Oswald TS, Devito DP, Bruce RW. Clinical and economic implications of early discharge following posterior spinal fusion for adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. J Child Orthop. 2014;8:257–63.
- Azzam AAH, McDonald J, Lambert DG. Hot topics in opioid pharmacology: mixed and biased opioids. Br J Anaesth. 2019;122:e136–e45.
- 27. Hudcova J, McNicol E, Quah C, Lau J, Carr DB. Patient controlled opioid analgesia versus conventional opioid analgesia for postoperative pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD003348.
- Morad AH, Winters BD, Yaster M, Stevens RD, White ED, Thompson RE, et al. Efficacy of intravenous patient-controlled analgesia after supratentorial intracranial surgery: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Clinical article. J Neurosurg. 2009;111:343–50.
- 29. Morad A, Winters B, Stevens R, White E, Weingart J, Yaster M, et al. The efficacy of intravenous patient-controlled analgesia after intracra-

nial surgery of the posterior fossa: a prospective, randomized controlled trial. Anesth Analg. 2012;114:416–23.

- Barash PG. Clinical anesthesia. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2009.
- Gottschalk A, Yaster M. The perioperative management of pain from intracranial surgery. Neurocrit Care. 2009;10:387–402.
- Walker SM. Pain after surgery in children: clinical recommendations. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2015;28:570–6.
- 33. Chidambaran V, Olbrecht V, Hossain M, Sadhasivam S, Rose J, Meyer MJ. Risk predictors of opioidinduced critical respiratory events in children: naloxone use as a quality measure of opioid safety. Pain Med. 2014;15:2139–49.
- 34. Maxwell LG, Kaufmann SC, Bitzer S, Jackson EV Jr, McGready J, Kost-Byerly S, et al. The effects of a small-dose naloxone infusion on opioidinduced side effects and analgesia in children and adolescents treated with intravenous patientcontrolled analgesia: a double-blind, prospective, randomized, controlled study. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:953–8.
- Sheffer BW, Kelly DM, Rhodes LN, Sawyer JR. Perioperative pain management in pediatric spine surgery. Orthop Clin North Am. 2017;48:481–6.
- 36. Crawford MW, Hickey C, Zaarour C, Howard A, Naser B. Development of acute opioid tolerance during infusion of remifentanil for pediatric scoliosis surgery. Anesth Analg. 2006;102:1662–7.
- Davis AM, Inturrisi CE. D-Methadone blocks morphine tolerance and N-methyl-D-aspartateinduced hyperalgesia. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1999;289:1048–53.
- Stemland CJ, Witte J, Colquhoun DA, Durieux ME, Langman LJ, Balireddy R, et al. The pharmacokinetics of methadone in adolescents undergoing posterior spinal fusion. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:51–7.
- Anderson BJ. Paracetamol (acetaminophen): mechanisms of action. Paediatr Anaesth. 2008;18:915–21.
- Bertolini A, Ferrari A, Ottani A, Guerzoni S, Tacchi R, Leone S. Paracetamol: new vistas of an old drug. CNS Drug Rev. 2006;12:250–75.
- Wong I, St John-Green C, Walker SM. Opioidsparing effects of perioperative paracetamol and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:475–95.
- 42. Zuppa AF, Hammer GB, Barrett JS, Kenney BF, Kassir N, Mouksassi S, et al. Safety and population pharmacokinetic analysis of intravenous acetaminophen in neonates, infants, children, and adolescents with pain or Fever. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2011;16:246–61.
- Motoyama EK, Davis P. Smith's anesthesia for infants and children. 7th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby; 2006.

- 44. Murat N, Hocaoglu N, Karatosun V, Yorukoglu K, Gidener S, Gunal I. The effects of non-selective and cyclooxygenase-2-selective non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs on heterotopic ossification in rats. Med Sci Monit. 2005;11:BR449–51.
- Anderson BJ, Woolard GA, Holford NH. Pharmacokinetics of rectal paracetamol after major surgery in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 1995;5:237–42.
- 46. Smith HS. Perioperative intravenous acetaminophen and NSAIDs. Pain Med. 2011;12:961–81.
- Michelet D, Andreu-Gallien J, Bensalah T, Hilly J, Wood C, Nivoche Y, et al. A meta-analysis of the use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs for pediatric postoperative pain. Anesth Analg. 2012;114:393–406.
- Galvin IM, Levy R, Day AG, Gilron I. Pharmacological interventions for the prevention of acute postoperative pain in adults following brain surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;2019:CD011931.
- Ortiz-Cardona J, Bendo AA. Perioperative pain management in the neurosurgical patient. Anesthesiol Clin. 2007;25:655–74. xi
- Bozzo J, Escolar G, Hernandez MR, Galan AM, Ordinas A. Prohemorrhagic potential of dipyrone, ibuprofen, ketorolac, and aspirin: mechanisms associated with blood flow and erythrocyte deformability. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2001;38:183–90.
- 51. Li X, Zhou M, Xia Q, Li J. Parecoxib sodium reduces the need for opioids after tonsillectomy in children: a double-blind placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. Can J Anaesth. 2016;63:268–74.
- Jones SJ, Cormack J, Murphy MA, Scott DA. Parecoxib for analgesia after craniotomy. Br J Anaesth. 2009;102:76–9.
- Reuben SS, Ablett D, Kaye R. High dose nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs compromise spinal fusion. Can J Anaesth. 2005;52:506–12.
- 54. Munro HM, Walton SR, Malviya S, Merkel S, Voepel-Lewis T, Loder RT, et al. Low-dose ketorolac improves analgesia and reduces morphine requirements following posterior spinal fusion in adolescents. Can J Anaesth. 2002;49:461–6.
- 55. Bayoumi AB, Ikizgul O, Karaali CN, Bozkurt S, Konya D, Toktas ZO. Antidepressants in spine surgery: a systematic review to determine benefits and risks. Asian Spine J. 2019;13:1036–46.
- Wong K, Phelan R, Kalso E, Galvin I, Goldstein D, Raja S, et al. Antidepressant drugs for prevention of acute and chronic postsurgical pain: early evidence and recommended future directions. Anesthesiology. 2014;121:591–608.
- van Haelst IM, Egberts TC, Doodeman HJ, Traast HS, Burger BJ, Kalkman CJ, et al. Use of serotonergic antidepressants and bleeding risk in orthopedic patients. Anesthesiology. 2010;112:631–6.
- Taylor CP. Mechanisms of analgesia by gabapentin and pregabalin—calcium channel alpha2-delta [Cavalpha2-delta] ligands. Pain. 2009;142:13–6.

- Mayell A, Srinivasan I, Campbell F, Peliowski A. Analgesic effects of gabapentin after scoliosis surgery in children: a randomized controlled trial. Pediatr Anesth. 2014;24:1239–44.
- 60. Rusy LM, Hainsworth KR, Nelson TJ, Czarnecki ML, Tassone JC, Thometz JG, et al. Gabapentin use in pediatric spinal fusion patients: a randomized, double-blind, controlled trial. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:1393–8.
- Choudhry DK, Brenn BR, Sacks K, Shah S. Evaluation of gabapentin and clonidine use in children following spinal fusion surgery for idiopathic scoliosis: a retrospective review. J Pediatr Orthop. 2019;39:e687–e93.
- 62. Verret M, Lauzier F, Zarychanski R, Savard X, Cossi MJ, Pinard AM, et al. Perioperative use of gabapentinoids for the management of postoperative acute pain: protocol of a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2019;8:24.
- 63. Helenius LL, Oksanen H, Lastikka M, Pajulo O, Loyttyniemi E, Manner T, et al. Preemptive pregabalin in children and adolescents undergoing posterior instrumented spinal fusion: a double-blinded, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2020;102:205–12.
- 64. Raddaoui KRM, Bhar M, Trigui E, Zoghlami K, Nasri A, OaK O. Pregabalin for postoperative analgesia after idiopathic scoliosis surgery. Ann Pediatr Child Health. 2018;6:1157.
- 65. Zhu A, Benzon HA, Anderson TA. Evidence for the efficacy of systemic opioid-sparing analgesics in pediatric surgical populations: a systematic review. Anesth Analg. 2017;125:1569–87.
- Giovannitti JA Jr, Thoms SM, Crawford JJ. Alpha-2 adrenergic receptor agonists: a review of current clinical applications. Anesth Prog. 2015;62:31–9.
- Lambert P, Cyna AM, Knight N, Middleton P. Clonidine premedication for postoperative analgesia in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;1:CD009633.
- 68. Li F, Wang X, Deng Z, Zhang X, Gao P, Liu H. Dexmedetomidine reduces oxidative stress and provides neuroprotection in a model of traumatic brain injury via the PGC-1alpha signaling pathway. Neuropeptides. 2018;72:58–64.
- 69. De Oliveira GS Jr, Almeida MD, Benzon HT, McCarthy RJ. Perioperative single dose systemic dexamethasone for postoperative pain: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. 2011;115:575–88.
- Steward DL, Grisel J, Meinzen-Derr J. Steroids for improving recovery following tonsillectomy in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(8):CD003997.
- Gorman AL, Elliott KJ, Inturrisi CE. The D- and L-isomers of methadone bind to the non-competitive site on the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor in rat forebrain and spinal cord. Neurosci Lett. 1997;223:5–8.

- 72. Machado FC, Vieira JE, de Orange FA, Ashmawi HA. Intraoperative methadone reduces pain and opioid consumption in acute postoperative pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesth Analg. 2019;129:1723–32.
- Dahmani S, Michelet D, Abback PS, Wood C, Brasher C, Nivoche Y, et al. Ketamine for perioperative pain management in children: a metaanalysis of published studies. Paediatr Anaesth. 2011;21:636–52.
- Pestieau SR, Finkel JC, Junqueira MM, Cheng Y, Lovejoy JF, Wang J, et al. Prolonged perioperative infusion of low-dose ketamine does not alter opioid use after pediatric scoliosis surgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2014;24:582–90.
- 75. Schwenk ES, Viscusi ER, Buvanendran A, Hurley RW, Wasan AD, Narouze S, et al. Consensus guidelines on the use of intravenous ketamine infusions for acute pain management from the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, the American Academy of Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists. Regional Anesth and Pain Med. 2018;43:456–66.
- 76. Wren AA, Ross AC, D'Souza G, Almgren C, Feinstein A, Marshall A, et al. Multidisciplinary pain management for pediatric patients with acute and chronic pain: a foundational treatment approach when prescribing opioids. Children (Basel). 2019;6:33.
- Keefe KR, Byrne KJ, Levi JR. Treating pediatric post-tonsillectomy pain and nausea with complementary and alternative medicine. Laryngoscope. 2018;128:2625–34.
- Ralston-Wilson J, Artola E, Lynn AM, Doorenbos AZ. The Feasibility of developing an inpatient acupuncture program at a tertiary care pediatric hospital. J Altern Complement Med. 2016;22:458–64.
- 79. Eccleston C, Palermo TM, Williams AC, Lewandowski Holley A, Morley S, Fisher E, et al. Psychological therapies for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(5):CD003968.
- Zhou H, Ou M, Yang Y, Ruan Q, Pan Y, Li Y. Effect of skin infiltration with ropivacaine on postoperative pain in patients undergoing craniotomy. Springerplus. 2016;5:1180.
- Diwan SM, Yamak Altinpulluk E, Khurjekar K, Nair A, Dongre H, Turan A. Bilateral erector spinae plane block for scoliosis surgery: case series. Rev Esp Anestesiol Reanim. 2020;67:153–8.
- 82. Festa R, Tosi F, Pusateri A, Mensi S, Garra R, Mancino A, et al. The scalp block for postoperative pain control in craniosynostosis surgery: a case control study. Childs Nerv Syst. 2020;36:3063–70.
- Chiaretti A, Viola L, Pietrini D, Piastra M, Savioli A, Tortorolo L, et al. Preemptive analgesia with tramadol and fentanyl in pediatric neurosurgery. Childs Nerv Syst. 2000;16:93–9. discussion 100

- Honnma T, Imaizumi T, Chiba M, Niwa J. Preemptive analgesia for postoperative pain after frontotemporal craniotomy. No Shinkei Geka. 2002;30:171–4.
- Hutchison R. Capnography monitoring during opioid PCA administration. J Opioid Manag. 2006;2:207–8.
- Overdyk FJ, Carter R, Maddox RR, Callura J, Herrin AE, Henriquez C. Continuous oximetry/capnometry monitoring reveals frequent desaturation and bradypnea during patient-controlled analgesia. Anesth Analg. 2007;105:412–8.
- Werner MU, Kongsgaard UE. I. Defining persistent postsurgical pain: is an update required? Br J Anaesth. 2014;113:1–4.
- Macrae WA. Chronic postsurgical pain: 10 years on. Br J Anaesth. 2008;101:77–86.
- Arnold M. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS). The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. Cephalalgia. 2018;38:1–211.
- Chidambaran V, Ding L, Moore DL, Spruance K, Cudilo EM, Pilipenko V, et al. Predicting the pain continuum after adolescent idiopathic scoliosis surgery: a prospective cohort study. Eur J Pain. 2017;21:1252–65.
- Rabbitts JA, Zhou C, Narayanan A, Palermo TM. Longitudinal and temporal associations between daily pain and sleep patterns after major pediatric surgery. J Pain. 2017;18:656–63.
- Rabbitts JA, Fisher E, Rosenbloom BN, Palermo TM. Prevalence and predictors of chronic postsurgical pain in children: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Pain. 2017;18:605–14.
- Kashikar-Zuck S, Goldschneider KR, Powers SW, Vaught MH, Hershey AD. Depression and functional disability in chronic pediatric pain. Clin J Pain. 2001;17:341–9.
- Roth-Isigkeit A, Thyen U, Stöven H, Schwarzenberger J, Schmucker P. Pain among children and adolescents: restrictions in daily living and triggering factors. Pediatrics. 2005;115:e152–62.
- 95. Walker LS, Greene JW. Children with recurrent abdominal pain and their parents: more somatic complaints, anxiety, and depression than other patient families? J Pediatr Psychol. 1989;14:231–43.
- 96. Hunfeld JA, Perquin CW, Duivenvoorden HJ, Hazebroek-Kampschreur AA, Passchier J, van Suijlekom-Smit LW, et al. Chronic pain and its impact on quality of life in adolescents and their families. J Pediatr Psychol. 2001;26:145–53.
- 97. Rabbitts JA, Zhou C, Groenewald CB, Durkin L, Palermo TM. Trajectories of postsurgical pain in children: risk factors and impact of late pain recovery on long-term health outcomes after major surgery. Pain. 2015;156:2383–9.
- Laird MA, Gidal BE. Use of gabapentin in the treatment of neuropathic pain. Ann Pharmacother. 2000;34:802–7.

- Packard RC. Treatment of chronic daily posttraumatic headache with divalproex sodium. Headache. 2000;40:736–9.
- Backonja MM. Anticonvulsants (antineuropathics) for neuropathic pain syndromes. Clin J Pain. 2000;16:S67–72.
- Levo H, Pyykkö I, Blomstedt G. Postoperative headache after surgery for vestibular schwannoma. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2000;109:853–8.
- 102. Sadhasivam S, Boat A, Mahmoud M. Comparison of patient-controlled analgesia with and without dexmedetomidine following spine surgery in children. J Clin Anesth. 2009;21:493–501.
- 103. Voepel-Lewis T, Marinkovic A, Kostrzewa A, Tait AR, Malviya S. The prevalence of and risk factors for adverse events in children receiving patient-controlled analgesia by proxy or patientcontrolled analgesia after surgery. Anesth Analg. 2008;107:70–5.
- Aubrun F, Monsel S, Langeron O, Coriat P, Riou B. Postoperative titration of intravenous morphine. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2001;18:159–65.
- 105. Chidambaran V, McAuliffe JJ. Opioid-induced respiratory depression: the role of genetics. Expert Rev Precis Med Drug Dev. 2017;2:157–68.
- 106. James SK. Chronic postsurgical pain: is there a possible genetic link? Br J Pain. 2017;1:11.
- 107. Clarke H, Katz J, Flor H, Rietschel M, Diehl SR, Seltzer Z. Genetics of chronic postsurgical pain: a crucial step toward personal pain medicine. Can J Anaesth. 2015;62:294–303.
- Katz J, Seltzer Z. Transition from acute to chronic postsurgical pain: risk factors and protective factors. Expert Rev Neurother. 2009;9:723–44.
- 109. Campbell P, Jordan KP, Smith BH, Scotland G, Dunn KM. Chronic pain in families: a cross-sectional study of shared social, behavioural, and environmental influences. Pain. 2018;159:41–7.
- 110. Voronov P, Przybylo HJ, Jagannathan N. Apnea in a child after oral codeine: a genetic variant an ultra-rapid metabolizer. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17:684–7.
- 111. Ciszkowski C, Madadi P, Phillips MS, Lauwers AE, Koren G. Codeine, ultrarapid-metabolism genotype, and postoperative death. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:827–8.
- 112. Hermanns-Clausen M, Weinmann W, Auwarter V, Ferreiros N, Trittler R, Muller C, et al. Drug dosing error with drops: severe clinical course of codeine intoxication in twins. Eur J Pediatr. 2009;168:819–24.
- 113. Chidambaran V, Sadhasivam S, Mahmoud M. Codeine and opioid metabolism: implications and alternatives for pediatric pain management. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2017;30:349–56.
- 114. Williams DG, Patel A, Howard RF. Pharmacogenetics of codeine metabolism in an urban population of children and its implications for analgesic reliability. Br J Anaesth. 2002;89:839–45.

- 115. Stamer UM, Lehnen K, Hothker F, Bayerer B, Wolf S, Hoeft A, et al. Impact of CYP2D6 genotype on postoperative tramadol analgesia. Pain. 2003;105:231–8.
- 116. Orliaguet G, Hamza J, Couloigner V, Denoyelle F, Loriot MA, Broly F, et al. A case of respiratory depression in a child with ultrarapid CYP2D6 metabolism after tramadol. Pediatrics. 2015;135:e753–5.
- 117. Shipton EA, Muller FO, Herhold WJ, De Vaal JB. Ingestion of codeine and salicylic acid causing convulsions and coma. A case report. S Afr Med J. 1984;66:460.
- 118. Kintz P, Tracqui A, Mangin P. Codeine concentrations in human samples in a case of fatal ingestion. Int J Legal Med. 1991;104:177–8.
- 119. Magnani B, Evans R. Codeine intoxication in the neonate. Pediatrics. 1999;104:e75.
- 120. Administration UFaD. Drug safety communication. Codeine use in certain children after tonsillectomy and or adenoidectomy may lead to rare but life threatening adverse events or death. US. Food and Drug Administration: Rockville, MD; 2012.
- 121. Agency EM. Restrictions on use of codeine for pain relief in children—CMDh endorses PRAC recommendation. European Medicines Agency: London, United Kingdom; 2013.
- 122. Hoehe MR, Kopke K, Wendel B, Rohde K, Flachmeier C, Kidd KK, et al. Sequence variability and candidate gene analysis in complex disease: association of mu opioid receptor gene variation with substance dependence. Hum Mol Genet. 2000;9:2895–908.
- 123. Chidambaran V, Mavi J, Esslinger H, Pilipenko V, Martin LJ, Zhang K, et al. Association of OPRM1 A118G variant with risk of morphineinduced respiratory depression following spine

fusion in adolescents. Pharmacogenomics J. 2015;15:255–62.

- 124. Sadhasivam S, Chidambaran V, Zhang X, Meller J, Esslinger H, Zhang K, et al. Opioidinduced respiratory depression: ABCB1 transporter pharmacogenetics. Pharmacogenomics J. 2015;15:119–26.
- 125. Buchheit T, Van de Ven T, Shaw A. Epigenetics and the transition from acute to chronic pain. Pain Med. 2012;13:1474–90.
- 126. Chidambaran V, Zhang X, Martin LJ, Ding L, Weirauch MT, Geisler K, et al. DNA methylation at the mu-1 opioid receptor gene (OPRM1) promoter predicts preoperative, acute, and chronic postsurgical pain after spine fusion. Pharmgenomics Pers Med. 2017;10:157–68.
- 127. Chidambaran V, Zhang X, Geisler K, Stubbeman BL, Chen X, Weirauch MT, et al. Enrichment of genomic pathways based on differential DNA meth-ylation associated with chronic postsurgical pain and anxiety in children—a prospective, pilot study. J Pain. 2019;20(7):771–85.
- 128. Kanherkar RR, Stair SE, Bhatia-Dey N, Mills PJ, Chopra D, Csoka AB. Epigenetic mechanisms of integrative medicine. Evid-Based Complem Alternat Med. 2017;2017:19.
- 129. Biesiada J, Chidambaran V, Wagner M, Zhang X, Martin LJ, Meller J, et al. Genetic risk signatures of opioid-induced respiratory depression following pediatric tonsillectomy. Pharmacogenomics. 2014;15:1749–62.
- Kronfol MM, Dozmorov MG, Huang R, Slattum PW, McClay JL. The role of epigenomics in personalized medicine. Expert Rev Precis Med Drug Dev. 2017;2:33–45.



39

Postoperative Respiratory Complications and Ventilatory Strategies in Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients

Devika Bharadwaj 💿 and Keshav Goyal 💿

Key Points

- Non-intubated postoperative children undergoing neurosurgery should be monitored vigilantly for complications due to hypoventilation and airway obstruction.
- The indications for postoperative ventilation include preoperative conditions, intraoperative complications, and postoperative complications.
- The goals of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) management are to optimize oxygenation and ventilation while protecting the lungs from ventilator-induced lung injury.
- Neurogenic pulmonary edema (NPE) is a type of acute pulmonary edema that occurs after a sudden neurological insult.
- The main objectives of elective postoperative ventilation in pediatric patients include facilitating oxygenation, removing carbon dioxide, decreasing work of breathing, and maintaining respiratory muscle strength while aiming for early weaning from ventilation.
- Standard weaning criteria are not always appropriate in neurosurgical patients; airway

D. Bharadwaj · K. Goyal (🖂)

Department of Neuroanaesthesiology and Critical Care, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India patency and cough ability may be assessed before extubation.

• Early tracheostomy may be considered for children who require prolonged ventilation due to poor neurological outcome.

39.1 Introduction

The early postoperative pulmonary complications (PPCs) in neurosurgical patients include pneumonia, bronchitis, atelectasis, and respiratory failure, with an incidence of about 23% [1]. Respiratory complications have been observed in 4% of patients after pediatric neurosurgical procedures [2]. Prevention and management of postoperative respiratory complications continue to be a major challenge for a neuroanesthesiologist and neurointensivist. Due to the urgent and emergent nature of respiratory complications, an anesthesiologist must be well prepared to anticipate, prevent, and manage such complications in various pediatric neurosurgical scenarios. This chaphighlights specific considerations ter of respiratory pathology and the care of postoperative pediatric patients in neurosurgery.

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_39

39.2 Postoperative Respiratory Complications in Nonventilated Children

Providing adequate oxygenation and ventilation is essential to maintain the balance of oxygen delivery to the brain, adequate cerebral blood flow, maintenance of cerebral perfusion pressure, and intracranial pressure (ICP) in patients after neurosurgery. There is an ongoing need for assessment and decision-making for nonintubated patients after surgery. A pediatric patient with falling oxygen saturation may require intubation and ventilation on an urgent basis. This is because of two key differences in respiratory physiology compared with adults, i.e., smaller functional residual capacity and higher oxygen consumption, increasing the risk of hypoxia in pediatric patients [3]. Postoperative respiratory complications in non-ventilated broadly patients can be classified into hypoventilation and airway obstruction.

1. Hypoventilation

Hypoventilation in the immediate postoperative period could be due to the resideffect of opioids, hypothermia, ual metabolic alkalosis (due to mechanical ventilation), muscle weakness (due to electrolyte imbalance, the residual effect of muscle relaxant), and hindered diaphragmatic movement due to pain [4]. Atelectasis is common after general anesthesia. It can be prevented by using a low fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) and continuous positive airway pressure after tracheal extubation, or if required, the same strategy may be continued in the ICU [5].

Several neurosurgical conditions such as neonatal hydrocephalus, spinal dysraphism including myelomeningocele, encephalocele, tumors such as choroid plexus papilloma, teratoma, astrocytoma, glioblastoma, and craniofacial anomaly due to craniosynostosis require surgery in tiny children [6]. Both preterm and term infants have irregular and periodic breathing patterns making them prone to severe apnea. Moreover, premature babies have immature peripheral and central chemoreceptors leading to impaired response to hypercarbia and hypoxia. While hypercarbia stimulates respiration, hypoxia can lead to sustained respiratory depression in small children. In contrast, older children and adults can increase their tidal volume and respiratory rate in response to hypoxia and hypercarbia [7]. Both central and obstructive sleep apnea is common in children with repaired myelomeningocele Chiari and Π malformations. This could also be due to spinal lesions or brainstem abnormalities [8, 9]. Excessive neck movements should be avoided in such patients, and they should be monitored closely as they are prone to develop apnea in the postoperative period.

Changes in the respiratory pattern can also be a sign of neurological deterioration though it may be a late sign. Respiratory irregularity should raise suspicion of raised intracranial pressure (ICP). A child with raised ICP often presents with abnormal posturing, anisocoria, bradycardia, irregular breathing pattern, hypertension, sixth nerve palsy, and papilledema [10]. Such patients should be intubated, and urgent measures to lower the intracranial pressure should be undertaken while investigating the cause of the rise in ICP in the postoperative period. Mass lesions such as hematoma or edema increased cerebral blood volume, and CSF flow disturbances are common causes of postoperative intracranial hypertension [11]. Tracheal intubation should be performed using a rapid sequence induction technique if not already intubated (Fig. 39.1).

Pediatric spine injuries are most common at the cervical level (60–80%) [12]. Injuries of the upper cervical spine (C1–C4) are twice as common as the lower cervical spine (C5–C7) [13]. Changes in the respiratory pattern are seen in these patients due to the involvement of the phrenic nerve (C3, C4, and C5). Injuries occurring above C3 cause complete denervation of the diaphragm, chest, and abdominal wall musculature. These patients have to use accessory muscles for respiration and may require emergency intubation. As the



Fig. 39.1 Rapid sequence induction (RSI) technique

level of injury goes below C3, the phrenic nerve function is partially retained. In the injuries above T1 vertebral segment, there is a loss of intercostal and abdominal wall muscle function. This causes the abdomen to protrude with every diaphragmatic contraction during inspiration with minimum air movement. These patients are effectively managed in a supine position without the head of the bed elevation to help the abdominal contents push the diaphragm up, helping them mechanically for contraction. This helps to improve the tidal volume in these patients. The abdominal binder uses this principle to force the viscera inward and diaphragm upward, even in upright and semi-recumbent positions [14].

2. Airway Obstruction

The type of neurosurgery determines the risk of postoperative airway obstruction in a pediatric patient. Children operated for craniosynostosis can develop facial edema leading to airway compromise. Extubation should be deferred in such children by 24-48 h until edema resolves [15]. The second most important surgery, after which extubation should be avoided immediately, includes anomaly. craniovertebral junction Post anterior-posterior approach, particularly the transoral approach, these children can develop pharyngeal edema. Another factor responsible for pharyngeal edema is the prone position maintained for a prolonged duration during posterior fixation. It is recommended that these children should be extubated 12-24 h after surgery postoperatively [16]. Posterior fossa craniotomy is another leading cause of respiratory compromise postoperatively. Intraoperative respiratory center and lower cranial nerve damage can cause apnea and airway obstruction postoperatively. Moreover, airway edema can be observed postoperatively, leading to respiratory compromise [17]. Awake craniotomy is now being performed in pediatric patients as well [18]. Such patients closely monitored should be in the postoperative phase for respiratory complications.

Care of a postoperative pediatric patient with a difficult airway can be challenging. These cases can present with upper airway obstruction in the postoperative period, particularly due to the residual effect of anesthetics after surgery [19]. Neurosurgical conditions such as hydrocephalus [20], myelomeningocele (MMC) [21], syndromic craniosynostosis [22], scoliosis [23], and cervical spine injury [24] can be associated with difficult airway due to the nature or location of the neurosurgical lesion. Children with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) are also at increased risk of postoperative respiratory complications. These patients are especially sensitive to opioids given in the postoperative period due to the central alteration of opioid receptors [25]. Postoperative airway obstruction can be overcome with airway maneuvers such as neck extension, mouth opening, jaw thrust alone, or a combination. It can be prevented by nursing the child in a lateral position with neck extended [26]. The

pediatric nasal airway can be of great help in the postoperative period in these patients. It is a practice for institutions to keep an emergency intubation trolly with equipment for alternative techniques of intubation such as fiber-optic bronchoscope, laryngeal mask airway, and video laryngoscope with the pediatric blade at the bedside for emergency management of airway obstruction of postoperative cases with a difficult airway. This ensures a prompt response as hypoxia in pediatric patients can quickly deteriorate due to smaller functional residual capacity and higher oxygen consumption [27, 28].

39.3 Postoperative Respiratory Complications in Ventilated Children

39.3.1 Indications for Ventilation

The decision to admit children to a neurocritical care unit is often based on the preoperative condition, intraoperative course, and postoperative condition of the patient. **Elective ventilation** in pediatric neurosurgery is generally practiced after posterior fossa tumor [29], craniovertebral junction anomaly [16], craniosynostosis [15], traumatic brain injury [30], and scoliosis [31]. The indications for elective ventilation in these conditions are summarized in Table 39.1.

Intraoperative complications during pediatric neurosurgery can be neurosurgical (78%) or anesthetic (22%). The highest intraoperative complication rates have been observed during cerebrovascular surgery (7.7%) and tumor surgery (7.4%) [32]. Diffuse tumor bleed leading to hemodynamic instability requiring intraoperative blood transfusion has been observed as the most frequent complication [32]. Other surgical factors likely to influence the decision to delay extubation include large tumor resection with midline shift, surgery duration >6 h, intraoperative brain swelling, injury to lower cranial nerves, new-onset neurological deficits, and convulsions during emergence. Intraoperative

| Table 39.1 | Indications | for el | lective | ventilation | in | pediat |
|--------------|-------------|--------|---------|-------------|----|--------|
| ric neurosur | gery | | | | | |

| | Indications for postoperative |
|------------------|------------------------------------------------|
| Diagnosis | elective ventilation |
| Posterior fossa | Impaired lower cranial nerve |
| tumor | function |
| | Intraoperative brainstem |
| | manipulation |
| | Postoperative airway edema |
| Craniovertebral | Soft tissue/pharyngeal edema |
| junction anomaly | |
| Craniosynostosis | • History of obstructive sleep |
| | apnea |
| | Hydrocephalus |
| | Intraoperative major blood |
| | loss or venous air embolism |
| Traumatic brain | Glasgow Coma Scale |
| injury | score ≤ 8 before surgery |
| Scoliosis | Severe restrictive lung disease |

systemic factors that lead to delayed extubation after neurosurgery include hypothermia, hypotension/hypertension, hypovolemia, hematocrit <25%, hypoxia or hypercarbia, ineffective spontaneous ventilation, hypoosmolality, disorders of coagulation, and residual neuromuscular blockade [33]. Factors influencing the decision to delay extubation after multilevel spine surgery performed in the prone position include surgery duration, number of operative spinal levels, the total volume of crystalloid, and blood administered intraoperatively [34].

Postoperative respiratory or neurological complications may also require emergency intubation of postoperative patients. Neuroemergencies observed in the pediatric neurocritical care unit include intracranial hypertension compromised cerebral and perfusion, seizures and status epilepticus, cerebral ischemia from embolic and thrombotic stroke, infectious and noninfectious CNS inflammation, and hypoxic injury [35]. These patients should be considered for endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation if any of the following is observed [36].

- Poor airway protection.
- Irregular respiration.
- Cerebral edema with Glasgow coma score < 9.

 Features of respiratory failure due to neuromuscular weakness such as tachypnea, dyspnea, use of accessory muscles of respiration, forced vital capacity <20 ml/kg.

39.3.2 Common Respiratory Pathologies in Ventilated Patients

1. Atelectasis

Atelectasis is observed in 90% of patients after general anesthesia. Atelectasis causes damage in two ways: stretch dependent and stretch independent. The stretch-dependent injury occurs due to excessive stretching in the non-atelectatic portions of the lungs; most of the tidal volume shifts to the ventilated lung units causing overinflation of the nonatelectatic lung. Stretch-independent damage occurs from increased risk of infection due to impaired alveolar macrophage function and hypoxia. Atelectasis can cause systemic hypoxemia as well due to increased pulmonary shunting. Localized hypoxia in alveoli occurring due to atelectasis can induce inflammation in the lungs. On the other hand, alveolar hyperoxia occurring in ventilated portions of the lungs can worsen atelectasis by causing absorption. This leads to further damage from the formation of reactive oxygen species. These factors contribute to acute lung injury (ALI). In ventilated patients, atelectasis can be a result of using low tidal volume for mechanical ventilation. This can be easily prevented by applying appropriate positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) [5].

2. Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia

Ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) is defined as hospital-acquired pneumonia that develops in patients who have been mechanically ventilated for 48 h or longer [37]. In pediatric patients, VAP is the second most common cause of nosocomial infection after blood infection and accounts for about 20% of all nosocomial infections in the pediatric intensive care units (PICU). VAP has been observed in 6–10% of patients who were ventilated in the PICU [38].

Early-Onset vs. Late-Onset VAP: Based on the onset, VAP can be classified into early and late VAP. Early-onset VAP is defined as pneumonia that develops within 4 days of mechanical ventilation. Antibiotic-sensitive pathogens usually cause it. Late-onset VAP is defined as pneumonia that occurs after 4 days of intubation. It is caused by hospital-acquired multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacteria [39]. Bacteria causing early-onset VAP include Streptococcus sp., especially Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae, and methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA). Gram-negative bacilli such as Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Proteus species, Serratia marcescens, and Enterobacter species also cause early-onset VAP. Common organisms implicated to cause late-onset VAP include methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA), Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter, and extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing bacteria (ESBL) [40]. Early and late VAP differ in their pathogenesis, outcome, and treatment as well. Late-onset VAP has been associated with higher mortality than early-onset pneumonia [41, 42]. This classification has been challenged recently after some comparable etiologies have been found in patients with early- or late-onset VAP [43–46]. This may be due to the rise in MDR pathogens in various clinical settings across the world.

Risk Factors: Several risk factors have been identified for VAP in pediatric and neonatal settings. The external factors include reintubation, mechanical ventilation, patient transport, previous antibiotic therapy, bronchoscopy, immunosuppressive therapy, and enteral feeding. Internal factors predispose to VAP include young age (<1 year), airway trauma. tracheal/subglottic stenosis. tracheostomy, gastroesophageal reflux. immunodeficiency, use of neuromuscular blockade, genetic syndromes, and female gender. The main risk factors of VAP in

ventilated neonates include low birth weight babies, mechanical ventilation, duration of ventilation, reintubation, tracheostomy, use of enteral feeding, and absence of stress ulcer prophylaxis in treatment [47].

Pathogenesis: An important unavoidable factor for the development of VAP is the presence of an ETT or a tracheostomy tube in situ, which interferes with the functional mechanisms responsible for the clearing of secretions such as cough and mucociliary action [48]. The pooling of secretions in the oropharynx is common in intubated patients with depressed consciousness due to impaired voluntary clearance of secretions [49]. These secretions are rich in harmful organisms. Continuous macro-aspiration and microaspiration of contaminated oropharyngeal secretions occur around the endotracheal tube cuff. The normal oral flora proliferates and trickles around the endotracheal tube to form an antibiotic-resistant biofilm, which finally reaches the lower airways [48]. The critically ill patients are immunocompromised and mount a poor response to these pathogens, which eventually leads to pneumonia [50].

The second common cause of VAP in intubated patients is the aspiration of gastric contents. Healthy individuals are protected from swallowed bacteria as they get easily destroyed by gastric acid in the stomach. Aspiration of gastric microorganisms can occur in ventilated patients despite the presence of an inflated endotracheal tube cuff. However, recent studies suggest that the gastropulmonary route is not a major pathogenic route for VAP development. Another infection source leading to VAP in intubated patients is the use of contaminated respiratory equipment such as bronchoscopes and endoscopes [51]. Disinfection before use and between use in patients is essential to prevent VAP and cross infection between patients.

Diagnosis: Several respiratory pathologies can mimic VAP. Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), atelectasis, and pulmonary edema can have a clinical presentation similar to VAP. Suspicion of VAP should be high when there is an unexplained change in the clinical status of the patient such as fever, falling oxygen saturation, increased oxygen or ventilation requirements, signs of respiratory distress, metabolic acidosis on arterial blood gas analysis, and change in the nature or volume of respiratory secretions [52]. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, United States, has given VAP surveillance criteria, better-called ventilator-associated events (VAEs), to offer a broader and more objective method of assessing complications of mechanical ventilation for uniform reporting and comparison between hospitals. VAE definitions are now being used across clinical settings as an indicator of performance. In a study on neurocritically ill patients, the prevalence of VAE was reported as 13 per 1000 ventilator days [53]. VAE uses a three-tier classification to include complications related to mechanical ventilation (Fig. 39.2) [54].

- Ventilator-associated condition (VAC).
- Infection-related VAC (IVAC).
- Possible or probable VAP.

This change in approach to VAP offers three main advantages. Firstly, it allows identifying patients with serious complications that were not included in previous definitions. Secondly, the new definitions are based solely on an objective criterion which allows comparison of VAP rates across all hospitals. Thirdly, the IVAC metric will help analyze data on antibiotic usage between institutions. This information will help identify institutions prescribing excessive antibiotics and help reduce antibiotic resistance and Clostridium *difficile* infections [54]. The new definition of VAE has been adopted in critical care of adult patients since january 2013. Its modification is now being considered for pediatic patients.

Prevention: Implementation of a pediatric ventilator bundle is considered as a practical approach for achieving better patient outcomes by reducing VAP rates, days on the ventilator, antibiotic usage, duration of critical care stay,



Fig. 39.2 New definitions of ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP). Adapted from: Willson DF, Hall M, Beardsley A et al; Pediatric Acute Lung Injury and Sepsis Investigators (PALISI) Network. Pediatric Ventilator-Associated Events: Analysis of the Pediatric Ventilator-Associated Infection Data. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2018;19(12):e631–e636

and hospital costs [55]. A care bundle is defined as implementing a group of evidence-based interventions that, when applied together, provide better outcomes than when performed individually. Various combination of interventions such as hand hygiene with alcohol-based hand rub, use of gown and glove while handling endotracheal tube, the elevation of the head end of the bed, use of chlorhexidine for oral care, stress ulcer prophylaxis, maintaining endotracheal tube cuff pressure, use of orogastric tube for gastric decompression, and avoiding unnecessary endotracheal tube suctioning has been shown to reduce VAP rate [56].

Treatment: The microorganism type causing VAP in pediatric patients varies with geographical location. Gram-negative bacteria contribute to most cases of VAP in pediatric patients with exceptionally high contributions from Asian patients. The most common pathogens are *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Enterobacteriaceae*. In Europe and North America, VAP due to gram-positive bacteria such as *Staphylococcus aureus* is more common. Due to such wide variation in the prevalence of organisms causing VAP, the American Thoracic Society has highlighted the need to monitor and maintain a local record of bacterial resistance in intensive care units using antibiograms. This ensures appropriate empirical therapy while culture results are pending and decrease inappropriate antibiotic prescriptions for VAP [57].

Due to the lack of pediatric guidelines on VAP, VAP management principles in adult patients are often extrapolated to management in pediatric patients. The initial antibiotic prescription is empirically based on previously maintained hospital data of prevalent organisms and antibiotic sensitivity. Empirical therapy should be decided after considering the patient's risk factors for infection with MDR bacteria, recently received antibiotics by the patient, and the local antibiotic resistance patterns [58]. Risk factors for colonization with antibiotic-resistant gram-negative organisms include younger age, previous intensive care admissions, and use of intravenous antibiotics in the past year [59, 60]. Premature infants (increased risk of Staphylococcus epidermidis infections) and immunocompromised patients (need for empirical antifungal therapy) shall be noted [61]. Monotherapy has been recommended for early-onset VAP, while combination therapy is advised for patients with late-onset VAP or patients with severe illness. Empirical therapy should be judiciously decided (discontinued or altered) based on clinical status and appropriate culture results [58].

The neurocritical patients are a unique subset of critical care patients as they are particularly vulnerable to pneumonia due to the high rate of dysphagia and aspiration [62]. The microbiology of VAP in these patients often includes anaerobic flora. A retrospective study of 57 neurologically impaired children with aspiration or tracheostomy-related pneumonia, better outcome, and the antibiotic response was observed when treated with ticarcillinclavulanate or clindamycin effective against penicillin-resistant anaerobic bacteria as compared to patients treated with ceftriaxone alone [63].

3. Pediatric Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome (PARDS) in postoperative ventilated patients remains a challenge due to high morbidity and mortality. Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is an independent risk factor for longer intensive care, hospital stays, poor neurological outcomes, and increased mortality [64]. ARDS is seen in 1-10% of pediatric intensive care patients [65–67]. ARDS is characterized by disruption of the alveolar epithelial-endothelial barrier due to direct injury to the alveolar epithelium (e.g., pneumonia) or indirect injury to the capillary endothelium (e.g., sepsis). Disruption of the alveolar endothelial barrier causes the accumulation of protein-rich fluid in the alveoli. Clinically, these changes manifest as restrictive-type lung disease with features of bilateral radiographic opacities and hypoxemia. ARDS must be differentiated from cardiogenic edema [68].

Characterization of acute lung injury (ALI) or ARDS in pediatric patients has been based on adult definitions given in the 1994 American-European Consensus Conference (AECC) and subsequently revised in 2012 (Berlin definition). In 2015, Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference (PALICC) defined ARDS in pediatric patients. This definition differs from adult definitions of ARDS in two ways. Firstly, any new parenchymal infiltrates (unilateral or bilateral) are included in the baseline criteria for the diagnosis of PARDS. Secondly, pulse oximetry can be used to diagnose PARDS if arterial blood oxygenmeasurements are not available. ation Oxygenation index (OI) is defined as $[(FiO_2 \times mean airway pressure \times 100)/PaO_2].$ Oxygenation saturation index (OSI) defined as $[(FiO_2 \times mean airway pressure \times 100)/SpO_2]$ have been suggested to assess and classify hypoxemia as mild, moderate, or severe rather than the PaO₂/FiO₂ (P/F) ratio in all children treated with mechanical ventilation [69]. The PARDS criteria given by PALICC is given in Table 39.2.

Lung Protective Ventilation: ARDS management aims to treat the underlying cause and provide optimal oxygenation and ventilation. It is equally important to protect the lungs from ventilator-induced lung injury. Lung protective ventilation helps to avoid volutrauma and barotrauma (caused by overdistension of alveoli), minimize atelectrauma (due to repeated opening and closing of alveoli), and minimize biotrauma caused by damaging effects of circulating biochemical mediators on the lung [68]. PALICC guidelines recommend using low tidal volumes for ventilation in patients with PARDS. The tidal volume of 3-6 ml/kg predicted body weight (PBW) is recommended for patients with poor respiratory system compliance, while the tidal volume of 5-8 ml/kg PBW is recommended for patients with preserved respiratory compliance. It has been recommended to limit the inspiratory plateau pressure to 28 cmH₂O, allowing for slightly higher plateau pressure (up to 32 cmH_2O) in children with

| PARDS baseline criteria | | | | | |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|---------|--|--|
| Age | Exclude patients with perinatal-related lung disease | | | | |
| Timing | Within 7 days of known clinical insult | Within 7 days of known clinical insult | | | |
| Origin of edema | Respiratory failure not fully explained by cardiac failure or fluid overload | | | | |
| Chest imaging | New infiltrates (unilateral or bilateral) consistent with acute pulmonary parenchymal | | | | |
| | disease | | | | |
| PARDS severity stratifica | ation | | | | |
| | Mild | Moderate | Severe | | |
| OI | $4 \le OI < 8$ | $8 \le OI < 16$ | OI ≥ 16 | | |

 $7.5 \le OSI < 12.3$

 Table 39.2
 PARDS criteria (PALICC guidelines)

Special considerations

OSI

1. Noninvasive ventilation

• Total face mask bilevel ventilation or CPAP \geq 5 cm H₂O

 $5 \le OSI < 7.5$

- PaO_2/FiO_2 ratio ≤ 300
- SpO₂/FiO₂ ratio ≤ 264

2. Cyanotic heart disease, chronic lung disease, and left ventricular dysfunction

No specific OI or OSI cutoff

· Has baseline criteria and deterioration in oxygenation not explained by an underlying illness

PARDS pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome, *PALICC* Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference, *OI* oxygenation index, *OSI* oxygenation saturation index, *CPAP* continuous positive airway pressure, *OI* FiO₂ X M_{Paw} X 100 /PaO₂, *FiO*₂ fraction of inspired oxygen, M_{Paw} Mean airway pressure, in mmHg, *PaO*₂ Partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood, in mmHg, *OSI* FiO₂ X M_{Paw} X 100 /SpO₂, *FiO*₂ fraction of inspired oxygen, M_{Paw} Mean airway pressure, in mmHg, *SpO*₂ Oxygen saturation as measured by pulse oximetry

increased chest wall elastance [69]. Another important strategy is to apply PEEP. PEEP keeps the alveoli open at the end of expiration, thus preventing atelectrauma caused by the reopening of collapsed alveoli with each breath. This has an overall effect of improving ventilation-perfusion matching and oxygenation [70]. PALICC has recommended PEEP of 10–15 cm of H_2O in patients with severe PARDS titrated to oxygenation and hemodynamic response. PEEP more than 15 cm of H₂O should be used carefully to maintain plateau pressure below 28 cm of H_2O . Due to a lack of outcome data regarding the superiority of any mode of ventilation to the other, PALICC has not recommended any particular mode of ventilation in pediatric patients. To minimize the potential toxicity of ventilatory support required for oxygenation and ventilation of PARDS patients, permissive hypoxemia and hypercapnia have been recommended. PALICC has recommended oxygen saturation goals 92-97% for mild PARDS and 88-92% along with PEEP >10 cm H_2O for severe PARDS [69]. PARDS ventilatory management, according to PALICC guidelines, is summarized in Table 39.3.

 $OSI \ge 12.3$

Permissive Hypercarbia: Permissive hypercapnia is a necessary evil when using low tidal volumes. This strategy can be detrimental in neurosurgical patients. Hypercapnia can be detrimental in brain-damaged patients as hypercarbia-induced vasodilatation can lead to an increase in intracranial pressure [71–74]. PALICC has recommended not to use permissive hypercarbia in pediatric ARDS patients with raised intracranial pressure [69].

Adjuvant Approaches: The routine uses of corticosteroids, inhaled nitric oxide (INO), exogenous surfactant, prone positioning, and neuromuscular blockade are not recommended for routine purposes. INO should be reserved for patients with documented pulmonary hypertension and significant right ventricular dysfunction. Ofor patients with documented pulmonary hypertension and significant right ventricular dysfunction. Prone position ventilation should be considered in children with severe PARDS. Use of sedation with a goal-directed protocol is recommended to ensure patients tolerate mechanical ventila-

| Therapy | PALICC guidelines |
|--------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Tidal volume | 3–6 ml/kg if poor compliance |
| | 5-8 ml/kg if normal compliance |
| Plateau | ≤28 cm H ₂ O |
| pressure | 29-32 cm H ₂ O if poor compliance |
| Permissive | Mild PARDS with PEEP <10 cm |
| hypoxemia | H ₂ O:SpO ₂ target 92–97% |
| | Severe PARDS with PEEP>10 cm |
| | H ₂ O:SpO ₂ target 88–92% |
| PEEP | $10-15 \text{ cm H}_2\text{O}$ titrated to |
| | oxygenation and hemodynamics |
| | For PEEP >15 cm H_2O in severe |
| | cases, limit peak airway pressure. |
| | PEEP can be used with careful, |
| | incremental titration for recruitment |
| Permissive | pH 7.15–7.30 |
| hypercapnia | Exceptions: |
| | Intracranial hypertension |
| | Severe pulmonary hypertension |
| | Congenital heart disease |
| | Hemodynamic instability |
| | Significant ventricular |
| | dysfunction |

 Table 39.3 Lung protective ventilation in PARDS (PALICC guidelines)

PARDS pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome, *PALICC* Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference, *PEEP* positive end-expiratory pressure

tion [69]. If sedation is not adequate to achieve effective mechanical ventilation, titrated (minimal yet effective) doses of neuromuscular-blocking agents should be considered.

4. Neurogenic Pulmonary Edema

Neurogenic pulmonary edema (NPE) is defined as acute pulmonary edema after a sudden neurological insult [75]. It has been reported in both adults and children after CNS disorders such as brain tumors, traumatic brain injuries, infections, and seizures [76]. NPE is relatively uncommon in children as compared to adults. NPE can be acute onset (within 30–60 min of CNS insult) or delayed onset (12–72 h after CNS insult) [77].

Signs and Symptoms

The symptoms and signs of NPE are nonspecific. Symptoms such as dyspnea, tachypnea, tachycardia, pink frothy sputum, and basal crackles have been observed in patients of NPE. Chest x-ray shows diffuse bilateral infiltrates in lung fields [78]. Arterial blood gases reveal hypoxemia (low PaO₂), a PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio < 200 [79]. NPE must be differentiated from other cardiorespiratory conditions such as congestive heart failure, aspiration pneumonia, ARDS, and ventilation-induced lung injury (VILI) [78]. The NPE is a diagnosis of exclusion and requires exclusion of cardiopulmonary edema in the setting of neurological injury. Davison et al. [75] have proposed criteria for the diagnosis of NPE, which includes the presence of bilateral infiltrates, PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio < 200, no left atrial hypertension, CNS injury severe enough to cause significantly increased ICP, absence of other common causes of ARDS such as aspiration, massive blood transfusion, and sepsis.

Pathogenesis: Blast theory is the most common theory of pathophysiological mechanisms leading to NPE. Neurological insults that cause a sudden and severe increase in ICP are at greatest risk for NPE. Neurological insult is followed by sympathetic overactivity believed to originate from trigger zones (hypothalamus and medulla) activated by the sudden increase in intracranial pressure or decreased cerebral blood flow [80]. Systemic vasoconstriction shifts the blood from systemic to pulmonary circulation resulting in increased pulmonary hypertension and increased pulmonary capillary hydrostatic pressure. The increase in hydrostatic pressure causes damage to the capillary endothelium, which leads to the accumulation of protein-rich intravascular fluid into alveolar spaces manifesting as pulmonary edema [81].

Treatment: NPE often resolves in 24-72 h [82]. The main focus of management is to treat the underlying neurological insult. Measures such as decompression and clot evacuation, osmotic diuretics, antiepileptics, tumor resection, and steroids should be used to reduce intracranial pressure [75]. Most patients with NPE require hemodynamic and respiratory support. Treatment options include vasoactive compounds (dobutamine, norepinephrine), diuretics, fluid supplementation, supplemental oxygen, and mechanical ventilation [81]. Positive pressure ventilation should be considered if a patient's oxygen saturation level remains <90% with supplemental even oxygen [76]. Medications such as alpha-adrenergic blockers,

angiotensin receptor antagonists, steroids, and milrinone have been tried in NPE, but their efficacy has not been established [81, 83]. ECMO has also been tried in NPE unresponsive to conventional therapies [81].

39.3.3 Ventilatory Management in Pediatric Neurosurgical Patients

Pediatric neurocritical care (PNCC) is a unique subset of pediatric critical care. Mechanical ventilation is a common critical care intervention in pediatric neurocritical care, and patients may require prolonged mechanical ventilation >96 h in 11-46% of cases depending on the diagnosis [84]. Most children require mechanical ventilation for airway protection and preventing aspiration due to low GCS [85]. Moreover, neurological emergencies such as cerebral edema and raised intracranial pressure can be managed ventilation to improve neurological with outcomes [30]. From a respiratory point of view, the main objectives of ventilation include facilitating oxygenation, clearance of carbon dioxide (CO₂), decreasing work of breathing, and maintaining respiratory muscle strength while aiming for early weaning from ventilation [86].

Pediatric mechanical ventilation practices are often derived from personal experiences and experience from adult and neonatal ventilation. In 2017, the European Paediatric Mechanical Ventilation Consensus Conference (PEMVECC) gave recommendations for use in ventilated pediatric patients [87]. This section aims to provide a practical guide to ventilator settings in pediatric neurocritical care while including recent recommendations on pediatric mechanical ventilation.

- 1. Select ventilator mode as **a pediatric or infant** as appropriate.
- 2. Select **volume- or pressure-controlled** ventilation: The commonly utilized modes for pediatric ventilation are pressure control ventilation (PCV), volume control ventilation (VCV), and pressure-regulated volume control ventilation (PRVC). Generally, PCV

is chosen for neonates and infants while volume modes are preferably used in larger children [88]. When using PCV mode, the clinician must set the respiratory rate, inspiratory time, and inspiratory pressure on the ventilator. The tidal volume delivered is determined by the inspiratory pressure and varies with lung compliance and airway resistance [89, 90]. This means that worsening compliance and airway resistance results in low tidal volumes. In patients with normal lungs with normal compliance, an event such as endotracheal tube blockade due to kinking or secretions can increase airway resistance and decrease the tidal volume significantly [90]. This is why it is emphasized to monitor the delivered tidal volume on the ventilator and ensure whether it is appropriate for the patient.

In contrast, VCV ventilation requires the clinician to set the respiratory rate, inspiratory flow rate, tidal volume, and PEEP. The ventilator delivers a fixed flow of air until the desired tidal volume is achieved. This means that worsened compliance may lead to higher airway pressures [91]. PRVC mode utilizes a set inspiratory time, tidal volume, and a range of allowed pressures. If the resultant tidal volume is very high, the next breath is delivered with less pressure. However, if the delivered volume falls short of the set tidal volume, the next breath is delivered with higher pressure [89].

There is no data to support the superiority of one mode of ventilation over the other in neurosurgical pediatric patients. Irrespective of the mode used, the goals of ventilation must be met. It has been recommended that in pediatric patients, physiologic tidal volumes must be used, and Vt >10 mL/kg ideal body weight should be avoided [87]. In patients with PARDS, tidal volume of 3–6 mL/kg if poor compliance and 5–8 mL/kg if preserved compliance should be used [69].

The plateau pressure (P_{Plat}) should be limited to ≤ 28 cm H₂O, and delta pressure (i.e., the difference between end-inspiratory and end-expiratory pressure) should be <10 cm H_2O if there is no lung pathology in critically ill pediatric patients on mechanical ventilation. P_{Plat} should be limited to $\leq 28-32$ cm H_2O in restrictive lung disease (e.g., ARDS) and ≤ 30 cm H_2O in patients with obstructive lung disease (e.g., asthma) [87].

- 3. **I:E ratio:** This is the ratio of the time the ventilator spends in inspiration: time spent in expiration during one breath. It is usually set at 1:2; however, in neonates, the I:E ratio can be increased as much as 1:1 to allow for higher respiratory rates in neonates. There are no specific guidelines for values of I:E ratio that must be set.
- 4. **Inspiratory time (Ti):** This is the time over which one breath is delivered. As a practical guide, following values can be used:

| <1 year | Ti = 0.6–0.8 s |
|------------|----------------|
| 1-5 years | Ti = 0.8–1.0 s |
| 5-12 years | Ti = 1.0–1.2 s |
| >12 years | Ti = 1.2–1.5 s |

This parameter can be adjusted by changing I:E ratio and breath cycle time.

- 5. Breath cycle time: This is the total time for one breath cycle. It includes the total duration of both inspiration and expiration. It can be calculated from I:E ratio and Ti. For example, if I:E ratio is 1:2 and Ti of 1 s has been chosen, then expiratory time will be 2 s, resulting in a breath cycle time of 3 s. If you want an I:E ratio of 1:2 and you want a Ti of 0.8 s, the expiratory time will be 1.6 s, resulting in a breath cycle time of 2.4 s.
- 6. **Respiratory rate:** Respiratory rate must be set according to physiologically normal respiratory rate according to age [92].

| 0–1 year | 3060/min |
|-------------|-----------|
| 1-4 years | 24-40/min |
| 4–6 years | 22-34/min |
| 6-12 years | 18–30/min |
| 12-20 years | 12–16/min |
| | |

For ventilator modes such as Synchronized Intermittent Mandatory Ventilation (SIMV) that allow patients to take spontaneous breaths, the actual respiratory rate is the sum

of mandatory rate (set on the ventilator) and spontaneous breaths (breaths generated by patient effort). For example, on SIMV mode, if the set respiratory rate is 12 per minute, and the patient generates 8 breaths per minute, then the actual respiratory rate of the patient is 20 per minute. Spontaneous breathing during ventilation has the advantage of allowing better ventilation, reduced risk of muscular atrophy, and diaphragmatic dysfunction [87]. This can be particularly useful for postoperative patients with neurological deficits such as muscle weakness and phrenic nerve injury. In patients with restrictive lung disease, it has been recommended that a higher RR must be set to compensate for low tidal volume and maintain minute ventilation within the normal range [87].

7. **Positive-end expiratory pressure (PEEP):** The purpose of applying PEEP is to prevent atelectasis due to alveolar collapse by keeping the alveoli open during expiration. Physiological data in children without lung injury suggests using PEEP 3–5 cm H₂O [87]. In patients with PARDS, PALICC recommends oxygen saturation goals 92–97% for mild PARDS and 88–92% and PEEP >10 cm H₂O for severe PARDS [69].

Previously, concerns have been raised regarding the use of PEEP in patients with raised intracranial pressure. PEEP causes transmission of intrathoracic pressure directly to the cranium through valveless spinal venous plexus. However, this effect is more pronounced clinically with PEEP of more than 20 cmH2O. High PEEP should also be avoided in circumstances of hypovolemia as it reduces venous return and, hence, reduces cardiac output with consequent effects upon cerebral perfusion [93].

8. The fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂): High FiO₂ can cause hyperoxic lung injury. Hence, FiO₂ should be kept as low as possible. Application of FiO₂ > 0.70 for several days leads to progressive lung injury, depending on the concentration and duration for which it is used [94]. Similar to practice in adult patients, after intubating the trachea
of a pediatric patient, initial FiO_2 should be set at 100% to tide over hypoxia that may have occurred during intubation, and then quickly titrate it down to maintain SpO₂ of 92–97% [95].

9. Trigger: With controlled ventilation modes, the variable is time, and breaths are time triggered, not patient triggered. It means that depending upon the respiratory rate (breaths/minute) set on the ventilator, the ventilator calculates the time after which the breath has to be triggered/initiated. The patient cannot trigger the ventilator to initiate a breath. On the other hand, in modes of mechanical ventilation that allow spontaneous or assisted breaths, patients can initiate breaths by achieving a preset pressure or flow trigger. Flow triggering uses a continuous inspiratory baseline flow and continuously measures the expiratory flow. A breath is initiated when the difference between inspiratory flow and the expiratory flow reaches a set trigger value [96].

The problem of auto triggering can be overcome by using a *pressure trigger*, but it is at the cost of increased work of breathing. When pressure is used for the trigger, the patient has to breathe against a closed valve present in the inspiratory circuit, which increases the work of breathing. The pressure-triggered mode works by detecting a drop in the airway pressure that occurs when the patient tries to inspire [96].

10. **Pressure support (PS):** PS can be used along with modes that allow patients to take spontaneous breaths, for example, SIMV and PRVC. As these modes allow the patient to breathe spontaneously, all such breaths get supported with PS. However, tidal volume and inspiratory time are not fixed/guaranteed with these breaths.

39.3.3.1 Monitoring Ventilator Settings

The monitoring of ventilated patients is essential because neurosurgical patients deteriorate rapidly and unpredictably. In addition, continuous evalua-

tion allows assessment of clinical recovery and prognostication. In a consensus statement issued by the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine, it has been recommended that systemic pulse oximetry and end-tidal capnography should be monitored in all mechanically ventilated patients, supported by arterial blood gases measurement. Monitoring brain oxygen in patients at risk of cerebral ischemia and/or hypoxia using brain tissue (PbtO₂) and/or jugular venous bulb oximetry (SjvO₂) has been recommended [97]. Other monitoring modalities such as ICP monitoring, CPP monitoring, transcranial Doppler, and microdialysis can also be utilized on a case-by-case basis to guide ventilation settings to achieve a favorable neurological outcome.

39.3.4 Respiratory Care of Pediatric Neurosurgical Patient on Mechanical Ventilation

Attention to simple practices in critical care can go a long way in determining outcome in ventilated patients. Following are the key recommendations of the Pediatric Mechanical Ventilation Consensus Conference (PEMVECC) for the care of pediatric patients on mechanical ventilation [87]:

- Endotracheal tubes (ETT) with high-volume low-pressure cuff are recommended for use in all children. It has been recommended that cuffed ETTs do not increase post-extubation stridor risk if cuff pressure is maintained ≤20 cm H₂O and can be used safely in pediatric patients. Cuff pressure should be routinely monitored using cuff-specific devices.
- Dead space apparatus should be minimized using appropriate circuits and swivels. Adding components after the Y piece should be avoided as it increases dead space.
- Routine use of hand ventilation should be avoided in pediatric patients. If hand ventilation is required, pressure measurement and pop-off valves should be used.

- Routine endotracheal suctioning is not recommended. The routine installation of isotonic saline before endotracheal suctioning is also not recommended.
- Chest physiotherapy has not been recommended as a standard of care due to a lack of sufficient data. However, the use of coughassist techniques has been strongly recommended for patients with neuromuscular diseases on noninvasive ventilation to prevent failure and endotracheal intubation.
- Humidification has been recommended in ventilated patients; however, there is insufficient data to recommend any particular type of humidification.
- It is recommended that the head end of the bed should be kept elevated to 30–45°.

39.3.5 Weaning and Extubation

The decision to extubate in pediatric neurocritical care is often based on subjective clinical assessment. The key determinants of successful extubation include the resolution of the patient's underlying pulmonary and neurological processes and hemodynamic stability. A patient can be considered hemodynamically stable if he has good tissue perfusion, vasopressor agents are not being used or used in low doses, and there is an absence of decompensated cardiac insufficiency or arrhythmias. Moreover, oxygenation status of the patient should be favorable, i.e., PaO₂ should be more than 60 mmHg with FiO₂ \leq 0.4 and PEEP of 5–8 cmH₂O [98].

Weaning Protocol in Pediatric Patients: The most common method of weaning used in pediatric patients is a gradual reduction of ventilator support. SIMV mode can be used for weaning by simply reducing the mandatory respiratory rate set on the ventilator. PSV mode can be used for weaning by gradually reducing the inspiratory pressure. PSV can be used along with SIMV during weaning. Extubation can be performed after the ventilatory support has been successfully tapered down or after successful daily spontaneous breathing trials (SBT) (30 min–2 h) [99]. The standard weaning criteria

used in non-neurological patients take into account parameters to assess the patient's respiratory muscle strength and the ability to maintain oxygenation with minimal ventilator support. The decision of extubation based solely on such standard weaning criteria may not be appropriate in neurosurgical patients [100]. The following are some additional considerations before extubation in neurosurgical patients.

Airway Patency: Neurosurgical patients are likely to have a higher incidence of airway compromise. Cervical spine surgery causes significant facial and laryngeal edema as it is performed in the prone position, and large amounts of fluids are given intraoperatively. Such patients are prone to develop stridor and can even require reintubation. Reintubation in such patients can be challenging due to the associated difficult airway after spine fixation surgery. Cuff leak test is a useful bedside technique to assess airway edema before extubation in these patients. For patients on ventilation modes that allow spontaneous breaths, a "cuff leak" of <110 mL between inspiratory and expiratory volumes has been shown to predict post-extubation stridor development in adults. There is no such value defined in children. However, in a retrospective study by Mhanna et al., the air leak test was found to have a low sensitivity when used as a screening test to predict post-extubation stridor in children <7 years of age [101]. Postoperative patients after posterior fossa surgery may also have issues maintaining airway patency due to the loss of airway reflexes [14]. We follow a routine practice of assessing a patient's cough reflex before considering extubation in such patients.

Airway Secretions: Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) is one of the most commonly used criteria that influence extubation in neurocritical care. Due to this, patients with GCS ≤ 8 have remained intubated. It is believed that patients with low GCS are unable to maintain airway patency. However, this practice has been challenged by some recent data that considers the presence and nature of airway secretions to play a significant role in determining the success of extubation trial. Using neurological status as an important consideration for extubation has been observed to

delay extubation. Colin et al. [102] reported that patients that had extubation delayed based on a GCS ≤ 8 had higher VAP rate, higher costs, and worse outcomes as compared to a group that was immediately extubated. It was observed that the presence of the patient's spontaneous cough and requirement of endotracheal suctioning more than hours was associated with successful extubation. Ko et al. [100] used the FOUR Scale score to distinguish those at risk for extubation failure. Still, they did not find any specific score that could distinguish successful extubation from failed extubation. Tanwar et al. [103] reported significantly higher successful extubation rate and lower reintubation rate and lower VAP rates, duration of ICU stay, and ventilation when modified airway care score was compared against the discretion of attending neurointensivist. Hence, individualized decisions should be taken based on the overall patient's clinical condition and hospital settings.

39.3.6 Role of Tracheostomy in Pediatric Neurocritical Care

Tracheostomy is not a common procedure in pediatric ICUs. Adult tracheostomies are usually performed in 1-2 weeks of ventilation. There is no similar consensus regarding the timing of tracheostomy in ventilated pediatric patients [104]. The time for insertion of a tracheostomy tube in pediatric intensive care is, on average, 14.4 days of endotracheal intubation in the United States while it is 21 days in Canada [105, 106]. Though the timing for considering tracheostomy may vary on an institutional basis, we consider early tracheostomy for all pediatric patients expected to receive prolonged ventilation due to poor neurological outcome. Early tracheostomy offers the following benefits to pediatric patients expected to require prolonged ventilation [107, 108]:

- Increases patient comfort.
- Decreases requirement of sedation.
- · Facilitates pulmonary toilet.
- Facilitates weaning from mechanical ventilation.

- Reduces incidence of VAP.
- Reduces ICU and hospital stay.

Percutaneous tracheostomy has mostly replaced the traditional surgical tracheostomy in adult patients as the procedure is simple to perform and can be done bedside in experienced hands. However, the experience with percutaneous tracheostomy in pediatric patients (especially in young children and infants) remains limited due to safety concerns and technical limitations [104].

39.4 Conclusion

Understanding and knowledge of common respiratory pathologies in postoperative pediatric patients help prevent and manage respiratory complications after neurosurgery. Optimal ventilation and oxygenation of these patients can improve the neurological outcome.

References

- Sogame LC, Vidotto MC, Jardim JR, Faresin SM. Incidence and risk factors for postoperative pulmonary complication in elective intracranial surgery. J Neurosurg. 2008;109:222–7.
- Drake JM, Riva-Cambrin J, Jea A, Auguste K, Tamber M, Lamberti-Pasculli M. Prospective surveillance of complications in a pediatric neurosurgery unit. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2010;5(6):544–8.
- von Ungern-Sternberg BS. Respiratory complications in the pediatric postanesthesia care unit. Anesthesiol Clin. 2014;32(1):45–61.
- 4. Miskovic A, Lumb AB. Postoperative pulmonary complications. Br J Anaesth. 2017;118(3):317–34.
- Kilpatrick B, Slinger P. Lung protective strategies in anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2010;105(Suppl. 1):i108–16.
- Aquilina K. Neurosurgery of the newborn. In: MacDonald MG, Seshia MMK (eds.) Avery's neonatology: pathophysiology and management of the newborn. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2015, pp. 1017–1033.
- Mathew O. Apnea of prematurity: pathogenesis and management strategies. J Perinatol. 2011;31:302–10.
- Waters KA, Forbes P, Morielli A, et al. Sleepdisordered breathing in children with myelomeningocele. J Pediatr. 1998;132(4):672–81.
- 9. Alsaadi MM, Iqbal SM, Elgamal EA, Gozal D. Sleep-disordered breathing in children with

Chiari malformation type II and myelomeningocele. Pediatr Int. 2012;54(5):623–6.

- Rodriguez-Boto G, Rivero-Garvia M, Gutierrez Gonzalez R, Marquez-Rivas J. Basic concepts about brain pathophysiology and intracranial pressure monitoring. Neurologia. 2015;30:16–22.
- Rangel-Castilla L, et al. Management of intracranial hypertension. Neurol Clin. 2008;26(2):521–41.
- McGrory BJ, Klassen RA, Chao EY, Staeheli JW, Weaver AL. Acute fractures and dislocations of the cervical spine in children and adolescents. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1993;75:988–95.
- Patel JC, Tepas JJ III, Mollitt DL, et al. Pediatric cervical spine injuries: defining the disease. J Pediatr Surg. 2001;36:373–6.
- Souter MJ, Manno EM. Ventilatory management and extubation criteria of the neurological/neurosurgical patient. Neurohospitalist. 2013;3(1):39–45.
- Krane EJ, Phillip BM, Yeh KK, Domino KB. Anaesthesia for paediatric neurosurgery. In: Smith RM, Mototyama EK, Davis PJ, editors. Smith's Anaesthesia for infants and children. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby; 2006. p. 651–84.
- Rath GP, Bithal PK, Guleria R, et al. A comparative study between preoperative and postoperative pulmonary functions and diaphragmatic movements in congenital craniovertebral junction anomalies. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2006;18(4):256–61.
- Rath GP, Bithal PK, Chaturvedi A, Dash HH. Complications related to positioning in posterior fossa craniectomy. J Clin Neurosci. 2007;14(6):520–5.
- Klimek M, Verbrugge SJ, Roubos S, van der Most E, Vincent AJ, Klein J. Awake craniotomy for glioblastoma in a 9-year-old child. Anaesthesia. 2004;59(6):607–9.
- Batuwitage B, Charters P. Postoperative management of the difficult airway. BJA Educ. 2017;17:235–41.
- Gupta B. Anesthetic concerns for difficult airway in a child with congenital hydrocephalus for ventriculoperitoneal shunt. J Clin Res Anesthesiol. 2018;1(1):1–2.
- Wells TR, Jacobs RA, Senac MO, Landing BH. Incidence of short trachea in patients with myelomeningocele. Pediatr Neurol. 1990;6(2):109–11.
- Pearson A, Matava CT. Anaesthetic management for craniosynostosis repair in children. BJA Educ. 2016;16(12):410–6.
- Kim HJ, Choi YS, Park SH, Jo JH. Difficult endotracheal intubation secondary to tracheal deviation and stenosis in a patient with severe kyphoscoliosis: a case report. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2016;69(4):386– 9. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2016.69.4.386.
- Heath KJ. The effect on laryngoscopy of different cervical spine immobilization techniques. Aanesthesia. 1994;49:843–5.

- Schwengel DA, Dalesio NM, Stierer TL. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiol Clin. 2014;32(1):237–61.
- Pawar D. Common postoperative complications in children. Indian J Anaesth. 2012;56(5):496–501.
- Mortensen A, Lenz K, Abildstrøm H, Lauritsen TL. Anesthetizing the obese child. Paediatr Anaesth. 2011;21(6):623–9.
- Brambrink AM, Braun U. Airway management in infants and children. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2005;19(4):675–97.
- 29. Cai YH, Zeng HY, Shi ZH, et al. Factors influencing delayed extubation after infratentorial craniotomy for tumour resection: a prospective cohort study of 800 patients in a Chinese neurosurgical centre. J Int Med Res. 2013;41(1):208–17.
- Swain A, Bhagat H, Sahni N, Salunke P. Mechanical ventilation in neurological and neurosurgical patients. Neurol India. 2016;64:485–93.
- Issac E, Menon G, Vasu BK, George M, Vasudevan A. Predictors of postoperative ventilation in scoliosis surgery: a retrospective analysis. Anesth Essays Res. 2018;12(2):407–11.
- Van Lindert EJ, Arts S, Blok LM, et al. Intraoperative complications in pediatric neurosurgery: review of 1807 cases. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2016;18(3):363–71.
- Bruder NJ. Awakening management after neurosurgery for intracranial tumours. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2002;15(5):477–82.
- 34. Anastasian ZH, Gaudet JG, Levitt LC, Mergeche JL, Heyer EJ, Berman MF. Factors that correlate with the decision to delay extubation after multilevel prone spine surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26(2):167–71.
- Horvat CM, Mtaweh H, Bell MJ. Management of the pediatric neurocritical care patient. Semin Neurol. 2016;36(6):492–501.
- Howard RS, Kullmann DM, Hirsch NP. Admission to neurological intensive care: who, when, and why? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:iii2–9.
- 37. Liu B, Li SQ, Zhang SM, Xu P, Zhang X, Zhang YH, et al. Risk factors of ventilator-associated pneumonia in a paediatric intensive care unit: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Dis. 2013;5(4):525–31.
- Tang CW, Liu PY, Huang YF, Pan JY, Lee SS, Hsieh KS, et al. Ventilator-associated pneumonia after paediatric cardiac surgery in southern Taiwan. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2009;42(5):413–9.
- 39. American Thoracic Society; Infectious Diseases Society of America. Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilatorassociated, and healthcare-associated pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171(4):388–416.
- Hunter JD. Ventilator associated pneumonia. BMJ. 2012;344:e3325.
- Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilator-associated, and healthcareassociated pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171:388–416.

- Kollef MH, Silver P, Murphy DM, Trovillion E. The effect of late-onset ventilator-associated pneumonia in determining patient mortality. Chest. 1995;108:1655–62.
- 43. Ferrer M, Liapikou A, Valencia M, et al. Validation of the American Thoracic Society-Infectious Diseases Society of America guidelines for hospital-acquired pneumonia in the intensive care unit. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(7):945–52.
- 44. Martin-Loeches I, Deja M, Koulenti D, et al. Potentially resistant microorganisms in intubated patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia: the interaction of ecology, shock and risk factors. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39(4):672–81.
- 45. Martin-Loeches I, Povoa P, Rodríguez A, et al. Incidence and prognosis of ventilator-associated tracheobronchitis (TAVeM): a multicentre, prospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med. 2015;3(11):859–68.
- 46. Gastmeier P, Sohr D, Geffers C, Rüden H, Vonberg RP, Welte T. Early- and late-onset pneumonia: is this still a useful classification? Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;53(7):2714–8.
- Aelami MH, Lotfi M, Zingg W. Ventilatorassociated pneumonia in neonates, infants and children. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2014;3:30.
- 48. American Thoracic Society, Infectious Diseases Society of America. Guidelines for the management of adults with hospital-acquired, ventilatorassociated, and healthcare-associated pneumonia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171:388.
- Charles P, Kali A, Easow JM, et al. Ventilatorassociated pneumonia. Australas Med J. 2014;7(8):334–44.
- 50. Hunter JD. Ventilator associated pneumonia. Postgrad Med. 2006;82:172–8.
- Safdar N, Crnich CJ, Maki DG. The pathogenesis of ventilator-associated pneumonia: its relevance to developing effective strategies for prevention. Respir Care. 2005;50(6):725–41.
- Zar HJ, Cotton MF. Nosocomial pneumonia in pediatric patients: practical problems and rational solutions. Paediatr Drugs. 2002;4(2): 73–83.
- 53. Wu VKS, Fong C, Walters AM, Lele AV. Prevalence, clinical characteristics, and outcomes related to ventilator-associated events in neurocritically III patients [published online ahead of print 2020]. Neurocrit Care. 2020:1–9.
- Klompas M. Complications of mechanical ventilation–the CDC's new surveillance paradigm. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1472–5.
- 55. Alcan AO, van Giersbergen MY, Dincarslan G, Hepcivici Z, Kaya E, Uyar M. Effect of patient position on endotracheal cuff pressure in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients. Aust Crit Care. 2017;30:267–72.
- Pittet D, Zingg W. Reducing ventilator-associated pneumonia: when process control allows outcome improvement and even benchmarking. Crit Care Med. 2010;38(3):983–4.

- Govindan S, Hyzy RC. The 2016 guidelines for hospital-acquired and ventilator-associated pneumonia. a selection correction? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194(6):658–60.
- Foglia E, Meier MD, Elward A. Ventilatorassociated pneumonia in neonatal and pediatric intensive care unit patients. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2007;20(3):409–25.
- 59. Toltzis P, Hoyen C, Spinner-Block S, Salvator AE, Rice LB. Factors that predict preexisting colonization with antibiotic-resistant gram negative bacilli in patients admitted to a pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatrics. 1999;103:719–23.
- Toltzis P, Yamashita T, Vilt L, Blumer JL. Colonization with antibiotic-resistant gramnegative organisms in a pediatric intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 1997;25:538–44.
- Jacobs RF. Nosocomial pneumonia in children. Infection. 1991;19:64–72.
- Busl KM. Healthcare-associated infections in the neurocritical care unit. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2019;19(10):76.
- 63. Brook I. Treatment of aspiration or tracheostomyassociated pneumonia in neurologically impaired children: effect of antimicrobials effective against anaerobic bacteria. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 1996;35:171–7.
- 64. Mascia L, Zavala E, Bosma K, Pasero D, Decaroli D, Andrews P, Isnardi D, Davi A, Arguis MJ, Berardino M, Ducati A. High tidal volume is associated with the development of acute lung injury after severe brain injury: an international observational study. Crit Care Med. 2007;35:1815–20.
- 65. Parvathaneni K, Belani S, Leung D, Newth CJ, Khemani RG. Evaluating the performance of the pediatric acute lung injury consensus conference definition of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2017;18(1):17–25.
- 66. Gupta S, Sankar J, Lodha R, Kabra SK. Comparison of prevalence and outcomes of pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome using pediatric acute lung injury consensus conference criteria and berlin definition. Front Pediatr. 2018;6:93.
- 67. Quasney MW, López-Fernández YM, Santschi M, Watson RS. Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference Group. The outcomes of children with pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome: proceedings from the Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2015;16(5 Suppl 1):S118–31.
- Orloff KE, Turner DA, Rehder KJ. The current state of pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatr Allergy Immunol Pulmonol. 2019;32(2):35–44.
- 69. Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference Group. Pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome: consensus recommendations from the Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2015;16:428–39.

- Gattinoni L, Caironi P, Cressoni M, et al. Lung recruitment in patients with the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(17):1775–86.
- Nakahata K, Kinoshita H, Hirano Y, Kimoto Y, Iranami H, Hatano Y. Mild hypercapnia induces vasodilation via adenosine triphosphate-sensitive K+ channels in parenchymal microvessels of the rat cerebral cortex. Anesthesiology. 2003;99:1333–9.
- Van Hulst RA, Hasan D, Lachmann B. Intracranial pressure, brain PCO₂, PO₂, and pH during hypo- and hyperventilation at constant mean airway pressure in pigs. Intensive Care Med. 2002;28:68–73.
- Vannucci RC, Towfighi J, Brucklacher RM, Vannucci SJ. Effect of extreme hypercapnia on hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in the immature rat. Pediatr Res. 2001;49:799–803.
- Akça O. Optimizing the intraoperative management of carbon dioxide concentration. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2006;19:19–25.
- Davison DL, Terek M, Chawla LS. Neurogenic pulmonary edema. Crit Care. 2012;16(2):212. Published 2012 Dec 12
- Reuter-Rice K, Duthie S, Hamrick J. Neurogenic pulmonary edema associated with pediatric status epilepticus. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2011;27(10) :957–8.
- Sacher DC, Yoo EJ. Recurrent acute neurogenic pulmonary edema after uncontrolled seizures. Case Rep Pulmonol. 2018;2018:3483282.
- Nair BT, Surendran S, Yadav D. Neurogenic pulmonary edema in a child with status epilepticus. J Assoc Chest Physicians. 2016;4:18–20.
- Busl KM, Bleck TP. Neurogenic pulmonary edema. Crit Care Med. 2015;43(8):1710–5.
- Colice GL. Neurogenic pulmonary edema. Clin Chest Med. 1985;6(3):473–89.
- Finsterer J. Neurological perspectives of neurogenic pulmonary edema. Eur Neurol. 2019;81(1–2):94–102.
- Padley JR, Feneley MP, Hayward CS, Markus R. Neurocardiogenic pulmonary oedema: initial presentation of multiple sclerosis. Heart Lung Circ. 2012;21:853–5.
- Wohns RN, Tamas L, Pierce KR, Howe JF. Chlorpromazine treatment for neurogenic pulmonary edema. Crit Care Med. 1985;13:210–1.
- Williams CN, Piantino J, McEvoy C, Fino N, Eriksson CO. The burden of pediatric neurocritical care in the United States. Pediatr Neurol. 2018;89:31–8.
- Safar P, Escarraga LA, Chang F. Upper airway obstruction in the unconscious patient. J Appl Physiol. 1959;14:760–4.
- Shelly MP, Nightingale P. ABC of intensive care: respiratory support. BMJ. 1999;318(7199):1674–7.
- 87. Kneyber MCJ, de Luca D, Calderini E, et al. Recommendations for mechanical ventilation of critically ill children from the Paediatric Mechanical

Ventilation Consensus Conference (PEMVECC). Intensive Care Med. 2017;43(12):1764–80.

- Pacheco GS, Mendelson J, Gaspers M. Pediatric ventilator management in the emergency department. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 2018;36(2):401–13.
- Singer BD, Corbridge TC. Pressure modes of invasive mechanical ventilation. Southern Med J. 2011;104:701–9.
- Tung A, Morgan SE. Modeling the effect of progressive endotracheal tube occlusion on tidal volume in pressure-control mode. Anesth Analg. 2002;95(1):192–7.
- Koh SO. Mode of mechanical ventilation: volumecontrolled mode. Crit Care Clin. 2007;23(2):161–7.
- American Heart Association. Pediatric advanced life support provider manual. American Heart Association; 2006.
- 93. Muench E, Bauhuf C, Roth H, et al. Effects of positive end expiratory pressure on regional cerebral blood flow, intracranial pressure and brain tissue oxygenation. Crit Care Med. 2005;33(10):2367–72.
- 94. Kallet RH, Branson RD. Should oxygen therapy be tightly regulated to minimize hyperoxia in critically III patients? Respir Care. 2016;61(6):801–17.
- 95. Rimensberger PC, Cheifetz IM. Ventilatory support in children with pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome: proceedings from the pediatric acute lung injury consensus conference. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2015;16(5 Suppl. 1):S51–60.
- 96. Hill, Laureen L. MD; Pearl, Ronald G. MD, PhD, FCCM Flow triggering, pressure triggering, and autotriggering during mechanical ventilation, Crit Care Med 2000;28(2):579-581.
- 97. Le Roux P, Menon DK, Citerio G, et al. Consensus summary statement of the International Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference on Multimodality Monitoring in Neurocritical Care: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40(9):1189–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00134-014-3369-6.
- 98. MacIntyre NR, Cook DJ, Ely EW, et al. Evidencebased guidelines for weaning and discontinuing ventilatory support: a collective task force facilitated by the American College of Chest Physicians; the American Association for Respiratory Care; and the American College of Critical Care Medicine. Chest. 2001;120(6 Suppl):375S–95S.
- Newth CJ, Venkataraman S, Willson DF, et al. Weaning and extubation readiness in pediatric patients. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2009;10(1):1–11.
- 100. Ko R, Ramos L, Chalela JA. Conventional weaning parameters do not predict extubation failure in neurocritical care patients. Neurocrit Care. 2009;10:269–73.
- 101. Mhanna MJ, Zamel YB, Tichy CM, Super DM. The "air leak" test around the endotracheal tube, as a predictor of postextubation stridor, is age dependent in children. Crit Care Med. 2002;30(12):2639–43.

- 102. Coplin WM, Pierson DJ, Cooley KD, Newell DW, Rubenfeld GD. Implications of extubation delay in brain injured patients meeting standard weaning criteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;161(5):1530–6.
- 103. Tanwar G, Singh U, Kundra S, Chaudhary AK, Kaytal S, Grewal A. Evaluation of airway care score as a criterion for extubation in patients admitted in neurosurgery intensive care unit. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2019;35(1):85–91.
- Watters KF. Tracheostomy in infants and children. Respir Care. 2017;62(6):799–825.
- 105. Wood D, McShane P, Davis P. Tracheostomy in children admitted to paediatric intensive care. Arch Dis Child. 2012;97(10):866–9.

- 106. Wakeham MK, Kuhn EM, Lee KJ, McCrory MC, Scanlon MC. Use of tracheostomy in the PICU among patients requiring prolonged mechanical ventilation. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40(6):863–70.
- 107. Ishaque S, Haque A, Qazi SH, et al. Elective tracheostomy in critically Ill children: a 10-year single-center experience from a lower-middle income country. Cureus. 2020;12(7):e9080.
- 108. Pizza A, Picconi E, Piastra M, Genovese O, Biasucci DG, Conti G. Early versus late tracheostomy in pediatric intensive care unit: does it matter? A 6-year experience. Minerva Anestesiol. 2017;83(8):836–43.



40

Brain Death and Organ Donation in Children

Prasanna Udupi Bidkar 💿 and Srinivasan Swaminathan

Key Points

- There is a worldwide increase in demand for organs for transplantation.
- Initial guidelines released for the management of brain-dead organ donors were not specific for the pediatric population, and hence, it led to update of existing guidelines with recommendations specific for pediatric age group.
- Clinical criteria are sufficient to diagnose brain death in children, and ancillary tests are only supplementary to the neurological examination.
- Several pathophysiological changes occur after brain death, which may lead to impairment of multiple organ functions.
- Aggressive hemodynamic support with agespecific consideration is important in managing pediatric brain-dead donors to improve the success of organ retrieval.

40.1 Introduction

With the improvement in supportive medical care for critical illnesses, the demand for transplantation organs is increasing worldwide. In the USA,

P. U. Bidkar (🖂) · S. Swaminathan

about 112,000 people were waiting for a transplant in 2019, with the total number of transplants done being only 39,718 with 19,267 donors [1]. The organ donation rate in India is one of the lowest globally, with 0.86 per million population compared to the countries like the USA, where the rate is about 31.96 per million population [2]. Although the exact statistics of patients waiting for transplantation are not available in India, the number far exceeds the organs available for transplantation. The live donor transplantation alone cannot match the demand for organs. Hence, the only way to increase the availability of the organs is by retrieving organs from brain-dead patients and cadaveric organ donors.

As in adults, the diagnosis of brain death in infants and children is established by careful medical history and detailed neurological examination. The guidelines for determining brain death in adults have been updated and published periodically [3–5]. However, to date, there are no universally accepted criteria for the determination of brain death in adults or children [6-9]. A consensus report of the ad hoc committee of Harvard in 1968 was the first to define cerebral death as a new criterion of death [10]. The American Neurological Association (ANA) in 1975 reviewed the Harvard criteria of 1968 about children. They concluded that the existing criteria could be inapplicable for children under 5 years of age. There were indications that the

Division of Neuroanaesthesiology, Department of Anaesthesiology and Critical Care, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), Pondicherry, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_40

immature nervous system could survive significant periods of electrocerebral silence. The conclusion was based on a case report by Green and Lauber (1972), who described a 5-year-old child who became comatose after severe liver failure [11]. In 1977, a retrospective collaborative study on brain death was performed with strict criteria that all appropriate diagnostic and therapeutic procedures, including a toxicological screening, be performed to determine the cause of brain death [12]. However, a conclusion could not be arrived based on the age specificity of their criteria and its relation to eventual death. The Uniform Determination of Death Act was adopted as part of the President's Commission report in 1981. The commission concerning pediatric brain death recommended caution while applying neurological criteria to determine brain death in children less than 5 years. There were no agespecific guidelines in the report [13]. A special task force for determining brain death was gathered in 1987 to recommend guidelines specific for children [14]. These consensus-based guidelines were developed because the preexisting guidelines of the President's Commission failed to address the criteria to determine brain death in children adequately. Recommendations were made on age-related observation periods and the requirement for specific neurodiagnostic tests for children younger than 1 year.

Although there is a general agreement on the practice of these guidelines [15, 16], there are still criticisms about their application, particularly in young infants [17, 18]. The older 1987 task force guidelines were recently updated in 2011 [19] by another special task force; various pediatric societies endorsed it.

40.2 Definition of Brain Death

According to the Uniform Determination of Death Act 1981 [20], death can be defined in two ways. "An individual who sustains (a) irreversible cessation of respiratory and circulatory functions, or (b) irreversible cessation of all the functions of the brain, including the brain stem" is dead.

40.3 Epidemiology of Brain Death in Children

In the USA, the incidence of brain death was found to be approximately 2.06% of all hospital deaths [21]. The incidence of established brain death is not known in India. The southern Indian states like Tamil Nadu and Kerala (data from MOHAN foundation) lead in the declaration of brain death and, subsequently, organ donation. Most of these patients are adults, with very few pediatric patients declared as brain dead.

40.4 Etiology of Brain Death

Brain death is commonly observed in adolescent children and is less common in infants and newborns. Hypoxic-ischemic injury is the most common cause of brain death in infants and younger children, whereas traumatic brain injury (TBI) is the leading cause in older children [22]. The various etiologies of brain death are listed in Table 40.1.

40.5 Brain Death Determination in Children

As in adults, the clinical criteria are sufficient for establishing brain death in infants and children. There are some physiological and anatomical differences in children that require consideration in the brain-death declaration. Neonates and infants have open fontanelles and patent sutures, which prevent an abrupt increase in intracranial pressure (ICP), decreasing the reliability of cer-

| Tab | le | 40 | .1 | Etio | logy | of | brain | death | in | chile | dren |
|-----|----|----|----|------|------|----|-------|-------|----|-------|------|
|-----|----|----|----|------|------|----|-------|-------|----|-------|------|

| Traumatic brain injury |
|------------------------------|
| Intracranial hemorrhage |
| Gunshot wound |
| • Asphyxia |
| Cardiovascular disease |
| Drowning |
| Seizures/status epilepticus |
| Drug associated |
| Sudden infant death syndrome |
| |

tain ancillary tests such as radionuclide cerebral blood flow (CBF) studies. A pupillary examination can be difficult in neonates and smaller infants. Small airways in neonates can affect apnea testing if tracheal insufflation is used [22].

40.6 Neurological Examination

Neurological examination is divided into three parts for the diagnosis of brain death.

- Irreversible coma.
- Absence of brainstem reflexes.
- Apnea testing.

40.6.1 Prerequisites of Neurologic Evaluation

There are some confounding factors which mimic the clinical manifestation of brain death (Table 40.2). The patient should be evaluated for these factors and treated before proceeding for further neurologic evaluation.

- Hypoxia, hypotension, hypothermia, and metabolic disturbances can affect the neurologic evaluation, and hence, these factors should be corrected beforehand.
- The patient should not be under the effect of sedatives, hypnotics, opioids, neuromuscular blocking agents, and anticonvulsants. The medication chart should be verified about the dosage and timing, and the drugs should be discontinued for an amount of time based on their half-lives. When in doubt, the plasma levels of each drug should be determined before proceeding for neurologic evaluation. When the drugs' levels are higher than the therapeutic range, the brain death diagnosis

Table 40.2 Clinical conditions mimicking brain death

| Hypothermia |
|------------------------|
| Hypotension |
| • Hypoxia |
| Metabolic disturbances |
| CNS sedatives |
| Antiepileptics |
| |

should not be attempted. Even when the drug levels are lesser than the therapeutic range, ancillary or confirmatory tests should be performed to establish brain death if there is doubt about their effects.

 Neurological examination may be unreliable immediately following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Hence, neurologic evaluation for brain death should be postponed for a period of at least 24–48 h.

40.6.2 Coma

"Establishing the irreversible nature of coma" is the first step of neurological examination during brain-death diagnosis. There must be sufficient clinical and/or radiological evidence for serious irreversible brain injury. There is an absence of any response (eye-opening or motor movements) to painful stimuli (GCS 3/15). However, spinally mediated reflexes may be present, which should be carefully distinguished from cortical-mediated motor activity.

40.6.3 Assessment of Brainstem Reflexes

The patient should be evaluated for the presence of brainstem reflexes. All the brainstem reflexes will be absent when brain death occurs.

- Bilaterally dilated or mid-position pupil with absent light reflex.
- Absent cough, gag, sucking, and rooting reflexes.
- Absent corneal reflex.
- Absent oculo-vestibular reflex (caloric test).

Before performing a cold caloric test, the patency of the ear canal and intactness of tympanic membrane should be verified. Then the head end of the bed is to be elevated to 30° . The ear canal is irrigated with 10-50 ml of ice-cold water, and any movements in the eyes is noted. In patients with brain death, the movement of the eyes will be absent. This test should be repeated on the other side as well.

40.6.4 Apnea Test

Documenting apnea is one of the most important tests for establishing the diagnosis of brain death. The prerequisites for conducting an apnea test include a relatively stable patient with good oxygenation status along with the minimum requirement of positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP), the core temperature > 36 °C, and blood pressure in the normal range for the age (Table 40.3). Under controlled conditions, when the patient is disconnected from the ventilator, the resultant hypercapnia will stimulate the respiratory center with the initiation of breath-

ing. The detailed procedure for carrying out apnea testing is shown in Fig. 40.1. After a period of apnea of 8 min, the $PaCO_2$ of more

 Table 40.3
 Blood pressure targets according to the age of child

| | Systolic blood | Diastolic blood |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Age of the child | pressure (mmHg) | pressure (mmHg) |
| Neonate | 60–90 | 35-60 |
| Infants | 80–95 | 50-65 |
| Toddlers | 85-100 | 50-65 |
| 6-10 years | 90–115 | 60–70 |
| Adolescent (12–15 years) | 110–130 | 65–80 |



Fig. 40.1 Steps for apnea test

than 60 mmHg or 20 mmHg above the baseline is consistent with brain-death diagnosis. Although very rare, cases have been reported describing irregular breaths or minimal breathing effort in children with $PaCO_2$ more than 60 mmHg, who otherwise satisfied all other criteria for brain death [19]. Apnea testing is not recommended in children with chronic hypoxemia due to cyanotic congenital cardiac disease with the right-to-left shunt [22].

40.7 Number of Examinations and the Observation Period

In newborns, the brain is immature, and it is also difficult to carry out the detailed neurological examination in the sedated and intubated patients. Hence, it is important to have a longer observation period as compared to older children and adults. Based on the available literature, the special task force (2011) recommends performing two neurological examinations, including apnea testing with an observation period of 24 h for neonates (>37 weeks to 30 days) and 12 h (>30 days to 18 years) for infants and children between two examinations [19, 23, 24]. The first examination checks whether the child has met the clinical criteria for the diagnosis of brain death, and the second examination confirms the diagnosis of brain death. When there is a need for a reduction in the observation period, ancillary tests may be carried out for establishing the diagnosis of brain death.

40.8 Brain Death Determination in Preterm Neonates

Data concerning the diagnosis of brain death in preterm neonates is limited. The neurological examination of the preterm neonate for meeting criteria for brain death is difficult as some of the brainstem reflexes are not fully developed in these subsets of patients. Moreover, the level of consciousness in a sedated and intubated preterm neonate is difficult to be assessed. As there is insufficient data to make a conclusion regarding neurological examination and period of observation, the determination of brain death in the preterm neonate has been excluded from the current 2011 guidelines [19].

40.9 Number of Physicians Required for Diagnosing Brain Death

A single physician can diagnose brain death; however, in India, as per the Transplantation of Human Organs Act (THOA) 1994, brain death needs to be certified by four physicians for the purpose of organ procurement for transplantation [25]. The team includes the patient's treating physician, the in-charge doctor for the hospital where the patient is being treated, a neurologist or a neurosurgeon, and an independent specialist approved by the competent authority. In the case of the nonavailability of a neurosurgeon or neurologist, an anesthesiologist or intensivist can certify brain death for the procurement of organs (THOA Amendment 2011). The multidisciplinary committee, under the American College of Critical Care Medicine, which revised and updated the 1987 task force recommendation, suggests that two different attending physicians should be involved in the diagnosis of brain death. They should ensure that the diagnosis is based on the currently established criteria for brain death, there are no conflicts of interest in establishing the diagnosis, and there is consensus by at least two physicians involved in the care of the child that the criteria are met.

40.10 Ancillary Tests

Clinical criteria are alone sufficient for establishing the diagnosis of brain death. However, in some cases, ancillary testing may be required for confirmation of brain death; they are as below:

• When all the components of the neurological examination and apnea testing cannot be performed due to the medical condition of the patient.

- If there is uncertainty about the test and results.
- If suspected medication effects.
- To reduce the observation period between the two tests.

When the ancillary tests are to be performed, examination, similar to the neurological parameters like hypotension, hypoxia, and metabolic disturbances should be corrected. Pharmacologic agents like barbiturates. benzodiazepines, and opioids can affect the test; hence, these drugs should be discontinued based on their half-lives. A variety of tests are available, and each test has its own advantages and limitations. The point to remember here is ancillary tests cannot replace the clinical examination; that is why these tests are named ancillary rather than confirmatory tests.

Electroencephalogram (EEG) is widely available and, in association with clinical parameters, can be used to diagnose brain death. EEG should be isoelectric for 30 min with no electrical activity of more than 2 µV for establishing brain death. Performing EEG in pediatric patients, as well as its interpretation, poses a unique challenge due to greater artifacts, shorter interelectrode distance, and reduced cortical potential in preterm neonates [26]. EEG may be affected by the central nervous system (CNS)-depressant drugs like barbiturates, benzodiazepines, etc. The physiologic parameters like hypothermia and hypotension may also affect the EEG recording.

Four-vessel angiography is, by far, considered the "gold standard" for the diagnosis of brain death. The criteria for brain death using four-vessel angiography include filling external carotid arteries confirming proper contrast delivery and absence of flow in internal carotid arteries beyond the level of the clinoid process, in vertebral arteries beyond dural penetration, and no flow in internal cerebral veins. The disadvantages of this test are that it is invasive, unstable patients need to be shifted to radiology suite, and the study period is prolonged.

Radionuclide Imaging: Several radionuclide studies have been used in the past to demonstrate the cessation of intracranial circulation [27].

Most centers use single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) scanning with Technetium⁹⁹ HMPAO (hexamethyl propylene amine oxide) as an isotopic agent. Technetium⁹⁹ HMPAO is lipophilic and also enables inspection of cerebral parenchyma perfusion in stable imaging. Several studies have evaluated the efficacy of radionuclide imaging in diagnosing brain death and are found to be accurate and reproducible [28–31]. This technique has been compared to other techniques like CBF studies [26, 32–34]. This imaging technique is more useful when a drug-induced suppression of EEG is suspected.

Computed tomographic (CT) angiography and perfusion have been used in adults to establish the diagnosis of brain death [35, 36]. No such studies are available in pediatric patients. Nevertheless, CT angiography appears to be a promising tool for determining brain death in the future.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Angiography (MRA): The MRI can give additional details, which help diagnose brain death. These include brain herniations, absent vascular flow, poor gray and white matter differentiation, and no intracranial enhancement on contrast. Non-visualization of the internal carotid artery beyond the supraclinoid area indicates absent intracranial circulation [37] and signifies brain death.

Transcranial doppler (TCD) may be utilized for establishing brain death. The absence of intracranial flow or short systolic peaks indicates malignant intracranial hypertension and cerebral circulatory arrest (CCA). However, to confirm CCA with TCD, prior recording of flow velocities in the intracranial vessels is necessary. The insonation of vessels is not possible in 10–30% of patients due to thick temporal bones. Some studies have shown a high rate of false-negative results, low specificity, and sensitivity when used for brain-death confirmation [38–40]. The advantage of TCD is it is noninvasive and can be used as a bedside monitor.

Positive emission tomography (PET) scan has been used in the literature to diagnose brain death [41]. The main disadvantages of PET are its limited availability and cost. Hence, it fails to offer additional advantages over other standard ancillary tests.

Xenon computed tomography (Xenon CT) can be used for both quantitative and regional measurements of CBF. There is a good level of agreement between CBF measurement and EEG for the diagnosis of brain death. However, this technique is routinely not available, and also it requires shifting the patient to a radiology suite.

40.11 Physiological Changes Following Brain Death

The brain is the master organ controlling all the other organs of the body. With irreversible brain damage, several physiological changes are noticed in the organs (Fig. 40.2).

40.11.1 Management of Brain-Dead Organ Donor

Once the decision for organ procurement is made following consultation with families, the entire focus of patient management shifts toward vital organs preservation for transplantation. Strategies to decrease the ICP are discontinued, and efforts are made to provide optimal perfusion to the vital organs. Aggressive donor management in the intensive care unit (ICU) is associated with improved organ retrieval [42, 43]. This also leads to a better quality of organs and improved graft function following transplantation [42–44]. Age-specific optimal hemodynamic targets should be achieved in pediatric organ donors (Table 40.4) [45].



Fig. 40.2 Changes following brain death

| Parameters | Targets | | |
|-----------------|------------------------------|--|--|
| Hemodynamic | Systolic blood pressure | | |
| support | appropriate for age | | |
| | CVP 4–12 mmHg | | |
| | Dopamine <10 µg/kg/min | | |
| Oxygenation and | $PaO_2 > 100 \text{ mmHg}$ | | |
| ventilation | FiO ₂ 0.4 | | |
| | PaCO ₂ 35–45 mmHg | | |
| | Arterial pH 7.3-7.45 | | |
| | Tidal volume 8–10 ml/kg | | |
| Electrolytes | Serum sodium 130-150 meq/L | | |
| | Serum potassium 3–5 meq/L | | |
| | Serum glucose 120–140 mg/dl | | |
| | Ionized calcium | | |
| | 0.8–1.2 mmol/L | | |
| Urine output | 0.5–3 ml/kg/h | | |
| Temperature | Core body temperature | | |
| | 36–38 °C | | |
| | | | |

Table 40.4 Goals for optimizing hemodynamics in pediatric brain-dead organ donor

The management of hemodynamics is more complex in a patient with brain death. Rise in ICP following brain death leads to an autonomic or sympathetic storm. Various other complications that occur following brain death include hypotension (81%), diabetes insipidus (DI) (65%), cardiac arrhythmias (25%), pulmonary edema (18%), coagulation abnormalities (28%), and metabolic acidosis (11%) [46].

40.11.2 Sympathetic Storm

Malignant increases in ICP leads to cerebral ischemia. This causes a massive release of catecholamines. Although it is transient, it can lead to increased myocardial stress, myocardial ischemia, and end-organ failure. Treatment with antihypertensives is generally not necessary. However, if required, short-acting antihypertensives such as esmolol, labetalol, sodium nitroprusside, or hydralazine may be used. These drugs should be used judiciously with titration to the response. Longer-acting antihypertensives may compound the problems of hemodynamic management once the phase of sympathetic storm passes off; hence, these agents should be avoided.

40.11.3 Hypotension

Hemodynamic parameters vary with age and should be considered during the management of a pediatric organ donor. Hypotension after brain death can be due to multiple factors. After brain death, the sympathetic flow decreases, leading to sympathetic tone and profound loss of vasodilatation. This results in a sudden onset of hypotension. Patients with raised ICP receive osmotic diuretics, hypertonic solutions, and diuretics to manage cerebral edema. Additionally, many centers follow fluid restriction for the management of raised ICP. All these interventions may cause intravascular volume depletion resulting in hypotension. The DI following brain death can further reduce intravascular volume. The associated increases in urine output due to DI can cause hypovolemia, further contributing to hypotension.

Any sign of ongoing blood loss (external, gastrointestinal, urinary) should be checked and treated. Hypotension can occur secondary to certain medications, including beta-blockers and antihypertensives, which need to be discontinued. The management of these children includes the restoration of intravascular volume and maintenance of optimum blood pressure to the age, with or without the use of vasopressor or inotropic agents and hormone replacement therapy.

Hypernatremia may occur due to concurrent DI and should be treated with crystalloids with balanced salt content. Ringer's lactate and 0.45% saline are frequently used. 0.9% normal saline may cause hyperchloremic acidosis and increases renal vascular resistance. Excessive administration of the IV fluids containing 5% dextrose may lead to severe hyperglycemia and hypothermia. Colloids are avoided as resuscitation fluids as their use is associated with renal failure, delayed graft function, and coagulation abnormalities [47, 48]. A central line may be ensured in all patients for monitoring of central venous pressure (CVP). The optimal volume status to be achieved in a brain-dead organ donor is controversial; it also depends upon the

organ to be harvested. In lung transplantation cases, a significant increase in the alveolar-arterial oxygen gradient was seen in those who achieved a CVP of 8-10 mmHg compared to those whose CVP was maintained at 4-6 mmHg [49]. Some of the studies recommend a CVP of 10–12 mmHg in cases where abdominal organs alone are procured, a CVP of less than 8 mmHg if lungs are to be harvested, and a CVP of 8–10 mmHg in cases where both abdominal and thoracic organs need to be harvested [50]. In all these cases, a target of euvolemia is important for the maintenance of hemodynamics. Dopamine and adrenaline infusions may also be titrated to the desired effect. Additional serum lactate levels and mixed venous oxygen saturation (SvO_2) can be used as myocardial performance indicators. Hormone replacement therapy with a combination of methylprednisolone, thyroid hormone, and vasopressin has been recommended to improve hemodynamics, especially in cases where ejection fraction is less than 40% [51].

40.11.4 Arrhythmias

The patients may develop arrhythmias during a sympathetic storm or following brain death. Prolonged hypotension secondary to arrhythmia leads to decreased cardiac output, myocardial ischemia, and metabolic acidosis. Electrolyte abnormalities in these children can induce arrhythmias. These arrhythmias should be managed according to standard protocols.

40.11.5 Fluid and Electrolyte Disturbances

These are prevalent associations in brain-dead patients. The commonly encountered scenarios include dehydration, DI, hypernatremia, hypokalemia, and hypocalcemia. Prompt correction of these abnormalities is essential for optimal organ perfusion and retrieval of good quality organs.

40.11.6 Diabetes Insipidus

Hypothalamic dysfunction results in decreased antidiuretic hormone resulting in increased urine increased serum osmolality, output, and hypernatremia. The resultant hypovolemia may lead to cardiovascular collapse. Hypernatremia is associated with graft failures in patients with liver transplantation. The management of DI includes optimal fluid management using 0.45% normal saline along with the use of vasopressin (0.5 mU/kg/h) or desmopressin (0.5 µg/h IV) infusions. Glucose-containing solutions are avoided as hyperglycemia can lead to osmotic diuresis.

40.11.7 Hypothermia

Hypothermia is one more manifestation of hypothalamic dysfunction: Profound vasodilatation and inability to compensate for heat loss results in hypothermia. Hypothermia leads to diuresis, coagulation abnormalities, myocardial dysfunction, and arrhythmias. Active and passive warming techniques can be used to avoid these complications. Also, before apnea test, the core temperature should be ensured to more than 36 °C.

40.11.8 Coagulation Abnormalities

Release of tissue thromboplastin following brain injury, infusion of excessive fluids resulting in dilution of coagulation factors, and hypothermia can contribute to the coagulopathy following brain death. Coagulopathy should be corrected using blood components before shifting the donor to the operation theater for organ retrieval.

40.11.9 Oliguria

Hypovolemia and hypotension can reduce kidney perfusion and urine output. A urine output of 1 ml/kg/h should be maintained with volume resuscitation and inotropes for harvesting kidneys for transplantation.

40.11.10 Hormone Replacement Therapy

Although very little evidence is available for the pediatric population, hormone replacement therapy is commonly used in pediatric brain-dead organ donors. Thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3) are the available supplements to replace depleted thyroid hormones. T4 0.8–1.4 µg/kg/h is commonly used for the replacement of thyroid hormones. The use of thyroid hormone is shown to have reduced the need for inotropic support [52]. The use of these hormones appears to be advantageous in scenarios of refractory hypotension, even with fluid and inotropic support [53]. Methylprednisolone 15 mg/kg is commonly used to replace steroids in brain-dead donors; it may have a vital role in potential patients for lung donation. In patients with established DI with hypotension, vasopressin 0.5 mU/kg/h may be used to control DI as well as to reduce the requirement of ionotropic support [54]. However, in patients with DI with hemodynamic stability, a more selective agent like desmopressin 0.5 µg/h IV is to be used for control of urine output.

40.11.11 Management of the Lung

In patients with brain death, lungs can be damaged due to blunt trauma, inhalation or thermal injury, and aspiration pneumonia. Neurogenic pulmonary edema following a neurologic injury can also lead to significant hypoxemia. Lung protective strategies can be employed during mechanical ventilation. The target partial pressure of the arterial oxygenation (PaO₂) should be more than 100 mmHg or arterial oxygen saturation (SpO₂) of more than 95% with an inspired concentration of the arterial oxygenation (FiO₂) less than or equal to 0.4. Infusion of excessive fluid can lead to increased lung water, making them non-suitable for lung transplantation. Reduced fluids can, in turn, affect kidney perfusion. In adults, it has been shown that restricted fluid infusion is associated with more availability of lungs for transplantation without affecting the quality of kidneys for transplantation [55].

40.11.12 Glucose Metabolism

Supplementation of steroids, catecholamine infusions, and no glucose usage by the brain result in hyperglycemia following brain death. This hyperglycemia can result in osmotic diuresis and exacerbation of intravascular volume depletion. Hence, dextrose-containing solutions are avoided, and insulin infusions are used to control blood sugar at a range of 120–140 mg/dl.

40.12 Conclusion

Worldwide, there is an increasing demand for organs for transplantation. The requirement can be partially fulfilled by procuring organs from brain-dead patients. Since the adult brain-dead donor recommendation cannot be applied to the pediatric age group, guidelines have been updated, which are specific for the management of potential pediatric brain-dead organ donors. Like adults, clinical criteria alone are sufficient to establish brain death in children. Ancillary tests are supplementary and do not replace neurological examination. Hemodynamic and organ-specific targets for optimization in pediatrics should be decided based on the age of organ donors. Aggressive management of brain-dead donors is associated with an increased number and better quality of organs for transplantation.

References

- 1. https://www.organdonor.gov/statistics-stories/statistics.html (accessed online on 0109/2020).
- http://organindia.org/make-a-pledge (accessed online on 01/09/2020).
- Anon. Guidelines for the determination of death: report of the medical consultants on the diagnosis of death to the President's commission for the study of

ethical problems in medicine and biochemical and behavioral research. JAMA. 1981;246:2184–6.

- The Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Practice parameters for determining brain death in adults (summary statement). Neurology. 1995;45:1012–4.
- Wijdicks EF, Varelas PN, Gronseth GS, Greer DM, American Academy of Neurology. Evidence-based guideline update: determining brain death in adults: report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology. 2010;74:1911–8.
- Haupt WF, Rudolf J. European brain death codes: a comparison of national guidelines. J Neurol. 1999;246:432–7.
- Wijdicks EF. Brain death worldwide: accepted fact but no global consensus in diagnostic criteria. Neurology. 2002;58:20–5.
- Greer DM, Wang HH, Robinson JD, Varelas PN, Henderson GV, Wijdicks EF. Variability of brain death policies in the United States. JAMA Neurol. 2016;73:213–8.
- Wahlster S, Wijdicks EF, Patel PV, Greer DM, Hemphill JC, Carone M, Mateen FJ. Brain death declaration: practices and perceptions worldwide. Neurology. 2015;84:1870–9.
- Ad Hoc Committee of the Harvard Medical School. A definition of irreversible coma. Report of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Harvard Medical School to Examine the Definition of Brain Death. JAMA. 1968;205:337–40.
- Green JB, Lauber A. Return of EEG activity after electrocerebral silence: two case reports. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1972;35:103–7.
- Collaborative Study. An appraisal of the criteria of cerebral death. A summary statement. A collaborative study. JAMA. 1977;237:982–6.
- President's Commission. Guidelines for the determination of death. Report of the medical consultants on the diagnosis of death to the President's Commission for the Study of Ethical Problems in Medicine and Biomedical and Behavioral Research. JAMA. 1981;246:2184–6.
- Guidelines for the Determination of Brain Death in Children. Task Force for the determination of brain death in children. Neurology. 1987, 37:1077–8.
- Kaufman HH, Geisler FH, Kopitnik T, Higgins W, Stewart D. Detection of brain death in barbiturate coma: the dilemma of an intracranial pulse. Neurosurgery. 1989;25:275–7. discussion 277-8
- Banasiak KJ, Lister G. Brain death in children. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2003;15(3):288–93.
- Freeman JM, Ferry PC. New brain death guidelines in children: further confusion. Pediatrics. 1988;81:301–3.
- Shewmon DA. Commentary on guidelines for the determination of brain death in children. Ann Neurol. 1988;24:789–91.
- 19. Nakagawa TA, Ashwal S, Mathur M, Mysore MR, Bruce D, Conway EE Jr, et al. Society of Critical Care

Medicine; Section on Critical Care and Section on Neurology of the American Academy of Pediatrics; Child Neurology Society. Guidelines for the determination of brain death in infants and children: an update of the 1987 Task Force recommendations. Crit Care Med. 2011;39:2139–55.

- National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. 1981. The Uniform Determination of Death Act 1981.
- Seifi A, Lacci JV, Godoy DA. Incidence of brain death in the United States. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 2020;195:105885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2020.105885. Epub ahead of print
- Greer DM, Shemie SD, Lewis A, et al. Determination of brain death/death by neurologic criteria: The World Brain Death Project. JAMA. 2020;324(11):1078–97. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.11586.
- Ashwal S. Brain death in the newborn. Current perspectives. Clin Perinatol. 1997;24:859–82.
- Parker BL, Frewen TC, Levin SD, et al. Declaring pediatric brain death: Current practice in a Canadian pediatric critical care unit. CMAJ. 1995;153:909–16.
- Government of India. Transplantation of Human Organs Act, 1994. 1994. Central Act 42 of [cited 2007 Mar 9]. Available from: http://www.medindianet/tho/ thobill1asp.
- Schneider S. Usefulness of EEG in the evaluation of brain death in children: the cons. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1989;73:276–8.
- Conrad GR, Sinha P. Scintigraphy as a confirmatory test of brain death. Semin Nucl Med. 2003;33:312–23.
- Abdel-Dayem HM, Bahar RH, Sigurdsson GH, Sadek S, Olivecrona H, Ali AM. The hollow skull: a sign of brain death in Tc-99m HM-PAO brain scintigraphy. Clin Nucl Med. 1989;14:912–6.
- Bonetti MG, Ciritella P, Valle G, Perrone E. 99mTc HM-PAO brain perfusion SPECT in brain death. Neuroradiology. 1995;37:365–9.
- Valle G, Ciritella P, Bonetti MG, Dicembrino F, Perrone E, Perna GP. Considerations of brain death on a SPECT cerebral perfusion study. Clin Nucl Med. 1993;18:953–4.
- Wilson K, Gordon L, Selby JB Sr. The diagnosis of brain death with Tc-99m HMPAO. Clin Nucl Med. 1993;18:428–34.
- Drake B, Ashwal S, Schneider S. Determination of cerebral death in the pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatrics. 1986;78:107–12.
- Ashwal S, Schneider S, Thompson J. Xenon computed tomography measuring cerebral blood flow in the determination of brain death in children. Ann Neurol. 1989;25:539–46.
- Parker BL, Frewen TC, Levin SD, Ramsay DA, Young GB, Reid RH, Singh NC, Gillett JM. Declaring pediatric brain death: current practice in a Canadian pediatric critical care unit. CMAJ. 1995;153:909–16.
- Berenguer CM, Davis FE, Howington JU. Brain death confirmation: comparison of computed tomographic angiography with nuclear medicine perfusion scan. J Trauma. 2010;68:553–9.

- 36. Escudero D, Otero J, Marqués L, Parra D, Gonzalo JA, Albaiceta GM, Cofiño L, Blanco A, Vega P, Murias E, Meilan A, Roger RL, Taboada F. Diagnosing brain death by CT perfusion and multislice CT angiography. Neurocrit Care. 2009;11:261–71.
- Ishii K, Onuma T, Kinoshita T, Shiina G, Kameyama M, Shimosegawa Y. Brain death: MR and MR angiography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1996;17:731–5.
- Chiu NC, Shen EY, Ho CS. Outcome in children with significantly abnormal cerebral blood flow detected by Doppler ultrasonography: focus on the survivors. J Neuroimaging. 2003;13:53–6.
- Dosemeci L, Dora B, Yilmaz M, Cengiz M, Balkan S, Ramazanoglu A. Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasonography for confirmatory diagnosis of brain death: two sides of the coin. Transplantation. 2004;77:71–5.
- de Freitas GR, Andre C. Routine insonation of the transorbital window for confirming brain death: a double-edged sword. Arch Neurol. 2003;60:1169.
- Meyer MA. Evaluating brain death with positron emission tomography: case report on dynamic imaging of ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose activity after intravenous bolus injection. J Neuroimaging. 1996;6:117–9.
- 42. Rosendale JD, Chabalewski FL, McBride MA, et al. Increased transplanted organs from the use of a standardized donor management protocol. Am J Transplant. 2002;2:761–8.
- Rosendale JD, Kauffman HM, McBride MA, et al. Aggressive pharmacologic donor management results in more transplanted organs. Transplantation. 2003;75:482–7.
- 44. Franklin GA, Santos AP, Smith JW, Galbraith S, Harbrecht BG, Garrison RN. Optimization of donor management goals yields increased organ use. Am Surg. 2010;76:587–94.
- 45. Nakagawa TA. Updated pediatric donor management and dosing guidelines. NATCO, The Organization for Transplant Professionals, 2008. Available at: http:// www.organdonationalliance.org/wpcontent/uploads/ toolbox/NATCOPedDonorManagementGuidelinesodt.pdf

- 46. Scheinkestel CD, Tuxen DV, Cooper DJ, Butt W. Medical management of the (potential) organ donor. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1995;23:51–9.
- Cittanova ML, Leblanc I, Legendre C, et al. Effect of hydroxyethylstarch in brain-dead kidney donors on renal function in kidney-transplant recipients. Lancet. 1996;348:1620–2.
- Blasco V, Leone M, Antonini F, et al. Comparison of the novel hydroxyethyl starch 130/0.4 and hydroxyethyl starch 200/0.6 in braindead donor resuscitation on renal function after transplantation. Br J Anaesth. 2008;100:504–8.
- 49. Pennefather S, Bullock RE, Dark JH. The effect of fluid therapy on alveolar arterial oxygen gradient in brain-dead organ donors. Transplantation. 1993;56:1418–22.
- Tuttle-Newhall JE, Collins BH, Kuo PC, Schroeder R. Organ donation and treatment of multi-organ donor. Curr Probl Surg. 2003;40:266–310.
- Shemie SD, Ross H, Pagliarello J, et al. Organ donor management in Canada: recommendations of the forum on Medical Management to Optimize Donor Organ Potential. CMAJ. 2006;174:S13–32. https:// doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.045131.
- 52. Zuppa AF, Nadkarni V, Davis L, et al. The effect of a thyroid hormone infusion on vasopressor support in critically ill children with cessation of neurologic function. Crit Care Med. 2004;32:2318–22.
- Orlowski JP. Evidence that thyroxine (T-4) is effective as a hemodynamic rescue agent in management of organ donors. Transplantation. 1993;55:959–60.
- 54. Iwai A, Sakano T, Uenishi M, Sugimoto H, Yoshioka T, Sugimoto T. Effects of vasopressin and catecholamines on the maintenance of circulatory stability in brain-dead patients. Transplantation. 1989;48:613–7.
- Abdelnour T, Rieke S. Relationship of hormonal resuscitation therapy and central venous pressure on increasing organs for transplant. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28:480–5.



41

Developing Brain and Anesthetic Neurotoxicity

Sergio D. Bergese <a>b and Fabrizzio Sacchet-Cardozo

Key Points

- Evidence from animal studies supports a causal relationship between intravenous and inhaled anesthetic exposure and brain development, triggering increased apoptosis, with negative neurocognitive and behavioral outcomes.
- All these negative events take place during a high vulnerability period on brain development known as "brain spurt."
- Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glutamate receptor modulation may be involved in apoptotic pathway signaling. Anesthetic drugs exert their actions through these receptors, among many others.
- Delaying non-elective surgical procedures might put children at risk of disease progression, including neurodevelopmental impairment.

S. D. Bergese (🖂)

Department of Anesthesiology and Neurological Surgery, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA e-mail: Sergio.Bergese@stonybrookmedicine.edu

- Controlled anesthetic exposure to anesthesia is difficult to accomplish.
- There is a significant genetic socioeconomic and environmental influence on neurodevelopmental outcomes.
- Short-term neurodevelopmental testing may not be relevant for diagnosis.
- Prevention, diagnosis, and prompt treatment of other perioperative complications that are closely related to worse neurological prognosis are mandatory.

41.1 Introduction

Within the last decade, animal models of anesthetic neurotoxicity and related developmental disorders have raised concerns for comparable effects in children after exposure to general anesthesia in early infancy. Millions of children undergo surgery during their first 4 years of life worldwide [1].

Almost every general anesthetic has been related to neuronal damage within the developing animal brain. This aspect is more relevant during a period of increased vulnerability within the central nervous system growth called "brain spurt" and characterized by a peak in synaptogenesis and neuronal pruning [2]. Failure to achieve significant neural connections during this period would lead to neurodegeneration of "meaningless" neurons through programmed cell death (apoptosis),

F. Sacchet-Cardozo Department of Anesthesiology, Women's Hospital, Pereira Rossell Medical Center, Montevideo, Uruguay

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_41

which normally affects a significant proportion of developing neurons [3, 4].

Even if not completely elucidated yet, anesthetic drugs act either as antagonists of glutamate n-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptors or gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptor agonists [5]. Both NMDA and GABA receptors have been linked to impaired synaptogenesis and increased neuroapoptosis in alcoholic fetal syndrome [6]. Whether or not anesthetic modulation of these neurotransmitter pathways impairs synaptogenesis and/or neurodevelopment in early infancy is still a matter of debate and growing research. Translating results from animal models to clinical practice is challenging, as long as animal research procedures may not reflect the pediatric anesthetic practice [7, 8].

41.2 Human Brain Development

Human brain development is a complex and tightly regulated process that starts early in the embryonic period and extends throughout the fetal and postnatal life [9]. There is extensive genetic control over early brain development on the anatomic, cellular, and molecular levels. Recent research has improved our understanding of the different factors that influence this process. Human brain development is also dynamic and adaptive in nature, as well [10]. As a result, the brain reaches 90% of its adult size by the age of five [2, 11].

41.2.1 Embryonic Period (Conception—Week 8)

Brain development begins during the third gestational week, with neural progenitor cell (NPC) differentiation. Patterning of the neocortex into distinct functional areas starts during the embryonic period and is tightly controlled by several pathways of molecular mediators [12]. This process is subjected to refinement and modification through the influence of endogenous and exogenous stimuli later in life [13, 14].

41.2.2 Fetal Period (Week 9—Birth)

The formation of gyri and sulci starts as early as the eighth gestational week, reflecting underlying microstructural changes at the histological level [15]. The processes of neurogenesis, migration, differentiation, synaptogenesis, and myelination constitute the hallmarks of brain development in the fetal period.

- Neurogenesis: The adult human brain contains approximately 100 billion neurons [16]. After the 42nd embryonic day, the asymmetrical division of NPC results in one neural progenitor cell and one differentiated neuron. The differentiated neurons migrate from the ventricular zone to the neocortex [2, 17]. Neurogenesis in humans concludes around embryonic day 108 [18]. A substantial but tightly controlled loss of neuronal population occurs during this phase through apoptosis (programmed cell death). Apoptosis affects more than 50% of the developing neurons, reaching up to 70% in certain brain regions [19].
- **Migration**: Neural migration in humans peaks between 3 and 5 months of gestation and ultimately results in the formation of the sixlayered neocortex [3, 20]. Post-mitotic neurons migrate through one of three possible processes: somal translocation, radial migration, and tangential migration [2, 3].
- **Differentiation**: If given the correct signals, early progenitor cells are capable of producing any neural cell type. Later types of neural stem cells exhibit "fate restriction" and lose the ability to generate different cell lines [21].
- **Synaptogenesis:** Upon reaching the cortex, migrating neurons extend axons to establish connections with other neural cells. Axonal growth and synaptogenesis are tightly molecularly controlled events. Both are essential for the development of the major neural pathways [2]. Brain spurt and pruning are followed by a systematic breakdown of up to 50% of the newly created synapsis throughout the prenatal and early postnatal life [3, 4]. This process, along with apoptosis,

ensures the normal development of the neural network.

 Myelination: Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells start to differentiate in the second trimester into oligodendrocytes, closely related to the neuronal axons. Myelin production from oligodendrocytes creates the myelin sheaths that increase axonal conductivity [22]. Moreover, oligodendrocytes contribute to axon integrity and neuronal survival by synthesizing neurotrophic factors [2].

41.2.3 Postnatal Life

The proliferation, migration, and apoptosis of glial progenitor cells, unlike most neurons, extend well beyond the prenatal period. In addition, glial progenitors maintain their ability to proliferate as they migrate [23]. During early postnatal life, neuronal synaptogenesis continues on a large scale until it plateaus after 2 or 3 years of age and then declines toward the adult levels during late childhood and adolescence [4].

41.3 Anesthesia-Induced Neurotoxicity in Preclinical Animal Models

41.3.1 Mechanisms of Anesthesia-Induced Neurodegeneration

Evidence of potential anesthetic neurotoxicity comes mainly from animal models, including rats, mice, guinea pigs, and non-human primates. In general, these preclinical data indicate that anesthetic agents may potentially induce neurotoxicity within the developing brain by triggering apoptosis and interfering with neurogenesis, differentiation, and synaptogenesis [8].

The apoptotic process can be activated through two different pathways. The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is triggered by internal signals that activate pro-apoptotic proteins and ultimately result in DNA cleavage and cell death. The extrinsic pathway is activated by binding of specific ligands (such as certain cytokines) to "death receptors" on the cell membranes [24]. Anesthetics may activate the extrinsic pathway, as they exert an inflammatory response in the premature brain [25]. Also, anesthetic drugs may modulate gene expression, thereby affecting cell metabolism, development, and signal transduction. This mechanism explains the potential of anesthetic drugs to trigger the intrinsic apoptotic pathway [26].

Activation of glutamatergic NMDA receptors has an excitatory effect both in the adult and premature brain. Similarly, activation of GABA receptors within the neonatal brain exhibits excitatory effects and leads to cell depolarization, despite its inhibitory effect in the adult brain [27, 28]. Additionally, both GABA and glutamate signals in the fetal brain influence neuronal proliferation and differentiation [29]. Activation of GABAA receptors also signals migrating cells to stop the process as they reach their target location [30, 31].

Anesthetic agents exert their effects by NMDA antagonism or by GABAA agonism [5]. It was shown that isoflurane and midazolam reduce inhibitory synaptic transmission and increase excitatory synaptic transmission in the thalamus of newborn rats [32]. The interference in synaptic neurotrophic signaling during this period of vulnerability induces programmed cell death by both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways [24, 33]. Sevoflurane induces the intrinsic apoptotic pathway through long-term modulation of gene expression [26].

Neurons are not the only cell line affected by anesthesia administration. Oligodendrocytes, the myelin-generating glial cells, also go through increased apoptosis after exposure to isoflurane in primates [34].

Although apoptosis and synaptic pruning are normal processes of brain development, the increased levels of apoptotic activity and decreased synaptic density induced by anesthetic exposure may eliminate neurons that otherwise become functional components of the brain circuitry [35].

Other mechanisms involved in animal neuroanesthetic toxicity are increased neuronal progenitor cell death in rodent neonates that were exposed to sevoflurane [36], reduced hippocampal neuronal proliferation in rats after in utero ketamine exposure [37], as well as decreased dendritic density and disrupted circuit formation through synaptogenesis following sevoflurane, isoflurane, and propofol anesthesia [38–40].

41.3.2 Risk Factors for Anesthesia-Induced Neurotoxicity

Several factors have been proposed to influence the potential of anesthetic neurotoxicities, such as the age of exposure, type of anesthetic agent, number of anesthetic exposures, duration, and the dose of anesthesia [24].

- Timing of Exposure: The window of vulner-٠ ability to neurotoxicity reflects the period of peak synaptogenesis and is different between species. In human brain development, synaptogenesis is believed to extend between the third trimester of pregnancy and the third year of life. It peaks between the fifth and 16th postnatal day in non-human primates and between the seventh and tenth postnatal days in rodents [8, 9]. Rhesus macaque neonates exposed to ketamine on the fifth postnatal day showed increased neuronal apoptosis, but not when exposure occurred on the 35th postnatal day [41]. Exposure to inhalational and intravenous agents in young rodents induces mitochondrial injury, increases neurodegeneration, and decreases synaptogenesis in different areas of the brain in an age-dependent manner [38, 42]. On the contrary, older-aged animals exposed to anesthetics showed increased synaptic density and decreased apoptosis [39, 43].
- Type of Anesthetic Drug: Studies have shown significant variability in the impact of anesthetic toxicity and functional outcomes. Desflurane is responsible for increased apoptotic activity in infant mice, followed by isoflurane and sevoflurane. Even though all three agents can cause significant long-term memory deficits, only isoflurane seems to impair short-term memory [43]. Midazolam

and isoflurane activate apoptosis sequentially: first in the thalamus and then in the cortex. Isoflurane alone has similar effects within multiple layers of the retina [33, 44–47]. Conversely, a single dose of etomidate has not been related to increased neuronal apoptosis or long-term behavior disorders [48]. A summary of the functional and histologic effects of commonly used anesthetics on the different stages of animal brain development has been provided in Table 41.1.

- The Dose of the Anesthetic Agent: The neurotoxic effect of anesthetics seems to show a dose-dependent relationship in animal models, as indicated by isoflurane administration in pregnant rats [50]. Increased apoptosis levels have been reported with higher doses of ketamine, propofol, and midazolam [45, 56, 59].
- Frequency and Duration of Exposure: • Anesthetic neurotoxicity has also been correlated with the duration and number of anesthetic exposures [8]. Multiple exposures to ketamine and propofol significantly increase neuronal cell death and neurodegeneration and are associated with long-term memory impairment and learning disability [57, 61, 64]. Prolonged exposure to ketamine in monkeys causes a widespread increase in neocortical apoptosis and necrosis, especially within the frontal cortex [41, 65]. Similar processes are observed in the cortical and thalamic areas of rat brains and are associated with long periods of exposure to midazolam, isoflurane, propofol, and nitrous oxide [51, 60].

41.3.3 Limitations of Preclinical Studies

Translating the results of preclinical studies into human clinical settings is controversial. First, there are clear differences in structural anatomy and chronological maturation of the brain among species. As previously discussed, the period of maximum vulnerability for the human brain may extend from pregnancy to early childhood, while for other species, it peaks only postnatally and

| | Timing of | | |
|-------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Agent | exposure | Histologic changes | Functional effects |
| Sevoflurane | During brain growth spurt After a brain growth spurt | ↑ Neurodegeneration, neuronal progenitor cell death, apoptotic activity, and inflammatory response (IL-6) [25] ↓ Neurogenesis, dendritic density, voltage-gated CA⁺² channel density [40] ↑ or no effect on dendritic density in prefrontal and somatosensory cortices. No significant inflammatory response or increased apoptosis [40] | Long term memory impairment, cognitive impairment, learning deficits, and \$\perp\$ social interactions [25, 36, 49] |
| Isoflurane | Prenatal period During a brain growth spurt After brain growth spurt | Dose-dependent ↑apoptosis [50] ↑Age- and duration-dependent apoptosis and neurodegeneration in the thalamus, substantia nigra, cingulate gyrus, and hippocampal cortex [33, 51] Apoptosis affecting both neurons and glial cells and especially myelinating oligodendrocytes [34] ↓ Synaptogenesis and density of presynaptic vesicles [38] Induced mitochondrial injury [42] No effect on apoptosis or synaptogenesis [43] | Short- and long-term learning and memory deficits [52] |
| Desflurane | During brain growth spurt | ↑ Neurodegenerative and apoptotic activities in the thalamus, hippocampus, and dentate gyrus [53, 54] | Deficits in associative learning and long term memory [53] |
| Ketamine | Prenatal period During brain growth spurt | Induced neurodegeneration and decreased proliferation in the hippocampus [37] Duration-dependent ↑ apoptosis in basal ganglia [55] Dose-dependent apoptosis and neurodegeneration [56, 57] | Long-term depression- and anxiety-like behavior and impaired memory [37] Long-term memory and learning impairment [57]. Lower motivation and slow response speed [58] |
| Propofol | During brain growth spurt After brain growth spurt | Increased apoptosis in a linear dose-response curve [59]. Induced apoptosis and neuronal necrosis with long exposure periods or multiple exposures [60, 61] ↓ Synaptic density, synaptic transmission, and long-term potentiation in the hippocampus [39, 62] Activation of brain region-specific neuroprotective signals, ↑ synaptic density [39] | Diminished response to anxiolytics [63]. Learning and memory impairment [61, 62] |
| Combined midazolam, isoflurane and N2O | During brain growth spurt | Induced mitochondrial injury [42] Increased neurodegeneration and apoptosis in different areas of the thalamus and cortex depending on age, dose, or duration of exposure [33, 45, 51] ↑ Excitatory and ↓ inhibitory neural transmission in the thalamus | Short- and long-term memory and learning disability [52] |

Table 41.1 Preclinical evidence on anesthesia-related neurotoxicity

for a shorter period of time [9]. Second, animal studies report higher doses of anesthetic drugs than those used in clinical practice in humans, mostly related to a lower relative potency to

achieve the desired anesthetic state in animals [8]. Third, laboratory animals often suffer from severe physiologic disturbances and increased mortality rates under anesthesia due to limitations

S. D. Bergese and F. Sacchet-Cardozo

in airway management and monitoring [7]. Fourth, animal models are anesthetized without being subjected to surgical procedures. Liu et al. observed that surgical stress, sedatives, and anesthetic drugs might act concurrently in an intrinsic way, modulating neuroprotective and neurotoxic pathways. Noxious stimulation has been related to a decrease in the neuroapoptotic effect of ketamine [66, 67]. Finally, compared to non-research specimens, animal subjects are kept in environments that may appropriate for social enrichment and interaction, necessary for complex processes of normal behavioral and cognitive development [68].

41.4 Clinical Evidence in Pediatric Anesthetic Neurotoxicity

In contrast to the extensive preclinical evidence of an association between early anesthetic exposure, increased neuroapoptosis level, and developmental disorders, clinical evidence reported mixed results and is less compelling. Several factors may explain these discrepancies between the basic research and clinical data.

The potential impact of anesthetic exposure during the early stages of brain development is a sensitive and controversial subject for both and clinicians. Unfortunately, parents an increased number of retrospective studies discuss anesthetic neurotoxicity compared to studies with prospective designs. Multiple confounders can bias the final results of such studies and blur relationship variables. the between prospective methodological design can control these confounders and establish a causative relationship between anesthetic exposure and negative neurodevelopmental outcomes [69, 70].

41.4.1 Surgical Condition and Preoperative Risk Factors

Several pediatric surgical conditions are related to an increased risk of developing neurobehavioral disorders [71–73]. Congenital malformations, low birth weight, severe preterm birth, perinatal infection, and hemorrhage are only some of the risk factors associated with neurodevelopmental disorders. Retrospective studies conducted on children undergoing hernia repair reported a higher incidence (77% of patients) of at least one of the aforementioned confounding conditions at birth when compared with a control group [72, 74].

Exclusive control for anesthetic exposure requires a complex protocol design that does not apply to every type of surgery [75]. Anesthetic exposure is almost always related to a surgical insult [72], and untreated pain and surgical stress per se are strongly correlated to developmental and behavioral disorders in children [76]. Significant risk of bias may be introduced in studies that do not control the type of surgery, whereas studies that focus on a single procedure have increased internal validity [72, 74, 75, 77]. Ing et al. studied several surgical procedures and reported an increased risk for language disability after anesthetic exposure. However, 24% of the procedures were myringotomies [78], possibly due to chronic otitis media. Previous research associated chronic otitis media with preoperative language impairment, supporting the fact that undiagnosed developmental disorders can be closely related to the underlying disease. A neurodevelopmental screening test was recommended as part of the perioperative assessment [79].

41.4.2 Developmental Age of Exposure and Timing of the Surgical Procedure

Surgical procedures during early infancy are rarely considered elective [69]. The potential risk imposed by the surgical procedure and anesthetic exposure must be weighed against the risk of the natural progression of the disease [69, 80]. Most studies report results for children exposed to general anesthesia before 4 years old. The vulnerability window during brain development is unknown in humans. Translation from animal studies suggests that brain development stages would correlate with a period of human development comprised between the early third trimester of pregnancy and early childhood. This period of "brain spurt" and related increased synaptogenesis and neuronal pruning does not occur simultaneously in all brain regions, and regional vulnerability could vary throughout development [73]. Studies that include children exposed to anesthesia on a wide range of ages may dilute the effects of an under-represented age population or skew the results due to an overrepresented group.

Assessing this period of fetal brain vulnerability is challenging due to several reasons. Anesthetic procedures are commonly avoided during the last trimester of pregnancy, except for surgical emergencies, cesarean delivery, or anesthesia for labor and delivery. Moreover, regional anesthesia is preferred in these patients as long as it satisfies safety, surgical requirements, and patients' comfort. Therefore, most procedures provided under general anesthesia during the last trimester of pregnancy reveal underlying causes that could, per se, affect the long-term development of the newborn [9]. Knowledge of longterm consequences of drug exposure during the last trimester of pregnancy is mostly related to maternal alcohol consumption and antiepileptic drugs, but not anesthetics [6, 81]. When considering a brief exposure to general anesthetics, such as cesarean delivery, no increased risk of learning disabilities was reported when compared to vaginal delivery [82].

Preterm newborns that undergo surgery during their first weeks after birth may be at a greater risk for anesthesia-related neurotoxicity due to an increased vulnerability and the presence of risk factors related to the preterm birth itself or the surgical disease. However, a prospective observational study involving severe preterm babies did not support this hypothesis [83].

Benzodiazepines share GABA receptor agonist properties with barbiturates; they might also share long-term effects on cognitive development. Short-term developmental and anatomical consequences of midazolam exposure have been described on preterm babies after long-term sedation in neonatal intensive care units. However, long-term consequences of midazolam exposure have not been yet assessed [84]. Nevertheless, there is also evidence of no association between prolonged sedation/analgesia of severely preterm babies and longitudinal (5-year) neurological outcomes [85].

Short-term outcomes have been assessed after pyloric stenosis (PS), indicating slightly decreased scores in neurodevelopmental subtests at 12 months old compared to a control group. However, mean test scores were not under the average range for age [86]. The long-term impact of this procedure did not report any significant difference in educational outcomes at age 15 [73]. Studies involving hernia repair procedures before age 1 reported no differences in academic testing in children and teenagers exposed to anesthesia and surgery compared to the control group [69, 72, 87]. Yet, Block et al. [87] and Bong et al. [69] reported an increased proportion of children that scored below the fifth percentile or with diagnosed learning disorders.

A meta-analysis on retrospective studies available until 2011 showed no statistically significant increase in the odds ratio for behavioral or intellectual problems after exposure before 4 years old [88]. Retrospective studies published after 2011 [70, 71, 87, 89, 90] have shown an increase in negative neurodevelopmental outcomes after anesthesia exposure during early infancy. However, due to multiple confounding variables (study design, multiple surgeries, lack of anesthetic information, historical time of the procedures), a careful interpretation should be considered when analyzing data.

The Pediatric Anesthesia Neurodevelopment Assessment (PANDA) Study was completed in February 2016 (registered at clinicaltrials.gov NCT00881764). The authors aimed to compare neurodevelopmental results from ages 8 to 15 in a historical group of siblings with and without anesthetic exposure in their first 36 months of life with no evidence of neurotoxicity [77].

In early 2016 were published the results regarding the secondary outcome of the international multicenter, randomized controlled trial "Neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years of age after general anesthesia and awake-regional anesthesia in infancy" (GAS). This study provided robust evidence of no increased risk for neurodevelopmental disorder at age 2 for children undergoing hernia repair during the first year of life. The study was conducted using sevofluranebased general anesthesia versus awake regional anesthesia alone. Results for the primary outcome (5 years old neurocognitive assessments) were published in 2019. The GAS study recruited approximately 700 children and reported that neurocognitive development was equivalent in general anesthesia and regional anesthesia study groups after 5 years of follow-up [75].

Conclusively, no prospective studies have been able to demonstrate any link between general anesthesia and impairment of neurological and cognitive development in children [91, 92].

41.4.3 Number and Duration of Exposure

Drug-associated effects usually relate to dose and duration of exposure. A potential dose-related effect has been suggested [70, 87]. Several studies have found a positive correlation between an increased number of anesthetic/surgical exposures and adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes [70, 71, 82, 84]. However, while some studies report that a single exposure may be responsible for neurodevelopmental impairment, diagnosed later on in life [69], others suggest that a single brief exposure has no impact on these outcomes [71–73, 75, 77].

41.4.4 Anesthesia-Related Confounders

Several studies attributing negative cognitive outcomes to anesthetic exposure fail to report detailed information on the anesthetic procedure. Missing data usually involves the type and dose of the drug used and intraoperative episodes of hypotension, bradycardia, hyperoxia, hypoxia, hyperglycemia/ hypoglycemia, fever, and hyponatremia [1, 79, 82, 93]. Some studies report retrospective data collected from the decade of 1970 to 1980. Negative results reported in some of these articles can be related to a lack of monitoring and identification of perioperative complications [1, 71, 73, 90, 93].

Specific anesthetic drug-related clinical evidence is inconclusive. The consequences of midazolam long-term exposure have not been yet assessed, as mentioned earlier [84]. Ketamine has also been addressed both as a neuroprotective and neurotoxic compound in different trials [94, 95].

The GAS study proposed a unique methodological design that allowed for specific control of sevoflurane administration, as the sole general anesthetic used during this study. Two groups of patients were randomized to awake regional anesthesia or general anesthesia plus regional analgesia for inguinal hernia repair. No sedation was used in the awake group, except for oral dextrose. Early detection and treatment of perioperative complications were accomplished per study protocol [75]. Accurate study designs, such as GAS, are able to control perioperative variables (i.e., type of anesthesia) when investigating developmental disorders; however, few pediatric surgeries can be performed safely under regional anesthesia alone.

41.4.5 Demographics

There is a difference between male and female gender performances on neurodevelopmental tests, and preclinical evidence also suggests gender-specific vulnerability to neurotoxicity [52]. Further, PS and hernia repair are more prevalent in males [72, 73]. Neurodevelopment relies on multi-dimensional influences, such as biological factors, psychological factors, and social conditions. Confounding variables, such as a history of parental drug abuse or low educational level, among others, can have a negative impact on a child's development. Such variables should be taken into consideration if the study subjects belong to a socially disadvantaged population [70, 74]. For instance, Medicaid patients have reported a greater incidence of behavioral or developmental disorders than the general population [70].

Environmental and social confounders can be partially controlled when the compared groups belong to a cohort of siblings. Furthermore, monozygotic twin studies also control for genetic variability. The genetic vulnerability can be related to an increased risk for surgical disease [70, 79].

41.4.6 Migration and Loss to Follow-up

Migration, and subsequent loss to follow-up, imposes challenges on outcome variable analysis. Healthier children tend to migrate more than unhealthy subjects skewing the follow-up results. Additionally, loss to follow-up can be attributed to a non-traditional education, difficult to match with standard school test level imposed by the study design. Finally, parental perception of learning disorders can increase these patients' participation and skew the measured outcome [69].

41.4.7 Outcome Variable Selection

Several outcome variables have been reported as a result of different published studies, such as specific neurodevelopmental tests, academic achievement and assessments, and neurodevelopmental disorders according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-9) codes. Diverse sources were accessed to collect data, including medical reports, medical databases, educational reports, parental and teacher interviews, and prospective testing [69, 74, 79].

Anesthetic exposure has been associated with a 4.5-fold increase in the risk of future learning disorders. However, academic differences have not been consistent [69, 72, 73]. ICD-9 has been used to detect learning disorders after anesthetic exposure [74]. However, no strong correlation exists between the ICD diagnosis, academic achievement, and neurodevelopmental test results [89]. The Medicaid database diagnoses are also considered to be a blunt tool for neurodevelopmental diagnosis [70]. Neurodevelopmental disorder assessment should be conducted considering age-specific and test-specific sensitivity [75, 78, 80].

Studies based on academic results might be more relevant for concerned parents who are more interested in academic achievement rather than in intelligence quotient results (IQ) [72, 73, 79]. Most studies have been inconclusive and do not show a statistically significant difference in academic performance (assessed by diverse methods) after results are corrected by potential confounders [87].

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and autism have also been suggested to be a consequence of early anesthetic exposure [90]. However, ADHD studies based on functional magnetic resonance imaging did not show differences on the activation of ADHD "response inhibition" pathways in children not diagnosed with ADHD and exposed to general anesthesia before 2 years old compared to non-exposed control groups [96].

Lately, it has been suggested that visually evoked potentials (VEPs) may be used to evaluate anesthetic neurotoxicity. Oba et al. [97] conducted a single-blind prospective trial that compared the VEPs of a group of children who had over 15 anesthetic exposures due to corrosive esophagitis versus a healthy population of children. VEPs were significantly altered in the treatment group.

41.4.8 Timing of Assessment

The available published studies usually have predetermined follow-up time points, when either the neurodevelopmental assessments are conducted or previous diagnoses or reports are collected. Obviously, this study design has serious limitations. Children with developmental disorders can sometimes overcome their counterparts and "catch up" later in life [98]. Some studies report early neurodevelopmental assessments [74, 75, 84]. These results should not be underestimated, but they may be less relevant than long-term evaluations due to decreased sensitivity or potential neuroplasticity effect.

| Preclinical studies | Human studies | | |
|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Human recombinant | Magnesium sulfate | | |
| erythropoietin | Calcium channel | | |
| • Xenon | blocker | | |
| Dexmedetomidine | Allopurinol | | |
| Clonidine | | | |
| • Lithium | | | |
| Melatonin | | | |
| Xestospognin C | | | |

Table 41.2 Potential neuroprotective drugs

41.5 Pharmacological Neuroprotection Strategies

Several drugs have been proposed as neuroprotective in animal models, only a few of them being tested in humans (Table 41.2) [99–111]. No recommendations can be made regarding this subject in pediatrics [95].

41.6 Future Prospects

Future research should provide further insight into the higher number and longer exposures to general anesthetics (longer than 1 h). It is possible, the relationship with potential neurotoxicity and neurological development alteration at young ages as well as studies that address the implications of anesthetic exposure on patients that are already at risk for neurological impairment.

41.7 Conclusion

Addressing the problems of anesthesia-related neurotoxicity and adverse effects on the developing brain remains a challenging task given the limitations of in vivo models and difficulties in designing prospective well-controlled trials in humans.

From our perspective, the neurotoxicity of general anesthetics in children still remains a potential/non-confirmed risk. Therefore, we must not "miss the forest for the tree." In clinical practice, the risk of surgical delay must be weighed against the potential, uncertain anesthetic neurotoxicity risks. Morbidity and mortality may result from the natural progression of the disease, including developmental impairment. Moreover, the human brain neurodevelopment period is extended over several years. This might make the impact of anesthetic exposure less significant than its effect on the faster-developing animal brain. In general, entirely elective surgical procedures before the age of 4 should not be conducted. It is also arguable whether the potential and still unproven risks of anesthesia effects on development have to be mentioned during the anesthesia informed consent process on the preoperative visit. Some institutions mention it as a standard procedure, whereas some physicians discuss it with parents if asked specifically [112].

Perioperative anesthesia care should promptly provide high-quality care, prevent, detect, and treat complications to minimize the risk for neurodevelopmental consequences. Regional anesthesia/analgesia should be considered whenever possible. Training in pediatric anesthesia is essential to ensure adequate anesthetic care for these patients. Further clinical and translational research is justified to understand better neurocognitive development processes and the role of anesthesia and surgical stress on the developing brain.

Conflict of Interest Nil.

References

- Weiss M, Hansen TG, Engelhardt T. Ensuring safe anaesthesia for neonates, infants and young children: what really matters. Arch Dis Child. 2016;101:650.
- Stiles J, Jernigan TL. The basics of brain development. Neuropsychol Rev. 2010;20:327–48.
- Ortinau C, Neil J. The neuroanatomy of prematurity: normal brain development and the impact of preterm birth. Clin Anat. 2015;28:168–83.
- Huttenlocher PR, Dabholkar AS. Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. J Comp Neurol. 1997;387:167–78.
- Ward CG, Loepke AW. Anesthetics and sedatives: toxic or protective for the developing brain? Pharmacol Res. 2012;65:271–4.
- Galindo R, Zamudio PA, Valenzuela CF. Alcohol is a potent stimulant of immature neuronal networks: implications for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. J Neurochem. 2005;94:1500–11.

- Yu D, Liu B. Developmental anesthetic neurotoxicity: from animals to humans? J Anesth. 2013;27:750–6.
- Sinner B, Becke K, Engelhard K. General anaesthetics and the developing brain: an overview. Anaesthesia. 2014;69:1009–22.
- Palanisamy A. Maternal anesthesia and fetal neurodevelopment. Int J Obstet Anesth. 2012;21:152–62.
- Lee JH, Zhang J, Wei L, Yu SP. Neurodevelopmental implications of the general anesthesia in neonate and infants. Exp Neurol. 2015;272:50–60.
- Dekaban AS. Changes in brain weights during the span of human life: relation of brain weights to body heights and body weights. Ann Neurol. 1978;4:345–56.
- Bishop KM, Rubenstein JL, O'Leary DD. Distinct actions of Emx1, Emx2, and Pax6 in regulating the specification of areas in the developing neocortex. J Neurosci. 2002;22:7627–38.
- 13. Sur M, Rubenstein JL. Patterning and plasticity of the cerebral cortex. Science. 2005;310:805–10.
- Horng SH, Sur M. Visual activity and cortical rewiring: activity-dependent plasticity of cortical networks. Prog Brain Res. 2006;157:3–11.
- Chi JG, Dooling EC, Gilles FH. Gyral development of the human brain. Ann Neurol. 1977;1:86–93.
- Pakkenberg B, Gundersen HJ. Neocortical neuron number in humans: effect of sex and age. J Comp Neurol. 1997;384:312–20.
- 17. Sommer L, Rao M. Neural stem cells and regulation of cell number. Prog Neurobiol. 2002;66:1–18.
- Clancy B, Darlington RB, Finlay BL. Translating developmental time across mammalian species. Neuroscience. 2001;105:7–17.
- Rabinowicz T, de Courten-Myers GM, Petetot JM, Xi G, de los Reyes E. Human cortex development: estimates of neuronal numbers indicate major loss late during gestation. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1996;55:320–8.
- Cooper JA. A mechanism for inside-out lamination in the neocortex. Trends Neurosci. 2008;31:113–9.
- Shen Q, Wang Y, Dimos JT, Fasano CA, Phoenix TN, Lemischka IR, et al. The timing of cortical neurogenesis is encoded within lineages of individual progenitor cells. Nat Neurosci. 2006;9:743–51.
- Rivkin MJ, Flax J, Mozell R, Osathanondh R, Volpe JJ, Villa-Komaroff L. Oligodendroglial development in human fetal cerebrum. Ann Neurol. 1995;38:92–101.
- Cayre M, Canoll P, Goldman JE. Cell migration in the normal and pathological postnatal mammalian brain. Prog Neurobiol. 2009;88:41–63.
- Sanders RD, Hassell J, Davidson AJ, Robertson NJ, Ma D. Impact of anaesthetics and surgery on neurodevelopment: an update. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110:i53–72.
- 25. Shen X, Dong Y, Xu Z, Wang H, Miao C, Soriano SG, et al. Selective anesthesia-induced neuroinflam-

mation in developing mouse brain and cognitive impairment. Anesthesiology. 2013;118:502–15.

- 26. Pan Z, Lu XF, Shao C, Zhang C, Yang J, Ma T, et al. The effects of sevoflurane anesthesia on rat hippocampus: a genomic expression analysis. Brain Res. 2011;1381:124–33.
- Ben-Ari Y. The GABA excitatory/inhibitory developmental sequence: a personal journey. Neuroscience. 2014;279:187–219.
- Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I, Kahle KT, Cherubini E. The GABA excitatory/inhibitory shift in brain maturation and neurological disorders. Neuroscientist. 2012;18:467–86.
- Lujan R, Shigemoto R, Lopez-Bendito G. Glutamate and GABA receptor signalling in the developing brain. Neuroscience. 2005;130:567–80.
- Heng JI, Moonen G, Nguyen L. Neurotransmitters regulate cell migration in the telencephalon. Eur J Neurosci. 2007;26:537–46.
- Behar TN, Schaffner AE, Scott CA, Greene CL, Barker JL. GABA receptor antagonists modulate post-mitotic cell migration in slice cultures of embryonic rat cortex. Cereb Cortex. 2000;10:899–909.
- 32. DiGruccio MR, Joksimovic S, Joksovic PM, Lunardi N, Salajegheh R, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, et al. Hyperexcitability of rat thalamocortical networks after exposure to general anesthesia during brain development. J Neurosci. 2015;35:1481–92.
- 33. Yon JH, Daniel-Johnson J, Carter LB, Jevtovic-Todorovic V. Anesthesia induces neuronal cell death in the developing rat brain via the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways. Neuroscience. 2005;135:815–27.
- Brambrink AM, Back SA, Riddle A, Gong X, Moravec MD, Dissen GA, et al. Isoflurane-induced apoptosis of oligodendrocytes in the neonatal primate brain. Ann Neurol. 2012;72:525–35.
- Wagner M, Ryu YK, Smith SC, Patel P, Mintz CD. Review: effects of anesthetics on brain circuit formation. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2014;26:358–62.
- Fang F, Xue Z, Cang J. Sevoflurane exposure in 7-day-old rats affects neurogenesis, neurodegeneration and neurocognitive function. Neurosci Bull. 2012;28:499–508.
- 37. Zhao T, Li Y, Wei W, Savage S, Zhou L, Ma D. Ketamine administered to pregnant rats in the second trimester causes long-lasting behavioral disorders in offspring. Neurobiol Dis. 2014;68: 145–55.
- Head BP, Patel HH, Niesman IR, Drummond JC, Roth DM, Patel PM. Inhibition of p75 neurotrophin receptor attenuates isoflurane-mediated neuronal apoptosis in the neonatal central nervous system. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:813–25.
- Briner A, Nikonenko I, De Roo M, Dayer A, Muller D, Vutskits L. Developmental stage-dependent persistent impact of propofol anesthesia on den-

dritic spines in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Anesthesiology. 2011;115:282–93.

- 40. Qiu L, Zhu C, Bodogan T, Gomez-Galan M, Zhang Y, Zhou K, et al. Acute and long-term effects of brief sevoflurane anesthesia during the early postnatal period in rats. Toxicol Sci. 2016;149:121–33.
- Slikker W Jr, Zou X, Hotchkiss CE, Divine RL, Sadovova N, Twaddle NC, et al. Ketamine-induced neuronal cell death in the perinatal rhesus monkey. Toxicol Sci. 2007;98:145–58.
- 42. Sanchez V, Feinstein SD, Lunardi N, Joksovic PM, Boscolo A, Todorovic SM, et al. General anesthesia causes long-term impairment of mitochondrial morphogenesis and synaptic transmission in developing rat brain. Anesthesiology. 2011;115:992–1002.
- Briner A, De Roo M, Dayer A, Muller D, Habre W, Vutskits L. Volatile anesthetics rapidly increase dendritic spine density in the rat medial prefrontal cortex during synaptogenesis. Anesthesiology. 2010;112:546–56.
- 44. Cheng Y, He L, Prasad V, Wang S, Levy RJ. Anesthesia-induced neuronal apoptosis in the developing retina: a window of opportunity. Anesth Analg. 2015;121:1325–35.
- 45. Young C, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Qin YQ, Tenkova T, Wang H, Labruyere J, et al. Potential of ketamine and midazolam, individually or in combination, to induce apoptotic neurodegeneration in the infant mouse brain. Br J Pharmacol. 2005;146:189–97.
- 46. Rizzi S, Carter LB, Ori C, Jevtovic-Todorovic V. Clinical anesthesia causes permanent damage to the fetal Guinea pig brain. Brain Pathol. 2008;18:198–210.
- 47. Zou X, Liu F, Zhang X, Patterson TA, Callicott R, Liu S, et al. Inhalation anesthetic-induced neuronal damage in the developing rhesus monkey. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2011;33:592–7.
- Nyman Y, Fredriksson A, Lonnqvist PA, Viberg H. Etomidate exposure in early infant mice (P10) does not induce apoptosis or affect behaviour. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2016;60:588–96.
- 49. Satomoto M, Satoh Y, Terui K, Miyao H, Takishima K, Ito M, et al. Neonatal exposure to sevoflurane induces abnormal social behaviors and deficits in fear conditioning in mice. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:628–37.
- Wang S, Peretich K, Zhao Y, Liang G, Meng Q, Wei H. Anesthesia-induced neurodegeneration in fetal rat brains. Pediatr Res. 2009;66:435–40.
- Lu LX, Yon JH, Carter LB, Jevtovic-Todorovic V. General anesthesia activates BDNF-dependent neuroapoptosis in the developing rat brain. Apoptosis. 2006;11:1603–15.
- 52. Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Hartman RE, Izumi Y, Benshoff ND, Dikranian K, Zorumski CF, et al. Early exposure to common anesthetic agents causes widespread neurodegeneration in the developing rat brain and persistent learning deficits. J Neurosci. 2003;23:876–82.

- Lee BH, Chan JT, Hazarika O, Vutskits L, Sall JW. Early exposure to volatile anesthetics impairs long-term associative learning and recognition memory. PLoS One. 2014;9:e105340.
- 54. Kodama M, Satoh Y, Otsubo Y, Araki Y, Yonamine R, Masui K, et al. Neonatal desflurane exposure induces more robust neuroapoptosis than do isoflurane and sevoflurane and impairs working memory. Anesthesiology. 2011;115:979–91.
- 55. Brambrink AM, Evers AS, Avidan MS, Farber NB, Smith DJ, Martin LD, et al. Ketamine-induced neuroapoptosis in the fetal and neonatal rhesus macaque brain. Anesthesiology. 2012;116:372–84.
- 56. Scallet AC, Schmued LC, Slikker W Jr, Grunberg N, Faustino PJ, Davis H, et al. Developmental neurotoxicity of ketamine: morphometric confirmation, exposure parameters, and multiple fluorescent labeling of apoptotic neurons. Toxicol Sci. 2004;81:364–70.
- 57. Huang L, Liu Y, Jin W, Ji X, Dong Z. Ketamine potentiates hippocampal neurodegeneration and persistent learning and memory impairment through the PKCgamma-ERK signaling pathway in the developing brain. Brain Res. 2012;1476:164–71.
- Paule MG, Li M, Allen RR, Liu F, Zou X, Hotchkiss C, et al. Ketamine anesthesia during the first week of life can cause long-lasting cognitive deficits in rhesus monkeys. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2011;33:220–30.
- Cattano D, Young C, Straiko MM, Olney JW. Subanesthetic doses of propofol induce neuroapoptosis in the infant mouse brain. Anesth Analg. 2008;106:1712–4.
- 60. Milanovic D, Popic J, Pesic V, Loncarevic-Vasiljkovic N, Kanazir S, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, et al. Regional and temporal profiles of calpain and caspase-3 activities in postnatal rat brain following repeated propofol administration. Dev Neurosci. 2010;32:288–301.
- Bercker S, Bert B, Bittigau P, Felderhoff-Muser U, Buhrer C, Ikonomidou C, et al. Neurodegeneration in newborn rats following propofol and sevoflurane anesthesia. Neurotox Res. 2009;16:140–7.
- 62. Wang YL, Chen X, Wang ZP. Detrimental effects of postnatal exposure to propofol on memory and hippocampal LTP in mice. Brain Res. 1622;2015:321–7.
- 63. Fredriksson A, Ponten E, Gordh T, Eriksson P. Neonatal exposure to a combination of N-methyl-D-aspartate and gamma-aminobutyric acid type A receptor anesthetic agents potentiates apoptotic neurodegeneration and persistent behavioral deficits. Anesthesiology. 2007;107:427–36.
- 64. Liu F, Paule MG, Ali S, Wang C. Ketamine-induced neurotoxicity and changes in gene expression in the developing rat brain. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2011;9:256–61.
- 65. Zou X, Patterson TA, Divine RL, Sadovova N, Zhang X, Hanig JP, et al. Prolonged exposure to ketamine increases neurodegeneration in the developing monkey brain. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2009;27:727–31.

- 66. Hansen TG. Anesthesia-related neurotoxicity and the developing animal brain is not a significant problem in children. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25:65–72.
- 67. Liu JR, Liu Q, Li J, Baek C, Han XH, Athiraman U, et al. Noxious stimulation attenuates ketamineinduced neuroapoptosis in the developing rat brain. Anesthesiology. 2012;117:64–71.
- Hansen TG, Lonnqvist PA. The rise and fall of anaesthesia-related neurotoxicity and the immature developing human brain. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2016;60:280–3.
- 69. Bong CL, Allen JC, Kim JT. The effects of exposure to general anesthesia in infancy on academic performance at age 12. Anesth Analg. 2013;117:1419–28.
- DiMaggio C, Sun LS, Li G. Early childhood exposure to anesthesia and risk of developmental and behavioral disorders in a sibling birth cohort. Anesth Analg. 2011;113:1143–51.
- 71. Flick RP, Lee K, Hofer RE, Beinborn CW, Hambel EM, Klein MK, et al. Neuraxial labor analgesia for vaginal delivery and its effects on childhood learning disabilities. Anesth Analg. 2011;112:1424–31.
- Hansen TG, Pedersen JK, Henneberg SW, Pedersen DA, Murray JC, Morton NS, et al. Academic performance in adolescence after inguinal hernia repair in infancy: a nationwide cohort study. Anesthesiology. 2011;114:1076–85.
- Hansen TG, Pedersen JK, Henneberg SW, Morton NS, Christensen K. Educational outcome in adolescence following pyloric stenosis repair before 3 months of age: a nationwide cohort study. Paediatr Anaesth. 2013;23:883–90.
- 74. DiMaggio C, Sun LS, Kakavouli A, Byrne MW, Li G. A retrospective cohort study of the association of anesthesia and hernia repair surgery with behavioral and developmental disorders in young children. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21:286–91.
- 75. McCann ME, de Graaff JC, Dorris L, Disma N, Withington D, Bell G, et al. For the GAS consortium. Neurodevelopmental outcome at 5 years of age after general anaesthesia or awake-regional anaesthesia in infancy (GAS): an international, multicentre, randomised, controlled equivalence trial. Lancet. 2019;393:664–77.
- Vutskits L. More than anyone Else: preemies need good analgesia. Anesthesiology. 2016;124:758–60.
- 77. Sun LS, Li G, DiMaggio CJ, Byrne MW, Ing C, Miller TL, et al. Feasibility and pilot study of the pediatric anesthesia neuro development assessment (PANDA) project. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2012;24:382–8.
- Ing C, DiMaggio C, Whitehouse A, Hegarty MK, Brady J, von Ungern-Sternberg BS, et al. Longterm differences in language and cognitive function after childhood exposure to anesthesia. Pediatrics. 2012;130:e476–85.
- Bartels M, Althoff RR, Boomsma DI. Anesthesia and cognitive performance in children: no evidence

for a causal relationship. Twin Res Hum Genet. 2009;12:246–53.

- Backeljauw B, Holland SK, Altaye M, Loepke AW. Cognition and brain structure following early childhood surgery with anesthesia. Pediatrics. 2015;136:e1–12.
- Bromley R, Weston J, Adab N, Greenhalgh J, Sanniti A, McKay AJ, et al. Treatment for epilepsy in pregnancy: neurodevelopmental outcomes in the child. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;10:CD010236.
- Sprung J, Flick RP, Wilder RT, Katusic SK, Pike TL, Dingli M, et al. Anesthesia for cesarean delivery and learning disabilities in a population-based birth cohort. Anesthesiology. 2009;111:302–10.
- Filan PM, Hunt RW, Anderson PJ, Doyle LW, Inder TE. Neurologic outcomes in very preterm infants undergoing surgery. J Pediatr. 2012;160:409–14.
- Duerden EG, Guo T, Dodbiba L, Chakravarty MM, Chau V, Poskitt KJ, et al. Midazolam dose correlates with abnormal hippocampal growth and neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants. Ann Neurol. 2016;79:548–59.
- 85. Roze JC, Denizot S, Carbajal R, Ancel PY, Kaminski M, Arnaud C, et al. Prolonged sedation and/or analgesia and 5-year neurodevelopment outcome in very preterm infants: results from the EPIPAGE cohort. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2008;162:728–33.
- Walker K, Halliday R, Holland AJ, Karskens C, Badawi N. Early developmental outcome of infants with infantile hypertrophic pyloric stenosis. J Pediatr Surg. 2010;45:2369–72.
- Block RI, Thomas JJ, Bayman EO, Choi JY, Kimble KK, Todd MM. Are anesthesia and surgery during infancy associated with altered academic performance during childhood? Anesthesiology. 2012;117:494–503.
- DiMaggio C, Sun LS, Ing C, Li G. Pediatric anesthesia and neurodevelopmental impairments: a Bayesian meta-analysis. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2012;24:376–81.
- Ing CH, DiMaggio CJ, Malacova E, Whitehouse AJ, Hegarty MK, Feng T, et al. Comparative analysis of outcome measures used in examining neurodevelopmental effects of early childhood anesthesia exposure. Anesthesiology. 2014;120:1319–32.
- Sprung J, Flick RP, Katusic SK, Colligan RC, Barbaresi WJ, Bojanic K, et al. Attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder after early exposure to procedures requiring general anesthesia. Mayo Clin Proc. 2012;87:120–9.
- Vutskits L, Culley DJ. GAS, PANDA, and MASK: no evidence of clinical Anesthetic neurotoxicity! Anesthesiology. 2019;131:762–4.
- O'Leary JD. Human studies of Anesthesia-related neurotoxicity in children: a narrative review of recent additions to the clinical literature. Clin Perinatol. 2019;46:637–45.

- Wilder RT, Flick RP, Sprung J, Katusic SK, Barbaresi WJ, Mickelson C, et al. Early exposure to anesthesia and learning disabilities in a population-based birth cohort. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:796–804.
- 94. Yan J, Li YR, Zhang Y, Lu Y, Jiang H. Repeated exposure to anesthetic ketamine can negatively impact neurodevelopment in infants: a prospective preliminary clinical study. J Child Neurol. 2014;29:1333–8.
- 95. Bhutta AT, Schmitz ML, Swearingen C, James LP, Wardbegnoche WL, Lindquist DM, et al. Ketamine as a neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory agent in children undergoing surgery on cardiopulmonary bypass: a pilot randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2012;13:328–37.
- 96. Taghon TA, Masunga AN, Small RH, Kashou NH. A comparison of functional magnetic resonance imaging findings in children with and without a history of early exposure to general anesthesia. Paediatr Anaesth. 2015;25:239–46.
- 97. Oba S, Işil CT, Türk HŞ, Karamürsel S, Aksu S, Kaba M, Kılınç L, Dokucu AI. Evaluation of neurotoxicity of multiple anesthesia in children using visual evoked potentials. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul. 2019;53:284–9.
- Moffitt TE, Houts R, Asherson P, Belsky DW, Corcoran DL, Hammerle M, et al. Is adult ADHD a childhood-onset neurodevelopmental disorder? Evidence from a four-decade longitudinal cohort study. Am J Psychiatry. 2015;172:967–77.
- Dzietko M, Felderhoff-Mueser U, Sifringer M, Krutz B, Bittigau P, Thor F, et al. Erythropoietin protects the developing brain against N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist neurotoxicity. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;15:177–87.
- 100. Tsuchimoto T, Ueki M, Miki T, Morishita J, Maekawa N. Erythropoietin attenuates isofluraneinduced neurodegeneration and learning deficits in the developing mouse brain. Paediatr Anaesth. 2011;21:1209–13.
- 101. Ma D, Williamson P, Januszewski A, Nogaro MC, Hossain M, Ong LP, et al. Xenon mitigates isofluraneinduced neuronal apoptosis in the developing rodent brain. Anesthesiology. 2007;106:746–53.
- 102. Cattano D, Williamson P, Fukui K, Avidan M, Evers AS, Olney JW, et al. Potential of xenon to induce or to protect against neuroapoptosis in the developing mouse brain. Can J Anaesth. 2008;55:429–36.

- 103. Shu Y, Patel SM, Pac-Soo C, Fidalgo AR, Wan Y, Maze M, et al. Xenon pretreatment attenuates anesthetic-induced apoptosis in the developing brain in comparison with nitrous oxide and hypoxia. Anesthesiology. 2010;113:360–8.
- 104. Sanders RD, Xu J, Shu Y, Januszewski A, Halder S, Fidalgo A, et al. Dexmedetomidine attenuates isoflurane-induced neurocognitive impairment in neonatal rats. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:1077–85.
- 105. Sanders RD, Sun P, Patel S, Li M, Maze M, Ma D. Dexmedetomidine provides cortical neuroprotection: impact on anaesthetic-induced neuroapoptosis in the rat developing brain. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2010;54:710–6.
- 106. Li Y, Zeng M, Chen W, Liu C, Wang F, Han X, et al. Dexmedetomidine reduces isoflurane-induced neuroapoptosis partly by preserving PI3K/Akt pathway in the hippocampus of neonatal rats. PLoS One. 2014;9:e93639.
- 107. Ponten E, Viberg H, Gordh T, Eriksson P, Fredriksson A. Clonidine abolishes the adverse effects on apoptosis and behaviour after neonatal ketamine exposure in mice. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2012;56:1058–65.
- Straiko MM, Young C, Cattano D, Creeley CE, Wang H, Smith DJ, et al. Lithium protects against anesthesia-induced developmental neuroapoptosis. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:862–8.
- 109. Fan X, Kavelaars A, Heijnen CJ, Groenendaal F, van Bel F. Pharmacological neuroprotection after perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2010;8:324–34.
- 110. Yon JH, Carter LB, Reiter RJ, Jevtovic-Todorovic V. Melatonin reduces the severity of anesthesiainduced apoptotic neurodegeneration in the developing rat brain. Neurobiol Dis. 2006;21:522–30.
- 111. Zhao Y, Liang G, Chen Q, Joseph DJ, Meng Q, Eckenhoff RG, et al. Anesthetic-induced neurodegeneration mediated via inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2010;333:14–22.
- 112. Ward CG, Hines SJ, Maxwell LG, McGowan FX, Sun LS. Neurotoxicity, general anesthesia in young children, and a survey of current pediatric anesthesia practice at US teaching institutions. Paediatr Anaesth. 2016;26:60–5.



42

Anesthesia for Radiation Therapy in Children

Sachidanand Jee Bharati, Wasimul Hoda, and Brajesh Kumar Ratre

Key Points

- Radiotherapy (RT) is one of the effective treatment modalities in pediatric malignancies of the central nervous system (CNS).
- Anesthesiologists play a vital role in the provision of radiotherapy, which is directly linked to the successful treatment of pediatric cancers.
- Pediatric radiation therapy for intracranial malignancies begins with computed tomography-based planning and simulation, followed by definitive radiotherapy.
- Repeated RT sessions requiring anesthesia has its own complications, and anesthesiologists have to work outside their comfort zone in a remote location.
- The real challenge is to create a similar condition each time in a successive RT session by providing a motionless child with limited anesthesia resources.
- Apart from the toxicities of radiation, an anesthesiologist has to consider the psychosocial,

emotional, and cognitive aspects of RT on the child and the family.

42.1 Introduction

The solid tumors of the central nervous system (CNS) are the most common cancers in the pediatric population. It accounts for about 25% of tumors seen in children [1]. Due to advancements in treatment modalities, the prognosis and 5-year survival rate have improved steadily [1]. Along with surgery and chemotherapy, radiation oncology forms the cornerstone in the treatment and outcome of CNS tumors. Radiation therapy (RT) is used for both curative as well as palliative intent. It is one of the primary management modalities for primary CNS lymphoma, glioma, and brain metastasis [2].

The procedure is usually brief, where a motionless patient is needed to be on radiotherapy bed. Mostly, the supine or, sometimes, the prone position is needed [3]. Further, the anesthesia provider needs to work outside their comfort zone of the operating room. Patient vitals need to be monitored continuously from a remote location with limited resources. Hence, it is a challenge to provide safe and effective anesthesia in pediatric patients receiving radiotherapy. An anesthesiologist must have a clear understanding of the disease, its loco-regional effects, toxicities of cancer therapy, and psychosocial vulnerabili-

S. J. Bharati (🖂) · B. K. Ratre

Department of Onco-Anaesthesia and Palliative Medicine, BR Ambedkar Institute Rotary Cancer Hospital, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi, India

W. Hoda

Department of Anaesthesia and Critical Care, Rajendra Institute of Medical Sciences (RIMS), Ranchi, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_42

ties of the children and their families. Therefore, the anesthesiologist must formulate an appropriate anesthetic plan which is safe for a child even if used repeatedly [4].

42.2 Pediatric Neurological Tumors and Indications for Radiotherapy

Pediatric brain tumors need a multimodal approach for its comprehensive management (Table 42.1). In the majority of such tumors, neurosurgery is the treatment of choice, followed by radiotherapy. The duration of radiotherapy varies depending on the type and location of the tumor [5]. In the pediatric age group, medulloblastoma is one of the most common malignant brain tumors. In up to one-third of cases, it involves meningeal lining and spinal cord at the time of diagnosis. Such children usually receive radiation to the cranium and spine after surgery [6]. Children who are less than 3 years of age may also require chemotherapy. The primary treatment for astrocytoma and ependymoma is neurosurgery; for low-grade astrocytoma, radiotherapy may be recommended. For high grades, a combination of surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy is often necessary. Radiotherapy in ependymoma is usually recommended after surgery in older children.

42.3 Technology and Types of Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy uses ionizing radiations, but the exact mechanism of action on cancer cells is still unexplored [7]. However, the breaking of nucleic double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) is the most important cellular effect of radiation. It leads to irreversible loss of cellular reproducibility and, eventually, cellular death. However, in clinical therapy, indirect ionizing of cells via free-radical intermediaries formed from the radiolysis of cellular water is most seen. The ionizing radiation also disrupts the normal cell cycle necessary for cell growth, cell senescence, and apoptosis [8, 9]. These changes eventually result in cell death.

The changes at the cellular level after therapeutic dose conventional multifraction radiotherapy regimen can be summarized as 4Rs of radiobiology [7]: (a) repair of sublethal damage, (b) repopulation, (c) redistribution, and (d) reoxygenation.

| | | Relative | |
|--------|---------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------------------------------|
| S. no. | Type of malignancy | incidence | Treatment |
| 1. | Medulloblastoma/PNET/ | 16-20% | Complete surgical resection |
| | pinealoblastoma | | Cranial/spinal radiotherapy (RT) and chemotherapy |
| 2.1. | Astrocytoma (gliomas) | 35-50% | Low grade: Surgical resection, radiotherapy, and |
| | | | chemotherapy may be given. |
| | | 10% | High grade: Radiotherapy and chemotherapy are |
| | | | combined with surgery. |
| 3. | Brain stem glioma | 10-20% | Surgery or radiotherapy + chemotherapy |
| 4. | Ependymoma | 8-10% | Radiotherapy after surgery |
| 5.1.1. | Germ cell tumors | 4–7% | Mature teratoma: Surgery |
| | | | Pure germinoma: Surgery + radiotherapy |
| | | | Non-germinomas: Surgical resection + chemotherapy |
| | | | + radiotherapy |
| 6. | Aggressive infantile embryonal | 3% | Complete surgical resection |
| | tumors (i.e., atypical teratoid | | Radiotherapy and chemotherapy |
| | rhabdoid tumor) | | |
| 7. | Craniopharyngiomas | 3% | Surgery |
| | | | For recurrence: Surgery + radiotherapy |
| 8. | Acute leukemia | | Chemotherapy and radiotherapy |

Table 42.1 List of pediatric neurological tumors and their treatment modalities [5]

Conventional multifraction radiotherapy enables normal tissue to recover between two fractions. This also reduces damage to normal tissues. Redistribution of proliferating cell populations from radioresistant to radiosensitive phase throughout the cell cycle increases cell damage in fractionated treatment as compared to single-session treatment. Repopulation is seen if the interval is of more than 6 h. The cells repopulate and result in an increase of surviving fraction. The hypoxic cells at the center of the tumor are resistant to radiation. These hypoxic cells get reoxygenated during the fractionated course of therapy. Now these reoxygenated cells are more radiosensitive to further radiation therapy [9].

Commonly used radiotherapy is external beam RT (EBRT) and internal RT. EBRT or teletherapy is the most frequently used form of radiotherapy in children. The patient lies on a radiotherapy bed, and an external source of radiation is projected at a particular predefined part of the body [7], whereas in internal RT, radiation sources are placed as close as possible to the tumor. Depending upon the way of radiation placement inside the body, the internal radiation therapies can be categorized as interstitial, intracavitary, intraluminal, and intravenous. Brachytherapy is placing a radioactive substance directly inside or close to the tumor [10]. It allows

delivering a higher total dose of radiation to treat a smaller area and in a shorter time taking an edge over EBRT.

3-D conformal radiotherapy (3-DCRT), intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), image-guided radiotherapy (IGRT), stereotactic radiosurgery, or Gamma Knife is other newer modalities for RT [11–14].

42.4 Preparation for Radiotherapy

When a child is planned for EBRT, he or she must undergo the process of simulation and planning, followed by radiotherapy. For immobilization, either a customized aquaplast mold or blue bag is used (Fig. 42.1a, b). Simulation, as well as RT, needs equal preparedness and monitoring (Fig. 42.2a, b).

Simulation allows the radiation oncologist to locate the exact anatomical landmark for delivery of external beam radiation, dose, position, and number of sessions. The simulation process may last from few minutes to hours depending upon the cooperation of children and the technologists who perform the simulation [15].

An anesthesiologist's backup is required for younger children, and before going through sim-



Fig. 42.1 (a) Child with aquaplast face mask. (b) Blue bag for immobilization


Fig. 42.2 (a) Child in simulation suite; (b) child in radiotherapy suite

ulation process, the child should undergo a detailed evaluation by the anesthesiologist. The challenges of anesthesia for RT may be related to the patient or the location as below [16].

- Patient related: Children presenting for ٠ radiotherapy should not be graded as ASA 1 patients. In addition to the local and systemic effects of tumor, children may receive concurrent chemotherapy. They may have associated toxicities of chemotherapy. The child may have delayed gastric emptying due to chemotherapy, opioids, stress, comorbidity, and an increased risk of aspiration. Children may have upper airway infections or other illnesses that may complicate general anesthesia. Difficult cannulation is also one of the major challenges for the anesthesiologist, especially when receiving chemotherapy.
- Location related: In remote site anesthesia with restricted access to the patient, especially during simulation and radiation delivery, staff and parents should leave the room, and child is monitored using video cameras and slave monitor. For providing anesthesia in a radiation suite, a complete setup should be arranged, including anesthesia workstation, emergency drug cart, difficult intubation kit, and all pediatric airway and other airway



Fig. 42.3 Anesthesia for simulation and radiation therapy with molded face mask under monitored anesthesia care (MAC)

securing devices should be handy. Most of the patients who require anesthesia for simulation and radiotherapy do well with monitored anesthesia care (MAC) (Fig. 42.3). During simulation and radiotherapy, patients can be monitored from an adjacent room through radioprotective glass windows or by closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras. Circuit hose extension can be needed to place the machine at an appropriate distance so that it cannot obstruct the lateral movement of the linear accelerator.

42.5 Role of Anesthesiologist

The radiotherapy in children becomes challenging to anesthesiologists as they have to work in remote locations as any other nonoperating room anesthesia (NORA) procedure. The radiation treatment involves initial planning and sessions of multiple EBRT. The planning is called as simulation, where the radiation oncologist marks the exact anatomical location to be included in the radiation field. A child needs anesthesia during both procedures. Therefore, an anesthesiologist needs to have adequate preparation in the procedure room, preprocedural clinical assessment, following fasting guidelines, and planning for the right sedation plan [17].

The important responsibilities of an anesthesiologist during simulation and ERBT sessions can be the selection of an ideal "sedation plan" with goals such as reducing apprehension, fear, and anxiety in child and parent, obtaining child cooperation, immobilization on the couch while on therapy, adequate amnesia, reducing discomfort and having adequate analgesia, and preventing fall and ensuring child safety. Adequate preparation and arrangement of necessary equipment and lifesaving drugs with a recommended checklist with the acronym of SOAPME (suction, oxygen, airway, pharmacy, monitors, equipment) should be ensured in case of an emergency (Table 42.2) [18]. The preparation should be as such that the child could easily undergo general endotracheal anesthesia at the procedure room in case of an emergency. It is always prudent to check all the equipment before each sedation procedure.

| S (suction) | Appropriate size catheters and functioning suction apparatus |
|------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| O (oxygen) | Adequate supply with functioning flowmeters |
| A (airway) | Appropriate size airway devices such as nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal, laryngoscopes (both Miller and Macintosh), endotracheal tubes, supraglottic airway, face mask, and resuscitation bag |
| P (pharmacy) | Basic drugs for life support and resuscitation, hypnotics-sedatives, and their antagonists |
| M (monitors) | Standard monitors for SpO ₂ , HR, end-tidal CO ₂ (EtCO ₂), and RR |
| E (equipment) | Ancillary like defibrillator |

| Tahlo | 42.2 | SOAPME checklist |
|-------|------|-------------------|
| Iavie | 42.2 | SOAF ME CHECKIISU |

The preprocedural clinical assessment of the child should include a record of medical history, physical examination, and risk assessment in special cases. The medical history should include the history of any illness related to the respiratory, cardiovascular, renal, or hepatic systems; previous sedations, anesthesia, surgeries, hospital admission, and complications if any; allergies; current medications; recent episodes of upper respiratory infection, fever, snoring, sleep apnea, or hypoventilation syndrome; and effect of tumor and side effects of previous surgery or chemotherapy. During physical examination, baseline vitals such as heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation (SpO₂), blood pressure (BP), body temperature, weight of child, auscultation of the chest, and airways examinations should be done. Congenital abnormalities such as tetralogy of Fallot have been associated with Wilms' tumor [19].

Proper risk assessment and management are needed in a few special cases associated with increased sedation-related adverse effects. Prior craniotomies or tumors involving the brain stem are associated with lower cranial nerve involvement. In such patients at higher risk for regurgitation and aspiration, adequate fasting must be ensured. Similarly, ketamine is contraindicated in patients with supratentorial tumors having features of increased intracranial pressure. Children undergoing radiotherapy for brain metastasis in cases of Wilms' tumor may present with a large abdominal mass which may impair normal respiration in supine position. Children with associated anterior mediastinal mass may cause respiratory distress in the supine position. Cardiovascular (acute or chronic) toxicity can be seen in children receiving anthracyclines. Rhythm and conduction disturbances are features of acute toxicity in such cases. A child with a history of bleomycin therapy can present with pulmonary toxicity. It may present as new episodes of cough and respiratory difficulty with or without respiratory failure.

American Society of Anaesthesiologists (ASA) fasting guidelines should be followed in these children with 2 h for clear liquids, 4 h for breast milk, and 6 h for formula feed and light

meal [20]. After discussing the various aspects of anesthesia with parents, informed consent should be obtained and attached to the patient's record. As the process is painful, sedation is needed in most cases. No fixed guidelines are available for monitoring during RT. Continuous monitoring is needed as the child remains inside the radiotherapy suite, and direct physical observation may not be possible. Therefore, two monitors are required in the radiotherapy suite [21–23]; one is attached to the child while the other is connected to the anesthesia machine. For real-time monitoring, a slave monitor is attached, or CCTV can be installed in the room to visualize the child fully. One camera may be focused on the monitor if the slave monitor is not available [21–23] (Fig. 42.4).

Arrangements are made so that the sounds of pulse oximetry and ECG are heard clearly outside the suite. It can be done if a mic is connected to the loudspeaker placed outside. Therefore, a child may be observed from outside while ongoing therapy. Observation of chest wall movement and plethysmograph on the monitor allows the rapid detection of sedation-related adverse effects [22–25]. Vital signs should be recorded before and after the procedure, after every 5 mins if the procedure is prolonged in a time-based chart. Level of consciousness, HR, BP, respiratory rate, EtCO₂ with nasal prongs, and SpO₂ is monitored and documented [22–25]. Noninvasive BP monitoring can interfere with optimal sedation and causes pain; therefore, it should be avoided



Fig. 42.4 Child being monitored from outside the radiation suite while undergoing radiation therapy

[22–25]. Supplemental oxygen is given in all cases to delay the onset of desaturation [22–24]. The cables and tubing should be of longer length than usual to avoid disconnection during radio-therapy sessions. The bispectral index (BIS) monitoring is not commonly used as the procedure is of short duration, and studies have shown to be useful in children of more than 1 year [25].

Benzodiazepine, especially midazolam, has gained popularity for short-term sedative procedures because of its short half-life, anxiolytic, and amnestic property. Since external beam RT is a painless procedure, midazolam alone is tolerated well and does not require any narcotics. A 50–100 mg/kg intravenous dose provides adequate sedation to allow for the placement monitors and aquaplast face mask [26]. Flumazenil must be available in an emergency drug cart when benzodiazepines are used for sedation.

If the child is more agitated and midazolam is insufficient, most anesthesiologists choose propofol. When a child received a pretreatment of midazolam, a bolus of 0.5-1 mg/kg is sufficient to complete radiation therapy [27]. This dose can be used for simulation process along with maintenance dose of 7-10 mg/kg/h. Propofol is a stand-alone drug; it can be given without pretreatment of benzodiazepines [28]. The only problem with propofol is injection site pain. FDA has recently approved fospropofol, a prodrug of propofol for day-care sedation procedure. Fospropofol is converted to propofol in the liver by alkaline phosphatase. Compared to propofol, fospropofol does not cause a burning sensation during the intravenous injection, but the patient may have a tingling and burning sensation in the genitals and perianal region; it takes a longer time for peak effect and has prolonged action time. Thus, patients may have smoother hemodynamic and less respiratory depression compared to propofol. Studies suggest that a dose of 6.5 mg/kg is sufficient for the procedure, and if required, maintenance doses of 1.5-2 mg/ kg are given [29].

In a study by Evans et al. [30], the researchers used both propofol and sevoflurane for radiation therapy; propofol is given for induction of anesthesia and then sevoflurane for maintenance. When radiation therapy was completed, then sevoflurane was stopped. Patients have a shorter recovery time of 5–10 min and have no side effects.

Ketamine, an NMDA receptor antagonist, is another drug that can be used with or without benzodiazepine pretreatment. If the child is pretreated with midazolam, the incidence of postprocedure delirium is decreased. A dose of 0.5 to 1 mg/kg is sufficient for the completion of radiation therapy. Ketamine can be combined with simulation propofol for the process. Tachyphylaxis is common with a repeated dose of ketamine, but the literature suggests that the recovery time is not prolonged, and drug metabolism increases. Previously, it was hypothesized that daily use of propofol may develop tolerance, but recent literature is against this [31–33].

Newer agents like alpha-2 agonist dexmedetomidine have also been tried through intravenous and intranasal routes. Many literatures suggest that for short-term procedural sedation, dexmedetomidine is a good option [34, 35]. The major disadvantages of dexmedetomidine are the prolonged time needed for the initial loading dose of drug and side effects like bradycardia and hypotension. In one study, researchers compare nasal dexmedetomidine with nasal ketamine, and they found that the supplement requirement of propofol is reduced in the dexmedetomidine group [36]. A recent meta-analysis suggests that intranasal dexmedetomidine is a new, effective, and safe drug for day-care procedural pediatric sedation [35]. The route and dosage of various drugs used in present-day practice are listed in Table 42.3.

After sedation, a child is adequately wrapped to radiotherapy couch to prevent movement and accidental falls. If a child is awakened, starts moving, or is about to fall, the therapy is interrupted. The child is sedated again, and the target site is assured to be appropriate.

Documentation is essential to record general condition and consciousness level, the SpO₂, HR, EtCO₂, and RR before and after the procedure. It is also recommended to document vitals at 5 min interval if the procedure is prolonged. Drugs administered, doses, routes, and any unwanted event should be documented for future assessment and planning [21–23, 37]; any complication like nausea and vomiting or difficulty during the procedure should be managed [38]. The recovery room should be well staffed (one nurse for four patients) and equipped (with a pediatric pulse oximeter, oxygen supply, and a standby ventilator). Children post sedation should be observed

| Drug | Route | Dosage | Side effects |
|-----------------|---------------|--------------------------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Midazolam | Oral | 0.5 mg/kg (max 20 mg, 30 min beforehand) | Headache |
| | Intranasal | 0.2 mg/kg 0.4 mg/kg | Nausea |
| | Rectal | 0.3–1.0 mg/kg | Vomiting |
| | Intravenous | 0.05–0.2 mg/kg (sedation), >0.5 mg/kg (deep sleep) | Cough |
| | | | Drowsiness |
| | | | Hiccups |
| Ketamine | Intranasal | 3–9 mg/kg | Nausea |
| | Intramuscular | 2–5 mg/kg | Vomiting |
| | Intravenous | 0.5–2.0 mg/kg | Dizziness |
| | | | Diplopia |
| | | | Drowsiness |
| | | | Dysphoria |
| | | | Confusion |
| Dexmedetomidine | Intranasal | 1.5–3.0 μg/kg | Hypotension |
| | Intravenous | $0.5-1.0 \mu\text{g/kg}$ bolus over 10 min followed by | Hypertension |
| | | 0.2–0.5 µg/kg infusion | Nausea |
| | | | Vomiting |
| | | | Dry mouth |
| | | | Bradycardia |
| Propofol | Intravenous | An initial bolus of 2.0 mg/kg and repeated boluses | Injection site pain |
| | | titrating to immobility | Hypotension |
| | | | Myoclonus |

 Table 42.3
 Common drugs used in present-day practice for pediatric sedation

in the recovery area until they gain consciousness fully and fulfill all the criteria for discharge (Fig. 42.5) such as easily arousable with preprocedural mental status, stable cardiorespiratory status with protective reflexes and patent airway, actively moving limbs, responsible attending adult, and write clear instructions and emergency number if needed.

Adverse outcomes such as hypoxia due to airway obstruction or airway collapse, respiratory depression due to oversedation or aspiration of



Fig. 42.5 Playful child in mother's lap with oxygen support after recovery

oral secretions, or gastric contents/vomitus are the most common reported complication; actual incidence is unknown. Undetected or untreated bradycardia secondary to hypoxia can result in cardiac arrest and even death. Multiple medications, inadequate pre-procedure assessment of risk factors, poor monitoring, medication errors, and improper care in recovery increase the risk of complication. However, most of these complications are preventable if the anesthesiologist is vigilant [15, 39].

42.6 Anesthesia Technique

Children under the age of 3 years do not understand the requirement of lying still for treatment, and the use of sedation or general anesthesia is often required. There is currently no guideline available to define when to give general anesthesia to children; it should depend upon the local practice of the institution. During the simulation, children who require general anesthesia or sedation can tolerate monitored anesthesia care (MAC) during EBRT because the procedure is very brief and lasts for minutes only. As defined by the ASA task force, moderate sedation is sufficient for the procedure (Table 42.4) [22].

Historically, older hypnotic and sedative drugs like chloral hydrate or paraldehyde were used for sedation in children, but these drugs have been associated with several issues like the bitter taste, unreliable and unpredictable effects, and wearing off. The child may become excessively drowsy and sedated [16]. NICE guideline recommends

| | | | | Cardiovascular |
|-----------------------|--------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|
| Sedation level | Response | Airway | Respiratory system | system |
| Mild sedation | Normal | Patent | Spontaneous respiration | Normal |
| Moderate sedation | Response to verbal/ tactile stimulation | Patent | Spontaneous respiration | Normal |
| Deep sedation | Response to painful stimuli | Assistance require | Inadequate | Usually normal |
| General anesthesia | Loss of consciousness | Intervention requires for patency of airway. | Positive pressure ventilation may be required. | May be affected |

Table 42.4 ASA task force definition of stages of sedation [40]

the use of general anesthesia and some mental health professional who provides a comfortable atmosphere for the child to become calmer and more cooperative during anesthesia and radiotherapy [39]. Play area preparation has been used in many pediatric hospitals setting to facilitate the treatment [16].

For an agitated and young child, the simulation process should be done under general anesthesia or deep sedation. Securing airway supraglottic devices such as laryngeal mask airway (LMA) may be utilized, and intubation should be avoided. Muscle relaxation is generally not required for the procedure except in retinoblastoma cases where paralysis of extraocular muscle is needed [15]. After completing the simulation, the child should be shifted to the postanesthesia care unit, and RT will be planned for the next day. In most of the centers, pediatric RT is scheduled in the morning session to be done on a day-care basis. Intravenous (IV) route is preferred for drug administration as many children might have recently completed their chemotherapy or receiving concomitant chemotherapy with a cannula in situ. Children may be neutropenic due to chemotherapy and radiotherapy and are more prone to bacterial infection, so aseptic measures should be taken to place IV cannula. EMLA cream can be used to decrease the pain of needle prick. Radiotherapy is planned for 5 days in a week for 4-6 weeks; hence, it should be preferred to secure a fresh IV cannula every Monday and should be.

Airway Management During the Procedure: Preoxygenation should be done before giving drugs, and supplemental oxygen should be provided over the aquaplast mask using a face mask or nasal cannula with EtCO₂ attachment. Airway position can be manipulated by chin lift and jaw thrust, and it may require placement of neck or chest roll. Airway management is challenging when an immobilization device or aquaplast face mask was placed. When airway obstruction cannot be controlled by manipulation, oral airway or supraglottic device placement is required. For general anesthesia, supraglottic airway devices should be used.

42.7 Radiation-Induced Toxicity and Complications

Radiation toxicity can be divided into three subgroups [41]: (a) acute toxicities, within 6 weeks of treatment; (b) early delayed toxicities, within 4 months of irradiation, and (c) late delayed toxicities, beyond 4 months to several years later postirradiation.

42.7.1 Mechanism of Toxicity

CNS toxicity can be better understood by understanding the toxicities on the cellular level. Radiation injury to brain parenchyma includes and initiates pathological changes in neuronal and glial cells and surrounding vascular structures [41]. Four important factors that lead to the development of CNS toxicity are (1) injury to vasculatures, (2) deletions of O-2A (oligodendrocyte-2 astrocyte progenitors) and mature oligodendrocytes, (3) deletion of neural stem cells in the hippocampus, cerebellum, and cortex, and (4) altered cytokine expression [40].

42.7.2 Acute and Early Delayed Toxicities of Cranial Irradiation

Side effects manifesting within 6 weeks of completion of radiation therapy are considered to be early side effects. Due to transient demyelination, the effects are transient and self-limiting in nature [42]. Children may present with fatigue, nausea, vomiting, headache, and focal neurological deficits. These side effects were commonly encountered when patients used to receive doses greater than 2 Gy per fraction. Therefore, according to current NCCN guidelines, it is advised not to deliver conventional doses greater than 2 Gy in one fraction to avoid these acute side effects. Side effects manifesting within 4 months of radiation treatment are early delayed effects. It manifests as transient demyelination and somnolence. Early to late side effects are usually mild and reversible and resolve spontaneously as in cases of early toxicities.

42.7.3 Fatigue

Fatigue and lethargy are the most common side effects when a child undergoes radiotherapy for CNS. Fatiguability is usually experienced around 2 weeks of radiation exposure. The child is lethargic and slow in activity with less interest in playing. The symptoms are maximum around the completion of therapy and get resolves within a few months [43, 44]. Somnolence syndrome is a severe form of fatigue associated with profound lethargy and lack of concentration. It is typically seen as early delayed toxicity approximately 5–6 weeks after RT [45].

42.7.4 Alopecia and Radiation Dermatitis

Hair loss or alopecia is also considered to be a common side effect. The hair follicles exposed during radiation are prone to fall, and alopecia is seen in that area. It may be localized, sparse, or patchy depending on scalp exposure. Repeated higher doses can cause permanent damage to hair follicles leading to permanent alopecia [46].

Radiation dermatitis is a common finding of the scalp in children undergoing RT. It is a desquamating rash, mild in nature, and is treated with moisturizing ointments. In severe rare cases of moist desquamation, topical antibiotic ointment is being useful.

42.7.5 Late Delayed Toxicities of Cranial Irradiation

Late delayed side effects are mostly irreversible and progressive in nature. Therefore, it becomes prudent when discussing the various radiation toxicities. These toxicities may manifest as late as 4 months of treatment up to decades later. The patient may present with significant cognitive deterioration [40–42]. It has a devastating impact on patients' quality of life. A decline in neurocognitive function post radiation for a brain tumor is important delayed toxicity. Etiology is a multifactorial phenomenon as other factors may have cumulative effects that contribute to cognitive decline. The relationship between radiation toxicity and cognitive decline has been well observed, studied, and documented [40-42]. The concurrent use of chemotherapy, along with radiation, can add up the cognitive deterioration. It is important to recognize toxicity caused in either combination or individually. Recent advances in imaging technology help in a more accurate assessment of radiation-induced brain injury. It may further expand our comprehensive knowledge and understanding of critical brain structures that are very sensitive to the harmful effects of ionizing radiation [40–42].

42.8 Effects of Repetitive Anesthesia and Radiotherapy on Neurologic System

Over the years, many studies in various animal models demonstrated a link between anesthetic agents and neurodegenerative changes [47–49]. Nearly all commonly used anesthetic agents, including benzodiazepines, propofol, ketamine, volatile aesthetics, and nitrous oxide, have some neurogenerative properties [50, 51]. Literature reveals that for different effects like sedation, amnesia, and analgesia, anesthetic agents act on various receptors and modulate neuronal activities [52, 53].

Anesthetic agents block normal neurotransmission in GABAergic and glutamate systems after binding with GABA and NMDA receptors, respectively, thereby causing synaptic deprivation and activation of intrinsic neuroapoptotic cascade and mitochondrial disruption [51, 52]. Decrease dendritic and spine formation also plays a role in neurodegeneration. Literature also supports that single or multiple exposures with anesthetic agents in young children less than 4 years of age have a learning problem during childhood and adolescence [54–56]. Stratmann et al. assessed the outcome in children who received general anesthesia at age less than 1 year, and a unique recognition memory test was done between the ages of 6–11 years. The children who received general anesthesia had a significantly lower recollection score than control [57]. However, the PANDA trial, which had a superior study design (the Pediatric Anesthesia Neurodevelopment Assessment) [58], did not find any significant cognitive, behavioral, and memory function changes in children exposed to general anesthesia in comparison to control.

A meta-analysis suggests neurodevelopmental deficits, especially cognitive and behavioral, after general anesthesia and surgery. The number of exposures is more important than exposure time before 4 years of age [59]. Researchers also found that repeated exposure to ketamine negatively impacts the developing brain [60]. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has advised that repeated and prolonged exposures of anesthetic and sedative drugs before the age of 3 years can potentially harm the development of children's brains. O'Leary JD et al. comprehensively reviewed five pre- and paraclinical trials [61–64] and concluded that anesthetic and sedative drugs transiently disrupt normal neural activity [65].

Dexmedetomidine is a newer sedative and hypnotic agent that gives conscious sedation; it is a highly selective $\alpha\lambda\pi\eta\alpha$ -2 adrenergic receptor agonist. Dexmedetomidine binds with the presynaptic-2 receptor at locus ceruleus to produce hypnosis and anxiolysis and binds to α -2 receptor in the spinal cord to produce analgesia [66]. US FDA approved it for procedural sedation in spontaneously ventilated adults [67]. There is no interaction of dexmedetomidine with either GABA or NMDA receptors, so it is a new drug for study related to anesthesia neurotoxicity. Many preclinical animal trials suggest that dexmedetomidine does not cause neurodegenerative changes caused by some common anesthetics like isoflurane, ketamine, and propofol, and even it ameliorates these changes caused by common agents [68-73].

Children who survive after brain irradiation exhibits decrease white matter volume as compare to other children. Imaging studies show that demyelination and necrosis radiation therapy cause neurotoxicity and neurocognitive deficits mainly by microvascular damage and decreasing white matter volume [74–76]. White matter is myelinated axons responsible for neuronal synapses. White matter myelination occurs in the first few years of life [76]. During these early years of myelination and synaptogenesis, RT causes apoptosis of neuronal and endothelial cells. Damage to these cells causes further secondary ischemic axonal and oligodendrocytic death that may be responsible for long-term neurocognitive impairment. Radiation also causes the breakdown of blood-brain barrier leading to inflammation and edema [77, 78]. Reddick et al. in a multicentric prospective study of 383 childhood brain tumor survivors found a strong correlation between cerebral irradiation and decrease in white matter mass and decline in neurocognitive function, and it is a progression with time [79]. Fractional anisotropy is a quantitative index assessed in diffuse tensor imaging that reflects axonal degeneration or decrease myelination. Fractional anisotropy is decreased in patients with cancer survivors who receive cranial irradiation [80].

The hippocampus is also an important site in CNS, where neurogenesis occurs throughout life. It involves memory formation and consolidation and is the most radiosensitive zone with associated neurocognitive changes. Damage or structural changes in the hippocampus area, like decreased volume after irradiation, are strongly associated with poor IQ, decreased learning, and retaining ability [77–79].

Liu et al. reported that children who survive after cranial irradiation after medulloblastoma have a significant thinner cerebral cortex than controls [81]. This will also suggest the correlation between cranial irradiation, gray matter volume, and neurocognitive changes. Some researchers also reported that cranial irradiation causes frontoparietal cortical changes associated with impaired memory [82].

42.9 Special Concerns: Pain, Psychological Impact on Child and Parents

As the child has to undergo invasive and painful procedures (surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy), childhood cancer negatively impacts the child and their family. Even though the radio-therapy is painless, children may experience psy-chological distress. They are scared of new hospital members, unfamiliar hospital surround-ings, equipment, and procedure. Separation from parents brings anxiety, making a child uncomfortable [83, 84]; children with brain tumors undergoing radiotherapy experience boredom. A school-going child misses his classroom activities and their close friends.

Multiple sessions of radiotherapy bring stress for the child and the whole family. Family experience physical, psychological, emotional, and social struggles. The overall situation is described as unstable, where the family's prime focus is toward protecting their child during the various therapies.

The parents are concerned about the side effects and its outcome in terms of child survival, physical and mental health, and future neurocognitive functions. Family is disrupted as they have to stay for a long period of time in the hospital. Multiple sessions, repeated IV cannulations, and pre-procedure fasting make the situaoverwhelming, bringing tion enormous emotional instability in parents. After the end of treatment, they experience challenges as child life is no more the same. The child has to make various adjustments called "new normal." Even after the treatment, family has to deal with their emotional scars and fears related to the cancer recurrence. It indicates the utmost need for psychological support among parents of children undergoing radiotherapy. A psychoeducational intervention both for the child and parent is found to be beneficial. It includes a play program and interactive support to get familiar with the hospital staff members; equipment, surroundings, and radiotherapy procedures are found to be useful [85]. It helps in reducing pediatric distress, parental anxiety, and apprehensions. Play

therapy sessions combined with audiovisual aids, for example, cartoons for younger children of less than 7 years before the start of treatment with EBRT, have been reported to be beneficial [80, 86, 87]. Distraction techniques have also been found to be effective and are found to decrease the need for sedation.

42.10 Conclusion

Pediatric radiotherapy needs an interdisciplinary approach for safe and effective execution. In pediatric malignancies, radiotherapy has a curative role apart from palliation. The success of radiotherapy depends on the accuracy of radiotherapy in terms of dose and site where it has to be given. The critical steps in pediatric radiotherapy are planning and simulation, successive radiotherapy without interruptions, and uncomplicated recovery after each radiotherapy session. Anesthesia is required at each step as during each radiotherapy session, the exactness of dose and site should be maintained. Anesthesiologist plays a vital role in completing radiotherapy, which is directly linked to the cure for pediatric cancer. The real challenge for anesthesiologist is to create a similar condition at each time in successive radiotherapy sessions by providing a motionless child with limited anesthesia resources.

References

- Ward E, DeSantis C, Robbins A, Kohler B, Jemal A. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. CA A Cancer J Clin. 2014;64:83–103.
- Halperin EC, Constine LS, Tarbell NJ, Kun LE. Pediatric radiation oncology. 5th ed. New York, USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2011.
- Anghelescuetetal DL. Safe anesthesia for radiation therapy in pediatric oncology: the St. Jude Children's Research Hospital Experience, 2004–2006. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(2):491–7.
- 4. Latham GJ. Anesthesia for the child with cancer. Anesthesiology Clin. 2014;32:185–213.
- Mostoufi-Moab S, Grimberg A. Pediatric brain tumor treatment: growth consequences and their management. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2010;8(1):6–17.
- Martin AM, Raabe E, Eberhart C, Cohen KJ. Management of pediatric and adult patients

with medulloblastoma. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2014;15(4):581–94.

- Mehta SR, Suhag V, Semwal M, Sharma N. Radiotherapy: basic concepts and recent advances. Med J Armed Forces India. 2010;66(2):158–62.
- Joubert A, Foray N. Intrinsic radiosensitivity and DNA double strand breaks in human cells. Cancer Radiother. 2007;11:129–42.
- 9. Wilson GD. Cell kinetics. Clin Oncol. 2007;19:370–84.
- Van DS, Byram D, Bernshaw D. Brachytherapy for cancer of the cervix: an Australian and New Zealand survey of current treatment techniques. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol. 2008;52:588–97.
- Prabhakar R, Ganesh T, Rath GK, Julka PK, Sridhar PS, Joshi SC. Impact of different CT slice thickness on clinical target volume for 3D conformal radiation therapy. Med Dosim. 2009;34:36–41.
- Ding M, Newman F, Chen C, Stuhr K, Gaspar LE. Dosimetric comparison between 3DCRT and IMRT using different multileaf collimators in the treatment of brain tumours. Med Dosim. 2009;34:1–8.
- Webster GJ, Rowbottom CG, Mackay RI. Accuracy and precision of an IGRT solution. Med Dosim. 2009;34:99–106.
- Combs SE, Widmer V, Thilmann C. Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS): treatment option for recurrent option for recurrent glioblastoma multi-formed. Cancer. 2005;104:2168–73.
- Harris EA. Sedation and anesthesia options for pediatric patients in the radiation oncology suite. Int J Pediatr. 2010;2010:870921.
- Stackhouse C. The use of general anaesthesia in paediatric radiotherapy. Radiography. 2013;19(4):302–5.
- Gozal D, Gozal Y. Pediatric sedation/anesthesia outside the operating room. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2008;21:494–8.
- Coté CJ, Wilson S, American Academy of Pediatrics, American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Guidelines for monitoring and management of pediatric patients before, during, and after sedation for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures: update 2016. Pediatrics. 2016;138(1):e20161212.
- Lynch HT, Green GS. Wilm's tumor and congenital heart disease. Am J Dis Child. 1968;115(6):723–7.
- Cote CJ, Wilson S. Guidelines for monitoring and management of pediatric patients before, during and after sedation for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures: update 2016. Pediatrics. 2016;138:1–31.
- Krauss B, Green SM. Procedural sedation and analgesia in children. Lancet. 2006;367:766–80.
- 22. American Society of Anesthesiologists. Practice guidelines for sedation and analgesia by nonanesthesiologists: a report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on sedation and analgesia by nonanesthesiologists. Anesthesiology. 2002;96:1004–17.
- Gupta N, Gupta A, Garg R. Perioperative anaesthetic challenges for Intraoperative radiotherapy. J Anesth Crit Care Open Access. 2015;3(6):00116.

- Soto RG, Fu ES, Vila H Jr, Miguel RV. Capnography accurately detects apnea during monitored anesthesia care. Anesth Analg. 2004;99:379–82.
- 25. Bowle TA. Depth of anesthesia monitoring. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2006;24:793–822.
- Sievers TD, Yee JD, Foley ME, Blanding PJ, Berde CB. Midazolam for conscious sedation during pediatric oncology procedures: safety and recovery parameters. Pediatrics. 1991;88(6):1172–9.
- 27. Weiss M, Frei M, Buehrer S, Feurer R, Goitein G, Timmermann B. Deep propofol sedation for vacuumassisted bite-block immobilization in children undergoing proton radiation therapy of cranial tumors. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(9):867–73.
- Chidambaran V, Costandi A, D'Mello A. Propofol: a review of its role in pediatric anesthesia and sedation. CNS Drugs. 2015;29(7):543–63.
- Harris EA, Lubarsky DA, Candiotti KA. Monitored anesthesia care (MAC) sedation: clinical utility of fospropofol. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2009;5:949–59.
- Evans P, Chisholm D. Anaesthesia and paediatric oncology. Curr Anaesth Crit Care. 2008;19:50e8.
- Deer TR, Rich GF. Propofol tolerance in a pediatric patient. Anesthesiology. 1992;77(4):828–9.
- 32. Keidan I, Perel A, Shabtai EL, Pfeffer RM. Children undergoing repeated exposures for radiation therapy do not develop tolerance to propofol: clinical and bispectral index data. Anesthesiology. 2004;100(2):251–4.
- 33. Anghelescu DL, Burgoyne LL, Liu W, Hankins GM, Cheng C, Beckham PA, et al. Safe anesthesia for radiotherapy in pediatric oncology: St. Jude Children's Research Hospital Experience, 2004–2006. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(2):491–7.
- Peng K, Li J, Ji FH, Li Z. Dexmedetomidine compared with propofol for pediatric sedation during cerebral angiography. J Res Med Sci. 2014;19(6):549–54.
- 35. Mason KP, Robinson F, Fontaine P, Prescilla R. Dexmedetomidine offers an option for safe and effective sedation for nuclear medicine imaging in children. Radiology. 2013;267(3):911–7. https://doi. org/10.1148/radiol.13121232.
- 36. Suvvari P, Mishra S, Bhatnagar S, Garg R, Bharati SJ, Gupta N, et al. Comparison of intranasal dexmedetomidine versus intranasal ketamine as premedication for level of sedation in children undergoing radiation therapy: a prospective, randomised, double-blind study. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2020;48(3):215–22.
- 37. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Drugs. Guidelines for maintaining and management of pediatric patients during and after sedation for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures: an update. Pediatrics. 2006;118:2587–602.
- Cravero JP, Blike GT, Beach M, et al. Incidence and nature of adverse events during pediatric sedation/anesthesia for procedures outside the operating room: report from the Pediatric Sedation Research Consortium. Pediatrics. 2006;118:1087–96.

- 39. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Guidance on cancer services: improving outcomes in children and young people with cancer. The manual. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence; 2005.
- Belka C, Budach W, Kortmann RD, Bamberg M. Radiation induced CNS toxicity--molecular and cellular mechanisms. Br J Cancer. 2001;85(9):1233–9.
- Naziri J, DiBiase SJ. Toxicity of cranial and spinal cord irradiation. In: Morgan LR, BirolSarica F, editors. Brain and spinal tumors—primary and secondary. Intech Open; 2019. https://doi.org/10.5772/ intechopen.85396.
- Kim JH, Brown SL, Jenrow KA, Ryu S. Mechanisms of radiation-induced brain toxicity and implications for future clinical trials. J Neuro-Oncol. 2008;87(3):279–86.
- Harjani RR, Gururajachar JM, Krishnaswamy U. Comprehensive assessment of somnolence syndrome in patients undergoing radiation to the brain. Rep Pract Oncol Radiother. 2016;21(6):560–6.
- 44. Powell C, Guerrero D, Sardell S, Cumins S, Wharram B, Traish D, et al. Somnolence syndrome in patients receiving radical radiotherapy for primary brain tumours: a prospective study. Radiother Oncol. 2011;100(1):131–6.
- 45. Faithfull S, Brada M. Somnolence syndrome in adults following cranial irradiation for primary brain tumours. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 1998;10(4):250–4.
- 46. Lawenda BD, Gagne HM, Gierga DP, Niemierko A, Wong WM, Tarbell NJ, et al. Permanent alopecia after cranial irradiation: dose–response relationship. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;60(3):879–87.
- 47. Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Hartman RE, Izumi Y, Benshoff ND, Dikranian K, Zorumski CF, et al. Early exposure to common anesthetic agents causes widespread neurodegeneration in the developing rat brain and persistent learning deficits. J Neurosci. 2003;23(3):876–82.
- Creeley C, Dikranian K, Dissen G, Martin L, Olney J, Brambrink A. Propofol-induced apoptosis of neurones and oligodendrocytes in fetal and neonatal rhesus macaque brain. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110(Suppl. 1):i29–38.
- Brambrink AM, Evers AS, Avidan MS, Farber NB, Smith DJ, Martin LD, et al. Ketamine-induced neuroapoptosis in the fetal and neonatal rhesus macaque brain. Anesthesiology. 2012;116(2):372–84.
- Card EB, Wells NL. An introduction to the smart tots consensus statement on the use of anesthetic and sedative drugs in infants and toddlers. J Perianesth Nurs. 2016;31(1):3–10.
- Franks NP. Molecular targets underlying general anaesthesia. Br J Pharmacol. 2006;147(Suppl. 1):72–81.
- Chau PL. New insights into the molecular mechanisms of general anaesthetics. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;161:288–307.
- Sanders RD, Hassell J, Davidson AJ, Robertson NJ, Ma D. Impact of anaesthetics and surgery on neurode-

velopment: an update. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110(Suppl. 1):i53–72.

- 54. Wilder RT, Flick RP, Sprung J, Katusic SK, Barbaresi WJ, Mickelson C, et al. Early exposure to anesthesia and learning disabilities in a population-based birth cohort. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:796–804.
- Flick RP, Katusic SK, Colligan RC, Wilder RT, Voigt RG, Olson MD, et al. Cognitive and behavioral outcomes after early exposure to anesthesia and surgery. Pediatrics. 2011;128:e1053–61.
- 56. Ing C, DiMaggio C, Whitehouse A, Hegarty MK, Brady J, von Ungern-Sternberg BS, Davidson A, et al. Long-term differences in language and cognitive function after childhood exposure to anesthesia. Pediatrics. 2012;130:e476–85.
- 57. Stratmann G, Lee J, Sall JW, Lee BH, Alvi RS, Shih J, et al. Effect of general anesthesia in infancy on long-term recognition memory in humans and rats. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2014;39(10):2275–87.
- Sun LS, Li G, Miller TL, Salorio C, Byrne MW, Bellinger DC, et al. Association between a single general anesthesia exposure before age 36 months and neurocognitive outcomes in later childhood. JAMA. 2016;315:2312–20.
- Wang X, Xu Z, Miao CH. Current clinical evidence on the effect of general anesthesia on neurodevelopment in children: an updated systematic review with meta-regression. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e85760.
- 60. Yan J, Li YR, Zhang Y, Lu Y, Jiang H. Repeated exposure to anesthetic ketamine can negatively impact neurodevelopment in infants: a prospective preliminary clinical study. J Child Neurol. 2014;29(10):1333–8.
- 61. Davidson AJ, Disma N, de Graaff JC, Withington DE, Dorris L, Bell G, et al. GAS consortium. Neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years of age after general anaesthesia and awake-regional anaesthesia in infancy (GAS): an international multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10015):239–50.
- 62. Graham MR, Brownell M, Chateau DG, Dragan RD, Burchill C, Fransoo RR. Neurodevelopmental assessment in Kindergarten in children exposed to general anesthesia before the age of 4 years: a retrospective matched cohort study. Anesthesiology. 2016;125:667–77.
- 63. O'Leary JD, Janus M, Duku E, Wijeysundera DN, To T, Li P, et al. A population-based study evaluating the association between surgery in early life and child development at primary school entry. Anesthesiology. 2016;125(2):272–9.
- 64. Glatz P, Sandin RH, Pedersen NL, Bonamy AK, Eriksson LI, Granath F. Association of anesthesia and surgery during childhood with long-term academic performance. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171:e163470.
- 65. O'Leary JD, Warner DO. What do recent human studies tell us about the association between anaesthesia in young children and neurodevelopmental outcomes? Br J Anaesth. 2017;119:458e64.
- 66. Su F, Nicolson SC, Gastonguay MR, Barrett JS, Adamson PC, Kang DS, et al. Population

pharmacokinetics of dexmedetomidine in infants after open heart surgery. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:1383–92.

- 67. Precedex TM Prescribing Information. https://www. hospira.com/en/images/EN-4271_tcm81-92504.pdf.
- Koo E, Oshodi T, Meschter C, Ebrahimnejad A, Dong G. Neurotoxic effects of dexmedetomidine in fetal cynomolgus monkey brains. J Toxicol Sci. 2014;39:251–62.
- Olutoye OA, Lazar DA, Akinkuotu AC, Adesina A, Olutoye OO. Potential of the ovine brain as a model for anesthesia-induced neuroapoptosis. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31:865–9.
- Sanders RD, Xu J, Shu Y, Januszewski A, Halder S, Fidalgo A, et al. Dexmedetomidine attenuates isoflurane-induced neurocognitive impairment in neonatal rats. Anesthesiology. 2009;110:1077–85.
- Sanders RD, Sun P, Patel S, Li M, Maze M, Ma D. Dexmedetomidine provides cortical neuroprotection: impact on anaesthetic-induced neuroapoptosis in the rat developing brain. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2010;54:710–6.
- 72. Liao Z, Cao D, Han X, Liu C, Peng J, Zuo Z, et al. Both JNK and P38 MAPK pathways participate in the protection by dexmedetomidine against isofluraneinduced neuroapoptosis in the hippocampus of neonatal rats. Brain Res Bull. 2014;107:69–78.
- 73. Li Y, Zeng M, Chen W, Liu C, Wnag F, Han F, et al. Dexmedetomidine reduces isoflurane-induced neuroapoptosis partly by preserving PI3K/Akt pathway in the hippocampus of neonatal rats. PLoS One. 2014:e93639.
- 74. Jacola LM, Ashford JM, Reddick WE, Glass JO, Ogg RJ, Merchant TE, Conklin HM. The relationship between working memory and cerebral white matter volume in survivors of childhood brain tumors treated with conformal radiation therapy. J Neuro-Oncol. 2014;119(1):197–205.
- Nagel BJ, Delis DC, Palmer SL, Reeves C, Gajjar A, Mulhern RK. Early patterns of verbal memory impairment in children treated for medulloblastoma. Neuropsychology. 2006;20:105–12.
- Mulhern RK, White HA, Glass JO, Kun LE, Leigh L, Thompson SJ, Reddick WE. Attentional functioning and white matter integrity among survivors of malignant brain tumors of childhood. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2004;10(2):180–9.

- Huttenlocher PR. Dendritic and synaptic development in human cerebral cortex: time course and critical periods. Dev Neuropsychol. 1999;16(3):347–9.
- Roddy E, Mueller S. Late effects of treatment of pediatric central nervous system tumors. J Child Neurol. 2016;31(2):237–54.
- 79. Reddick WE, Taghipour DJ, Glass JO, Ashford J, Xiong X, Wu S, et al. Prognostic factors that increase the risk for reduced white matter volumes and deficits in attention and learning for survivors of childhood cancers. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(6):1074–9.
- Willis D, Barry P. Audiovisual interventions to reduce the use of general anaesthesia with paediatric patients during radiation therapy. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol. 2010;54(3):249–55.
- Liu AK, Marcus KJ, Fischl B, Grant PE, Poussaint TY, Rivkin MJ, et al. Changes in cerebral cortex of children treated for medulloblastoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(4):992–8.
- 82. Armstrong GT, Reddick WE, Petersen RC, et al. Evaluation of memory impairment in aging adult survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with cranial radiotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105:899–907.
- Bucholtz JD. Comforting children during radiotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1994;21(6):987–94.
- 84. Filin A, Treisman S, Peles BA. Radiation therapy preparation by a multidisciplinary team for childhood cancer patients aged 31/2–6 years. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs. 2009;26(2):81–5.
- 85. Haeberli S, Grotzer MA, Niggli FK, Landolt MA, Linsenmeier C, Ammann RA, Bodmer N. A psychoeducational intervention reduces the need for anesthesia during radiotherapy for young childhood cancer patients. Radiat Oncol. 2008;3:17.
- 86. Klosky JL, Garces-Webb DM, Buscemi J, Schum L, Tyc VL, Merchant TE. Examination of an interactiveeducational intervention in improving parent and child distress outcomes associated with pediatric radiation therapy procedures. Children's Healthcare. 2007;36(4):323–34.
- Jacques A, Udowicz M, Bayliss Y, Jensen K. Thinking differently about the kids: an innovative approach to improve care provided to pediatric patients undergoing external beam radiation therapy. JMIRS. 2014;45(3):269–75.



Neurological Perspectives in Pediatric Cardiac Surgery

43

Ankur Luthra , Virendra Kumar Arya, Summit D. Bloria, and Rajeev Chauhan

Key Points

- Various neurological manifestations may complicate cardiac surgery in pediatric patients in the perioperative period, ranging from subtle symptoms to long-term neurological impairments.
- Children with congenital heart disease (CHD) have a greater incidence of associated congenital malformations of the central nervous system (CNS).
- Improved perioperative neuromonitoring using electroencephalography (EEG), nearinfrared spectroscopy (NIRS), transcranial Doppler TCD), and evoked potentials may help to improve surgical outcomes in these children.
- Few children may be complicated with intracranial bleed due to frequent anticoagulation and may require urgent neurosurgical intervention.
- Management of such children requires careful anesthetic planning and meticulous management strategies to avoid secondary brain isch-

A. Luthra $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. D. Bloria $\cdot R$. Chauhan Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, PGIMER, Chandigarh, India

V. K. Arya Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, PGIMER, Chandigarh, India

Department of Anaesthesiology, Preoperative and Pain Medicine, SBGH, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

emia culminating in further neurological complications.

43.1 Introduction

Brain injury remains a major source of morbidity associated with congenital heart surgery. In pediatric patients, neurological injury after cardiac surgery may manifest as stroke, postoperative cognitive dysfunction, delirium, or more subtle signs leading to a long-term sequel and neurodevelopmental impairments [1]. These complications may eventually compromise the quality of life and even lead to increased mortality [2]. Hence, advanced neurological monitoring during pediatric cardiac surgery may help in improving outcomes in these patients. A subset of postoperative patients may require urgent neurosurgical interventions and need optimization before emergency surgery to prevent disastrous results.

43.2 Pediatric Cardiac Surgery and Neurologic Involvement

Congenital heart disease (CHD) is considered the most common birth defect globally. Approximately 25% of children born with CHD require intensive surgical intervention within the first year of life. Children with CHD also have a higher incidence of associated congenital malformation of the cen-

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 G. P. Rath (ed.), *Fundamentals of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-3376-8_43

Table 43.1 Important pediatric cardiac pathologies associated with neurological sequel

- Endocardial cushion defects, ventricular septal defect (Down's syndrome)
- Patent ductus arteriosus (PDA), ventricular septal defect (VSD), atrial septal defect (ASD) (trisomies 13 and 18)
- DiGeorge and velocardiofacial syndromes (CATCH 22)
- Interrupted aortic arch (type B)
- Truncus arteriosus
- Tetralogy of Fallot (TOF)
- Hypoplastic left heart syndromeTransposition of great arteries
- tral nervous system (CNS). Literature suggests a greater prevalence of neurological abnormalities before cardiac surgery in infants; some studies mentioned it even more than 50% [2, 3]. These abnormalities include microcephaly, behavioral dysregulation, feeding difficulties, and hypotonia, accompanied by abnormal electrophysiologic studies [4]. Any child with a severe CHD is at risk of neurological injury with altered blood flow characteristics and metabolic demands. Table 43.1 listed a few important cardiac pathologies where children undergoing surgeries for these lesions are more prone to develop neurological complications. It is generally agreed that children undergoing relatively complicated surgeries are more predisposed to develop postoperative neurological complications. Also, there are specific patient populations at higher risk of neurologic dysfunction. Congenital and acquired lesions in the brain are relatively common preoperatively in the hypoplastic left heart syndrome [4, 5]. Periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) is also commonly noted in term infants with CHD [6]. Also, pediatric cardiac surgery is said to contribute to the development of PVL, and hence, better intraoperative management in these patients would contribute to acceptable outcomes [7]. Children who recently had congenital heart surgery may appear normal at the outset; however, their neurodevelopmental outcomes may not be normal. Long-term and even short-term patient survival with complex CHD has improved significantly over the past several decades [8, 9]. This led to a paradigm shift from mortality reduction to morbidity prevention.

43.3 Neurodevelopmental Abnormalities After Cardiac Surgery

Approximately 40–70% of children who survive post-cardiac surgery experience cognitive, motor, neurodevelopmental, psychological, emotional, and behavioral difficulties during childhood and adolescence, as confirmed by the Boston Circulatory Arrest Study [10–13]. The abnormalities include mild impairment in cognition, reduced academic performance in learning, and impairments in social cognition and core communication skills (e.g., the higher incidence is seen in autism). There may be neuropsychological issues in visual construction, working memory, and executive functioning and perception. Behavioral difficulties such as inattention, increased aggressive nature, and delayed fine and gross motor skill development may also be observed.

43.4 Mechanisms of Neurological Injury After Cardiac Surgery

Neurological injuries during cardiac surgical procedures are mainly due to perioperative hypoxicischemic or reperfusion injury because laminar cortical necrosis and periventricular white matter lesions are commonly seen at autopsy [14]. Hypoxic-ischemic injury is the result of a mismatch between the energy requirement and availability in the brain. The studies on neuropathological aspects of infants after cardiac surgery in deep hypothermia highlight that white matter lesions in the cerebral cortex appear to be more severe and more prevalent than cortical gray matter lesions [15]. Any change in perfusion and metabolism of cerebral tissue during heart surgery is extreme, complex, and often interrelated. When these changes are more than the brain's capacity to maintain a supply-demand balance of oxygen, a hypoxic-ischemic/reperfusion insult gets triggered. Certain factors which determine oxygen availability in the brain during the intraoperative period may be divided as:

- Extrinsic (those of which are associated with the extracorporeal circulation, e.g., pulsatility loss, no pump flow or low-flow states, hypothermia, and embolism).
- Intrinsic (such as autoregulation derangement of cerebral blood flow).

During surgeries involving circulatory arrest with deep hypothermia, oxygen delivery to the brain may also be deranged by multifocal vasoocclusive phenomena created by the bypass circuit or global hypoperfusion due to the excessive attenuation of the flow rate of the bypass circuit [16]. Cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) is employed in many pediatric cardiac surgeries and increases the risk of brain injury. Particularly vulnerable to ischemic insult are the basal ganglia during CPB [15]. Cerebral autoregulation is to be maintained during the bypass period, which is crucial in preventing brain injury during cardiac surgery as pediatric autoregulatory limits are not clearly known.

Various biomarkers have been investigated for their role in detecting the severity of neurological injury in pediatric patients undergoing cardiac surgery [16]. Neuron-specific enolase, a dimeric isoenzyme of the glycolytic enzyme enolase, is found in the neuronal cytoplasm. The S100 protein is a dimeric acidic and calcium-binding protein and has also been used as a biomarker of neurological injury. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a cytoskeletal protein found in the CNS astroglia. However, the use of these biomarkers remains uncommon, and there is not much evidence supporting their role and usefulness [16].

43.4.1 Focal or Multifocal Hypoxic-Ischemic Injury

Pediatric patients have smaller absolute blood volume, and hence, there are greater chances of embolic and inflammatory disturbances occurring while priming the CPB circuit. The bubble oxygenators replaced with membrane devices have reduced but not completely removed the embolic "load" of bypass circuits. Both particulate and gaseous emboli may enter into the bypass circuit directly from the surgical field. The circulating emboli bypass the normal pulmonary filtration bed and enter the systemic circulation and thence cerebral arterial circulation due to the circuit delivering oxygenated blood to the aorta directly. Also, inflammatory cascades get activated during CPB, which leads to a diffuse injury to the cardiovascular system that results in a postperfusion syndrome associated with multi-organ failure in severe cases. Multiple pathways get triggered, including those involving complement, eicosanoids, and kallikrein. They activate the generation of free radicals, cause depletion of antioxidants, and upregulation of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells and neutrophils. These highly activated neutrophils prove to be the potent mediators of reperfusion injury to the brain. Although hypothermia tends to delay and modify the effect of such processes, however, it does not eliminate them.

43.4.2 Global Hypoxic-Ischemic Injury

Deep hypothermia is the most accepted way of suppressing the consumption of oxygen during surgery. During deep hypothermic cardiac arrest (DHCA), the blood supply to the brain is impaired. The oxygen availability to the brain may be limited by hypothermia-induced increase in cerebral vascular resistance, impairment of pressure-flow autoregulation in the brain, and increased affinity of oxygen with hemoglobin. During periods of decreased perfusion pressure, the normal response involving oxygen delivery to the brain is maintained initially by vasodilatory response followed by an increase in oxygen extraction. However, they are compromised during hypothermia. The duration of DHCA, which is safe for a particular patient, cannot be assessed. It has been proved that prolonged uninterrupted DHCA may have poor neurologic effects, and brief periods of DHCA have not been associated consistently with adverse outcomes [17]. Available literature suggests that the relationship between DHCA duration and the neurodevelopmental sequel is not linear, with the brain injury risk increasing significantly after 40 min or so [17, 18].

43.4.3 Pulsatile vs. Nonpulsatile Flow

Most institutes in the United States use nonpulsatile bypass devices and hemodilution to reduce the magnitude of red blood cell trauma. Apart from its advantages, all these techniques, including deep hypothermia, have serious adverse effects on cerebral oxygen delivery. During CPB, the nonpulsatile perfusion, most often at lowflow rates, may fail to maintain adequate perfusion in the distal capillary beds and may lead to deranged autoregulation.

43.4.4 Regional Cerebral Perfusion (RCP) vs. Deep Hypothermic Circulatory Arrest (DHCA)

When a surgical field free from blood is required, particularly during aortic arch reconstruction, the target of cerebral blood flow (CBF) maintenance with traditional CPB is impossible. Most of the protocols involve either selective cerebral perfusion (SCP) or deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) for these scenarios. The perfusion strategy that provides cerebral blood flow while providing a bloodless surgical field for aortic arch reconstruction is RCP. Andropoulos et al. demon-1-year neurodevelopmental strated better outcomes for aortic arch reconstruction surgeries using RCP compared to DHCA [19]. It is important to keep the duration of DHCA to a minimum. RCP is almost always used in combination with DHCA and is often used in infants and children. The only exception to this is in neonates, where RCP may be difficult to establish.

43.4.5 CPB-Related Inflammatory Response

During CPB, various factors such as nonphysiological perfusion, local oxygen supply, and insufficient blood supply can lead to the release of many pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-6, TNF- α , and S-100 β from lymphocytes resulting in systemic inflammation, which causes greater damage to the brain. Despite improved CPB circuits, these inflammatory cytokines are generated due to foreign body contact activation, endothelial damage, and surgical trauma stimulation leading to noninfectious systemic inflammatory response syndrome.

43.4.6 pH Stat vs. Alpha Stat

These are two acid-based management protocols used during CPB. In the alpha-stat strategy, the pH and PaCO₂ of the arterial blood are measured at 37 °C and maintained at 7.40 and 40 mmHg, respectively, regardless of the patient's actual temperature. In pH-stat management, the in vivo pH of the arterial blood is maintained at 7.40 by adjusting the PaCO₂ to 40 mmHg at the actual hypothermic temperature. The arterial blood gases are always assessed at 37 °C; however, pH values are corrected for patients' actual body temperature in pH stat while it is assumed the same for any actual body temperature in alpha stat. It has important implications for blood gas management as CO2 has to be added for pH-stat corrections, which increases CBF by vasodilation. This improves oxygenation on the one hand; however, it may lead to an embolic load to the brain. Unlike in adults, where alpha stat is suggested to lead to a better neurological outcome, the pH-stat strategy has resulted in better neurological outcomes in children [20, 21].

43.4.7 Hematocrit and Transfusion Management

Anemia is deleterious for patients undergoing cardiac surgery [22]. Severe anemia affects oxy-

gen supply to the brain and must be corrected. At the same time, blood transfusions may also exert an undesirable effect on the outcome of these patients. The transfusion target in cardiac surgery is a hematocrit value of 20–24% or less [23]. However, the target is usually higher, up to 30%, especially in neonates and infants when DHCA is planned as it acts as an oxygen reserve during DHCA.

43.5 Neurological Monitoring During Pediatric Cardiac Surgery

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS)

This device enables real-time measurement of cerebral oxygenation. Many devices working on the principle of NIRS are available in the market, but the working principle of all devices remains the same, i.e., optical spectrophotometry. An absolute decrease in NIRS values less than 50 or a drop of more than 20% from baseline becomes significant and needs corrective interventions [24]. The advantages of NIRS as a monitoring device include its noninvasiveness, ability to continuously monitor cerebral oxygenation, and being nonoperator dependent. NIRS has been widely utilized during pediatric cardiac procedures. Hoffman et al. explored the neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with CHD. They observed various associations with several procedures, feeding status, hospitalization duration, oxygen saturation, and somatic and cerebral oximetry [24]. They observed that higher arterial oxygen saturation and narrower arterial-cerebral NIRS differences were attributed to better or improved motor performance. In contrast, the total duration of surgical procedures, ECMO, and birth weight were not the risk factors associated with worse outcomes. The use of bilateral NIRS has been documented to detect aortic cannula malposition during pediatric congenital heart surgery [25]. The decrease in the saturation on one side compared to the other led to the detection of reduced blood flow due to aortic cannula malposition, and timely correction led to the prevention of major catastrophe.

Transcranial Doppler (TCD)

Also known as the "stethoscope of the brain," TCD is based on the Doppler principle. TCD technology provides the clinicians with a real-time CBF evaluation. By insonating the middle, anterior, and posterior cerebral arteries, the flow velocities in these vessels can be determined, which shows a good correlation with the CBF [26]. TCD can be very useful during periods of deep hypothermic cardiac arrest (DHCA) as well as during rewarming to ensure appropriate cerebral perfusion [27]. In addition, TCD can detect presence of emboli, which appear as high-intensity transient signals (HITS) [28].

The use of TCD also with other treatment modalities has been shown to reduce worse postoperative neurological outcomes [28]. However, there are pitfalls in TCD use as a monitoring device during pediatric cardiac surgeries as it is technically challenging to measure a specific artery of the brain when pulsatile perfusion is lost during CPB, and it measures only regional cerebral blood flow as it cannot measure CBF volume if cerebral vascular resistance and perfusion pressure are changing.

EEG

Perioperative EEG can be used to diagnose intraoperative seizures in pediatric patients undergoing cardiac procedures. Intraoperative seizures in these patients are quite common though the effect of perioperative seizures on overall outcome has been debated [29]. Also, EEG monitoring identifies burst suppression or electric silence during cooling. A problem with unprocessed EEG is difficulty in the interpretation of signals. Processed EEG and EEG-based depth of anesthesia monitors like BIS, entropy, and cerebral state index (CSI) monitor allows ease in interpretation [30].

BIS uses the algorithm-based analysis of multiple EEG parameters and integrates them into a single, dimensionless number. It is quite reliable in infants and young children and has been used quite often worldwide. During cardiac surgery, BIS monitoring has been reported to detect brain ischemia in real time. The BIS monitoring has been used to identify burst suppression or electric silence to help determine when the brain is adequately cooled, and cerebral metabolism is sufficiently slowed before initiating DHCA [30].

The CSI is a portable handheld device that captures EEG from electrodes on the forehead and the mastoid. A complex algorithm is then used to calculate CSI, using a fuzzy logic combination of four sub-parameters of EEG signal represented as a dimensionless number between 0 and 100. It requires a larger area for sensor placement on the front of the forehead compared to BIS. It is less useful than other EEG-based monitors, and presently, there is a paucity of literature and thus difficult to recommend any of the EEG-based monitoring for routine use in infants and children who are undergoing CPB.

Evoked Potential Monitoring

Evoked potential monitoring is more common in adult patients. In pediatric patients, incomplete maturation of conduction pathways in the nervous system makes these less useful. Somatosensory-evoked potentials (SSEPs) have been used in children more than 2 years of age [29].

43.6 Neurological Abnormalities Before Cardiac Surgery

There is a high prevalence of neurological abnormalities to the tune of 50% before cardiac surgeries. These can be categorized into preoperative neurologic disorders of fetal onset, including cerebral dysgenesis and chromosomal disorders and neurological injury of postnatal onset. The risk of cerebral dysgenesis is associated with specific cardiac lesions like hypoplastic left heart syndrome, where the brain may be abnormally developed like agenesis of the corpus callosum, microdysgenesis, holoprosencephaly, and immature cortical mantle. These may present clinically as seizures, altered consciousness, and abnormal motor tone in infants. Later presentations include developmental delay, epilepsy, and cerebral palsy. Certain chromosomal disorders like trisomies 11, 18, and 21 include both cardiac and neurological malformations. Trisomy 21 (Down's syndrome) presents as cognitive impairment, epilepsy, narrow superior temporal gyrus, and disproportionately small cerebellum and brain stem. Associated heart defects include endocardial cushion defects, VSD, and PDA. Chromosomal 22q11 defects present as cardiac defects, abnormal facies, thymic hypoplasia, cleft palate, and hypocalcemia. The two most common, DiGeorge and velocardiofacial syndrome, have neurological and cognitive manifestations associated with structural cardiac defects. There is an abnormal development of the third and fourth pharyngeal pouches manifesting as conotruncal cardiac malformations, including interrupted aortic arch (type B), truncus arteriosus, and tetralogy of Fallot. Microcephaly and hypocalcemic seizures occur very often in these children. A high rate of autism and attention deficit hyperkinetic disorder has also been reported in such children [31].

43.7 Neurological Complications After Pediatric Cardiac Surgery

Delayed Recovery

Prolonged impairment of mentation after cardiac surgery and anesthesia is of prime concern. A thorough neurological evaluation should follow the usual approach for assessment of any impaired consciousness patient. Common etiologies which need to be excluded are hypothermia and postoperative hepatic or renal impairment, which directly alters mentation or does so in the setting of altered metabolism or excretion of anesthetic drugs. Prolonged action of neuromuscular blockers in the postoperative phase delays the recovery of motor function and, if severe, may mimic impaired consciousness, which may be excluded at the bedside with a peripheral nerve stimulator. Fast-tracking anesthetic regimens including low-dose fentanyl and ketamine have been attempted to prevent delayed recovery and facilitate early discharge after pediatric cardiac surgery [32].

Postoperative seizures are prevalent after cardiac surgery, and a prolonged postictal state should be thought of early in the evaluation of a depressed mental status [33]. A definitive cause is usually not established early in most cases, and many of these children demonstrate hypoxic-ischemic/reperfusion injury.

Postoperative Seizures

Postoperative seizures occur in up to 50% of neonates who have undergone open-heart surgery. Clinically evident seizures have been reported in 5-20% of neonates during the postoperative period [33]. Some seizures have a definitive cause, such as hypocalcemia, hypoglycemia, and cerebral dysgenesis. They may also result from hypoxic-ischemic or reperfusion injury due to generalized brain hypoperfusion (e.g., cardiac arrest) or focal vaso-occlusive insults in the brain. The exact etiology remains unknown in most cases but is likely to be due to many factors with risk associations that include younger onset at surgery, the use and duration of DHCA, the type of heart defect (e.g., aortic arch obstruction), and genetic susceptibility [34].

Post-pump seizures are different in several aspects from other post-hypoxic seizure subtypes. They typically develop later than those occurring after perinatal asphyxia. Children with post-pump seizures may have a better prognosis than that of asphyxia-related seizures, where up to 50% of survivors are perdisabled neurologically manently [35]. Subclinical postoperative seizures (without any clinical correlate) are said to be very common after neonatal surgery, and continuous EEG monitoring is recommended for them [35]. The treatment of seizures should first involve excluding reversible causes such as glucose and electrolyte imbalances. Repetitive seizures and status epilepticus should be treated effectively by the rapid achievement of therapeutic anticonvulsant levels through IV antiepileptic drugs.

Most of the post-pump seizures are treated by lorazepam, which is followed by phenytoin or phenobarbital. Potential signs and symptoms of cardiac toxicity because these agents in children recovering from cardiac surgery should be carefully monitored, particularly when treatment is initiated. The short range of susceptibility to post-pump seizures allows early withdrawal of anticonvulsants in most cases.

Periventricular White Matter Injury

Periventricular white matter injury is believed to occur perioperatively and is transient in most cases; the onset of these lesions is unclear. The risk factors include prolonged duration of exposure to CPB with or without DHCA, inflammatory mediators activated by CPB, early diastolic hypotension, and hypoxemia. The prolonged duration of CPB predisposes to the development of periventricular white matter injury [36]. MR spectroscopy may reveal decreased N-acetyl-aspartate and, of late, abnormalities in the postoperative oxidative mechanisms in the brain as observed in lactate-to-choline ratios [36]. Clinically, it may manifest as seizures, lower brain maturation score, neurodevelopmental delay, and long-term cognitive dysfunction.

Stroke

The incidence of stroke after cardiac surgery in children ranges from 2.5 to 8 per 100,000 population [37]. There are several mechanisms involved in stroke associated with heart disease, which include [1] cardioembolic (cardiac source of emboli); [2] paradoxical, i.e., cardiac anatomy that permits an embolus of systemic venous origin access to the cerebral circulation; or [3] venous, e.g., cerebral vein thrombosis due to central venous hypotension and stasis of venous blood. The risk factors for the stroke of cardiogenic origin include stasis, altered vascular endothelium, and hypercoagulability along with the presence of paradoxical embolic pathways.

CPB leads to an increased risk of cerebral vascular occlusion since particulate or gaseous matter generated during bypass avoids any sort of filtration by the pulmonary circulation and gains direct access to the systemic arterial circulation.

715

In the postoperative period, factors that make the stroke more vulnerable include stasis of blood (intracardiac or extracardiac), altered vascular endothelial surfaces (native or prosthetic), and, in some cases, a procoagulant shift in humoral clotting systems [38]. Intracardiac stasis results from global ventricular dysfunction or low-flow stasis. A transient or prolonged increase in central venous pressures leads to local thrombosis in the right atrium and large veins. Any prosthetic material in such areas of low flow increases the chance of thrombus formation, and the presence of a native or iatrogenic right-to-left shunt can lead to paradoxical embolization. Increased right atrial pressures transmitted to the venous circulation of the brain also make it more susceptible to venous thrombosis, particularly in the dural venous sinuses. Increased systemic venous pressures lead to proteinlosing enteropathy, liver function impairment, and pleural effusions, which lead to disturbance in the humoral coagulant systems [38].

In infants, stroke often leads to focal seizures or altered mentation, with focal motor deficits being subtle. In the later infancy or early childhood, stroke usually presents as acute focal motor deficits, visual dysfunction, or language disturbances. Important decisions like secondary stroke prophylaxis with anticoagulants should be administered to balance the risk of repeated embolization to the brain and secondary hemorrhage into an area of already established cerebral infarct. The recurrent risks of cardioembolic stroke are presently unknown in children.

Spinal Cord Injury

It is a rare complication following pediatric cardiac surgery and usually occurs after repairing aortic coarctation (0.4–1.5%) [39]. Spinal cord injury in the intraoperative period is mediated by hypoxia and ischemic/reperfusion injury due to the involvement of watershed territories, especially in the lower thoracic cord, where transverse infarction may lead to postoperative paraplegia. One more watershed zone lies between the anterior and posterior spinal circulation territories, and

perioperative hypoxia in this zone culminates in anterior spinal involvement predominantly.

Brachial Plexus and Peripheral Nerve Injury

Prolonged immobility, arm abduction, and abnormal positioning predispose to brachial plexus injury [40]. Excessive abduction intraoperatively can also lead to peripheral nerve injuries. Postoperatively, bilateral foot drop has been documented in a child who had undergone corrective surgery for double outlet right ventricle (DORV) and associated transposition of great arteries [41]. Most of the cases are transient and tend to improve with time.

Brachial plexus injuries are also quite common after cardiac catheterization [40]. Symptoms often resolve completely and gradually on their own. The insertion of central venous catheters via internal jugular vein during a cardiac catheterization may lead to upper brachial plexus injury by direct physical trauma or due to extravasation of blood into the plexus.

Phrenic nerve injury can occur due to hypothermia due to ice packs around the heart or direct intraoperative transection. Malposition of chest tubes may also lead to such types of injuries [42]. The diagnosis can be confirmed by electromyography (EMG) and nerve conduction studies (NCS). Most of the injuries to the phrenic nerve resolve spontaneously on their own. Sometimes, diaphragmatic plication (more likely in infants than children) or, in rare instances, diaphragmatic pacing is required.

Behavioral Problems

These children are predisposed to develop behavioral problems in the form of irritability and organic mental changes [43]. Delirium and dementia after adult cardiac surgery has been a topic of research; however, it received less attention in the pediatric population. It has been suggested that the incidence of delirium after cardiac bypass surgery is 49%, and delirium is an independent predictor of prolonged ICU length of stay [44]. Delirium occurs within the first 1–3 days after cardiac Table 43.2 Long-term neurological sequel

- · Mental retardation
- · Cerebral palsy
- Seizure disorder
- Motor deficits and paraplegia
- Learning disorders and behavioral abnormalities
- Communication difficulties related to language and
- speech
- · Communicating hydrocephalus

surgery and usually lasts for short periods of time. In a multivariate pediatric model, the development of postoperative delirium has been observed to be associated with an age less than 2 years, developmental delays, higher RACHS-1 (Risk Adjustment for Congenital Heart Surgery) score, cyanotic heart disease, and albumin less than 3 gm/dl.

Long-Term Neurological Sequelae

These children remain at risk of neurodevelopmental impairment in the later stages (Table 43.2) in the domains of intelligence, motor behavior, academics, speech, attention, and language [45]. The patients with higher socioeconomic status has been found to correlate with better language and speech outcomes [46].

TOF or VSD corrections in infancy with combined low-flow bypass and circulatory arrest are linked to reduced neurodevelopmental outcomes regarding formal intelligence, motor behavior, and academic achievement [47].

43.8 Neurosurgical Procedures After Pediatric Cardiac Surgery

The use of anticoagulation in pediatric cardiac patients predisposes to the development of spontaneous intracranial bleed. There is paucity in the literature concerning the incidence of intracranial hemorrhagic complications with anticoagulation, which has been reported to be ranging from 0.6 to 1.4% per year in a few studies [48]. All intracranial bleed leads to a mass effect and raised intracranial pressure (ICP) and needs immediate neurosurgical decompression.

43.8.1 Preparation of a Pediatric Patient for Neurosurgery After Cardiac Surgery

The child's neurological status must be documented; any child with decreased consciousness and inability to maintain the airway should be intubated and put on mechanical ventilation. Those with raised ICP would be lethargic, with decreased consciousness, failure to feed, repeated vomiting, Cushing's triad, etc. Repeated vomiting predisposes to dehydration, electrolyte abnormalities, and gastric aspiration. Minimum investigations are to be advised before neurosurgery, including hemoglobin and serum electrolytes. Additional studies include electrocardiography (ECG), coagulation profile, renal and hepatic functions, as well as a recent 2D echocardiography to understand the functional status of the heart and the status of repair/ prosthesis. Adequate blood must be arranged if significant blood loss is anticipated. Reversal of anticoagulation will be required, and adequate blood products, including fresh frozen plasma (FFP), cryoprecipitates, four-factor prothrombin complex concentrate (PCC), and reversal agents, may need to be arranged. Any sedative premedication is contraindicated in these children with raised ICP due to the worsening effects of hypercarbia on cerebral dynamics. Electrolyte correction must be initiated at the earliest. Children with seizures must be administered the loading dose of antiepileptics before taking them for surgery.

43.8.2 Reversal of Anticoagulation

There is no consensus guideline on the reversal of anticoagulation in this patient population. For children on warfarin treatment, vitamin K must be administered (0.5-2 mg) in three sequential doses, and four-factor PCC must be given for reversal in the dose of 50 U/kg. INR should be rechecked 30 min after the administration of PCC. FFP can be employed if PCC is not available; however, it is generally not suited as the volume required is

higher for reversing warfarin effects, especially if INR >2. Protamine is used to normalize the activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), for the children, heparinized earlier.

43.8.3 Measures to Reduce ICP

While preparing the patient for neurosurgery, controlling measures should be taken up to maintain ICP within normal values. Mannitol is an osmotic diuretic used in doses of 0.25-1 gm/kg to reduce brain edema. However, prolonged use of mannitol is associated with electrolyte abnormalities, renal failure, and rebound cerebral edema. Diuretics like furosemide have also been used as adjuncts to mannitol [49]. Hypertonic saline (3%) in doses of 2-4 ml/kg can also be used to manage cerebral edema (maximally tolerated osmolality up to 360 mOsm/kg). However, rapid plasma expansion, pulmonary edema, hypernatremia, and renal parameters are monitored in these children. These patients should be nursed in a 30° head-up position without any head rotation. If the child is intubated, adequate sedation to prevent irritability, coughing, and bucking on the endotracheal tube should be prevented by administering fentanyl 0.5-1 µg/kg/h and/or midazolam 0.1-0.2 mg/kg/h.

Transient hyperventilation may be employed to reduce ICP for some time before other measures take effect. However, in situations like Fontan physiology, uncorrected TOF, or DORV, hyperventilation and dehydration should not be the primary strategies to control ICP. Hyperventilation in such scenarios would lead to hemodynamic collapse and CO₂ washout in the presence of limited pulmonary blood flow and may worsen neurological outcome. It is pertinent to maintain adequate cerebral perfusion and early decompressive craniectomy to control the ICP rapidly.

43.8.4 Optimization of the Child

Target hemoglobin of 9–10 gm/dl should be aimed for before being taken up for urgent neuro-surgical intervention [50]. Reversal of anticoagu-

Table 43.3 Causes of secondary brain insults

| Systemic insults | Intracranial insults |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Hypoxemia/hypercarbia | Raised ICP |
| Hypotension/hypertension | Midline shift/herniation |
| Hypo-/hyperosmolality | Epilepsy |
| Hypo-/hyperglycemia | Vasospasm |
| Low cardiac output | Hydrocephalus |
| Hyperthermia | Intracranial bleed |

lation should be ensured before initiation of surgery. Any episode of hypotension or hypertension in neurologically impaired patients will affect the outcome and must be prevented. Fever increases the cerebral metabolic rate and is deleterious for these children; hence, normothermia must be ensured. Operation theater should be warmed before shifting the child to prevent the hypothermia. occurrence of Preoperative euvolemia should be maintained. Any episode of hypo- or hyperglycemia may contribute to poor outcomes in these children; hence, glucose levels of 120-180 mg/dl may be targeted. The avoidance of secondary markers of brain injury (Table 43.3) is of utmost importance for achieving a good neurological recovery.

43.8.5 Intraoperative Management

The conduct of neurosurgery after a cardiac intervention becomes very challenging for a neuroanesthesiologist. The anesthesia goal is to avoid any further increase in ICP during induction and prevent and treat secondary brain injuries. Most commonly used induction agents (propofol 0.5-2 mg/kg and thiopental 3-5 mg/kg) reduce ICP; however, it may lead to significant hypotension in these children with already compromised conditions. Hemodynamic support such as an intra-aortic balloon pump or a high dose of inotropes may be required in some cases. A highdose opioid induction with fentanyl 2-5 µg/kg or morphine 0.15-0.2 mg/kg achieves good hemodynamic stability. Induction agents like etomidate 0.2–0.5 mg/kg or ketamine 1–2 mg/kg may be used along with opioids or benzodiazepines (midazolam 0.15 mg/kg) to achieve a deep anesthetic plane without compromising hemodynamics. When the ventilation is controlled and normocapnia is ensured, ketamine does not lead to a rise in ICP. The concurrent administration of opioids may control tachycardia, short-acting beta-blockers (esmolol 0.5 mg/kg), or dexmedetomidine. A non-depolarizing muscle relaxant is usually used to facilitate intubation. A largebore IV access suitable for age must be ensured along with central venous cannulation to administer vasoactive agents if required depending on the type of surgery. Minimum monitoring includes ECG, SpO₂, noninvasive blood pressure monitoring, as well as an invasive arterial line for beat-to-beat monitoring. Children with uncorrected cardiac defects and the potential for rightto-left shunting, such as patent foramen ovale and patent ductus arteriosus, are at risk for paradoxical air embolism caused by cerebral infarction. Hence, specialized neurophysiologic and cardiac monitoring should be ensured in these children, such as transcranial Doppler, NIRS, and transesophageal echocardiography (TEE). Monitoring of the cardiac output (FloTrac), jugular venous oximetry $(SjVO_2)$, and evoked potentials may also be used depending on the type and duration of surgical procedure. TIVA is preferred for the maintenance of anesthesia although low concentrations of inhalational agents can also be used. However, nitrous oxide should be avoided as it causes an increase in ICP and cerebral metabolism. Fentanyl is the most commonly used opioid for intraoperative analgesia; the sedative and respiratory depressive effects of fentanyl may be prolonged in children. Frequent glucose measurements are recommended intraoperatively to detect any inadvertent hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia. Immature renal function may lead to an inability to handle excessive fluid and solute load readily. Immature cardiorespiratory physiology associated with infants and small children makes fluid management even more challenging. Holliday-Segar formula is commonly used to calculate the maintenance fluid requirement during the intraoperative period.

The presence of pacemakers complicates anesthetic management though they are mostly placed for temporary conditions such as thirddegree AV block, complete AV dissociation, and bradycardia. Magnet placement and resetting of pacemakers to asynchronous mode are done before anesthesia induction to avoid electrocautery interference. A telemetric programmer and an experienced operator should be present during surgery. Careful monitoring of the arterial pressure is essential during electrocautery as ECG monitoring is also affected by the interference [51]. Monopolar cautery should be avoided in such circumstances.

43.9 Complications During Surgery

Pediatric patients undergoing neurosurgery are at a higher risk of developing hemodynamic instability during neurosurgical procedures. This is because a higher cardiac output is diverted to the brain in children than in adults. The head of infants and children amounts to a relatively larger percentage of the body surface area and blood volume. Also, they are more prone to develop cardiac arrhythmias due to recent surgical intervention on the heart. They may already be receiving anti-arrhythmic drugs, and their interactions with anesthetic agents must be kept in mind.

Due to the use of anticoagulants, these children are more prone to bleeding [48]. Adequate reversal must be ensured, and coagulation parameters should be restored before taking up these children for neurosurgery. Perioperative pointeof-care testing such as thromboelastography (TEG) rotational thromboelastometry or (ROTEM) and Sonoclot may be used to identify coagulation abnormalities and treated accordingly by administering blood and blood products [48]. The use of tranexamic acid bolus 10 mg/kg followed by 1-2 mg/kg/h infusion may reduce the generalized oozing from the surgical field. Good hemostasis must be ensured before the dural closure to facilitate early anticoagulation in the immediate postoperative period.

Neonates and small children are especially at risk for hypothermia. Hypothermia can cause cardiac arrhythmias, increased bleeding, and surgical site infections. Hence, hypothermia should be prevented, and the child's temperature should be monitored intraoperatively.

43.10 Postoperative Management

Postoperative management should be a continuation of intraoperative maneuvers. After undergoing neurosurgery, pediatric patients should be admitted into an intensive care unit under constant monitoring of cardiac functions. Clear communication regarding history, medications, operative events, and anticipated course of the child is essential. A repeated neurological examination and a CT scan of the head are imperative to diagnose any deterioration in clinical status at the earliest. Postoperatively, shortacting sedative agents may be used on a case-to-case basis to allow a prompt neurological assessment. In addition to this, adequate respiratory and hemodynamic management are necessary. Maintenance IV fluids titrated to dynamic indices of fluid responsiveness should be continued in the postoperative period. The decision to initiate anticoagulation following surgery should be based on discussion among intensivist, neurosurgeon, and a cardiologist. Prophylactic anticoagulation may be initiated after 48-72 h of achieving adequate hemostasis; however, the therapeutic levels need to be individualized.

43.11 Conclusion

Neurological complications remain very common after cardiac surgery in pediatric patients. Adequate monitoring during the cardiac procedures helps us diagnose these problems early and prevent a permanent sequel. In children posted for neurosurgery following cardiac surgery, the reversal of anticoagulation, optimization of cardiac condition, and continued attempts to ICP reducing measures should be ensured before the proposed neurosurgery.

Conflict of Interest None.

References

 Berger M, Terrando N, Smith SK, Browndyke JN, Newman MF, et al. Neurocognitive function after cardiac surgery: from phenotypes to mechanisms. Anesthesiol. 2018;129:829–51.

- du Plessis AJ. Neurologic complications of cardiac disease in the newborn. Clin Perinatol. 1997;24:807.
- Hsia TY, Gruber PJ. Factors influencing neurologic outcome after neonatal cardiopulmonary bypass: what we can and cannot control. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006 Jun;81(6):S2381–8.
- Glauser TA, Rorke LB, Weinberg PM, Clancy RR. Acquired neuropathologic lesions associated with the hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Pediatrics. 1990;85:991–1000.
- Glauser TA, Rorke LB, Weinberg PM, Clancy RR. Congenital brain anomalies associated with the hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Pediatrics. 1990;85:984–90.
- Inder T, Huppi PS, Zientara GP, Maier SE, Jolesz FA, Salvo D, et al. Early detection of periventricular leukomalacia by diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging techniques. J Pediatr. 1999;134:631–4.
- Galli KK, Zimmerman RA, Jarvik GP, Wernovsky G, Kuypers MK, Clancy RR, et al. Periventricular leukomalacia is common after neonatal cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;127:692–704.
- Williams WG. Surgical outcomes in congenital heart disease: expectations and realities. Eur J Cardio-Thorac. 2005;27(6):937–44.
- Oster ME, Lee KA, Honein MA, Riehle-Colarusso T, Shin M, Correa A. Temporal trends in survival among infants with critical congenital heart defects. Pediatrics. 2013;131(5):e1502–8.
- Bellinger DC, Wypij D, Rivkin MJ, DeMaso DR, Robertson RL, Carolyn DM, et al. Adolescents with d-transposition of the great arteries corrected with the arterial switch procedure: neuropsychological assessment and structural brain imaging. Circulation. 2011;124(12):1361–9.
- Bellinger DC, Newburger JW, Wypij D, Kuban K, du Plessis AJ, Rappaport LA. Behaviour at eight years in children with surgically corrected transposition: the Boston circulatory arrest trial. Cardiol Young. 2009;19(1):86–97.
- Newburger JW, Sleeper LA, Bellinger DC, Goldberg CS, Tabbutt S, Lu M, et al. Early developmental outcome in children with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and related anomalies: the single ventricle reconstruction trial. Circulation. 2012;125(17):2081–91.
- Creighton DE, Robertson C, Sauve RS, Diane MM, Alton GY, Alberto NA, et al. Neurocognitive, functional, and health outcomes at 5 years of age for children after complex cardiac surgery at 6 weeks of age or younger. Pediatrics. 2007;120(3):e478–86.
- Kinney HC, Panigrahy A, Newburger JW, Jonas RA, Sleeper LA. Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in infants with congenital heart disease dying after cardiac surgery. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2005;110:563.
- du Plessis AJ, Johnston MV. The pursuit of effective neuroprotection during infant cardiac surgery. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 1999;6:55.
- Seco M, Edelman JB, Wilson MK, Bannon PG, Vallely MP. Serum Biomarkers of Neurologic Injury in Cardiac Operations. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;94:1026–33.

- Forbess JM, Visconti KJ, Hancock-Friesen C, Howe RC, Bellinger DC, Jonas RA, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome after congenital heart surgery: results from an institutional registry. Circulation. 2002;106:195.
- Wernovsky G, Stiles KM, Gauvreau K. Gentles TL, duPlessis AJ, Bellinger DC, et al: Cognitive development after the Fontan operation. Circulation. 2000;102:883.
- Andropoulos DB, Easley RB, Brady K, McKenzie ED, Heinle JS, Dickerson HA, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcomes after regional cerebral perfusion with neuromonitoring for neonatal aortic arch reconstruction. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013;95(2):648–55.
- 20. du Plessis AJ, Jonas RA, Wypij D, Hickey PR, Riviello J, Wessel DL, et al. Perioperative effects of alpha-stat versus pH-stat strategies for deep hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in infants. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;114:991–1001.
- 21. Sakamoto T, Kurosawa H, Shin'oka T, Aoki M, Isomatsu Y. The influence of pH strategy on cerebral and collateral circulation during hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in cyanotic patients with heart disease: results of a randomized trial and real-time monitoring. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;127(1):12–9.
- 22. Karkouti K, Djaiani G, Borger MA, Beattie WS, Fedorko L, Wijeysundera D, et al. Low hematocrit during cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with increased risk of perioperative stroke in cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80:1381–7.
- 23. Paone G, Likosky DS, Brewer R, Theurer PF, Bell GF, Cogan CM, et al. Membership of the Michigan Society of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeons. Transfusion of 1 and 2 units of red blood cells is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014;97:87–93.
- Hoffman GM, Brosig CL, Bear LM, Tweddell JS, Mussatto KA. Effect of intercurrent operation and cerebral oxygenation on developmental trajectory in congenital heart disease. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(2):708–16.
- Gottlieb EA, Fraser CD Jr, Andropoulos DB, Diaz LK. Bilateral monitoring of cerebral oxygen saturation results in recognition of aortic cannula malposition during pediatric congenital heart surgery. Paediatr Anaesth. 2006;16(7):787–9.
- 26. Trivedi UH, Patel RL, Turtle MR, Venn GE, Chambers DJ. Relative changes in cerebral blood flow during cardiac operations using xenon-133 clearance versus transcranial Doppler sonography. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;63:167–74.
- 27. Zimmerman AA, Burrows FA, Jonas RA, Hickey PR. The limits of detectable cerebral perfusion by transcranial Doppler sonography in neonates undergoing deep hypothermic low-flow cardiopulmonary bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;114:594–600.
- O'Brien J, Butterworth J, Hammon J, Morris K, Phipps J, Stump D. Cerebral emboli during cardiac surgery in children. Anesthesiology. 1997;87:1063–9.

- Austin E III, Edmonds HJ, Auden S, Seremet V, Niznik G, Sehic A, et al. Benefit of neurophysiologic monitoring for pediatric cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1997;114:707–17.
- Gunn JK, Beca J, Hunt RW, Olischar M, Shekerdemian LS. Perioperative amplitude-integrated EEG and neurodevelopment in infants with congenital heart disease. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38:1539–47.
- 31. Vorstman JA, Morcus ME, Duijff SN, et al. The 22q11.2 deletion in children: high rate of autistic disorders and early onset of psychotic symptoms. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2006;45:1104.
- 32. Sharma VK, Kumar G, Joshi S, Tiwari N, Kumar V, Ramamurthy HR. An evolving anesthetic protocol fosters fast tracking in pediatric cardiac surgery: A comparison of two anesthetic techniques. Ann Pediatr Cardiol. 2020;13(1):31–7.
- 33. Andropoulos DB, Mizrahi EM, Hrachovy RA, Stayer SA, Stark AR, Heinle JS, et al. Electroencephalographic seizures after neonatal cardiac surgery with high-flow cardiopulmonary bypass. Anesth Analg. 2010;110:1680–5.
- Clancy RR, McGaurn SA, Wernovsky G, Gaynor JW, Spray TL, Norwood WI, et al. Risk of seizures in survivors of newborn heart surgery using deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. Pediatrics. 2003;111:592–601.
- 35. Naim MY, Gaynor JW, Chen J, Nicolson SC, Fuller S, Spray TL, et al. Subclinical seizures identified by postoperative electroencephalographic monitoring are common after neonatal cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;150(1):169–80.
- 36. Beca J, Gunn JK, Coleman L, Hope A, Reed PW, Hunt RW, et al. New white matter brain injury after infant heart surgery is associated with diagnostic group and the use of circulatory arrest. Circulation. 2013;127:971.
- deVeber G. Arterial ischemic strokes in infants and children: an overview of current approaches. Semin Thromb Hemost 2003; 29: 567.
- Hess J, Kruizinga A, Bijleveld CM, Hardjowijono R, Eygelaar A. Protein losing enteropathy after Fontan operation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1984;88:606.
- Christenson JT, Sierra J, Didier D, Beghetti M, Kalangos A. Repair of aortic coarctation using temporary ascending to descending aortic bypass in children with poor collateral circulation. Cardiol Young. 2004;14:39–45.
- Liu XY, Wong V, Leung M. Neurologic complications due to catheterization. Pediatr Neurol. 2001;24:270.
- 41. Setty G, Saleem R, Harijan P, Khan A, Hussain N. Bilateral common peroneal nerve injury after pediatric cardiothoracic surgery: a case report and review of the literature. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2014;9:278–9.
- Hwang MS, Chu JJ, Su WJ. Diaphragmatic paralysis caused by malposition of chest tube placement after pediatric cardiac surgery. Int J Cardiol. 2005;99:129.
- 43. Goldberg CS, Hu C, Brosig C, Gaynor JW, Mahle WT, Miller T, et al. Behavior and quality of life at 6 years for children with hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Pediatrics. 2019;144(5):e20191010.

- 44. Patel AK, Biagas KV, Clarke EC, Gerber LM, Mauer E, Silver G, et al. Delirium in children after cardiac bypass surgery. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2017;18(2):165–71.
- 45. McGrath E, Wypij D, Rappaport LA, Newburger JW, Bellinger DC. Prediction of IQ and achievement at age 8 years from neurodevelopmental status at age 1 year in children with d-transposition of the great arteries. Pediatrics. 2004;114:572–6.
- 46. Ellerbeck KA, Smith ML, Holden EW, McMenamin SC, Badawi MA, Brenner JI, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children surviving d-transposition of the great arteries. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 1998;19(5):335–41.
- Hovels-Gurich HH, Konrad K, Skorzenski D, Nacken C, Minkenberg R, Messmer BJ, et al. Long-term neurodevelopmental outcome and exercise capacity after

corrective surgery for tetralogy of Fallot or ventricular septal defect. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006;81:958–67.

- Shoeb M, Fang MC. Assessing bleeding risk in patients taking anticoagulants. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2013;35(3):312–9.
- 49. Garcia-Sola R, Pulido P, Capilla P. The Immediate and Long Term Effects of Mannitol and Glycerol, a comparative experimental study. Acta Neurochir. 1991;109:114–21.
- Leal-Noval SR, Casado-Méndez M, Múñoz-Gómez M. Red blood cell transfusion based on tissue oxygenation rather than on hemoglobin concentration. Br J Anaesth. 2018;121(2):504–5.
- Salukhe TV, Dob D, Sutton R. Pacemakers and Defibrillators: anaesthetic implications. Br J Anaesth. 2004;93(1):95–104.